Banach-Hilbert Spaces, Vector Measures and Group Representations

Tsoy-Wo Ma

World Scientific

Banach-Hilbert Spaces, Vector Measures and Group Representations

Banach-Hilbert Spaces, Vector Measures and Group Representations

Tsoy-Wo Ma University of Western Australia



Published by

World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd.
P O Box 128, Farrer Road, Singapore 912805
USA office: Suite 1B, 1060 Main Street, River Edge, NJ 07661
UK office: 57 Shelton Street, Covent Garden, London WC2H 9HE

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

BANACH-HILBERT SPACES, VECTOR MEASURES AND GROUP REPRESENTATIONS Enlarged Edition of Classical Analysis on Normed Spaces

Copyright © 2002 by World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd.

All rights reserved. This book, or parts thereof, may not be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or any information storage and retrieval system now known or to be invented, without written permission from the Publisher.

For photocopying of material in this volume, please pay a copying fee through the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA. In this case permission to photocopy is not required from the publisher.

ISBN 981-238-038-8

Preface

This book provides an elementary introduction to classical analysis on normed spaces with special attention to nonlinear topics such as fixed points, calculus and ordinary differential equations. In this second edition, a new approach to vector measures on δ -rings based on dominated convergence is introduced. Matrix-representations of groups are also included because meanvalues of almost periodic functions behave similar to translation-invariant integrals and are available in infinite dimensional Banach spaces. This book is for beginners who want to get through the basic material as soon as possible and then do their own research immediately. It assumes only general knowledge in finite dimensional linear algebra, simple calculus, elementary complex analysis and in the last part also elementary group theory. The treatment is essentially self-contained except chapter 27 which may be skipped without discontinuity. With sufficient details, even an undergraduate with mathematical maturity should have no trouble to work through it alone. Various chapters can be integrated into parts of a Master Degree Program by course work organized by any regional university. Restricted to \mathbb{R}^n rather than normed spaces, selected chapters can be used for a course in advanced calculus. We also hope that Engineers and Physicists would find this book to be a handy reference in classical analysis especially our approach to vector measures. High school teachers may be interested to enrich their programs by including the generalization of triangles and tetrahedra as treated in our chapter 4. Some special features are highlighted below.

Banach-Hilbert Spaces

- Sequences can be interpreted as samples taken per unit time. It seems to be more intuitive to use them as description of topological properties.
- Simplicial Complexes are treated in details for potential school projects if restricted to \mathbb{R}^2 , \mathbb{R}^3 .
- Transition from \mathbb{R}^n_1 to finite dimensional spaces is analytic, §5-1.9,12.
- Explicit formula for no retraction is given in §5-2.4.
- Infinite dimensional topological results are developed without homology.
- Higher derivatives in addition to first derivatives are represented by matrices.
- \bullet Higher Chain-Products Formulas $\S10-6.2,3$ are expressed more naturally in polynomials rather than in symmetric multilinear maps.
- Local solution interval to initial valued problem is independent of initial data.
- Dependence on initial conditions are in global setting. As an informal illustration, suppose a commodity can last one year in a laboratory. Local theory

says that its mass production should work for at least a few seconds but our global theory ensures a period of at least 300 days.

• Tensor products of vectors and linear maps are defined separately but we prove that they are consistent in 15-5.11.

• To the best of our knowledge, tensor products of operators on Hilbert spaces §§15-7.9 to 16 are our contribution.

Vector Measures

• Existing instructors do not have to learn new trick in order to demonstrate their leadership in helping a new generation of scientists to equip with better tools in *vector* measures-integrals.

• Our proposed approach can replace most existing courses in scalar measure theory because the treatment is self-contained without assuming Egorov's Theorem or semivariations from scalar-theory.

• Complex vector lattices are used as framework for measures and means.

• Breakable vector lattices ensure that order bounded linear forms are linear combinations of positive linear forms. This unifies several proofs in §§17-3.4, 24-6.9, 27-3.2, 31-3.2. Some results of real vector lattices are extended to complex breakable vector lattices.

• Semirings are the starting points of *all* our measures. Finite variation is characterized in terms of order §17-3.6 and absolute convergence, §17-4.5.

• Measures are defined on δ -rings so that they need not be bounded. Sets in δ -rings are called *decent sets*. They correspond to bounded Borel sets in \mathbb{R}^n .

• Measures are of finite variation in order to use breakable vector lattices.

• Functions of finite variation are related to Stieltjes measures.

• Simple proof of certain complex charge to be of finite variation is given in §18-1.4.

• Restriction to finite-valued outer measures allows the approximation of extension to decent sets by values on sets in semirings, §18-3.3,4,6. As a result, integrals of decent functions are defined.

• A set with a δ -ring is called a δ -space. Measurable sets are defined by localization and are independent of all measures.

• Measurable functions in general are finite-valued and are defined everywhere but μ -measurable functions depend heavily on a particular measure μ , §22-3.4.

 \bullet Approximation by simple functions has the additional property of increasing modulus, §19-4.4.

• Explanation §19-5.1,3 why measurable (vector) maps should not be defined trivially as sequential limits of simple maps as in most literatures so that continuous maps are measurable.

Preface

- Extension of sign-function to vector maps, §19-6.2.
- Weak and weak-star measurability of maps are unified in §19-6.7.
- Inner regularity defines the integrals of simple functions, §20-1.3.
- Positive measures are defined for all measurable sets, $\S20-2.2$, while vector measures are defined only on integrable sets, $\S21-1.6$.
- Integrals of vector maps are defined by Dominated Convergence, §21-2.8.
- L_p -spaces are in the context of vector maps and vector measures, §21-4.2,4,6.
- L_{∞} is defined without measure, §21-5.1.
- Various modes of convergence are defined for vector maps.
- Algebra of measures are developed in §§20-5, 21-8.2.
- Products of vector measures do not require $\sigma\text{-finiteness},\,\S22\text{-}2.2$
- Product spaces are in the context of vector measures, §22-3.9,19.
- \bullet Reduction of elementary operations in linear algebra into two cases, $\S23\text{-}5.3.$
- \bullet Absolute continuity is characterized at the level of semirings \S 24-2.7,9.
- \bullet Polar form §24-4.4 reduces complex measures to positive measures.
- The condition of σ -finiteness for Radon-Nikodym theorem together with the vector version of concentration of continuous linear forms §24-6.6 removes the σ -finiteness from the duality of L_p -spaces for 1 , §24-6.7.
- Cantor set and function are developed on the familiar decimal system, §25-4.
- Spectral measures are treated as a continuation of functional calculus.
- Simple classical technique is employed for monotone convergence, §26-1.7. Our approach is intuitive as shown by the proof of spectral theorem, §26-6.4.
- Spectral measures are extended from semirings to σ -algebras, §26-2.
- Regularity of measures on locally compact spaces are defined in terms of variation to accommodate vector measures.

Group Representations

• Our notation of mean-values strongly indicates the resemblance to integrals but monotone convergence theorem fails for mean-values, §§31-1.3,4. We wish to draw the attention of the community that something similar to translationinvariant integrals has been available on infinite dimensional locally convex spaces although we restrict ourselves to Banach spaces in this book.

• Further development on top of von Neumann's almost periodic functions, abbreviated as ap-functions, has close relation to group representations.

- \bullet Restriction to matrix representations of groups avoids unnecessary formality.
- Matrix-valued maps are used whenever possible.

• On \mathbb{R} , we may be interested only in continuous objects because continuous characters are of the exponential form $e^{i\theta x}$ but our groups have no topology. We get by with comfortable almost periodic functions, abbreviated

as cap-functions. We propose the study of saturated closed invariant ideals, \S 30-3.2,3,5,8,9,20.

• Develop product groups based on representations, §31-1.6.

• Means on groups are defined as continuous linear forms on cap-functions. Rich properties §§31-2.4,5,6 deserve better attention from the community.

• As the dual spaces, monotone convergence theorem holds, §§31-3-10, 11.

• $\ell_1(G)$ may be the infinite dimensional counter part of $L_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ but the establishment of $\ell_p(G)$ versus $L_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is an open challenge to readers.

Web-page of this book has been in service since 1997: http://www.maths.uwa.edu.au/~twma/free/norm/norm.htm http://maths.uwa.edu.au/~twma/free/norm/norm.htm

Every paragraph is prefixed with a unique identification. For example, \S 1-2.3, 4.5,6 means chapter 1, section 2 paragraph 3 and section 4 paragraphs 5,6. Notations are introduced or recalled at the early stage of a section and then will be used throughout the section unless further specification is mentioned. Theorems without proofs and exercises have the same meaning to us. Exercises are normally illustrative but not tricky because we believe that your time may be used more profitably to do your own research.

References are given at the end of every chapter. Each reference is identified by the family name of the first author only and, if necessary, also by the year of publication. If necessary again, the first letter of one or several words from the title will be included. This method is purely for convenience because it is easy to understand and is independent of the enumeration of references in different books and papers. In order to arouse the curiosity of the beginners, the selection of references is based on informative titles rather than the significance in the history of development. To enrich their cultural background, readers are advised to look up the titles even they may not have the time or facility to study the literatures. Our references offer starting points for further study or to do research in various areas. For example, polymeasures, multimeasures and special functions on groups are not covered in this book but limited references are included. We also include a few references on unbounded measures because our measures need not be bounded. Each reference is normally mentioned only once in the book although it may be related to several chapters. In order to cut down the number of references, if a series of papers on related topics is published by the same person, only the most recent one available in our record is normally quoted. It should give enough information if readers want to trace their earlier work.

twma-2002

or

Contents

Preface .		 	 	 	 v
Introducti	ion .	 	 	 	 1

Chapter 1 Metric Spaces

1-1	Standard Finite Dimensional Vector Spaces11
1-2	Convergent Sequences in Metric Spaces
1-3	Continuous Maps
1-4	Open Sets
1-5	Closures of Sets
1-6	Characterization of Continuity
1-7	Duality of Closure-Interior Operators
1-8	Partition of Unity

Chapter 2 Complete, Compact and Connected Sets

2-1	Cauchy Sequences	7
2-2	Bounded Sets	8
2-3	Upper and Lower Limits	9
2-4	Complete Sets	1
2-5	Precompact Sets	3
2-6	Compactness	6
2-7	Continuous Maps on Compact Spaces	9
2-8	Uniform Continuity	1
2-9	Connected Sets	3
2-10.	Components	6

Chapter 3 Banach Spaces

3-1	Uniform Convergence	48
3-2	Bounded Continuous Functions	49
3-3	Sequence Spaces	52
3-4	Continuous Linear Maps	55
3-5	Examples of Continuous Linear Maps	59
3-6	Finite Dimensional Normed Spaces	31
3-7	Infinite Dimensional Compact Sets	34
3-8	Approximation in Function Spaces	37

Chapter 4 Simplicial Complexes

4-1	Geometrically Independent Sets	71
4-2	Convex Sets in Normed Spaces	75
4-3	Simplexes	77
4-4	Affine Maps	78
4-5	Simplicial Complexes	80
4-6	Small Simplexes	83
4-7	Barycentric Subdivisions	85

4-8	Simplicial Approximations	87
4-9	Existence of Simplicial Approximations	89
4-10.	A Combinatorial Lemma with Application	91

Chapter 5 Topological Fixed Points

5-1	Antipodal Maps	95
5-2	Retracts and Fixed Points	. 98
5-3	Fixed Points of Compact Maps	101
5-4	Compact Fields and their Homotopies	102
5-5	Extension Property	105
5-6	Properties of Compact Fields in Normed Spaces	109

Chapter 6 Foundation of Functional Analysis

6-1	Transfinite Induction	.114
6-2	Hahn-Banach Extension Theorems	. 116
6-3	Extension of Continuous Linear Forms	118
6-4	Closed Hyperplanes	. 120
6-5	Separation by Hyperplanes	.123
6-6	Extreme Points	. 125
6-7	Baire's Property	. 127
6-8	Uniform Boundedness	.128
6-9	Open Map and Closed Graph Theorems	. 130

Chapter 7 Natural Constructions

7-1	Bidual Spaces	.134
7-2	Quotient Spaces	. 136
7-3	Duality of Subspaces and Quotients	. 138
7-4	Direct Sums	. 140
7-5	Transposes	.144
7-6	Reflexive Spaces	. 147
7-7	Weak convergence	. 149
7-8	Weak-Star Convergence	.152

Chapter 8 Complex Analysis

8-1	Derivatives of Vector Maps	154
8-2	Integrals of Regulated Maps	155
8-3	Fundamental Theorems of Calculus	158
8-4	Holomorphic Maps of One Complex Variable	161
8-5	Series Expansion	165
8-6	Spectrum	170
8-7	Spectral Radius	174
8-8	Holomorphic Maps of an Operator	176

Chapter 9 Differentiation in Banach Spaces

9-1	Differentiable Maps	2
9-2	Mean-Value Theorem	5
9-3	Partial Derivatives	3
9-4	Fixed Points of Contractions	2
9-5	Inverse and Implicit Mapping Theorems	3
9-6	Local Properties of Differentiable Maps	7

Chapter 10 Polynomials and Higher Derivatives

10-1	Multilinear Maps on Banach Spaces	201
10-2	Polynomials on Banach Spaces	204
10-3	Higher Derivatives	208
10-4	$C^{\tilde{n}}$ -Maps	211
10-5	Taylor's Expansion	. 215
10-6	Higher Chain Formula and Higher Product Formula	219

Chapter 11 Ordinary Differential Equations

11-1	Local Existence and Uniqueness	. 223
11-2	Integral Curves	. 226
11-3	Linear Equations	228
11-4	Exponential Functions of Matrices	233
11-5	Global Dependence on Initial Conditions	. 235
11-6	Solutions without Uniqueness	. 242

Chapter 12 Compact Linear Operators

12-1	Basic Properties	245
12-2	Riesz-Schauder Theory	249
12-3	Spectrum of a Compact Operator	253
12-4	Existence of Invariant Subspaces	254
12-5	Fredholm Operators	256

Chapter 13 Operators on Hilbert Spaces

13-1	Complex Inner Product Spaces	261
13-2	Orthogonality in Inner Product Spaces	263
13-3	Orthonormal Bases of Hilbert Spaces	265
13-4	Orthogonal Complements	268
13-5	Adjoints	270
13-6	Quadratic Forms	274
13-7	Normal Operators	276
13-8	Self-Adjoint Operators	278
13-9	Projectors and Closed Vector Subspaces	280
13-10	Partial Order of Operators	284
13-11	Eigenvalues	288

Chapter 14 Spectral Properties of Hilbert Spaces

14-1 14-2	Spectrum of an Operator	291 202
14-2	Weak Convergence	295
14-4	Diagonal Operators	297
14-5	Compact Operators	299
14-6	Functional Calculus of Self-Adjoint Operators	305
14-7	Polar Decomposition	310

Chapter 15 Tensor Products

15-1	Algebraic Tensor Products of Vector Spaces	313
15-2	Tensor Products of Linear Maps	315
15-3	Independent Sets in Tensor Products	317
15-4	Matrix Representations	319
15-5	Projective Norms on Tensor Products	323
15-6	Inductive Norms	327
15-7	Tensor Product of Hilbert Spaces	329

Chapter 16 Complex Vector Lattices

16-1	Ordered Vector Spaces	. 335
16-2	Lattice Structure	336
16-3	Decomposition Property	339
16-4	Extension of Positive Linear Forms	. 341
16-5	Order Bounded Linear Forms	343

Chapter 17 Vector Measures on Semirings

17-1	Semirings	. 346
17-2	Charges and Associated Integrals	347
17-3	Finite Variation	350
17-4	Absolutely Convergent Charges	352
17-5	Countable Additivity on Rings	. 355
17-6	Vector Measures	358
17-7	Lebesgue-Stieltjes Measures	36 0

Chapter 18 Extensions of Positive Measures

18-1	Uniqueness of Extension	. 364
18-2	Outer Measures	. 366
18-3	Extension to Decent Sets	370

Chapter 19 Measurable Objects

19-1	Measurable Sets	372
19-2	Measurable Functions	374
19-3	Limits of Measurable Functions	377

19-4	Approximations by Simple Functions	378
19-5	Measurable Maps	380
19-6	More Properties	382

Chapter 20 Integrals of Upper Functions

20-1	Upper Functions	86
20-2	Almost Everywhere	89
20-3	Seeds of the Theory	91
20-4	Sigma Finiteness	92
20-5	Comparison of Two Positive Measures	94

Chapter 21 Vector Integrals

21-1	Extension to Integrable Sets	397
21-2	Integrals of Vector Maps	399
21-3	L_p -Spaces for $1 \le p < \infty$	402
21-4	Mean Convergence	405
21-5	L_{∞} -Spaces	408
21-6	Convergence in Measure	410
21-7	Almost Uniform Convergence	412
21-8	More Than One Measure	416
21-9	Integration on Subspaces	417

Chapter 22 Finite Products of Measures

22-1	Product Measurable Spaces	C
22-2	Product Measures	2
22-3	Repeated Integrals	4

Chapter 23 Measures on Finite Dimensional Spaces

23-1	Decent Sets of \mathbb{R}^n	2
23-2	Regularity	3
23-3	Translation Invariance	5
23-4	Relation to Outer Measures	8
23-5	Change Variables in \mathbb{R}^n	9

Chapter 24 Indefinite Integrals

24-1	Derivatives	15
24-2	Absolute Continuity	18
24-3	Positive and Negative Sets	51
24-4	Existence of Derivatives45	52
24-5	Hahn and Lebesgue Decompositions45	56
24-6	Duality of Classical Spaces	58
24-7	Spaces with Radon-Nikodym Property 46	36

Chapter 25 Differentiation of Measures

25-1	Geometrical Expression of Radon-Nikodym Derivatives	. 473
25-2	Jumps of Increasing Functions	. 477
25-3	Fundamental Theorems of Real Analysis	. 480
25-4	Cantor Set and Function	.484

Chapter 26 Spectral Measures

26-1	Construction from Self-Adjoint Operators	487
26-2	Extension of Spectral Measures	490
26-3	Spectral Integration	495
26-4	Null Sets of Spectral Measures	498
26-5	Product Spectral Measures	501
26-6	Spectral Measures of Normal Operators	503

Chapter 27 Locally Compact Spaces

27-1	Regular Measures	509
27-2	Construction from Positive Linear Forms	512
27-3	Representations of Order-Bounded Linear Forms	515

Chapter 28 Almost Periodic Functions on Groups

28-1	Almost Periodicity	518
28-2	Mean Values	522
28-3	Convolutions	527
28-4	Eigen Expansion	532

Chapter 29 Group Representations

29-1	Matrix Representations	538
29-2	Characterization of Projectors	543
29-3	Fourier Matrices	547

Chapter 30 Saturated Closed Invariant Ideals

30-1	Dual Objects	553
30-2	Characters	555
30-3	Saturated Dual Objects	560
30-4	Separating Points	566

Chapter 31 Mean Spaces

31-1	Representations of Product Groups	571
31-2	Means on Groups	575
31-3	Order Structure on Mean Spaces	578
31-4	Identification of Functions as Means	580
31-5	Fourier Matrices of Means	583
Ref	ferences	587
Ind	lex	599

Introduction

1. This book essentially consists of four parts:

Chapters 1 to 12 in Normed spaces; Chapters 13 to 15 in Hilbert spaces and tensor products; Chapters 16 to 27 in vector measures on δ -rings and Chapters 28 to 31 in group representations.

Within the first part, nonlinear analysis by topological method is covered in Chapters 4,5 and nonlinear analysis involving differentiation in Chapters 8 to 11. Readers with suitable background should start with any of Chapters 4, 8, 13, 16 or 28. They can also work on these chapters concurrently. *Informal* introduction is given here while the chapters tend to be concise and precise. Maps in this book generally need *not* be scalar-valued but functions normally are scalar-valued. Complex functions mean that they need not be real. Characteristic functions are denoted by ρ instead of χ so as to avoid possible confusion with x, X in hand-writing.

Banach Spaces

2. The first three chapters of this book provide the necessary background for any course in analysis. Sequences are used consistently to characterize continuity, closures, completeness, precompactness and compactness. The fact that closed bounded sets are compact is proved by upper and lower limits rather than bisecting infinite sets. One dimensional intermediate value theorem. fixed point theorem and structure of open sets §2-10.9 follow as a result of connectedness. Partition of unity is developed at the end of first chapter and will be used twice in §§5-3.3, 12-4.5. After finite dimensional normed spaces are characterized, standard criteria of compactness in infinite dimensional spaces (Ascoli's theorem) and also approximation of continuous functions (Stone-Weierstrass theorem) are given by the end of chapter 3. This would quickly cover the topological background required by advanced calculus and complex variable at the undergraduate level. It would be interesting to see the connection of functional analysis and neural network, e.g. [Cotter]. For general history of functional analysis, consult [Dunford], [Dieudonne-81] and [Musielak].

3. Affine approximations on simplicial complexes have been playing an active role in computation with computers as indicated for example by [Kearfott],

[Talman], [Todd], [Eaves], [Mara]. Because surfaces can be approximated by gluing triangles together and solids by tetrahedra, perhaps Mechanical Engineers and also experts in physical chemistry, e.g. [Bytheway] may be interested to know more about its theory. Restricting to one, two and three dimensional spaces, e.g. [Steenrod], [Shashkin], chapter 4 also offers an opportunity for high-school projects. Convex sets §4-2 will be required in the subsequent context. However if you are not interested in topological method, skip to chapter 6. Alternatively, you read only the statement of §4-10.8, and then skip to chapter 5. We treat chapter 4 thoroughly. Proofs on geometrical independence in §4-1 are rarely found in any existing textbooks. In §4-4.11, vertices are proved to be extreme points. The rest of the chapter is devoted to the construction of simplicial approximations. Good background has been laid for you to continue the study in simplicial homology theory which is beyond the scope of this book. Consult [James], [Fan-90] for history.

4. Instead of waiving our hands demanding acceptance with faith of topological invariance, Borsuk-Ulam theorem is transported from \mathbb{R}_1^n in §5-1.4 to finite dimensional normed space §5-1.12 with scaling homeomorphism. Brouwer's fixed point theorem is derived from Borsuk-Ulam theorem with explicit formula in §5-2.4. Retraction theorem is proved by elementary technique which is within the capacity of undergraduates. A general fixed point theorem on convex sets is given in §5-3.5. The treatment of compact fields is simplified from [Granas-62] and only Tietze's extension theorem is used to develop homotopy extension theorem. By the end of chapter 4, we have covered most of the traditional applications of classical algebraic topology but in a more general context of infinite dimensional spaces as in [Granas-62]. The whole chapter is within the reach of undergraduates without asking them to take anything for granted. Consult for example, [Steinlein], [Fan-99] and [Jaworowski] for further information about Borsuk-Ulam theorem.

5. Standard material of linear functional analysis is developed in chapters 6 and 7. Hahn-Banach extension theorems guarantee that there are sufficient amount of continuous linear forms to separate convex sets. This is applied to derive Krein-Milman theorem. It also allows us to reduce certain cases from infinite to one dimensional spaces, e.g. §§8-3.3, 4.6, etc. Uniform boundedness theorem ensures that weakly bounded sets are norm-bounded. One of its applications is given in §8-4.5. References to show that open map and closed graph theorems cannot be generalized to bilinear maps are included. Chapter 7 covers topics such as embedding into bidual spaces, duality of quotient spaces

Introduction

and subspaces, direct sums, transposes, reflexive spaces and weak convergence.

Vector-valued maps of a scalar variable are introduced in chapter 8. We 6. support the simple and elegant way to develop integration theory starting with step maps. As soon as the fundamental theorem of calculus is proved, we can evaluate integrals as antiderivatives and this is what we use most of the time. At this point, we expect the readers to have basic knowledge of complex analysis including criteria of holomorphic functions and Cauchy's integral formula. These results are treated in the context of Banach spaces. Laurent series expansion including Taylor series as special case, is done from scratch. Liouville's theorem follows from the characterization of polynomials from entire maps. Resolvent map is an important example of holomorphic vector maps. It is used to show that the spectrum of an operator on complex Banach space is non-empty. Chapter 8 finishes with holomorphic maps of an operator defined by Cauchy's integral formula together with a practical formula for functions of square matrices without Jordan forms. See e.g. [Taylor-71] for history and [Fan-96], [Sharma] for recent development.

7. Chapters 9, 10 are devoted to advanced calculus. Most undergraduate textbooks restrict themselves to scalar-valued functions of several variables. Based on our numerical examples §§9-3.8, 5.6, 7, 10-5.6, 15-4.13, you may be interested to standardize the notations of higher derivatives of maps and also polynomials from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R}^m in terms of matrices. Transition from scalar to vector variable for differential theory is given in §9-1.2. Integral and uniform mean-value theorems of §§9-2.7,8 later become Taylor's formula and its corollary §§10-5.2.3. Inverse and implicit mapping theorems are proved by contraction which is also an important tool in numerical analysis due to its ability to estimate the error. Local properties of differentiable maps §9-6 are restricted to finite dimensional maps because of the simplicity of using determinants although they have been extended to infinite dimensional spaces. The theorem on Lagrange multiplier is modified from [Sagan] without the assumption on the rank of certain matrix. It is well-known that a special case of §10-5.4 is an important tool in differentiable manifolds, e.g. to prove the Morse's lemma. The higher chain formula $\S10-6.2$ is expressed in the natural setting of polynomials rather than multilinear maps in unnecessary generality. Our proof involves only simple combinatorial method. Consult e.g. [Ma-01] for inverse mapping theorem on locally convex spaces.

8. Chapter 11 deals with initial value problem x' = f(t, x). Existence of common solution interval for all initial conditions near a given point is proved

in §11-1.6 which is used to derive global continuity of initial condition in §11-5.4 where the size of solution interval is guaranteed by an interval (α, β) . Its importance is illustrated by an example §11-1.10. As a result of continuity, the domain Ω_f in §11-5.5 of the flow associated with the vector field f is open and the flow φ is smooth §11-5.10. Since we do not carry the topic any further. we do not introduce the concept of flow in the context. Our boundary theorem §11-2.6 holds in infinite dimensional spaces. Linear differential equations are studied in $\S11-3$ and $\S11-4$. Two estimates of the solution to a linear equation are given in §11-3.4. Fulmer's method of finding the exponential function of a matrix is by method of differential equations. Finally, topological method is used to generalize Peano's theorem to infinite dimensional spaces. Consult e.g. [Lobanov] for locally convex spaces. Just like compact fields, we prefer to suitable rather than maximum generality in an undergraduate course. We believe that at this point, students are well equipped to study differential topology which is beyond the scope of this book. Most of this chapter work for complex Banach spaces even we restrict ourselves to the real case.

9. Chapter 12 deals with compact linear operators. Fredholm alternative $\S12-2.9$ is stated in a form identical to a characterization of non-singular matrices in linear algebra. Readers should look up some references in order to have a feeling of the importance of compact linear operators because it is probably the simplest tractable infinite dimensional linear operators. For example, their spectra are null sequences, $\S12-3.4$. The proof of a lemma for the existence of hyperinvariant subspace is slightly shortened by the order of the operators K, T in $\S12-4.5$. For an extension of Lomonsov's techniques to non-compact operators, see [Simonivc].

Hilbert Spaces

10. Systematic exposition of Hilbert spaces is given in two subsequent chapters. They should be read concurrently with the corresponding topics in Banach spaces. The link among operators, sesquilinear forms and quadratic forms is established first. The second half-chapter studies various types of operators based on the star operation. Geometric properties of subspaces are characterized in terms of algebraic equations of projectors. It is a pity that my teaching duty was governed by official course outlines otherwise I would start with C^* -algebras.

11. The spectrum of an operator on Hilbert space is studied in chapter 14. For a self-adjoint operator, the connection between its quadratic form, its spectrum

Introduction

and its norm is given by §14-2.12. Diagonal operators generalize diagonal matrices of which the properties are completely determined by the diagonal coefficients. It turns out that every compact normal operator is diagonable. As an important consequence §14-5.14, every compact operator on a Hilbert space can be approximated by finite dimensional operators in norm. This is not true in Banach spaces, e.g. [Enflo-73], [Szankowski]. The chapter ends with a functional calculus of self-adjoint operators and polar decomposition. Consult [Gohberg-00] for traces and determinants on Hilbert spaces and Konig-75 on Banach spaces.

12. Our tensor products of vector spaces are constructed within the framework of product and dual spaces without the naive concept of formal sums. The notation $f \otimes g$ is justified in §15-4.1. In contrast to the current system, we adopt the reverse lexical order in §15-4.3 because of the matrix representations of multilinear maps, e.g. §15-4.9, 12. Tensor products of linear maps are defined in a way completely different from tensor product of vectors. We prove that they are consistent under the natural injection in §15-5.11. It is obvious that tensor products of normal operators are normal. Motivated by finite dimensional spaces, the converse is given in §15-7 for several classes of normal operators which to the best of our knowledge were our contribution.

Vector Measures on δ -Rings

My interest in measure theory was inspired by [Apostol, pp207-212], 13. [Zaanen-59, p42], [Kolmogorov], [Loomis, 12C] in early sixties and my teaching assignment from mid-seventies until 1986. After a long gap, I began to work in vector measures started with [Dinculeanu-67] and [Diestel-77] during 2000 and 2001. In addition to our own new results, most steps in the following treatment are modifications with *improvement* of known facts but our final overall version seems to be unique in this area. We introduce breakable vector lattices to unify proofs, inner regularity to define measures from decent sets. Then we extend to integrable sets and finally define vector integrals by dominated convergence property. We do not need Egorov's Theorem, semivariations, Vitali-Hans-Saks Theorem, Nikodym's Theorem in order to develop the vector version of measures. We also explain why measurable vector maps should not simply be defined as sequential limits of simple maps if we want continuous maps on locally compact spaces to be measurable. Through our innovative approach at no extra cost, existing staffs can easily help a new generation of scientists to have better tools of integration used practically everyday in our lives. If measure theory on σ -rings is an abstract generalization of Lebesgue measure then measures on δ -rings are the counter parts of Stieltjes measures. Finitevalued signed measures on σ -rings must be bounded but measures on δ -rings need not be bounded. See [Hawkins], [Chae] for history of early development. All our measures are of finite variation. The following is a more detailed introduction.

14. Conjugation rather than the popular complexification is introduced in Chapter 16. Our definition of complex vector lattices is easier to verify and sufficient to provide service to this book although most of the concrete examples also satisfy the popular axioms. We also introduce breakable vector lattices as generalization of *real* vector lattices, §16-3.12. Its existence is justified by the order duals §16-5.5 and the unification of proofs in §§17-3.4, 24-6.9, 27-3.2, 31-3.2.

15. Semi-intervals and semi-rectangles should be used as guiding examples of semirings in Chapter 17. Every finite family of semi-rectangles can be decomposed into disjoint unions of semi-rectangles. This is formalized analytically into Semiring Formula, §17-1.9 and developed into Step Mapping Theorem, §17-2.3. Vector charges and vector integrals are introduced in §17-2. Algebraic method §17-2.10,11 identifying charges and linear forms simplifies the proof of geometrical results, §17-2.12. We characterize finite variation in terms of order-boundedness §17-3.6 and also absolute convergence, §17-4.5 by modifying [Munster]. Admissible bilinear map ensures the continuity connecting vector measures and integrands. Countable additivity of charges is related to monotone convergence in set-level §17-5.7 and at function-level, §17-5.10. All measures in this book are of finite variation. Their variations are defined in §17-3.4 and proved to be measure in §17-6.5. Being of finite variation of maps on \mathbb{R} is defined in terms of charges so that we can apply measure theory to get the old results later. For an approach without the abstract theory of this chapter, see [Apostol; Thm 8-14, also Ch. 9]. For application to stochastic processes, see for example [Dinculeanu-00s].

16. A δ -space is a set with a δ -ring. Sets in the δ -ring are called decent sets for convenience. In Chapter 18, we give a simple proof that countably additive scalar charges are of finite variation. Uniqueness of extension of vector measures from semirings to generating δ -rings is proved in §18-1.11. The actual extension of positive measures is by standard method of outer measures. In order to have rich algebraic operations among complex measures, it is necessary

Introduction

to start off $\S18-2.3$ with a finite-valued function on S. Classical results from [Kolmogorov] are put into abstract setting.

17. Motivated by earlier Chinese edition of [Xia], measurable sets are defined by localization independent of measures. We try to avoid μ^* -measurable sets which are obtained from an outer measure μ^* . It follows with standard properties of measurable functions. Approximation of measurable functions by simple functions with increasing modulus prepares the ground to define integrals by dominated convergence. Measurable complex functions and vector maps take values in \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{C} or Banach spaces but measurable real functions are allowed to take $\pm \infty$ as value in order to define integrals. Example $\S19-5.3$ explains why we have to define measurable maps $\S19-5.5$ by localization in order to include continuous maps on locally compact spaces, §27-1.4. The characterization §19-5.4 is obtained by modification of [Kuttler, 23.1]. Uniform approximation of measurable maps by sequences of simple maps is given in §19-6.4,5. Our lemma §19-6.7 takes care of both weak and weakstar measurability at the same time. Finally we prove that sequantial limits of measurable maps are measurable.

18. Upper functions are measurable extended-valued positive functions. The integrals of upper functions with respect to positive measures are developed in Chapter 20. Measurable functions are approximated by simple functions but our measures are defined only on decent sets. The crucial bridging step is by inner regularity, §20-1.3. Positive measures are defined on measurable sets §20-2.2 but vector measures on integrable sets only, §21-1.6. Equality almost everywhere and σ -finiteness allow us remove infinity from values of integrable functions so that their sums are defined. The important features of integrable sets §20-4.9 in terms of decent sets will be used repeatedly. Working with two positive measures is motivated by [Taylor-65].

19. Our unique approach to vector integration with respect to a vector measure μ is carried out in Chapter 21. Since the variation $|\mu|$ is a positive measure, μ -measurable sets are defined and can be approximated by decent sets. This is the basis of extending a vector measure μ to all integrable sets. For a measurable map f, its variation |f| is an upper function and the integral $\int |f| \ d|\mu|$ defines the scope of integrable maps of which their integrals $\int f d\mu$ are defined by dominated convergence §21-2.8. Important results of vector L_p -spaces for $1 \le p < \infty$ required by classical harmonic analysis is given

in §21-4. They include Dominated Convergence Theorem, Monotone Convergence Theorem, Integration Term by Term and differentiation under integral sign. Density theorem §21-4.6 incorporates increasing modulus. Vector L_{∞} -spaces are introduced without any measure because of the need in spectral measures in §26-4. All modes of convergence are for vector maps. This Chapter concludes with integration on subspaces and comparison with improper Riemann integrals.

20. Because our machinery begins with semirings, they are applicable to the product spaces directly in Chapter 22. Product measures does not require σ -finiteness, §22-2.2. To have nice formula $|\mu \otimes \nu| = |\mu| \otimes |\nu|$, we have to assume one of them to be scalar, §22-2.4. To proof the Fubini's Theorem, most text book takes the advantage of $0\infty = 0$ to shorten the proofs. For vector measures, we have to trace back bolts and nuts of our machine in §22-3.2. Exercise §22-3.7 is a modified version of [Bartle]. We may identify the L_p -space on the product space $X \times Y$ as the tensor product of L_p -spaces on X, Y respectively by §22-3.19.

21. Outer measures are recalled in Chapter 23 because it is handy to check if a set is null. The reduction of three elementary operations in linear algebra into two §23-5.3 can shorten many proofs including our §23-5.5. Because our measurable sets are independent of measures, it requires a little work to show that smooth images of measures sets are measurable §23-5.7. Change-variable of multiple integral is influenced by [Cohn, pp170-175].

22. Chapter 24 is devoted to Radon-Nikodym derivatives and duality of L_p -spaces. The first section on the relationship between $hd\mu$ and μ is an improvement of [Garnir-72, pp142-157]. Absolute continuity of measures is brought to the level of semirings §24-2.7,8 so that it can link to absolutely continuous maps, §24-2.9. Convergence in L_p is characterized in terms of convergence in measures and equicontinuity at the empty set. Positive and negative sets are initiated as tools but Hahn Decomposition Theorem is derived after Radon-Nikodym Theorem for simplicity. Polar form §24-4.4 reduces complex measures to positive measures. Tight restriction to σ -finite sets for Radon-Nikodym Theorem will be used later. The isometry of L_p with L'_q , §24-6.2,12 are modification of [Dinculeanu-67, pp229,234]. Continuous linear forms on vector L_p -spaces for $1 concentrates on <math>\sigma$ -finite sets, §24-6.6. This result is a vector version obtained from [Bartle]. The duality of L_p -spaces for $1 , §24-6.7 does not require <math>\sigma$ -finiteness

Introduction

any more. Sharper results for scalar measures make use of our breakable vector lattices, §24-6.10. Sufficient condition for Banach spaces to have Radon-Nikodym property is reorganized from [Diestel-77, ch 3].

23. In Chapter 25, cubes rather than general measurable sets as in [Rudin-74], are used for the geometrical expression of Radon-Nikodym derivatives because they are simple, intuitive and probably general enough for applications in physics. We prefer to Vitali cover instead of Raising Sun Lemma because Vitali Covering Theorem is consistent with our approach via semi-intervals. Lemma §25-1.10 is modified from [Cohn, p181]. The general theory is applied to the specific situation of the real line §25-2 and we start with factorizing pulse functions. Our Cantor set and function are developed on the familiar decimal system, §25-4.

The root of spectral measure theory on Hilbert space H in Chapter 26 is 24. the product formula §26-2.2 based on §13-9.8 that if the sum of projectors is a projector then the products of any two summands are zero. In $\S26-2.5.6$ we explain why spectral measures cannot be derived as a special case of vector measures. Spectral measures on semirings are extended in §26-2 to decent sets by finite variation and finally to measurable sets by inner regularity. Spectral integrals are defined by dominated convergence, §26-3.2. Commutativity is transferred from measures on decent sets to spectral integrals, §26-2.12,3.10,11. Null sets are defined in terms of μ_{xy} for $x, y \in H$ rather than one single measures but the ground has been prepared in §21-5. Properties unique to spectral measures are developed in §26-4. Product spectral measures prepare the amalgamation of spectral measures of self-adjoint operators to normal operators. For a specific operator A, f(A) is defined in $\S14-6$ for every continuous function f. In the first section of this chapter, we extend to semi-continuous functions to obtain a spectral measure on semiintervals leading to spectral representation of A. Finally, isolated eigenvalues provide an interpretation of spectral measures in terms of diagonable matrices.

25. For integration on locally compact spaces in Chapter 27, we define regularity in terms of valuations of vector measures. Positive linear forms on the spaces of continuous functions with compact support are identified with regular positive measures and through breakable vector lattices, orderbounded linear forms on with regular measures. Finally the duals of continuous functions on compact spaces are identified with regular measures.

Almost Periodic Functions and Group Representations

26. Almost periodic functions appear in older books such as [Loomis] and [Yosida] but practically vanish in most of recent texts. We want to promote them because mean-values behave like translation-invariant integrals while Haar integrals demand local compactness which is not available in infinite dimensional groups or spaces. Probably special functions or harmonic analysis [Gong] could be developed in infinite dimensional cases.

27. We motivate the readers with a simple example that the sum of two periodic functions need not be periodic and almost periodic functions, abbreviated as ap-functions, have closed relation to group representations. We follow [vonNeumann] and [Maak] closely to introduce mean-values, convolutions and eigen expansion in terms of projectors. We restrict ourselves to matrix representations because of their simplicity and richness. Matrix notation is used whenever possible. Chapters 28,29 should cover the contents of most undergraduate courses in this area. Last two chapters are what we have done on top of [vonNeumann]. For a history of ap-functions, see [Levitan].

28. In real life, we are interested only in continuous unitary representations such as $e^{i\theta x}$ in one dimensional case. We have to define the scope of ap-functions that we work comfortably. Motivated by the duality of compact groups, we introduce saturated closed invariant ideals of comfortable almost periodic functions on groups G, abbreviated as cap-functions. Chapter 30 deals with the duality between cap-functions and representations. Finally, we point out the special cases of additive groups of normed spaces and compact groups.

29. Although mean-values behave like integrals but Monotone Convergence Theorem fails §31-1.3,4. The final Chapter starts with representations of product groups. The mean space M(G) is defined as the dual of $C_{\infty}(G)$ of capfunctions. It turns out that M(G) has rich structures including convolution, variation and mean-values. With dual order, Monotone Convergence Theorem and Fatou's Lemma hold for means. Parallel to integration theory, we embed cap-functions into M(G) and its closure $\ell_1(G)$ acts like the counter part of L_1 -spaces. Due to the restriction of §30-3.9, we have are unable to develop something on $\ell_p(G)$. Look up our web-page for recent development.

30. We hope that the uniqueness of this book could fill in a gap among the current literatures.

Chapter 1 Metric Spaces

1-1 Standard Finite Dimensional Vector Spaces

1-1.1. Most treatments of functional analysis are applicable to both real and complex cases. In order to unify our notation, let \mathbb{K} denote either the real field \mathbb{R} or the complex field \mathbb{C} . Write $i^2 = -1$. The conjugate of a complex number z will be denoted by z^- , the real part by $\operatorname{Re}(z)$ and the imaginary part by $\operatorname{Im}(z)$ respectively. Scalar-valued maps are normally called *functions* in this book.

1-1.2. Let E be a vector space. A function $x \to ||x||$ from E into \mathbb{R} is called a *norm* on E if for all $x, y \in E$, we have

(a) $||x|| \ge 0$, positive ;

(b) ||x|| = 0 iff x = 0, non-degenerate ;

(c) $||x + y|| \le ||x|| + ||y||$, triangular inequality;

(d) $\|\lambda x\| = |\lambda| \|x\|$, for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$, scalar multiplication.

A vector space together with a given norm is called a *normed space*. Norms generalize the concept of absolute values of numbers.

1-1.3. **Example** The vector space \mathbb{K}^n consists of columns of n numbers in \mathbb{K} but for convenience we shall frequently write them as rows: $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$ where x_j is the *j*-th coordinate of *x*. The same notation will be applied to other letters without further specification. For each $x \in \mathbb{K}^n$, let

and
$$\|x\|_1 = |x_1| + |x_2| + \dots + |x_n|$$
$$\|x\|_{\infty} = \max\{|x_1|, |x_2|, \dots, |x_n|\}.$$

It can be easily verified that they are norms on \mathbb{K}^n . We shall write \mathbb{K}_1^n and \mathbb{K}_{∞}^n to indicate the normed spaces with specific norms in use. Note that we implicitly assume $n \geq 1$.

1-1.4. <u>Schwartz's Inequality</u> For all $x, y \in \mathbb{K}^n$, let $\langle x, y \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^n x_j y_j^-$. Then we have $|\langle x, y \rangle| \leq ||x|| ||y||$. The number $\langle x, y \rangle$ is called the *inner* product of x, y. Chapter 13 on Hilbert spaces should be read concurrently. *Proof.* Consider the special case when all coordinates x_j, y_j are positive. Since

$$||x||^2 + 2t < x, y > +t^2 ||y||^2 = \sum_{j=1}^n (x_j + ty_j)^2 \ge 0$$

for all real number t, the discriminant of the above positive definite quadratic form in a real variable t must be negative, i.e. $\langle x, y \rangle^2 - ||x||^2 ||y||^2 \leq 0$ which gives the result. The general case is obtained from the following simple calculation: $|\langle x, y \rangle| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} |x_j| |y_j| \leq ||x|| ||y||$.

1-1.5. Example The expression

$$||x|| = \sqrt{|x_1|^2 + |x_2|^2 + \dots + |x_n|^2} = \sqrt{\langle x, x \rangle}, \quad \forall \ x \in \mathbb{K}^n$$

defines a norm on \mathbb{K}^n which is called the *usual norm* or the Euclidean norm. According to coordinate geometry, ||x|| is the distance from the origin to x. We shall write \mathbb{K}_2^n to indicate this norm. Whenever no norm is mentioned explicitly, the usual norm is assumed.

 \underline{Proof} . We shall prove the triangular inequality only and leave the other verification as an exercise. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} (\|x+y\|)^2 &= \sum_{j=1}^n (x_j+y_j)(x_j+y_j)^- = \sum_{j=1}^n \{x_jx_j^- + x_jy_j^- + x_j^-y_j + y_jy_j^-\} \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^n \{x_jx_j^- + 2\operatorname{Re}(x_jy_j^-) + y_jy_j^-\} \le \sum_{j=1}^n \{|x_j|^2 + |y_j|^2 + 2|x_j| \ |y_j^-|\} \\ &\le \|x\|^2 + \|y\|^2 + 2\|x\| \ \|y\| = (\|x\| + \|y\|)^2. \end{aligned}$$

Taking square root gives $||x + y|| \le ||x|| + ||y||$.

1-1.6. **Exercise** Let E be a normed space. The set $\{x \in E : ||x|| = 1\}$ is called the *unit sphere* of E. Sketch the unit spheres of the normed spaces \mathbb{R}^2_1 , \mathbb{R}^2_2 and \mathbb{R}^2_{∞} .

1-1.7. <u>Exercise</u> Let E, F be normed spaces. For every vector (x, y) in the product vector space $E \times F$, let

$$\begin{split} \|(x,y)\|_1 &= \|x\| + \|y\|, \\ \|(x,y)\|_{\infty} &= \max\{\|x\|,\|y\|\} \\ \|(x,y)\|_2 &= \sqrt{\|x\|^2 + \|y\|^2}. \end{split}$$

and

Prove that these are all norms on $E \times F$. The product set $X \times Y$ together with one of the above norms is called a *product normed space*.

1-1.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove the inequality : $|||x|| - ||y||| \le ||x - y||$ for all x, y in a normed space.

1-2 Convergent Sequences in Metric Spaces

1-2.1. In analysis, we are interested in the concept of approximation and convergence which will be described in term of distance between two points in spaces. A metric space does not require any algebraic structure. However apart from the discrete metric spaces, practically all metric spaces in this book can be regarded as subsets of normed spaces.

1-2.2. Let X be a non-empty set. A function $d: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ is called a *metric* if for all $x, y, z \in X$, we have

(a) $d(x, y) \ge 0$, positive;

(b) d(x, y) = 0 iff x = y, non-degenerate;

(c) d(x, y) = d(y, x), symmetric;

(d) $d(x, z) \leq d(x, y) + d(y, z)$, triangular inequality.

The ordered pair X[d] is called a *metric space*. For simplicity we shall use the symbol d for all metrics whenever there is no ambiguity. Hence we write X instead of X[d].

1-2.3. **Example** Let X be a non-empty set. For all $x, y \in X$, let d(x, y) = 1 if $x \neq y$ and d(x, y) = 0 otherwise. Then d is obviously a metric on X called *discrete metric*. In this case, X[d] is called a *discrete metric space*.

1-2.4. **Exercise** Let X be a subset of a normed space E. For all $x, y \in X$, let d(x, y) = ||x - y||. Show that d is a metric on X. In particular, every normed space is a metric space.

1-2.5. Let X be a set. A map from the subset $\{1, 2, 3, \dots\}$ of integers into X is called a *sequence* in X. Because we always emphasize on the image of the function we shall adopt the notation $\{x_n : n \ge 1\}$ or simply $\{x_n\}$. For definiteness and convenience, we always assume that the starting index is 1 unless it is specified otherwise.

1-2.6. Let X be a metric space. A sequence $\{x_n\}$ in X is said to converge to a point $b \in X$ if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer p such that for every $n \ge p$, we have $d(x_n, b) \le \varepsilon$. In this case, the point b is called the *limit* of $\{x_n\}$. We shall write $x_n \to b$ or $\lim x_n = b$ as $n \to \infty$. Clearly a sequence $\{x_n\}$ converges to $b \in X$ iff the sequence $\{d(x_n, b)\}$ of real numbers converges to $0 \in \mathbb{R}$.

1-2.7. **Theorem** Every convergent sequence $\{x_n\}$ has a unique limit.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Suppose to the contrary that $a \neq b$ are limits of a convergent sequence $\overline{\{x_n\}}$. Then for $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{3}d(a,b) > 0$, there are integers p,q such that $d(x_n,a) \leq \varepsilon$

for all $n \ge p$ and $d(x_n, b) \le \varepsilon$ for all $n \ge q$. Let n = p + q. Then the following contradiction establishes the proof:

$$3\varepsilon = d(a,b) \le d(a,x_n) + d(x_n,b) = d(x_n,a) + d(x_n,b) \le \varepsilon + \varepsilon = 2\varepsilon. \qquad \Box$$

1-2.8. A sequence $\{y_n\}$ is called a *subsequence* of $\{x_n\}$ if there is a sequence of integers $n(1) < n(2) < n(3) < \cdots$ such that $y_j = x_{n(j)}$ for all j. Since all indices of sequences in this book start with 1, we have $n(j) \ge j$ for all j.

1-2.9. **Theorem** If $x_n \to b$ and if $\{y_n\}$ is a subsequence of $\{x_n\}$ then $y_n \to b$. <u>Proof</u>. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Since $x_n \to b$, there is an integer p such that for all $n \ge p$ we have $d(x_n, b) \le \varepsilon$. With the same notation of last paragraph, for every $j \ge p$, we have $n(j) \ge j \ge p$ and hence $d(y_j, b) = d(x_{n(j)}, b) \le \varepsilon$. This proves $y_n \to b$.

1-2.10. **Exercise** Various intervals denoted by circular and square brackets are described by the following examples : $[2,3) = \{x \in \mathbb{R} : 2 \le x < 3\},$ (3,4] = $\{x \in \mathbb{R} : 3 < x \le 4\}, [4,3] = \{x \in \mathbb{R} : 4 \le x \le 3\} = \emptyset$ and (3,3) = $\{x \in \mathbb{R} : 3 < x < 3\} = \emptyset$. Is the sequence $\{\frac{1}{n}\}$ convergent in the metric spaces $\mathbb{R}, [0,1]$ and (0,1] respectively?

1-2.11. <u>Exercise</u> Let $x_n = (\frac{1}{n}, \sqrt{n+1} - \sqrt{n})$ and $y_n = (3, (-1)^n)$. Prove or disprove that they are convergent in the normed spaces \mathbb{R}^2_1 , \mathbb{R}^2_2 and \mathbb{R}^2_{∞} respectively.

1-2.12. **Exercise** Prove that if $x_n = a \in X$ for all n, then $x_n \to a$.

1-2.13. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that in a discrete metric space X, if $x_n \to a$ then there is an integer p such that for all $n \ge p$, we have $x_n = a$.

1-3 Continuous Maps

1-3.1. Let X, Y be metric spaces and let $f: X \to Y$ be a given map. Then f is said to be *continuous at a point* $b \in X$ if for every sequence $x_n \to b$ in X, we have $f(x_n) \to f(b)$ in Y. Plotting the sequence $\{x_n\}$ and its image $\{f(x_n)\}$ should give an intuitive idea that when x is near b, f(x) must be near f(b). The map f is said to be *continuous on* X if it is continuous at every point of X. In calculus, typical examples of continuous functions include polynomials, exponential functions and trigonometric functions. At the end of this chapter, we shall prove that every metric space has plenty of continuous functions.

1-3.2. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let X, Y, Z be metric spaces. Suppose that $f : X \to Y$ and $g : Y \to Z$ are given maps.

(a) If f is continuous at $b \in X$ and if g is continuous at f(b) then the composite map gf is continuous at $b \in X$.

(b) If f is continuous on X and if g is continuous on Y then the composite map gf is continuous on X.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $x_n \to b$ in X. Since f is continuous at b, we have $f(x_n) \to f(b)$. Since g is continuous at f(b), we get $g[f(x_n)] \to g[f(b)]$, i.e. $(gf)(x_n) \to (gf)(b)$. This proves (a). Part (b) becomes an easy exercise.

1-3.3. <u>Exercise</u> Show that every map from a discrete metric space into a metric space is continuous.

1-3.4. Let X, Y be metric spaces. For all (x, y) and (a, b) in the product set $X \times Y$, let

$$d_1[(x, y), (a, b)] = d(x, a) + d(y, b);$$

$$d_2[(x, y), (a, b)] = \sqrt{d(x, a)^2 + d(y, b)^2};$$

 $d_{\infty}[(x, y), (a, b)] = \max\{d(x, a), d(y, b)\}.$

and

It is routine to verify that d_1, d_2, d_{∞} are metrics on $X \times Y$. The product set $X \times Y$ together with one of the metrics d_1, d_2, d_{∞} is called a *product metric space*.

1-3.5. **Theorem** Let (x_n, y_n) and (a, b) be points in the product metric space $X \times Y$. The sequence $\{(x_n, y_n)\}$ converges to (a, b) in $X \times Y$ iff $x_n \to a$ in X and $y_n \to b$ in Y.

<u>*Proof*</u>. We shall prove part the case d_1 but leave the cases d_2, d_{∞} as exercises. Suppose $(x_n, y_n) \to (a, b)$ in $X \times Y$. Then we have

$$0 \le d(x_n, a) \le d_1[(x_n, y_n), (a, b)] \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$. Hence $x_n \to a$ in X. Similarly $y_n \to b$ in Y. Conversely, suppose $x_n \to a$ in X and $y_n \to b$ in Y. Then

$$d_1[(x_n, y_n), (a, b)] = d(x_n, a) + d(y_n, b) \rightarrow 0$$

as $n \to \infty$. Therefore $(x_n, y_n) \to (a, b)$ in $X \times Y$.

1-3.6. **Exercise** Let X, Y, Z be metric spaces. Show that the projection $\pi : X \times Y \to X$ given by $\pi(x, y) = x$ is continuous. Prove that a map $f : Z \to X \times Y$ is continuous iff both coordinate maps $\pi f : Z \to X$ and

 $\varphi f: Z \to Y$ are continuous where $\varphi: X \times Y \to Y$ is the projection onto the second coordinate.

1-3.7. **Exercise** Prove that every convergent sequence $\{x_n\}$ in a normed space is bounded, i.e. there is M > 0 such that $||x_n|| \le M$ for all n. Note that bounded sets in metric spaces will be defined later in §2-2.1. Also see §2-2.9.

1-3.8. <u>Theorem</u> (a) The addition on a normed space E is a continuous map from the product space $E \times E$ into E.

(b) The scalar multiplication is a continuous map from the product space $\mathbb{K} \times E$ into E.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) Let $(x_n, y_n) \to (a, b)$ be a convergent sequence in $E \times E$. Then $x_n \to a$ and $y_n \to b$. Observe that

$$||(x_n + y_n) - (a + b)|| = ||(x_n - a) + (y_n - b)|| \le ||x_n - a|| + ||y_n - b|| \to 0,$$

as $n \to \infty$. Therefore the addition is continuous.

(b) Let $\lambda_n \to \alpha$ in \mathbb{K} and $x_n \to a$ in E be convergent sequences. Then $\{\lambda_n\}$ is bounded in \mathbb{K} . There is M > 0 such that all $|\lambda_n| \leq M$. Now observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\lambda_n x_n - \alpha a\| &= \|\lambda_n (x_n - a) + (\lambda_n - \alpha)a\| \\ &\leq |\lambda_n| \ \|x_n - a\| + |\lambda_n - \alpha| \ \|a\| \leq M \|x_n - a\| + |\lambda_n - \alpha| \ \|a\| \to 0 \end{aligned}$$

as $\rightarrow \infty$. Therefore the scalar multiplication is continuous.

1-3.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the function $x \to ||x||$ is continuous on E.

1-3.10. **Theorem** Let X, Y be metric spaces and $f: X \to Y$ be a given map. Then f is continuous at a point $b \in X$ iff for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $x \in X$ satisfies $d(x, b) \leq \delta$, we have $d(f(x), f(b)) \leq \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow) Let f be continuous at $b \in X$. Suppose to the contrary that $\exists \varepsilon > 0, \forall \delta > 0, \exists x \in X, d(x,b) \leq \delta$, and $d(f(x), f(b)) > \varepsilon$. Taking $\delta = 1/n$, there is $x_n \in X$ such that $d(x_n, b) \leq 1/n$ and $d(f(x_n), f(b)) > \varepsilon$. Therefore $x_n \to b$ but $f(x_n) \not\to f(b)$. Consequently, f cannot be continuous at b.

(\Leftarrow) Assume $x_n \to b$ in X. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Find $\delta > 0$ such that $d(x, b) \leq \delta$ implies $d(f(x), f(b)) \leq \varepsilon$. Choose p so that $\forall n \geq p, d(x_n, b) \leq \delta$, that is $d(f(x_n), f(b)) \leq \varepsilon$. Therefore $f(x_n) \to f(b)$. Consequently f is continuous at b.

1-3.11. **Exercise** Let X, Y, Z be metric spaces and let (a, b) be a point in the product space $X \times Y$. Prove that a map $f: X \times Y \to Z$ is continuous at (a, b) iff for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every $d(x, a) \leq \delta$ in X and $d(y, b) \leq \delta$ in Y we have $d[f(x, y), f(a, b)] \leq \varepsilon$.

1-3.12. **Exercise** Let E be a normed space with more than one point and let d be the metric associated with the norm. Prove that d cannot be the discrete metric.

1-4 Open Sets

1-4.1. An alternative way to describe the concept of nearness without norms or distances in more general context is to use open sets. Full development along this line is called *general topology* which is beyond our scope. Only essential properties of open sets will be introduced.

1-4.2. Let X be a metric space. Suppose $a \in X$ and r > 0. Then the set $\mathbb{B}(a, r) = \{x \in X : d(x, a) < r\}$ is called the *open ball* with center a and radius r. Similarly, the closed ball is defined as the set $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, r) = \{x \in X : d(x, a) \le r\}$. By a ball, we always mean an open ball. We may drop r such as $\mathbb{B}(a)$ if the radius is not critical in the context.

1-4.3. Lemma If $a \in \mathbb{B}(x, \alpha) \cap \mathbb{B}(y, \beta)$, then there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta) \subset \mathbb{B}(x, \alpha) \cap \mathbb{B}(y, \beta).$

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\delta = \min\{\alpha - d(x, a), \beta - d(y, a)\}$. Take any $z \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$. Then we have $d(z, a) < \delta \leq \alpha - d(x, a)$. Hence $d(z, x) \leq d(z, a) + d(a, x) < \alpha$, i.e. $z \in \mathbb{B}(x, \alpha)$. Similarly, $z \in \mathbb{B}(y, \beta)$. This completes the proof. Beginners should sketch the picture of balls with their radii.

1-4.4. A subset M of X is said to be *open* if for every $x \in M$, there is some ball $\mathbb{B}(x)$ contained in M. As a result of last theorem when x = y and $\alpha = \beta$, every open ball is open.

1-4.5. <u>**Theorem**</u> (a) Both \emptyset and X are open.

(b) If M, N are open then $M \cap N$ is open.

(c) If $\{M_i : i \in I\}$ is a family of open sets then the union $\bigcup_{i \in I} M_i$ is open.

<u>Proof</u>. Take any $x \in M \cap N$. There are balls A, B with the same center x such that $A \subset M$ and $B \subset N$. There is another ball C with center x such that $C \subset A \cap B$. Hence $C \subset M \cap N$. Since $x \in M \cap N$ is arbitrary, $M \cap N$ is open. This proves (b). The rest is left as an exercise.

1-4.6. **Exercise** Prove that a sequence $\{x_n\}$ in X converges to $b \in X$ iff for every open set V containing b, there is an integer p such that for all $n \ge p$, we have $x_n \in V$.

1-4.7. Let M be a subset of a metric space X. Then a point $x \in X$ is called an *interior point* of M if there is a ball $\mathbb{B}(x)$ contained in M. The set of all interior points of M is called the *interior* of M. It is denoted by M° .

1-4.8. <u>Theorem</u> (a) If A is an open subset of M, then we have A ⊂ M^o.
(b) M^o is the largest open subset of M.
(c) M is open iff M = M^o.

(d) $M^{oo} = M^{o}$.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) Suppose A is an open subset of M. Take any $x \in A$. Since A is open, there is a ball $\mathbb{B}(x) \subset A$. By $A \subset M$, we have $\mathbb{B}(x) \subset M$. Therefore, x is an interior point of M, i.e. $x \in M^{\circ}$. This proves $A \subset M^{\circ}$.

(b) Clearly M^o is a subset of M by definition. Take any $x \in M^o$. There is a ball $\mathbb{B}(x) \subset M$. Since $\mathbb{B}(x)$ is an open subset of M, it follows from (a) that $\mathbb{B}(x) \subset M^o$. Because $x \in M^o$ is arbitrary, the set M^o is open. It follows from (a) that M^o is the largest one.

(c,d) These are left as exercises.

1-4.9. <u>Exercise</u> Describe the interiors of the sets $\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y = x^2\}$ and $\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y \ge x^2\}$ respectively.

1-4.10. **Exercise** Show that every subset of a discrete metric space is open.

1-4.11. **Exercise** Prove that a finite product of open sets is open.

1-4.12. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the only non-empty open vector subspace of a normed space E is E itself.

1-5 Closures of Sets

1-5.1. Let M be a subset of a metric space X. Then a point y is called a *closure point* of M if there is a sequence $\{x_n\}$ in M which converges to y. The set of all closure points of M is called the *closure* of M. It is denoted by \overline{M} .

1-5.2. <u>Theorem</u> A point $y \in X$ is a closure point of M iff every ball $\mathbb{B}(y)$ contains a point of M.

<u>Proof</u>. Assume y is a closure point of M. Then there is sequence $\{x_n\}$ in \overline{M} which converges to y. Let $\mathbb{B}(y,r)$ be a given ball with center y. There is an integer p such that for all $n \ge p$, we have $d(x_n, y) \le r/2$. In this case, the ball $\mathbb{B}(y,r)$ contain the point x_p of M. Conversely, suppose every ball $\mathbb{B}(y,\frac{1}{n})$

contains a point of M, say x_n . Then $\{x_n\}$ is a sequence in M which converges to y.

1-5.3. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that a point $y \in X$ is a closure point of M iff every open set containing y also contains a point of M.

1-5.4. A subset M of a metric space X is said to be *closed* if it contains all its closure points, i.e. $\overline{M} \subset M$.

1-5.5. <u>Theorem</u> (a) \overline{M} is a closed set containing M.

(b) If H is any closed set containing M then $\overline{M} \subset H$. Therefore \overline{M} is the smallest closed set containing M.

(c) M is closed iff $M = \overline{M}$.

(d) $\overline{\overline{M}} = \overline{M}$.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) Let x be a closure point of \overline{M} . Consider any ball $\mathbb{B}(x)$. There is $y \in \mathbb{B}(x) \cap \overline{M}$. Since the ball $\mathbb{B}(x)$ is open, there is another ball $\mathbb{B}(y) \subset \mathbb{B}(x)$. Since y is a closure point of M, there is $z \in \mathbb{B}(y) \cap M$. Thus, $z \in \mathbb{B}(x) \cap M$. Therefore that x is a closure point of M, i.e. $x \in \overline{M}$. This proves that \overline{M} is a closed set. By considering the constant sequences, clearly we get $M \subset \overline{M}$.

(b) Take any $y \in \overline{M}$. There is sequence $\{x_n\}$ in M convergent to y. From $M \subset H$, $\{x_n\}$ is also a sequence in H convergent to y, i.e. $y \in \overline{H}$. Since H is closed, we have $y \in H$. This proves (b).

Parts (c,d) are left as exercises.

1-5.6. **Theorem** A subset M of a metric space X is closed iff $X \setminus M$ is open. <u>Proof</u>. Assume that M is closed. Suppose to the contrary $X \setminus M$ is not open. There is $x \in X \setminus M$ such that for every r > 0, $\mathbb{B}(x,r) \notin X \setminus M$, i.e. $\mathbb{B}(x,r) \cap M \neq \emptyset$. Thus $x \in \overline{M}$. Since M is closed, we have $x \in M$ which contradicts the choice of x. Therefore $X \setminus M$ is open. Conversely, assume that $X \setminus M$ is open but M is not closed. Then there is $x \in \overline{M} \setminus M$. Hence X belongs to the open set $X \setminus M$. There is a ball $\mathbb{B}(x) \subset X \setminus M$, i.e. $\mathbb{B}(x) \cap M = \emptyset$. On the other hand, since x is a closure point of M, we have $\mathbb{B}(x) \cap M \neq \emptyset$. This contradiction establishes the proof. \Box

1-5.7. <u>Corollary</u> Both the empty set and the whole space are closed sets. Finite unions of closed sets are closed. Arbitrary intersections of closed sets are closed.

1-5.8. **Exercise** Prove $\overline{A \times B} = \overline{A} \times \overline{B}$ for all subsets A, B of metric spaces X, Y respectively. Prove that finite products of closed sets are closed.

1-5.9. <u>Exercise</u> Find the closure of an open ball $\mathbb{B}(x, 1)$ in a discrete metric space. What is the closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(x, 1)$?

1-5.10. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every finite subset of a metric space is closed.

1-5.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the closure of a vector subspace of a normed space is a vector subspace.

1-5.12. **Exercise** Describe the closures of the sets $\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y = x^2\}$ and $\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y > x^2\}$ respectively.

- 1-5.13. **Exercise** Show that the set $\{(\cos t, \sin t, t) : t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ is closed in \mathbb{R}^3 .
- 1-5.14. **Exercise** Find the closure of the set $\{(\cos \frac{1}{t}, \sin \frac{1}{t}, t) : t > 0\}$ in \mathbb{R}^3 .
- 1-5.15. <u>Example</u> For every subset A of a metric space X, we have $\overline{A} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{a \in A} \mathbb{B}(a, 1/n) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{a \in A} \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, 1/n).$

Proof. Let $x \in \overline{A}$. Choose $a_j \in A$ with $a_j \to x$ as $j \to \infty$. For every n, there is j such that $d(x, a_j) < 1/n$, i.e. $x \in \mathbb{B}(a_j, 1/n)$. We have proved that $\overline{A} \subset \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{a \in A} \mathbb{B}(a, 1/n)$. Next, let $x \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{a \in A} \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, 1/n)$. For every n, there is $a_n \in A$ such that $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_n, 1/n)$, i.e. $d(a_n, x) \leq 1/n$. Hence $a_n \to x$ with $a_n \in A$, i.e. $x \in \overline{A}$.

1-6 Characterization of Continuity

1-6.1. An important way to prove a set to be open or closed is by inverse images of continuous maps. A natural question at this stage is whether every metric space has a continuous function. The answer will be provided by the distance function. Glue Theorem will offer a nice way to piece continuous maps together.

1-6.2. **Theorem** Let X, Y be metric spaces and $f: X \to Y$ be a given map. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) f is continuous on X.

(b) The inverse image of every closed set in Y is closed in X.

(c) The inverse image of every open set in Y is open in X.

(d) For every subset A of X, we have $f(\overline{A}) \subset \overline{f(A)}$.

<u>Proof.</u> $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Let M be a closed set in Y and let $a \in X$ be a closure point of $f^{-1}(M)$. Then there are $x_n \in f^{-1}(M)$ satisfying $x_n \to a$. Since f is continuous at a, we have $f(x_n) \to f(a)$ in Y. Now $f(x_n) \in M$ implies that f(a) is a closure point of the closed set M. Hence $f(a) \in M$, i.e. $a \in f^{-1}(M)$. Therefore $f^{-1}(M)$ is closed.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ It follows immediately by taking complements.

 $(c \Rightarrow a)$ Let $a \in X$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Since the inverse image of the open set $\mathbb{B}(f(a),\varepsilon)$ is an open set containing the point a, there is a ball $\mathbb{B}(a,2\delta) \subset f^{-1}\mathbb{B}(f(a),\varepsilon)$. Now suppose $d(x,a) \leq \delta$. Then $x \in \mathbb{B}(a,2\delta)$. Hence $x \in f^{-1}[\mathbb{B}(f(a),\varepsilon)]$, i.e. $f(x) \in \mathbb{B}(f(a),\varepsilon)$, or, $d(f(x), f(a)) \leq \varepsilon$. Therefore f is continuous at every point of X, i.e. continuous on X.

 $(a \Rightarrow d)$ Let $a \in \overline{A}$. There are $x_n \in A$ convergent to a. Since f is continuous, we have $f(x_n) \to f(a)$. Hence $f(a) \in \overline{f(A)}$. Therefore $f(\overline{A}) \subset \overline{f(A)}$.

 $(d \Rightarrow b)$ Let M be a closed set in Y. Define $A = f^{-1}(M)$. Then we have

$$f(\overline{A}) \subset \overline{f(A)} \subset \overline{ff^{-1}(M)} \subset \overline{M} \subset M$$

i.e. $\overline{f^{-1}(M)} \subset \overline{A} \subset f^{-1}(M)$. Therefore $f^{-1}(M)$ is closed.

1-6.3. **Exercise** Show that the set $\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : ye^{-x} \sin(x+y) > x \cos xy\}$ is open in \mathbb{R}^2 and the set $\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : ye^{-x} \sin(x+y) \ge x \cos xy\}$ is closed in \mathbb{R}^2 .

1-6.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let X[d] be a metric space. Then the distance function $d: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous on the product space. In particular, d(a, x) is a continuous function in x.

Proof. It follows immediately from $|d(x, y) - d(a, b)| \le d(x, a) + d(y, b)$. \Box

1-6.5. **Exercise** Show that the sphere $\{x \in X : d(a, x) = r\}$, the closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, r)$, and the set $\{x \in X : d(a, x) \ge r\}$ are closed. Along the same line, prove that the open ball $\mathbb{B}(a, r)$ and the set $\{x \in X : d(a, x) > r\}$ are open.

1-6.6. Let X[d] be a metric space and H a subset of X. Then the restriction $d|_H$ of the metric d onto H is a metric on H. It is called the *relative metric*. The metric space $H[d|_H]$ is called a *subspace* of X. For simplicity, we shall write d instead of $d|_H$.

1-6.7. <u>Exercise</u> Let $X = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |x| \le 2, |y| \le 2\}$ be equipped with the relative metric from \mathbb{R}^2 . Sketch the open ball in X with center (1, 1) and radius 2.

1-6.8. Let X, Y be metric spaces and $f : X \to Y$ be a given map. Suppose H is a subset of X. Then f is said to be *continuous on* H if the restriction $f|_H$
is continuous on the metric subspace H. Clearly, if f is continuous on X then f is continuous on H. For simplicity, we write f instead of $f|_{H}$.

1-6.9. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the function $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ given by f(x) = 0 for $x \leq 1$ and f(x) = 1 for x > 1 is discontinuous on \mathbb{R} but continuous on the subset $(0, 1) \cup (1, 2)$.

1-6.10. Let Y be a subspace of a metric space X. Write $x_n \to a$ in Y if all x_n, a are in Y and $d(x_n, a) \to 0$. A subset V of Y is said to be *closed* (respectively open) in Y if V is closed (respectively open) in the metric subspace Y. Note that Y is open in itself but need not be open in X.

1-6.11. **Lemma** Let $A \subset B$ be two subsets of a metric space X. If A is closed in B and if B is closed in X, then A is closed in X.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $x_n \in A$ and $y \in X$. Suppose $x_n \to y$ in X. Since $A \subset B$, we have $x_n \in B$. Since B is closed in X, we have $y \in B$. Now y is a closure point of A on the subspace B. Because A is closed in B, y belongs to A. Therefore A is closed in X.

1-6.12. <u>Exercise</u> State and prove a result for open sets similar to the last lemma.

1-6.13. <u>Glue Theorem</u> Let X, Y be metric spaces and $f: X \to Y$ be a given map. Suppose $X = M \cup N$ is the union of two closed subsets M, N. If f is continuous on both M, N separately, then f is continuous on X.

<u>Proof.</u> Let V be a closed subset of Y. Since f is continuous on M, the set $\overline{(f|_M)^{-1}(V)} = M \cap f^{-1}(V)$ is closed in M. Since M is closed in X, $M \cap f^{-1}(V)$ is closed in X. Similarly, $N \cap f^{-1}(V)$ is closed in X. Therefore

$$f^{-1}(V) = [M \cap f^{-1}(V)] \cup [N \cap f^{-1}(V)]$$

is closed in X. Consequently, f is continuous on X.

1-6.14. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the function $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ given by f(x) = x for $x \leq 0$ and $f(x) = x^2$ for x > 0 is continuous on \mathbb{R} .

1-7 Duality of Closure-Interior Operators

1-7.1. Open and closed sets are complement to each other as in §1-5.6. The following theorem extends this duality to operators.

1-7.2. **Theorem** For every subset M of a metric space X, we have $M'^{-\prime} = M^{\circ}$ and $M'^{\circ\prime} = M^{-}$ where $M' = X \setminus M$ denotes the complement of M.

<u>Proof.</u> Observe that $x \in M'^{-}$ iff $x \in M'^{-}$ is false. The negation of $\forall r > 0, \mathbb{B}(x,r) \cap M' \neq \emptyset$ is the statement: $\exists r > 0, \mathbb{B}(x,r) \cap M' = \emptyset$, that is $\mathbb{B}(x,r) \subset M$. This is equivalent to $x \in M^{\circ}$. Therefore $M'^{-} = M^{\circ}$. Replacing M by its complement M', we obtain the second identity. \Box

1-7.3. <u>Exercise</u> Let $M = (1,2] \cup \{\frac{1}{n} : n > 1\}$ be the union of a semiinterval and a sequence in the real line. How many new sets can you obtain by constructing interior, closure and complement repeatedly?

1-7.4. Let M be a subset of a metric space X. A point $x \in X$ is called a *boundary point* of M if every ball $\mathbb{B}(x)$ contains a point in M and also a point not in M. The set of all boundary points of M is called the *boundary* of M and is denoted by ∂M . A point $x \in X$ is called an *exterior point* of M if there is a ball disjoint from M. The set of all exterior points of M is called the *exterior* of M and is denoted by ext(M).

1-7.5. **Exercise** Prove that $\partial M = M^- \setminus M^o = M^- \cap M'^-$. Hence show that the boundary of a set is closed. Also prove that M^o and ∂M form a partition of M^- .

1-7.6. **Exercise** Prove that $ext(M) = M^{-\prime} = M^{\prime o}$. Hence deduce that ext(M) is open. Show that ext(M) and M^{-} form a partition of the whole space X.

1-7.7. **Example** Every non-empty open interval contains a rational number and an irrational number.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let a < b be the endpoints of the given interval. Choose any integer $n > \frac{1}{b-a}$ and mark the points $0, \pm \frac{1}{n}, \pm \frac{2}{n}, \pm \frac{3}{n}, \cdots$ on the real line **R**. It is obvious that the interval (a, b) has to contain a rational number of the form $\frac{m}{n}$. Repeating the same process with $0, \pm \frac{1}{n\sqrt{2}}, \pm \frac{2}{n\sqrt{2}}, \pm \frac{3}{n\sqrt{2}}, \cdots$, we prove the case for irrational.

1-7.8. <u>Exercise</u> Find the closure, interior, boundary and exterior of the set of rational numbers in the interval (0, 1).

1-7.9. **Exercise** Find the closure, interior, boundary and exterior of the set of points $(\frac{1}{m}, \frac{1}{n}) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ where m, n run over all non-zero integers.

1-7.10. **Exercise** Find the closure, interior, boundary and exterior of the closed ball of \mathbb{R}_2^2 with center at the origin and radius $\frac{1}{2}$. Repeat the same problem when \mathbb{R}_d^2 is given the discrete metric.

1-8 Partition of Unity

1-8.1. Intuitively, through a partition of unity, a point x in an abstract metric space is described by a vector $(\alpha_1(x), \alpha_2(x), \dots, \alpha_n(x))$ in \mathbb{R}^n where α_j are continuous functions of x. Compactness in Chapter 2 will allow us to reduce an arbitrary open cover to a finite cover so that partition of unity can be applied. For example, see §§5-3.3, 12-4.5. We start off with the distance function.

1-8.2. Let A be a non-empty subset of a metric space X. The distance from a point $x \in X$ to A is defined by $d(x, A) = \inf_{a \in A} d(x, a)$.

1-8.3. **Lemma** For all $x, y \in X$, we have $|d(x, A) - d(y, A)| \le d(x, y)$. As a result, d(x, A) is a continuous function of $x \in X$. Consequently, we have sufficient amount of continuous functions on every metric space.

<u>Proof</u>. For each $a \in A$, we have $d(x, A) \leq d(x, a) \leq d(x, y) + d(y, a)$. Taking infimum over $a \in A$, we obtain $d(x, A) \leq d(x, y) + d(y, A)$, that is, $d(x, A) - d(y, A) \leq d(x, y)$. Interchanging x, y, we obtain the required inequality.

1-8.4. **Lemma** d(x, A) = 0 iff x is a closure point of A.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose d(x, A) = 0. For every $n \ge 1$, there is $a_n \in A$ such that $\overline{d(x, a_n)} \le \frac{1}{n}$. Hence $a_n \to x$. Therefore x is a closure point of A. Conversely, let x be a closure point of A. There is a sequence $\{a_n\}$ in A convergent to X. Hence we have $0 \le d(x, A) \le d(x, a_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Therefore d(x, A) = 0. \Box

1-8.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let A, B be disjoint closed subsets of a metric space X. Then there is a continuous function $f: X \to [0, 1]$ such that f(A) = 0 and f(B) = 1.

<u>Proof.</u> Note that if one of A, B is empty, then a constant function would do the job. So, assume both A, B are non-empty. Firstly, we claim $d(x, A) + d(x, B) > 0, \forall x \in X$. In fact, suppose to the contrary that for some $x \in X, d(x, A) + d(x, B) = 0$. Then d(x, A) = d(x, B) = 0. Hence x is a closure point for both A, B. Since A, B are closed, x belongs to both A, B. This contradicts the fact that A, B are disjoint. Therefore the following function is well-defined:

$$f(x) = \frac{d(x, A)}{d(x, A) + d(x, B)}, \forall x \in X.$$

Clearly it is a required continuous function on X.

1-8.6. **Exercise** Prove that the function g(x) = [1 - f(x)]a + f(x)b where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ is continuous on X and satisfies g(A) = a, g(B) = b.

1-8.7. <u>Corollary</u> Let A be a closed set and V an open set in X. If $A \subset V$ then there is an open set W satisfying $A \subset W \subset \overline{W} \subset V$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since A and $X \setminus V$ are disjoint closed sets, there is a continuous function $\overline{f: X} \to [0, 1]$ such that f(A) = 0 and $f(X \setminus V) = 1$. Then $W = f^{-1}(-\infty, \frac{1}{2})$ is an open set containing A and $\overline{W} \subset f^{-1}(-\infty, \frac{1}{2}] \subset V$.

1-8.8. Lemma Let A be a closed subset of a metric space X and let $\{V_j : 1 \leq j \leq n\}$ be an open cover of A, i.e. $A \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n V_j$ and all V_j are open. Then there are closed subsets B_j of A such that $A = \bigcup_{k=1}^n B_k$ and $B_j \subset V_j$ for each $1 \leq j \leq n$.

<u>Proof</u>. It suffices to prove the case for n = 2. Let U, V be open sets such that $\overline{A \subset U} \cap V$. Let $M = A \setminus V$ and $N = A \setminus U$. Then both M, N are closed sets and they are disjoint. There is a continuous function f on X such that f(M) = 0 and f(N) = 1. Then both $P = f^{-1}(-\infty, \frac{1}{2})$ and $Q = f^{-1}(\frac{1}{2}, \infty)$ are open sets containing M, N respectively. Therefore $E = A \setminus Q$ and $F = A \setminus P$ are closed subsets of A. Clearly we have $E \cup F = A \setminus (P \cap Q) = A$. Furthermore, observe that $E = A \setminus Q \subset A \setminus N \subset U$. Similarly we obtain $F \subset V$. This completes the proof. It would be helpful if you sketch a picture to go along with the above constructions.

1-8.9. Let X be a metric space and $f: X \to \mathbb{K}$ a given function. Then the *support* of f is defined to be the closure of the set $\{x \in X : f(x) \neq 0\}$. It is denoted by $\operatorname{supp}(f)$. Let A be a closed subset of X and $\{V_j : 1 \leq j \leq n\}$ an open cover of A. A sequence of continuous functions $\alpha_j : X \to [0, 1]$ is called a *partition of unity* on A subordinated to $\{V_j\}$ if the following conditions hold:

(a) $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j(a) = 1$ for all $a \in A$.

(b) $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j(x) \leq 1$ for all $x \in X$.

(c) for each j, the support of α_j is contained in V_j .

1-8.10. **Example** Let A = (0, 4], $X = (0, \infty)$, U = (0, 3) and V = (1, 6). Clearly

 $\{U, V\}$ is an open cover of the closed subset A of X. Let

$$\alpha(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } 0 < x \le 1, \\ 2 - x, & \text{if } 1 < x \le 2, \\ 0, & \text{if } 2 \le x, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\beta(x) = \begin{cases} 1 - \alpha(x), & \text{if } 0 < x \le 4, \\ 5 - x, & \text{if } 4 \le x \le 5, \\ 0, & \text{if } 5 \le x. \end{cases}$$

Find the supports of α, β . Show that $\{\alpha, \beta\}$ is a partition of unity on A subordinated to $\{U, V\}$.

1-8.11. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a closed subset of a metric space X. Then for every open cover $\{V_j : 1 \le j \le n\}$ of A, there is a partition of unity on A subordinated to $\{V_n\}$.

Proof. Let $V_0 = X \setminus A$. Then $\{V_j : 0 \le j \le n\}$ is an open cover of the whole space X. Let B_j be closed sets in X such that $X = \bigcup_{k=0}^n B_k$ and for all $j, B_j \subset V_j$. Now for each j, there is an open set W_j such that $B_j \subset W_j \subset \overline{W_j} \subset V_j$ and also there is a continuous function $f_j : X \to [0, 1]$ such that $f_j(B_j) = 1$ and $f_j(X \setminus W_j) = 0$. Take any $x \in X$. Then $x \in B_j$ for some $0 \le j \le n$, i.e. $f_j(x) = 1$. Hence $\sum_{k=0}^n f_k(x) \ge 1$. Therefore the functions $\alpha_j : X \to [0, 1]$ given by $\alpha_j(x) = \frac{f_j(x)}{\sum_{k=0}^n f_k(x)}$ are well-defined and continuous on X. Observe that if $\alpha_j(x) \ne 0$, then $x \notin W_j$, i.e. $x \in W_j$. Hence $\supp(\alpha_j) \subset \overline{W_j} \subset V_j$ for each $j = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, n$. In particular, if $\alpha_0(x) \ne 0$, we have $x \in V_0$, i.e. $x \notin A$. Thus $\alpha_0(A) = 0$. Now it is obvious to verify all other conditions for $\{\alpha_j : 1 \le j \le n\}$ to be a partition of unity on A subordinated to $\{V_i : 1 \le j \le n\}$.

1-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further</u> <u>Readings</u> : Dunford, Taylor-58, Kreyszig, Yosida and Meise.

Chapter 2

Complete, Compact and Connected Sets

2-1 Cauchy Sequences

2-1.1. The tail of a convergent sequence is eventually near its limit and hence becomes small as we throw away sufficiently many initial terms. The concept of sequences with small tails will be formalized as Cauchy sequences. It turns out that convergence is equivalent to being Cauchy and possessing a convergent subsequence or a cluster point.

2-1.2. Let X be a metric space. A sequence $\{x_n\}$ in X is said to be *Cauchy* if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p$, we have $d(x_m, x_n) \le \varepsilon$.

2-1.3. <u>Theorem</u> Every convergent sequence is Cauchy.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $x_n \to b$ in a metric space X. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer p such that for all $n \ge p$, we have $d(x_n, b) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Now take any $m, n \ge p$. Observe that

$$d(x_m, x_n) \le d(x_m, b) + d(b, x_n) = d(x_m, b) + d(x_n, b) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon = \varepsilon.$$

Therefore the given sequence is Cauchy.

2-1.4. <u>Theorem</u> Every subsequence of a Cauchy sequence is Cauchy.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{y_j\}$ be a subsequence of a Cauchy sequence $\{x_n : n \ge 1\}$ in a metric space X. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p$, we have $d(x_m, x_n) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. There is a sequence of integers $n(1) < n(2) < n(2) < \cdots$ such that $y_j = x_{n(j)}$ for all j. Now for all $j, k \ge p$, we have $n(j) \ge p$ and $n(k) \ge p$. Hence we have $d(y_j, y_k) = d(x_{n(j)}, x_{n(k)}) \le \varepsilon$. Therefore $\{y_j\}$ is Cauchy.

2-1.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $\{x_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in a metric space X. If it has a subsequence $\{y_j\}$ convergent to some $b \in X$, then the original sequence $\{x_n\}$ also converges to b.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Since $\{x_n : n \ge 1\}$ is Cauchy, there is an integer $p \ge 1$ such that for all $m, n \ge p$, we have $d(x_m, x_n) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. There is a sequence of integers $n(1) < n(2) < n(2) < \cdots$ such that $y_j = x_{n(j)}$ for all j. Since $y_j \to b$, there is an integer $q \ge 1$ such that for all $j \ge q$ we have $d(y_j, b) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Let k = p + q. Take any $m \ge n(k)$. Then both $n(k), m \ge p$. Hence, $d(x_m, x_{n(k)}) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Since $k \ge q$, we have $d(x_{n(k)}, b) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Consequently, $d(x_m, b) \le \varepsilon$ for all $m \ge n(k)$. Therefore $x_n \to b$ as $n \to \infty$.

2-1.6. **Exercise** Let $x_n = 1/n$ for all $n \ge 1$. Prove that it is convergent on the real line \mathbb{R} and hence it is a Cauchy sequence. Prove that it is not convergent on its subspace (0, 1). Hence a Cauchy sequence in certain metric space need not be convergent.

2-1.7. Let X be a metric space and $\{x_n\}$ a sequence in X. Then a point $b \in X$ is called a *cluster point* of $\{x_n\}$ if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, for every integer p, there is $n \ge p$ such that $d(x_n, b) \le \varepsilon$. Clearly the limit of convergent sequence is a cluster point.

2-1.8. <u>Theorem</u> A point $b \in X$ is a cluster point of a sequence $\{x_n\}$ iff there is a subsequence convergent to b.

<u>Proof</u>. (\Rightarrow) Let b be a cluster point of $\{x_n : n \ge 1\}$. Then there is n(1) > 1 such that $d(x_{n(1)}, b) \le 1/1$. Similarly, there is n(2) > n(1) such that $d(x_{n(2)}, b) \le 1/2$. By induction, there is n(j) > n(j-1) such that $d(x_{n(j)}, b) \le 1/j$. Now $\{x_{n(j)}\}$ is a subsequence convergent to b.

(\Leftarrow) Let $\{x_{n(j)}\}$ be a subsequence of $\{x_n\}$ such that $x_{n(j)} \to b$ as $j \to \infty$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $p \ge 1$ be given. Since the subsequence converges to b, there is j_0 such that for every $j \ge j_0$ we have $d(x_{n(j)}, b) \le \varepsilon$. Let $k = j_0 + p$. Then $n(k) \ge k \ge j_0$ and hence $d(x_{n(k)}, b) \le \varepsilon$. Also $n(k) \ge k \ge p$. Therefore b is a cluster point of $\{x_n\}$.

2-1.9. <u>Exercise</u> In \mathbb{R}^2 , let $x_n = (\frac{1+n}{n} \sin \frac{1}{4}n\pi, \cos \frac{1}{2}n\pi)$. Show that $\{x_n\}$ is not a Cauchy sequence. Find all cluster points and for each cluster point b, construct a subsequence convergent to b.

2-2 Bounded Sets

2-2.1. Let M be a non-empty subset of a metric space X. Then its diameter is defined by $diam(M) = \sup\{d(x, y) : x, y \in M\}$. The set M is said to be

bounded if its diameter is finite, i.e. $diam(M) < \infty$. A sequence is said to be bounded if its range is bounded.

2-2.2. <u>**Theorem**</u> $diam(\overline{M}) = diam(M)$.

<u>Proof</u>. It is easy to prove that $diam(M) \leq diam(\overline{M})$. If M is unbounded, then both sides are ∞ . Without loss of generality, assume $diam(M) < \infty$. Take any $x, y \in \overline{M}$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, we select $a \in \mathbb{B}(x, \varepsilon) \cap M$ and $b \in \mathbb{B}(y, \varepsilon) \cap M$. Hence, $d(x, y) \leq d(x, a) + d(a, b) + d(b, y) \leq diam(M) + 2\varepsilon$. Taking supremum over all $x, y \in \overline{M}$, we have $diam(\overline{M}) \leq diam(M) + 2\varepsilon$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $diam(\overline{M}) \leq diam(M)$.

2-2.3. <u>Theorem</u> Every Cauchy sequence $\{x_n\}$ is bounded.

<u>Proof</u>. For $\varepsilon = 1$ there exists an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p$ we have $\overline{d(x_m, x_n)} \le \varepsilon$. Let $r = \max\{d(x_j, x_k) : 1 \le i, k \le p\}$. Take any $m, n \ge 1$. If both $m, n \ge p$, then $d(x_m, x_n) \le 1 \le 1 + r$. If both $m, n \le p$, then $d(x_m, x_n) \le r \le 1 + r$. If $m \ge p$ and $n \le p$, then

$$d(x_m, x_n) \le d(x_m, x_p) + d(x_p, x_n) \le 1 + r.$$

Therefore the diameter of $\{x_n\}$ is bounded by 1 + r.

2-2.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that finite unions of bounded sets are bounded. Also prove that subsets of bounded sets are bounded.

2-2.5. <u>Exercise</u> Find the diameter of the open unit ball in \mathbb{R}^2 and also the diameter of the triangle with vertices (0,0), (0,1), (1,0).

2-2.6. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the diameter of a closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, r)$ is no more than 2r. What is the diameter of an open unit ball in a discrete metric space?

2-2.7. Exercise Prove that a set is bounded iff it can be covered by a ball.

2-2.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let M be a subset of a product metric space $X \times Y$. Prove that M is bounded iff both projections of M into X, Y are bounded.

2-2.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that a subset X of a normed space E is bounded iff there is M > 0 such that $||x|| \le M$ for all $x \in X$.

2-3 Upper and Lower Limits

2-3.1. In this section, we shall make full usage of the order structure of the real line to establish the fundamental properties of bounded real sequences.

2-3.2. Let $\{x_n\}$ be a bounded sequence in \mathbb{R} . Its *lower* and *upper limits* are defined by $\liminf_{n\to\infty} x_n = \sup_{k\geq 1} \inf_{n\geq k} x_n$ and $\limsup_{n\to\infty} x_n = \inf_{k\geq 1} \sup_{n\geq k} x_n$ respectively. Since every non-empty set of real numbers which is bounded above must has a supremum, both lower and upper limits of a bounded sequence in \mathbb{R} always exist.

2-3.3. **Exercise** Prove the following statements.

- (a) $\liminf_{n \to \infty} x_n \le \limsup_{n \to \infty} x_n$.
- (b) $\liminf_{n \to \infty} (-x_n) = -\limsup_{n \to \infty} x_n$ and $\limsup_{n \to \infty} (-x_n) = -\liminf_{n \to \infty} x_n$.

2-3.4. <u>Exercise</u> Let $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$ be bounded sequences of real numbers. Prove the following.

(a) If $x_n \leq y_n$ for all n, then $\liminf_{n \to \infty} x_n \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} y_n$ and $\limsup_{n \to \infty} x_n \leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} y_n$. (b) $\liminf_{n \to \infty} x_n + \liminf_{n \to \infty} y_n \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} (x_n + y_n) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} x_n + \limsup_{n \to \infty} y_n$ $\leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} (x_n + y_n) \leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} x_n + \limsup_{n \to \infty} y_n$. Also prove similar results for product if all $x_n, y_n \geq 0$.

2-3.5. **Lemma** Let $\{x_n\}$ be bounded real sequence and let $a \in \mathbb{R}$ be given. Then $a = \limsup x_n$ iff the following conditions hold:

(a) For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer p such that for all $n \ge p$, we have $x_n \le a + \varepsilon$.

(b) For every $\varepsilon, p > 0$, there is $n \ge p$ such that $a - \varepsilon \le x_n$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $a = \inf_{p \ge 1} \sup_{n \ge p} x_n$, there is p such that $\sup_{n \ge p} x_n \le a + \varepsilon$ which is (a). Now for given $\varepsilon, p > 0$, we have $a - \varepsilon < \sup_{n \ge p} x_n$ and hence (b) follows from definition of supremum. The converse is left as an exercise. \Box

2-3.6. Similar statement for lower limits also hold. The following results follow immediately from last lemma.

2-3.7. Theorem The upper and lower limits are cluster points.

2-3.8. <u>Theorem</u> A bounded sequence $\{x_n\}$ converges to some $a \in \mathbb{R}$ iff

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} x_n = \limsup_{n \to \infty} x_n = a.$$

2-3.9. Corollary Every bounded sequence in \mathbb{R} has a convergent subsequence.

2-3.10. Corollary Bounded monotonic sequences in \mathbb{R} are convergent.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose $x_n \leq x_{n+1} \leq a$ for all n. It follows from monotonicity that $\sup_n x_n = \sup_n \inf_{m \geq n} x_m = \liminf_n x_n$. On the other hand, we also have $\liminf_n x_n \leq \lim_n x_n \leq \sup_n x_n$. Therefore they are all equal and hence $\lim_n x_n = \sup_n x_n$. Similar proof works for decreasing sequences.

2-3.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the upper limit of a bounded real sequence is the largest cluster point.

2-3.12. <u>Exercise</u> On the real line, let $x_n = [(-1)^n + \frac{1}{n}] \sin \frac{1}{4}n\pi$. Find all cluster points, upper and lower limits of the sequence $\{x_n\}$. For each cluster point b, construct a subsequence convergent to b.

2-4 Complete Sets

2-4.1. In order that a beautiful theory can be developed, it is necessary to require that there is sufficient amount of convergent sequences. Complete sets formalize this requirement.

2-4.2. Let A be a subset of a metric space X. Then A is said to be complete if every Cauchy sequence in A converges to a limit which belongs to A.

2-4.3. **Theorem** If A is a complete subset of X then it is closed in X.

<u>Proof</u>. Let y be a closure point of A. There is a sequence $\{x_n\}$ in A convergent to y. This sequence is Cauchy in X but also Cauchy in A. Since A is complete, it converges to some point $z \in A$. Since $\{x_n\}$ converges to both y, z in X, we have $y = z \in A$. Therefore A is closed.

2-4.4. <u>Theorem</u> If A is a closed subset of a complete metric space X, then A is complete.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{x_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in A. Then it is also a Cauchy sequence in X. Since X is complete, $\{x_n\}$ converges to a limit $b \in X$. Since all $x_n \in A$, b is a closure point of A. Because A is closed, we have $b \in A$. This completes the proof.

2-4.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let X, Y be metric spaces and $\{(x_n, y_n)\}$ be a sequence in the product space $X \times Y$. Then $\{(x_n, y_n)\}$ is Cauchy iff both $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$ are Cauchy.

<u>Proof</u>. Regardless which metric is used in the product space, we always have $\overline{d(x,a)} \leq d[(x,y),(a,b)] \leq d(x,a) + d(y,b)$. The result follows immediately from definitions.

2-4.6. <u>Theorem</u> If X, Y are complete metric spaces, then so is the product space $X \times Y$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{(x_n, y_n)\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in $X \times Y$. Then both $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$ are Cauchy and hence converge to some $a \in X$ and $b \in Y$ respectively. Therefore $(x_n, y_n) \to (a, b)$ in $X \times Y$. Consequently, $X \times Y$ is also a complete metric space.

2-4.7. <u>**Theorem**</u> Every \mathbb{K}^n is complete.

<u>Proof.</u> Every Cauchy sequence $\{x_n\}$ in \mathbb{R} is bounded and hence it has a convergence subsequence. Therefore the original sequence $\{x_n\}$ is convergent. Consequently \mathbb{R} is complete. As a direct result of last theorem, all \mathbb{R}_1^n , \mathbb{R}_2^n and \mathbb{R}_{∞}^n are complete. Since $\mathbb{C} = \mathbb{R}_2^2$ is complete, all \mathbb{C}_1^n , \mathbb{C}_2^n and \mathbb{C}_{∞}^n are also complete.

2-4.8. <u>Exercise</u> Is the set of all integers a complete subset of the real line? Is the set Q of all rational numbers complete in \mathbb{R} ?

2-4.9. <u>Exercise</u> Let $X = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |x| < 2\}$. Is it a complete metric space? Is the ball $\mathbb{B} = \{(x, y) \in X : x^2 + y^2 \le 1\}$ a complete subset of X?

2-4.10. **Lemma** Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence in X and let $T_n = \{x_k : k \ge n\}$. Then a point $y \in X$ is a cluster point of $\{x_n\}$ iff $y \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{T}_n$. Intuitively, T_n are the tails of the given sequence.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow) Assume $x \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{T}_n$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $p \ge 1$ be given. Since $y \in \overline{T}_p$, the ball $\mathbb{B}(y,\varepsilon)$ contains a point of T_p , i.e. there is $n \ge p$ such that $d(x_n, y) < \varepsilon$. Therefore y is a cluster point of $\{x_n\}$.

(⇐) Let y be a cluster of $\{x_n\}$. Fix any n. Consider any open ball $\mathbb{B}(y, \varepsilon)$. There is $m \ge n$ such that $d(x_m, y) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$, i.e. $x_m \in \mathbb{B}(y, \varepsilon) \cap T_n$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, $y \in \overline{T}_n$. Since n is free, we have $y \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{T}_n$.

2-4.11. <u>Theorem</u> Let X be a metric space. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) X is complete.

(b) Let $A_{n+1} \subset A_n$ be a decreasing sequence of non-empty closed sets. If their diameters tend to zero then $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ contains exactly one point. This is called the *nested property* which will be used in §6-7.3.

(c) A sequence $\{x_n\}$ in X satisfying $d(x_{n+1}, x_n) \leq 1/2^n$ for all n, is convergent. <u>Proof</u>. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ For each n, take any $x_n \in A_n$. Since $diam(A_n) \to 0$, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $p \geq 1$ such that for every $n \geq p$, we have $diam(A_n) \leq \varepsilon$.

Choose any $m, n \geq p$. Since $\{A_n\}$ is decreasing, we have $x_m \in A_m \subset A_p$ and $x_n \in A_n \subset A_p$. Hence, $d(x_m, x_n) \leq diam(A_p) \leq \varepsilon$. Therefore $\{x_n\}$ is Cauchy in the complete space X. It converges to some limit $a \in X$. For each fixed k, $\{x_{n+k} : n \geq 1\}$ is a sequence in the closed set A_k and it converges to a. Hence $a \in A_k$. Since k is arbitrary, we have $a \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k$. Finally, suppose $a, b \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k$. Then for each n, we have $a, b \in A_n$. Therefore we obtain $0 \le d(a, b) \le diam(A_n) \rightarrow 0$. Consequently d(a, b) = 0, i.e. a = b.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence in X such that $d(x_{n+1}, x_n) \leq 1/2^n$ for all n. Define $T_n = \{x_k : k \ge n\}$ and $A_n = \overline{T}_n$. Observe that

$$d(x_n, x_{n+i}) \le d(x_n, x_{n+1}) + d(x_{n+1}, x_{n+2}) + \dots + d(x_{n+i-1}, x_{n+i})$$

$$\le \frac{1}{2^n} + \frac{1}{2^{n+1}} + \dots \le \frac{1}{2^{n-1}};$$

and

 $d(x_{n+i}, x_{n+j}) \le d(x_n, x_{n+i}) + d(x_n, x_{n+j}) \le \frac{1}{2n-2}.$ Since i, j are arbitrary, we have $diam(A_n) = diam(T_n) \leq 1/2^{n-2} \rightarrow 0$. By (b), there is $a \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$. Hence a is a cluster point of $\{x_n\}$. Therefore $\{x_n\}$ has a convergent subsequence. Since $\{x_n\}$ is Cauchy, it is convergent.

 $(c \Rightarrow a)$ Let $\{x_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in X. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p$, we have $d(x_m, x_n) \le \varepsilon$. In particular, for $\varepsilon = 1/2$, there is n(1) such that for all $m, n \ge n(1)$, we have $d(x_m, x_n) \leq 1/2$. Inductively, for $\varepsilon = 1/2^j$, there is n(j) > n(j-1) such that for all $m, n \ge n(j)$, we have $d(x_m, x_n) \le 1/2^j$. Then $\{x_{n(j)}\}$ is a subsequence of $\{x_n\}$. Furthermore, we have $d(x_{n(j+1)}, x_{n(j)}) \leq 1/2^j$. By (c), the subsequence $\{x_{n(j)}\}\$ converges. Therefore $\{x_n\}$ is convergent. Consequently, X is complete.

<u>Exercise</u> Find a decreasing sequence $A_{n+1} \subset A_n$ of non-empty closed 2-4.12. subsets of a complete metric space X such that $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ is empty.

Exercise Find a decreasing sequence $A_{n+1} \subset A_n$ of non-empty closed 2-4.13. subsets of a metric space X such that the intersection $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ is empty and $\lim_{n\to\infty} diam \ A_n = 0.$

Prove that a decreasing sequence $A_{m+1} \subset A_m$ of closed 2-4.14. Exercise balls in \mathbb{K}^n has non-empty intersection.

2-5 Precompact Sets

2-5.1. Let X be a metric space. A subset M is said to be *precompact* or totally bounded if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a finite subset J of M such that $M\subset \bigcup_{a\in J}\mathbb{B}(a,\varepsilon).$ Intuitively, precompact sets can be approximated by finite sets.

2-5.2. <u>Theorem</u> Closures of precompact sets are precompact.

<u>Proof</u>. Let M be a precompact subset of X. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a finite subset J of M such $M \subset \bigcup_{j \in J} \mathbb{B}(j, \varepsilon)$. Let x be any closure point of M. There is $a \in M$ such that $d(x, a) \leq \varepsilon$. There is $j \in J$ such that $d(a, j) < \varepsilon$. Hence $d(x, j) < 2\varepsilon$. Therefore $\overline{M} \subset \bigcup_{j \in J} \mathbb{B}(j, 2\varepsilon)$. Consequently, \overline{M} is precompact.

2-5.3. **<u>Theorem</u>** Every Cauchy sequence $\{x_n\}$ in X is precompact.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is $p \ge 1$ such that for all $m, n \ge p$, we have $\overline{d(x_m, x_n)} \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Then $\{x_n\}$ is covered by the open balls $\{\mathbb{B}(x_i, \varepsilon) : 1 \le i \le p\}$. Therefore the range of the Cauchy sequence is precompact.

2-5.4. **Diagonal Process** Let X be a set. For each integer $p \ge 1$, let $\{x_n^p : n \ge 1\}$ be a sequence in X. Suppose each $\{x_n^{p+1} : n \ge 1\}$ is a subsequence of $\{x_n^p : n \ge 1\}$. Then the diagonal $\{x_n^n : n \ge p\}$ is a subsequence of $\{x_n^p : n \ge 1\}$ for each p. If we list each sequence $\{x_n^p : n \ge 1\}$ horizontally, the interpretation of diagonal becomes obvious.

2-5.5. **Lemma** Let A, B_1, B_2, \dots, B_k be subsets of a given set X. Suppose $A \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^k B_i$. If $\{x_n\}$ is a sequence in A, then there is a subsequence $\{y_n\}$ and an index i such that $y_n \in B_i, \forall n$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\mathbb{N} = \{1, 2, 3, \dots\}$ and $E_i = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : x_n \in B_i\}$. Since $A \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^k B_i$, we have $\mathbb{N} \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^k E_i$. Since \mathbb{N} is infinite, some E_i is also infinite. There is a sequence $n(1) < n(2) < \cdots$ in E_i . Consequence $\{x_{n(j)}\}$ is a subsequence of $\{x_n\}$ and also $x_{n(j)} \in B_i$ for all j.

2-5.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a subset of a metric space X. Then A is precompact iff every sequence in A has a Cauchy subsequence.

<u>Proof</u>. Let A be a precompact set. Assume $\{x_n\}$ is a given sequence in A. Then there is a finite subset J_1 of A such that $A \subset \bigcup_{x \in J_1} \mathbb{B}(x, 1)$. There exist $a_1 \in J_1$ and a subsequence $\{x_n^1\}$ of $\{x_n\}$ such that all $x_n^1 \in \mathbb{B}(a_1, 1)$. Suppose a subsequence $\{x_n^{p-1} : n \ge 1\}$ of $\{x_n\}$ has been defined by induction. There is a finite subset J_p of A such that $A \subset \bigcup_{x \in J_p} \mathbb{B}(x, 1/p)$. There are $a_p \in J_p$ and a subsequence $\{x_n^p : n \ge 1\}$ of $\{x_n^{p-1} : n \ge 1\}$ such that all $x_n^p \in \mathbb{B}(a_p, 1/p)$. Following the diagonal process, define $y_n = x_n^n$. Then $\{y_n : n \ge p\}$ is a subsequence of $\{x_n^p : n \ge 1\}$. Consequently, $\{y_n : n \ge 1\}$ is a subsequence of the original sequence $\{x_n\}$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Choose $p > \frac{2}{\varepsilon}$. Since all $x_n^p \in \mathbb{B}(a_p, \frac{1}{p})$, we have $d(x_m^p, x_n^p) \leq d(x_m^p, a_p) + d(a_p, x_n^p) < \frac{2}{p}$. Since $\{x_n^n : n \geq p\}$ is a subsequence of $\{x_n^p : n \geq 1\}$, we get $d(y_m, y_n) < 2/p = \varepsilon$, $\forall m, n \geq p$. Therefore $\{y_n\}$ is a Cauchy subsequence of $\{x_n\}$. Conversely, assume that every sequence in A has a Cauchy subsequence. Suppose to the contrary that A is not precompact. In particular, A is non-empty, say $x_1 \in A$. There is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for all finite subset j of A, we have $A \not\subset \bigcup_{a \in J} \mathbb{B}(a, \varepsilon)$. Since $A \not\subset \mathbb{B}(x_1, \varepsilon)$, there is $x_2 \in A$ but $d(x_1, x_2) \geq \varepsilon$. Inductively, since $A \not\subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{n-1} \mathbb{B}(x_j, \varepsilon)$, there is $x_n \in A$ but $d(x_n, x_j) \geq \varepsilon, \forall 1 \leq j \leq n-1$. Then $\{x_n\}$ is a sequence in A. Consequently, it has a Cauchy subsequence $\{y_n\}$. There is $k \geq 1$ such that for all $i, j \geq k$ we have $d(y_i, y_j) \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. There is a sequence of integers $n(1) < n(2) < \cdots$ such that $y_j = x_{n(j)}$ for all j. Now $\varepsilon < d(x_{n(k)}, x_{n(k+1)}) = d(y_k, y_{k+1}) \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$ is a contradiction that completes the proof.

2-5.7. Theorem Products of precompact sets are precompact.

<u>Proof</u>. Let A, B be precompact sets of metric spaces X, Y respectively. Take any sequence $\{(x_n, y_n)\}$ in $A \times B$. Then $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$ are sequences in the precompact sets A, B respectively. Let $\{a_n\}$ and $\{b_n\}$ be Cauchy subsequences of $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$ respectively. Then $\{(a_n, b_n)\}$ is a Cauchy subsequence of $\{(x_n, y_n)\}$. Therefore $A \times B$ is precompact.

2-5.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every precompact set is bounded. Prove that every subset of a precompact set is precompact.

2-5.9. <u>Corollary</u> Every bounded subset of \mathbb{K}^n is precompact.

<u>Proof</u>. Let B be a bounded subset of \mathbb{R} . Then every sequence in B has a convergent subsequence which is also Cauchy. Hence every bounded subset of \mathbb{R} is precompact. Now let M be a bounded subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then the projection M_j of M to its j-th coordinate is bounded and hence precompact. As a subset of the precompact set $\prod_{j=1}^n M_j$, M is precompact in \mathbb{R}^n . Next, since $\mathbb{C} = \mathbb{R}^2$, bounded sets are identical with precompact sets. Repeating the same argument for \mathbb{R}^n , we obtain the result for \mathbb{C}^n .

2-5.10. <u>**Exercise**</u> Show that the real line equipped with the discrete metric is bounded but not precompact.

2-5.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the projection of a precompact set in a product metric space $X \times Y$ to X is precompact.

2-5.12. <u>Exercise</u> Is the set of all integers precompact? Is the set of all rationals in (0, 1) precompact?

2-6 Compactness

2-6.1. In a precompact set A, every sequence has a Cauchy subsequence which need not converge in A. It is natural to introduce the concept of compactness to safeguard the existence of limits. It turns out that compactness plays a vital role in almost every aspect of analysis especially in infinite dimensional spaces, e.g. Chapter 5 below. Open covers provide an alternative way to utilize the compactness and also allow us to extend the concept to general topological spaces. To reduce an arbitrary open cover to countable subcover, we need the concept of separable sets.

2-6.2. Let A, B be subsets of a metric space X. Then B is said to be *dense* in A if $A \subset \overline{B}$. The set A is said to be *separable* if A has a countable dense subset.

2-6.3. <u>Theorem</u> Continuous images of separable sets are separable.

<u>Proof</u>. Let X, Y be metric spaces. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a continuous map and \overline{A} a separable subset of X. There is a countable dense subset B of A. Now f(B) is a countable subset of f(A). Since $f(A) \subset f(\overline{B}) \subset \overline{f(B)}$, the set f(B) is countable dense in f(A). Therefore f(A) is separable.

2-6.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that finite products, countable unions and subsets of separable sets are separable.

2-6.5. **Exercise** Prove that \mathbb{K}^n is separable.

2-6.6. <u>Theorem</u> Every precompact set A in a metric space X is separable.

<u>Proof</u>. For each integer $n \ge 1$, there is a finite subset J_n of A such that $\overline{A \subset \bigcup_{x \in J_n} \mathbb{B}(x, \frac{1}{n})}$. Let $B = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} J_n$. Then B is a countable subset of A. To show $A \subset \overline{B}$, take any $y \in A$. For each n, there is $x_n \in J_n$ such that $y \in \mathbb{B}(x_n, \frac{1}{n})$. Then $\{x_n\}$ is a sequence in B. Since $d(x_n, y) \le \frac{1}{n}$, we have $x_n \to y$. Therefore $y \in \overline{B}$. Hence B is a countable dense subset of A. Therefore A is separable.

2-6.7. Let A be a subset of a metric space X. Then A is said to be *compact* if every sequence in A has a subsequence convergent to some limit which is also in A. Let $\{V_i : i \in I\}$ be a cover of A. Then $\{V_i : i \in I\}$ is called an *open* cover

of A if every V_i is open. The cover $\{V_i : i \in I\}$ is said to be *finite* (respectively *countable*) if the index set I is finite (respectively countable). A subfamily of $\{V_i : i \in I\}$ which remains to be a cover of A is called a *subcover*.

2-6.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a subset of a metric space X. If A is separable, then every open cover $\{V_i : i \in I\}$ of A has a countable subcover.

<u>Proof</u>. Let K be a countable dense subset of A. Take ant $x \in A$. Since $\overline{\{V_i : i \in I\}}$ is a cover of A, some index $i(x) \in I$ satisfies $x \in V_{i(x)}$. Because $V_{i(x)}$ is open, there is a *rational* number r(x) > 0 such that $\mathbb{B}[x, r(x)] \subset V_{i(x)}$. Since $A \subset \overline{K}$, x is a closure point of K. There is some point $b(x) \in K \cap \mathbb{B}[b(x), \frac{1}{2}r(x)]$, that is $x \in \mathbb{B}[b(x), \frac{1}{2}r(x)]$. Let $\mathcal{B} = \{\mathbb{B}[b(x), \frac{1}{2}r(x)] : x \in A\}$. Since both K and the set of all rationals are countable, so is \mathcal{B} . Let B_1, B_2, \cdots be an enumeration of \mathcal{B} . For each $n = 1, 2, \cdots$, there is $x_n \in A$ such that $B_n = \mathbb{B}[b(x), \frac{1}{2}r(x)]$. We claim that $\{V_{i(x_n)} : n \geq 1\}$ is a cover of A. In fact, take any $y \in A$. There is n such that $y \in B_n$. Therefore $y \in \mathbb{B}[b(x_n), \frac{1}{2}r(x_n)]$, that is $d[y, b(x_n)] < \frac{1}{2}r(x_n)$. Since $b(x_n) \in \mathbb{B}[x_n, \frac{1}{2}r(x_n)]$, we have $d[x_n, b(x_n)] < \frac{1}{2}r(x_n)$. As a result, $d(y, x_n) < r(x_n)$, i.e. $y \in \mathbb{B}[x_n, r(x_n)] \subset V_{i(x_n)}$. Consequently, $\{V_{i(x_n)} : n \geq 1\}$ is a countable open subcover.

2-6.9. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a subset of a metric space X. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) A is compact.
- (b) A is complete and precompact.
- (c) Every open cover has a finite subcover.
- (d) Every countable open cover has a finite subcover.

<u>Proof</u>. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Let $\{x_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in A. Since A is compact, there is a subsequence $\{y_n\}$ convergent to some limit $b \in A$. Hence the original sequence $\{x_n\}$ is also convergent to b. Therefore A is complete. To show that A is precompact, let $\{x_n\}$ be any sequence in A. Since A is compact, there exists a convergent subsequence $\{y_n\}$. Since $\{y_n\}$ is also Cauchy, A is precompact.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Since A is precompact, A is separable. Every open cover C of A has a countable open subcover $\{V_j : j \ge 1\}$. Suppose to the contrary that $A \not\subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n V_j$ for every n. There is $x_n \in A$ but $x_n \not\in \bigcup_{j=1}^n V_j$. Since A is precompact, $\{x_n\}$ has a Cauchy subsequence. Since A is complete, the subsequence converges to some $b \in A$. So, there is a sequence of integers $n(1) < n(2) < n(2) < \cdots$ such that $x_{n(j)} \to b$. Since $\{V_n\}$ is a cover of A, we have $b \in V_k$, for some k. Because V_k is open, there is $\mathbb{B}(b, \varepsilon) \subset V_k$. By conver-

gence of subsequence, there is p such that for all $j \ge p$, we have $d(x_{n(j)}, b) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$, or $x_{n(j)} \in \mathbb{B}(b, \varepsilon) \subset V_k$. Take any $j \ge p + k$. Since $j \ge p$, we get $x_{n(j)} \in V_k$. It follows from the choice of $\{x_n\}$, we obtain $x_{n(j)} \notin \bigcup_{i=1}^{n(j)} V_i$. Now $n(j) \ge j \ge k$ gives $x_{n(j)} \notin V_k$. This contradiction shows that some n satisfies $A \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n V_i$. Therefore the given cover \mathbb{C} has a finite subcover.

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$ It is obvious.

 $(d \Rightarrow a)$ Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence in A. Suppose to the contrary that every subsequence of $\{x_n\}$ cannot converge to any point in A. Hence, no point of A can be a cluster point of $\{x_n\}$, that is, $A \cap \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{K}_n = \emptyset$ where $K_n = \{x_j : j \ge n\}$. Now each $V_n = X \setminus \overline{K}_n$ is open in X and $\{V_n : n \ge 1\}$ forms a countable open cover of A. Hence $A \subset \bigcup_{n=1}^p V_n$ for some p. Since $K_{n+1} \subset K_n$, we have $V_n \subset V_{n+1}$ and so $A \subset V_p$. Now $x_p \in A$. Thus $x_p \in V_p$, or $x_p \notin \overline{K}_p$, and so $x_p \notin K_p$ which is a contradiction. Therefore the original sequence must have a subsequence convergent to some point which is in A. This completes the proof.

2-6.10. <u>Corollary</u> Every compact set in a metric space is closed and bounded. *Proof.* Complete sets are closed and precompact sets are bounded. \Box

2-6.11. **Exercise** A subset of \mathbb{K}^n is compact iff it is closed and bounded.

2-6.12. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the real line equipped with the discrete metric is closed and bounded but not compact.

2-6.13. <u>Theorem</u> Every closed subset B of a compact set A is compact.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence in B. Then $\{x_n\}$ is also a sequence in the compact set A. So, $\{x_n\}$ has a subsequence $\{y_n\}$ convergent to some point $a \in A$. Since all $y_n \in B$, a is a closure point of B. Since B is closed in X, we have $a \in B$. Therefore B is compact.

2-6.14. Theorem Products of compact sets are compact.

Proof. See the proof for precompact sets.

2-6.15. **Exercise** Let $\{A_i : i \in I\}$ be a non-empty family of compact subsets of a metric space X. Prove that if for every finite subset J of I, the finite intersection $\bigcap_{j \in J} A_j$ is non-empty then the total intersection $\bigcap_{i \in I} A_i$ is also non-empty.

2-7 Continuous Maps on Compact Spaces

2-7.1. In elementary calculus, every continuous real function on a closed bounded interval has an absolute maximum which is used to prove the Rolle's Theorem and then to derive the mean-value theorem. This is just one of many standard applications of compactness in analysis.

2-7.2. Theorem Continuous images of compact sets are compact.

<u>Proof.</u> Let X, Y be metric spaces. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a continuous map and \overline{A} a compact subset of X. Let $\{H_i : i \in I\}$ be an open cover of f(A). Then $\{f^{-1}(H_i) : i \in I\}$ is an open cover of the compact set A. It has a finite subcover $\{f^{-1}(H_j) : j \in J\}$ of A. Hence, $\{H_j : j \in J\}$ is a finite subcover of f(A). Therefore f(A) is compact.

2-7.3. **Theorem** Let f be a continuous real function on a metric space X. If X is compact and non-empty, then there are $a, b \in X$ such that $f(a) \leq f(x) \leq f(b)$ for all $x \in X$. In other words, f attains its maximum and minimum values.

<u>Proof</u>. Since the continuous image f(X) of the compact space X is a compact subset of \mathbb{R} , it is closed and bounded in \mathbb{R} . Let $\alpha = \inf f(X)$. For every $n \geq 1$, there is $x_n \in X$ such that $f(x_n) \leq \alpha + \frac{1}{n}$. Since X is compact, there is a subsequent $\{x_{n(j)}\}$ convergent to some $a \in X$. Letting $j \to \infty$ in the expression: $f[x_{n(j)}] \leq \alpha + \frac{1}{n(j)}$, we have $f(a) \leq \alpha \leq f(x)$ for all $x \in X$. Therefore f attains it minimum at a. Similarly, it also attains its maximum.

2-7.4. Let X, Y be metric spaces. Then a bijection $f : X \to Y$ is called a *homeomorphism* if both f, f^{-1} are continuous.

2-7.5. Corollary Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous bijection. If X is compact, then f is a homeomorphism.

<u>Proof</u>. It suffices to show that $g = f^{-1}$ is continuous. Let A be a closed subset of X. Since X is compact, so is A. Now f(A) is compact and hence closed. Therefore the inverse image $g^{-1}(A) = f(A)$ of a closed set under g is closed. Consequently, $f^{-1} = g$ is continuous.

2-7.6. **Lemma** Let X, Y, Z be metric spaces and let $f : X \times Y \to Z$ be a continuous map. If Y is compact then for every $a \in X$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every $d(x, a) < \delta$ and $y \in Y$ we have $d[f(x, y), f(a, y)] < \varepsilon$. This handy lemma will be used later, e.g. §§8-3.2, 9-3.9, 11-5.8.

<u>Proof</u>. Take any $t \in Y$. Since f is continuous at $(a, t) \in X \times Y$, there is $\delta_t > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta_t)$ and $y \in \mathbb{B}(t, \delta_t)$ we have $d[f(x, y), f(a, t)] < \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. By compactness, there is a finite subset J of Y such that $Y \subset \bigcup_{t \in J} \mathbb{B}(t, \delta_t)$. Define $\delta = \min\{\delta_t : t \in J\}$. Now assume $d(x, a) < \delta$ and $y \in Y$. Select $t \in J$ such that $y \in \mathbb{B}(t, \delta_t)$. Then $d(x, a) < \delta_t$ and $d(y, t) < \delta_t$. The following inequality completes the proof:

$$d[f(x,y),f(a,y)] \le d[f(x,y),f(a,t)] + d[f(a,t),f(a,y)] < \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon = \varepsilon. \quad \Box$$

2-7.7. **Exercise** Let X be the real line equipped with the discrete metric and \mathbb{R} the real line with usual metric. Show that the identity map from X onto \mathbb{R} is a continuous bijection which is not a homeomorphism.

2-7.8. **Exercise** A subset of a metric space is said to be *relatively compact* if its closure is compact. Prove that every relatively compact set is precompact. Prove that in a complete metric space, every precompact set is relatively compact.

2-7.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that a subset in a product space is relatively compact iff its projection onto factor spaces are relatively compact.

2-7.10. **Exercise** Prove that linear combinations of compact sets in normed spaces are compact. Prove that linear combinations of relatively compact sets are relatively compact.

2-7.11. **Exercise** Two sets of \mathbb{R}^2 are given by $A = \{(t, \sin \frac{1}{t}) : 0 < t \le 1\}$ and $B = \{(0, t) : 0 \le t \le 1\}$. Determine whether A, B and $A \cup B$ are compact.

2-7.12. **Exercise** Prove that the projection of a product metric space $X \times Y$ onto the coordinate space X is an open map, i.e. the image of an open set is open. Show that it does not carry every closed set onto a closed set. Also find an example of a continuous map which carries every closed set onto a closed set but not every open set onto an open set.

2-7.13. Let A, B be non-empty subsets of a metric space X. Then the *distance* between A, B is defined by $d(A, B) = \inf\{d(x, y) : x \in A, y \in B\}$. Clearly we have, $d(A, B) = d(B, A) = \inf\{d(x, B) : x \in A\}$.

2-7.14. **Theorem** Let A, B be non-empty subsets of a metric space X. If A is compact, then there is $a \in A$ such that d(a, B) = d(A, B). Furthermore if A, B are disjoint closed sets, then d(A, B) > 0.

Proof. The function d(x, B) is continuous in x on a compact set A.

2-7.15. <u>Theorem</u> Let A, B be non-empty compact subsets of a metric space X. Then there are points $a \in A$ and $b \in B$ such that d(a, b) = d(A, B).

<u>Proof</u>. Since both A, B are compact, the product set $A \times B$ is compact in the product space $X \times Y$. Since the continuous function $d : A \times B \to \mathbb{R}$ attains its minimum, there is some $(a,b) \in A \times B$ such that $d(a,b) \leq d(x,y)$ for all $(x,y) \in A \times B$. Therefore d(a,b) = d(A,B).

2-7.16. <u>Exercise</u> Let $A = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : xy = 1\}$ and B the x-axis of \mathbb{R}^2 . Find the distance d(A, B).

2-8 Uniform Continuity

2-8.1. Uniform continuity is a global property because uniformly continuous map carries any pair of near points into near points. One of many standard applications is to show that continuous functions are integrable. Since every continuous linear map is uniformly continuous, we shall apply the unique extension theorem below to construct regulated integrals for vector-valued maps in Chapter 8.

2-8.2. Let X, Y be metric spaces and $f: X \to Y$ a given map. Then f is said to be *uniformly continuous* if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x, y \in X$, $d(x, y) \leq \delta$ implies $d[f(x), f(y)] \leq \varepsilon$. Clearly, every uniformly continuous map is continuous. For a normed space, it is easy to prove that the function $x \to ||x||$ is uniformly continuous. For a metric space, the distance function d(x, A) from a point x to a non-empty set A is uniformly continuous in x.

2-8.3. <u>Exercise</u> Write explicitly the negation of uniform continuity. Prove that the function x^2 is continuous but not uniformly continuous on \mathbb{R} .

2-8.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let X, Y be metric spaces and $f : X \to Y$ a continuous map. If X is compact, then f is uniformly continuous.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. For each $a \in X$, there is $\delta_a > 0$ such that $\overline{d(x,a)} \leq \delta_a$ implies $d[f(x), f(a)] \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Now $\{\mathbb{B}(a, \frac{1}{2}\delta_a) : a \in X\}$ is an open cover of the compact space X. There is a finite subset J of X such that $X \subset \bigcup_{a \in J} \mathbb{B}(a, \frac{1}{2}\delta_a)$. Let $\delta = \frac{1}{2}\min\{\delta_a : a \in J\}$. Then $\delta > 0$. Suppose $x, y \in X$ satisfying $d(x, y) \leq \delta$. Then there is $a \in J$ such that $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \frac{1}{2}\delta_a)$,

i.e. $d(x, a) < \frac{1}{2}\delta_a$. Now, $d(y, a) \le d(x, y) + d(x, a) \le \delta + \frac{1}{2}\delta_a \le \delta_a$. Hence we have $d[f(x), f(a)] \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$ and $d[f(y), f(a)] \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Thus, $d[f(x), f(y)] \le \varepsilon$. Therefore f is uniformly continuous.

2-8.5. Lemma Let X, Y be metric spaces. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a uniformly continuous map. Then:

(a) if {x_n} is a Cauchy sequence in X, then its image {f(x_n)} is Cauchy in Y.
(b) if E is a precompact subset of X, then f(E) is precompact in Y.

<u>*Proof*</u>. The first follows immediately from definition and the second from the characterization of precompactness in terms of Cauchy sequences. \Box

2-8.6. Lemma Let f, g be continuous maps from a metric space X into a metric space Y. If f = g on a dense subset M of X, then f = g on X.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Take any $a \in X$. There is a sequence $x_n \in M$ such that $x_n \to a$. Since f, g are continuous, we have $f(a) = \lim f(x_n) = \lim g(x_n) = g(a)$. Therefore we have f = g on X.

2-8.7. A sequence $\{z_n\}$ is said to be *merged from* two given sequences $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$ in X if $z_{2n-1} = x_n$ and $z_{2n} = y_n$ for all $n \ge 1$.

2-8.8. <u>Unique Extension Theorem</u> Let X, Y be metric spaces. Let f be a map defined on a subset M of X into Y. If f is uniformly continuous on M and if Y is complete, then there is a unique uniformly continuous extension of f over the closure of M.

<u>Proof</u>. Take any point $a \in \overline{M}$. There is a sequence $\{x_n\}$ in E convergent to a. Then $\{x_n\}$ is Cauchy. By uniform continuity, $\{f(x_n)\}$ is Cauchy in the complete metric space Y and hence it converges to some limit, denoted by g(a). We claim that g(a) is independent of the choice of the sequence $\{x_n\}$. Suppose $\{y_n\}$ is another sequence in M convergent to a. Let $\{z_n\}$ be the sequence merged from $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$. Then $\{z_n\}$ converges to a and as above $\{f(z_n)\}$ converges in Y. Hence its subsequence $\{g(x_n)\}$ and $\{g(y_n)\}$ converge to the same limit. Therefore a map $g : \overline{M} \to Y$ is well-defined. If $a \in M$ then the constant sequence $\{a\}$ converges to a and hence g(a) = f(a). Consequently g is an extension of f. To prove that g is uniformly continuous, let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $d(x, y) \leq \delta$ in M we have $d[f(x), f(y)] \leq \varepsilon/3$. Now take any $a, b \in \overline{M}$ satisfying $d(a, b) \leq \delta/3$. There are sequences $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$ in M convergent to a and b respectively. There is an integer p such that for all $n \geq p$ we have $d(x_n, a) \leq \delta/3$, $d(y_n, b) \leq \delta/3$, $d[f(x_n), g(a)] \leq \varepsilon/3$ and $d[f(y_n), g(b)] \leq \varepsilon/3$. Since $d(x_p, y_p) \leq d(x_p, a) + d(a, b) + d(b, y_p) \leq \frac{\delta}{3} + \frac{\delta}{3} + \frac{\delta}{3} = \delta$ we have $d[f(x_p), f(y_p)] \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{3}$. Hence

$$d[g(a),g(b)] \leq d[g(a),f(x_p)] + d[f(x_p),f(y_p)] + d[f(y_p),g(b)] \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} = \varepsilon.$$

The uniqueness follows from last lemma. This completes the proof. \Box

2-8.9. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the continuous function $\frac{1}{x}$ on (0, 1) has no continuous extension over [0, 1].

2-8.10. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the projections from a product metric space $X \times Y$ onto its factor spaces X, Y are uniformly continuous.

2-9 Connected Sets

2-9.1. Let X be a metric space. A pair (A, B) of non-empty subsets of X is called a *disconnection* if $A \cap \overline{B} = \emptyset$ and $B \cap \overline{A} = \emptyset$. A subset M of X is said to be *disconnected* if there is a disconnection (A, B) such that $M = A \cup B$. A subset of X is said to be *connected* if it is not disconnected. A set H is said to be *contained in a disconnection* (A, B) if $H \subset A \cup B$.

2-9.2. <u>Theorem</u> A subset M of the real line \mathbb{R} is connected iff M is an interval, i.e. $a, b \in M$ and $a \leq c \leq b$ implies $c \in M$.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow) Suppose to the contrary that $a, b \in M$, $a \leq c \leq b$ and $c \notin M$. Then we get a < c < b. Let $A = M \cap (-\infty, c)$ and $B = M \cap (c, \infty)$. Since $c \notin M$, we have $M \subset (\infty, c) \cup (c, \infty)$, or

 $M = M \cap \{(-\infty, c) \cup (c, \infty)\} = \{M \cap (-\infty, c)\} \cup \{M \cap (c, \infty)\} = A \cup B.$ Observe that $A \cap \overline{B} \subset (-\infty, c) \cap \overline{(c, \infty)} = (-\infty, c) \cap [c, \infty) = \emptyset$. Hence $A \cap \overline{B} = \emptyset$. Similarly, $B \cap \overline{A} = \emptyset$. Since both A, B are non-empty, M is disconnected. (\Leftarrow) Suppose M is disconnected. There are non-empty sets A, B such that $M = A \cup B, A \cap \overline{B} = \emptyset$ and $B \cap \overline{A} = \emptyset$. Let $a \in A$ and $b \in B$. Since $A \cap B = \emptyset$, we may assume a < b. Define $H = \{x \in A : x \leq b\}$ and $c = \sup H$. Then $a, b \in M$ and $a \leq c \leq b$. Since M is an interval, $c \in M$. There are two cases. Firstly, suppose $c \in A$. Since $A \cap \overline{B} = \emptyset$, c does not belong to the closed set \overline{B} . There is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\mathbb{B}(c, 2\varepsilon) \cap \overline{B} = \emptyset$. Hence $c + \varepsilon \notin B$ and $a \leq c + \varepsilon \leq b$. Since $c = \sup H, c + \varepsilon \notin A$. We proved that $a, b \in M, a \leq a + \varepsilon \leq b$ but $c + \varepsilon \notin M$. This establishes a contradiction. Secondly, suppose $c \in B$. Since $B \cap \overline{A} = \emptyset, c$ does not belong to the closed set \overline{A} . There is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\mathbb{B}(c, 2\varepsilon) \cap \overline{A} = \emptyset$. $x \leq c - \varepsilon$. Taking supremum over $x \in H$, we get $c \leq c - \varepsilon$ which is another contradiction. Therefore M must be connected.

2-9.3. <u>Theorem</u> Continuous images of connected sets are connected.

<u>Proof</u>. Let X, Y be metric spaces and $f : X \to Y$ a continuous map. Assume E is a connected subset of X. Suppose to the contrary that f(E) is disconnected. There is a disconnection (P,Q) such that $f(E) = P \cup Q$. Let $A = E \cap f^{-1}(P)$ and $B = E \cap f^{-1}(Q)$. Then A, B are non-empty sets satisfying $E = A \cup B$. Suppose to the contrary that there is $x \in A \cap \overline{B}$. Then $f(x) \in P$ and $f(x) \in f(\overline{B}) \subset \overline{f(B)} \subset \overline{Q}$. Hence $f(x) \in P \cap \overline{Q}$ which is a contradiction. Therefore $A \cap \overline{B} = \emptyset$ and similarly $B \cap \overline{A} = \emptyset$. Consequently, E is disconnected. This completes the proof.

2-9.4. Intermediate Value Theorem Let a < b be in \mathbb{R} and let $f : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function. If f(a)f(b) < 0, then there is $x \in (a, b)$ such that f(x) = 0.

<u>Proof</u>. The interval [a, b] is connected. The continuous image f([a, b]) is also connected and hence it is an interval. Since f(a)f(b) < 0, the number zero is between f(a) and f(b), i.e. $0 \in f([a, b])$, or for some $x \in [a, b]$, f(x) = 0.

2-9.5. **<u>Bisection Method</u>** Let $f : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function such that f(a)f(b) < 0. Define $a_1 = a$ and $b_1 = b$. Inductively, suppose $[a_{n-1}, b_{n-1}]$ is defined. Bisect $[a_{n-1}, b_{n-1}]$ into subintervals $[a_{n-1}, c]$ and $[c, b_{n-1}]$ where $c = \frac{1}{2}(a_{n-1}+b_{n-1})$ is the mid-point. If f(c) = 0, then we have a solution already. Suppose $f(c) \neq 0$. If $f(a_{n-1})f(c) < 0$ then define $a_n = a_{n-1}$ and $b_n = c$, else define $a_n = c$ and $b_n = b_{n-1}$. Therefore $f(a_n)f(b_n) < 0$. By intermediate value theorem, we know that there is a solution between a_n and b_n . Therefore the error of assuming $\frac{1}{2}(a_n + b_n)$ to be a solution is no more than $(b - a)/2^n$. Alternatively, you may cut an interval into more than two subintervals. This is a slow but very simple and reliable way to find approximate numerical solution of a nonlinear equation f(x) = 0.

2-9.6. <u>Fixed Point Theorem</u> Let a < b be in \mathbb{R} . Every continuous function $f : [a, b] \to [a, b]$ has a fixed point.

Proof. Let g(x) = x - f(x). If g(a) = 0 or g(b) = 0 then a or b is a fixed point of f. Assume that both g(a), g(b) are non-zero. Since $f([a, b]) \subset [a, b]$, we have g(a) < 0 and g(b) > 0. Hence g(x) = 0 for some $x \in (a, b)$. Consequently f(x) = x.

2-9.7. <u>Exercise</u> Let $y = f(x) : [0,1] \to [0,2]$ and $x = g(y) : [0,2] \to [0,1]$ be continuous functions. Prove that there is $(a,b) \in [0,1] \times [0,2]$ such that b = f(a) and a = g(b). Sketch the graphs of f, g on the rectangle $[0,1] \times [0,2]$ and interpret the location of (a,b).

2-9.8. Lemma If M is a connected set contained in a disconnection (P, Q), then either $M \subset P$ or $M \subset Q$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Suppose to the contrary that $M \not\subset P$ and $M \not\subset Q$. Define $A = M \cap P$ and $B = M \cap Q$. If possible, assume $A = \emptyset$. Then

 $M = M \cap (P \cup Q) = (M \cap P) \cup (M \cap Q) = A \cup (M \cap Q) = M \cap Q,$

i.e. $M \subset Q$ which is a contradiction. Hence $A \neq \emptyset$ and similarly $B \neq \emptyset$. Now observe $M = M \cap (P \cup Q) = (M \cap P) \cup (M \cap Q) = A \cup B$. Since $A \cap \overline{B} \subset P \cap \overline{Q} = \emptyset$, we have $A \cap \overline{B} = \emptyset$. Similarly, $B \cap \overline{A} = \emptyset$. Therefore M is disconnected. This contradiction shows either $M \subset P$ or $M \subset Q$.

2-9.9. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let $\{M_i : i \in I\}$ be a family of connected sets in a metric space X. If the intersection $\bigcap_{i \in I} M_i$ is non-empty, then the union $\bigcup_{i \in I} M_i$ is also connected.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $M = \bigcup_{i \in I} M_i$. Suppose to the contrary that there is a disconnection (P,Q) satisfying $M = P \cup Q$. Take any $a \in \bigcap_{i \in I} M_i$. Then $a \in M$. Without loss of generality, let $a \in P$. For each $i \in I$, M_i is a connected subset of the disconnection (P,Q). So, we obtain either $M_i \subset P$ or $M_i \subset Q$. Now $a \in M_i \cap P$. Since P,Q are disjoint, we have $a \notin Q$. Hence $M_i \notin Q$. Therefore we have $M_i \subset P$ for all $i \in I$. Consequently, $M \subset P$. Thus $Q = Q \cap (P \cup Q) = Q \cap M \subset Q \cap P = \emptyset$ gives a contradiction. Therefore M is connected.

2-9.10. <u>Exercise</u> Let X be a metric space. A continuous map φ from an interval into X is called a *curve* in X. If $\varphi : [a, b] \to X$ is a continuous map, then f(a), f(b) are said to be *joined* by the curve φ . Show that a subset M of X is connected if any two points in M can be joined by a curve in M.

2-9.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that all ball in a normed space are connected. Prove that every normed space is connected.

2-9.12. <u>Exercise</u> Show that any two points of a connected open subset M of a normed space can be joined by a curve in M.

2-10 Components

2-10.1. Let X be a metric space. A subset C of X is called a *component* of X if it is a maximal connected subset of X. More precisely, C is a connected subset of X and if A is any connected set containing C, then A = C.

2-10.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let M, N be subsets of a metric space X such that $M \subset N \subset \overline{M}$. If M is connected, then so is N.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose to the contrary that N is disconnected. There is a disconnection (P,Q) such that $N = P \cup Q$. Since M is a subset of the disconnection (P,Q), we have either $M \subset P$ or $M \subset Q$. If $M \subset P$, then

 $Q=Q\cap N\subset Q\cap \overline{M}\subset Q\cap \overline{P}=\emptyset,$

i.e. $Q = \emptyset$ which is a contradiction. Similarly, $M \subset Q$ leads to another contradiction. Therefore N is connected.

2-10.3. <u>Theorem</u> Every component is closed.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let C be a component of a metric space X. Then \overline{C} is a connected set containing C. Hence $C = \overline{C}$. Therefore C is closed.

2-10.4. <u>Exercise</u> Let $X = (01) \cup (1, 2)$. Show that (0, 1) is closed in X but not closed in \mathbb{R} . Find the components of X.

2-10.5. <u>Exercise</u> Find the components of the metric space Q of all rational numbers.

2-10.6. **Exercise** Find closure of the subset $M = \{(x, y) : y = \sin \frac{1}{x}, x > 0\}$ of \mathbb{R}^2 . Show that the union X of M and the y-axis is connected. Is it possible to join the points (0, 3) and $(\frac{1}{\pi}, 0)$ by a curve in X?

2-10.7. **Theorem** The family of all components of a metric space X forms a partition of X.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $a \in X$ be given. Let \mathcal{E} be the family of all connected sets containing a. Then \mathcal{E} is non-empty because the singleton $\{a\}$ is in \mathcal{E} . Let C be the union of all sets in \mathcal{E} . Then C is connected. Furthermore, if B is a connected set containing C, then B is a connected set containing a; hence $B \in \mathcal{E}$, and therefore $B \subset C$. Consequently, C is maximal connected set. As a result, every point of X is covered by some component. Next, let M, N be two components of X. Suppose that $M \cap N \neq \emptyset$. Then $M \cup N$ is a connected set containing the component M. By maximality, we have $M = M \cup N$. Similarly, $N = M \cup N$.

Hence, M = N. Therefore two components are either disjoint or identical. This completes the proof.

2-10.8. Let \mathbb{D} be a family of disjoint non-empty open sets in a metric space X. If X is separable then \mathbb{D} is countable.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{a_n : n \ge 1\}$ be an enumeration of a countable dense set in X. Take any $A \in \mathbb{D}$. Given that A is non-empty, there is $x \in A$. Since A is open, there is a ball $\mathbb{B}(x) \subset A$. Being dense set, there is $a_n \in \mathbb{B}(x)$. Define f(A) = n. Note that the choice of n depends on A but it need not be unique. We have defined an integer function f on \mathbb{D} . If f(A) = f(B) = n, then $a_n \in A \cap B$ and hence A = B because sets in \mathbb{D} are disjoint. Therefore f is an injection of \mathbb{D} into the set of integers. Consequently, \mathbb{D} is countable.

2-10.9. <u>Theorem</u> Every open subset M of \mathbb{R} is a countable union of disjoint open intervals.

<u>Proof.</u> Let C be a component of M. Since M is open, for each $x \in M$, there is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that the ball $B = (x - \varepsilon, x + \varepsilon)$ is a subset of M. Since $x \in B \cap C$ and both B, C are connected, $B \cup C$ is a connected set containing the component C. Hence $C = B \cup C$, i.e. $B \subset C$. Therefore C is open in \mathbb{R} . Because C is connected, it is an open interval. Now the family \mathbb{D} of all components of M consists of disjoint open intervals. Since \mathbb{R} is separable, \mathbb{D} is countable. \Box

2-10.10. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let X, Y be metric spaces. If both X, Y are connected, then so is the product space $X \times Y$.

<u>Proof.</u> Take any point $(a, b) \in X \times Y$. The map $f: X \to X \times Y$ given by $\overline{f(x)} = (x, b), \forall x \in X$ is continuous. Hence the image $f(X) = X \times \{b\}$ is a connected subset of $X \times Y$. Similarly, $\{a\} \times Y$ is a connected subset of $X \times Y$. Let $K(a) = [X \times \{b\}] \cup [\{a\} \times Y]$. Since $(a, b) \in [X \times \{b\}] \cap [\{a\} \times Y]$, K(a) is connected. Since $X \times \{b\} \subset K(a), \forall a \in X$, the set $\bigcup_{a \in X} K(a) = X \times Y$ is connected. This completes the proof.

2-10.11. **Exercise** Let X, Y be metric spaces and $f : X \to Y$ a continuous map. Prove that if X is connected then the graph $\{[x, f(x)] : x \in X\}$ of f is a connected subset of the product space $X \times Y$.

2-99. References and Further Readings : Dugundji-66, Thron and Hocking.

Chapter 3 Banach Spaces

3-1 Uniform Convergence

3-1.1. Functional analysis is supposed to analyze certain classes of functions. A lot of typical examples will be given soon so that you have an intuitive idea of what is going on.

3-1.2. Let X be a non-empty set. Let f, g be functions on X and α, β scalars in **K**. Then the pointwise operations are defined as follow:

(a) equality: f = g if $f(x) = g(x), \forall x \in X$;

- (b) linear combination: $(\alpha f + \beta g)(x) = \alpha f(x) + \beta g(x), \forall x \in X;$
- (c) product: $(f \cdot g)(x) = f(x)g(x), \forall x \in X;$
- (d) absolute-value: $|f|(x) = |f(x)|, \forall x \in X;$
- (e) complex conjugate: $f^{-}(x) = [f(x)]^{-}, \forall x \in X;$
- (f) real and imaginary parts: $\operatorname{Re}(f) = \frac{1}{2}(f+f^{-})$; $\operatorname{Im}(f) = \frac{1}{2i}(f-f^{-})$.

For all *real* functions f, g on X define

(g) order:
$$f \leq g$$
 if $f(x) \leq g(x), \forall x \in X$;

- (h) maximum: $(f \lor g)(x) = f(x) \lor g(x) = \max\{f(x), g(x)\}, \forall x \in X;$
- (i) minimum: $(f \land g)(x) = f(x) \land g(x) = \min\{f(x), g(x)\}, \forall x \in X;$
- (j) positive and negative parts: $f_+ = f \lor 0$; $f_- = (-f) \lor 0$.

Pointwise addition and scalar multiplication of vector-valued maps are defined in the similar way. It will be used without further specification.

3-1.3. **Exercise** Prove that for all real functions f, g on a non-empty set X, we have $f \lor g = \frac{1}{2}(f + g + |f - g|)$ and $f \land g = \frac{1}{2}(f + g - |f - g|)$.

3-1.4. **Exercise** Let f, g be real-functions on \mathbb{R} given by f(x) = |x| - 1 and g(x) = 2 - |x - 1| for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Sketch f + g, |f|, $f \lor g$, $f \land g$, f_+ and f_- .

3-1.5. **Exercise** Prove that the set $\mathbb{F}(X)$ of all functions from X into \mathbb{K} forms a vector space. Most vector spaces in this book will be derived as vector subspaces of $\mathbb{F}(X)$ by checking closure under addition and scalar multiplication.

3-1.6. Let X, Y be metric spaces and let f_n, g be maps from X into Y. Then $\{f_n\}$ is said to converge to g uniformly on a subset M of X if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer p such that for all $n \ge p$ and for all $x \in M$, we have $d(f_n(x), g(x)) \le \varepsilon$. In symbols, write $f_n \to g$ uniformly on M. When M = X, we may drop M in our notation. Note that the functions f_n, g need not be bounded.

3-1.7. <u>Theorem</u> Uniform limits of continuous maps are continuous. More precisely, let X, Y be metric spaces and f_n, g be maps from X into Y. Suppose that all f_n are continuous. If $f_n \to g$ uniformly on X, then g is continuous on X.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $a \in X$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Since $f_n \to g$ uniformly, there is p such that for all $n \ge p$ and for all $x \in X$, we have $d[f_n(x), g(x)] \le \varepsilon/3$. Now f_p is continuous at $a \in X$. There is $\delta > 0$ such that $d(x, a) \le \delta$ implies $d[f_p(x), f_p(a)] \le \varepsilon/3$. Now suppose $d(x, a) \le \delta$. Then we obtain

 $d[g(x), g(a)] \le d[g(x), f_p(x)] + d[f_p(x), f_p(a)] + d[f_p(a), g(a)] \le \varepsilon.$

Therefore g is continuous at $a \in X$. Since $a \in X$ is arbitrary, g is continuous on X.

3-1.8. Let X be a set and Y a metric space. Let f_n, g be maps from X into Y. Then $\{f_n\}$ is said to converge to g pointwise if for every $x \in X$, we have $f_n(x) \to g(x)$ in Y. Clearly uniform convergence implies pointwise convergence.

3-1.9. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f_n(x) = nx$ if $0 \le x \le \frac{1}{n}$ and $f_n(x) = 0$ if $x > \frac{1}{n}$. Show that $\{f_n\}$ converges pointwise on [0, 1]. Prove that the sequence $\{f_n\}$ does not converge uniformly on [0, 1].

3-2 Bounded Continuous Functions

3-2.1. Let E be a normed space. Then E is a metric space under the distance d(x, y) = ||x-y||. If E is complete, it is called a *Banach space*. It has been shown that all \mathbb{K}_1^n , \mathbb{K}_2^n and \mathbb{K}_{∞}^n are examples of Banach spaces but they are all finite dimensional. We shall begin to study function spaces which are usually infinite dimensional. Chapter 13 on Hilbert spaces should be read concurrently.

3-2.2. **Example** Let X be a non-empty set. The *sup-norm* of a function $f: X \to \mathbb{K}$ is defined by $||f||_{\infty} = \sup_{x \in X} |f(x)|$ which may be ∞ . Obviously, it is finite iff the function f is bounded on X. Let B(X) denote the set of

all bounded functions on X. It is an exercise to show that B(X) is a vector subspace of $\mathbf{F}(X)$ and the sup-norm is a norm on B(X). Convergence in B(X) is the same as uniform convergence on X. Note that B(X) is a generalization of \mathbb{K}^n_{∞} when $X = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$.

3-2.3. <u>Exercise</u> Let $X = (0, \infty)$ and $f(x) = e^x \cos x$, $g(x) = e^{-x} \sin x$ for $x \in X$. Find the sup-norms of f, g and determine whether they belong to B(X).

3-2.4. <u>**Theorem</u>** The vector space B(X) of all bounded functions on a nonempty set X forms a Banach space under the sup-norm.</u>

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{f_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in B(X). Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer k such that $||f_m - f_n||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$, $\forall m, n \ge k$. For each $x \in X$, since $|f_m(x) - f_n(x)| \le ||f_m - f_n||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$, the sequence $\{f_n(x)\}$ is Cauchy in the complete metric space \mathbb{K} and hence it converges to some $f(x) \in \mathbb{K}$. Now $f: X \to \mathbb{K}$ is a well-defined function. Because

$$|f_m(x)| \le |f_m(x) - f_k(x)| + |f_k(x)| \le \varepsilon + ||f_k||_{\infty},$$

setting $m \to \infty$ we have $|f(x)| \le \varepsilon + ||f_k||_{\infty}$ for all $x \in X$. Therefore $f \in B(X)$. Letting $m \to \infty$ in $|f_m(x) - f_n(x)| \le ||f_m - f_n||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$, we have for all $n \ge k$. $|f(x) - f_n(x)| \le \varepsilon$. Since $x \in X$ is arbitrary, we get $||f - f_n||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$, $\forall n \ge k$. This proves $f_n \to f$ in B(X). Consequently B(X) is a Banach space. \Box

3-2.5. **Exercise** Let X be a metric space and E a normed space. Let $f, g: X \to E$ be continuous maps and $\lambda: X \to \mathbb{K}$ a continuous function. Prove that the sum f + g, the product λf and the absolute-value $|\lambda|$ are continuous on X. Furthermore, prove that if λ is non-zero on X then its *reciprocal* defined by $(\frac{1}{\lambda})(x) = \frac{1}{\lambda(x)}$ is also continuous on X.

3-2.6. **Example** Let X be a metric space. Then the set BC(X) of all bounded continuous functions on X is a closed vector subspace of the Banach space B(X). Hence BC(X) is also a Banach space under the sup-norm. Note that BC(X) is a generalization of \mathbb{K}_{∞}^{n} when $X = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ is equipped with the discrete metric.

3-2.7. **Example** Let X be a compact metric space. Since every continuous functions on X is bounded, BC(X) is identical with the vector space C(X) of all continuous functions on X.

3-2.8. Let C[a,b] be the vector space of all continuous functions on the compact set [a,b] where a < b. Of course, $C_{\infty}[a,b]$ forms a Banach space. On the other hand, for each $f \in C[a,b]$ define

$$||f||_1 = \int_a^b |f(x)| dx$$
 and $||f||_2 = \sqrt{\int_a^b |f(x)|^2 dx}$

It is routine to verify that both are norms on C[a, b]. Write $C_1[a, b]$ and $C_2[a, b]$ to indicate explicitly which norm is used on the same vector space C[a, b]. Whenever nothing is mentioned, $C_{\infty}[a, b]$ will be assumed.

3-2.9. **Example** The normed space $C_1[-1, 1]$ is not complete.

<u>*Proof.*</u> We shall construct a Cauchy but divergent sequence in $C_1[-1, 1]$. Define

$$f_n(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } -1 \le x \le 0\\ nx, & \text{if } 0 \le x \le \frac{1}{n},\\ 1, & \text{if } \frac{1}{n} \le x \le 1. \end{cases}$$

All f_n are continuous by Glue-Theorem. For all $m, n \geq 3$, since

$$||f_m - f_n||_1 \le \int_0^{\frac{1}{m} + \frac{1}{n}} |f_m(x) - f_n(x)| dx \le \frac{2}{m} + \frac{2}{n},$$

the sequence $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in $C_1[-1, 1]$. Suppose to the contrary that $\{f_n\}$ converges to some continuous function g in $C_1[-1, 1]$. Then the estimation

$$\int_{-1}^{0} |g(x)| dx = \int_{-1}^{0} |f_n(x) - g(x)| dx \le ||f_n - g||_1 \to 0$$

together with the continuity of g ensures that g(x) = 0 for all $x \le 0$. On the other hand, take any 0 < a < 1. Observe that for all $n > \frac{1}{a}$,

$$\int_a^1 |1-g(x)| dx = \int_a^1 |f_n(x)-g(x)| dx \le ||f_n-g||_1 \to 0.$$

The continuity of g gives g(x) = 1 for all $a \le x \le 1$. Since a > 0 is arbitrary, we have g(x) = 1 for all x > 0. This contradiction to the continuity of g shows that $C_1[-1, 1]$ cannot be complete.

3-2.10. <u>Exercise</u> Show that C[-1,1] is infinite dimensional. Note that $C_{\infty}[-1,1]$ is a Banach space while $C_1[-1,1]$ is not.

3-2.11. Let *E* be a normed space. An infinite series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ in *E* is said to *converge* to a sum $s \in E$ if the sequence of partial sums $s_n = x_1 + x_2 + \cdots + x_n$ converges to *s*. It is said to converge *absolutely* if the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n||$ converges in **R**. The following results will be needed in next section.

3-2.12. **Theorem** Let $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ be an infinite series in a Banach space *E*. If the given series is absolutely convergent, then it converges in *E*. Furthermore, we have $\|\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n\| \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n\|$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $s_k = \sum_{n=1}^k x_n$ denote the partial sums. Suppose $\varepsilon > 0$ is given. Since $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n||$ converges, there is an integer p such that $\sum_{n=p}^{\infty} ||x_n|| \le \varepsilon$. Now for all $k \ge p$ and all positive integer i, we have

$$||s_{k+i} - s_k|| = ||x_{k+1} + x_{k+2} + \dots + x_{k+i}|| \le ||x_{k+1}|| + ||x_{k+2}|| + \dots + ||x_{k+i}|| \le \varepsilon.$$

Hence $\{s_k : k \ge 1\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the Banach space E. It converges to some limit, say $s \in E$. Consequently the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ also converges to s. Since $||s_k|| \le \sum_{n=1}^{k} ||x_n|| \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n||$, letting $k \to \infty$, we obtain $||s|| \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n||$.

3-2.13. **Exercise** Prove that if a normed space is *not* complete then there exists an absolutely convergent series which is divergent.

3-2.14. **Exercise** Prove that if the infinite series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} y_n$ are convergent in a normed space, then for all scalars α, β , the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\alpha x_n + \beta y_n)$ converges to $\alpha \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n + \beta \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} y_n$.

3-2.15. **Exercise** Prove that if a series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ is convergent in E, then $x_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Also prove that the set $\{||x_n|| : n \ge 1\}$ is bounded. This simple result will be needed to establish a formula for spectral radius.

3-2.16. **Exercise** Extend the results of \S 3-2.4,6,7 to functions from X into a Banach space.

3-3 Sequence Spaces

3-3.1. Let ℓ denote the set of all sequences $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3, \cdots)$ of scalars $x_n \in \mathbb{K}$. It can be considered as functions on the set of integers $1, 2, 3, \cdots$ and hence ℓ forms a vector space. For each $x \in \ell$, define

$$||x||_1 = |x_1| + |x_2| + |x_3| + \cdots;$$
 $||x||_{\infty} = \sup\{|x_1|, |x_2|, |x_3|, \cdots\};$

and

$$||x||_p = \{|x_1|^p + |x_2|^p + |x_3|^p + \dots\}^{1/p}, \text{ for } 1$$

Note that these numbers may be infinity. For $1 \le p \le \infty$, let ℓ_p denote the set of $x \in \ell$ satisfying $||x||_p < \infty$. As a special case of last section, we have the following

3-3.2. **Theorem** ℓ_{∞} is a Banach space.

3-3.3. For $1 , let q be defined uniquely by the equation <math>\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$. In order to unify the notation, define $\frac{1}{\infty} = 0$. If p = 1, let $q = \infty$. If $p = \infty$, let q = 1. Consequently $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ holds for all $1 \le p \le \infty$ and p, q are called *conjugate indices*. To show that ℓ_p forms a normed space, we need the following inequalities.

3-3.4. **Lemma** For all $\alpha, \beta \ge 0$ and $1 , we have <math>\alpha \beta \le \alpha^p / p + \beta^q / q$.

<u>Proof.</u> If one of α, β is zero then the inequality is obviously true. Assume both α, β are non-zero. Let $f(t) = \alpha^p / p + t^q / q - \alpha t$, $\forall t > 0$. Then f'(t) = 0gives a root $r = \alpha^{1/(q-1)}$. Since f''(t) > 0 we have $f(t) \ge f(r) = 0$, for all t > 0. Now $f(\beta) \ge 0$ gives the required inequality.

3-3.5. Holder's Inequality For $1 , if <math>x \in \ell_p$ and $y \in \ell_q$ then we have $xy \in \ell_1$ where $xy = (x_1y_1, x_2y_2, x_3y_3, \cdots)$. Furthermore, we have the inequality: $\|xy\|_1 \le \|x\|_p \|y\|_q$.

<u>Proof</u>. If $||x||_p = 0$ then x = 0 or xy = 0 and hence $xy \in \ell_1$. In this case, both sides of the inequality are zero. Similarly the result holds for $||y||_q = 0$. Now assume $||x||_p \neq 0$ and $||y||_q \neq 0$. Observe that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{|x_n y_n|}{\|x\|_p \|y\|_q} \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{p} \frac{|x_n|^p}{\|x\|_p^p} + \frac{1}{q} \frac{|y_n|^q}{\|y\|_q^q} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{p\|x\|_p^p} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x_n|^p + \frac{1}{q\|y\|_q^q} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |y_n|^q = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1. \end{split}$$

i.e. $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x_n y_n| \leq ||x||_p ||y||_q$. Hence the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n y_n$ is absolutely convergent in **K** and $||xy||_1 \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x_n y_n| \leq ||x||_p ||y||_q$. This completes the proof.

3-3.6. <u>Minkowski's Inequality</u> For 1 , if <math>x, y are in ℓ_p then so is x + y. Furthermore, we have $||x + y||_p \le ||x||_p + ||y||_p$.

Proof. Since

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_j + y_j|^p \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(|x_j| + |y_j| \right)^p \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(|2|x_j| \right)^p + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(|2|y_j| \right)^p \leq 2^p \left(||x||_p^p + ||y||_p^p \right) < \infty, \end{split}$$

we have $x + y \in \ell_p$. Suppose $||x + y||_p \neq 0$, otherwise the required inequality holds already. It follows from Holder's Inequality that

$$\|x+y\|_p^p = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_j+y_j|^p = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_j+y_j| \ |x_j+y_j|^{p-1}$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_j| |x_j + y_j|^{p-1} + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |y_j| |x_j + y_j|^{p-1} \\ \leq \left[\left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_j|^p \right)^{1/p} + \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_j|^p \right)^{1/p} \right] \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_j + y_j|^{(p-1)q} \right)^{1/q} \\ = (\|x\|_p + \|y\|_p) \|x + y\|_p^{p-1}.$$

Dividing by $||x + y||_p^{p-1}$, the result follows.

3-3.7. **<u>Theorem</u>** For $1 , <math>\ell_p$ forms a Banach space.

<u>*Proof*</u>. It is an exercise to verify that ℓ_p is a normed space. To prove the completeness, let $\{x_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in ℓ_p . For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer k such that for all $m, n \ge k$ we have

$$\|x^m - x^n\| \le \varepsilon. \qquad \qquad \#1$$

Write $x^n = (x_1^n, x_2^n, x_3^n, \cdots)$. Since $|x_j^n - x_j^m| \le ||x^m - x^n|| \le \varepsilon$, the sequence $\{x_j^n : n \ge 1\}$ is Cauchy in the complete metric space \mathbb{K} . Suppose $x_j^n \to x_j$ as $n \to \infty$ and define $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3, \cdots)$. It follows from #1 that for every integer $r \ge 1$, we have $\sum_{j=1}^r |x_j^m - x_j^n|^p \le \varepsilon^p$. Letting $m \to \infty$, we obtain

$$\sum_{j=1}^r |x_j - x_j^n|^p \le \varepsilon^p. \qquad \#2$$

Observe that

 $\left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |x_j|^p\right)^{1/p} \leq \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |x_j - x_j^k|^p\right)^{1/p} + \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} |x_j^k|^p\right)^{1/p} \leq \varepsilon + \|x^k\|_p < \infty.$ Since *r* is arbitrary, we have $x \in \ell_p$. Letting $r \to \infty$ in #2, we get $\|x - x^n\| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $n \geq k$. Therefore $x^n \to x$ in ℓ_p . Consequently, ℓ_p is a Banach space. \Box 3-3.8. **Exercise** Prove that for every $x \in \ell_1$ and $y \in \ell_\infty$, we have $xy \in \ell_1$ and $\|xy\|_1 \leq \|x\|_1 \|y\|_\infty$.

3-3.9. **Exercise** Prove that ℓ_1 is a Banach space.

3-3.10. A sequence in ℓ is said to be *finite* if it has only a finite number of non-zero terms. The set of all finite sequences in ℓ is denoted by \mathcal{F} . A sequence $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3, \cdots)$ is said to be *null* if $x_n \to 0$ in \mathbb{K} as $n \to \infty$. The set of all null sequences is denoted by c_0 .

3-3.11. <u>Exercise</u> Show that $\mathcal{F} \subset \ell_1 \subset \ell_2 \subset c_0 \subset \ell_\infty$. Also prove by counter examples that $\mathcal{F} \neq \ell_1 \neq \ell_2 \neq c_0 \neq \ell_\infty$. Note that all these spaces are infinite dimensional.

3-3.12. **Exercise** Prove that c_0 is a closed vector subspace of ℓ_{∞} . We shall use the sup-norm on c_0 unless other norm is specified explicitly. Show that c_0 is also a Banach space.

 \Box

3-3.13. **Exercise** Prove that the set \mathcal{F} of all finite sequence is not a closed subset of ℓ_p for each $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. We shall write \mathcal{F}_p to indicate the norm used on \mathcal{F} . Prove that \mathcal{F}_p is not a Banach space for any $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. If nothing is mentioned to \mathcal{F} , then \mathcal{F}_{∞} will be assumed.

3-3.14. **Exercise** Let $e_n = (\delta_{1n}, \delta_{2n}, \delta_{3n}, \cdots)$ where $\delta_{jn} = 1$ if j = n and $\delta_{jn} = 0$ otherwise. Choose vectors $x_n = e_n/2^n$ in \mathcal{F}_1 . Show that the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n||$ converges in \mathbb{R} , but the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ diverges in \mathcal{F}_1 . Consequently, \mathcal{F}_1 cannot be a Banach space.

3-3.15. <u>Exercise</u> For $1 , prove that <math>\mathbb{K}^n$ is a Banach space under the norm given by $||x||_p = \left(\sum_{j=1}^n |x_j|^p\right)^{1/p}$ for every $x \in \mathbb{K}^n$. To indicate this norm explicitly, write \mathbb{K}_p^n .

3-3.16. <u>Exercise</u> Let 1 . Consider the vector space <math>C[a, b] of all continuous functions on [a, b] where a < b in \mathbb{R} . Prove that C[a, b] is a normed space under $||f||_p = \left(\int_a^b |f(x)|^p dx\right)^{1/p}$ for every $f \in C[a, b]$. Write $C_p[a, b]$ to indicate this norm explicitly. Prove or disprove that $C_p[a, b]$ is a Banach space.

3-4 Continuous Linear Maps

3-4.1. Continuous linear maps is useful because of its simplicity. Actually differential calculus is to approximate a nonlinear map locally by a linear map plus a constant. Standard examples of continuous linear maps will be given in next section.

3-4.2. Let E, F be normed spaces. The norm of a linear map $f : E \to F$ is defined by $||f|| = \sup\{||f(x)|| : x \in E, ||x|| \le 1\}$. Note that f need not be continuous and its norm may be infinity. Since ||f(0)|| = ||0|| = 0, we have $||f|| \ge 0$.

3-4.3. <u>**Theorem</u>** For every linear map $f : E \to F$, the following statements are equivalent.</u>

- (a) f is continuous at the origin of E.
- (b) f is continuous on E.
- (c) The norm of f is finite, i.e. $||f|| < \infty$.
- (d) There is $0 \leq \lambda < \infty$ such that $||f(x)|| \leq \lambda ||x||$ for all $x \in E$.

Furthermore, if f is continuous then we have $||f(x)|| \le ||f|| ||x||, \forall x \in E$ and

$$\|f\| = \sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \|f(x)\| = \sup_{\|x\| = 1} \|f(x)\| = \inf\{\lambda \ge 0 : \|f(x) \le \lambda \|x\|, \forall x \in E\}.$$

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\alpha = \sup_{\|x\|=1} \|f(x)\|$ and $\beta = \inf\{\lambda \ge 0 : \|f(x)\| \le \lambda \|x\|, \forall x \in E\}$. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Let $x_n \to y$ be a convergent sequence in E. Then $x_n - y \to 0$ in E. Since f is continuous at $0 \in E$, we have $f(x_n - y) \to f(0)$ in F. The linearity of f gives $f(x_n) - f(y) \to 0$ in F, i.e. $f(x_n) \to f(y)$ in F. Therefore f is continuous on E.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Suppose to the contrary that $||f|| = \infty$. Then for each *n*, there is $x_n \in E$ such that $||x_n|| \le 1$ and $||f(x_n)|| \ge n$. Since $\left\|\frac{x_n}{n}\right\| = \frac{||x_n||}{n} \le \frac{1}{n} \to 0$, but at the same time $\left\|f\left(\frac{x_n}{n}\right)\right\| = \left\|\frac{f(x_n)}{n}\right\| = \frac{||f(x_n)||}{n} \ge 1$, *f* is discontinuous at the origin.

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$ Since the unit sphere is a subset of the closed unit ball in E, we have $\alpha \le \|f\| < \infty$. Take any $x \in E$. We claim $\|f(x) \le \alpha \|x\|$. In fact, if x = 0, then $\|f(x)\| = 0 \le \alpha \|x\|$. Suppose $x \ne 0$. Then $\|x\| \ne 0$. Since $\left\|\frac{x}{\|x\|}\right\| = 1$, we obtain $\left\|f\left(\frac{x}{\|x\|}\right)\right\| \le \alpha$, i.e. $\|f(x)\| \le \alpha \|x\|$. By definition of β , we have $\beta \le \alpha$. $(d \Rightarrow a)$ Let $x_n \to 0$ in E. Then $\|f(x_n)\| \le \lambda \|x_n\| \to 0$. Therefore f is

 $(a \Rightarrow a)$ Let $x_n \to 0$ in E. Then $||f(x_n)|| \leq \lambda ||x_n|| \to 0$. Therefore f is continuous at $0 \in E$. Furthermore, to prove $||f|| \leq \beta$, take any $\lambda \geq 0$ such that $||f(x)|| \leq \lambda ||x||$ for all $x \in E$. In particular, for $||y|| \leq 1$ in E, we have $||f(y)|| \leq \lambda ||y|| \leq \lambda$. Taking supremum over $||y|| \leq 1$, we get $||f|| \leq \lambda$. Taking infimum over λ , we obtain $||f|| \leq \beta$. Therefore $||f|| = \alpha = \beta$. Since $||f(x)|| \leq \alpha ||x||$ for all $x \in E$, we have $||f(x)|| \leq ||f|| ||x||$ for all $x \in E$.

3-4.4. **Theorem** Let E, F, G be normed spaces. If $f: E \to F$ and $g: F \to G$ are continuous linear maps, then we have $||gf|| \leq ||g|| ||f||$. Furthermore if $f_n \to f \in L(E, F)$ and $g_n \to f \in L(F, G)$, then $g_n f_n \to gf \in L(E, G)$.

<u>Proof</u>. It follows immediately by taking supremum over $||x|| \leq 1$ in E in the calculation: $||(gf)(x)|| = ||g[f(x)]|| \leq ||g|| ||f(x)|| \leq ||g|| ||f|| ||x|| \leq ||g|| ||f||$. The proof of last statement is left as an exercise.

3-4.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let E, F be normed spaces and $f: E \to F$ a linear map. Prove that the following statements are equivalent.

(a) f is continuous on E.

(b) For every null sequence $x_n \to 0$ in E, the set $\{f(x_n)\}$ is bounded in F.

(c) f is bounded on some open ball of E.

This is why continuous linear maps between normed spaces are also called *bounded* linear maps.

3-4.6. Let E, F be normed spaces. The set of all continuous linear maps from E into F is denoted by L(E, F) and the set of algebraic linear maps which need not be continuous by $L^*(E, F)$. A linear map from E into the scalar field \mathbb{K} is called a *linear form*. The set of all linear forms on E is called the *algebraic dual* of E and it is denoted by E^* . The set of all *continuous* linear forms on E is called the *topological dual* or simply the dual space of E and it is denoted by E'.

3-4.7. **Theorem** Let f be a linear form on a normed space E. Then f is continuous on E iff the kernel $f^{-1}(0)$ of f is closed in E.

<u>Proof</u>. If f is continuous, then the kernel as the inverse image of the close set $\{0\}$ in \mathbb{K} is closed. Conversely, it is trivial for f = 0. So, assume that there is $a \in E$ such that $f(a) \neq 0$. Then a belongs to the open set $E \setminus f^{-1}(0)$. There is a ball $\mathbb{B}(a,r) \subset E \setminus f^{-1}(0)$. Take any $||x|| \leq 1$ in E. Suppose to the contrary that $||f|| > \frac{|f(a)|}{r}$. Let $y = -\frac{f(a)}{f(x)}x$. Then we have $||y|| = \frac{|f(a)|}{|f(x)|}||x|| < r$. Hence $a + y \in \mathbb{B}(a,r)$ and so $a + r \notin f^{-1}(0)$, i.e. $f(a + y) \neq 0$. On the other hand, we also have $f(a + y) = f(a) + f(y) = f(a) - \frac{f(a)}{f(x)}f(x) = 0$. This contradiction shows $||f(x)|| \leq \frac{|f(a)|}{r}$. Taking supremum over $||x|| \leq 1$ in E, we obtain $||f|| \leq \frac{|f(a)|}{r} < \infty$. Consequently, f is continuous.

3-4.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if a linear form f on a normed space E is discontinuous, then its kernel is dense in E.

3-4.9. **Lemma** The set L(E, F) of all continuous linear maps forms a normed space.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let f, g belong to L(E, F). Take any $||x|| \le 1$ in E. Observe that

$$||(f+g)x|| = ||f(x)+g(x)|| \le ||f(x)|| + ||g(x)||$$

 $\leq \|f\| \ \|x\| + \|g\| \ \|x\| \leq \|f\| + \|g\|.$

Taking supremum over $||x|| \leq 1$, we obtain $||f + g|| \leq ||f|| + ||g|| < \infty$. Hence $f+g \in L(E, F)$ and the triangular inequality holds. Next, let $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ be a given scalar. For any $||x|| \leq 1$ in E, observe

$$\|(\lambda f)x\| = \|\lambda[f(x)]\| = |\lambda| \ \|f(x)\| \le |\lambda| \|f\| \ \|x\| \le |\lambda| \ \|f\|.$$
Hence $\|\lambda f\| \leq |\lambda| \|\|f\| < \infty$. Therefore λf also belongs to L(E, F). Consequently, L(E, F) is a vector space. If $\lambda = 0$, we deduce $\|\lambda f\| = 0 = |\lambda| \|f\|$. In particular, $\|O\| = 0$ in L(E, F). Suppose $\lambda \neq 0$. Replacing λ by λ^{-1} and f by λf , we get $\|\lambda^{-1}(\lambda f)\| \leq |\lambda^{-1}| \|\lambda f\|$, i.e. $|\lambda| \|\|f\| \leq \|\lambda f\|$. Combining with the last inequality, we obtain $|\lambda| \|\|f\| = \|\lambda f\|$. Clearly $\|\|f\| \geq 0$ for all $f \in L(E, F)$. Now assume $\|\|f\| = 0$. Then for all $x \in E$, we have $\|\|f(x)\| \leq \|f\| \|x\| = 0$, i.e. f(x) = 0. Hence f = 0. We conclude that L(E, F) is a normed space.

3-4.10. **Theorem** If F is a Banach space, then so is L(E, F).

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $\{f_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in L(E, F). We want to show that $\{f_n\}$ converges to some $g \in L(E, F)$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is an integer p such that for all $m \parallel \ge p$, we have $\|f_m - f_n\| \le \varepsilon$. Take any $x \in E$. Since

$$||f_m(x) - f_n(x)|| \le ||f_m - f_n|| ||x|| \le \varepsilon ||x||,$$
 #1

the sequence $\{f_n(x) : n \ge 1\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the complete metric space F. Define $g(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(x)$. Since $x \in E$ is arbitrary, we have defined a map g from E into F. Letting $n \to \infty$ in the equation:

$$f_n(\alpha x + \beta y) = \alpha f_n(x) + \beta f_n(y), \forall x, y \in E, \forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K},$$

we have $g(\alpha x + \beta y) = \alpha g_n x + \beta g_n y$, i.e. g is a linear map. For $m \to \infty$ in #1,

$$\|g(x) - f_n(x)\| \le \varepsilon \|x\| \le \varepsilon, \forall \ n \ge p, \forall \ \|x\| \le 1 \text{ in } E.$$
#2

In particular, when n = p we get $||g(x)|| \le ||f_p(x)|| + ||g(x) - f_p(x)|| \le ||f_p|| + \varepsilon$, i.e. $||g|| \le ||f_p|| + \varepsilon < \infty$. Hence g is continuous. Taking supremum over $||x|| \le 1$ in #2, we have $||g - f_n|| \le \varepsilon, \forall n \ge p$. Therefore $f_n \to g$ in L(E, F). Consequently, every Cauchy sequence in L(E, F) is convergent. This completes the proof.

3-4.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the topological dual of a normed space is a Banach space.

3-4.12. **Exercise** Let E be a normed space and F a Banach space. Let M be a vector subspace of E. Prove that every continuous linear map $f: M \to F$ is uniformly continuous. Hence or otherwise prove that f can be extended uniquely to a continuous linear map on the closure of M.

3-4.13. **Exercise** Let X be a compact metric space and E a Banach space. Clearly the set C(X, E) is a vector space under the pointwise operations. Show that C(X, E) is a Banach space under the sup-norm $||f|| = \sup\{||f(x)|| : x \in X\}$. To emphasize the sup-norm, write $C_{\infty}(X, E)$ instead of C(X, E).

3-5 Examples of Continuous Linear Maps

3-5.1. **Example** Let $A : \mathbb{K}_p^n \to \mathbb{K}_p^m$ be a linear map where $1 \le p \le \infty$. Since $\mathbb{K}^n, \mathbb{K}^m$ are column vectors, A is identified as an $m \times n$ matrix $A = [a_{ij}]$. The norm of A is defined by the general formula $||A||_p = \sup_{||x||_p \le 1} ||Ax||_p$. Then we have the following explicit expressions:

$$||A||_{\infty} = \max_{1 \le i \le m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{ij}|, \quad \text{and} \quad ||A||_1 = \max_{1 \le j \le n} \sum_{i=1}^{m} |a_{ij}|.$$

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let $\alpha = \max_{1 \le i \le m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{ij}|$. Take any $||x||_{\infty} \le 1$ in \mathbb{K}^n and write y = Ax.

Then we get

$$||Ax||_{\infty} = \max_{1 \le i \le m} |y_i| = \max_{1 \le i \le m} \left| \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j \right|$$

$$\leq \max_{1 \le i \le m} \sum_{j=1}^n |a_{ij}| \max_{1 \le k \le n} |x_k| \le \max_{1 \le i \le m} \sum_{j=1}^n |a_{ij}| ||x||_{\infty} \le \alpha.$$

Taking supremum over $||x||_{\infty} \leq 1$, we have $||A||_{\infty} \leq \alpha$. Pick an index k satisfying $\sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{kj}| = \alpha$. Choose $x_j \in \mathbb{K}$ such that $a_{kj}x_j = |a_{kj}|$ and $|x_j| = 1$. Then $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{K}^n$ satisfies $||x||_{\infty} = 1$. Observe that

$$||Ax||_{\infty} = \max_{1 \le i \le m} \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} x_j \right| \ge \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{kj} x_j \right| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{kj}| = \alpha$$

This proves the first formula. For the second formula, let $\beta = \max_{1 \le j \le n} \sum_{i=1}^{m} |a_{ij}|$. Take any $||x||_1 \le 1$ in \mathbb{K}^n and write y = Ax. Then

$$\|Ax\|_{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} |y_{i}| = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} x_{j} \right| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} |a_{ij}| \right) |x_{j}| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta |x_{j}| \le \beta.$$

Taking supremum over $||x||_1 \leq 1$, we have $||A||_1 \leq \beta$. Pick an index k satisfying $\sum_{i=1}^{m} |a_{ik}| = \beta$. Define $x_j = 1$ if j = k and $x_j = 0$ for all $j \neq k$. Then $||x||_1 = 1$ and the following equality completes the proof:

$$\|Ax\|_{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} x_{j} \right| = \sum_{i=1}^{m} |a_{ik}| = \beta.$$

3-5.2. Let E, F be normed spaces. A linear map $f : E \to F$ is said to be *isometric* if ||f(x)|| = ||x|| for all $x \in E$. Clearly every isometry is a continuous injection. Two normed spaces are considered to be identical if they are isometrically isomorphic. For convenience to work in sequence spaces, let $e_j = (\delta_{1j}, \delta_{2j}, \delta_{3j}, \cdots)$ where $\delta_{ij} = 1$ if i = j and $\delta_{ij} = 0$ otherwise. Therefore e_j is the sequence with zero terms except the *j*-th coordinate which is one. This notation will be used without further specification. 3-5.3. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that it is impossible to find any isomorphism from \mathbb{R}^2_1 onto \mathbb{R}^2_2 which preserves their norms.

3-5.4. **Example** The dual space of c_0 is ℓ_1 .

Proof. Take any $a \in \ell_1$. Then for each $x \in c_0$, since

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |a_n x_n| \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |a_n| ||x||_{\infty} \leq ||a||_1 ||x||_{\infty},$$

the infinite series $\langle a, x \rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n x_n$ converges absolutely. Define $f(x) = \langle a, x \rangle$ for all $x \in c_0$. Clearly f is a linear form on c_0 . Also $|f(x)| = |\langle a, x \rangle| \leq ||a||_1 ||x||_{\infty}$. Hence $||f|| \leq ||a||_1$. Therefore f is a continuous linear form on c_0 . Define T(a) = f. Obviously, $T : \ell_1 \to c'_0$ is a linear map. To show that T is surjective, let f be a continuous linear form on c_0 . Define $a_j = f(e_j)$ and $a = (a_1, a_2, a_3, \cdots)$. Choose $y_j = 0$ if $a_j = 0$ and $y_j = |a_j|/a_j$ otherwise. Then $y^n = \sum_{j=1}^n y_j e_j \in c_0$. Since $|y_j| \leq 1$, we have $||y^n|| \leq 1$. For arbitrary n,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_j| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j y_j = f(y^n) = |f(y^n)| \le ||f|| ||y^n||_{\infty} \le ||f||$$

gives $a \in \ell_1$ and $||a||_1 \leq ||f||$. Suppose $x \in c_0$ is given. Let $x^n = \sum_{j=1}^n x_j e_j$. Then $x^n \to x$ in c_0 and hence

$$f(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f(x^n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^n x_j f(e_j) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^n x_j a_j = \langle a, x \rangle.$$

Therefore $T: \ell_1 \to c'_0$ is surjective and isometric. This completes the proof. \Box

3-5.5. **Example** The dual space of ℓ_1 is ℓ_{∞} .

Proof. Take any $a \in \ell_{\infty}$. Then for each $x \in \ell_1$, since

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |a_n x_n| \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|a_n\|_{\infty} |x_n| \le \|a\|_{\infty} \|x\|_1,$$

the infinite series $\langle a, x \rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n x_n$ converges absolutely. Define $f(x) = \langle a, x \rangle$ for all $x \in \ell_1$. Clearly f is a linear form on ℓ_1 . Also $|f(x)| = |\langle a, x \rangle| \leq ||a||_1 ||x||_{\infty}$. Hence $||f|| \leq ||a||_1$. Therefore f is a continuous linear form on ℓ_1 . Define T(a) = f. Obviously, $T : \ell_{\infty} \to \ell'_1$ is a linear map. To show that T is surjective, let f be a continuous linear form on ℓ_1 . Define $a_j = f(e_j)$ and $a = (a_1, a_2, a_3, \cdots)$. Then $|a_j| = |f(e_j)| \leq ||f|| ||e_j||_1 \leq ||f||$. Hence $a \in \ell_{\infty}$ and $||a||_{\infty} \leq ||f||$. Suppose $x \in \ell_1$ is given. Let $x^n = \sum_{j=1}^n x_j e_j$. Then $x^n \to x$ in ℓ_1 and hence

$$f(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f(x^n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^n x_j f(e_j) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^n x_j a_j = \langle a, x \rangle.$$

Therefore $T: \ell_{\infty} \to \ell'_1$ is surjective and isometric. This completes the proof. \Box

3-5.6. **Exercise** Prove that the dual space of ℓ_p is ℓ_q where $1 and <math>\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$.

3-5.7. **Exercise** For every sequence $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3, \dots)$, let $\varphi(x) = x_j$ denote the projection onto the *j*-th coordinate of *x*. Prove that φ is continuous on ℓ_p for all $1 \le p \le \infty$ and also c_0 respectively.

3-5.8. **Exercise** For every sequence $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots) \in \ell$, the *left shift* of x is defined by $LS(s) = (x_2, x_3, \dots)$ and the *right shift* by $RS(s) = (0, x_1, x_2, \dots)$. Show that both shifts are linear maps on the vector space ℓ of all sequences. The restrictions of shifts to all vector subspaces of ℓ will be denoted by the same notations LS and RS.

3-5.9. <u>Exercise</u> For ℓ_p and c_0 , find the norms of both shifts. Are they injective? Are they surjective?

3-5.10. **Exercise** For every function $f \in C[-1, 1]$, let $\varphi(f) = f(0)$ denote the evaluation map. Prove or disprove that φ is continuous on $C_1[-1, 1], C_{\infty}[-1, 1]$ respectively.

3-5.11. <u>Exercise</u> For every $f \in C_{\infty}[-1, 1]$, let $\varphi(f) = \int_{-1}^{0} f(x)dx - \int_{0}^{1} f(x)dx$. Show that φ is a continuous linear form on $C_{\infty}[-1, 1]$ and find its norm.

3-5.12. **Exercise** Let $f, g, h: C_{\infty}[0, 1] \to C_{\infty}[0, 1]$ be linear maps defined by $(fx)(t) = t \int_0^1 x(s)ds$; (gx)(t) = tx(t) and $(hx)(t) = \int_0^t x(s)ds$ respectively. Find the norms ||f||, ||g||, ||h||, ||fg|| and ||gf||. Is it true that fg = gf?

3-5.13. **Exercise** Let *E* denote the Banach space $BC_{\infty}[0, \infty)$. For each $x \in E$, let $f(x)(t) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t x(s) ds$. Show that $f(x) \in E$ and that $f: E \to E$ is a continuous linear map. Find the norm of f.

3-6 Finite Dimensional Normed Spaces

3-6.1. In this section, we shall prove that all normed spaces of the same finite dimension share the same topological properties under any algebraic isomorphisms. Furthermore, every infinite dimensional normed space cannot be locally compact. This may be a reason why abstract harmonic analysis on infinite dimensional Banach spaces and their spheres still require a lot of attention before its theory becomes more mature.

3-6.2. Let E, F be normed spaces. Then an algebraic isomorphism $f: E \to F$ is called a *topological isomorphism* if both f, f^{-1} are continuous.

3-6.3. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the identity map from $C_{\infty}[0, 1]$ onto $C_1[0, 1]$ is a continuous isomorphism but not a topological isomorphism.

3-6.4. Lemma Let E, F be normed spaces and $f : E \to F$ a topological isomorphism. Then E is complete iff F is.

Proof. It is a simple manipulation of Cauchy sequences.

3-6.5. <u>Theorem</u> Every algebraic isomorphism from a finite dimensional normed space onto a normed space is a topological isomorphism.

<u>*Proof.*</u> We shall prove a particular case first. Let b_1, b_2, \dots, b_m be a basis of a normed space F and let $h: \mathbb{K}^m \to F$ be given by

$$h(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \cdots, \alpha_m) = \alpha_1 b_1 + \alpha_2 b_2 + \cdots + \alpha_m b_m.$$

Then $h: \mathbb{K}^m \to F$ is an algebraic isomorphism. Suppose

 $(\alpha_1^n, \alpha_2^n, \cdots, \alpha_m^n) \rightarrow (0, 0, \cdots, 0),$

in \mathbb{K}^m as $n \to \infty$. Then $\alpha_i^n \to 0$ for each *i*-th coordinate. Hence

 $h(\alpha_1^n, \alpha_2^n, \cdots, \alpha_m^n) = \alpha_1^n b_1 + \alpha_2^n b_2 + \cdots + \alpha_m^n b_m \to 0 \text{ in } F.$

Therefore h is continuous on \mathbb{K}^m . Next for m = 1, since $h^{-1}: F \to \mathbb{K}$ is a linear form of which the kernel $\{0\}$ is a closed subset of F, it is continuous. Inductively, let $p_j: \mathbb{K}^m \to \mathbb{K}$ denote the projection of \mathbb{K}^m onto the j-th coordinate. Then $p_j h^{-1}$ is a linear form on F. Its kernel is the vector subspace spanned by $\{b_1, \dots, b_{j-1}, b_{j+1}, \dots, b_m\}$ of which the dimension is m-1. By induction, it is topologically isomorphic to \mathbb{K}^{m-1} . Thus it is complete and thus closed in F. Therefore the linear form $p_j h^{-1}$ is continuous. Now suppose $x_n \to 0$ in F. Then $\alpha_j^n = p_j h^{-1}(x_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Hence the inverse image $h^{-1}(x_n) = (\alpha_1^n, \alpha_2^n, \dots, \alpha_m^n) \to (0, 0, \dots, 0)$ in \mathbb{K}^m . Therefore h^{-1} is also continuous. We have proved that $h: \mathbb{K}^m \to F$ is a topological isomorphism. In general, let $f: E \to F$ be an algebraic isomorphism. Then $g = f^{-1}h: \mathbb{K}^m \to E$ is an algebraic isomorphism. Hence it is a topological isomorphism. \Box

3-6.6. **Exercise** Prove that every finite dimensional normed space is a Banach space.

3-6.7. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every finite dimensional vector subspace of a normed space is closed.

3-6.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every linear form on a finite dimensional normed space is continuous.

3-6.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that a subset in a finite dimensional normed space E is compact iff it is closed and bounded. Also prove that a subset of E is precompact iff it is bounded.

3-6.10. **Lemma** Let M be a closed vector subspace of a normed space E. If $M \neq E$ then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $x \in E$ such that ||x|| = 1 and $d(x, M) \ge 1 - \varepsilon$ where d(x, M) denotes the distance from x to M.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $M \neq E$, take any $a \in E \setminus M$. Let $\lambda = d(a, M)$ be the distance from \overline{a} to M. Because M is closed, we have $\lambda > 0$. Since $t/(\lambda + t)$ is continuous at t = 0, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\delta/(\lambda + \delta) < \varepsilon$. Pick $b \in M$ so that $||a - b|| \le \lambda + \delta$. Since $a \notin M$, $a - b \neq 0$. Let x = (a - b)/||a - b||. Then ||x|| = 1. Take any $m \in M$. Observe

$$\|x - m\| = \left\|\frac{a - b}{\|a - b\|} - m\right\| = \frac{\|a - (b + \|a - b\|m)\|}{\|a - b\|} \ge \frac{\lambda}{\lambda + \delta} = 1 - \frac{\delta}{\lambda + \delta} \ge 1 - \varepsilon.$$

Taking infimum over $m \in M$, we have $d(x, M) \ge 1 - \varepsilon$.

3-6.11. Characterization Theorem of Finite Dimension Let E be a normed space. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) E is finite dimensional.

(b) The closed unit ball $\mathbb{B} = \{x \in E : ||x|| \le 1\}$ is compact.

(c) Every bounded sequence has a convergent subsequence.

(d) The unit sphere $S = \{x \in E : ||x|| = 1\}$ is compact.

<u>Proof</u>. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Let $f : E \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be an algebraic isomorphism from E onto some \mathbb{K}^m . Then it is also a topological isomorphism. Now the set $A = \{y \in \mathbb{K}^m : ||y|| \le ||f||\}$ is closed and bounded in \mathbb{K}^m and hence A must be compact. Since f^{-1} is continuous, $f^{-1}(A)$ is compact. As a closed subset of $f^{-1}(A)$, the unit ball \mathbb{B} of E is compact.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Let $\{x_n\}$ be a bounded sequence in E. There is $\lambda > 0$ such that $||x_n|| \le \lambda$ for all n. Since $x \to \lambda x$ is continuous, the set $\{x \in E : ||x|| \le \lambda\}$ is compact. Therefore $\{x_n\}$ has a convergent subsequence.

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$ Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence on the unit sphere S. Then it is a bounded sequence. It has a convergent subsequence, say $y_n \to a$. Letting $n \to \infty$ in $||y_n|| = 1$, we have ||a|| = 1. Therefore S is compact.

 $(d \Rightarrow a)$ Suppose to the contrary that E is infinite dimensional. Take any $||x_1|| = 1$. Let M_1 be the vector subspace spanned by $\{x_1\}$. Since M_1 is finite dimensional, it is closed and $M_1 \neq E$. There is $||x_1|| = 1$ in E such that $||x_2 - x_1|| \ge \frac{1}{2}$. By induction, suppose x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{n-1} are chosen such that

 $||x_i|| = 1$ and $||x_i - x_j|| \ge \frac{1}{2}$ for all $i \ne j$. Let M_n be the vector subspace spanned by $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{n-1}\}$. Since M_{n-1} is finite dimensional, it is closed and $M_{n-1} \ne E$. There is $||x_n|| = 1$ in E such that $||x_n - y|| \ge \frac{1}{2}, \forall y \in M_{n-1}$. In particular, $||x_n - x_j|| \ge \frac{1}{2}, \forall j < n$. Now $\{x_n\}$ is a sequence on the unit sphere S. It has a convergent subsequence, say $\{y_n\}$. Then $\{y_n\}$ is Cauchy. There is an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p, ||y_m - y_n|| \le \frac{1}{3}$. Now $\frac{1}{2} \le ||y_p - y_{p+1}|| \le \frac{1}{3}$ is a contradiction. Therefore E must be finite dimensional.

3-7 Infinite Dimensional Compact Sets

3-7.1. In next two chapters, compactness will play an import role in nonlinear analysis. Ascoli's Theorem provides a very useful criterion for compactness in function spaces. We shall also study the compact sets in some sequence spaces.

3-7.2. Let X be a *compact* metric space and Y a *complete* metric space. The set of all continuous maps from X into Y will be denoted by C(X, Y). For all $f, g \in C(X, Y)$, let $d(f, g) = \sup_{x \in X} d[f(x), g(x)]$. Since the function $x \to d[f(x), g(x)]$ on the compact space X is continuous, it is bounded above. Therefore $d(f, g) \in \mathbb{R}$ is well defined. Clearly, when $Y = \mathbb{K}$ we have $C(X, Y) = C_{\infty}(X)$.

3-7.3. **Theorem** The space C(X, Y) is a complete metric space.

<u>Proof</u>. It is routine to show that d(f,g) is a metric on C(X,Y). To prove the completeness, let $\{f_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in C(X,Y). Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p$, we have $d(f_m, f_n) \le \varepsilon$. Take any $x \in X$. Since $d[f_m(x), f_n(x)] \le d(f_m, f_n) \le \varepsilon$ for all $m, n \ge p$, $\{f_n(x)\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the complete metric space Y. Write $g(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(x)$. Hence a map $g : X \to Y$ has been defined. Since d(u, v) is a continuous function of u, letting $m \to \infty$ in $d[f_m(x), f_n(x)] \le \varepsilon$, we have $d[g(x), f_n(x)] \le \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$ and $n \ge p$. As the uniform limit of continuous maps, g is continuous. Taking supremum over $x \in X$ in the last inequality, we have $d(g, f_n) \le \varepsilon, \forall n \ge p$, i.e. $f_n \to g$ in C(X, Y). This completes the proof. \Box

3-7.4. Let H be a subset of C(X, Y). Then H is said to be *equicontinuous* at $a \in X$ if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every $d(x, a) \leq \delta$ in X and for every $h \in H$ we have $d[h(x), h(a)] \leq \varepsilon$. The set H is said to be *equicontinuous* on X if it is equicontinuous at every point of X. For every $x \in X$, write $H(x) = \{h(x) : h \in H\}$.

3-7.5. **Lemma** For every $x \in X$, the evaluation map $\varphi_x : C(X, Y) \to Y$ given by $\varphi_x(f) = f(x)$ is uniformly continuous.

Proof. It follows from $d[\varphi_x(f), \varphi_x(g)] = d[f(x), g(x)] \le d(f, g)$.

3-7.6. <u>Ascoli's Theorem</u> Let X be a compact metric space and Y a complete metric space. A subset H of C(X, Y) is relatively compact iff the following two conditions hold:

(a) For every $x \in X$, the set H(x) is relatively compact in Y.

(b) The set H is equicontinuous on X.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow a) Fix $x \in X$. Since H is relatively compact, it is precompact. The uniform continuity of the evaluation map φ_x ensures that $\varphi_x(H) = H(x)$ is precompact. By completeness of Y, H(x) is relatively compact.

 $(\Rightarrow b)$ Fix any $a \in X$ and any $\varepsilon > 0$. Since H is relatively compact, it is precompact. There is a finite subset J of H such that $H \subset \bigcup_{g \in J} \mathbb{B}(g, \varepsilon)$. There is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $d(x, a) \leq \delta$ in X and for all $g \in J$ we have $d[g(x), g(a)] \leq \varepsilon$. Now take any $f \in H$. Choose $g \in J$ such that $d(f, g) \leq \varepsilon$. For any $d(x, a) \leq \delta$ in X, observe

$$d[f(x), f(a)] \le d[f(x), g(x)] + d[g(x), g(a)] + d[g(a), f(a)]$$

 $\leq d(f,g) + d[g(x),g(a)] + d(g,f) \leq 3\varepsilon.$

Therefore H is equicontinuous at a. Since $a \in X$ is arbitrary, H is equicontinuous on X.

(⇐) Since C(X, Y) is complete, it suffice to show that H is precompact. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Take any $a \in X$. Since H is equicontinuous at a, there is $\delta_a > 0$ such that for every $d(x, a) \leq \delta_a$ in X we have $d[h(x), h(a)] \leq \varepsilon, \forall h \in H$. By compactness of X, there is a finite subset a_1, a_2, \dots, a_m of X such that $X = \bigcup_{i=1}^m \mathbb{B}(a_i, \delta_i)$ where $\delta_i = \delta_{a_i}$. Now the product $\prod_{i=1}^m H(a_i)$ of precompact sets is precompact. Its subset $\{(h(a_1), h(a_2), \dots, h(a_m)) : h \in H\}$ is also precompact. There is a finite subset g_1, g_2, \dots, g_n of H such that for each $h \in H$ there is j such that $d[h(a_i), g_j(a_i)] \leq \varepsilon \forall i$. We claim that $H \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n \mathbb{B}(g_j, 4\varepsilon)$. Indeed let $h \in H$ be given. Choose g_j as above. Take any $x \in X$. There is i such that $d(x, a_i) \leq \delta_i$. Hence

 $d[h(x), g_j(x)] \le d[h(x), h(a_i)] + d[h(a_i), g_j(a_i)] + d[g_j(a_i), g_j(x)] \le 3\varepsilon.$

Since $x \in X$ is arbitrary, it follows that $d(h, g_j) \leq 3\varepsilon < 4\varepsilon$. This proves that H is precompact.

3-7.7. <u>Corollary</u> A subset H of $C_{\infty}(X)$ is relatively compact iff the following two conditions hold:

(a) *H* is uniformly bounded, i.e. there is $\lambda > 0$ such that for all $h \in H$ and $x \in X$, we have $|h(x)| \leq \lambda$.

(b) The set H is equicontinuous on X.

Proof. Assume that H is relatively compact in C(X). Then it is precompact. For $\varepsilon = 1$, there are $g_1, g_2, \dots, g_n \in H$ such that for every $h \in H$ there is j satisfying $d(h, g_j) \leq 1$. Since all g_i are continuous on the compact space X, the set $\bigcup_{i=1}^n g_i(X)$ is bounded in \mathbb{K} . There is $\alpha > 0$ such that for each i and each $x \in X$, we have $|g_i(x)| \leq \alpha$. Now take any $h \in H$ and any $x \in X$. Choose j with $d(h, g_j) \leq 1$. Observe $|h(x)| \leq |h(x) - g_j(x)| + |g_j(x)| \leq d(h, g_j) + |g_j(x)| \leq 1 + \alpha$. Now part (a) follows by letting $\lambda = 1 + \alpha$. We leave the rest of the proof as an exercise.

3-7.8. **Exercise** Let X be a finite set equipped with the discrete metric. Identify $C_{\infty}(X)$ with \mathbb{K}_{∞}^{n} . Explain why Ascoli's Theorem is a generalization of the fact that a subset of \mathbb{K}_{∞}^{n} is compact iff it is closed and bounded.

3-7.9. **Example** Prove that for $1 \le p < \infty$, a subset X of ℓ_p is compact iff the following conditions hold:

(a) X is closed and bounded.

(b) For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer m such that $\sum_{j=m}^{\infty} |x_j|^p \le \varepsilon, \forall x \in X$.

<u>Proof</u>. Assume that X is compact. Certainly it is closed and bounded. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Since X is compact, it is precompact. There is a finite subset A of X such that $X \subset \bigcup_{a \in A} \mathbb{B}(a, \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon)$. Since A is a finite subset of ℓ_p , there is an integer m such that for all $a \in A$, we have $\left(\sum_{j=m}^{\infty} |a_j|^p\right)^{1/p} \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Now take any $x \in X$. There is $a \in A$ such that $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon)$, i.e. $\left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_j - a_j|^p\right)^{1/p} \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Hence we have

$$\left(\sum_{j=m}^{\infty} |x_j|^p\right)^{1/p} \le \left(\sum_{j=m}^{\infty} |x_j - a_j|^p\right)^{1/p} + \left(\sum_{j=m}^{\infty} |a_j|^p\right)^{1/p}$$
$$\le \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_j - a_j|^p\right)^{1/p} + \left(\sum_{j=m}^{\infty} |a_j|^p\right)^{1/p} \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon = \varepsilon.$$

Conversely assume that both conditions hold for a subset X of ℓ_p . We claim that X is precompact. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. It follows from (b) that there is an integer m such that for all $x \in X$ we have $\left(\sum_{j=m}^{\infty} |x_j - a|^p\right)^{1/p} \leq \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon$. Define $f(x) = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m)$ for every $x \in \ell_p$. Since $||f(x)||_p \leq ||x||_p$, the map $f : \ell_p \to \mathbb{K}_p^m$ is linear and continuous. In particular, the set f(X) is bounded in \mathbb{K}_p^m and hence it is precompact. There is a finite subset A of X such that for every $x \in X$ there is $a \in A$ such that $||f(x) - f(a)||_p \leq \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon$. Because

$$\begin{split} \|x - a\|_{p} &= \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x_{j} - a_{j}|^{p}\right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} |x_{j} - a_{j}|^{p}\right)^{1/p} + \left(\sum_{j=m+1}^{\infty} |x_{j}|^{p}\right)^{1/p} + \left(\sum_{j=m+1}^{\infty} |a_{j}|^{p}\right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon < \varepsilon, \end{split}$$

we have $X \subset \bigcup_{a \in A} \mathbb{B}(a, \varepsilon)$. Therefore X is precompact in ℓ_p . Since X is closed in the Banach space ℓ_p , it is also complete. Consequently, X is compact. \Box

3-7.10. **Exercise** Prove that a subset X of c_0 is compact iff the following conditions hold:

(a) X is closed and bounded.

(b) For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer m such that for all $x \in X$ and all $n \ge m$, we have $|x_n| \le \varepsilon$.

3-8 Approximation in Function Spaces

3-8.1. We shall study the approximation of a continuous function by smaller classes. Originally, Weierstrass's Theorem states that continuous functions on closed bounded intervals can be uniformly approximated by trigonometric polynomials and the proof involved a lot of classical analysis. Stone's Theorem generalized it to abstract space with completely different proofs.

3-8.2. Let X be a compact metric space. Let C(X) be the set of all continuous *complex* functions on X and $C^{r}(X)$ all continuous *real* functions on X. Supnorm will be used throughout this section. Sufficient conditions will be given to ensure that certain vector subspaces are dense in the function space $C_{\infty}(X)$.

3-8.3. A vector space E of functions on X is called a *vector lattice* if E is closed under absolute values, i.e. $|f| \in E$ whenever $f \in E$. Every real vector lattice is obviously closed under formations of maxima, minima, positive and negative parts. A family E of functions on X is said to *separate points* of X if for all distinct points $x \neq y$ in X there is f in E such that $f(x) \neq f(y)$.

3-8.4. <u>Approximation Theorem in Real Lattice Form</u> Let $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$ be the set of all real continuous functions on a compact metric space X. If E is a vector *lattice* of functions in $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$ which contains all real constant functions and separates points of X, then E is dense in $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let f be a given function in $C^r_{\infty}(X)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. For every pair of distinct points $a \neq b$ in X, since E separates points, there is p_{ab} in E such that $p_{ab}(a) \neq p_{ab}(b)$. For every x in X define

$$h_{ab}(x) = f(a) + \frac{[f(b) - f(a)][p_{ab}(x) - p_{ab}(a)]}{p_{ab}(b) - p_{ab}(a)}.$$

Also for a = b, define $h_{ab}(x) = f(a), \forall x \in X$. Then clearly $h_{ab}(a) = f(a)$ and $h_{ab}(b) = f(b)$. Since E is a vector space containing all constant functions we have h_{ab} in E. Define $V_b = \{x \in X : h_{ab}(x) < f(x) + \varepsilon\}$. Then V_b is an open set containing b. By compactness of X, there is a finite subset B of X such that $X \subset \bigcup_{b \in B} V_b$. Define $g_a = \wedge \{h_{ab} : b \in B\}$. Since E is a vector lattice each g_a is in E. Clearly we have $g_a(a) = f(a)$ and $g_a(x) \le f(x) + \varepsilon, \forall x \in X$. Next define $W_a = \{x \in X : g_a(x) > f(x) - \varepsilon\}$. Then W_a is an open set containing a. Since X is compact there is a finite subset A of X such that $X \subset \bigcup_{a \in A} W_a$. Define $g = \vee \{g_a : a \in A\}$. Then g is in the vector lattice E. Clearly we have $f(x) - \varepsilon \le g(x) \le f(x) + \varepsilon, \forall x \in X;$ i.e. $|f(x) - g(x)| \le \varepsilon$. Taking supremum for $x \in X$, we have $||f - g||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$. This completes the proof.

3-8.5. A vector space of functions on X is called an *algebra* if it is closed under (pointwise) products. It is easy to prove that for all f, g in C(X), we have $||f \cdot g||_{\infty} \leq ||f||_{\infty} ||g||_{\infty}$. As a result, multiplication is jointly continuous. The following Lemma is stated for real but it is also true for complex case.

3-8.6. Lemma The closure of an algebra E of functions in $C^r_{\infty}(X)$ is again an algebra.

<u>Proof</u>. Take two functions f, g in the closure of E. Then $f_n \to f$ and $g_n \to g$ for some $f_n, g_n \in E$. Since multiplication is continuous, $f_n \cdot g_n \to f \cdot g$. Hence $f \cdot g$ is a closure point of E. Therefore the closure is closed under pointwise multiplications. Similarly, it is also closed under linear combinations.

3-8.7. **Dini's Theorem** Let $\{f_n\}$ be a sequence of continuous functions on a metric space X with compact supports, i.e. all $\operatorname{supp}(f_n)$ are compact. Suppose for each $x \in X$, we have $0 \leq f_{n+1}(x) \leq f_n(x)$ for all n. If $f_n \to 0$ pointwise, then $f_n \to 0$ uniformly.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Define $A_n = \{x \in X : f_n(x) \ge \varepsilon\}$ for each n. Then A_n is the inverse image of the closed subset $[\varepsilon, \infty)$ in \mathbb{R} under the continuous function f. Hence A_n is a closed subset of the compact set $\sup(f_n)$. Therefore each A_n is a compact set. Since $f_n \to 0$ pointwise, we have $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \emptyset$. By compactness, there is some integer p satisfying $\bigcap_{n=1}^{p} A_n = \emptyset$.

Since $0 \leq f_{n+1}(x) \leq f_n(x)$ for all X, we obtain $A_{n+1} \subset A_n$ for each n. Therefore $A_p = \bigcap_{n=1}^p A_n = \emptyset$. Hence for every $x \in X$, we have $x \notin A_p$, i.e. $0 \leq f_p(x) \leq \varepsilon$. Consequently, for all $n \geq p$, we get $0 \leq f_n(x) \leq f_p(x) \leq \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$. This proves $f_n \to 0$ uniformly.

3-8.8. **Exercise** Let f_n be functions on \mathbb{R} given by f(x) = 0 for $x \leq n$; f(x) = 1 for $x \geq n+1$ and f(x) = x - n for n < x < n+1. Show that $\{f_n\}$ is a sequence of continuous functions convergent pointwise to zero monotonically but the convergence is not uniform.

3-8.9. Lemma There is a sequence of polynomials $\{p_n\}$ without constant term such that $0 \le p_n(t) \uparrow \sqrt{t}$ uniformly on [0, 1].

<u>Proof</u>. For each t in [0, 1] define $p_0(t) = 0$ and $p_{n+1}(t) = p_n(t) + (1/2)[t - p_n^2(t)]$. It can be proved inductively that $0 \le p_{n-1}(t) \le p_n(t) \le \sqrt{t}$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$. Since $p_n(0) = 0$, all p_n have no constant term. Now for each t, the sequence $\{p_n(t)\}$ of real numbers is increasing, bounded above by \sqrt{t} and hence it is convergent. Letting $n \to \infty$ in its recursive formula we have $p_n(t) \to \sqrt{t}$. Clearly every p_n is a polynomial. Applying Dini's Theorem to $\sqrt{t} - p_n(t)$ for $t \in [0, 1]$, it follows that $p_n(t) \uparrow \sqrt{t}$ uniformly on [0, 1].

3-8.10. <u>Approximation Theorem in Real Algebra Form</u> Let $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$ be the set of all real continuous functions on a compact metric space X. If E is an *algebra* of functions in $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$ which contains all real constant functions and separates points of X, then E is dense in $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$.

<u>Proof</u>. We claim that the closure G of E in $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$ is a vector lattice. In fact, let f be a function in G. Then |f| is also a continuous function on X and hence it is in $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$. Since X is compact, there is a real number $\alpha > |f(x)|$ for all $x \in X$. Let p_n be a sequence of polynomials defined by last lemma. Then the function $p_n(f^2/\alpha^2)$ is also in the algebra G. since $p_n(f^2/\alpha^2) \to \sqrt{f^2/\alpha^2} = |f|/\alpha$ uniformly on X as $n \to \infty$, $|f|/\alpha$ is a closure point of G in $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$. Because G is closed, we have $|f|/\alpha$ in G. Consequently |f| is in G. Therefore G is a vector lattice. Since $E \subset G, G$ contains all real constant functions and separates points of X. Therefore G is dense in $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$, i.e. $\overline{E} = G = \overline{G} = C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$. Consequently E is also dense in $C_{\infty}^{r}(X)$.

3-8.11. A subset E of C(X) is said to be *self-conjugate* if for every f in E, its complex conjugate f^- also belongs to E.

3-8.12. <u>Approximation Theorem in Complex Form</u> Let C(X) be the set of all complex continuous functions on a compact metric space X. Let E be a complex vector subspace of $C_{\infty}(X)$ which contains all complex constant functions, separates points of X and is self-conjugate. If E is either a vector lattice or an algebra then E is dense in $C_{\infty}(X)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let E^r be the set of all real functions in E. For two distinct points $a \neq b$ in X, there is g in E such that $g(a) \neq g(b)$ and hence either $\operatorname{Re}[g(a)] \neq \operatorname{Re}[g(b)]$ or $\operatorname{Im}[g(a)] \neq \operatorname{Im}[g(b)]$. Since E is self-conjugate, both $\operatorname{Re}(g)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(g)$ are in E^r . Therefore E^r separates points of X. Clearly E^r contains all real constant functions. Also E^r is either a real vector lattice or a real algebra. Hence E^r is dense in $C^r_{\infty}(X)$. For every function f in $C_{\infty}(X)$, both $\operatorname{Re}(f)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(f)$ can be approximated by functions in E^r uniformly on X. Since E is a complex vector space, f can be approximated by functions in E uniformly on X.

3-8.13. **Exercise** Prove that every continuous function f on a bounded closed subset of \mathbb{K}^n can be uniformly approximated by polynomials in n variables. Furthermore, if f is a real-valued function, we may choose real polynomials to approximate f.

3-8.14. **Exercise** Prove that for every continuous function f on the unit circle $T = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$ and for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a trigonometric polynomial of the form $g(z) = \sum_{k=-n}^{n} c_k z^k$ where $c_k \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $|f(z) - g(z)| \le \varepsilon$ for every $z \in T$.

3-8.15. **Exercise** Let X, Y be compact metric spaces. Prove that for every continuous function f on the product space $X \times Y$ and for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are continuous functions g_1, g_2, \dots, g_n on X and h_1, h_2, \dots, h_n on Y such that for all $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$, we have $|f(x, y) - \sum_{j=1}^n g_j(x)h_j(y)| \le \varepsilon$. Furthermore if f is real-valued, we may choose all g_j and h_j to be real-valued. If f is positive (≥ 0) , we may choose all g_j and h_j to be positive.

3-8.16. **Exercise** Let $X = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \le 1\}$ be the closed unit disk of \mathbb{C} and E the vector space of polynomials in z with complex coefficients. Show that E is not self-conjugate and that the function z^- cannot be uniformly approximated by functions in E otherwise z^- would be analytic on the open disk $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$.

3-99. <u>**References and Further Readings</u>**: Fan-92, Khan, Glicksberg, Starkloff, Gamelin-89, Cotter, Spears and Mullins.</u>

Chapter 4 Simplicial Complexes

4-1 Geometrically Independent Sets

4-1.1. One way to approximate an unknown function f on a region of a two dimensional plane is to triangulate the region, take samples of f at the vertices of triangles and then estimate f(x) by linear extension g(x) of the samples over the interior of each triangle. To see whether g(x) = 0 has any solution on a triangle, it is merely a simple matter of solving a system of linear equations. This would give an approximate solution to the equation f(x) = 0. The method seems to be very simple and does not require any information about the function f. We shall formalize the idea into simplicial approximations in §4-8. It forms the foundation of simplicial homology which is beyond our scope. We include enough material for motivation of numerical analysis along this direction. The only links of this chapter to the subsequent development are §4-2 on convex sets and §4-10.8 on intersection of closed subsets of the unit sphere. These statements can be understood without any reference to other concepts introduced in this chapter.

4-1.2. The conditions whether three points are not collinear, four points not coplanar, etc. are important to ensure that triangles, tetrahedra, etc. are non-degenerate. The corresponding concept in higher dimensional spaces are geometrically independent sets. The property of being geometrically independent is invariant under small perturbation and can be obtained through small perturbation.

4-1.3. Let a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k be points in \mathbb{R}^n . Then $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is called an *affine* combination of a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k if there are $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

 $x = \alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k$

and

 $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_k = 1.$

The set of all affine combinations of a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k is called the *affine hull*. The points a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k are said to be *geometrically independent*, or *in general*

position if the equations in $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$\alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k = 0, \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n$$

 \mathbf{and}

$$\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = 0, \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}$$

have only the trivial solution: $\alpha_0 = \alpha_1 = \cdots = \alpha_k = 0$. Note that points in \mathbb{R}^n are of column vectors.

4-1.4. <u>**Theorem</u>** Let a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k be points in \mathbb{R}^n . Then the following statements are equivalent.</u>

(a) a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k are geometrically independent.

(b) $a_1 - a_0, a_2 - a_0, \dots, a_k - a_0$ are linearly independent.

(c) For every x in the affine hull of a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k , there exists a *unique* sequence $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $x = \alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k$ and $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = 1$. In this case, $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k$ are called the *barycentric coordinates* of x relative to a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k .

(d) The matrix $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ a_0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_k \end{bmatrix}$ has rank k + 1.

(e) The above matrix has a square submatrix of order k + 1 with non-zero determinant.

<u>Proof</u>. The equivalence $(a \Leftrightarrow b \Leftrightarrow c)$ follows immediately from simple algebraic manipulation. The equivalence $(d \Leftrightarrow e)$ is a standard fact in Linear Algebra. To show $(b \Leftrightarrow d)$, observe that the rank of a matrix is invariant under elementary column operations, i.e.

$$rank \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ a_0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_k \end{bmatrix}$$

= $rank \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ a_0 & a_1 - a_0 & a_2 - a_0 & a_k - a_0 \end{bmatrix}$
= $1 + rank[a_1 - a_0 & a_2 - a_0 & a_k - a_0].$

Therefore (d) is equivalent to

 $rank[a_1 - a_0 \quad a_2 - a_0 \quad a_k - a_0] = k$

which means all columns are linearly independent, i.e. (b).

4-1.5. **Corollary** Subsets of geometrically independent sets are geometrically independent.

4-1.6. <u>Corollary</u> If the points a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k are geometrically independent in \mathbb{R}^n then we have $k \leq n$. Furthermore there are $a_{k+1}, a_{k+2}, \dots, a_n \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $a_0, \dots, a_k, a_{k+1}, \dots, a_n$ are geometrically independent in \mathbb{R}^n .

4-1.7. **Exercise** Show that the points (1,0), (0,1) and (2,2) are geometrically independent in \mathbb{R}^2 . Find the barycentric coordinates of (1,1) relative to the above triangle.

4-1.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let mat(m, n) be the vector space of all $m \times n$ matrices. Show that it is a Banach space under the norm given by $||A|| = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{ij}|^2\right)^{1/2}$ Write mat(n) instead of mat(m, n) when m = n. Show that the determinant det(A) is a continuous function of square matrices $A \in mat(n)$.

4-1.9. **Theorem** If a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k are geometrically independent in \mathbb{R}^n then there is $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $||x_j - a_j|| \leq \delta$ for all $0 \leq j \leq k$, the points x_0, x_1, \dots, x_k are also geometrically independent.

<u>Proof</u>. Since a_0, \dots, a_k are geometrically independent, the rank of the matrix $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ a_0 & a_1 & a_2 & \cdots & a_k \end{bmatrix}$ is k + 1. There is a square submatrix A of order k + 1 with non-zero determinant. Since the determinant function is continuous in its entries, there is $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $||x_j - a_j|| \le \delta$ for all $0 \le j \le k$, the corresponding submatrix obtained from $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ x_0 & x_1 & x_2 & x_k \end{bmatrix}$ is of order k + 1 and with non-zero determinant. Therefore x_0, x_1, \dots, x_k are also geometrically independent.

4-1.10. **Theorem** Let a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k be points in \mathbb{R}^n where $k \ge n$. If every subset of a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k consisting of n + 1 points is geometrically independent, then there is $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $||x_j - a_j|| \le \delta$ for all $0 \le j \le k$, every subset of x_0, x_1, \dots, x_k consisting of n + 1 points is also geometrically independent.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $H = \{b_0, b_1, \dots, b_n\}$ be any subset of a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k consisting of n+1 points. Then there is $\delta_H > 0$ such that whenever $||x_i - b_i|| \le \delta$ for all $0 \le i \le n$, the points x_0, x_1, \dots, x_n are geometrically independent. Let δ be the minimum among all δ_H when H varies over all subsets of a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k consisting of n+1 points. Then clearly δ satisfies all requirements of the theorem.

4-1.11. <u>Theorem</u> Let a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k be points of \mathbb{R}^n where $k \leq n$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are x_0, x_1, \dots, x_k in \mathbb{R}^n such that (a) $||x_j - a_j|| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $0 \leq j \leq k$; and

(b) x_0, x_1, \dots, x_k are geometrically independent.

Proof. Let f(t) be the determinant of the upper-left square submatrix of order

k + 1 of the matrix

 $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ (1-t)a_0 + te_0 & (1-t)a_1 + te_1 & \cdots & (1-t)a_k + te_k \end{bmatrix}$

where $e_0 = 0$ is the origin and $\{e_1, e_2, \dots, e_n\}$ is the standard basis of \mathbb{R}^n . Thus f(t) is a polynomial in t. Since f(1) = 1, f is not identically zero. Hence f has only a finite number of zeros. There is t > 0 such that $f(t) \neq 0$ and $t ||e_j - a_j|| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $0 \leq j \leq k$. Then the points $x_j = (1 - t)a_j + te_j$ for $0 \leq j \leq k$ satisfy both required conditions.

4-1.12. **<u>Theorem</u>** Let a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k be given points of \mathbb{R}^n where $k \ge n$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are x_0, x_1, \dots, x_k in \mathbb{R}^n such that

(a) $||x_j - a_j|| \le \varepsilon$ for all $0 \le j \le k$; and

(b) every subset of x_0, x_1, \dots, x_k consisting of n + 1 points is geometrically independent.

Proof. As a matter of convenience, a j-set is defined as a set consisting of exactly *j* distinct elements. For k = n, it has been proved in last theorem. Assume k > n. Inductively, there are b_1, b_2, \dots, b_k in \mathbb{R}^n such that $||b_j - a_j|| \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$ for all $1 \leq j \leq k$ and every (n+1)-subset of b_1, b_2, \dots, b_k is geometrically independent. There is $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon$ such that whenever $||x_j - b_j|| \leq \delta$ for all $1 \leq j \leq k$, every (n + 1)-subset of x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_k is geometrically independent. Let H_1, H_2, \dots, H_p be a list of all *n*-subsets of the indices $1, 2, \dots, k$. Define $\delta_0 = \delta$, $x_0^0 = a_0$ and $x_j^0 = b_j$ for each $1 \leq j \leq k$. We shall construct $\delta_i, x_0^i, x_1^i, x_2^i, \dots, x_k^i$ by induction on $i \leq p$. Suppose i < p. Write $H_{i+1} = \{h(1), h(2), \dots, h(n)\}$. Then there is a geometrically independent set $\{y_0, y_1, \cdots, y_n\}$ such that $\|y_0 - x_0^i\| \leq \frac{1}{2}\delta_i$ and $\|y_j - x_{h(j)}^i\| \leq \frac{1}{2}\delta_i$ for all $1 \leq j \leq n$. Define $x_0^{i+1} = y_0, x_{h(j)}^{i+1} = y_j$ for all $1 \leq j \leq n$ and $x_m^{i+1} = x_m^i$ if $m \notin H_{i+1}$. Choose $0 < \delta_{i+1} < \frac{1}{2}\delta_i$ such that whenever $||x_j - y_j|| \leq \delta_{i+1}$ for all $0 \leq j \leq n$, the set $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ is geometrically independent. By induction, $x_0^p, x_1^p, x_2^p, \dots, x_k^p$ have been constructed. Let $x_j = x_j^p$ for all $0 \leq j \leq k$. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_j^p - x_j^0\| &\leq \|x_j^p - x_j^{p-1}\| + \|x_j^{p-1} - x_j^{p-2}\| + \dots + \|x_j^1 - x_j^0\| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2}\delta_{p-1} + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{p-2} + \dots + \frac{1}{2}\delta_0 \leq \delta. \end{aligned}$$

For j = 0 we have $||x_0 - a_0|| \le \delta < \varepsilon$. On the other hand, for $1 \le j \le k$, we get $||x_j - b_j|| \le ||x_j - x_j^0|| \le \delta$. Therefore every (n + 1)-subset of x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k is geometrically independent and hence (b) is partly satisfied. Because

$$\|x_j - a_j\| \le \|x_j - b_j\| + \|b_j - a_j\| \le \delta + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon \le \varepsilon$$

for all
$$1 \le j \le k$$
, part (a) is satisfied. Finally, consider any H_{i+1} . Since
 $\|x_{h(j)} - y_j\| \le \|x_{h(j)}^p - x_{h(j)}^{p-1}\| + \|x_{h(j)}^{p-1} - x_{h(j)}^{p-2}\| + \dots + \|x_{h(j)}^{i+1} - x_{h(j)}^i\|$
 $\le \frac{1}{2}\delta_{p-1} + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{p-2} + \dots + \frac{1}{2}\delta_i \le \delta_i,$

 $x_0, x_{h(1)}, x_{h(2)}, \dots, x_{h(n)}$ are geometrically independent.

4-2 Convex Sets in Normed Spaces

4-2.1. Let *E* be a vector space. The *line segment* between two points *a*, *b* of *E* is defined as the set $[a, b] = \{\alpha a + \beta b : \alpha, \beta \ge 0, \text{ and } \alpha + \beta = 1\}$ and the *open line segment* by $(a, b) = \{\alpha a + \beta b : \alpha, \beta > 0, \text{ and } \alpha + \beta = 1\}$. A subset *X* of *E* is said to be *convex* if *X* contains [a, b] whenever $a, b \in X$. Since the concept of convex sets will be used in various parts of functional analysis, this is why it has to be introduced in the general framework rather than in \mathbb{R}^n only.

4-2.2. <u>Exercise</u> Let A, B be convex subsets of E and let α, β be scalars in IK. Prove that the linear combination $\alpha A + \beta B = \{\alpha x + \beta y : x \in A, y \in B\}$ is also convex. In particular, the *translate* A + b of a convex set A by any $b \in E$ is convex.

4-2.3. <u>Exercise</u> Let V be a convex subset of E. Prove that for all $\alpha, \beta \ge 0$, we have $\alpha V + \beta V = (\alpha + \beta)V$.

4-2.4. A point x is called a *convex combination* of points a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k in E if there are $\alpha_j \geq 0$ such that $x = \alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k$ and $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = 1$. The set of all convex combinations of points in a subset M of E is called the *convex hull* of M and it will be denoted by co(M).

4-2.5. **Exercise** Prove that a convex set is closed under formation of convex combinations. Prove that the convex hull of a set M is the smallest convex set containing M.

4-2.6. <u>Theorem</u> The convex hull of a finite set in a normed space E is compact.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $V = \{a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k\}$ be a finite subset of E. The map $f : \mathbb{R}^{k+1} \to E$ defined by $f(\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k) = \alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k$ is continuous. Since the set $K = \{(\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k) : \text{ all } \alpha_j \ge 0 \text{ and } \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = 1\}$ is closed bounded in \mathbb{R}^{k+1} , it is compact. Consequently its continuous image f(K) = co(V) is also compact.

4-2.7. **Exercise** Prove that the closure of a convex set in a normed space E is convex. Prove that the closure of the convex hull of a subset M of E is the smallest closed convex set containing M. It is called the *closed convex hull* of M and is denoted by $\overline{co}(M)$.

4-2.8. The following interesting result about convex sets with non-empty interior may be skipped without discontinuity for this and next chapters.

4-2.9. **Theorem** Let A be a convex set in a normed space E. Suppose that A has at least one interior point.

(a) For every interior point a ∈ A and for every closure point b ∈ A, the open line segment (a, b) = {(1 − t)a + tb : 0 < t < 1} is contained in the interior A^o.
(b) A^o is a convex set.

(c) $A^- = A^{o-}$ where A^- denote the closure of A.

(d)
$$A^o = A^{-o}$$
.

Proof. (a) Let
$$u = (1 - t)a + tb$$
 where $0 < t < 1$. Let

$$V = \{y \in E : u = (1 - t)x + ty, x \in A^o\}$$

Then V is the inverse image of the open set A^o under the continuous map $y \to x = (u - ty)/(1 - t)$. Hence V is open in E. Since $a \in A^o$, we have $b \in V$. There exists r > 0 such that $\mathbb{B}(b,r) \subset V$. Since b is a closure point of A, there is $d \in A \cap \mathbb{B}(b,r)$. Let $W = \{v \in E : v = (1 - t)x + td, x \in A^o\}$. Then W is the inverse image of the open set A^o under the continuous map $v \to x = (v - td)/(1 - t)$. Hence W is open in E. Since $d \in V$, there is $c \in A^o$ such that u = (1 - t)c + td. Thus $u \in W$. Since x, d are in the convex set A, W is an open subset of A and consequently $W \subset A^o$. Therefore $u \in A^o$. This proves (a).

(b) It follows immediately from (a).

(c) Since $A^{\circ} \subset A$, we have $A^{\circ-} \subset A^{-}$. Conversely let $x \in A^{-}$ and $a \in A^{\circ}$. The points $\frac{1}{n}a + (1 - \frac{1}{n})x$ are in A° for all $n \ge 2$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we have $x \in A^{\circ-}$. Thus $A^{-} = A^{\circ-}$. This proves (c).

(d) Let $x \in A^{-\circ}$. There exists r > 0 such that $\mathbb{B}(x, r) \subset A^{-}$. Clearly $x \in A^{-}$. By (c), we have $x \in A^{\circ-}$. There is $y \in \mathbb{B}(x, r) \cap A^{\circ}$. Thus we have

$$2x - y = x + (x - y) \in \mathbb{B}(x, r) \subset A^-.$$

Since $y \in A^o$, we have by (a), $x = \frac{1}{2}y + \frac{1}{2}(2x - y) \in A^o$. Therefore $A^{o-} \subset A^o$. The reversed inequality is obvious.

4-2.10. **Exercise** Let $A = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 0 \le x < 1, 0 \le y < 1\}$. Find A^{-o} and A^{o-} . Let $B = A \cap (\mathbb{Q} \times \mathbb{Q})$ where \mathbb{Q} denotes the set of all rational numbers. Find B^{-o} and B^{o-} .

4-3 Simplexes

4-3.1. Most of the following results also hold for Banach spaces. Since we never need the maximum generality in this book, we restrict ourselves to \mathbb{R}^n only. In this section, we shall study the generalization of triangles and tetrahedra.

4-3.2. Consider the space \mathbb{R}_2^n with the usual norm. If the points a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k are geometrically independent then their convex hull A is called a *simplex* or a k-simplex with vertices a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k . In this case, k is called the *dimension* of the simplex A. The set of all vertices of A will be denoted by ver(A). Clearly every simplex is compact.

4-3.3. Let A be a simplex with vertices a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k in \mathbb{R}^n . Suppose we have $x = \alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k$; all $\alpha_j \ge 0$ and $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = 1$. Then x is called a *geometric interior point* of A if all $\alpha_j > 0$ and a *geometric boundary point* if at least one $\alpha_j = 0$. The set of all geometric interior points is called the *geometric interior* and is denoted by gin(A). The set of all geometric boundary points is called the *geometric boundary* and is denoted by gbd(A). Clearly gin(A), gbd(A) form a partition of A. The geometric interior of A is also called an *open simplex* with vertices a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k but we seldom use open simplexes in this book.

4-3.4. **<u>Theorem</u>** Let A be a simplex in \mathbb{R}^n .

(a) If $x \in gin(A)$ then for every $y \in A$ and for every 0 < t < 1, then the point z = (1-t)x + ty is in the geometric interior of A.

(b) The closure of gin(A) in \mathbb{R}^n is A.

Proof. Let a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k be vertices of A. Write

 $x = \alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k, \quad \alpha_j > 0, \quad \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = 1;$

 $y = \beta_0 a_0 + \beta_1 a_1 + \dots + \beta_k a_k, \quad \beta_j \ge 0, \quad \beta_0 + \beta_1 + \dots + \beta_k = 1.$

Since $\sum_{j=0}^{k} (1-t)\alpha_j + t\beta_j = 1$ and $(1-t)\alpha_j + t\beta_j > 0$, $z = \sum_{j=0}^{k} [(1-t)\alpha_j + t\beta_j]a_j$ is a geometric interior point of A. To prove (b), take any $y \in A$. For each integer m > 1 let

$$z_m = \frac{1}{m}x + \left(1 - \frac{1}{m}\right)y$$

where $x = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \frac{a_j}{k+1}$ is a geometric interior point of A. Hence all $z_m \in gin(A)$ and $z_m \to y$ as $m \to \infty$. Therefore y is a closure point of gin(A). Consequently $A \subset \overline{gin(A)}$. The reversed inequality follows from $\overline{gin(A)} \subset \overline{A} = A$. \Box

4-3.5. Let A be a k-simplex in \mathbb{R}^n . Let W be a subset of ver(A). Since W is geometrically independent, the convex hull B = co(W) is also a simplex in \mathbb{R}^n . In this case, B is called a *face* or a *t*-face of A where t is the dimension of B. If t = k - 1 then B is also called a *facet* of A.

4-3.6. **<u>Theorem</u>** Let A be a simplex in \mathbb{R}^n .

(a) gbd(A) is a compact set.

(b) gin(A) is open in A although it may not be open in \mathbb{R}^n .

<u>Proof</u>. Every facet of A is itself a simplex and hence it is compact. The geometric boundary is the union of k+1 facets and thus it is also compact. To prove (b), since gbd(A) is closed in A, its complement gin(A) is open in A. \Box

4-3.7. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the convex hull of (1, 1, 1), (1, 0, 0), (0, 1, 0), (1, 1, 2) and (2, 2, 0) is a simplex in \mathbb{R}^3 . Identify its vertices, geometrical interior and boundary.

4-4 Affine Maps

4-4.1. Affine maps carries straight lines to straight lines. Hence they were called linear maps which has become a standard terminology taken up by linear algebra. The domains of affine maps can be translates of vector subspaces. However it is sufficient for us to restrict ourselves to convex sets in order to lay the foundation for next chapter.

4-4.2. Let X, Y be a *convex* subset of \mathbb{R}^n . A map $f: X \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is said to be *affine* if f preserves the convex combinations, i.e. for all $a, b \in X$ and for all $\alpha, \beta \geq 0$ satisfying $\alpha + \beta = 1$ we have $f(\alpha a + \beta b) = \alpha f(a) + \beta f(b)$. An affine bijection from X onto Y is called an *affine homeomorphism*.

4-4.3. <u>Exercise</u> Let f be an affine map from a convex subset X of \mathbb{R}^n into \mathbb{R}^m . Then f(X) is convex. Furthermore for all a_j in X and for all $\alpha_j \ge 0$ satisfying $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_k = 1$ we have

$$f(\alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k) = \alpha_0 f(a_0) + \alpha_1 f(a_1) + \dots + \alpha_k f(a_k).$$

4-4.4. <u>Exercise</u> Let X, Y be convex sets of $\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^m$ respectively. If $f: X \to Y$ is a bijective affine map then the inverse map $f^{-1}: Y \to X$ is also an affine map.

4-4.5. **Exercise** Let $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$ be a linear map. Show that the map $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$ given by f(x) = g(x) + b where $b \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is an affine map.

4-4.6. **Theorem** Let A be a simplex in \mathbb{R}^n . Then for each affine map $f: A \to \mathbb{R}^m$ there exist a linear map $g: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$ and a point $b \in \mathbb{R}^m$ such that f(x) = g(x) + b for all $x \in A$.

<u>Proof</u>. The vertices of A, say a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k are geometrically independent. Hence $a_1 - a_0, a_2 - a_0, \dots, a_k - a_0$ are linearly independent. There is a linear map $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$ such that $g(a_j - a_0) = f(a_j) - f(a_0)$ for all $1 \le j \le k$. Define $b = f(a_0) - g(a_0)$. Take any $x \in A$. Write $x = \alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k$ where $\{\alpha_j\}$ are the barycentric coordinates of x. Then all $\alpha_j \ge 0$ and $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = 1$. Since f is affine we have

$$f(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j f(a_j) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j [g(a_j - a_0) + f(a_0)]$$

=
$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j g(a_j) - \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j g(a_0) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j f(a_0)$$

=
$$g \Big(\sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j a_j \Big) - g(a_0) + f(a_0) = g(x) + b.$$

4-4.7. **Corollary** Every affine map on a simplex is continuous.

Proof. The linear map g on \mathbb{R}^n in last theorem is continuous.

4-4.8. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let A be a k-simplex with vertices a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k in \mathbb{R}^n . Then for every given points b_0, b_1, \dots, b_k in \mathbb{R}^m there is a unique affine map $f: A \to \mathbb{R}^m$ such that $f(a_j) = b_j$ for all $0 \le j \le k$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $a_1 - a_0, a_2 - a_0, \dots, a_k - a_0$ are linearly independent, there is a linear map $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$ such that $g(a_j - a_0) = b_j - b_0$, for all $1 \le j \le k$. For each $x \in A$ define $f(x) = g(x) + b_0 - g(a_0)$. Then clearly f is one of the required affine maps. The uniqueness is left as an exercise.

4-4.9. Exercise Let A, B be k-simplexes with vertices $\{a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k\}$ and $\{b_0, b_1, \dots, b_k\}$ in $\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^m$ respectively. Prove that there is a unique affine homeomorphism $f: A \to B$ such that $f(a_j) = b_j$ for all $0 \le j \le k$.

4-4.10. Let X be a non-empty subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then $z \in X$ is called an *extreme* point if whenever z = (1 - t)x + ty where $x, y \in X$ and 0 < t < 1 we have x = y = z.

4-4.11. Lemma Let A be a simplex and $z \in A$ be a given point. Then z is a vertex of A iff z is an extreme point of A.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be vertices of A. To show that $z = a_0$ is an extreme point of A, assume z = (1 - t)x + ty where $x, y \in A$ and 0 < t < 1. Write

$$x = \alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k, \quad \alpha_j \ge 0, \quad \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = 1;$$

$$y = \beta_0 a_0 + \beta_1 a_1 + \dots + \beta_k a_k, \quad \beta_j \ge 0, \quad \beta_0 + \beta_1 + \dots + \beta_k = 1.$$

Substitution gives $a_0 = \sum_{j=0}^k [(1-t)\alpha_j + t\beta_j]a_j$. Since $(1-t)\alpha_j + t\beta_j \ge 0$ and their sum is one, by uniqueness of barycentric coordinates we have $1 = (1-t)\alpha_0 + t\beta_0$ which implies $\alpha_0 = \beta_0 = 1$. Hence $\alpha_j = \beta_j = 0$ for all j > 0, i.e. $x = y = z = a_0$. Conversely assume that $z \in A$ is not a vertex. Write $z = \sum_{j=0}^k \rho_j a_j$, all $\rho_j \ge 0$ and $\sum_{j=0}^k \rho_j = 1$. Since $z \in A$ is not a vertex, at least two $\rho_j > 0$. Without loss of generality, let $\rho_0, \rho_1 > 0$. Define $x = (\rho_0 + \rho_1)a_0 + \sum_{j=2}^k \rho_j a_j$; $y = (\rho_0 + \rho_1)a_1 + \sum_{j=2}^k \rho_j a_j$ and $t = \rho_1/(\rho_0 + \rho_1)$. Then z = (1-t)x + ty; 0 < t < 1; $x \ne y$ and $x, y \in A$. Therefore z cannot be an extreme point of A.

4-4.12. **<u>Theorem</u>** Let A, B be simplexes in $\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^m$ respectively. If $f : A \to B$ is an affine homeomorphism then f is a bijection from the vertices of A onto the vertices of B. In particular, both A and B have the same dimension.

<u>Proof.</u> Let ver(A), ver(B) be the sets of vertices of A, B respectively. Let $c \in ver(A)$. We claim that z = f(c) is an extreme point of B. In fact, assume z = (1 - t)x + ty where $x, y \in B$ and 0 < t < 1. Let $a, b \in A$ satisfy f(a) = x and f(b) = y. Since f is affine, f(c) = (1 - t)f(a) + tf(b) = f[(1 - t)a + tb], i.e. c = (1 - t)a + tb. Because c is an extreme point of A, we have a = b = c, that is, x = y = z. Therefore z is an extreme point of B, i.e. $f(c) \in ver(B)$. Consequently $f[ver(A)] \subset ver(B)$. Since f is injective, we have $\dim(A) \leq \dim(B)$. Since f^{-1} is also an affine homeomorphism, we obtain $\dim(B) \leq \dim(A)$. Therefore f[ver(A)] = ver(B).

4-4.13. **Exercise** Let A, B be simplexes in $\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^m$ respectively. Prove that if $f: A \to B$ is an affine homeomorphism then we have f[ver(A)] = ver(B), f[gin(A)] = gin(B) and f[gbd(A)] = gbd(B).

4-5 Simplicial Complexes

4-5.1. Consider the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}_2^3 . We can cut it into upper and lower hemispheres. Each hemisphere is just like a piece of rubber which can be turned

into a square via homeomorphisms. The diagonals would cut the squares into triangles. This is an example of reducing a surface into triangles. In opposite direction, we can start with triangles, glue them up properly to form piecewise rectilinear surface and finally twist it into surfaces of more general shape without sharp edges and corners. In higher dimensions, we use simplexes instead of triangles.

4-5.2. Let A, B be simplexes in \mathbb{R}^n . Write $A \leq B$ if A is a face of B. Write A < B if $A \leq B$ and $A \neq B$. In this case, A is called a *proper face* of B. Two simplexes A, B are said to be *properly situated* if $A \cap B$ is either empty or it is a common face of A and B. A non-empty finite family K of simplexes in \mathbb{R}^n is called a *simplicial complex* if the following conditions hold:

(a) every face of a simplex in K belongs to K;

(b) every pair of simplexes in K is properly situated.

4-5.3. <u>Exercise</u> The family K of all faces of a given simplex A in \mathbb{R}^n is a simplicial complex.

4-5.4. Let K be a simplicial complex in \mathbb{R}^n . One dimensional simplexes are called *edges* and 0-simplexes called *vertices* of K. The set of all vertices of K is denoted by ver(K). The *dimension* of K is defined as the maximum dimension among all simplexes in K. For every integer $m \ge 0$, the family K(m) of all simplexes $A \in K$ with $\dim(A) \le m$ is called a *skeleton* or an *m*-skeleton. A subset L of K is called a *subcomplex* of K if L itself forms a simplicial complex.

4-5.5. <u>Exercise</u> Every skeleton of a simplicial complex is a subcomplex.

4-5.6. Let K be a simplicial complex in \mathbb{R}^n . The union of all simplexes in K is called the *underlying space* of K and it is denoted by |K|. A subset of \mathbb{R}^n is called a *polyhedron* if it is the underlying space of some simplicial complex. A simplicial complex K is called a *triangulation* of a polyhedron P if |K| = P. Clearly every polyhedron is compact since it is a finite union of compact sets of its simplexes.

4-5.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let K be a simplicial complex in \mathbb{R}^n . Then every point $x \in |K|$ is a geometric interior point of a unique simplex A in K.

<u>*Proof*</u>. To prove the existence, let $x \in |K|$. Then $x \in A$ for some $A \in K$. Write $x = \alpha_0 a_0 + \alpha_1 a_1 + \dots + \alpha_k a_k$ where a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k are vertices of A, all $\alpha_j \ge 0$ and $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = 1$. Without loss of generality assume $\alpha_j > 0$ for all $0 \le j \le t$ and $\alpha_j = 0$ for all $t < j \le k$. Let B be the simplex with vertices a_0, a_1, \dots, a_t . Then *B* is a face of *A*. Hence $B \in K$ and $x \in gin(B)$. For the uniqueness, let *A*, *B* be simplexes of *K* such that *x* is a geometric interior point of both *A* and *B*. Then $x \in A \cap B$. Since $A \cap B$ is a common face of *A*, *B*, let $ver(A \cap B) = \{c_0, c_1, \dots, c_t\}$, $ver(A) = \{c_0, c_1, \dots, c_t, a_{t+1}, \dots, a_u\}$ and $ver(B) = \{c_0, c_1, \dots, c_t, b_{t+1}, \dots, b_v\}$ where u, v are integers $\geq t$. From $x \in A \cap B$, write $x = \delta_0 c_0 + \delta_1 c_1 + \dots + \delta_t c_t$, all $\delta_j \geq 0$ and $\sum_{j=0}^t \delta_j = 1$. Since $x \in gin(A)$, write $x = \sum_{j=0}^t \alpha_j c_j + \sum_{j=t+1}^u \alpha_j a_j$, all $\alpha_j > 0$ and $\sum_{j=0}^u \alpha_j = 1$. By uniqueness of barycentric coordinates relative to the vertices of *A*, we have u = t, i.e. $ver(A \cap B) = ver(A)$ or $A \cap B = A$. Similarly $A \cap B = B$. Consequently A = B.

4-5.8. Let K be a simplicial complex in \mathbb{R}^n . Then the unique simplex $A \in K$ satisfying $x \in gin(A)$ is called the *carrier simplex* of x and it is denoted by car(x). For every vertex a of K, the union of those open simplexes gin(A) of K satisfying $a \in A$ is called the *star* of a and it is denoted by star(a).

4-5.9. <u>Exercise</u> Consider the xy-plane. Let K consist of two triangles (0,0), (0,2), $(1,\pm 2)$ and one edge (0,2), (0,4) together with all their faces. Identify its underlying space. Describe all skeletons. Find the carrier simplexes of (0,3) and (1,1). Find the star of each vertex.

4-5.10. <u>Theorem</u> Let a be a vertex of a simplicial complex K in \mathbb{R}^n and x a point in the underlying space |K|.

(a) $x \in star(a)$ iff $a \in car(x)$.

(b) The family $\{star(a) : a \in ver(K)\}$ is an open cover of |K|.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) $x \in star(a)$ iff there is $A \in K$ such that $a \in A$ and $x \in gin(A)$, i.e. A = car(x) iff $a \in car(x)$.

(b) Let L be the family of simplexes $A \in K$ such that $a \notin A$. Then $x \notin star(a)$ iff $a \notin car(x)$ iff $car(x) \in L$. Hence $star(a) = |K| \setminus |L|$. Since |L| is compact, it is closed in |K| and therefore its complement star(a) is open in |K|. Finally take any $x \in |K|$. Let a be a vertex of car(x). Since $x \in car(x)$, we have $a \in car(x)$, i.e. $x \in star(a)$. Therefore $\{star(a) : a \in ver(K)\}$ covers |K|. \Box

4-5.11. <u>Theorem</u> Let K be a simplicial complex in \mathbb{R}^n . If f is a map from the set ver(K) of vertices of K into \mathbb{R}^m , then f can be extended uniquely to a continuous map g on the underlying space |K| into \mathbb{R}^m such that the restriction g|A onto every simplex $A \in K$ is an affine map.

Proof. Since an affine map on a simplex is completely determined by the

values at the vertices, the uniqueness follows immediately. To prove the existence, for each simplex $A \in K$, there is an affine map f_A on A which agrees with f on the vertices of A. Let A, B be simplexes of K and let $C = A \cap B$. Then C is a common face of A, B. Since an affine map is uniquely determined by values at the vertices, we have $f_A|C = f_B|C = f_C$. Therefore there is a map $g : |K| \to \mathbb{R}^m$ such that $g|A = f_A$ for each $A \in K$. Since every f_A is continuous, so is g on |K| by Glue Theorem.

4-5.12. <u>Exercise</u> Let |K| be a simplicial complex in \mathbb{R}^n and J = [0, 1] the unit interval. Let h be a map from $|K| \times J$ into \mathbb{R}^m . Prove that if for each simplex $A \in K$ the restriction $h|(A \times J)$ is continuous, then h is continuous on $|K| \times J$.

4-5.13. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that for all $x, y \in |K|$ if $x \in car(y)$, then we have $car(x) \subset car(y)$.

4-6 Small Simplexes

4-6.1. Let A be a simplex with vertices $\{a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k\}$. Then the *barycenter* of A is defined as the point given by $bar(A) = \frac{1}{k+1}(a_0 + a_1 + \dots + a_k)$. When A is a triangle, the barycenter is the centroid.

4-6.2. **Lemma** If $A_0 < A_1 < A_2 < \cdots < A_k$ be simplexes, then the set $\{bar(A_i) : 0 \le i \le k\}$ is geometrically independent.

<u>Proof.</u> If k = 0, it is obvious. Suppose k > 0, $\sum_{i=0}^{k} \alpha_i \ bar(A_i) = 0$ and $\sum_{i=0}^{k} \alpha_i = 0$. Suppose to the contrary that $\alpha_k \neq 0$. Then both sets $P = \{i : \alpha_i > 0\}$ and $Q = \{i : \alpha_i < 0\}$ are non-empty. We may assume $k \in Q$ otherwise replacing all α_j by $-\alpha_j$. Since $\sum_{i \in P} \alpha_i = \sum_{i \in Q} (-\alpha_i) > 0$, we have a convex combination

$$x = \frac{\sum_{i \in P} \alpha_i bar(A_i)}{\sum_{i \in P} \alpha_i} = \frac{\sum_{i \in Q} (-\alpha_i) bar(A_i)}{\sum_{i \in Q} (-\alpha_i)}$$

Since $A_0 < A_1 < A_2 < \cdots < A_k$, we have $x \in A_k$ and there is $b \in ver(A_k) \setminus A_{k-1}$. Expanding each $bar(A_i)$ in terms of its vertices, let α, β be the coefficients of b for the expression on the left and right hand sides respectively. Then $\alpha = 0$ and

$$\beta = \frac{-\alpha_k}{(1 + \dim A_k) \sum_{i \in Q} (-\alpha_i)} > 0.$$

This contradiction to the uniqueness of barycentric coordinates of x relative to A_k shows that $\alpha_k = 0$. Now the proof is completed by induction on k. \Box

4-6.3. Let A be a simplex. Then a subset B of A is called a *small simplex* of A if there are faces $A_0 \leq A_1 \leq \cdots \leq A_k \leq A$ such that $B = co\{bar(A_j) : 0 \leq j \leq k\}$. Note that if $A_p = A_{p+1}$ then $B = co\{bar(A_j) : 0 \leq j \leq k, j \neq p\}$. Therefore we may assume $A_0 < A_1 < \cdots < A_p \leq A$ by dropping all duplicated ones. As a result of last lemma, every small simplex is a simplex. It is also obvious that every small simplex of A is a subset of A.

4-6.4. <u>Exercise</u> Let $A \leq B$ be given simplexes. Prove that if S is small simplex of A, then S is a small simplex of B.

4-6.5. Lemma Every simplex A is the union of all its small simplexes.

<u>Proof</u>. Let a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k be the vertices of A. Assume k > 0 and $x \in A$. Let C be the carrier simplex of x. If C < A then by induction, x belongs to some small simplex of C which is also a small simplex of A. Next consider C = A. Assume that $x \neq bar(A)$ otherwise the lemma is proved. Intuitively, we shall extend the line segment from bar(A) to x until it cut a facet at y and the lemma follows since x is between bar(A) and y. Analytically, write $x = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j a_j$ where all $\alpha_j > 0$ and $\sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j = 1$. After renaming the vertices if necessary, we may assume $\alpha_k \leq \alpha_j$ for all $0 \leq j \leq k$. Then we have

$$x = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_{j} a_{j} - \alpha_{k} \sum_{j=0}^{k} a_{j} + \alpha_{k} (k+1) bar(A) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (\alpha_{j} - \alpha_{k}) a_{j} + \alpha_{k} (k+1) bar(A).$$

Observe the coefficients:

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (\alpha_j - \alpha_k) + \alpha_k (k+1) = \sum_{j=0}^k (\alpha_j - \alpha_k) + \alpha_k (k+1) = \sum_{j=0}^k a_j = 1.$$

Suppose to the contrary that $\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (\alpha_j - \alpha_k) = 0$, i.e. $\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \alpha_j - k\alpha_k = 0$, or $(1 - \alpha_k) - k\alpha_k = 0$, that is $\alpha_k = \frac{1}{k+1}$. Since $\alpha_j - \alpha_k \ge 0$ for all j, we have $\alpha_j = \frac{1}{k+1}$ for all j, i.e. x = bar(A) contradicting $x \ne bar(A_p)$. Therefore we obtain $\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (\alpha_j - \alpha_k) > 0$. Now define

$$y = \frac{\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (\alpha_j - \alpha_k) a_j}{\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (\alpha_j - \alpha_k)}$$

and $A_{k-1} = co\{a_0, a_1, \dots, a_{k-1}\}$. Then $y \in A_{k-1}$. By induction, there are $A_0 \leq A_1 \leq \dots \leq A_{k-2} \leq A_{k-1}$ such that $y \in co\{bar(A_j) : 0 \leq j \leq k-2\}$. Consequently $x = \left[\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (\alpha_j - \alpha_k)\right] y + (k+1)\alpha_k bar(A)$ belongs to

$$co\{bar(A_j): A_0 \le A_1 \le \dots \le A_{k-2} \le A_{k-1} \le A\}$$

which is a small simplex of A.

4-6.6. Lemma Let $A \leq B$ be given simplexes and S a small simplex of B. If $A \cap S$ is non-empty, then it is a small simplex of A.

Proof. As a small simplex of B, $S = co\{bar(B_i) : 0 \le j \le k\}$ where $B_0 \leq B_1 \leq \cdots \leq B_k \leq B$. Let $P = \{j : ver(B_j) \subset A\}$ and Q the complement of P. Take any $x \in A \cap S$. Write $x = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j bar(B_j)$ where all $\alpha_j \geq 0$ satisfy $\sum_{j=0}^k \alpha_j = 1$. Consider any $j \in Q$. At least one vertex of B_j does not belong to A. Since $x \in A$, it is an affine combination of vertices of A only, i.e. $\alpha_j = 0$. Therefore $x = \sum_{j \in P} \alpha_j bar(B_j)$. Since $A \cap S \neq \emptyset$, we have $P \neq \emptyset$. Let p be the maximum among all integers in P and $D = co\{bar(B_j) : 0 \le j \le p\}$. Then $B_0 \leq B_1 \leq \cdots \leq B_p \leq A$ and $x = \sum_{j=0}^k \alpha_j bar(B_j)$, i.e. $x \in D$. Hence $A \cap S \subset D$. Clearly $D \subset A \cap S$. Hence $A \cap S = D$ is a small simplex of A. \Box

Every two small simplexes S, T of a given simplex A are 4-6.7. Lemma properly situated. If $S \cap T$ is non-empty, then $S \cap T$ is a small simplex of A. *Proof.* It is left as an exercise.

Sketch a tetrahedron D in \mathbb{R}^3 of which the vertices are 4-6.8. Exercise labelled by 0123. Let A be the small simplex of D defined by the sequence of barycenters of faces labelled by 0,01,012,0123 and B by 2,012,0123respectively. Identify the vertices of $D, A, B, A \cap B$.

4-7 Barycentric Subdivisions

4-7.1. There are many ways to break simplexes of simplicial complexes into smaller pieces which remain to be properly situated. Barycentric subdivisions are chosen because of its theoretical simplicity and its popularity in simplicial homology even though it is known by now that it has poor volume-mesh ratio.

4-7.2. Let K, L be simplicial complexes in \mathbb{R}^n . Then L is called a subdivision of K if

(a) every simplex of L is contained in some simplex of K;

(b) every simplex of K is a finite union of simplexes of L.

Exercise Prove that if L is a subdivision of K, then both K, L have 4-7.3. the same underlying space.

4-7.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if L is a subdivision of K and if K is a subdivision of M then L is a subdivision of M.

4-7.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let K be a simplicial complex in \mathbb{R}^n . Then the family sd(K) of all small simplexes of every simplex in K is a subdivision of K.

<u>Proof.</u> Let S, T be small simplexes of given simplexes A, B in K respectively. Suppose $S \cap T \neq \emptyset$. Since A, B are properly situated, $C = A \cap B$ is a simplex in K. Hence both $S \cap C$ and $T \cap C$ are small simplexes of C. Thus $S \cap T = (S \cap C) \cap (T \cap C)$ is a small simplex of C. Therefore $S \cap T$ is also in sd(K). Since S, T are properly situated, sd(K) is a simplicial complex. It is obvious to verify that sd(K) is a subdivision of K.

4-7.6. Let K be a simplicial complex in \mathbb{R}^n . Then sd(K) is called the *barycentric subdivision* of K. Clearly both K and sd(K) have the same dimension. In general, let $sd^0(K) = K$ and $sd^m(K) = sd[sd^{m-1}(K)]$ for all $m \geq 1$. In this case, $sd^m(K)$ is called the *m*-th *barycentric subdivision* of K. The *mesh* of a simplicial complex K is the maximum diameter among all the simplexes in K.

4-7.7. **Lemma** For every non-empty bounded set M in \mathbb{R}^n , both M and its convex hull have the same diameter.

<u>Proof</u>. Let N = co(M). Since $M \subset N$, we have $diam(M) \leq diam(N)$. Conversely, take any $x, y \in N$. Write $x = \sum_{i=0}^{s} \alpha_i a_i$ and $y = \sum_{j=0}^{t} \beta_j b_j$ where $a_i, b_j \in M, \ \alpha_i, \beta_j \geq 0$ and $\sum_{i=0}^{s} \alpha_i = 1 = \sum_{j=0}^{t} \beta_j$. Then we have

$$||a_i - y|| = ||a_i - \sum_{j=0}^t \beta_j b_j|| \le \sum_{j=0}^t \beta_j ||a_i - b_j|| \le diam(M)$$

and

$$\|x-y\| \leq \sum_{i=0}^{s} \alpha_i \|a_i - y\| \leq diam(M).$$

Taking supremum over all $x, y \in N$, we have $diam(N) \leq diam(M)$. \Box

4-7.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the diameter of a simplex is the maximum length of its edges.

4-7.9. <u>Theorem</u> For every simplicial complex K, we have

$$mesh(sd^m K) \le \left(\frac{p}{p+1}\right)^m mesh(K)$$

where p denotes the dimension of K.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let A be a simplex in K with vertices a_0, a_1, \dots, a_q . A small simplex of A is of the form: $B = co\{bar(A_j) : 0 \le j \le k\}$ where

$$A_0 < A_1 < \cdots < A_k \le A.$$

Any two vertices of B can be expressed by

$$x = \frac{1}{r+1} \sum_{j=0}^{r} a_j$$
 and $y = \frac{1}{r+s+1} \sum_{j=0}^{r+s} a_j$

Routine calculation gives $x - y = \frac{s}{r + s + 1}(u - v)$

where

$$u = \frac{1}{r+1} \sum_{j=0}^{r} a_j$$
 and $v = \frac{1}{s} \sum_{j=r+1}^{r+s} a_j$.

As averages of vertices of A, both u, v belong to A. Hence

$$\|x-y\| \leq \frac{s}{r+s+1} diam(A) \leq \frac{r+s}{r+s+1} diam(A) \leq \frac{p}{p+1} diam(A).$$

It follows that

$$diam(B) \leq \frac{p}{p+1} diam(A) \leq \frac{p}{p+1} mesh(K).$$

Since $B \in sd(K)$ is arbitrary, we have

$$mesh[sd(K)] \le \frac{p}{p+1} mesh(K).$$

The general case follows by induction on m.

4-7.10. <u>Exercise</u> Let K be a simplicial complex. Prove that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer r such that for all $m \ge r$ we have $mesh(sd^mK) \le \varepsilon$.

4-8 Simplicial Approximations

4-8.1. Let K, L be simplicial complexes in $\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^m$ respectively. A map $f : |K| \to |L|$ is called a *simplicial map* or a *piecewise linear map* if for every simplex $A \in K$, the restriction f|A is an affine map *onto* a simplex of L.

4-8.2. <u>**Theorem**</u> A given map $g : ver(K) \to ver(L)$ can be extended to a simplicial map f from K into L iff for each simplex $A \in K$, the set g[ver(A)] consists of vertices of a simplex in L.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow) Let A be a simplex in K. Then B = f(A) is a simplex in L. Since for each vertex v of A the singleton $\{v\}$ is a simplex in K, $\{f(v)\}$ is a simplex in L and $\{f(v)\} = \{f(v)\} \cap B$ is a face of B, i.e. g(v) = f(v) is a vertex of B. (\Leftarrow) Let f be the unique extension of g such that f|A is an affine map for every $A \in K$. Take any $A \in K$. There is $B \in L$ such that f[ver(A)] = ver(B). Hence f(A) = B. Therefore f is a simplicial map.

4-8.3. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that composites of simplicial maps are simplicial maps.

4-8.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that for every simplicial complex K there is a simplicial map f from sd(K) into K such that for every simplex A of K, we have $f[bar(A)] \in ver(A)$.

4-8.5. **Theorem** If f is a simplicial map from K into L, then there is a unique simplicial map sd(f) from sd(K) into sd(L) such that for every simplex $A \in K$ we have sd(f)[bar(A)] = bar[f(A)].

<u>Proof</u>. For each $A \in K$, f(A) is a simplex in L and hence bar[f(A)] is a vertex of sd(L). Define g[bar(A)] = bar[f(A)]. When A runs over all simplexes of K, we define a map $g : ver[sd(K)] \to ver[sd(L)]$. Suppose $A_0 \leq A_1 \leq \cdots \leq A_m$ in K. Then $f(A_0) \leq f(A_1) \leq \cdots \leq f(A_m)$ is a chain of simplexes in L. Therefore the vertices of a small simplex of K are carried to vertices of a small simplex in L. Therefore g can be extended uniquely to a simplicial map $sd(f) : sd(K) \to sd(L)$.

4-8.6. Let K, L be simplicial complexes in $\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^m$ respectively and let $f: |K| \to |L|$ be a given map. Then a simplicial map $g: K \to L$ is called a *simplicial approximation* to f if for every $x \in |K|$ we have $g(x) \in carf(x)$.

4-8.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f : |K| \to |L|$ be a given map and $g : K \to L$ a simplicial map. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) g is a simplicial approximation to f.

(b) For every vertex a of K, we have $f[star(a)] \subset star[g(a)]$.

(c) For each $x \in |K|$ and each $B \in L$, if $f(x) \in B$ then $g(x) \in B$.

<u>Proof.</u> $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Assume that $g(x) \in car[f(x)]$ for all $x \in |K|$. Take any $x \in star(a)$ where a is a vertex of K. Then $a \in car(x)$. Let $\{a, a_1, a_2, \dots, a_k\}$ be the vertices of car(x). Then we have $x = \alpha a + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j a_j$, all $\alpha, \alpha_j > 0$ and $\alpha + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j = 1$. Thus $g(x) = \alpha g(a) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j g(a_j)$, i.e. g(a) is a vertex of car[g(x)]. Now $g(x) \in car[f(x)]$, i.e. $car[g(x)] \subset car[f(x)]$, or $g(a) \in car[f(x)]$, that is $f(x) \in star[g(a)]$. Because $x \in star(a)$ is arbitrary, we obtain $f[star(a)] \subset star[g(a)]$.

 $(b \Rightarrow a)$ Assume $f[star(a)] \subset star[g(a)]$ for every vertex a of K. Take any $x \in |K|$. Let $\{a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k\}$ be the vertices of the carrier simplex of x. Then $x = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j a_j$ where all $\alpha_j > 0$ and $\sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j = 1$. Since each $a_j \in car(x)$, we have $x \in star(a_j)$, or $f(x) \in f[star(a_j)] \subset star[g(a_j)]$, i.e. $g(a_j) \in car[f(x)]$. Therefore $g(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j g(a_j) \in car[f(x)]$.

 $(a \Leftrightarrow c)$ It follows immediately from the definition of carrier simplexes. \Box

4-8.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let K, M, N be simplicial complexes. If $\varphi : K \to M$ and $\psi : M \to N$ are simplicial approximations of given maps $f : |K| \to |M|$ and $g : |M| \to |N|$ respectively, then the composite map $\psi\varphi$ is a simplicial approximation of the composite map gf.

4-8.9. <u>Exercise</u> Show that if g is a simplicial map from sd(K) into K such that for every simplex A of K we have $g[bar(A)] \in ver(A)$, then g is a simplicial approximation to the identity map.

4-8.10. **Lemma** Let S be a set of vertices of a simplicial complex K. Then the convex hull co(S) of S is a simplex of K iff the intersection $\bigcap \{star(a) : a \in S\}$ is non-empty. Note that the elements of S need not be all distinct.

<u>Proof</u>. (\Rightarrow) Take any geometric interior point x of co(S). Then car(x) = co(S). Hence for all $a \in S$, we have $a \in car(x)$, i.e. $x \in star(a)$. Therefore we obtain $x \in \cap \{star(a) : a \in S\}$.

(⇐) Suppose $x \in \cap \{star(a) : a \in S\}$. Then for all $a \in S$, we have $x \in star(a)$, i.e. $a \in car(x)$. Hence co(S) is a face of car(x). Therefore co(S) is in K. \Box

4-8.11. **Theorem** Let f be a given map from |K| into |L|. If for every vertex $a \in K$ there is a vertex $b \in L$ such that $f[star(a)] \subset star(b)$, then f admits the simplicial approximation g defined by g(a) = b for every $a \in ver(K)$.

<u>Proof</u>. For each $a \in ver(K)$ define g(a) = b. Now suppose that A is a simplex of K. Then there is $x \in \cap \{star(a) : a \in ver(A)\}$. For each vertex a of A, we have $x \in star(a)$, or $f(x) \subset f[star(a)] \subset star[g(a)]$. Therefore $f(x) \in \cap \{star[g(a)] : a \in ver(A)\}$. Thus $co\{g(a) : a \in ver(A)\}$ is a simplex in L. Consequently g can be extended to a simplicial map from K to L. Since $f[star(a)] \subset star[g(a)]$ for each vertex a of K, g is a simplicial approximation to f.

4-9 Existence of Simplicial Approximations

4-9.1. Let $f : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function. Choose any subdivision $a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_k = b$. Then the broken line obtained by joining consecutive points $(x_j, f(x_j))$ is a simplicial approximation of f. We get better approximation when the mesh of the subdivision becomes smaller. To extend it to finite dimensional spaces, we need a tool called Lebesgue number.

4-9.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let $\{D_j : 1 \leq j \leq m\}$ be an open cover of a compact metric space X. Then there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every $x \in X$ we have

 $\mathbb{B}(x,\delta) \subset D_j$ for some j. In this case, δ is called a *Lebesgue number* of the open cover $\{D_j : 1 \leq j \leq m\}$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let $E_j = X \setminus D_j$. For every $(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m) \in \prod_{j=1}^m E_j$, define $f(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m) = \max_{1 \le i, j \le m} d(x_i, x_j)$.

Then f is a continuous real-valued function on the compact set $\prod_{j=1}^{m} E_j$. There exist $a_j \in E_j$ such that $f(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_m) \leq f(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m)$ for all $x_j \in E_j$. Let $\delta = \frac{1}{3}f(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_m)$. We have $\delta > 0$ otherwise $d(a_i, a_j) = 0$ for all i, j and hence $a_1 = a_2 = \dots = a_m \in \bigcap_{j=1}^{m} E_j$, i.e. $a_1 \notin D_j$ for all j which is a contradiction. We claim that δ is what we want. Suppose to the contrary that there is $y \in X$ such that for every $1 \leq j \leq m$, $\mathbb{B}(y, \delta) \notin D_j$, i.e. there is $x_j \in E_j \cap \mathbb{B}(y, \delta)$. Hence $d(x_i, x_j) \leq d(x_i, y) + d(y, x_j) \leq 2\delta$ for all i, j. Therefore $3\delta \leq f(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m) \leq 2\delta$ which is a contradiction to complete the proof. \Box

4-9.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let K, L be simplicial complexes of $\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^m$ respectively. Let r be a Lebesgue number for the open cover $\{star(b) : b \in ver(L)\}$ of the compact space |L|. Then there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every subdivision N of K with $mesh(N) < \delta$ and for all continuous maps $f, g : |K| \to |L|$ satisfying ||f(x) - g(x)|| < r for each $x \in |K|$, both f, g admit a common simplicial approximation from N into L.

<u>Proof</u>. To each vertex b of L, let $V(b) = f^{-1}[star(b)] \cap g^{-1}[star(b)]$. To show that $\{V(b) : b \in ver(L)\}$ is a cover of |K|, take any $x \in |K|$. By the choice of r, we get $\mathbb{B}[f(x), r] \subset star(b)$ for some $b \in ver(L)$. From ||f(x)-g(x)|| < r we have $f(x), g(x) \in \mathbb{B}[f(x), r] \subset star(b)$, i.e. $x \in f^{-1}[star(b)] \cap g^{-1}[star(b)] = V(b)$. Therefore $\{V(b) : b \in ver(L)\}$ is a cover of |K|. The continuity of f, g ensures that all V(b) are open in |K|. Let $\delta > 0$ be a Lebesgue number of the open cover $\{V(b) : b \in ver(L)\}$ for the compact space |K| and let N be a subdivision of K with $mesh(N) < \delta$. Now take any vertex a of N. Then $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta) \subset V(b)$ for some vertex b of L. Suppose $x \in star(a)$. Then $a \in car(x)$. Hence we get $||x-a|| \leq mesh(N) < \delta$, i.e. $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$, or $x \in V(b)$. Therefore $star(a) \subset V(b)$, i.e. $f[star(a)] \subset star(b)$ and $g[star(a)] \subset star(b)$. Consequently f, g admit the common simplicial approximation defined by h(a) = b for each vertex a of K. \Box

4-9.4. <u>Corollary</u> Let K, L be simplicial complexes of $\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^m$ respectively and let $f : |K| \to |L|$ be a continuous map. Then there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every subdivision N of K with $mesh(N) < \delta$, the map f admits a simplicial approximation from N into L. 4-9.5. Let g, h be simplicial maps from K into L. Then g, h are said to be *contiguous* if for every simplex A of K, both g(A), h(A) are faces of a common simplex of L.

4-9.6. <u>Theorem</u> Every two simplicial approximations g, h of a given map f from K into L are contiguous.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Take any simplex $A \in K$. Choose any $x \in \cap \{star(a) : a \in ver(A) \}$. Then we have $f(x) \in f[star(a)] \subset star[g(a)]$, i.e.

$$f(x) \in \left(\bigcap_{a \in ver(A)} star[g(a)]\right) \cap \left(\bigcap_{a \in ver(A)} star[h(a)]\right).$$

Consequently the vertices g(a), h(a) for all $a \in ver(A)$ span a simplex $B \in L$. Hence g(A), h(A) are faces of a common simplex $B \in L$.

4-9.7. **Exercise** Let K, L be simplicial complexes in $\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^m$ respectively and let $h: |K| \times [0, 1] \to |L|$ be a continuous maps. Write $h_t(x) = h(x, t)$ for all $(x, t) \in |K| \times [0, 1]$. Show that there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every subdivision N of K with $mesh(N) < \delta$, there are simplicial maps g_1, g_2, \dots, g_k from N into L such that g_1, g_k are simplicial approximations of h_0, h_1 respectively and g_{j-1}, g_j are contiguous for each $2 \leq j \leq k$.

4-10 A Combinatorial Lemma with Application

4-10.1. The main result of this section is $\S4-10.8$ on intersections of closed subsets of unit spheres. It forms the foundation of topological method of next chapter.

4-10.2. Throughout this section, we shall work on \mathbb{R}_1^{n+1} with norm given by $||x|| = |x_1| + |x_2| + \cdots + |x_n| + |x_{n+1}|$ for every $x = (x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n, x_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. Let $\{e_1, e_2, \cdots, e_n, e_{n+1}\}$ denote the standard basis of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . The family of all simplexes of the form $co\{\pm e_1, \pm e_2, \cdots, \pm e_n, \pm e_{n+1}\}$ together with all their faces is called the *basic triangulation* of the unit sphere $S^n = \{x \in \mathbb{R}_1^{n+1} : ||x|| = 1\}$ of \mathbb{R}_1^{n+1} . Let K be an iterated barycentric subdivision of the basic triangulation. Then K is a triangulation of S^n which is symmetrical with respect to the origin. For each vertex $v \in K$, let h(v) be an integer, called *label*, selected from $\pm 1, \pm 2, \cdots, \pm m$ such that the following conditions hold:

(a) $h(u) + h(v) \neq 0$ for every adjacent vertices of each simplex in K, i.e. h is a simplicial map from K into the basic triangulation of S^m .

(b) h(-v) = -h(v) for every vertex $v \in K$, i.e. the antipodal condition.

4-10.3. A simplex of K is said to be *positive* if its labels can be listed as

$$+i(1), -i(2), +i(3), -i(4), \cdots, (-1)^n i(n), (-1)^{n+1} i(n+1)$$

where $1 \le i(1) < i(2) < \cdots < i(n) < i(n+1) \le m$. Note that this positive simplex has exactly on positive facet labelled by

$$+i(1), -i(2), +i(3), -i(4), \cdots, (-1)^n i(n).$$

A simplex of K is said to be *negative* if its labels can be listed as

$$-i(1), +i(2), -i(3), +i(4), \cdots, (-1)^{n-1}i(n), (-1)^ni(n+1)$$

where $1 \le i(1) < i(2) < \cdots < i(n) < i(n+1) \le m$. Note that this negative simplex has exactly on positive facet labelled by

 $+i(2), -i(3), +i(4), \cdots, (-1)^{n-1}i(n), (-1)^ni(n+1).$

A simplex is said to be *neutral* if it is neither positive nor negative.

4-10.4. <u>Lemma</u> A neutral simplex has either none or exactly two positive facets.

Proof. Assume that a neutral simplex A has one positive facet B labelled by

 $+i(1), -i(2), +i(3), -i(4), \cdots, (-1)^n i(n)$

where $1 \leq i(1) < i(2) < \cdots < i(n)$. Let j be the label of the only vertex v of A which does not belong to B. We shall exhaust all cases as follow. Suppose |j| < i(1). Since A is neutral, j must be positive. Hence A has exactly one more positive facet by replacing the first vertex by v. Suppose $i(p) \leq |j| < i(p+1)$. If i(p) and j have the same sign, then A has exactly one other positive facet by replacing the vertex of B labelled by $(-1)^{p_i}(p)$ with v. If i(p) and j have opposite signs, then A has exactly one other positive facet by replacing the vertex of B labelled by $(-1)^{p+1}i(p+1)$ with v. Suppose $i(p) < |j| \leq i(p+1)$. If i(p+1) and j have the same sign, then A has exactly one other positive facet by replacing the vertex of B labelled by $(-1)^{p+1}i(p+1)$ with v. Suppose $i(p) < |j| \leq i(p+1)$. If i(p+1) and j have opposite signs, then A has exactly one other positive facet by replacing the vertex of B labelled by $(-1)^{p+1}i(p+1)$ with v. If i(p+1) and j have opposite signs, then A has exactly one other positive facet by replacing the vertex of B labelled by $(-1)^{p+1}i(p+1)$ with v. If i(p+1) and j have opposite signs, then A has exactly one other positive facet by replacing the vertex of B labelled by $(-1)^{p+1}i(p+1)$ with v. Suppose |j| > i(n). Since A is neutral, j must have the sign $(-1)^n$. Hence A has exactly one more positive facet by replacing the last vertex of B by v.

4-10.5. <u>Combinatorial Lemma</u> The total number of positive *n*-simplexes in S^n is odd. In particular, it is necessary to have $m \ge n+1$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. For convenience, the *parity* of an integer k is defined to be 1 if k is odd and to be 0 if k is even. Since the labels on S^n satisfy the antipodal condition,

every positive *n*-simplex in the lower hemisphere corresponds to exactly one negative *n*-simplex in the upper hemisphere. Therefore the total number β_n of positive *n*-simplexes of S^n is the number of positive and negative *n*-simplexes in the upper hemisphere only. Now consider each n-simplex A of the upper hemisphere. Each positive or negative A gives exactly one positive facet and each neutral A gives either none or two positive facets. Hence β_n has the same parity of the total number of positive facets F of all *n*-simplexes in the upper hemisphere. If F is not on the boundary of the upper hemisphere, it is the facet of exactly two n-simplexes in the upper hemisphere. Therefore the total number β_n of positive *n*-simplexes has the same parity of the total number β_{n-1} of positive (n-1)-simplexes on the equator S^{n-1} of S^n . Identify \mathbb{R}^n with $\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. By induction, β_n has the same parity of the total number β_0 of 0-simplexes of S^0 which consists of exactly two vertices. The antipodal condition shows that exactly one vertex of S^0 has positive label. Therefore the parity of β_n is one, i.e. β_n is an odd integer.



4-10.6. **Example** The above picture is the top view of the upper hemisphere in \mathbb{R}^3_1 with a single barycentric subdivision $sd(S^2)$ of the basic triangulation. The triangles a4 is positive because its labels are 1, -2, 4 which
gives one positive facet with labels 1, -2. The triangle c1 is negative with labels -2, 3, -4 which gives one positive facet with labels 3, -4. The neutral triangles b4 gives two positive facets labelled by 1, -4 and 3, -4. The neutral triangle d3 has no positive facet at all.

4-10.7. <u>Exercise</u> Find the total number of positive and negative triangles of the upper hemisphere of the above graph. Supposing that the labelling rule satisfies the antipodal condition, sketch a graph to show all labels on the lower hemisphere. Find the total number of positive line segments of the unit sphere S^1 on the xy-plane.

4-10.8. **Theorem** Let $M_1, M_2, \dots, M_n, M_{n+1}$ be closed subsets of the *n*-sphere $S^n = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_1 : ||x|| = 1\}$. For each j, let $-M_j = \{-x : x \in M_j\}$. Suppose $M_j \cap (-M_j) = \emptyset$ for every j. If $S^n \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{n+1} (M_j \cup -M_j)$, then the intersection $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n+1} M_j$ is non-empty.

Proof. Let d_j denote the distance between the sets $M_j, -M_j$. Because $M_i \cap (-M_i) = \emptyset$, the sets $M_i, -M_j$ are disjoint compact sets and hence $d_i > 0$. Suppose to the contrary that $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n+1} M_j = \emptyset$. Then $\{S^n \setminus M_j : 1 \le j \le n+1\}$ is an open cover of the compact space S^n . Let r > 0 be the Lebesgue number for this open cover. Let K be an iterated barycentric subdivision of S^n so that $mesh(K) < \min\{r, d_1, d_2, \dots, d_{n+1}\}$. For each vertex $v \in K$, let j > 0 be the smallest integer such that $v \in M_j \cup -M_j$. Define $h(v) = j(-1)^{j+1}$ if $v \in M_j$ and $h(v) = j(-1)^j$ otherwise. It is easy to verify that h(-v) = -h(v). Next, take any adjacent vertices u, v of a simplex in K. Suppose to the contrary that if h(u) + h(v) = 0 then one of them belongs to M_i while another to $-M_i$ and consequently we get a contradiction: $||u - v|| \ge d_j > mesh(K) \ge ||u - v||$. Therefore $h(u) + h(v) \neq 0$. It follows from the combinatorial lemma that there is at least one positive simplex A in K. Arrange the vertices v_1, v_2, \dots, v_{n+1} of A such that their labels are listed as: $1, -2, 3, -4, \dots, (-1)^n (n+1)$, that is $h(v_i) = j(-1)^{j+1}$, or $v_j \in M_j$ for every j. Since $diam(A) \leq mesh(K) < r$, we have $A \subset S^n \setminus M_i$ for some j. In particular, $v_i \notin M_i$. This contradiction establishes the proof.

4-99. <u>**References and Further Readings**</u>: Fan-60,90,99, Dugundji-82, Wolsey, Foster, Hoang, Seki, Pontryagin, Shashkin, Steenrod, Kearfott, Kulpa, Mara, Todd, Talman, Eaves, Atiyah and Bytheway.

Chapter 5

Topological Fixed Points

5-1 Antipodal Maps

5-1.1. One dimensional intermediate value theorem says that if a continuous function $f : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies f(a)f(b) < 0 then the equation f(x) = 0 has at least one solution. Clearly the function $\varphi(x) = \frac{1}{2}(b-a)x + \frac{1}{2}(a+b)$ is a homeomorphism from [-1, 1] onto [a, b]. Hence f(x) = 0 has a solution in [a, b] iff $f\varphi(x) = 0$ has a solution. Therefore the domain of f can be standardized to [-1, 1] which is the one dimensional closed unit ball. Furthermore, working with the y-axis, we may standardize f to satisfy f(-1) = -f(1). This motivates the study of antipodal maps in this section.

5-1.2. Let *E* be a normed space. We shall work on the closed unit ball *B* and the unit sphere *S* of *E*. Any pair x, -x of points in *S* are called *antipodal points*. For any subset *M* of *S*, its *antipodal set* is defined as $-M = \{x \in E : -x \in S\}$. Clearly -M is a subset of *S*. A map *f* from *B* or *S* into *E* is said to be *antipodal* if f(-x) = -f(x) for all $x \in S$. We start with the special normed space \mathbb{R}_1^{n+1} of which the unit sphere is denoted by S^n . If no specific norm on \mathbb{R}^n is mentioned explicitly, \mathbb{R}_2^n will be assumed.

5-1.3. Let M_1, M_2, \dots, M_n be *n*-closed subsets of the sphere S^n . If they together with their antipodal sets cover S^n , then at least one of them contains a pair of antipodal points.

<u>Proof</u>. Define $M_{n+1} = -M_n$. Suppose to the contrary that none of M_1, \dots, M_n contains a pair of antipodal points. By §4-10.8, we have $\bigcap_{j=1}^{n+1} M_j \neq \emptyset$, i.e. $M_n \cap -M_n = M_n \cap M_{n+1} \neq \emptyset$ which is a contradiction.

5-1.4. Borsuk-Ulam Antipodal Theorem For every continuous map $f: S^n \to \mathbb{R}^n_1$, there is $x \in S^n$ such that f(-x) = f(x).

<u>*Proof.*</u> Suppose to the contrary that for every $x \in S^n$, we have $f(-x) \neq f(x)$, i.e. $f_j(x) - f_j(-x) \neq 0$ for some $1 \leq j \leq n$ where f_1, f_2, \dots, f_n are the coordinate functions of f. By compactness of S^n , we obtain

$$\lambda = \inf_{x \in S^n} \max_{1 \le j \le n} |f_j(x) - f_j(-x)| > 0.$$

Define $M_j = \{x \in S^n : f_j(x) - f_j(-x) \ge \frac{1}{2}\lambda\}$. Then for each $x \in S^n$, we get $\max_{1 \le j \le n} |f_j(x) - f_j(-x)| \ge \lambda > \frac{1}{2}\lambda$. Hence $|f_j(x) - f_j(-x)| > \frac{1}{2}\lambda$ for some j, that is $x \in M_j$ or $x \in -M_j$. Therefore $\{\pm M_j : 1 \le j \le n\}$ is a closed cover of S^n . Accordingly, at least one M_k contains a pair of antipodal points x, -x of S^n . Now the contradiction $f_k(x) - f_k(-x) \ge \frac{1}{2}\lambda$ and $f_k(-x) - f_k(x) \ge \frac{1}{2}\lambda$ completes the proof.

5-1.5. Base on Borsuk-Ulam Theorem, at any time you can always find two antipodal points of the earth with the same temperature and atmospheric pressure. No matter how you squeeze a basketball onto a plane, at least a pair of antipodal points will sit on top of each other.

5-1.6. Intermediate Value Theorem for \mathbb{R}_{1}^{n} If f is a continuous antipodal map on the closed unit ball B of \mathbb{R}_{1}^{n} into \mathbb{R}_{1}^{n} , then the equation f(x) = 0 has at least one solution.

<u>*Proof.*</u> For every $y = (y_1, \dots, y_n, y_{n+1})$ in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , let $x = (y_1, \dots, y_n)$. Define $g: S^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ by

$$g(y) = \begin{cases} f(x), & \text{if } y_{n+1} \ge 0; \\ -f(-x), & \text{if } y_{n+1} \le 0. \end{cases}$$

Since f is antipodal, g is well-defined on the equator S^{n-1} . It is continuous on the upper and lower hemisphere respectively. It follows from Glue-Theorem that g is continuous on S^n . By Borsuk-Ulam Theorem, we have g(y) = g(-y) for some $y \in S^n$. Thus f(x) = -f(x) if $y_{n+1} \ge 0$ and f(-x) = -f(-x) otherwise. In both cases, the given equation f(x) = 0 has a solution.

5-1.7. As a stepping stone to generalize these results to infinite dimensional cases, it is necessary to free the restrictions of dependence on the specific norm of \mathbb{R}^n_1 .

5-1.8. Let E, F be normed spaces. If $g: E \to F$ a topological isomorphism, then the scaling homeomorphism of g is the map $h: E \to F$ defined by

$$h(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{g(x)}{\|g(x)\|} \|x\|, & \text{if } x \neq 0, \\ 0, & \text{if } x = 0. \end{cases}$$

5-1.9. Lemma (a) h is a homeomorphism.

(b) h^{-1} is the scaling homeomorphism of g^{-1} .

(c) ||h(x)|| = ||x|| and $h(\lambda x) = \lambda h(x)$ for all $x \in E$ and all $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$.

(d) h carries the unit sphere of E onto the unit sphere of F and the closed unit ball onto the closed unit ball.

Proof. Let $k: F \to E$ be the scaling homeomorphism of g^{-1} given by

$$k(y) = \begin{cases} \frac{g^{-1}(y)}{\|g^{-1}(y)\|} \|y\|, & \text{if } y \neq 0, \\ 0, & \text{if } y = 0. \end{cases}$$

By simple substitution, kh is the identity map of E and hk the identity map of F. Hence h is bijective and $h^{-1} = k$. Part (c) follows from definition and (d) is a consequence of (c). Clearly h is continuous at every $a \neq 0$ in E. By (c), his also continuous at a = 0. By symmetry, k is continuous too. Therefore h is a homeomorphism.

5-1.10. **Example** For each vector (z, w) in \mathbb{C}^2 , write z = x + iy and w = u + ivwhere x, y, u, v are all real. Restricting to real scalar multiplication only, \mathbb{C}^2 is a real vector space with basis (1,0), (i,0), (0,1) and (0,i). The map f(v,w) = (x, y, u, v) is a real algebraic isomorphism from \mathbb{C}^2 onto \mathbb{R}^4 and therefore it is a topological isomorphism from \mathbb{C}^2_2 onto \mathbb{R}^4_p for any $1 \le p \le \infty$.

5-1.11. Since the scalar multiplication of this chapter does not come into effect explicitly, we shall assume that all normed spaces are over the real field.

5-1.12. <u>Finite Dimensional Antipodal Theorem</u> Let E be a *finite dimensional* normed space and let f be a continuous antipodal map from the unit sphere S of E into a vector subspace M of E. If $M \neq E$, then there is some $x \in S$ such that f(x) = f(-x).

<u>Proof</u>. Take any $b_0 \in E \setminus M$. Since E is finite dimensional, so is M. Let b_1, \dots, b_k be a basis for M. Then b_0, b_1, \dots, b_k are linearly independent. Extend it to a basis $b_0, b_1, \dots, b_k, b_{k+1}, \dots, b_n$ for E. Let $e_1, e_2, \dots, e_n, e_{n+1}$ be the standard basis for \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Then there is an algebraic isomorphism $g: \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to E$ such that $g(e_{n+1}) = b_0$ and $g(e_j) = b_j$ for all $1 \leq j \leq n$. Let $h: \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_1 \to E$ be the scaling homeomorphism of the topological isomorphism $g: \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_1 \to E$. Then the map $\varphi = h^{-1}fh: S^n \to R^{n+1}$ is continuous. Because $h(-x) = -h(x), \varphi$ is an antipodal map. Take any $a \in S^n$. Since fh(a) is a linear combination of $b_1, b_2, \dots, b_k, \varphi(a) = h^{-1}fh(a)$ is a linear combination of e_1, e_2, \dots, e_k and hence $\varphi(a)$ belongs to \mathbb{R}^n . By Borsuk-Ulam Theorem, $\varphi(-a) = \varphi(a)$ for some $a \in S^n$. Now $x = h(a) \in S$ satisfies f(-x) = f(x). 5-1.13. <u>Finite Dimensional Intermediate Value Theorem</u> Let B be the unit ball of a *finite dimensional* normed space E. If $f : B \to E$ is an antipodal continuous map, then the equation f(x) = 0 has at least one solution.

Proof. It is left as an exercise.

5-1.14. Finite Dimensional Parallel Vector Theorem Let $f: B \to E$ be a continuous map such that $f(x) \neq 0$ on B. Then there is a pair of antipodal points $a, -a \in S$ such that f(a), f(-a) are parallel vectors.

<u>*Proof.*</u> For each $x \in B$, define $g(x) = \frac{f(x)}{\|f(x)\|} - \|x\| \frac{f(-x)}{\|f(-x)\|}$. Then for every

 $x \in S$, we have g(-x) = -g(x). Also for ||x|| < 1, $g(x) \neq 0$. By intermediatevalue theorem, there is $x \in S$ such that g(x) = 0, i.e. the vectors f(x), f(-x)are parallel.

5-2 Retracts and Fixed Points

5-2.1. In this section, we shall remove the restriction to closed unit ball as domains of nonlinear maps and replace it by convex sets. As a result, the notion of being antipodal is no longer available. Consequently intermediate value theorem will take the form of fixed points. Retracts is the tool to achieve this transformation. To derive Brouwer's fixed point theorem, we shall give an explicit formula rather demanding the intuition of readers to accept the continuity of a certain map. Only elementary calculations are used to show that closed convex sets are retracts. Although our result is more restrictive but sufficient for our purpose, it would make the subject more accessible to all undergraduates.

5-2.2. Let M be a subset of a metric space X. A continuous map $f: X \to M$ is called a *retraction* if for every $x \in M$ we have f(x) = x. In particular, f must be surjective. In this case, M is also called a *retract* of X. Clearly if M is a retract of X then M is also a retract of every subset of X containing M.

5-2.3. <u>Lemma</u> In a finite dimensional normed space, the unit sphere S is not a retract of the closed unit ball B.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose to the contrary that $f : B \to S$ is a retraction. Since the identity map f|S is antipodal, the equation f(x) = 0 has a solution in B which is a contradiction to $f(B) \subset S$.

5-2.4. **Brouwer's Fixed Point Theorem** Let B_n be the closed unit ball of \mathbb{R}_2^n . Then every continuous map from B_n into itself has a fixed point.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that $f: B_n \to B_n$ is a continuous map such that $f(x) \neq x$ for all $x \in B$. Then extend the line segment from f(x) to x until it meets a point g(x) of the unit sphere S^{n-1} . Because of the inner product of \mathbb{R}_2^n , we can actually find an explicit formula g(x) = (1+t)x - tf(x) where

$$t = \frac{\sqrt{\langle x, x - f(x) \rangle^2 + ||x - f(x)||^2 (1 - ||x||^2)} - \langle x, x - f(x) \rangle}{||x - f(x)||^2}.$$

Since t is a continuous function of x, so is g. Because $g|S^{n-1}$ is the identity map, S^{n-1} is a retract of B_n . This contradiction establishes the proof. \Box

5-2.5. **Parallelogram Law** For all x, y in the inner product space \mathbb{R}_2^n , we have $||x + y||^2 + ||x - y||^2 = 2||x||^2 + 2||y||^2$.

Proof. It is left as an exercise.

5-2.6. <u>Theorem on Minimum Distance</u> Let M be a closed convex subset of \mathbb{R}_2^n . Then for every $x \in \mathbb{R}_2^n$, there is a unique $y \in M$ such that ||x - y|| is the distance from x to M.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let d be the distance from x to M. There is a sequence $\{a_k\}$ in M such that $||x - a_k|| \le d + \frac{1}{k}$. By Parallelogram Law, we get

 $2||x - a_j||^2 + 2||x - a_k||^2 = 4||x - \frac{1}{2}(a_j + a_k)||^2 + ||a_j - a_k||^2.$

Since M is convex, we have $\frac{1}{2}(a_j + a_k) \in M$ and hence $||x - \frac{1}{2}(a_j + a_k)|| \ge d$. Consequently we obtain

i.e.

Therefore $\{a_k\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in a complete set M. Let $y = \lim a_k \in M$. Then we have $d \leq \lim ||x - a_k|| \leq \lim (d + \frac{1}{k}) = d$, i.e. $||x - y|| = \lim ||x - a_k|| = d$. Finally suppose $a, b \in M$ satisfy ||x - a|| = d = ||x - b||. Then by Parallelogram Law again, we have

$$4d^{2} = 2||x - a||^{2} + 2||x - b||^{2} = 4||x - \frac{1}{2}(a + b)||^{2} + ||a - b||^{2} \ge 4d^{2} + ||a - b||^{2},$$

i.e. $||a - b||^{2} = 0$, or $a = b$.

5-2.7. <u>**Retraction Theorem**</u> Every non-empty closed convex subset M of a finite dimensional normed space E is a retract of E.

<u>Proof</u>. Firstly, consider the special case when $E = \mathbb{R}_2^n$. For every $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let f(x) be the unique point in M such that ||x - f(x)|| = d(x, M). Clearly f(x) = x for all $x \in M$. To prove that $f : \mathbb{R}_2^n \to M$ is continuous, take any $x, y \in \mathbb{R}_2^n$. Observe the following simple calculation:

$$\begin{split} \|x - y\|^2 - \|f(x) - f(y)\|^2 & \#1 \\ &= \langle (x - y) - [f(x) - f(y)], (x - y) + [f(x) - f(y)] \rangle \\ &= \langle [x - f(x)] - [y - f(y)], [x - f(x)] - [y - f(y)] + 2f(x) - 2f(y) \rangle \\ &= \|x - f(x) - y + f(y)\|^2 \\ &+ 2 \langle x - f(x), f(x) - f(y) \rangle - 2 \langle y - f(y), f(x) - f(y) \rangle. & \#2 \end{split}$$

Choose any 0 < t < 1. Since M is convex, we have $(1-t)f(x) + tf(y) \in M$. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|x - f(x)\|^2 &= d(x, M)^2 \le \|x - [(1 - t)f(x) + tf(y)]\|^2 \\ &= \|x - f(x) + t[f(x) - f(y)]\|^2 \\ &= \|x - f(x)\|^2 + 2t < x - f(x), f(x) - f(y) > +t^2 \|f(x) - f(y)\|^2. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, $2 < x - f(x), f(x) - f(y) > +t \|f(x) - f(y)\|^2 \ge 0, \forall t \in (0, 1)$

Interchanging x, y, we obtain

erchanging
$$x, y$$
, we obtain

$$< y-f(y), f(y)-f(x)> \ \ge 0.$$

(x - f(x), f(x) - f(y)) > 0.

Therefore the terms of #2 are positive. Now #1 gives $||x - y|| \ge ||f(x) - f(y)||$. Consequently the map f is uniformly continuous on \mathbb{R}_2^n . Finally consider an arbitrary finite dimensional normed space E. Let $g: E \to \mathbb{R}_2^n$ be an algebraic isomorphism. Since g is also a topological isomorphism, g(M) is a closed convex subset of \mathbb{R}_2^n . Let $f: \mathbb{R}_2^n \to g(M)$ be a retraction. Then it is simple to verify that $g^{-1}fg: E \to M$ is a retraction.

5-2.8. **Theorem** Every continuous map f from a compact convex subset X of a finite dimensional normed space E into itself has at least one fixed point. <u>Proof</u>. Firstly consider the special case when $E = \mathbb{R}_2^n$. Since X is bounded, there is $\lambda > ||x||$ for all $x \in X$. Because the map $h: E \to E$ given by $h(x) = x/\lambda$ is a topological isomorphism, M = h(X) is a closed convex subset of the unit ball B_n of \mathbb{R}_2^n . There is a continuous map $g: B_n \to M$ such that g(x) = x for every $x \in M$. Now the continuous map $hfh^{-1}g: B_n \to B_n$ has a fixed point $z = hfh^{-1}g(z)$ in B_n . Since $z \in h(X) = M$, we have g(z) = z, i.e. $z = hfh^{-1}(z)$,

i.e.

or $h^{-1}(z) = \lambda z$ is a fixed point of f. For general case, let $\varphi : E \to \mathbb{R}_2^n$ be a topological isomorphism. Then the continuous map $\varphi f \varphi^{-1}$ on the compact convex subset $\varphi(X)$ of \mathbb{R}_2^n has a fixed point $a \in \varphi(X)$. Clearly, $x = \varphi^{-1}(a)$ is a fixed point of f on X.

5-2.9. **Example** The map f(z) = -z from the closed unit circle of the complex plane onto itself is continuous but has no fixed point. Hence convexity is essential.

5-2.10. <u>Normal Vector Theorem</u> Let f be a continuous map from the closed unit ball B of a finite dimensional normed space E into E. If $f(x) \neq 0$ on B, then there exist $a, b \in S$ such that f(a) is an outward normal and f(b) is an inward normal.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\lambda = \pm 1$ be a constant. Define $f : B \to S$ by $g(x) = \frac{\lambda f(x)}{\|f(x)\|}$. Then the continuous map f on the compact convex set B has a fixed point, i.e. g(a) = a for some $a \in B$. Since $\|g(a)\| = 1$, $a \in S$. Therefore $f(a) = \lambda \|f(a)\|a$ is an outward normal if $\lambda = 1$ and an inward normal if $\lambda = -1$.

5-3 Fixed Points of Compact Maps

5-3.1. Our general approach is to reduce an infinite dimensional problem to finite dimensional case through compactness and then reduce a finite dimensional problem into discrete case solved by combinatorial method. The later one has been done and now we start to look at infinite dimensional normed spaces. The main result of this section is a fixed point theorem §5-3.5.

5-3.2. Let E be a normed space. A map F from a metric space X into E is called a *compact map* if it is continuous and its range F(X) is relatively compact in E. The map F is said to be *finite dimensional* if F(X) is contained in some finite dimensional vector subspace of E.

5-3.3. <u>Finite Dimensional Approximation Theorem</u> If $F : X \to E$ is a compact map, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a compact map G from X into the convex hull of a finite subset of F(X) such that for each $x \in X$ we have $||F(x) - G(x)|| \le \varepsilon$. In particular, G is a finite dimensional compact map.

<u>Proof</u>. Since the closure Q of F(X) is compact, there are $y_1, y_2, \dots, y_k \in F(X)$ such that $Q \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^k \mathbb{B}(y_i, \varepsilon)$. Let $\{\alpha_i : 1 \leq i \leq k\}$ be a partition of unity on Q subordinated to $\{\mathbb{B}(y_i, \varepsilon)\}$. Let $G : X \to E$ be given by $G(x) = \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i(x)y_i$.

Then G(X) is contained in $co\{y_1, y_2, \dots, y_k\}$ which is compact. Since each $\alpha_i : X \to [0, 1]$ is continuous, G is continuous. Therefore G is a compact map. Finally for any $x \in X$, if $||F(x) - y_i|| > \varepsilon$, then $\mu_i(x) = 0$ and so $\mu_i(x)||F(x) - y_i|| \le \mu_i(x)\varepsilon$ which is also true for $||F(x) - y_i|| \le \varepsilon$. Consequently,

$$\|F(x) - G(x)\| = \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{k} \alpha_i(x)F(x) - \sum_{i=1}^{k} \alpha_i(x)y_i\right\|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} \alpha_i(x)\|F(x) - y_i\| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} \alpha_i(x)\varepsilon = \varepsilon.$$

5-3.4. <u>Exercise</u> Formalize a statement from last theorem when F is the identity map on a compact subset X of E.

5-3.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let X be a non-empty convex subset of E. Then every continuous map F on X into a compact subset of X has a fixed point.

<u>Proof</u>. For every integer $n \ge 1$, there is a compact map G from X into the convex hull K of a finite subset of F(X) such that $||F(x) - G(x)|| \le \frac{1}{n}$ for each $x \in X$. Since K is a finite dimensional compact convex set, the continuous map G has a fixed point $x_n \in K$. Hence $||F(x_n) - x_n|| = ||F(x_n) - G(x_n)|| \le \frac{1}{n}$. Let Q be a compact subset of X containing F(X). Then the sequence $F(x_n)$ in Q has a convergent subsequence, say $F(y_n) \to a \in Q$. Then

$$||a - y_n|| \le ||a - F(y_n)|| + ||F(y_n) - y_n|| \to 0,$$

i.e. $y_n \to a \in X$. By continuity of F, we have $F(y_n) \to F(a)$. Therefore F(a) = a.

5-3.6. <u>Exercise</u> Let X be the closed unit ball of ℓ_1 . For every point $x = (x_1, x_2, \cdots)$ in X, define $f(x) = \left(\frac{1 - ||x||}{2}, x_1, x_2, \cdots\right)$. Show that the function $f: X \to X$ is continuous but has no fixed point.

5-4 Compact Fields and their Homotopies

5-4.1. Consider the xy-plane. An equation f(x) = 0 works with the x-axis and F(x) = x with the diagonal y = x. Most of the graphical presentations use x-axis as reference by sketching the curves of the form y = f(x). On the other hand, if the velocity of certain flux at location x in an infinite dimensional space E is denoted by -F(x), then a vector field can be represented by a localized arrow starting from x ended at f(x) = x - F(x). Mathematically, in order to get sensible results as shown in subsequent sections, all F(x) must be reasonably small, i.e. belong to certain compact set. In physics, the velocity -F(x) of any particle is not supposed to be faster than the speed of light. Perhaps, this may be only a coincidence between mathematics and physics. Note that the choice of negative sign is merely for mathematical convenience to get the symmetry between f and F. Homotopies allow us to reduce a complicate map F at time t = 0 to a relatively simple one G at time t = 1. Hopefully we can get some information about F from G, e.g. the existence of solutions.

5-4.2. Let F be a compact map from a subset X of a normed space E into E. Clearly $x \in X$ is a fixed point of F iff x - F(x) = 0. The map $f: X \to E$ defined by f(x) = x - F(x) on X is called the *compact field* of F. We also write f = I - F where I is the identity map on E. For convenience, $x \in X$ is called a *singular point* of f if f(x) = 0. Similarly, let J denotes the closed unit interval [0, 1]. A compact map $H: X \times J \to E$ is also called a *compact* homotopy from H_0 to H_1 where $H_t(x) = H(x,t)$ for all $(x,t) \in X \times J$. The map h(x,t) = x - H(x,t) on $X \times J$ is called the *field homotopy* of H. We also write h = I - H. An element $x \in X$ is called a *fixed point* of H or a *singular point* of h if H(x,t) = x or h(x,t) = 0 for some $t \in J$. For convenience, the following convention will be used whenever nothing is mentioned explicitly. If a letter in upper case denotes a compact map on X or $X \times J$, then its associated compact field or the field homotopy will be denoted by the same letter but in lower case respectively. The same convention in reserved order will be used from compact fields or field homotopy to their associated compact maps.

5-4.3. We shall study a pair of closed subsets $N \subset X$ of a normed space E. The set of all compact maps on X which have no fixed point in N is denoted by C(X, N). Two compact maps F, G on X are said to be homotopic in C(X, N) if there is a compact map $H : X \times J \to E$ such that $H_0 = F$, $H_1 = G$ and $H(x,t) \neq x$ for all $(x,t) \in N \times J$, i.e. H is a compact homotopy on X without any fixed point in N. In symbols, write $F \simeq G$ in C(X, N). For all compact maps $F, G : X \to E$, the affine homotopy from F to G is defined as the map $H : X \times J \to E$ given by H(x,t) = (1-t)F(x) + tG(x). For convenience, two compact fields f, g are said to be homotopic in C(X, N) if $F \simeq G$ in C(X, N) where F, G are compact maps of f, g respectively.

5-4.4. **Theorem** If f is a compact field on X, then f(N) is closed in E.

<u>Proof</u>. Let a be a closure point of f(N). There are $x_n \in N$ such that $y_n = f(x_n) \to a$ as $n \to \infty$. Since $F(x_n)$ is a sequence in the relatively compact set F(X), there are integers $n(1) < n(2) < n(3) < \cdots$ such that

 $F(x_{n(j)}) \to b \in E$ as $j \to \infty$. Since $y_n = f(x_n) = x_n - F(x_n)$, we have $x_{n(j)} = y_{n(j)} + F(x_{n(j)}) \to a + b$. Because N is closed, $a + b \in N$. Now $y_{n(j)} = f(x_{n(j)}) \to f(a+b)$ by continuity. As subsequence, we also have $y_{n(j)} \to a$. Hence $a = f(a+b) \in f(N)$. Therefore f(N) is closed in E.

5-4.5. <u>**Theorem</u>** If $h: X \times J \to E$ be a field homotopy then the set $h(N \times J)$ is closed in E.</u>

Proof. It is an exercise to modify the proof of last theorem. \Box

5-4.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let δ denote the distance from the origin to f(N). If a compact map G on X satisfying $||F(x) - G(x)|| < \delta$ for every $x \in N$, then the affine homotopy H from F to G is a compact map without fixed point in N. In particular, G has no fixed point in N.

<u>Proof</u>. Since f(N) is a closed set which does not contain the origin, we have $\delta > 0$. Let G be a compact map satisfying the given condition. If for some $x \in N$ and $t \in J$ we have H(x,t) = (1-t)F(x) + tG(x) = x, then $f(x) = t\{G(x) - F(x)\}$ and a contradiction is obtained as follow:

 $\delta = d[0, f(N)] \le \|f(x)\| = t\|G(x) - F(x)\| \le \|G(x) - F(x)\| < \delta.$

Therefore $H(x,t) \neq x, \forall (x,t) \in N \times J$. Next, to show that H is a compact map, suppose that the closures of F(X), G(X) are denoted by A, B respectively. Define $\lambda(a, b, t) = (1-t)a+tb$, for all $(a, b, t) \in A \times B \times J$. Then λ is continuous on the compact set $A \times B \times J$. Now $H : X \times J \to E$ is continuous and $H(X \times J)$ is a subset of the compact set $\lambda(A \times B \times J)$. Therefore H is a compact map.

5-4.7. **Exercise** Prove that if $F \simeq G$ and $G \simeq H$ in C(X, N) then $F \simeq F$, $G \simeq F$ and $F \simeq H$ in C(X, N). Therefore the relation of being homotopic is an equivalent relation.

5-4.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the set of all fixed points of a compact map or a compact homotopy on a closed set is compact.

5-4.9. **Theorem** Every compact map in C(X, N) can be uniformly approximated by finite dimensional compact maps in C(X, N) and consequently it is also homotopic to some finite dimensional compact maps in C(X, N).

Proof. Modify the formal statement and proof of the following theorem. \Box

5-4.10. **Theorem** Let F be a compact homotopy on X without fixed point in N. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a finite dimensional compact homotopy G on X such that

is

(a) $||F(x,t) - G(x,t)|| \le \varepsilon$ for all $(x,t) \in X \times J$; (b) $(1 - \lambda)F(x,t) + \lambda G(x,t) \ne x, \forall (x,t,\lambda) \in N \times J \times J$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let f = I - F denote the field homotopy of F. Since the origin does not belong to the closed set $f(N \times J)$, we may assume $0 < \varepsilon < d[0, f(N \times J)]$. There is a finite dimensional compact map $G: X \times J \to E$ such that

$$\|F(x,t)-G(x,t)\| \leq \varepsilon, \quad \forall \ (x,t) \in X \times J.$$

Then G is a compact homotopy on X satisfying condition (a). Next, suppose to the contrary that $(1 - \lambda)F(x, t) + \lambda G(x, t) = x$ for some $(x, t, \lambda) \in N \times J \times J$. Then we have $f(x, t) = \lambda \{G(x, t) - F(x, t)\}$ and so

$$0 < \varepsilon < d[0, f(N \times J)] \le ||f(x,t)|| = \lambda ||G(x,t) - F(x,t)|| \le \lambda \varepsilon \le \varepsilon$$

a contradiction. Therefore (b) also holds.

5-4.11. **Theorem** Let F_0, F_1 be two finite dimensional compact maps on X. If F_0, F_1 are homotopic without fixed point in N, then they are homotopic under some finite dimensional homotopy without fixed point in N.

<u>Proof.</u> Let F be a compact homotopy for $F_0 \simeq F_1$ in C(X, N). There is a finite dimensional compact homotopy G without fixed point in N such that

 $(1 - \lambda)F(x, t) + \lambda G(x, t) \neq x, \forall \ (x, t, \lambda) \in N \times J \times J.$

For $\lambda = 1$, G is a finite dimensional homotopy, i.e. $G_0 \simeq G_1$ under a finite dimensional homotopy. Next, for t = 0, $F_0 \simeq G_0$ in C(X, N) under the affine homotopy which is finite dimensional since both F_0, G_0 are. Finally for t = 1, $F_1 \simeq G_1$ under a finite dimensional affine homotopy. Therefore $F_0 \simeq F_1$ in C(X, N) under the finite dimensional homotopy obtained by combining the above ones.

5-5 Extension Property

5-5.1. To make it more acceptable to wider audiences, only elementary tools such as M-test and Tietze's Extension Theorem are used to develop a version of Homotopy Extension Theorem. It is powerful enough to define the concept of singular compact fields which will be used to extend certain finite dimensional results to infinite dimensional spaces. Intuitively, if a compact field f is singular then the equation f(x) = 0 has at least one solution. However if a compact field g is non-singular, the equation g(x) = 0 may or may not have a solution.

5-5.2. <u>M-Test</u> Let $\{f_n : n \ge 1\}$ be a sequence of continuous functions on a metric space X. Suppose $|f_n(x)| \le M_n, \forall x \in X$. If the series

 $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n$ of positive numbers converges then the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n$ of functions converges uniformly to some continuous function g on X. Furthermore we have $|g(x)| \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n$, for all $x \in X$.

<u>Proof</u>. Define $g_m = \sum_{n=1}^m f_n$. Since $|g_m(x)| \leq \sum_{n=1}^m |f_n(x)| \leq \sum_{n=1}^\infty M_n < \infty$, each g_m is a bounded continuous function on X. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is k such that for every $n \geq k$ we have $\sum_{j=1}^p M_{n+j} \leq \varepsilon$, independent of p. Now for each x in X and each $n \geq k$ we have

$$|g_{n+p}(x)-g_n(x)|\leq \sum_{j=1}^p |f_{n+j}(x)|\leq \sum_{j=1}^p M_{n+j}\leq \varepsilon.$$

Therefore $\{g_n\}$ is a sequence which is uniformly Cauchy in $BC_{\infty}(X)$. It converges uniformly to a continuous function g. Letting $p \to \infty$ in last inequality, we have $|g(x) - g_n(x)| \le \varepsilon$. Hence $g_n \to g$ uniformly, or $g = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n$ uniformly on X. The proof is completed by letting $m \to \infty$ in the following inequality: $|g_m(x)| \le \sum_{j=1}^{m} |f_j(x)| \le \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} M_j$. \Box

5-5.3. Lemma Let N be a closed subset of a metric space X. If u is a continuous function from N into [-r, r] then there is a continuous function v from X into $[-\frac{1}{3}r, \frac{1}{3}r]$ such that for all x in N we have $|u(x) - v(x)| \leq \frac{2}{3}r$.

Proof. Let $A = \{x \in N : u(x) \leq -\frac{2}{3}r\}$ and $B = \{x \in N : u(x) \geq \frac{2}{3}r\}$. Now A, B are disjoint closed subsets of X since N is closed in X. There is a continuous function $w : X \to [0,1]$ such that w(A) = 0 and w(B) = 1. Next define $\varphi(t) = (2t-1)\frac{r}{3}, \forall t \in [-1,1]$. Then $\varphi : [-1,1] \to [-\frac{r}{3}, \frac{r}{3}]$ is a continuous function. Now the composite $v = \varphi w$ is a continuous function from X into $[-\frac{r}{3}, \frac{r}{3}]$ such that $v(A) = -\frac{r}{3}$ and $v(B) = \frac{r}{3}$. For $x \in A$, we have $-r \leq u(x) \leq -\frac{2}{3}r$ and $v(x) = -\frac{1}{3}r$. Hence $|u(x) - v(x)| \leq \frac{2r}{3}$. Similarly the same inequality holds for $x \in B$. Finally, for $x \in N \setminus (A \cup B)$, we obtain $|u(x) - v(x)| \leq |u(x)| + |v(x)| \leq \frac{r}{3} + \frac{r}{3} \leq \frac{2r}{3}$. Therefore for every x in N we have $|u(x) - v(x)| \leq \frac{2r}{3}$.

5-5.4. <u>Tietze's Extension Theorem</u> Let N be a closed subset of a metric space X. Then every continuous function $F: N \to [-1, 1]$ has a continuous extension over the whole space X into [-1, 1].

<u>Proof</u>. There is a continuous function v_1 on X such that $|v_1(x)| \leq \frac{1}{3}, \forall x \in X$ and $|F(a) - v_1(a)| \leq \frac{2}{3}, \forall a \in N$. Define $G_1 = v_1$. Inductively suppose v_n, G_n are continuous functions on X satisfying

$$|v_n(x)| \leq \left(rac{1}{3}
ight) \left(rac{2}{3}
ight)^{n-1}, orall \; x \in X; \qquad |F(a)-G_n(a)| \leq \left(rac{2}{3}
ight)^n, orall \; a \in N$$

and $G_n = G_{n-1} + v_n$. For $u = F - G_n$ in last lemma, there is a continuous function v_{n+1} on X such that

$$\begin{aligned} |v_{n+1}(x)| &\leq \left(\frac{1}{3}\right) \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^n, \forall x \in X \\ |\{F(a) - G_n(a)\} - v_{n+1}(a)| &\leq \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{n+1}, \forall a \in N \end{aligned}$$

and

Define $G_{n+1} = G_n + v_{n+1}$. Then G_{n+1} is a continuous function on X satisfying

$$|F(a) - G_{n+1}(a)| \le \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{n+1}, \forall a \in N.$$

Since $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{3})(\frac{2}{3})^{n-1}$ is convergent, the sequence $G_n = \sum_{j=1}^n v_j$ converges uniformly to some continuous function G on X by M-test. Furthermore

$$|G(x)| \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{3}\right) \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{n-1} = 1, \forall x \in X.$$

Finally letting $n \to \infty$ in $|F(a) - G_n(a)| \le (\frac{2}{3})^n$ we have $F(a) = G(a), \forall a \in N$. Therefore $G: X \to [-1, 1]$ is a continuous extension of F. \Box

5-5.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let N be a closed subset of a metric space X. Then every compact map F from N into a finite dimensional normed space E can be extended to a compact map on the whole space X into the closed convex hull K of F(N).

<u>Proof</u>. Let $G: E \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a topological isomorphism. Since F is a compact map, the set K is compact and hence G(K) is bounded in \mathbb{R}^n . Replacing Gby λG for small $\lambda > 0$, we may assume that $G(K) \subset [-1,1]^n$. By Tietze's Extension Theorem, every coordinate function of the composite $GF: N \to \mathbb{R}^n$ can be extended to a continuous function from X into $[-1,1]^n$, i.e. GF has an extension $H: X \to [-1,1]^n$. Let $\varphi: E \to K$ be a retraction. Then the composite map $\varphi G^{-1}H$ is a required extension of F.

5-5.6. <u>Homotopy Extension Theorem</u> Let $N \subset X$ be closed subsets of a normed space E. Suppose that $F, G : N \to E$ are finite dimensional compact maps which are homotopic without fixed point in N. If F can be extended to a finite dimensional compact map F^* on X without fixed point in X, then G can also be extended in the same way.

<u>Proof</u>. Let H be a finite dimensional homotopy for $F \simeq G$ without fixed point in N. Let E_1 be a finite dimensional vector subspace containing $H(N \times J)$. Define a map K on $T = (N \times J) \cup (X \times \{0\})$ into E by $K|(N \times J) = H$ and $K|(X \times \{0\}) = F^*$. Because $H(x, 0) = F(x) = F^*(x)$, the map $K : T \to E_1$ is well-defined. In view of $K(T) = H(N \times J) \cup F^*(X \times \{0\})$, the map K is compact. Since $N \times J$ and $X \times \{0\}$ are closed in $X \times J$, the set T is also closed in $X \times J$. So the compact map $K: T \to E_1$ can be extended to a compact map on $X \times J$ which is denoted by the same letter K for convenience. We claim that the set $M = \{x \in X : \exists t \in J, x = K(x, t)\}$ is closed in X. In fact, take any closure point x of M. There are $x_n \in X$ and $t_n \in J$ such that $x_n = K(x_n, t_n) \to x$ as $n \to \infty$. Since J is compact, replacing by subsequence we may assume that t_n converges to some $t \in J$. By continuity, we have $K(x_n, t_n) \to K(x, t)$. Hence x = K(x, t), i.e. $x \in M$. Therefore M is closed in $X \times J$. Since H is a homotopy without fixed point in N, we have $x \neq H(x,t)$ for all $(x,t) \in N \times J$. By definition, M and N are disjoint closed subsets of X. So there is a continuous function $\lambda : X \to [0,1]$ such that $\lambda(M) = 0$ and $\lambda(N) = 1$. Define $H^*(x,t) = K(x,\lambda(x)t)$ for all $(x,t) \in X \times J$. Since K is a compact map, so is H^* . Hence H^* defines a compact homotopy on X. We assert that H^* has no fixed point. Suppose to the contrary that for some $(x,t) \in X \times J$, we have $H^*(x,t) = x$, i.e. $K(x,\lambda(x)t) = x$. From $x \in M$, we obtain $\lambda(x) = 0$. It follows that $K(x, \lambda(x)t) = K(x, 0) = F^*(x)$, i.e. $F^*(x) = x$ which is a contradiction. Therefore H^* is a homotopy on X without fixed point. Define $G^*(x) = H^*(x, 1)$ for all $x \in X$. Clearly, G^* is a compact map on X without fixed point. Now for all $x \in N$, since $\lambda(x) = 1$ we have $G(x) = H(x, 1) = K(x, \lambda(x)1) = H^*(x, 1)$, i.e. $G(x) = H^*(x, 1) = G^*(x)$. Hence G^* is an extension of G.

5-5.7. Let $N \subset X$ be closed subsets of a normed space E. A compact map F on X is said to be *non-singular* in C(X, N) if $F \simeq G$ in C(X, N) for some finite dimensional compact map G in C(X, X), i.e. G has no fixed point in X. By definition, being non-singular is homotopy invariant. More precisely, if $F_0 \simeq F_1$ in C(X, N) and if F_0 is non-singular then so is F_1 . A compact map on X is said to be singular if it is not non-singular. For convenience, a compact field on X is singular in C(X, N) if its compact map is singular in C(X, N).

5-5.8. **Theorem** Every singular compact map F in C(X, N) has a fixed point in X.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that F belongs to C(X, X). Then there is a finite dimensional compact map G such that $F \simeq G$ in C(X, X). Then $F \simeq G$ in C(X, N) and G has no fixed point in X. Therefore F is non-singular. \Box

5-5.9. **Corollary** If F is a compact map in C(X, X), then it is non-singular.

5-5.10. **Theorem** If a finite dimensional compact map F in C(X, N) is

non-singular, then F|N can be extended to a finite dimensional compact map in C(X, X).

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose $F \simeq G$ in C(X, N) for some finite dimensional compact map G in C(X, X). Since both F, G are finite dimensional, there is a finite dimensional compact homotopy H in C(X, N) such that $H_0 = F$ and $H_1 = G$. Let E_1 be a finite dimensional vector subspace of E containing $H(X \times J)$. Restricting our attention to E_1 , we have $F|(X \cap E_1) \simeq G|(X \cap E_1)$ in $C(X \cap E_1, N \cap E_1)$ and $G|(X \cap E_1)$ is an extension of $G|(N \cap E_1)$ without any fixed point in $X \cap E_1$. Homotopy Extension Theorem ensures that $F|(N \cap E_1)$ can be extended to a compact map $A : X \cap E_1 \to E_1$. Let $T = N \cup (X \cap E_1)$. Define a map $B : T \to E_1$ by B|N = F and $B|(X \cap E_1) = A$. Then B is a compact map from the closed subset T of X into the finite dimensional vector space E_1 and hence it can be extended to some compact map $F^* : X \to E_1$. If $F^*(x) = x$ for some $x \in X$, then $x \in X \cap E_1$, or x = A(x) which is a contradiction. Thus F^* has no fixed point in X. Therefore, F^* is a required extension of F|N.

5-6 Properties of Compact Fields in Normed Spaces

5-6.1. Since every continuous map on the closed unit ball of a finite dimensional normed space is a compact map and also a compact field, this section generalize certain corresponding results from finite to infinite dimensional spaces. Thus geometrical intuition is used as motivation. Applications to nonlinear integral equations are beyond our scope.

5-6.2. Lemma Let A be an open subset of a normed space E and let \overline{A} , ∂A denote the closure and boundary of A respectively. Let F(x) = a for all $x \in \overline{A}$ where $a \notin \partial A$. If F is a non-singular compact map in $C(\overline{A}, \partial A)$, then we have $a \notin A$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since the finite dimensional compact map F is non-singular in $\overline{C(\overline{A}, \partial A)}$, the restriction $F|\partial A$ can be extended to a compact map G in $C(\overline{A}, \overline{A})$. Define

$$G^*(x) = egin{cases} G(x), & ext{if } x \in \overline{A}; \ a, & ext{if } x \in E \setminus A \end{cases}$$

Now the compact map $G^* : E \to E$ has a fixed point $b = G^*(b)$. Since $G^* | \overline{A} = G$ has no fixed point, we have $b \in E \setminus A$, i.e. $a = G^*(b) = b \notin A$.

5-6.3. <u>Outward Normal Theorem</u> Let A be an open set containing the origin of E. If $F: \overline{A} \to E$ is a compact map such that for every $x \in \partial A$ and for every

 $\lambda > 1$ we have $F(x) \neq \lambda x$, then F has a fixed point in \overline{A} .

Proof. Define H(x,t) = tF(x) for all $(x,t) \in \overline{A} \times J$. Clearly H is a compact map on $\overline{A} \times J$. Assume $H(x,1) \neq x$ for all $x \in \partial A$ otherwise F has a fixed point at ∂A . Take any $x \in \partial A$. If 0 < t < 1, then $F(x) \neq \lambda x$ where $\lambda = \frac{1}{t}$, i.e. $H(x,t) = tF(x) \neq x$. If t = 0, then $H(x,t) = 0 \neq x$ because $0 \notin \partial A$. Thus H is a compact homotopy in $C(\overline{A}, \partial A)$. Now H_0 is singular and so is H_1 . Therefore, $F = H_1$ has a fixed point.

5-6.4. <u>Inward Normal Theorem</u> Let A be an open set containing the origin of E and let f be a compact field on \overline{A} . If $f(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in \overline{A}$, then there is $x \in \partial A$ and t > 0 such that -tx = f(x).

<u>Proof</u>. Let F = I - f be the compact map associated with f. Then F has no fixed point in \overline{A} . So there exist $x \in \partial A$ and $\lambda > 1$ such that $F(x) = \lambda x$, i.e. f(x) = -tx where $t = \lambda - 1$.

5-6.5. We shall study the closed unit ball B and its sphere S in a normed space E. The following exercise follows immediately from the Outward Normal Theorem.

5-6.6. <u>Exercise</u> Let F be a compact map from B into E. If for each $x \in S$, there is $\lambda > 0$ such that $(1 - \lambda)x + \lambda F(x) \in B$, then F has a fixed point.

5-6.7. **Lemma** If $F: B \to E$ is an antipodal compact map, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a finite dimensional antipodal compact map $G: B \to E$ such that $||F(x) - G(x)|| \le \varepsilon$ for every $x \in B$.

<u>Proof</u>. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a finite dimensional compact map $F^* : B \to E$ such that for all $x \in B$ we have $||F(x) - F^*(x)|| \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. For each $x \in S$, define $H^*(x) = F^*(x) + F^*(-x)$. Then $||H^*(x)|| \le ||F^*(x)|| + ||F^*(-x)|| \le \varepsilon$. Let E_1 be a finite dimensional vector subspace containing $F^*(B)$. Since H^* is a continuous map from S into the finite dimensional compact convex set $E_1 \cap \overline{\mathbb{B}}(0, \varepsilon)$, it has a continuous extension $H : B \to E_1 \cap \overline{\mathbb{B}}(0, \varepsilon)$. Now the map $G : B \to E_1$ given by $G(x) = F^*(x) - \frac{1}{2}H(x)$ is a finite dimensional compact map. For $x \in S$, we get

$$G(x) + G(-x) = F^*(x) - \frac{1}{2}H(x) + F^*(-x) - \frac{1}{2}H(-x)$$

= $F^*(x) - \frac{1}{2}[F^*(x) + F^*(-x)] + F^*(-x) - \frac{1}{2}[F^*(-x) + F^*(x)] = 0.$

Hence G is an antipodal compact map on B. Finally for every $x \in B$, we have

$$||F(x) - G(x)|| = ||F(x) - F^*(x)|| + ||F^*(x) - G(x)||$$

$$= \|F(x) - F^*(x)\| + \frac{1}{2} \|H(x)\| \le \varepsilon.$$

5-6.8. **Theorem** Every antipodal compact map F on B is singular in C(B, S) and hence has a fixed point.

<u>Proof</u>. Let f = I - F be its associated compact field and δ the distance from the origin to f(S). There is a finite dimensional antipodal compact map G such that $||F(x) - G(x)|| < \delta$ for all $x \in B$. Then $F \simeq G$ in C(B, S). Suppose to the contrary that F is non-singular. Then G is also non-singular. Hence G|Scan be extended to a finite dimensional compact map H in C(B, B). Define h(x) = x - H(x) for all $x \in B$. Then $h(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in B$. Let E_1 be a finite dimensional vector subspace of E containing H(B). Applying the finite dimensional intermediate value theorem to the antipodal map $h|(B \cap E_1)$, there is some $x \in B$ such that h(x) = 0. This contradiction establishes the proof. \Box

5-6.9. Intermediate Value Theorem If f is an antipodal compact field on B, then we have f(x) = 0 for some $x \in B$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. The compact map F = I - f is antipodal and hence has a fixed point \overline{x} which is also a solution to the equation f(x) = 0.

5-6.10. **Parallel Vector Theorem** Let f be a compact field on B. If $f(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in B$, then there is some $x \in S$ and $\lambda > 0$ such that $f(x) = \lambda f(-x)$.

<u>Proof</u>. For every $(x,t) \in B \times J$; define $H(x,t) = \frac{1}{1+t}[F(x) - tF(-x)]$ and $\overline{G(x)} = H(x,1)$. It is easy to verify that H is a compact homotopy on B. Suppose that for all $x \in S$ and $\lambda > 0$ we have $f(x) \neq \lambda f(-x)$. Then H has no fixed point in S and hence is a homotopy for $F \simeq G$ in C(B,S). Because the antipodal compact map G is singular in C(B,S), so is F. Therefore f(x) = 0 for some $x \in B$. This contradiction establishes the proof.

5-6.11. **Exercise** Prove that the map H in last theorem is a compact map.

5-6.12. <u>Antipodal Theorem</u> Let f be a compact field on S. If f(S) is contained in some vector subspace $M \neq E$ then there is some $x \in S$ such that f(x) = f(-x).

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that for all $x \in S$, $f(x) - f(-x) \neq 0$. Define $g(x) = \frac{1}{2}[f(x) - f(-x)]$ for each $x \in S$. Then g is an antipodal compact field on S into M. Furthermore $g(x) \neq 0$ on S. Take any $b \in S \setminus M$ and define $L = \{\lambda b : \lambda > 0\}$. Since $g(S) \subset M$, we obtain $g(S) \cap L = \emptyset$. We claim that the distance from L to g(S) is strictly positive, i.e. d[L, g(S)] > 0. Assuming that

this is false, there are $x_n \in S$ and $\lambda_n > 0$ such that $||g(x_n) - \lambda_n b|| \le \frac{1}{n}$. Since G = I - g is a compact map, replacing by subsequence we may assume that $G(x_n) \to y \in E$. Thus

 $0 \leq \lambda_n \leq \|\lambda_n b\| \leq \|x_n\| + \|G(x_n)\| + \frac{1}{n} \leq \alpha < \infty$

where α is some real constant. Hence $\{\lambda_n\}$ is a bounded sequence. Replacing by subsequence, we may assume that $\lambda_n \to \lambda$. By $||x_n - G(x_n) - \lambda_n b|| \leq \frac{1}{n}$, we obtain $x_n \to y + \lambda b \in S$. Therefore $g(y + \lambda b) = \lambda b$. Since $0 \notin g(S)$, we have $\lambda > 0$. Consequently $\lambda b \in g(S) \cap L$ offers a contradiction. Now let $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2} \min\{d[L, g(S)], d[0, g(S)]\}$. Choose a finite dimensional compact map H^* on S such that $||G(x) - H^*(x)|| \leq \varepsilon$. Then $H(x) = \frac{1}{2}\{H^*(x) - H^*(-x)\}$ defines a finite dimensional compact map on S. Since G is antipodal, we have

$$||G(x) - H(x)|| \le \frac{1}{2} ||G(x) - H^*(x)|| + \frac{1}{2} ||G(-x) - H^*(-x)|| \le 2\varepsilon < d[0, g(S)].$$

Therefore *H* has no fixed point on *S*, i.e. $h(a) \neq 0$ for all $a \in S$ where h = I - H. Since $||h(x) - \lambda b|| \ge ||g(x) - \lambda b|| - ||h(x) - g(x)|| \ge d[L, g(S)] - 2\varepsilon > 0$, we have $h(S) \cap L = \emptyset$. Let E_1 be a finite dimensional vector subspace of *E* containing H(S) and the point *b*. By finite dimensional antipodal theorem, there is $a \in S$ such that h(a) = h(-a). Since *h* is antipodal, we have h(a) = 0 which is a contradiction.

5-6.13. <u>Theorem on Invariance of Domain</u> Let Y be an open subset of E. If $g: Y \to E$ is a locally injective compact field, then g(Y) is open in E.

<u>Proof.</u> Take any $a \in Y$. There is r > 0 such that g is injective on $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, r) \subset Y$. Define $f: B \to E$ by $f(x) = \frac{1}{r}[g(a+rx) - g(a)] = x - \frac{1}{r}[G(a+rx) - G(a)]$. Then f is an injective compact field on B. In particular, 0 = f(0) does not belong to the closed set f(S). The distance δ from 0 to f(S) is strictly positive, i.e. $\delta > 0$. Take any $||v|| < \delta$ in E. Then $f \simeq f - v$ in C(B, S). Let $h: B \times J \to E$ be defined by $h(x,t) = f\left(\frac{x}{1+t}\right) - f\left(\frac{-tx}{1+t}\right)$. Clearly h is a field homotopy on B. Suppose that h(x,t) = 0 for some $(x,t) \in S \times J$. Then $f\left(\frac{x}{1+t}\right) = f\left(\frac{-tx}{1+t}\right)$, or $g\left(a + \frac{rx}{1+t}\right) = g\left(a + \frac{-rtx}{1+t}\right)$. By injectivity, we have $a + \frac{rx}{1+t} = a + \frac{-rtx}{1+t}$, i.e. x = 0 giving a contradiction. Therefore h is a homotopy in C(B, S). Since h_1 is antipodal, it is singular and so is $h_0 = f$. Thus f - v is also singular. There is $x \in B$ such that f(x) - v = 0, i.e. g(a + rx) = g(a) + rv. Since v is arbitrary, we have $\mathbb{B}[g(a), r\delta] \subset g(Y)$. Consequently, g(Y) is open in E. □ 5-6.14. <u>Corollary</u> Every locally injective compact field f on the whole space E is surjective.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since E is open and closed in E, so is f(E). By connectedness of E, we have f(E) = E.

5-6.15. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the norm of a locally injective compact field on an open subset Y of E cannot have a local maximum.

5-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further Readings</u>: Borsuk, Granas-62,90, Fan-52,84, Lin, Ma-72, Steinlein, Jaworowski-89,00, Smart, Lloyd, Siegberg, Istratescu, Joshi, Borisovich-80, Gwinner, Aubin, Brown-93, Deimling-85, Mawhin, Caristi, Halpern, Browder, Kransnoselskii-84, Allgower, Alexander, Rybakowski and Bartsch.

Chapter 6

Foundation of Functional Analysis

6-1 Transfinite Induction

6-1.1. In order to show that every infinite dimensional normed space has sufficiently many continuous linear forms, elementary mathematical induction is unable to help. Zorn's Lemma seems to be quite easy to apply to situation involving transfinite induction and hence it gains the popularity. Since it touches the foundation of pure mathematics which is supposed to be built solely on set theory, its equivalence to other propositions, e.g. axiom of choice, is beyond our scope. We begin with introduction to glossary which will be needed to understand the statement of Zorn's Lemma. Then follow up with a simple application before we apply it to more involved extension problem in next section.

6-1.2. Let \mathbb{P} be a set. A binary relation \leq on \mathbb{P} is called a *partial order* on \mathbb{P} if for all $x, y, z \in \mathbb{P}$, we have

(a) $x \leq x$, reflexive

(b) $x \leq y$ and $y \leq x$ imply x = y, anti-symmetric

(c) $x \leq y$ and $y \leq z$ imply $x \leq z$, transitive.

A set together with a partial order is called a *partially ordered set*, or a *poset*. The symbol $x \leq y$ is also read as x dominated by y.

6-1.3. Let \mathbb{P} be a partially ordered set. A non-empty subset C of \mathbb{P} is called a *chain* if for all $x, y \in C$, we have either $x \leq y$ or $y \leq x$. An element $m \in \mathbb{P}$ is said to be *maximal* if $m \leq x$ in \mathbb{P} implies m = x. Similarly, *minimal* elements are defined. The notions of upper bounds, lower bounds, suprema, infima are defined in the same way as on the real line.

6-1.4. **Zorn's Lemma** Let \mathbb{P} be a non-empty partially ordered set. If every chain has an upper bound, then every element is dominated by some maximal element. In particular, \mathbb{P} has at least one maximal element.

6-1.5. Let E be a vector space. A subset M of E is said to be *linearly* independent if every finite subset of M is linearly independent, i.e. the equation $\alpha_1 x_1 + \alpha_2 x_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n x_n = 0$ where $\{x_j\}$ are distinct elements in M and $\{\alpha_j\}$ are unknown scalars, has only the trivial solution $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \cdots = \alpha_n = 0$. The empty set is defined as a linearly independent set. A vector $x \in E$ is called a *linear combination* of vectors in M if $x = \alpha_1 a_1 + \alpha_2 a_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n a_n$ for some $a_j \in M$ and some $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{K}$. The zero vector is defined as a linear combination of vectors in the empty set. A subset M is said to span E if every vector $x \in E$ is a linear combination of vectors in M. A subset M is called a *basis* or Hamel basis for E if it is linearly independent and spans E. These definitions agree with those in finite dimensional linear algebra. For a vector space consisting of one single zero vector, the empty set is its basis.

6-1.6. <u>Example</u> Every independent subset N of a vector space E can be extended to a basis. In particular, every vector space has a basis.

Proof. The family \mathbb{P} of all independent sets of E is non-empty since the empty set belongs to \mathbb{P} . Suppose that \mathbb{P} is ordered by inclusion, i.e. $A \leq B$ in \mathbb{P} iff $A \subset B$. It is easy to see that \mathbb{P} is a poset. Let \mathcal{C} be a chain in \mathbb{P} . Let M be the union of all sets in C. We claim that M is independent. In fact, consider the equation $\alpha_1 x_1 + \alpha_2 x_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n x_n = 0$ where $x_i \in M$ and $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{K}$. Then $x_i \in A_i$ for some $A_i \in \mathbb{C}$. Since \mathbb{C} is a chain, we have either $A_i \subset A_i$ or $A_j \subset A_i$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$. Hence there is some $1 \leq k \leq n$ such that $A_j \subset A_k$ for all j. Hence all $x_j \in A_k$. Since A_k is an independent set, the above equation has only the trivial solution $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \cdots = \alpha_n = 0$. Therefore M is linearly independent, that is $M \in \mathbb{P}$. Consequently, M is an upper bound of the chain C. By Zorn's Lemma, the independent set N is dominated by some maximal element M of P. Clearly $N \subset M$ and M is independent. Suppose to the contrary that there is some $y \in E$ which is not a linear combination of vectors in M. It is easy to verify that the set $V = M \cup \{y\}$ is an independent set containing M. This contradiction to the maximality of M shows that Malso spans E. Therefore M is a basis for E.

6-1.7. **Exercise** Let E, F be vector spaces. Let $\{a_i : i \in I\}$ be a basis of E and $\{b_i : i \in I\}$ an indexed subset of F. Prove that there is a unique linear map $f : E \to F$ such that $f(a_i) = b_i$ for each $i \in I$.

6-1.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every infinite dimensional normed space has at least one discontinuous linear form.

6-1.9. **Exercise** Let M be a vector subspace of a vector space E and $a \in E \setminus M$. Prove that every vector in the vector subspace N generated by $M \cup \{a\}$ has a unique representation $m + \lambda a$ for some $m \in M$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$. Prove that $g(m + \lambda a) = \lambda$ is a linear form on N.

6-1.10. <u>Exercise</u> Let E, F be vector spaces and M a vector subspace of E. Prove that every linear map $g: M \to F$ has a linear extension over E.

6-1.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that for every $x \neq 0$ in *E*, there is a linear form *f* on *E* such that $f(x) \neq 0$.

6-1.12. <u>Exercise</u> Let f, g be linear forms on a vector space E. Prove that if they have the same kernel, then there is $0 \neq \lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ such that $f = \lambda g$.

6-2 Hahn-Banach Extension Theorems

6-2.1. Every linear form on a finite dimensional vector subspace of a normed space E is continuous. To extend a continuous linear form, the continuity will be isolated from linearity in terms of gauges. In this section, we start with an analytic extension theorem. It will be applied to continuous linear forms later.

6-2.2. Let p be a real-valued function on a vector space E. Then p is called a gauge on E if for all $x, y \in E$ we have

(a) $0 \le p(x) < \infty$; positive

(b) $p(x+y) \le p(x) + p(y)$; triangular inequality

(c) $p(\alpha x) = \alpha p(x)$ for all $\alpha \ge 0$; positively homogeneous.

A gauge p on E is called a *seminorm* if $p(\alpha x) = |\alpha|p(x), \forall x \in E$ and $\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{K}$.

6-2.3. <u>Example</u> Let f be a linear form on a vector space E. Then $p(x) = |f(x)|, \forall x \in E$ defines a seminorm on E.

6-2.4. <u>Exercise</u> Let p, q be gauges on a vector space E and $0 \le \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$. Show that $\max\{p, q\}$ and $\alpha p + \beta q$ are gauges on E.

6-2.5. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if a gauge is continuous at the origin of a normed space E, then it is continuous on the whole space E.

6-2.6. <u>Analytic Extension Theorem</u> Let E be a *real* vector space and let p be a gauge on E. If g is a linear form on a vector subspace M of E satisfying $g(y) \le p(y)$ for all $y \in M$, then g can be extended to a linear form f on E such that $f(x) \le p(x)$ for all $x \in E$.

Proof. Let \mathbb{P} be the family of all ordered pairs (H, h) where H is a vector subspace of E and h a linear form on H such that $h(y) \leq p(y)$ for all $y \in H$. Then \mathbb{P} is non-empty since (M, g) is a member of \mathbb{P} . For all (H, h), (K, k) in \mathbb{P} , define $(H,h) \leq (K,k)$ iff $H \subset K$ and k|H = h. It is easy to verify that \mathbb{P} is partially ordered set. Let $\mathbb{C} = \{(H_i, h_i) : i \in I\}$ be a chain in \mathbb{P} . Define $K = \bigcup_{i \in I} H_i$. For every $x \in K$, there is $i \in I$ such that $x \in H_i$ and then define $k(x) = h_i(x)$. We claim that k(x) is independent of the choice of i. In fact, suppose $x \in H_i$ and $x \in H_i$. Since C is a chain, we may assume by symmetry that $(H_i, h_i) \leq (H_j, h_j)$. Then $H_i \subset H_j$ and $h_j | H_i = h_i$. Hence $h_i(x) = h_j(x)$. Therefore k(x) is independent of the choice of i for which $x \in H_i$. Next, we claim that K is a vector subspace and k is a linear form on K. Indeed, take any $x, y \in K$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$. There are $i, j \in I$ such that $x \in H_i$ and $y \in H_j$. Since C is a chain, we may assume by symmetry that $(H_i, h_i) \leq (H_i, h_i)$. Then $H_i \subset H_i$ and $h_i | H_i = h_i$. Hence both x, y belong to the vector subspace H_j . Therefore $\alpha x + \beta y \in H_j$, or $\alpha x + \beta y \in K$. This proves that K is a vector subspace of E. Since h_i is linear on H_i , we have

$$k(\alpha x + \beta y) = h_j(\alpha x + \beta y) = \alpha h_j(x) + \beta h_j(y) = \alpha k(x) + \beta k(y).$$

Therefore k is a linear form on K. Clearly $k(y) = h_j(y) \leq p(y), \forall y \in K$. Consequently (K, k) is a member of P. Obviously $H_i \subset K$ and $k|H_i = h_i$, i.e. $(H_i, h_i) \leq (K, k)$ for all $i \in I$. Therefore every chain in C has an upper bound in P. By Zorn's Lemma, there exists a maximal element $(F, f) \geq (M, g)$. It remains to prove F = E. Suppose to the contrary that there is $a \in E \setminus F$. Let H be the vector subspace spanned by F and a. For all $u, v \in F$, we have

 $f(u+v) \le p(u+v),$

or,
$$f(u) + f(v) \le p(u-a) + p(v+a)$$
,

i.e.
$$f(u) - p(u - a) \le -f(v) + (v + a).$$

Let $\lambda = \sup\{f(u) - p(u-a) : u \in F\}.$

Then
$$f(u) - p(u - a) \le \lambda \le -f(v) + (v + a), \quad \forall u, v \in F.$$

Since $a \notin F$, every vector in H can be written uniquely in the form $x = y + \alpha a$ where $y \in F$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Define $h(x) = f(y) + \alpha \lambda$. It is easy to verify that h is a linear form on H and h|F = f. If $\alpha > 0$, taking $v = y/\alpha$ we have $\lambda \leq -f\left(\frac{y}{\alpha}\right) + p\left(\frac{y}{\alpha} + a\right)$, or $\alpha\lambda \leq -f(y) + p(y + \alpha a)$, i.e. $h(x) \leq p(x)$. If $\alpha < 0$, taking $u = -y/\alpha$ we have $f\left(-\frac{y}{\alpha}\right) - p\left(-\frac{y}{\alpha} - a\right) \leq \lambda$,

i.e. $-\frac{1}{\alpha}f(y) - \left(\frac{1}{-\alpha}\right)p(y+\alpha a) \leq \lambda$, or, $f(y) - p(y+\alpha a) \leq -\alpha\lambda$, that is, $h(x) \leq p(x)$ again. Clearly, $g(x) \leq p(x)$ for $\alpha = 0$ because (F, f) is in \mathbb{P} . Therefore $F \subset H$ and h|F = f. This proves that (H, h) is in \mathbb{P} and

 $(F, f) \leq (H, h)$. Since (F, f) is a maximal element we have (F, f) = (H, h). We obtain F = H which is a contradiction. This completes the proof.

6-2.7. **Exercise** Let f be a linear form on a normed space E. Prove that if there is a continuous seminorm p on E such that $|f(x)| \leq p(x)$ for all $x \in E$, then f is continuous.

6-2.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let f be a linear form on a *real* normed space E. Prove that if there is a continuous gauge p on E such that $f(x) \le p(x)$ for all $x \in E$, then f is continuous.

6-3 Extension of Continuous Linear Forms

6-3.1. In order to combine the real and complex normed spaces into a single framework, we start to reduce the complex linear forms to the real ones and then work with seminorms instead of gauges.

6-3.2. Let E be a *complex* vector space. The vector space obtained from E by restricting the scalar multiplication to the real numbers only, is called the *real vector space associated with the complex vector space* E and it is denoted by E_r . Let f be a complex linear form on the complex vector space E. Let $f_r(x)$ be the real part of the complex number f(x) for each $x \in E$. Then f_r is a real linear form on E_r and it is called the *real part of the complex linear form* f. Clearly we have $f(x) = f_r(x) - if_r(ix)$ for all $x \in E$ where $i^2 = -1$.

6-3.3. <u>Exercise</u> Let E be a complex normed space and let f be a complex linear form on E. Prove the following statements.

(a) E_r is a real normed space.

(b) f is continuous iff the real part f_r is continuous.

6-3.4. **Dominated Extension Theorem** Let p be a seminorm on a vector space E and g a linear form on a vector subspace M of E. If $|g(y)| \le p(y), \forall y \in M$, then g can be extended to a linear form f on E with $|f(x)| \le p(x)$ for all $x \in E$. <u>Proof</u>. Consider a real vector space E first. Since $g(y) \le |g(y)| \le p(y)$ for all $y \in M$, g can be extended to a linear form f on E such that $f(x) \le p(x)$ for all $x \in E$. If $f(x) \ge 0$, then $|f(x)| = f(x) \le p(x)$. If f(x) < 0, then we obtain $|f(x)| = f(-x) \le p(-x) = p(x)$. This completes the proof for the real case. Next, assume that E is a complex vector space. Let g_r be the real part of g. Then for every $y \in M$, we obtain $g(y) = g_r(y) - ig_r(iy)$, that is, $g_r(y) \le |g_r(y)| \le |g(y)| \le p(y)$. There is a real linear form f_r on E such that $f_r(x) \le p(x)$ for all $x \in E$ and $f_r(y) = g_r(y)$ for all $y \in M$. Define $f(x) = f_r(x) - if_r(ix)$ for each $x \in E$. Then f is a complex linear form on Eand f(y) = g(y) for all $y \in M$. Given $x \in E$, let $f(x) = |f(x)|e^{i\theta}$ where θ is some real number. Then the proof is complete by the following calculation:

$$|f(x)| = e^{-i\theta}f(x) = f(e^{-i\theta}x) = f_r(e^{-i\theta}x) \le p(e^{-i\theta}x) = p(x).$$

6-3.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let p be a seminorm on a vector space E. Then for every $a \in E$ there is a linear form f on E such that f(a) = p(a) and $|f(x)| \le p(x)$ for all $x \in E$.

6-3.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let M be a vector subspace of a normed space E. Then every continuous linear form g on M can be extended to a continuous linear form f on E such that ||f|| = ||g||.

<u>Proof.</u> Let p(x) = ||g|| ||x|| for all $x \in E$. It is easy to verify that p is a seminorm on E. For each $y \in M$, we have $|g(y)| \leq ||g|| ||y|| = p(y)$. Hence g has a linear extension f over E such that $|f(x)| \leq p(x)$ for all $x \in E$. Now $|f(x)| \leq ||g|| ||x||$ for all $x \in E$ implies the continuity of f and $||f|| \leq ||g||$. The proof is completed by the following calculation:

 $||g|| = \sup\{|g(y)| : y \in M, ||y|| \le 1\} \le \sup\{|f(x)| : x \in M, ||x|| \le 1\} = ||f||. \square$

6-3.7. **Theorem** Let M be a closed subspace of a normed space E. Then for every $b \in E \setminus M$, there is a continuous linear form f on E such that f(M) = 0, ||f|| = 1 and f(b) = d(b, M), the distance from b to M.

<u>Proof</u>. Let N be the vector subspace spanned by M and b. Then every vector in N can be expressed uniquely in the form $y = m + \lambda b$ where $m \in M$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$. Since M is closed, we have $\delta = d(b, M) > 0$. Define $g(y) = \lambda \delta$. Clearly g is a linear form on N such that g(M) = 0 and $g(b) = \delta$. To compute the norm of g, let $m + \lambda b$ be in N. If $\lambda \neq 0$, then $\|\frac{m}{\lambda} + b\| \geq \delta$ and hence

$$|g(m+\lambda b)| = |\lambda \delta| = \delta |\lambda| = \frac{\delta ||m+\lambda b||}{||\frac{m}{\lambda}+b||} \le \frac{\delta ||m+\lambda b||}{\delta} = ||m+\lambda b||.$$

For $\lambda = 0$, we have $|g(m+\lambda b)| = |g(m)| = 0 \le ||m+\lambda b||$. Therefore g is continuous on N and $||g|| \le 1$. On the other hand, let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is $m \in M$ such that $||m-b|| \leq \delta + \varepsilon$. Then $\delta = |g(b)| = |g(m) - g(b)| \leq ||g|| ||m-b|| \leq ||g||(\delta + \varepsilon)$, i.e. $||g|| \geq \frac{\delta}{\delta + \varepsilon}$. Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, we have $||g|| \geq 1$. Therefore we conclude ||g|| = 1. Now there is a continuous linear form f on E such that f|N = g and ||f|| = ||g|| = 1. Hence f(M) = g(M) = 0 and $f(b) = g(b) = \delta$. This completes the proof.

6-3.8. <u>Corollary</u> For ever $x \neq 0$ in a normed space *E*, there is a continuous linear form *f* on *E* such that ||f|| = 1 and f(x) = ||x||.

Proof. This is a special case of last theorem when $M = \{0\}$ and b = x. \Box

6-3.9. **Exercise** Find an example of a normed space E and $0 \neq f \in E'$ such that there is no $x \in E$ satisfying ||x|| = 1 and f(x) = ||f||.

6-3.10. **Corollary** Continuous linear forms *separates points* of a normed space. More precisely, if $x \neq y$ are distinct points of E then there is a continuous linear form f on E such that $f(x) \neq f(y)$. We normally apply to the case when y = 0.

6-3.11. **Exercise** Let M be the closed vector subspace generated by a nonempty subset Y of a normed space E. Prove that $x \in E$ belongs to M iff for every $f \in E'$ we have f(x) = 0 whenever $f(y) = 0, \forall y \in Y$.

6-4 Closed Hyperplanes

6-4.1. Some preliminary algebraic concept will be introduced first and elementary results are stated for easy reference. Then the geometric form of Hahn-Banach Extension Theorem in terms of closed hyperplanes will follow.

6-4.2. Let E denote a vector space. A subset M of E is called a *flat* or a *linear manifold* if M = S + a for some vector subspace S of E and some $a \in E$. Points, lines, planes are examples of flats.

6-4.3. <u>Lemma</u> Let M be a flat in E. Then M is a vector subspace iff the origin belongs to M.

6-4.4. A vector subspace S of E is called a hypersubspace if $S \neq E$ and if for any vector subspace N satisfying $S \subset N \subset E$, we have either N = S or N = E. A translate of a hypersubspace is called a hyperplane. Clearly every hyperplane is a flat.

6-4.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let M be a vector subspace of E. If $M \neq E$, then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) There is a linear form f on E such that $M = \ker(f)$, the kernel of f.

(b) M is a hypersubspace.

(c) For each $a \in E \setminus M$, the whole space E is spanned by M and a.

6-4.6. <u>Corollary</u> A subset M of E is a hyperplane iff $M = f^{-1}(\lambda)$ for some non-trivial linear form f on E and some scalar $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$.

6-4.7. **Theorem** Let M be a subset of a normed space E. Then M is a closed hyperplane iff there is a non-trivial continuous linear form f and a scalar λ such that $M = f^{-1}(\lambda)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since the translate of a closed set is close, it follows immediately from the fact that a linear form is continuous iff its kernel is a closed set.

6-4.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let E be a complex normed space. A subset M of E is a closed complex hypersubspace iff there exists a closed real hypersubspace H satisfying $M = H \cap iH$, where $i^2 = -1$. Consequently every closed complex hyperplane is the intersection of two closed real hyperplanes.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Leftarrow) Let H be a closed real hypersubspace. There is a continuous real linear form g on E satisfying $H = g^{-1}(0)$. Define f(x) = g(x) - ig(ix) for all $x \in E$. Then f is a continuous complex linear form on E. Suppose f(x) = 0. Then g(x) = 0 and g(ix) = 0. Thus $x \in H$ and $ix \in H$, i.e. $x \in -iH = iH$. Hence $x \in H \cap iH$. Clearly the argument is reversible. Therefore $H \cap iH = \ker(f)$ is a closed complex hypersubspace.

(⇒) Suppose M is a closed complex hypersubspace. Let f be a continuous complex linear form on E such that $M = f^{-1}(0)$. Then the real part g of f is a continuous real linear form on E. Then $H = g^{-1}(0)$ is a closed real hypersubspace. As before, we have $H \cap iH = \ker(f) = M$. The last statement follows by translation.

6-4.9. A subset V of a vector space E is said to be *absorbing* if for each $x \in E$ there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that $x \in \lambda V$. Clearly the origin is in every absorbing set. The set V is said to be *balanced* if for every scalar $|\alpha| \leq 1$, we have $\alpha V \subset V$. Let V be a convex absorbing set in E. The *gauge* of V is defined as the function $p: E \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $p(x) = \inf\{\lambda > 0 : x \in \lambda V\}, \forall x \in E$.

6-4.10. <u>Exercise</u> Let V be a subset of a normed space E. Prove that if the origin is an interior point of V, then V is absorbing.

6-4.11. <u>Theorem</u> Let p be the gauge of a convex absorbing set V in a vector space E.

(a) p is a gauge on E.

(b) If p(x) < 1 then $x \in V$.

(c) If $x \in V$ then $p(x) \leq 1$.

(d) If V is balanced, then p is a seminorm.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) Let x, y be given points in E. From absorbing, the set $\{\lambda > 0 : x \in \lambda V\}$ is non-empty and hence $0 \le p(x) < \infty$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There are $\alpha, \beta > 0$ such that $\alpha \le p(x) + \varepsilon$, $\beta \le p(y) + \varepsilon$ and $x \in \alpha V$, $y \in \beta V$. Since V is convex, we have $x + y \in (\alpha + \beta)V$. Hence $p(x + y) \le \alpha + \beta \le p(x) + p(y) + 2\varepsilon$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $p(x + y) \le p(x) + p(y)$. Now if $z = 0 \in E$, then $z \in \lambda V$ for all $\lambda > 0$ and hence p(z) = 0. Thus $p(\alpha x) = 0 = \alpha p(x)$ holds for $\alpha = 0$. Suppose $\alpha > 0$. Then

 $p(\alpha x) = \inf\{\lambda > 0 : \alpha x \in \lambda V\} = \inf\{\alpha \mu > 0 : \alpha x \in \alpha \mu V\}, \text{ where } \lambda = \alpha \mu$ $= \alpha \inf\{\mu > 0 : x \in \mu V\} = \alpha p(x).$

Therefore p is a gauge on E.

(b) Suppose p(x) < 1. There is $p(x) < \lambda < 1$ satisfying $x \in \lambda V$. Hence $x \in (1 - \lambda)0 + \lambda V \subset V$.

(c) If $x \in V$, then $x \in \lambda V$ for $\lambda = 1$ and hence $p(x) \leq \lambda = 1$.

(d) Take any $\alpha \neq 0$ in **K**. Since V is balanced, $\alpha x \in \lambda V$ iff $|\alpha|x \in \lambda V$. Therefore we have

$$p(\alpha x) = \inf\{\lambda > 0 : \alpha x \in \lambda V\} = \inf\{\lambda > 0 : |\alpha|x \in \lambda V\} = p(|\alpha|x) = |\alpha|p(x). \Box$$

6-4.12. <u>Geometric Extension Theorem</u> Let A be a non-empty open convex set in a normed space E. If M is a flat disjoint from A, then there is a closed hyperplane H containing M and disjoint from A.

<u>Proof</u>. Consider the real normed space E first. By translation, we may assume $0 \in A$. Then A is a convex absorbing set. Let p be the gauge of A. Since M is a flat, there is a vector subspace S and $a \in E$ such that M = a + S. Because $A \cap M = \emptyset$, we have $0 \notin M$, i.e. $a \notin S$. Let T be the vector subspace spanned by S and a. Then every vector in T can be written uniquely in the form $\lambda a + s$ where $s \in S$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. Define $g(\lambda a + s) = \lambda$. Clearly g is a linear form on T. If $\lambda > 0$, we have $a + (s/\lambda) \in M$, or $a + (s/\lambda) \notin A$. It follows $p[a + (s/\lambda)] \ge 1$, i.e. $p(\lambda a + s) \ge \lambda = g(\lambda a + s)$. If $\lambda \le 0$, then $g(\lambda a + s) = \lambda \le 0 \le p(\lambda a + s)$. Thus for all $y \in T$, we have $g(y) \le p(y)$. Hence g can be extended to a linear form f on E satisfying $f(x) \le p(x)$ for all $x \in E$. Since $0 \in A$, there is $\mathbb{B}(0, \delta) \subset A$. Take any $x \in \mathbb{B}(0, \delta)$. Then $\pm x \in A$ and hence $p(\pm x) \le 1$. If $f(x) \ge 0$, then

 $|f(x)| = f(x) \le p(x) \le 1$. If $f(x) \le 0$, then $|f(x)| = f(-x) \le p(-x) \le 1$. Thus f is bounded on the ball $\mathbb{B}(0,r)$ and consequently, f is a continuous linear form on E. Let $H = \{x \in E : f(x) = 1\}$. Then H is a closed hyperplane in E. Now, suppose $x \in M$. Write x = a + s where $s \in S$. Then $x \in T$. Hence f(x) = g(x) = g(a + s) = 1, i.e. $x \in H$. Therefore $H \subset M$. Finally, take any $x \in A$. Let $\varphi(\lambda) = \lambda x$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. Then φ is continuous on \mathbb{R} . Since $\varphi^{-1}(A)$ is an open subset of \mathbb{R} and $1 \in \varphi^{-1}(A)$, there is $1 < \beta \in \varphi^{-1}(A)$, i.e. $\beta x = \varphi(\beta) \in A$. Thus $f(x) \leq p(x) \leq (1/\beta) < 1$, i.e. $x \notin H$. Therefore H is disjoint from A. This proves the case for real normed space E. Next, suppose E is a complex normed space. By translation, we may assume $0 \in M$. Let E_r be the real vector space associated with E. By the real case, there is a closed real hyperplane H_r in E_r containing M and disjoint from A. Since $0 \in H_r$, H_r is a real hypersubspace in E_r . Hence $H = H_r \cap iH$ is a closed complex hypersubspace in E. Since M is a complex vector subspace, we have $M = iM \subset iH_r$, i.e. $M \subset H$. Observe that $A \cap H = (A \cap H_r) \cap iH_r = \emptyset$. This completes the proof.

6-4.13. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that a hyperplane in a normed space is either closed or dense.

6-4.14. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that a normed space is infinite dimensional iff there is a dense hypersubspace.

6-5 Separation by Hyperplanes

6-5.1. Let *E* be a vector space. Let *H* be a *real* hyperplane given by $H = f^{-1}(\lambda)$ where *f* is a *real* linear form on *E* and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. A subset *A* of *E* is said to *lie on one side of the real hyperplane H* if we have $f(a) \leq \lambda, \forall a \in A$; or $f(a) \geq \lambda, \forall a \in A$. A subset *A* of *E* is said to lie *strictly* on one side of the real hyperplane *H* if we have $f(a) < \lambda, \forall a \in A$. It can be easily proved that the definition is independent on the representation of *H* in terms of f, λ .

6-5.2. <u>Lemma</u> Let A be a convex set in a vector space E and H a real hyperplane in E. Then A lies strictly on one side of H iff $A \cap H = \emptyset$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $H = f^{-1}(\lambda)$ where $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ and f a real linear form on E. Assume $A \cap H = \emptyset$. Suppose to the contrary that A does not lie strictly on one side of H. Then there are $a, b \in A$ such that $f(a) < \lambda < f(b)$. There is $0 \le t \le 1$ such

that $\lambda = (1-t)f(a) + tf(b)$. Since A is convex, x = (1-t)a + tb is in A. Also, $f(x) = \lambda$. Hence $x \in A \cap H$ which is a contradiction. Therefore A lies strictly on one side of H. The converse is obvious.

6-5.3. Lemma Let H be a closed real hyperplane in a normed space E. If $A \subset E$ lies on one side of H, then its interior A^o lies strictly on one side of H. <u>Proof</u>. Let $H = f^{-1}(\lambda)$ where f is a continuous real linear form on E and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. Since A lies on one side of H, we may assume $f(a) \leq \lambda, \forall a \in A$; otherwise replace f by -f and λ by $-\lambda$. Since $f \neq 0$, there is $b \in E$ such that f(b) > 0; otherwise replace b by -b. Take any $a \in A^o$. There is r > 0 such that $\mathbb{B}(a, r) \subset A$. Let $0 < \mu < \frac{r}{\|b\|}$. Then $\|\mu b\| < r$ and hence $a + \mu b \in \mathbb{B}(a, r)$; or $a + \mu b \in A$. Therefore we have $f(a) < f(a) + \mu f(b) = f(a + \mu b) \leq \lambda$. Consequently, A lies strictly on one side of H.

6-5.4. <u>Exercise</u> Let A be a convex set that lies on one side of a hyperplane H. Prove that if A has at least one interior point, then H must be closed.

6-5.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let H be a closed hyperplane in a normed space E and let $A \subset E$ lie on one side of H. Prove that its closure also lies on one side of H.

6-5.6. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let A, B be two non-empty convex sets in normed space E. If the interior of A is a non-empty set disjoint from B then A, B can be separated by a closed *real* hyperplane.

<u>Proof</u>. Since both A, B are convex, $B - A^o$ is convex and also open because $\overline{B - A^o} = \bigcup_{b \in B} b - A^o$. The condition $B \cap A^o = \emptyset$ ensures that the flat {0} consisting of one point is disjoint from the non-empty open convex set $B - A^o$. There is a closed real hyperplane H containing {0} and disjoint from $B - A^o$. Since H contains the origin, it is a hypersubspace. There is a continuous real linear form f one E such that $H = \ker(f)$. It follows that $B - A^o$ lies on one side of H. Without loss of generality, we may assume $f(x) \ge 0$ for all $x \in B - A^o$; otherwise replace f by −f. Then for all $a \in A^o$ and all $b \in B$, we have $f(a) \le f(b)$. Let $\lambda = \sup\{f(a) : a \in A^o\}$. Since f is continuous, we have $f(a) \le \lambda$ for all $a \in A^{o^-} = A^-$. Hence $f(A) \le \lambda \le f(B)$. Therefore A, B are separated by the closed real hyperplane $\{x \in E : f(x) = \lambda\}$. □

6-5.7. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let A, B be two disjoint non-empty closed convex sets in a normed space E. If one of A, B is compact, then A, B can be strictly separated by a closed real hyperplane.

<u>Proof</u>. For convenience, assume that A is compact. Then the function d(x, B) is continuous on A. Since B is closed, d(x, B) > 0 for all $x \in A$. By compactness, we have $r = \frac{1}{3}d(A, B) > 0$. Let $V = \{x \in E : d(x, A) < r\}$ and $W = \{x \in E : d(x, B) < r\}$. Since d(x, A) is continuous in x, V is an open set. To show the convexity of V, take any $x, y \in V$ and $0 \le t \le 1$. There are $a, b \in A$ such that ||x - a|| < r and ||y - b|| < r. Since A is convex, (1 - t)a + tb is in A. Hence

$$d[(1-t)x + ty, A] \le \|[(1-t)x + ty] - [(1-t)a + tb]\|$$

$$\le (1-t)\|x - a\| + t\|y - b\| < r,$$

i.e. $(1-t)x + ty \in V$. Therefore V is an open convex set. Similarly W is also an open convex set. By simple calculation, V, W are disjoint. They can be separated by some closed real hyperplane H. Since V is open, V lies strictly on one side of H and W strictly on the other side of H. Since $A \subset V$ and $B \subset W, A, B$ are strictly separated by H.

6-5.8. <u>Corollary</u> Let A be a non-empty closed convex set in a normed space E. Then for every $b \in E \setminus A$, there exists a continuous real linear form f on E such that $f(b) < \inf f(A)$.

<u>Proof</u>. The singleton $\{b\}$ is a compact convex set disjoint from the closed convex set A. There is a closed real hyperplane H which strictly separates A and b. There is a continuous real linear form f on E and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $f(b) < \lambda < f(a), \forall a \in A$. The result follows immediately by taking infimum over $a \in A$.

6-5.9. Important topics such as closed convex hulls represented in terms of supporting hyperplanes are beyond the scope of this book. It would be better done in the framework of locally convex spaces.

6-6 Extreme Points

6-6.1. Extreme points were introduced in §4-4.10. It was proved that extreme points of a simplex are the vertices. A simplex is the closed convex hull (§4-2.7) of its extreme point. This result will be generalized to infinite dimensional spaces. It is another example of applying Zorn's Lemma. Since sophisticated applications are beyond the scope of this book, this section may be skipped without discontinuity.

6-6.2. Let A be a non-empty subset of a vector space E. A non-empty subset X of A is called an *extreme subset* of A if for all $x, y \in A$ satisfying $(x, y) \cap X \neq \emptyset$, both x, y are in X. When X is a singleton, it becomes an extreme point. The following lemma follows immediately from definition.

6-6.3. <u>Lemma</u> Let A, B, C be subsets of a vector space E.

(a) If the intersection of a family of extreme subsets of A is non-empty, then it is again an extreme subset of A.

(b) If A is an extreme subset of B and if B is an extreme subset of C, then A is an extreme subset of C.

(c) If $A \subset B \subset C$ and if A is an extreme subset of C, then A is an extreme subset of B.

6-6.4. Lemma Let M be a non-empty closed extreme subset of a compact convex set A in a normed space E. If X is a closed convex set in E satisfying $M \setminus X \neq \emptyset$ and $M \cap X \neq \emptyset$, then there is a closed extreme subset N of A such that $N \subset M$ and $N \subset X = \emptyset$.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose $a \in M \setminus X$. There is a continuous real linear form f on E such that $f(a) < \inf f(X)$. As a closed subset of the compact set A, M is compact. There is $m \in M$ such that $f(m) = \inf f(M)$. Let $N = \{z \in M : f(z) = f(m)\}$. Since $m \in N$, N is a non-empty closed subset of M. Now for all $z \in N$, we have

$$f(z) = f(m) = \inf f(M) \le f(a) < \inf f(X).$$

Thus $N \cap X = \emptyset$. Finally suppose x, y are in M satisfying $z = (1 - t)x + ty \in N$ where 0 < t < 1. Then $f(x) \ge \inf f(M)$, $f(y) \ge \inf f(M)$ and

$$(1-t)f(x) + tf(y) = f(z) = \inf f(M).$$

This implies $f(x) = \inf f(M)$ and $f(y) = \inf f(M)$. Hence $x, y \in N$. Therefore N is an extreme subset of M. It follows that N is also an extreme subset of A.

6-6.5. <u>Krein-Milman Theorem</u> Every non-empty compact set A in a normed space E has an extreme point.

<u>Proof.</u> Let \mathbb{P} be the family of all non-empty closed extreme subset of A. Then \mathbb{P} is non-empty since $A \in \mathbb{P}$. It becomes a partially ordered set under inclusion. Let $\{C_i : i \in I\}$ be a chain in \mathbb{P} . Let $C = \bigcap_{i \in I} C_i$. As closed subsets of the compact set A, all C_i are compact. Take any finite subset J of I. By definition of a chain, $C_i \cap C_j$ is either C_i or C_j . Hence $\bigcap_{i \in J} C_j$ is actually one of C_j and thus the intersection is non-empty. By compactness, we have $C \neq \emptyset$. Consequently, C is a closed extreme subset of A. Therefore C is a lower bound of the given chain. By Zorn's Lemma, \mathbb{P} has a minimal element, say M. Suppose to the contrary that M contains at least two points $a \neq b$. There is a closed extreme subset N of A such that $N \subset M$ and $a \notin N$. This contradiction to the minimality of M shows that M is a singleton. Therefore A has at least one extreme point.

6-6.6. <u>Theorem</u> Every non-empty compact convex set A in a normed space E is the convex hull of its extreme points.

<u>Proof</u>. Let X be the closed convex hull of extreme points of A, i.e. the intersection of all closed convex sets containing all extreme points of A. Since A itself is a closed convex set containing all extreme points of A, we clearly have $X \subset A$. Suppose to the contrary that $A \setminus X \neq \emptyset$. Then there is a closed extreme subset B of A such that $B \cap X = \emptyset$. Let b be an extreme point of B. Then it is also an extreme point of A and hence $b \in X$ which contradicts $B \cap X = \emptyset$. Therefore $A \setminus X = \emptyset$, i.e. $A \subset X$. This completes the proof. \Box

6-6.7. <u>Exercise</u> Let A be the smallest convex set in \mathbb{R}^3 that contains the points $(1, 0, \pm 1)$ and $(\cos \theta, \sin \theta, 0)$ for $0 \le \theta \le 2\pi$. Show that A is compact but that the set of all extreme points of A is not compact.

6-6.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that for $1 , every point on the unit sphere of <math>\mathbb{R}_{p}^{n}$ is an extreme point of the closed unit ball.

6-6.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the unit sphere of c_0 has no extreme point.

6-7 Baire's Property

6-7.1. The nested property of a complete metric space will be translated into Baire's Theorem which has become an important tool to derive existence in many occasions. Originally, metric spaces were classified as first and second categories in terms of nowhere dense sets. These topics have been dropped in this book in order to shorten the path for the reader to get through the subject and then to start their own research as soon as possible.

6-7.2. Lemma Let M be a closed subset of X. If M has empty interior, then every open ball contains a closed ball which is disjoint from M.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Suppose to the contrary that there is an open ball B such that every closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta) \subset B$ contains a point of M. We claim $B \subset M$. In fact, take

any $a \in B$ and r > 0. Since B is open, there is $0 < \delta < r$ such that $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta) \subset B$. By assumption, there is some $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta) \cap M$. Hence $d(x, a) \leq \delta < r$, i.e. $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, r) \cap M$. Therefore a is a closure point of M. Since M is closed, we have $a \in M$. This proves $B \subset M$. Since B is open, $B \subset M^o$. Therefore M^o is non-empty. This contradiction establishes the proof. \Box

6-7.3. **<u>Baire's Category Theorem</u>** Let X be a complete metric space which is not empty. If it is covered by a sequence $\{A_n\}$ of closed sets, then at least one A_n has non-empty interior.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that all A_n have empty interior. Take any $\overline{a_0 \in X}$ and define $r_0 = 1$. Since A_1 has empty interior, the open ball $\mathbb{B}(a_0, r_0)$ contains a closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_1, \delta_1)$ which is disjoint from A_1 . Let $r_1 = \min\{1/2, \delta_1\}$. Inductively, since A_n has empty interior, the open ball $\mathbb{B}(a_{n-1}, r_{n-1})$ contains a closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_n, \delta_n)$ which is disjoint from A_n . Let $r_n = \min\{1/2^n, \delta_n\}$. Observe that $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_n, r_n) \subset \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_n, \delta_n) \subset \mathbb{B}(a_{n-1}, r_{n-1}) \subset \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_{n-1}, r_{n-1})$. Hence $\{\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_n, r_n)\}$ forms a decreasing sequence of closed sets. Furthermore,

$$diam \ \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_n, r_n) \le 2r_n \le 1/2^{n-1} \to 0.$$

By Nested property of complete metric spaces, the set $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_n, r_n)$ contains some point, say b. Since $\{A_n\}$ covers X, we have $b \in A_n$ for some n. Now the contradiction $b \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_n, r_n) \cap A_n \subset \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_n, \delta_n) \cap A_n$ establishes the proof. \Box

6-7.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that an infinite dimensional Banach space is not a countable union of compact sets.

6-7.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f_n : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a sequence of continuous functions on a complete metric space X. Prove that if for each $x \in X$, $\sup_{n\geq 1} f_n(x) < \infty$, then there is a non-empty open subset V of X such that

$$\sup\{f_n(x):n\geq 1,x\in V\}<\infty.$$

6-8 Uniform Boundedness

6-8.1. In addition to applications to some classical problems which will be formulated as exercises in this section, Uniform Boundedness Theorem asserts that pointwise bounded sets are normed bounded. This result will be used to develop complex analysis on Banach spaces and will form the foundation of weak convergence. 6-8.2. <u>Uniform-Boundedness Theorem</u> Let E, F be normed spaces and let $\{f_i : i \in I\}$ be a family of continuous linear maps from E into F. If E is a Banach space, then $\sup_{i \in I} ||f_i(x)|| < \infty, \forall x \in E$ implies $\sup_{i \in I} ||f_i|| < \infty$.

<u>Proof</u>. For each integer $n \ge 1$, define $H_n = \{x \in E : ||f_i(x)|| \le n, \forall i \in I\}$. Since the function $x \to ||f_i(x)||$ is continuous, its inverse image of the closed set [0, n] is closed. Hence each H_n is closed in E. The given condition ensures $E = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$. Since E is a Banach space, it follows from Category Theorem that some H_m has an interior point, say $\mathbb{B}(a, 2r) \subset H_m$ where r > 0. We claim $\sup_{i \in I} ||f_i|| \le \frac{2m}{r}$. In fact, take any $||x|| \le 1$ in E and any $i \in I$. Then both a and a + rx are in $\mathbb{B}(a, 2r)$ and hence in H_m . Thus,

$$||f_i(rx)|| \le ||f_i(a+rx)|| + || - f_i(a)|| \le m + m = 2m,$$

or $||f_i(x)|| \leq \frac{2m}{r}$. Taking supremum over $||x|| \leq 1$, we have $||f_i|| \leq \frac{2m}{r}$ for all $i \in I$. This completes the proof.

6-8.3. <u>Banach-Steinhaus Theorem</u> Let E, F be normed spaces and $\{f_n : n \ge 1\}$ a sequence of continuous linear maps from E into F. If E is a Banach space and if the limit $g(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(x)$ exists for each $x \in E$, then g is a continuous linear map from E into F. Furthermore we have

$$\|g\| \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \|f_n\| \leq \sup_{n \geq 1} \|f_n\| < \infty.$$

<u>Proof.</u> For each $x \in E$, the convergent sequence $\{f_n(x) : n \ge 1\}$ is bounded in F. Since E is a Banach space, we have $\sup_{n\ge 1} ||f_n|| < \infty$. Clearly, g is a linear map. Next, let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Take any $||x|| \le 1$ in E. Since $g(x) = \lim_{n \ge 1} f_n(x)$, there is an integer k such that for all $n \ge k$, we have $||g(x) - f_n(x)|| \le \varepsilon$, i.e.

$$||g(x)|| \le ||g(x) - f_n(x)|| + ||f_n(x)|| \le \varepsilon + ||f_n||.$$

Hence $||g(x)|| \le \varepsilon + \liminf_{n\to\infty} ||f_n||$. Taking supremum over $||x|| \le 1$, we get

$$\|g\| \leq \varepsilon + \liminf_{n \to \infty} \|f_n\| \leq \varepsilon + \sup_{n \geq 1} \|f_n\| < \infty.$$

Therefore g is continuous. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $||g|| \le \liminf ||f_n||$. This completes the proof.

6-8.4. <u>Corollary</u> Between Banach spaces, pointwise limits of continuous linear maps are continuous.

6-8.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let φ_n be the projection of a sequence to its *n*-th term and let $f_n = n\varphi_n$. Show that
(a) Each f_n is a continuous linear form on \mathcal{F}_{∞} .

(b) For every $x \in \mathcal{F}_{\infty}$, the set $\{|f_n(x)| : n \ge 1\}$ is bounded in \mathbb{R} .

(c) The set $\{||f_n|| : n \ge 1\}$ is not bounded.

6-8.6. **Example** Let $a = (a_1, a_2, a_3, \cdots)$ be a given sequence of numbers. If for every $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3, \cdots) \in \ell_1$ the series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} a_j x_j$ converges, then we have $a \in \ell_{\infty}$

<u>Proof.</u> Define $f_n : \ell_1 \to \mathbb{K}$ by $f_n(x) = \sum_{j=1}^n a_j x_j$. Then each f_n is a continuous linear form with $||f_n|| = \max_{1 \le j \le n} |a_j|$. For each $x \in \ell_1$, since the partial sums of the convergence series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} a_j x_j$ are bounded, we obtain $\sup_n |f_n(x)| = \sup_n |\sum_{j=1}^n a_j x_j| < \infty$. By Uniform Boundedness Theorem, we get $\sup_n |a_n| = \sup_n ||f_n|| < \infty$, i.e. $a \in \ell_\infty$.

6-8.7. **Exercise** Let $a = (a_1, a_2, a_3, \cdots)$ be a given sequence of numbers and $1 . Prove that if for every <math>x = (x_1, x_2, x_3, \cdots) \in \ell_p$ the series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} a_j x_j$ converges, then we have $a \in \ell_q$ where $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$.

6-8.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} a_j$ of complex numbers converges absolutely if for every $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots) \in c_0$, the series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} a_j x_j$ converges.

6-8.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that there is no sequence $\{a_n\}$ of complex numbers with the following property: a series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} x_j$ of complex numbers converges absolutely iff the sequence $\{a_n x_n\}$ is bounded.

6-9 Open Map and Closed Graph Theorems

6-9.1. Let X, Y be metric spaces and let $f: X \to Y$ be a surjection. Then f is called an *open map* if for every open subset M of X, the image f(M) is open in Y. Note that a bijective open map means that its inverse map is continuous.

6-9.2. **Open-Map Theorem** Let E, F be Banach spaces. Every continuous linear surjection $f: E \to F$ is an open map.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $V = \{x \in E : ||x|| \leq r\}$ be a ball in E. We claim there is a closed ball contained in $\overline{f(V)}$. In fact, for every $x \in E$, there is m > ||x||/r, i.e. $x/m \in V$, or $x \in mV$. Hence we have $E = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} mV$. Since f is a linear surjection, we obtain $F = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} mf(V) \subset \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} m\overline{f(V)}$, i.e. $F = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} m\overline{f(V)}$. Because all $m\overline{f(V)}$ are closed subsets of the Banach space F, Category theorem guarantees that $m\overline{f(V)}$ has an interior point. Since $x \to x/m$ is a homeomorphism, $\overline{f(V)}$ also has an interior point, say a. Suppose $\mathbb{B}(a, 3s) \subset \overline{f(V)}$ where

s > 0. Let $W = \{y \in F : \|y\| \le s\}$. To show $W \subset \overline{f(V)}$, take any $w \in W$. Then both a and a+2w are in $\mathbb{B}(a, 3s)$ and thus in $\overline{f(V)}$. There are x_n, y_n in V such that $f(x_n) \to a$ and $f(y_n) \to a+2w$ as $n \to \infty$. Clearly, $f(\frac{1}{2}y_n - \frac{1}{2}x_n) \to w$. On the other hand, since $\|\frac{1}{2}y_n - \frac{1}{2}x_n\| \le \frac{1}{2}\|y_n\| + \frac{1}{2}\|x_n\| \le r$, i.e. $\frac{1}{2}y_n - \frac{1}{2}x_n \in V$. Therefore $w \in \overline{f(V)}$. This proves $W \subset \overline{f(V)}$. Next, we claim $W \subset 2f(V)$. Take any $w \in W$. Then $w \in \overline{f(V)}$. There is $x_1 \in V$ such that $\|w - f(x_1)\| \le \frac{1}{2}s$. Let $y_1 = x_1$. By induction, suppose that x_n, y_n have been chosen so that

$$y_n = x_1 + \frac{1}{2}x_2 + \frac{1}{2^2}x_3 + \dots + \frac{1}{2^{n-1}}x_n,$$
 #1

and

$$||w - f(y_n)|| \le \frac{1}{2^n}s.$$
 #2

Then $2^{n}[w - f(y_{n})]$ is in W and hence also in $\overline{f(V)}$. There is $x_{n+1} \in V$ such that $||2^{n}[x - f(y_{n})] - f(x_{n+1})|| \le \frac{1}{2}s$. Let $y_{n+1} = y_{n} + \frac{1}{2^{n}}x_{n+1}$. By induction, we have chosen sequences $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$ satisfying both #1,2. Now observe that $||y_n|| \le ||x_1|| + \frac{1}{2}||x_2|| + \frac{1}{2^2}||x_3|| + \dots + \frac{1}{2^{n-1}}||x_n|| \le r + \frac{r}{2} + \frac{r}{2^2} + \dots + \frac{r}{2^{n-1}} \le 2r.$ Hence $\{y_n\}$ converges to some $y \in E$. The continuity of f gives $f(y_n) \to f(y)$. By #2, we also have $f(y_n) \to w$. Therefore w = f(y). Since $||y|| \le 2r$, $\frac{1}{2}w = f(\frac{1}{2}y) \in f(V)$, or $w \in 2f(V)$. So we obtain $W \subset 2f(V)$ as required. Finally, let H be an open subset of E. Take any $x \in H$ and let y = f(x). Since H is open, we have $\mathbb{B}(x, 2r) \subset H$ for some r > 0. Let V be defined as above. Construct W as above. We claim $\mathbb{B}(y, \frac{1}{2}s) \subset f(H)$. In fact, take any $z \in \mathbb{B}(y, \frac{1}{2}s)$. Then $||z - y|| \le \frac{1}{2}s$, i.e. $z - y \in \frac{1}{2}W$. There is $v \in V$ such that z - y = f(v). Thus z = y + f(v) = f(x + v). Now $||(x + v) - x|| = ||v|| \le r < 2r$, i.e. $x + v \in \mathbb{B}(x, 2r)$, or $x + v \in H$. Therefore $z \in f(H)$. Since z is arbitrary, we have $\mathbb{B}(y, \frac{1}{2}s) \subset f(H)$ as claimed. Because $y \in f(H)$ is arbitrary, the set f(H) is open in F. This completes the proof.

6-9.3. **Banach's Inversion Theorem** Every continuous isomorphism between two Banach spaces is a topological isomorphism.

Proof. It is left as an exercise.

6-9.4. An exercise to show that a continuous isomorphism of which the inverse need not be continuous, was given in §3-6.3.

6-9.5. Since continuous linear maps are bounded above, it would be natural to ask questions about linear maps that are bounded below. This result will be used to deal with spectral theory in Hilbert spaces. Let E, F be Banach

spaces and $f: E \to F$ a continuous linear map. Then f is said to be *bounded* below if there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\delta ||x|| \le ||f(x)||$ for all $x \in E$.

6-9.6. Lemma If f is bounded below, then the range f(E) is closed in F.

<u>Proof</u>. If suffices to show that f(E) is complete. Let $\{f(x_n)\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in f(E). Since f is bounded below, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\delta ||x|| \leq ||f(x)||$ for all $x \in E$. Hence

$$||x_m - x_n|| \le ||f(x_m - x_n)||/\delta = ||f(x_m) - f(x_n)||/\delta \to 0.$$

Therefore $\{x_n\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the Banach space E. The limit $y = \lim x_n$ exists in E. Since f is continuous, $f(x_n) \to f(y)$ and $f(y) \in f(E)$. Therefore f(E) is closed.

6-9.7. <u>Theorem</u> The continuous linear map f is a topological isomorphism iff it is bounded below and has a dense range f(E).

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow) Assume f is topological isomorphism. Then f(E) = F is dense in \overline{F} . Now for every $x \in E$, we obtain $||x|| = ||f^{-1}f(x)|| \le ||f^{-1}|| ||f(x)||$. Since $1 = ||I|| = ||f^{-1}f|| \le ||f^{-1}|| ||f||$, we have $||f^{-1}|| \ne 0$. Therefore the number $\delta = 1/||f|| > 0$ satisfies the requirement.

(\Leftarrow) Since f is bounded below, f(E) is closed in F. Because f(E) is dense in F, we have f(E) = F, i.e. f is surjective. Let $\delta > 0$ satisfies $\delta ||x|| \le ||f(x)||$ for all $x \in E$. Then f(x) = 0 implies x = 0. Hence f is injective. Now f is a continuous isomorphism. By Banach Inversion Theorem, f is a topological isomorphism.

6-9.8. Let X, Y be metric spaces and $f: X \to Y$ a given map. Then the set $\{(x, f(x)) \in X \times Y : x \in X\}$ is called the *graph* of f. The map has closed graph if its graph is a closed subset of the product metric space $X \times Y$. Clearly, f has closed graph iff $x_n \to x$ in X and $f(x_n) \to y$ in Y imply y = f(x). Hence whether the graph is closed in the product space, is independent of the choice of the product metric.

6-9.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every continuous map from a metric space into a metric space has closed graph.

6-9.10. <u>Closed Graph Theorem</u> Let E, F be Banach spaces and $f: E \to F$ a linear map. If the graph of f is closed, then f is continuous.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let G be the graph of f. Since f is linear, G is vector subspace of the product space $E \times F$. Since both E, F are Banach spaces, so is the

 $E \times F$. Since G is closed in $E \times F$, G is also a Banach space. Let h(x, y) = xand k(x, y) = y be projections from $E \times F$ onto E, F respectively. Then both h, k are continuous linear maps. The restriction h|G is actually a continuous isomorphism from the Banach space G onto the Banach space E and hence it is a topological isomorphism. Its inverse map $(h|G)^{-1}: E \to G$ is a continuous linear surjection. Hence the composite map $f = k(h|G)^{-1}$ is also continuous.

6-9.11. **Exercise** Let $f : \mathcal{F}_{\infty} \to \mathcal{F}_{\infty}$ be defined by $f(x) = (x_1, 2x_2, 3x_3, \cdots)$, for all $x \in \mathcal{F}_{\infty}$. Prove that the inverse map f^{-1} is continuous and hence f has a closed graph. Show that f is discontinuous.

6-9.12. **Exercise** Let A, B be closed vector subspaces of a Banach space E such that $A \cap B = \{0\}$. Prove that A + B is closed in E iff there is $\lambda \ge 0$ such that for each $a \in A$ and $b \in B$, we have $||a|| \le \lambda ||a + b||$.

6-9.13. **Exercise** Let E, F be Banach spaces and $g: E \to F$ a linear map. Show that if for every $u \in F'$, $ug: E \to \mathbb{K}$ is continuous then g is continuous.

6-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further Readings</u>: Antosik, Cohen, Fan-63, Asimow, Horowitz and Holland-73.

Chapter 7

Natural Constructions

7-1 Bidual Spaces

7-1.1. Let E be a normed space. The dual space E' of E is a Banach space. Again the dual space of E' is also a Banach space which is called the *bidual space* of E and is denoted by E''. Next theorem says that E can be identified as a subspace of E''. Bidual spaces provide a very simple proof of the existence of completions. Later, it will be shown that every element $f \in E''$ can be approximated by a vector x in E on any given finite dimensional vector subspace of E' without increasing too much of its norm.

7-1.2. <u>Bidual Embedding Theorem</u> Let E be a normed space. For each $x \in E$, let (Jx)(u) = u(x) for all $u \in E'$.

(a) Jx is a continuous linear form on E'.

(b) $J: E \to E''$ is a linear isometry.

(c) For every $x \in E$, we have $||x|| = \sup\{|u(x)| : u \in E', ||u|| \le 1\}$.

<u>Proof.</u> Clearly Jx is a linear form on E'. Since $|(Jx)(u)| = |u(x)| \le ||u|| ||x||$, Jx is continuous on E' and $||Jx|| \le ||x||$. Therefore $Jx \in E''$. It is routine to show that J is a linear map from E into E''. Take any $x \in E$. There is $v \in E'$ such that ||v|| = 1 and v(x) = ||x||. Hence

$$||Jx|| = \sup\{|(Jx)(u)| : u \in E', ||u|| \le 1\}$$

 $= \sup\{|u(x)| : u \in E', ||u|| \le 1\} \ge v(x) = ||x||.$

Therefore J is a linear isometry. Finally for each $x \in E$, we have

$$||x|| = ||Jx|| = \sup\{|(Jx)(u)| : ||u|| \le 1\} = \sup\{|u(x)| : ||u|| \le 1\}.$$

7-1.3. The map J above is called the *natural embedding* from E into its bidual space E''. We shall identify E as a vector subspace of E'' via the natural embedding.

7-1.4. Let E be a normed space. Then a Banach space F is called a *completion* of E if E is isometrically isomorphic to a dense subspace of F. Clearly, every Banach space is a completion of itself.

7-1.5. <u>Theorem</u> Every normed space has a completion.

<u>Proof</u>. Let J be the natural embedding of a normed space E into its bidual space E''. Let F be the closure of J(E) in E''. Since E'' is a Banach space, F is also a Banach space. Consequently E is isometrically isomorphic to the dense subspace J(E) of F. Therefore F is a completion of E.

7-1.6. <u>Generalized Orthonormalization Process</u> Let E^* be the algebraic dual of a vector space E. If u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n are linearly independent in E^* , then there are x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n in E such that $u_i(x_j) = \delta_{ij}$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ where $\delta_{ij} = 1$ if i = j and $\delta_{ij} = 0$ otherwise. This should be compared with the corresponding result in linear algebra. Note that Chapter 13 especially §13-2.7 should be read concurrently.

<u>Proof</u>. We shall prove by induction on n. For n = 1, since u_1 is non-zero, there is $y_1 \in E$ satisfying $u_1(y_1) \neq 0$. Let $x_1 = y_1/u_1(y_1)$. Then $u_1(x_1) = 1$. Next, assume that $u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n, u_{n+1}$ are linearly independent in E^* . By inductive assumption, there are y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n in E such that $u_i(y_j) = \delta_{ij}$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$. Define

$$u = u_{n+1} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{n+1}(y_i)u_i.$$

Since u_1, u_2, \dots, u_{n+1} are linearly independent, we have $u \neq 0$. There is $y \in E$ such that $u(y) \neq 0$. Let

$$x=y-\sum_{j=1}^n u_j(y)y_j.$$

Observe that for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$, we have

$$\begin{split} u(y_j) &= u_{n+1}(y_j) - \sum_{i=1}^n u_{n+1}(y_i)u_i(y_j) = 0, \\ u_i(x) &= u_i(y) - \sum_{j=1}^n u_j(y)u_i(y_j) = 0, \\ u(x) &= u(y) - \sum_{j=1}^n u_j(y)u(y_j) = u(y) \neq 0. \end{split}$$

Define $x_{n+1} = \frac{x}{u(x)}$ and $x_j = y_j - u_{n+1}(y_j)x_{n+1}$ for $1 \le j \le n$. Then for $1 \le i, j \le n$, we have $u_i(x_{n+1}) = u_i(x)/u(x) = 0$,

$$u_{n+1}(x_{n+1}) = \frac{u_{n+1}(x)}{u(x)} = \frac{u(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{n+1}(y_i)u_i(x)}{u(x)} = 1,$$

$$u_{n+1}(x_j) = u_{n+1}(y_j) - u_{n+1}(y_j)u_{n+1}(x_{n+1}) = 0$$

$$u_i(x_j) = u_i(y_j) - u_{n+1}(y_j)u_i(x_{n+1}) = \delta_{ij}.$$

and

This completes the proof.

7-1.7. <u>Corollary</u> Let E be a normed space. If x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n are linearly independent in E, then there are continuous linear forms u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n on E such that $u_i(x_j) = \delta_{ij}$ for all $1 \le i, j \le n$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Since $J(x_1), J(x_2), \dots, J(x_n)$ are linearly independent in E'', there are $u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n \in E'$ such that $u_i(x_j) = J(x_j)(u_i) = \delta_{ij}$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$. \Box

7-1.8. <u>Bidual Approximation Theorem</u> Let E be a Banach space and J the natural embedding of E into its bidual space E''. Given any $f \in E''$, for any $u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n \in E'$ and for each $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $x \in E$ such that $||x|| \le ||f|| + \varepsilon$ and $(Jx)(u_i) = f(u_i)$, for all $1 \le i \le n$.

Proof. Since the theorem is linear in u_i , we may assume that u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n are linearly independent. For each $x \in E$, define $\varphi(x) = (u_1(x), u_2(x), \dots, u_n(x))$. Since all u_i are continuous on E, φ is a continuous linear map from E into The independence of u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n offers $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n \in E$ such \mathbb{K}^{n} . that $u_i(a_j) = \delta_{ij}$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$. For each $r = (r_1, r_2, \dots, r_n)$ in \mathbb{K}^n , let $b = \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_{i}a_{j}$. Then we have $u_{i}(b) = r_{i}$ and hence $\varphi(b) = r$. This shows that φ is a continuous surjection from the Banach space E onto the Banach space \mathbb{K}^n . By Open-Map Theorem, φ is an open map. Let $B = \{x \in E : ||x|| < ||f|| + \varepsilon\}$. Since B is open convex balanced, so is $\varphi(B)$ and in particular absorbing. Let p be the gauge of $\varphi(B)$. Then p is a seminorm on \mathbb{K}^n . Let $s = (f(u_1), f(u_2), \dots, f(u_n))$. Suppose to the contrary that $s \notin \varphi(B)$. Then p(s) > 1. There is a linear form q on \mathbb{K}^n such that q(s) = p(s) and $|q(y)| \leq p(y)$ for all $y \in \mathbb{K}^n$. Assume that the linear form g on \mathbb{K}^n has the representation $g(y) = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i y_i$ for all $y = (y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n) \in \mathbb{K}^n$ where $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n$ are some constants in K. Let $u = \lambda_1 u_1 + \lambda_2 u_2 + \cdots + \lambda_n u_n$. Then we get $|u(b)| = |\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i u_i(b)| = |g\varphi(b)| \le 1$ for all $b \in B$. Taking supremum over $b \in B$, we have $||u||(||f|| + \varepsilon) \le 1$. Also $1 \le g(s) = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i f(u_i) = f(u) \le ||f|| ||u||$. Hence we obtain a contradiction $||f|| + \varepsilon \leq ||f||$. Therefore $s \in \varphi(B)$. Consequently there is $x \in B$ such that $\varphi(x) = s$, i.e. $||x|| < ||f|| + \varepsilon$ and $u_i(x) = f(u_i)$ for all $1 \le i \le n$.

7-2 Quotient Spaces

7-2.1. Let E be a normed space and M a closed vector subspace of E. Let φ be the quotient map from E onto the quotient space E/M. For each $a \in E$, the quotient norm of $\varphi(a)$ in E/M is defined by

$$\|\varphi(a)\| = d(a, M) = \inf\{\|a - x\| : x \in M\}.$$

Clearly it is independent of the choice of a. The quotient vector space E/M together with the quotient norm is called the *quotient normed space*.

7-2.2. Lemma The quotient norm is a norm on the quotient vector space. <u>Proof.</u> Clearly $\|\varphi(a)\| = d(a, M) \ge 0$. Observe that $\|\varphi(a)\| = d(a, M) = 0$ iff $a \in M^- = M$ iff $\varphi(a) = 0$. Next, suppose $a, b \in E$ are given. Choose any $\varepsilon > 0$. There are $x, y \in M$ such that $\|a - x\| \le \|\varphi(a)\| + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$; and $\|b - y\| \le \|\varphi(y)\| + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi(a) + \varphi(b)\| &= \|\varphi(a+b)\| \le \|(a+b) - (x+y)\|, \text{ because } x+y \in M \\ &\le \|a-x\| + \|b-y\| \le \|\varphi(a)\| + \|\varphi(b)\| + \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $\|\varphi(a) + \varphi(b)\| \le \|\varphi(a)\| + \|\varphi(b)\|$. Next, take any scalar λ . If $\lambda = 0$, then $\|\lambda\varphi(a)\| = \|\varphi(0)\| = 0 = |\lambda|\|\varphi(a)\|$. Suppose $\lambda \neq 0$. Then

$$\begin{split} \|\lambda\varphi(a)\| &= \|\varphi(\lambda a)\| = \inf_{x\in M} \|\lambda a - x\| \\ &= \inf_{x\in M} |\lambda| \left\| a - \frac{x}{\lambda} \right\| = |\lambda| \inf_{y\in M} \|a - y\| = |\lambda| \|\varphi(a)\|. \end{split}$$

Therefore the quotient norm is a norm on the quotient space.

7-2.3. <u>**Theorem</u>** The quotient map is an open continuous linear surjection.</u>

Proof. Clearly φ is a linear surjection. Since $\|\varphi(a)\| \leq \|a\|$, φ is continuous. Let A be an open subset of E. Take any $a \in A$. Since A is open, there is r > 0 such that $\mathbb{B}(a, r) \subset A$. We claim $\mathbb{B}[\varphi(a), r] \subset \varphi(A)$. In fact, suppose $\|\varphi(c) - \varphi(a)\| < r$. Then $\|\varphi(c-a)\| < r$. There is $x \in M$ with $\|c-a-x\| < r$. Hence $c - x \in \mathbb{B}(a, r)$, or $c - x \in A$. Thus $\varphi(c) = \varphi(c - x) \in \varphi(A)$. This proves $\mathbb{B}[\varphi(a), r] \subset \varphi(A)$. Therefore $\varphi(A)$ is an open set in E/M.

7-2.4. **Theorem** If E is a Banach space, then so is the quotient space E/M. <u>Proof</u>. To show that E/M is complete, let $\{a_n\}$ be a sequence in E such that $\|\varphi(a_{n+1}) - \varphi(a_n)\| \leq 2^{-n}$ for all $n \geq 1$. It suffices to prove that $\{\varphi(a_n)\}$ converges in E/M. Choose $x_1 = a_1$. Inductively, assume that $x_n \in E$ has been chosen such that $\varphi(x_n) = \varphi(a_n)$. Since $\|\varphi(a_{n+1}) - \varphi(a_n)\| < 2^{-n+1}$, there is $z \in M$ such that $\|a_{n+1} - a_n - z\| < 2^{-n+1}$. Let $x_{n+1} = a_{n+1} - a_n - z + x_n$. Then

$$\varphi(x_{n+1}) = \varphi(a_{n+1}) - \varphi(a_n) - \varphi(z) + \varphi(x_n)$$

 $=\varphi(a_{n+1})-\varphi(a_n)-0+\varphi(a_n)=\varphi(a_{n+1}).$

Furthermore, we have $||x_{n+1} - x_n|| = ||a_{n+1} - a_n - z|| < 2^{-n+1}$. By completeness of E, $x_n \to a$ for some $a \in E$. Because the map φ is continuous, we obtain $\varphi(a_n) = \varphi(x_n) \to \varphi(a)$. Therefore $\{\varphi(a_n)\}$ converges in E/M.

7-2.5. **Theorem** Let E, F be normed spaces and $f : E \to F$ a linear map from E into F. Suppose M is a closed vector subspace contained in the kernel of f; and φ the quotient map from E onto E/M.

(a) There is a unique linear map g from E/M into F such that $f = g\varphi$.

(b) The map g is continuous iff f is.

Proof. (a) It follows algebraically from $M \subset \ker(f)$.

(b) Suppose f is continuous. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Then there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $||x|| \leq \delta$ in E, we have $||f(x)|| \leq \varepsilon$. Now take any $||\varphi(a)|| \leq \frac{1}{2}\delta$ in E/M. There is $y \in M$ such that $||a - y|| < \delta$. Hence

$$\|g\varphi(a)\| = \|g\varphi(a-y)\| = \|f(a-y)\| \le \varepsilon.$$

This proves that g is continuous. The converse is obvious.

7-2.6. <u>Exercise</u> Suppose f is continuous. Prove that the map g is an open surjection iff f is. Prove that if $M = \ker(f)$ then ||f|| = ||g||.

7-2.7. <u>Exercise</u> Let E be a normed space and M a closed subspace of E. Prove that if both M and E/M are complete, then so is E.

7-2.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let M be a vector subspace of a vector space E. Prove that the vector space $(E/M) \times M$ is isomorphic to E.

7-3 Duality of Subspaces and Quotients

7-3.1. Let *E* be a normed space and *E'* its dual space. The orthogonal complement of a subset *M* of *E* is defined by $M^{\perp} = \{u \in E' : u(M) = 0\}$. On the other hand, the orthogonal complement of a subset *H* of *E'* is defined by $H^{\perp} = \{x \in E : H(x) = 0\}$. The duality theory of this section will be used to develop Riesz-Schauder theory of compact linear operators.

7-3.2. <u>Lemma</u> (a) M[⊥] is a closed vector subspace of E'.
(b) H[⊥] is a closed vector subspace of E.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) Let J be the natural embedding of E into E''. Because $\overline{M^{\perp}} = \bigcap_{x \in M} \ker(Jx)$ and since all Jx are continuous on E', M^{\perp} is therefore closed in E'.

(b) It follows from $H^{\perp} = \bigcap_{h \in H} \ker(h)$.

7-3.3. **Double Complement Theorem** If M is a closed vector subspace of a normed space E, then $M^{\perp\perp} = M$.

<u>Proof</u>. Clearly we have $M \subset M^{\perp\perp}$. Conversely, suppose $a \in E \setminus M$. Then there is $u \in E'$ such that u(a) = d(a, M) and u(M) = 0. Hence $u \in M^{\perp}$ and $u(a) \neq 0$. This shows $a \in E \setminus M^{\perp\perp}$. Therefore $M^{\perp\perp} \subset M$. It completes the proof.

7-3.4. **Theorem** Let B be a subset of a normed space E. If M is the closed vector subspace spanned by B, then $M^{\perp} = B^{\perp}$ and $B^{\perp \perp} = M$.

<u>Proof</u>. Clearly we have $B \subset M$ and hence $M^{\perp} \subset B^{\perp}$. Conversely suppose $u \in B^{\perp}$. Let x be a vector in the subspace N spanned by B. Then $x = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \lambda_j b_j$ for some scalars $\lambda_j \in \mathbb{K}$ and some $b_j \in B$. Therefore we get $u(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \lambda_j u(b_j) = 0$. Next, let y be a vector in M. Then there is a sequence $\{x_n\}$ in N convergent to y. The continuity of u gives $u(y) = \lim u(x_n) = 0$. Since $y \in M$ is arbitrary, we have $u \in M^{\perp}$. Consequently $B^{\perp} \subset M^{\perp}$. The proof is completed by $B^{\perp \perp} = (B^{\perp})^{\perp} = (M^{\perp})^{\perp} = M$.

7-3.5. **Theorem** Let M be a closed vector subspace of a normed space E. Let φ be the quotient map from E' onto the quotient space E'/M^{\perp} . Let f be the map from E'/M^{\perp} into M' defined by $f[\varphi(u)](x) = u(x)$, for all $u \in E'$ and all $x \in M$. Then f is a linear isometry form E'/M^{\perp} onto the dual space M' of a closed vector subspace M. Therefore we can identify E'/M^{\perp} and M'.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose $\varphi(u) = \varphi(v)$ where $u, v \in E'$. Then $u - v \in M^{\perp}$. Hence for all $x \in M$, we have (u - v)(x) = 0, i.e. $f[\varphi(u)](x) = u(x) = v(x) = f[\varphi(v)](x)$. Therefore $f[\varphi(u)] = f[\varphi(v)]$. Consequently, f is well-defined on E'/M^{\perp} . Since u is continuous linear on M, $f[\varphi(u)]$ is in M'. Take any scalars $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$. Observe that for all $x \in M$,

$$\begin{split} f[\alpha\varphi(u) + \beta\varphi(v)](x) &= f[\varphi(\alpha u + \beta v)](x) = (\alpha u + \beta v)(x) \\ &= \alpha u(x) + \beta v(x) = \alpha f[\varphi(u)](x) + \beta f[\varphi(v)](x) = \left\{ \alpha f[\varphi(u)] + \beta f[\varphi(v)] \right\}(x) \end{split}$$

i.e. $f[\alpha\varphi(u) + \beta\varphi(v)] = \alpha f[\varphi(u)] + \beta f[\varphi(v)]$. Hence f is a linear map from E'/M^{\perp} into M'. Now consider $u \in E'$, $w \in M^{\perp}$ and $x \in M$. We have

$$|f[\varphi(u)](x)| = |u(x)| = |(u-w)(x)| \le ||u-w|| ||x||.$$

Taking infimum, we obtain

$$|f[\varphi(u)](x)| \le \inf_{w \in M^{\perp}} ||u - w|| ||x|| = ||\varphi(u)|| ||x||.$$

Since $x \in M$ is arbitrary, we get $||f[\varphi(u)]|| \le ||\varphi(u)||$ for all $u \in E'$. Finally, let $h \in M'$ be given. Then h has an extension $u \in E'$ such that ||u|| = ||h||. Now for all $x \in M$, we obtain $f[\varphi(u)](x) = u(x) = h(x)$, i.e. $f[\varphi(u)] = h$. Hence f is

surjective. Furthermore, we get $\|\varphi(u)\| \le \|u\| = \|h\| = \|f[\varphi(u)]\|$. Therefore f is a linear isometry from E'/M^{\perp} onto M'.

7-3.6. **Theorem** Let M be a closed vector subspace of a normed space E. Let φ be the quotient map from E onto the quotient space E/M. Suppose that $g: M^{\perp} \to (E/M)'$ be given by $[g(u)][\varphi(x)] = u(x)$, for all $u \in M^{\perp}$ and all $x \in E$. Then g is a linear isometry form M^{\perp} onto (E/M)'. Therefore we can identify M^{\perp} as the dual space of E/M.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose $\varphi(x) = \varphi(y)$ and $u \in M^{\perp}$. Then $x - y \in M$ and hence u(x - y) = 0, i.e. $[g(u)][\varphi(x)] = [g(x)][\varphi(y)]$. Hence g(u) is well-defined on E/M. Next, for $x, y \in E$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$, we have

$$\begin{split} & [g(u)][\alpha\varphi(x) + \beta\varphi(y)] = [g(u)][\varphi(\alpha x + \beta y)] = u(\alpha x + \beta y) \\ & = \alpha u(x) + \beta u(y) = \alpha [g(u)][\varphi(x)] + \beta [g(u)][\varphi(y)]. \end{split}$$

Hence g(u) is linear on E/M. Furthermore, for every $z \in M$, we get

$$[g(u)][\varphi(x)] = |u(x)| = |u(x-z)| \le ||u|| ||x-z||.$$

Taking infimum over $z \in M$, we obtain $|[g(u)][\varphi(x)]| \leq ||u|| ||\varphi(x)||$. Hence g(u) is in (E/M)'. Moreover, we get $||g(u)|| \leq ||u||$. For $u, v \in M^{\perp}$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$, observe that

$$[g(\alpha u + \beta v)][\varphi(x)] = (\alpha u + \beta v)(x) = \alpha u(x) + \beta v(x)$$
$$= \alpha [g(u)][\varphi(x)] + \beta [g(u)][\varphi(x)] = [\alpha g(u) + \beta g(v)][\varphi(x)],$$
$$g(\alpha u + \beta v) = \alpha g(u) + \beta g(v).$$

Hence $g: M^{\perp} \to (E/M)'$ is a linear map. Next let $h: E/M \to \mathbb{K}$ be a continuous linear form. Then $u = h\varphi$ is a continuous linear form on E. Clearly u(M) = 0 and hence $u \in M^{\perp}$. Since $[g(u)]\varphi(x) = u(x) = h[\varphi(x)]$, we have g(u) = h. Therefore g is surjective. Finally, for all $x \in E$ and $u \in M^{\perp}$, we obtain $|u(x)| = |[g(u)][\varphi(x)]| \le ||g(u)|| ||\varphi(x)|| \le ||g(u)|| ||x||$, i.e. $||u|| \le ||g(u)||$. Therefore g is a linear isometry from M^{\perp} onto (E/M)'.

7-4 Direct Sums

i.e.

7-4.1. Let E be a vector space and M, N vector subspaces of E. Then E is called an algebraic direct sum of M, N if every vector x in E can be expressed uniquely as x = a+b where $a \in M$ and $b \in N$. In this case, the map $p: E \to M$ defined by p(x) = a is called a *projection* from E onto M along N. Clearly, p is

a linear map and it is also an *idempotent*, i.e. $p^2 = p$. The vector subspace N is called an *algebraic complement* of M.

7-4.2. Lemma Let M, N be vector subspaces of a vector space E. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) E is the direct sum of M and N.

(b) E = M + N and $M \cap N = \{0\}$

(c) The addition map $f(a, b) = a + b : M \times N \to E$ is an algebraic isomorphism.

7-4.3. Let M, N be vector subspaces of a normed space E. Then E is called a *topological direct sum* of M, N if the addition map $f : M \times N \to E$ is a topological isomorphism. In this case, N is called a *topological complement* of M. For convenience, write $M = E \ominus N$. See §13-10.6 for Hilbert spaces. We work with the norm ||(a, b)|| = ||a|| + ||b|| for the product space $M \times N$.

7-4.4. Lemma Let M, N be vector subspaces of a normed space E. If $E = M \oplus N$ is a topological direct sum, then both M, N are closed.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $a_n \to x$ where $a_n \in M$. Write x = a + b with $a \in M$ and $b \in N$. Define $b_n = 0$ and $x_n = a_n + b_n$. Then $x_n \to x$ in E. Since the addition map $f(a,b) = a + b : M \times N \to E$ is a topological isomorphism, we have $f^{-1}(x_n) \to f^{-1}(x)$, i.e. $(a_n, b_n) \to (a, b)$ in $M \times N$. Hence $a_n \to a$. Therefore $x = a \in M$. Consequently, M is closed in E.

7-4.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let M, N be closed vector subspaces of a Banach space E. If E is the algebraic direct sum of M, N, then E is also the topological direct sum of M, N.

<u>Proof</u>. As closed subspaces of a Banach space E, both M, N and hence their product space are also Banach spaces. Since E is the algebraic direct sum of M, N, the addition map $f : M \times N \to E$ is a continuous algebraic isomorphism from a Banach space $M \times N$ onto a Banach space E. Therefore f is a topological isomorphism.

7-4.6. **Theorem** Let M be a vector subspace of a normed space E. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) M admits a topological complement.
- (b) There is a continuous linear idempotent from E onto M.
- (c) There is a closed vector subspace N of E such that
 - (i) E is the algebraic direct sum of M, N;
 - (ii) the quotient map is a topological isomorphism from M onto E/N.

<u>Proof.</u> $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Let N be a topological complement of M. Then the addition map $f: M \times N \to E$ is a topological isomorphism. Let g be the projection from the product space $M \times N$ onto M. Then $p = gf^{-1}$ is a continuous linear idempotent from E onto M.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Let $N = \ker(p)$. Then E = M + N is an algebraic direct sum. Since p is continuous, N is closed. Let $\varphi : E \to E/N$ be the quotient map. Then $\varphi|M$ is a continuous algebraic isomorphism from M onto E/N. Since $p = (\varphi|M)^{-1}\varphi$ is continuous, $(\varphi|M)^{-1}$ is continuous. Therefore the quotient map is a topological isomorphism from M onto E/N.

 $(c \Rightarrow a)$ Because E is the algebraic direct sum of M and N, the addition $f: M \times N \to E$ is an algebraic isomorphism. Clearly f is continuous. Let $\varphi: E \to E/N$ be the quotient map. To show that f^{-1} is continuous, let $x_n \to x$ in E. Let $x_n = a_n + b_n$ and x = a + b be decompositions into M + N. Then $\varphi(a_n) = \varphi(x_n) \to \varphi(x) = \varphi(a)$. Since $\varphi|M$ is a topological isomorphism, we have $a_n \to a$. Hence $b_n \to b$, or $(a_n, b_n) \to (a, b)$, i.e. $f^{-1}(x_n) \to f^{-1}(x)$. Therefore f is a topological isomorphism. Consequently, M admits a topological complement.

7-4.7. <u>Corollary</u> Let E be a normed space which is an algebraic direct sum of two vector subspaces M, N. If M is closed and N is finite dimensional, then E is the topological direct sum of M, N.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varphi : E \to E/M$ denote the quotient map. Since E = M + N is an algebraic direct sum, $\varphi | N$ is an algebraic isomorphism from a finite dimensional vector space N onto E/M and hence it is a topological isomorphism. Therefore E is the topological direct sum of M, N.

7-4.8. <u>Corollary</u> Every finite dimensional vector subspace M in a normed space E admits a topological complement.

<u>Proof</u>. Let e_1, e_2, \dots, e_n be a basis in M. Define the linear forms g_i on M by $g_i(\lambda_1 e_1 + \lambda_2 e_2 + \dots + \lambda_n e_n) = \lambda_i$ for all scalars λ_i . Since M is finite dimensional, each g_i is continuous on M. Let f_i be a continuous linear extension of g_i over the whole space E. Let $p(x) = \sum_{j=1}^n f_j(x)e_j$ for each $x \in E$. Then p is a continuous linear idempotent onto M. Therefore M admits a topological complement.

7-4.9. <u>Corollary</u> Let M be a closed vector subspace of a normed space E. Then for every finite dimensional vector subspace N of E, the sum M + N is a closed vector subspace of E. <u>Proof</u>. Let φ be the quotient map from E onto the quotient space E/M. Then $\varphi(N)$ is a finite dimensional vector subspace of the normed space E/M. Hence $\varphi(N)$ is closed in E/M. Therefore the inverse image $\varphi^{-1}[\varphi(N)] = M + N$ of the closed set $\varphi(N)$ is also closed in E.

7-4.10. **Exercise** Let *E* be a Banach space and *P*, *Q* two idempotents on *E* such that P + Q = I and PQ = QP = 0. Let $M = \ker(P)$ and $N = \ker(Q)$. Show that $E = M \oplus N$ is a topological direct sum and that $\operatorname{Im}(Q) = \ker(P)$.

7-4.11. Let M be a vector subspace of a vector space E. Then the dimension of the quotient space E/M is called the *codimension* of M.

7-4.12. <u>Theorem</u> Let M be a finite codimensional vector subspace of a normed space E. If M is closed and if H is a vector subspace of E satisfying $M \subset H \subset E$, then H is also closed in E.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varphi : E \to E/M$ be the quotient map. Since $\varphi(H)$ is a vector subspace of the finite dimensional vector space E/M, $\varphi(H)$ is closed in E/M. Therefore $H = H + M = \varphi^{-1}[\varphi(H)]$ is closed in E.

7-4.13. **Lemma** Let M be a vector subspace of a vector space E. Then M has finite codimension iff there is a finite dimensional vector subspace N of E such that $E = M \oplus N$ is an algebraic direct sum.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varphi: E \to E/M$ be the quotient map. Suppose $E = M \oplus N$. Then $\varphi|N: N \to E/M$ is an isomorphism, so dim $E/M = \dim N < \infty$. Therefore M has finite codimension. Conversely, assume $\dim E/M < \infty$. There are $e_1, e_2, \cdots, e_n \in E$ such that $\varphi(e_1), \varphi(e_2), \cdots, \varphi(e_n)$ form a basis for E/M. It is easy to verify that e_1, e_2, \cdots, e_n are linearly independent. Hence the vector subspace N spanned by e_1, e_2, \cdots, e_n has dimension n. It is routine to show that E is the algebraic direct sum of M, N.

7-4.14. **Theorem** Let E, F be Banach spaces and $f: E \to F$ a continuous linear map. If f(E) is finite codimensional in F, then f(E) is closed in F.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varphi: E \to E/\ker(f)$ be the quotient map. Since $f: E \to f(E)$ is a surjection, there is a continuous isomorphism $g: E/\ker(f) \to f(E)$ such that $f = g\varphi$. By finite codimension of f(E) in F, there is a finite dimensional vector subspace N of F such that $F = f(E) \oplus N$ is an algebraic direct sum. Then the restriction of the quotient map $h: f(E) \to F/N$ is a continuous isomorphism. Now $hg: E/\ker(f) \to F/N$ is also a continuous isomorphism between two Banach spaces. By Banach-Inversion Theorem, its inverse map is continuous.

Therefore $g^{-1} = (hg)^{-1}h : f(E) \to E/\ker(f)$ is continuous. Now f(E) as a topological isomorphic image of the Banach space $E/\ker(f)$ is complete and hence closed in F.

7-5 Transposes

7-5.1. Let E', F' be the dual spaces of normed spaces E, F respectively. Let $f: E \to F$ be a continuous linear map. For every $u \in F'$, let $f^t(u) = uf$. Then $f^t(u)$ as composite of continuous linear maps is a continuous linear form on E. Clearly f^t is a linear map from F' into E'. It is called the *transpose* of f. In order to take the advantage of symmetry between E' and E, we write $\langle w, x \rangle = w(x)$ for all $w \in E'$ and all $x \in E$. Similar notation will be applied to F. Then we have $\langle f^t u, x \rangle = \langle u, fx \rangle$ for all $u \in F'$ and all $x \in E$.

7-5.2. **Theorem** Let E, F be normed spaces and $f : E \to F$ a continuous linear map. Then the transpose f^t of f is a continuous linear map from F' into E'. Furthermore, we have $||f^t|| = ||f||$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $||f^t(u)|| = ||uf|| \le ||u|| ||f||$, the linear map f^t is continuous and it satisfies $||f^t|| \le ||f||$. On the other hand, let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is $x \in E$ such that ||x|| = 1 and $||f|| - \varepsilon \le ||f(x)||$. Choose $u \in F'$ such that ||u|| = 1 and uf(x) = ||f(x)||. Now observe that

 $||f|| - \varepsilon \le ||f(x)|| = uf(x) = |uf(x)| \le ||uf|| ||x|| = ||f^t(u)|| \le ||f^t|| ||u|| = ||f^t||.$ Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $||f|| \le ||f^t||$. This completes the proof. \Box

7-5.3. **Theorem** Let E, F, G be normed spaces. (a) $(f+g)^t = f^t + g^t$ for all $f, g \in L(E, F)$. (b) $(\lambda f)^t = \lambda f^t$ for all $f \in L(E, F)$ and all $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$. (c) $(gf)^t = f^tg^t$ for all $f \in L(E, F)$ and all $g \in L(F, G)$.

7-5.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let E, F be normed spaces and let $f : E \to F$ be a continuous linear map.

(a) $(\operatorname{Im} f)^{\perp} = \operatorname{ker}(f^{t}).$ (b) $\operatorname{Im} f \subset (\operatorname{ker} f^{t})^{\perp}.$ (c) $\operatorname{Im} f = (\operatorname{ker} f^{t})^{\perp}$ iff $\operatorname{Im} f$ is closed in F.(d) $(\operatorname{Im} f^{t})^{\perp} = \operatorname{ker} f.$ (e) $\operatorname{Im} f^{t} \subset (\operatorname{ker} f)^{\perp}.$ <u>Proof</u>. (a) $u \in (\operatorname{Im} f)^{\perp}$ iff $\langle u, fx \rangle = \langle f^{t}u, x \rangle = 0, \forall x \in E$ iff $f^{t}u = 0$ iff $u \in \operatorname{ker}(f^{t}).$ (b) Take any $y \in \text{Im}(f)$, i.e. y = f(x) for some $x \in E$. Then for all $u \in \text{ker}(f^t)$, we have $f^t(u) = 0$. Hence $\langle u, y \rangle = \langle u, fx \rangle = \langle f^t u, x \rangle = 0$, or $y \in (\text{ker } f^t)^{\perp}$.

(c) By (a), we get (ker f^t)^{\perp} = (Im f)^{\perp \perp} which is the closure of Im(f). The result follows. Both (d) and (e) are left as exercises.

7-5.5. **Lemma** Let E, F be Banach spaces and $f : E \to F$ a continuous linear map. If Im(f) is closed in F, then there is a constant λ such that for each $y \in \text{Im}(f)$ there is $x \in E$ satisfying y = f(x) and $||x|| \leq \lambda ||y||$.

<u>Proof</u>. As a closed subspace of a Banach space, G = f(E) is also a Banach space and $f: E \to G$ is a continuous surjection. By Open-Map Theorem, the image f(V) of the open unit ball V in E is open in G. There is $\delta > 0$ such that $G \cap \mathbb{B}(0, \delta) \subset f(V)$. Let $\lambda = \frac{1}{\delta}$. Take any $y \in F$. If y = 0, then choose x = 0 and obtain $||x|| \leq \lambda ||y||$. Assume $y \neq 0$ in G. Then $\frac{\delta y}{||y||} \in G \cap \mathbb{B}(0, \delta)$. There is $a \in V$ such that $f(a) = \frac{\delta y}{||y||}$. Let $x = \frac{a||y||}{\delta}$. Then f(x) = y and $||x|| = \frac{||a|| ||y||}{\delta} \leq \lambda ||y||$.

7-5.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let E, F be Banach spaces and $f : E \to F$ a continuous linear map. If Im(f) is closed in F, then $\text{Im}(f^t) = (\text{ker } f)^{\perp}$. Hence, $\text{Im}(f^t)$ is closed in E'.

Proof. Take any $v \in (\ker f)^{\perp}$. For every $f(x) \in f(E)$, define g[f(x)] = v(x). Suppose f(x) = f(a). Then $x - a \in \ker(f)$ and hence v(x - a) = 0, i.e. v(x) = v(a). Thus g is well-defined on f(E). Clearly g is linear on f(E). There is $\lambda > 0$ such that for every $y \in f(E)$ the conditions y = f(x) and $||x|| \leq \lambda ||y||$ for some $x \in E$. Due to $|g(y)| = |gf(x)| = |v(x)| \leq ||v|| ||x|| \leq \lambda ||v|| ||x||$, g is a continuous linear form on f(E). Let g be extended to a continuous linear form u on F. Since for every $x \in E$, $(f^t u)(x) = uf(x) = gf(x) = v(x)$, we have $f^t(u) = v$. Therefore $(\ker f)^{\perp} \subset \operatorname{Im}(f^t)$. This completes the proof. \Box

7-5.7. <u>Exercise</u> Let E, F be normed spaces and $f: E \to F$ a continuous linear map. Identify E, F as vector subspaces of E'', F'' respectively. Prove that the second transpose $f^{tt}: E'' \to F''$ is an extension of f.

7-5.8. Let $\mathcal{E} = [e_1, \dots, e_n]$ and $\mathcal{F} = [f_1, \dots, f_m]$ be ordered bases for be finite dimensional vector spaces E, F in matrix form respectively. The coordinate vector of $x \in E$ with respect to \mathcal{E} is a column vector $[x] = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)^t$

defined by $x = \mathcal{E}[x] = \sum_{j=1}^{n} e_j x_j$. The matrix representation of a linear map $A: E \to F$ relative to \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F} is the matrix $[A] = [\alpha_{ij}]$ defined by $A\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{F}[A]$, i.e. $[Ae_1, \dots, Ae_n] = [f_1, \dots, f_m]$ [A], or $Ae_j = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{ij} f_i$ for each $1 \leq j \leq n$. Suppose that $\mathcal{G} = [g_1, \dots, g_n]$ also an ordered basis for E. The transition matrix from \mathcal{E} to \mathcal{G} is the matrix representation P of the identity map $I: E_{\mathcal{E}} \to E_{\mathcal{G}}$ with the indicated ordered basis, i.e. $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{G}P$. Clearly if $\mathcal{E}H = \mathcal{E}K$ for $n \times t$ matrices H, K, then H = K. In particular, coordinate vectors and matrix representations are uniquely defined.

7-5.9. **Example** The ordered basis $\{(1,3), (2,5)\}$ of $E = \mathbb{R}^2$ is represented by a matrix $\mathcal{E} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 3 & 5 \end{bmatrix}$. The vector $x = (3,8) \in E$ has the coordinate vector $[x] = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$ because $x = \mathcal{E}[x]$. Suppose another ordered basis is given by the matrix $\mathcal{G} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 4 & 7 \end{bmatrix}$. Then the transition matrix P from \mathcal{E} to \mathcal{G} is given by $I\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{G}P$, i.e. $P = \mathcal{G}^{-1}\mathcal{E} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & -4 \\ 1 & 3 \end{bmatrix}$.

7-5.10. <u>Exercise</u> Prove the following statements by concise matrix notation.
(a) [Ax] = [A][x] is the coordinate vector of Ax with respect to the basis F.

(b) The matrix representation of an identity map is the identity matrix and the zero map the zero matrix.

(c) The map $A \to [A]$ is an isomorphism from the vector space L(E, F) of all linear maps onto the vector space mat(m, n) of all $m \times n$ matrices.

(d) If B is a linear map from F into a finite dimensional vector space with a given basis, then we have [BA] = [B][A].

(e) For every linear map $T: E \to E$, we have $[T]_{\mathcal{E}} = P^{-1}[T]_{\mathcal{G}}P$.

7-5.11. **Exercise** Let x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n be vectors in E and let u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n be linear forms on E. Prove that if $u_i(x_j) = \delta_{ij}$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ then $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ and $\{u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n\}$ are linearly independent. Prove that $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ is a basis of E iff $\{u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n\}$ is a basis of the algebraic dual E^* . In this case, $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ and $\{u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n\}$ are called *dual bases*.

7-5.12. **Exercise** Let $\mathcal{E}' = \{e'_1, e'_2, \dots, e'_n\}$ and $\mathcal{F}' = \{f'_1, f'_2, \dots, f'_m\}$ denote the bases for E', F' dual to \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F} respectively. Show that $[A^t] = [A]^t$ with respect to the bases \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F} and their dual bases.

7-6 Reflexive Spaces

7-6.1. Let E be a normed space and J the natural embedding from E into the bidual space E''. Then E is said to be *reflexive* if J is surjective, i.e. for every $s \in E''$, there is $x \in E$ such that s(u) = u(x) for all $u \in E'$.

7-6.2. <u>Lemma</u> (a) Every finite dimensional normed space E is reflexive.(b) Every reflexive space is a Banach space.

Proof. (a) It follows from dim $E = \dim E' = \dim E''$.

(b) The dual space of a normed space is always complete.

7-6.3. **Theorem** Let E be a Banach space. Then E is reflexive iff E' is.

<u>Proof</u>. (\Rightarrow) Let $J: E \to E''$ and $J': E' \to E'''$ be the natural embeddings. Let $s \in E'''$ be given. Now the composite sJ is a continuous linear form on E. Then $u = sJ \in E'$. Take any $a \in E''$. Since E is reflexive, there is $x \in E$ such that a = Jx. Consider (J'u)(a) = a(u) = u(x) = (sJ)x = s(Jx) = s(a). Since $a \in E''$ is arbitrary, we have s = J'u. Therefore J' is surjective. Consequently E' is reflexive.

(⇐) Since *E* is a Banach space and *J* is an isometry, J(E) is also a Banach space and hence it is closed in *E''*. Suppose to the contrary that there is $a \in E'' \setminus J(E)$. Then there is $s \in E'''$ such that $s(a) \neq 0$ and s(JE) = 0. Since *E'* is reflexive, there is $u \in E'$ such that s = J'u. Now $a(u) = (J'u)(a) = s(a) \neq 0$. On the other hand, for all $x \in E$, we have u(x) = (Jx)(u) = (J'u)(Jx) = s(Jx) = 0, i.e. u = 0, or a(u) = 0. This contradiction shows JE = E''. Therefore *E* is reflexive. \Box

7-6.4. <u>Theorem</u> Every closed subspace M of a reflexive space E is reflexive. <u>Proof.</u> Let $b \in M''$ be given. For every $u \in E'$, the restriction u|M is a continuous linear form on M. Hence b(u|M) is a well-defined scalar. Let f(u) = b(u|M). Clearly f is a linear form in u. Furthermore,

$$|f(u)| = |b(u|M)| \le ||b|| ||u|M|| \le ||b|| ||u||.$$

Hence f is continuous, i.e. $f \in E''$. Since E is reflexive, there is $x \in E$ such that f = Jx, i.e. for all $u \in E'$, we have u(x) = (Jx)(u) = f(u) = b(u|M). Now suppose to the contrary that $x \notin M$. There is $u \in E'$ such that u(M) = 0 and $u(x) \neq 0$. Hence u|M = 0 and so u(x) = b(u|M) = 0. This contradiction establishes $x \in M$. Finally, take any $v \in M'$. Let u be an extension of v over E. Then v(x) = u(x) = b(u|M) = b(v). Therefore M is reflexive. \Box

7-6.5. Let E be a normed space. A subset M of E is said to be *total* if the vector subspace spanned by M is dense in E.

7-6.6. <u>Theorem</u> If a normed space E has a countable total set $\{x_n\}$, then E is separable.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let Q be a countable dense subset of the scalar field \mathbb{K} . Then the set of all linear combinations of $\{x_n\}$ with coefficients in Q is a countable dense subset of E.

7-6.7. <u>Exercise</u> Let $1 \le p < \infty$. Prove that the sequence $\{e_n : n \ge 1\}$ is total in ℓ_p and c_0 . Prove that ℓ_p and c_0 are separable.

7-6.8. **Example** The space ℓ_{∞} of all bounded sequences is not separable.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that ℓ_{∞} is separable. Let $\{x^n : n \ge 1\}$ be a countable dense subset of ℓ_{∞} . Let $x^n = (x_1^n, x_2^n, x_3^n, \cdots)$ for each n. Define $y_n = 1$ if the real part of x_n^n is negative and $y_n = -1$ otherwise. Then clearly $y = (y_1, y_2, y_3, \cdots)$ in ℓ_{∞} . Furthermore, $1 \le |y_n - x_n^n| \le ||y - x^n||_{\infty}$ for each n. Therefore $\{x^n : n \ge 1\}$ is not dense in ℓ_{∞} which is a contradiction. This proves that ℓ_{∞} is not separable.

7-6.9. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let E be a Banach space. If the dual space E' is separable, then so is E.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{u_n\}$ be a countable dense subset of the dual space E'. For each n, there is $x_n \in E$ such that $||x_n|| = 1$ and $|u_n(x_n)| \ge \frac{1}{2}||u_n||$. Let M be the closed vector subspace spanned by $\{x_n\}$. Then M is separable. Suppose to the contrary that $M \neq E$. Then there is $a \in E \setminus M$. Since M is closed, we have d(a, M) > 0. There is $u \in E'$ such that u(M) = 0, ||u|| = 1 and $u(a) \neq 0$. Since $x_n \in M$, $u(x_n) = 0$ for all n. Hence

$$\frac{1}{2}||u_n|| \le |u_n(x_n)| = ||(u_n - u)(x_n)|| \le ||u_n - u|| ||x_n|| = ||u_n - u||.$$

Therefore we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I} &= \|u\| \le \|u - u_n\| + \|u_n\| \le \|u - u_n\| + 2\|u - u_n\| \\ &= 3\|u - u_n\|, \text{ i.e. } \|u - u_n\| \ge \frac{1}{3}. \end{split}$$

This contradiction shows $\{u_n\}$ is not dense in E', contrary to our assumption. Therefore M = E. Consequently E is separable.

7-6.10. Corollary If E is a reflexive and separable Banach space, then so are E'' and E'.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{x_n\}$ be a countable dense subset of E. Then $\{Jx_n\}$ is a countable subset of E''. Let $a \in E''$ be given. Since E is reflexive, there is $x \in E$ such that Jx = a. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is n such that $||x_n - x|| \le \varepsilon$. Hence we

have $||Jx_n - a|| = ||J(x_n - x)|| = ||x_n - x|| \le \varepsilon$. Consequently $\{Jx_n\}$ is also dense in E''. Therefore E'' is separable. As a result, E' is also reflexive and separable.

7-6.11. **Exercise** Show that c_0 is not reflexive.

7-6.12. **Exercise** Show that ℓ_p is reflexive for 1 .

7-6.13. **Exercise** Prove that if X is a compact metric space, then the Banach space $C_{\infty}(X)$ is separable.

7-6.14. **Example** If Q is a separable vector subspace of a Banach space E, then there is a countable set P in E' such that $||x|| = \sup\{|v(x)| : v \in P\}$ for each $x \in Q$ and ||v|| = 1 for every $v \in P$. Furthermore for all $x, y \in Q$ if v(x) = v(y) for all $v \in P$, then x = y.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\{x_n\}$ be a countable dense subset of Q. For each n, let $v_n \in E'$ such that $|v_n x_n| = ||x_n||$ and $||v_n|| = 1$. Take any $x \in Q$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is n such that $||x_n - x|| \le \varepsilon$. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \|x\| &\leq \|x_n\| + \varepsilon = |v_n x_n| + \varepsilon \leq |v_n (x_n - x)| + |v_n x| + \varepsilon \\ &\leq \|v_n\| \|x_n - x\| + |v_n x| + \varepsilon \leq t + 2\varepsilon \end{aligned}$$

where $t = \sup_n |v_n x|$. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $||x|| \le t$. It is an exercise to show $t \le ||x||$. Therefore $P = \{v_n\}$ is the required set. Finally, $||x - y|| = \sup_n |v_n(x - y)| = \sup_n |v_n x - v_n y| = 0$ gives x = y.

7-7 Weak Convergence

7-7.1. Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence in a normed space E.

(a) The sequence $\{x_n\}$ is said to be *weakly Cauchy* if for every $u \in E'$, the sequence $\{u(x_n)\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in K. The sequence $\{x_n\}$ is said to *converge weakly* to the *weak limit* $a \in E$ if for every $u \in E'$, we have $u(x_n) \to u(a)$ in K. Therefore the weak convergence is to measure the nearness in terms of one arbitrary direction given by u.

(b) For convenience, $\{x_n\}$ is said to be strongly Cauchy if $||x_m - x_n|| \to 0$ as $m, n \to \infty$. Also $\{x_n\}$ is said to converge strongly to $a \in E$ if $||x_n - a|| \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Therefore the strong convergence is to measure the nearness in terms of norm. By $||x_n - a|| = \sup_{||u|| \le 1} |u(x_n) - u(a)|$, strong convergence is also called the *uniform convergence* on the unit ball of its dual space. Uniform Boundedness Theorem will be the main tool for this and next sections.

7-7.2. **<u>Theorem</u>** (a) If $x_n \to a$ strongly, then $x_n \to a$ weakly.

(b) If $\{x_n\}$ is strongly Cauchy, it is weakly Cauchy.

(c) If $x_n \to a$ weakly, then $\{x_n\}$ is weakly Cauchy.

(d) If $x_n \to a$ weakly and $x_n \to b$ weakly, then a = b.

<u>Proof</u>. Both (a) and (b) follow from $|u(x)| \leq ||u|| ||x||$. Part (c) follows from the completeness of **K**. Part (d) follows because the dual space E' separates points of E.

7-7.3. Let M be a subset of a normed space E. Then M is strongly bounded or norm bounded if $\sup_{x \in M} ||x|| < \infty$. A set M is weakly bounded if for each $u \in E'$, $\sup_{x \in M} |u(x)| < \infty$. A set M is bounded if it is either strongly bounded or weakly bounded.

7-7.4. **Theorem** A subset M of E is strongly bounded iff it is weakly bounded. **Proof.** (\Rightarrow) It follows from $|u(x)| \le ||u|| ||x||$.

(\Leftarrow) Suppose M is weakly bounded. For each $a \in M$, consider the continuous linear form Ja on E' where J is the natural embedding from E into E''. Since M is weakly bounded, for each $u \in E'$,

$$\sup_{a\in M} |(Ja)u| = \sup_{a\in M} |u(a)| \le \lambda < \infty.$$

By Uniform Boundedness Theorem, $\sup_{a \in M} \|Ja\| < \infty$, i.e. $\sup_{a \in M} \|a\| < \infty$. Therefore M is strongly bounded.

7-7.5. Corollary Weakly Cauchy sequences are strongly bounded.

7-7.6. **Exercise** Prove that a subset M of a normed space is bounded if every sequence in M has a weakly Cauchy subsequence.

7-7.7. <u>Corollary</u> If $x_n \to a$ weakly, then $\{x_n\}$ is weakly bounded. Moreover, we have $||a|| \leq \liminf ||x_n||$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $\{x_n\}$ is weakly Cauchy, it is weakly bounded. Next, for each $u \in E'$, we have $(Jx_n)u \to (Ja)u$. Hence by Banach-Steinhaus Theorem, we obtain $||Ja|| \leq \liminf ||Jx_n||$, i.e. $||a|| \leq \liminf ||x_n||$.

7-7.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let $\{x_n\}$ be a bounded sequence in E and let $a \in E$ be given. If there is a total subset M of the dual space E' such that for every $u \in M$, $u(x_n) \to u(a)$, then we have $x_n \to a$ weakly.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Take any $v \in E'$. For the bounded sequence $\{x_n\}$, there is $\lambda > 0$ such that $||x_n|| \leq \lambda$ for all n and also $||a|| \leq \lambda$. Since M is total in E', the vector

subspace Q spanned by M is dense in E'. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $w \in Q$ such that $||v - w|| \le \varepsilon/\lambda$. Write $w = \alpha_1 u_1 + \alpha_2 u_2 + \cdots + \alpha_k u_k$ where all $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{K}$ and $u_j \in M$. Take any $\mu > \sum_{j=1}^k |\lambda_j|$. Since $u_j(x_n) \to u_j(a)$ as $n \to \infty$, there is an integer p such that for all $n \ge p$ we have $|u_j(x_n) - u_j(a)| \le \varepsilon/\mu$. Now for $n \ge p$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |v(x_n) - v(a)| &\leq |v(x_n) - w(x_n)| + |w(x_n) - w(a)| + |w(a) - v(a)| \\ &\leq \|v - w\| \|x_n\| + \sum_{j=1}^k |\alpha_j| \|u_j(x_n) - u_j(a)\| + \|w - v\| \|a\| \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{\lambda} \cdot \lambda + \sum_{j=1}^k |\alpha_j| \cdot \frac{\varepsilon}{\mu} + \frac{\varepsilon}{\lambda} \cdot \lambda \leq 3\varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Hence $v(x_n) \to v(a)$. Since $v \in E'$ is arbitrary, we have $x_n \to a$ weakly. \Box

7-7.9. **Theorem** Let E, F be normed spaces and $f: E \to F$ a continuous linear map. If $x_n \to a$ weakly in E, then $f(x_n) \to f(a)$ weakly in F.

<u>Proof</u>. Take any $u \in F'$. Then $uf : E \to \mathbb{K}$ is a continuous linear form on E. Since $x_n \to a$ weakly, we have $uf(x_n) \to uf(a)$. Because $u \in F'$ is arbitrary, we have $f(x_n) \to f(a)$ weakly.

7-7.10. **Exercise** Show that in ℓ_2 , the sequence $\{e_n\}$ converges weakly but not in norm. Prove that in a finite dimensional normed space, every weak convergent sequence is convergent in norm.

7-7.11. **Exercise** Prove that for $1 , a sequence <math>x_n = (x_1^n, x_2^n, x_3^n, \cdots)$ converges weakly to $a = (a_1, a_2, a_3, \cdots)$ in ℓ_p iff the following conditions hold: (a) the sequence $\{x_n\}$ is bounded;

(b) for every $j, x_j^n \to a_j$.

7-7.12. **Exercise** Let $\{x_n\}$ and $\{y_n\}$ be given sequences in a normed space E. Prove that if $x_n \to a$ and $y_n \to b$ weakly in E, then for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$, $\alpha x_n + \beta y_n \to \alpha a + \beta b$ weakly in E.

7-7.13. **Exercise** Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence in a normed space E. If $x_n \to a$ weakly in E, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are $\lambda_i \ge 0$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^k \lambda_i = 1$ and $||a - \sum_{i=1}^k \lambda_i x_i|| \le \varepsilon$.

7-7.14. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every closed convex set H of a Banach space contains the weak limit of every sequence in H.

7-8 Weak-Star Convergence

7-8.1. Let *E* be a normed space and $\{u_n\}$ a sequence in the dual space *E'*. (a) $\{u_n\}$ is said to be *weak-star Cauchy* if for every $x \in E$, the sequence $\{u_n(x)\}$ is Cauchy in \mathbb{K} . The sequence $\{u_n\}$ is said to be *weak-star convergent* to the *weak-star limit* $v \in E'$ if for every $x \in E$, we have $u_n(x) \to v(x)$ in \mathbb{K} .

(b) The strong and weak convergences on E' were defined in last section when E' is considered as a normed space by itself. Hence the strong convergence in E' is in terms of the norm. The weak convergence in E' is in terms of the bidual E''.

7-8.2. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let $\{u_n\}$ be a sequence in the dual space E' of a normed space E. (a) If $u_n \to v$ weakly in E', then $u_n \to v$ in weak-star.

(b) If $u_n \to v$ in weak-star, then $\{u_n\}$ is weak-star Cauchy.

(c) Every weak-star convergence sequence has a unique weak-star limit.

<u>Proof</u>. We shall prove (c) only and leave (a), (b) as exercises. Let $u_n \to u$ and $u_n \to v$ in weak-star. Suppose to the contrary that $u \neq v$. There is $x \in E$ such that $u(x) \neq v(x)$. Since $u_n(x) \to u(x)$ and $u_n(x) \to v(x)$ in \mathbb{K} , we obtain a contradiction u(x) = v(x). This completes the proof.

7-8.3. <u>Theorem</u> Every weak-star Cauchy sequence $\{u_n\}$ in E' is weak-star convergent and norm-bounded. In other words, the dual space is always weak-star sequentially complete.

Proof. It follows immediately from Banach-Steinhaus Theorem. \Box

7-8.4. **Corollary** Every reflexive space E is weakly sequentially complete.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since E'' = J(E) is weak-star sequentially complete, the result follows immediately. \Box

7-8.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let E' be the dual space of a normed space E. If E is separable, then every bounded sequence $\{u_n : n \ge 1\}$ in E' has a weak-star convergent subsequence. In other words, bounded sets in E' are weak-star sequentially compact.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let $\{x_n : n \ge 1\}$ be a countable dense subset of E. Since $\{u_n\}$ is bounded, there is $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfying $\sup_{n\ge 1} ||u_n|| < \lambda < \infty$. Now observe

 $|u_n(x_1)| \leq ||u_n|| ||x_1|| \leq \lambda ||x_1|| < \infty, \forall n.$

There is a subsequence $\{u_n^1\}$ of $\{u_n\}$ such that $\{u_n^1(x_1)\}$ converges. Again $|u_n^1(x_2)| \le ||u_n^1|| ||x_2|| \le \lambda ||x_2|| < \infty, \forall n$

gives a subsequence $\{u_n^2\}$ of $\{u_n^1\}$ such that $\{u_n^2(x_2)\}$ converges. Similarly we can construct a subsequence $\{u_n^k\}$ of $\{u_n^{k-1}\}$ such that $\{u_n^k(x_k)\}$ converges. Let $v_n = u_n^n$ for each $n \ge 1$. Then $\{v_n\}$ is a subsequence of $\{u_n\}$ such that $\{v_n(x_k) : n \ge 1\}$ converges for each k. Now take any $x \in E$. Since $\{x_n\}$ is dense in E, fore every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is k such that $||x - x_k|| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{3\lambda}$. Since the convergent sequence $\{v_n(x_k)\}$ is Cauchy, there is an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p$, we get $|v_m(x_k) - v_n(x_k)| \le \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon$. Therefore we have

$$|v_m(x) - v_n(x)| \le |v_m(x) - v_m(x_k)| + |v_m(x_k) - v_n(x_k)| + |v_n(x_k) - v_n(x)|$$

$$\leq \|v_m\| \|x-x_k\| + \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon + \|v_n\| \|x_k - x\| \leq \lambda \|x-x_k\| + \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon + \lambda \|x_k - x\| \leq \varepsilon.$$

Now $\{v_n\}$ is weak-star Cauchy. Hence it is weak-star convergent. This completes the proof. \Box

7-8.6. <u>Theorem</u> If E is a reflexive space, then every bounded sequence $\{x_n\}$ in E has a weakly convergent subsequence. In other words, the closed unit ball in E is weakly sequentially compact.

<u>Proof</u>. Let M be the closed vector subspace spanned by $\{x_n\}$ and $\overline{I: M} \to M''$ the natural embedding. Then $\{x_n\}$ is bounded in M and hence $\{I(x_n)\}$ bounded in M''. By construction, M is separable and so is its dual M'. Therefore $\{I(x_n)\}$ has a weak-star convergent subsequence $\{I(y_n)\}$ in M''. As a closed subspace of a reflexive space E, M is also reflexive. So, there is $y \in M$ such that $I(y_n) \to I(y)$ in weak-star on M''. Now for each $v \in E'$, the restriction v|M is in M'. Hence $v(y_n) = (v|M)(y_n) \to (v|M)(y) = v(y)$. Therefore the subsequence $\{y_n\}$ converges weakly to $y \in E$.

7-8.7. <u>Exercise</u> Consider the Banach space $E = c_0$. Show that the sequence $\{e_n\}$ in $E' = \ell_1$ is weak-star convergent but not weakly convergent.

7-8.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let E, F be Banach spaces and $f_n : E \to F$ continuous linear maps. Then the following statements are equivalent:

(a) $\{||f_n||\}$ is bounded in \mathbb{R} .

(b) $\{\|f_n(x)\|\}$ is bounded for each $x \in E$.

(c) $\{\|uf_n(x)\|\}$ is bounded for each $x \in E$ and each $u \in F'$.

7-99. References and Further Readings : Kadison, Jarchow and Wong-92.

Chapter 8 Complex Analysis

8-1 Derivatives of Vector Maps

8-1.1. Elementary results of complex analysis will be developed in the context of vector-valued maps of a complex variable. After the introduction of spectrum, functions of an operator will be introduced. Actually, it may be more natural to do this chapter on general Banach algebra even thought we are contented with operators on Banach spaces. Meanwhile, we start with a short treatment of differential and integral calculus.

8-1.2. Let *E* be a Banach space. Let *X* be an open subset of the scalar field **IK** and $f: X \to E$ a given map. Then *f* is said to be *differentiable* at $a \in X$ if the limit $f'(a) = \lim_{x \to a} \frac{f(x) - f(a)}{x - a}$ exists, i.e. for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every $0 < ||x - a|| \le \delta$, we have $x \in X$ and $\left\| \frac{f(x) - f(a)}{x - a} - f'(a) \right\| \le \varepsilon$. It is said to be *differentiable on* X if it is differentiable at every point of X. A map $f: X \to E$ is said to be *continuously differentiable* if its derivative $f': X \to E$ is defined and continuous on X.

8-1.3. **Theorem** If $f: X \to E$ is differentiable, then it is continuous.

<u>Proof.</u> Take any $a \in X$. For $\varepsilon = 1$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $|x-a| \le \delta$ we have $\|[f(x) - f(a)]/(x-a) - f'(a)\| \le 1$, i.e. $\|f(x) - f(a)\| \le (\|f'(a)\| + 1)|x-a|$. Therefore $f(x) \to f(a)$ as $x \to a$.

8-1.4. **Exercise** Prove that if $f: X \to E$ and $g: X \to \mathbb{K}$ are differentiable at $a \in X$, then the scalar product g.f is differentiable at a. Furthermore show that (g.f)'(a) = g(a)f'(a) + g'(a)f(a).

8-1.5. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that linear combinations of differentiable maps are differentiable.

8-1.6. **Theorem** Let $f: X \to E$ be a map differentiable at $a \in X$. Then for every continuous linear map g from E into a Banach space F, the composite

map $gf: X \to F$ is differentiable at $a \in X$. Furthermore, we have a special case of chain rule: (gf)'(a) = g[f'(a)].

Proof. It follows immediately from the calculation:

$$\lim_{x \to a} \frac{gf(x) - gf(a)}{x - a} = \lim_{x \to a} g\left[\frac{f(x) - f(a)}{x - a}\right] = g\lim_{x \to a} \left[\frac{f(x) - f(a)}{x - a}\right] = g[f'(a)]. \quad \Box$$

8-1.7. **Exercise** Let $E = C_{\infty}[\pi, 2\pi]$. Define $f : \mathbb{R} \to E$ by $f(x)(t) = \sin tx$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $t \in [\pi, 2\pi]$. Sketch the graphs of the functions f(0), f(1) and also f(x) for small x. Find a formula for the derivative f'(0) and sketch its graph.

8-2 Integrals of Regulated Maps

8-2.1. To find the area under a curve y = f(x) from x = a to x = b, we cut the x-axis into subintervals and approximate the true area by the sum of areas of columns. This is the basic idea behind the Riemann integral. Since the treatment is slightly different from the standard undergraduate textbook, a different name will be used in order to avoid confusion. Alternatively, we cut the y-axis into small subintervals and that is the foundation of Lebesgue integral.

8-2.2. **Theorem** Let E be a Banach space. The set B(X, E) of all bounded maps from a non-empty set X into E forms a Banach space under the pointwise operations and the sup-norm given by $||f||_{\infty} = \sup\{||f(t)|| : t \in X\}$. If X is a compact metric space, then the set C(X, E) of all continuous maps from Xinto E is a closed subspace of B(X, E) and hence it is also a Banach space. In order to emphasize the sup-norm, we write $B_{\infty}(X, E)$ and $C_{\infty}(X, E)$. When E is \mathbb{K} , we simply write B(X) and C(X) instead.

8-2.3. Let E be a Banach Space and a < b be given in \mathbb{R} . A map $f : [a, b] \to E$ is called a *step map* if there is a partition

$$P: a = t_0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_n = b$$

such that f is constant on every semi-interval $(t_{j-1}, t_j]$. The set S([a, b], E) of all step maps forms a vector subspace of B([a, b], E). For every step map f given above, its *integral* is defined by

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(t)dt = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(t_{j})(t_{j} - t_{j-1}).$$

It is easy to prove that this integral is independent of the choice of the partition P. Hence it is well-defined. In order to emphasize the sup-norm, we sometime write $S_{\infty}([a, b], E)$

8-2.4. **Lemma** The integral $f \to \int_a^b f(t)dt$ is a continuous linear map in f from $S_{\infty}([a, b], E)$ into E. Furthermore for every step map f on [a, b] we have

$$\left\|\int_a^b f(t)dt\right\| \leq \int_a^b \|f(t)\|dt \leq (b-a)\|f\|_{\infty}$$

 \underline{Proof} . It follows immediately from routine calculation as follow:

$$\left\| \int_{a}^{b} f(t)dt \right\| = \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(t_{j})(t_{j} - t_{j-1}) \right\| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|f(t_{j})\|(t_{j} - t_{j-1}) = \int_{a}^{b} \|f(t)\|dt \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|f\|_{\infty}(t_{j} - t_{j-1}) = (b-a)\|f\|_{\infty}.$$

8-2.5. Let A([a, b], E) denote the closure of S([a, b], E) in the Banach space $B_{\infty}([a, b], E)$. The continuous linear map $\int_{a}^{b} f$ in f can be extended uniquely from S([a, b], E) to A([a, b], E). We shall use the same notation $\int_{a}^{b} f$ for the extended linear map when $f \in A([a, b], E)$. Maps in A([a, b], E) can be uniformly approximated by step maps. For convenience, they are called *regulated maps*. It is easy to show that every regulated real function is Riemann integrable. Hence in order to conform with the popular terminology, regulated maps are also said to be *integrable* when no ambiguity would occur.

8-2.6. <u>Theorem</u> There is a continuous linear map $f \to \int_a^b f$ from the normed space $A_{\infty}([a, b], E)$ into E such that the following conditions hold:

(a)
$$\left\| \int_{a}^{b} f(t)dt \right\| \leq \int_{a}^{b} \|f(t)\|dt \leq (b-a)\|f\|_{\infty};$$

(b) $u \int_{a}^{b} f(t)dt = \int_{a}^{b} uf(t)dt$ for all $u \in E'.$

<u>Proof</u>. Define $\varphi(f) = \int_a^b \|f(t)\| dt - \|\int_a^b f(t) dt\|$ for each $f \in A([a, b], E)$. Then $\varphi: A([a, b], E) \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function. We have proved that S([a, b], E) is contained in the closed subset $\varphi^{-1}[0, \infty)$ of A([a, b], E). Since S([a, b], E) is dense, we obtain $A([a, b], E) \subset \varphi^{-1}[0, \infty)$, i.e. $\int_a^b \|f(t)\| dt \ge \|\int_a^b f(t) dt\|$, $\forall f \in A([a, b], E)$. The proof can be completed in similar way or by passing limits to approximations by sequences of maps in A([a, b], E).

8-2.7. **Exercise** Let F be a Banach space and $g: E \to F$ a continuous linear

map. Prove that for every regulated map $f : [a,b] \to E$, the composite gf is a regulated map. Furthermore, we have $g \int_a^b f(t)dt = \int_a^b gf(t)dt$.

8-2.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that for every step map $f : [a, b] \to E$, the integral $\frac{1}{b-a} \int_a^b f(t)dt$ belongs to the convex hull of the image f[a, b] of f. Also prove that for every regulated map, the integral $\frac{1}{b-a} \int_a^b f(t)dt$ belongs to the closed convex hull of f[a, b].

8-2.9. <u>**Theorem</u>** Every continuous map $f : [a, b] \to E$ is integrable.</u>

<u>Proof</u>. By uniform continuity on the compact space [a, b], for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x, y \in [a, b]$ satisfying $|x - y| \leq \delta$ we get $||f(x) - f(y)|| \leq \varepsilon$. Let $P : a = t_0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_n = b$ be a partition with $mesh(P) = \max_{1 \leq j \leq n}(t_j - t_{j-1}) \leq \delta$. Define g(a) = f(a) and $g(t) = f(t_j)$ for all $t_{j-1} < t \leq t_j$. Then $g \in S([a, b], E)$ and $||f(t) - g(t)|| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $t \in [a, b]$, i.e. $||f - g||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$. Therefore $f \in A([a, b], E)$.

8-2.10. **Exercise** Let $f_n(x) = n^2 x (1-x)^n$ for all $x \in [0, 1]$. Show that $f_n \to 0$ pointwise but $\int_0^1 f_n(x) dx \neq 0$.

8-2.11. **Exercise** Let $f_n(x) = nx(1-x)^n$ for all $x \in [0, 1]$. Show that $f_n \to 0$ pointwise but not uniformly. Also show that $\int_0^1 f_n(x) dx \to 0$.

8-2.12. Let f be a continuous map defined on a closed interval containing $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$. For a < b, the value $\int_a^b f$ has been defined. Now for a > b, define $\int_a^b f = -\int_b^a f$. For a = b, define $\int_a^b f = 0$. In this case, the value $\int_a^b f$ is called the *integral* of f from a to b. By case study, clearly $\int_a^b f = \int_a^c f + \int_c^b$ holds. Furthermore for all $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, we have $\|\int_a^b f(t)dt\| \le \|b-a\| \|f\|_{\infty}$ and also $u \int_a^b f(t)dt = \int_a^b uf(t)dt, \forall u \in E'$.

8-2.13. <u>Exercise</u> Let a < b be given real numbers. A map $f : [a, b] \to E$ is said to be *piecewise continuous* if there is a partition

$$a = a_0 < a_1 < a_2 < \cdots < a_n = b$$

such that f is continuous on the open interval (a_{j-1}, a_j) and both one-sided limits $\lim_{x\downarrow a_{j-1}} f(x)$ and $\lim_{x\uparrow a_j} f(x)$ exist for all $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$. Define the integral of f. Show that it is independent of the choice of any particular partition. Derive some standard properties of this integral.

8-3 Fundamental Theorems of Calculus

8-3.1. Although the integrals of regulated maps were not defined in the usual way as the Riemann integrals, with the fundamental theorem of calculus we can evaluate integrals in terms of antiderivatives. Consequently, the techniques developed in elementary calculus can be used in our context.

Theorem Let X be a metric space. If $f : [a, b] \times X \to E$ is continuous, 8-3.2. then the map given by $g(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{b} f(t, x) dt$ is continuous on X.

Proof. Let $x_0 \in X$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. By compactness of [a, b], it follows from §2-7.6 that there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{B}(x_0, \delta)$ and $t \in [a, b]$, we have $||f(t,x) - f(t,x_0)|| \le \varepsilon$. Therefore

$$\|g(x) - g(x_0)\| \le \int_a^b \|f(t, x) - f(t, x_0)\| dt \le \int_a^b \varepsilon dt = \varepsilon(b - a).$$

uently *g* is continuous at every point x_0 of *X*.

Consequently q is continuous at every point x_0 of X.

8-3.3. Change Order of Integration Let $f : [a, b] \times [\alpha, \beta] \to E$ be a continuous map. Then the repeated integrals exist and they are equal.

Proof. Since $\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} f(x,y) dy$ is continuous in x, it is integrable and hence the repeated integral $\int_a^b \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} f(x, y) dy dx$ exists. Similarly, the other repeated integral also exists. To show that they are equal, let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. By uniform continuity of f on the compact set $[a, b] \times [\alpha, \beta]$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $|x_1 - x_2| \leq \delta$ and $|y_1 - y_2| \leq \delta$ we have $|f(x_1, y_1) - f(x_2, y_2)| \leq \varepsilon$. Cut the rectangle into pieces by $a = a_0 < a_1 < a_2 < \cdots < a_n = b$ and $\alpha = \alpha_0 < \alpha_1 < \alpha_2 < \cdots < \alpha_n = \beta$ where $n > (b - a + \beta - \alpha)/\delta$. Define $g: [a,b] \times [\alpha,\beta] \to E$ as follow. If x = a let p = a and if $a_{j-1} < x \leq a_j$ let $p = a_j$. Similarly if $y = \alpha$ let $q = \alpha$ and if $\alpha_{k-1} < y \leq \alpha_j$ let $q = \alpha_k$. Define g(x,y) = f(p,q). Then clearly $||f(x,y) - g(x,y)|| \le \varepsilon$ for all $a \le x \le b$ and $\alpha \leq y \leq \beta$. Observe that

$$\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{a}^{b} g(x,y) dx dy = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} f(a_j,\alpha_k) \frac{(b-a)(\beta-\alpha)}{n^2}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(a_j,\alpha_k) \frac{(\beta-\alpha)(b-a)}{n^2} = \int_{a}^{b} \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} g(x,y) dy dx.$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\left\|\int_{\alpha}^{\beta}\int_{a}^{b}f(x,y)dxdy-\int_{\alpha}^{\beta}\int_{a}^{b}g(x,y)dxdy\right\|$$

$$= \left\| \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{a}^{b} [f(x,y) - g(x,y)] dx dy \right\| \le \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \left\| \int_{a}^{b} [f(x,y) - g(x,y)] dx \right\| dy$$
$$\le \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{a}^{b} \|f(x,y) - g(x,y)\| dx dy \le \varepsilon (b-a)(\beta-\alpha).$$

Similarly, we get

$$\left\|\int_a^b\int_\alpha^\beta f(x,y)dydx-\int_a^b\int_\alpha^\beta g(x,y)dydx\right\|\leq \varepsilon(b-a)(\beta-\alpha).$$

Combining together, we obtain

$$\left\|\int_{\alpha}^{\beta}\int_{a}^{b}f(x,y)dxdy-\int_{a}^{b}\int_{\alpha}^{\beta}f(x,y)dydx\right\|\leq 2\varepsilon(b-a)(\beta-\alpha).$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{a}^{b} f(x, y) dx dy = \int_{a}^{b} \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} f(x, y) dy dx$ as required. Alternatively, appealing to one dimensional case, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} uf(x,y) dy dx = \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{a}^{b} uf(x,y) dx dy$$

for all $u \in E'$, i.e.

$$u \int_{a}^{b} \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} f(x, y) dy dx = u \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{a}^{b} f(x, y) dx dy$$

and the result follows because E' separates points of E.

8-3.4. <u>First Fundamental Theorem of Calculus</u> Let $f : [a, b] \to E$ be a continuous map where a < b. Then the map $g : [a, b] \to E$ given by

$$g(x) = \int_{a}^{x} f(t)dt$$

is differentiable on the open interval (a, b). Furthermore we have g'(x) = f(x).

<u>*Proof*</u>. Take any $x_0 \in (a, b)$. Then for any $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $\delta > 0$ such that $\|f(x) - f(x_0)\| \le \varepsilon$ for all $|x - x_0| \le \delta$. Suppose $0 < |x - x_0| \le \delta$. If $x > x_0$, then we have

$$\|g(x) - g(x_0) - (x - x_0)f(x_0)\| = \left\| \int_a^x f(t)dt - \int_a^{x_0} f(t)dt - \int_{x_0}^x f(x_0)dt \right\|$$

= $\left\| \int_{x_0}^x f(t)dt - \int_{x_0}^x f(x_0)dt \right\| \le \int_{x_0}^x \|f(t) - f(x_0)\|dt \le \int_{x_0}^x \varepsilon dt = \varepsilon |x - x_0|.$

If $x < x_0$, then we get

$$\|g(x) - g(x_0) - (x - x_0)f(x_0)\| \le \int_x^{x_0} \|f(t) - f(x_0)\| dt \le \int_x^{x_0} \varepsilon dt = \varepsilon |x - x_0|.$$

In both cases, we obtain

or,
$$\left\|\frac{g(x) - g(x_0)}{x - x_0} - f(x_0)\right\| \le \varepsilon,$$
$$\lim_{x \to x_0} \frac{g(x) - g(x_0)}{x - x_0} = f(x_0).$$

8-3.5. **Exercise** Show that the map g in last theorem is continuous on [a, b].

8-3.6. Lemma Let $f : [a, b] \to X$ be a continuous map which is differentiable on (a, b). If f'(x) = 0 for each $x \in (a, b)$ then f is constant on [a, b].

<u>Proof</u>. Take any $x \in (a, b)$ and any $u \in E'$. Then (uf)'(x) = u[f'(x)] = 0. By one dimensional case, the continuous function uf is constant, i.e. uf(x) = uf(a) for all $x \in [a, b]$. Since E' separates points of E, we have f(x) = f(a) for all $x \in [a, b]$.

8-3.7. <u>Second Fundamental Theorem of Calculus</u> Let $f : (\alpha, \beta) \to E$ be a continuously differentiable map. Then for all $a, b \in (\alpha, \beta)$, we have

$$\int_a^b f'(t)dt = f(b) - f(a).$$

<u>Proof</u>. For every $x \in (\alpha, \beta)$, define $\varphi(x) = \int_a^x f'(t)dt - f(x)$. Then φ is differentiable on (α, β) and $\varphi'(x) = 0, \forall x \in (\alpha, \beta)$. Hence φ is constant on (α, β) . Now $\varphi(b) = \varphi(a)$ gives $\int_a^b f'(t)dt - f(b) = \int_a^a f'(t)dt - f(a)$ which is the result. It is an exercise to give an alternative proof by reducing it to one dimensional case.

8-3.8. <u>Integration by Parts</u> Let $f : (\alpha, \beta) \to E$ and $g : (\alpha, \beta) \to \mathbb{K}$ be continuously differentiable maps. Then for all $a, b \in (\alpha, \beta)$ we have

$$\int_a^b f'(t)g(t)dt + \int_a^b f(t)g'(t)dt = f(b)g(b) - f(a)g(a)$$

<u>*Proof.*</u> It is easy to verify that [f(t)g(t)]' = f'(t)g(t) + f(t)g'(t) and the result follows immediately from the Second Fundamental Theorem of Calculus. \Box

8-3.9. **Exercise** Let X, Y be open subsets of \mathbb{K} . Let $\alpha : X \to Y$ and $f : Y \to E$ be differentiable maps. Prove that the composite map $f\alpha$ is differentiable on X. Furthermore we have $(f\alpha)'(x) = f'[\alpha(x)]\alpha'(x)$.

8-3.10. Change Variables Let $g : (\alpha, \beta) \to (u, v)$ be a continuously differentiable function and $f : (u, v) \to E$ a continuous map. Prove that

for all
$$a, b \in (\alpha, \beta)$$
, we have $\int_{g(a)}^{g(b)} f(x) dx = \int_a^b f[g(t)]g'(t) dt$.

8-3.11. <u>Exercise</u> Let $E = C_{\infty}[\pi, 2\pi]$. A map $g : \mathbb{R} \to E$ is defined by $g(x)(t) = t \sin tx$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $t \in [\pi, 2\pi]$. Find a formula for the integral $\int_0^1 g(x) dx$. Note that the integral is a function from $[\pi, 2\pi]$ to \mathbb{R} . Sketch the graph of this function.

8-4 Holomorphic Maps of One Complex Variable

8-4.1. A primitive contour is a map $z : [\alpha, \beta] \to \mathbb{C}$ which has at least one partition $\alpha = \alpha_0 < \alpha_1 < \cdots < \alpha_n = \beta$ such that the restriction of z to every subinterval $[\alpha_{j-1}, \alpha_j]$ has a continuously differentiable extension over an open interval containing $[\alpha_{j-1}, \alpha_j]$. In this case, z is called a parametrization. A *contour* is the formal sum of a finite number of primitive contours. Hence two disjoint circles can form a contour but both are parametrized on the same interval, say $[0, 2\pi]$. By abuse of language, we call the *image* Γ to be the contour. Equivalence of parametrizations is defined as usual in terms of changing variable. The *arc length* of Γ is well-defined and is independent of the choice of any particular parametrization. Our definition is relatively narrower but more convenient than rectifiable curves.

8-4.2. We shall work with a given *complex* Banach space E. Let Γ be a primitive contour described by a parametrization $z : [\alpha, \beta] \to \mathbb{C}$. Let $f: \Gamma \to E$ be a continuous map. Define the *contour integral* of f on Γ by $\int_{\Gamma} f(z)dz = \int_{a}^{\beta} f[z(t)]z'(t)dt$. Clearly $\int_{\Gamma} f(z)dz$ is independent of the choice of equivalent parametrization. The integral of a map on a contour is defined as the sum of integrals on the corresponding primitive contour. For example, if $\Gamma = A + B$ is a formal sum to two disjoint circles A, B, then $\int_{\Gamma} f(z)dz = \int_{A} f(z)dz + \int_{B} f(z)dz$. We always work with contours and abandon the transitional terminology of primitive contours.

8-4.3. **Theorem** (a)
$$\left\| \int_{\Gamma} f(z) dz \right\| \leq \int_{\Gamma} \|f(z)\| |dz| = \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \|f[z(t)]\| |z'(t)| dt.$$

(b) $u \int_{\Gamma} f(z) dz = \int_{\Gamma} u f(z) dz$ for every $u \in E'$.

8-4.4. Let X be an open subset of \mathbb{C} and $f: X \to E$ a given map. Then f is said to be *holomorphic* on X if it is differentiable on X and *weakly holomorphic* if the composite uf is differentiable on X for each continuous linear form $u \in E'$. Clearly every holomorphic map is weakly holomorphic. We shall prove that the converse is also true.

8-4.5. <u>Lemma</u> If f is weakly holomorphic on X then f is continuous on X. <u>Proof</u>. Let $a \in X$ be given. Since X is open, it contains some closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a,r)$. Define a subset of E by $M = \left\{ \frac{f(z) - f(a)}{z - a} : 0 < |z - a| \le r \right\}$. To show that M is weakly bounded, take any $u \in E'$. Then the expression

$$g(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{uf(z) - uf(a)}{z - a}, & \text{if } 0 < |z - a| \le r; \\ (uf)'(a), & \text{if } z = a \end{cases}$$

defines a continuous function from the compact set $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, r)$ into \mathbb{C} . Hence the image $g[\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, r)]$ is compact. It follows by simple calculation that $u(M) \subset g[\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, r)]$. Since u(M) is bounded for every $u \in E'$, the set M is weakly bounded and thus norm-bounded. There is $0 < \lambda < \infty$ such that for any $0 < |z-a| \le r$ we have $\left\| \frac{f(z) - f(a)}{z-a} \right\| \le \lambda$, i.e. $\|f(z) - f(a)\| \le \lambda |z-a|$. Consequently f is continuous at every point of X.

8-4.6. **Theorem** If f is weakly holomorphic on X, then for every $a \in X$ we have $f(a) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{z-a} dz$ where Γ is any simple closed positively oriented contour in X enclosing a with interior contained in X.

<u>*Proof.*</u> For each $u \in E'$, the composite uf is holomorphic on X. By one dimensional case, we get

$$uf(a) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{uf(z)}{z-a} dz = u \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{z-a} dz \right).$$

Since E' separates points of E, the result follows.

8-4.7. **Theorem** Every weakly holomorphic map $f: X \to E$ is holomorphic. Furthermore, for each $a \in X$ we have $f'(a) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{(z-a)^2} dz$ where Γ is any positively oriented circle: $C(a,r) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z-a| = r\}$ satisfying $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a,r) \subset X$. <u>Proof</u>. Since C(a,r) is compact, write $||f(z)|| \le \lambda < \infty$. Let $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{2}r$ and take any $0 < |b-a| < \delta$. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \frac{f(b) - f(a)}{b - a} - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{(z - a)^2} dz \right\| \\ &= \left\| \frac{1}{b - a} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \left[\frac{f(z)}{z - b} - \frac{f(z)}{z - a} \right] dz - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{(z - a)^2} dz \right\| \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \left\| \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{(z - a)(z - b)} dz - \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{(z - a)^2} dz \right\| \end{aligned}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \left\| (b-a) \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{(z-a)^2 (z-b)} dz \right\|$$

$$\leq \frac{|b-a|}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{\|f(z)\|}{|(z-a)^2 (z-b)|} |dz|$$

$$\leq \frac{\delta}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{\lambda |dz|}{r^2 (\frac{1}{2}r)} = \frac{\delta}{\pi} \frac{\lambda}{r^3} (2\pi r) = \frac{2\lambda}{r^2} \delta.$$

Therefore we have

$$f'(a) = \lim_{b \to a} \frac{f(b) - f(a)}{b - a} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{(z - a)^2} dz.$$

8-4.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let X be a simply connected open subset of \mathbb{C} and let $f: X \to E$ be a continuous map. Then the following statements are equivalent. (a) The map f is holomorphic on X.

(b) For every simple closed contour Γ in X, we have $\int_{\Gamma} f(z) dz = 0$.

(c) For every $a \in X$, the integral $\int_a^w f(z)dz$ is independent of the contour in X from a to w.

(d) The map f is weakly holomorphic on X.

<u>Proof</u>. We have proved $(a \Leftrightarrow d)$. For $(d \Leftrightarrow b)$, note that $\int_{\Gamma} f(z)dz = 0$ iff $\overline{\int_{\Gamma} uf(z)dz} = 0$ for every $u \in E'$. For arbitrary Γ , it is equivalent to say that uf is holomorphic on X which is (d). Similarly, we can prove $(b \Leftrightarrow c)$.

8-4.9. Note that $(a \Rightarrow b)$ of last theorem generalizes Cauchy-Goursat Theorem and $(b \Rightarrow a)$ Morera's Theorem. As a result of (b), the circle C(a, r) of previous theorem can be replaced by more general contours.

8-4.10. **Exercise** Let F be a complex Banach space and $g: E \to F$ be a continuous linear map. Prove that for every holomorphic map $f: X \to E$, the composite gf is a holomorphic map. Furthermore, we have

$$g\int_{\Gamma}f(z)dz=\int_{\Gamma}gf(t)dt$$

for every contour Γ in X.

8-4.11. <u>Cauchy's Integral Formula</u> Every holomorphic map $f: X \to E$ is infinitely differentiable. Furthermore, for $n = 0, 1, 2, 3, \dots$, we have

$$f^{(n)}(a) = \frac{n!}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{(z-a)^{n+1}} dz$$

where Γ is any simple closed positively oriented contour in X enclosing a with interior contained in X.

<u>*Proof.*</u> We have proved the case when n = 0. Inductively, assume that theorem is true for n. Hence f is n-times differentiable on X and for each $u \in E'$, we have

$$u[f^{(n)}(a)] = \frac{n!}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{uf(z)}{(z-a)^{n+1}} dz = (uf)^n(a), \quad \forall \ a \in X.$$

Since uf is (n + 1)-times differentiable on X, $u[f^{(n)}] = (uf)^{(n)} : X \to \mathbb{C}$ is differentiable. Hence $f^{(n)}$ is weakly holomorphic on X, i.e. differentiable on X. Therefore f is (n + 1)-times differentiable on X. Finally, observe that

$$u[f^{(n+1)}(a)] = [uf^{(n)}]'(a) = [(uf)^{(n)}]'(a) = (uf)^{(n+1)}(a)$$
$$= \frac{(n+1)!}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{uf(z)}{(z-a)^{n+2}} dz = u \left[\frac{(n+1)!}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{(z-a)^{n+2}} dz \right].$$

Since $u \in E$ is arbitrary, the required formula follows.

8-4.12. <u>Average Lemma</u> Let $f : X \to E$ be a holomorphic map. Suppose X contains the closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, r)$. Then for each $n = 0, 1, 2, 3, \cdots$ we have

$$f^{(n)}(a) = \frac{n!}{2\pi r^n} \int_0^{2\pi} f(a+re^{i\theta})e^{-in\theta}d\theta.$$

In particular when n = 0, the value f(a) at the center is the average of the values on the circle.

<u>*Proof*</u>. It follows immediately from the substitution $z = a + re^{i\theta}$ into Cauchy's Integral Formula.

8-4.13. <u>Cauchy's Inequality</u> If $||f(z)|| \le \lambda$ for every point z on the circle C(a,r), then we have $||f^{(n)}(a)|| \le \frac{n!\lambda}{r^n}$, for each $n = 0, 1, 2, 3, \cdots$.

Proof. By Average Lemma, we have

$$\begin{split} \|f^{(n)}(a)\| &= \left\|\frac{n!}{2\pi r^n} \int_0^{2\pi} f(a+re^{i\theta})e^{-in\theta}d\theta\right\| \\ &\leq \frac{n!}{2\pi r^n} \int_0^{2\pi} \|f(a+re^{i\theta})e^{-in\theta}\|d\theta \leq \frac{n!}{2\pi r^n} \int_0^{2\pi} \lambda d\theta = \frac{n!\lambda}{r^n}. \Box \end{split}$$

8-4.14. Fundamental Theorem of Calculus Let $f : X \to E$ be a given holomorphic map on a simply connected open subset X of C. Then for every $a, z \in X$ we have $\frac{d}{dz} \int_{a}^{z} f(t)dt = f(z)$ and $\int_{a}^{z} f'(t)dt = f(z) - f(a)$. *Proof.* It is left as an exercise.

8-4.15. <u>Exercise</u> Let A, B be contours in \mathbb{C} parametrized by x(s) for $s \in [a, b]$ and by y(t) for $t \in [\alpha, \beta]$ respectively. Let $f : A \times B \to E$ be a contin-

uous map. Show that the repeated contour integrals $\int_A \int_B f(x, y) dy dx$ and $\int_B \int_A f(x, y) dx dy$ exist. Prove that they are equal.

8-4.16. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f_n, g: X \to E$ be continuous maps on an open subset X of \mathbb{C} . Prove that if $f_n \to g$ uniformly on a contour Γ in X then we have $\int_{\Gamma} f_n(z)dz \to \int_{\Gamma} g(z)dz$ in E.

8-4.17. **Exercise** Let X be an open subset of \mathbb{C} . Let $A \in E$ be given and let $g: X \to \mathbb{C}$ be a holomorphic map. Then $f: X \to E$ given by f(z) = Ag(z) is holomorphic on X. Furthermore, f'(z) = Ag'(z) on X.

8-5 Series Expansion

8-5.1. As in one dimensional case, holomorphic maps will be identified as analytic maps which can be expanded locally into infinite series. Taylor series expansion will be derived as from Laurent series expansion. Then polynomials will be characterized and Liouville's theorem follows as a special case. This will be used to show that the spectrum of an operator is non-empty. Finally the vector form of identity theorem will be given.

8-5.2. For convenience, let H(X, E) denote the set of all holomorphic maps from an open subset X of \mathbb{C} into a complex Banach space E. Write $f_n \to g$ in H(X, E) if all f_n, g are maps in H(X, E) and $f_n \to g$ uniformly on every compact subsets of X. We also write Dg instead of g' for the derivative of a map g in H(X, E). It would be more natural if the following two theorems are stated in terms of compact open topology which we do not assume.

8-5.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f_n, g: X \to E$ be given maps. If all $f_n \in H(X, E)$ and if $f_n \to g$ uniformly on every compact subsets of X, then we have $g \in H(X, E)$. <u>Proof</u>. Take any $a \in X$. Pick any closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a) \subset X$. Since the continuous maps f_n converge to g uniformly on the compact set $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a)$, g is also continuous on $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a)$. In particular, g is continuous on the open ball $\mathbb{B}(a)$ and hence integral of g along every contour in $\mathbb{B}(a)$ is well-defined. To show that g is differentiable on the simply connected open set $\mathbb{B}(a)$, let Γ be a simple closed contour in $\mathbb{B}(a)$. Since $f_n \to g$ uniformly on Γ , we have $\int_{\Gamma} f_n(z)dz \to \int_{\Gamma} g(z)dz$. Because all f_n are holomorphic, we have $\int_{\Gamma} f_n(z)dz = 0$, i.e. $\int_{\Gamma} g(z)dz = 0$. Therefore g is differentiable on $\mathbb{B}(a)$. Since $a \in X$ is arbitrary, g is differentiable on X, i.e. holomorphic on X.
8-5.4. <u>Theorem</u> If $f_n \to g$ in H(X, E), then $Df_n \to Dg$ in H(X, E). In other words, the differential operator D is continuous under the compact-open topology.

<u>Proof.</u> Replacing f_n by $f_n - g$, we may assume that g = 0. Let A be a compact subset of X. For every $x \in A$, there is a ball $\mathbb{B}(x, 3r_x) \subset X$. Now $\{\mathbb{B}(x, r_x) : x \in A\}$ is an open cover of A. By compactness, there is a finite subset J of A such that $A \subset \bigcup_{a \in J} \mathbb{B}(a, r_a)$. Now $K = \bigcup_{a \in J} \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, 2r_a)$ is a compact subset of X. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\delta = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon \cdot \min\{r_a : a \in J\}$. Since $f_n \to 0$ uniformly on K, there is p such that for all $n \geq p$ and all $x \in K$ we have $||f_n(x)|| \leq \delta$. Now pick any $z \in A$. Then $z \in \mathbb{B}(a, r_a)$ for some $a \in J$. Let Γ be the positively oriented circle $|w - a| = 2r_a$. It follows from Cauchy integral formula that

$$Df_n(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f_n(w)dw}{(w-z)^2}.$$

Now for all $n \ge p$, we have

$$\|Df_n(z)\| \leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{\|f_n(w)\| |dw|}{|w-z|^2} \leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{\delta |dw|}{r_a^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon r_a)(2\pi \cdot 2r_a)}{r_a^2} \leq \varepsilon.$$

Since p is independent of $z \in A$, $Df_n \to 0$ uniformly on A.

8-5.5. Lemma Let Γ be a contour in \mathbb{C} and K an index set. Let $h_n, h: \Gamma \times K \to C$ be maps such that for each $z \in K$, both $h_n(w, z)$ and h(w, z) are continuous in $w \in \Gamma$. Suppose $h_n(w, z) \to h(w, z)$ uniformly on $\Gamma \times K$, then for every continuous map $f: \Gamma \to E$ we have

 $\int_{\Gamma} f(w)h_n(w,z)dw \to \int_{\Gamma} f(w)h(w,z)dw$ uniformly on K.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $h_n(w, z) \to h(w, z)$ uniformly on $\Gamma \times K$, for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer p such that for all $(w, z) \in \Gamma \times K$ and all $n \ge p$, we obtain $|h_n(w, z) - h(w, z)| \le \varepsilon$. The continuity of f on the compact set Γ gives $\lambda = \sup\{\|f(w)\| : w \in \Gamma\} < \infty$. Now for any $z \in K$ and any $n \ge p$ we have

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \int_{\Gamma} f(w) h_n(w, z) dw - \int_{\Gamma} f(w) h(w, z) dw \right\| \\ & \leq \int_{\Gamma} \| f(w) [h_n(w, z) - h(w, z)] \| \ |dw| \\ & \leq \int_{\Gamma} \| f(w) \| |h_n(w, z) - h(w, z)| \ |dw| \leq \lambda \varepsilon \ell \end{split}$$

where ℓ denotes the arc length of the contour Γ . This completes the proof. \Box 8-5.6. <u>Laurent Series Expansion</u> Let $X = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : r < |z - a| < R\}$ be an annula. Let $f: X \to E$ be a holomorphic map. For any r < t < R, let

$$\begin{split} A_n &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_t} \frac{f(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}} \quad \text{where} \quad C_t \quad \text{denotes the positively oriented circle} \\ |w-a| &= t. \text{ Then the series } f(z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} A_n (z-a)^n \text{ converges uniformly on} \\ \text{every compact subset of } X. \end{split}$$

<u>Proof</u>. Let K be a compact subset of X. Let $m = \min_{z \in K} |z - a|$ and $\overline{M} = \max_{z \in K} |z - a|$. Choose α, β satisfying $r < \alpha < m \leq M < \beta < R$. Take any $z \in K$. By Cauchy integral formula, we obtain

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\beta}} \frac{f(w)dw}{w-z} - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\alpha}} \frac{f(w)dw}{w-z}$$

where C_{α}, C_{β} are positively oriented circles with center a and radii α, β respectively. Consider w on the bigger circle C_{β} . Since $\left|\frac{z-a}{w-a}\right| \leq \frac{M}{\beta} < 1$ is independent of (w, z) in $C_{\beta} \times K$, the series

$$\frac{1}{w-z} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(z-a)^n}{(w-a)^{n+1}}$$

converges uniformly in (w, z). Hence, the following series converges uniformly on K:

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\beta}} \frac{f(w)dw}{w-z} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{C_{\beta}} \frac{f(w)(z-a)^{n}dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\beta}} \frac{f(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}} \right] (z-a)^{n}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{t}} \frac{f(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}} \right] (z-a)^{n} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_{n}(z-a)^{n}.$$

Next suppose that w lies on the smaller circle C_{α} . Since $\left|\frac{w-a}{z-a}\right| \leq \frac{\alpha}{m} < 1$ is independent of (w, z) in $C_{\alpha} \times K$, the series

$$\frac{1}{w-z} = -\sum_{n=-1}^{-\infty} \frac{(z-a)^n}{(w-a)^{n+1}}$$

converges uniformly in (w, z). Hence the following series converges uniformly on K:

$$-\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\alpha}} \frac{f(w)dw}{w-z} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{n=-1}^{-\infty} \int_{C_{\alpha}} \frac{f(w)(z-a)^n dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}}$$
$$= \sum_{n=-1}^{-\infty} \left[\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\alpha}} \frac{f(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}} \right] (z-a)^n$$

Complex Analysis

$$=\sum_{n=-1}^{-\infty}\left[\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{C_t}\frac{f(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}}\right](z-a)^n=\sum_{n=-1}^{-\infty}A_n(z-a)^n.$$

Combining above two terms of f(z), the proof is complete.

8-5.7. <u>**Theorem**</u> Consider the series $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n (z-a)^n$ on the open ball $\mathbb{B}(a, R)$ where $A_n \in E$. If it converges pointwise on $\mathbb{B}(a, R)$ then it converges uniformly on every smaller ball $\mathbb{B}(a, r)$ with 0 < r < R.

<u>Proof.</u> For a fixed r, choose $b \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying r < |b-a| < R. Since the series $f(b) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n (b-a)^n$ converges, so is the series $uf(b) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} u[A_n (b-a)^n]$ for every $u \in E$. Hence the set $\{u[A_n (b-a)^n] : n \ge 0\}$ is bounded in \mathbb{C} . Thus $\{A_n (b-a)^n : n \ge 0\}$ is weakly bounded and therefore norm-bounded in E, i.e. $\lambda = \sup\{\|A_n (b-a)^n\| : n \ge 0\} < \infty$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer p such that for every $k \ge p$ we have $\frac{\lambda}{1-\frac{r}{|b-a|}} \left(\frac{r}{|b-a|}\right)^{k+1} \le \varepsilon$. Now for every $z \in \mathbb{B}(a, r)$,

$$\left\|\sum_{m=1}^{p} A_{k+m}(z-a)^{k+m}\right\| \leq \sum_{m=1}^{p} \left\|A_{k+m}(b-a)^{k+m}\right\| \left|\frac{z-a}{b-a}\right|^{k+m}$$
$$\leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \lambda \left(\frac{r}{|b-a|}\right)^{k+m} \leq \frac{\lambda}{1-\frac{r}{|b-a|}} \left(\frac{r}{|b-a|}\right)^{k+1} \leq \varepsilon.$$

Therefore we get $\left\|f(z) - \sum_{n=1}^{k} A_n(z-a)^n\right\| = \left\|\sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} A_n(z-a)^n\right\| \le \varepsilon$. Since it is independent of $z \in \mathbb{B}(a,r)$, the convergence $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n(z-a)^n$ is uniform on the open ball $\mathbb{B}(a,r)$.

8-5.8. <u>Corollary</u> Consider the series $f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{A_n}{(z-a)^n}$ on an open set $X = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z-a| > R\}$ where $A_n \in E$. If it converges pointwise on X then it converges uniformly on every compact subset of X.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Apply last theorem to the map $g(z) = f(a + \frac{1}{z})$ on the open ball $\mathbb{B}(0, \frac{1}{R})$.

8-5.9. Uniqueness of Laurent Series Expansion Consider the series $f(z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} A_n(z-a)^n$ on an annula $X = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : r < |z-a| < R\}$ where $A_n \in E$. If it converges pointwise on X then f is holomorphic on X. Furthermore we have $A_n = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C \frac{f(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}}$ where C is any positively oriented circle |z-a| = t with r < t < R.

<u>Proof</u>. We have proved that $f(z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} A_n(z-a)^n$ converges uniformly on compact subsets of X. Since $\sum_{n=-k}^{k} A_n(z-a)^n$ is holomorphic on X, so is f. To verify the formula for A_n , take any $u \in E'$. Since $uf(z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} u(A_n)(z-a)^n$ converges on X, the proof is completed by one dimensional case as follow:

$$u(A_n) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C \frac{(uf)(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}} = u \left[\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C \frac{f(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}} \right].$$

8-5.10. <u>Taylor Series Expansion</u> Every holomorphic map $f : \mathbb{B}(a, R) \to E$ has a series expansion $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n (z-a)^n$ which converges uniformly on compact subsets of $\mathbb{B}(a, R)$. Furthermore, the coefficient is uniquely determined by

$$A_n = \frac{f^{(n)}(a)}{n!} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C \frac{f(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}}$$

where C is any positively oriented circle |z - a| = r with 0 < r < R.

<u>Proof</u>. By Laurent series expansion, we have $f(z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} A_n(z-a)^n$ for each 0 < |z-a| < R. Take any n < 0. Since $(w-a)^{-n}f(w)$ is holomorphic in $w \in \mathbb{B}(a, R)$, we obtain

$$A_n = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C \frac{f(w)}{(w-a)^n} dw = 0.$$

Therefore $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n (z-a)^n$ holds for each 0 < |z-a| < R. Obviously, the expansion also holds for z = a.

8-5.11. Let E be a complex Banach space. A holomorphic map defined on the entire complex plane is also called an *entire* map.

8-5.12. <u>Theorem</u> Let f be an entire map. If the set $\{f(z)/z^m : |z| \ge r\}$ is bounded in E for some integers m, r, then f is a polynomial of degree at most m.

<u>Proof</u>. Consider the Taylor expansion $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n z^n$ at $0 \in \mathbb{C}$. Take any real R > r and integer n > m. Let C be the positively oriented circle |z| = R. Since $\lambda = \sup\{||f(z)/z^m|| : |z| \ge r\} < \infty$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|A_n\| &= \left\| \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C \frac{f(w)dw}{w^{n+1}} \right\| \le \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_C \frac{\|f(w)\| |dw|}{|w|^{n+1}} \\ &\le \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_C \left(\frac{\|f(w)\|}{|w|^m} \right) \left(\frac{1}{|w|^{n-m+1}} \right) |dw| = \frac{\lambda}{R^{n-m}} \to 0 \end{split}$$

as $R \to \infty$. Therefore $A_n = 0$ for all n > m. Consequently $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^m A_n z^n$ is a polynomial of degree at most m.

8-5.13. <u>Generalized Liouville's Theorem</u> Every bounded entire map is constant.

8-5.14. Theorem on Removable Singularity Let $f: X \to E$ be a holomorphic map on a punctured disk $X = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |z-a| < R\}$. If f is bounded on X, then f can be extended to a holomorphic map on the open ball $\mathbb{B}(a, R)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose $||f(z)|| \leq \lambda < \infty$ for all $z \in X$. Consider the Laurent series expansion $f(z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} A_n (z-a)^n$ for each 0 < |z-a| < R. For each 0 < r < R, let C_r denote the positively oriented circle |w-a| = r. Then for every n < 0, we get

$$\begin{split} \|A_n\| &= \left\| \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C \frac{f(w)dw}{(w-a)^{n+1}} \right\| \le \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_C \|(w-a)^{-n-1}f(w)\| |dw| \\ &\le \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_C r^{-n-1} \lambda |dw| = \lambda r^{-n} \to 0 \end{split}$$

as $r \to 0$. Therefore $A_n = 0$ for all n < 0. Consequently $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n z^n$ is a holomorphic extension of f over the ball $\mathbb{B}(a, R)$.

8-5.15. <u>Identity Theorem</u> Let f, g be holomorphic maps on an open *connected* subset of \mathbb{C} into E. If f(z) = g(z) for all z in a bounded infinite subset of X then f = g on X.

<u>Proof.</u> For each $u \in E'$, both uf, ug are holomorphic on X. By one dimensional case, we have uf(z) = ug(z) for each $z \in X$. Since E' separates points of E, we obtain $f(z) = g(z), \forall z \in X$.

8-5.16. **Exercise** Let f be a holomorphic map on an open *connected* subset X of \mathbb{C} into E. Prove that if f is not identically zero on X then the zeros of f are isolated points.

8-5.17. **Exercise** Let X be an open connected subset of \mathbb{C} . Let $f: X \to E$ and $g: X \to \mathbb{C}$ be holomorphic maps. Prove that if $f(z)g(z) = 0, \forall z \in X$ then either $f \equiv 0$ or $g \equiv 0$ on X. Note that the set of all holomorphic functions on X is an integral domain and all holomorphic maps a module over this integral domain.

8-6 Spectrum

8-6.1. An eigenvalue λ of a matrix A is defined by an algebraic equation $(\lambda I - A)x = 0$ for some non-zero vector x, i.e. $\lambda I - A$ is not injective. It is well known that every matrix has at least one complex eigenvalue. There is an

explicit formula to express the eigenvalues of polynomials of a matrix. These results will be generalized to infinite dimensional spaces in terms of spectrum. Later in this chapter, spectrum will be used to define holomorphic functions of operators.

8-6.2. Let E, F be Banach spaces. A topological isomorphism from E onto F is also said to be *invertible*. The set of all such topological isomorphisms is denoted by T(E, F) or simply by T(E) if E = F. The identity map on E is denoted by I or I_E . A continuous linear map from E into itself is also called an *operator*.

8-6.3. **Theorem** Let A be an operator on E satisfying ||A|| < 1. Then I - A is invertible. The series $(I - A)^{-1} = I + A + A^2 + A^3 + \cdots$ is absolutely convergent in the Banach space L(E). Furthermore, we have $||(I - A)^{-1}|| \le \frac{1}{1 - ||A||}$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Since $||I|| + ||A|| + ||A^2|| + ||A^3|| + \dots \le 1 + ||A|| + ||A||^2 + ||A||^3 + \dots$, the series $I + A + A^2 + A^3 + \dots$ is absolutely convergent in L(E). Letting $n \to \infty$ in

$$(I - A)(I + A + A^2 + \dots + A^n) = I - A^{n+1}$$

we have $(I-A)\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n = (\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n)(I-A) = I$. Therefore I-A is invertible and $(I-A)^{-1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n$. Furthermore,

$$\|(I-A)^{-1}\| = \left\|\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n\right\| \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|A^n\| \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|A\|^n = \frac{1}{1-\|A\|}.$$

8-6.4. <u>**Theorem**</u> (a) The set T(E, F) of all topological isomorphisms is open in the Banach space L(E, F).

(b) The map $A \to A^{-1}$ is a continuous map from T(E, F) into L(F, E).

(c) Suppose $A, B \in L(E, F)$. If A is invertible and if $||A - B|| < \frac{1}{||A^{-1}||}$, then B is also invertible. Furthermore we have

$$\|B^{-1}\| \leq \frac{\|A^{-1}\|}{1 - \|A^{-1}\| \|A - B\|} \quad \text{and} \quad \|B^{-1} - A^{-1}\| \leq \frac{\|A^{-1}\|^2 \|A - B\|}{1 - \|A^{-1}\| \|A - B\|}.$$

Proof. Both (a) and (b) follow immediately from (c). Observe that

$$B = A - (A - B) = A[I - A^{-1}(A - B)].$$

Since $||A^{-1}(A-B)|| \le ||A^{-1}|| ||A-B|| < 1$, the operator $I - A^{-1}(A-B)$ is a topological isomorphism. Therefore B itself is also a topological isomorphism from E onto F. Consequently, T(E, F) is an open subset of L(E, F). Next, observe

$$||B^{-1}|| = ||[I - A^{-1}(A - B)]^{-1}A^{-1}|| \le ||[I - A^{-1}(A - B)]^{-1}|| ||A^{-1}||$$

$$\leq rac{1}{1-\|A^{-1}(A-B)\|}\|A^{-1}\| \leq rac{\|A^{-1}\|}{1-\|A^{-1}\|}\|A-B\|$$
;

and also

$$\begin{split} \|B^{-1} - A^{-1}\| &= \|B^{-1}(A - B)A^{-1}\| \le \|B^{-1}\| \|A - B\| \|A^{-1}\| \\ &\le \frac{\|A^{-1}\|^2 \|A - B\|}{1 - \|A^{-1}\| \|A - B\|}. \end{split}$$

This inequality proves that $A \to A^{-1}$ is continuous.

8-6.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let A_n, A be operators on E. Suppose that all A_n are invertible. If $\sup ||A_n^{-1}|| < \infty$ and if $\lim ||A_n - A|| = 0$, then A is also invertible.

8-6.6. We shall work with a given operator A on E. A scalar λ is called a *resolvent value* of A if $\lambda I - A$ is invertible. The set of all resolvent values of A is called the *resolvent* of A and it is denoted by $\rho(A)$. The map $R(\lambda) = (\lambda I - A)^{-1}$ from $\rho(A)$ into L(E) is called the *resolvent map* of A. The set $\sigma A = \mathbb{K} \setminus \rho(A)$ is called the *spectrum* of A and its elements are called *spectral values* of A. Equivalently, λ is a spectral value of A if $\lambda I - A$ is not invertible.

8-6.7. <u>Theorem</u> (a) The resolvent set $\rho(A)$ is open in K.

(b) If $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ satisfies $|\lambda| > ||A||$, then λ is a resolvent value of A.

(c) The spectrum of A is a compact subset of \mathbb{K} .

(d) Every eigenvalue of A belongs to the spectrum.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) The map $\lambda \to \lambda I - A$ is a continuous map from \mathbb{K} into L(E). Hence the inverse image $\rho(A)$ of the open set T(E) is open.

(b) Suppose $|\lambda| > ||A||$. Then $I - \frac{1}{\lambda}A$ is invertible. Hence $\lambda I - A$ is also invertible. Therefore λ is a resolvent value.

(c) It follows from (a) and (b) that σA is closed and bounded in \mathbb{K} and hence it is compact.

(d) If λ is an eigenvalue, then $\lambda I - A$ is not injective and hence a spectral value.

8-6.8. **Lemma** (a) The resolvent map $R(\lambda)$ is continuous.

(b) $\lim R(\lambda) = 0$ as $\lambda \to \infty$.

(c) For all resolvent values λ, μ , we have $R(\lambda) - R(\mu) = -(\lambda - \mu)R(\lambda)R(\mu)$.

(d) $R(\lambda)$ is holomorphic on $\rho(A)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) As the composite of two continuous maps: $\lambda \to \lambda I - A$ on $\rho(A)$ and $Q \to Q^{-1}$ on T(E), $R(\lambda)$ is continuous.

(b) Clearly, $R(\lambda)$ is well-defined for all large value of λ . Furthermore we have

$$\lim R(\lambda) = (\lim \lambda^{-1}) \lim \left[I - \frac{1}{\lambda}A\right]^{-1} = 0.I = 0.$$

(c) It follows immediately from

$$\begin{split} R(\lambda) - R(\mu) &= (\lambda I - A)^{-1} - (\mu I - A)^{-1} \\ &= (\lambda I - A)^{-1} [(\mu I - A) - (\lambda I - A)] (\mu I - A)^{-1} \\ &= R(\lambda) (\mu I - \lambda I) R(\mu) = -(\lambda - \mu) R(\lambda) R(\mu). \end{split}$$

(d) Since $\rho(A)$ is open, for each $\lambda \in \rho(A)$ and for all small h, we have $\lambda + h \in \rho(A)$. By (c), we have $R(\lambda + h) - R(\lambda) = -hR(\lambda + h)R(\lambda)$. It follows from (a) that

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \frac{R(\lambda + h) - R(\lambda)}{h} = \lim_{h \to 0} R(\lambda + h)R(\lambda) = -[R(\lambda)]^2 = -(\lambda I - A)^{-2}.$$

8-6.9. <u>**Theorem</u>** The spectrum of an operator A on a non-trivial complex Banach space E is non-empty.</u>

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose to the contrary that the spectrum is empty, i.e. $\rho(A) = \mathbb{C}$. Then the resolvent map $R(\lambda)$ is bounded and entire. Hence $(\lambda I - A)^{-1}$ is a constant, or its inverse $\lambda I - A$ is a constant which is a contradiction.

8-6.10. **<u>Theorem</u>** If A is invertible, then $\sigma(A^{-1}) = [\sigma(A)]^{-1}$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since A is invertible, $0 \in \mathbb{K}$ cannot belong to the spectrum. The right hand side is interpreted as $\{\lambda^{-1} : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\}$. Now suppose $\lambda \notin \sigma(A)^{-1}$, i.e. $\lambda^{-1} \notin \sigma(A)$. Then $\lambda^{-1}I - A$ is invertible. Hence $\lambda I - A^{-1} = -\lambda A^{-1}(\lambda^{-1}I - A)$ is also invertible. Therefore $\lambda \notin \sigma(A^{-1})$. We have proved $\sigma(A^{-1}) \subset [\sigma(A)]^{-1}$. Now replacing A by A^{-1} , we have $\sigma(A) \subset [\sigma(A^{-1})]^{-1}$, i.e. $\sigma(A)^{-1} \subset \sigma(A^{-1})$.

8-6.11. Let A be an operator on a Banach space E. Let f be a polynomial function given by $f(\lambda) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \lambda + \alpha_2 \lambda^2 + \cdots + \alpha_n \lambda^n$ where $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \cdots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{K}$ are constants and λ a scalar variable. Define $f(A) = \alpha_0 I + \alpha_1 A + \alpha_2 A^2 + \cdots + \alpha_n A^n$. Clearly, f(A) is again an operator on E. Clearly if f, g are polynomial functions which are equal in the sense $f(\lambda) = g(\lambda), \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{K}$, then f(A) = g(A).

8-6.12. Spectral Polynomial Theorem Let E be a complex Banach space and A an operator on E. Then for every polynomial function f, we have

$$\sigma[f(A)] = f[\sigma(A)].$$

<u>Proof</u>. The right hand side is interpreted as $\{f(\lambda) : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\}$. Take any $\mu \in \sigma(A)$. Then $\mu I - A$ is not invertible. On the other hand, there is a polynomial q satisfying $f(\mu) - f(\lambda) = (\mu - \lambda)q(\lambda)$. Then

$$f(\mu)I - f(A) = (\mu I - A)q(A) = q(A)(\mu I - A)$$

is not invertible, otherwise

$$I = [f(\mu)I - f(A)]^{-1}q(A)(\mu I - A) = (\mu - AI)q(A)[f(\mu)I - f(A)]^{-1}$$

gives the left and right inverses of $\mu I - A$. Therefore, $f(\mu)$ is in the spectrum of f(A). We have proved $f[\sigma(A)] \subset \sigma[f(A)]$. Conversely, take any $\mu \in \sigma[f(A)]$. Write $\mu - f(\lambda) = \alpha(\beta_1 - \lambda)(\beta_2 - \lambda)\cdots(\beta_n - \lambda)$ where $\beta_1, \beta_2, \cdots, \beta_n$ is an enumeration of all roots of $\mu - f(\lambda)$ and $\alpha \neq 0$. Hence we have

$$\mu I - f(A) = \alpha(\beta_1 I - A)(\beta_2 I - A) \cdots (\beta_n I - A).$$

Since $\mu I - f(A)$ is not invertible, there is at least one $1 \leq j \leq n$ such that $\beta_j I - A$ is not invertible, i.e. $\beta_j \in \sigma(A)$. As a result, $\mu = f(\beta_j) \in f[\sigma(A)]$. Therefore we have proved $\sigma[f(A)] \subset f[\sigma(A)]$.

8-6.13. **Exercise** Let A_n , B be operators on a Banach space E. Suppose that all A_n are invertible satisfying $\sup ||A_n^{-1}|| < \infty$. If $\lim ||A_n - B|| = 0$, then B is also invertible.

8-7 Spectral Radius

8-7.1. Let A be an operator on a Banach space E. Then the spectral radius of A is defined by $r(A) = \sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\}$. Of course, it measures the size of the spectrum. Equivalent formulas which is easier to apply will be given.

8-7.2. **Lemma** The Laurent series expansion of the resolvent map is given by $R(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{A}{\lambda}\right)^n$. It converges absolutely for all $|\lambda| > r(A)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $R(\lambda)$ is holomorphic on $\rho(A)$, it has a Laurent series expansion $(\lambda I - A)^{-1} = R(\lambda) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} B_n \lambda^n$ for $|\lambda| > r(A)$. On the other hand, $(\lambda I - A)^{-1} = \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{A}{\lambda}\right)^n$ holds for all $|\lambda| > ||A||$. By identity theorem, the corresponding coefficients must be the same. Therefore $R(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{A}{\lambda}\right)^n$ also holds for $|\lambda| > r(A)$.

8-7.3. <u>Theorem</u> $r(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} ||A^n||^{1/n} = \inf_{n \ge 1} ||A^n||^{1/n}.$

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\alpha = \inf_{n \ge 1} ||A^n||^{1/n}$. Take any $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$. By Spectral Polynomial Theorem, $\lambda^n \in \sigma(A^n)$. Hence $|\lambda|^n \le ||A^n||$, or $|\lambda| \le ||A^n||^{1/n}$ for all n, i.e. $r(A) \le \alpha$. Clearly, $\alpha \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} ||A^n||^{1/n} \le \limsup_{n \to \infty} ||A^n||^{1/n}$. Now take any $|\lambda| > r(A)$. Since the series $R(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{A}{\lambda}\right)^n$ converges, the set

 $\{\|A^n/\lambda^n\|: n \ge 1\}$ is bounded. There is $t \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for all $n \ge 1$, we have $\|A^n/\lambda^n\| \le t$, i.e. $\|A^n\|^{1/n} \le |\lambda|t^{1/n}$. Thus $\limsup \|A^n\|^{1/n} \le |\lambda|$ for all $|\lambda| > r(A)$. Letting $|\lambda| \downarrow r(A)$, we have $\limsup \|A^n\|^{1/n} \le r(A)$. Therefore $\lim \|A^n\|^{1/n}$ exists and the required equality is proved. \Box

8-7.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let A, B be operators on a Banach space E.

(a) $r(\lambda A) = |\lambda| r(A)$. (b) r(AB) = r(BA). (c) $r(A^n) = [r(A)]^n$, for all $n \ge 1$. <u>Proof</u>. (a) $r(\lambda A) = \lim \|(\lambda A)^n\|^{1/n} = \lim |\lambda| \|A^n\|^{1/n} = |\lambda| r(A)$. (b) $r(AB) = \lim \|(AB)^{n+1}\|^{1/(n+1)} \le \lim \|A\|^{1/(n+1)} \|(BA)^n\|^{1/(n+1)} \|B\|^{1/(n+1)} \le \lim \|A\|^{1/(n+1)} \lim \|B\|^{1/(n+1)} = r(BA)$. Similarly, $r(BA) \le r(AB)$. This proves (b). (c) $r(A^n) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \|A^{mn}\|^{1/m} = \left[\lim_{m \to \infty} \|A^{mn}\|^{1/(mn)}\right]^n = [r(A)]^n$.

8-7.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let A, B be operators on a Banach space E. If AB = BA, then $r(AB) \le r(A)r(B)$ and $r(A + B) \le r(A) + r(B)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Letting $n \to \infty$ in $||(AB)^n||^{1/n} = ||A^n B^n||^{1/n} \le ||A^n||^{1/n} ||B^n||^{1/n}$, we prove the first formula. For the second, take any $\alpha > r(A)$ and $\beta > r(B)$. Let $P = A/\alpha$ and $Q = B/\beta$. Then r(P) < 1 and r(Q) < 1. For each integer $n \ge 1$, there is an integer $0 \le g(n) \le n$ such that

$$||P^{g(n)}|| ||Q^{n-g(n)}|| = \max_{0 \le k \le n} ||P^k|| ||Q^{n-k}||.$$

Let h(n) = n - g(n). Then

$$\begin{aligned} r(A+B) &\leq \|(A+B)^{n}\|^{1/n} \leq \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \alpha^{k} \beta^{n-k} \|P^{k}\| \|Q^{n-k}\|\right]^{1/n} \\ &\leq \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \alpha^{k} \beta^{n-k}\right]^{1/n} \|P^{g(n)}\|^{1/n} \|Q^{h(n)}\|^{1/n} \\ &= (\alpha+\beta) \|P^{g(n)}\|^{1/n} \|Q^{h(n)}\|^{1/n}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $0 \leq \frac{1}{n}g(n) \leq 1$, there is a sequence $n_1 < n_2 < n_3 < \cdots$ of integers such that $\lim_{j\to\infty} g(n_j)/n_j = \gamma \leq 1$. Then $\lim_{j\to\infty} h(n_j)/n_j = 1 - \gamma$. Consider the case when $g(n_j) \to \infty$ and $h(n_j) \to \infty$ as $j \to \infty$. Then

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \left\| P^{g(n_j)} \right\|^{1/n_j} = \lim_{j \to \infty} \left\| P^{g(n_j)} \right\|^{[1/g(n_j)][g(n_j)/n_j]} = r(P)^{\gamma} \le 1$$

Similarly we have

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \left\| Q^{h(n_j)} \right\|^{1/n_j} \le r(Q)^{1-\gamma} \le 1$$

Hence $r(A + B) \leq \alpha + \beta$. Next consider the case when $\{g(n_j) : j \geq 1\}$ is bounded. Then we have $\lim_{j\to\infty} g(n_j)/n_j = 0$, or $\lim_{j\to\infty} h(n_j)/n_j = 1$, i.e. $h(n_j) \to \infty$. Therefore

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \|Q^{h(n_j)}\|^{1/n_j} = \lim_{j \to \infty} \|Q^{h(n_j)}\|^{[1/h(n_j)][h(n_j)/n_j]} = r(Q)^1 \le 1$$

 and

$$\|P^{g(n_j)}\|^{1/n_j} \le \left[\max_{k\ge 1} \|P^{g(n_k)}\|\right]^{1/n_j} o 1.$$

Consequently $r(A+B) \leq \alpha + \beta$. Similarly when $\{h(n_j) : j \geq 1\}$ is bounded, we obtain the same result. Now letting $\alpha \downarrow r(A)$ and $\beta \downarrow r(B)$, we get $r(A+B) \leq r(A) + r(B)$.

8-7.6. <u>Exercise</u> Let A_n be an invertible operator on E. Suppose that $r(A_n^{-1}) \leq \lambda < \infty$ for all n. Prove that if B is an operator on E satisfying $\lim ||A_n - B|| = 0$ and $A_n B = BA_n$ for all n, then B is invertible.

8-7.7. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the following statements are equivalent for an operator A on E.

(a) A is quasinilpotent, i.e. r(A) = 0.

(b) $\sup_{n\geq 1} \|(\lambda A)^n\| < \infty$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$.

(c) $\lim_{n\to\infty} \|(\lambda A)^n\| = 0$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$.

8-7.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let A be a quasinilpotent operator on E. Prove that if $\limsup |\lambda_n|^{1/n} < \infty$, then the series $\sum_n \lambda_n A^n$ converges absolutely.

8-7.9. Exercise Show that
$$r(A) = r(B) = 0$$
, $r(A + B) = 1$, $r(AB) = 1$ and $AB \neq BA$ where $A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and $B = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$.

8-8 Holomorphic Maps of an Operator

8-8.1. Let A be an operator on a complex Banach space E, V an open set containing the spectrum $\sigma(A)$ and $f: V \to \mathbb{C}$ a holomorphic function. We shall define the operator f(A) by Cauchy integral formula over certain contour.

8-8.2. A bounded open subset W of \mathbb{C} is said to be *Cauchy* if its boundary ∂W consists of a finite number of disjoint simple closed contours which are all oriented with respect to W according to the right handed rule. For example, the set $\{z : |z| < 1, \text{ or } 2 < |z| < 3, \text{ or } |z+9| < 1\}$ is a Cauchy open set when the circles |z| = 1, |z| = 3 and |z+9| = 1 are oriented counter clockwise but |z| = 2 clockwise.

8-8.3. <u>Lemma</u> Let K be a compact subset of an open set V in \mathbb{C} . Then there is a Cauchy open set W such that $K \subset W \subset \overline{W} \subset V$.

<u>Proof</u>. Write z = x + iy and w = u + iv where x, y, u, v are all real. Let $\overline{Q(z,\delta)} = \{w : |u-x| < \delta, |v-y| < \delta\}$ denote the square with center z. Then for each $z \in K$ there is $\delta_z > 0$ such that $Q(z, 3\delta_z) \subset V$. By compactness of K, there is a finite subset J of K such that $K \subset \bigcup_{z \in J} Q(z, \delta_z)$. Clearly $W = \bigcup_{z \in J} Q(z, 2\delta_z)$ is a required open set.

8-8.4. Let E be a complex Banach space. Then the space L(E) of operators is also a complex Banach space. Let A be an operator on E. Suppose V is an open set in \mathbb{C} containing the spectrum $\sigma(A)$ of A and $f: V \to \mathbb{C}$ a holomorphic function. There is a Cauchy open set W such that $\sigma(A) \subset W \subset \overline{W} \subset V$. Now in terms of the following line integral,

$$f(A) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} f(\lambda)(\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \frac{f(\lambda)}{\lambda I - A} d\lambda$$

is well-defined in the Banach space L(E).

8-8.5. **Lemma** The definition of f(A) is independent of the choice of W.

<u>Proof</u>. Let M be any Cauchy open set satisfying $\sigma(A) \subset M \subset \overline{M} \subset V$. Then $\overline{W \cap M}$ is an open set containing the compact set $\sigma(A)$. There is a Cauchy open set N such that $\sigma(A) \subset N \subset \overline{N} \subset W \cap M$. Now ∂N is completely contained in the interior of ∂M and there is no singularity of $f(\lambda)(\lambda I - A)^{-1}$ between them. It follows from Cauchy-Goursat Theorem that

$$\int_{\partial N} f(\lambda)(\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda = \int_{\partial M} f(\lambda)(\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda.$$

Similarly, we have

$$\int_{\partial N} f(\lambda) (\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda = \int_{\partial W} f(\lambda) (\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda.$$

Therefore

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \frac{f(\lambda)}{\lambda I - A} d\lambda = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial M} \frac{f(\lambda)}{\lambda I - A} d\lambda.$$

8-8.6. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that for every $x \in E$, we have

$$f(A)x = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} f(\lambda)(\lambda I - A)^{-1} x d\lambda.$$

8-8.7. **<u>Theorem</u>** $(\alpha f + \beta g)(A) = \alpha [f(A)] + \beta [g(A)]$ for constants α, β .

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let g be a holomorphic function on an open set U containing $\sigma(A)$. There is a Cauchy open set W such that $\sigma(A) \subset W \subset \overline{W} \subset U \cap V$. Then

Complex Analysis

$$(\alpha f + \beta g)(A) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \frac{(\alpha f + \beta g)(\lambda)}{\lambda I - A} d\lambda$$
$$= \frac{\alpha}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \frac{f(\lambda)}{\lambda I - A} d\lambda + \frac{\beta}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \frac{g(\lambda)}{\lambda I - A} d\lambda = \alpha [f(A)] + \beta [g(A)].$$

8-8.8. <u>Theorem</u> If f, g are holomorphic functions on an open set V containing $\sigma(A)$, then we have $(f \cdot g)(A) = [f(A)][g(A)]$.

Proof. Let M, W be Cauchy open sets satisfying

$$\sigma(A) \subset M \subset \overline{M} \subset W \subset \overline{W} \subset V.$$

Then ∂W is exterior to the contour ∂M . In particular, they are disjoint. Furthermore, for every $w \in \partial N$ we have $\int_{\partial M} \frac{f(z)}{w-z} dz = 0$. Now the result follows from the following calculation:

$$\begin{split} f(A)g(A) &= \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial M} \frac{f(z)}{zI - A} dz \right\} \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \frac{g(w)}{wI - A} dw \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{-4\pi^2} \int_{\partial W} \int_{\partial M} f(z)g(w)(zI - A)^{-1}(wI - A)^{-1}dzdw \\ &= \frac{1}{-4\pi^2} \int_{\partial W} \int_{\partial M} f(z)g(w)(w - z)^{-1}[(zI - A)^{-1} - (wI - A)^{-1}]dzdw \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial M} \frac{f(z)}{zI - A} \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \frac{g(w)}{w - z} dw \right\} dz \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{-4\pi^2} \int_{\partial W} \left\{ \int_{\partial M} \frac{f(z)}{w - z} dz \right\} g(w)(wI - A)^{-1}dw \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial M} \frac{f(z)g(z)}{zI - A} dz = (f \cdot g)(A). \end{split}$$

8-8.9. <u>Theorem</u> Let f be a holomorphic function on an open ball $\mathbb{B}(0, r)$ containing $\sigma(A)$. If the series expansion $f(\lambda) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n \lambda^n$ holds for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{B}(0, r)$, then we have $f(A) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n A^n$ in norm.

<u>*Proof.*</u> By compactness of $\sigma(A)$, there is $t \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\sigma(A) \subset \mathbb{B}(0, t)$ and t < r. Then the series $f(\lambda)$ converges uniformly on the positively oriented circle Γ given by $\{\lambda : |\lambda| = t\}$. Therefore,

$$f(A) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(\lambda)}{\lambda I - A} d\lambda = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n \lambda^n (\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{b_n}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \lambda^n (\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{b_n}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \lambda^n \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} A^k / \lambda^{k+1} \right) d\lambda$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} b_n A^k \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \lambda^{n-k-1} d\lambda = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n A^n.$$

8-8.10. When f is a polynomial, we have proved that the functional definition of f(A) agrees with the algebra of operators. The exercise below follows by argument similar to last theorem. After that, the spectral polynomial theorem will be generalized.

8-8.11. **Exercise** Let f_n be a sequence of holomorphic functions on an open set V containing $\sigma(A)$. Prove that if $f_n \to f$ uniformly on compact subsets of V, then $f_n(A) \to f(A)$ in norm.

8-8.12. Spectral Function Theorem For every holomorphic function f on an open set containing $\sigma(A)$, we have $\sigma[f(A)] = f[\sigma(A)]$.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose $\mu \notin f[\sigma(A)]$. Then for every $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$, we have $\mu \neq f(\lambda)$. Since $g(\lambda) = [\mu - f(\lambda)]^{-1}$ is holomorphic on $\sigma(A)$, it is holomorphic on some open set W satisfying $\sigma(A) \subset W \subset V$. Now $g(\lambda)[\mu - f(\lambda)] = 1$ on W gives

$$g(A)[\mu I - f(A)] = I = [\mu I - f(A)]g(A).$$

Hence $\mu I - f(A)$ is invertible, i.e. $\mu \notin \sigma[f(A)]$. Therefore, we have $\sigma[f(A)] \subset f[\sigma(A)]$. Conversely, assume $\mu \in \sigma(A)$. Then the function

$$g(\lambda) = \frac{f(\mu) - f(\lambda)}{\mu - \lambda}$$

is holomorphic on V. Now $f(\mu) - f(\lambda) = (\mu - \lambda)g(\lambda)$ gives

$$f(\mu)I - f(A) = (\mu I - A)g(A).$$

Thus $f(\mu)I - f(A)$ is not invertible, otherwise

$$(\mu I - A)g(A)[f(\mu)I - f(A)]^{-1} = I = [f(\mu)I - f(A)]^{-1}g(A)(\mu I - A)$$

provides an inverse for $\mu I - A$. Therefore $f(\mu) \in \sigma[f(A)]$. Consequently, we obtain $f[\sigma(A)] \subset \sigma[f(A)]$.

8-8.13. <u>Theorem</u> Let f be a holomorphic function on an open set V containing $\sigma(A)$ and g a holomorphic function on an open set U containing $\sigma[f(A)]$. Then we have (gf)(A) = g[f(A)].

<u>Proof.</u> Let M be a Cauchy open set satisfying $\sigma[f(A)] \subset M \subset \overline{M} \subset U$. Then $\overline{\sigma(A)} \subset f^{-1}(M) \subset V$. Since $f^{-1}(M)$ is open, there is a Cauchy open set W such that $\sigma(A) \subset W \subset \overline{W} \subset f^{-1}(M)$. Now take any $\lambda \in \overline{W}$. Then $f(\lambda) \in M$. Hence for every $z \in \partial M$, we have $z - f(\lambda) \neq 0$. Thus $\frac{1}{z - f(\lambda)}$ is holomorphic in λ on \overline{W} . Therefore,

$$[zI - f(A)]^{-1} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \frac{d\lambda}{[z - f(\lambda)](\lambda I - A)}$$

Now the result follows from the calculation:

$$\begin{split} g[f(A)] &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial M} g(z) [zI - f(A)]^{-1} dz \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial M} g(z) \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \frac{d\lambda}{[z - f(\lambda)](\lambda I - A)} \right\} dz \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial M} \frac{g(z) dz}{z - f(\lambda)} \right\} (\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial W} (gf)(\lambda) (\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda = (gf)(A). \end{split}$$

8-8.14. <u>Exercise</u> Let A, B be operators on E. Let f be a holomorphic function on an open set V containing $\sigma(A)$ and g a holomorphic function on an open set U containing $\sigma(B)$. Prove that if AB = BA, then we have f(A)g(B) = g(B)f(A).

8-8.15. <u>Exponential Function of Operators</u> Since the exponential function is holomorphic on the spectrum of A, the operator e^A is well-defined.

- (a) The series $e^{A} = I + A + \frac{1}{2!}A^{2} + \frac{1}{3!}A^{3} + \frac{1}{4!}A^{4} + \cdots$ converges in norm.
- (b) $e^0 = I$ and $\frac{d}{d\lambda}e^{A\lambda} = Ae^{A\overline{\lambda}} = e^{A\overline{\lambda}}A$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$.
- (c) If AB = BA then $e^AB = Be^A$ and $e^{A+B} = e^Ae^B$.

(d) e^A is invertible and its inverse is given by $(e^A)^{-1} = e^{-A}$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (b) follows immediately from differentiating the following series term by term: $e^{A\lambda} = I + A\lambda + \frac{1}{2!}A^2\lambda^2 + \frac{1}{3!}A^3\lambda^3 + \frac{1}{4!}A^4\lambda^4 + \cdots$.

(c,d) Suppose AB = BA. Then $e^A B = Be^A$ follows from last exercise. Next, let $F(\lambda) = e^{(A+B)\lambda}e^{-B\lambda}e^{-A\lambda}$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Then $F'(\lambda)$ is given by

$$(A+B)e^{(A+B)\lambda}e^{-B\lambda}e^{-A\lambda} + e^{(A+B)\lambda}(-B)e^{-B\lambda}e^{-A\lambda} + e^{(A+B)\lambda}e^{-B\lambda}(-A)e^{-A\lambda} + e^{(A+B)\lambda}e^{-B\lambda}(-A)e^{-A\lambda} + e^{(A+B)\lambda}e^{-B\lambda}e^{-A\lambda} + e^{(A+B)\lambda}e^{-A\lambda} + e^{(A+B)\lambda}e^$$

It follows from (b) that $F'(\lambda) = 0$. Thus F(1) = F(0), i.e. $e^{A+B}e^{-B}e^{-A} = I$. Taking B = 0, we have $e^A e^{-A} = I$. Replacing A by -A, $e^{-A}e^A = I$. Therefore e^A is invertible and we have $(e^A)^{-1} = e^{-A}$. Since $e^A e^B e^{-B} e^{-A} = I$, we obtain $e^{A+B} = e^A e^B$ by uniqueness of left inverses.

8-8.16. Finally, we shall present a practical way to evaluate a holomorphic function of a square matrix. To do so, we need the following standard result from linear algebra. It will be used again by Fulmer's Method in §11-4.2.

8-8.17. <u>Cayley-Hamilton Theorem</u> Let A be an $n \times n$ matrix with characteristic polynomial given by

$$p(\lambda) = det(\lambda I - A) = \lambda^n + a_{n-1}\lambda^{n-1} + \dots + a_2\lambda^2 + a_1\lambda + a_0.$$

Then we have $p(A) = A^n + a_{n-1}A^{n-1} + \dots + a_2A^2 + a_1A + a_0I = 0.$

8-8.18. Let A be a square matrix of order n and let f be a function analytic on the spectrum of A. Suppose that the characteristic function of A is factorized into the form $p(\lambda) = det(\lambda I - A) = \prod_{j=1}^{s} (\lambda - \lambda_j)^{m(j)}$ where $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_s$ are eigenvalues of A and each m(j) is an integer ≥ 1 . By partial fraction, there are polynomials $u_j(\lambda)$ of degrees < m(j) respectively such that

$$\frac{1}{p(\lambda)} = \sum_{j=1}^{s} \frac{u_j(\lambda)}{(\lambda - \lambda_j)^{m(j)}}.$$
$$v_k(\lambda) = \prod_{j=1, j \neq k}^{n} (\lambda - \lambda_j)^{m(j)}$$

Define

Let

$$T_j(\lambda) = \sum_{k=0}^{m(j)-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(\lambda_j)}{k!} (\lambda - \lambda_j)^k$$

denote the Taylor's expansion of f at λ_j truncated to the degree m(j)-1. Then we have the following practical expression for function of a square matrix:

$$f(A) = \sum_{j=1}^{s} u_j(A)v_j(A)T_j(A). \qquad \#1$$
$$\sum_{j=1}^{s} u_j(\lambda)v_j(\lambda) = 1$$

we get

Indeed, from

$$f(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^{s} u_j(\lambda) v_j(\lambda) f(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^{s} u_j(\lambda) v_j(\lambda) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{f^{(k)}(\lambda_j)}{k!} (\lambda - \lambda_j)^k$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{s} \sum_{j=0}^{m(j)-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(\lambda_j)}{k!} u_j(\lambda) v_j(\lambda) (\lambda - \lambda_j)^k$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{s} \sum_{j=m(j)}^{\infty} \frac{f^{(k)}(\lambda_j)}{k!} u_j(\lambda) p(\lambda) (\lambda - \lambda_j)^{j-m(j)}$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{s} u_j(\lambda) v_j(\lambda) T_j(\lambda) + p(\lambda) \sum_{j=1}^{s} \sum_{j=m(j)}^{\infty} \frac{f^{(k)}(\lambda_j)}{k!} u_j(\lambda) (\lambda - \lambda_j)^{j-m(j)}$$

Now replacing λ by the matrix A, since p(A) = 0, we prove the formula #1.

8-8.19. **Exercise** Find
$$e^A$$
 where $A = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 & -2 \\ 2 & 2 & -1 & -2 \\ 3 & 1 & 0 & -2 \end{bmatrix}$. Compare the result

in §11-4.3.

8-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further</u> <u>Readings</u>: Taylor-71, Zhu, Murphy, Stout, Gamelin-69, Garnett, Gohberg-82 and Aron-91.

Chapter 9

Differentiation in Banach Spaces

9-1 Differentiable Maps

9-1.1. Let f be a map from a Banach space E into a Banach space. We cannot define the derivative at a point in terms of difference quotient because it does not make sense to divide a vector f(x) - f(a) by another vector x - a. However the following lemma gives an equivalent formulation which motivates the definition of derivatives as linear maps. Elementary properties such as continuity of differentiable maps, chain rule will be given in this section.

9-1.2. Lemma Let f be a map from an open subset X of the scalar field \mathbb{K} into a Banach space F. Then the limit $f'(a) = \lim_{x \to a} \frac{f(x) - f(a)}{x - a}$ exists for $a \in X$ iff there is a continuous linear map $Df(a) : \mathbb{K} \to F$ such that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ satisfying $||f(x) - f(a) - Df(a)(x - a)|| \le \varepsilon |x - a|$ whenever $|x - a| \le \delta$. In this case, we have Df(a)t = tf'(a) for all $t \in \mathbb{K}$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (\Leftarrow) Suppose that $Df(a), \varepsilon, \delta$ satisfy the given conditions. Let f'(a) = Df(a)1 where $1 \in \mathbb{K}$. Then for all $|x - a| \leq \delta$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \frac{f(x) - f(a)}{x - a} - f'(a) \right\| &= \frac{\|f(x) - f(a) - (x - a)f'(a)\|}{|x - a|} \\ &= \frac{\|f(x) - f(a) - (x - a)Df(a)\mathbf{1}\|}{|x - a|} = \frac{\|f(x) - f(a) - Df(a)[(x - a)\mathbf{1}]\|}{|x - a|} \\ &= \frac{\|f(x) - f(a) - Df(a)(x - a)\|}{|x - a|} \le \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

(⇒) Define Df(a)t = tf'(a) for all $t \in \mathbb{K}$. Then $Df(a) : \mathbb{K} \to F$ is a continuous linear map. Since $f'(a) = \lim[f(x) - f(a)]/(x - a)$, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $0 < |x - a| \le \delta$ we have $\|[f(x) - f(a)]/(x - a) - f'(a)\| \le \varepsilon$, i.e. $\|f(x) - f(a) - (x - a)f'(a)\| \le \varepsilon |x - a|$, or $\|f(x) - f(a) - Df(a)(x - a)\| \le \varepsilon |x - a|$. Note that last inequality is also true for |x - a| = 0. The proof is complete. \Box

9-1.3. Let E, F be Banach spaces and L(E, F) the vector space of all continuous linear maps from E into F. Let X be an open subset of E and

 $f: X \to F$ a given map. Then f is said to be *differentiable at* $a \in X$ if there is Df(a) in L(E, F) such that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ satisfying

$$||f(x) - f(a) - Df(a)(x - a)|| \le \varepsilon ||x - a||$$

whenever $||x - a|| \leq \delta$, i.e.

$$\lim_{x \to a} \frac{f(x) - f(a) - Df(a)(x - a)}{\|x - a\|} = 0.$$

In this case, Df(a) is called the *derivative* of f at a or *total derivative* in order to distinguish from the partial derivatives introduced later. The map f is said to be *differentiable on* X if it is differentiable at every point of X. A *holomorphic* map refers specifically to differentiable maps among *complex* Banach spaces.

9-1.4. <u>**Theorem**</u> If $f: X \to F$ is differentiable at $a \in X$, then its derivative is unique.

<u>Proof</u>. Let A, B be derivatives of f at $a \in X$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, 2\delta)$ we have $||f(x) - f(a) - A(x - a)|| \le \varepsilon ||x - a||$ and $||f(x) - f(a) - B(x - a)|| \le \varepsilon ||x - a||$. Hence $||(A - B)(x - a)|| \le 2\varepsilon ||x - a||$. Now take any $||v|| \le 1$ in E. Let $x = a + \delta v$. Since $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, 2\delta)$, we have $||(A - B)(\delta v)|| \le 2\varepsilon \delta$, i.e. $||A - B|| = \sup_{\|v\| \le 1} ||(A - B)v|| \le 2\varepsilon$. Because ε is arbitrary, ||A - B|| = 0, i.e. A = B.

9-1.5. **Exercise** Let $f: X \to F$ be given by f(x) = Ax + b where $A: E \to F$ is a continuous linear map and $b \in F$ a constant. Prove that f is differentiable on X and Df(a) = A for each $a \in X$. In particular when A = 0, the derivatives of constant maps are zero.

9-1.6. <u>Theorem</u> If f is differentiable at $a \in X$, then f is continuous at a. More precisely, for every $\lambda > \|Df(a)\|$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that

$$||f(x) - f(a)|| \le \lambda ||x - a|| \text{ for all } ||x - a|| \le \delta.$$

<u>Proof.</u> For every $0 < \varepsilon < \lambda - \|Df(a)\|$, there is $0 < \delta < \varepsilon/\lambda$ such that for all $\|x - a\| \le \delta$ we have $\|f(x) - f(a) - Df(a)(x - a)\| \le \varepsilon \|x - a\|$, or $\|f(x) - f(a)\| - \|Df(a)(x - a)\| \le \varepsilon \|x - a\|$, that is,

$$\begin{split} \|f(x) - f(a)\| &\leq \|Df(a)(x-a)\| + \varepsilon \|x-a\| \\ &\leq \|Df(a)\| \|(x-a)\| + \varepsilon \|x-a\| \leq \lambda \|x-a\| \leq \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

9-1.7. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the function $h(z) = \overline{z}$ is continuous but not holomorphic from the complex plane into itself.

9-1.8. <u>First Order Chain Rule</u> Let E, F, G be Banach spaces and X, Y open subsets of E, F respectively. Let $f : X \to Y$ and $g : Y \to G$ be two given maps. If f is differentiable at $a \in X$ and g differentiable at $b = f(a) \in Y$, then the composite map $gf : X \to G$ is differentiable at $a \in X$. Furthermore, we have D(gf)(a) = Dg(b)Df(a).

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $||x - a|| \le \delta$ we have

$$\begin{split} \|f(x) - f(a) - Df(a)(x - a)\| &\leq \varepsilon \|x - a\| ,\\ \|f(x) - f(a)\| &\leq \{\|Df(a)\| + 1\}\|x - a\| ,\\ \text{and also} & \|g(y) - g(b) - Dg(b)(y - b)\| &\leq \varepsilon \|y - b\| \\ \text{for all } \|y - b\| &\leq (\|Df(a)\| + 1)\delta. \text{ Writing } y = f(x), \text{ it follows that} \\ \|gf(x) - gf(a) - Dg(b)Df(a)(x - a)\| \\ &\leq \|g(y) - g(b) - Dg(b)(y - b)\| + \|Dg(b)\| \|f(x) - f(a) - Df(a)(x - a)\| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \|y - b\| + \varepsilon \|Dg(b)\| \|x - a\| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \{\|Df(a)\| + 1\}\|x - a\| + \varepsilon \|Dg(b)\| \|x - a\| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \{\|Df(a)\| + 1 + \|Dg(b)\|\}\|x - a\|. \end{split}$$

Therefore the composite of operators Dg(b)Df(a) is the derivative of gf at $a \in X$, i.e. D(gf)(a) = Dg(b)Df(a).

9-1.9. **Exercise** Let $\varphi: E_1 \to E$ and $\psi: F \to F_1$ be topological isomorphisms. Prove that $f: X \to F$ is differentiable iff the composite $\psi f \varphi: \varphi^{-1}(X) \to F_1$ is differentiable. In particular, if a map from \mathbb{K}^n into \mathbb{K}^m is differentiable with respect to some norms on $\mathbb{K}^n, \mathbb{K}^m$, then it is differentiable with respect to every norms.

9-1.10. Let L(E, F) denote the Banach space of all continuous linear maps from E into F. A map $f: X \to F$ is said to be *continuously differentiable* if f is differentiable on X and its derivative $Df: X \to L(E, F)$ is a continuous map. Continuously differentiable maps are also called C^{1} -maps.

9-1.11. <u>Theorem</u> Composites of continuously differentiable maps are continuously differentiable.

<u>Proof.</u> Let E, F, G be Banach spaces and X, Y open subsets of E, F respectively. Suppose $f: X \to Y$ and $g: Y \to G$ are C^1 -maps. Then y = f(x) and Dg(y) are continuous in x, y respectively. Hence the composite map

(Dg)[f(x)] is continuous in x. Since the product $L(E, F) \times L(F, G) \rightarrow L(E, G)$ is jointly continuous, D(gf)(x) = (Dg)[f(x)]Df(x) is continuous in x.

9-1.12. **Exercise** Let $f, g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be given by f(0) = g(0) = 0 and for all $x \neq 0$, $f(x) = x \sin \frac{1}{x}$, $g(x) = x^2 \sin \frac{1}{x}$. Show that f is continuous but not differentiable. Show that g is differentiable but not continuously differentiable.

9-1.13. **Theorem** Let E, F, G be Banach spaces and X an open subset of E. The product space $F \times G$ consists of all column vectors $\begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix}$ where $u \in F$ and $v \in G$. Suppose $f: X \to F$ and $g: X \to G$ are given maps and $p: X \to F \times G$ is given by $p(x) = \begin{bmatrix} f(x) \\ g(x) \end{bmatrix}$ for each $x \in X$. Then p is continuously differentiable on X iff both f, g are. In this case, the derivative of p is given in matrix form: $Dp(x) = \begin{bmatrix} Df(x) \\ Dg(x) \end{bmatrix}$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $\pi : F \times G \to F$ be the projection onto the first coordinate. Let $\varphi : F \to F \times G$ be the natural injection given by $\varphi(u) = \begin{bmatrix} u \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\psi : G \to F \times G$ by $\psi(v) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ v \end{bmatrix}$. Then $f = \pi p$ and $p = \varphi f + \psi g$ with chain rule give the result.

9-2 Mean-Value Theorem

9-2.1. Let $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be given by $f(x) = \begin{bmatrix} x^2 \\ x^3 \end{bmatrix}$. It is easy to show that there is no $t \in [0, 1]$ satisfying f(1) - f(0) = Df(t)(1-0). Hence the classical form of Mean-Value Theorem in one dimensional case fails in \mathbb{R}^2 . There will be several versions of generalization of this important theorem. We start with the following preparation. Let E, F be Banach spaces and X an open subset of E. We shall continue to work on a map $f: X \to F$.

9-2.2. Lemma Let M be an open subset of \mathbb{K} . Suppose $g : M \to X$ and $f : X \to F$ are differentiable maps. Then for each $t \in M$ we have (fg)'(t) = Df(x)g'(t) where x = g(t) and both (fg)'(t), g'(t) are defined as the limits of difference quotients.

<u>Proof</u>. By Chain Rule, D(fg)(t) = Df(x)Dg(t), i.e. for each vector $h \in \mathbb{K}$, we have D(fg)(t)h = Df(x)Dg(t)h. Regarding h as a scalar and (fg)'(t), g'(t) as vectors, we obtain h(fg)'(t) = Df(x)[hg'(t)], i.e. h(fg)'(t) = hDf(x)g'(t). The result follows by letting h = 1.

9-2.3. Inequality Mean-Value Theorem Let f be differentiable on X. Suppose the line segment $[a,b] = \{(1-t)a + tb : 0 \le t \le 1\}$ is contained in X. Then we have $||f(b) - f(a)|| \le ||b - a|| \sup\{||Df(z)|| : z \in [a,b]\}.$

<u>Proof</u>. It suffices to prove the real case because every complex Banach space is also a real one. Define g(t) = (1 - t)a + tb for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Then $g : \mathbb{R} \to E$ is differentiable. Applying the Chain Rule to the composite map fg, we have (fg)'(t) = Df(x)g'(t). Since [0, 1] is a subset of the open set $g^{-1}(X)$, it follows from the mean-value theorem for \mathbb{R} that for every $u \in F'$ there is $t \in (0, 1)$ such that (ufg)(1) - (ufg)(0) = (ufg)'(t), i.e. uf[g(1)] - uf[g(0)] = uDf(x)g'(t)where $x = g(t) \in [a, b]$. Hence u[f(b) - f(a)] = u[Df(x)(b-a)]. For any $||u|| \leq 1$, we have $|u[f(b) - f(a)]| \leq ||u|| ||Df(x)|| ||b - a|| \leq ||b - a|| \sup_{z \in [a, b]} ||Df(z)||$. The result follows by taking supremum over $||u|| \leq 1$.

9-2.4. **Exercise** Let $g: X \to \mathbb{R}$ a differentiable map. Prove that if the line segment $[a, b] = \{(1-t)a + tb : 0 \le t \le 1\}$ is contained in X show that there is $x \in [a, b]$ such that g(b) - g(a) = Dg(x)(b - a).

9-2.5. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if M, N are disjoint non-empty open subsets of a normed space E, then $M \cup N$ is disconnected. Also prove that every pair of points in an open connected subset Y of E can be joined by a broken line contained in Y.

9-2.6. **Exercise** Let $f : X \to F$ be a differentiable map. If the derivative Df(x) = A is a constant on X and if X is connected, then there is some $b \in E$ such that for every $x \in X$ we have f(x) = Ax + b.

9-2.7. Integral Mean-Value Theorem Let $f : X \to F$ be continuously differentiable. If the line segment $[a, a + h] = \{a + th : 0 \le t \le 1\}$ is contained in X, then we have $f(a + h) = f(a) + \int_0^1 Df(a + th)hdt$.

<u>Proof</u>. The map $g : \mathbb{R} \to E$ defined by x = g(t) = a + th for all $t \in R$ is continuously differentiable. The composite map fg has continuous derivative: (fg)'(t) = Df(x)g'(t) = Df(a+th)h. Now the Second Fundamental Theorem of

Calculus gives
$$f(b) - f(a) = fg(1) - fg(0) = \int_0^1 Df(a+th)hdt.$$

9-2.8. Uniform Mean-Value Theorem Let f be a continuously differentiable map from an open subset X of E into F. Then for every $a \in X$ and every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x, y \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ we have

$$\|f(x) - f(y) - Df(a)(x - y)\| \le \varepsilon \|x - y\|.$$

<u>Proof.</u> Define g(x) = f(x) - Df(a)x for all $x \in X$. Given that f is continuously differentiable, so is g. Since its derivative Dg(x) = Df(x) - Df(a) vanishes at a, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $||z - a|| \le \delta$ in X, we obtain $||Dg(z)|| = ||Df(z) - Df(a)|| \le \varepsilon$. Now for any $x, y \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$, the following estimation completes the proof:

$$\|f(x) - f(y) - Df(a)(x - y)\| = \|g(x) - g(y)\|$$

$$\leq \|x - y\| \sup\{\|Dg(z)\| : z \in [x, y]\} \leq \|x - y\|\varepsilon.$$

9-2.9. **Exercise** Let $f: X \to F$ be a continuously differentiable map and Q a compact subset of X. Prove that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x, y \in Q$ with $||x - y|| \le \delta$ we have $||f(y) - f(x) - Df(x)(y - x)|| \le \varepsilon ||y - x||$.

9-2.10. **Lemma** Let X be a *convex* open subset of E and $f_n : X \to F$ a sequence of differentiable maps. Suppose for some $a \in X$, the sequence $f_n(a)$ converges. If $Df_n \to g$ converges uniformly on X for some $g : X \to L(E, F)$, then $f_n \to f$ converges uniformly on bounded subsets of X for some $f : X \to F$. Furthermore we have Df = g on X.

<u>Proof</u>. By uniform convergence of $Df_n \to g$ on X, $\{Df_n\}$ is uniformly Cauchy on X, i.e. for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p$ and for all $x \in X$ we have $\|Df_m(x) - Df_n(x)\| \le \varepsilon$. For each $x \in X$, since X is convex we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|[f_m(x) - f_m(a)] - [f_n(x) - f_n(a)]\| &= \|[f_m(x) - f_n(x)] - [f_m(a) - f_n(a)]\| \\ &\le \|x - a\| \sup\{\|Df_m(z) - Df_n(z)\| : z \in [x, a]\} \le \|x - a\|\varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Thus $\{f_n(x) - f_n(a)\}$ is Cauchy in the Banach space F and hence it converges. Since $\{f_n(a)\}$ converges, we may write $f_n(x) \to f(x) \in F$. Now a map $f: X \to F$ has been defined. The above inequality shows that $\{f_n(x) - f_n(a)\}$ converges uniformly on every bounded subset of X and so does $\{f_n(x)\}$. Take any $x_0 \in X$. We want to show that $g(x_0)$ is the derivative of f at x_0 . Repeating what we have proved by replacing a with x_0 , for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p$ we have

$$\|[f_m(x) - f_m(x_0)] - [f_n(x) - f_n(x_0)]\| \le \|x - x_0\|\varepsilon.$$

Letting $m \to \infty$, we obtain $\|[f(x) - f(x_0)] - [f_n(x) - f_n(x_0)]\| \le \|x - x_0\|\varepsilon$. Since $Df_n(x_0) \to g(x_0)$, there is an integer q such that for all $n \ge q$, we get $\|Df_n(x_0) - g(x_0)\| \le \varepsilon$. Now choose n = p + q. By differentiability of f_n at x_0 , there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $\|x - x_0\| \le \delta$ in X we get

$$||f_n(x) - f_n(x_0) - Df(x_0)(x - x_0)|| \le \varepsilon ||x - x_0||.$$

The following estimation

$$\begin{split} \|f(x) - f(x_0) - g(x_0)(x - x_0)\| \\ &\leq \|[f(x) - f(x_0)] - [f_n(x) - f_n(x_0)]\| \\ &+ \|f_n(x) - f_n(x_0) - Df_n(x_0)(x - x_0)\| \\ &+ \|Df_n(x_0)(x - x_0) - g(x_0)(x - x_0)\| \\ &\leq 3\varepsilon \|x - x_0\|, \end{split}$$

shows that f is differentiable at x_0 and $Df(x_0) = g(x_0)$.

9-2.11. <u>Closed Graph of Differential Operators</u> Let X be an open subset of E and let $f_n, f: X \to F$ be given maps. Suppose each f_n is continuously differentiable and $f_n \to f$ pointwise on X. If $\{Df_n\}$ converges locally uniformly on X, then so is $\{f_n\}$. Furthermore, f is continuously differentiable on X and $Df = \lim Df_n$ on X.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $a \in X$ be given. Then there is $\delta > 0$ such that $Df_n \to g$ uniformly on $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta) \subset X$. It follows from last lemma that $f_n \to f$ uniformly on the bounded convex set $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$. Since $a \in X$ is arbitrary, $f_n \to f$ locally uniformly on X. Also f is differentiable and $Df = g = \lim Df_n$. As uniform limit of continuous maps Df_n on $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$, the derivative Df is also continuous on $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$. Since $a \in X$ is arbitrary, Df is continuous on X.

9-2.12. **Exercise** Let $f_n(x) = xe^{-nx^2}$ and g(x) = 0 for all $x \in [-1, 1]$. Show that $f_n \to g$ uniformly on [-1, 1] but $\lim_{n\to\infty} f'_n(0) \neq g'(0)$.

9-2.13. **Exercise** Let $f_n(x) = \frac{\sin nx}{\sqrt{n}}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Show that $f_n \to 0$ uniformly on \mathbb{R} but $\lim_{n\to\infty} f'_n(x)$ does not exist at any point.

9-3 Partial Derivatives

9-3.1. In this section, continuously differentiable maps will be characterized in terms of partial derivatives. As a result of §§9-1.2, 3.7, finite dimensional derivatives are identified as matrices. Differentiation under integral sign will be done.

9-3.2. Let E, G be Banach spaces and Y a given set. Let X be an open subset of E. The product space $E \times Y$ consists of all columns $\left\{ \begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix} : x \in E, y \in Y \right\}$

which will be written as rows (x, y) for the sake of convenience unless matrix operations are involved. Let $f: X \times Y \to G$ be a given map and (a, b) a given point of $X \times Y$. Then the *partial map* $f^b: X \to G$ is defined by $f^b(x) = f(x, b)$. If f^b is differentiable at $a \in X$, then its derivative is called the *partial derivative* of f at (a, b) which will be denoted by $\partial_x f(a, b) = Df^b(a)$. Similarly, f^a and $\partial_y f(a, b)$ are defined when Y is an open subset of a Banach space.

9-3.3. **Theorem** Let E, F, G be Banach spaces and X, Y open subsets of E, F respectively. If $f: X \times Y \to G$ is differentiable, then both partial derivatives exist. Furthermore we have in matrix form: $Df(a, b) = [\partial_x f(a, b), \partial_y f(a, b)]$. Equivalently, if π, ψ are projections of $E \times F$ onto E, F respectively, then we have $Df(a, b) = \partial_x f(a, b)\pi + \partial_y f(a, b)\psi$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\sigma : E \to E \times F$ and $\tau : F \to E \times F$ be the natural injections. Consider the composite map $f^b = fg$ where $g(x) = \sigma + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ b \end{pmatrix}$. Since f, g are differentiable, so is f^b . Furthermore $\partial_x f(a, b) = Df^b(a) = Df(a, b)\sigma$. Similarly f^a is differentiable at $b \in Y$ and $\partial_y f(a, b) = Df(a, b)\tau$. Consequently for every $h \in E$ and $k \in F$ we have

$$Df(a,b) \begin{bmatrix} h \\ k \end{bmatrix} = Df(a,b) \begin{bmatrix} h \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + Df(a,b) \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = Df(a,b)\sigma(h) + Df(a,b)\tau(k)$$
$$= \partial_x f(a,b)h + \partial_y f(a,b)k = [\partial_x f(a,b), \partial_y f(a,b)] \begin{bmatrix} h \\ k \end{bmatrix}.$$

9-3.4. **Theorem** Let E, F, G be Banach spaces and X, Y open subsets of E, F respectively. Then $f: X \times Y \to G$ is continuously differentiable on $X \times Y$ iff both partial derivatives $\partial_x f$ and $\partial_y f$ exist and are continuous on $X \times Y$.

 $\begin{array}{ll} \underline{Proof}. & \text{Let } \sigma: E \to E \times F \text{ and } \tau: F \to E \times F \text{ be the natural injections.} \\ \hline \text{If } f \text{ is continuously differentiable on } X \times Y, \text{ then the partial derivative } \\ \partial_x f(a,b) &= Df(a,b)\sigma \text{ is a composite of continuous maps and hence it is a continuous map of } (a,b). \\ \text{Conversely assume that both } \partial_x f(a,b) \text{ and } \partial_y f(a,b) \\ \text{are continuous maps of } (a,b). \\ \text{For each } (a,b) \in X \times Y, \text{ define a linear map } \\ A(a,b): E \times F \to G \text{ by } A(a,b) = \partial_x f(a,b)\sigma + \partial_y f(a,b)\tau. \\ \text{Fix } (a,b) \in X \times Y. \\ \text{By continuity of partial derivatives, for every } \varepsilon > 0 \text{ there is } \delta > 0 \text{ such that for all } \|h\| \leq \delta \text{ in } E \text{ and all } \|k\| \leq \delta \text{ in } F \text{ we have } (a+h,b+k) - \partial_y f(a,b)\| \leq \varepsilon. \\ \text{Observe that } \end{array}$

$$\begin{aligned} \|f(a+h,b+k) - f(a,b) - A(a,b)(h,k)\| \\ &\leq \|f(a+h,b+k) - f(a,b+k) - \partial_x f(a,b)h\| + \|f(a,b+k) - f(a,b) - \partial_y f(a,b)k\| \end{aligned}$$

$$= \left\| \int_{0}^{1} [\partial_{x} f(a+th,b+k) - \partial_{x} f(a,b)] h dt \right\| \\ + \left\| \int_{0}^{1} [\partial_{y} f(a,b+tk) - \partial_{y} f(a,b)] k dt \right\| \\ \leq \int_{0}^{1} \left\| [\partial_{x} f(a+th,b+k) - \partial_{x} f(a,b)] \right\| \|h\| dt \\ + \int_{0}^{1} \left\| [\partial_{y} f(a,b+tk) - \partial_{y} f(a,b)] \right\| \|k\| dt \\ \leq \int_{0}^{1} \varepsilon \|h\| dt + \int_{0}^{1} \varepsilon \|k\| dt = \varepsilon (\|h\| + \|k\|).$$

Therefore f is differentiable at (a, b) and its derivative is given by

$$Df(a,b) = A(a,b) = \partial_x f(a,b)\sigma + \partial_y f(a,b)\tau.$$

As a composite of continuous maps of the point (a, b), the derivative Df(a, b) is also continuous in (a, b).

9-3.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be given by $f(x, y) = \begin{cases} \frac{x^3 - xy^2}{x^2 + y^2}, & \text{if } (x, y) \neq (0, 0); \\ 0, & \text{if } (x, y) = (0, 0). \end{cases}$

Show that at (0,0), the partial derivatives exist but the total derivative does not.

9-3.6. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be given by

$$f(x,y) = \begin{cases} (x^2 + y^2) \sin \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 + y^2}}, & \text{if } (x,y) \neq (0,0); \\ 0, & \text{if } (x,y) = (0,0). \end{cases}$$

Prove that at (0,0), the total derivative exists. Show that the partial derivatives exist but not continuous at (0,0). Derive that f is not continuously differentiable.

9-3.7. **Exercise** Let $E = \prod_{i=1}^{n} E_i$, $F = \prod_{j=1}^{m} F_j$ denote the product spaces of Banach spaces E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n and F_1, F_2, \dots, F_m respectively. Let X be an open subset of E and $f: X \to F$ a differentiable map. Write

$$a = \begin{bmatrix} a_1 \\ a_2 \\ a_n \end{bmatrix} \in X, x = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \cdots \\ x_n \end{bmatrix} \in E, h = \begin{bmatrix} h_1 \\ h_2 \\ \cdots \\ h_n \end{bmatrix} \in E, f(x) = \begin{bmatrix} f_1(x) \\ f_2(x) \\ \cdots \\ f_m(x) \end{bmatrix} \in F.$$

Show that the partial derivatives $\partial_j f_i(a)$ of the map $f_i : X \to F_i$ exist. Furthermore verify that

$$Df(a)h = \begin{bmatrix} \partial_1 f_1(a)h_1 + \partial_2 f_1(a)h_2 + \dots + \partial_n f_1(a)h_n \\ \partial_1 f_2(a)h_1 + \partial_2 f_2(a)h_2 + \dots + \partial_n f_2(a)h_n \\ \dots \dots \dots \\ \partial_1 f_m(a)h_1 + \partial_2 f_m(a)h_2 + \dots + \partial_n f_m(a)h_n \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \partial_1 f_1(a) & \partial_2 f_1(a) & \dots & \partial_n f_1(a) \\ \partial_1 f_2(a) & \partial_2 f_2(a) & & \partial_n f_2(a) \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ \partial_1 f_m(a) & \partial_2 f_m(a) & \dots & \partial_n f_m(a) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} h_1 \\ h_2 \\ \dots \\ h_n \end{bmatrix}.$$
Therefore in terms of matrix of linear maps we may write

$$Df(a) = \begin{bmatrix} \partial_1 f_1(a) & \partial_2 f_1(a) & \cdots & \partial_n f_1(a) \\ \partial_1 f_2(a) & \partial_2 f_2(a) & & \partial_n f_2(a) \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ \partial_1 f_m(a) & \partial_2 f_m(a) & & \partial_n f_m(a) \end{bmatrix}$$

9-3.8. **Example** We always identify an $m \times n$ matrix as a linear map from \mathbb{K}^n to \mathbb{K}^m . The total derivative of the map $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^3$ defined by $(u) \begin{bmatrix} v \sin u \end{bmatrix}$

$$f\begin{pmatrix} u\\v \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} e^{uv}\\u^3 + v^4 \end{bmatrix} \text{ is given by the expression}$$
$$Df\begin{pmatrix} u\\v \end{pmatrix} = [\partial_u f, \partial_v f] = \begin{bmatrix} v\cos u & \sin u\\ve^{uv} & ue^{uv}\\3u^2 & 4v^3 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Therefore the derivative of f at $a = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$ is the matrix $Df(a) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$.

9-3.9. **Differentiation under Integral Sign** Let X be an open subset of E and let $\alpha < \beta$ be real numbers. Suppose $f : [\alpha, \beta] \times X \to F$ is a continuous map. If the partial derivative $\partial_x f : [\alpha, \beta] \times X \to L(E, F)$ exists and is continuous, then the map $g : X \to F$ given by $g(x) = \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} f(t, x) dt$ is continuously differentiable on X. Furthermore we have $Dg(x) = \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \partial_x f(t, x) dt$.

<u>Proof</u>. For fixed $a \in X$, $\partial_x f(t, a)$ is continuous in $t \in [\alpha, \beta]$ and hence $A = \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \partial_x f(t, a) dt$ is well-defined in L(E, F). To show that A is the derivative of g at a, observe that

$$g(a+h) - g(a) - Ah$$

$$= \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} f(t, a+th)dt - \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} f(t, a)dt - \left[\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \partial_{x} f(t, a)dt\right]h$$

$$= \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} [f(t, a+h) - f(t, a)]dt - \left[\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \partial_{x} f(t, a)dt\right]h$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \left[\int_{0}^{1} \partial_{x} f(t, a + \theta h) h d\theta \right] dt - \left[\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{0}^{1} \partial_{x} f(t, a) d\theta dt \right] h \\ &= \left[\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{0}^{1} Dx f(t, a + \theta h) h d\theta \right] h - \left[\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{0}^{1} \partial_{x} f(t, a) d\theta dt \right] h \\ &= \left[\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{0}^{1} \left\{ \partial_{x} f(t, a + \theta h) - \partial_{x} f(t, a) \right\} d\theta dt \right] h. \end{split}$$

Since $\partial_x f : [\alpha, \beta] \times X \to L(E, F)$ is continuous and $[\alpha, \beta]$ is compact, it follows from §2-7.6 that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $t \in [\alpha, \beta]$, we have $\|\partial_x f(t, a + h) - \partial_x f(t, a)\| \le \varepsilon$ whenever $\|h\| \le \delta$. Therefore we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|g(a+h) - g(a) - Ah\| \\ \leq \left[\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \int_{0}^{1} \|\partial_{x} f(t, a+\theta h) - \partial_{x} f(t, a)\| d\theta dt \right] \|h\| \leq (\beta - \alpha)\varepsilon \|h\|, \\ Dg(a) = A = \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \partial_{x} f(t, a) dt. \end{split}$$

Since $\partial_x f(t,a)$ is continuous in (t,a), $\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \partial_x f(t,a) dt$ is continuous in a. Therefore g is continuously differentiable on X.

9-3.10. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f(x) = \left[\int_0^x e^{-t^2} dt\right]^2$ and $g(x) = \int_0^1 \frac{e^{-x^2(t^2+1)}}{t^2+1} dt$. Show that both $f, g: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ are differentiable. Evaluate f'(x) + g'(x). Deduce $f(x) + g(x) = \frac{1}{4}\pi$. Hence prove that $\lim_{x \to \infty} \int_0^x e^{-t^2} dt = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\pi}$.

9-4 Fixed Points of Contractions

9-4.1. Let X be a metric space and $A: X \to X$ a given map. Then A is called a *contraction* on X if there is $0 \le \lambda < 1$, called a *contraction constant* of A, such that $d(Ax, Ay) \le \lambda d(x, y)$ for all $x, y \in X$. Clearly every contraction is uniformly continuous. Contraction is one of the most popular tool to provide existence of solutions in many problems.

9-4.2. <u>Contraction Fixed-Point Theorem</u> Let A be a contraction on a nonempty metric space X. If X is complete, then A has a unique fixed-point.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Choose any $x_0 \in X$. Define $x_n = Ax_{n-1}$ for all $n \ge 1$. Let λ be a contraction constant of A. Then for each $n \ge 1$, we have

$$d(x_{n+1}, x_n) = d(Ax_n, Ax_{n-1}) \le \lambda d(x_n, x_{n-1})$$

i.e.

$$\leq \lambda^2 d(x_{n-1}, x^{n-2}) \leq \dots \leq \lambda^n d(x_1, x_0). \text{ Next, for each } k \geq 1, \text{ we have} \\ d(x_{n+k}, x_n) \leq d(x_{n+k}, x_{n+k-1}) + d(x_{n+k-1}, x_{n+k-2}) + \dots + d(x_{n+1}, x_n) \\ \leq (\lambda^{n+k-1} + \lambda^{n+k-2} + \dots + \lambda^n) d(x_1, x_0) \leq \frac{\lambda^n d(x_1, x_0)}{1 - \lambda}.$$

Since $0 \leq \lambda < 1$, the last term tends to zero as $n \to \infty$. Therefore $\{x_n\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the complete metric space X. Let $x_n \to y$ in X. Since A is continuous, we have $Ax_n \to Ay$, i.e. $x_{n+1} \to Ay$, or $x_n \to Ay$. By uniqueness of limit, we have Ay = y. Therefore A has at least one fixed point. Finally, suppose x, y are fixed points of A. Then $d(x, y) = d(Ax, Ay) \leq \lambda d(x, y)$, i.e. $0 \geq (1 - \lambda)d(x, y)$. Since $0 \leq \lambda < 1$, we have d(x, y) = 0, i.e. x = y. \Box

9-4.3. **Example** Let $X = [1, \infty)$ and $Ax = x + \frac{1}{x} : X \to X$. As a closed subset of the complete space \mathbb{R} , X is a complete metric space. Simple calculation shows that |Ax - Ay| < |x - y| on X but A has no fixed point.

9-4.4. **Theorem** Let X be a complete metric space and $A: X \to X$ a given map. If A^p is a contraction for some integer p, then A has a unique fixed-point. \underline{Proof} . Because A^p is a contraction, there is $0 < \lambda < 1$ such that $\underline{d(A^px, A^py)} \leq \lambda d(x, y)$ for all $x, y \in X$. Let x be a fixed point of A^p . Then $d(Ax, x) = d(AA^px, A^px) = d(A^pAx, A^px) < \lambda d(Ax, x)$

gives d(Ax, x) = 0. Therefore x is also a fixed point of A. Since every fixed point of A is also a fixed point of A^p , the uniqueness follows immediately. \Box

9-4.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let A be an operator on a Banach space E and $b \in E$ a given vector. Prove that if r(A) < 1 then the equation x = Ax + b has a unique solution $x \in E$.

9-5 Inverse and Implicit Mapping Theorems

9-5.1. In this section, we shall apply the Contraction Fixed-Point Theorem to establish Inverse and Implicit Mapping Theorems. An advantage of contraction allows us to estimate the error but numerical flavor is beyond our scope even we make provision in the following contraction lemma.

9-5.2. <u>Contraction Lemma</u> Let E, F be Banach spaces, X an open subset of E and $f: X \to F$ a continuously differentiable map. If the derivative Df(a) at some point $a \in X$ is invertible, then there is $\delta > 0$ such that for each $||v|| \leq \frac{1}{2}\delta$, the map $g(x) = x + v - [Df(a)]^{-1}[f(x) - f(a)]$ is a contraction on the closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let A = Df(a) for simplicity. Define $h(x) = x - A^{-1}f(x)$ for all $x \in X$. Then h is differentiable on X. Moreover, $Dh(x) = I - A^{-1}Df(x)$ and Dh(a) = 0. Since f is continuously differentiable, so is h. Therefore for $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{2}$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $||x - a|| \le \delta$ we have $||Dh(x)|| \le \frac{1}{2}$. Take any $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$ and any $||v|| \le \frac{1}{2}\delta$. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \|g(x) - a\| &= \|x + v - A^{-1}[f(x) - f(a)] - a\| \\ &\leq \|v\| + \|[x - A^{-1}f(x)] - [a - A^{-1}f(a)]\| \leq \frac{1}{2}\delta + \|h(x) - h(a)\| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2}\delta + \|x - a\| \sup\{\|Dh(z)\| : z \in [a, x]\} \leq \frac{1}{2}\delta + \delta \cdot \frac{1}{2} = \delta. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore g carries $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$ into itself. Finally to show that g is a contraction, take any $x_1, x_2 \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$. The following calculation completes the proof:

$$\begin{aligned} \|g(x_1) - g(x_2)\| &= \|x_1 - x_2 - A^{-1}[f(x_1) - f(x_2)]\| = \|h(x_1) - h(x_2)\| \\ &\le \|x_1 - x_2\| \sup\{\|Dh(z)\| : z \in [x_1, x_2]\} \le \|x_1 - x_2\| \frac{1}{2}. \end{aligned}$$

9-5.3. <u>Inverse Mapping Theorem</u> Let X be an open subset of E and $f: X \to E$ a continuously differentiable map. If the derivative Df(a) at some $a \in X$ is invertible in L(E), then there are open subsets V, W of E such that the following conditions hold:

(a) $a \in V \subset X$;

(b) $f: V \to W$ is a bijection;

(c) the local inverse map $f^{-1}: W \to V$ is continuously differentiable. Furthermore for every $x \in V$ we have $D(f^{-1})(y) = [Df(x)]^{-1}$ where y = f(x).

<u>*Proof.*</u> The same notation of Contraction Lemma is used. We claim that for all $x_1, x_2 \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$ we have

$$||x_1 - x_2|| \le 2||A^{-1}|| ||f(x_1) - f(x_2)||.$$

In fact, let g be the contraction with v = 0 in last lemma. Then

$$g(x_1) - g(x_2) = x_1 - x_2 - A^{-1}[f(x_1) - f(x_2)]$$

i.e.

$$x_1 - x_2 = g(x_1) - g(x_2) + A^{-1}[f(x_1) - f(x_2)].$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_1 - x_2\| &\leq \|g(x_1) - g(x_2)\| + \|A^{-1}\| \, \|f(x_1) - f(x_2)\| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|x_1 - x_2\| + \|A^{-1}\| \, \|f(x_1) - f(x_2)\|, \end{aligned}$$

 $\frac{1}{2} \|x_1 - x_2\| \le \|A^{-1}\| \|f(x_1) - f(x_2)\|$

or,

that is, $||x_1 - x_2|| \le 2||A^{-1}|| ||f(x_1) - f(x_2)||.$

Therefore, f is injective on $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$. Next, choose $\delta_1 > 0$ satisfying $||A^{-1}||\delta_1 < \frac{1}{2}\delta$. Let $W = \mathbb{B}[f(a), \delta_1]$ and $V = \mathbb{B}(a, \delta) \cap f^{-1}(W)$. Then V

is an open set in E and satisfies $a \in V \subset X$. Clearly $f: V \to W$ is injective. Take any $y \in W$. Let $v = A^{-1}[y - f(a)]$. Then we have

$$||v|| \le ||A^{-1}|| ||y - f(a)|| \le ||A^{-1}||\delta_1 \le \frac{1}{2}\delta.$$

Hence g with this v in last lemma is a contraction on $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$. Since E is a Banach space, the closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$ is complete. There is $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$ such that g(x) = x, i.e. $x+v-A^{-1}[f(x)-f(a)] = x$, or $A^{-1}[y-f(a)] - A^{-1}[f(x)-f(a)] = 0$. Hence y = f(x). Observe

$$||x-a|| \le 2||A^{-1}|| ||f(x) - f(a)|| \le 2||A^{-1}|| ||y - f(a)|| < 2||A^{-1}||\delta_1 \le \delta.$$

Thus $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta) \cap f^{-1}(W) = V$. Therefore $f: V \to W$ is bijective. To show that f^{-1} is differentiable at any point $y_0 \in W$, let $x_0 = f^{-1}(y_0) \in V$. Since f is differentiable at x_0 , for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta_2 > 0$ such that $\mathbb{B}(x_0, \delta_2) \subset \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ and for every $x \in \mathbb{B}(x_0, \delta_2)$ we have

$$||f(x) - f(x_0) - Df(x_0)(x - x_0)|| \le \varepsilon ||x - x_0||.$$

Take any $||y - f(a)|| < \min\{\delta_1, \delta_2/(2||A^{-1}||)\}$. Write y = f(x) for some $x \in V$. Then $||x - a|| \le 2||A^{-1}|| ||f(x) - f(a)|| \le \delta_2$. Now the following calculation:

$$\begin{split} \|f^{-1}(y) - f^{-1}(y_0) - [Df(x_0)]^{-1}(y - y_0)\| \\ &= \|x - x_0 - [Df(x_0)]^{-1}[f(x) - f(x_0)] \| \\ &\leq \|Df(x_0)^{-1}\| \|f(x) - f(x_0) - Df(x_0)(x - x_0)\| \\ &\leq \|Df(x_0)^{-1}\| \varepsilon \|x - x_0\| \\ &\leq \|Df(x_0)^{-1}\| \varepsilon 2 \|A^{-1}\| \|f(x) - f(x_0)\| \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon \|Df(x_0)^{-1}\| \|A^{-1}\| \|y - y_0\| \end{split}$$

shows that f^{-1} is differentiable at y_0 and its derivative is given by

$$D(f^{-1})(y_0) = [Df(x_0)]^{-1}.$$

Since $D(f^{-1})(y_0) = \{Df[f^{-1}(y_0)]\}^{-1}$ is a composite of continuous maps, $D(f^{-1})$ is continuous on W.

9-5.4. Implicit Mapping Theorem Let E, F be Banach spaces; M an open subset of $E \times F$; $f: M \to F$ a continuously differentiable map; $(a,b) \in M$ and c = f(a,b). If the partial derivative $\partial_y f(a,b) : F \to F$ is invertible, then the equation f(x,y) = c has a unique local implicit solution y = g(x) near (a,b). More precisely, there are open balls X, Y with centers a, b respectively and a unique continuously differentiable map $g: X \to Y$ such that

(a)
$$X \times Y \subset M$$
 and $g(a) = b$;

(b) for all $(x, y) \in X \times Y$, y = g(x) iff f(x, y) = c;

(c) $Dg = -(\partial_y f)^{-1}(\partial_x f)$ on X.

<u>Proof.</u> Define $h: M \subset E \times F \to E \times F$ by $h \begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x \\ f(x,y) \end{bmatrix}$ for all $(x,y) \in M$.

Then at (a, b), the derivative of h and its inverse are given by

$$Dh = \begin{bmatrix} I_E & 0\\ \partial_x f & \partial_y f \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad (Dh)^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} I_E & 0\\ -(\partial_y f)^{-1} \partial_x f & (\partial_y f)^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$$

By Inverse Mapping Theorem, there are open subsets V, W of $E \times F$ such that $(a,b) \in V \subset M$; $h: V \to W$ is bijective and $h^{-1}: W \to V$ is continuously differentiable. Now for $(a,b) \in V$, we have $h(a,b) = (a,c) \in W$. Choose open balls A, B with centers a, c respectively such that $A \times B \subset W$. By continuity of h, there are open balls Q, Y with centers a, b respectively such that $Q \times Y \subset M$ and $h(Q \times Y) \subset A \times B$. Now $Q \subset A$ because for every $x \in Q$; $(x,b) \in Q \times Y$; thus $h(x,b) = (x, f(x,b)) \in A \times B$ and so $x \in A$. Next, let $\pi : E \times F \to F$ be the projection $\pi(x,y) = y$. For every $x \in Q$, we have $(x,c) \in A \times B$ and so $k(x) = \pi h^{-1}(x,c)$ is well-defined with $k(a) = \pi h^{-1}(a,c) = \pi(a,b) = b$. Clearly $k: Q \to F$ is continuously differentiable. By continuity, there is an open ball X with center a such that $k(X) \subset Y$. Then $g = k | X : X \to Y$ is a continuously differentiable map with g(a) = b. To prove (b), for every $(x,y) \in X \times Y$, y = g(x) iff $y = \pi h^{-1}(x,c)$ iff $(x,y) = h^{-1}(x,c)$ iff h(x,y) = (x,c) iff f(x,y) = c. Finally using the notation of column vectors to differentiate $f \begin{bmatrix} x \\ g(x) \end{bmatrix} = f \begin{bmatrix} a \\ b \end{bmatrix}$, we have $[\partial_x f - \partial_y f] \begin{bmatrix} I_E \\ Dq \end{bmatrix} = (Df)D \begin{bmatrix} x \\ a(x) \end{bmatrix} = 0$, that is $\partial_x f + (\partial_y f)(Dg) = 0$.

we have $\begin{bmatrix} \partial_x f & \partial_y f \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} Dg \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} Df \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} Dg \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Df \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} g(x) \end{bmatrix} = 0$, that is $\partial_x f + (\partial_y f)(Dg) = 0$. Since Dh is invertible, so is $\partial_y f$. Consequently $Dg = -(\partial_y f)^{-1}(\partial_x f)$ holds as required. Finally for uniqueness, let g_1 be another implicit solution on A. Then $Dg_1 = -(\partial_y f)^{-1}(\partial_x f) = Dg$ on A. Since the ball A is connected, $g_1 - g$ is constant on A. Since $g_1(a) = b = g(a)$, we have $g_1 = g$ on A.

9-5.5. Let E, F be Banach spaces, X an open subset of E and $f: X \to F$ a differentiable map. Then for every $a \in X$ the map $g: X \to F$ defined by g(x) = f(a) + Df(a)(x-a) is called the *linearization* of f at a. It is supposed to be a convenient approximation of f when x is near a.

9-5.6. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be given by $\begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} = f \begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x + \sin xy \\ y + e^{xy} \end{bmatrix}$. (a) Evaluate f(a) where $a = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$. Find the linearization of f at a. Find the inverse map of this linearization.

(b) Show that f is locally invertible at a.

(c) Find the total derivative of the local inverse map f^{-1} at the point f(a).

Also find the linearization of f^{-1} when $\begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix}$ is near f(a). Compare the results obtained from (a) and (c).

(d) Define a vector map g to represent the system of equations: u = x + y and v = x - y. Find an explicit formula for the composite map gf. Verify the matrix form of Chain Rule at the point a.

9-5.7. <u>Example</u> Let $f : \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be given by $f(x, y) = \begin{bmatrix} rstuv - 1 \\ r^4 + s^5 + u^2 + v^3 - 4 \end{bmatrix}$

where $x = \begin{bmatrix} r \\ s \\ t \end{bmatrix}$ and $y = \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix}$. Suppose $a = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $b = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$. Calculate the

partial derivatives as follow

$$\partial_x f(a,b) = \begin{bmatrix} \partial_r f & \partial_s f & \partial_t f \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 4 & 5 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\partial_y f(a,b) = \begin{bmatrix} \partial_u f & \partial_v f \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 3 \end{bmatrix}.$$

and also

Since $det \partial_y f(a, b) = 1 \neq 0$, there is an implicit solution y = g(x) for the equation f(x, y) = 0 when (x, y) near (a, b). Although we do not know the exact values, we may approximate g(x) by its linearization as follow

$$\begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} = g(a) + Dg(a)(x-a) = b - (\partial_y f)^{-1}(\partial_x f)(x-a)$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 3 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 4 & 5 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} r-1 \\ s-1 \\ t-1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} r+2s-3t+1 \\ -2r-3s+2t+4 \end{bmatrix}.$$

In terms of scalar equations, the approximate implicit solution is given by

$$u = r + 2s - 3t + 1$$
 and $v = -2r - 3s + 2t + 4$.

9-6 Local Properties of Differentiable Maps

9-6.1. Let f be a continuously differentiable function from an open subset X of \mathbb{K}^n into \mathbb{K}^m . Properties f near a point $a \in X$ will be derived based on the corresponding properties of the derivative Df(A). As a result of Surjection Theorem below, being interior point is invariant under coordinate transformation. Hence the interior and consequently the boundary of a differentiable manifold is well-defined in terms of charts. Most of the results of this section

have been generalized to the context of Banach spaces. We restrict ourselves to finite dimensional case so that our students can see the link with linear algebra.

9-6.2. Lemma For every constant k, the set $M = \{x \in X : rank Df(x) \ge k\}$ is open.

<u>Proof</u>. Take any $a \in M$. Then rank $Df(x) \ge k$. It follows from linear algebra that there is a submatrix S(a) of Df(a) such that $det S(a) \ne 0$. Let S(x) be the submatrix of Df(x) with the same corresponding rows and columns of S(a). Then det S(x) is a continuous function of $x \in X$. Hence there is a ball $\mathbb{B}(a) \subset X$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{B}(a)$, we have $det S(x) \ne 0$, i.e. rank $Df(x) \ge k$. Thus $\mathbb{B}(a) \subset M$. Therefore M is an open set. \Box

9-6.3. **Lemma** If a linear map $A : \mathbb{K}^n \to \mathbb{K}^m$ is injective then it is bounded below, i.e. there is a constant $\lambda > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{K}^n$ we have $||Ax|| \ge \lambda ||x||$.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose to the contrary that for all j, there is $||x_j|| = 1$ satisfying $||Ax_j|| \le \frac{1}{j} ||x_j||$, i.e. $Ax_j \to 0$. By compactness of the unit sphere, there is a convergent subsequence $y_j \to y$. Then $Ay_j \to Ay$ by continuity of A. Thus Ay = 0. On the other hand, since $||y_j|| = 1$ we get ||y|| = 1. Therefore A is not injective.

9-6.4. <u>Injection Theorem</u> If the derivative Df(a) is injective at a point $a \in X$, then there is a ball $\mathbb{B}(a) \subset X$ such that

(a) the derivative Df(x) is injective for every $x \in \mathbb{B}(a)$;

(b) the map f is injective on $\mathbb{B}(a)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) Since Df(a) is injective, we have ker $Df(a) = \{0\}$. Hence we have rank Df(a) = n - nullity Df(a) = n.

There is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ we obtain $rank Df(x) \ge n$ which means *nullity* $Df(x) = n - rank Df(x) \le 0$, i.e. ker $Df(x) = \{0\}$. Therefore Df(x) is also injective.

(b) The proof is independent of (a). Since Df(a) is injective, there is $\lambda > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{K}^n$ we get $\|Df(a)x\| \ge \lambda \|x\|$. By Uniform Mean-Value Theorem, for $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{2}\lambda$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x, y \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ we obtain

$$\|f(x) - f(y) - Df(a)(x-y)\| \le \varepsilon \|x-y\|;$$

i.e.
$$||Df(a)(x-y)|| - ||f(x) - f(y)|| \le \frac{1}{2}\lambda ||x-y||.$$

Now by the choice of λ , we get

$$\begin{split} \lambda \|x - y\| &\leq \|Df(a)(x - y)\| \leq \|f(x) - f(y)\| + \frac{1}{2}\lambda \|x - y\|,\\ \|x - y\| &\leq \frac{2}{3}\|f(x) - f(y)\|, \forall x, y \in X. \end{split}$$

Thus

Therefore if f(x) = f(y) then x = y. Consequently, f is injective on $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$. \Box

9-6.5. <u>Interior Theorem</u> If Df(a) is surjective where $a \in X$ then f(a) is an interior point of f(X).

<u>Proof</u>. Write $Df(a) = [\partial_1 f(a), \partial_2 f(a), \dots, \partial_n f(a)]$ where $\partial_j f(a)$ is the *j*-th column of Df(a). Since Df(a) is surjective, rank Df(a) = m. Hence Df(a) has *m* columns which are linearly independent. Without loss of generality, we may assume that the first *m* columns $\partial_1 f(a), \dots, \partial_m f(a)$ of Df(a) to be independent. Then the matrix $A = [\partial_1 f(a), \dots, \partial_m f(a)]$ is an invertible square matrix. Define $B = [\partial_{m+1} f(a), \dots, \partial_n f(a)]$. So, Df(a) = [A, B]. Let b = f(a) and define $g(y) = \begin{bmatrix} A^{-1} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} (y-b) + a$ for each $y \in \mathbb{K}^m$. Then $g : \mathbb{K}^m \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is a continuous map and g(b) = a. Hence $Y = g^{-1}(X)$ is an open subset of \mathbb{K}^m

$$fg(b) = b$$
 and $D(fg)(b) = Df(a)Dg(b) = [A, B] \begin{bmatrix} A^{-1} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = I_m$. By Inverse Mapping Theorem, $b = fg(b)$ is an interior point of $fg(Y) = f(X)$.

9-6.6. <u>Corollary</u> If Df(x) is surjective for every $x \in X$ then f(X) is open in \mathbb{K}^m .

9-6.7. <u>Surjection Theorem</u> If Df(a) is surjective for some $a \in X$, then there is $\delta > 0$ such that the following conditions hold:

(a) Df(x) is surjective for every $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$;

(b) f carries every open subset of the open ball $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ onto an open subset of \mathbb{K}^m .

<u>Proof.</u> Since Df(a) is surjective, rank Df(a) = m. There is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ we have rank $Df(x) \ge m$ and consequently Df(x) is surjective. Next take any open subset M of $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ and any $x \in M$. Then $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ and thus Df(x) is surjective. So, f(x) is an interior point of f(M). Therefore f(M) is open in \mathbb{K}^m .

9-6.8. <u>Lagrange Multipliers</u> Let X be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n and let $f, g_j : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be continuously differentiable functions for $j = 1, 2, \dots, p < n$. Suppose f(x) has a local maximum or minimum at $x = a \in X$ subject to the constraints $g_j(x) = 0$ for all j. Then there are constants $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_p$ such that all partial derivatives of the Lagrangian function: $L = f + \lambda_1 g_1 + \lambda_2 g_2 + \dots + \lambda_p g_p$ vanish at a.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let m be the rank of the $p \times n$ -matrix $[\partial_j g_i(a)]$. Without loss of generality, we may assume that the first m rows are linearly independent.

Define
$$g: X \to \mathbb{R}^m$$
 and $h: X \to \mathbb{R}^{m+1}$ by $g(x) = \begin{bmatrix} g_1(x) \\ \cdots \\ g_m(x) \end{bmatrix}$ and $h(x) = \begin{bmatrix} f(x) \\ g(x) \end{bmatrix}$.

Then $Dh(a) = \begin{bmatrix} Df(a) \\ Dg(a) \end{bmatrix}$ is an $(m+1) \times n$ matrix. Suppose to the contrary that rank Dh(a) = m+1. By Surjection Theorem, there is $\delta > 0$ such that h

carries open subsets of $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ onto open subsets of \mathbb{R}^{m+1} . For any $\varepsilon > 0$, choose $0 < t < \min\{\varepsilon, \delta\}$. Then h(a) belongs to the open subset $h[\mathbb{B}(a, t)]$ of \mathbb{R}^{m+1} . There is $\delta_1 > 0$ such that $\mathbb{B}[h(a), \delta_1] \subset h[\mathbb{B}(a, t)]$. Hence

$$h(x) = h(a) + \begin{bmatrix} \pm \frac{1}{2} \delta_1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

That is, $||x - a|| \le \varepsilon$; $f(x) = f(a) \pm \frac{1}{2}\delta_1$ and $g_j(x) = 0, \forall j = 1, 2, \dots, m$. Therefore f cannot have a local maximum or a minimum. This contradiction shows rank Dh(a) < m + 1. Since the rank of Dg(a) is m, so is the rank of Dh(a). Therefore the first row of [Df(a)]

$$Dh(a) = \begin{bmatrix} Df(a) \\ Dg(a) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} Dg_1(a) \\ Dg_2(a) \\ \dots \\ Dg_m(a) \end{bmatrix}$$

is a linear combination of the other rows. For some constants $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_m$, we have $Df(a) = -\lambda_1 Dg_1(a) - \lambda_2 Dg_2(a) - \dots - \lambda_m Dg_m(a)$. Define $\lambda_j = 0$ for all $m < j \le p$ and $L = f + \lambda_1 g_1 + \dots + \lambda_p f_p$. Then clearly it follows $\partial_j L(a) = 0$ for all $1 \le j \le p$.

9-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further</u> <u>Readings</u>: Cartan, Lang, Sagan, Berger, Ma-01, Dineen-81, Hamilton, Janos, Meyers and Wong-66.

Chapter 10

Polynomials and Higher Derivatives

10-1 Multilinear Maps on Banach Spaces

10-1.1. Polynomials are probably the simplest nonlinear maps. Higher derivatives allow us to approximate certain nonlinear maps by Taylor polynomials. In the context of vector spaces, polynomials are defined in terms of multilinear maps. Continuity of multilinear maps will be treated in the same way as linear maps.

10-1.2. Let E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n and F be vector spaces. A map f from the product space $\prod_{k=1}^{n} E_k$ into F is said to be *multilinear* if $f(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k, \dots, x_n)$ is linear in each variable x_k , i.e. for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$, all $x_j \in E_j$, $a_k, b_k \in E_k$, we have

$$f(x_1, x_2, \cdots, \alpha a_k + \beta b_k, \cdots, x_n)$$

= $\alpha f(x_1, x_2, \cdots, a_k, \cdots, x_n) + \beta f(x_1, x_2, \cdots, b_k, \cdots, x_n).$

It is easy to prove that the set of all multilinear maps from $\prod_{k=1}^{n} E_k$ into F forms a vector space under pointwise operations. A scalar-valued multilinear map is also called a *multilinear form*.

10-1.3. Let E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n, F be normed spaces and let $f : \prod_{j=1}^n E_j \to F$ be a multilinear map. The *norm* of f is defined by

$$||f|| = \sup\{||f(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)|| : ||x_j|| \le 1, \forall \ 1 \le j \le n\}.$$

Note that f need not be continuous and its norm may be infinity. Because of $f(0, x_2, \dots, x_n) = 0$, we have $||f|| \ge 0$.

10-1.4. **Lemma** For all $x_j \in E_j$ we have

$$||f(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)|| \le ||f|| ||x_1|| ||x_2|| \cdots ||x_n||.$$

Proof. Consider the following cases. If some $x_j = 0$ then we get

$$||f(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)|| = 0 \le ||f|| ||x_1|| ||x_2|| \cdots ||x_n||.$$

If all $x_i \neq 0$ then we obtain
$$\|f(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)\|$$

$$= \left\| \|x_1\| \|x_2\| \cdots \|x_n\| f\left(\frac{x_1}{\|x_1\|}, \frac{x_2}{\|x_2\|}, \cdots, \frac{x_n}{\|x_n\|}\right) \right\|$$

$$= \|x_1\| \|x_2\| \cdots \|x_n\| \left\| f\left(\frac{x_1}{\|x_1\|}, \frac{x_2}{\|x_2\|}, \cdots, \frac{x_n}{\|x_n\|}\right) \right\|$$

$$\le \|x_1\| \|x_2\| \cdots \|x_n\| \|f\|. \square$$

10-1.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f : \prod_{j=1}^{n} E_j \to F$ be a multilinear map. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) f is continuous on $\prod_{i=1}^{n} E_{j}$.

(b) f is continuous at the origin.

хn

(c) $||f|| < \infty$.

Proof. $(a \Rightarrow b \Rightarrow c)$ It is obvious.

 $(c \Rightarrow b)$ For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that $||f||\delta^n < \varepsilon$. Now for every $||x_j|| \le \delta$ in E_j , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|f(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n) - f(0, 0, \cdots, 0)\| &= \|f(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)\| \\ &\le \|f\| \|x_1\| \|x_2\| \cdots \|x_n\| \le \|f\|\delta^n < \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore f is continuous at the origin of $\prod_{i=1}^{n} E_{j}$.

 $(b \Rightarrow a)$ Take any $a_j, h_j \in E_j$ for each $1 \le j \le n$. To show that f is continuous at (a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n) , let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Choose $0 < \delta < 1$ such that $n \|f\| (\lambda + 1)^{n-1} \delta < \varepsilon$ where $\lambda = \sup\{\|a_j\| : 1 \le j \le n\}$. Now for all $\|h_j\| \le \delta$ we get

$$\begin{split} \|f(a_{1} + h_{1}, a_{2} + h_{2}, \cdots, a_{n} + h_{n}) - f(a_{1}, a_{2}, \cdots, a_{n})\| \\ &= \|f(a_{1} + h_{1}, a_{2} + h_{2}, \cdots, a_{n} + h_{n}) - f(a_{1}, a_{2} + h_{2}, \cdots, a_{n} + h_{n}) \\ &+ f(a_{1}, a_{2} + h_{2}, \cdots, a_{n} + h_{n}) - f(a_{1}, a_{2}, \cdots, a_{n} + h_{n}) \\ &+ \cdots + f(a_{1}, a_{2}, \cdots, a_{n-1}, a_{n} + h_{n}) - f(a_{1}, a_{2}, \cdots, a_{n-1}, a_{n})\| \\ &= \|f(h_{1}, a_{2} + h_{2}, \cdots, a_{n} + h_{n}) + f(a_{1}, h_{2}, \cdots, a_{n} + h_{n}) \\ &+ \cdots + f(a_{1}, a_{2}, \cdots, a_{n-1}, h_{n})\| \\ &\leq \|f(h_{1}, a_{2} + h_{2}, \cdots, a_{n} + h_{n})\| + \|f(a_{1}, h_{2}, \cdots, a_{n} + h_{n})\| \\ &+ \cdots + \|f(a_{1}, a_{2}, \cdots, a_{n-1}, h_{n})\| \\ &\leq \|f\| \|h_{1}\| \|a_{2} + h_{2}\| \cdots \|a_{n} + h_{n}\| + \|f\| \|a_{1}\| \|h_{2}\| \cdots \|a_{n} + h_{n}\| \\ &+ \cdots + \|f\| \|a_{1}\| \|a_{2}\| \cdots \|a_{n-1}\| \|h_{n}\| \\ &\leq \|f\| \|h_{1}\|(\|a_{2}\| + \|h_{2}\|) \cdots (\|a_{n}\| + \|h_{n}\|) + \|f\| \|a_{1}\| \|h_{2}\| \cdots (\|a_{n}\| + \|h_{n}\|) \\ &+ \cdots + \|f\| \|a_{1}\| \|a_{2}\| \cdots \|a_{n-1}\| \|h_{n}\| \end{split}$$

11.0.2

$$\leq \|f\| \|h_1\|(\lambda+1)\cdots(\lambda+1) + \|f\|(\lambda+1)\|h_2\|\cdots(\lambda+1) + \cdots + \|f\|(\lambda+1)(\lambda+1)\cdots(\lambda+1)\|h_n\|$$
$$= n\|f\|(\lambda+1)^{n-1}\delta < \varepsilon.$$

Therefore f is continuous at (a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n) .

10-1.6. **Theorem** The set $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n; F)$ of all continuous multilinear maps from $\prod_{j=1}^{n} E_j$ into F forms a normed space under pointwise operations. Furthermore, if F is a Banach space, then so is $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n; F)$. Since the proof is almost identical to the linear case, it is left as exercise. When $E_1 = \dots = E_n = E$, write $L^n(E, F)$ instead of $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n; F)$. If F is the scalar field \mathbb{K} , we simply drop it. Hence $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n)$ and $L^n(E)$ denote the sets of all continuous multilinear forms on $\prod_{j=1}^{n} E_j$ and E^n respectively. Finally for convenience, define $L^0(E, F) = F$.

10-1.7. **Example** Let $f : C_{\infty}[0,1] \times C_1[0,1] \to \mathbb{K}$ be a map defined by $f(x,y) = \int_0^1 x(t)y(t)dt$. Clearly f is bilinear. Since $|f(x,y)| \le ||x||_{\infty} ||y||_1 \le 1$ for all $||x||_{\infty} \le 1$ and $||y||_1 \le 1$, we have $||f|| \le 1$. Thus f is continuous. Taking the constant function x = y = 1, we have ||f|| = 1.

10-1.8. **Exercise** Let $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$. For every $x = (x_1, x_2, \cdots)$ in ℓ_p and $y = (y_1, y_2, \cdots)$ in ℓ_q , let $f(x, y) = (x_1y_1, x_2y_2, \cdots)$. Show that $f : \ell_p \times \ell_q \to \ell_1$ is a continuous bilinear map. Find the norm of f.

10-1.9. **Exercise** For every $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots)$ and $y = (y_1, y_2, \dots)$ in \mathcal{F}_{∞} , let $f(x, y) = x_1y_1 + x_2y_2 + \dots$ Show that f is a bilinear form. Is it continuous?

10-1.10. **Exercise** Let E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n and F be Banach spaces and let $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n; F)$ denote the Banach space of all continuous multi-linear maps from the product space $\prod_{j=1}^{n} E_j$ into F. Prove that the formula

$$A(x_1x_2\cdots x_n) = (Ax_1)(x_2\cdots x_n) = (Ax_1\cdots x_{n-1})x_n$$

establishes unique isometric isomorphisms among the Banach spaces $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n; F) \simeq L[E_1, M(E_2, \dots, E_n; F)] \simeq M[E_1, \dots, E_{n-1}; L(E_n, F)].$

10-1.11. **Exercise** Prove the following Uniform Boundedness Theorem for Multilinear Maps. Let E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n be Banach spaces and let F be a normed space. A family $\{f_i : i \in I\}$ of continuous multilinear maps from $\prod_{j=1}^n E_j$ into F is norm bounded, i.e. $\sup\{||f_i|| : i \in I\} < \infty$ iff it is pointwise bounded, that is for each $(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) \in \prod_{j=1}^n E_j$, we have $\sup\{||f_i(x)|| : i \in I\} < \infty$.

П

10-1.12. **Exercise** Prove the following version of Banach-Steinhaus Theorem for Multilinear Maps. Let E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n be Banach spaces and let F be a normed space. Let $\{f_n : n \ge 1\}$ a sequence of continuous multilinear maps from $\prod_{j=1}^n E_j$ into F. If for each $x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n \in \prod_{j=1}^n E_j$, the limit

$$g(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)$$

exists, then g is a continuous multilinear map from $\prod_{j=1}^{n} E_j$ into F. Furthermore we have $||g|| \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} ||f_n|| \leq \sup_{n \geq 1} ||f_n|| < \infty$.

10-1.13. **Exercise** Prove that for Banach spaces, separate continuity implies joint continuity. More precisely, let E_1, E_2, \dots, E_n and F be Banach spaces and f a multilinear maps from $\prod_{j=1}^n E_j$ into F. If for each $1 \leq k \leq n$, the map $f(x_1, \dots, x_k, \dots, x_n)$ is continuous in $x_k \in E_j$, then $f: \prod_{j=1}^n E_j \to F$ is continuous.

10-2 Polynomials on Banach Spaces

10-2.1. Let E, F be Banach spaces. A multilinear map from E^n into F is also called an *n*-linear map on E. An *n*-linear map $A : E^n \to F$ is said to be symmetric if we have $A(x_{\pi(1)}, x_{\pi(2)}, \dots, x_{\pi(n)}) = A(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$ for all $x_j \in E$ and all permutations π of order n, or equivalently,

$$A(x_1, \cdots, x_j, \cdots, x_k, \cdots, x_n) = A(x_1, \cdots, x_k, \cdots, x_j, \cdots, x_n), \forall \ 1 \leq j, k \leq n.$$

The set of all symmetric continuous *n*-linear maps from E^n into F will be denoted by $L_s^n(E, F)$.

10-2.2. A finite sequence $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_m)$ of positive integers $\alpha_j \ge 0$ is called a *multi-index*. In this case, *m* is called the *length* of α . The order of α is defined by $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \dots + \alpha_m$ and the *factorial* by $\alpha! = \alpha_1!\alpha_2!\cdots\alpha_m!$. For each integer $n \ge |\alpha|$, the *multinomial coefficient*

is defined by $\binom{n}{\alpha} = \frac{n!}{(n-|\alpha|)!\alpha!}$. For m = 1, it is reduced to binomial

coefficients. For every symmetric *n*-linear map $A: E^n \to F$ we shall adopt the following abbreviation:

$$Ax_1^{\alpha_1}x_2^{\alpha_2}\cdots x_m^{\alpha_m}=A(x_1,\cdots,x_1,x_2,\cdots,x_2,\cdots,x_m,\cdots,x_m)$$

where x_1 is repeated α_1 -times, x_2 repeated α_2 -times and x_m repeated α_m -times.

10-2.3. Multinomial Theorem For every given symmetric *n*-linear map
$$A: E^n \to F$$
 we have $A(x_1 + x_2 + \dots + x_m)^n = \sum_{|\alpha|=n} \binom{n}{\alpha} A x_1^{\alpha_1} x_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots x_m^{\alpha_m}$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> It follows by induction on m:

$$\begin{split} &A(x_{1} + x_{2} + \dots + x_{k} + x_{k+1})^{n} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{n!}{j!(n-j)!} A(x_{1} + x_{2} + \dots + x_{k})^{j} x_{k+1}^{n-j} \qquad ; \text{ Binomial Theorem} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{n!}{j!(n-j)!} \sum_{|\alpha|=j} \frac{j!}{\alpha!} Ax_{1}^{\alpha_{1}} \cdots x_{k}^{\alpha_{k}} x_{k+1}^{n-j} \qquad ; \text{ inductive assumption} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^{n} \sum_{|\alpha|=j} \frac{n!}{\alpha!(n-j)!} Ax_{1}^{\alpha_{1}} \cdots x_{k}^{\alpha_{k}} x_{k+1}^{n-j} \\ &= \sum_{|\beta|=n}^{n} \binom{n}{\beta} Ax_{1}^{\beta_{1}} x_{2}^{\beta_{2}} \cdots x_{k}^{\beta_{k}} x_{k+1}^{\beta_{k+1}} ; \beta = (\alpha, n-j). \end{split}$$

10-2.4. For any symmetric *n*-linear map $A : E^n \to F$, let $\hat{A} : E \to F$ be defined by $\hat{A}(x) = Ax^n$. The map \hat{A} is called an *n*-homogeneous polynomial from E into F. The following lemma when $x_0 = 0$ generalizes the corresponding formula in inner product spaces of linear algebras. See e.g. §§13-1.4c,6.3.

10-2.5. **Polarization Formula** Let $A: E^n \to F$ be a symmetric *n*-linear map. Then for all $x_0, x_1, \dots, x_m \in E$, we have

$$A(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n) = \frac{1}{n! 2^n} \sum_{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \cdots, \lambda_n = \pm 1} \lambda_1 \lambda_2 \cdots \lambda_n \hat{A}(x_0 + \lambda_1 x_1 + \lambda_2 x_2 + \cdots + \lambda_n x_n).$$

Consequently if $\hat{A} = 0$ then A = 0.

Proof. By Multinomial Theorem, we have

$$\sum_{\lambda_j=\pm 1} \lambda_1 \lambda_2 \cdots \lambda_n \hat{A}(x_0 + \lambda_1 x_1 + \lambda_2 x_2 + \cdots + \lambda_n x_n)$$

=
$$\sum_{\lambda_j=\pm 1} \lambda_1 \lambda_2 \cdots \lambda_n A(x_0 + \lambda_1 x_1 + \lambda_2 x_2 + \cdots + \lambda_n x_n)^n$$

=
$$\sum_{\lambda_j=\pm 1} \lambda_1 \lambda_2 \cdots \lambda_n \sum_{|\alpha|=n} \binom{n}{\alpha} A x_0^{\alpha_0} (\lambda_1 x_1)^{\alpha_1} (\lambda_2 x_2)^{\alpha_2} \cdots (\lambda_n x_n)^{\alpha_n}$$

=
$$\sum_{|\alpha|=n} \sum_{\lambda_j=\pm 1} \binom{n}{\alpha} \lambda_1^{\alpha_1+1} \lambda_2^{\alpha_2+1} \cdots \lambda_n^{\alpha_n+1} A x_0^{\alpha_0} x_1^{\alpha_1} x_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots x_n^{\alpha_n}$$

$$=\sum_{|\alpha|=n} \binom{n}{\alpha} \prod_{j=1}^n \left[1+(-1)^{\alpha_j+1}\right] A x_0^{\alpha_0} x_1^{\alpha_1} x_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots x_n^{\alpha_n}.$$

where the multi-index is of the form $\alpha = (\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n)$. If $\alpha_j = 0$ for some $j \ge 1$ then $1 + (-1)^{\alpha_j + 1} = 0$ and the whole term disappears. So we may assume that all $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n > 0$. Now the condition $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \dots + \alpha_n = n$ implies $\alpha_0 = 0$ and $\alpha_j = 1$ for all $j \ge 1$. Therefore we obtain

$$\sum_{\lambda_j=\pm 1} \lambda_1 \lambda_2 \cdots \lambda_n \hat{A}(x_0 + \lambda_1 x_1 + \lambda_2 x_2 + \cdots + \lambda_n x_n)$$

=
$$\frac{n!}{1! 1! \cdots 1!} \prod_{j=1}^n \left[1 + (-1)^{1+1} \right] A x_1 x_2 \cdots x_n = n! 2^n A x_1 x_2 \cdots x_n.$$

10-2.6. Lemma Let $A: E^n \to F$ be a symmetric *n*-linear map which need not be continuous. Let $\|\hat{A}\| = \sup\{\|\hat{A}(x)\| : \|x\| \le 1\}$. Then we have (a) $\|\hat{A}(x)\| \le \|\hat{A}\| \|x\|^n$.

(b)
$$\|\hat{A}\| \le \|A\| \le rac{n^n}{n!} \|\hat{A}\|.$$

<u>*Proof.*</u> If x = 0 in E, we have $\|\hat{A}(x)\| = 0 = \|\hat{A}\| \|x\|^n$. For $x \neq 0$ we have $\|\hat{A}x\| = \|\|x\|^n \hat{A}\left(\frac{x}{\|x\|}\right)\| = \|x\|^n \|\hat{A}\left(\frac{x}{\|x\|}\right)\| \le \|x\|^n \|\hat{A}\|.$

This proves (a). For part (b), observe that

$$\begin{split} \|\hat{A}\| &= \sup\{\|\hat{A}(x)\| : \|x\| \le 1\} = \sup\{\|A(x, x, \dots, x)\| : \|x\| \le 1\} \\ &\le \sup\{\|A(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)\| : \|x_j\| \le 1, \forall j\} = \|A\|. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, take any $||x_j|| \leq 1$ in E. By Polarization Formula, we get

$$\begin{split} \|A(x_{1}, x_{2}, \cdots, x_{n})\| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{n!2^{n}} \sum_{\lambda_{j}=\pm 1} \|\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}\cdots\lambda_{n}\hat{A}(\lambda_{1}x_{1}+\lambda_{2}x_{2}+\cdots+\lambda_{n}x_{n})\| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{n!2^{n}} \sum_{\lambda_{j}=\pm 1} \|\hat{A}\| \|\lambda_{1}x_{1}+\lambda_{2}x_{2}+\cdots+\lambda_{n}x_{n}\|^{n} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{n!2^{n}} \sum_{\lambda_{j}=\pm 1} \|\hat{A}\| (|\lambda_{1}| \|x_{1}\|+|\lambda_{2}| \|x_{2}\|+\cdots+|\lambda_{n}| \|x_{n}\|)^{n} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{n!2^{n}} \sum_{\lambda_{j}=\pm 1} \|\hat{A}\| n^{n} = \frac{1}{n!2^{n}} \|\hat{A}\| n^{n} . 2^{n} = \frac{n^{n}}{n!} \|\hat{A}\|. \end{split}$$

10-2.7. <u>Exercise</u> Let $A(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) = x_1 x_2 \dots x_n$ for all $x_j \in \mathbb{K}$. Show that $A : \mathbb{K}^n \to \mathbb{K}$ is a symmetric multilinear form and that $||A|| = ||\hat{A}|| = 1$.

10-2.8. <u>Exercise</u> For all column vectors $x_j = (x_j^1, x_j^2, \dots, x_j^n)^t$ in \mathbb{R}^n_1 , let

$$A(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n) = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\pi \in S_n} x_{\pi(1)}^1 x_{\pi(2)}^2 \cdots x_{\pi(n)}^n$$

where S_n is the permutation group on $\{1, 2, \dots, n\}$. Show that $A : \mathbb{K}_1^n \to \mathbb{K}$ is a symmetric multilinear form on \mathbb{R}_1^n . Derive that $||A|| = \frac{1}{n!}$ and $||\hat{A}|| = \frac{1}{n^n}$. Therefore the inequalities of last lemma are sharp.

10-2.9. <u>**Theorem</u>** For every symmetric *n*-linear map $A : E^n \to F$, the following statements are equivalent.</u>

- (a) A is continuous on E^n .
- (b) \hat{A} is continuous on E.

(c) \hat{A} is bounded on the unit ball of E.

Proof. It follows immediately from $\S10-1.5$.

10-2.10. **Theorem** Let $P: E \to F$ be a *polynomial* given by

$$P(x) = A_0 + A_1 x + A_2 x^2 + \dots + A_n x^n, \forall x \in E$$

where the *coefficients*
$$A_j : E^j \to F$$
 are symmetric *j*-linear maps.

(a) P = 0 iff all $A_j = 0$.

(b) P is continuous iff all A_j are.

<u>Proof.</u> $(a \Rightarrow)$ Suppose P = 0. Then for each $x \in E$ and for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$, we have $P(\lambda x) = 0$, i.e. $A_0 + A_1(\lambda x) + A_2(\lambda x)^2 + \dots + A_n(\lambda x)^n = 0$, or

 $A_0 + \lambda A_1 x + \lambda^2 A_2 x^2 + \dots + \lambda^n A_n x^n = 0.$

For every $u \in F'$ we get $uA_0 + \lambda uA_1x + \lambda^2 uA_2x^2 + \cdots + \lambda^n uA_nx^n = 0$ which is a polynomial with scalar coefficients uA_jx^j . Since λ is arbitrary, we have $uA_jx^j = 0$. Because $u \in F'$ is arbitrary, we obtain $A_jx^j = 0$. Hence $A_j = 0$ by Polarization Formula.

 $(b \Rightarrow)$ We shall prove by induction on n. Observe that

$$2^{n}P(x) - P(2x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} (2^{n} - 2^{j})A_{j}x^{j}$$

is a polynomial of degree at most n-1. Since the left hand side is continuous, it follows by induction that for each $0 \le j \le n-1$, the map $(2^n - 2^j)A_j$ is continuous, i.e. A_j is continuous. Next,

$$A_n x^n = P(x) - (A_0 + A_1 x + A_2 x^2 + \dots + A_{n-1} x^{n-1})$$

is continuous in $x \in E$. Therefore \hat{A}_n is continuous and so is A_n . The converses $(a \Leftarrow)$ and $(b \Leftarrow)$ are trivial.

10-2.11. **Exercise** Prove that for every multilinear map $A \in L^n(\mathbb{K}, F)$, there is a unique vector $a \in F$ such that $A(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) = ax_1x_2 \cdots x_n$ for all $x_i \in \mathbb{K}$.

10-2.12. **Exercise** Prove that every polynomial $P : \mathbb{K} \to F$ is of the form: $P(x) = a_0 + a_1 x + a_2 x^2 + \dots + a_n x^n$ for all $x \in \mathbb{K}$ where $a_j \in F$.

10-2.13. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that all multilinear maps and polynomials on finite dimensional Banach spaces are continuous.

10-2.14. **Exercise** Let E, F be Banach spaces and $P: E \to F$ a polynomial. Prove that if $P(\lambda x) = \lambda^n P(x)$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ and all $x \in E$, then P is an n-homogeneous polynomial.

10-3 Higher Derivatives

10-3.1. Let E, F be Banach spaces and X an open subset of E. Let $f: X \to F$ be a given map. Define $D^0 f = f$. Note that for all $n \ge 1$, $L^n(E, F)$ is a Banach space. Assume that $D^{n-1}f: X \to L^{n-1}(E, F)$ has been defined by induction. Then f is said to be *n*-times differentiable on X if $D^{n-1}f$ is differentiable on X. In this case, let $D^n f = D(D^{n-1}f)$. With the identification §10-1.10, $D^n f$ is a map from X into the Banach space $L^n(E, F)$. The original map f is called a C^n -map if $D^n f: X \to L^n(E, F)$ is continuous and in this case, f is also said to be *n*-times continuously differentiable on X. The map f is called a C^{∞} -map if it is a C^n -map for all $n = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$ and in this case, f is also said to be smooth. Clearly $D^n f$ is linear in f. Also if f is *n*-times differentiable then fis a C^k -map for all $k \le n-1$. Before we dig in, we need the following special case of higher chain rule.

10-3.2. **Lemma** If $f: X \to F$ is a C^n -map then for every continuous linear map $g: F \to G$ the composite gf is also a C^n -map. Furthermore for each $a \in X$ we have $D^n(gf)(a) = gD^nf(a)$.

<u>Proof</u>. We have proved the case for n = 1. Inductively, assume that it is true for n in order to prove the case for n + 1. For each $A \in L^n(E, F)$ let $\varphi(A) : E^n \to G$ be defined by $\varphi(A)h_1 \cdots h_n = g(Ah_1 \cdots h_n)$. Clearly $\varphi(A)$ is an n-linear map. Since $\|\varphi(A)h_1 \cdots h_n\| \le \|g\| \|A\| \|h_1\| \cdots \|h_n\|$, φ is continuous. Hence the map $\varphi : L^n(E, F) \to L^n(E, G)$ is well-defined and linear. Because

$$\|\varphi(A)\| = \sup_{\|h_j\| \le 1} \|\varphi(A)h_1 \cdots h_n\| \le \sup_{\|h_j\| \le 1} \|g\| \|A\| \|h_1\| \cdots \|h_n\| \le \|g\| \|A\|,$$

 φ is a continuous linear map. Now by induction we have

$$D^n(gf)(a) = g \circ D^n f(a) = (\varphi \circ D^n f)(a)$$

i.e. $D^n(gf) = \varphi \circ D^n f$. Applying the first order chain rule again, $D^n(gf)$ is continuously differentiable because both φ , $D^n f$ are. Now

$$D^{n+1}(gf)(a) = D(\varphi \circ D^n f)(a) = (D\varphi)D(D^n f)(a) = \varphi D^{n+1}f(a).$$

Hence

$$D^{n+1}(gf)(a)h_0 = \varphi[D^{n+1}f(a)h_0].$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} D^{n+1}(gf)(a)h_0h_1\cdots h_n &= \varphi[D^{n+1}f(a)h_0]h_1\cdots h_n \\ &= g[D^{n+1}f(a)h_0h_1\cdots h_n] = [g\circ D^{n+1}f(a)]h_0h_1\cdots h_n. \\ &\qquad D^{n+1}(gf)(a) = g\circ D^{n+1}f(a). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore

10-3.3. **Lemma** If f is a C^2 -map then for all $h, k \in E$ and all $s, t \in \mathbb{K}$ we have $D^2 f(a)hk = \lim_{s,t\to 0} \frac{1}{st} [f(a+sh+tk) - f(a+sh) - f(a+tk) + f(a)].$

Proof. Observe that

$$f(a + sh + tk) - f(a + sh) - f(a + tk) + f(a)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} Df(a + sh + \beta tk)tkd\beta - \int_{0}^{1} Df(a + \beta tk)tkd\beta$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} [Df(a + sh + \beta tk) - Df(a + \beta tk)]tkd\beta$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \left[\int_{0}^{1} D^{2}f(a + \alpha sh + \beta tk)shd\alpha \right] tkd\beta$$

$$= st \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} D^{2}f(a + \alpha sh + \beta tk)hkd\alpha d\beta$$

Hence

$$\lim_{s,t\to 0} \frac{1}{st} [f(a+sh+tk) - f(a+sh) - f(a+tk) + f(a)]$$

=
$$\lim_{s,t\to 0} \int_0^1 \int_0^1 D^2 f(a+\alpha sh + \beta tk) hk d\alpha d\beta$$

=
$$\int_0^1 \int_0^1 \lim_{s,t\to 0} D^2 f(a+\alpha sh + \beta tk) hk d\alpha d\beta$$

=
$$\int_0^1 \int_0^1 D^2 f(a) hk d\alpha d\beta = D^2 f(a) hk.$$

10-3.4. Symmetry Theorem If f is a C^n -map then the *n*-linear map $D^n f(a)$ is symmetric.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since the right hand side of last lemma is symmetric in h, k, we obtain $\overline{D^2 f(a)hk} = D^2 f(a)kh$. This proves the case for n = 2. Next, for $n \ge 3$ to prove

$$D^n f(a)h_1h_2h_3\cdots h_n = D^n f(a)h_1h_3h_2\cdots h_n, \qquad \qquad \#1$$

let $H: L^{n-1}(E, F) \to F$ be defined by $H(A) = Ah_2h_3 \cdots h_n$ and $g: X \to F$ by $g(x) = D^{n-1}f(x)h_2h_3 \cdots h_n$. Then H is a continuous linear map and hence continuously differentiable. Since $D^{n-1}f: X \to L^{n-1}(E, F)$ is continuously differentiable, so is the composite $g = H \circ D^{n-1}f$. Therefore we have $Dg(a) = HD(D^{n-1}f)(a)$, i.e. $Dg(a)h_1 = HD^nf(a)h_1 = D^nf(a)h_1h_2h_3 \cdots h_n$. By induction, we have $g(x) = D^{n-1}f(x)h_3h_2 \cdots h_n$. Repeating the above argument, we get $Dg(a)h_1 = [D^nf(a)]h_1h_3h_2 \cdots h_n$. Therefore #1 is proved. In a similar way we obtain

$$D^n f(a)h_1 \cdots h_j \cdots h_k \cdots h_n = D^n f(a)h_1 \cdots h_k \cdots h_j \cdots h_n$$

as long as $j, k \ge 2$. Next to show

$$D^n f(a)h_1h_2h_3\cdots h_n = D^n f(a)h_2h_1h_3\cdots h_n, \qquad \qquad \#2$$

let $g(x) = D^{n-2}f(x)h_3\cdots h_n = HD^{n-2}f(x)$ where $H: L^{n-2}(E,F) \to F$ is a continuous linear map defined by $H(A) = Ah_3\cdots h_n$. Since $g: X \to F$ is a C^2 -map, we have $D^2g(a)h_1h_2 = D^2g(a)h_2h_1$. On the other hand,

$$Dg(x) = HD[D^{n-2}f(x)] = HD^{n-1}f(x).$$

Since $D^2g(x) = HD^n f(x)$, we obtain $HD^n f(a)h_1h_2 = HD^n f(a)h_2h_1$ which is #2. Finally according to algebra, every permutation can be decomposed into a product $\pi_1\pi_2\cdots\pi_p$ where each π_j is either the transpose (1,2) or a transpose (j,k) with $j,k \geq 2$. This completes the proof.

10-3.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be given by

$$f(x,y) = \begin{cases} \frac{xy(x^2 - y^2)}{x^2 + y^2}, & \text{if } (x,y) \neq (0,0) \\ 0, & \text{if } (x,y) = (0,0) \end{cases}$$

Show that $\partial_x \partial_y f(0,0) \neq \partial_y \partial_x f(0,0)$.

10-3.6. **Lemma** Every continuous *n*-linear map $f: E_1 \times E_2 \times \cdots \times E_n \to F$ is smooth. Furthermore at (a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_n) , the derivative is given by

$$Df(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n)(h_1, h_2, \dots, h_n)$$

= $f(h_1, a_2, \dots, a_n) + f(a_1, h_2, \dots, a_n) + \dots + f(a_1, a_2, \dots, h_n).$

<u>*Proof.*</u> The linear case (n = 1) has been done. For $n \ge 2$, consider $\overline{\partial_1 f(a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_n)}h_1 = f(h_1, a_2, \cdots, a_n)$. Define $g(a_2, \cdots, a_n) : E_1 \to F$ by

 $g(a_2, \dots, a_n)h_1 = f(h_1, a_2, \dots, a_n)$. Then $g(a_2, \dots, a_n)$ is continuous linear. Hence $g: E_2 \times \dots \times E_n \to F$ is well-defined. Because

$$||g(a_2,\cdots,a_n)|| \le ||f|| ||a_2||\cdots||a_n||,$$

g is continuous (n-1)-linear. Next define $\pi : E_1 \times E_2 \times \cdots \times E_n \to E_2 \times \cdots \times E_n$ by $\pi(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n) = (x_2, \cdots, x_n)$. Then π is continuous linear. Since

 $\partial_1 f(a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_n) = (g \circ \pi)(a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_n),$

 $\partial_1 f(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n)$ is continuous jointly in (a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n) . By characterization in terms of partial derivatives, f is continuously differentiable. Furthermore we have

$$Df(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n)(h_1, h_2, \dots, h_n) = \sum_{j=1}^n \partial_j f(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n)h_j$$

= $f(h_1, a_2, \dots, a_n) + f(a_1, h_2, \dots, a_n) + \dots + f(a_1, a_2, \dots, h_n).$

10-3.7. <u>Exercise</u> The (n + 1)-times derivative of a continuous *n*-linear map is zero.

10-3.8. **Exercise** All continuous polynomials are smooth. Furthermore if $f(x) = Ax^n$ where $A \in L_s^n(E, F)$, then we have $Df(a)h = nAa^{n-1}h$.

10-3.9. **Exercise** Let C[0, 1] be the Banach space of continuous real functions on [0, 1] under the sup-norm and $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ a smooth function. Prove that the function $g : C[0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $g(x) = \int_0^1 f[x(t)]dt$ is a smooth function and find formulas to express the first and second derivatives of g.

10-3.10. <u>Exercise</u> For every $x \in C[0,2]$, let $f(x) = \sin[x(1)]$. Show that f is a C^{∞} -function on C[0,2].

10-4 Cⁿ-Maps

10-4.1. In this section, we shall start with characterization of the C^n -maps in terms of coordinates of domain and target spaces. Then show that taking inverse of an operator is a smooth map and apply it to get the C^n -version of inverse and implicit mapping theorems. Finally, Newton's method of solving nonlinear equations will be given.

10-4.2. **Lemma** Let F_1, F_2, \dots, F_m be Banach spaces. Let P_j be the projection from $\prod_{k=1}^m F_k$ onto F_j and Q_j the natural injection from F_j into $\prod_{k=1}^m F_k$ given by $Q_j(y_j) = (0, \dots, 0, y_j, 0, \dots, 0)^t$ which is a column vector. Then we have $P_jQ_j = I_{F_j}$ and $\sum_{j=1}^m Q_jP_j = I_F$ where I_{F_j} and I_F denote the identity maps on F_j , F respectively.

10-4.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f : X \to \prod_{j=1}^{m} F_j$ be a given map. Then f is a C^n -map iff all coordinate maps $f_j = P_j f$ are C^n -maps. In this case, we have the following formulas: $D^n f_j(a) = P_j D^n f(a)$ and

$$D^n f(a) = \sum_{j=1}^m Q_j D^n f_j(a) = \begin{bmatrix} D^n f_1(a) \\ \cdots \\ D^n f_m(a) \end{bmatrix}.$$

<u>*Proof*</u>. Suppose that all f_j are C^n -maps. Then each $Q_j f_j$ is also a C^n -map. Hence $f = \left(\sum_{j=1}^m Q_j P_j\right) f = \sum_{j=1}^m Q_j f_j$ is a C^n -map. By linearity and §10-3.2, we obtain

$$D^{n}f(a) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} D^{n}(Q_{j}f_{j})(a) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} Q_{j}D^{n}f_{j}(a)$$

The converse follows immediately as composite maps.

10-4.4. **<u>Higher Chain Rule</u>** Let E, F, G be Banach spaces and X, Y open subsets of E, F respectively. If $f: X \to Y$ and $g: Y \to G$ are C^n -maps then so is the composite gf.

Proof. It follows from n = 1 that

$$D(gf)(x) = Dg[f(x)]Df(x) = [(Dg) \circ f](x)Df(x).$$

By induction, $x \to f(x) \to Dg[f(x)]$ is a C^{n-1} -map. Since $x \to Df(x)$ is a C^{n-1} -map, so is the map $x \to (Dg[f(x)], Df(x)) : X \to L(F, G) \times L(E, F)$ by last theorem. Since the composition $L(F, G) \times L(E, F) \to L(E, G)$ is continuous bilinear, it is a C^{n-1} -map. By induction, the composite $x \to D(gf)(x)$ is a C^{n-1} -map. Consequently gf is a C^n -map. \Box

10-4.5. **Lemma** Let $a = (a_1, \dots, a_k)$ be a point in $\prod_{j=1}^k E_j$. For every x_j let $g_j(x_j) = (a_1, \dots, a_{j-1}, x_j, a_{j+1}, \dots, a_k)$. Then each g_j is a differentiable map. Furthermore, $Dg_j(x_j)$ is the natural injection and $D^2g_j = 0$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let Q_j be the natural injection from E_j into $\prod_{p=1}^k E_p$. Then we have $q_i(x_i) = (a_1, \dots, a_{i-1}, 0, a_{i+1}, \dots, a_k) + Q_i(x_i)$.

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{j$$

Hence $Dg_j = DQ_j = Q_j$. Since this is a constant map, we get $D^2g_j = 0$. \Box

10-4.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let X_j be an open subset of a Banach space E_j and f a given map on the product set $X = \prod_{j=1}^{k} X_j$ into a Banach space F. Then f is a C^{n+1} -map iff each partial derivative $\partial_j f : X \to L(E_j, F)$ exists and is a C^n -map.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Assume that f is a C^{n+1} -map. For n = 0, f is continuously differentiable. Hence $\partial_j f(a) = D(fQ_j)(a) = Df(a)Q_j$ is continuous in $a \in X$.

In general, since Df(a) is a C^{n} -map, so is $\partial_{j}f(a) = Df(a)Q_{j}$ by Higher Chain Rule. Conversely, suppose all $\partial_{j}f : X \to L(E_{j}, F)$ are C^{n} -maps. We have proved that $Df(a) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \partial_{j}f(a)P_{j}$ where P_{j} is the projection of $\prod_{i=1}^{k} E_{i}$ onto the *j*-th coordinate E_{j} . Since each $\partial_{j}f(a)$ is a C^{n} -map in $a \in X$, f is a C^{n+1} -map. \Box

10-4.7. **Lemma** Let T(E, F) denote the set of all topological isomorphisms from a Banach space E onto a Banach space F. Then the map $f(A) = A^{-1}$ from T(E, F) onto T(F, E) is smooth. Furthermore for all $A \in T(E, F)$ and $H \in L(E, F)$, we have $Df(A)H = -A^{-1}HA^{-1}$. In general, the following holds for every $n \ge 1$, $D^n f(A)H^n = (-1)^n n! A^{-1} (HA^{-1})^n = (-1)^n n! (A^{-1}H)^n A^{-1}$. <u>Proof</u>. Clearly $-A^{-1}HA^{-1}$ is a continuous linear map in H. To show that f

is differentiable at $A \in T(E, F)$, by its continuity for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every $||H|| \le \delta$ in L(E, F) we have $||A^{-1} - (A+H)^{-1}|| \le \varepsilon/||A^{-1}||$. Since

$$\begin{split} \|f(A+H) - f(A) - (-A^{-1}HA^{-1})\| &= \|[A^{-1} - (A+H)^{-1}]HA^{-1}\| \\ &= \|[A^{-1} - (A+H)^{-1}]\| \ \|H\| \ \|A^{-1}\| \le \varepsilon \|H\|, \end{split}$$

f is differentiable and $Df(A)H = -A^{-1}HA^{-1}$. Next, for all $B, C \in L(F, E)$ and all $H \in L(E, F)$ define g(B, C)H = -BHC. Then the map

 $g(B,C): L(E,F) \rightarrow L(F,E)$

is continuous linear. Thus $g: L(F, E) \times L(F, E) \to L[L(E, F), L(F, E)]$ is a continuous bilinear map and thus g is a smooth map. It is easy to verify $Df(A)H = g(A^{-1}, A^{-1})H$. Hence $Df(A) = g(A^{-1}, A^{-1})$ is continuous in A. Therefore f is a C^{1} -map. Now assume n > 1. Since each step of

 $A \to (A^{-1}, A^{-1}) \to g(A^{-1}, A^{-1}) = Df(A)$

is a C^{n-1} -map, Df is a C^{n-1} -map, i.e. f is a C^n -map. Therefore f is smooth. The general formula can be proved by induction. It is left as an exercise. \Box

10-4.8. Let X, Y be open subsets of Banach spaces E, F respectively. Then a bijection $f: X \to Y$ is called a C^n -diffeomorphism if both f and f^{-1} are C^n -maps. If f is a C^n -diffeomorphism for all n, then f is called a C^{∞} -diffeomorphism or simply a diffeomorphism. Local diffeomorphisms are defined in an obvious way.

10-4.9. **Lemma** Let X, Y be open subsets of E, F respectively and $f: X \to Y$ a bijection. If f is a C^n -map and if Df(x) is invertible for each $x \in X$ then f is a C^n -diffeomorphism.

<u>Proof</u>. It follows from Inverse Mapping Theorem that $D(f^{-1})(y) = [Df(x)]^{-1}$ where y = f(x). Assume inductively that f^{-1} is a C^{n-1} -map. By Higher Chain Rule, $D(f^{-1})(y) = [(Df) \circ f^{-1}(y)]^{-1}$ is a C^{n-1} -map. Hence f^{-1} is a C^n -map. Therefore f is a C^n -diffeomorphism.

10-4.10. <u> C^n -Inverse Mapping Theorem</u> Let f be a C^n -map from an open subset X of E into F. If Df(a) is a topological isomorphism from E into F then f is a local C^n -diffeomorphism at $a \in X$.

10-4.11. <u>Cⁿ-Implicit Mapping Theorem</u> Let E, F be Banach spaces; M an open subset of $E \times F$; $f: M \to F$ a C^n -map; $(a, b) \in M$ and c = f(a, b). If the partial derivative $\partial_y f(a, b) : F \to F$ is invertible, then the equation f(x, y) = c has a unique local implicit C^n -solution y = g(x) near (a, b).

<u>Proof</u>. For n = 1, it was done and the given formula holds. Now suppose \overline{f} is a C^n -map for n > 1. Then both $\partial_x f, \partial_y f$ are C^{n-1} -maps and therefore $Dg = -(\partial_y f)^{-1}(\partial_x f)$ is a C^{n-1} -map. Consequently, g is a C^n -maps.

10-4.12. <u>Newton's Method</u> Let X be an open subset of a Banach space E, $f: X \to E$ a C^2 -map and f(a) = 0 where $a \in X$. If Df(a) is a topological isomorphism then there is $\delta > 0$ such that for each $x_0 \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ the sequence $\{x_n\}$ defined by $x_{n+1} = x_n - [Df(x_n)]^{-1}f(x_n)$ converges to a.

<u>Proof</u>. Because Df(a) is a topological isomorphism, $g(x) = x - [Df(x)]^{-1}f(x)$ is defined for all x near a. For each $h \in E$, observe

$$\begin{split} Dg(x)h &= h - D\{[Df(x)]^{-1}f(x)\}h \\ &= h - \langle D\{[Df(x)]^{-1}\}h, f(x) \rangle - \langle [Df(x)]^{-1}, Df(x)h \rangle \\ &= h - \langle -[Df(x)]^{-1}D[Df(x)]h[Df(x)]^{-1}, f(x) \rangle - h \\ &= [Df(x)]^{-1}D^2f(x)h\{[Df(x)]^{-1}f(x)\}. \end{split}$$

Since Dg(a) = 0, there is $\lambda > 0$ as in Contraction Lemma such that for all $0 < \delta < \lambda$, the map g carries $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$ into itself. Replacing λ by smaller one, there is L > 0 such that for all $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \lambda)$ we have $||f(x) - f(a)|| \le L||x - a||$ and $||[Df(x)]^{-1}||^2 ||D^2 f(x)|| \le L$. Now choose $0 < \delta < \lambda$ such that $L^2 \delta < 1$. For all $x, y \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$, write h = x - y. Then the following calculation

$$\|g(x) - g(y)\| = \left\| \int_0^1 Dg(z)hdt \right\| \quad ; z = y + th$$

$$\leq \int_0^1 \|[Df(z)]^{-1}\|^2 \|D^2 f(z)\| \|f(x)\| \|h\| dt$$

$$\leq \int_0^1 L \|f(x) - f(a)\| \|x - y\| dt \qquad ; f(a) = 0$$

$$\leq \int_0^1 L^2 \|x - a\| \|x - y\| dt = L^2 \delta \|x - y\|$$

shows that g is a contraction on the complete metric space $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a, \delta)$. For each $x_0 \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$, the sequence defined by $x_{n+1} = g(x_n)$ converges to the unique fixed point of g which is a by direct verification.

10-5 Taylor's Expansion

10-5.1. Taylor's formula will be studied in this section. We also give numerical examples to interpret high derivatives in terms of matrices. Convenient tests to classify stationary points will be given. We hope that educationalists will support by making these examples as an integral part of undergraduate multivariate calculus.

10-5.2. <u>Taylor's Formula</u> Let X be an open *convex* subset of E and let $f: X \to F$ be a C^{n+1} -map. Then for all $a, x \in X$ we have $f(x) = T_n(x) + R_n(x)$ where the Taylor polynomial and the remainder are given by

$$T_n(x) = f(a) + \frac{1}{1!}Df(a)(x-a) + \frac{1}{2!}D^2f(a)(x-a)^2 + \dots + \frac{1}{n!}D^nf(a)(x-a)^n$$

 and

$$R_n(x) = \frac{1}{n!} \int_0^1 (1-t)^n D^{n+1} f[(1-t)a + tx](x-a)^{n+1} dt.$$

<u>*Proof.*</u> To simplify the notation, let h = x - a. For n = 0 it is reduced to Mean-Value Theorem. Integration by parts gives

$$\begin{split} R_{n-1}(x) &= \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_0^1 (1-t)^{n-1} D^n f(a+th) h^n dt \\ &= \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_0^1 \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} \left[-\frac{(1-t)^n}{n} \right] \right\} D^n f(a+th) h^n dt \\ &= -\frac{(1-t)^n}{n!} D^n f(a+th) h^n \bigg|_{t=0}^1 + \frac{1}{n!} \int_0^1 (1-t)^n \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} [D^n f(a+th) h^n] \right\} dt \\ &= \frac{1}{n!} D^n f(a) h^n + \frac{1}{n!} \int_0^1 (1-t)^n D^{n+1} f(a+th) h^{n+1} dt \\ &= \frac{1}{n!} D^n f(a) (x-a)^n + R_n(x). \end{split}$$

Finally the proof is completed by induction as follow:

$$f(x) = T_{n-1}(x) + R_{n-1}(x)$$

= $T_{n-1}(x) + \frac{1}{n!}D^n f(a)(x-a)^n + R_n(x) = T_n(x) + R_n(x).$

10-5.3. <u>Corollary</u> Let X be an open subset of E and $f: X \to F$ a C^n -map. Then for every $a \in X$ and every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta) \subset X$ and for every $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$, we have $||f(x) - T_n(x)|| \le \varepsilon ||x - a||^n$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $D^n f$ is continuous at $a \in X$, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\mathbb{B}(a, \delta) \subset X$ and for all $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ we have $||D^n f(x) - D^n f(a)|| \le n!\varepsilon$. Now take any $x \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$ and let h = x - a. Then for all $t \in [0, 1]$ we have $a + th \in \mathbb{B}(a, \delta)$. Therefore the proof is completed by the following estimation:

$$\begin{split} \|f(x) - T_{n}(x)\| &= \|T_{n-1}(x) + R_{n-1}(x) - T_{n}(x)\| \\ &= \left\| \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{n-1} D^{n} f(a+th) h^{n} dt - \frac{1}{n!} D^{n} f(a) h^{n} \right\| \\ &= \left\| \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{n-1} D^{n} f(a+th) h^{n} dt \\ &- \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{n-1} D^{n} f(a) h^{n} dt \right\| \\ &= \left\| \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{n-1} [D^{n} f(a+th) - D^{n} f(a)] h^{n} dt \right\| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{n-1} \|D^{n} f(a+th) - D^{n} f(a)\| \|h\|^{n} dt \\ &\leq \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{n-1} n! \varepsilon \|h\|^{n} dt \leq \varepsilon \|h\|^{n} = \varepsilon \|x-a\|^{n}. \end{split}$$

10-5.4. <u>Corollary</u> Let X be an open convex subset of E and $f : X \to F$ a C^{∞} -map. Then for every $a \in X$ and every integer n, there is a C^{∞} -map $g : X \to L^n_s(E, F)$ such that for all $x \in X$, $f(x) = T_{n-1}(x) + g(x)(x-a)^n$ and $g(a) = \frac{1}{n!}D^n f(a)$.

Proof. From the remainder of Taylor's formula, the expression

$$g(x) = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_0^1 (1-t)^{n-1} D^n f[(1-t)a + tx] dt$$

defines a map $g: X \to L^n_s(E, F)$. Then g is a C^{∞} -map by differentiation under the integral sign. The equalities follow from trivial calculation.

10-5.5. Following $\S9-3.7$ and also $\S9-1.2$, identify the higher derivatives as matrices. We only deal with the case of two variables but the same matrix forms work for many variables. Let E, F, G be Banach spaces and X, Y open subsets of E, F respectively. Then for every higher differentiable map f: $X \times Y \to G$ and $(a, b) \in X \times Y$, we have in matrix form:

$$\begin{split} Df(a,b) &= [\partial_x f(a,b), \partial_y f(a,b)], \\ D^2f(a,b) &= [\partial_x Df(a,b), \partial_y Df(a,b)] = [\partial_x^2 f, \partial_x \partial_y f, \partial_y \partial_x f, \partial_y^2 f], \\ D^3f(a,b) &= [\partial_x D^2 f(a,b), \partial_y D^2 f(a,b)] \\ &= [\partial_x^3 f, \partial_x^2 \partial_y f, \partial_x \partial_y \partial_x f, \partial_x \partial_y^2 f, \partial_y \partial_x^2 f, \partial_y \partial_x \partial_y f, \partial_y^2 \partial_x f, \partial_y^3 f]. \end{split}$$

As a result of Symmetry Theorem, we have $D^{n+1}f = [D^n \partial_x f, D^n \partial_y f]$.

Example Let $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be given by $f\begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x + x^2 + \sin(2x + y) \\ e^y + \cos(x - 2y) \end{bmatrix}$. 10-5.6. Then the first derivative at the origin is given by

$$Df\begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix} = [\partial_x f, \partial_y f] = \begin{bmatrix} 1+2x+2\cos(2x+y) & \cos(2x+y)\\ -\sin(x-2y) & e^y+2\sin(x-2y) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & 1\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The second derivative at the origin is

The second derivative at the origin is

$$D^{2}f\begin{pmatrix} 0\\0 \end{pmatrix} = [\partial_{x}Df, \partial_{y}Df]$$

= $\begin{bmatrix} 2-4\sin(2x+y) & -2\sin(2x+y) & -\sin(2x+y) \\ -\cos(x-2y) & 2\cos(x-2y) & 2\cos(x-2y) & e^{y}-4\cos(x-2y) \end{bmatrix}$
= $\begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 2 & 2 & -3 \end{bmatrix}$.

The third derivative at the origin is

$$D^{3}f\begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix} = [\partial_{x}D^{2}f, \partial_{y}D^{2}f] = \begin{bmatrix} -8 & -4 & -4 & -2 & -4 & -2 & -2 & -1\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The third Taylor's polynomial of f at the origin is given by

$$T_3\begin{pmatrix}x\\y\end{pmatrix} = f\begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix} + Df\begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix}x\\y\end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{2!}D^2f\begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix}x\\y\end{bmatrix}^2 + \frac{1}{3!}D^3f\begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix}x\\y\end{bmatrix}^3.$$

Now the approximate value of $f\begin{pmatrix} 1\\ -1 \end{pmatrix}$ is supposed to be $T_3\begin{pmatrix} 1\\ -1 \end{pmatrix}$ which is evaluated as follow

$$Df\begin{pmatrix} 0\\0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\-1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & 1\\0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\-1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 2\\-1 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$D^{2}f\begin{pmatrix} 0\\0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\-1 \end{bmatrix}^{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0 & 0\\-1 & 2 & 2 & -3 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\-1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\-1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0\\-3 & 5 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\-1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 2\\-8 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$D^{3}f\begin{pmatrix}0\\0\end{pmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}^{3} = \begin{bmatrix}-8 & -4 & -4 & -2 & -4 & -2 & -2 & -1\\0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}\\ = \begin{bmatrix}-4 & -2 & -2 & -1\\0 & 1\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}=\begin{bmatrix}-2 & -1\\0 & 1\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}1\\-1\end{bmatrix}=\begin{bmatrix}-1\\-1\end{bmatrix}.$$

Therefore

T nerelore.

$$T_3\begin{pmatrix}1\\-1\end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix}0\\2\end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix}2\\-1\end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{2}\begin{bmatrix}2\\-8\end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{6}\begin{bmatrix}-1\\-1\end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{6}\begin{bmatrix}17\\-19\end{bmatrix}.$$

10-5.7. Exercise Let E, F be Banach spaces, X an open subset of E and a given map. Then f is said to be differentiable at $a \in X$ in the $f: X \to F$ direction of $e \in E$ if $\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{f(a+te) - f(a)}{t}$ exists. In this case, the limit is called the directional derivative of f at a in direction of e.

(a) Prove that if f is differentiable at $a \in X$, then the directional derivative of f exists and it is given by Df(a)e.

(b) Let $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be given by

$$f(x, y) = \begin{cases} \frac{xy}{x^2 + y}, & \text{if } x^2 + y \neq 0, \\ 0, & \text{if } x^2 + y = 0. \end{cases}$$

Show that the directional derivative of f at (0,0) in every direction exists but f is not differentiable at (0,0).

10-5.8. Let $A: E^2 \to \mathbb{K}$ be a continuous bilinear form. For each $h \in E$, define $A_h(k) = A(h,k), \forall k \in E$. Prove that $\varphi(h) = A_h$ defines a continuous linear map from E into the dual space E'. Estimate the norm of φ . We normally identify A as the element φ of L(E, E') which consists of square matrices when $E = \mathbb{K}^n$. Note that this is a special case of §10-1.10.

10-5.9. Let X be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n and $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ a twice continuously differentiable function. It is easy to verify that for all $a \in X$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $D^2 f(a)(x-a)^2$ is identical to

$$(x_1 - a_1, \cdots, x_n - a_n) \begin{bmatrix} \partial_1^2 f & \partial_2 \partial_1 f & & \partial_n \partial_1 f \\ \partial_1 \partial_2 f & \partial_2^2 f & & \partial_n \partial_2 f \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ \partial_1 \partial_n f & \partial_2 \partial_n f & \cdots & \partial_n^2 f \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1 - a_1 \\ x_2 - a_2 \\ \cdots \\ x_n - a_n \end{bmatrix}$$

Therefore the second order Taylor's polynomial is of the form

$$T_2(x) = f(a) + Df(a)(x-a) + \frac{1}{2}(x-a)^t D^2 f(a)(x-a)$$

where $D^2 f(a) = [\partial_i \partial_j f(a)]$ is a real symmetric matrix. Suppose that a is a stationary point, i.e. Df(a) = 0. In linear algebra, there is an orthogonal matrix M such that $MD^2f(a)M^t = diagonal(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n)$ is diagonal. Letting $u = (u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n)^t = M(x - a)$, we have

$$T_2(x) = f(a) + \frac{1}{2}(\lambda_1 u_1^2 + \lambda_2 u_2^2 + \cdots + \lambda_n u_n^2).$$

Now we arrive the following conclusion:

a) If all eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n > 0$, f has a local minimum.

b) If all eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n < 0$, f has a local maximum.

c) If all eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n \neq 0$ but some are positive while some are negative, f has a saddle point a.

d) If at least one eigenvalue $\lambda_j = 0$, this method fails to offer any information.

10-5.10. Note that the eigenvalues λ_j have nothing to do with the matrix M. They are roots of the characteristic polynomial $det[\lambda I - D^2 f(a)] = 0$. In fact, we are not interest to actually find the eigenvalues. All we want to know is whether they are all positive, or all negative, or mixed, or some zeros. Combined with theory of equations, we have the following.

10-5.11. **Theorem** Let X be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n and $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ a twice continuously differentiable function. Let a be a stationary point of f and let $p(x) = \det[\lambda I - D^2 f(a)]$ denote the characteristic polynomial of the second derivative. If the constant term p(0) = 0, then this test offers no information. Therefore we have to make sure that $p(0) \neq 0$ to start with.

a) If all coefficients are non-zero and positive, f has a local maximum at a.

b) If the coefficients are non-zero and have alternative signs, f has a local minimum at a.

c) Otherwise f has a saddle point a.

10-5.12. <u>Exercise</u> For each of the following expressions, find its stationary points and classify them as local maxima, local minima or saddle points.

a) $x^3 + y^3 + z^3 + 3xy + 3yz + 3zx$ b) $x^3 + y^2 + z^2 + 12xy + 2z$.

10-5.13. **Exercise** Let f be a continuous real function on the closed unit ball of \mathbb{R}^n . Suppose that f is differentiable on the open unit ball \mathbb{B} . Prove that if f is constant on the unit sphere, then Df(a) = 0 for some point $a \in \mathbb{B}$.

10-6 Higher Chain Formula and Higher Product Formula

10-6.1. <u>Lemma</u> Let E, F be Banach spaces and X an open subset of E. Let $f: X \to F$ be a C^{j+1} -map and for every $1 \le k \le j$, let $v_k: X \to E$ be a

 C^1 -map. Then $g: X \to F$ given by $g(x) = D^j f(x) v_1(x) \cdots v_j(x)$ is a C^1 -map. Furthermore for every $h \in E$ we have

$$Dg(x)h = D^{j+1}f(x)v_1(x)\cdots v_j(x)h + \sum_{k=1}^{j} D^{j}f(x)v_1(x)\cdots [Dv_k(x)h]\cdots v_j(x).$$

Proof. Define a continuous multilinear map $\pi: X \to L^j(E, F) \times E^j$ by

$$\pi(x) = (D^j f(x), v_1(x), \cdots, v_j(x))^t \qquad ; \text{ transpose}$$

and a C^1 -map $\varphi : L^j(E,F) \times E^j \to F$ by $\varphi(y_0, y_1, \dots, y_j) = y_0 y_1 \dots y_j$ respectively. Then the composite map $f = \varphi \pi$ is a C^1 -map. It follows from Chain Rule that

$$[Dg(x)]h = D\varphi[\pi(x)]D\pi(x)h = [\partial_0\varphi, \partial_1\varphi, \cdots, \partial_j\varphi] \begin{bmatrix} D[D^j f(x)]h \\ Dv_1(x)h \\ \vdots \\ Dv_j(x)h \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \varphi([D^{j+1}f(x)h], v_1(x), \cdots, v_j(x)) + \sum_{k=1}^j \varphi(D^j f(x), v_1(x), \cdots, [Dv_k(x)h], \cdots, v_j(x))$$

$$= D^{j+1}f(x)v_1(x)\cdots v_j(x)h + \sum_{k=1}^j D^jf(x)v_1(x)\cdots [Dv_k(x)h]\cdots v_j(x).$$

10-6.2. **<u>Higher Chain Formula</u>** Let E, F, G be Banach spaces and X, Y open subsets of E, F respectively. If $f: X \to Y$ and $g: Y \to G$ are C^n -maps then for all $(x, h) \in X \times E$ we have the follow formula for the composite map:

$$D^{n}(gf)(x)h^{n} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \binom{n}{\alpha} D^{j}g[f(x)] \left[D^{\alpha_{1}}f(x)h^{\alpha_{1}}\right] \cdots \left[D^{\alpha_{j}}f(x)h^{\alpha_{j}}\right]$$

where A(j, n) denotes the set of all multi-indexes $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_j)$ satisfying $|\alpha| = n$ and all $\alpha_k \ge 1$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $T_j(\alpha) = D^j g[f(x)][D^{\alpha_1}f(x)h^{\alpha_1}] \cdots [D^{\alpha_j}f(x)h^{\alpha_j}]$ in order to simplify the notation. To prove the case for n+1 by induction, it follows from last lemma that

$$D^{n+1}gf(x)h^{n+1} = D[D^{n}(gf)(x)h^{n}]h = D\left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \binom{n}{\alpha} T_{j}(\alpha)\right]h$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \frac{n!}{j!\alpha!} \left[T_{j+1}(\alpha,1) + \sum_{k=1}^{j} T_{j}(\alpha+e_{k})\right].$$

where $e_k = (\delta_{1k}, \delta_{2k}, \dots, \delta_{jk})$ with $\delta_{ik} = 0$ for $i \neq k$ and $\delta_{ik} = 1$ for i = k. Now for j = 1, it must be k = 1. Hence A(1, n) has only one multi-index $\alpha = (n)$ and therefore we have $T_1(n+1) = Dg[f(x)]D^{n+1}f(x)h^{n+1}$. On the other hand, for j = n, A(n, n) has only one multi-index $u_n = (1, 1, \dots, 1)$ and therefore we obtain $T_{n+1}(u_{n+1}) = D^{n+1}g[f(x)][Df(x)h]^{n+1}$. Consequently, we have

$$\begin{split} D^{n+1}gf(x)h^{n+1} &= T_1(n+1) + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \frac{n!}{j!\alpha!} T_{j+1}(\alpha, 1) \\ &+ \sum_{j=2}^n \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \frac{n!}{j!\alpha!} \sum_{k=1}^j T_j(\alpha + e_k) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= T_1(n+1) + \sum_{i=2}^n \sum_{\beta \in A(i-1,n)} \frac{n!}{(i-1)!\beta!} T_i(\beta, 1) \ ; \ i = j+1 \ \text{and} \ \alpha = \beta \\ &+ \sum_{j=2}^n \sum_{k=1}^j \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \frac{n!(\alpha_k+1)}{j!\alpha!(\alpha_k+1)} T_j(\alpha + e_k) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= T_1(n+1) + \sum_{i=2}^n \sum_{\beta \in A(i-1,n)} \frac{n!(\alpha_k+1)}{(i-1)!\beta!} T_j(\alpha + e_k) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &+ \sum_{j=2}^n \sum_{k=1}^j \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \frac{n!(\alpha_k+1)}{j!\alpha!(\alpha_k+1)} T_j(\alpha + e_k) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= T_1(n+1) + \sum_{i=2}^n \sum_{k=1}^j \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \frac{n!(\alpha_k+1)}{j!\alpha!(\alpha_k+1)} T_j(\alpha + e_k) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= T_1(n+1) + \sum_{j=2}^n \sum_{k=1}^j \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \frac{n!(\alpha_k+1)}{j!(\alpha + e_k)!} T_j(\alpha + e_k) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= T_1(n+1) + \sum_{j=2}^n \sum_{k=1}^j \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n)} \frac{n!(\alpha_k+1)}{j!(\alpha + e_k)!} T_j(\alpha + e_k) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= T_1(n+1) + \sum_{j=2}^n \sum_{k=1}^j \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{n!(\alpha_k+1)}{j!(\alpha + e_k)!} T_j(\alpha + e_k) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= T_1(n+1) + \sum_{j=2}^n \sum_{k=1}^j \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{n!(\alpha_k+1)}{j!(\alpha + e_k)!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{k-1}, 1, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_{j-1}) \\ &+ \sum_{j=2}^n \sum_{k=1}^j \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{n!(\alpha_k+1)}{j!(\alpha + e_k)!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= T_1(n+1) + \sum_{j=2}^n (n+1) \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{n!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{(n+1)!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{(n+1)!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{(n+1)!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) + T_{n+1}(u_n, 1) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{(n+1)!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{(n+1)!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{(n+1)!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{(n+1)!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{(n+1)!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots, \alpha_j) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \sum_{\alpha \in A(j,n+1)} \frac{(n+1)!}{j!\alpha!} T_j(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k, \dots,$$

$$=\sum_{j=1}^{n+1}\frac{1}{j!}\sum_{\alpha\in A(j,n+1)}\binom{n+1}{\alpha}D^{j}g[f(x)]\left[D^{\alpha_{1}}f(x)h^{\alpha_{1}}\right]\cdots\cdots\left[D^{\alpha_{j}}f(x)h^{\alpha_{j}}\right].\ \Box$$

10-6.3. <u>Higher Product Formula</u> Let E, F, G, H be Banach spaces and X an open subset of E. Let $f: X \to F$ and $g: X \to G$ be C^n -maps. Suppose $(u, v) \to \langle u, v \rangle$ is a continuous bilinear map from $F \times G$ into H. Then the composite map $x \to \langle f(x), g(x) \rangle$ from X into H is also a C^n -map. Furthermore, we have

$$D^n \langle f(x), g(x) \rangle h^n = \sum_{j=0}^n \binom{n}{j} \langle D^j f(x) h^i, D^{n-j} g(x) h^{n-j} \rangle, \forall h \in E.$$

Proof. Only the formula requires a verification by induction as follow:

$$D^{n} \langle f(x), g(x) \rangle h^{n} = D \left[D^{n-1} \langle f(x), g(x) \rangle h^{n-1} \right] h$$

$$= D \left[\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{j} \langle D^{j} f(x) h^{j}, D^{n-1-j} g(x) h^{n-1-j} \rangle \right] h$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{j} \langle D[D^{j} f(x) h^{j}] h, D^{n-1-j} g(x) h^{n-1-j} \rangle$$

$$+ \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{j} \langle D^{j} f(x) h^{j}, D[D^{n-1-j} g(x) h^{n-1-j}] h \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \binom{n-1}{j-1} \langle D^{j} f(x) h^{j}, D^{n-j} g(x) h^{n-j} \rangle \text{ ; replacing } j \text{ by } j - 1$$

$$+ \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{j} \langle D^{j} f(x) h^{j}, D^{n-j} g(x) h^{n-j} \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n} \binom{n}{j} \langle D^{j} f(x) h^{i}, D^{n-j} g(x) h^{n-j} \rangle.$$

10-99. <u>**References and Further Readings**</u>: Abraham, Fraenkel, Barroso, Franzoni, Herve, Mujica, Abt, Araujo and Aron-01.

Chapter 11

Ordinary Differential Equations

11-1 Local Existence and Uniqueness

11-1.1. Let E be a *real* Banach space and Ω an open subset of $\mathbb{R} \times E$. Let $f: \Omega \to E$ be a *continuous* map and $(t_0, x_0) \in \Omega$ a given point. The *initial value problem* is to find an open interval J containing t_0 and a map x(t) from J into E which satisfies the *differential equation*: x'(t) = f[t, x(t)] for all $t \in J$ subject to the *initial condition*: $x(t_0) = x_0$. In this case, x(t) is called a *solution*, J a *solution interval* and the graph of x(t) a *solution curve* through (t_0, x_0) . We also call f a vector field on Ω . Clearly every solution, if exists, is continuously differentiable on J. It is obvious that a map x(t) is a solution on J to the given initial value problem iff

$$x(t)=x_0+\int_{t_0}^t f[s,x(s)]ds, \qquad \forall \ t\in J.$$

Therefore the initial value problem is equivalent to existence of solution to an *integral equation* which can be formulated as the fixed point of an integral operator. The fixed point will be guaranteed by contraction in §11-1.6, direct calculation in §11-3.2 and topological method in §11-6.9. We shall use the value x(t) to denote the map x itself.

11-1.2. <u>Theorem</u> If $f : \Omega \to E$ is a C^n -map then the solution x(t) to the initial value problem x' = f(t, x) and $x(t_0) = x_0$ where $(t_0, x_0) \in \Omega$ is a C^{n+1} -map.

<u>Proof</u>. It is trivial when n = 0. Suppose that f(t, x) is a C^n -map in (t, x). Then it is a C^{n-1} -map and by induction x(t) is a C^n -map in t. Hence x'(t) = f[t, x(t)] is a C^n -map. Therefore x(t) is a C^{n+1} -map.

11-1.3. **Exercise** Prove that there are constants $M, \lambda > 0$ such that for all $|t - t_0| \le \lambda$ and $||x - x_0|| \le \lambda$ we have $(t, x) \in \Omega$ and $||f(t, x)|| \le M$.

11-1.4. Throughout this section, we shall assume that f is *locally Lipschitz* in x, i.e. for every $(t_0, x_0) \in \Omega$ there are constants $L, \lambda > 0$ such that if $|t-t_0| \leq \lambda$,

$$\begin{split} \|x - x_0\| &\leq \lambda \text{ and } \|y - x_0\| \leq \lambda \text{ then both } (t, x), (t, y) \in \Omega \text{ satisfy} \\ \|f(t, x) - f(t, y)\| &\leq L \|x - y\|. \end{split}$$

In this case, L is called a *Lipschitz constant* on the square

$$\{(t,x)\in \mathbb{R}\times E: |t-t_0|\leq \lambda, ||x-x_0||\leq \lambda\}.$$

We also assume that $||f(t, x)|| \le M$ on the same square.

11-1.5. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if the partial derivative $\partial_x f(t,x)$ exists and is continuous on Ω then f is locally Lipschitz.

11-1.6. Local Existence Theorem There are $\delta, \lambda > 0$ such that for every $|r - t_0| < \delta$ and $||a - x_0|| < \delta$, the initial value problem x' = f(t, x) and x(r) = a has a solution x(t) on the open interval $J = (t_0 - \delta, t_0 + \delta)$ with range $||x - x_0|| \leq \lambda$. Note that the solution interval J and the range are independent of the choice of the initial condition (r, a).

<u>Proof</u>. Let L, M, λ be given in §11-1.4 and $\delta = \min\left\{\frac{1}{1+2L}, \frac{\lambda}{1+2M}\right\}$. Let $C_{\infty}(\overline{J}, E)$ denote the Banach space of all continuous maps from the compact set $\overline{J} = [t_0 - \delta, t_0 + \delta]$ into E under the sup-norm. Let

 $\overline{\mathbb{B}} = \{ x \in C_{\infty}(\overline{J}, E) : ||x(t) - x_0|| \le \lambda, \forall \ t \in \overline{J} \}.$

Considering x_0 as a constant map, $\overline{\mathbb{B}}$ is a closed ball in $C_{\infty}(\overline{J}, E)$ and hence $\overline{\mathbb{B}}$ becomes a complete metric space. Now Suppose $|r - t_0| < \delta$ and $||a - x_0|| < \delta$ are given. For each map $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}$ define

$$(Kx)(t) = a + \int_{r}^{t} f[s, x(s)]ds, \forall t \in \overline{J}.$$

Take any $t \in \overline{J}$ and $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}$. Then $|t - t_0| \leq \delta < \lambda$ and $||x(t) - x_0|| \leq \lambda$. Since (t, x(t)) is in Ω , f(t, x(t)) and so (Kx)(t) are well-defined. Because (Kx)(t) is a continuous map in t, we have $Kx \in C(\overline{J}, E)$. Now for every $t \in \overline{J}$ we get

$$\left\| (Kx)(t) - x_0 \right\| \le \left\| a - x_0 \right\| + \left\| \int_r^t f[s, x(s)] ds \right\| \le \delta + \left| \int_r^t M ds \right| \le \delta + 2\delta M \le \lambda.$$

Hence $Kx \in \mathbb{B}$. Consequently we have defined a map K from \mathbb{B} into itself. Next, for all $x, y \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|(Kx)(t) - (Ky)(t)\| &= \left\| \int_{r}^{t} \{f[s, x(s)] - f[s, y(s)]\} ds \right\| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{r}^{t} \|f[s, x(s)] - f[s, y(s)]\| ds \right\| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{r}^{t} L \|x(s) - y(s)\| ds \right| \leq (2\delta L) \|x - y\|_{\infty} \end{aligned}$$

i.e.
$$||Kx - Ky||_{\infty} \le \frac{2L}{1+2L} ||x - y||_{\infty}$$

Now the contraction K on the complete metric space $\overline{\mathbb{B}}$ has a fixed point, say x satisfying Kx = x. More precisely, for all $t \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}$, we have x(t) = (Kx)(t), that is $x(t) = a + \int_r^t f[s, x(s)] ds$. In particular, the map x is a solution to our initial value problem on the open interval $(t_0 - \delta, t_0 + \delta)$.

Let $k(t), v(t) \ge 0$ be continuous functions on 11-1.7. Gronwall's Inequality an open interval J containing t_0 . If there is a constant $C \ge 0$ satisfying

$$v(t) \leq C + \left| \int_{t_0}^t k(s)v(s)ds \right|, \quad \forall \ t \in J$$

then we have an estimation for v(t) as follow:

$$v(t) \leq C \exp \left| \int_{t_0}^t k(s) ds \right|, \quad \forall \ t \in J.$$

Proof. Define

$$Q(t) = C + \int_{t_0}^t k(s)v(s)ds$$

for all $t \in J$. Then Q(t) is differentiable on J. It is given that $v(t) \leq Q(t)$ for all $t \ge t_0$ in J. Since $Q'(t) = k(t)v(t) \le k(t)Q(t)$, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left\{Q(t)\exp\left[-\int_{t_0}^t k(s)ds\right]\right\} = \left[Q'(t) - k(t)Q(t)\right]\exp\left[-\int_{t_0}^t k(s)ds\right] \le 0.$$

Integrating from t_0 to t we obtain

$$Q(t) \exp\left[-\int_{t_0}^t k(s)ds\right] - Q(t_0) \exp\left[-\int_{t_0}^{t_0} k(s)ds\right] \le 0,$$

i.e.
$$Q(t) \exp\left[-\int_{t_0}^t k(s)ds\right] - C \le 0,$$

or

$$v(t) \leq Q(t) \leq C \exp \int_{t_0}^t k(s) ds, \forall t \geq t_0.$$

For $t \leq t_0$, let $Q(t) = C - \int_{t_0}^t k(s)v(s)ds$ and the proof is completed by similar argument.

11-1.8. Local Uniqueness Theorem If x(t), y(t) are solutions to the initial value problem x' = f(t, x) and $x(t_0) = x_0$ then there is $\delta > 0$ such that x(t) = y(t)for all $|t - t_0| \leq \delta$.

Proof. Since x(t), y(t) are continuous in t, there is $0 < \delta \leq \lambda$ such that both x(t), y(t) are defined on $J = (t_0 - \delta, t_0 + \delta)$ and both $||x(t) - x_0|| \le \lambda$ and $||y(t) - x_0|| \le \lambda$ hold on J. Hence $||f[t, x(t)] - f[t, y(t)]|| \le L ||x(t) - y(t)||$ holds. Since x(t), y(t) are solutions to the initial value problem, we have

$$\|x(t) - y(t)\| = \left\| \left\{ x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t f[s, x(s)] ds \right\} - \left\{ x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t f[s, y(s)] ds \right\} \right\|$$

$$\leq \left| \int_{t_0}^t \|f[s, x(s)] - f[s, y(s)]\| ds \right| \leq \left| \int_{t_0}^t L \|x(s) - y(s)\| ds \right|.$$

If follows from Gronwall's Inequality that $||x(t) - y(t)|| \le 0 \exp L|t - t_0| = 0$, that is, x(t) = y(t) on J.

11-1.9. <u>Exercise</u> Show that $x'(t) = 3x^{2/3}$ subject to x(0) = 0 has infinitely many solutions on \mathbb{R} . In fact, for each $\alpha > 0$, a solution is given by

$$x(t) = egin{cases} 0, & ext{for } t < lpha; \ (t-lpha)^3, & ext{for } t \geq lpha. \end{cases}$$

11-1.10. Our Local Existence Theorem §11-1.6 ensures that two solutions x(t), y(t) are defined on the same open interval $(t_0 - \delta, t_0 + \delta)$ as long as their initial conditions are near (t_0, x_0) . This is important in order to be able to estimate ||x(t) - y(t)|| in §11-5. Consider dx/dt = 1/t on the real line. With initial condition x(1) = 0 we have $x(t) = \ell n t$ for t > 0 and with condition y(-1) = 0 we have $y(t) = \ell n (-t)$ for t < 0. Does it make sense to talk about ||x(t) - y(t)||?

11-2 Integral Curves

11-2.1. In this section, local uniqueness will be used to provide global uniqueness and continuation. Because all our results include *infinite dimensional Banach spaces*, compactness has to be imposed as condition for the solution curve to approach to the boundary of Ω .

11-2.2. **Global Uniqueness Theorem** Let E be a *real* Banach space and Ω an open subset of $\mathbb{R} \times E$. Let $f : \Omega \to E$ be a *continuous* map which is locally Lipschitz in the second variable and let $(t_0, x_0) \in \Omega$ be a given point. If x(t), y(t) are solutions on a common open interval J to the initial value problem x' = f(t, x) and $x(t_0) = x_0$ then we have x(t) = y(t) on J.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that there is $u > t_0$ in J with $x(u) \neq y(u)$. Define $K = \{s \in J : x(t) = y(t) \text{ on } [t_0, s]\}$. Since $t_0 \in K$ and $u \notin K$, we have $v = \sup K \leq u$. Choose a sequence $t_n \in K$ so that $t_0 \leq t_n \uparrow v$. Since $x(t_n) = y(t_n)$ for all n, the continuity ensures x(v) = y(v). By Local Uniqueness Theorem, there is $\delta > 0$ such that x(t) = y(t) on $(v - \delta, v + \delta) \subset J$. Thus x(t) = y(t) on $[t_0, v + \frac{1}{2}\delta]$ which implies $v + \frac{1}{2}\delta \in K$. This contradiction to $v = \sup K$ shows x(t) = y(t) for all $t \ge t_0$ in J. Similarly we can prove that x(t) = y(t) for all $t \le t_0$ in J.

11-2.3. For every solution x to the initial value problem x' = f(t, x) subject to $x(t_0) = x_0$, let J_x denote its solution interval. A solution z(t) is said to be *maximal* if $J_x \subset J_z$ for every solution x(t). The graph of a maximal solution is called the *integral curve* through (t_0, x_0) .

11-2.4. <u>Continuation Theorem</u> There is a unique integral curve through each point $(t_0, x_0) \in \Omega$.

<u>Proof</u>. By definition, it is obvious that maximal solutions have the same solution interval. The uniqueness follows immediately from the Global Uniqueness Theorem. To prove the existence, let \mathbb{F} be the family of all solutions to the initial value problem. Define $J = \bigcup \{J_x : x \in \mathbb{F}\}$. Since each J_x is an open connected set containing t_0 , so is J, i.e. an open interval containing t_0 . Now for each $t \in J$ there is $x \in \mathbb{F}$ so that $t \in J_x$. Define z(t) = x(t). Suppose $y \in \mathbb{F}$ satisfies $t \in J_y$. Then both x(t), y(t) are solutions to the initial value problem on the interval $J_x \cap J_y$. By Global Uniqueness Theorem, x(s) = y(s) for all $s \in J_x \cap J_y$ and in particular x(t) = y(t). Therefore z(t) is independent of the choice of x(t). Consequently, it is well-defined. Clearly z(t) is a solution of the initial value problem on the interval J.

11-2.5. From now on, by a solution to an initial value problem, we always mean the maximal solution and the solution interval is always the maximal one.

11-2.6. **Boundary Theorem** Suppose that the boundary $\partial \Omega$ of Ω is non-empty and that d(t) denotes the distance from x(t) to $\partial \Omega$ for each t in the solution interval J_x . If the graph $\{(t, x(t)) : t_0 \leq t \in J_x\}$ is contained in a compact subset C of $\mathbb{R} \times E$ then $d(t) \to 0$ as t tends to the right endpoint of J_x . Similar result holds for the left endpoint of J_x .

<u>Proof</u>. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $|t| \leq ||(t,x)||$ and $||x|| \leq ||(t,x)||$ for all $(t,x) \in \mathbb{R} \times E$. Since the C is bounded, there is M > 0 such that for all $t_0 \leq t \in J_x$ we have $||(t,x(t))|| \leq M$ which gives $|t| \leq M$. Hence $u = \sup J_x < \infty$. Now suppose to the contrary that $d(t_n) \geq \varepsilon$ and $t_n \uparrow u$

for some $\varepsilon > 0$ and $t_0 \leq t_n \in J_x$. Since C is compact, without loss of generality, we may assume that $(t_n, x(t_n))$ converges to (u, v) for some $v \in E$. Thus (u, v)is a closure point of Ω . We claim that (u, v) is a boundary point of Ω . In fact, suppose to the contrary that $(u, v) \in \Omega$. Since f is locally Lipschitz at (u, v), there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every $|r-u| < \delta$ and $||z-v|| < \delta$ there is a solution on the open interval $(u - \delta, u + \delta)$ to the initial value problem y' = f(t, y) and y(r) = z. Choose large n such that $|t_n - u| < \delta$ and $||x(t_n) - v|| < \delta$. Then the solution curve x(t) can be extended to the interval $[t_0, u + \delta)$ which contradicts the maximality of x(t). Therefore (u, v) is a boundary point of Ω . Finally the contradiction: $\varepsilon \leq d(t_n) \leq ||(t_n, x(t_n)) - (u, v)|| \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ establishes $d(t) \to 0$ as $t \uparrow u$.

11-2.7. **Example** The solution curve to $x' = \frac{-t}{x}$ subject to x(0) = 1 on the open set $\Omega = \{(t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x > 0\}$ approaches to the boundary of Ω . Without compactness, the solution curve to x' = x subject to x(0) = 1 on the open set $\Omega = \{(t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x > -1\}$ never comes close to the boundary of Ω .

11-3 Linear Equations

11-3.1. The nonlinear equation $x' = x^2$ is defined for all t and yet its solution subject to x(0) = 1 is not defined at t = 1. For a linear equation of the form x' = Ax+b, the solution is defined on the whole domain interval of A and b. The following theorem can be proved by contraction §9-4.2. We follow the direct approach because it offers more information on the approximate solutions.

11-3.2. **Theorem** Let A(t), b(t) be a continuous map of t in an open interval J into L(E), E respectively. Then for every $t_0 \in J$ and $x_0 \in E$, the initial value problem x'(t) = A(t)x(t) + b(t) subject to $x(t_0) = x_0$ has a unique solution on the whole interval J. Furthermore the exact solution x(t) can be approximated by $y_n(t)$ defined inductively by $y_0(t) = x_0$ and

$$y_{n+1}(t) = x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t \left\{ A(s)y_n(s) + b(s) \right\} ds$$

with an error bound

$$||x(t) - y_n(t)|| \le \frac{1}{(n+1)!} ML^n |t - t_0|^{n+1} e^{L|t - t_0|}$$

where $L = \sup ||A(s)||$ and $M = \sup ||A(s)x_0 + b(s)||$ for all s between t_0 and t. <u>Proof</u>. The uniqueness follows from the general theory. To prove the existence of solution on the whole interval J rather than a neighborhood of t_0 , we shall give a direct proof. Take any $\alpha < t_0 < \beta$ in J. Define

$$K = \sup\{\|A(s)\| : \alpha \le s \le \beta\}$$

and
$$N = \sup\{\|A(s)x_0 + b(s)\| : \alpha \le s \le \beta\}$$

We claim that the given approximate solution satisfies the following inequality:

$$||y_{n+1}(t) - y_n(t)|| \le \frac{1}{(n+1)!} NK^n |t - t_0|^{n+1}, \forall t \in [\alpha, \beta].$$

In fact, for n = 0 we have

$$\|y_{1}(t) - y_{0}(t)\| = \left\| \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \left\{ A(s)x_{0} + b(s) \right\} ds \right\| \le \left| \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \|A(s)x_{0} + b(s)\| ds \right| \le N|t - t_{0}|.$$
Next for $n > 0$.

$$\begin{aligned} \|y_{n+1}(t) - y_n(t)\| &\leq \left\| \int_{t_0}^t A(s) \big[y_n(s) - y_{n-1}(s) \big] ds \right\| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{t_0}^t \|A(s)\| \|y_n(s) - y_{n-1}(s)\| ds \right| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{t_0}^t K \frac{1}{n!} N K^{n-1} |t - t_0|^n ds \right| = \frac{1}{(n+1)!} N K^n |t - t_0|^{n+1} \end{aligned}$$

Thus for all p > 0, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|y_{n+p}(t) - y_{n}(t)\| \\ &\leq \|y_{n+1}(t) - y_{n}(t)\| + \|y_{n+2}(t) - y_{n+1}(t)\| + \dots + \|y_{n+p}(t) - y_{n+p-1}(t)\| \\ &\leq \frac{NK^{n}|t - t_{0}|^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} + \frac{NK^{n+1}|t - t_{0}|^{n+2}}{(n+2)!} + \frac{NK^{n+2}|t - t_{0}|^{n+3}}{(n+3)!} + \dots \\ &\leq \frac{NK^{n}|t - t_{0}|^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} \left[1 + \frac{K|t - t_{0}|}{n+2} + \frac{K^{2}|t - t_{0}|^{2}}{(n+3)(n+2)} + \dots \right] \\ &\leq \frac{NK^{n}|t - t_{0}|^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} e^{K|t - t_{0}|} \leq \frac{NK^{n}(\beta - \alpha)^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} e^{K(\beta - \alpha)} \end{split}$$

Hence the approximate solutions $\{y_n\}$ is uniformly Cauchy on $[\alpha, \beta]$ and therefore it converges uniformly to some map x(t) which is continuous on $[\alpha, \beta]$. Since α, β are arbitrary, x(t) is defined and continuous on J. Letting $n \to \infty$ in the defining equation of y_n , it follows from uniform continuity that $x(t) = x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t \{A(s)x(s) + b(s)\} ds$ which gives a solution to the given initial value problem on (α, β) . Since α, β are arbitrary, x(t) is also a solution on the whole interval J. Finally, letting $p \to \infty$ we have for each $t \in [\alpha, \beta]$,

$$||x(t) - y_n(t)|| \le \frac{NK^n |t - t_0|^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} e^{K|t - t_0|}.$$

If $t > t_0$, letting $\alpha \uparrow t_0$ and $\beta \downarrow t$ we obtain a better estimation in terms of M, L as stated in the theorem. Similar touch-up for $t < t_0$ completes the proof of existence.

11-3.3. Lemma Let $c(t), k(t), v(t) \ge 0$ be continuous functions in t on an open interval J containing t_0 . Suppose that c(t) is decreasing for $t \le t_0$ and increasing for $t \ge t_0$. If

$$v(t) \le c(t) + \left| \int_{t_0}^t k(s)v(s)ds \right|, \quad \forall \ t \in J$$

then v(t) satisfies the following estimation:

$$v(t) \leq c(t) \exp \left| \int_{t_0}^t k(s) ds \right|, \quad \forall \ t \in J.$$

 $\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof}. \text{ For any small number } \delta > 0, \text{ we have } v(t) \leq \delta + c(t) + \left| \int_{t_0}^t k(s)v(s)ds \right|, \\ \text{that is, } \frac{v(t)}{\delta + c(t)} \leq 1 + \left| \int_{t_0}^t k(s)\frac{v(s)}{\delta + c(t)}ds \right| \leq 1 + \left| \int_{t_0}^t k(s)\frac{v(s)}{\delta + c(s)}ds \right|. \\ \text{By Gronwall's Inequality, we have } \frac{v(t)}{\delta + c(t)} \leq \exp \left| \int_{t_0}^t k(s)ds \right|, \text{ or } \\ v(t) \leq [\delta + c(t)] \exp \left| \int_{t_0}^t k(s)ds \right|. \text{ Since } \delta > 0 \text{ is arbitrary, the result follows. } \Box \\ 11\text{-}3.4. \quad \underline{\text{Theorem}} \text{ The solution } x(t) \text{ of } x' = Ax + b \text{ subject to } x(t_0) = x_0 \text{ satisfies the following estimations on its solution interval } J: \\ (a) \|x(t) - x_0\| \leq \left| \int_{t_0}^t \|A(s)x_0 + b(s)\|ds \right| \exp \left| \int_{t_0}^t \|A(s)\|ds \right| \end{array}$

(b)
$$||x(t)|| \le \left\{ ||x_0|| + \left| \int_{t_0}^t ||b(s)|| ds \right| \right\} \exp \left| \int_{t_0}^t ||A(s)|| ds \right|$$

<u>Proof</u>. From $x(t) = x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t \left[A(s)x(s) + b(s)\right] ds$, we have

$$x(t) - x_0 = \int_{t_0}^t A(s) [x_0 + b(s)] ds + \int_{t_0}^t [A(s)x(s) - x_0] ds,$$

i.e.
$$||x(t) - x_0|| \le \left| \int_{t_0}^t ||A(s)x_0 + b(s)|| ds \right| + \left| \int_{t_0}^t ||A(s)|| ||x(s) - x_0|| ds \right|.$$

Part (a) follows from last lemma. Part (b) is obtained by working with $||x(t)|| \leq \left\{ ||x_0|| + \left| \int_{t_0}^t ||b(s)|| ds \right| \right\} + \left| \int_{t_0}^t ||A(s)|| ||x(s)|| ds \right|.$

11-3.5. In order to present rich matured results, we shall restrict ourselves to $E = \mathbb{R}^n$. The equation x' = Ax is called the *associated homogeneous equation* of x' = Ax + b. Clearly the set of all solutions to x' = Ax forms a vector subspace of all maps from J into \mathbb{R}^n . Elements of the solution space of x' = Ax are called *complementary solutions*. If x_p is any particular solution of x' = Ax + b, then a general solution can be expressed in the form $x = x_p + x_c$ for some complementary solution x_c .

11-3.6. Let y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n be solutions of x' = Ax. Then the matrix-valued map $Y(t) = [y_1(t), y_2(t), \dots, y_n(t)]$ for $t \in J$ satisfies the differential equation Y'(t) = A(t)Y(t). The determinant W(t) = detY(t) is called the Wronskian of y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n .

11-3.7. **Lemma** $W(t) = W(t_0)exp\left\{\int_{t_0}^t tr[A(s)]ds\right\}$ where the trace tr[A(s)] is the sum of the diagonal entries of the matrix A(s).

<u>*Proof.*</u> Write $A(t) = [a_{ij}(t)]$ and let r_i denote the *i*-th row of Y(t). Equating the entries of Y'(t) = A(t)Y(t), we have $r'_i = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij}r_j$. Observe that

$$W'(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \det \begin{bmatrix} r_{1} \\ \cdots \\ r'_{i} \\ \cdots \\ r_{n} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \det \begin{bmatrix} r_{1} \\ a_{i1}r_{1} + \cdots + a_{ii}r_{i} + \cdots + a_{in}r_{n} \\ \cdots \\ r_{n} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \det \begin{bmatrix} r_{1} \\ \cdots \\ a_{ii}r_{i} \\ \cdots \\ r_{n} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ii} \det \begin{bmatrix} r_{1} \\ \cdots \\ r_{i} \\ \cdots \\ r_{n} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ii}W(t) = W(t)tr[A(t)]$$
$$= \frac{d}{dt} \left\{ W(t)exp\left[-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} tr[A(s)]ds \right] \right\} = 0.$$

i.e.

Integrating from t_0 to t, we obtain $W(t)exp\left\{-\int_{t_0}^t tr[A(s)]ds\right\} - W(t_0) = 0$ which gives the required result.

11-3.8. <u>Corollary</u> If $Y(t_0)$ is invertible then Y(t) is invertible for each $t \in J$. <u>Proof</u>. It follows from $detY(t) = [detY(t_0)]exp\left\{\int_{t_0}^t tr[A(s)]ds\right\} \neq 0$. \Box

11-3.9. <u>Exercise</u> Let y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n be solutions of x' = Ax on the open interval J. Show that if the column vectors $y_1(t), y_2(t), \dots, y_n(t)$ are linearly

independent at some point of J then they are linearly independent at every point of J.

11-3.10. The matrix-valued map Y(t) is said to be *fundamental* if it is invertible, or equivalently its columns are linearly independent. It is called a *principal fundamental* matrix of x' = Ax at t_0 if $Y(t_0) = I$, the identity matrix. Principal fundamental matrix exists and is unique because it is the solution to the linear differential equation: X' = AX subject to $X(t_0) = I$ in the Banach space of $n \times n$ matrices. The matrix X(t) is also called the *transition matrix* of x' = Ax from t to t_0 .

11-3.11. <u>Exercise</u> Verify that if Y(t) is a fundamental matrix of the homogeneous equation x' = Ax then $X(t) = Y(t)[Y(t_0)]^{-1}$ is the principal fundamental matrix.

11-3.12. <u>Exercise</u> Show that a fundamental matrix Y(t) completely determines the coefficient matrix A(t). In fact, we have $A = Y'Y^{-1}$.

11-3.13. <u>Variation of Parameters</u> If X(t) is the principal fundamental matrix at t_0 then the unique solution of the initial value problem x' = Ax + b subject to $x(t_0) = x_0$ is given by

$$x(t) = X(t) \left\{ x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t X(s)^{-1} b(s) ds \right\}.$$

<u>Proof</u>. It can be verified by direct substitution. Historically, the columns $x_1(t), x_2(t), \dots, x_n(t)$ of X(t) were first found by solving the homogeneous equation $x'_j = Ax_j$ and $x_j(t_0) = e_j$ where $\{e_1, e_2, \dots, e_n\}$ is the standard basis of \mathbb{R}^n . Let $p_1(t), p_2(t), \dots, p_n(t)$ be unknown parameters so that $x = p_1x_1 + p_2x_2 + \dots + p_nx_n$ is the required solution of x' = Ax + b. Let p be the vector function with coordinates p_j . Then substitution of x = Xp into x' = Ax + b produces X'p + Xp' = AXp + b, i.e. AXp + Xp' = AXp + b, or $p' = X^{-1}b$ which is integrated to $p(t) - p(t_0) = \int_{t_0}^t X(s)^{-1}b(s)ds$. Since $X(t_0) = I$, we have $x_0 = X(t_0)p(t_0) = p(t_0)$, i.e. $p(t) = x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t X(s)^{-1}b(s)ds$ which gives the required formula.

11-3.14. **Corollary** The dimension of the solution space of x' = Ax is *n*. <u>Proof</u>. Let x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n be the columns of a principal fundamental matrix $\overline{X(t)}$ of x' = Ax at t_0 . Then they are linearly independent by evaluation at t_0 . They also span the solution space by last theorem. The proof is complete. \Box

11-4 Exponential Functions of Matrices

11-4.1. The solution to a first order scalar differential equation x' = ax with constant coefficient $a \in \mathbb{R}$ is an exponential function $x = ce^{at}$. Exponential functions of operators have been introduced in §8-8.15.

11-4.2. **Fulmer's Method** To find e^{At} where A is a square matrix independent of t, consider the characteristic polynomial $p(\lambda)$ of A. It is easy to verify that $p(\frac{d}{dt})e^{At} = p(A)e^{At} = 0$. Hence every entry z(t) of e^{At} satisfies the differential equation with constant coefficients: $p(\frac{d}{dt})z = 0$. Therefore e^{At} has the same form as the general solution of z(t) except the arbitrary constants are replaced by constant matrices which can be calculated by evaluation of derivatives of e^{At} at t = 0.

11-4.3. **Example** To find e^{At} where A is given by

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 & -2 \\ 2 & 2 & -1 & -2 \\ 3 & 1 & 0 & -2 \end{bmatrix},$$

consider its characteristic polynomial: $p(\lambda) = det(\lambda I - A) = (\lambda + 1)^2(\lambda - 1)^2$. The eigenvalues of A are -1, -1, 1, 1. The general solution of the scalar differential equation: $\left(\frac{d}{dt} + 1\right)^2 \left(\frac{d}{dt} - 1\right)^2 z = 0$ is of the form $z = (\alpha t + \beta)e^{-t} + (\gamma t + \delta)e^t$ where $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta$ are arbitrary constants. Hence an expression for e^{At} is

$$e^{At} = (Et + F)e^{-t} + (Gt + H)e^t$$

where E, F, G, H are constant matrices. Taking derivatives, we have

$$\begin{aligned} Ae^{At} &= (-Et + E - F)e^{-t} + (Gt + G + H)e^{t}, \\ A^{2}e^{At} &= (Et - 2E + F)e^{-t} + (Gt + 2G + H)e^{t}, \\ A^{3}e^{At} &= (-Et + 3E - F)e^{-t} + (Gt + 3G + H)e^{t}. \end{aligned}$$

Letting t = 0, they become

$$I = F + H,$$

$$A = E - F + G + H,$$

$$A^{2} = -2E + F + 2G + H,$$

$$A^{3} = 3E - F + 3G + H.$$

Rewrite into matrix notation as follow:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & 1 \\ -2 & 1 & 2 & 1 \\ 3 & -1 & 3 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E \\ F \\ G \\ H \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ A \\ A^2 \\ A^3 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Hence the matrices E, F, G, H can be found by

$$\begin{bmatrix} E \\ F \\ G \\ H \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & 1 \\ -2 & 1 & 2 & 1 \\ 3 & -1 & 3 & 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} I \\ A \\ A^2 \\ A^3 \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 \\ 2 & -3 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 3 & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I \\ A \\ A^2 \\ A^3 \end{bmatrix}.$$
Therefore we obtain
$$e^{At} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} e^{-t} + \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} t + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\} e^{t}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} (t+1)e^t & te^t & 0 & -te^t \\ -e^{-t} + e^t & e^t & 0 & e^{-t} - e^t \\ -e^{-t} + e^t & -e^{-t} + e^t & e^{-t} & e^{-t} - e^{-t} \end{bmatrix}.$$

11-4.4. Theorem Consider the homogeneous differential equation:

$$x'(t) = A(t)x(t)$$

for t in an open interval J containing t_0 . If A(t) commutes with $\int_{t_0}^t A(s)ds$ for every $t \in J$ then the principal fundamental matrix at t_0 is given by

$$X(t) = exp \int_{t_0}^t A(s)ds, t \in J.$$

Proof. Clearly $X(t_0) = I$. Direct calculation completes the proof as follow:

$$X'(t) = \left\{ exp \int_{t_0}^t A(s) ds \right\} A(t) = A(t)X(t).$$

11-4.5. <u>Corollary</u> Let A be a constant matrix. Then the principal fundamental matrix for the homogeneous equation: x'(t) = Ax(t) is given by $e^{A(t-t_0)}$. The unique solution of the initial value problem x' = Ax + b subject to $x(t_0) = x_0$ is given by

$$x(t) = e^{At} \left\{ e^{-At_0} x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t e^{-As} b(s) ds \right\}.$$

11-4.6. <u>Corollary</u> For every square matrix A, we have $det e^A = e^{trA}$. *Proof.* We may assume that A is constant. By §11-3.7, we have

$$det \ e^{A(t-t_0)} = det \ e^{A(t_0-t_0)} exp\left\{\int_{t_0}^t tr A ds\right\} = e^{(trA)(t-t_0)}.$$

The result follows by letting t = 1 and $t_0 = 0$.

11-5 Global Dependence on Initial Conditions

11-5.1. Let *E* be a *real* Banach space and Ω an open subset of $\mathbb{R} \times E$. Let $f : \Omega \to E$ be a *continuous* map which is locally Lipschitz in the second variable. Consider the initial value problem x' = f(t, x) subject to x(u) = a where $(u, a) \in \Omega$. In this section, we shall show that the solution depends smoothly on the initial condition (u, a) and parameters.

11-5.2. To investigate global properties of integral curves, we shall work with tubes rather than just small neighborhoods of the initial point. Let $y: (\alpha, \beta) \to E$ be a continuous map. Then the set

$$\{(t,z) \in \mathbb{R} \times E : \alpha \le t \le \beta, \|z - y(t)\| < \rho\}$$

is called the *tube* of *radius* ρ along the curve y(t) between α, β . The function g in the following lemma is the maximum of norms of the derivatives, partial derivatives of f when we deal with the smooth case later in this section. For the time being, it is considered as a constant function and hence it should be ignored.

11-5.3. <u>Global Bound Lemma</u> Let $g: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function. For each continuous curve $y: [\alpha, \beta] \to \Omega$, there exist a tube $U \subset \Omega$ along y(t) and constants L, M > 0 such that for all $(t, a), (t, b) \in U$, we have $||f(t, a)|| \le M$, $g(t, a) \le M$ and $||f(t, a) - f(t, b)|| \le L ||a - b||$. In this case, L is called a *Lipschitz constant* of f on U and M an *upper bound* of f, g on U.

<u>Proof</u>. Since f is locally Lipschitz and locally bounded, for each $s \in [\alpha, \beta]$ there exist $\delta_1(s) > 0$ and L(s), M(s) > 0 such that

$$R(s) = \{(t, a) : |t - s| < \delta_1(s), ||a - y(s)|| < \delta_1(s)\} \subset \Omega$$

and for all $(t, a), (t, b) \in R(s)$, we have $||f(t, a) - f(t, b)|| \leq L(s)||a - b||$ and $||f(t, a)|| \leq M(s)$. By continuity of g, we may assume that $g(t, a) \leq M(s)$ when $\delta_1(s)$ is replaced by a smaller one if necessary. Since y(t) is continuous at s, there is $0 < \delta_2(s) < \frac{1}{2}\delta_1(s)$ such that for all $|t - s| < \delta_2(s)$ we obtain $||y(t) - y(s)|| < \frac{1}{2}\delta_1(s)$. By compactness, write

$$[\alpha,\beta] \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n \left(s_j - \delta_2(s_j), s_j + \delta_2(s_j)\right).$$

Define $\rho = \min\{\delta_2(s_j) : 1 \le j \le n\}$, $L = \max\{L(s_j) : 1 \le j \le n\}$ and $M = \max\{M(s_j) : 1 \le j \le n\}$. Let U be the tube of radius ρ along y(t) between α, β . Finally take any $(t, a), (t, b) \in U$. Then $|t - s_j| < \delta_2(s_j)$ for some j. Thus $||y(t) - y(s_j)|| < \frac{1}{2}\delta_1(s_j)$. Since $(t, a) \in U$, we get

$$\|a - y(t)\| <
ho < \delta_2(s_j) < rac{1}{2}\delta_1(s_j).$$

Combined together, we get $||a - y(s_j)|| < \delta_1(s_j)$. Since $|t - s_j| < \delta_1(s_j)$, we have $(t, a) \in R(s_j)$. Similarly, $(t, b) \in R(s_j)$. Therefore we obtain

$$\|f(t,a) - f(t,b)\| \le L(s_j) \|a - b\| \le L \|a - b\|, \|f(t,a)\| \le M(s_j) \le M(s)$$

and $g(t,a) \le M(s_j) \le M(s).$

11-5.4. <u>Global Continuity of Initial Condition</u> Given a differential equation x' = f(t, x) on Ω , let x(t) be an integral curve passing through $(u, a) \in \Omega$ and let $\alpha < \beta$ be two points in the solution interval. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $|v - u| < \delta$ and $||b - a|| < \delta$, the solution interval of the integral curve y(t) passing through (v, b) contains (α, β) on which $||x(t) - y(t)|| \le \varepsilon$. More precisely, if L is a Lipschitz constant and M an upper bound of f(t, x) on a tube of radius ρ along x(t) between α, β then we can choose δ small enough so that for every $t \in (\alpha, \beta)$ we have

$$||x(t) - y(t)|| \le (||a - b|| + M|v - u|) \exp(L|t - u|) < \min\{\varepsilon, \rho\}.$$

<u>Proof</u>. Without loss of generality we may assume $\alpha < \alpha_1 < u < \beta_1 < \beta$ where α_1, β_1 are arbitrary constants close to α, β respectively. By continuity of x(t), for each $t \in [\alpha_1, \beta_1]$ there is $\nu(t) > 0$ so that for each $|s - t| \le 3\nu(t)$ we have $\alpha < s < \beta$ and $||x(s) - x(t)|| \le \frac{1}{3}\rho$. By compactness, write

$$[\alpha_1, \beta_1] \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n \left(t_j - \nu(t_j), t_j + \nu(t_j)\right).$$

Pick $\lambda > 0$ so that $\lambda < \frac{1}{3}\rho$ and also $\lambda \leq \nu(t_j), \forall 1 \leq j \leq n$. For each fixed $t \in [\alpha_1, \beta_1]$, consider the point (s, y) in the square $|s-t| \leq \lambda$ and $||y-x(t)|| \leq \lambda$. Select j with $|t-t_j| < \nu(t_j)$. Then $|s-t_j| \leq |s-t| + |t-t_j| \leq 2\nu(t_j) < 3\nu(t_j)$. Since $||y-x(s)|| \leq ||y-x(t)|| + ||x(t)-x(t_j)|| + ||x(t_j)-x(s)|| \leq \lambda + \frac{1}{3}\rho + \frac{1}{3}\rho < \rho$, we obtain $(s, y) \in U$. It follows from the Local Existence Theorem, the solution interval of the integral curve through (s, y) contains the interval $(t - \ell, t + \ell)$ where

$$\ell = \min\left\{\frac{1}{1+2L}, \frac{\lambda}{1+2M}\right\}$$

is independent of t. Now choose

$$0 < \delta < \frac{\min\{\varepsilon, \lambda, \rho\}}{(1+M)\exp[L(\beta-\alpha)]}.$$

Fix any initial condition $|v - u| < \delta$ and $||b - a|| < \delta$. The solution interval J_y of the solution curve y(t) through (v, b) contains the open interval $(u - \ell, u + \ell)$.

Since $||f[t, y(t)]|| \le M$ and $||f[t, x(t)] - f[t, y(t)]|| \le L ||x(t) - y(t)||$ for all $|t - u| < \ell$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|x(t) - y(t)\| &= \left\| \left\{ a + \int_{u}^{t} f[s, x(s)] \, ds \right\} - \left\{ b + \int_{v}^{t} f[s, y(s)] \, ds \right\} \right\| \\ &\leq \|a - b\| + \left\| \int_{v}^{u} f[s, y(s)] \, ds \right\| + \left\| \int_{u}^{t} \{f[s, x(s)] - f[s, y(s)]\} \, ds \right\| \\ &\leq \|a - b\| + M |u - v| + \left| \int_{u}^{t} L \|x(s) - y(s)\| \, ds \right|. \end{aligned}$$

By Gronwall's Inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|x(t) - y(t)\| &\leq (\|a - b\| + M|u - v|) \exp(L|t - u|) \\ &\leq \delta(1 + M) \exp[L(\beta - \alpha)] < \min\{\varepsilon, \lambda, \rho\}. \end{aligned}$$

Finally let S be the set of real numbers z satisfying $u < z \leq \beta_1$, $[u, z] \subset J_y$ and also satisfying the inequality #1 on [u, z]. Clearly $u + \frac{1}{2}\ell \in S$. Let $\mu = \sup S$. Suppose to the contrary that $\mu < \beta_1$. Let $s = \mu - \frac{1}{4}\ell$. Then by #1, $||x(s) - y(s)|| < \lambda$. Now the solution interval J_y of the solution curve through (s, y(s)) contains the open interval $(s - \ell, s + \ell)$, i.e. $\mu + \frac{1}{2}\ell \in S$ which is a contradiction. Therefore $\mu \geq \beta_1$, i.e. for all $t \in [u, \beta_1)$, inequality #1 holds. Similarly it also holds for $t \in (\alpha_1, u]$. Since α_1, β_1 are arbitrary, the proof is complete. \Box

11-5.5. For each $(u, a) \in \Omega$, let $x_{(u,a)}(t)$ be the solution of the initial value problem x' = f(t, x) subject to x(u) = a and let J(u, a) denote its maximal solution interval. Then $\Omega_f = \bigcup \{J(u, a) \times (u, a) : (u, a) \in \Omega\}$ is a subset of $\mathbb{R} \times \Omega$. Define a map $\varphi : \Omega_f \to E$ by $\varphi(t, u, a) = x_{(u,a)}(t)$ for every $(t, u, a) \in \Omega_f$. The rest of this paragraph can be skipped if you only want to read the statements of theorems. However, it will provide common notations for several proofs in this section. Let $(r, u, a) \in \Omega_f$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Then r belongs to the solution interval J(u, a) of $x_{(u,a)}(t)$. Select $\alpha, \beta \in J(u, a)$ such that $\alpha < \min\{r, u\}$ and $\max\{r, u\} < \beta$. Choose $\delta > 0$ according to §11-5.4. We may assume $\delta < \min\{r - \alpha, \beta - r\}$.

11-5.6. <u>Corollary</u> The set Ω_f is open in $\mathbb{R} \times \Omega$ and the map $\varphi : \Omega_f \to E$ is continuous.

<u>Proof</u>. The notation of §11-5.5 is used. By continuity of $x_{(u,a)}(t)$ at $\overline{t} = r$, we may demand $||x_{(u,a)}(r) - x_{(u,a)}(s)|| < \varepsilon$ for every $s \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfying $|r-s| < \delta$. Take any $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $(v,b) \in \Omega$ such that $|r-s| < \delta$, $|u-v| < \delta$ and $||a-b|| < \delta$. Since the solution interval J(v,b) contains the interval $[\alpha,\beta]$,
we have $s \in J(v, b)$, i.e. $(s, v, b) \in \Omega_f$. Therefore Ω_f is open. Furthermore, the continuity of φ is established by the following estimation

$$\|\varphi(r, u, a) - \varphi(s, v, b)\| \le \|x_{(u,a)}(r) - x_{(u,a)}(s)\| + \|x_{(u,a)}(s) - x_{(v,b)}(s)\| \le 2\varepsilon. \quad \Box$$

11-5.7. Let $f : \Omega \to E$ be a continuously differentiable map. We shall prove that φ is also continuously differentiable on Ω_f by considering its partial derivatives separately. Letting $g(t,x) = \|Df(t,x)\| + \|\partial_t f(t,x)\| + \|\partial_x f(t,x)\|$ in §11-5.3, we assume that $g(t,x) \leq M$ on a tube of radius ρ along $x_{(u,a)}(t)$ between α, β .

11-5.8. Lemma The solution $x_{(u,a)}(t)$ is differentiable with respect to the initial location a. Furthermore, its derivative satisfies the linear differential equation

$$\partial_t \partial_a x_{(u,a)}(t) = \partial_x f[t, x_{(u,a)}(t)] \partial_a x_{(u,a)}(t)$$

subject to

$$\partial_a x_{(u,a)}(u) = I.$$

<u>*Proof*</u>. The notations of §11-5.5,7 will be used and write $x_a(t)$ instead of $\overline{x_{(u,a)}(t)}$. Then $x_a(t)$ is governed by

$$x_a(t) = a + \int_u^t f[s, x_a(s)] ds.$$

Take any $||h|| < \delta$ in E. The integral curve $x_{a+h}(t)$ through (r, a+h) is governed by the integral equation

$$x_{a+h}(t) = a+h + \int_u^t f[s, x_{a+h}(s)]ds$$

and its solution interval contains (α, β) . Since $\partial_x f[t, x_a(t)] \in L(E)$, the composite $\partial_x f[t, x_a(t)]z$ is in L(E) for each $z \in L(E)$. Because the map $\partial_x f: \Omega \to L(E)$ is continuous, $A(t)z = \partial_x f[t, x_a(t)]z$ defines a continuous map $A: (\alpha, \beta) \to L[L(E), L(E)]$. The linear equation z' = A(t)z subject to z(u) = I has a unique solution on the whole interval (α, β) . In fact, it is governed by the integral equation:

$$z(t) = I + \int_{u}^{t} \partial_{x} f[s, x_{a}(s)] z(s) ds.$$

Define $\triangle(h) = x_{a+h}(t) - x_a(t) - z(t)h$ for every $t \in (\alpha, \beta)$. Clearly, we have

$$\triangle(h) = \int_u^t \left\{ f[s, x_{a+h}(s)] - f[s, x_a(s)] - \partial_x f[s, x_a(s)] z(s)h \right\} ds.$$

It follows from integral mean-value theorem that

$$f[s, x_{a+h}(s)] - f[s, x_a(s)]$$

=
$$\int_0^1 \partial_x f[s, (1-\theta)x_a(s) + \theta x_{a+h}(s)][x_{a+h}(s) - x_a(s)]d\theta.$$

ing $\pi(s, \theta, h) = \partial_x f[s, (1-\theta)x_a(s) + \theta x_{a+h}(s)]$ we have

Letting $\pi(s, \theta, h) = \partial_x f[s, (1 - \theta)x_a(s) + \theta x_{a+h}(s)]$, we have $\Delta(h) = \int_u^t \int_0^1 \left\{ \pi(s, \theta, h) - \pi(s, \theta, 0) \right\} [x_{a+h}(s) - x_a(s)] d\theta ds$

$$+\int_u^t \partial_x f[s, x_a(s)] \bigtriangleup (s) ds.$$

Since $\pi : [\alpha, \beta] \times [0, 1] \times \mathbb{B}(0, \delta) \to L(E)$ is continuous and $[\alpha, \beta] \times [0, 1]$ is compact, it follows from §2-7.6 that there is $0 < \delta_1 < \delta$ such that for all $(s, \theta) \in [\alpha, \beta] \times [0, 1]$ and for all $||h|| < \delta_1$ in E, we have

$$\|\pi(s,\theta,h)-\pi(s,\theta,0)\|<\varepsilon$$

By §11-5.4, we get $||x_{a+h}(s) - x_a(s)|| \le ||h|| e^{L(\beta - \alpha)}$. Since $||\partial_x f[s, x_a(s)]|| \le M$, we obtain

$$\| \bigtriangleup(h) \| \le (\beta - \alpha) \varepsilon \| h \| e^{L(\beta - \alpha)} + \left| \int_u^t M \| \bigtriangleup(s) \| ds \right|.$$

By Gronwall's inequality, we have

$$\|x_{a+h}(t) - x_a(t) - z(t)h\| = \|\Delta(h)\| \le (\beta - \alpha)e^{(L+M)(\beta - \alpha)\varepsilon}\|h\|, \forall \|h\| < \delta_1.$$

Therefore $x_a(t)$ is differentiable in a. Furthermore we have $\partial_a x_a(t) = z(t)$. This completes the proof.

11-5.9. <u>Lemma</u> The solution $x_{(u,a)}(t)$ is differentiable with respect to the initial time u. Furthermore, its derivative satisfies the linear differential equation

$$\partial_t \partial_u x_{(u,a)}(t) = \partial_x f[t, x_{(u,a)}(t)] \partial_u x_{(u,a)}(t)$$

 $\partial_u x_{(u,a)}(u) = -f(u,a).$

subject to

<u>*Proof.*</u> The notations of §11-5.5,7 will be used and write $x_u(t)$ instead of $\overline{x_{(u,a)}(t)}$. Then $x_u(t)$ is governed by

$$x_u(t) = a + \int_u^t f[s, x_u(s)] ds.$$

Take any $|\lambda| < \delta$ in \mathbb{R} . The integral curve $x_{u+\lambda}(t)$ through $(u+\lambda, a)$ is governed by

$$x_{u+\lambda}(t) = a + \int_{u+\lambda}^{t} f[s, x_{u+\lambda}(s)] ds$$

and its solution interval contains (α, β) . Since $\partial_x f[t, x_u(t)] \in L(E)$ is a continuous map of $t \in (\alpha, \beta)$, the linear equation z' = A(t)z subject to z(u) = -f(u, a) has a unique solution on the whole interval (α, β) . In fact, it is governed by

$$z(t) = -f(u,a) + \int_{u}^{t} \partial_{x} f[s, x_{u}(s)] z(s) ds.$$

For fixed $t \in (\alpha, \beta)$, define $\Delta(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\lambda} [x_{u+\lambda}(t) - x_u(t)] - z(t)$. The proof is complete if we can prove $\lim \Delta(\lambda) = 0$ as $\lambda \to 0$ in \mathbb{R} . So let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. From the above integral equations,

$$\Delta(\lambda) = \int_{u}^{t} \frac{f[s, x_{u+\lambda}(s)] - f[s, x_{u}(s)]}{\lambda} ds - \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{u}^{u+\lambda} f[s, x_{u+\lambda}(s)] ds + f(u, a) - \int_{u}^{t} \partial_{x} f[s, x_{u}(s)] z(s) ds.$$

By integral mean-value theorem, we have

$$\frac{f[s, x_{u+\lambda}(s)] - f[s, x_u(s)]}{\lambda}$$
$$= \int_0^1 \partial_x f[s, (1-\theta)x_u(s) + \theta x_{u+\lambda}(s)] \frac{x_{u+\lambda}(s) - x_u(s)}{\lambda} d\theta.$$

Letting $\pi(s, \theta, \lambda) = \partial_x f[s, (1 - \theta)x_u(s) + \theta x_{u+\lambda}(s)]$, rewrite

$$\Delta(\lambda) = \int_{u}^{t} \int_{0}^{1} \left[\pi(s,\theta,\lambda) - \pi(s,\theta,0) \right] \frac{x_{u+\lambda}(s) - x_{u}(s)}{\lambda} d\theta ds$$
$$+ \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{u}^{u+\lambda} \left\{ f(u,a) - f[s,x_{u+\lambda}(s)] \right\} ds + \int_{u}^{t} \partial_{x} f[s,x_{u}(s)] \Delta(s) ds.$$

Since $\pi : [\alpha, \beta] \times [0, 1] \times (-\delta, \delta) \to L(E)$ is continuous and $[\alpha, \beta] \times [0, 1]$ is compact, it follows from §2-7.6 that there is $0 < \delta_1 < \delta$ such that for all $(s, \theta) \in [\alpha, \beta] \times [0, 1]$ and for all $|\lambda| < \delta_1$ in E, we have

$$\|\pi(s,\theta,\lambda)-\pi(s,\theta,0)\|<\varepsilon.$$

By §11-5.4, we get

$$||x_{u+\lambda}(s) - x_u(s)|| \le M |\lambda| e^{L(\beta-\alpha)}.$$

This takes care of the first term. Next, by continuity of f at (u, a), there is $\delta_2 > \text{such that } \|f(u, a) - f(v, b)\| < \varepsilon$ whenever $|u - v| < \delta_2$ and $\|a - b\| < \delta_2$. Also from the continuity of $\varphi : \Omega_f \to E$ at (u, u, a), there is $\delta_3 > 0$ such that for all $|u - s| < \delta_3$ and $|u - v| < \delta_3$ we have $\|\varphi(u, u, a) - \varphi(s, v, a)\| < \delta_2$, i.e. $\|a - x_v(s)\| < \delta_2$. We may assume $\delta_3 < \delta_1$. Hence for every $|\lambda| < \delta_3$ we obtain

$$\left|\frac{1}{\lambda}\int_{u}^{u+\lambda}\left\{f(u,a)-f[s,x_{u+\lambda}(s)]\right\}ds\right|<\varepsilon.$$

Finally since $\|\partial_x f[s, x_u(s)]\| \leq M$ for all $\alpha < s < \beta$, we have

$$\| \bigtriangleup(\lambda) \| \le \left[(\beta - \alpha) M e^{L(\beta - \alpha)} + 1 \right] \varepsilon + \left| \int_u^t M \| \bigtriangleup(\lambda) \| ds \right|.$$

It follows from Gronwall's inequality that

$$\| \bigtriangleup (\lambda) \| \le \left[(eta - lpha) M e^{L(eta - lpha)} + 1
ight] e^{M(eta - lpha)} arepsilon,$$

i.e. $\lim \triangle(\lambda) = 0$ as $\lambda \to 0$.

11-5.10. Global Smoothness Theorem If $f: \Omega \to E$ is a C^n -map for some $n \geq 1$, then $\varphi: \Omega_f \to E$ is also a C^n -map.

By induction, assume that the partial derivatives $\partial_t \varphi(t, u, a)$, Proof. $\partial_u \varphi(t, u, a)$ and $\partial_a \varphi(t, u, a)$ are C^{n-1} -maps. Now the partial derivative $\varphi_t(t, u, a) = f[t, \varphi(t, u, a)]$ is a C^{n-1} -map. Next, since the integrands of the following equations

$$\partial_u \varphi(t, u, a) = -f(u, a) + \int_u^t \partial_x f[s, \partial_u \varphi(s, u, a)] ds$$

and

 $\partial_a \varphi(t, u, a) = I + \int_{U} \partial_x f[s, \varphi(s, u, a)] \partial_a \varphi(s, u, a) ds$ are C^{n-1} -maps, so are the partial derivatives $\partial_u \varphi(t, u, a), \partial_a \varphi(t, u, a)$ by §9-3.9.

Therefore φ is a C^n -map.

<u>Corollary</u> If $f: \Omega \to E$ is smooth then so is $\varphi: \Omega_f \to E$. 11-5.11.

11-5.12. Finally, we shall study equations with parameters. Let E, F be real Banach spaces and let Ω, \mathbb{P} be open subsets of $\mathbb{R} \times E, F$ respectively. Let $f: \Omega \times \mathbb{P} \to E$ be a C^n -map where $n \geq 1$. For any $(u, a, p) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{P}$, let $x_{(u,a,p)}(t)$ be the integral curve of the initial-value problem x' = f(t, x, p) subject to x(u) = a and let J(u, a, p) be the solution interval of $x_{(u,a,p)}(t)$. On the set $\Omega_f = \bigcup \{ J(u, a, p) \times (u, a, p) : (u, a, p) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{P} \}, \text{ define } \varphi(t, u, a, p) = x_{(u, a, p)}(t).$

11-5.13. Lemma Let $\alpha < \beta$ be two given points in J(u, a, p), then there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $|v - u| < \delta$ in \mathbb{R} , $||b - a|| < \delta$ in E and $||q - p|| < \delta$ in F, the solution interval J(v, b, q) contains both α, β .

Proof. Consider the initial-value problem on $\Omega \times \mathbb{P} \subset \mathbb{R} \times (E \times F)$ given by z' = (f(t, z), 0) subject to z(u) = (a, p) where $z = (x, y) \in E \times F$. Clearly $z(t) = (x_{(u,a,p)}(t), p)$ is a solution by direction substitution and hence the only solution by uniqueness. Observe that $x_{(u,a,p)}(t), z(t)$ have the same solution interval. Now the result follows from $\S11-5.4$.

11-5.14. <u>**Theorem**</u> The set Ω_f is open in $\mathbb{R} \times E \times F$ and the map $\varphi : \Omega \to E$ is a C^n -map. Furthermore, if f is smooth, so is φ .

Proof. It follows immediately by applying §11-5.6 to z(t) of last lemma. \Box

11-6 Solutions without Uniqueness

11-6.1. Let E be a Banach space and Ω an open subset of $\mathbb{R} \times E$. Let $f: \Omega \to E$ be a continuous map and let $(t_0, x_0) \in \Omega$ be given. Consider the initial value problem x' = f(t, x) subject to $x(t_0) = x_0$. In general, the problem has no solution in infinite dimensional Banach space as shown in [Godunov]. The main result of this section is a generalization of Peano's Theorem which demands additional condition that f is locally compact. We start with certain preparation in a general framework.

11-6.2. Let M be a non-empty subset of a normed space E. Then the intersection of all balanced set containing M is called the *balanced hull* of M. It is denoted by ba(M).

11-6.3. <u>Theorem</u> The balanced hull of a compact set is compact.

<u>Proof</u>. Let M be a non-empty compact set in E and \mathbb{B} the closed unit ball of \mathbb{K} . Since the scalar multiplication $f : \mathbb{K} \times M \to E$ given by $f(\lambda, x) = \lambda x$ is continuous, the image $f(\mathbb{B} \times M)$ of a compact set is compact. It is easy to show that $f(\mathbb{B} \times M)$ is the balanced hull of M.

11-6.4. <u>Theorem</u> The convex hull of a precompact set M is precompact.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Write $\mathbb{B} = \mathbb{B}(0, \varepsilon)$ for simplicity. There is a finite subset A of M such that $M \subset \bigcup_{a \in A} \mathbb{B}(a, \varepsilon) = A + \mathbb{B}$. Since the convex hull co(A) is compact, there is a finite set V such that $co(A) \subset \bigcup_{v \in V} \mathbb{B}(v, \varepsilon) = V + \mathbb{B}$. Because $co(A) + \mathbb{B}$ is a convex set containing M, we have

$$co(M) \subset co(A) + \mathbb{B} \subset V + 2\mathbb{B} = \bigcup_{v \in V} \mathbb{B}(v, 2\varepsilon).$$

Consequently, co(M) is precompact.

11-6.5. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the convex hull and the closure of a balanced set is balanced. What is the natural definition of the closed convex balanced hull of a non-empty subset of a normed space?

11-6.6. <u>Theorem</u> The closed convex balanced hull of a relatively compact set M in a Banach space E is compact.

<u>Proof</u>. The balanced hull $ba(\overline{M})$ of the compact set \overline{M} is compact and hence its subset ba(M) is precompact. The convex hull co[ba(M)] is precompact. Therefore the closed convex balanced hull $\overline{co}[ba(M)]$ is closed precompact in the Banach space E. Consequently, it is compact.

11-6.7. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if M is a balanced set, then for all $|\alpha| \leq |\beta|$ in \mathbb{K} , we have $\alpha M \subset \beta M$.

11-6.8. Let E be a Banach space and Ω an open subset of $\mathbb{R} \times E$. Suppose that $f : \Omega \to E$ is a continuous map which is locally compact, i.e. every point of Ω has a ball B contained in Ω such that f(B) is relatively compact in E. Note that when E is finite dimensional, every continuous map on Ω is automatically locally compact.

11-6.9. <u>Generalized Peano's Theorem</u> The initial value problem x' = f(t, x) for a locally compact field f subject to the initial condition $x(t_0) = x_0$ has at least one local solution for each $(t_0, x_0) \in \Omega$.

<u>Proof</u>. Without loss of generality, we may assume $t_0 = 0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $x_0 = 0 \in E$. There is q > 0 such that the set

$$Q = \{(t, x) \in \mathbb{R} \times E : |t| \le q \text{ and } ||x|| \le q\}$$

is contained in Ω and f(Q) is relatively compact in E. Then the closed convex balanced hull K of f(Q) is compact. There is $\lambda > ||z||$ for all $z \in K$. Let $0 < r < \frac{q}{\lambda}$ and J = [-r, r]. Let $C_{\infty}(J, E)$ be the Banach space of all continuous maps from the compact interval J into E. Then the closed ball $X = \overline{\mathbb{B}}(0, q)$ in $C_{\infty}(J, E)$ is a closed convex set. For every $x \in X$, the integral

$$(Ax)(t) = \int_0^t f[s, x(s)]ds$$

of continuous map is defined for each $t \in J$. Because

$$\|(Ax)(t_2) - (Ax)(t_1)\| \le \left\|\int_{t_1}^{t_2} f[s, x(s)]ds\right\| \le |t_2 - t_1|\lambda$$

the set $\{Ax : x \in X\}$ is equicontinuous on J. Since $(Ax)(t) \in tK \subset rK$, we obtain $||(Ax)(t)|| \leq r\lambda < q$, i.e. $Ax \in X$. Since $(AX)(t) \subset rK$ which is relatively compact, it follows from Ascoli's Theorem that AX is a relatively compact subset of X. Because X is closed, AX is contained in a compact subset of X. To show that $A : X \to X$ is continuous, take any $x \in X$ and any $\varepsilon > 0$. For every $s \in J$, by continuity of f at [s, x(s)] there is $\alpha(s) > 0$ such that for all $|t - s| \leq \alpha(s)$ and $||u - f[x(s)]|| \leq 2\alpha(s)$ we have
$$\begin{split} \|f(t,u)-f[s,x(s)]\| &\leq \varepsilon. \text{ Since } x(t) \text{ is continuous at } s, \text{ there is } 0 < \delta(s) < \alpha(s) \\ \text{ such that for all } |t-s| &\leq \delta(s), \text{ we get } \|x(t)-x(s)\| \leq \alpha(s). \text{ By compactness} \\ \text{ of } J, \text{ write } J \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} \left(s_{j} - \delta(s_{j}), s_{j} + \delta(s_{j})\right). \text{ Let } \delta = \min\{\delta(s_{j}) : 1 \leq j \leq n\}. \\ \text{ Now take any } y \in \mathbb{B}(x,\delta). \text{ Then } \|x(t) - y(t)\| < \delta \text{ for all } t \in J. \text{ Choose} \\ \text{ any } t \in J. \text{ Then } |t-s_{j}| < \delta(s_{j}) \text{ for some } j. \text{ Now } \|x(t)-x(s_{j})\| \leq \alpha(s_{j}) \\ \text{ and } |t-x_{j}| \leq \delta(s_{j}) \leq \alpha(s_{j}) \text{ give } \|f[t,x(t)] - f[s_{j},x(s_{j})]\| \leq \varepsilon. \text{ Furthermore,} \\ \text{ since } \|y(t)-x(s_{j})\| \leq \|y(t)-x(t)\| + \|x(t)-x(x_{j})\| \leq 2\alpha(s_{j}), \text{ we also get } \\ \|f[t,x(t)] - f[s_{j},x(s_{j})]\| \leq \varepsilon, \text{ or } \|f[t,x(t)] - f[t,y(t)]\| \leq 2\varepsilon \text{ for all } t \in J. \\ \text{ Therefore } \end{split}$$

$$\|(Ax - Ay)(t)\| = \left\| \int_0^t \{f[t, x(s)] - f[t, y(s)]\} ds \right\| \le |t|(2\varepsilon) \le 2r\varepsilon,$$

or $||Ax - Ay|| \le 2r\varepsilon$. Consequently, $A : X \to X$ is a compact map. It has a fixed point, say x, i.e.

$$x(t) = \int_0^t f[s, x(s)] ds$$

for all $t \in J$. Clearly, it is a solution to x' = f(t, x) subject to x(0) = 0. \Box

11-6.10. It can be proved by Zorn's Lemma that maximal solution always exists. Because local uniqueness is not available, x(t) may branch out to different directions.

11-6.11. **Exercise** Show that the solution x(t) to a locally compact initial value problem x' = f(t, x) need not be continuous map of the initial condition $x(t_0) = x_0$. See §11.1-9.

11-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further Readings</u>: Arnold, Godunov, Astala, Barbu, Deimling-77,78, Cullen, Yeh, Hadzic, Li and Lobanov.

Chapter 12

Compact Linear Operators

12-1 Basic Properties

12-1.1. A square matrix $B = [b_{ij}]$ can be regarded as a function of two variables i, j in a finite discrete set $N = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$. The image y = Bx can be written in terms of coordinates as $(Bx)_i = \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij}x_j$ for $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$. As shown in §12-1-9, a trivial way to consider an infinite dimensional analogue would be to change N by the closed unit interval [0, 1]. Then B is replaced by a continuous function k on the unit square and the summation by an integral. It turns out that this kind of integral operators are compact linear operators on $C_{\infty}[0, 1]$. It motivates the study of this chapter. However, the interesting topics of linear integral equations and determinants in infinite dimensional spaces are beyond our scope. More examples on compact linear maps will be given in §§12-1.14, 14-5.5.

12-1.2. Let E, F be normed spaces and V the closed unit ball of E. A linear map $f : E \to F$ is said to be *compact* if f(V) is a relatively compact subset of F. The set of all compact linear maps from E into F is denoted by K(E, F).

12-1.3. Lemma Let $f: E \to F$ a linear map. Then the following statements are equivalent:

(a) f is a compact linear map.

(b) For every bounded sequence $\{x_n\}$ in E, there is a convergent subsequence of $\{f(x_n)\}$ in F.

(c) f carries every bounded set into a relatively compact set.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{x_n\}$ be any bounded sequence in E. There is $\lambda > 0$ such that $||x_n|| \leq \lambda$ for all n. Now all $f(x_n/\lambda)$ belongs to the relatively compact set f(V). There is a subsequence $\{y_n\}$ of $\{x_n\}$ such that $\{f(y_n/\lambda)\}$ converges. Hence $\{f(y_n)\}$ also converges. This proves $(a \Rightarrow b)$. The rest is left as an exercise. \Box

12-1.4. **Theorem** If $f: E \to F$ a compact linear map, then for every weakly convergent sequence $x_n \to a$ in E, we have $||f(x_n) - f(a)|| \to 0$ in F. Furthermore if E is reflexive, then the converse is also true.

<u>Proof</u>. Assume that f is a compact linear map. Suppose to the contrary that there is $\varepsilon > 0$ and a subsequence $\{y_n\}$ of $\{x_n\}$ such that $||f(y_n) - f(a)|| \ge \varepsilon$. Since $y_n \to a$ weakly, $\{y_n\}$ is a bounded sequence. By compactness of f, there is a subsequence $\{z_n\}$ of $\{y_n\}$ such that $||f(z_n) - b|| \to 0$ for some $b \in F$. Hence $f(z_n) \to b$ weakly. By continuity of f, $f(z_n) \to f(a)$ weakly. Thus b = f(a), i.e. $\varepsilon \le ||f(z_n) - f(a)|| = ||f(z_n) - b|| \to 0$ which is a contradiction. Therefore every compact linear map carries weakly convergent sequence into a strongly convergent sequence. Conversely, if E is reflexive, then every bounded sequence in E has a weakly convergent subsequence which is carried to a strongly convergent sequence in F and hence f is compact.

12-1.5. <u>**Theorem**</u> K(E, F) is a vector subspace of L(E, F).

<u>Proof</u>. Let $f, g: E \to F$ be a compact linear map. Since f(V) is relatively compact, it is bounded and hence f is continuous, i.e. $K(E, F) \subset L(E, F)$. Next, let $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$ be given scalars. Since f(V), g(V) are relatively compact, so is $\alpha f(V) + \beta g(V)$ which contains $(\alpha f + \beta g)(V)$. Therefore $\alpha f + \beta g$ is also a compact linear map.

12-1.6. **Theorem** If F is a Banach space, then K(E, F) is closed in L(E, F). <u>Proof</u>. Let g be a closure point of K(E, F) in L(E, F). Since F is complete, it suffices to show that g(V) is precompact. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is $f \in K(E, F)$ such that $||f - g|| \le \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon$. Since f(V) is precompact, there is a finite subset J of V such that for every $x \in V$ we have $||f(x) - f(a)|| \le \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon$ for some $a \in J$. Now observe

$$\begin{aligned} \|g(x) - g(a)\| &\leq \|g(x) - f(x)\| + \|f(x) - f(a)\| + \|f(a) - g(a)\| \\ &\leq \|g - f\| \|x\| + \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon + \|g - f\| \|a\| \leq \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon \cdot 1 + \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon + \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon \cdot 1 = \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore g(V) is precompact. Consequently, K(E, F) is closed in L(E, F). \Box

12-1.7. Let E, F be vector spaces and $f: E \to F$ a linear map. Then f is said to be *finite dimensional* or of *finite rank* if f(E) is a finite dimensional vector subspace of F. For the rest of this section, let E, F be normed spaces and $f: E \to F$ a continuous linear map.

12-1.8. <u>Theorem</u> If f is finite dimensional, then it is compact.

<u>Proof</u>. By continuity, f(V) is bounded in F. Since f(E) is finite dimensional, f(V) is bounded in a finite dimensional subspace f(E) of F. Hence f(V) is relatively compact in f(E). Since f(E) is closed in F, f(V) is also relatively compact in F.

12-1.9. **Example** Let $E = C_{\infty}^{r}[0,1]$ and $k : [0,1] \times [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ a continuous function. Each $x \in E$ is a continuous function on [0,1]. Let f(x) be a function on [0,1] given by $f(x)(s) = \int_{0}^{1} k(s,t)x(t)dt$. Then $f : E \to E$ is a compact linear map.

<u>Proof</u>. It is obvious that f(x) is linear in x. Let V be the closed unit ball of \overline{E} consisting of $x \in E$ with $||x|| = \sup\{|x(t)| : t \in [0, 1]\}$. It is required to prove that f(V) is relatively compact in $C_{\infty}^{r}[0, 1]$. It suffices to show that f(V) is uniformly bounded and equicontinuous on [0, 1]. Since k is continuous on the compact space $[0, 1] \times [0, 1]$, it is bounded, i.e. there is $\lambda > 0$ such that for all $s, t \in [0, 1]$, we have $|k(s, t)| \leq \lambda$. Now for any $x \in V$,

$$|f(x)(s)| = \left|\int_0^1 k(s,t)x(t)dt\right| \leq \int_0^1 |k(s,t)| \ |x(t)|dt \leq \lambda.$$

Hence f(V) is uniformly bounded. Next by uniform continuity of k on the compact space $[0,1] \times [0,1]$, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $(s,t), (s',t') \in [0,1] \times [0,1], ||(s,t) - (s',t')|| \le \delta$ implies $|k(s,t) - k(s',t')| \le \varepsilon$. Now take any $s, s_0 \in [0,1]$ with $|s - s_0| \le \delta$. Then for every $x \in V$, we have

$$|f(x)(s) - f(x)(s_0)| = \left| \int_0^1 [k(s,t) - k(s_0,t)] x(t) dt \right|$$

$$\leq \int_0^1 |k(s,t) - k(s_0,t)| \ |x(t)| dt \leq \varepsilon.$$

Hence f(V) is equicontinuous on [0, 1]. This completes the proof.

12-1.10. **Theorem** Let E, F, G be normed spaces. Suppose $f : E \to F$ and $g : F \to G$ are continuous linear maps. If f or g is compact, then the composite gf is also compact.

<u>Proof</u>. Firstly assume that f is compact. Then the closure $\overline{f(V)}$ is compact in \overline{F} and hence so is $g[\overline{f(V)}]$. Its subset gf(V) is relatively compact and hence gf is compact. Next assume that g is compact. Take any bounded subset B of E. By continuity of f, f(B) is bounded and hence gf(B) = g[f(B)] is relatively compact in G. Therefore gf is again compact.

12-1.11. <u>**Theorem</u>** If f is compact, then so is its transpose f^t .</u>

<u>Proof.</u> Let V, U be the closed unit balls of E, F' respectively. Since f is compact, the closure X of f(V) is compact in F. There is $\lambda > 0$ such that $||x|| < \lambda$ for all $x \in X$. Consider U as a subset of $C_{\infty}(X)$. Take any $u \in U$. Since $|u(x)| \leq ||u|| ||x|| \leq \lambda$, for all $x \in X$, we have $||u||_{\infty} \leq \lambda$. Therefore U is uniformly bounded on X. Next, for all $x, y \in X$, we get

$$|u(x) - u(y)| = |u(x - y)| \le ||u|| ||x - y|| \le ||x - y||.$$

Hence U is also equicontinuous on X. Therefore U is relatively compact in $C_{\infty}(X)$ and consequently, it is precompact. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is a finite subset J of U such that for each $u \in U$, we have

$$||u - w||_{\infty} = \sup\{|(u - w)(x)| : x \in X\} \le \epsilon$$

for some $w \in J$. Hence for each $b \in V$, we have

$$| < f^t(u - w), b > | = | < u - w, f(b) > |$$

 $\leq \sup\{|(u - w)(x)| : x \in X\} = ||u - w||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$

Taking supremum over $b \in V$, we obtain $||f^t(u) - f^t(w)|| \le \varepsilon$. Therefore $f^t(U)$ is precompact in the Banach space E'' and consequently $f^t(U)$ is relatively compact. This proves that f^t is a compact linear map. \Box

12-1.12. <u>Theorem</u> If F is a Banach space and if the transpose f^t is compact, then f itself is a compact linear map.

<u>Proof</u>. It follows from last theorem that $f^{tt} : E'' \to F''$ is compact. Let V, V'' be the closed unit balls of E, E'' respectively. Then $f^{tt}(V'')$ is relatively compact and hence it is precompact. Since f^{tt} is an extension of f and $J(V) \subset V''$ where $J : E \to E''$ is the natural embedding, J[f(V)] is precompact. Therefore f(V) is precompact in the Banach space F and so it is relatively compact. Consequently, f is a compact linear map. \Box

12-1.13. **Exercise** Prove that if the identity map of a normed space E is compact then E must be finite dimensional.

12-1.14. <u>Exercise</u> Let $a = (a_1, a_2, a_3, \cdots)$ be a bounded sequence and let $1 \le p \le \infty$. Prove the following statements:

(a) For every $x \in \ell_p$, $f(x) = (a_1x_1, a_2x_2, a_3x_3, \cdots) \in \ell_p$.

(b) $f: \ell_p \to \ell_p$ is a continuous linear map.

(c) f is compact iff $a_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

12-1.15. <u>Exercise</u> Let E, F be Banach spaces, X an open subset of E and $g: X \to F$ a differentiable map. Prove that if g is *locally compact*, i.e. every point $x \in X$ has a ball $\mathbb{B}(x) \subset X$ such that $g[\mathbb{B}(x)]$ is relatively compact in F, then every derivative Dg(x) is a compact linear map.

12-2 Riesz-Schauder Theory

12-2.1. In this section, we shall work with one given compact operator A and its *displacement operator* T = I - A. The closed unit ball of E will be denoted by V. The close relationship between compact operators and finite dimensional vector subspaces will be unfolded.

12-2.2. <u>**Theorem**</u> ker(T) is a finite dimensional vector subspace of E.

<u>Proof</u>. Since ker(T) is closed in E, the closed unit ball W of ker(T) is closed in E. For any $x \in W$, we have $||x|| \leq 1$ and Tx = 0, i.e. $x = Ax \in A(V)$. Hence $W \subset A(V)$. Since A is a compact operator, W is a closed subset of the compact set $\overline{A(V)}$. Therefore W is compact. Consequently, ker(T) is finite dimensional.

12-2.3. **Lemma** For each integer $n \ge 1$, we have

(a) $\ker(T^{n-1}) \subset \ker(T^n);$

(b) If $\ker(T^{n-1}) = \ker(T^n)$, then $\ker(T^n) = \ker(T^{n+1})$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) For any $x \in \ker(T^{n-1})$, we have $T^n x = T(T^{n-1}x) = T0 = 0$, i.e. $x \in \ker(T^n)$.

(b) Take any $x \in \ker(T^{n+1})$. Then $T^n(Tx) = 0$, i.e. $Tx \in \ker(T^n) = \ker(T^{n-1})$, or $T^n x = T^{n-1}(Tx) = 0$. Thus $x \in \ker(T^n)$. This proves $\ker(T^{n+1}) \subset \ker(T^n)$. The reverse inequality follows from (a).

12-2.4. Lemma There is an integer $n \ge 1$ such that $\ker(T^{n-1}) = \ker(T^n)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that for all $n \ge 1$, $\ker(T^{n-1}) \stackrel{<}{\neq} \ker(T^n)$. There is $x_n \in \ker(T^n)$ such that $||x_n|| = 1$ and $d(x_n, \ker T^{n-1}) \ge \frac{1}{2}$. Then for all $p \ge 1$, we have

$$T^{n+p-1}(Tx_{n+p} + Ax_n) = T^{n+p}x_{n+p} + AT^{n+p-1}x_n = 0,$$

i.e. $Tx_{n+p} + Ax_n \in \ker(T^{n+p-1})$. Now

 $||Ax_{n+p} - Ax_n|| = ||x_{n+p} - (Tx_{n+p} + Ax_n)|| \ge d(x_{n+p}, \ker T^{n+p-1}) \ge \frac{1}{2}$

shows that $\{Ax_n\}$ cannot have convergent subsequence. This contradiction to the compactness of A completes the proof.

Theorem There is an integer k such that $\ker(T^{n-1}) \neq \ker(T^n)$ for all 12-2.5. $n \leq k$ and ker $(T^n) = \text{ker}(T^{n+1})$ for all $n \geq k$. This integer is called the *ascent* of T.

Proof. The smallest integer k satisfying last lemma is the solution.

12-2.6. Lemma There is $\lambda > 0$ satisfying the following condition: for each $y \in T(E)$, there is at least one solution $x \in E$ for Tx = y and $||x|| \le \lambda ||y||$.

Proof. Suppose to the contrary that for each $n \ge 1$, there is $y_n \in T(E)$ such that for every $x \in E$, $Tx = y_n$ implies $||x|| > n ||y_n||$. Choose any $x_n \in E$ satisfying $Tx_n = y_n$. Since $y_n \neq 0$, x_n does not belong to the closed set ker(T) and hence $d_n = d(x_n, \ker T) > 0$. There is $z_n \in \ker(T)$ such that

 $||x_n - z_n|| \le 2d_n$. Let $b_n = \frac{x_n - z_n}{||x_n - z_n||}$. Now $T(x_n - z_n) = Tx_n = y_n$ implies $||x_n - z_n|| > n ||y_n||$, or

$$||Tb_n|| = \frac{||T(x_n - z_n)||}{||x_n - z_n||} = \frac{||y_n||}{||x_n - z_n||} < \frac{1}{n}.$$

Therefore $Tb_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. On the other hand, since $\{b_n\}$ is bounded and A is a compact operator, there is a subsequence $\{b_{n(j)}\}$ and some $b \in E$ such that $Ab_{n(j)} \to b$ in E as $j \to \infty$. Consequently $b_{n(j)} = Tb_{n(j)} + Ab_{n(j)} \to b$. Observe that $Tb = \lim Tb_{n(j)} = 0$, i.e. $b \in \ker(T)$. Now

$$\|b_n - b\| = \left\|\frac{x_n - z_n}{\|x_n - z_n\|} - b\right\| = \frac{\|x_n - (z_n - \|x_n - z_n\|b)\|}{\|x_n - z_n\|} \ge \frac{d_n}{\|x_n - z_n\|} \ge \frac{1}{2}$$

outradicts to $b_{n(i)} \to b$. This completes the proof.

contradicts to $b_{n(j)} \to b$. This completes the proof.

12-2.7. Theorem Im(T) is closed in E.

Proof. Let y be a closure point of T(E) in E. There is a sequence $\{y_n\}$ in T(E)convergent to y. Choose $\lambda > 0, x_n \in E$ such that $Tx_n = y_n$ and $||x_n|| \le \lambda ||y_n||$. Since $y_n \to y$, $\{y_n\}$ is a bounded sequence and hence so is $\{x_n\}$. Because A is a compact operator, there is a subsequence $\{x_{n(j)}\}$ such that $\{Ax_{n(j)}\}$ converges. Hence $x_{n(j)} = Tx_{n(j)} + Ax_{n(j)} \rightarrow x$ for some $x \in E$. Then we have $y = \lim y_{n(j)} = \lim T x_{n(j)} = T x$. Therefore $y \in T(E)$. Consequently, $\operatorname{Im}(T)$ is closed in E.

Theorem Im $(T) = (\ker T^t)^{\perp}$ and Im $(T^t) = (\ker T)^{\perp}$. 12-2.8.

Proof. It is because Im(T) is closed.

- (a) T is bijective.
- (b) T is surjective.
- (c) T is injective.

Proof. It is equivalent to the proposition: Im(T) = E iff $ker(T) = \{0\}$.

(⇒) Suppose to the contrary that $\operatorname{Im}(T) = E$ and $\ker(T) \neq \{0\}$. Then there is a non-zero $a \in E$ but Ta = 0. By $\operatorname{Im}(T) = E$, there is $x_1 \in E$ such that $a = Tx_1$. Inductively, there is $x_n \in E$ such that $x_{n-1} = Tx_n$. Now for each n, we have $T^n x_n = T^{n-1}(Tx_n) = T^{n-1}x_{n-1} = \cdots = Tx_1 = a \neq 0$, i.e. $x_n \notin \ker(T^n)$. Next, $T^{n+1}x_n = T(T^nx_n) = Ta = 0$, i.e. $x_n \in \ker(T^{n+1})$. This shows $\ker(T^n) \neq \ker(T^{n+1})$ for all n which is a contradiction.

(\Leftarrow) Suppose ker(T) = {0}. Then Im(T^t) = E', i.e. $T^t = I - A^t$ is surjective. Since A^t is a compact operator on E', we can apply the first part to A^t . Hence T^t is injective, i.e. ker(T^t) = {0}. Consequently, we have

$$\operatorname{Im}(T) = (\ker T^t)^{\perp} = E.$$

12-2.10. <u>**Theorem</u>** Both ker(T) and $ker(T^t)$ have the same finite dimension.</u>

<u>*Proof*</u>. We have prove that ker(T) is finite dimensional. Let a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n be a basis of ker(T). There are $u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n \in E'$ such that $u_i(a_j) = \delta_{ij}$ for all $i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n$. We claim

dim ker
$$(T^t) \leq \dim$$
 ker (T) . #1

Suppose this is false. There are n + 1 independent vectors $v_1, v_2, \dots, v_n, v_{n+1}$ in ker (T^t) . Choose $b_1, b_2, \dots, b_{n+1} \in E$ such that $v_i(b_j) = \delta_{ij}$ for all $i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n+1$. Define $Bx = Ax + \sum_{j=1}^n u_j(x)b_j, \forall x \in E$. Then B is a compact operator in E. We also claim

$$\ker(I - B) = \{0\}. \qquad \#2$$

Indeed, assume $x \in \ker(I - B)$. Then $Tx = (I - A)x = \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_j(x)b_j$. By $v_j \in \ker(T^t)$, we have

$$0 = \langle T^{t}v_{i}, x \rangle = \langle v_{i}, Tx \rangle$$

= $\langle v_{i}, \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_{j}(x)b_{j} \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_{j}(x)v_{i}(b_{j}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_{j}(x)\delta_{ij} = u_{i}(x).$

Hence $Tx = \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_j(x)b_j = 0$, or $x \in \ker(T)$. Since a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n is a basis of $\ker(T)$, write $x = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j a_j$ for some scalar α_j . Now observe

$$0 = u_i(x) = \sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_j u_i(a_j) = \alpha_j$$

for all j, i.e. x = 0. Consequently #2 is proved. As a result, Im(I - B) = E. In particular, we get $b_{n+1} \in \text{Im}(I - B)$. There is $x \in E$ such that $b_{n+1} = (I - B)x$. Consider the calculation:

$$\begin{split} &1 = v_{n+1}(b_{n+1}) = v_{n+1}(I - B)x \\ &= v_{n+1} \left[(I - A)x - \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_j(x)b_j \right] = \langle v_{n+1}, (I - A)x \rangle - \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_j(x)v_{n+1}(b_j) \\ &= \langle T^t v_{n+1}, x \rangle - \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_j(x)\delta_{n+1,j} = \langle 0, x \rangle - \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_j(x) \cdot 0 = 0. \end{split}$$

This contradiction establishes #1. For the reverse inequality, applying #1 to A^t , we have dim ker $(T^t) \ge \dim \text{ker}(T^{tt}) \ge \dim \text{ker}(T)$. This completes the proof.

12-2.11. <u>**Theorem**</u> Both Im(T) and $Im(T^t)$ have the same codimension. Furthermore, codim $Im(T) = \dim ker(T^t) = \dim ker(T) = \operatorname{codim} Im(T^t)$ holds.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $(E/\operatorname{Im} T)' = (\operatorname{Im} T)^{\perp} = (\ker T^t)^{\perp \perp} = \ker(T^t)$, the space $(E/\operatorname{Im} T)'$ is finite dimensional and hence it has the same dimension as $E/\operatorname{Im} T$. From codim $\operatorname{Im}(T) = \dim E/\operatorname{Im} T = \dim (E/\operatorname{Im} T)' = \dim \ker(T^t)$

 and

codim $\operatorname{Im}(T^t) = \dim(E/\operatorname{Im} T^t) = \dim(E/\operatorname{Im} T^t)'$ = dim(Im T^t)^{\perp} = dim(ker T)^{\perp \perp} = dim ker(T),

the proof is complete.

12-2.12. <u>Theorem</u> Let k be the ascent of T. Then we have $\operatorname{Im}(T)_{\neq}^{\supset}\operatorname{Im}(T^2)_{\neq}^{\supset}\cdots _{\neq}^{\supset}\operatorname{Im}(T^k) = \operatorname{Im}(T^n), \forall n > k.$

As a result, we also call k the *descent* of T.

Proof. Clearly $\operatorname{Im}(T^{n-1}) \supset \operatorname{Im}(T^n)$. For all $n \leq k$, we have

 $\operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Im}(T^{n-1}) = \dim \operatorname{ker}(T^{n-1}) \neq \dim \operatorname{ker}(T^n) = \operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Im}(T^n).$

Hence $\operatorname{Im}(T^{n-1}) \neq \operatorname{Im}(T^n)$. Next, for all n > k, we get

codim $\text{Im}(T^n) = \text{dim } \text{ker}(T^n) = \text{dim } \text{ker}(T^k) = \text{codim } \text{Im}(T^k).$ Therefore $\text{Im}(T^n) = \text{Im}(T^k).$

12-2.13. **Exercise** Let A be a compact operator on a Banach space E and T = I - A its displacement operator. Prove that if T is a topological isomorphism, its inverse is also a displacement of some compact operator. Prove that composites of displacement operators are displacement operators.

12-2.14. **Exercise** Prove that $E = \text{Im}(T^k) \oplus \text{ker}(T^k)$ where k is the ascent of T.

12-2.15. **Exercise** Prove that both $\operatorname{Im}(T^k)$ and $\ker(T^k)$ are closed invariant subspace of T, i.e. both are closed vector subspaces, $T[\operatorname{Im}(T^k)] \subset \operatorname{Im}(T^k)$ and $T[\ker(T^k)] \subset \ker(T^k)$.

12-2.16. **Exercise** Prove that the restriction $T|Im(T^k)$ is an isomorphism.

12-2.17. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the restriction $T | \ker(T^k)$ is nilpotent, i.e. $T | \ker(T^k)^p = 0$ for some integer p.

12-2.18. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that there is a topological isomorphism J and a finite dimensional operator K on E such that T = J + K.

12-2.19. **Exercise** Let E, F be Banach spaces and $A : E \to F$ a compact linear map. Prove that for every topological isomorphism $J : E \to F$, the set (J - A)(E) is closed in F.

12-3 Spectrum of a Compact Operator

12-3.1. In this section, we shall prove that the spectrum of a compact operator is a finite set or a null sequence.

12-3.2. **Theorem** Let A be a compact operator on a Banach space E. Then every non-zero spectral value of A is an eigenvalue.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose that λ is not an eigenvalue of A. Then $I - \lambda^{-1}A$ is injective. By Fredholm Alternative, $I - \lambda^{-1}A$ is invertible and hence $\lambda I - A$ is invertible. Consequently, λ is not a spectral value.

12-3.3. **Lemma** For every $\varepsilon > 0$, the set $S = \{\lambda \in \sigma(A) : |\lambda| \ge \varepsilon\}$ is finite.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that S is an infinite set. There is a sequence $\{\lambda_n\}$ of distinct points in $\sigma(A)$ with all $|\lambda_n| \geq \varepsilon$. Since each λ_n is an eigenvalue of A, there is non-zero $x_n \in E$ such that $Ax_n = \lambda_n x_n$. Let H_n be the vector space spanned by x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n and let $H_0 = \{0\}$. Then all H_n are closed in E. Since $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n$ are distinct, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n are linearly independent. Hence $H_{n-1} \stackrel{<}{\neq} H_n$. Choose $y_n \in H_n$ such that $||y_n|| = 1$ and $d(y_n, H_{n-1}) \geq \frac{1}{2}$. Observe that

$$\left\|\frac{y_n}{\lambda_n}\right\| = \frac{\|y_n\|}{|\lambda_n|} \le \frac{1}{\varepsilon}.$$

Since A is a compact operator, the sequence $\left\{A\left(\frac{y_n}{\lambda_n}\right)\right\}$ must have a convergent subsequence. To show that no subsequence can be Cauchy, take any n > m. Write $y_n = \alpha_1 x_1 + \alpha_2 x_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n x_n$. Then we get

$$y_n - A\left(\frac{y_n}{\lambda_n}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \alpha_j \left(1 - \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_n}\right) x_j.$$

Hence deduce that

$$z = y_n - A\left(\frac{y_n}{\lambda_n}\right) + A\left(\frac{y_m}{\lambda_m}\right) \in H_{n-1}.$$

Therefore

$$\left\|A\left(\frac{y_n}{\lambda_n}\right) - A\left(\frac{y_m}{\lambda_m}\right)\right\| = \|y_n - z\| \ge d(y_n, H_{n-1}) \ge \frac{1}{2}.$$

This contradiction shows that S must be finite.

12-3.4. <u>Theorem</u> The spectrum of A is a countable set of scalars. If the spectrum is an infinite set, its points converge to $0 \in \mathbb{K}$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $D_n = \{\lambda \in \sigma(A) : |\lambda| \geq \frac{1}{n}\}$. Then all D_n are finite. Since $\sigma(A) \subset \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n, \ \sigma(A)$ is countable. Next, if $\sigma(A)$ is an infinite set, clearly it converges to $0 \in \mathbb{K}$ because all except those in D_n belong to the ball $\mathbb{B}(0, \frac{1}{n})$.

12-3.5. **Theorem** If E is *infinite dimensional*, then we have $0 \in \sigma(A)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that zero is not a spectral value of A. Then $\overline{\lambda} = 0$ is a resolvent value. Hence $A = -(\lambda I - A)$ is invertible. Since A is compact, so is $I = A^{-1}A$. Let V be the closed unit ball of E. Then V = I(V) is a closed relatively compact set in E and hence it is compact. Consequently, V is finite dimensional.

12-4 Existence of Invariant Subspaces

12-4.1. Normally we start with a nonlinear function y = f(x) and then approximate f by linear maps through derivatives or affine maps and hopefully we can get some information of f from its linear approximations. It was Lomonosov that applied nonlinear technique to solve linear problem.

12-4.2. Let T be an operator on a complex Banach space E. For finite dimensional E, we can identify T as a square matrix from which all eigenvalues are provided by its characteristic equations. Each eigenspace is an invariant subspace of T and consequently T can be expressed as direct sum of relatively simple submatrices. For example, it is well-known in linear algebra that every square matrix is similar to a Jordan form. For infinite dimensional

case, it seems to be natural to ask whether what classes of operators has nontrivial invariant subspaces. One class including the compact operators will be presented in this section.

12-4.3. Let E be a complex Banach normed space, L(E) the set of all operators on E and $T \in L(E)$. A vector subspace M of E is called

(a) an invariant subspace of T if $T(M) \subset M$,

(b) a hyperinvariant subspace if for every operator $S \in L(E)$ commuting with T, i.e. ST = TS, we have $S(M) \subset M$ and

(c) an *invariant subspace* of a subalgebra \mathcal{A} of L(E) if $T(M) \subset M$ for every $T \in \mathcal{A}$.

12-4.4. A subspace M of E is said to be *trivial* if either $M = \{0\}$ or M = E. A subalgebra \mathcal{A} of L(E) is said to be *transitive* if every invariant subspace of \mathcal{A} is trivial. In this section, we assume that the dimension of E is non-zero.

12-4.5. Lemma Let \mathcal{A} be a transitive algebra of operators on E. Then for every non-zero compact operator K, there is an operator $T \in \mathcal{A}$ such that the compact operator KT has a non-zero fixed point.

Proof. Let V denote the open unit ball of E. Since the closure $\overline{K(V)}$ is compact, it is bounded. There is $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $||K(V)|| < \lambda$. By $K \neq 0$, there is $a \in E$ satisfying $||K(a)|| > \lambda$. Let $X = K(a) + \overline{K(V)}$. Then X is a non-empty compact convex set which does not contain the origin. Next, we claim that $X \subset \bigcup_{T \in \mathcal{A}} T^{-1}(a+V)$. Suppose to the contrary that there is $y \in X$ but $y \notin T^{-1}(a+V)$ for all $T \in \mathcal{A}$. Since \mathcal{A} is an algebra, $\mathcal{A}y = \{T(y) : T \in \mathcal{A}\}$ forms a vector subspace of E and so does its closure $M = \overline{Ay}$. Observe that for each $S \in \mathcal{A}$, we get $S(M) \subset S(\overline{\mathcal{A}y}) \subset \overline{S(\mathcal{A}y)} = \overline{\{STy: T \in \mathcal{A}\}} \subset \overline{\mathcal{A}y} = M$ because \mathcal{A} is an algebra. Therefore M is an invariant subspace of \mathcal{A} . By transitivity of \mathcal{A} , we have either $M = \{0\}$ or M = E. Suppose $M = \{0\}$. Then T(y) = 0 for all $T \in \mathcal{A}$. Since $E \neq \{0\}$, take any $y \neq 0$ in E. Then $\mathbb{C}y = \{\alpha y : \alpha \in \mathbb{C}\}$ is a non-trivial invariant subspace of \mathcal{A} , contrary to the transitivity of \mathcal{A} . Next, suppose M = E. Since $T(y) \notin a + V$ for all $T \in \mathcal{A}$, the set Ay is contained in the closed set $E \setminus (a+V)$, i.e. $M \subset E \setminus (a+V)$, contrary to M = E. Therefore $\{T^{-1}(a + V) : T \in A\}$ is an open cover of the compact set X. We can select a finite number of $T_j \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $X \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n N_j$ where $N_j = T_j^{-1}(a + V)$. Let $\{\alpha_j\}$ be a partition of unity on X subordinated to $\{N_j : 1 \leq j \leq n\}$. Define $f(x) = \sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_j(x) KT_j(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Then

 $f: X \to E$ is a continuous map. Note that if $\alpha_j(x) \neq 0$, then $x \in N_j$, or $T_j(x) \in a + V$, i.e. $KT_j(x) \in K(a + V) \subset \overline{\{K(a + V)\}} = X$. Therefore $f(X) \subset X$. Now the continuous map $f: X \to X$ has a fixed point, say $b \in X$. Since $0 \notin X$, we have $b \neq 0$. From f(b) = b, we get $\sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_j(b)KT_j(b) = b$, i.e. KT(b) = b where $T = \sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_j(b)T_j \in A$.

12-4.6. **Lomonosov's Theorem** If a non-scalar operator A commutes with a non-zero compact operator K, then A has a non-trivial hyperinvariant subspace.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{A} = \{T \in L(E) : AT = TA\}$. Clearly, \mathcal{A} is a subalgebra of L(E). Suppose to the contrary that every hyperinvariant subspace of A is trivial. Then \mathcal{A} is transitive. There exist $T \in \mathcal{A}$ and $b \in E$ such that $KT(b) = b \neq 0$ and $b \in H = \ker(KT - I)$. Since K is compact, so is KT and thus H is finite dimensional. For every $x \in H$, we have KT(x) = x, or KTA(x) = AKT(x), i.e. $A(x) \in H$. Therefore H is a finite dimensional invariant subspace of A. It follows that A has a non-zero eigenvector in H, i.e. there is $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $M = \ker(A - \lambda I) \neq \{0\}$. Since A is non-scalar, we have $M \neq E$. So, M is nontrivial closed vector subspace of E. Now take any $x \in M$ and $T \in A$. Then $AT(x) = TA(x) = T(\lambda x) = \lambda T(x)$, i.e. $T(x) \in M$. Hence M is a non-trivial hyperinvariant subspace of A. This contradiction establishes the proof. \Box

12-5 Fredholm Operators

12-5.1. Let E, F be Banach spaces. A continuous linear map $f: E \to F$ is called a *Fredholm* map if ker(f) is of finite dimension and the image f(E) is of finite codimension. All Fredholm maps in this book are linear although they were initiated by the study of nonlinear maps whose derivatives are Fredholm. Readers may skip this section without any discontinuity.

12-5.2. Let f be a Fredholm map from E into F. Any topological complement $E \ominus \ker(f)$ of the finite dimensional subspace $\ker(f)$ in E is called a *mirror* of f. Any topological complement $F \ominus f(E)$ of the finite codimensional subspace f(E) is called a *deficit* of f. Define nullity $(f) = \dim \ker(f)$, defect $(f) = \dim F/f(E)$ and $\operatorname{index}(f) = \operatorname{nullity}(f) - \operatorname{defect}(f)$. Clearly, we have defect $(f) = \dim \operatorname{deficit}(f)$.

12-5.3. **Lemma** (a) f(E) is closed in F.

(c) If the index of f is zero, then $\ker(f)$ and $\operatorname{deficit}(f)$ are of the same finite dimension and consequently $E = \operatorname{mirror}(f) \oplus \ker(f)$ is topologically isomorphic to $F = f(E) \oplus \operatorname{deficit}(f)$.

(d) If A is a compact operator on E, then T = I - A is a Fredholm operator with index zero.

(e) If E is finite dimensional, then all linear maps are Fredholm and they have the same index dim E – dim F. Hence Fredholm maps are interesting only if E is infinite dimensional.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) See §7-4.14. (b) By §7-4.6c, mirror(f) = $E \ominus \ker(f) \simeq E/\ker(f)$. By §§7-2.5b, 6-9.3; $E/\ker(f) \simeq f(E)$.

(d) See §12-2.11.

(e)
$$\operatorname{index}(f) = \operatorname{nullity}(f) - \operatorname{defect}(f)$$

= $[\operatorname{dim} \operatorname{mirror}(f) + \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{ker}(f)] - [\operatorname{dim} f(E) + \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{deficit}(f)]$
= $\operatorname{dim} E - \operatorname{dim} F.$

12-5.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let E, F, G be Banach spaces and let $f : E \to F$, $g : F \to G$ be Fredholm maps. Then the composite gf is also a Fredholm map. Furthermore we have index(gf) = index(g) + index(f).

<u>Proof.</u> Let $A = f(E) \cap \ker(g)$, $B = f(E) \oplus A$ and $C = \ker(g) \oplus A$. Then $f(E) = A \oplus B$. Since f(E) is closed and B is finite dimensional, f(E) + Cis closed and of finite codimension. Let $D = F \oplus [f(E) + C]$, $M = \min(f)$, $P = (f|M)^{-1}(A)$ and $Q = (f|M)^{-1}(B)$. Since f|M is a topological isomorphism, we obtain $M = P \oplus Q$ and $E = \ker(f) \oplus P \oplus Q$. Take any x = p + q + r where $p \in P$, $q \in Q$ and $r \in \ker(f)$. Since $f(p) \in A \subset \ker(g)$, we have gf(p) = 0 and also f(r) = 0. Observe that f|Q is an isomorphism. From $B \cap \ker(g) = \{0\}$, g|B is an isomorphism. Thus gf(x) = gf(q) = 0 iff q = 0, i.e. x = p + r. Hence $\ker(gf) = P \oplus \ker(f)$ is finite dimensional. Next, since $f(E) \cap D = \{0\}$ we have

$$g(F) = g[f(E) + C + D] = gf(E) \oplus g(D) = g(A) \oplus g(B) \oplus g(D)$$
$$= g(B) \oplus g(D) = gf(Q) \oplus g(D).$$

Therefore deficit(gf) = $g(D) \oplus deficit(g)$ is also finite dimensional. Consequently, gf is a Fredholm map. Furthermore we obtain

$$index(gf) = nullity(gf) - defect(gf)$$

= dim ker(gf) - dim deficit(gf)
= [dim P + dim ker(f)] - [dim g(D) + dim deficit(g)]
= [dim A + nullity(f)] - [dim(D) + defect(g)]

$$= [\dim A + \dim C + \operatorname{nullity}(f)] - [\dim C + \dim D + \operatorname{defect}(g)]$$

= [dim ker(g) + nullity(f)] - [defect(f) + defect(g)]
= index(g) + index(f).

12-5.5. A continuous linear map $f: E \to F$ is *pseudo-invertible* if there is a continuous linear map $g: F \to E$ such that fgf = f. In this case, g is called a *pseudo-inverse* of f. Clearly both fg, gf are idempotents. Also observe that $\ker(gf) = \ker(f)$ and fg(F) = f(E).

12-5.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f : E \to F$ be a Fredholm map. Then there is a Fredholm map $g : F \to E$ which is also a pseudo-inverse of f such that both I - fg and I - gf are of finite rank. Furthermore, if index(f) = 0 then we may assume that g is invertible.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let M = mirror(f) and D = deficit(f). Define $\xi : D \to \text{ker}(f)$ as any isomorphism if index(f) = 0 and define $\xi = 0$ otherwise. Next define

$$g: F = f(E) \oplus D \to E = M \oplus \ker(f)$$

by $g|f(E) = (f|M)^{-1}$ and $g|D = \xi$. Clearly g is a continuous linear map and it is a topological isomorphism if index(f) = 0. It is simple to verify fgf = fon E. Since $ker(g) \subset D$ and $deficit(g) \subset ker(f)$, g is a Fredholm map. Next, f(I - gf)E = (f - fgf)E = 0 gives $(I - gf)E \subset ker(f)$. Finally, observe that $(I - fg)F = (I - fg)[f(E) \oplus D] = (I - fg)D$. Therefore both I - gf and I - fgare of finite rank. This completes the proof.

12-5.7. A Banach space L which is also an algebra. It is called a *Banach* algebra if for all $A, B \in L$ we have $||AB|| \leq ||A|| ||B||$. If L has a multiplicative identity I, we also demand ||I|| = 1. Most results of L(E) could have been developed in the general framework of Banach algebra.

12-5.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the set of all invertible elements in L is an open set. See §8-6.4.

12-5.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if K is a closed two-sided ideal of a Banach algebra L, then the quotient algebra L/K is also a Banach algebra. See §7-2.4.

12-5.10. Let K(E) denote the set of all compact operators on E. It follows from §12-1.6,10 that K(E) is a closed two-sided ideal of the algebra L(E) of all operators on E. Let φ denote the quotient map from L(E) onto the quotient Banach algebra L(E)/K(E) which is also called the *Calkin algebra*. 12-5.11. <u>Atkinson's Theorem</u> An operator $f \in L(E)$ is Fredholm iff $\varphi(f)$ is invertible in the quotient algebra L(E)/K(E).

<u>Proof</u>. We shall denote the identity map on E and L(E)/K(E) by the same symbol I. Let f be a Fredholm operator on E. There is a Fredholm operator g on E such that I - fg and I - gf are of finite rank and hence they are compact operators. Now $0 = \varphi(I - fg) = I - \varphi(f)\varphi(g)$ gives $\varphi(f)\varphi(g) = I$. Similarly, $\varphi(g)\varphi(f) = I$. Therefore $\varphi(f)$ is invertible in L(E)/K(E) with inverse $\varphi(g)$. Conversely, suppose that $g \in L(E)$ satisfies $\varphi(f)\varphi(g) = \varphi(g)\varphi(f) = I$ on L(E)/K(E). Then h = I - fg and k = I - gf are compact operators on E. Therefore $\ker(f) \subset \ker(gf) = \ker(I - k)$ which is finite dimensional. Also from $f(E) \supset (fg)E = (I - h)E$ which is of finite codimension. Therefore $\ker(f)$ is finite dimensional and f(E) is finite codimensional. Consequently, f is a Fredholm map.

12-5.12. <u>Theorem</u> The set $\mathcal{F}(E)$ of all Fredholm operators is open in L(E) and the map index : $\mathcal{F}(E) \to \mathbb{Z}$ is a continuous function.

<u>Proof.</u> Let V denote the open set of all invertible elements in the quotient algebra L(E)/K(E). By continuity of the quotient map $\varphi: L(E) \to L(E)/K(E)$, the set $\mathcal{F}(E) = \varphi^{-1}(V)$ is open in L(E). Now take any Fredholm operator f on E. Choose a pseudo-inverse g such that h = I - fg and k = I - gf are compact operators. Suppose that $p \in L(E)$ satisfies $||f - p|| < ||g||^{-1}$. Then ||fg - pg|| < 1. Hence q = I - (fg - pg) is invertible in L(E) and so index(q) = 0. From qf = f - fgf + pgf = pgf, we have

index(q) + index(f) = index(p) + index(g) + index(f)

or, index(p) = -index(g). Therefore index(f) is locally constant. Consequently, index(f) is a continuous function of f.

12-5.13. <u>Theorem</u> For every Fredholm operator f and every compact operator k on E, f + k is a Fredholm operator. Furthermore we have index(f + k) = index(f).

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\varphi : L(E) \to L(E)/K(E)$ be the quotient map. Then $\varphi(f+k) = \varphi(f)$ is invertible in L(E)/K(E). Hence f + k is a Fredholm map. Next, since the function $\xi(t) = \text{index}(f + tk)$ from [0, 1] into \mathbb{Z} is continuous, it must be a constant, i.e. $\text{index}(f) = \xi(0) = \xi(1) = \text{index}(f + k)$.

12-5.14. Corollary An operator f is a sum of an invertible operator and a compact operator on E iff index(f) = 0.

<u>Proof</u>. Let f = g + k where g is an invertible operator and k is a compact operator. Then we have index(f) = index(g + k) = index(g) = 0. Conversely, suppose index(f) = 0. Let g be an invertible Fredholm pseudo-inverse of f. Then from f = fgf, we have $\varphi(f) = \varphi(f)\varphi(g)\varphi(f)$. Because $\varphi(f)$ is invertible in L(E)/K(E), we have $\varphi(f)\varphi(g) = \varphi(g)\varphi(f) = I$, or $\varphi(f) = \varphi(g)^{-1} = \varphi(g^{-1})$. Hence $k = f - g^{-1}$ is compact, or $f = g^{-1} + k$ is the sum of an invertible operator and a compact operator.

12-99. <u>References and Further Readings</u>: Jorgens, Schechter, Ringrose, Collins, Vala, Dieudonne-85, Johnson-79, Szankowski, Kaneko, Konig-86, Ma-86, Sikorski, Simon-79, Corduneanu, Lomonosov, Simonivc, Sadovnichii, Olagunju, Pietsch, Schmitt, Caradus, Enflo, Wu and Han.

Chapter 13

Operators on Hilbert Spaces

13-1 Complex Inner Product Spaces

13-1.1. This chapter is a natural extension of linear algebra of matrices to infinite dimensional spaces and should be read concurrently with Chapter 3 on Banach spaces. Most of the elementary properties hold for *real* Hilbert spaces even though we restrict ourselves to complex case in order to prepare the background so that you can start to work on C^* -algebras and analytic functions of operators elsewhere as soon as possible.

13-1.2. Let *H* be a vector space over the *complex* field \mathbb{C} . A function $(x, y) \to \langle x, y \rangle$ from $H \times H$ into \mathbb{C} is called an *inner product* on *H* if for all $x, y, z \in H$ and for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, we have

(a) $\langle x + y, z \rangle = \langle x, z \rangle + \langle y, z \rangle$, additive;

(b) $\langle \lambda x, y \rangle = \lambda \langle x, y \rangle$, homogeneous;

(c) $\langle x, y \rangle = \langle y, x \rangle^{-}$, conjugate-symmetric;

(d) $\langle x, x \rangle \ge 0$, positive;

(e) if $\langle x, x \rangle = 0$, then x = 0; non-degenerate.

13-1.3. A vector space equipped with a given inner product is called an *inner* product space. In an inner product space H, write $||x|| = \sqrt{\langle x, x \rangle}, \forall x \in H$. We shall use the notation $i^2 = -1$ consistently in the subsequent context.

13-1.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let H be an inner product space. For all $x, y, z \in H$ and for all complex numbers α, β , we have

(a) Conjugate linear: $\langle z, \alpha x + \beta y \rangle = \alpha^{-} \langle z, x \rangle + \beta^{-} \langle z, y \rangle$.

- (b) Parallelogram Law: $||x + y||^2 + ||x y||^2 = 2||x||^2 + 2||y||^2$.
- (c) Polarization Formula:

$$4 < x, y > = ||x + y||^{2} - ||x - y||^{2} + i||x + iy||^{2} - i||x - iy||^{2} = \sum_{n=0}^{3} i^{n} ||x + i^{n}y||^{2}.$$

2

13-1.5. Cauchy-Schwartz Inequality For all $x, y \in H$, we have

$$|\langle x, y \rangle| \le ||x|| ||y||.$$

Furthermore $|\langle x, y \rangle| = ||x|| ||y||$ iff $x = \lambda y$ or $y = \lambda x$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. <u>Proof</u>. If y = 0, then both sides are zero and the result follows immediately. Assume $y \neq 0$. Then $\langle y, y \rangle \neq 0$. Let $\lambda = \frac{\langle x, y \rangle}{\langle y, y \rangle}$. Then we have

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{Therefore we have } | < x, y > |^2 = < x, y > < y, x > \leq < x, x > < y, y >. \ \text{Finally,} \\ \#1 \text{ is zero iff } | < x, y > | = \|x\| \ \|y\| \ \text{iff } x - \lambda y = 0. \end{array}$

13-1.6. **Theorem** Every inner product space H is a normed space under the norm $||x|| = \sqrt{\langle x, x \rangle}, \forall x \in H$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. We shall verify only the triangular inequality and leave the others as an exercise. Let $x, y \in H$ be given. Then we have

$$\begin{split} \|x+y\|^2 &= \langle x+y, x+y \rangle = \langle x, x \rangle + \langle x, y \rangle + \langle y, x \rangle + \langle y, y \rangle \\ &= \langle x, x \rangle + 2Re \langle x, y \rangle + \langle y, y \rangle \leq \langle x, x \rangle + 2| \langle x, y \rangle | + \langle y, y \rangle \\ &\leq \|x\|^2 + 2\|x\| \|y\| + \|y\|^2 = (\|x\| + \|y\|)^2, \\ &\|x+y\| \leq \|x\| + \|y\|. \end{split}$$

i.e.

13-1.7. As a result, topological properties such as convergent sequences and continuity, are available in H. An inner product space which is also a complete normed space is called a *Hilbert space*.

13-1.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that in a normed space, if the Parallelogram Law holds, then the polarization formula defines an inner product which induces the original norm.

13-1.9. <u>Theorem</u> The inner product $(x, y) \rightarrow \langle x, y \rangle$ from the product normed space $H \times H$ into \mathbb{C} is continuous.

Proof. Suppose $x_n \to a$ and $y_n \to b$ in H. Then we have

$$\begin{split} | < x_n, y_n > - < a, b > | \\ = | < x_n - a, y_n - b > | + | < x_n - a, b > | + | < a, y_n - b > | \\ \le ||x_n - a|| ||y_n - b|| + ||x_n - a|| ||b|| + ||a|| ||y_n - b|| \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty. \end{split}$$

13-1.10. **Example** For all $x, y \in \ell_2$, let $\langle x, y \rangle = x_1y_1^- + x_2y_2^- + \cdots$ where y_j^- denotes the complex conjugate of y_j . It is trivial to verify that ℓ_2 is an inner

product space. Since we know that ℓ_2 is complete, it is a Hilbert space. Note that the notation is different from normed spaces. Here we have to take the complex conjugate.

13-1.11. <u>Exercise</u> A bisequence is a sequence in \mathbb{K} indexed by all integers rather then by positive integers only. A bisequence can be represented by

$$x = (\cdots, x_{-3}, x_{-2}, x_{-1}, x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3, \cdots).$$

Prove that the set b_2 of all bisequences x satisfying $\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} |x_n|^2 < \infty$ forms a Hilbert space under the coordinatewise operations and the inner product given by $\langle x, y \rangle = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} x_j y_j^-$.

13-1.12. **Exercise** Let $P_2[-\pi,\pi]$ denote the vector space of all continuous functions f on $[-\pi,\pi]$ satisfying $f(-\pi) = f(\pi)$. With $\langle x, y \rangle = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} x(t)y(t)^{-}dt$, show that $P_2[-\pi,\pi]$ is an inner product apace but not a Hilbert space.

13-1.13. **Exercise** Are \mathbb{C}_1^2 and \mathbb{C}_{∞}^2 inner product spaces?

13-2 Orthogonality in Inner Product Spaces

13-2.1. Let H be an inner product space. Two vectors x, y in H are said to be *orthogonal* if $\langle x, y \rangle = 0$. A vector x is said to be *orthogonal to a subset* B if x is orthogonal to every vector in B. A subset B of H is said to be *orthogonal* if distinct vectors in B are orthogonal. A subset of H is said to be *orthonormal* if it is an orthogonal set consisting of unit vectors only.

13-2.2. **Pythagora's Theorem** If $x \perp y$ in *H*, then $||x + y||^2 = ||x||^2 + ||y||^2$.

13-2.3. <u>Exercise</u> Let $x, y \in H$. Prove that $x \perp y$ iff we have $||x + y||^2 = ||x||^2 + ||y||^2 = ||x + iy||^2$.

13-2.4. <u>Theorem</u> Every orthogonal set B of non-zero vectors is linearly independent.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let b_1, b_2, \dots, b_n be distinct vectors in *B*. Assume $\sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j b_j = 0$ for some $\lambda_j \in \mathbb{C}$. Then for each *k*, we have

$$0 = \left\langle \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j b_j, b_k \right\rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j < b_j, b_k > = \lambda_k < b_k, b_k >.$$

Since $b_k \neq 0$, we have $\lambda_k \neq 0$. Therefore b_1, b_2, \dots, b_n are linearly independent. Consequently, *B* is linearly independent.

Let e_1, e_2, \dots, e_n be an orthonormal set and suppose a 13-2.5. Theorem vector $x \in H$ is given.

(a) For all complex numbers $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n$, we have

$$\left\| x - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j e_j \right\|^2 = \|x\|^2 + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle x, e_j \rangle - \lambda_j|^2 - \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle x, e_j \rangle|^2.$$
(b) $\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle x, e_j \rangle|^2 \le \|x\|^2$; Bessel's inequality.

Proof. Part (a) follows from direct routine calculation. Part (b) follows from (a) by choosing $\lambda_i = \langle x, e_i \rangle$.

Theorem Let B be an orthonormal set in an inner product space H. 13-2.6. Suppose that a vector $x \in H$ is given. Then

(a) the set $\{b \in B : \langle x, b \rangle \neq 0\}$ is countable; and

(b)
$$\sum_{b \in B} |\langle x, b \rangle|^2 \le ||x||^2$$
.

Proof. (a) Let $D_n = \{ b \in B : | \langle x, b \rangle |^2 > \frac{1}{n} ||x||^2 \}$. Then D_n cannot have more than n elements. Therefore $B = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n$ is countable.

(b) It follows immediately from Part (b) of last theorem.

Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence, finite or 13-2.7. **Orthonormalization Process** infinite, of linearly independent vectors in an inner product space H. Then there is an orthonormal sequence $\{e_n\}$ in H such that for each k, both $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k\}$ and $\{e_1, e_2, \dots, e_k\}$ generate the same vector subspace of H.

Proof. Let $G(z_1, z_2, \dots, z_k)$ denote the vector subspace spanned by the vectors $z_1, z_2, \dots, z_k \in H$. Let $e_1 = x_1/||x_1||$. Suppose e_1, e_2, \dots, e_k have been constructed by induction. Let $a_{k+1} = x_{k+1} - \sum_{k=1}^{k} \langle x_{k+1}, e_j \rangle e_j$. Suppose to the contrary that $a_{k+1} = 0$. Then $x_{k+1} \in G(e_1, e_2, \dots, e_k) = G(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k)$ gives the linear dependence of $x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k, x_{k+1}$ which is a contradiction. Hence $a_{k+1} \neq 0$. Define $e_{k+1} = a_{k+1} / ||a_{k+1}||$. Clearly, $||e_{k+1}|| = 1$. Also for $1 \leq p \leq k$, we have

$$< e_{k+1}, e_p > = < x_{k+1}, e_p > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_p > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > < e_j, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > -\sum_{j=1}^k < x_{k+1},$$

 $= \langle x_{k+1}, e_p \rangle - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \langle x_{k+1}, e_j \rangle \delta_{jp} = \langle x_{k+1}, e_p \rangle - \langle x_{k+1}, e_p \rangle = 0.$ Thus $e_1, e_2, \dots, e_k, e_{k+1}$ are orthonormal. Now the following calculation completes the proof

$$\begin{aligned} &G(e_1, e_2, \cdots, e_k, e_{k+1}) = G[G(e_1, e_2, \cdots, e_k), e_{k+1}] \\ &= G\left[G(e_1, e_2, \cdots, e_k), x_{k+1} - \sum_{k=1}^k < x_{k+1}, e_j > e_j\right] \\ &= G[G(e_1, e_2, \cdots, e_k), x_{k+1}] = G[G(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_k), x_{k+1}] \end{aligned}$$

 $= G(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_k, x_{k+1}).$

13-2.8. Theorem on Minimum Distance Let M be a complete convex subset of H. Then for every $x \in H$, there is a unique $y \in M$ such that ||x - y|| is the distance from x to M. See §5-2.6.

13-2.9. **Theorem** Let M be a complete vector subspace of H and let $x \in H$, $y \in M$. Then x - y is orthogonal to M iff ||x - y|| is the distance from x to M. <u>Proof</u>. (\Leftarrow) Suppose ||x - y|| is the distance d from x to M. Let z = x - y. Then for all $0 \neq a \in M$, we have

$$egin{aligned} d^2 &\leq \left\| x - \left(y + rac{\langle z, a
angle}{\|a\|^2} a
ight)
ight\|^2 &= \left\| z - rac{\langle z, a
angle}{\|a\|^2} a
ight\|^2 \ &= \|z\|^2 - |\langle z, a
angle|^2 = d^2 - |\langle z, a
angle|^2, \end{aligned}$$

i.e. $\langle z, a \rangle = 0$. Therefore x - y = z is orthogonal to M.

(⇒) Suppose x - y is orthogonal to the complete convex set M. There is $z \in M$ satisfying ||x - z|| = d. By part (a), we have $(x - z) \perp M$. Now observe

$$||x - z||^{2} = ||(x - y) + (y - z)||^{2} = ||x - y||^{2} + ||y - z||^{2},$$

$$||x - y||^{2} = ||(x - z) + (z - y)||^{2} = ||x - z||^{2} + ||z - y||^{2}.$$

 and

Adding them together, we have $||y - z||^2 = 0$, i.e. y = z. Therefore the distance from x to M is ||x - y|| = ||y - z|| = d.

13-2.10. **Theorem** Let M, N be complete subsets of H. If $M \perp N$, then the set M + N is also complete.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{x_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in M + N. Then there is $a_n \in M$ and $\overline{b_n} \in N$ such that $x_n = a_n + b_n$. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer p such that for all $m, n \ge p$, we have $||x_m - x_n|| \le \varepsilon$. Because $a_m - a_n$ is orthogonal to $b_m - b_n$, we have $\varepsilon^2 \ge ||x - m - x_n||^2 = ||(a_m - a_n) + (b_m - b_n)||^2 = ||a_m - a_n||^2 + ||b_m - b_n||^2$. Thus both $\{a_n\}$ and $\{b_n\}$ are Cauchy sequences. Since M, N are complete, let $a = \lim a_n \in M$ and $b = \lim b_n \in N$. Then $\lim x_n = \lim a_n + \lim b_n = a + b \in M + N$. Therefore M + N is also complete.

13-3 Orthonormal Bases of Hilbert Spaces

13-3.1. An orthonormal set B in an inner product space H is said to be *maximal* if for every orthonormal set S containing B, we have S = B. A maximal orthonormal set is also called an *orthonormal basis*. Let B be an

orthonormal basis of H. For each $x \in H$, the numbers $\{\langle x, b \rangle : b \in B\}$ are called the *Fourier coefficients* and the sum $\sum_{b \in B} \langle x, b \rangle b$ the *Fourier series*.

13-3.2. <u>Theorem</u> Every orthonormal set S in an inner product space H can be extended to an orthonormal basis.

<u>Proof</u>. Let \mathbb{P} be the family of all orthonormal subsets of H. Then \mathbb{P} becomes a partially order set under inclusion. For every chain C in \mathbb{P} , the union of all sets in C is an upper bound of C in \mathbb{P} . Hence by Zorn's Lemma, every orthonormal set is contained in a maximal orthonormal set, i.e. an orthonormal basis. \Box

13-3.3. <u>Pythagora's Theorem for Infinite Series</u> Let $\{x_n\}$ be an orthogonal sequence in a Hilbert space H.

(a) If $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n||^2 < \infty$, then the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ converges in *H*. Furthermore the sum $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ is independent of the order of enumeration.

(b) If the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ converges to $x \in H$, then we have $||x||^2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n||^2$. *Proof.* Since $\{x_n\}$ is orthogonal, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{m+1} + x_{m+2} + \dots + x_{m+p}\|^2 &= \|x_{m+1}\|^2 + \|x_{m+2}\|^2 + \dots + \|x_{m+3}\|^2 \\ &\leq \sum_{n=m+1}^{\infty} \|x_n\|^2 \to 0, \text{ as } m \to \infty \end{aligned}$$

Hence the partial sums $\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j$ is a Cauchy sequence in the Hilbert space H. Therefore the series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} x_j$ converges. The second assertion is obvious since we can rearrange the order of $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n||^2 < \infty$. Part (b) follows from simple calculation:

$$||x||^{2} = \lim_{n \to \infty} ||x_{1} + x_{2} + \dots + x_{n}||^{2}$$

=
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (||x_{1}||^{2} + ||x_{2}||^{2} + \dots + x_{n}||^{2}) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_{n}||^{2}.$$

13-3.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let B be an orthonormal set in a Hilbert space H. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) B is an orthonormal basis, i.e. a maximal orthonormal set.

(b) For each $x \in H$, if $x \perp B$ then x = 0.

(c) $x = \sum_{b \in B} \langle x, b \rangle \langle b, \forall x \in H$.

(d) $\langle x, y \rangle = \sum_{b \in B} \langle x, b \rangle \langle b, y \rangle, \forall x, y \in H.$

(e) $||x||^2 = \sum_{b \in B} |\langle x, b \rangle|^2, \forall x \in H$; Parseval's identity.

(f) The vector subspace spanned by B is dense in H.

<u>Proof</u>. we shall prove $(a \Leftrightarrow b \Rightarrow c \Rightarrow d \Rightarrow e \Rightarrow b)$ and also $(c \Rightarrow f \Rightarrow b)$. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Suppose to the contrary that for some $x \neq 0 \in H$, $x \perp B$. Let y = x/||x||and $M = B \cup \{y\}$. Then M is an orthonormal set containing B but not equal to B. This shows that B is not maximal. $(b \Rightarrow a)$ Suppose to the contrary that B is not maximal. There is an orthonormal set M containing B but not equal to B. Then there is $x \in M \setminus B$. Therefore we have $x \neq 0$ and $x \perp B$.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Let $J = \{b \in B : \langle x, b \rangle \neq 0\}$. Then the set J is countable and the series $\sum_{b \in B} \langle x, b \rangle b$ converges to some limit $y \in H$. For each $a \in B \setminus J$, we have

 $\langle x - y, a \rangle = \langle x, a \rangle - \sum_{b \in J} \langle x, b \rangle \langle b, a \rangle = 0 - \sum_{b \in J} \langle x, b \rangle 0 = 0$, where $\langle x, a \rangle = 0$ because $a \notin J$ and $\langle b, a \rangle = 0$ because $a \perp b$. On the other hand, for $a \in J$, we also have

$$\begin{aligned} &< x - y, a > = < x, a > - \sum_{b \in J} < x, b > < b, a > \\ &= < x, a > - \sum_{b \in J} < x, b > \delta_{ab} = < x, a > - < x, a > = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore $(x - y) \perp B$, i.e. x - y = 0. Consequently, we have

$$x = y = \sum_{b \in J} \langle x, b \rangle b = \sum_{b \in B} \langle x, b \rangle b.$$

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$ Since the set $\{b \in B : \langle x, b \rangle \neq 0\} \cup \{b \in B : \langle y, b \rangle \neq 0\}$ is countable. Let b_1, b_2, b_3, \cdots be an enumeration of this set. Then we have $x = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x, b_n \rangle b_n$ and $y = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle y, b_n \rangle b_n$. The continuity of the inner product gives

 $\begin{aligned} &< x, y > = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left\langle \sum_{j=1}^{n} < x, b_j > b_j, \sum_{k=1}^{n} < y, b_k > b_k \right\rangle \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} < x, b_j > < y, b_k >^- < b_j, b_k > \quad ; \text{ complex conjugate} \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} < x, b_j > < b_k, y > \delta_{jk} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^{n} < x, b_j > < b_j, y > \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} < x, b_j > < b_j, y > = \sum_{b \in B} < x, b > < b, y > \end{aligned}$

 $(d \Rightarrow e)$ Letting x = y, it follows immediately.

 $(e \Rightarrow b)$ Suppose $x \perp B$. Then $\langle x, b \rangle = 0$ for all $b \in B$. Therefore we have $x = \sum_{b \in B} \langle x, b \rangle b = 0$.

 $(c \Rightarrow f)$ Since every vector in H is the limit of a sequence in the vector subspace spanned by B. Therefore B is dense in H.

 $(f \Rightarrow b)$ Suppose $x \perp B$. Define $f(y) = \langle x, y \rangle$ for all $y \in H$. Let M be the vector subspace spanned by B. Then for every $y \in M$, there are $b_j \in B$ and $\beta_j \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $y = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j b_j$. Hence $f(y) = \langle x, y \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j^- \langle x, b_j \rangle = 0$. Therefore $f(M) = \{0\}$. Now $f(H) = f(\overline{M}) \subset \overline{f(M)} = \{0\} = \{0\}$. In particular, f(x) = 0, i.e. $\langle x, x \rangle = 0$, or x = 0. This completes the whole proof.

13-3.5. **Exercise** Let $e_n = (\delta_{1n}, \delta_{2n}, \cdots)$ be a sequence given by $\delta_{jn} = 1$ for j = n and $\delta_{jn} = 0$ otherwise. Show that the set $\{e_n : n \ge 1\}$ forms an orthonormal basis of ℓ_2 .

13-3.6. **Exercise** Let $e_n = (\dots, \delta_{(-2)n}, \delta_{(-1)n}, \delta_{0n}, \delta_{1n}, \delta_{2n}, \dots)$ be a bisequence given by $\delta_{jn} = 1$ for j = n and $\delta_{jn} = 0$ otherwise. Show that $\{e_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ forms an orthonormal basis of b_2 where \mathbb{Z} denotes the set of all integers.

13-3.7. **Exercise** Identify $P_2[-\pi,\pi]$ as continuous functions on the unit circle. Use Stone-Weierstrass Theorem to prove that every function in $P_2[-\pi,\pi]$ can be uniformly approximated by a trigonometric polynomial of the form $\sum_{k=-n}^{n} \alpha_k e^{inx}$ where $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{C}$. Show that the set $\{e^{inx} : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ forms an orthogonal basis of $P_2[-\pi,\pi]$. A study of Fourier Analysis is beyond the scope of this book.

13-4 Orthogonal Complements

13-4.1. Let H denote a Hilbert space. The orthogonal complement of a subset M of H is defined by $M^{\perp} = \{x \in H : x \perp M\}.$

13-4.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let M, N be non-empty subsets of a Hilbert space H.

- (a) M^{\perp} is a closed vector subspace of H.
- (b) $M \subset M^{\perp \perp}$.
- (c) If $M \subset N$, then $N^{\perp} \subset M^{\perp}$.
- (d) $M^{\perp\perp\perp} = M^{\perp}$.
- (e) $M \cap M^{\perp} \subset \{0\}.$

<u>Proof.</u> (a) For each $a \in M$, let $f_a(x) = \langle x, a \rangle, \forall x \in H$. By Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, each f_a is a continuous linear form on H. Therefore the set $M^{\perp} = \cap \{ \ker(f_a) : a \in M \}$ is a closed vector subspace of H.

(b,c) Both follow immediately from definition.

(d) It is direct consequence of (b) and (c).

(e) For each $x \in M \cap M^{\perp}$, we have $x \in M$ and $x \in M^{\perp}$. Hence $\langle x, x \rangle = 0$, i.e. x = 0.

13-4.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let M be a closed vector subspace of a Hilbert space H. (a) $H = M \oplus M^{\perp}$. (b) $M^{\perp \perp} = M$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since $M \cap M^{\perp} = \{0\}$, we need only to show $H = M + M^{\perp}$. Take any $x \in H$. Since M is a closed vector subspace, it is a complete convex set. There

is a unique $y \in M$ such that ||x - y|| is the distance from x to M. Hence x - yis orthogonal to M, i.e. $(x - y) \in M^{\perp}$. Therefore $x = y + (x - y) \in M + M^{\perp}$. Consequently, H is the algebraic direct sum of M and M^{\perp} . By the way, as a result of Closed Graph Theorem, it is also the topological direct sum.

(b) It suffices to show $M^{\perp\perp} \subset M$. Take any $x \in M^{\perp\perp}$. There is $a \in M$ and $b \in M^{\perp}$ such that x = a + b. Since $M^{\perp\perp}$ is a subspace, we have

$$b = x - a \in M^{\perp \perp} + M = M^{\perp \perp}.$$

Therefore $b \in M^{\perp} \cap M^{\perp \perp}$, i.e. b = 0. Thus $x = a \in M$. Consequently, $M^{\perp \perp} \subset M$. This completes the proof.

13-4.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let H be the algebraic direct sum of two vector subspaces M, N. If $M \perp N$, then $M = N^{\perp}$ and $N = M^{\perp}$. In particular, both M, N are closed.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $M \perp N$, we have $M \subset N^{\perp}$. Take any $x \in N^{\perp}$. Since H = M + N, write x = a + b where $a \in M$ and $b \in N$. Then $b = x - a \in N^{\perp} - M = N^{\perp}$, i.e. $b \in N \cap N^{\perp}$, or b = 0. Therefore $x = a \in M$. Consequently, $N^{\perp} \subset M$.

13-4.5. <u>Riesz Representation Theorem</u> Let f be a continuous linear form on a Hilbert space H. Then there is a unique vector $a \in H$ such that $f(x) = \langle x, a \rangle$ for all $x \in H$. Furthermore, we have ||f|| = ||a||.

<u>Proof.</u> If f = 0, then a = 0 satisfies all requirement. Assume $f \neq 0$. Take any $b \in H$ such that $f(b) \neq 0$. Since f is continuous, $M = \ker(f)$ is a closed vector subspace of H. Write b = u + v where $u \in M$ and $v \in M^{\perp}$. Hence we obtain $f(v) = f(b) - f(u) = f(b) \neq 0$ and in particular $v \neq 0$. Define $a = \frac{f(v)^{-}}{\|v\|^2}v$. Now choose any $x \in H$. Since $f\left[x - \frac{f(x)}{f(v)}v\right] = 0$, we have $x - \frac{f(x)}{f(v)}v \in \ker(f) = M$. Since $v \in M^{\perp}$, we have $\left\langle x - \frac{f(x)}{f(v)}v, v \right\rangle = 0$, i.e. $\langle x, v \rangle - \frac{f(x)}{f(v)} \langle v, v \rangle = 0$, or $f(x) = \frac{f(v) \langle x, v \rangle}{\|v\|^2} = \langle x, a \rangle$. This proves the existence. For uniqueness, let $a, b \in H$ satisfy $f(x) = \langle x, a \rangle$ and $f(x) = \langle x, b \rangle$, $\forall x \in H$. Then $\langle x, a - b \rangle = 0$, $\forall x \in H$. Take x = a - b. Then $\|a - b\|^2 = 0$, i.e. a = b. Finally, since $\|f(x)\| = \|\langle x, a \rangle \| \le \|x\| \|a\|$, we have $\|f\| \le \|a\|$. If a = 0, then $\|f\| = \|a\| = 0$. Assume $a \neq 0$. Then $\|a\| = \left\langle \frac{a}{\|a\|}, a \right\rangle = \left|f\left(\frac{a}{\|a\|}\right)\right| \le \|f\|$.

13-4.6. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every weakly Cauchy sequence in H is weakly convergent. See §7-8.4.

13-5 Adjoints

13-5.1. Let G, H be Hilbert spaces. A function $\varphi : G \times H \to \mathbb{C}$ is called a *sesquilinear form* on $G \times H$ if for all $a, b \in G; x, y \in H$ and all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ the following conditions hold:

(a) $\varphi(a + b, x) = \varphi(a, x) + \varphi(b, x)$, additive;

(b) $\varphi(\lambda a, x) = \lambda \varphi(a, x)$, homogeneous;

(c) $\varphi(a, x + y) = \varphi(a, x) + \varphi(a, y)$, additive;

(d) $\varphi(a, \lambda x) = \lambda^{-} \varphi(a, x)$, conjugate homogeneous.

The norm of a sesquilinear form φ on $G \times H$ is defined by

 $\|\varphi\| = \sup\{|\varphi(a, x)| : \|a\| \le 1, \|x\| \le 1\}.$

When G = H, we simply say that φ is a sesquilinear form on H rather than a sesquilinear form on $H \times H$.

13-5.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let φ be a sesquilinear form on $G \times H$. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) φ is continuous on $G \times H$.

(b) φ is continuous at $(0,0) \in G \times H$.

(c)
$$\|\varphi\| < \infty$$
.

In this case, we have $|\varphi(a, x)| \le \|\varphi\| \|a\| \|x\|, \forall a \in G, x \in H$.

Proof. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ It is obvious.

$$\begin{split} &(b \Rightarrow c) \text{ For } \varepsilon = 1, \text{ there is } \delta > 0 \text{ such that for all } \|b\| \le \delta \text{ in } G \text{ and all } \|y\| \le \delta \\ &\text{ in } H, \text{ we have } |\varphi(b,y)| \le \varepsilon = 1. \text{ Take any } \|a\| \le 1 \text{ in } G \text{ and } \|x\| \le 1 \text{ in } H. \\ &\text{ If either } a = 0 \text{ or } x = 0, \text{ then } |\varphi(a,x)| = 0 \le 1/\delta^2. \text{ Assume that } a \neq 0 \text{ and } \\ &x \neq 0. \text{ Then } \left|\varphi\left(\frac{\delta a}{\|a\|}, \frac{\delta x}{\|x\|}\right)\right| \le 1, \text{ i.e. } |\varphi(a,x)| \le \frac{1}{\delta^2} \|a\| \|x\| \le \frac{1}{\delta^2}. \text{ Therefore } \\ &\|\varphi\| \le \frac{1}{\delta^2} < \infty. \\ &(c \Rightarrow a) \text{ Take } a \in G \text{ and } x \in H. \text{ For } a = 0 \text{ or } x = 0, |\varphi(a,x)| = 0 \le \|\varphi\| \|a\| \|x\|. \\ &\text{ Assume that } a \neq 0 \text{ and } x \neq 0. \text{ Then we have } \left|\varphi\left(\frac{a}{\|a\|}, \frac{x}{\|x\|}\right)\right| \le \|\varphi\| < \infty, \text{ i.e. } \\ &|\varphi(a,x)| \le \|\varphi\| \|a\| \|x\|. \text{ Now fix } b \in G \text{ and } y \in H. \text{ Consider } \\ &|\varphi(a,x) - \varphi(b,y)| \le |\varphi(a-b,x-y)| + |\varphi(a-b,y)| + |\varphi(b,x-y)| \\ &\le \|\varphi\| (\|a-b\| \|x-y\| + \|a-b\| \|y\| + \|b\| \|x-y\|) \end{split}$$

which is small whenever ||a - b|| and ||x - y|| are both small. Therefore φ is continuous at $(b, y) \in G \times H$. Since b, y are arbitrary, φ is continuous on $G \times H$. This completes the proof.

13-5.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let $B : G \to H$ be a continuous linear map. Let $\varphi : G \times H \to \mathbb{C}$ be given by $\varphi(a, x) = \langle Ba, x \rangle$ for all $a \in G$ and all $x \in H$. Then φ is a continuous sesquilinear form on $G \times H$. Furthermore, we have $\|\varphi\| = \|B\|$. In this case, φ is called the *sesquilinear form associated with* the continuous linear map B.

<u>*Proof*</u>. It is routine to verify that φ is a sesquilinear form. Now for each $||a|| \leq 1$ in G and $||x|| \leq 1$ in H, we have

$$|\varphi(a,x)| = |\langle Ba,x \rangle| \le ||Ba|| ||x|| \le ||B|| ||a|| ||x|| \le ||B||.$$

Hence φ is continuous and $\|\varphi\| \le \|B\|$. On the other hand, take any $\|a\| \le 1$ in G. If Ba = 0, then clearly $\|Ba\| \le \|\varphi\|$. Assume $Ba \ne 0$. Consider

 $||Ba||^2 = \langle Ba, Ba \rangle = |\varphi(a, Ba)| \le ||\varphi|| ||a|| ||Ba||,$

i.e. $||Ba|| \le ||\varphi|| ||a|| \le ||\varphi||$. In all cases, we have $||Ba|| \le ||\varphi||$ for all $||a|| \le 1$ in G. Therefore, $||B|| \le ||\varphi||$.

13-5.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let φ be a continuous sesquilinear form on $G \times H$. Then there is a unique continuous linear map $B : G \to H$ such that

$$\varphi(a, x) = \langle Ba, x \rangle, \forall \ a \in G, \forall \ x \in H.$$

<u>Proof.</u> For each $a \in G$, let $f_a(x) = \varphi(a, x)^-$ for all $x \in H$. Since φ is a continuous sesquilinear form, f_a is a continuous linear form on H. There is a unique vector $Ba \in H$ such that $f_a(x) = \langle x, Ba \rangle, \forall x \in H$, i.e. $\varphi(a, x) = \langle Ba, x \rangle$. We have defined a map $B : G \to H$. To show its linearity, take any $a, b \in G$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C}$. Then for each $x \in H$, we have

$$< B(\alpha a + \beta b), x > = \varphi(\alpha a + \beta b, x) = \alpha \varphi(a, x) + \beta \varphi(b, x)$$
$$= \alpha < Ba, x > +\beta < Bb, x > = < \alpha Ba + \beta Bb, x > .$$

Hence $B(\alpha a + \beta b) = \alpha Ba + \beta Bb$. Therefore B is linear. Now for all $a \in G$, we get $||Ba||^2 = \langle Ba, Ba \rangle = |\varphi(a, Ba)| \le ||\varphi|| ||a|| ||Ba||$, i.e. $||Ba|| \le ||\varphi|| ||a||$. Therefore B is a continuous linear map. Suppose $A, B : G \to H$ are linear maps satisfying $\varphi(a, x) = \langle Aa, x \rangle = \langle Ba, x \rangle$ for all $a \in G$ and $x \in H$. Then $\langle Aa - Ba, x \rangle = 0, \forall x \in H$. Hence Aa - Ba = 0, or $Aa = Ba, \forall a \in G$, i.e. A = B.

Π

13-5.5. <u>Adjoint Theorem</u> For each continuous linear map $B: G \to H$, there is a unique continuous linear map $B^*: H \to G$ so that $\langle Ba, x \rangle = \langle a, B^*x \rangle$, for all $a \in G, x \in H$. In this case, B^* is called the *adjoint* of B. Furthermore, we have $||B^*|| = ||B||$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varphi(x,a) = \langle x, Ba \rangle, \forall x \in H, a \in G$. Then φ is a continuous sesquilinear form on $H \times G$. There is a continuous linear map $B^* : H \to G$ such that for all $a \in G, x \in H$, we have $\varphi(x,a) = \langle B^*x, a \rangle$, i.e. $\langle x, Ba \rangle = \langle B^*x, a \rangle$, or $\langle Ba, x \rangle = \langle a, B^*x \rangle$. Clearly we have $\|\varphi\| = \|B^*\|$. Also

$$\begin{split} \|\varphi\| &= \sup\{|\varphi(x,a)| : \|a\| \le 1, \|x\| \le 1\} \\ &= \sup\{| < x, Ba > | : \|a\| \le 1, \|x\| \le 1\} \\ &= \sup\{| < Ba, x > | : \|a\| \le 1, \|x\| \le 1\} = \|B\|. \end{split}$$

Therefore $||B^*|| = ||B||$. The uniqueness is left as an exercise.

13-5.6. **Lemma** For all continuous linear maps $A, B : G \to H$, we have (a) $(A + B)^* = A^* + B^*$; (b) $(\lambda A)^* = \lambda^- A^*$; (c) $A^{**} = A$; (d) $I^* = I$ where $I : H \to H$ denotes the identity map.

13-5.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let G, H, K be Hilbert spaces. Let $A : G \to H$ and $B : H \to K$ be continuous linear maps. Then we have $(BA)^* = A^*B^*$. Furthermore, if A is bijective, then A^{-1} is also a continuous linear map satisfying $(A^{-1})^* = (A^*)^{-1}$.

Proof. For all $a \in G$ and $y \in K$, we have

$$< a, (BA)^*y> = < BAa, y> = < Aa, B^*y> = < a, A^*B^*y>,$$

i.e. $(BA)^* = A^*B^*$. Next, suppose A is bijective. By Open-Map Theorem, A^{-1} is also a continuous linear map. Let I_G, I_H denote the identity maps on G, H respectively. Since $AA^{-1} = I_H$, we have $(A^{-1})^*A^* = (AA^{-1})^* = I_H^* = I_H$. Similarly, $A^*(A^{-1})^* = I_G$. Therefore $(A^*)^{-1} = (A^{-1})^*$.

13-5.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let G, H be Hilbert spaces and $B : G \to H$ a continuous linear map.

(a) $||B^*B|| = ||B||^2 = ||BB^*||$.

(b) $B^*B = 0$ iff B = 0.

Proof. (a) For every $||a|| \leq 1$ in G, we have

$$||Ba||^2 = \langle Ba, Ba \rangle = \langle a, B^*Ba \rangle = |\langle a, B^*Ba \rangle|$$

 $\leq \|a\| \ \|B^*Ba\| \leq \|a\| \ \|B^*B\| \ \|a\| \leq \|B^*B\|,$

i.e. $||Ba|| \leq \sqrt{||B^*B||}$. Taking supremum over $||a|| \leq 1$, we obtain $||B|| \leq \sqrt{||B^*B||}$, or $||B||^2 \leq ||B^*B||$. On the other hand, because of $||B^*B|| \leq ||B^*|| ||B|| = ||B||^2$, we get $||B^*B|| = ||B||^2$. Replacing B by B^* , we have $||BB^*|| = ||B^*||^2 = ||B||^2$.

(b) $||B^*B|| = 0$ iff $||B||^2 = 0$ iff ||B|| = 0 iff B = 0.

13-5.9. <u>Theorem</u> Let $B : G \to H$ a continuous linear map and M, N be vector subspaces of G, H respectively.

(a) If $B(M) \subset N$ then $B^*(N^{\perp}) \subset M^{\perp}$.

(b) If both M, N are closed, then the converse is also true.

<u>Proof</u>. Assume $B(M) \subset N$. Take any $x \in N^{\perp}$. Then $x \in B(M)^{\perp}$. For all $a \in M$, we have $\langle a, B^*x \rangle = \langle Ba, x \rangle = 0$. Hence $B^*x \in M^{\perp}$. Therefore $B^*(N^{\perp}) \subset M^{\perp}$. Conversely suppose $B^*(N^{\perp}) \subset M^{\perp}$. Since M, N are closed, we get $M^{\perp \perp} = M$ and $N^{\perp \perp} = N$. By (a), $B(M) = B(M^{\perp \perp}) \subset N^{\perp \perp} = N$.

13-5.10. <u>**Theorem</u>** Let $B: G \to H$ be a continuous linear map. (a) $\ker(B) = (\operatorname{Im} B^*)^{\perp}$. (b) $[\ker(B)]^{\perp} = \overline{\operatorname{Im} B^*}$.</u>

Proof. (a) From $B[\ker(B)] \subset \{0\}$ by definition, it follows

 $B^*(H) = B^*(\{0\}^{\perp}) \subset [\ker(B)]^{\perp}.$

Thus,

$$\ker(B) = \ker(B)^{\perp \perp} \subset [B^*(H)]^{\perp} = (\operatorname{Im} B^*)^{\perp}.$$

Conversely, by definition we get $B^*(H) \subset \text{Im } B^*$. Hence,

$$B[(\operatorname{Im} B^*)^{\perp}] \subset H^{\perp} = \{0\}.$$

Therefore we have, $(\operatorname{Im} B^*)^{\perp} \subset \ker(B)$. Consequently, $\ker(B) = (\operatorname{Im} B^*)^{\perp}$. (b) $[\ker(B)]^{\perp} = (\operatorname{Im} B^*)^{\perp \perp} = \overline{\operatorname{Im} B^*}$.

13-5.11. <u>Exercise</u> For ℓ_2 , find the adjoints of left and right shifts. For b_2 , define the left and right shifts and find their adjoints.

13-5.12. **Exercise** The hermitian of a complex matrix Q is defined as $Q^* = Q^{t-}$, the complex conjugate of the transpose. Let A be a continuous linear map from $G \to H$. Prove that for every orthonormal basis of G, H respectively, the matrix representations are related by $[A^*] = [A]^*$. See §7-5.8.
13-6 Quadratic Forms

13-6.1. Let H be a Hilbert space. A function $q: H \to \mathbb{C}$ is called a *quadratic* form if there is a sesquilinear form φ on H such that $q(x) = \varphi(x, x), \forall x \in H$. In this case, q is called the quadratic form associated with the sesquilinear form φ . The norm of a quadratic form q on H is defined by $||q|| = \sup\{|q(x)| : ||x|| \le 1\}$. In this section, the relationship among operators, sesquilinear forms and quadratic forms will be established. It will be used later to characterize certain properties such as being normal, self-adjoint, etc.

13-6.2. **Lemma**
$$|q(x)| \le ||q|| ||x||^2$$
, for all $x \in H$.
Proof. If $x = 0$, then $|q(x)| = 0 \le ||q|| ||x||^2$. If $x \ne 0$, then we have
 $|q(x)| = \left| \varphi \left(\frac{x}{||x||}, \frac{x}{||x||} \right) \right| ||x||^2 \le ||q|| ||x||^2$.

13-6.3. **<u>Polarization Formula</u>** Let p, q be quadratic forms on H associated with the sesquilinear forms ξ, φ respectively.

(a)
$$4\varphi(x,y) = q(x+y) - q(x-y) + iq(x+iy) - iq(x-iy), \forall x, y \in H.$$

(b) $p = q$ iff $\xi = \varphi$.

Proof. It is a routine exercise.

13-6.4. A sesquilinear form φ on a Hilbert space H is said to be

(a) real or hermitian if $\varphi(x, x)$ is real for all $x \in H$;

(b) positive if $\varphi(x, x) \ge 0$, for all $x \in H$;

(c) non-degenerate if for each $x \in H$, $\varphi(x, x) = 0$ implies x = 0.

13-6.5. **Lemma** A sesquilinear form φ on H is real iff $\varphi(x, y) = \varphi(y, x)^{-}$, for all $x, y \in H$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Suppose φ is real. Let $\xi(x, y) = \varphi(y, x)^-$ for all $x, y \in H$. Clearly ξ is also a sesquilinear form on H. Furthermore, $\xi(x, x) = \varphi(x, x), \forall x \in H$. Hence $\xi = \varphi$. Therefore $\varphi(y, x)^- = \varphi(x, y), \forall x, y \in H$. The converse is obvious. \Box

13-6.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let φ be a sesquilinear form on a Hilbert space H. If φ is positive, then we have $|\varphi(x, y)|^2 \leq \varphi(x, x)\varphi(y, y)$ for all $x, y \in H$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. If $\varphi(x, x) > 0$ or $\varphi(y, y) > 0$, the proof is identical with the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality. Now assume $\varphi(x, x) = \varphi(y, y) = 0$. Let $\lambda = \varphi(x, y)$. Then we have

$$\begin{split} & 0 \leq \varphi(x - \lambda y, x - \lambda y) = \varphi(x, x) - \lambda \varphi(y, x) - \lambda^{-} \varphi(x, y) + \lambda \lambda^{-} \varphi(y, y) \\ &= -\varphi(x, y)\varphi(y, x) - \varphi(x, y)^{-} \varphi(x, y) = -2|\varphi(x, y)|^{2}, \end{split}$$

i.e. $|\varphi(x,y)|^2 = 0 \le \varphi(x,x)\varphi(y,y)$.

13-6.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let q be the quadratic form associated with a sesquilinear form φ on a Hilbert space H. Then the following statements are equivalent. (a) q is continuous on H.

(b) $||q|| < \infty$.

(c) φ is continuous on H.

In this case, we have $||q|| \le ||\varphi|| \le 2||q||$.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose q is continuous on H. For $\varepsilon = 1$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\|y\| \leq \delta$ in H implies $|q(y)| \leq 1$. Hence for all $\|x\| \leq 1$, we have

$$|q(x)| = |\varphi(\delta x, \delta x)/\delta^2| = |q(\delta x)|/\delta^2 \le 1/\delta^2.$$

Taking supremum over $||x|| \leq 1$, we have $||q|| \leq 1/\delta^2 < \infty$. Next, assume $||q|| < \infty$. For $||x|| \leq 1$ and $||y|| \leq 1$ in H, the polarization formula gives

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi(x,y)| &= \frac{1}{4} |q(x+y) - q(x-y) + iq(x+iy) - iq(x-iy)| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4} ||q|| (||x+y||^2 + ||x-y||^2 + ||x+iy||^2 + ||x-iy||^2) \end{aligned}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \|q\| 2 (\|x\|^2 + \|y\|^2 + \|x\|^2 + \|iy\|^2),$$
 by parallelogram law

 $= \frac{1}{4} \|q\| 4(\|x\|^2 + \|y\|^2) \le \|q\|(1+1) = 2\|q\|.$

Taking supremum over $||x|| \leq 1$ and $||y|| \leq 1$, we have $||\varphi|| \leq 2||q||$. It follows that φ is continuous on H. Finally, suppose φ is continuous on H. Clearly q is also continuous. Moreover for all $||x|| \leq 1$, we have $|q(x)| = |\varphi(x, x)| \leq ||\varphi|| ||x||^2 \leq ||\varphi||$. Therefore $||q|| \leq ||\varphi||$.

13-6.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let q be a quadratic form associated with a sesquilinear form φ on a Hilbert space H. If φ is real, then $\|\varphi\| = \|q\|$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> We have prove $||q|| \leq ||\varphi||$. Take any $||x|| \leq 1$ and $||y|| \leq 1$ in H. Let $r \geq 0$ and $\theta \geq 0$ satisfy $\varphi(x, y) = re^{i\theta}$. Then polarization formula gives

$$\begin{split} &4r=4\varphi(e^{-i\theta}x,y)\\ &=q(e^{-i\theta}x+y)-q(e^{-i\theta}x-y)+iq(e^{-i\theta}x+iy)-iq(e^{-i\theta}x-iy). \end{split}$$

Since φ is real, q is real. Hence the imaginary terms vanish. Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi(x,y)| &= r = \frac{1}{4} [q(e^{-i\theta}x+y) - q(e^{-i\theta}x-y)] \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4} \|q\| (\|e^{-i\theta}x+y\|^2 + \|e^{-i\theta}x-y\|^2) = \frac{1}{4} \|q\| 2(\|x\|^2 + \|y\|^2) \leq \|q\|. \end{aligned}$$

Taking supremum over $||x|| \le 1$ and $||y|| \le 1$, we have $||\varphi|| = ||q||$.

13-6.9. **Exercise** Prove $ker(A^*A) = ker(A)$ for every operator on H.

13-7 Normal Operators

13-7.1. Let H be a Hilbert space. As in normed spaces, a continuous linear map from H into itself is also called an *operator*. The identity operator on H is denoted by I. An operator A on H is said to be

(a) isometric or an isometry if $A^*A = I$;

(b) unitary if $A^*A = AA^* = I$;

(c) normal if $A^*A = AA^*$;

- (d) self-adjoint if $A^* = A$;
- (e) skew-adjoint if $A^* = -A$.

13-7.2. Lemma Let A, B be operators on H. If $\langle Ax, x \rangle = \langle Bx, x \rangle$ for all $x \in H$, then we have A = B.

<u>*Proof*</u>. From given quadratic forms, we get $\langle Ax, y \rangle = \langle Bx, y \rangle \forall x, y \in H$. Hence A = B.

13-7.3. **Theorem** For every operator A on H, the following statements are equivalent:

(a) A is an isometry, i.e. $A^*A = I$. (b) ||Ax|| = ||x||, for all $x \in H$. (c) $\langle Ax, Ay \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle$, for all $x, y \in H$. <u>Proof</u>. $(a \Rightarrow c) \langle Ax, Ay \rangle = \langle A^*Ax, y \rangle = \langle Ix, y \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle$. ($c \Rightarrow b$) Take x = y. ($b \Rightarrow a$) $\langle A^*Ax, x \rangle = \langle Ax, Ax \rangle = ||Ax||^2 = ||x||^2 = \langle x, x \rangle$.

13-7.4. **Lemma** If A is an isometry on H, then Im(A) is a closed subspace of H.

<u>*Proof.*</u> It suffices to show that Im(A) is complete. Being an isometry, Cauchy and convergent sequences in H and Im(A) correspond.

13-7.5. **Theorem** For every operator A on H, the following statements are equivalent:

(a) A is unitary, i.e. $A^*A = AA^* = I$.

- (b) A^* is unitary.
- (c) Both A and A^* are isometric.
- (d) A is isometric and A^* is injective.
- (e) A is isometric and surjective.
- (f) A is bijective and $A^{-1} = A^*$.

Proof. $(a \Leftrightarrow b)$ It follows immediately from $A^{**} = A$.

 $(a \Rightarrow c)$ It follows from definitions.

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$ Every isometry is injective.

 $(d \Rightarrow e)$ Since A is an isometry, Im(A) is closed in H. Hence

$$\operatorname{Im}(A) = \overline{\operatorname{Im}(A)} = [\operatorname{ker}(A^*)]^{\perp} = \{0\}^{\perp} = H.$$

Therefore A is surjective.

 $(e \Rightarrow f)$ Since A is isometric, A is injective. By (e), A is bijective. Therefore A^{-1} is also an operator on H. Since A is an isometry, we have $A^*A = I$, i.e. A^* is a left inverse of A. Therefore $A^{-1} = A^*$. This proves (f).

 $(f \Rightarrow a) A^*A = A^{-1}A = I \text{ and } AA^* = AA^{-1} = I.$

13-7.6. <u>Theorem</u> For every operator A on H, the following statements are equivalent:

(a) A is normal, i.e. $A^*A = AA^*$.

(b) A^* is normal.

(c) $||A^*x|| = ||Ax||$, for all $x \in H$.

 $(\mathrm{d}) < A^*x, A^*y > = < Ax, Ay >, \text{ for all } x, y \in H.$

Proof. $(a \Leftrightarrow b)$ It follows immediately from $A^{**} = A$.

 $(a \Rightarrow d) < A^*x, A^*y > = < AA^*x, y > = < A^*Ax, y > = < Ax, Ay >.$

 $(d \Rightarrow c)$ Take x = y.

 $(c \Rightarrow a)$ For all $x \in H$, we have

 $< A^*Ax, x > = < Ax, Ax > = ||Ax||^2 = ||A^*x||^2 = < A^*x, A^*x > = < AA^*x, x >.$ Hence $A^*A = AA^*$. Therefore A is normal.

13-7.7. <u>Corollary</u> If A is a normal operator on H, then $||A^2|| = ||A||^2$.

<u>Proof</u>. Replacing x by Ax in (c) of last theorem, we have $||A^*(Ax)|| = ||A(Ax)||$, i.e. $||(A^*A)x|| = ||A^2x||$, $\forall x \in H$. Taking supremum over $||x|| \le 1$, we obtain $||A^*A|| = ||A^2||$. Since $||A^*A|| = ||A||^2$ is always true, we have $||A^2|| = ||A||^2$. \Box

13-7.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let A, B be normal operators on H. If $AB^* = B^*A$, then A + B, AB and BA are all normal.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Taking the adjoint of $AB^* = B^*A$, we have $BA^* = A^*B$. Now observe that

$$(A + B)^*(A + B) = A^*A + B^*A + A^*B + B^*B$$

= $AA^* + AB^* + BA^* + BB^* = (A + B)(A + B)^*;$

and also that

$$(AB)^*(AB) = B^*A^*AB = B^*AA^*B = AB^*A^*B$$
$$= AB^*BA^* = ABB^*A^* = (AB)(AB)^*.$$

Therefore A + B and AB are normal. Similarly, BA is also normal.

13-7.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that scalar multiplications of normal operators are normal.

13-7.10. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the product of two isometric operators is isometric. Show that the product of two unitary operators is unitary.

13-7.11. **Exercise** Let $\{e_n : n \in J\}$ be an orthonormal basis in H. Prove that an operator A on H is unitary iff $\{Ae_n : n \in J\}$ is an orthonormal basis.

13-7.12. **Exercise** Prove that the norm of an isometric operator is one.

13-7.13. **Lemma** For every normal operator A, e^{A^*-A} is unitary.

Proof. By §8-8.15c,
$$(e^{A^*-A})^* = e^{A-A^*} = e^{-(A^*-A)} = (e^{A^*-A})^{-1}$$
.

13-7.14. <u>Fuglede's Theorem</u> Let A, B be normal operators. Then for every operator T, if AT = TB, then $TA^* = TB^*$.

<u>Proof.</u> Following [Rosenblum], clearly $A^nT = TB^n$ by induction. Since $e^A = I + A + \frac{1}{2!}A^2 + \frac{1}{3!}A^3 + \cdots$ converges in norm, we have $e^AT = Te^B$, or $T = e^{-A}Te^B$. Thus $e^{A^*}Te^{-B^*} = PTQ$ where $P = e^{A^*-A}$ and $Q = e^{B-B^*}$. Since P, Q are unitary, we have $||e^{A^*}Te^{-B^*}|| \leq ||P|| ||T|| ||Q|| \leq ||T||$. Next, for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, let $f(\lambda) = e^{\lambda A^*}Te^{-\lambda B^*}$. Then $f : \mathbb{C} \to L(H)$ is an entire map. Replacing A, B by $\lambda^- A, \lambda^- B$ respectively, we have $||f(\lambda)|| \leq ||T||$ for all λ . By Liouville's Theorem, f is a constant map, that is

$$f'(\lambda) = e^{\lambda A^*} A^* T e^{-\lambda B^*} + e^{\lambda A^*} T e^{-\lambda B^*} (-B^*) = 0.$$

The result follows by setting $\lambda = 0$.

13-8 Self-Adjoint Operators

13-8.1. <u>Theorem</u> For every operator A on a Hilbert space H, the following statements are equivalent:

(a) A is self-adjoint, i.e. $A^* = A$.

(b) $\langle Ax, y \rangle = \langle Ay, x \rangle^{-}, \forall x, y \in H$, i.e. a hermitian form.

(c) $\langle Ax, x \rangle$ is real for all $x \in H$, i.e. a real-valued quadratic form.

Proof. We have proved $(b \Leftrightarrow c)$ already. Observe that

 $< A^*x, x > = < x, Ax > = < Ax, x >^-.$

Hence $A^* = A$ iff $\langle Ax, x \rangle = \langle A^*x, x \rangle, \forall x$, i.e. $\langle Ax, x \rangle = \langle Ax, x \rangle^-$, or $\langle Ax, x \rangle$ is real. We also proved $(a \Leftrightarrow c)$

13-8.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let A, B be self-adjoint operators on H.

(a) A + B is self-adjoint.

(b) λA is self-adjoint for all real number λ .

(c) AB is self-adjoint iff AB = BA.

<u>Proof.</u> For (c), if AB is self-adjoint, then $AB = (AB)^* = B^*A^* = BA$. Conversely if AB = BA, then $(AB)^* = (BA)^* = A^*B^* = AB$, i.e. AB is self-adjoint. Both (a) and (b) are left as an exercise.

13-8.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be an operator on H. Let $B = \frac{1}{2}(A + A^*)$ and $C = \frac{1}{2i}(A - A^*)$.

(a) Both B, C are self-adjoint. Also A = B + iC.

(b) If M, N are self-adjoint operators satisfying A = M + iN, then we have M = B and N = C.

(c) A is normal iff BC = CB.

<u>*Proof.*</u> For (c), $A^*A = B^2 - iCB + iBC + C^2$ and $AA^* = B^2 + iCB - iBC + C^2$. Therefore $A^*A = AA^*$ iff BC = CB.

13-8.4. <u>Exercise</u> Let A be a normal operator on H. Let B, C be the real and imaginary parts of A. Prove that $||Ax||^2 = ||Bx||^2 + ||Cx||^2$ for all $x \in H$.

13-8.5. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that an operator is skew-adjoint iff A = iC for some self-adjoint operator C.

13-8.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a self-adjoint operator on H.

(a) $||A|| = \sup\{| < Ax, x > | : ||x|| \le 1\}.$

(b) $||A^n|| = ||A||^n$ for all integer $n \ge 1$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) Let φ and q be the sesquilinear and quadratic forms associated with A. Then $||A|| = ||\varphi|| = ||q||$.

(b) It suffices to show $||A||^n \le ||A^n||$. Take any $||x|| \le 1$ in H. Then for every integer $m \ge 1$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|A^m x\|^2 &= < A^m x, A^m x > = < A^* A^m x, A^{m-1} x > \\ &= < A^{m+1} x, A^{m-1} x > \le \|A^{m+1} x\| \ \|A^{m-1} x\|. \end{split}$$

Suppose $Ax \neq 0$. Letting $m = 1, 2, \dots$, we have $A^k x \neq 0$ for all $k \ge 1$. Hence we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\|Ax\|}{\|x\|} &\leq \frac{\|A^2x\|}{\|Ax\|} \leq \frac{\|A^3x\|}{\|A^2x\|} \leq \cdots \leq \frac{\|A^nx\|}{\|A^{n-1}x\|}, \\ \left(\frac{\|Ax\|}{\|x\|}\right)^n &\leq \frac{\|Ax\|}{\|x\|} \cdot \frac{\|A^2x\|}{\|Ax\|} \cdot \frac{\|A^3x\|}{\|A^2x\|} \cdots \frac{\|A^nx\|}{\|A^{n-1}x\|} = \frac{\|A^nx\|}{\|x\|}, \end{aligned}$$

or

that is $||Ax||^n \leq ||A^nx|| ||x||^{n-1} \leq ||A^n||$. If Ax = 0, then this is obvious. Taking supremum over $||x|| \leq 1$, we have $||A||^n \leq ||A^n||$.

13-8.7. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the set of all self-adjoint operators on H is closed in L(H). Is it true for normal, skew-adjoint operators?

13-9 Projectors and Closed Vector Subspaces

13-9.1. Let *H* be a Hilbert space. An operator *A* on *H* is called a *projector* or an *orthogonal projection* if $A^* = A = A^2$. In this section, a bijection between the sets of projectors and closed vector subspaces will be established.

13-9.2. **Theorem** Let M be a closed vector subspace of a Hilbert space H. (a) There is a unique projector P onto M.

(b) $M = P(H) = \{x \in H : Px = x\} = \{x \in H : ||Px|| = ||x||\}.$

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose P, Q are projectors such that M = P(H) = Q(H). Take any $x \in H$. Then $Px \in M = Q(H)$, i.e. Px = Qy for some $y \in H$. Hence $QPx = Q^2y = Qy = Px$. Since $x \in H$ is arbitrary, we have QP = P. Similarly, PQ = Q. Now $P = P^* = (QP)^* = P^*Q^* = PQ = Q$ gives the uniqueness of the required projector. Next, we want to construct a projector from H onto M. Since M is closed, $H = M \oplus M^{\perp}$. For every $x \in H$, there is unique $a \in M$ and $b \in M^{\perp}$ such that x = a + b. Define Px = a. Then clearly, P is a linear map from H onto M satisfying $P^2 = P$ and $M = P(H) = \{x \in H : Px = x\}$. Since $a \perp b$, we obtain $||Px||^2 = ||a||^2 \leq ||a||^2 + ||b||^2 = ||x||^2$, i.e. $||Px|| \leq ||x||$. Hence Pis continuous and therefore P is an operator on H. Now for each $x \in H$, we get

 $\langle P^*x, x \rangle = \langle x, Px \rangle = \langle a+b, a \rangle = \langle a, a \rangle = \langle a, a+b \rangle = \langle Px, x \rangle$, i.e. $P^* = P$. Hence P is a projector. If Px = x, then obviously ||Px|| = ||x||. Conversely, suppose that ||Px|| = ||x|| for some $x \in H$. Then we obtain $||a||^2 = ||Px||^2 = ||x||^2 = ||a||^2 + ||b||^2$, i.e. ||b|| = 0, or b = 0. Therefore $x = a \in M$. This completes the proof.

13-9.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let P be a projector in H, Q = I - P, M = P(H) and N = Q(H).

(a) Q is also a projector. Furthermore, PQ = QP = 0.
(b) M = ker(Q) = N[⊥]; N = ker(P) = M[⊥] and H = M ⊕ N.
(c) Both M, N are closed vector subspace of H.
The operator Q is also denoted by P[⊥].

<u>Proof.</u> The calculations: $Q^2 = (I - P)^2 = I - P - P + P^2 = I - P = Q$ and $Q^* = (I - P)^* = I^* - P^* = I - P = Q$ show that Q is a projector. Furthermore, $PQ = P(I - P) = P - P^2 = P - P = 0$. Similarly, QP = 0. Next, suppose $x \in M$. Then x = Py for some $y \in H$. Now Qx = QPy = 0. Hence $M \subset \ker(Q)$. Next, suppose Qx = 0. Then x = Ix = (P + Q)x = Px, i.e. $x \in P(H) = M$. Hence $\ker(Q) \subset M$. Therefore $M = \ker(Q)$. Consequently, M is a closed vector subspace. Finally, take any $x \in H$. Then $x = Px + Qx \in M + N$. Hence H = M + N. Because of $M \cap N = \ker(Q) \cap Q(H) = \{0\}$, we get $H = M \oplus N$. Now $x \in M^{\perp}$ iff for all $y \in H$, we have $\langle x, Py \rangle = 0$, i.e. $\langle Px, y \rangle = 0$, or Px = 0. Therefore $M^{\perp} = \ker(P)$. Since P, Q are symmetric, the proof is complete. □

13-9.4. **Theorem** Let P be an operator on H. Then P is a projector iff we have $||Px||^2 = \langle Px, x \rangle$ for all $x \in H$.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose P is a projector. Let M = P(H) and $N = \ker(P)$. We have proved $H = M \oplus N$. For each $x \in H$, let x = a+b where $a \in M$ and $b \in N$. Since $M \perp N$, we get $||Px||^2 = \langle Px, Px \rangle = \langle a, a \rangle = \langle a, a + b \rangle = \langle Px, x \rangle$. Conversely, suppose $||Px||^2 = \langle Px, x \rangle$ for all $x \in H$. Then we have

 $< Px, x > = ||Px||^2 = < Px, Px > = < P^*Px, x >.$

Hence $P = P^*P$. Thus $P^* = (P^*P)^* = P^*P^{**} = P^*P = P$ and $P = P^*P = P^2$. Consequently, P is a projector.

13-9.5. <u>Theorem</u> For every projector P, we have either ||P|| = 1 or ||P|| = 0. <u>Proof</u>. It follows from $||P|| = ||PP|| = ||P^*P|| = ||P||^2$.

13-9.6. **Theorem** Let P, Q be projectors in H. Then PQ is a projector iff PQ = QP. In this case, we have $PQ(H) = P(H) \cap Q(H)$.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose PQ is a projector. Then $PQ = (PQ)^* = Q^*P^* = QP$. Conversely, suppose PQ = QP. Then we have $(PQ)^2 = PQPQ = PPQQ = PQ$ and $(PQ)^* = Q^*P^* = QP = PQ$. Therefore PQ is a projector. Finally, assume that PQ is a projector. Choose any $x \in PQ(H)$. Write x = PQy for some $y \in H$. Then $x = P(Qy) \in P(H)$ and $x = Q(Py) \in Q(H)$, i.e. $x \in P(H) \cap Q(H)$. On the other hand, take any $x \in P(H) \cap Q(H)$. Then x = Px and x = Qx. Hence $x = PQx \in PQ(H)$. Consequently, we have $PQ(H) = P(H) \cap Q(H)$. \Box

13-9.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let P, Q be projectors in H, M = P(H) and N = Q(H). Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) P + Q is a projector.

(b) $M \perp N$.

(c) P(N) = 0.

(d) PQ = 0.

In this case, P + Q is a projector onto M + N.

Proof.
$$(a \Rightarrow b)$$
 Let $x \in M$. Then $Px = x$ and
 $\|x\|^2 + \|Qx\|^2 = \|Px\|^2 + \|Qx\|^2 = \langle Px, x \rangle + \langle Qx, x \rangle$
 $= \langle (P+Q)x, x \rangle \leq \|P+Q\| \|x\|^2 \leq \|x\|^2.$

Hence ||Qx|| = 0, i.e. $x \in \ker(Q)$. Therefore $M \subset \ker(Q) = N^{\perp}$. Consequently, we have $M \perp N$.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Since $M \perp N$, we have $N \subset M^{\perp} = \ker(P)$, i.e. P(N) = 0.

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$ Suppose P(N) = 0. Then PQ(H) = P[Q(H)] = P(N) = 0, i.e. PQ = 0. $(d \Rightarrow a)$ Suppose PQ = 0. Then $QP = Q^*P^* = (PQ)^* = 0$ and thus we get $(P+Q)^2 = P^2 + PQ + QP + Q^2 = P + Q$. Clearly P + Q is self-adjoint. Therefore P + Q is also a projector. Finally, assume that P + Q is also a projector. Take any $x \in P(H) + Q(H)$. Then x = a + b with $a = Pa \in P(H)$ and $b = Qb \in Q(H)$. Hence (P+Q)x = Pa + Pb + Qa + Qb = a + PQb + QPa + b = x, i.e. $x = (P+Q)x \in (P+Q)(H)$. Therefore $P(H) + Q(H) \subset (P+Q)(H)$. The reversed inequality is obvious.

13-9.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let P_1, P_2, \dots, P_n be projectors in a Hilbert space H and let $P = P_1 + P_2 + \dots + P_n$. Then P is a projector iff $P_j P_k = 0$ for all $1 \le j \ne k \le n$. <u>Proof</u>. Suppose P is a projector and $j \ne k$. Then for all $x \in H$, we have $\frac{\sum_{j=1}^n \|P_j x\|^2}{\sum_{j=1}^n |P_j x\|^2} = \sum_{j=1}^n \langle P_j x, x \rangle = \left\langle \sum_{j=1}^n P_j x, x \right\rangle$ $= \langle Px, x \ge \|P\| \|x\|^2 \le \|x\|^2.$

Replacing x by $P_k x$, we get $\sum_{j=1}^n ||P_j P_k x||^2 \le ||P_k x||^2$, i.e. $\sum_{j \neq k} ||P_j P_k x||^2 \le 0$. Hence $P_j P_k x = 0$. Since $x \in H$ is arbitrary, we have $P_j P_k = 0$. The converse follows from simple calculations.

13-9.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that A is a projector iff $A = A^*A$.

13-9.10. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every compact projector is finite dimensional.

13-9.11. **Exercise** Prove that if A is an isometry then AA^* is a projector.

13-9.12. <u>Exercise</u> Let A, B be projectors. Prove that A + B - AB is a projector iff AB = BA.

13-9.13. Let A be an operator on H and M a vector subspace of H. Recall that M is *invariant* under A if $A(M) \subset M$. Also M is said to *reduce* A if both M and M^{\perp} are invariant under A.

13-9.14. <u>**Theorem</u>** Let A be an operator on H and P a projector in H onto a vector subspace M. Then the following statements are equivalent.</u>

(a) M is an invariant subspace of A.

(b) AP = PAP.

(c) M^{\perp} is an invariant subspace of A^* .

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose M is an invariant subspace of A. Take any $x \in H$. Then $Px \in M$. Since M is invariant under A, $APx \in M$ and hence PAPx = APx. Since x is arbitrary, we have PAP = AP. Conversely, if PAP = AP, then we get $A(M) = AP(H) = PAP(H) \subset M$ and hence M is invariant under A. Therefore (a) and (b) are equivalent. Next, M^{\perp} is invariant under A^* iff $A^*P^{\perp} = P^{\perp}A^*P^{\perp}$ iff $A^*(I-P) = (I-P)A^*(I-P)$ iff $PA^* = PA^*P$ iff AP = PAP.

13-9.15. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be an operator on H and P a projector in H onto a vector subspace M. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) M reduces A.
- (b) AP = PA.
- (c) M is invariant under both A and A^* .
- (d) M^{\perp} reduces A.

<u>Proof</u>. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Observe that $P^{\perp} = I - P$ is the projector onto M^{\perp} . Since M^{\perp} is invariant under A, we have $AP^{\perp} = P^{\perp}AP^{\perp}$, i.e. A(I-P) = (I-P)A(I-P), or PA = PAP. Since M is also invariant under A, we get AP = PAP. Therefore we obtain AP = PA.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Since PAP = (PA)P = (AP)P = AP, M is invariant under A. Similarly, PAP = P(AP) = P(PA) = PA. Taking adjoint, $PA^*P = A^*P$, i.e. M is invariant under A^* .

 $(c \Rightarrow a)$ Because M is invariant under A^* , M^{\perp} is also invariant under $A^{**} = A$. Therefore M reduces A. $(c \Leftrightarrow d)$ Since M is closed, we have $M^{\perp \perp} = M$. The result follows immediately from definition.

13-9.16. <u>Corollary</u> Let A be an operator on H and M a closed vector subspace of H.

(a) Suppose A is self-adjoint. Then M reduces A iff $A(M) \subset M$.

(b) Suppose A is unitary. Then M reduces A iff A(M) = M.

<u>Proof.</u> (b) Assume that M reduces A. Then we have $A^*(M) \subset M$, that is $\overline{M} = AA^*(M) \subset A(M)$. Since M reduces A, it is invariant under A. Consequently A(M) = M. Conversely, assume A(M) = M. Then we have $A^*(M) = A^*A(M) = I(M) = M$. Hence M is invariant under A^* . Therefore Mreduces A.

13-9.17. **Exercise** Let M be the set of $x \in \ell_2$ with zero as the first coordinate $x_1 = 0$. Show that M is invariant under the right-shift but it does not reduce the right-shift.

13-9.18. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if a closed vector subspace is invariant under a self-adjoint operator, it also reduces the operator.

13-10 Partial Order of Operators

13-10.1. Let A, B be self-adjoint operators on a Hilbert space H. Define $A \leq B$ if $\langle Ax, x \rangle \leq \langle Bx, x \rangle$ for all $x \in H$. On the other hand, an operator C on H is said to be *positive* if $C = D^*D$ for some operator D. Note that the order is defined in terms of quadratic forms but positive operators are in line of §13-7.1. It is trivial to show that every positive operator C satisfies $C \geq 0$ but the proof of the converse is delayed until §14-6.9.

13-10.2. <u>Lemma</u> Let A, B, C be self-adjoint operators on H.

(a) A ≤ A.
(b) If A ≤ B and B ≤ C, then A ≤ C.
(c) If A ≤ B and B ≤ A, then A = B.
(d) If A ≤ B, then A + C ≤ B + C and -B ≤ -A.
(e) If A ≤ B and λ ≥ 0, then λA ≤ λB.
(f) If α ≤ β in ℝ and if A ≥ 0, then αA ≤ βA.
Proof. (c) For all x ∈ H, we have < Ax, x >≤< Bx, x >≤< Ax, x >, i.e. < Ax, x > = < Bx, x > and hence A = B. The rest is left as exercise. □

13-10.3. <u>**Theorem</u>** If $A \ge 0$, then for all $x, y \in H$ we have (a) $| < Ax, y > |^2 \le < Ax, x > < Ay, y >$; (b) $||Ax||^2 \le ||A|| < Ax, x >$.</u>

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) This is the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality for sesquilinear forms. (b) It is obvious if Ax = 0. Assuming $||Ax|| \neq 0$, it follows by dividing $||Ax||^2$ from

$$\begin{aligned} \|Ax\|^{4} &= | < Ax, Ax > |^{2} \le < Ax, x > < A(Ax), Ax > ; \text{ by (a)} \\ &\le < Ax, x > \|A^{2}x\| \|Ax\| \le < Ax, x > \|A\| \|Ax\|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

13-10.4. <u>**Theorem**</u> (a) If $A \leq B$, then $T^*AT \leq T^*BT$ for every operator T. (b) If $0 \leq A \leq B$, then $||A|| \leq ||B||$.

Proof. (a) It follows immediately from

 $< T^*ATx, x> = < ATx, Tx> \leq < BTx, Tx> = < T^*BTx, x>, \quad \forall \ x \in H.$

(b) If A = 0, it is obvious. Assume $||A|| \neq 0$. For each $||x|| \leq 1$ in H, observe

 $\|Ax\|^2 \le \|A\| < Ax, x \ge \|A\| < Bx, x \ge \|A\| \|B\| \|x\|^2 \le \|A\| \|B\|.$

Taking supremum over $||x|| \le 1$, we have $||A||^2 \le ||A|| ||B||$. The result follows by dividing ||A||.

13-10.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $A_n \leq A_{n+1}$ be an increasing sequence of self-adjoint operators on H. If it has an upper bound, i.e. a self-adjoint operator $B \geq A_n, \forall n$; then there is a self-adjoint operator A such that $A_n x \to A x$ for each $x \in H$ and $A = \sup_n A_n$. Similar result holds for decreasing sequence.

<u>Proof.</u> Replacing A_n and B by $A_n - A_1$ and $B - A_1$ respectively, we may assume $A_n \ge 0$. For each $x \in H$, we have a bounded increasing sequence of real numbers $\langle A_n x, x \rangle \le \langle A_{n+1} x, x \rangle \le \langle Bx, x \rangle$ and hence it converges. Take any $m > n \ge 1$. Since $0 \le A_n \le B$, we have $||A_n|| \le ||B||$. Now observe

$$||A_m x - A_n x||^2 \le ||A_m - A_n|| < (A_m - A_n)x, x > 0$$

$$\leq 2 \|B\| (\langle A_m x, x
angle - \langle A_n x, x
angle) o 0 ext{ as } m, n o \infty.$$

Hence $\{A_nx\}$ is a Cauchy sequence. By Banach-Steinhaus Theorem, the limit $Ax = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n x$ defines an operator A on H. Since for all x the number $\langle Ax, x \rangle = \lim_{n \to \infty} \langle A_n x, x \rangle$ is real, A is self-adjoint. For every m > n, we get $\langle A_n x, x \rangle \leq \langle A_m x, x \rangle$. Letting $m \to \infty$, we have $\langle A_n x, x \rangle \leq \langle Ax, x \rangle$, i.e. $A_n \leq A$. Therefore A is an upper bound of the set $\{A_n\}$. On the other hand, let U be any upper bound of $\{A_n\}$. Then

 $< A_n x, x > \leq < Ux, x >$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we obtain $< Ax, x > \leq < Ux, x >$ for all $x \in H$, i.e. $A \leq U$.

13-10.6. Let M, N be vector subspaces of H. Then $N \cap M^{\perp}$ is called the *orthogonal complement* of M in N. It is also denoted by $N \ominus M$.

13-10.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let P, Q be projectors in H. Let M = P(H) and N = Q(H). Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $M \subset N$.
- (b) QP = P.
- (c) PQ = P.
- (d) Q P is a projector.
- (e) $\langle (Q P)x, x \rangle \geq 0$, for all $x \in H$.
- (f) $||Px|| \leq ||Qx||$, for all $x \in H$.
- (g) $P \leq Q$

In this case, Q - P is a projector onto $N \ominus M$.

<u>Proof.</u> $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Take any $x \in H$. Then $Px \in M \subset N$. Hence QPx = Px. Since x is arbitrary, QP = P.

$$(b \Rightarrow c) P = P^* = (QP)^* = P^*Q^* = PQ.$$

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$ Assume PQ = P. Then $P = P^* = (PQ)^* = Q^*P^* = QP$ and hence $(Q - P)^2 = Q^2 - PQ - QP + P^2 = Q - P - P + P = Q - P$. Clearly, Q - P is self-adjoint. Therefore Q - P is a projector.

 $\begin{aligned} &(d \Rightarrow e) \text{ Since } Q-P \text{ is a projector, } < (Q-P)x, x > = \|(Q-P)x\|^2 \ge 0, \ \forall x \in H. \\ &(e \Rightarrow f) \text{ For all } x \in H, < (Q-P)x, x \ge 0 \text{ gives } < Qx, x \ge < Px, x >, \text{ i.e.} \\ &\|Qx\|^2 \ge \|Px\|^2, \text{ or } \|Qx\| \ge \|Px\|. \end{aligned}$

 $(f \Rightarrow a)$ For any $x \in M$, we have $||x|| = ||Px|| \le ||Qx|| \le ||Q|| ||x|| \le ||x||$, i.e. ||Qx|| = ||x||, or $x \in N$. Hence $M \subset N$.

 $(e \Leftrightarrow g)$ It follows from definition.

Finally, suppose Q-P is a projector. Then $QP^{\perp} = Q(I-P) = Q-QP = Q-P$. Hence QP^{\perp} is also a projector. Therefore we have

$$(Q - P)(H) = QP^{\perp}(H) = Q(H) \cap P^{\perp}(H)$$
$$= Q(H) \cap [P(H)]^{\perp} = N \cap M^{\perp} = N \ominus M.$$

13-10.8. **Exercise** Is the left-shift on ℓ_2 an isometric, unitary, normal, self-adjoint, skew-adjoint, positive operator? Work on the same question for right-shift on ℓ_2 . Answer the same question for left and right shifts for b_2 .

13-10.9. **Exercise** Prove that if A is a positive operator on H, then

(a) $\langle Ax, x \rangle$ is positive for all $x \in H$;

(b) A is self-adjoint.

13-10.10. <u>Exercise</u> Let A, B be positive operators. Prove that if A + B = 0 then A = B = 0.

13-10.11. Let A_n, B be operators on H.

(a) $A_n \to B$ uniformly or in norm if

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\sup_{\|x\|\leq 1}\|A_nx-Bx\|=\lim_{n\to\infty}\|A_n-B\|=0.$$

(b) $A_n \to B$ strongly or $B = \text{s-lim } A_n$ if $\lim_{n \to \infty} ||A_n x - Bx|| = 0$ for each $x \in H$. (c) $A_n \to B$ weakly or $B = \text{w-lim } A_n$ if $\lim_{n \to \infty} \langle A_n x - Bx, y \rangle = 0$, $\forall x, y \in H$. Write $B = \lim A_n = \text{u-lim } A_n$ for uniform convergence or convergence in norm. It is an exercise to show that uniform convergence implies strong convergence which in turn implies weak convergence but the converses are false. Similar concept of Cauchy sequences is assumed. Note that weak convergence of vectors was defined in §7-7,8.

13-10.12. Lemma If $\{A_n\}$ is weakly Cauchy, then $\sup_n ||A_n|| < \infty$.

<u>Proof</u>. For all $x, y \in H$; let $B_n^x(y) = \langle y, A_n x \rangle$. Since $\{A_n\}$ is weakly Cauchy, $B_n^x(y) \to B^x(y)$ in \mathbb{C} . Because B_n^x are continuous linear maps, Banach-Steinhaus Theorem ensures $M^x = \sup_n ||B_n^x|| < \infty$. For $D_{ny}(x) = \langle A_n x, y \rangle$ where $||y|| \leq 1$; we have $|D_{ny}(x)| = |\langle y, A_n x \rangle| = |B_n^x(y)| \leq M^x$. Uniform boundedness theorem gives $M = \sup_{ny} ||D_{ny}|| < \infty$, that is $|\langle A_n x, y \rangle| \leq M$ for all $||x|| \leq 1$, $||y|| \leq 1$ and $n \geq 1$. Therefore for all n we have

$$|A_n|| = \sup\{| < A_n x, y > | : ||x|| \le 1, ||y|| \le 1\} \le M.$$

13-10.13. <u>Theorem</u> Strongly Cauchy sequences of operators are strongly convergent. Weakly Cauchy sequences of operators are weakly convergent.

Proof. The first statement is obvious because pointwise limits of continuous operators are continuous. Next, let $\{A_n\}$ be a weakly Cauchy sequence of operators. Then $M = \sup_n ||A_n|| < \infty$. For all $x, y \in H$; let $\varphi(x, y)$ be the limit of the Cauchy sequence $\{ < A_n x, y > \}$. Obviously φ is sesquilinear. Also for $||x|| \leq 1$, $||y|| \leq 1$; we get $|\varphi(x, y)| = \lim_{n \to \infty} ||x_n|| < M_n x, y > || \leq M$. Thus φ is continuous. There is an operator A such that $\langle Ax, y \rangle = \varphi(x, y) = \lim_{n \to \infty} ||x_n|| < M_n x, y > || < M_n x, y > ||$

13-10.14. **Example** In ℓ_2 , let $Q_n x = (0, \dots, 0, x_{n+1}, x_{n+2}, x_{n+3}, \dots)$. Then Q_n are projectors with $||Q_n|| = 1$. Hence $Q_n \to 0$ uniformly is false. However for

each $x \in \ell_2$, $||Q_n x||^2 = \sum_{k>n} |x_k|^2 \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, that is $Q_n \to 0$ strongly. There is counter example of weakly convergent sequence of operators which is not strongly convergent.

13-10.15. **Example** Let $Sx = (x_2, x_3, \cdots)$ and $A_n = S^n$. Then $A_n \to 0$ strongly for $||A_nx||^2 = \sum_{j>n} |x_j|^2 \to 0$. On the other hand, $S^*x = (0, x_1, x_2, \cdots)$ and $||A_n^*e_1|| = 1$. Hence $A_n^* \to 0$ strongly is false.

13-10.16. **Exercise** Prove that if $A_n \to 0$ weakly, then $A_n^* \to 0$ weakly.

13-10.17. <u>**Theorem</u>** If $A_n \to A$ and $B_n \to B$ strongly, then $A_n B_n \to AB$ strongly. This is false for weak convergence.</u>

<u>*Proof.*</u> For all $x \in H$, we have $A_n x \to Ax$ and $B_n x \to Bx$. By uniform boundedness theorem, $M = \sup_n ||A_n|| < \infty$. The result follows from

$$\begin{aligned} \|A_n B_n x - ABx\| &\leq \|A_n\| \ \|B_n x - Bx\| + \|A_n Bx - ABx\| \\ &\leq M \|B_n x - Bx\| + \|A_n (Bx) - A(Bx)\| \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

13-10.18. <u>Theorem</u> Let P_n be projectors onto the closed subspace M_n . (a) If $\{P_n\}$ is increasing, then $P = \text{s-lim } P_n = \sup_n P_n$ exists and is a projector onto the closed subspace $\overline{\bigcup_n M_n}$.

(b) If $\{P_n\}$ is decreasing, then $P = \text{s-lim } P_n = \inf_n P_n$ exists and is a projector onto $\cap_n M_n$.

<u>Proof</u>. We have prove the existence of $P = \text{s-lim } P_n$. Letting $n \to \infty$ in $\overline{P_n^2} = P_n = P_n^*$, P is a projector. Let Q be the projector onto the closed subspace $N = \overline{\bigcup_n M_n}$. Since $M_n \subset N$, we have $P_n \leq Q$. As the supremum, we obtain $P_n \leq P \leq Q$. From $M_n \leq P(H) \leq N$, it follows $N = \overline{\bigcup_n M_n} \subset P(H) \leq N$, that is P(H) = N. Part (b) is left as an exercise.

13-10.19. <u>Exercise</u> Let P, Q be projectors onto M, N respectively. Prove that $R = \text{s-lim} (PQP)^n = \text{s-lim} (PQ)^n$ is the projector onto $M \cap N$.

13-11 Eigenvalues

13-11.1. Let H be a Hilbert space. Suppose A is an operator on H. Recalled that a complex number λ is called an *eigenvalue* of A if there is a non-zero vector $x \in H$ such that $Ax = \lambda x$. A vector $x \in H$ is called an *eigenvector* of A if there is $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $Ax = \lambda x$. In this case, x is called an eigenvector of λ . The set of all eigenvectors of λ is called the *eigenspace* of λ . This section provides

the motivation for corresponding properties of spectrum of an operator studied in next chapter.

13-11.2. <u>Theorem</u> The eigenspace of every number is a closed subspace. The non-zero eigenvectors of distinct eigenvalues are linearly independent.

13-11.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a normal operator on H.

(a) If $Ax = \lambda x$ for $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and $x \in H$, then $A^*x = \lambda^- x$.

(b) The eigenvectors of distinct eigenvalues of A are orthogonal.

Proof. (a) Since A is normal, so is $A - \lambda I$. The result follows from:

 $||A^*x - \lambda^- x|| = ||(A - \lambda I)^*x|| = ||(A - \lambda I)x|| = 0.$

(b) Let $\lambda \neq \mu$ be eigenvalues of A and x, y eigenvectors of λ, μ respectively. Then $\lambda < x, y \ge < \lambda x, y \ge < Ax, y \ge < x, A^*y \ge < x, \mu^-y \ge \mu < x, y >$, i.e. $(\lambda - \mu) < x, y \ge = 0$, or $< x, y \ge = 0$. Therefore $x \perp y$.

13-11.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be an operator on H.

(a) If A is self-adjoint, then all eigenvalues are real.

(b) If A is skew-adjoint, then all eigenvalues are purely imaginary.

(c) If A is isometric, then the absolute value each eigenvalue is one. Note that every unitary operator is isometric.

(d) If A is positive, then all eigenvalues are positive (≥ 0).

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let λ be an eigenvalue of A and x a non-zero eigenvector of λ . (a) Observe that

$$\begin{split} \lambda \|x\|^2 &= <\lambda x, x> = \\ &= = = = \lambda^- \|x\|^2, \end{split}$$

i.e. $\lambda = \lambda^{-}$. Therefore λ is real.

(b) As above $\lambda \|x\|^2 = \langle x, A^*x \rangle = \langle x, -Ax \rangle = \langle x, -\lambda x \rangle = -\lambda^- \|x\|^2$, i.e. $\lambda = -\lambda^-$. Therefore λ is purely imaginary.

(c) Observe that $||x||^2 = ||Ax||^2 = ||\lambda x||^2 = |\lambda|^2 ||x||^2$, i.e. $|\lambda| = 1$.

(d) Since $0 \leq \langle Ax, x \rangle = \langle \lambda x, x \rangle = \lambda ||x||^2$, we have $\lambda \geq 0$.

13-11.5. **Lemma** Let A, B be operators on H. If AB = BA, then every eigenspace of B is invariant under A.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $M = \ker(B - \lambda I)$ be an eigenspace of B where $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. For every $x \in M$, $(B - \lambda I)Ax = A(B - \lambda I)x = A0 = 0$, i.e. $Ax \in \ker(B - \lambda I) = M$. Therefore M is invariant under A.

13-11.6. <u>Theorem</u> If A is a normal operator on H, then every eigenspace reduces A.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since A commute with both A and A^* , every eigenspace of A is invariant under both A and A^* .

13-11.7. **Exercise** Let A, B be operators on H. Suppose that a vector orthogonal every eigenspace of B must be zero. Prove that if each eigenspace of B is invariant under A then we have AB = BA.

13-11.8. **Exercise** Let A be an operator and x a non-zero vector. Prove that if $|\langle Ax, x \rangle| = ||Ax|| ||x||$ then x is an eigenvector of A.

13-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further</u> <u>Readings</u> : Fan-78,79,96, Ando, Young, Berberian-61, Rudin-80, Dineen-89, Arazy, Burbrea, Hwang and Isidro.

Chapter 14

Spectral Properties of Hilbert Spaces

14-1 Spectrum of an Operator

14-1.1. The properties of an operator reflected by its eigenvalue has been proved by algebraic method in last chapter. In this chapter, we shall show that similar result holds for spectrum. The following lemma is a crucial tool.

14-1.2. <u>Lemma</u> Let A be an operator on a Hilbert space H. If both A and A^* are bounded below, then A is invertible.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Since A^* is bounded below, A^* is injective, i.e. $\ker(A^*) = \{0\}$. Hence $(\operatorname{Im} A)^- = [\ker(A^*)]^{\perp} = \{0\}^{\perp} = H$. Therefore $\operatorname{Im}(A)$ is dense in H. Since A is also bounded below, A is invertible.

14-1.3. <u>Theorem</u> For every operator A on H, $I + A^*A$ is invertible.

Proof. The operator is bounded below because for every $x \in H$,

 $\|(I + A^*A)x\|^2 = \langle x + A^*Ax, x + A^*Ax \rangle$

 $= \|x\|^2 + \langle x, A^*Ax \rangle + \langle A^*Ax, x \rangle + \|A^*Ax\|^2 \ge \|x\|^2.$

Since $A^* = A$ is also bounded below, A is invertible.

14-1.4. **Lemma** $\sigma(A^*) = [\sigma(A)]^-$, the complex conjugate.

<u>*Proof*</u>. The right hand side is interpreted as $\{\lambda^- : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\}$. It follows from the fact that $A - \lambda I$ is invertible iff $A^* - \lambda^- I$ is.

14-1.5. <u>Theorem</u> If A is self-adjoint, then its spectrum consists of real numbers only.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose $\lambda = \alpha + i\beta$ where α, β are real and $\beta \neq 0$. It suffices to show $\lambda \notin \sigma(A)$, i.e. $A - \lambda I$ is invertible. Now for each $x \in H$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|(A - \alpha I \pm \beta iI)x\|^2 &= \langle (A - \alpha I \pm \beta iI)x, (A - \alpha I \pm \beta iI)x \rangle \\ &= \|(A - \alpha I)x\|^2 + \langle \pm \beta ix, (A - \alpha I)x \rangle + \langle (A - \alpha I)x, \pm \beta ix \rangle + \|\beta ix\|^2 \\ &= \|(A - \alpha I)x\|^2 \pm \beta i \langle x, (A - \alpha I)x \rangle \mp \beta i \langle (A - \alpha I)x, x \rangle + \beta^2 \|x\|^2 \end{split}$$

$$= \|(A - \alpha I)x\|^2 \pm \beta i < (A - \alpha I)x, x > \mp \beta i < (A - \alpha I)x, x > + \beta^2 \|x\|^2;$$

$$\geq \beta^2 \|x\|^2.$$

Since $\beta \neq 0$, $A - \lambda I = A - \alpha I - \beta i I$ and $(A - \lambda I)^* = A - \alpha I + \beta i I$ are bounded below. Consequently $A - \lambda I$ is invertible, i.e. $\lambda \notin \sigma(A)$.

14-1.6. <u>Theorem</u> If A is positive, then its spectrum contains positive (≥ 0) numbers only.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Since A is self-adjoint, $\sigma(A)$ contains real numbers only. Let $\lambda < 0$. Take any $x \in H$. By $A \ge 0$, we obtain $\langle Ax, x \rangle \ge 0$. Since

 $\|(A-\lambda I)x\|^2 = \|Ax\|^2 - 2\lambda < Ax, x > +\lambda^2 \|x\|^2 \ge \lambda^2 \|x\|^2,$

 $A_{\lambda}I$ is bounded below. Because $A - \lambda I$ is self-adjoint, it is invertible. Therefore $\lambda \notin \sigma(A)$. As a result, $\sigma(A)$ contains positive (\geq) numbers only.

14-1.7. <u>Theorem</u> If A is unitary, then its spectrum is a compact subset of the unit circle of the complex plane.

<u>Proof</u>. Since A is an isometry, ||A|| = 1. Therefore for every $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$, we obtain $|\lambda| \leq ||A|| = 1$. Take any $|\lambda| < 1$. Let $B = A - \lambda I$. Then we have

$$||A - B|| = ||\lambda I|| = |\lambda| < 1 = \frac{1}{||A^*||} = \frac{1}{||A^{-1}||}.$$

Since A is invertible, so is B. Hence $\lambda \notin \sigma(A)$. This completes the proof. \Box

14-1.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let φ be a continuous sesquilinear form on H. Prove that if there is a constant $\lambda > 0$ such that $\varphi(x, x) \ge \lambda \|x\|^2, \forall x \in H$ then every continuous linear form f on H has a unique $a \in H$ such that $f(x) = \varphi(x, a)$ for all $x \in H$.

14-2 Approximate Spectrum

14-2.1. Let A be an operator on a Hilbert space H. A complex number λ is called an *approximate eigenvalue* of A if there is $||x_n|| = 1$ in H such that $||Ax_n - \lambda x_n|| \to 0$. The set of all approximate eigenvalues is called the *approximate point spectrum* of A and denoted by $\alpha(A)$. It will be used to calculate the spectral radius of a self-adjoint operator. For convenience, the set of all eigenvalues is called the *point spectrum* of A and denoted by $\pi(A)$.

14-2.2. <u>Lemma</u> A complex number λ is not an approximate eigenvalue iff $A - \lambda I$ is bounded below.

14-2.3. **<u>Theorem</u>** $\pi(A) \subset \alpha(A) \subset \sigma(A)$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let λ be an eigenvalue of A. There is a non-zero eigenvector y of $\overline{\lambda}$. Let $x_n = y/||y||$. Then $||x_n|| = 1$ and $||Ax_n - \lambda x_n|| = 0$. Hence λ is an approximate eigenvalue. Therefore $\pi(A) \subset \alpha(A)$. Next, take any $\lambda \notin \sigma(A)$. Then $A - \lambda I$ is invertible. Hence $A - \lambda I$ is bounded below. Therefore λ is not an approximate eigenvalue, i.e. $\lambda \notin \alpha(A)$. Consequently, $\alpha(A) \subset \sigma(A)$.

14-2.4. **<u>Theorem</u>** If A is normal, then $\alpha(A) = \sigma(A)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\lambda \notin \alpha(A)$. Then $A - \lambda I$ is bounded below and hence its range is closed in H. Suppose to the contrary that $\operatorname{Im}(A - \lambda I)$ is not dense in H. Then $\operatorname{Im}(A - \lambda I) = \overline{\operatorname{Im}(A - \lambda I)} \neq H$. There is $x \neq 0$ such that $x \in [\operatorname{Im}(A - \lambda I)]^{\perp} = \ker(A - \lambda I)^*$. Since A is normal, so is $A - \lambda I$. Hence $\|(A - \lambda I)x\| = \|(A - \lambda I)^*x\| = 0$. Since $A - \lambda I$ is bounded below, $\|x\| = 0$, i.e. x = 0. This contradiction shows that $\operatorname{Im}(A - \lambda I)$ is dense in H. So, $A - \lambda I$ is invertible, i.e. $\lambda \notin \sigma(A)$. This proves $\sigma(A) \subset \alpha(A)$.

14-2.5. <u>Theorem</u> If A is a self-adjoint operator on H, then either ||A|| or -||A|| is in the spectrum. Furthermore, $||A|| = \sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\}$, the spectral radius.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $\lambda = ||A||$. There are $||x_n|| = 1$ in H such that $||Ax_n|| \to \lambda$. Observe that

$$\begin{split} \|A^{2}x_{n} - \lambda^{2}x_{n}\|^{2} &= \langle A^{2}x_{n} - \lambda^{2}x_{n}, A^{2}x_{n} - \lambda^{2}x_{n} \rangle \\ &= \|A^{2}x_{n}\|^{2} - \langle \lambda^{2}x_{n}, A^{2}x_{n} \rangle - \langle A^{2}x_{n}, \lambda^{2}x_{n} \rangle + \lambda^{4}\|x_{n}\|^{2} \\ &\leq \|A^{2}\|^{2}\|x_{n}\|^{2} - 2\lambda^{2} \langle Ax_{n}, Ax_{n} \rangle + \lambda^{4}\|x_{n}\|^{2} \text{ ; since } A \text{ is self-adjoint} \\ &\leq \|A\|^{4} - 2\lambda^{2}\|Ax_{n}\|^{2} + \lambda^{4} = 2\lambda^{2}(\lambda^{2} - \|Ax_{n}\|^{2}) \to 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore λ^2 is an approximate eigenvalue of A^2 , i.e. $\sigma(A^2) = [\sigma(A)]^2$. There is $\mu \in \sigma(A)$ such that $\lambda^2 = \mu^2$, i.e. $\mu = \pm ||A||$. Therefore either ||A|| or -||A|| is in the spectrum. Since $\sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\} \leq ||A||$ is always true, the proof is complete.

14-2.6. **Exercise** Prove that if A has an approximate eigenvalue λ such that $|\lambda| = ||A||$, then $||A|| = \sup_{||x|| \le 1} ||A|| \le Ax, x > |$.

14-2.7. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if λ is an approximate eigenvalue of a normal operator A then λ^{-} is an approximate eigenvalue of A^{*} .

14-2.8. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the point spectrum of the right-shift on ℓ_2 is empty but its spectrum is the closed unit ball at the origin.

14-2.9. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the spectrum of the left shift on ℓ_2 is the closed unit ball at the origin. Show that if λ is an eigenvalue, then $|\lambda| < 1$.

14-2.10. We shall work on a self-adjoint operator A on a Hilbert space H. Let $M = \sup\{\langle Ax, x \rangle : ||x|| = 1\}$ and $m = \inf\{\langle Ax, x \rangle : ||x|| = 1\}$.

14-2.11. Lemma (a) If A is self-adjoint, then
$$-||A||I \le A \le ||A||I$$
.
(b) $M = \inf\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : A \le \lambda I\}$.
(c) $m = \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : \lambda I \le A\}$.
(d) $mI \le A \le MI$.

 $\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof.} \quad (a) < Ax, x > \leq | < Ax, x > | \leq ||A|| \; ||x||^2 = < ||A|| Ix, x >, \forall x \in H.\\ \overline{\text{Hence } A \leq ||A||I. \text{ Replacing } A \text{ by } -A, -A \leq ||-A||I = ||A||I, \text{ i.e. } -||A||I \leq A.\\ (b,d) \text{ If } A \leq \lambda I, \text{ then for all } ||x|| = 1 \text{ we have } < Ax, x > \leq < \lambda Ix, x > = \lambda,\\ \text{i.e. } M \leq \lambda. \text{ Therefore } M \leq \inf\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : A \leq \lambda I\}. \text{ On the other hand,}\\ \text{by definition of } M \text{ we get } \left\langle A\left(\frac{x}{||x||}\right), \frac{x}{||x||} \right\rangle \leq M \text{ for every } x \neq 0. \text{ Thus}\\ < Ax, x > \leq M ||x||^2 = < M Ix, x > \text{ for all } x \in H. \text{ Hence } A \leq MI. \text{ Therefore } \inf\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : A \leq \lambda I\} \leq M. \end{array}$

(c,d) If $A \ge \lambda I$, then for all ||x|| = 1 we have $\langle Ax, x \rangle \ge \langle \lambda Ix, x \rangle = \lambda$, i.e. $m \ge \lambda$. Therefore $m \ge \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : A \ge \lambda I\}$. On the other hand, by definition of m we get $\langle A\left(\frac{x}{||x||}\right), \frac{x}{||x||} \rangle \ge m$ for every $x \ne 0$. Thus $\langle Ax, x \rangle \ge m||x||^2 = \langle mIx, x \rangle$ for all $x \in H$. Hence $A \ge mI$. Therefore $\sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : A \ge \lambda I\} \ge m$.

14-2.12. <u>Theorem</u> Let σ(A) be the spectrum of a self-adjoint operator A.
(a) M = sup σ(A).
(b) m = inf σ(A).

(c)
$$||A|| = \max\{|m|, |M|\}.$$

Proof. (a) For every $\lambda > M$ and every $x \neq 0$, we have

$$\begin{split} &\|(\lambda I - A)x\| \ \|x\| \ge < (\lambda I - A)x, x >= \|x\|^2 \left\langle (\lambda I - A)\frac{x}{\|x\|}, \frac{x}{\|x\|} \right\rangle \\ &= \|x\|^2 \left(\lambda - \left\langle A\frac{x}{\|x\|}, \frac{x}{\|x\|} \right\rangle \right) \ge \|x\|^2 (\lambda - M), \end{split}$$

or $\|(\lambda I - A)x\| \ge (\lambda - M)\|x\|$. Thus $\lambda I - A$ is bounded below. Hence $\lambda \notin \alpha(A)$, the approximate spectrum of A. Since A is normal, $\alpha(A) = \sigma(A)$. So, we obtain $\lambda \notin \sigma(A)$. Therefore $\sup \sigma(A) \le M$. On the other hand, by definition of M

there is $||x_n|| = 1$ such that $M - \frac{1}{n} \leq Ax_n, x_n > N$. Suppose to the contrary that $M \notin \sigma(A)$. Then MI - A is invertible. Hence

$$\begin{split} &1 = \|x_n\|^2 = \|(MI - A)^{-1}(MI - A)x_n\|^2 \\ &\leq \|(MI - A)^{-1}\|^2\|(MI - A)x_n\|^2 \\ &\leq \|(MI - A)^{-1}\|^2\|(MI - A)\| < (MI - A)x_n, x_n > \\ &= \|(MI - A)^{-1}\|^2\|(MI - A)\|[M - < Ax_n, x_n >] \\ &\leq \|(MI - A)^{-1}\|^2\|(MI - A)\|[M - (M - \frac{1}{n})] \\ &= \|(MI - A)^{-1}\|^2\|(MI - A)\| \cdot \frac{1}{n} \to 0. \end{split}$$

This is a contradiction. Hence $M \in \sigma(A)$. Therefore $M = \sup \sigma(A)$. (b) It follows from the following calculation:

$$m = \inf\{\langle Ax, x \rangle : ||x|| = 1\} = -\sup\{\langle -Ax, x \rangle : ||x|| = 1\}$$

= $-\sup \sigma(-A) = -\sup[-\sigma(A)] = \inf \sigma(A).$

(c) Since $\sigma(A)$ is compact, we have $m, M \in \sigma(A)$. Hence $|m|, |M| \leq ||A||$, or $\max\{|m|, |M|\} \leq ||A||$. Next, for all $0 < ||x|| \leq 1$ we have

$$m \le \left\langle A \frac{x}{\|x\|}, \frac{x}{\|x\|} \right\rangle \le M$$

by definition of m, M. Hence we obtain $\left|\left\langle A\frac{x}{\|x\|}, \frac{x}{\|x\|}\right\rangle\right| \le \max\{|m|, |M|\}$, or $| < Ax, x > | \le \|x\|^2 \max\{|m|, |M|\} \le \max\{|m|, |M|\}$. Since A is self-adjoint, taking supremum over $\|x\| \le 1$ we have

$$||A|| = \sup\{| < Ax, x > |: ||x|| \le 1\} \le \max\{|m|, |M|\}.$$

14-2.13. <u>Corollary</u> A positive operator A is invertible iff there is $\delta > 0$ such that $A \ge \delta I$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (\Rightarrow) Since A is invertible, $0 \notin \sigma(A)$. Because $A \ge 0$, we have $\sigma(A) \ge 0$. Thus $m = \inf \sigma(A) > 0$ and $A \ge mI$.

(\Leftarrow) From $\delta \|x\|^2 = \langle \delta Ix, x \rangle \leq \langle Ax, x \rangle \leq \|Ax\| \|x\|$, we have $\|Ax\| \geq \delta \|x\|$. Since $A \geq 0$, both A, A^* are bounded below. Therefore A is invertible.

14-3 Weak Convergence

14-3.1. Weak convergence in Banach spaces are applicable in Hilbert spaces. We shall prove directly that the unit ball of a Hilbert space is weakly sequentially compact even though it is reducible to reflexive Banach spaces. 14-3.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let H be a Hilbert space. If $x_n \to a$ weakly in H and if $||x_n|| \to ||a||$, then $x_n \to a$ strongly.

Proof. It follows easily from the following calculation

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_n - a\|^2 &= \langle x_n - a, x_n - a \rangle \\ &= \|x_n\|^2 - \langle a, x_n \rangle - \langle x_n, a \rangle + \langle a, a \rangle \\ &\to \|a\|^2 - \langle a, a \rangle - \langle a, a \rangle + \langle a, a \rangle = 0. \end{aligned}$$

14-3.3. <u>Theorem</u> Every weakly Cauchy sequence $\{x_n\}$ in H is weakly convergent. In other words, every Hilbert space is weakly sequentially complete.

<u>Proof</u>. Instead of quoting the corresponding result in reflexive Banach space, we give a direct proof here. Let $z \in H$ be given. Since $\{\langle x_n, z \rangle\}$ is Cauchy in \mathbb{C} , it converges and so does its complex conjugate $\{\langle z, x_n \rangle\}$. Define $f(z) = \lim \langle z, x_n \rangle, \forall z \in H$. Then f is a linear form in z on H. Since $\{x_n\}$ is weakly Cauchy, it is bounded. There is $\lambda > 0$ such that $||x_n|| \leq \lambda$ for all n. Because $|f(z)| = \lim |\langle z, x_n \rangle| \leq ||z||\lambda$, f is a continuous linear form on H. There is $a \in H$ such that $f(z) = \langle z, a \rangle, \forall z \in H$. Therefore $\langle x_n, z \rangle \rightarrow \langle a, z \rangle$ for all z. Consequently $x_n \rightarrow a$ weakly.

14-3.4. **Lemma** For all in integers $m, n \ge 1$, let a_{mn} be complex numbers such that the sequence $\{a_{mn} : n \ge 1\}$ is a bounded sequence for each given m. Then there is a sequence $1 \le n(1) < n(2) < n(3) < \cdots$ of integers such that for each m, the sequence $\{a_{mn(j)} : j \ge 1\}$ converges.

Proof. It is an exercise to apply the standard *diagonal process*. \Box

14-3.5. <u>Theorem</u> Every bounded sequence $\{x_n\}$ in H contains a weakly convergent subsequence.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{x_n\}$ be a bounded sequence in H. Let M be the closed vector subspace spanned by $\{x_n : n \ge 1\}$. If M is finite dimensional, then $\{x_n\}$ has a strongly convergent subsequence which is also weakly convergent. Hence we need only to consider the case when M is infinite dimensional. Applying the orthonormalization process to $\{x_n\}$ and deleting some x_k if it is linearly dependent on the preceding terms, we can construct an orthonormal basis $\{e_m : m \ge 1\}$ for M. Since $\{x_n\}$ is bounded, the sequence $\{< e_m, x_n >\}$ is bounded for each given m. There are integers $1 \le n(1) < n(2) < \cdots$ such that $\{< e_m, x_{n(j)} >: j \ge 1\}$ converges for each m. Now take any $u \in M$, we claim that $\{< u, x_{n(j)} >: j \ge 1\}$ is Cauchy. In fact, suppose $\varepsilon > 0$ is given. There is a finite linear combination $y = \sum_{k=1}^{p} \alpha_k e_k$ such that $||u - y|| \leq \varepsilon$. Then the sequence given by $\langle y, x_{n(j)} \rangle = \sum_{k=1}^{p} \alpha_k \langle e_k, x_{n(j)} \rangle$ converges as $j \to \infty$. Hence $\{\langle y, x_{n(j)} \rangle : j \geq 1\}$ is Cauchy. There is an integer j_0 such that for all $i, j \geq j_0$, we have $|\langle y, x_{n(i)} \rangle - \langle y, x_{n(j)} \rangle | \leq \varepsilon$. Since $\{x_n\}$ is bounded, there is $\lambda > 0$ satisfying $||x_n|| \leq \lambda, \forall n$. Now for all $i, j \geq j_0$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} | < u, x_{n(i)} > - < u, x_{n(j)} > | = | < u, x_{n(i)} - x_{n(j)} > | \\ \le | < u - y, x_{n(i)} - x_{n(j)} > | + | < y, x_{n(i)} - x_{n(j)} > | \\ \le ||u - y|| ||x_{n(i)} - x_{n(j)}|| + | < y, x_{n(i)} - x_{n(j)} > | \le \varepsilon (\lambda + \lambda) + \varepsilon = (2\lambda + 1)\varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore $\{\langle u, x_{n(j)} \rangle : j \geq 1\}$ is Cauchy and hence converges in \mathbb{C} . Now take any $z \in H$. Write z = u + v where $u \in M$ and $v \in M^{\perp}$. Since $x_{n(j)} \in M$, the sequence $\langle z, x_{n(j)} \rangle = \langle u, x_{n(j)} \rangle + \langle v, x_{n(j)} \rangle = \langle u, x_{n(j)} \rangle$ converges as $j \to \infty$. Therefore its complex conjugate $\{\langle x_{n(j)}, z \rangle : j \geq 1\}$ also converges. Consequently, $\{x_{n(j)}\}$ is weakly convergent.

14-3.6. <u>Corollary</u> Every sequence in the closed unit ball of H has a subsequence which is weakly convergent to some point of the closed unit ball. In other words, the closed unit ball of a Hilbert space is *weakly sequentially compact*.

<u>Proof</u>. A sequence $\{x_n\}$ in the closed unit ball is bounded. It has a subsequence $\{y_n\}$ weakly convergent to some $a \in H$. Hence for each $z \in H$, we have $\langle z, y_n \rangle \rightarrow \langle z, a \rangle$. It follows from the Banach-Steinhaus Theorem that $||a|| \leq \liminf ||y_n|| \leq 1$, i.e. a lies in the closed unit ball.

14-4 Diagonal Operators

14-4.1. Let $\{u_n\}$ and $\{e_n\}$ be orthonormal sequences in Hilbert spaces H, G respectively. Let $\{\lambda_n : n \ge 1\}$ be a bounded sequence of complex numbers. We allow λ_n to be zero and the sequence may be finite or infinite. For each n, let $u_n \otimes e_n(x) = \langle x, u_n \rangle e_n$, for every $x \in H$. Clearly, each $u_n \otimes e_n$ is a one dimensional continuous linear map from H into G. In this section, we shall study the following series: $A = \sum_{n\ge 1} \lambda_n u_n \otimes e_n$. Diagonal operators will be introduced as a special case.

14-4.2. **Lemma** A is a continuous linear operator on H. Furthermore we have $Au_n = \lambda_n e_n$, $\lambda_n = \langle Au_n, e_n \rangle$ and $||A|| = \sup |\lambda_n|$.

Proof. Let $t = \sup |\lambda_n|$. By Bessel's Inequality, we have

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} \|\lambda_n < x, u_n > e_n\|^2 \le t^2 \sum_{n \ge 1} | < x, u_n > |^2 \le t^2 \|x\|^2$$

Hence the series $Ax = \sum_{n \ge 1} \lambda_n < x, u_n > e_n$ converges in norm and its sum is independent of the order of summation. Clearly, A is linear. Because

$$||Ax||^2 = \sum_{n \ge 1} ||\lambda_n < x, u_n > e_n||^2 \le t^2 ||x||^2,$$

A is continuous and $||A|| \leq t$. On the other hand, for each $j \geq 1$, we obtain

$$Au_j = \sum_{n\geq 1} \lambda_n < u_j, u_n > e_n = \lambda_j e_j$$

Clearly $\lambda_j = \langle \lambda_j e_j, e_j \rangle = \langle Au_j, e_j \rangle$. Furthermore we have

$$A \| \ge \|Au_j\| = |\lambda_j| \|u_j\| = |\lambda_j|.$$

Since j is arbitrary, $||A|| \ge t$. This completes the proof.

I

14-4.3. **Corollary** Let
$$B = \sum_{n \ge 1} \nu_n u_n \otimes e_n$$
. If $A = B$, then $\lambda_n = \nu_n$, $\forall n$.
Proof. $\lambda_n = \langle Au_n, e_n \rangle = \langle Bu_n, e_n \rangle = \nu_n$.

14-4.4. **Theorem**
$$A^* = \sum_{n>1} \lambda_n^- e_n \otimes u_n$$

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since $\{\lambda_n^-\}$ is bounded, $B = \sum_{n \ge 1} \lambda_n^- e_n \otimes u_n$ is a continuous linear map from G into H. For all $x \in H$ and $y \in G$, observe that

$$\begin{split} & \langle x, A^*y \rangle = \langle Ax, y \rangle = \left\langle \sum_{n \ge 1} \lambda_n < x, u_n > e_n, y \right\rangle \\ & = \sum_{n \ge 1} \lambda_n < x, u_n > \langle e_n, y \rangle = \left\langle x, \sum_{n \ge 1} \lambda_n^- < y, e_n > u_n \right\rangle \ = \langle x, By \rangle. \\ & \text{Therefore } A^* = B. \end{split}$$

14-4.5. **Theorem** $BA = \sum_{n\geq 1} \lambda_n \nu_n u_n \otimes w_n$ for $B = \sum_{n\geq 1} \nu_n e_n \otimes w_n$ where $\{w_n\}$ be an orthonormal sequence in a Hilbert space K and $\{\nu_n\}$ a bounded sequence of complex numbers.

$$\underline{Proof}. \quad BAx = \sum_{n \ge 1} \nu_n < Ax, e_n > w_n$$

$$= \sum_{n \ge 1} \nu_n \left\langle \sum_{k \ge 1} \lambda_k < x, u_k > e_k, e_n \right\rangle w_n$$

$$= \sum_{n \ge 1} \nu_n \sum_{k \ge 1} \lambda_k < x, u_k > < e_k, e_n > w_n$$

$$= \sum_{n \ge 1} \nu_n \sum_{k \ge 1} \lambda_k < x, u_k > \delta_{nk} w_n = \sum_{n \ge 1} \nu_n \lambda_n < x, u_n > w_n.$$

14-4.6. For the rest of this section, we shall study a special case when H = G and $u_n = e_n$ for all n. A *diagonal* operator has the form $A = \sum_{n\geq 1} \lambda_n e_n \otimes e_n$ where $\{e_n\}$ is an orthonormal sequence in H and $\{\lambda_n\}$ a bounded sequence of complex numbers. The sequence can be finite or infinite. An operator is said to be *diagonable* if it can be represented as a diagonal operator. We shall study a diagonal operator given above.

14-4.7. <u>Theorem</u> Every diagonal operator is normal.

Proof. It follow from the following simple computation

$$A^*Ax = \sum_{n \ge 1} \lambda_n^- \lambda_n < x, e_n > e_n = \sum_{n \ge 1} \lambda_n \lambda_n^- < x, e_n > e_n = AA^*x.$$

14-4.8. **Lemma** Every non-zero eigenvalue of A is some λ_n .

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let ||x|| = 1 be an eigenvector corresponding to a non-zero eigenvalue α . Then $Ax = \alpha x$, i.e. $\sum_{j\geq 1} \lambda_j < x, e_j > e_j = \alpha x$. Since $\alpha x \neq 0$, there is some n satisfying $< x, e_n > \neq 0$. Hence we have

Since $\langle x, e_n \rangle \neq 0$, we have $\alpha = \lambda_n$.

14-4.9. <u>Theorem</u> A diagonable operator is self-adjoint (respectively skewadjoint) iff all eigenvalues are real (respectively purely imaginary).

<u>*Proof.*</u> A is self-adjoint iff $A^* = A$ iff $\lambda_n^- = \lambda_n$ for each n iff all λ_n are real. Similarly we can the case for skew-adjoint operators.

14-4.10. <u>Theorem</u> A diagonable operator is positive iff all eigenvalues are positive (≥ 0) .

<u>Proof</u>. Assume that all $\lambda_n \geq 0$. Then $\{\sqrt{\lambda_n}\}$ is also a bounded sequence. Define an operator by $B = \sum_{n\geq 1} \sqrt{\lambda_n} e_n \otimes e_n$. Direct calculation gives $A = B^*B$. Hence A is positive. The converse was proved in §13-11.4d. \Box

14-4.11. <u>**Theorem</u>** For every diagonable operator A, the following statements are equivalent:</u>

- (a) A is a projector.
- (b) A is an idempotent.
- (c) All eigenvalues are either zero or one.

<u>*Proof*</u>. For $(b \Rightarrow c)$ If $A^2 = A$, then $\lambda_n^2 = \lambda_n$, i.e. $\lambda_n = 0$ or 1. The case: $(b \Rightarrow c)$ follows by definition and $(c \Rightarrow a)$ by direct calculation.

14-5 Compact Operators

14-5.1. In this section, we shall prove that compact normal operators are diagonable and that every compact operator can be approximated in norm by finite dimensional operators. Let H, G be Hilbert spaces.

14-5.2. **Theorem** A continuous linear map $A: H \to G$ is compact iff it takes every weakly convergent sequence into a strongly convergent sequence.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Leftarrow) Let $\{x_n\}$ be any bounded sequence in H. It has a weakly convergent subsequence $\{y_n\}$. Hence $\{Ay_n\}$ converges strongly. Therefore A is a compact operator.

(⇒) Let A be a compact operator on H and $\{x_n\}$ a sequence weakly convergent to some $x \in H$. Suppose to the contrary that $||Ax_n - Ax|| \neq 0$. Then there is $\varepsilon > 0$ and a subsequence $\{y_n\}$ of $\{x_n\}$ such that $||Ay_n - Ax|| > \varepsilon$ for all n. Since $\{x_n\}$ is weakly convergent, it is bounded. By compactness of A, there is $b \in G$ and a subsequence $\{z_n\}$ of $\{y_n\}$ such that $||Az_n - b|| \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Since $x_n \to x$ weakly, we have $z_n \to x$ weakly and consequently $Az_n \to Ax$ weakly. Hence b = Ax. Now the contradiction of $||Az_n - Ax|| > \varepsilon$ and $||Az_n - b|| \to 0$ completes the proof.

14-5.3. **Lemma** If $x_n \to a$ weakly and $y_n \to b$ strongly both in H, then we have $\langle x_n, y_n \rangle \to \langle a, b \rangle$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since $\{x_n\}$ is weakly convergent, it is bounded. There is $\lambda > 0$ such that $||x_n|| \leq \lambda$ for all n. Now

$$\begin{split} | < & x_n, y_n > - < a, b > | \le | < x_n, y_n - b > | + | < x_n, b > - < a, b > | \\ \le \|x_n\| \|y_n - b\| + | < & x_n - a, b > | \le \lambda \|y_n - b\| + | < & x_n - a, b > | \to 0. \Box$$

14-5.4. **Theorem** If $A : H \to G$ is a compact operator, then so is $A^* : G \to H$. <u>Proof</u>. Let $x_n \to b$ weakly in G. Since AA^* is compact, $AA^*x_n \to AA^*b$ strongly. Hence $\langle AA^*x_n, x_n \rangle \to \langle AA^*b, b \rangle$, i.e. $||A^*x_n||^2 \to ||A^*b||^2$, or $||A^*x_n|| \to ||A^*b||$. Since $A^*x_n \to A^*b$ weakly, $A^*x_n \to A^*b$ strongly. Consequently, A^* is compact.

14-5.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $\{u_n\}$ and $\{e_n\}$ be orthonormal sequences in H, G respectively. Let $\{\lambda_n : n \ge 1\}$ be a bounded sequence of complex numbers. Then the operator $A = \sum_{n>1} \lambda_n u_n \otimes e_n$ is compact iff $\lambda_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow) Assume that A is compact. Suppose to the contrary that $\lambda_n \neq 0$. Then for some $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a subsequence $|\lambda_{n(j)}| \ge \varepsilon, \forall j$. Since $u_{n(j)} \to 0$ weakly, we have $Au_{n(j)} \to A0 = 0$ in norm. Now a contradiction is obtained from $||Au_{n(j)}|| = ||\lambda_{n(j)}e_{n(j)}|| = |\lambda_{n(j)}| \ge \varepsilon$.

(\Leftarrow) Assume $\lambda_n \to 0$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer p such that for all $n \ge p$ we have $|\lambda_n| \le \varepsilon$. Then $Q = \sum_{j=1}^p \lambda_j u_j \otimes e_j$ is a finite dimensional linear map from H into G. Now for all $||x|| \le 1$,

$$\begin{split} \|(A-Q)x\|^2 &= \left\|\sum_{j=p+1}^{\infty} \lambda_j < x, u_j > e_j\right\|^2 \le \sum_{j=p+1}^{\infty} |\lambda_j|^2 | < x, u_j > |^2 \|e_j\|^2 \\ &\le \varepsilon^2 \sum_{j=p+1}^{\infty} | < x, u_j > | \le \varepsilon^2 \|x\|^2 \le \varepsilon^2 \quad \text{; by Bessel's inequality.} \end{split}$$

Taking supremum over $||x|| \le 1$, we have $||A - Q|| \le \varepsilon$. Since Q is finite dimensional, A is compact.

14-5.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a compact normal operator on a Hilbert space $H \neq \{0\}$. Then there is an eigenvalue λ of A such that $|\lambda| = ||A||$.

<u>Proof</u>. If A = 0, then $\lambda = 0$ is a required eigenvalue. Assume $A \neq 0$. Due to $||A|| = \sup\{||Ax|| : ||x|| = 1\}$, there is a sequence $\{x_n\}$ in H such that $||x_n|| = 1$ and $\lim ||Ax_n|| = ||A||$. Since A is compact, replacing by subsequence we may assume $Ax_n \to y$ strongly for some $y \in H$. Let $B = A^*A$ and $\beta = ||B||$. Then we have $\beta = ||B|| = ||A^*A|| = ||A||^2 \neq 0$. Observe that

$$\begin{split} \|Bx_n - \beta x_n\|^2 &= \|Bx_n\|^2 - 2 < Bx_n, x_n > +\beta^2 \|x_n\|^2 \\ &\leq \|B\|^2 \|x_n\|^2 - 2 < A^* Ax_n, x_n > +\beta^2 = \beta^2 - 2\|Ax_n\|^2 + \beta^2 \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty. \end{split}$$

Hence $Bx_n \to \beta x_n \to 0$. Let $z = A^*y$. Because of $Ax_n \to y$, we obtain $Bx_n = A^*(Ax_n) \to A^*y = z$. Therefore $\beta x_n = (\beta x_n - Bx_n) + Bx_n \to 0 + z = z$. Thus $\beta = \lim \|\beta x_n\| = \|z\|$, i.e. $z \neq 0$. Also $Bz = B(\lim \beta x_n) = \beta \lim Bx_n = \beta z$. Therefore β is an eigenvalue of B. Let $N = \ker(\beta I - B)$. Because $z \neq 0$ is in N, we get $N \neq \{0\}$. Since $B = A^*A$ is compact and $\beta \neq 0$, we have dim $N < \infty$. Now the normality of A gives AB = BA and thus $A(N) \subset N$. Considering the characteristic polynomial of A|N, there is $u \in N$ such that $\|u\| = 1$ and $Au = \lambda u$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Since $u \in N$, we have $Bu = \beta u$. On the other hand,

$$Bu = A^*Au = A^*(\lambda u) = \lambda A^*u = \lambda \lambda^- u.$$

Therefore $\beta u = \lambda \lambda^{-} u$, i.e. $|\lambda|^{2} = \beta = ||B|| = ||A||^{2}$, or $|\lambda| = ||A||$.

14-5.7. **Theorem** Let $\{H_n\}$ be a sequence, finite or infinite, of orthogonal closed subspaces of a Hilbert space H. Then the set $\sum_{n\geq 1} H_n$ of all convergent series $x = \sum_{n\geq 1} x_n$ for $x_n \in H_n$ is the closed vector subspace spanned by $\bigcup_{n\geq 1} H_n$. Furthermore, if Q, P_k are the projectors onto $\sum_{n\geq 1} H_n$ and H_k respectively, then for each $x \in H$ we have a convergent series $Qx = \sum_{n\geq 1} P_n x$. **Proof**. Allowing $H_n = \{0\}$, we may work with the infinite sequence. Take any $x = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ and $y = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} y_n$ where $x_n, y_n \in H_n$. Since

$$\sqrt{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n + y_n\|^2} \le \sqrt{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n\|^2} + \sqrt{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|y_n\|^2} = \|x\| + \|y\| < \infty,$$

the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (x_n + y_n)$ converges and hence $x + y \in \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$. Similarly $\lambda x \in \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$. Thus $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$ is a vector subspace of H. Next we claim that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$ is closed. In fact, take any closure point y of $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$. Write $y = \lim x^j$ where $x^j = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^j$ and $x_n^j \in H_n$. Since $\{x^j\}$ is a Cauchy sequence, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an integer p such that for all $j, k \ge p$ we have $\|x^j - x^k\| \le \varepsilon$. By $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n^j - x_n^k\|^2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x^j - x^k\|^2 \le \varepsilon^2$, for each n the sequence $\{x_n^j : j \ge 1\}$ is Cauchy. Since H_n is closed in the complete space H, we can write $\lim_{j\to\infty} x_n^j = x_n \in H_n$. Letting $k \to \infty$ in the inequality $\sum_{n=1}^{m} \|x_n^j - x_n^k\|^2 \le \varepsilon^2$, we have $\sum_{n=1}^{m} \|x_n^j - x_n\|^2 \le \varepsilon^2$. Since m is arbitrary, we get $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$. Moreover, $\|x^j - x\|^2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n^j - x_n\|^2 \le \varepsilon^2$, $\forall j \ge p$. In other words, $y = \lim x^j = x \in \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$. Therefore $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$ is a closed vector subspace of H. Clearly, it is the smallest one containing $\bigcup_n H_n$. Finally take any $x \in H$. Since $Qx \in \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$, write $Qx = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ where $x_n \in H_n$. For each $j, P_j x = P_j Qx = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} P_j x_n = x_j$. Therefore $Qx = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} P_n x$.

14-5.8. Let A be a compact normal operator on a H. Let $|\lambda_1| \ge |\lambda_2| \ge |\lambda_3| \ge$... be an enumeration of all non-zero eigenvalues of A repeated according to its multiplicity. It may be a null, or finite or infinite sequence. If it is null, then A must be the zero operator. Hence we assume A has at least one non-zero eigenvalue in the following context. For each $n \ge 1$, let $H_n = \ker(A - \lambda_n I)$ denote the eigenspace of λ_n and let $H_0 = \ker(A)$. For every $n \ge 0$, let P_n be the projector onto the closed vector subspace H_n . Note that for each $n \ge 1$, H_n is finite dimensional but H_0 may be infinite dimensional. The following theorem shows the existence of a spectral resolution of the identity.

14-5.9. **Theorem** For each $x \in H$, the series $x = \sum_{n\geq 0} P_n x$ converges and we also have $P_j P_k = 0$ for all $j \neq k$. It is called the *spectral expansion* of x with respect to the enumeration $|\lambda_1| \geq |\lambda_2| \geq |\lambda_3| \geq \cdots$ of eigenvalues of A.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $M = \sum_{n \ge 1} H_n$. Clearly for all $n \ge 1$, we have $A(H_n) \subset H_n$ and hence $A(M) \subset M$, or $A^*(M^{\perp}) \subset M^{\perp}$. Next we claim that every eigenvalue λ of the restriction $A^*|M^{\perp}$ must be zero. Suppose to the contrary that $\lambda \neq 0$ is an eigenvalue of $A^*|M^{\perp}$. Then there is $x \neq 0$ in M^{\perp} satisfying $A^*x = \lambda x$, or $Ax = \lambda^- x$. Since $\{\lambda_n : n \ge 1\}$ is an enumeration of all non-zero eigenvalues of A, we have $\lambda^- = \lambda_n$ for some n. Then $x \in H_n \subset M$. This is a contradiction to $M \cap M^{\perp} = \{0\}$. Therefore $\lambda = 0$. Since A is compact normal, so is $A^*|M^{\perp}$. Thus $||A^*|M^{\perp}||$ is maximum of all eigenvalues. It follows that $A^*|M^{\perp}$ is a zero operator. Hence $M^{\perp} \subset \ker(A^*) = \ker(A)$ by normality of A. Now take any $x \in H$. Since $H = M^{\perp} \oplus M$, we can write $x = x_0 + \sum_{n \ge 1} x_n$ where $x_n \in H_n$. Therefore $x = \sum_{n \ge 0} P_n x$. Because $H_j \perp H_k$ for all $j \neq k$, we have $P_j P_k = 0$. \Box

14-5.10. **Lemma** If the enumeration $|\lambda_1| \ge |\lambda_2| \ge \cdots |\lambda_k| > 0$ of all non-zero eigenvalues of a compact normal operator A on H is *finite*, then $A = \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n P_n$. Consequently, A is finite dimensional.

<u>Proof.</u> Take any $x \in H$. Then there is $x_n \in H_n$ for each $n \ge 0$ such that $x = \sum_{n=0}^{k} x_n$. Now $Ax = \sum_{n=0}^{k} Ax_n = \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n x_n = \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n P_n x$. Therefore $A = \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n P_n$. Since all H_n are finite dimensional, so is A.

14-5.11. <u>Spectral Theorem</u> If $|\lambda_1| \ge |\lambda_2| \ge |\lambda_3| \ge \cdots$ is an enumeration of all non-zero eigenvalues of a compact normal operator A, then $A = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n P_n$ in the sense that $||A - \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n P_n|| = |\lambda_{k+1}| \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$.

<u>Proof</u>. Assume that $|\lambda_1| \ge |\lambda_2| \ge |\lambda_3| \ge \cdots$ is an infinite sequence. Take any $x \in H$. Let $x = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n x$ be the spectral expansion of x. By continuity of A, we have $Ax = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Ax_n = 0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n x_n = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n P_n x$. Therefore

$$\left\| \left(A - \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n P_n \right) x \right\|^2 = \left\| \sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} \lambda_n P_n x \right\|^2 = \sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} \|\lambda_n P_n x\|^2$$
$$= \sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} |\lambda_n|^2 \|P_n x\|^2 \le |\lambda_{k+1}|^2 \sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} \|P_n x\|^2$$
$$\le |\lambda_{k+1}|^2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|P_n x\|^2 = |\lambda_{k+1}|^2 \|x\|^2.$$

Consequently, $\left\|A - \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n P_n\right\| \le |\lambda_{k+1}|.$ On the other hand, let $\|x\| = 1$ be in H_{k+1} . Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda_{k+1}| &= \|\lambda_{k+1}x\| = \left\| \left(A - \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n P_n \right) x \right\| \le \left\| A - \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n P_n \right\| \end{aligned}$$

efore
$$\begin{aligned} \left\| A - \sum_{n=1}^{k} \lambda_n P_n \right\| &= |\lambda_{k+1}|. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore

The fact
$$\lambda_k \to 0$$
 as $k \to \infty$ has been proved in Normed Spaces. We leave the case when $|\lambda_1| \ge |\lambda_2| \ge |\lambda_3| \ge \cdots$ is a finite sequence as an exercise.

14-5.12. **Diagonal Representation of Compact Normal Operators** Let A be a compact normal operator on H. Then there is an orthonormal sequence $\{e_n : n \ge 1\}$ of eigenvectors with corresponding eigenvalues λ_n such that for each $x \in H$, we have $x = x_0 + \sum_{n \ge 1} \langle x, e_n \rangle e_n$ where $x_0 \perp e_n$ for all $n \ge 1$. It is called the *coordinate expansion* of x with respect to $\{e_n\}$. Furthermore we have the following diagonal representation: $A = \sum_{n \ge 1} \lambda_n e_n \otimes e_n$. <u>Proof</u>. For each $n \ge 1$ let Q_n be an orthonormal basis of H_n . Let $Q = \bigcup_n Q_n$. Since H_n is finite dimensional for each $n \ge 1$, every Q_n is a finite set. Since A is normal, Q is a countable orthonormal set. Now take any $x \in H$. Then $P_n x \in H_n$. For each $n \ge 1$, because Q_n is an orthonormal basis of H_n , we obtain $P_n x = \sum_{e \in Q_n} \langle x, e \rangle e$. Now the spectral representation becomes the coordinate representation: $x = x_0 + \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{e \in Q_n} \langle x, e \rangle e$. By continuity of A, we get

$$\begin{split} &Ax = Ax_0 + \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{e \in Q_n} < x, e > Ae \\ &= 0 + \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{e \in Q_n} < x, e > \lambda_n e = \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{e \in Q_n} \lambda_n < x, e > e. \end{split}$$

14-5.13. Let H, G be Hilbert spaces and $A: H \to G$ a compact linear map. Clearly A^*A is a compact positive operator on H. Let $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \lambda_3 \ge \cdots$ be an enumeration of all non-zero eigenvalues of A^*A repeated according to its multiplicity. Then $s_n(A) = \sqrt{\lambda_n}$ is called the *n*-th *singular number* of A.

14-5.14. <u>Finite Dimensional Approximation Theorem</u> Let $A : H \to G$ be a compact linear map on and s_n the *n*-th singular number of A. Then there are orthonormal sequences $\{u_n\}$ and $\{e_n\}$ in H, G respectively such that the following conditions hold.

(a) If A is of finite rank k, then $A = \sum_{n=1}^{k} s_n u_n \otimes e_n$.

(b) If A is infinite dimensional, then $||A - \sum_{n=1}^{k} s_n u_n \otimes e_n|| \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$.

In symbol, we may write $A = \sum_{n\geq 1} s_n u_n \otimes e_n$. Consequently, every compact operator on a Hilbert space can be approximated in norm by finite dimensional operators. Note that in general this is false in Banach spaces.

<u>Proof</u>. Write $A^*A = \sum_{n\geq 1} \lambda_n u_n \otimes u_n$ where $\{u_n\}$ is an orthonormal sequence of eigenvectors of A^*A corresponding to eigenvalues $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda_2 \geq \lambda_3 \dots > 0$ respectively. By definition, $s_n = \sqrt{\lambda_n} > 0$. Take any $x \in H$. Let $x = x_0 + \sum_{n\geq 1} \langle x, u_n \rangle u_n$ be the coordinate expansion corresponding to $\{u_n\}$ where $x_0 \perp u_n$ for all $n \geq 1$. Then $A^*Ax_0 = \sum_{n\geq 1} \lambda_n \langle x_0, u_n \rangle u_n = 0$, that is $||Ax_0||^2 = |\langle A^*Ax_0, x_0 \rangle | = 0$, or $Ax_0 = 0$. Hence we obtain $Ax = \sum_{n\geq 1} \langle x, u_n \rangle Au_n$. Let $e_n = Au_n/s_n$. Since

$$< e_m, e_n > = \frac{}{s_m s_n} = \frac{}{s_m s_n}$$

=
$$\frac{\sum_j \lambda_j < u_m, u_j > < u_j, u_n >}{s_m s_n} = \frac{s_n^2 < u_m, u_n >}{s_m s_n} = \delta_{mn},$$

 $\{e_n\}$ is an orthonormal sequence. Furthermore, we have

$$Ax = \sum_{n \ge 1} \langle x, u_n \rangle Au_n = \sum_{n \ge 1} s_n \langle x, u_n \rangle e_n.$$

If $rank(A) = k < \infty$, then $A = \sum_{n=1}^{k} s_n u_n \otimes e_n$ because $\{e_n\}$ is a linearly independent set. Suppose A is infinite dimensional. Take any $||x|| \le 1$. Observe

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(A - \sum_{n=1}^{k} s_n u_n \otimes e_n \right) x \right\|^2 &\leq \sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} |s_n < x, u_n > e_n|^2 \\ &= \sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} |s_n|^2 | < x, u_n > |^2 = \sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} \lambda_n | < x, u_n > |^2 \\ &\leq \lambda_{k+1} \|x\|^2 \leq \lambda_{k+1} \to 0 \end{split}$$

as $k \to \infty$. This completes the proof.

14-5.15. <u>Corollary</u> $s_n(A^*) = s_n(A)$ for every compact linear map $A : H \to G$. <u>Proof</u>. Let $A = \sum_{n \ge 1} s_n(A)u_n \otimes e_n$ be a spectral representation. Then we have $A^* = \sum_{n \ge 1} s_n(A)e_n \otimes u_n$. Therefore $s_n(A^*) = s_n(A)$ by §14-4.3.

14-5.16. <u>Exercise</u> Let A be a compact normal operator on a nontrivial Hilbert space H. Let B, C be the real and imaginary parts of A. Prove that A has an eigenvalue λ satisfying max $(||B||, ||C||) \leq \lambda$.

14-6 Functional Calculus of Self-Adjoint Operators

14-6.1. Holomorphic maps of an operator was defined in terms of Cauchy integral formula. For a self-adjoint operator A, we shall define f(A) when f is a continuous function on the spectrum of A. As a result, we can take square roots of positive operators. We proved that if an operator A is positive, i.e. $A = B^*B$ for some B, then $A \ge 0$, i.e. $\langle Ax, x \rangle \ge 0$. In this section, the converse will be proved.

14-6.2. <u>Theorem</u> For every normal operator A, $||A|| = \sup\{ |\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(A) \}$. <u>Proof</u>. Since $A^*A = AA^*$, it is easy to show $(A^n)^*(A^n) = (A^n)(A^n)^*$. Hence A^n is also normal. Repeated application of $||A^2|| = ||A||^2$, we have $||A^{2^k}|| = ||A||^{2^k}$. Therefore we have $r(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} ||A^n||^{1/n} = \lim_{k \to \infty} ||A^{2^k}||^{1/2^k} = ||A||$.

14-6.3. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that a normal quasinilpotent operator must be zero.

14-6.4. <u>Theorem</u> For every complex polynomial

$$f(t) = \alpha_n t^n + \alpha_{n-1} t^{n-1} + \dots + \alpha_1 t + \alpha_0,$$

let
$$f^{\sim}(t) = \alpha_n^- t^n + \alpha_{n-1}^- t^{n-1} + \dots + \alpha_1^- t + \alpha_0^-$$

which is f⁻ when t is real. Then for every normal operator A, we have
(a) [f(A)]* = f~(A*);
(b) f(A) is normal;
(c) ||f(A)|| = sup{|f(λ)| : λ ∈ σ(A)}.

Proof. Both (a) and (b) follow by routine calculations:

$$[f(A)]^* = [\alpha_n A^n + \alpha_{n-1} A^{n-1} + \dots + \alpha_1 A + \alpha_0 I]^*$$

= $\alpha_n^- (A^n)^* + \alpha_{n-1}^- (A^{n-1})^* + \dots + \alpha_1^- A^* + \alpha_0^- I^*$
= $\alpha_n^- (A^*)^n + \alpha_{n-1}^- (A^*)^{n-1} + \dots + \alpha_1^- A^* + \alpha_0^- I = f^{\sim}(A^*)$

 and

$$\begin{split} & [f(A)]^*[f(A)] = [f^{\sim}(A^*)][f(A)] = \left[\sum_{j=0}^n \alpha_j^-(A^*)^j\right] \left[\sum_{k=0}^n \alpha_k A^k\right] \\ & = \sum_{j=0}^n \sum_{k=0}^n \alpha_j^- \alpha_k (A^*)^j A^k = \left[\sum_{k=0}^n \alpha_k A^k\right] \left[\sum_{j=0}^n \alpha_j^-(A^*)^j\right] \\ & = [f(A)][f^{\sim}(A^*)] = [f(A)][f(A)]^*. \end{split}$$

For (c), the Spectral Polynomial Theorem gives

$$||f(A)|| = \sup\{|\mu| : \mu \in \sigma[f(A)]\} = \sup\{|f(\lambda)| : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\}.$$

14-6.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a *self-adjoint* operator on H. Let $C_{\infty}[\sigma(A)]$ be the sup-norm algebra of continuous complex functions on $\sigma(A)$. Then there is a unique linear map $f \to f(A)$ form $C_{\infty}[\sigma(A)]$ into the algebra L(H) of operators on H such that the following conditions hold:

(a) Isometry: $||f(A)|| = \sup\{|f(\lambda)| : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\}.$

(b) Algebra Isomorphism: $(f \cdot g)(A) = f(A)g(A)$.

(c) Polynomials: If f(x) = 1 then f(A) = I. If f(x) = x, then f(A) = A.

<u>Proof</u>. Let P be the set of all complex polynomials on $\sigma(A)$. Since A is self-adjoint, $\sigma(A)$ consists of real numbers only and hence P is self-conjugate. By Stone-Weierstrass Theorem, P is a dense subspace of $C_{\infty}[\sigma(A)]$. We have proved that $f \to f(A)$ is a linear isometry from P into L(H). Since L(H) is complete, there is a linear extension over $C_{\infty}[\sigma(A)]$ into L(H). The uniqueness is left as an exercise.

14-6.6. <u>Corollary</u> Let A be a *self-adjoint* operator on H and let f_n, g be functions continuous on $\sigma(A)$. If $f_n \to g$ uniformly on $\sigma(A)$, then $f_n(A) \to g(A)$ in norm.

Proof.
$$||(f_n - g)(A)|| = ||f_n - g||_{\infty} \to 0.$$

14-6.7. Corollary Let A be a self-adjoint operator on H, f a continuous function on $\sigma(A)$ and B any operator.

(a) Commutativity: If AB = BA, then f(A)B = Bf(A).

(b) Eigenvalues: If $Ax = \lambda x$, then $f(A)x = f(\lambda)x$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let p_n be polynomials on $\sigma(A)$ such that $||f-p_n||_{\infty} \to 0$. By AB = BA, we have $p_n(A)B = Bp_n(A)$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we obtain f(A)B = Bf(A). Since $p_n(A)x = p_n(\lambda)x$, we have $f(A)x = f(\lambda)x$.

14-6.8. <u>Corollary</u> Let A be a self-adjoint operator on H. Then for every continuous function f on $\sigma(A)$, we have

(a) $[f(A)]^* = f^-(A);$

(b) f(A) is normal;

(c) if f is real-valued, then f(A) is self-adjoint.

<u>Proof</u>. Since A is self-adjoint, $\sigma(A)$ is a subset of \mathbb{R} . Part (a) is true for the polynomials by direct verification. By passing limits, it is also valid for continuous functions on $\sigma(A)$. Part (b) follows from

$$[f(A)]^* f(A) = f^-(A)f(A) = (f^- \cdot f)(A)$$

= $(f \cdot f^-)(A) = f(A)f^-(A) = [f(A)][f(A)]^*.$

For (c), $[f(A)]^* = f^-(A) = f(A)$.

14-6.9. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a self-adjoint operator on H. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) $\sigma(A) \ge 0$.

(b) $A = B^2$ for some positive operator B.

(c) $A = B^*B$ for some operator B.

(d) $A \geq 0$.

<u>Proof</u>. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Let $f(\lambda) = \sqrt[4]{\lambda}$ for every $\lambda \ge 0$. Then f is continuous on $\sigma(A) \ge 0$. Since f is real-valued, f(A) is self-adjoint. Hence we obtain $B = [f(A)]^2 = f(A)^* f(A)$ is positive. By $f(\lambda)^4 = \lambda$ for all $\lambda \ge 0$, we have $A = [f(A)]^4 = B^2$.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Since B is positive, $B^* = B$.

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$ It was an exercise §13-10.9a.

 $(d \Rightarrow a)$ Let $h(\lambda) = 0$ if $\lambda \ge 0$ and $h(\lambda) = \sqrt{-\lambda}$ if $\lambda < 0$. Then h is continuous on IR. Let B = h(A). Since h is real-valued, B is self-adjoint. Hence $B^2 = B^*B$ is positive. By $(c \Rightarrow d)$, we have $B^2 \ge 0$. Since $h(\lambda)\lambda h(\lambda) = -[h(\lambda)]^4$ for all λ , we get $BAB = -B^4$. By $0 \le BAB = -B^4 \le 0$, we obtain $0 = B^4 = [h(A)]^4$.

Because $f \to f(A)$ is injective, $[h(\lambda)]^4 = 0$, i.e. $h(\lambda) = 0$ for all $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$. Therefore $\sigma(A) \ge 0$.

14-6.10. <u>Square Root Theorem</u> Let A be a positive operator. Then there is a unique positive operator denoted by \sqrt{A} such that $A = (\sqrt{A})^2$. Furthermore if A is invertible, so is \sqrt{A} .

<u>Proof</u>. The existence was proved by $(c \Rightarrow b)$ of last theorem. We give another more intuitive proof here. Let $f(\lambda) = \sqrt{\lambda}$ for all $\lambda \ge 0$. Then f is continuous on $\sigma(A)$ and $[f(\lambda)]^2 = \lambda$. Hence f(A) is an operator satisfying $[f(A)]^2 = A$. Now suppose B is any positive operator satisfying $B^2 = A$. Let $\{p_n\}$ be a sequence of polynomials such that $p_n \to f$ uniformly on $\sigma(A)$. Define $g_n(\lambda) = p_n(\lambda^2)$. Then $g_n(\lambda) \to \lambda$ uniformly on $\sigma(B)$. Hence

$$B = \lim g_n(B) = \lim p_n(B^2) = \lim p_n(A) = f(A).$$

This proves the uniqueness. Finally if A is invertible, then

$$0 \notin \sigma(A) = \{\lambda^2 : \lambda \in \sigma(\sqrt{A})\},\$$

i.e. $0 \notin \sigma(\sqrt{A})$. Therefore \sqrt{A} is invertible.

14-6.11. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be a self-adjoint operator and f a continuous function on $\sigma(A)$. Then we have $\sigma[f(A)] = f[\sigma(A)]$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$. Suppose to the contrary that $f(\lambda) \notin \sigma[f(A)]$. Then $f(\lambda)I - f(A)$ is invertible. There is a polynomial g such that

$$\sup_{\mu \in \sigma(A)} |(g-f)(\mu)| \le \frac{1}{3} || [f(\lambda)I - f(A)]^{-1} ||^{-1}.$$

Hence we have

$$\begin{split} \|[f(\lambda)I - f(A)] - [g(\lambda)I - g(A)]\| &\leq \|f(A) - g(A)\| + |f(\lambda) - g(\lambda)| \\ &\leq \sup_{\mu \in \sigma(A)} \|(f - g)(\lambda)\| + |f(\lambda) - g(\lambda)| = \frac{2}{3} \left\| [f(\lambda)I - f(A)]^{-1} \right\|^{-1} \\ &< \left\| [f(\lambda)I - f(A)]^{-1} \right\|^{-1}. \end{split}$$

Hence $g(\lambda)I - g(A)$ is invertible. Hence $g(\lambda) \notin \sigma[g(A)]$. This contradicts the Spectral Polynomial Theorem. Therefore $f[\sigma(A)] \subset \sigma[f(A)]$. Conversely, suppose to the contrary that there is $\mu \in \sigma[f(A)]$ but $\mu \notin f[\sigma(A)]$. For each $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$, define $g(\lambda) = 1/[\mu - f(\lambda)]$. Then g is continuous on $\sigma(A)$. Hence g(A) is an operator on H. Since $g(\lambda)[\mu - f(\lambda)] = 1$, $\forall \lambda \in \sigma(A)$, we have $g(A)[\mu I - f(A)] = I$ and $[\mu I - f(A)]g(A) = I$. Therefore $\mu I - f(A)$ is invertible, i.e. $\mu \notin \sigma[f(A)]$. This contradiction establishes the proof. \Box

14-6.12. <u>**Theorem</u>** Let A be a self-adjoint operator. Let f be a continuous function on $\sigma(A)$.</u>

- (a) f(A) is self-adjoint iff f is real-valued.
- (b) f(A) is unitary iff |f| = 1.
- (c) f(A) is invertible iff $f(\lambda) \neq 0, \forall \lambda \in \sigma(A)$.
- (d) $f(A) \ge 0$ iff $f[\sigma(A)] \ge 0$.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) f(A) is self-adjoint iff $||f(A)^* - f(A)|| = 0$ iff $||(f^- - f)(A)|| = 0$ iff $f^- - f = 0$ on $\sigma(A)$ iff f is real-valued.

(b) f(A) is unitary iff $[f(A)]^* f(A) = I = f(A)[f(A)]^*$ iff $f^- \cdot f = 1 = f \cdot f^-$ iff |f| = 1.

(c) f(A) is invertible iff $0 \notin \sigma(A)$ iff $0 \notin f[\sigma(A)]$ iff $f(\lambda) \neq 0, \forall \lambda \in \sigma(A)$.

(d) Suppose $f[\sigma(A)] \ge 0$. Then $g = \sqrt{f}$ is a continuous real-valued function on $\sigma(A)$. Hence g(A) is self-adjoint and $f(A) = [g(A)]^2$ is positive. Conversely, suppose $f(A) \ge 0$. Since f(A) is self-adjoint, f is real-valued by (a). Let $v = \max\{-f, 0\}$ denote the negative part of f. By $f(A) \ge 0$, we obtain $0 \le [v(A)]^* f(A)v(A)$. Because $v^3 \ge 0$ and by what was just proved, $v^3(A) \ge 0$. Since $v^- fv = vfv = -v^3$, we have $0 \le [v(A)]^* f(A)v(A) = -v^3(A) \le 0$, i.e. $v^3(A) = 0$. By injectivity, $v^3 = 0$, i.e. v = 0 on $\sigma(A)$. Therefore we conclude that $f \ge 0$ on $\sigma(A)$.

14-6.13. **Exercise** Prove that the product of two commuting positive operators A, B is a positive operator. Furthermore, prove that $\sqrt{AB} = \sqrt{A}\sqrt{B}$. Show that the matrices: $A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and $B = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ are positive but their product is not.

14-6.14. **Exercise** Prove that if A is self-adjoint and if A^2 is a projector then A is a projector.

14-6.15. **Exercise** Prove that $\|\sqrt{A^*A}\| = \sqrt{\|A^*A\|}$ for every operator A.

14-6.16. **Exercise** Prove that the inverse of an invertible positive operator is positive.

14-6.17. Let \mathcal{F} be a family of operators on H. An operator *commutes* with \mathcal{F} if it commutes with every operator in \mathcal{F} . The family \mathcal{F}' of operators commuting with \mathcal{F} is called the *commutant* of \mathcal{F} . Clearly \mathcal{F}' is a subalgebra of L(H). The family \mathcal{F} is *self-adjoint* if $A^* \in \mathcal{F}$ whenever $A \in \mathcal{F}$.
14-6.18. <u>Theorem</u> Every operator A commuting with a self-adjoint family \mathcal{F} of operators on H is a linear combination of unitary operators in \mathcal{F}' .

<u>Proof.</u> Firstly assume that $A \in \mathcal{K}$ is self-adjoint with $||A|| \leq 1$. Since $\overline{f(t)} = \sqrt{1-t^2} \geq 0$ is continuous on $\sigma(A)$, the operator $B = f(A) \geq 0$ is well-defined and commutes with \mathcal{F} . Hence $U = A + iB \in \mathcal{F}'$. From $UU^* = U^*U = A^2 + B^2 = I$, both U, U^* are unitary. Now $A = \frac{1}{2}(U+U^*)$ is a linear combination of unitary operators in \mathcal{F}' . Next in general, let $A \in \mathcal{F}'$ be given. Then for every $Q \in \mathcal{F}$, we have $Q^* \in \mathcal{F}$ and hence $A^*Q = (Q^*A)^* = (AQ^*)^* = AQ^*$, that is $A^* \in \mathcal{F}'$. Therefore both $B = \frac{1}{2}(A + iA^*)$ and $C = \frac{1}{2i}(A - iA^*)$ are self-adjoint operators in \mathcal{F}' . By the first case, B/(1 + ||B||) and hence B itself are linear combinations of unitary operators in \mathcal{F}' . \Box

14-7 Polar Decomposition

14-7.1. Every complex number can be written in polar form $re^{i\theta}$ where r is positive (≥ 0) and $e^{i\theta}$ is a one-by-one unitary matrix. In this section, an analogue for operators will be given.

14-7.2. Let A be an operator on a Hilbert space H. Then A is called a *partial isometry* if A^*A is a projector. The *initial space* of A is defined as $init(A) = (\ker A)^{\perp}$.

14-7.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let A be an operator on H. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) A is a partial isometry, i.e. A^*A is a projector.
- (b) For every x in the initial space of A, we have ||Ax|| = ||x||.
- (c) $A = AA^*A$.
- (d) A^* is a partial isometry.

<u>Proof</u>. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Let $P = A^*A$ and M = P(H). Then P is a projector onto M. Now $M = \ker(P)^{\perp} = \ker(A^*A)^{\perp} = \ker(A)^{\perp}$ is the initial space of A. Take any $x \in M$. We have Px = x. Hence

$$\|Ax\|^2 = < A^*Ax, x > = < Px, x > = < x, x > = \|x\|^2,$$

i.e. ||Ax|| = ||x||.

 $(b \Rightarrow a)$ Let $M = init(A) = ker(A)^{\perp}$ and P the projector onto M. Then for any $x \in M$, we have $\langle A^*Ax, x \rangle = ||Ax||^2 = ||x||^2 = \langle Px, x \rangle$. On the other

hand, for any $x \in M^{\perp}$, we get $x \in \ker(A)^{\perp \perp} = \ker(A)$, i.e. Ax = 0. Hence $\langle A^*Ax, x \rangle = 0 = \langle Px, x \rangle$. By linearity, we obtain

$$< A^*Ax, x>$$
 = 0 = $< Px, x>$

for all $x \in H$. Hence $A^*A = P$ is a projector. Therefore A is a partial isometry. $(a \Rightarrow c)$ Let A^*A be a projector onto a vector subspace M of H. Then for any $x \in M$, $A^*Ax = x$ and hence $AA^*Ax = Ax$. On the other hand, for any $x \in M^{\perp}$, $A^*Ax = 0$, or Ax = 0 and hence $AA^*Ax = 0 = Ax$. By linearity, we get $AA^*Ax = Ax$, $\forall x \in H$. Therefore $AA^*A = A$.

 $(c \Rightarrow a)$ $(A^*A)^2 = A^*(AA^*A) = A^*A$ and $(A^*A)^* = A^*A^{**} = A^*A$. Therefore A^*A is a projector.

$$(c \Rightarrow d)$$
 From $A^* = (AA^*A)^* = A^*A^{**}A^*$, A^* is an isometry by $(c \Rightarrow a)$.
 $(d \Rightarrow c)$ Apply $(c \Rightarrow d)$ to A^* .

14-7.4. <u>Corollary</u> If A is a partial isometry, then we have $init(A) = Im(A^*A) = Im(A^*)$ and $Im(A) = Im(AA^*) = init(A^*)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since A^*A is a projector, we have

$$init(A) = \ker(A)^{\perp} = \ker(A^*A)^{\perp} = \operatorname{Im}(A^*A).$$

Next, $\operatorname{Im}(AA^*) = AA^*(H) \subset A(H) = \operatorname{Im}(A),$

and

gives $Im(A) = Im(AA^*)$. By symmetry, we get

$$Im(A^*) = Im[A^*(A^*)^*] = Im(A^*A) = init(A)$$

 $A(H) = AA^*A(H) = AA^*(H) = \operatorname{Im}(AA^*)$

and

$$init(A^*) = \operatorname{Im}[(A^*)^*A^*] = \operatorname{Im}(AA^*) = \operatorname{Im}(A).$$

14-7.5. **Polar Decomposition Theorem** Let A be an operator on H. Then there is a unique positive operator P and a unique partial isometry U such that A = UP and ker(U) = ker(P). Furthermore, we have

(a) U^*U is a projector onto the closure of Im(P);

(b) $\ker(A) = \ker(P);$

(c)
$$P = U^* A$$
.

<u>Proof.</u> The operator $P = \sqrt{A^*A}$ is positive. For all $x \in H$, we have $||Px||^2 = \langle Px, Px \rangle = \langle P^*Px, x \rangle = \langle P^2x, x \rangle = \langle A^*Ax, x \rangle = ||Ax||^2.$

Hence if Px = Py, then P(x - y) = 0, or A(x - y) = 0, i.e. Ax = Ay. Now the map $V : P(H) \to H$ given by VPx = Ax is well-defined. Clearly, V

is linear. Since ||V(Px)|| = ||Px||, V is also continuous. There is a unique continuous linear extension over the closure of P(H). This extension is still denoted by V. Define Ux = Vx if $x \in P(H)^-$ and Ux = 0 if $x \in P(H)^{\perp}$. Then by linearity, U is defined on H. Since for all non-zero $x \in P(H)^-$, we get $||Ux|| = ||Vx|| = ||x|| \neq 0$, U is a partial isometry and A = UP by the construction of U. Next, $\ker(U) = P(H)^{\perp} = \ker(P^*) = \ker(P)$. This proves the existence. For uniqueness, suppose that P, Q are positive operators and U, V are partial isometries such that A = UP = VQ, ker(U) = ker(P) and ker(V) = ker(Q). Then $P^2 = A^*A = Q^*V^*VQ$. Now V^*V is a projector onto the subspace $init(V) = ker(V)^{\perp} = ker(Q)^{\perp} = Im(Q^*)^{\perp} = Im(Q)^{\perp}$. Hence $V^*VQ = Q$. Thus $P^2 = Q^*V^*VQ = Q^*Q = Q^2$. By uniqueness of square roots. P = Q. Hence UP = VP. Observe $Im(P)^{\perp} = ker(P^*) = ker(P) = ker(U)$. For $x \in \text{Im}(P)$, we have Ux = Vx. On the other hand, for $x \in \text{Im}(P)^{\perp}$, we have Ux = 0 and similarly Vx = 0. By linearity, Ux = Vx for all $x \in H$. Therefore U = V. This proves the uniqueness. Finally, we have $P = V^*VP = V^*A$ and $\ker(P) = \ker(\sqrt{A^*A}) = \ker(A^*A) = \ker(A).$ П

14-7.6. <u>Theorem</u> For every operator A, there is a unique positive operator Q and a unique partial isometry V such that A = QV and $\ker(Q) = \operatorname{Im}(V)^{\perp}$. Furthermore we have

(a) VV^* is a projector onto $Q(H)^-$.

(b) $ker(A^*) = ker(Q)$.

(c) $Q = AV^* = \sqrt{AA^*}$.

Proof. Replace A by A^* in last theorem and then take hermitian. \Box

14-7.7. **Exercise** Show that the square root $|A| = \sqrt{A^*A}$ obeys $|\lambda A| = |\lambda| |A|$ but not the triangular inequality.

14-7.8. **Exercise** Prove that if an operator A is invertible, then its absolute value $|A| = \sqrt{A^*A}$ is also invertible. Prove that if A is normal, then the converse is also true.

14-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further</u> <u>Readings</u> : Steen, Konig-75, Gohberg-00, Berezin and Rice.

Chapter 15 Tensor Products

15-1 Algebraic Tensor Products of Vector Spaces

15-1.1. The main idea of this chapter is to convert a multilinear map on a product space into a linear map on the tensor product of its factor spaces and to study the relationship between these two maps. Multilinear maps have been introduced in §10-1 when we worked with higher derivatives. Let E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p and F be vector spaces. The vector space of all multilinear maps from $\prod_{k=1}^{p} E_k$ into F is denoted by $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p; F)$. When F is the scalar field \mathbb{K} , it is simply denoted by $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p)$.

15-1.2. A vector space G is called a *tensor product* or more precisely an algebraic tensor product of E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p under the *tensor map* g from the product space $\prod_{k=1}^p E_k$ into G if the following conditions hold

(a) g is a multilinear map;

(b) for every multilinear map h from $\prod_{k=1}^{p} E_k$ into a vector space H, there is a *unique* linear map φ from G into H such that $h = \varphi g$. We say that h is factorized through G and φ is called the linear map *associated* with h.

15-1.3. **Existence Theorem** Let E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p be vector spaces. Let g be the linear form on the vector space M of all multilinear forms on $\Pi_{k=1}^p E_k$ given by [g(x)](u) = u(x) for each $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_p) \in \Pi_{k=1}^p E_k$. Then the vector subspace G of the algebraic dual M^* of M spanned by $g(\Pi_{k=1}^p E_k)$ is a tensor product under the tensor map g.

<u>*Proof*</u>. It is easy to verify that [g(x)](u) = u(x) is linear in u and hence $\overline{g(x)} \in M^*$. Observe that for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$ and all $x_k \in E_k$,

$$\begin{split} & [g(\alpha x_1 + \beta y_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p)](u) = u(\alpha x_1 + \beta y_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p) \\ &= \alpha u(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p) + \beta u(y_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p) \\ &= [\alpha g(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p)(u) + \beta g(y_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p)](u). \end{split}$$

Hence $g(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_p)$ is linear in x_1 and similarly it is linear in every x_k . Thus $g : \prod_{k=1}^p E_k \to M^*$ is a multilinear map. To show that G is a

tensor product under g, let h be a multilinear map from $\prod_{k=1}^{p} E_k$ into a vector space H. Take any $z \in G$. There are vectors $x^1, x^2, \dots, x^m \in \prod_{k=1}^p E_k$ and scalars $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \cdots, \alpha_m$ such that $z = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j g(x^j)$. Define $\varphi(z) = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j h(x^j)$. To show that φ is well-defined, let $z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i g(y^i)$ be another representation where $y^i \in \prod_{k=1}^p E_k$ and $\beta_i \in \mathbb{K}$. Then for each $u \in M$, we have $\sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j h(x^j)(u) = \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i h(y^i)(u),$ i.e. $\sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j u(x^j) = \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i u(y^i).$ Now let vbe any linear form on H. Since h is multilinear, the composite vh is a multilinear form on $\prod_{k=1}^{p} E_k$. Letting u = vh we have $\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j vh(x^j) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i vh(y^i)$, or $v\left[\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j h(x^j)\right] = v\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i h(y^i)\right]$. Since H^* separates points of H, we have $\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j h(x^j) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i h(y^i)$. Therefore φ is well-defined on G into H. It is obvious that φ is linear. When z = g(x), we have $\varphi g(x) = h(x)$, i.e. $\varphi q = h$. It remains to prove the uniqueness of φ . Suppose that ψ is another linear map from G into H such that $\psi g = h$. For any $x \in \prod_{k=1}^{p} E_k$, we obtain $\psi[g(x)] = h(x) = \varphi[g(x)]$. Hence $\psi = \varphi$ on $g(\prod_{k=1}^{p} E_k)$ which spans G. Therefore $\psi = \varphi$ on G. This completes the proof.

15-1.4. Uniqueness Theorem Let G, H be tensor products of vector spaces E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p under the tensor maps g, h respectively. Then there exists a unique isomorphism $\varphi : G \to H$ such that $h = \varphi g$. We shall identify G, H under φ .

<u>Proof</u>. Factorizing h, g through G, H, there are linear maps $\varphi : G \to H$ and $\overline{\psi} : H \to G$ such that $h = \varphi g$ and $g = \psi h$ respectively. Consequently $\psi \varphi$ is a linear map from G into itself such that $g = (\psi \varphi)g$. Let I, J be the identity maps on G, H respectively. Then I is also a linear map from G into itself such that g = Ig. By uniqueness of factorizing, we have $\psi \varphi = I$. Similarly, $\varphi \psi = J$. Therefore φ is a bijection from G onto H. Consequently, φ is an isomorphism. Its uniqueness is part of the definition of tensor product.

15-1.5. The tensor product of E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p is denoted by $E_1 \otimes E_2 \otimes \dots \otimes E_p$, or by $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p E_k$. Elements of $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p E_k$ are called *tensors*. The tensor map \otimes from $\prod_{k=1}^p E_k$ into the tensor product $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p E_k$ will be denoted by

$$x = (x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p) \to \otimes x = x_1 \otimes x_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_p = \bigotimes_{k=1}^p x_k.$$

A tensor is said to be *decomposable* if it is of the form $\otimes x = x_1 \otimes x_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_p$ for some $x = (x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p) \in \prod_{k=1}^p E_k$. Since the tensor map is multilinear, the following results follow immediately.

15-1.6. <u>Corollary</u> (a) x₁ ⊗ x₂ ⊗ · · · ⊗ x_p is linear in each variable x_k.
(b) Every tensor is a sum of decomposable tensors.

15-1.7. **Exercise** Let g, h be linear maps from the tensor product $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k$ into a vector space H. If $g(\otimes x) = h(\otimes x)$ for all decomposable tensors $\otimes x$, then g = h on the tensor product $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k$.

15-1.8. **Exercise** For every linear map $f : \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k \to F$, let $T(f)(x) = f(\otimes x)$ for every $x \in \prod_{k=1}^{p} E_k$. Prove that T is an isomorphism from the vector space $L(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k, F)$ onto the vector space $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p; F)$ of multilinear maps.

15-1.9. **Exercise** Prove that the algebraic dual space of $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k$ is isomorphic to the vector space $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p)$ of multilinear forms on $\prod_{k=1}^{p} E_k$. This justifies the way which we constructed tensor product $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k$ as a vector subspace of the algebraic dual space of $M(E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p)$.

15-1.10. **Exercise** Let E be a vector space and let $g: \mathbb{K} \times E \to E$ be given by $g(\lambda, x) = \lambda x$. Prove that E is the tensor product of \mathbb{K} and E under the tensor map g. In symbols, we have $\mathbb{K} \otimes E = E$ and $\lambda \otimes x = \lambda x$.

15-1.11. **Exercise** State and prove a statement to identify $E \otimes (F \otimes G)$ with $(E \otimes F) \otimes G$ for vector spaces E, F, G. Hence justify the notation

$$x \otimes (y \otimes z) = (x \otimes y) \otimes z = x \otimes y \otimes z.$$

15-2 Tensor Products of Linear Maps

15-2.1. For $k = 1, 2, \dots, p$, let E_k, F_k be vector spaces and $f_k : E_k \to F_k$ a linear map. Suppose $L^*(E_k, F_k)$ denote the vector space of all linear maps from E_k into F_k . According to last section, the tensor product $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p f_k$ is a vector in vector space $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p L^*(E_k, F_k)$. On the other hand, a separate definition for tensor product of linear maps is used. These two definitions are consistent under the identification of §15-5.10,11. The reader may modify the proofs from normed spaces to algebraic case.

15-2.2. **Theorem** There is a unique linear map $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} f_k$ from $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k$ into $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} F_k$ such that $(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} f_k)(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} x_k) = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} f_k(x_k)$ for all $x_k \in E_k$. It is called the *tensor product* of linear maps f_k .

<u>*Proof*</u>. Since the map $g: \prod_{k=1}^{p} E_k \to \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} F_k$ by $g(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p) = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} f_k(x_k)$ is multilinear, there is a linear map $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} f_k : \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k \to \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} F_k$ such that

 $(\otimes_{k=1}^{p} f_{k})(\otimes_{k=1}^{p} x_{k}) = g(x_{1}, x_{2}, \cdots, x_{p}), \text{ i.e. } (\otimes_{k=1}^{p} f_{k})(\otimes_{k=1}^{p} x_{k}) = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} f_{k}(x_{k}).$ Finally suppose $h : \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_{k} \to \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} F_{k}$ is any linear map such that $h(\otimes_{k=1}^{p} x_{k}) = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} f_{k}(x_{k}).$ Then we have $h(\otimes_{k=1}^{p} x_{k}) = (\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} f_{k})(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} x_{k}).$ Since the decomposable tensors span $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_{k},$ it follows that $h = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} f_{k}.$

15-2.3. **Corollary** Let f_k be a linear form on E_k for each $k = 1, 2, \dots, p$. Then there is a unique linear form $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p f_k$ on $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p E_k$ such that for all $x_k \in E_k$ we have $(\bigotimes_{k=1}^p f_k)(\bigotimes_{k=1}^p x_k) = \prod_{k=1}^p f_k(x_k)$.

15-2.4. **Corollary** If $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} x_k = 0$, then $x_j = 0$ for some j.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose that $x_j \neq 0$ for every $1 \leq j \leq p$. There is a linear form f_k on $\overline{E_k}$ such that $f_k(x_k) = 1$. Then $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p f_k$ is a linear form on $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p E_k$ satisfying $(\bigotimes_{k=1}^p f_k)(\bigotimes_{k=1}^p x_k) = \prod_{k=1}^p f_k(x_k) = 1$. Therefore $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p x_k \neq 0$.

15-2.5. **Corollary** If $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} x_k = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} y_k \neq 0$, then there are scalars α_k such that $x_k = \alpha_k y_k$ for each k and also $\prod_{k=1}^{p} \alpha_k = 1$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} x_k \neq 0$, we have $x_k \neq 0$ for each k. Choose a linear form f_k on E_k such that $f_k(x_k) = 1$. Define $\alpha_j = \prod_{k\neq j} f_k(y_k)$. Now for every linear form h on E_k , applying $f_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes f_{j-1} \otimes h \otimes f_{j+1} \otimes \cdots \otimes f_k$ to $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} x_k = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} y_k$, we have $h(x_j) \prod_{k\neq j} f_k(x_k) = h(y_j) \prod_{k\neq j} f_k(y_k)$ i.e. $h(x_j) = \alpha_j h(y_j) = h(\alpha_j y_j)$. Since h is arbitrary, we have $x_j = \alpha_j y_j$. Replacing h by f_j , we get $1 = \prod_{k=1}^{p} f_k(x_k)$. Therefore the proof is completed by

$$\Pi_{k=1}^{p} \alpha_{k} = \Pi_{k=1}^{p} \Pi_{k \neq j} f_{k}(y_{k}) = \left(\Pi_{k=1}^{p} f_{k}(y_{k}) \right)^{k-1} = 1.$$

15-2.6. **Theorem** For each k, let E_k, F_k, G_k be vector spaces. Let $f_k : E_k \to F_k$ and $g_k : F_k \to G_k$ be linear maps. Then the composite maps satisfy the following relation $(\bigotimes_{k=1}^p g_k)(\bigotimes_{k=1}^p f_k) = \bigotimes_{k=1}^p (g_k f_k)$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. It suffices to verify the equality for decomposable tensors. Let $x_k \in E_k$. Then the proof is completed by the following calculation:

$$\begin{aligned} &(\otimes_{k=1}^{p}g_{k})(\otimes_{k=1}^{p}f_{k})(\otimes_{k=1}^{p}x_{k}) = (\otimes_{k=1}^{p}g_{k})[\otimes_{k=1}^{p}f_{k}(x_{k})] \\ &= \otimes_{k=1}^{p}g_{k}[f_{k}(x_{k})] = \otimes_{k=1}^{p}(g_{k}f_{k})(x_{k}) = (\otimes_{k=1}^{p}g_{k}f_{k})(\otimes_{k=1}^{p}x_{k}). \end{aligned}$$

15-2.7. **Exercise** If I_k is the identity map on E_k , then $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p I_k$ is the identity map on $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p E_k$.

15-2.8. **Exercise** Prove that if every $f_k : E_k \to F_k$ is an isomorphism, then $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p f_k : \bigotimes_{k=1}^p E_k \to \bigotimes_{k=1}^p F_k$ is also an isomorphism. Furthermore deduce that $(\bigotimes_{k=1}^p f_k)^{-1} = \bigotimes_{k=1}^p f_k^{-1}$.

15-2.9. The above results may be abbreviated by the following notations. For all linear maps $f_k : E_k \to F_k$, define a map $f = (f_1, f_2, \dots, f_p)$ from $\prod_{k=1}^p E_k$ into $\prod_{k=1}^p F_k$ by $f(x) = (f_1(x_1), f_2(x_2), \dots, f_p(x_p))$ for $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_p) \in \prod_{k=1}^p E_k$. Then we have some formulas such as $(\otimes f)(\otimes x) = \otimes f(x), \otimes (gf) = (\otimes g)(\otimes f)$ and $(\otimes f)^{-1} = \otimes (f^{-1})$.

15-2.10. **Example** Not every tensor is decomposable.

<u>Proof.</u> Let e_1, e_2, e_3, e_4 be the standard basis of \mathbb{R}^4 . We claim that the tensor $z = e_1 \otimes e_2 + e_3 \otimes e_4$ is not decomposable. Suppose to the contrary that $z = x \otimes y$ for some $x = \sum_{i=1}^4 \alpha_i e_i$ and $y = \sum_{j=1}^4 \beta_j e_j$ in \mathbb{R}^4 . Let f_1, f_2, f_3, f_4 be the dual basis given by $f_i(e_j) = \delta i j$. Applying $f_p \otimes f_q$ to $\sum_{i=1}^4 \alpha_i e_i = e_1 \otimes e_2 + e_3 \otimes e_4$, we have $\alpha_p \beta_q = f_p(e_1)g_q(e_2) + f_p(e_3)g_q(e_4)$. Letting (p, q) = (1, 2), (3, 4), (1, 4) respectively, we obtain $\alpha_1 \beta_2 = 1, \alpha_3 \beta_4 = 1$ and $\alpha_1 \beta_4 = 0$ which is a contradiction.

15-3 Independent Sets in Tensor Products

15-3.1. **Theorem** Let E, F be vector spaces and let x_j, y_j be vectors in E, F respectively. If y_1, y_2, \dots, y_m are linearly independent and if $\sum_{j=1}^m x_j \otimes y_j = 0$, then all $x_j = 0$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Since y_1, y_2, \dots, y_m are linearly independent, there are linear forms g_i on F such that $g_i(y_j) = \delta_{ij}$. Now for every linear form f on E, we have

$$0 = (f \otimes g_i) \left(\sum_{j=1}^m x_j \otimes y_j \right) = \sum_{j=1}^m f(x_j) g_i(y_j) = \sum_{j=1}^m f(x_j) \delta_{ij} = f(x_i).$$

Because f is arbitrary, we have $x_i = 0$ for each $i = 1, 2, \cdots, m$.

15-3.2. <u>Theorem</u> If $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m\}$ and $\{y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n\}$ are linearly independent in E, F respectively, then the set $\{x_i \otimes y_j : 1 \leq i \leq m, 1 \leq j \leq n\}$ is independent in $E \otimes F$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let α_{ij} be scalars satisfying $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{ij} x_i \otimes y_j = 0$. Then we have $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{ij} x_i \right) \otimes y_j = 0$. Since y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n are linearly independent, we obtain $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{ij} x_i = 0$ for each j. Now because x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m are linearly independent, we get $\alpha_{ij} = 0$ for all i, j. Therefore the set $\{x_i \otimes y_j\}$ is independent in $E \otimes F$.

15-3.3. Let z be a tensor in $E \otimes F$. If z = 0, then the *rank* of z is defined to be zero. If $z \neq 0$, then its *rank* is defined as the smallest integer $m \geq 1$ such that $z = \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_j \otimes y_j$ where $x_j \in E$ and $y_j \in F$.

15-3.4. **Theorem** Let $z = \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_j \otimes y_j$ be a tensor in $E \otimes F$ where $x_j \in E$ and $y_j \in F$. If $m \ge 1$ is the rank of z then both sets $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m\}$ and $\{y_1, y_2, \dots, y_m\}$ are linearly independent.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose m = 1. Then $z = x_1 \otimes y_1$. Since $rank(z) \ge 1$, we have $z \ne 0$, i.e. $x_1 \ne 0$ and $y_1 \ne 0$. Therefore both sets $\{x_1\}$ and $\{y_1\}$ are independent. Next assume $m \ge 2$. Suppose to the contrary that y_1, y_2, \dots, y_m are linearly dependent. There is $j \ge 2$ such that y_j is a linear combination of y_1, y_2, \dots, y_{j-1} . By rearranging the order, we may assume $y_m = \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \alpha_j y_j$ where α_j are scalars. Then we have

$$z = \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_j \otimes y_j = \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} x_j \otimes y_j + x_m \otimes \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \alpha_j y_j\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} (x_j + \alpha_j x_m) \otimes y_j.$$

This contradicts to the rank m of z. Therefore y_1, y_2, \dots, y_m are linearly independent. Similarly, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m are also linearly independent. \Box

15-3.5. The following results in this section are also true for normed spaces and continuous linear forms.

15-3.6. Lemma Let z be a tensor in $E \otimes F$. If $(f \otimes g)(z) = 0$ for all linear forms f, g on E, F respectively, then z = 0.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that $z \neq 0$. Then we can write $z = \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_j \otimes y_j$ where $m \geq 1$ is the rank of z and $x_j \in E$, $y_j \in F$. Then both $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m\}$ and $\{y_1, y_2, \dots, y_m\}$ are independent. There are linear forms f, g on E, Frespectively such that $f(x_k) = g(y_k) = 1$ for all k. Now the following contradiction establishes the proof:

$$0 = (f \otimes g)(z) = (f \otimes g) \left(\sum_{j=1}^m x_j \otimes y_j \right) = \sum_{j=1}^m f(x_j)g(y_j) = m. \quad \Box$$

15-3.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let E, F be vector spaces. Let a_i, x_j be vectors in E and b_i, y_j in F. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) $\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_i \otimes b_i = \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j \otimes y_j$. (b) $\sum_{i=1}^{m} f(a_i)b_i = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(x_j)y_j$ for all linear forms f on E. (c) $\sum_{i=1}^{m} g(b_i)a_i = \sum_{j=1}^{n} g(y_j)x_j$ for all linear forms g on F. (d) $\sum_{i=1}^{m} f(a_i)g(b_i) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(x_j)g(y_j)$ for all linear forms f, g on E, F respectively.

<u>*Proof.*</u> $(a \Rightarrow d)$ Applying $f \otimes g$ to both sides of (a), we have $\sum_{i=1}^{m} (f \otimes g)(a_i \otimes b_i) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} (f \otimes g)(x_j \otimes y_j)$

which gives (d) right away.

 $(d \Rightarrow a)$ Let $z = \sum_{i=1}^{m} a_i \otimes b_i - \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j \otimes y_j$. Then for all linear forms f, g on E, F respectively, we have

$$(f \otimes g)(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} (f \otimes g)(a_i \otimes b_i) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} (f \otimes g)(x_j \otimes y_j)$$

=
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} f(a_i)g(b_i) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(x_j)g(y_j) = 0.$$

Therefore z = 0 which establishes (d). $(d \Rightarrow b)$ Since g is linear, we get $g\left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} f(a_i)b_i\right] = g\left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} f(x_j)y_j\right]$. Because g is arbitrary, we obtain (b).

 $(b \Rightarrow d)$ follows immediately by applying g to both sides. Similarly, (c) is equivalent to (d).

15-3.8. Corollary Let E_1, E_2, \dots, E_p be vector spaces and for each k let $x_k^i, y_k^j \in E_k$. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) $\sum_{i=1}^{m} x_1^i \otimes x_2^i \otimes \cdots \otimes x_k^i = \sum_{j=1}^{n} y_1^j \otimes y_2^j \otimes \cdots \otimes y_k^j$.

(b) $\sum_{i=1}^{m} f(x_1^i) x_2^i \otimes \cdots \otimes x_k^i = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(y_1^j) y_2^j \otimes \cdots \otimes y_k^j$ for all linear forms f on E_1 .

(c) $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \prod_{k=1}^{p} f_k(x_k^i) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \prod_{k=1}^{p} f_k(y_k^j)$ for all linear forms f_k on E_k .

15-3.9. <u>Theorem</u> For each $1 \le k \le p$, let E_k, F_k be vector spaces and let $A_k, B_k : E_k \to F_k$ be a linear map. If $\bigotimes_{k=1}^p A_k = \bigotimes_{k=1}^p B_k \ne 0$, then there are scalars λ_j such that $B_k = \lambda_k A_k$ for each k and that $\prod_{k=1}^p \lambda_k = 1$.

<u>Proof</u>. For $k \geq 2$, since $B_k \neq 0$ there exist $x_k \in E_k$ and linear form f_k on F_k such that $f_k(B_k x_k) = 1$. Now take any $x_1 \in E_1$ and any linear form f_1 on F_1 , we have $(\otimes_{k=1}^p f_k)(\otimes_{k=1}^p A_k)(\otimes_{k=1}^p x_k) = (\otimes_{k=1}^p f_k)(\otimes_{k=1}^p B_k)(\otimes_{k=1}^p x_k)$, i.e. $f_1(A_1x_1) (\prod_{k=2}^p f_k(A_k x_k)) = f_1(B_1x_1) (\prod_{k=2}^p f_k(B_k x_k))$, or $f_1(\lambda_1 A_1 x_1) = f_1(B_1x_1)$ where $\lambda_1 = \prod_{k=2}^p f_k(A_k x_k)$. Since f_1 and x_1 are arbitrary, we have $B_1 = \lambda_1 A_1$. Similarly, there are scalars λ_k such that $B_k = \lambda_k A_k$ for all $k \geq 2$. Finally $\otimes_{k=1}^p A_k = \otimes_{k=1}^p B_k = (\prod_{k=1}^p \lambda_k) \otimes_{k=1}^p A_k \neq 0$ gives $\prod_{k=1}^p \lambda_k = 1$.

15-4 Matrix Representations

15-4.1. Identify a column vector $a = (a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n)^t$ as a function on the index set $S = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ and similarly $b = (b_1, b_2, \dots, b_m)^t$ on $T = \{1, 2, \dots, m\}$. Then $\mathbb{K}^n, \mathbb{K}^m$ are identified as the vector spaces $\mathbb{F}(S), \mathbb{F}(T)$ of all functions on S, T respectively. Next lemma will show that $a \otimes b$ is identified with the function c on the product set $S \times T$ defined by $c(i, j) = a_i b_j$. With reversed lexical order, we shall generalize matrix representations from linear to multilinear maps on finite dimensional vector spaces. The notation $\S7-5.8$ of matrix representations will be used.

15-4.2. Lemma Let $\mathbb{F}(S)$, $\mathbb{F}(T)$ be vector spaces of certain functions on non-empty sets S, T respectively. For every $f \in \mathbb{F}(S)$ and $g \in \mathbb{F}(T)$, let $\pi(f,g) : S \times T \to \mathbb{K}$ be defined by $\pi(f,g)(s,t) = f(s)g(t)$. Then the vector space \mathbb{P} spanned by $\{\pi(f,g) : f \in \mathbb{F}(S), E, g \in \mathbb{F}(T)\}$ is a tensor product of $\mathbb{F}(S), \mathbb{F}(T)$. As a result, it justifies the usual notation : $(f \otimes g)(s,t) = f(s)g(t)$. Note that when S is metric space, we naturally restrict $\mathbb{F}(S)$ to the set of all continuous functions only.

<u>Proof</u>. Clearly π is bilinear. Hence there is a linear map $\varphi : \mathbb{F}(S) \otimes \mathbb{F}(T) \to \mathbb{P}$ such that for all $f \in \mathbb{F}(S)$ and $g \in \mathbb{F}(T)$ we have $\pi(f,g) = \varphi(f \otimes g)$. Since \mathbb{P} is spanned by the range of π , the map φ is surjective. Suppose to the contrary that the linear map φ is not injective. Then there is $z \neq 0$ in $\mathbb{F}(S) \otimes \mathbb{F}(T)$ but $\varphi(z) = 0$ in \mathbb{P} . Write $z = \sum_{j=1}^{m} f_j \otimes g_j$ where $\{f_j\}$ and $\{g_j\}$ are linearly independent in $\mathbb{F}(S), \mathbb{F}(T)$ respectively. Then $\varphi(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \pi(f_j, g_j) = 0$, i.e. for each $(s,t) \in S \times T$, $\sum_{j=1}^{m} f_j(s)g_j(t) = 0$. Hence $\sum_{j=1}^{m} f_j(s)g_j = 0$. By independence of $\{g_j\}$, we have $f_j(s) = 0$ for all $s \in S$, i.e. $f_j = 0$ and thus $z = \sum_{j=1}^{m} f_j \otimes g_j = 0$ which is a contradiction. Therefore φ is an isomorphism from $\mathbb{F}(S) \otimes \mathbb{F}(T)$ onto \mathbb{P} .

15-4.3. Both index sets $S = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ and $T = \{1, 2, \dots, m\}$ have their own natural orders $1 < 2 < 3 < \dots$. Their product set $S \times T$ is endowed with the reversed lexical order listed explicitly below:

	(1, 1)	<	(2, 1)	<		<	(n,1)
<	(1,2)	<	(2,2)	<		<	(n,2)
<	•••	<	•••	<		<	•••
<	(1, m)	<	(2,m)	<	• • •	<	(n,m).

With the notation of §15-4.1, the function $c = a \otimes b$ is identified as the column vector : $(a_1b_1, a_2b_1, \dots, a_nb_1, a_1b_2, a_2b_2, \dots, a_nb_2, \dots, a_1b_m, a_2b_m, \dots, a_nb_m)^t$. This motivates the following definition. We choose reversed lexical order so that §15-4.9 holds and that the notation of tensor products can be applied to higher derivatives even though it is beyond our scope.

15-4.4. Let $A = [a_{ij}]$ and $B = [b_{ij}]$ be matrices of arbitrary sizes. Then their *tensor product* is defined as the matrix given by

$$A \otimes B = \begin{bmatrix} Ab_{11} & Ab_{12} & \cdots \\ Ab_{21} & Ab_{22} & \cdots \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \end{bmatrix}.$$

The following is an illustrative example:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 5 & 6 & 7 \end{bmatrix} \otimes \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 5a & 6a & 7a & 5b & 6b & 7b \\ 2c & 3c & 4c & 2d & 3d & 4d \\ 5c & 6c & 7c & 5d & 6d & 7d \end{bmatrix}.$$

3a 4a

2h 3h

-2a

Row vectors and column vectors are considered as matrices and hence their tensor products are also defined.

15-4.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $\mathcal{E} = [e_1, e_2, \dots, e_n]$ and $\mathcal{F} = [f_1, f_2, \dots, f_m]$ be ordered bases of finite dimensional vector spaces E, F respectively. Then set

$$\mathcal{E}\otimes\mathcal{F}=\{e_i\otimes f_j:1\leq i\leq n,1\leq j\leq m\}$$

forms a basis of $E \otimes F$. Since the reversed lexical order on $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F}$ is always assumed, we have $[x \otimes y] = [x] \otimes [y]$ for all $x \in E$ and $y \in F$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> We have proved that $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F}$ is independent in $E \otimes F$. Next, the expression $x \otimes y = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_i y_j e_i \otimes f_j$ shows that $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F}$ also spans $E \otimes F$ and gives the required coordinate vector.

15-4.6. <u>Theorem</u> In addition to the conditions of last theorem, let G, H be finite dimensional vector spaces with bases $\mathcal{G} = [g_1, g_2, \dots, g_q]$ and $\mathcal{H} = [h_1, h_2, \dots, h_p]$ respectively. Let $A : E \to F$ and $B : G \to H$ be linear maps. Then we have $[A \otimes B] = [A] \otimes [B]$ if both $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{G}$ and $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{H}$ are endowed with reversed lexical orders.

Proof. It follows immediately from $(A \otimes B)(x \otimes y) = (Ax) \otimes (By)$.

15-4.7. **Exercise** Let dim(E) = dim(H) = 2 and dim(F) = dim(G) = 3. Define $A: E \to F$ by $A(x) = (m + 4n)f_1 + (2m + 5n)f_2 + (3m + 6n)f_3$ for $x = me_1 + ne_2$ in E and also $B: G \to H$ by $B(y) = (7\alpha + 8\beta + 9\gamma)h_1 + (10\alpha + 20\beta + 30\gamma)h_2$ for $y = \alpha g_1 + \beta g_2 + \gamma g_3$ in F where $m, n, \alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{K}$. Then $E \otimes G$ has the following ordered basis : $e_1 \otimes g_1, e_2 \otimes g_1, e_1 \otimes g_2, e_2 \otimes g_2, e_1 \otimes g_3, e_2 \otimes g_3$ and $F \otimes H$ has the ordered basis : $f_1 \otimes h_1, f_2 \otimes h_1, f_3 \otimes h_1, f_1 \otimes h_2, f_2 \otimes h_2, f_3 \otimes h_2$. Show that the coordinate vectors are $\lceil m\alpha \rceil$

$$[x] = \begin{bmatrix} m \\ n \end{bmatrix}, [y] = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta \\ \gamma \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } [x \otimes y] = \begin{bmatrix} n\alpha \\ m\beta \\ n\beta \\ m\gamma \\ n\gamma \end{bmatrix} = [x] \otimes [y].$$

Verify that the matrix representations are

$$[A] = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 4 \\ 2 & 5 \\ 3 & 6 \end{bmatrix}, \ [B] = \begin{bmatrix} 7 & 8 & 9 \\ 10 & 20 & 30 \end{bmatrix}$$

4h -

Tensor Products

F 7	28	8	32	9	ך 36	
14	35	16	40	18	45	
21	42	24	48	27	54	
						$= [A] \otimes [B].$
10	50	20	80	30	120	
20	50	40	100	60	150	
L30	60	60	120	90	180 J	
	7 14 21 10 20 30	7 28 14 35 21 42 10 50 20 50 30 60	7 28 8 14 35 16 21 42 24 10 50 20 20 50 40 30 60 60	$\begin{bmatrix} 7 & 28 & 8 & 32 \\ 14 & 35 & 16 & 40 \\ 21 & 42 & 24 & 48 \\ 10 & 50 & 20 & 80 \\ 20 & 50 & 40 & 100 \\ 30 & 60 & 60 & 120 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 7 & 28 & 8 & 32 & 9 \\ 14 & 35 & 16 & 40 & 18 \\ 21 & 42 & 24 & 48 & 27 \\ 10 & 50 & 20 & 80 & 30 \\ 20 & 50 & 40 & 100 & 60 \\ 30 & 60 & 60 & 120 & 90 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 7 & 28 & 8 & 32 & 9 & 36 \\ 14 & 35 & 16 & 40 & 18 & 45 \\ 21 & 42 & 24 & 48 & 27 & 54 \\ 10 & 50 & 20 & 80 & 30 & 120 \\ 20 & 50 & 40 & 100 & 60 & 150 \\ 30 & 60 & 60 & 120 & 90 & 180 \end{bmatrix}$

Finally calculate $[Ax] \otimes [By]$ and $[A \otimes B][x \otimes y]$ separately and check if they are equal.

15-4.8. We shall generalize matrix representations from linear to bilinear and consequently multilinear maps. Let $A: E \times G \to F$ be a bilinear map. Using the same notation as before, the expression $A(e_i, g_j) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} a_{ij}^k f_k$ gives a column vector $C_{ij} = (a_{ij}^1, a_{ij}^2, a_{ij}^3, \dots, a_{ij}^m)^t$ in \mathbb{K}^m . The matrix representation of the bilinear map with respect to the ordered bases $\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{G}, \mathcal{F}$ is defined as the $m \times nq$ -matrix given by $[A] = [C_{11}, C_{21}, \dots, C_{n1}, C_{12}, C_{22}, \dots, C_{n2}, C_{1q}, C_{2q}, \dots, C_{nq}]$. Note that the subscripts are given the reversed lexical order.

15-4.9. <u>**Theorem</u>** [A(x, y)] = [A][x][y].</u>

Proof. Just like in linear case, it follows from the interpretation of

$$A(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{q} A(e_i, g_j) x_i y_j = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{q} a_{ij}^k x_i y_j.$$

15-4.10. **Exercise** Let M(E, G; F) be the vector space of all bilinear maps from $E \times G \to F$. Prove that the map $A \to [A]$ is an isomorphism from M(E, G; F) onto the vector space mat(m, nq) of all $m \times nq$ -matrices.

15-4.11. **<u>Theorem</u>** Let $A : E \times G \to F$ be a bilinear map and $B : E \otimes G \to F$ be the linear map associated to A, i.e. $A(x, y) = B(x \otimes y)$ for all $(x, y) \in E \times G$. Then we have [A] = [B].

<u>Proof</u>. Clearly both [A], [B] are of the same size $m \times nq$. Suppose $[A] = [a_{ij}^k]$ and $[B] = [b_{ij}^k]$. Observe that $\sum_{k=1}^m a_{ij}^k f_k = A(e_i, g_j) = B(e_i \otimes g_j) = \sum_{k=1}^m b_{ij}^k f_k$. Therefore $a_{ij}^k = b_{ij}^k$ for all i, j, k, i.e. [A] = [B].

15-4.12. **Corollary** For every $m \times nq$ -matrix A, n-column vector x and q-column vector y, we have $(Ax)y = A(x \otimes y)$. As a result, tensor product can be used as an alternative of §10-5.6 to handle the higher derivatives in finite dimensional vector spaces.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $E = \mathbb{K}^n$, $F = \mathbb{K}^m$ and $G = \mathbb{K}^q$. Then $(x, y) \to Axy$ is a bilinear map from $E \times G \to F$ and its matrix representation with respect to the stan-

dard bases is A itself. Let $B: E \otimes G \to F$ be the associated linear map of A. Then the proof is completed by the following computation

$$Axy = [A][x][y] = [Axy] = [B(x \otimes y)]$$

= [B][x \otimes y] = [A]([x] \otimes [y]) = A(x \otimes y).
15-4.13. **Example** Let $A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 & 6 \\ 10 & 20 & 30 & 40 & 50 & 60 \end{bmatrix}$. Then we have
 $\left(A \begin{bmatrix} 6 \\ 7 \end{bmatrix}\right) \begin{bmatrix} a \\ b \\ c \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 20 & 46 & 72 \\ 200 & 460 & 720 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a \\ b \\ c \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 20a + 46b + 72c \\ 200a + 460b + 720c \end{bmatrix}$
and also
 $A \left(\begin{bmatrix} 6 \\ 7 \end{bmatrix} \otimes \begin{bmatrix} a \\ b \\ c \end{bmatrix} \right) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 & 6 \\ 10 & 20 & 30 & 40 & 50 & 60 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 6a \\ 7a \\ 6b \\ 7b \\ 6c \\ 7c \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 20a + 46b + 72c \\ 200a + 460b + 720c \end{bmatrix}$.

15-5 Projective Norms on Tensor Products

A

15-5.1. Let E, F, G be normed spaces and $\varphi : E \times F \to E \otimes F$ the tensor map. Then every continuous bilinear map $f: E \times F \to G$ factors through a linear map $g: E \otimes F \to G$, i.e. $f = g\varphi$. The identification

$$T: M(E, F; G) \to L(E \otimes F, G)$$

defined by T(f) = q is an algebraic isomorphism. In this section, a norm is defined on $E \otimes F$ so that T becomes an isometry.

A norm on the algebraic tensor product $E \otimes F$ is called a *tensor norm* 15-5.2. or a cross norm if $||x \otimes y|| = ||x|| ||y||$ for all decomposable tensors $x \otimes y$. It is easy to prove that if E, F contain non-zero vectors, then $\|\varphi\| = 1$ for every tensor norm on $E \otimes F$.

Prove that if E, F are separable, then so is $E \otimes F$ under 15-5.3. Exercise every tensor norm.

For every $z \in E \otimes F$, write $z = \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_j \otimes y_j$ where $x_j \in E$ and $y_j \in F$. 15-5.4. Note that x_j, y_j may be zero vectors and hence z may be the zero tensor. Let $||z|| = \inf \sum_{i=1}^{m} ||x_i|| ||y_i||$ where the infimum is taken over all representation of z as a sum of decomposable tensors. This is called the *projective norm* on the tensor product, or the π -norm. We shall assume that our results hold for finite tensor products of normed space without any further specification.

15-5.5. **Theorem** The projective norm is the largest tensor norm on $E \otimes F$. <u>Proof</u>. Clearly the projective norm is positive and the projective norm of the zero tensor is zero. Let $c = \sum_{i=1}^{m} a_i \otimes b_i$ and $z = \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j \otimes y_j$ be tensors in $E \otimes F$. Clearly we have $||c + z|| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{m} ||a_i|| ||b_i|| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||x_j|| ||y_j||$. Taking infima over the representations of c, z, we obtain $||c + z|| \leq ||c|| + ||z||$. Similarly, it is easy to show $||\lambda z|| \leq |\lambda| ||z||$ for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$. If $\lambda \neq 0$, then $|\lambda| ||z|| = |\lambda| ||\frac{1}{\lambda}\lambda z|| \leq |\lambda| ||\frac{1}{\lambda}| ||\lambda z|| = ||\lambda z||$, i.e. $|\lambda| ||z|| \leq ||\lambda z||$. Therefore $|\lambda| ||z|| = ||\lambda z||$ which can be verified directly when $\lambda = 0$. Next suppose $z \neq 0$. Write $z = \sum_{i=1}^{r} u_i \otimes v_i$ where $\{u_i\}$ and $\{v_i\}$ are linearly independent sets. There are continuous linear forms f, g on E, F respectively such that $f(u_1) = g(v_1) = 1$ and $f(u_i) = g(v_i) = 0$ for all $i \geq 2$. Hence $(f \otimes g)(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{r} f(u_i)g(v_i) = 1$. Now for any representation $z = \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j \otimes y_j$, observe that

$$1 = (f \otimes g)(z) = (f \otimes g) \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j \otimes y_j \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(x_j) g(y_j) \\ = \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(x_j) g(y_j) \right| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} |f(x_j)| |g(y_j)| \le ||f|| ||g|| \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||x_j|| ||y_j||.$$

Taking infimum over all representations of z, we have $1 \leq ||f|| ||g|| ||z||$. Therefore $||z|| \neq 0$. This proves that the projective norm is a norm on $E \otimes F$. To show that the projective norm is a tensor norm, suppose $z = u \otimes v \neq 0$ is a decomposable tensor. Then both u, v are non-zero. There are continuous linear forms f, g on E, F respectively such that ||f|| = ||g|| = 1, f(u) = ||u|| and g(v) = ||v||. Thus $(f \otimes g)(z) = f(u)g(v) = ||u|| ||v||$. Now for any representation $z = \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j \otimes y_j$, calculation as above gives

$$||u|| ||v|| = (f \otimes g)(z) \le ||f|| ||g|| \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||x_j|| ||y_j|| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||x_j|| ||y_j||.$$

Taking infimum, we have $||u|| ||v|| \leq ||z||$. This together with the definition shows ||u|| ||v|| = ||z||. Therefore projective norm is a tensor norm on $E \otimes F$. Finally, let |?| be any tensor norm on $E \otimes F$. Then for every $z = \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j \otimes y_j$, we have $|z| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} |x_j \otimes y_j| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||x_j|| ||y_j||$. Taking infimum over all representations of z, we have $|z| \leq ||z||$. Consequently, projective norm is the largest tensor norm.

15-5.6. <u>Theorem</u> For every continuous bilinear map $f: E \times F \to G$, there is a unique continuous linear map $g: E \otimes F \to G$ such that $f = g\varphi$ where $\varphi: E \times F \to E \otimes F$ is the tensor map. Furthermore, let

$$T: M(E, F; G) \to L(E \otimes F, G)$$

be defined by Tf = g. Then T is an isometric isomorphism.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $z = \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j \otimes y_j$ be any tensor in $E \otimes F$. Observe that $\|g(z)\| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|g(x_j \otimes y_j)\| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|f(x_j, y_j)\| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|f\| \|x_j\| \|y_j\|.$

Taking infimum over all representations of z, we have $||g(z)|| \le ||f|| ||z||$. Hence g is continuous under the projective norm on $E \otimes F$. Furthermore, $||g|| \le ||f||$. Conversely, if $g: E \otimes F \to G$ is continuous linear, then the composite $f = g\varphi$ is continuous bilinear. Since $||f(x, y) = ||f(x \otimes y)|| \le ||g|| ||x \otimes y|| = ||g|| ||x|| ||y||$, we obtain $||f|| \le ||g||$. Therefore ||f|| = ||g||. It is obvious that Tf is linear in f. This proves that T is an isometric isomorphism.

15-5.7. <u>Exercise</u> Identify the dual space of $E \otimes F$ under projective tensor norm with the space of all continuous bilinear forms on $E \times F$.

15-5.8. **Theorem** There is a unique linear injection $\varphi : L(E, F) \to (E \otimes F')'$ such that $\varphi(A)(x \otimes g) = gAx, \forall (x,g) \in (E \times F')$. As a result, L(E,F) is identified as a subspace of $(E \otimes F')'$ by $A(x \otimes g) = gAx, \forall (x,g) \in E \otimes F'$.

<u>Proof</u>. It is trivial to verify that the map $\psi(A) : E \times F \to \mathbb{K}$ given by $\psi(A)(x,g) = gAx$ is continuous bilinear and hence there is a continuous linear map $\varphi(A) : E \otimes F' \to \mathbb{K}$ such that $\varphi(A)(x \otimes g) = gAx$. Thus the map $\varphi : L(E,F) \to (E \otimes F')'$ is well-defined. It is obvious that $\varphi(A)$ is linear in $A \in L(E,F)$. To prove that φ is injective, if $\varphi(A) = 0$, i.e. gAx = 0 for all $(x,g) \in E \times F'$, then since F' separates points we have Ax = 0 for all $x \in E$, or A = 0. Therefore φ is a required linear injection. For uniqueness, suppose $\xi : L(E,F) \to (E \otimes F')'$ is a linear map satisfying $\xi(A)(x \otimes g) = gAx$ for all $(x,g) \in (E \times F')$. Then $\xi(A)(x \otimes g) = \psi(A)(x,g)$. Therefore we obtain $\xi(A) = \varphi(A)$, i.e. $\xi = \varphi$.

15-5.9. <u>Corollary</u> Let $A_1, A_2, \dots, A_m : E \to F$ be continuous linear maps. If they are linearly independent, then there are points $x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n \in E$ and continuous linear forms g_1, g_2, \dots, g_n on F such that $\sum_{j=1}^n g_1 A_1 x_j = 1$ and $\sum_{j=1}^n g_j A_i x_j = 0$ for all $i \geq 2$.

<u>Proof</u>. Observe that $\varphi(A_1), \varphi(A_2), \dots, \varphi(A_m)$ are linearly independent in $(\overline{E \otimes F'})'$ by injectivity of φ in the proof of last theorem. There is $z \in E \otimes F'$ such that $\varphi(A_1)(z) = 1$ and $\varphi(A_i)(z) = 0$ for all $i \ge 2$. Write $z = \sum_{j=1}^n x_j \otimes g_j$ where $x_j \in E$ and $g_j \in F'$. Now $\varphi(A)(z) = \sum_{j=1}^n g_j A_i x_j$ completes the proof.

15-5.10. For each $1 \le k \le p$, let E_k, F_k be normed spaces and $L(E_k, F_k)$ the vector space of all continuous linear maps from E_k into F_k . Define

$$f(A_1, A_2, \cdots, A_p)(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_p) = \bigotimes_{k=1}^p A_k x_k$$

where $A_k \in L(E_k, F_k)$ and $x_k \in E_k$. Since

 $f(A_1, A_2, \cdots, A_p) : \prod_{k=1}^p E_k \to \bigotimes_{k=1}^p F_k$

is a continuous multilinear map, there is a unique continuous linear map

$$g(A_1, A_2, \cdots, A_p) : \bigotimes_{k=1}^p E_k \to \bigotimes_{k=1}^p F_k$$
$$g(A_1, A_2, \cdots, A_p) (\bigotimes_{k=1}^p x_k) = \bigotimes_{k=1}^p A_k x_k.$$

such that

Because
$$g: \prod_{k=1}^{p} L(E_k, F_k) \to L(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k, \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} F_k)$$

is a continuous multilinear map, there is a unique continuous linear map

$$h: \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} L(E_k, F_k) \to L(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k, \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} F_k)$$

such that

hat
$$h(\otimes_{k=1}^{p} A_{k}) = g(A_{1}, A_{2}, \cdots, A_{p}).$$

Therefore $[h(\otimes_{k=1}^p A_k)](\otimes_{k=1}^p x_k) = \otimes_{k=1}^p A_k x_k.$

We shall prove in next theorem that h is injective. Hence the tensor product as vectors in $L(E_k, F_k)$ agrees with the tensor product as linear maps. Therefore the tensor products of linear maps $A_1 \otimes A_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes A_p$ enjoy all properties of tensor products of vectors.

15-5.11. **Theorem** The tensor product $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} L(E_k, F_k)$ can be identified as a vector subspace of $L(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} E_k, \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} F_k)$.

<u>Proof</u>. It suffices to show that h defined above is injective. Suppose to the contrary that there is $D \in \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} L(E_k, F_k)$ such that h(D) = 0 but $D \neq 0$. Write $D = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} A_{ik}$ where r is the rank of the vector tensor D. Then $\{A_{ik} : 1 \leq i \leq r\}$ is an independent subset of $L(E_k, F_k)$. There are $x_{jk} \in E_k$ and $g_{jk} \in F'_k$ such that

$$\sum_{j(k)=1}^{m(k)} g_{j(k)k} A_{ik} x_{j(k)k} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } i = 1; \\ 0, & \text{if } i \ge 2. \end{cases}$$

Now h(D) = 0 gives

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \sum_{j(1)=1}^{m(1)} \sum_{j(2)=1}^{m(2)} \cdots \sum_{j(p)=1}^{m(p)} (\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} g_{j(k)k}) h(D)(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} x_{j(k)k}) \\ &= \sum_{j(1)=1}^{m(1)} \sum_{j(2)=1}^{m(2)} \cdots \sum_{j(p)=1}^{m(p)} (\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} g_{j(k)k}) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} h(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} A_{ik})(\bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} x_{j(k)k}) \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j(1)=1}^{m(1)} \sum_{j(2)=1}^{m(2)} \cdots \sum_{j(p)=1}^{m(p)} \bigotimes_{k=1}^{p} (g_{j(k)k} A_{ik} x_{j(k)k}) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j(1)=1}^{m(1)} \sum_{j(2)=1}^{m(2)} \cdots \sum_{j(p)=1}^{m(p)} \prod_{k=1}^{p} g_{j(k)k} A_{ik} x_{j(k)k} \end{split}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{k=1}^{p} \sum_{j(k)=1}^{m(k)} g_{j(k)k} A_{ik} x_{j(k)k} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{k=1}^{p} 1 = r$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore *h* is injective.

15-5.12. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that under the projective norms, both g, h are continuous. Furthermore, show that ||g|| = ||h|| is either zero or one.

15-6 Inductive Norms

15-6.1. Let E, F be normed spaces. Write $E \otimes_{\pi} F$ to indicate that the projective norm is used. Since every $x \in E \subset E''$ is a continuous linear form on E', $x \otimes y$ is a continuous linear form on $E' \otimes_{\pi} F'$ defined by $(u \otimes v)(x \otimes y) = u(x)v(y)$ where $u \in E', v \in F'$ and $y \in F$. Therefore we identify $E \otimes F$ as a vector subspace of $(E' \otimes_{\pi} F')'$. In this section, we shall study the norm on $E \otimes F$ induced by $(E' \otimes_{\pi} F')'$. With this norm, we can identify $E' \otimes F$ as a subspace of L(E, F).

15-6.2. **Lemma** For every
$$f \in (E' \otimes_{\pi} F')'$$
, we have $||f|| = \lambda(f)$ where $\lambda(f) = \sup\{|f(u \otimes v)| : u \in E', ||u|| \le 1, v \in F', ||v|| \le 1\}.$

<u>Proof.</u> Since $|f(u \otimes v)| \leq ||f|| ||u \otimes v|| = ||f|| ||u|| ||v|| \leq ||f||$, we have $\overline{\lambda(f)} \leq ||f||$. Conversely, take any $w \in E' \otimes_{\pi} F'$ with $0 < ||w|| \leq 1$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, by definition of projective norm we have $w = \sum_{j=1}^{r} u_j \otimes v_j$ and $\sum_{j=1}^{r} ||u_j|| ||v_j|| \leq ||w|| + \varepsilon$ for some $u_j \in E'$ and $v_j \in F'$. Since $w \neq 0$, we may assume that all u_i, v_j are non-zero. Hence we obtain

$$\begin{split} |f(w)| &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{r} |f(u_{j} \otimes v_{j})| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{r} \left| f\left(\frac{u_{j}}{\|u_{j}\|} \otimes \frac{v_{j}}{\|v_{j}\|}\right) \right| \ \|u_{j}\| \ \|v_{j}\| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{r} \lambda(f) \|u_{j}\| \ \|v_{j}\| = \lambda(f) \sum_{j=1}^{r} \|u_{j}\| \|v_{j}\| \leq \lambda(f)(1+\varepsilon). \end{split}$$

Taking supremum over $||w|| \leq 1$, we have $||f|| \leq \lambda(f)(1 + \varepsilon)$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we get $||f|| \leq \lambda(f)$.

15-6.3. The *inductive norm* or ε -norm on $E \otimes F$ is defined by

 $\lambda(z) = \sup\{ |(u \otimes v)(z) : u \in E', ||u|| \le 1, v \in F', ||v|| \le 1 \}.$

We shall write $E \otimes_{\varepsilon} F$ to indicate that the inductive norm is used. Recall that the projective norm on $E \otimes_{\pi} F$ is given by $\pi(z) = \inf \sum_{j=1}^{m} ||x_j|| ||y_j||$ where the infimum is taken over all representation of z as a sum of decomposable tensors.

15-6.4. <u>Theorem</u> The inductive norm λ is a tensor norm on $E \otimes_{\varepsilon} F$. Furthermore, we have $|(u \otimes v)(z)| \leq ||u|| ||v|| \lambda(z)$ for all $u \in E'$, $v \in F'$ and $z \in E \otimes F$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> We have proved that λ is a norm on $(E' \otimes_{\pi} F')'$ and hence it is also norm on its subspace $E \otimes F$. Since

$$\begin{aligned} \lambda(x \otimes y) &= \sup\{ |(u \otimes v)(x \otimes y)| : ||u|| \le 1, ||v|| \le 1 \} \\ &= \sup\{ |u(x)| \ |v(y)| : ||u|| \le 1, ||v|| \le 1 \} = ||x|| ||y||, \end{aligned}$$

 λ is a tensor norm on $E \otimes F$. To show the inequality, we may assume that both u, v are non-zero. By definition of λ , we have

$$\left| \left(\frac{u}{\|u\|} \right) \otimes \left(\frac{v}{\|v\|} \right) (z) \right| \le \lambda(z)$$

from which the result follows by multiplying ||u|| ||v|| to both sides.

15-6.5. Lemma For all $z \in E \otimes F$ and all $w \in E' \otimes F'$, we have $|w(z)| \leq \pi(w)\lambda(z)$ and $|w(z)| \leq \lambda(w)\pi(z)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Without loss of generality, assume that both w, z are non-zero otherwise the left hand side becomes zero and the result follows. Take any representation $z = \sum_{i=1}^{m} x_i \otimes y_i$. We may assume that all x_i, y_i are non-zero otherwise just drop them. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} |w(z)| &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{m} |w(x_i \otimes y_i)| \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left| w\left(\frac{x_i}{\|x_i\|} \otimes \frac{y_i}{\|y_i\|} \right) \right| \ \|x_i\| \ \|y_i\| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda(w) \|x_i\| \ \|y_i\|. \end{aligned}$$

Taking the infimum over all representations of z, we obtain $|w(z)| \leq \lambda(w)\pi(z)$. Similarly, we can prove the other inequality.

15-6.6. **Exercise** Let E_p, E_q denote the same vector space E equipped with two norms p, q and E'_p, E'_q their topological dual spaces respectively. The *dual* norm on E'_p is defined by $p'(u) = \sup\{|u(x)| : x \in E, ||x|| \le 1\}$. Prove that if $p \le q$ on E, then $E'_q \subset E'_p$ and also $q' \le p'$ on E'_q .

15-6.7. Theorem If E, F are Banach spaces, then $\pi' = \lambda$ on $E' \otimes F'$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $|w(z)| \leq \lambda(w)\pi(z)$, we get $\pi'(w) = \sup\{|w(z)| : \pi(z) \leq 1\} \leq \lambda(w)$. On the other hand, suppose $w \in E' \otimes F'$, $||f|| \leq 1$ in E'' and $||g|| \leq 1$ in F'' are given. Write $w = \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_j \otimes v_j$. Since E, F are Banach spaces, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are $x \in E$ and $y \in F$ such that $||x|| \leq ||f|| + \varepsilon$, $||y|| \leq ||g|| + \varepsilon$, $u_j(x) = f(u_j)$ and $v_j(y) = g(v_j)$ for all j. Since

$$(f \otimes g)(w) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(u_j)g(v_j) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_j(x)v_j(y) = w(x \otimes y),$$

$$\begin{split} |(f \otimes g)(w)| &= |w(x \otimes y)| = \left| w \left(\frac{x}{\|x\|} \otimes \frac{y}{\|y\|} \right) \right| \|x\| \|y\| \\ &\leq \pi'(w)(\|f\| + \varepsilon)(\|g\| + \varepsilon) \leq \pi'(w)(1 + \varepsilon)^2. \end{split}$$

Taking supremum over all f, g, we obtain $\lambda(w) \leq \pi'(w)(1+\varepsilon)^2$. Because $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $\lambda(w) \leq \pi'(w)$.

15-6.8. Let E, F be normed spaces. The map $\psi : E' \times F \to L(E, F)$ defined by $\psi(f, y)(x) = f(x)y$ for $f \in E', y \in F, x \in E$ is a continuous bilinear map. Hence there is a unique linear map $\varphi : E' \otimes F \to L(E, F)$ so that $\varphi(f \otimes y)(x) = f(x)y$.

15-6.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the image of $E' \otimes F$ under φ consists of all finite dimensional continuous linear maps from E into F.

15-6.10. **Theorem** The map φ is an isometric isomorphism when $E' \otimes_{\varepsilon} F$ is equipped with the inductive tensor norm. In particular, φ is injective. Hence we can embed $E' \otimes_{\varepsilon} F$ as a vector subspace of the normed space L(E, F).

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $z = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_j \otimes y_j$. The following calculation completes the proof:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi(z)\| &= \sup\{\|\varphi(z)(x)\| : x \in E, \|x\| \le 1\} = \sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \left\|\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{j}(x)y_{j}\right\| \\ &= \sup_{\|y\| \le 1} \sup\{\left|g\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{j}(x)y_{j}\right)\right| : g \in F', \|g\| \le 1\} \\ &= \sup_{\|g\| \le 1} \sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \left|\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} g(y_{j})f_{j}\right)(x)\right| = \sup_{\|g\| \le 1} \left\|\sum_{j=1}^{n} g(y_{j})f_{j}\right\| \\ &= \sup_{\|g\| \le 1} \sup_{\|h\| \le 1} \left|h\left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} g(y_{j})f_{j}\right]\right|; h \in E'' \\ &= \sup\left\{\left|\sum_{j=1}^{n} g(y_{j})h(f_{j})\right| : \|g\| \le 1, \|h\| \le 1\right\} = \lambda\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{j} \otimes y_{j}\right) = \lambda(z).\Box \end{aligned}$$

15-6.11. The completions of $E \otimes F$ under the projective and inductive norms are denoted by $\widehat{E \otimes_{\pi} F}$ and $\widehat{E \otimes_{\varepsilon} F}$ respective. Their properties can be derived from the dense subspace $E \otimes F$. The details are left to the readers.

15-7 Tensor Product of Hilbert Spaces

15-7.1. In linear algebra, it is well-known that if a tensor product of matrices is normal, then each factor is also normal. This will be generalized to operators on Hilbert spaces. We start with introduction of natural inner products on the tensor spaces.

15-7.2. **Lemma** The completion K of a complex inner product space H is a Hilbert space.

<u>Proof</u>. For each $b \in H$, the map $f : H \to \mathbb{C}$ given by $f_b(a) = \langle a, b \rangle$ is continuous linear in a and hence it can be extended over K, i.e. $\langle x, b \rangle$ is well-defined for all $x \in K$ and $b \in H$. It is easy to show that $|\langle x, b \rangle| \leq ||x|| ||b||$. Therefore the map $g_x : H \to \mathbb{C}$ given by $g_x(b) = \langle x, b \rangle^-$ is continuous linear in b and hence it can also be extended over K, i.e. $\langle x, y \rangle$ is well-defined for all $x, y \in K$. It is easy to verify that $\langle x, y \rangle$ is an inner product on K. Its norm is complete because K is the completion of H. The uniqueness follows from the fact that $H \times H$ is dense in $K \times K$ and that $\langle x, y \rangle$ is jointly continuous in (x, y).

15-7.3. **Lemma** Let H, K be complex inner Spaces. There is a unique inner product on the algebraic tensor product $H \otimes K$ such that for all $a, x \in H$ and $b, y \in K$ we have $\langle a \otimes b, x \otimes y \rangle = \langle a, x \rangle \langle b, y \rangle$.

<u>Proof.</u> Define $f_{xy} : H \times K \to \mathbb{C}$ by $f_{xy}(a, b) = \langle a, x \rangle \langle b, y \rangle$ for every $(x, y) \in H \times K$. Clearly $f_{xy}(a, b)$ is bilinear in (a, b). Hence there is a linear map $g_{xy} : H \otimes K \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $f_{xy}(a \otimes b) = g_{xy}(a \otimes b)$ for all $(a, b) \in H \times K$. Next, for each $c \in H \otimes K$ define $p_c : H \times K \to \mathbb{C}$ by $p_c(x, y) = \overline{g_{xy}(c)}$. To show that it is linear in x, let $c = \sum_{j=1}^n a_j \otimes b_j$ and $x = \alpha u + \beta v$ where $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$ and $u, v \in H$. Observe that

$$\begin{split} p_c(\alpha u + \beta v, y) &= g_{(\alpha u + \beta v)y}(c) \\ &= g_{(\alpha u + \beta v)y}\left(\sum_{j=1}^n a_j \otimes b_j\right) = \sum_{j=1}^n g_{(\alpha u + \beta v)y}(a_j \otimes b_j) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^n f_{(\alpha u + \beta v)y}(a_j, b_j) = \sum_{j=1}^n \langle a_j, \alpha u + \beta v \rangle \langle b_j, y \rangle \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^n \overline{\alpha} \langle a_j, u \rangle \langle b_j, y \rangle + \sum_{j=1}^n \overline{\beta} \langle a_j, v \rangle \langle b_j, y \rangle \\ &= \overline{\alpha} g_{uy}(c) + \overline{\beta} g_{vy}(c) = \overline{\alpha} p_c(u, y) + \beta p_c(v, y). \end{split}$$

Therefore $p_c(x, y)$ is linear in x and similarly is also linear in y. There is a linear map $q_c : H \otimes K \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $q_c(x \otimes y) = p_c(x, y)$. For every $c, z \in H \otimes K$, write $\langle c, z \rangle = q_c(z)$. Suppose $z = \sum_{i=1}^m x_i \otimes y_i$. Then it is easy to verify the identity: $\langle c, z \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^m \sum_{j=1}^n \langle a_j, x_i \rangle \langle b_j, y_i \rangle$. From this, it follows that $\langle c, z \rangle$ is the unique inner product on $H \otimes K$ required by the theorem. \Box

15-7.4. **Exercise** Prove that $||x \otimes y|| = ||x|| ||y||$ for all $x \in H$ and $y \in K$.

15-7.5. Let H, K be complex Hilbert spaces. Let $H \otimes_a K$ denote the inner product space of algebraic tensor product of H, K. Then the completion $H \otimes K$

of $H \otimes_a K$ is called the *Hilbert tensor product* of H, K. It is a Hilbert space containing all decomposable tensor and its inner product satisfies

$$< a \otimes b, x \otimes y >$$
 = $< a, x >$ $< b, y >$

for all $a, x \in H$ and all $b, y \in K$. Let A, B be continuous linear operators on H, K respectively. Then $A \otimes B$ is a continuous linear operator on the inner product space $H \otimes_a K$ satisfying $(A \otimes B)(x \otimes y) = A(x) \otimes B(y)$ for all $(x, y) \in H \times K$. Its unique extension over the Hilbert tensor product $H \otimes K$ is also denoted by the same symbol $A \otimes B$.

15-7.6. **Lemma** Let P, Q be operators on the Hilbert tensor product $H \otimes K$ of Hilbert spaces H, K. If $\langle c, Pz \rangle = \langle c, Qz \rangle$ for all decomposable tensors $c, z \in H \otimes K$, then we have P = Q.

<u>Proof.</u> By linearity, $\langle c, Pz \rangle = \langle c, Qz \rangle$ holds for all c, z in the algebraic tensor product $H \otimes_a K$. By continuity, it holds also for all c, z in the Hilbert tensor product $H \otimes K$. Therefore P = Q.

15-7.7. As a result of next theorem, it is trivial to show that the tensor products of normal operators are normal. The same is true for other classes such as unitary, self-adjoint, positive definite, etc. The interesting parts are their converses. Let A, B be operators on H, K respectively.

15-7.8. <u>**Theorem**</u> $(A \otimes B)^* = A^* \otimes B^*$.

 $\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof.} \ \ \mbox{For all } u,v \in H \ \mbox{and } x,y \in K \ \mbox{we have} \\ \hline < u \otimes v, (A \otimes B)^*(x \otimes y) > = < (A \otimes B)(u \otimes v), x \otimes y > \\ = < Au \otimes Bv, x \otimes y > = < Au, x > < Bv, y > = < u, A^*x > < v, B^*y > \\ = < u \otimes v, A^*x \otimes B^*y > = < u \otimes v, (A^* \otimes B^*)(x \otimes y) >. \end{array}$

The result follows from last lemma.

15-7.9. **Lemma** If $A^*A = \lambda A A^*$ for some complex number λ , then A is normal.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Without loss of generality, we may assume $A \neq 0$. Choose $x \in H$ with $Ax \neq 0$. Then we have $\langle A^*Ax, x \rangle = \lambda \langle AA^*x, x \rangle$, i.e. $||Ax||^2 = \lambda ||A^*x||^2$. Hence $\lambda > 0$. Taking norms of the given equation, we have $0 \neq ||A^*A|| = \lambda ||AA^*||$ which gives $\lambda = 1$. Therefore A is normal.

15-7.10. **<u>Theorem</u>** If $A \otimes B \neq 0$ is normal, then both A, B are normal.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Simplifying $(A \otimes B)^*(A \otimes B) = (A \otimes B)(A \otimes B)^* \neq 0$, we obtain $(A^*A) \otimes (B^*B) = (AA^*) \otimes (BB^*) \neq 0$. Hence $A^*A = \lambda AA^*$ for some number λ . Therefore A is normal. Similarly, B is also normal.

15-7.11. **Theorem** If $A \otimes B \neq 0$ is unitary, then there exist numbers α, β and unitary operators M, N such that $A = \alpha M, B = \beta N$ and $\alpha \beta = 1$.

Proof. Since $A \otimes B$ is unitary, we have

$$(A^*A) \otimes (B^*B) = (AA^*) \otimes (BB^*) = I \otimes J \qquad \qquad \#1$$

where I, J are identity operators on H, K respectively. There are non-zero numbers s, t such that

$$A^*A = sI$$
 and $AA^* = tI$. #2

Since both left and right inverses of A exist, A is invertible and s = t. In particular, $A \neq 0$, i.e. $Ax \neq 0$ for some $x \in H$. Thus #2 gives $\langle A^*Ax, x \rangle = s \langle x, x \rangle$, or $||Ax||^2 = s||x||^2$. Hence s > 0. Let α be the square root of s and define $M = \frac{1}{\alpha}A$. Then it is easy to verify that M is unitary. Similarly, both β and N are defined. Substituting these into #1, we have

$$\{(\alpha M)^*(\alpha M)\} \otimes \{(\beta N)^*(\beta N)\} = I \otimes J,$$

i.e. $\alpha^2 \beta^2 \{ (M^*M) \otimes (N^*N) \} = I \otimes J$. Since M, N are unitary, we have $\alpha^2 \beta^2 I \otimes J = I \otimes J$, that is, $\alpha^2 \beta^2 = 1$. Because $\alpha, \beta > 0$, we obtain $\alpha\beta = 1$. \Box

15-7.12. **Theorem** If $A \otimes B \neq 0$ is self-adjoint, then $A = \alpha M$ and $B = \beta N$ where M, N are some self-adjoint operators and $\alpha \beta = |\alpha| = |\beta| = 1$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $A \otimes B$ is self-adjoint, we have $A^* \otimes B^* = (A \otimes B)^* = A \otimes B$. Then $A^* = \lambda A$ for some number λ . Taking hermitians, we have $A = \lambda^- A^*$, or $A = \lambda^- \lambda A$. Since $A \neq 0$, $|\lambda| = 1$. Write $\lambda = \exp(i\theta)$ where θ is real and $i^2 = -1$. Define $\alpha = \exp(-i\theta/2)$, $\beta = \exp(i\theta/2)$, $M = \frac{1}{\alpha}A$ and $N = \frac{1}{\beta}B$. Then all conditions of the theorem are satisfied.

15-7.13. **Theorem** If $A \otimes B \neq 0$ is positive definite, then $A = \alpha M$ and $B = \beta N$ where M, N are some positive definite operators and $\alpha \beta = |\alpha| = |\beta| = 1$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $A \otimes B \neq 0$ is self-adjoint, we have A = sP and B = tQ where P, Q are self-adjoint and s, t are complex numbers such that st = |s| = |t| = 1. Clearly $A \otimes B = P \otimes Q$. Since $P = \frac{1}{s}A$ is non-zero self-adjoint, there is $a \in H$ such that $< Pa, a > \neq 0$. Define $\delta = 1$ if < Pa, a > is positive and $\delta = -1$ if < Pa, a > is negative. Let $\alpha = \delta s, \beta = \delta t, M = \delta P$ and $N = \delta Q$. Then M, N are non-zero self-adjoint. Furthermore, $\alpha\beta = |\alpha| = |\beta| = 1$ and $0 \le A \otimes B = M \otimes N$. Now for every $y \in K$, we have $\langle (M \otimes N)(a \otimes y), a \otimes y \rangle \ge 0$, i.e. $\langle Ma, a \rangle \langle Ny, y \rangle \ge 0$. Since $\langle Ma, a \rangle = \delta \langle Pa, a \rangle$ is strictly positive, we have $\langle Ny, y \rangle \ge 0$ for all $y \in K$. Therefore N is positive definite. Since N is non-zero, there is $b \in K$ such that $\langle Nb, b \rangle$ is strictly positive. By similar argument, we have $\langle Mx, x \rangle \ge 0$ for all $x \in H$ and hence M is also positive definite. This completes the proof.

15-7.14. <u>**Theorem</u>** If $A \otimes B \neq 0$ is a projector, then $A = \alpha M$ and $B = \beta N$ where M, N are some projectors and $\alpha \beta = 1$.</u>

<u>Proof</u>. Since $A \otimes B \neq 0$ is self-adjoint, we have A = sP and B = tQ where P, Q are self-adjoint and s, t are complex numbers such that st = |s| = |t| = 1. Since $A \otimes B = P \otimes Q$ is an idempotent, we have $P^2 \otimes Q^2 = P \otimes Q \neq 0$. Hence there are numbers u, v such that $P^2 = uP$, $Q^2 = vQ$ and uv = 1. Since P is non-zero self-adjoint, there is a non-zero real number k in the spectrum of P. Applying the spectral polynomial theorem to $P^2 - uP = 0$, we have $k^2 - uk = 0$. Hence u = k is a real number and so is $v = \frac{1}{u}$. Define M = vP, N = uQ, $\alpha = su$ and $\beta = tv$. Since v is real and P is self-adjoint, we have $M^* = M$. Also $M^2 = v^2P^2 = v^2(uP) = vP = M$. Therefore M is a projector. Similarly, the other requirements of the theorem can be verified.

15-7.15. **Exercise** Prove that if $A \otimes B \neq 0$ is an idempotent, then $A = \alpha M$ and $B = \beta N$ where M, N are some idempotents and $\alpha \beta = 1$.

15-7.16. **Theorem** Let A_k be an operator on a Hilbert space H_k for each $1 \le k \le 2r+1$. If $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{2r+1} A_k \ne 0$ is skew-adjoint, then there are skew-adjoint operators M_k and complex numbers λ_k such that $\prod_{k=1}^{2r+1} \lambda_k = -1$ and for each k, we have $A_k = \lambda_k M_k$, $|\lambda_k| = 1$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{2r+1} A_k \neq 0$ is skew-adjoint, $\bigotimes_{k=1}^{2r+1} (iA_k) = (-1)^r i \bigotimes_{k=1}^{2r+1} A_k \neq 0$ is self-adjoint. There are numbers α_k and self-adjoint operators D_k such that $|\alpha_k| = 1$, $iA_k = \alpha_k D_k$ for each k and also $\prod_{k=1}^{2r+1} \alpha_k = 1$. Define $\lambda_k = -\alpha_k$ and $M_k = iD_k$. Then it is routine to complete the proof.

15-7.17. **Exercise** If $\{u_i\}$ and $\{v_j\}$ are orthonormal bases in H, K respectively, then $\{u_i \otimes v_j\}$ is an orthonormal basis in $H \otimes K$.

15-7.18. <u>Theorem</u> For all operators A, B on H, K respectively, we have

$$||A \otimes B|| = ||A|| ||B||.$$

<u>Proof</u>. Let I, J be the identity maps on H, K and $\{u_i\}, \{v_j\}$ be orthonormal bases in H, K respectively. We claim $||A \otimes J|| \leq ||A||$. Indeed, let $z = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{ij} u_i \otimes v_j$. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(A \otimes J)z\|^{2} &= \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{ij} (A \otimes J)(u_{i} \otimes v_{j})\right\|^{2} \\ &= \left\|\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{ij} A u_{i}\right) \otimes v_{j}\right\|^{2} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{ij} A u_{i}\right\|^{2} \|v_{j}\|^{2} \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{m} |\alpha_{ij}|^{2} \|A u_{i}\|^{2} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{m} |\alpha_{ij}|^{2} \|A\|^{2} = \|z\|^{2} \|A\|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence $||A \otimes J|| \leq ||A||$. Therefore

$$||A \otimes B|| = ||(A \otimes J)(I \otimes B)|| \le ||A \otimes J|| ||I \otimes B|| \le ||A|| ||B||.$$

On the other hand, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are ||x|| = ||y|| = 1 in H, K respectively such that $||Ax|| \ge ||A|| - \varepsilon$ and $||By|| \ge ||B|| - \varepsilon$. Consequently we have

 $\|A\otimes B\|\geq \|(A\otimes B)(x\otimes y)\|=\|Ax\otimes By\|$

 $= \|Ax\| \|By\| \ge (\|A\| - \varepsilon)(\|B\| - \varepsilon).$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $||A \otimes B|| \ge ||A|| ||B||$.

15-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further Readings</u>: Marcus, Defant-93, Freniche, Pelletier, Holub, Ichinose, John, Lewis, Ruston, Reed and Simon-79.

Chapter 16

Complex Vector Lattices

16-1 Ordered Vector Spaces

16-1.1. This chapter introduces complex vector lattices as a tool for subsequent development. The subject is elementary but sometime tricky. We shall restrict ourselves to the minimum algebraic aspects only.

16-1.2. A map $f \to f^-$ from a *complex* vector space \mathcal{F} into itself is called a *conjugation* if $(f+g)^- = f^- + g^-$, $f^{--} = f$ and $(\alpha f)^- = \alpha^- f^-$ for all $f, g \in \mathcal{F}$, and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ where α^- denotes the complex conjugate of α . For a *real* vector space, conjugation is defined as the identity map. In this case, we can unify real and complex vector spaces into one framework. A vector space with a given conjugation is called a *conjugated vector space*. For alternative approach through complexification, see for example [Schaefer-74; §11.1, p134].

16-1.3. **Example** The set $\mathbb{F}(X)$ of all complex functions on a set X is a complex conjugated vector space and the set $\mathbb{F}^{r}(X)$ of all real functions is a real conjugated vector space. However $\mathbb{F}(X)$ is also a real vector space but it is not a real conjugated vector space if the pointwise conjugate-operation is not the identity map. Therefore $\mathbb{F}(X)$ always means the complex vector space in this chapter.

16-1.4. Let \mathcal{F} be a conjugated vector space over \mathbb{K} which can be the real or complex field. The *real part* of an element $f \in \mathcal{F}$ is defined by $\operatorname{Re} f = \frac{1}{2}(f+f^{-})$ and the *imaginary part* by $\operatorname{Im} f = \frac{1}{2i}(f-f^{-})$. Note that when $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, we have $f - f^{-} = 0$ and hence $\operatorname{Im} f = 0$ even scalar multiplication by $\frac{1}{2i}$ is not defined. Clearly, $f = \operatorname{Re} f + i\operatorname{Im} f$ and once again we have $i\operatorname{Im} f = 0$ for a real conjugated vector space even though the scalar multiplication by i is not defined. An element f in a conjugated vector space \mathcal{F} is said to be *real* if $f^{-} = f$. Clearly, the set \mathcal{F}^{r} of all real elements of a conjugated vector space. By a complex element, we mean that it is not necessarily real but may be real or complex. Therefore it makes sense to talk about complex elements in a real conjugated vector space within the unified framework.

16-1.5. Let \mathcal{F} be a conjugated vector space. A subset \mathcal{F}^+ of \mathcal{F}^r is called a *positive cone* or simply a cone if the following conditions hold:

(a) $f + g \in \mathcal{F}^+$ and $\alpha f \in \mathcal{F}^+$, $\forall f, g \in \mathcal{F}^+, \forall \alpha \ge 0$;

(b) if both $f \in \mathcal{F}^+$ and $-f \in \mathcal{F}^+$, then f = 0.

A conjugated vector space with a positive cone is called an *ordered vector space*. Let \mathcal{F} be an ordered vector space. Write $f \leq g$ if both f, g are real elements in \mathcal{F} and $g - f \in \mathcal{F}^+$. In this case, f is said to be *majorized* by g. Clearly, for every real element f, we have $f \geq 0$ iff $f \in \mathcal{F}^+$.

16-1.6. <u>Exercise</u> A function f on a set X is *positive* if $f(x) \ge 0$ for all $x \in X$. Show that the set of all positive functions forms a cone for the real vector space $\mathbb{F}^{r}(X)$ and the complex vector space $\mathbb{F}(X)$.

16-1.7. **Exercise** A function $F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is *increasing* if $F(x) \leq F(y)$ whenever $x \leq y$ and *strictly* increasing if F(x) < F(y) whenever x < y. Verify that the set of all increasing functions on \mathbb{R} forms a cone for the vector space of functions on \mathbb{R} . This cone will play an important role in measure theory on \mathbb{R} .

16-1.8. <u>Theorem</u> For all real elements f, g, h, k of an ordered vector space \mathcal{F} , we have

(a) $f \leq f$, reflexive;

(b) if $f \leq g$ and $g \leq f$, then f = g, anti-symmetric;

(c) if $f \leq g$ and $g \leq h$, then $f \leq h$, transitive;

(d) if $f \leq g$ and $h \leq k$, then $f + h \leq g + k$, addition;

(e) if $0 \le f \le g$ and $0 \le \alpha \le \beta$, then $\alpha f \le \beta g$, scalar multiplication.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose $f \leq g$ and $0 \leq \alpha \leq \beta$. Then $g - f \geq 0$ and $\beta - \alpha \geq 0$. Hence $\alpha(g - f) \geq 0$ and $(\beta - \alpha)g \geq 0$. Thus $\alpha f \leq \alpha g$ and $\alpha g \leq \beta g$. Consequently, $\alpha f \leq \beta g$. This proves (e). The rest is left as an exercise.

16-2 Lattice Structure

16-2.1. It is a matter of opinion on what is the correct definition of complex vector lattices. We use valuation instead of vee-wedge operations as in most existing textbooks and we do not require any expression of valuation of a complex element in terms of its real and complex parts. On the other hand, our version is powerful enough to provide service in the subsequent chapters of

this book. For other existing versions, see [Schaefer-74; $\S1.8$, p54; $\S11.1$, p134; $\S11.2$, p135], [Luxemburg; $\S91$] and [Zaanen-97; ch 6].

16-2.2. Let \mathcal{F} be an ordered vector space. For real elements, the concept of upper bounds, lower bounds, maxima, minima, suprema, infima and lattice notations $f \lor g$ and $f \land g$ are defined on \mathcal{F} in an obvious way. It is easy to prove that they are unique if they exist. Clearly, the operations \lor, \land are commutative and associative. A map $f \to |f|$ from \mathcal{F} into \mathcal{F}^+ is called a *valuation* if for all $f, g \in \mathcal{F}$ and all $\alpha \in \mathbb{K}$, we have

(a)
$$|f+g| \leq |f| + |g|$$
, $|\alpha f| = |\alpha| |f|$ and $|f^-| = |f|$;

(b) if
$$|f| = 0$$
 then $f = 0$.

In this case, the element |f| is called the *total variation*, or *variation*, or *absolute value* of f. It is obvious that $|\text{Re } f| \leq |f|$ and $|\text{Im } f| \leq |f|$ for all complex element $f \in \mathcal{F}$. An ordered vector space together with a given valuation is called a *vector lattice* if |f| is the maximum of $\pm f$ for each real element $f \in \mathcal{F}^r$.

16-2.3. **Exercise** Consider the vector spaces $\mathbb{F}(X)$, $\mathbb{F}^{r}(X)$ of functions on a non-empty set X. Show that the map $f \to |f|$ is a valuation. Verify that $\mathbb{F}(X)$, $\mathbb{F}^{r}(X)$ are vector lattices under pointwise operations. Verify that a vector subspace forms a vector lattice if it is closed under formation of absolute values. See §3-8.3.

16-2.4. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the set of all real polynomials on \mathbb{R} forms an ordered vector space but it is not a vector lattice under pointwise operations.

16-2.5. **Theorem** Let f, g be real elements of a vector lattice \mathcal{F} . (a) $f \vee g = \frac{1}{2}(f + g + |f - g|)$ is the maximum of f, g. (b) $f \wedge g = \frac{1}{2}(f + g - |f - g|)$ is the minimum of f, g. (c) $f + g = f \vee g + f \wedge g$ and $|f - g| = f \vee g - f \wedge g$.

Proof. Let $h = \frac{1}{2}(f + g + |f - g|)$. Since $f - g \leq |f - g|$, we have $h \geq \frac{1}{2}(f + g + f - g) = f$. Similarly since $g - f \leq |f - g|$, we have $h \geq g$. Suppose k is a real element majorizing both f, g. Then $2k - f - g \geq 2f - f - g = f - g$ and $2k - f - g \geq -(f - g)$. Since |f - g| is the least upper bound of $\pm (f - g)$, we have $2k - f - g \geq |f - g|$, i.e. $k \geq h$. Thus h is the least upper bound of f, g. Therefore h is the maximum $f \vee g$ of f, g. This proves (a). We leave the rest as an exercise.

16-2.6. **Theorem** For all real elements f, g, h, k in a vector lattice \mathcal{F} , we have (a) $h + f \lor g = (h + f) \lor (h + g)$ and $h + f \land g = (h + f) \land (h + g)$;

(b) $h - f \lor g = (h - f) \land (h - g)$ and $h - f \land g = (h - f) \lor (h - g)$; (c) $\alpha(f \lor g) = (\alpha f) \lor (\alpha g)$ and $\alpha(f \land g) = (\alpha f) \land (\alpha g), \quad \forall \alpha \ge 0$; (d) if $f \le g$ and $h \le k$, then $f \lor h \le g \lor k$ and $f \land h \le g \land k$; (e) $(f \lor g) \land g = g$ and $(f \land g) \lor g = g$; (f) if f + g = h + k, then $f + g = f \lor h + g \land k$.

Proof. Part (f) follows from the following calculation:

$$f+g-f \lor h = (f+g-f) \land (f+g-h) = g \land (h+k-h) = g \land k.$$

The other parts follow from the definitions of maximum and minimum. $\hfill \Box$

16-2.7. **Lemma** Let f_{ij} be real elements in an ordered vector space \mathcal{F} . If one of the following exists, then we have $\sup_{(i,j)\in I\times J} f_{ij} = \sup_{i\in I} \sup_{j\in J} \sup_{j\in J} \sup_{i\in I} f_{ij}$.

16-2.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let A, B be non-empty sets of real elements in \mathcal{F} such that both sup A, sup B exist.

(a) $\sup(f + B) = f + \sup B$ and $\sup(A + B) = \sup A + \sup B$;

- (b) $\sup(\alpha A) = \alpha \sup A$, $\forall \alpha \ge 0$;
- (c) $\inf(-A) = -\sup A;$

(d) $\sup(f \lor B) = f \lor \sup B$ and $\sup(A \lor B) = (\sup A) \lor (\sup B);$

(e) $\sup(f \wedge B) = f \wedge \sup B$ and $\sup(A \wedge B) = (\sup A) \wedge (\sup B)$.

<u>Proof</u>. We shall prove the distributive law (e) and leave the others as an exercise. Let $h = \sup B$. Since $f \wedge g \leq f \wedge h$ for all $g \in B$, $f \wedge h$ is an upper bound of the set $f \wedge B = \{f \wedge g : g \in B\}$. For any upper bound k of $f \wedge B$, we get $k + f \vee h \geq f \wedge g + f \vee g = f + g$, i.e. $g \leq k + f \vee h - f$. Taking supremum over B, we have $h = \sup B \leq k + f \vee h - f$, or $f \vee h + f \wedge h = f + h \leq k + f \vee h$. Hence $k \geq f \wedge h$. Therefore $f \wedge h$ is the supremum of $f \wedge B$. Finally,

 $\sup(A \wedge B) = \sup_{(f,g)} f \wedge g = \sup_{f} \sup_{g} f \wedge g = \sup_{f} (f \wedge \sup B) = (\sup A) \wedge (\sup B)$ completes the proof.

16-2.9. **Theorem** For all real elements f, g in a vector lattice \mathcal{F} , we have (a) $|f + g| \lor |f - g| = |f| + |g|$; (b) $|f + g| \land |f - g| = ||f| - |g||$; (c) $|f + g| + |f - g| = 2(|f| \lor |g|)$; (d) $||f + g| - |f - g|| = 2(|f| \land |g|)$. <u>Proof.</u> (a) $|f + g| \lor |f - g| = (f + g) \lor (-f - g) \lor (f - g) \lor (-f + g)$ $= (f + g) \lor (f - g) \lor (-f - g) \lor (-f + g)$ $= \frac{1}{2} \{(f + g) + (f - g) + |(f + g) - (f - g)|\} \lor \frac{1}{2} \{(-f - g) + (-f + g) + |(-f - g) - (-f + g)|\}$ $= (f + |g|) \lor (-f + |g|) = f \lor (-f) + |g| = |f| + |g|.$ (c) It follows from (a) by replacing f with f + g and g with f - g.

16-2.10. Two elements f, g in a vector lattice \mathcal{F} are said to be *mutually singular* or *disjoint* if $|f| \wedge |g| = 0$. In this case, it is denoted by $f \perp g$.

16-2.11. **Theorem** Two elements $f, g \in \mathcal{F}$ are mutually singular iff there is an equality among any two of the following terms: $|f|+|g|, |f|\vee|g|$ and ||f|-|g||. *Proof.* It follows from the following identities: $|f|+|g| = |f|\vee|g|+|f|\wedge|g|$, $|f|\wedge|g| = \frac{1}{2}(|f|+|g|-||f|-|g||)$ and $||f|-|g|| = |f|\vee|g|-|f|\wedge|g|$. \Box

16-2.12. **Exercise** Prove that two real elements $f, g \in \mathcal{F}^r$ are mutually singular iff there is an equality among any two of the following terms : |f+g|, |f-g| and $|f| \vee |g|$.

16-3 Decomposition Property

16-3.1. Let $\mathcal{F}^+, \mathcal{F}^r$ denote the positive and real elements of a vector lattice \mathcal{F} respectively. For every real element $f \in \mathcal{F}^r$, the *upper variation* is defined by $f_+ = f \vee 0$ and the *lower variation* by $f_- = (-f) \vee 0$. As a simple result of the following theorem, every complex element h in a vector lattice has a decomposition into positive elements:

$$h = (\text{Re } h)_{+} - (\text{Re } h)_{-} + i(\text{Im } h)_{+} - i(\text{Im } h)_{-}.$$

16-3.2. **Theorem** For every real element $f \in \mathcal{F}^r$, we have (a) $f = f_+ - f_-$, that is $\mathcal{F}^r = \mathcal{F}^+ - \mathcal{F}^+$; (b) $|f| = f_+ + f_- = f_+ \lor f_-$; (c) $f_+ \land f_- = 0$. <u>Proof.</u> (a) $f = f + 0 = f \lor 0 + f \land 0 = f_+ - f_-$. (b) $|f| = |f - 0| = f \lor 0 - f \land 0 = f_+ + f_$ and also $|f| = f \lor (-f) \lor 0 = (f \lor 0) \lor (-f \lor 0) = f_+ \lor f_-$. (c) By (b), we have $f_+ + f_- = f_+ \lor f_-$. Hence $f_+ \land f_- = 0$.

16-3.3. **Theorem** If f = g - h, $g \ge 0$, $h \ge 0$ and $g \perp h$, then $g = f_+$ and $h = f_-$. In other words, the decomposition of real element into difference of positive singular vectors is unique.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since $g \perp h$, we have |g| + |h| = ||g| - |h||. By $g \ge 0$, $h \ge 0$, we get |f| = |g - h| = g + h. Solving for g, h with f = g - h, we have $g = \frac{1}{2}(|f| + f) = f_+$. Similarly, we obtain $h = f_-$.

16-3.4. Lemma For positive vectors $f, g, h \in \mathcal{F}^+$, we have

$$(f+g) \wedge h \leq f \wedge h + g \wedge h.$$

 $\frac{Proof}{\text{Hence } (f+g) \wedge h \leq (f+g) \wedge (f+h) = f+g \wedge h \text{ and also } (f+g) \wedge h \leq h+g \wedge h.$

16-3.5. **<u>Theorem</u>** For all $f, g, h \in \mathcal{F}$, if $f \perp h$ and $g \perp h$, then $(f + g) \perp h$.

Proof. It follows from
$$0 \le (|f| + |g|) \land |h| \le |f| \land |h| + |g| \land |h| = 0.$$

16-3.6. **Exercise** Let f, g be real elements in \mathcal{F}^r . Prove that if $f \perp g$, then (a) $f_+ + g_+$ and $f_- + g_-$ are mutually singular, (b) $(f_+ g) = f_+ + g_-$ and $(f_+ g) = f_- + g_-$

(b) $(f+g)_{+} = f_{+} + g_{+}$ and $(f+g)_{-} = f_{-} + g_{-}$.

16-3.7. <u>**Theorem**</u> For all real elements $f, g, h \in \mathcal{F}^r$, we have

(a) $|f - g| = |f \lor h - g \lor h| + |f \land h - g \land h|$;

(b) $|f \lor h - g \lor h| \le |f - g|$ and $|f \land h - g \land h| \le |f - g|$;

(c) $|f_{+} - g_{+}| \le |f - g|$ and $|f_{-} - g_{-}| \le |f - g|$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Part (a) follows from the calculation below and the rest are easy consequences:

$$\begin{split} |f \lor h - g \lor h| + |f \land h - g \land h| \\ &= |(f \lor h - g \lor h) + (f \land h - g \land h)| \lor |(f \lor h - g \lor h) - (f \land h - g \land h)| \\ &= |(f + h) - (g + h)| \lor ||f - h| - |g - h|| \\ &= |f - g| \lor \{|(f - h) + (g - h)| \land |(f - h) - (g - h)|\} \\ &= |f - g| \lor \{|f + g - 2h| \land |f - g|\} = |f - g|. \end{split}$$

16-3.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let f, g, h be positive vectors in \mathcal{F}^+ . If $h \leq f + g$, then there are $p, q \in \mathcal{F}^+$ such that h = p + q, $p \leq f$ and $q \leq g$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $p = h \wedge f$ and q = h - p. Then $h \leq (h+g) \wedge (f+g) = h \wedge f + g = p + g$, that is $q = h - p \leq g$. The other conditions are obvious.

16-3.9. **Exercise** Let f, g, h be functions on \mathbb{R} given by f(x) = |x|+1-|x-1|, g(x) = |x-1|+1-|x| and $h(x) = 1 + \sin x$ for each $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Find two continuous positive functions p, q on \mathbb{R} such that h = p + q, $p \leq f$ and $q \leq g$. Sketch all functions f, g, h, p, q.

16-3.10. **Theorem** Let f_i, g_j be positive vectors in \mathcal{F}^+ . If $\sum_{i=1}^m f_i = \sum_{j=1}^n g_j$ then there are positive vectors $k_{ij} \in \mathcal{F}^+$ such that $f_i = \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}$ and $g_j = \sum_{i=1}^m k_{ij}$ for all i, j. It is easier to remember this theorem by writing f_1, f_2, \cdots as the left column, g_1, g_2, \cdots as the top row and k_{ij} as the (i, j)-cell of a table.

<u>Proof.</u> Assume m = n = 2. Then $f_1 + f_2 = g_1 + g_2$. Now $f_1 \le g_1 + g_2$. There are positive vectors $k_{11} \le g_1$, $k_{12} \le g_2$ such that $f_1 = k_{11} + k_{12}$. Define $k_{21} = g_1 - k_{11}$ and $k_{22} = g_2 - k_{12}$. Since $k_{11} \le g_1$, we have $k_{21} = g_1 - k_{11} \ge 0$. Similarly, $k_{22} \ge 0$. Finally, $k_{21} + k_{22} = g_1 + g_2 - (k_{11} + k_{12}) = f_1 + f_2 - f_1 = f_2$. This proves the case for m = n = 2. The general proof follows by induction. □

16-3.11. A vector lattice \mathcal{F} is said to have *decomposition property* if for every $h \in \mathcal{F}$ and for all $f, g \in \mathcal{F}^+$ satisfying $|h| \leq f + g$, there are $p, q \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $|p| \leq f$, $|q| \leq g$ and h = p + q. It should not be confused with the earlier condition that every complex element can be decomposed into positive elements. For convenience, a real or complex vector lattice with decomposition property is abbreviated as a *breakable* vector lattice.

16-3.12. <u>Theorem</u> Every *real* vector lattice \mathcal{F} is breakable.

 $\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof.} \ \text{Let } h \in \mathcal{F} \text{ and } f,g \in \mathcal{F}^{+} \text{ satisfy } |h| \leq f+g. \ \text{Then } h_{+}+h_{-} \leq f+g. \\ \hline \text{Write } h_{+}+h_{-} = u+v \text{ where } u,v \in \mathcal{F}^{+} \text{ satisfy } u \leq f \text{ and } v \leq g. \ \text{There are } k_{ij} \in \mathcal{F}^{+} \text{ such that } h_{+} = k_{11}+k_{12}, h_{-} = k_{21}+k_{22}, u = k_{11}+k_{21} \text{ and } v = k_{12}+k_{22}. \\ \hline \text{Then } p = k_{11}-k_{21} \text{ and } q = k_{12}-k_{22} \text{ satisfy } |p| \leq k_{11}+k_{21} = u \leq f, \ |q| \leq g \text{ and } p+q = k_{11}-k_{21}+k_{12}-k_{22} = k_{11}+k_{12}-k_{22} = h_{+}-h_{-} = h. \\ \hline \end{array}$

16-4 Extension of Positive Linear Forms

16-4.1. Let \mathcal{F} be a conjugated vector space. Then a linear form $\mu : \mathcal{F} \to \mathbb{K}$ is said to be *real* if μf is a real number whenever f is real in \mathcal{F} . Obviously a linear form μ on \mathcal{F} is real iff it preserves the conjugation, i.e. $\mu(f^-) = \mu(f)^-$. For any linear form μ on \mathcal{F} , the function $\mu^- : \mathcal{F} \to \mathbb{K}$ given by $\mu^-(f) = [\mu(f^-)]^$ for $f \in \mathcal{F}$ is also a linear form called the *conjugate* of μ . Clearly the algebraic dual space \mathcal{F}^* of all linear forms on \mathcal{F} is a conjugated vector space under the conjugation $\mu \to \mu^-$. As a result, $\operatorname{Re}(\mu)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(\mu)$ are well-defined. They are actually real linear forms.

16-4.2. **Lemma** Let $\nu : \mathcal{F}^r \to \mathbb{K}$ be a function such that for all $f, g \in \mathcal{F}^r$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, we have $\nu(f+g) = \nu f + \nu g$ and $\nu(\alpha f) = \alpha \nu f$. Then ν can be extended uniquely to a linear form $\mu : \mathcal{F} \to \mathbb{K}$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> For $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, take $\mu = \nu$. For $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, define $\mu f = \nu(\operatorname{Re} f) + i\nu(\operatorname{Im} f)$, for all $f \in \mathcal{F}$. It is routine to verify the result.

16-4.3. Lemma Let h be a complex element of a conjugated vector space \mathcal{F} . If for every real linear form μ on \mathcal{F} , μh is a real number then h is real.

<u>Proof</u>. Let h = f + ig where f, g are real elements. Then for every real linear form μ , $\mu h = \mu f + i\mu g$ is real, i.e. $\mu g = 0$. Thus for every complex linear form ν , we have $\nu g = (\operatorname{Re} \nu)(g) + i(\operatorname{Im} \nu)(g) = 0$. Therefore g = 0. Consequently h = f is real.

16-4.4. Let \mathcal{F} be an ordered vector space. Then a linear form μ on \mathcal{F} is said to be *positive* if $\mu f \geq 0$ is a positive number for every $f \geq 0$ in \mathcal{F} . Clearly every positive linear form is real and the set of all positive linear forms is a cone. Hence \mathcal{F}^* becomes an ordered vector space but in general it is not a vector lattice. To get good results, we assume that \mathcal{F} is a vector lattice.

- 16-4.5. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let $\mu \leq \nu$ be positive linear forms on \mathcal{F} .
- (a) For every $f \leq g \in \mathcal{F}^r$ we have $\mu f \leq \mu g$.
- (b) If $0 \le f \le g$ in \mathcal{F}^r , then $\mu f \le \nu g$ in \mathbb{R} .
- (c) For every complex element h in \mathcal{F} , $|\mu h| \leq \mu |h|$.

<u>Proof</u>. We shall prove (c) only. Write $\mu h = e^{i\theta}|\mu h|$ for some $0 \le \theta \in \mathbb{R}$. Express $e^{-i\theta}h = f + ig$ where $f, g \in \mathcal{F}^r$. Then $f \le |f| \le |e^{-i\theta}h| = |h|$ and $\mu f, \mu g$ are real numbers. The proof is completed by the following calculation:

$$|\mu h| = e^{-i\theta}\mu h = \mu(e^{-i\theta}h) = \mu(f+ig) = \mu f + i\mu g = \mu f \le \mu |h|.$$

16-4.6. **Lemma** Let $\nu : \mathcal{F}^+ \to \mathbb{K}$ be a map such that $\nu(f+g) = \nu f + \nu g$ and $\nu(\alpha f) = \alpha \nu f$ for all $f \in \mathcal{F}^+$ and $\alpha \geq 0$. Then ν can be extended uniquely to a linear form on \mathcal{F} .

<u>Proof.</u> Since \mathcal{F} is a vector lattice, for any $f \in \mathcal{F}^r$ there are $p, q \ge 0$ such that f = p - q. Define $\mu f = \nu p - \nu q$. Suppose f = x - y where $x, y \ge 0$ in \mathcal{F} . Then p + y = q + x. Hence $\nu p + \nu y = \nu q + \nu x$, or $\nu p - \nu q = \nu x - \nu y$. Therefore $\mu : \mathcal{F}^r \to \mathbb{K}$ is a well-defined extension of ν . Observe that

$$\begin{split} \mu(f+g) &= \mu(f_++g_+-f_--g_-) = \nu(f_++g_+) - \nu(f_-+g_-) \\ &= \nu(f_+) + \nu(g_+) - \nu(f_-) - \nu(g_-) = \mu f + \mu g. \end{split}$$

Next, for any $\alpha \geq 0$, we have

$$\mu(\alpha f) = \mu(\alpha f_+ - \alpha f_-) = \nu(\alpha f_+) - \nu(\alpha f_-) = \alpha \nu(f_+) - \alpha \nu(f_-) = \alpha \mu f_-$$

and $\mu(-f) = \mu(f_- - f_+) = \nu(f_-) - \nu(f_+) = -\mu f$. Thus $\mu : \mathcal{F}^r \to \mathbb{K}$ is real-linear. It can be extended to a linear form on \mathcal{F} . The uniqueness is obvious.

16-4.7. **Theorem** Let \mathcal{F} be a vector lattice and $\nu : \mathcal{F}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$ be a map satisfying $\nu(f+g) = \nu f + \nu g$ for all $f, g \in \mathcal{F}^+$. Then ν can be extended uniquely to a positive linear form on \mathcal{F} .

<u>Proof.</u> For integers $m, n \ge 1$, we get $\nu(ng) = \nu(g + \dots + g) = \nu g + \dots + \nu g = n\nu g$ or $\nu g = \nu(ng)/n$. For g = f/n, we obtain $\nu(f/n) = \nu(f)/n$. Combining together, $\nu(mf/n) = m\nu(f/n) = (m/n)\nu f$. Therefore $\nu(\alpha f) = \alpha \nu f$ for all rational number $\alpha \ge 0$. Next, suppose $0 \le f \le g$. Then $g - f \ge 0$. From g = f + (g - f), we get $\nu(g - f) \ge 0$ and $\nu g = \nu f + \nu(g - f) \ge \nu f$. Thus ν is monotonic. In general, let $\alpha \ge 0$ be any positive real number. Then there are rational numbers r_n, s_n with $0 \le r_n \le \alpha \le s_n, r_n \to \alpha$ and $s_n \to \alpha$. Since $f \ge 0$, we get $r_n f \le \alpha f \le s_n f$, i.e. $\nu(r_n f) \le \nu(\alpha f) \le \nu(s_n f)$, or $r_n \nu f \le \nu(\alpha f) \le s_n \nu f$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we obtain $\nu(\alpha f) = \alpha \nu f$. The result follows from last lemma. \Box

16-5 Order Bounded Linear Forms

16-5.1. This section provides enough coverage on order bounded linear forms so as to study the characterization of charges with finite variation in next chapter. General treatment of linear maps between two vector lattices is beyond our scope. The dual characterization of lattice operations requires Hahn-Banach Theorem.

16-5.2. Let \mathcal{F} be a vector lattice. A linear form $\mu : \mathcal{F} \to \mathbb{K}$ is said to be *order* bounded if for every $f \in \mathcal{F}^+$, the set $\{|\mu h| : |h| \leq f, h \in \mathcal{F}\}$ is bounded in \mathbb{K} . Clearly, every positive linear form is order bounded. The set of all order bounded linear forms on \mathcal{F} is denoted by \mathcal{F}^b . It is an ordered vector space under the cone \mathcal{F}^{b_+} of all positive linear forms.

16-5.3. **Example** Draw a short line segment from the origin of xy-plane to the right of y-axis and then extend it to a function from \mathbb{R} into \mathbb{R} . The set \mathcal{F} of all such functions form a real vector lattice. Taking the slope of the short line segment is a linear form but it is not order bounded.

16-5.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ be an order bounded linear form on a breakable vector lattice \mathcal{F} .

(a) For all $f \ge 0$ in \mathcal{F}^{+} and $\mu \in \mathcal{F}^{b}$, the expression

$$|\mu|f = \sup\{|\mu h| : |h| \le f, h \in \mathfrak{F}\}$$

uniquely defines a positive linear form $|\mu|$ on \mathcal{F} .

- (b) For all $h \in \mathcal{F}$, we have $|\mu h| \le |\mu| |h|$.
- $({\rm c})\ |\mu| = \inf\{\xi \in {\mathcal F}^{b+}: |\mu h| \leq \xi \ |h|, \quad \forall \ h \in {\mathcal F}\}.$
- (d) The map $\mu \to |\mu|$ is a valuation on \mathcal{F}^b .

<u>Proof.</u> Let $f, g \ge 0$ in \mathcal{F}^+ . For any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist $p, q \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $|p| \le f$, $|q| \le g$, $\nu f \le |\mu p| + \varepsilon$ and $\nu g \le |\mu q| + \varepsilon$. There are numbers $|\alpha| = |\beta| = 1$ such that $\alpha \mu p \ge 0$ and $\beta \mu q \ge 0$. Hence we obtain $|\alpha p + \beta q| \le f + g$ and $\nu f + \nu g \le |\alpha| |\mu p| + |\beta| |\mu q| + 2\varepsilon = \mu(\alpha p) + \mu(\beta q) + 2\varepsilon \le |\mu(\alpha p + \beta q)| + 2\varepsilon \le \nu(f + g) + 2\varepsilon$. Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, we have $\nu f + \nu g \le \nu(f + g)$. Next, let $|h| \le f + g$ in \mathcal{F}^{τ} . There are $p, q \in \mathcal{F}$ such that h = p + q, $|p| \le f$ and $|q| \le g$. Now $|\mu h| \le |\mu p| + |\mu q| \le \nu f + \nu g$, i.e. $\nu(f + g) \le \nu f + \nu g$. Therefore ν can be extended uniquely to some positive linear form $|\mu|$ on \mathcal{F} . Replacing f by |h|, we have $|\mu h| \le \nu |h| = |\mu| |h|$. Suppose $\xi \in \mathcal{F}^{b+}$ satisfying $|\mu h| \le \xi |h|$ for all $h \in \mathcal{F}$. Then for $|h| \le f$ in \mathcal{F} , $|\mu h| \le \xi |h| \le \xi f$, that is $|\mu| f = \nu f \le \xi f$. Since $f \in \mathcal{F}^+$ is arbitrary, $|\mu| \le \xi$. This proves (c). It is routine to verify (d). □

16-5.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let \mathcal{F} be a breakable vector lattice. Then \mathcal{F}^b is also a vector lattice. Furthermore, the order interval for $f, g \in \mathcal{F}^r$ is defined by $[f,g] = \{h \in \mathcal{F}^r : f \leq h \leq g\}$. Then for all real bounded linear forms μ, ν on \mathcal{F} and all $f \in \mathcal{F}^+$, we have

(a)
$$|\mu|(f) = \sup \mu[-f, f]$$
;

- (b) $(\mu \lor \nu)(f) = \sup\{\mu f + \nu(f h) : h \in [0, f]\};$
- (c) $(\mu \wedge \nu)(f) = \inf{\{\mu h + \nu(f h) : f \in [0, f]\}};$
- (d) $\mu^+(f) = \sup \mu[0, f]$;
- (e) $\mu^{-}(f) = \sup \mu[-f, 0].$

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\nu: \mathcal{F} \to \mathbb{K}$ be defined by $\nu f = \sup\{\mu p: -f \leq p \leq f, p \in \mathcal{F}^r\}$. Suppose h is a complex element in \mathcal{F} satisfying $|h| \leq f$. Write $\mu h = e^{i\theta}|\mu h|$ and $e^{-i\theta}h = p + iq$ where $p,q \in \mathcal{F}^r$. Then we have $\pm p \leq |p| \leq |h| \leq f$, that is $-f \leq p \leq f$. Now, $|\mu h| = \mu (e^{-i\theta}h) = \mu p + i\mu q$. Since μ is real, we obtain $|\mu h| = \mu p \leq |\mu p| \leq \nu f$. Therefore $|\mu| f \leq \nu f$. The reversed inequality follows immediately from definition. It is elementary to show $|\mu| = \mu \vee (-\mu)$. Consequently \mathcal{F}^b is a vector lattice. Part (b) follows from the calculation:

$$(\mu \lor \nu)(f) = \frac{1}{2}(\mu + \nu + |\mu - \nu|)(f)$$

= $\frac{1}{2}[\mu f + \nu f + \sup\{(\mu - \nu)(p) : -f \le p \le f\}]$
= $\sup\left\{\mu\left(\frac{f+p}{2}\right) + \nu\left(\frac{f-p}{2}\right) : -f \le p \le f\right\}$
= $\sup\{\mu q + \nu(f-q) : 0 \le q \le f\}.$

The other of the proof is left as an exercise.

16-5.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ be a positive linear form on a breakable vector lattice \mathcal{F} . Then for every $h \in \mathcal{F}$, we have $\mu|h| = \sup\{|\nu(h)| : |\nu| \le \mu\}$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\varphi(g) = \mu|g|$ for all $g \in \mathcal{F}$. Since $\mu \ge 0$, φ is a seminorm on \mathcal{F} . By Hahn-Banach theorem, there is a linear form ξ on \mathcal{F} such that $\xi(h) = \varphi(h)$ and $|\xi(g)| \le \varphi(g)$ for all $g \in \mathcal{F}$. If $|g| \le f$ in \mathcal{F} , then $|\xi(g)| \le \varphi(g) = \mu|g| \le \mu f$. Hence ξ is an order bounded linear form on \mathcal{F} . Clearly, $|\xi| \le \mu$. Therefore

$$\mu|h| = \varphi(h) = \xi(h) \le \sup\{|\nu(h)| : |\nu| \le \mu\}.$$

On the other hand, if $|\nu| \le \mu$, then we obtain $|\nu(h)| \le |\nu| |h| \le \mu |h|$, that is $\sup\{|\nu(h)| : |\nu| \le \mu\} \le \mu |h|$.

16-5.7. <u>**Theorem</u>** Let μ be a positive linear form on a breakable vector lattice \mathcal{F} . Then for all real elements f, b in \mathcal{F}^r , we have</u>

(a) $\mu(f_+) = \sup[0, \mu](f)$; (b) $\mu(f_-) = \sup[-\mu, 0](f)$; (c) $\mu|f| = \sup[-\mu, \mu](f)$; (d) $\mu(f \lor g) = \sup\{\nu(f) + (\mu - \nu)(g) : \nu \in [0, \mu]\}$; (e) $\mu(f \land g) = \inf\{\nu(f) + (\mu - \nu)(g) : \nu \in [0, \mu]\}$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\varphi(h) = \mu(h_+)$ for $h \in \mathcal{F}$. Since $\mu \ge 0$, we get $\varphi(h+k) \le \varphi(h) + \varphi(k)$ and $\varphi(\alpha h) = \alpha \varphi(h)$ for all positive number α . By Hahn-Banach theorem, there is a real linear form ξ on \mathcal{F}^r such that $\xi(f) = \varphi(f)$ and $\xi(h) \le \varphi(h)$ for all $h \in \mathcal{F}^r$. Then ξ can be in turn extended to a complex linear form on the conjugated vector space \mathcal{F} . Now pick any $h \ge 0$, we have

$$\xi(-h) \le \varphi(-h) = \mu[(-h)_+] = \mu(0) = 0,$$

that is $\xi h \ge 0$. Hence $\xi \ge 0$. Next, $\xi h \le \varphi(h) = \mu(h_+) = \mu h$ gives $\xi \le \mu$. Therefore $\xi \in [0, \mu]$ and $\mu(f_+) = \varphi(f) = \xi(f) \le \sup[0, \mu](f)$. On the other hand, for any $\nu \in [0, \mu]$, we get $\nu(f) \le \nu(f_+) \le \mu(f_+)$, i.e. $\sup[0, \mu](f) \le \mu(f_+)$. This proves (a). Part (b) follows from

$$\mu(f_{-}) = \mu[(-f)_{+}] = \sup\{0, \mu\}(-f) = \sup\{\xi(-f) : 0 \le \xi \le \mu\}$$
$$= \sup\{(-\xi)(f) : -\mu \le -\xi \le 0\} = \sup\{-\mu, 0\}(f).$$

The others are left as an exercise.

16-5.98. **Problem** Prove or disprove that if \mathcal{F} is a breakable vector lattice then so is the space \mathcal{F}^b of bounded linear forms.

16-99. <u>**References and Further Readings**</u>: Zaanen-97, Schaefer, Luxemburg, Aliprantis, Jacobs, Wong-76 and Filter.

 \Box
Chapter 17

Vector Measures on Semirings

17-1 Semirings

17-1.1. Simple geometric objects such as semi-intervals and semi-rectangles are used as building blocks. Their essential properties are extracted to form the axioms on which a rich theory of integration is built to serve many areas of pure and applied mathematics. Semi-rectangles provide a graphical interpretation of the abstract theory.

17-1.2. A family S of subsets of X is called a *semiring over* a set X, or a semiring of *subsets of* X in order to be precise, if

(a) the empty set \emptyset is in S;

(b) the intersection of any two sets in S is in S;

(c) for all A, B in S; there are *disjoint* sets B_1, B_2, \dots, B_n in S such that

$$A \setminus B = \bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j.$$

17-1.3. <u>Example</u> The family of all singletons of a set X together with the empty set forms a semiring. It is called the *semiring of singletons* of X.

17-1.4. **Example** Consider the real line \mathbb{R} . A semi-interval is a set of the form $(a, b] = \{x \in \mathbb{R} : a < x \leq b\}$ where a < b. The family of all semi-intervals together with the empty set forms a semiring. It is called the semiring of semi-intervals of \mathbb{R} .

17-1.5. **Exercise** The sets of the form $(a, b] \times (c, d]$, where a < b and c < d, are called *semi-rectangles* of \mathbb{R}^2 . Sketch the semi-rectangles: $A = (0, 3] \times (2, 4]$, $B = (2, 5] \times (1, 3]$ and $C = (1, 4] \times (1, 5]$. Identify $A \cap B$ and express $A \setminus B$, $C \setminus A$ and $C \setminus (A \cup B)$ as unions of disjoint semi-rectangles. Show that the family of all semi-rectangles together with the empty set forms a semiring over \mathbb{R}^2 .

17-1.6. **Lemma** Let S be a semiring over a set X. Then for all A, B_1, B_2, \dots, B_n in S, there are disjoint sets C_1, C_2, \dots, C_m in S such that

$$A \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^n B_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^m C_j.$$

<u>Proof.</u> For n = 1 it follows immediately from the definition. Assume that it is true for n by induction. Observe $A \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{n+1} B_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^m (C_j \setminus B_{n+1})$. There are disjoint sets $D_{j1}, D_{j2}, \dots, D_{jp(j)}$ in S such that $C_j \setminus B_{n+1} = \bigcup_{k=1}^{p(j)} D_{jk}$. Then $\{D_{jk} : 1 \le j \le m, 1 \le k \le p(j)\}$ is a finite family of disjoint sets in S such that $A \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{n+1} B_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^m \bigcup_{k=1}^{p(j)} D_{jk}$. This completes the proof. \Box

17-1.7. Let A be a subset of X. The characteristic function of A is defined by $\rho_A(x) = 1$ if $x \in A$ and $\rho_A(x) = 0$ if $x \in X \setminus A$. The community uses χ instead.

17-1.8. **Exercise** For all subsets A, B of X, prove that $\rho_{A \cap B} = \rho_A \wedge \rho_B = \rho_A \rho_B$ and $\rho_{A \cup B} = \rho_A \vee \rho_B = \rho_A + \rho_B - \rho_{A \cap B}$. Prove that if $\{A_n\}$ is a sequence, finite or infinite, of *disjoint* subsets of X and if $B = \bigcup_n A_n$, then $\rho_B = \sum_n \rho_{A_n}$.

17-1.9. **Semiring Formula** For all A_1, A_2, \dots, A_n in a semiring S, there are disjoint sets B_1, B_2, \dots, B_m in S such that $\rho_{A_i} = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_{ij} \rho_{B_j}$ for all $1 \le i \le n$ where α_{ij} are either zero or one.

<u>Proof</u>. Inductively assume it is true for $n \ge 1$. Write $B_j \setminus A_{n+1} = \bigcup_p C_{jp}$ where $\{\overline{C_{j1}, C_{j2}, \cdots}\}$ is a finite family of disjoint sets in S. Again write $A_{n+1} \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^m B_j = \bigcup_k D_k$ where $\{D_1, D_2, \cdots\}$ is also a finite family of disjoint sets in S. Define $E_j = B_j \cap A_{n+1}$. Clearly the totality of C_{jp}, D_k, E_j is a finite family of disjoint sets in S. Simple calculations gives $\rho_{A_i} = \sum_j \alpha_{ij} \rho_{E_j} + \sum_j \sum_p \alpha_{ij} \rho_{C_{jp}}$ for all $1 \le j \le n$ and $\rho_{A_{n+1}} = \sum_j \rho_{E_j} + \sum_k \rho_{D_k}$. The induction is completed by inserting zero coefficients.

17-1.10. Corollary Every finite union of sets in S can be written as a finite union of *disjoint* sets in S.

17-1.11. **Exercise** Let $A = (0, 3] \times (2, 4]$, $B = (2, 5] \times (1, 3]$ and $C = (1, 4] \times (1, 5]$. Express their characteristic functions explicitly as described in the Semiring Formula. Also write $A \cup B \cup C$ as a finite union of disjoint semi-rectangles.

17-2 Charges and Associated Integrals

17-2.1. Let \mathbb{K} denote the set of scalars which is either the real field \mathbb{R} or the complex field \mathbb{C} . Let E, F, FE be vector spaces over \mathbb{K} with a bilinear map $\varphi: F \times E \to FE$. Note that we have used two letters FE to denote one Banach space for convenience. If E or F is the scalar field, we understand that φ is the scalar multiplication unless it is specified explicitly. Beginners should consider E, F, FE to be the scalar field \mathbb{K} and $\varphi(u, v)$ the product of two numbers u, v.

17-2.2. Let S be a semiring over X. An S-step F-map $g: X \to F$ is of the form $g = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in F$ and $A_j \in S$. For convenience, we may drop the prefixes S and F.

17-2.3. <u>Step Mapping Theorem</u> For each $1 \le i \le n$, let f_i be a step map on X into a vector space F_i . Then there are disjoint sets B_1, B_2, \dots, B_m in S and β_{ij} in F_i such that $f_i = \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{ij} \rho_{B_j}$ for all $1 \le i \le n$. Furthermore,

(a) if f_i is real then β_{ij} is real for each $1 \le j \le m$;

(b) if $f_i \ge 0$ then $\beta_{ij} \ge 0$ for each $1 \le j \le m$.

<u>Proof.</u> Given the following finite sums $f_i = \sum_k \alpha_{ik} \rho_{A_{ik}}$ where $\alpha_{ik} \in F_i$ and $\overline{A_{ik}} \in \mathbb{S}$, there are disjoint set B_1, B_2, \dots, B_m in \mathbb{S} such that $\rho_{A_{ik}} = \sum_j \gamma_{ijk} \rho_{B_j}$ where all summations are finite and the numbers γ_{ijk} are either zero or one. It follows by substitution that $f_i = \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{ij} \rho_{B_j}$ where $\beta_{ij} = \sum_k \alpha_{ik} \gamma_{ijk}$. Furthermore, assume $f_i \geq 0$. If $B_j = \emptyset$ then let $\beta_{ij} = 0$. If $B_j \neq \emptyset$ then evaluation at any point $x \in B_j$ gives $\beta_{ij} = f_i(x) \geq 0$. Similarly we can prove the case when f_i is real.

17-2.4. **Exercise** Let A = (1,3], B = (2,5] and C = (4,6] be semi-intervals in \mathbb{R} . Sketch the functions f, g, h given by $f(x) = 2\rho_A - \rho_B$, $g(x) = 2\rho_A - \rho_B$, $g(x) = 4\rho_B - 3\rho_C$ and $h(x) = 3\rho_C - 2\rho_A$. Write f, g, h as linear combinations of characteristic functions of the same finite family of disjoint semi-intervals as in Step Mapping Theorem.

17-2.5. **Exercise** Show that the set \mathcal{F} of all step functions on X is a vector lattice under pointwise operations. Prove that the product of two step functions is a step function.

17-2.6. A map $\mu : \mathbb{S} \to E$ is said to be *additive*, or is called an *E-charge*, or a finitely additive set map if for every finite disjoint union $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} B_j$ where A, B_1, B_2, \dots, B_n are in \mathbb{S} , we have $\mu A = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mu B_j$. Since $\emptyset = \emptyset \cup \emptyset$, we must have $\mu \emptyset = 0$. Furthermore μ is said to be *positive* or *real* if for each $A \in \mathbb{S}$, μA is a positive (≥ 0) or real number respectively. By a vector charge, we merely emphasize that *E* need not be the scalar field. By a *scalar* charge or simply a charge, we mean that $E = \mathbb{K}$. By a *complex* charge, we merely emphasize that μ need not be but might be positive or real.

17-2.7. **Example** Let S be the semiring of singletons of X. Let $\xi : X \to \mathbb{K}$ be a function. For each x in X, let $\mu\{x\} = \xi(x)$ and $\mu \emptyset = 0$. Then μ is a charge

on S. It is called the *counting measure* on X weighted by ξ . If $\mu\{x\} = 1$ for all $x \in X$, then it is simply called the *counting measure*.

17-2.8. **Example** Let S be a semiring over X and let $p \in X$ be a point. For every A in S let $\mu A = 1$ if $p \in A$ and $\mu A = 0$ otherwise. Then μ is additive on S. It is called the *point measure* at p.

17-2.9. **Lemma** Let μ be an *E*-charge on S. If $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i \rho_{A_i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_j \rho_{B_j}$ where $\alpha_i, \beta_j \in E$ and A_i, B_j in S, then $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \varphi(\alpha_i, \mu A_i) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \varphi(\beta_j, \mu B_j)$.

<u>Proof</u>. There are disjoint sets D_1, D_2, \dots, D_p in S such that $\rho_{A_i} = \sum_{k=1}^p \gamma_{ik}\rho_{D_k}$ and $\rho_{B_j} = \sum_{k=1}^p \delta_{jk}\rho_{D_k}$ where γ_{ik}, δ_{jk} are either zero or one. It is crucial to observe that each A_i is a finite disjoint union of some D_k selected by the values of $\gamma_{ik} = 1$. Hence we have $\mu A_i = \sum_{k=1}^p \gamma_{ik}\mu D_k$. Similarly, we have $\mu B_j = \sum_{k=1}^p \delta_{jk}\mu D_k$. Expressing the given condition in terms of D_k , we get $\sum_i \alpha_i \sum_k \gamma_{ik}\rho_{D_k} = \sum_j \beta_j \sum_k \delta_{jk}\rho_{D_k}$. If $D_k \neq \emptyset$ then evaluation of last expression at any point $x \in D_k$ gives $\sum_i \alpha_i \gamma_{ik} = \sum_j \beta_j \delta_{jk}$ for D_1, D_2, \cdots are disjoint. Hence we obtain $\varphi(\sum_i \alpha_i \gamma_{ik}, \mu D_k) = \varphi(\sum_j \beta_j \delta_{jk}, \mu D_k)$. If $D_k = \emptyset$ then $\mu D_k = 0$ and last equation also holds. Because $\varphi : F \times E \to FE$ is bilinear, we have

$$\sum_{i} \varphi(\alpha_{i}, \mu A_{i}) = \sum_{i} \varphi(\alpha_{i}, \sum_{k} \gamma_{ik} \mu D_{k}) = \sum_{k} \varphi(\sum_{i} \alpha_{i} \gamma_{ik}, \mu D_{k})$$
$$= \sum_{k} \varphi(\sum_{j} \beta_{j} \delta_{jk}, \mu D_{k}) = \sum_{j} \varphi(\beta_{j}, \sum_{k} \delta_{jk} \mu D_{k}) = \sum_{j} \varphi(\beta_{j}, \mu B_{j}). \qquad \Box$$

17-2.10. For every step map $f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \rho_{A_i} : X \to F$, the *integral* of f with respect to the vector charge μ is defined by $I_{\varphi}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi(\alpha_i, \mu A_i)$. It follows from last lemma that the integral is independent of the representation of f and hence it is well defined. The map $I_{\varphi} : \mathcal{F}(S, F) \to FE$ is called the *integration associated with* μ where $\mathcal{F}(S, F)$ denote the vector space of all S-step F-maps. For convenience, we write $\varphi(u, v) = uv$ for all $u \in F$, $v \in E$ and drop the symbol φ unless precision is required. Therefore we have

$$I\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n}\alpha_{i}\rho_{A_{i}}\right)=\sum_{i=1}^{n}\alpha_{i}\mu A_{i}.$$

Because the integrands are on the left of the measure, we also call I(f) the *left* integral. The integral after lots of hard work in subsequent chapters should be denoted by $\int_{\varphi} (f, d\mu)$. We assume that our theory works for bilinear map $\psi : E \times F \to EF$ producing *right* integrals $\int_{\psi} (d\mu, f)$ without any further specification. We do not need this notational precision except only in §22-3.12 on repeated integrals.

17-2.11. <u>Theorem</u> (a) The integration $I : \mathcal{F}(S, F) \to FE$ associated with μ on S is a linear map.

(b) If μ is real, then for every real step function f the integral I(f) is real.

(c) Suppose μ is positive. Then $I(f) \ge 0$ for every positive step function $f \ge 0$. Hence I is a positive linear form on the vector lattice \mathcal{F} of step functions. If $f \le g$ in \mathcal{F} , then $I(f) \le I(g)$.

17-2.12. **Theorem** Let μ be a *positive* charge on a semiring S over X. (a) Let B_1, B_2, \dots , be a sequence, finite or infinite, of *disjoint* sets in S. If $A \in S$ satisfies $\bigcup_i B_i \subset A$, then $\sum_i \mu B_i \leq \mu A$.

(b) Let A, B_1, B_2, \dots, B_n be sets in S. If $A \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n B_i$, then $\mu A \leq \sum_{i=1}^n \mu B_i$. (c) If $A \subset B$ in S, then $\mu A \leq \mu B$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) Since B_1, \dots, B_n are disjoint, we have $\sum_{i=1}^n \rho_{B_i} \leq \rho_A$. By $\mu \geq 0$, we obtain $\sum_{i=1}^n \mu B_i = \sum_{i=1}^n I(\rho_{B_i}) = I(\sum_{i=1}^n \rho_{B_i}) \leq I(\rho_A) = \mu A$. The case for infinite sequence follows by letting $n \to \infty$.

(b) Since $\rho_A \leq \sum_{i=1}^n \rho_{B_i}$, we have $\mu A = I(\rho_A) \leq I(\sum_{i=1}^n \rho_{B_i}) = \sum_{i=1}^n \mu B_i$. \Box

17-3 Finite Variation

17-3.1. In this section, we restrict ourselves to scalar charges in order to link up with positive linear forms. Vector charges of finite variation will be studied in next section.

17-3.2. Let C be the set of all complex charges on a semiring S over a set X and \mathcal{F} the vector space of all step functions on X. For all $\mu, \nu \in \mathbb{C}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ and $A \in S$, let $(\mu + \nu)(A) = \mu A + \nu A$, $(\alpha \mu)(A) = \alpha \mu A$ and $\mu^{-}(A) = \mu(A)^{-}$. Now C becomes a conjugated vector space ordered by the cone of positive charges. The *real* and *imaginary* parts of μ are defined by Re $\mu = \frac{1}{2}(\mu + \mu^{-})$ and Im $\mu = \frac{1}{2i}(\mu - \mu^{-})$ respectively. Let I_{μ} denote the integration associated with μ . Clearly the map $\mu \to I_{\mu} : \mathbb{C} \to \mathcal{F}^{*}$ is a *natural isomorphism* preserving the order and conjugation. In fact, if I is a linear form on \mathcal{F} , then $\mu(A) = I(\rho_A)$ defines a charge on S such that I is the integration associated with μ . For next lemma, the sign of a complex number α is defined by $\operatorname{sgn}(\alpha) = 0$ if $\alpha = 0$ and $\operatorname{sgn}(\alpha) = \alpha/|\alpha|$ if $\alpha \neq 0$. Obviously if f is a step function, then so is $\operatorname{sgn}(f)$.

17-3.3. <u>Lemma</u> \mathcal{F} is a breakable vector lattice.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Clearly \mathcal{F} is a complex vector lattice. Let $|h| \leq f+g$ where $f, g, h \in \mathcal{F}$. Write |h| = u + v where $u, v \in \mathcal{F}^+$ with $u \leq f$ and $v \leq g$. Then $p = u \operatorname{sgn}(h)$, $q = v \operatorname{sgn}(h)$ are step functions satisfying h = p + q, $|p| \leq f$ and $|q| \leq g$. Therefore \mathcal{F} is breakable.

17-3.4. As a result of last lemma, the order dual \mathcal{F}^b of order bounded linear forms on \mathcal{F} is also a vector lattice. We want to study the subspace of \mathcal{C} corresponding to $\mathcal{F}^b \subset \mathcal{F}^* \simeq \mathcal{C}$. Let μ be a charge on S. The variation $|\mu|$ of μ , or the total variation in order to be precise, is defined by

$$|\mu|(A) = \sup_{P(A)} \sum_{D \in P(A)} |\mu D|, \qquad \forall \ A \in S$$

where the supremum is taken over all finite partitions P(A) of A by sets in S. We say that μ is of *finite variation* if $|\mu|(A) < \infty$ for every $A \in S$.

17-3.5. **Exercise** Prove that every positive charge is of finite variation.

17-3.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ be a charge on S and I its associated integration. Then μ is of finite variation iff I is order bounded on \mathcal{F} . In this case, $|\mu|$ is also a charge. Furthermore, |I| is the integration associated with $|\mu|$.

<u>Proof</u>. For every $f \in \mathcal{F}^+$, we have $|I|(f) = \sup\{|I(g)| : |g| \le f, g \in \mathcal{F}\}$. Assume that μ is of finite variation. Take any step functions $0 \ne |g| \le \rho_A$ where $A \in S$. Write $g = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j \rho_{B_j}$ where B_j are disjoint sets in S and all $\beta_j \ne 0$. Then $|g| = \sum_{j=1}^n |\beta_j| \rho_{B_j} \le \rho_A$. It is easy to verify that all $|\beta_j| \le 1$ and $B_j \subset A$. Let $A \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j = \bigcup_{j=n+1}^m B_j$ be a disjoint union of sets in S. Thus

$$|I(g)| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\beta_j| |\mu B_j| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mu B_j| \le \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\mu B_j| \le |\mu|(A) < \infty.$$

Taking supremum over $|g| \leq \rho_A$, we get $|I|(\rho_A) \leq |\mu|(A)$. In general, let $|g| \leq f = \sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where A_j are disjoint sets in S and all $\alpha_j > 0$. Let $\gamma = \max\{\alpha_j : 1 \leq j \leq n\}$. Then $|(1/\gamma)g\rho_{A_j}| \leq \rho_{A_j}$. Hence we obtain $|I[(1/\gamma)g\rho_{A_j}]| \leq |\mu|(A_j)$, that is $|I(g\rho_{A_j})| \leq \gamma |\mu|(A_j)$, or $|I(g)| \leq \gamma \sum_{j=1}^n |\mu|(A_j)$. Therefore we have

$$|I|(f) = \sup \{|I(g)| : |g| \le f\} \le \gamma \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mu|(A_j) < \infty.$$

Conversely assume that I is of finite variation. Let $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} B_j$ where A, B_j are sets in S and B_1, B_2, \cdots , are disjoint. There are numbers $|\alpha_j| = 1$ such that $\alpha_j \mu B_j = |\mu B_j|$. Let $g = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{B_j}$. Then $|g| \leq \rho_A$. Hence

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mu(B_j)| = I(g) = |I(g)| \le |I|(\rho_A) < \infty.$$

Therefore we have $|\mu|(A) \leq |I|(\rho_A)$. Combining with the result of the first part, we get $|\mu|(A) = |I|(\rho_A)$ for all $A \in S$. Because |I| is a linear form on \mathcal{F} , $|\mu|$ is additive on S. Clearly, |I| is the integration associated with $|\mu|$.

17-3.7. <u>Corollary</u> If μ is of finite variation, then $|\mu|$ is the smallest positive charge on S satisfying $|\mu(A)| \leq |\mu|(A)$ for all $A \in S$. The set \mathbb{C}^b of all charges of finite variation forms a vector lattice. The natural isomorphism $\mathbb{C}^b \to \mathcal{F}^b$ preserves the valuation and hence all lattice operations.

17-3.8. Theorem Let
$$\mu, \nu$$
 be *real* charges of finite variation.
(a) $\mu \lor \nu = \frac{1}{2}(\mu + \nu + |\mu - \nu|)$ and $\mu \land \nu = \frac{1}{2}(\mu + \nu - |\mu - \nu|)$. Furthermore,
 $(\mu \lor \nu)(A) = \sup_{P(A)} \sum_{D \in P(A)} \mu(D) \lor \nu(D), \quad \forall A \in \mathbb{S}.$

(b) $\mu_{+} = \frac{1}{2}(|\mu| + \mu), \ \mu_{-} = \frac{1}{2}(|\mu| - \mu)$. They are called *upper* and *lower* variations of μ respectively. Furthermore, we have $\mu_{+}(A) = \sup_{P(A)} \sum_{D \in P(A)} \mu(D)_{+}, \quad \forall A \in S$.

(c)Both μ_+ and μ_- are unique positive charges such that $\mu = \mu_+ - \mu_-$ and $|\mu| = \mu_+ + \mu_-$.

<u>Proof</u>. Most results follow immediately from general treatment of vector lattice while the others can be obtained by simple calculation. The following is an example. For each A in S, observe that

$$\mu_{+}(A) = \frac{1}{2}(\mu + |\mu|)(A) = \frac{1}{2}[\mu A + |\mu|(A)] = \frac{1}{2}\left(\mu A + \sup_{P(A)} \sum_{D \in P(A)} |\mu D|\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \sup_{P(A)} \left(\mu A + \sum_{D \in P(A)} |\mu D|\right) = \frac{1}{2} \sup_{P(A)} \left(\sum_{D \in P(A)} \mu D + \sum_{D \in P(A)} |\mu D|\right)$$
$$= \sup_{P(A)} \sum_{D \in P(A)} \frac{1}{2}(\mu D + |\mu D|) = \sup_{P(A)} \sum_{D \in P(A)} \mu(D)_{+}.$$

17-3.9. <u>Corollary</u> Every complex charge μ of finite variation can be decomposed into linear combination of positive ones as follows:

$$\mu = (\text{Re }\mu)_{+} - (\text{Re }\mu)_{-} + i(\text{Im }\mu)_{+} - i(\text{Im }\mu)_{-}.$$

17-3.10. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the upper variation μ_+ of a *real* charge μ of finite variation is the smallest positive charge such that $\mu A \leq \mu_+(A)$ for every A in S.

17-3.11. **Exercise** State and prove a formula for $\mu \wedge \nu$ and μ_{-} respectively.

17-4 Absolutely Convergent Charges

17-4.1. Complex charges of finite variation were motivated by order bounded linear forms in $\S17$ -3.6 but the expression in $\S17$ -3.4 can be carried over to

vector charges as follow. Let E be a Banach space and $\mu : S \to E$ a vector charge. The *variation* of μ is defined by

$$|\mu|(A) = \sup_{P(A)} \sum_{D \in P(A)} ||\mu D||$$
 for all $A \in S$

where the supremum is taken over all finite partitions P(A) of A by sets in S. We say that μ is of *finite variation* if $|\mu|(A) < \infty$ for every $A \in S$. It is an exercise to prove $|\mu|(A) = \sup_{Q(A)} \sum_{D \in Q(A)} ||\mu D||$ for all $A \in S$ where the supremum

is taken over all finite families Q(A) of disjoint subsets $D \in S$ of A. This can be used to shorten proofs slightly. Functions of finite variation are introduced at the end of this section.

17-4.2. Let μ be an *E*-charge over S. Then μ is said to be *absolutely convergent* or strongly additive if for $\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j \subset A$ where all A, B_j are in S and B_1, B_2, \cdots are disjoint, the series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \|\mu B_j\|$ converges. We shall prove that absolute convergence is equivalent to being of finite variation.

17-4.3. Lemma Let $A \in S$ be given. If there is a finite partition P(A) of A by sets in S such that $|\mu|(B) < \infty$ for each B in P(A), then $|\mu|(A) < \infty$.

<u>Proof.</u> Take any finite partition Q(A) of A by sets in S. Then the family $\{D \cap B : B \in P(A)\}$ is a finite partition of any $D \in Q(A)$ by sets in S. Since μ is additive, $\mu D = \sum \{\mu(D \cap B) : B \in P(A)\}$. Now observe that

$$\sum_{D \in Q(A)} \|\mu D\| \le \sum_{D \in Q(A)} \sum_{B \in P(A)} \|\mu (D \cap B)\|$$
$$= \sum_{B \in P(A)} \sum_{D \in Q(A)} \|\mu (D \cap B)\| \le \sum_{B \in P(A)} |\mu| (B).$$

Taking the supremum over all Q(A), we have $|\mu|(A) \leq \sum_{B \in P(A)} |\mu|(B) < \infty$. \Box

17-4.4. Lemma If $A \in S$ satisfies $|\mu|(A) = \infty$, then there exist a finite partition P(A) of A by set in S and also a set B in P(A) such that $|\mu|(B) = \infty$ and $\sum\{||\mu D|| : D \in P(A) \text{ and } D \neq B\} \ge 1$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $|\mu|(A) = \infty$, there is a finite partition P(A) of A by sets in S such that $\sum \{||\mu D|| : D \in P(A)\} \ge ||\mu A|| + 2$. By last lemma, there is B in P(A) such that $|\mu|(B) = \infty$. Since μ is additive, we have

$$\mu A = \mu B + \sum \{ \mu D : D \in P(A), D \neq B \}.$$
$$\|\mu B\| \le \|\mu A\| + \sum \{ \|\mu D\| : D \in P(A), D \neq B \}$$

Now, $\|\mu A\| + 2 \le \|\mu B\| + \sum \{\|\mu D\| : D \in P(A), D \ne B\}$ $\le \|\mu A\| + 2 \sum \{\|\mu D\| : D \in P(A), D \ne B\}.$

Deleting $\|\mu A\| < \infty$ and dividing by 2, we have the required inequality. \Box

17-4.5. <u>Theorem</u> A vector charge μ on a semiring S over X is of finite variation iff it is absolutely convergent.

<u>Proof</u>. Assume that μ is absolutely convergent. Suppose to the contrary that there is A_0 in S such that $|\mu|(A_0) = \infty$. By last lemma, there is a finite partition $P(A_0)$ and a set A_1 in $P(A_0)$ such that $|\mu|(A_1) = \infty$ and also

$$\sum\{\|\mu D\|: D \in P(A_0), D \neq A_1\} \ge 1.$$

Repeating to A_1 , there exist a finite partition $P(A_1)$ and a set A_2 in $P(A_1)$ such that $|\mu|(A_2) = \infty$ and also $\sum \{ \|\mu D\| : D \in P(A_1), D \neq A_2 \} \ge 1$. By induction, suppose that sequences of set A_n and partitions $P(A_n)$ have been constructed in similar way. Then $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \cup \{D : D \in P(A_n), D \neq A_{n+1}\}$ is a countable disjoint union of subsets of A_0 . Since μ it is absolutely convergent, the series

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum \{ \|\mu D\| : D \in P(A_n), D \neq A_{n+1} \} < \infty.$$

converges. However for each *n* we have $\sum \{ \|\mu D\| : D \in P(A_n), D \neq A_{n+1} \} \ge 1$. This contradiction shows that $|\mu|$ is finite valued on S. Conversely, assume that μ is of finite variation. Suppose $\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i \subset A$ where all A, B_i are in S and B_1, B_2, \cdots are disjoint. For each *n*, write $A \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^n B_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^m D_j$ where D_j are disjoint sets in S. Then $P(A) = \{B_1, \cdots, B_n, D_1, \cdots, D_m\}$ is a partition of A by sets in S and $\sum_{i=1}^n \|\mu B_i\| \le \sum_{E \in P(A)} \|\mu E\| \le |\mu|(A)$, that is

 $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \|\mu B_i\| \le |\mu|(A) < \infty.$ Therefore $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu B_i$ is absolutely convergent. \Box

17-4.6. <u>Theorem</u> The variation $|\mu|$ of a vector charge $\mu : \mathbb{S} \to E$ of finite variation is the smallest positive charge satisfying $\|\mu A\| \leq |\mu|A, \forall A \in \mathbb{S}$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} B_j$ be a disjoint union where $A, B_j \in S$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose a partition $P_j(B_j)$ of B_j by sets in S such that $|\mu|B_j \leq \sum_{D \in P_j(B_j)} ||\mu D|| + \varepsilon/n$. Then $P(A) = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} P_j(B_j)$ is a partition of A and we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mu| B_j \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{D \in P_j(B_j)} \|\mu B_j\| + \varepsilon \leq \sum_{D \in P(A)} \|\mu D\| + \varepsilon \leq |\mu| A + \varepsilon.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we get $\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mu| B_j \leq |\mu| A$. On the other hand, suppose that P(A) is a partition of A by sets in S. Then $P_j(B_j) = \{D \cap B_j : D \in P(A)\}$ is a partition of B_j by sets in S. Observe that

$$\sum_{D \in P(A)} \|\mu D\| = \sum_{D \in P(A)} \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mu(D \cap B_j) \right\| \le \sum_{D \in P(A)} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\mu(D \cap B_j)\|$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{D \in P(A)} \|\mu(D \cap B_j)\| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{Q \in P_j(B_j)} \|\mu Q\| \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mu| B_j.$$

Taking the supremum over P(A), we obtain $|\mu|A = \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mu|B_j$. Hence $|\mu|$ is a positive charge on S. It is an exercise to prove $||\mu A|| \le |\mu|A|$, $\forall A \in S$. \Box

17-4.7. **Exercise** Prove that $|\mu + \nu| \le |\mu| + |\nu|$ and $|\alpha \mu| = |\alpha| |\mu|$ on S.

17-4.8. Let E, F, FE be Banach spaces with a bilinear map $F \times E \to FE$ which is *admissible*, that is $||uv|| \le ||u|| ||v||$ for all $(u, v) \in F \times E$. Clearly every admissible bilinear map is continuous. For every map $f: X \to F$, its *modulus*, or *absolute value* is the function $|f|: X \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by |f|(x) = ||f(x)|| for every $x \in X$.

17-4.9. **Exercise** Let E, G be Banach spaces. Show that the evaluation map $\varphi: L(E, G) \times E \to G$ defined by $\varphi(u, v) = u(v)$ is an admissible bilinear map. Specify the case when $G = \mathbb{K}$.

17-4.10. <u>**Theorem**</u> $||I_{\mu}(f)|| \leq I_{|\mu|}(|f|)$ for every step map $f: X \to F$ and every *E*-charge μ of finite variation.

<u>Proof.</u> For $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in F$ and $A_j \in \mathbb{S}$, the result follows from $\|I_{\mu}(f)\| = \left\|\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \mu A_j\right\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\alpha_j \mu A_j\|$ $= \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\alpha_j| \|\mu A_j\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\alpha_j| \|\mu|(A_j) \leq I_{|\mu|}(|f|).$

17-4.11. <u>Observation</u> Let μ be a complex charge. If there is a positive charge ν such that $|I_{\mu}(f)| \leq I_{\nu}(|f|)$ for every step function f, then μ is of finite variation. This explains why our measures in this book are of finite variation.

<u>Proof.</u> Let P(A) be a partition of $A \in S$ by sets in S. For each $D \in P(A)$, choose $|\alpha_D| = 1$ with $\alpha_D \mu D = |\mu D|$. For the step function $f = \sum_D \alpha_D \rho_D$, we have $\sum_D |\mu D| = \sum_D \alpha_D \mu D = |I_\mu(f)| \le I_\nu(|f|) = \sum_D |\alpha_D|\nu D = \sum \nu D = \nu A$. Therefore $|\mu|A = \sup_{P(A)} \sum_D |\mu D| \le \nu A < \infty$.

17-5 Countable Additivity on Rings

17-5.1. A family \mathcal{R} of subsets of a set X is called a *ring over* X, or a ring of *subsets* of X in order to be precise, if

(a) the empty set is in \mathcal{R} ;

(b) for all A, B in \mathcal{R} , both $A \cup B$ and $A \setminus B$ are in \mathcal{R} .

Since $A \cap B = A \cup B \setminus [(A \setminus B) \cup (B \setminus A)]$, every ring of subsets is a semiring. Consequently previous results on charges are applicable to rings.

17-5.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let S be a semiring over X. Then the family \mathcal{R} of all finite unions of disjoint sets in S forms the smallest ring containing S. In this case, \mathcal{R} is called the *ring generated by* S.

<u>Proof</u>. It is obvious that \mathcal{R} contains the empty set. Let A_1, A_2 be in \mathcal{R} . It follows from the Semiring Formula, we may write $\rho_{A_i} = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_{ij}\rho_{B_j}$ where B_1, B_2, \dots, B_m are disjoint sets in \mathcal{S} and α_{ij} are either zero or one. Since the coefficients of $\rho_{A_1\cup A_2} = \sum_j (\alpha_{1j} \vee \alpha_{2j})\rho_{B_j}$ and $\rho_{A_1\setminus A_2} = \sum_j [\alpha_{1j} - (\alpha_{1j} \wedge \alpha_{2j})]\rho_{B_j}$ are either zero or one, \mathcal{R} is a ring. Clearly it is the smallest among all rings containing \mathcal{S} .

17-5.3. Let E, F, FE be vector spaces with a bilinear map $F \times E \to FE$. Let \mathcal{R} be the ring generated by a semiring \mathcal{S} over a set X and $\mu : \mathcal{S} \to E$ a vector charge. Let $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{S}, F)$ denote the vector spaces of \mathcal{S} -step F-maps and $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{R}, F)$ be similarly defined.

17-5.4. Algebraic Extension Theorem Both S, \mathcal{R} have the same step maps. A charge μ on S induces uniquely a linear map I on $\mathcal{F}(S, F) = \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{R}, F)$ which gives a unique charge ν on \mathcal{R} . Clearly ν is the unique extension of μ from S to \mathcal{R} . Explicitly, for every $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} B_j$ in \mathcal{R} where B_1, B_2, \dots, B_n are disjoint sets in S, we have $\nu A = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mu B_j$. We identify μ, I, ν and write $\mu(f) = I(f)$, $\mu A = \nu A$ for all $f \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{R}, F)$ and $A \in \mathcal{R}$.

17-5.5. **Exercise** Show that for all $A \subset B$ in \mathcal{R} , we have $\mu(B \setminus A) = \mu B - \mu A$. Prove that for all A, B in \mathcal{R} , we have $\mu(A \cup B) + \mu(A \cap B) = \mu A + \mu B$.

17-5.6. Let S be a semiring over a set X, E a Banach space and $\mu : S \to E$ a vector charge. Then μ is said to be *countably additive* if for every countable disjoint union $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j$ where all A, B_j are in S, we have $\mu A = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu B_j$. Let \mathcal{R} be a ring. Write $B_n \uparrow A$ in \mathcal{R} if all A, B_n are in \mathcal{R} ; $B_n \subset B_{n+1}$ and $A = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n$. Similarly $B_n \downarrow A$ in \mathcal{R} is defined.

17-5.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ be a vector charge on a ring \mathcal{R} over X. Then following statements are equivalent.

(a) μ is countably additive on \mathcal{R} .

(b) If $B_n \uparrow A$ in \mathcal{R} then $\mu B_n \to \mu A$.

(c) If $B_n \downarrow A$ in \mathcal{R} then $\mu B_n \to \mu A$. (d) If $B_n \downarrow \emptyset$ in \mathcal{R} then $\mu B_n \to 0$.

<u>Proof.</u> $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Let $B_n \uparrow A$ in \mathcal{R} . Define $B_0 = \emptyset$. Then $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} (B_j \setminus B_{j-1})$ and $B_n = \bigcup_{j=1}^n (B_j \setminus B_{j-1})$ are disjoint unions of sets in \mathcal{R} . By (a), we have

$$\mu A = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu(B_j \setminus B_{j-1}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mu(B_j \setminus B_{j-1}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu B_n$$

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Let $B_n \downarrow A$ in \mathfrak{R} . Then $(B_1 \setminus B_n) \uparrow (B_1 \setminus A)$ in \mathfrak{R} . By (b), we have $\mu(B_1 \setminus B_n) \rightarrow \mu(B_1 \setminus A)$ as $n \rightarrow \infty$. Hence we get $\mu B_1 - \mu B_n \rightarrow \mu B_1 - \mu A$, that is $\mu B_n \rightarrow \mu A$.

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$ It is a special case when $A = \emptyset$.

 $(d \Rightarrow a)$ Let $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j$ be a disjoint union where A, B_j are in \mathcal{R} . Define $D_n = A \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j$. Then $D_n \downarrow \emptyset$ in \mathcal{R} . By (d), we get $\mu D_n \to 0$. Since $A = (\bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j) \cup D_n$ is a finite disjoint union of sets in \mathcal{R} , we have $\mu A = \sum_{j=1}^n \mu B_j + \mu D_n$. Letting $n \to \infty$ we obtain $\mu A = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu B_j$. The proof is complete.

17-5.8. <u>Theorem</u> If μ is a positive countably additive charge on a semiring S, then it is countably subadditive. More precisely, let A, B_1, B_2, \cdots be sets in S. If $A \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i$, then $\mu A \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu B_i$.

<u>Proof.</u> Observe $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} (A \cap B_i)$ and $A \cap B_i \in S$. Let $D_{11} = A \cap B_1$ and for each i > 1 let $(A \cap B_i) \setminus \bigcup_{k=1}^{i-1} (A \cap B_k) = \bigcup D_{ij}$ where $\{D_{i1}, D_{i2}, \cdots\}$ is a finite number of disjoint sets in S. Then $\bigcup_j D_{ij} \subset B_i$ and hence $\sum_j \mu D_{ij} \leq \mu B_i$ since μ is positive. Now we have the countable union $A = \bigcup_{ij} D_{ij}$ of disjoint sets in S. By countable additivity, we get $\mu A = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_j \mu D_{ij} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu B_i$. \Box

17-5.9. Write $f_n \uparrow g$ if all f_n, g are real functions, $f_n(x) \leq f_{n+1}(x)$ and $\lim f_n(x) = g(x)$ as $n \to \infty$ at every point $x \in X$. Likewise, $f_n \downarrow g$ is defined. The following characterizes countable additivity in terms of *order continuity*.

17-5.10. <u>**Theorem</u>** Let μ be a *positive* charge on a ring \mathcal{R} over X and I the associated integral. Then μ is countably additive iff for step functions $f_n \downarrow 0$, we have $I(f_n) \downarrow 0$.</u>

<u>Proof.</u> Since f_1 is a step function, write $0 \leq f_1 = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where A_j are disjoint sets in \mathcal{R} and $\alpha_j \geq 0$. Define $\beta = \max\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \cdots, \alpha_m\}$. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, let $D_{nj} = \{x \in A_j : f_n(x) \geq \varepsilon\}$. Since every f_n is a step function, D_{nj} is a finite union of sets in the ring \mathcal{R} and hence it is in \mathcal{R} . Since $f_n \downarrow 0$ we have $D_{nj} \downarrow \emptyset$, i.e. $\mu D_{nj} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Observe that

$$0 \leq f_n \rho_{A_j} = f_n \rho_{A_j \setminus D_{n_j}} + f_n \rho_{D_{n_j}} \leq \varepsilon \rho_{A_j \setminus D_{n_j}} + \beta \rho_{D_{n_j}} \leq \varepsilon \rho_{A_j} + \beta \rho_{D_{n_j}}$$

Integrating on both sides, we have $0 \leq I(f_n \rho_{A_j}) \leq \varepsilon \mu A_j + \beta \mu D_{nj}$. Summing over $1 \leq j \leq m$, we have

 $0 \leq I(f_n) = I\left(f_n \sum_{j=1}^m \rho_{A_j}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^m I\left(f_n \rho_{A_j}\right) \leq \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^m \mu A_j + \beta \sum_{j=1}^m \mu D_{nj}$ which can be made arbitrarily small. Therefore $I(f_n) \to 0$ as required. The converse is obvious.

17-5.11. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ be a *positive* countably additive charge on a ring \mathcal{R} and f_n, f be step functions. Prove that if $f_n \uparrow f$, then $I(f_n) \uparrow I(f)$.

17-5.12. **Exercise** Let E be the Banach space of bounded functions on \mathbb{R} under the sup-norm. Let $\mu A = \rho_A$ for every semi-interval A. Show that μ is a vector charge but it is neither countably additive nor of finite variation.

17-6 Vector Measures

17-6.1. Let S be a semiring over a set X and E a Banach space. A vector charge $\mu: S \to E$ is a *measure* if it is countably additive and of finite variation. Since every positive charge is of finite variation, every positive countably additive charge is a measure. We also say measures and charges on the space X whenever S is well understood.

17-6.2. **Example** Let $h(x) = xe^{ix}$ for each $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the counting measure weighted by h is a complex measure on the semiring of singletons of \mathbb{R} .

17-6.3. **Example** The point measures are positive measures.

17-6.4. <u>Theorem</u> If $\mu : S \to E$ is a vector measure, then so is the unique extension ν of μ to a charge on the ring \mathcal{R} generated by S.

<u>Proof</u>. Through the associated integration, ν is additive on \mathcal{R} . To prove the countable additivity, let $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i$ be a disjoint union where A, B_1, B_2, \cdots are sets in \mathcal{R} . Since S generates \mathcal{R} , write $A = \bigcup_k A_k$ and $B_i = \bigcup_j B_{ij}$ where $\{A_1, A_2, \cdots\}$ and $\{B_{i1}, B_{i2}, \cdots\}$ are finite sequences of disjoint sets in S. By definition of ν we have $\nu A = \sum_k \mu A_k$ and $\nu B_i = \sum_j \mu B_{ij}$. Observe that both

$$A_k = A_k \cap A = A_k \cap (\bigcup_i B_i) = \bigcup_{ij} (A_k \cap B_{ij})$$

and $B_{ij} = A \cap B_{ij} = \bigcup_k (A_k \cap B_{ij})$ are countable disjoint unions of sets $A_k \cap B_{ij}$ in S. Since μ is countably additive, we have $\mu A_k = \sum_{ij} \mu(A_k \cap B_{ij})$ and $\mu B_{ij} = \sum_k \mu(A_k \cap B_{ij})$. The unconditional convergence allows us to change the order of summation in the following calculation:

$$\begin{split} \nu A &= \sum_k \mu A_k = \sum_k \sum_{ij} \mu (A_k \cap B_{ij}) \\ &= \sum_i \sum_j \sum_k \mu (A_k \cap B_{ij}) = \sum_i \sum_j \mu B_{ij} = \sum_i \nu B_i. \end{split}$$

Similar argument shows that ν is of finite variation on \mathcal{R} . The details are left as an exercise.

17-6.5. <u>Theorem</u> The variation $|\mu|$ of a vector measure $\mu : S \to E$ is a positive measure on S.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i$ be a disjoint union where A, B_j belong to S. Since $|\mu|$ is positive additive, we have $|\mu|(A) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |\mu|(B_i)$. To prove the reversed inequality, let $P(A) = \{D_1, D_2, \dots, D_m\}$ be a finite partition of A by sets D_k in S. Applying $|\mu|$ to the disjoint union $B_i = \sum_{k=1}^{m} (B_i \cap D_k)$, we have $|\mu|(B_i) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} |\mu|(B_i \cap D_k)$. For the countable partition $D_k = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (B_i \cap D_k)$, the countable additivity of μ gives $\mu D_k = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu(B_i \cap D_k)$, i.e.

$$|\mu D_k| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |\mu (B_i \cap D_k)| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |\mu| (B_i \cap D_k).$$

Summing over k, we obtain

$$\sum_{k=1}^{m} |\mu D_k| \leq \sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |\mu| (B_i \cap D_k)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{m} |\mu| (B_i \cap D_k) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |\mu| (B_i).$$

Taking the supremum over all partitions P(A) we have $|\mu|(A) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |\mu|(B_i)$. Hence $|\mu|$ is countably additive and therefore it is a measure.

17-6.6. <u>Corollary</u> The set of all complex measures forms a vector sublattice induced by the vector lattice of all complex charges with finite variation.

17-6.7. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the family S of all finite subsets of \mathbb{R} together with their complements forms a semiring over \mathbb{R} . For each finite subset A of \mathbb{R} , let μA be the total number of elements in A and $\mu(\mathbb{R} \setminus A) = -\mu A$. Prove that μ is countably additive on S but *not* of finite variation.

17-6.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ be a charge of finite variation on a ring \mathcal{R} . Prove that the following statements are equivalent.

(a) μ is a measure on \mathcal{R} .

- (b) Both Re μ and Im μ are measures.
- (c) All $(\text{Re }\mu)_{\pm}$ and $(\text{Im }\mu)_{\pm}$ are measures.

17-7 Lebesgue-Stieltjes Measures

17-7.1. For every map $g: \mathbb{R} \to E$ let dg(a, b] = g(b) - g(a) for all a < b. It is easy to verify that dg is additive. It is called the charge *induced by g*. Conversely, for every vector charge ν on the semi-intervals into E, the map $M\nu: \mathbb{R} \to E$ given by $M\nu(x) = \nu(0, x]$ for all $x \ge 0$ and $M\nu(x) = -\nu(x, 0]$ for x < 0 is called the map *induced by* ν . It is simple to verify that $dM\nu = \nu$ and Mdg(x) = g(x) - g(0) for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

17-7.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let \mathbb{M} denote the vector space of all maps $g : \mathbb{R} \to E$ with g(0) = 0 and \mathbb{C} the vector space of all charges on the semi-intervals of \mathbb{R} into E. Then $g \to dg : \mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{C}$ is an algebraic isomorphism. Furthermore for the scalar case $E = \mathbb{K}, g \to dg$ preserves the complex conjugates; dg is real iff g is real-valued; and also dg is positive iff g is increasing.

17-7.3. Let $g : \mathbb{R} \to E$ be a map. Then the variation |dg| of the charge dg is given by $|dg|(a,b] = \sup \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||g(x_j) - g(x_{j-1})||$ for all a < b where the supremum is taken over all partitions $a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$. The map g is of finite variation if $|dg|(a,b] < \infty$ for all a < b. In this case, |dg| is also a charge on the semi-intervals. The map induced by |dg| is called the *total variation* of g, denoted by Vg. Therefore we have the following explicit formula (a) Vg(0) = 0;

(b) for x > 0, $Vg(x) = \sup \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||g(x_j) - g(x_{j-1})||$ where the supremum is taken over all partitions $0 = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = x$;

(c) for x < 0, $Vg(x) = -\sup \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|g(x_j) - g(x_{j-1})\|$ where the supremum is taken over all partitions $x = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = 0$.

17-7.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let g be of finite variation. Then the variation of the charge induced by g is the charge of the total variation of g, that is |dg| = dVg.

 $\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof.} \quad \text{For } 0 \leq a < b, \ |dg|(a,b] = |dg|(0,b] - |dg|(0,a] = Vg(b) - Vg(a). \\ \hline \text{For } a < 0 \leq b, \ |dg|(a,b] = |dg|(a,0] + |dg|(0,b] = Vg(b) - Vg(a). \\ \hline \text{Finally} \\ \text{for } a < b < 0, \ |dg|(a,b] = |dg|(a,0] - |dg|(b,0] = Vg(b) - Vg(a). \\ \hline \text{Therefore} \\ |dg|(a,b] = Vg(b) - Vg(a) = dVg(a,b] \\ \text{for all } a < b. \\ \Box \end{array}$

17-7.5. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that linear combinations of maps of finite variation are of finite variation.

17-7.6. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that a complex function on \mathbb{R} is of finite variation iff both its real and imaginary parts are of finite variation.

17-7.7. **Theorem** Let $g : \mathbb{R} \to E$ be a map of finite variation. Then g is right continuous, that is $\lim g(x) = g(a)$ as $x \downarrow a$ for every $a \in \mathbb{R}$, iff its total variation Vg is right continuous.

<u>Proof</u>. Let a < x be given. If Vg is right continuous at a, then $||g(x) - g(a)|| \le |dg|(a, x]| = Vg(x) - Vg(a) \to 0$ as $x \downarrow a$ implies the right continuity of g at a. Conversely, suppose that g is right continuous at a. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x - a \le \delta$, we have $||g(x) - g(a)|| \le \varepsilon$. Pick any $b > a + \delta$. There is a partition $a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$ such that $|dg|(a, b)| \le \sum_{j=1}^n ||f(x_j) - f(x_{j-1})|| + \varepsilon$. Insert x so that $x_0 < x < x_1$ and $x - x_0 \le \delta$. Then we have

$$Vg(b) - Vg(a) = |dg|(a, b] \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||f(x_j) - f(x_{j-1})|| + \varepsilon$$

$$\le ||f(x) - f(x_0)|| + ||f(x_1) - f(x)|| + \sum_{j=2}^{n} ||f(x_j) - f(x_{j-1})|| + \varepsilon$$

$$\le \varepsilon + |dg|(x, b] + \varepsilon = Vg(b) - Vg(x) + 2\varepsilon,$$

that is $0 \le Vg(x) - Vg(a) \le 2\varepsilon$ for all $0 < x - a \le \delta$. Therefore Vg is right continuous at a.

17-7.8. **Theorem** Let $g: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be an increasing function and ν the charge of g given by $\nu(a, b] = g(b) - g(a)$ for all a < b. Then ν is a positive measure on the semi-intervals if g is right continuous on \mathbb{R} . In particular, the *Lebesgue* measure given by g(x) = x is a positive measure.

<u>Proof</u>. Clearly ν is a positive charge on the semiring of semi-intervals. Let $\overline{A} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j$ be a disjoint union where A, B_j are semi-intervals. Since ν is a positive charge, we have $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \nu B_j \leq \nu A$. To show the reverse inequality, we may assume that all B_j are non-empty. Let A = (a, b] and $B_j = (a_j, b_j]$. Suppose $\varepsilon > 0$ is given. Because g is right continuous, there is $0 < \delta < b - a$ such that $g(a + \delta) - g(a) \leq \varepsilon$. Similarly for each j, there is $\delta_j > 0$ satisfying $g(b_j + \delta_j) - g(b_j) \leq \varepsilon/2^j$. Then $\{(a_j, b_j + \delta_j) : j \geq 1\}$ is an open cover of the compact set $[a + \delta, b]$. There is a finite subcover, i.e. for some n, we get $[a + \delta, b] \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n (a_j, b_j + \delta_j)$, or $(a + \delta, b] \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n (a_j, b_j + \delta_j]$. Since ν is a positive charge, we have $\nu(a + \delta, b] \leq \sum_{j=1}^n \nu(a_j, b_j + \delta_j)$, that is

$$g(b) - g(a+\delta) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} [g(b_j+\delta_j) - g(a_j)],$$

or,
$$g(b) - g(a) \le 2\varepsilon + \sum_{j=1}^{n} [g(b_j) - g(a_j)],$$

equivalently,
$$\nu A \leq 2\varepsilon + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \nu B_j \leq 2\varepsilon + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \nu B_j$$

Because $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $\nu A \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \nu B_j$. Therefore ν is countably additive and consequently it is a measure. \Box

17-7.9. **Theorem** Let $g: \mathbb{R} \to E$ be a map with finite variation and $\nu = dg$ the charge given by $\nu(a, b] = g(b) - g(a)$ for all a < b. Then ν is a vector measure on the semi-intervals iff g is right continuous on \mathbb{R} . In this case, ν is called the *Stieltjes' measures* induced by g.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow) Let $x_n \downarrow a$. Then $(a, x_n] \downarrow \emptyset$ and hence $\nu(a, x_n] \to 0$, that is $g(x_n) - g(a) \to 0$, or $g(x_n) \to g(a)$. Since the sequence $\{x_n\}$ is arbitrary, g is right continuous.

(⇐) Since g is right continuous, so is its total variation Vg. Thus its induced charge $|\nu|$ is a measure on the semiring of semi-intervals. It is also a measure on the ring \mathcal{R} generated by the semi-intervals. Let $A_n \to \emptyset$ in \mathcal{R} as $n \to \infty$. Then $\|\nu A_n\| \leq |\nu|(A_n) \to 0$. Therefore ν is countably additive. \Box

17-7.10. **Example** Let $h : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a real function and $\mu = dh$ the charge induced by h. The *upper variation* of h on (a, b] is defined as

$$\mu_{+}(a,b] = \sup \sum_{j=1}^{n} [h(x_{j}) - h(x_{j-1})]_{+}$$

where the supremum is taken over all partitions $a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$. Similarly, the lower variation is defined. Suppose h is of finite variation. Let V_+h, V_-h be functions induced by the charges μ_+ and μ_- respectively. Since both μ_{\pm} are positive, $V_{\pm}h$ are increasing functions. From $\mu(a,b] = \mu_+(a,b] - \mu_-(a,b]$, we have $h(x) = V_+h(x) - V_-h(x) + h(0)$ by setting a = 0 and b = x > 0. The same formula holds for a = x < 0 and b = 0. Therefore every complex function g of finite variation can be decomposed into increasing functions: $g = V_+(\text{Re } g) - V_-(\text{Re } g) + iV_+(\text{Im } g) - iV_-(\text{Im } g) + g(0)$.

17-7.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every continuously differentiable map on \mathbb{R} into E is of finite variation.

17-7.12. **Exercise** Show that the function $g = \rho_{(-\infty,0)}$ is of finite variation but its induced charge is not countably additive.

17-7.13. **Exercise** Show that the function g given by $g(x) = x \sin \frac{1}{x}$ for $x \neq 0$ and g(0) = 0 is a bounded continuous function on \mathbb{R} but is not of finite variation. Find a sequence of semi-intervals A_n such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |dgA_n| = \infty$ where dg is the charge induced by g.

17-7.14. <u>Exercise</u> Let $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}$ be a function of finite variation. Prove that the following statements are equivalent.

(a) g is right continuous.

(b) The total variation Vg is right continuous.

(c) Both $\operatorname{Re}(g)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(g)$ are right continuous.

(d) All upper and lower variations $V_{\pm}(\operatorname{Re} g)$ and $V_{\pm}(\operatorname{Im} g)$ are right continuous.

17-7.15. **Exercise** Show that maps of finite variation are bounded on bounded sets.

17-7.16. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}$ and $g : \mathbb{R} \to E$ are of finite variation, then so is the product fg.

17-99. <u>References and Further Readings</u>: Zaanen-59, Garnir-72, Munster, Apostol, Hawkins, Fell, Chuaqui, Huggins, DeLucia, Haluska, Olejeck, Kelly, Forelli, Brooks, Argabright, Stewart, Holland, Zelichenok, Byers and Jurzak.

Chapter 18

Extensions of Positive Measures

18-1 Uniqueness of Extension

18-1.1. Let $f:[a,b] \to [\alpha,\beta]$ be a function. For Riemann integral, we chop up the domain [a, b] into subintervals by partitions $a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$; select points $c_j \in [x_{j-1}, x_j]$; construct step function $\sum_{j=1}^n f(c_j) \rho_{(x_{j-1}, x_j)}$ and define the integral of f as the limit of the sum $\sum_{j=1}^{n} f(c_j)(x_j - x_{j-1})$ interpreted as the areas of histograms. It is simple and it can cope with most of the engineering problem but it cannot handle the convergence $f_n \rightarrow f$ of functions required in harmonic and Fourier analysis. For Lebesgue integral, we chop up the range $[\alpha, \beta]$ into subintervals by partitions $\alpha = y_0 < y_1 < \cdots < y_n = \beta$; select points $\gamma_j \in [y_{j-1}, y_j]$; construct simple function $s = \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_j \rho_{A_j}$ and define the integral of as the limit of the sum $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \gamma_j \lambda A_j$ but the Lebesgue measures λA_j of the sets $A_j = f^{-1}(y_{j-1}, y_j)$ are not yet available. It is more complicate but Monotonic Convergence Theorem, Fatou's Lemma and Dominated Convergence Theorem developed in later chapters are some milestones providing service better than Riemann integrals. This motivates the need to extend measures from semi-intervals to larger classes of sets. In this section, we shall prove the uniqueness of such extension.

18-1.2. A ring over a set X is called a δ -ring if it is closed under formation of countable intersections. A δ -space or a measurable space modeled on δ -ring consists of a δ -ring \mathbb{D} over a set X. Sets in \mathbb{D} are called *decent sets*.

18-1.3. **Exercise** Let A, B_n be decent sets in a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . Prove that if all $B_n \subset A$, then $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n$ is also a decent set.

18-1.4. <u>Theorem</u> Every countably additive complex charge μ on a δ -ring \mathbb{D} is of finite variation and hence is a measure. This may explain why finite variation does not play an important role in the scalar measure theory.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let A, B_j be decent sets such that $\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j \subset A$ and that B_1, B_2, \cdots are disjoint. Then $B = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j$ is a decent set. By countable additivity, the

convergence $\mu B = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu B_j$ is unconditional in \mathbb{K} , that is invariant under permutation of indices. Hence the series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\mu B_j|$ converges. Therefore μ is of finite variation.

18-1.5. Note that the above result also holds for vector measures into Banach spaces in which unconditional convergence of series implies absolute convergence. Characterization of this class of Banach spaces in terms of subspace c_0 is beyond our scope.

18-1.6. **Lemma** Let \mathcal{K} be a family of subsets of a set X.

(a) The smallest δ -ring \mathbb{D} containing \mathcal{K} is the intersection of all δ -rings containing \mathcal{K} . It is called the δ -ring generated by \mathcal{K} .

(b) Every set in \mathbb{D} is contained in a finite union of sets in \mathcal{K} .

<u>*Proof.*</u> (b) The family \mathbb{F} of all subsets of finite unions of sets in \mathcal{K} forms a $\overline{\delta}$ -ring. Since $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{F}$, we have $\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbb{F}$.

18-1.7. **Exercise** Decent sets of the real line \mathbb{R} are sets in the δ -ring generated by the semiring of semi-intervals. Show that every decent set is bounded. Prove that every bounded interval is a decent set. Conclude that the family of finite unions of semi-intervals forms a ring but not a δ -ring.

18-1.8. For the rest of this section, assume that S is a semiring over X, \mathcal{R} the ring generated by S and D the δ -rings generated by S. A monotone family F of D is a subfamily of D such that

(a) if $A_n \in \mathbb{F}$ and $A_n \downarrow A$ then $A \in \mathbb{F}$,

(b) if $A_n \in \mathbb{F}$ and $A_n \uparrow A \subset D \in \mathbb{D}$ then $A \in \mathbb{F}$.

18-1.9. **Lemma** For every $M \in \mathbb{D}$ and for every monotone family \mathbb{F} of \mathbb{D} , the family $\mathbb{F}(M) = \{N \in \mathbb{D} : \text{all } M \cup N, M \setminus N, N \setminus M \in \mathbb{F}\}$ is also a monotone family of \mathbb{D} .

<u>Proof</u>. We shall verify the second condition of monotone family only. Assume $\overline{A_n \in \mathbb{F}(M)}$ and $A_n \uparrow A \subset D \in \mathbb{D}$. Then $A_n \in \mathbb{D}$ and $M \cup A_n \in \mathbb{F}$ by definition of $\mathbb{F}(M)$. Because the δ -ring \mathbb{D} is monotone, we have $A \in \mathbb{D}$. Clearly,

$$M \cup A_n \uparrow M \cup A \subset M \cup D \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Since \mathbb{F} is monotone we have $M \cup A \in \mathbb{F}$. Similarly we obtain $M \setminus A, A \setminus M \in \mathbb{F}$. Consequently $A \in \mathbb{F}(M)$. It is an exercise to verify the first condition of monotone family and to complete the proof. \Box 18-1.10. <u>Lemma</u> Let \mathbb{F} be a monotone family of \mathbb{D} . If \mathbb{F} contains \mathcal{R} , then we have $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{D}$.

<u>Proof.</u> Clearly the intersection of all monotone families of \mathbb{D} containing \mathcal{R} is a monotone family of \mathbb{D} satisfying $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathbb{E} \subset \mathbb{F} \subset \mathbb{D}$. Because \mathcal{R} is a ring, for all $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$ we have $B \in \mathbb{E}(A)$ which was defined in last lemma. Hence \mathcal{R} is contained in the monotone family $\mathbb{E}(A)$. Since \mathbb{E} is the smallest, we obtain $\mathbb{E} \subset \mathbb{E}(A)$. For every $M \in \mathbb{E}$ we have $M \in \mathbb{E}(A)$. The symmetry in the definition of $\mathbb{E}(A)$ gives $A \in \mathbb{E}(M)$. Since $\mathbb{E}(M)$ is another monotone family containing \mathcal{R} , we have $\mathbb{E} \subset \mathbb{E}(M)$. We conclude that for arbitrary $M, N \in \mathbb{E}$, the sets $M \cup N, M \setminus N, N \setminus M$ are all in \mathbb{E} . In other words, \mathbb{E} is a ring. Since \mathbb{E} is monotone, it is a δ -ring containing \mathcal{R} . Because \mathbb{D} is the δ -ring generated by \mathcal{R} we have $\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbb{E}$. Consequently $\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{F} = \mathbb{D}$. This completes the proof. \square

18-1.11. <u>Theorem</u> A vector measure μ on a semiring S into a Banach space E has at most one extension to a measure on the δ -ring \mathbb{D} generated by S.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let φ, π be two extensions of μ from S to measures on \mathbb{D} . Clearly $\varphi = \pi$ on \mathcal{R} . Now $\mathbb{F} = \{D \in \mathbb{D} : \varphi D = \pi D\}$ is a monotone family of \mathbb{D} containing \mathcal{R} . Consequently $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{D}$, i.e. $\varphi = \pi$.

18-1.12. **Exercise** Let $X = \{a, b\}$, $S = \{\emptyset, \{a\}\}$. Show that $\mu\{a\} = 1$ and $\mu\emptyset = 0$ is a measure on the semiring S. Construct two different extensions of μ on the power set \mathbb{P} of X. Show that \mathbb{P} is a δ -ring containing S but not generated by S.

18-2 Outer Measures

18-2.1. To define the area of a disk which is obviously not a finite union of semi-rectangles, we cut the plane with horizontal and vertical lines and then count the total area of semi-rectangles which barely cover the disk. As we cut the plane finer and finer, we have better and better approximations to the area of the disk. This idea is formalized as the outer measure.

18-2.2. Let $\{a_n\}$ be a sequence in $[0, \infty]$. Define $\sum_n a_n = \infty$ if one of them is ∞ . Clearly if all $0 \le a_n < \infty$, the series $\sum_n a_n$ may also diverge to ∞ .

18-2.3. Let \mathcal{K} be an *arbitrary* family of subsets of a set X with $\emptyset \in \mathcal{K}$. Let $\mu : \mathcal{K} \to [0, \infty)$ be a *finite-valued* function satisfying $\mu \emptyset = 0$. Note that \mathcal{K} need not be a semiring. In fact, for a locally compact space, \mathcal{K} should be taken as

the family of all compact sets. For every subset H of X, let C(H) denote the family of all sequential covers $\{A_n\}$ of H by sets in \mathcal{K} . The *outer measure* of H is defined by

$$\mu^* H = \begin{cases} \inf \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu A_n, & \text{if } C(H) \neq \emptyset; \\ \infty, & \text{if } C(H) = \emptyset. \end{cases}$$

18-2.4. <u>Theorem</u> The outer measure is a function on the power set of X into $[0, \infty]$. It satisfies the following conditions.

(a) If $H \in \mathcal{K}$ then $\mu^* H \leq \mu H$.

(b) If $H \subset K$ then $\mu^* H \leq \mu^* K$, monotonic.

(c) $\mu^* \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n \right) \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu^* H_n$, countably subadditive.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) Let $A_1 = H$ and $A_n = \emptyset$ for all $n \ge 2$. Then $\mu^* H \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu A_n = \mu H$. (b) It follows from the definition immediately.

(c) If $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu^* H_n = \infty$ then the inequality is obviously true. So we may assume $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu^* H_n < \infty$. Then all $\mu^* H_n < \infty$ and in particular, $C(H_n) \neq \emptyset$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a sequential cover $\{A_{nj} : j \ge 1\}$ in $C(H_n)$ such that $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu A_{nj} \le \mu^* H_n + \varepsilon/2^n$. Now $\{A_{nj} : n, j \ge 1\}$ is a sequential cover in $C(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n)$. The result follows by letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ in the inequality below:

$$\mu^* \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n \right) \le \sum_n \sum_j \mu A_{nj}$$
$$\le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\mu^* H_n + \varepsilon/2^n) = \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu^* H_n \right) + \varepsilon.$$

18-2.5. A subset M of X is said to be μ^* -measurable if

 $\mu^*(H\cap M)+\mu^*(H\setminus M)=\mu^*H$

for every subset H of X. Geometrically, M cuts every set H nicely as the sum of inside and outside of M. It is important to note that μ^* -measurable set depends on μ while the measurable sets introduced in next chapter has nothing to do with μ . The following lemma gives a nice criterion for μ^* -measurability.

18-2.6. Lemma A subset M of X is μ^* -measurable if for every A in \mathcal{K} we have $\mu^*(A \cap M) + \mu^*(A \setminus M) \leq \mu A$.

Proof. Let H be any subset of X. By countable subadditivity, we obtain

$$\mu^*(H \cap M) + \mu^*(H \setminus M) \ge \mu^*H.$$

If $\mu^*H = \infty$ then the equality holds. Hence we may assume $\mu^*H < \infty$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\{A_n\}$ be a sequence of sets in \mathcal{K} such that $H \subset \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu A_n \leq \mu^*H + \varepsilon$. Observe that

$$\mu^{*}(H \cap M) + \mu^{*}(H \setminus M) \leq \mu^{*} \left[\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{n} \right) \cap M \right] + \mu^{*} \left[\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{n} \right) \setminus M \right]$$
$$= \mu^{*} \left[\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_{n} \cap M) \right] + \mu^{*} \left[\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_{n} \setminus M) \right] \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu^{*}(A_{n} \cap M) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu^{*}(A_{n} \setminus M)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} [\mu^{*}(A_{n} \cap M) + \mu^{*}(A_{n} \setminus M)] \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu A_{n} \leq \mu^{*}H + \varepsilon.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\mu^*(H \cap M) + \mu^*(H \setminus M) \le \mu^*H$. Therefore the set M is μ^* -measurable.

18-2.7. **Exercise** Prove that if $\mu^* M = 0$, then M is μ^* -measurable.

18-2.8. **Exercise** Consider the counting measure μ on X. Find a formula for the outer measure μ^*M of any subset M of X. Prove that every subset of X is μ^* -measurable. State and prove similar result for point measures.

18-2.9. A family A of subsets of X is called an *algebra* if

(a) the empty set is in \mathcal{A} ;

(b) for every A in \mathcal{A} , the complement $X \setminus A$ is in \mathcal{A} ;

(c) if $A, B \in \mathcal{A}$, then $A \cup B \in \mathcal{A}$.

An algebra is called a σ -algebra if it is also closed under formation of countable unions. Clearly, every σ -algebra is closed under countable intersections.

18-2.10. <u>Exercise</u> Let \mathcal{A} be an *algebra* of subsets of X. Prove that if the union $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ is in \mathcal{A} for all *disjoint* sequences $\{A_n\}$ of sets in \mathcal{A} , then \mathcal{A} is a σ -algebra.

18-2.11. <u>**Theorem</u>** The family \mathcal{A} of all μ^* -measurable sets forms a σ -algebra. Furthermore μ^* is countably additive on μ^* -measurable sets.</u>

<u>*Proof.*</u> Simple verification shows that \mathcal{A} contains the empty set and is closed under formation of complements. We shall prove that \mathcal{A} is closed under formation of countable unions in several steps. Let M, N be μ^* -measurable sets. We claim that $M \cup N$ is μ^* -measurable. For simplicity, write $M' = X \setminus M$. Now observe that for every subset H of X,

$$\begin{split} \mu^* H &\leq \mu^* [H \cap (M \cup N)] + \mu^* [H \setminus (M \cup N)] \\ &= \mu^* [H \cap (M \cup N) \cap M] + \mu^* [H \cap (M \cup N) \setminus M] + \mu^* [H \cap (M \cup N)'] \\ &= \mu^* (H \cap M) + \mu^* (H \cap N \cap M') + \mu^* (H \cap M' \cap N') \\ &= \mu^* (H \cap M) + \mu^* [(H \cap M') \cap N] + \mu^* [(H \cap M') \setminus N] \\ &= \mu^* (H \cap M) + \mu^* (H \cap M') = \mu^* (H \cap M) + \mu^* (H \setminus M) = \mu^* H. \end{split}$$

Therefore we have $\mu^*H = \mu^*[H \cap (M \cup N)] + \mu^*[H \setminus (M \cup N)]$ and hence $M \cup N$ is μ^* -measurable. Suppose further that M, N are disjoint. Then we have

$$\begin{split} \mu^*[H \cap (M \cup N)] &= \mu^*[H \cap (M \cup N) \cap M] + \mu^*[H \cap (M \cup N) \setminus M] \\ &= \mu^*(H \cap M) + \mu^*(H \cap N). \end{split}$$

By induction, it follows that finite unions of μ^* -measurable sets are μ^* -measurable. Furthermore if M_1, M_2, \dots, M_p are disjoint μ^* -measurable sets then for every subset H of X, we have

$$\mu^* \left(H \cap \bigcup_{j=1}^p M_j \right) = \sum_{j=1}^p \mu^* (H \cap M_j).$$
 #1

In particular when $H = \bigcup_{j=1}^{p} M_j$, we get $\mu^* \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{p} M_j \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \mu^*(M_j)$. Next, let $\{M_j\}$ be an infinite sequence of μ^* -measurable sets. Assume that the sets M_j are disjoint. Let $N_p = \bigcup_{j=1}^{p} M_j$ and $N = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} M_j$. Then for every subset H of X, since N_p is μ^* -measurable we obtain by #1

$$\mu^* H = \mu^* (H \cap N_p) + \mu^* (H \setminus N_p)$$

$$\geq \mu^* (H \cap N_p) + \mu^* (H \setminus N) = \sum_{j=1}^p \mu^* (H \cap M_j) + \mu^* (H \setminus N).$$

Letting $p \to \infty$ and using countable subadditivity, we get

$$\mu^*H \ge \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu^*(H \cap M_j) + \mu^*(H \setminus N) \ge \mu^* \left[\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} (H \cap M_j)\right] + \mu^*(H \setminus N)$$
$$= \mu^*(H \cap N) + \mu^*(H \setminus N) \ge \mu^*H.$$

Therefore $N = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} M_j$ is μ^* -measurable. Letting H = N, we have

$$\mu^*\left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} M_j\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu^* M_j.$$

Since \mathcal{A} is a ring which is closed under formations of complements and countable disjoint unions, it follows that \mathcal{A} is a σ -algebra.

18-2.12. <u>Exercise</u> Let \mathcal{B} denote the family of μ^* -measurable sets with *finite* measures. Show that \mathcal{B} is a δ -ring and the restriction of μ^* to \mathcal{B} is a measure. Furthermore prove that if $A \subset B$ are μ^* -measurable with $\mu^*A < \infty$, then $\mu^*(B \setminus A) = \mu^*B - \mu^*A$.

18-2.13. <u>Exercise</u> Let $X = \{a, b, c\}$, $A = \{a\}$, $B = \{b\}$, $C = \{a, b\}$, $\mathcal{K} = \{\emptyset, A, B, C\}$, $\mu A = \mu B = \mu C = 1$ and of course $\mu \emptyset = 0$. Find the outer measures of every subset of X. List all μ^* -measurable sets. Is A a non-measurable set? Show that $\mu^* \neq \mu$ on \mathcal{K} .

18-2.14. <u>Exercise</u> Let λ be the Lebesgue measure on the semi-intervals of the real line **I**R. Prove that every singleton is λ^* -measurable and its outer measure is zero. Then show that the outer measure of every countable set is zero. Prove that the set of irrational numbers in the interval [$\sqrt{2}$, 3) is λ^* -measurable and

find its outer measure. It can be proved that there exists a subset of \mathbb{R} which is *not* Lebesgue measurable but we do not need this result.

18-3 Extension to Decent Sets

18-3.1. Let μ be a *finite-valued positive* measure on a semiring S over a set X and D the δ -ring generated by S. Sets in D are called *decent sets*. In order to avoid ∞ taken by the outer measure μ^* , we have to cut back from μ^* -measurable sets to decent sets.

18-3.2. <u>Theorem</u> The outer measure μ^* is an extension of μ from S to a (finite-valued) measure on decent sets. For convenience, write μH instead of $\mu^* H$ for every decent set H.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let M be a set in S. Then for every A in S, write $A \setminus M = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} D_j$ where D_1, D_2, \dots, D_m are disjoint sets in S. Because μ is additive, we have

$$\mu^*(A \cap M) + \mu^*(A \setminus M) \le \mu^*(A \cap M) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu^*D_j \le \mu(A \cap M) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu D_j = \mu A.$$

Thus M is μ^* -measurable. Next, let $\{A_j\}$ be a sequential cover of M. By countable subadditivity, we have $\mu M \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu A_j$. Taking infimum over all $\{A_j\}$ in C(M) we obtain $\mu M \leq \mu^* M$. Therefore μ^* agrees with μ on S. Next, let N be a decent set. Choose $A_1, \dots, A_n \in S$ such that $N \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n A_j$. Then $\mu^* N \leq \sum_{j=1}^n \mu^* A_j = \sum_{j=1}^n \mu A_j < \infty$. Finally, since the family of all μ^* -measurable sets is a σ -algebra, it is a δ -ring containing S and therefore it also contains \mathbb{D} .

18-3.3. <u>Theorem</u> For each decent set H and for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a sequence $\{A_n\}$ of *disjoint* sets in S such that $H \subset \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$, $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu A_n \leq \mu H + \varepsilon$ and $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ is a decent set.

<u>Proof.</u> Let H be covered by a finite union of disjoint sets H_1, H_2, \dots, H_p in S. Since $\mu H = \mu^* H$, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a sequence $\{B_i\}$ of sets in S such that $H \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu B_i \leq \mu H + \varepsilon$. Define $B_0 = \emptyset$, $D_{11} = B_1$, m(1) = 1 and for each i > 1, write $B_i \setminus B_{i-1} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m(i)} D_{ij}$ where $D_{i1}, D_{i2}, \dots, D_{im(i)}$ are disjoint sets in S. Then

$$H \subset \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i\right) \cap \left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{p} H_k\right) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{j=1}^{m(i)} \bigcup_{k=1}^{p} D_{ij} \cap H_k$$

and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m(i)} \sum_{k=1}^{p} \mu[D_{ij} \cap H_k] = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu\left[\bigcup_{j=1}^{m(i)} D_{ij} \cap \left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{p} H_k\right)\right]$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu(B_i \setminus B_{i-1}) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu B_i \leq \mu H + \varepsilon.$$

Therefore an enumeration of $\{D_{ij} \cap H_k : 1 \le k \le p, 1 \le j \le m(i), i = 1, 2, \dots\}$ is the required sequence. Their union is a decent set by §18-1.3.

18-3.4. **Theorem** For each decent set H and for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there are disjoint sets A_1, A_2, \dots, A_n in S such that $\mu(H \triangle B) \leq \varepsilon$ for $B = \bigcup_{j=1}^n A_j$ where $H \triangle B = (H \setminus B) \cup (B \setminus H)$ is called the *symmetric difference* of H and B.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Choose $\{A_j\}$ by last theorem. There is $n \ge 1$ such that $\sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} \mu A_j \le \varepsilon$. Define $B = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} A_j$. Then $H \setminus B \subset \bigcup_{j=n+1}^{\infty} A_j$ and $B \setminus H \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \setminus H$. Hence we obtain

$$\mu(H \bigtriangleup B) = \mu[(H \backslash B) \cup (B \backslash H)]$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=n+1}^{\infty} \mu A_j + \left[\mu\left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j\right) - \mu H\right] \leq \varepsilon + \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu A_j - \mu H\right) \leq 2\varepsilon. \quad \Box$$

18-3.5. A decent set which is a countable union of sets in S is called a σ -set. A countable intersection of σ -sets is called a $\sigma\delta$ -set. Clearly every σ -set is a countable union of *disjoint* sets in S and every σ -set is a $\sigma\delta$ -set.

18-3.6. <u>Corollary</u> Let H be a decent set.

(a) For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a σ -set $A \supset H$ with $\mu A \leq \mu H + \varepsilon$.

(b) There is a $\sigma\delta$ -set B containing H such that $\mu(B \setminus H) = 0$.

<u>Proof.</u> Part (a) follows from §18-3.3. To prove (b), for each $n \ge 1$, there is a σ -set A_n containing H such that $\mu A_n \le \mu H + 1/n$. Let $B = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$. Then B is a $\sigma\delta$ -set. Clearly $H \subset B$. From $\mu H \le \mu B \le \mu A_n \le \mu H + 1/n$, we get $\mu H = \mu B < \infty$. Hence $\mu(B \setminus H) = \mu B - \mu H = 0$.

18-3.7. **Exercise** Prove that finite intersections of σ -sets are σ -sets. Prove that every $\sigma\delta$ -set is the intersection of a *decreasing* sequence of σ -sets. Show that every $\sigma\delta$ -set is a decent set.

18-3.8. **Exercise** Let μ, ν be real measures on a semiring S over X and μ_e, ν_e their extension over the δ -ring \mathbb{D} generated by S. Prove that if $\mu \leq \nu$ on S, then $\mu_e \leq \nu_e$ on \mathbb{D} .

18-99. <u>References and Further Readings</u>: Guainua, Fox, Uhl, Kluvanek, Ohba, Kuo, Niculescu-77, Christensen, Luo, Munroe, Kolmogorov, Rana, Wang, Dobrakov and Kandilakis.

Chapter 19 Measurable Objects

19-1 Measurable Sets

19-1.1. Let (X, \mathbb{D}) be a δ -space. Sets in \mathbb{D} are called *decent sets*. A subset M of X is said to be *measurable*, or \mathbb{D} -measurable to be precise, if for each decent set A, the intersection $M \cap A$ is a decent set. It is important to realize that measurable sets in this chapter are independent of any measure while μ^* -measurable sets in previous chapter rely heavily on a particular measure μ . In later chapters, vector measures of decent sets of X are always defined and form a vector space. Positive measures are defined on all measurable sets.

19-1.2. **Example** Let $X = \{x, y, z\}$, $A = \{x, y\}$, $B = \{z\}$, $C = \{x\}$ and $\mathbb{D} = \{\emptyset, A\}$. Then \mathbb{D} is a δ -ring. The measurable sets are \emptyset, A, B and X. On the other hand, the function $\mu : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $\mu \emptyset = \mu A = 0$ is a measure on \mathbb{D} . Since $\mu^*C = 0$, the set C is μ^* -measurable but not \mathbb{D} -measurable.

19-1.3. Lemma Let \mathcal{K} be a family of subsets of a set X and \mathbb{D} the δ -ring generated by \mathcal{K} . Then a subset M of X is measurable if for each $A \in \mathcal{K}$, the intersection $A \cap M$ is a decent set. Two important cases are when \mathcal{K} is a semiring or the family of all compact sets in a locally compact space.

<u>Proof</u>. Let \mathbb{F} be the family of all decent sets A such that $A \cap M$ is a decent set. Since $(A \setminus B) \cap M = (A \cap M) \setminus (B \cap M)$, we have $A \setminus B \in \mathbb{F}$, $\forall A, B \in \mathbb{F}$. Similarly, it is easy to verify other conditions showing that \mathbb{F} is a δ -ring containing \mathcal{K} . Therefore $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{D}$ which means M is measurable.

19-1.4. <u>Theorem</u> The family $\mathbb{I}M$ of all measurable sets in a δ -space X forms a σ -algebra containing \mathbb{D} .

<u>Proof</u>. Since \mathbb{D} is a ring, every decent set is measurable, i.e. $\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbb{M}$. In particular, $\emptyset \in \mathbb{M}$. Let M, M_j be measurable sets and let A be any decent set. Because \mathbb{D} is a δ -ring, we have $(X \setminus M) \cap A = A \setminus M \in \mathbb{D}$ and

$$\left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} M_j\right) \cap A = A \setminus \bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} [A \setminus (M_j \cap A)] \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Therefore $\mathbb{I}M$ is a σ -algebra.

19-1.5. <u>Exercise</u> Show that a set is measurable iff its intersection with every decent set is measurable.

19-1.6. The measurable sets of \mathbb{R} , without any δ -ring explicitly indicated, are defined in terms of the δ -ring generated by the semi-intervals and have nothing to do with the Lebesgue measure. Similarly the measurable sets of \mathbb{R}^2 are obtained from the semi-rectangles. Since the complex plane \mathbb{C} is identified with \mathbb{R}^2 , its measurable sets are also defined in terms of the semi-rectangles.

19-1.7. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every singleton in \mathbb{R} is a countable intersection of semi-intervals. Hence show that every countable set in \mathbb{R} is measurable.

19-1.8. For the rest of this section, we assume that S is a semiring over X, \mathcal{R} the ring generated by S and \mathbb{D} the common δ -ring generated by S and \mathcal{R} . Suppose \mathcal{A} is a family of subsets of X. The intersection \mathcal{B} of all σ -algebra containing \mathcal{A} is called the σ -algebra generated by \mathcal{A} . Clearly \mathcal{B} is the smallest σ -algebra containing \mathcal{A} .

19-1.9. **Exercise** Prove that the σ -algebras generated by S, \mathcal{R} , \mathbb{D} are identical.

19-1.10. <u>Theorem</u> If X is covered by a sequence of decent sets, then the family $\mathbb{I}M$ of all measurable sets is the σ -algebra generated by the δ -ring \mathbb{D} and hence by S. Consequently the measurable sets of \mathbb{R} are generated by semi-intervals and of \mathbb{R}^2 by semi-rectangles.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $X = \bigcup_n A_n$ where $A_n \in \mathbb{D}$ and let $\mathbb{I}\mathbb{N}$ be the σ -algebra generated by \mathbb{D} . Since $\mathbb{I}\mathbb{N}$ is the smallest, it follows that $\mathbb{I}\mathbb{N} \subset \mathbb{I}\mathbb{M}$. Conversely take any $Q \in \mathbb{I}\mathbb{M}$. Then $Q \cap A_n \in \mathbb{D} \subset \mathbb{I}\mathbb{N}$. Since $\mathbb{I}\mathbb{N}$ is a σ -algebra, we have $Q = \bigcup_n (Q \cap A_n) \in \mathbb{I}\mathbb{N}$. Thus $\mathbb{I}\mathbb{M} \subset \mathbb{I}\mathbb{N}$. Therefore $\mathbb{I}\mathbb{M}$ is generated by $\mathbb{I}\mathbb{D}$. It follows that $\mathbb{I}\mathbb{M}$ is also generated by S. The last statement follows from the fact that $\mathbb{I}\mathbb{R}$ can be covered by (-n, n] and \mathbb{R}^2 by $(-n, n]^2$ for $n = 1, 2, 3, \dots$

19-1.11. <u>Theorem</u> Consider the real line \mathbb{R} . The family \mathbb{M} of all measurable sets is the σ -algebra generated by any one of the following families of sets:

(a) the semi-intervals (a, b] for a < b;

- (b) the open intervals (a, b) for a < b;
- (c) the upper open rays (a, ∞) for $a \in \mathbb{R}$;
- (d) the lower closed rays $(-\infty, a]$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$;
- (e) the lower open rays $(-\infty, a)$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$;

(f) the upper closed rays $[a, \infty)$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$;

(g) the open sets of \mathbb{R} .

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\mathbb{M}(a)$, $\mathbb{M}(b)$, \cdots be σ -algebras generated by sets of (a), (b), \cdots respectively. It follows from last theorem that $\mathbb{M} = \mathbb{M}(a)$. For any a < b we have $(a, b) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (a, b_n]$ where $a < b_n \uparrow b$. Hence $\mathbb{M}(a)$ is a σ -algebra containing all (a, b). Since $\mathbb{M}(b)$ is the smallest, we get $\mathbb{M}(b) \subset \mathbb{M}(a)$. Similarly $(a, \infty) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (a, a + n)$ gives $\mathbb{M}(c) \subset \mathbb{M}(b)$. Next, $\mathbb{R} \setminus (a, \infty) = (-\infty, a]$ gives $\mathbb{M}(d) \subset \mathbb{M}(c)$. Now it is easy to prove $\mathbb{M}(f) \subset \mathbb{M}(e) \subset \mathbb{M}(d)$. Next for all a < b, we have $(a, b] = \left\{ \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[a + \frac{1}{n}, \infty \right] \right\} \cap \left\{ \mathbb{R} \setminus \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[b + \frac{1}{n}, \infty \right] \right\}$ establishes $\mathbb{M}(a) \subset \mathbb{M}(f)$. We have proved $\mathbb{M} = \mathbb{M}(a) = \mathbb{M}(b) = \cdots = \mathbb{M}(f)$. Since every open interval is an open set we have $\mathbb{M}(b) \subset \mathbb{M}(g)$. Finally given any open set A, there is a sequence of bounded open intervals B_i such that $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i$. Hence $\mathbb{M}(g) \subset \mathbb{M}(b)$. This proves $\mathbb{M}(b) = \mathbb{M}(g)$.

19-1.12. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every semi-rectangle in \mathbb{R}^2 is a countable intersection of open sets. Show that every non-empty open set in \mathbb{R}^2 is a countable union of semi-rectangles. Deduce that the family of all measurable sets in \mathbb{R}^2 are generated by the open sets.

19-1.13. Subsets of \mathbb{R}^n in the σ -algebra generated by open sets are usually called *Borel sets* by the community. Our decent sets are bounded Borel sets. Clearly every Borel set in \mathbb{R} is Lebesgue measurable. Borel sets are independent of any measure but Lebesgue measurable sets depend on the Lebesgue measure.

19-2 Measurable Functions

19-2.1. Lemma Let X, Y be δ -spaces; $f : X \to Y$ a map and $\mathbb{I}(X), \mathbb{I}(Y)$ the families of measurable subsets of X, Y respectively. Suppose that $\mathbb{I}(Y)$ is generated by a subfamily \mathcal{K} . If $f^{-1}(A) \in \mathbb{I}(X)$ for each $A \in \mathcal{K}$, then $f^{-1}(B) \in \mathbb{I}(X)$ for each $B \in \mathbb{I}(Y)$

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose that $\mathbb{F} = \{B \subset Y : f^{-1}(B) \in \mathbb{M}(X)\}$. It is given that $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{F}$. Since taking inverse images preserves complements and unions, \mathbb{F} is a σ -algebra over Y. Because $\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{K})$ is generated by \mathcal{K} we have $\mathbb{M}(Y) \subset \mathbb{F}$. This completes the proof.

19-2.2. Let X be a δ -space. A function $f: X \to \mathbb{K}$ is said to be *measurable* if the inverse image of every measurable set is measurable. It is important to

note that we use the Borel sets in \mathbb{K} rather than the larger class of Lebesgue measurable sets. Observe that in this book the target spaces are restricted to \mathbb{K} or Banach spaces only.

19-2.3. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let f be a real function on a δ -space X. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) f is measurable.

- (b) $f^{-1}(a, \infty) = \{x \in X : f(x) > a\}$ is measurable for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (c) $f^{-1}(-\infty, a] = \{x \in X : f(x) \le a\}$ is measurable for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (d) $f^{-1}(-\infty, a) = \{x \in X : f(x) < a\}$ is measurable for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (e) $f^{-1}[a,\infty) = \{x \in X : f(x) \ge a\}$ is measurable for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (f) The inverse image $f^{-1}(A)$ of every open set A in \mathbb{R} is measurable.

19-2.4. <u>Corollary</u> Let f, g be real functions on a δ -space X. If both f, g are measurable then the following sets $A = \{x \in X : f(x) < g(x) + a\}, B = \{x \in X : f(x) \ge g(x) + a\}, C = \{x \in X : f(x) = g(x) + a\}$ and $D = \{x \in X : f(x) \ne g(x) + a\}$ are all measurable for every $a \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. Let \mathbb{Q} denote the countable set of all rational numbers. Since

$$A = \bigcup_{r \in \mathbb{Q}} \{ f^{-1}(-\infty, r) \cap g^{-1}(r-a, \infty) \}$$

is a countable union of intersections of two measurable sets, it is measurable. Thus $B = X \setminus A$ is also measurable. Next, the set

$$C = \{x \in X : f(x) \ge g(x) + a\} \cap \{x \in X : g(x) \ge f(x) - a\}$$

is measurable. Finally $D = X \setminus C$ is measurable.

19-2.5. <u>Theorem</u> A function $f: X \to \mathbb{K}$ is measurable iff the inverse image $f^{-1}(A)$ of every open subset A of \mathbb{K} is measurable.

Proof. The measurable sets in \mathbb{K} are generated by open sets. \Box

19-2.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let \mathbb{K}_i denote \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C} . If $f: X \to \mathbb{K}_1$ is a measurable function and if $\varphi : \mathbb{K}_1 \to \mathbb{K}_2$ is a continuous function, then the composite function φf is a measurable function on X.

<u>Proof.</u> Let A be an open set in \mathbb{K}_2 . Since φ is continuous, $\varphi^{-1}(A)$ is open in \mathbb{K}_1 . Since f is measurable, $f^{-1}\varphi^{-1}(A)$ is measurable. Hence $(\varphi f)^{-1}(A)$ is measurable for every open subset A of \mathbb{K}_2 . Consequently φf is measurable. \Box

19-2.7. <u>Corollary</u> If $f: X \to \mathbb{K}$ is measurable then $|f|^p$ is measurable for every p > 0.

<u>*Proof.*</u> The function $\varphi(t) = |t|^p : \mathbb{K} \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous. The result follows immediately from last theorem.

19-2.8. <u>Theorem</u> A complex function $f: X \to \mathbb{C}$ is measurable iff both real and imaginary parts are measurable real functions.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $\varphi(z) = \operatorname{Re} z : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function, $\operatorname{Re} f = \varphi f$ is measurable. Similarly Im f is also measurable. Conversely assume both $\operatorname{Re} f$ and $\operatorname{Im} f$ are measurable *real* functions. Let $A = (a, b] \times (c, d]$ be a semi-rectangle of \mathbb{C} where a < b and c < d. Then the set

$$f^{-1}(A) = \{x \in X : a < \operatorname{Re} f(x) \le b, \ c < \operatorname{Im} f(x) \le d\}$$
$$= (\operatorname{Re} f)^{-1}(a, b] \cap (\operatorname{Im} f)^{-1}(c, d]$$

is a measurable subset of X. Since the measurable sets of \mathbb{C} are generated by the semi-rectangles, f is a measurable complex function.

19-2.9. <u>Theorem</u> Linear combinations of measurable functions are measurable.

Proof. Let f, g be real measurable functions on a δ -space X and let k be a real number. If k = 0 then the constant function kf is measurable. If k > 0 then for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$, the set $\{x \in X : kf(x) < a\} = \{x \in X : f(x) < a/k\}$ is measurable and if k < 0 then $\{x \in X : kf(x) < a\} = \{x \in X : f(x) > a/k\}$ is again measurable. Therefore kf is measurable. Finally for each $a \in \mathbb{R}$, the set $\{x \in X : f(x) + g(x) < a\} = \{x \in X : f(x) < -g(x) + a\}$ is measurable. Consequently f + g is measurable. The complex case is reduced to the real case by last theorem and the use of an explicit formula to express the complex linear combination in terms of the real and imaginary parts.

19-2.10. <u>**Theorem</u>** The product $f \cdot g$ of two measurable functions $f, g: X \to \mathbb{K}$ is measurable.</u>

<u>Proof.</u> For real case, $f \cdot g = \frac{1}{4}(|f + g|^2 - |f - g|^2)$ is measurable. For complex case, $f \cdot g = (\text{Re } f)(\text{Re } g) - (\text{Im } f)(\text{Im } g) + i(\text{Re } f)(\text{Im } g) + i(\text{Im } f)(\text{Re } g)$ is measurable by reduction to real case.

19-2.11. Exercise Prove that every continuous function on K is measurable.

19-2.12. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the function $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $g(x) = \sin \frac{1}{x}$ for $x \neq 0$ and g(0) = 0 is measurable.

19-3 Limits of Measurable Functions

19-3.1. Given a sequence of real functions $f_n : X \to \mathbb{R}$, their supremum sup f_n may take ∞ as values. For this reason, we have to consider the extended real line $[-\infty, \infty]$. In this section, we shall prove that measurable functions are closed under limiting process.

19-3.2. It is easy to prove that the family of all semi-intervals of \mathbb{R} together with two singletons $\{\infty\}$, $\{-\infty\}$ and the empty set forms a semiring over $[-\infty,\infty]$. For convenience, we also call this the *semiring of semi-intervals*. It follows that the measurable sets of $[-\infty,\infty]$ are members of the σ -algebra generated by semi-intervals and two singletons $\{\infty\}$, $\{-\infty\}$. Since $\{\infty\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} (n,\infty]$, $\{-\infty\} = [-\infty,\infty] \setminus \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (-n,\infty]$, and $(a,b] = \{[-\infty,\infty] \setminus (b,\infty]\} \cap (a,\infty]$, the measurable sets of $[-\infty,\infty]$ are generated by the sets $(a,\infty]$ for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and similarly also by sets $[\infty,b)$ for all $b \in \mathbb{R}$. Given a subset M of \mathbb{R} , it follows that M is measurable in \mathbb{R} iff it is measurable in $[-\infty,\infty]$.

19-3.3. Let X be a δ -space and $f : X \to [-\infty, \infty]$ be an extended function. Now f is measurable iff $\{x \in X : f(x) > a\}$ is measurable for every $a \in \mathbb{R}$. Consequently, §19-2.4 also holds for measurable extended functions. Measurable extended positive (≥ 0) functions are also called *upper* functions. By a measurable function, we always mean a real or complex function without taking $\pm \infty$ as its value.

19-3.4. **Exercise** Prove that for any upper function f and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, the sets $A = \{x \in X : f(x) > \alpha\}, B = \{x \in X : f(x) \ge \alpha\}$ and $C = \{x \in X : f(x) = \infty\}$ are measurable.

19-3.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let f be the extended function on \mathbb{R} given by $f(x) = \infty$ if x is irrational and f(x) = x if x is rational. Show that f is an upper function.

19-3.6. Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence of extended real numbers in $[-\infty, \infty]$. Its lower limit is defined by $\liminf_{n \to \infty} x_n = \sup_{k \ge 1} \inf_{n \ge k} x_n$. Similarly its upper limit is defined by $\limsup_{n \to \infty} x_n = \inf_{k \ge 1} \sup_{n \ge k} x_n$. Clearly both upper and lower limits exist in $[-\infty, \infty]$. Standard properties will be used without specification. See §2-3.3.

19-3.7. For any sequence
$$\{f_n\}$$
 of real functions on X, define
 $(\liminf_{n \to \infty} f_n)(x) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} [f_n(x)]$ and $(\limsup_{n \to \infty} f_n)(x) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} [f_n(x)].$

19-3.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let f_n, f, g be measurable extended functions on a δ -space X. Then the following functions are measurable.

- (a) $\sup f_n$, $\inf f_n$ where n runs over a countable index set I.
- (b) $\liminf f_n$, $\limsup f_n$.
- (c) $\lim f_n$ if it exists.
- (d) $f \lor g$, $f \land g$, $f_+ = f \lor 0$ and $f_- = (-f) \lor 0$.

<u>Proof</u>. As a countable union of measurable sets, for every $a \in \mathbb{R}$ the set $\{x \in X : \sup f_n(x) > a\} = \bigcup_n \{x \in X : f_n(x) > a\}$ is measurable. Hence $\sup f_n$ is measurable. Similarly, $\inf f_n$ is measurable. Repeated application of these results to $\sup_{k\geq 1} \inf_{n\geq k} f_n$ shows that $\liminf f_n$ is measurable. Similarly the function $\limsup f_n$ is measurable. If $\lim f_n$ exists then $\lim f_n = \liminf f_n$ is measurable. Both $f \lor g$, $f \land g$ are measurable when the index set I in (a) consists of two elements. The last result follows from the fact that the zero function is measurable.

19-3.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the derivative of a function $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ differentiable everywhere is measurable.

19-3.10. **Exercise** Let $f_n : \mathbb{R} \to [-\infty, \infty]$ be a sequence of extended functions and let M be the set of $x \in \mathbb{R}$ at which $\lim f_n(x)$ exists and is finite. Prove that M is measurable.

19-4 Approximations by Simple Functions

19-4.1. We started off with a semiring S over a set X. Then we constructed more semirings $\mathcal{R}, \mathbb{D}, \mathbb{M}$. For convenience, a function of the form $f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \rho_{A_i}$, where $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{K}$, is called a *step function* if all A_i are in S or \mathcal{R} , a *decent function* if all A_i are in \mathbb{D} and a *simple function* if all A_i are in \mathbb{M} . Clearly every simple function is measurable. For every function f on X, the sup-norm is defined by $||f|| = \sup\{|f(x)| : x \in X\}$. Other norms usually have a subscript such as $||f||_p$.

19-4.2. <u>Theorem</u> Every positive bounded measurable function is a uniform limit of some increasing sequence of positive simple functions.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $f : X \to [0, \infty)$ be a bounded measurable function. Firstly we claim there is a simple function $0 \le g \le f$ such that $||f - g|| \le \frac{1}{2} ||f||$. In fact, let $\beta = \frac{1}{2} ||f||$ and $A = \{x \in X : f(x) > \beta\}$. Then $g = \beta \rho_A$ is a simple function. Clearly $0 \le g \le f$. If $x \in A$ then $|f(x) - g(x)| = f(x) - \beta \le 2\beta - \beta = \beta$ and if

 $x \notin A$ then $|f(x) - g(x)| = f(x) \le \beta$. Therefore $||f - g|| \le \beta = \frac{1}{2}||f||$. Now we apply this machine to prove the theorem. There is a simple function g_1 such that $0 \le g_1 \le f$ and $||f - g_1|| \le \frac{1}{2}||f||$. By induction there is a simple function g_n such that $0 \le g_n \le f - (g_1 + g_2 + \dots + g_{n-1})$ and

$$\|f - (g_1 + g_2 + \dots + g_n)\| \le \frac{1}{2} \|f - (g_1 + g_2 + \dots + g_{n-1})\| \le \frac{1}{2^n} \|f\|.$$

Then $f_n = g_1 + g_2 + \dots + g_n$ is a simple function such that $0 \le f_n \uparrow f$ and $||f - f_n|| \le \frac{1}{2^n} ||f||$.

19-4.3. **Theorem** Every upper function is a pointwise limit of some increasing sequence of positive simple function.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $f: X \to [0, \infty]$ be a measurable function. For each $n \ge 1$, let $\overline{g_n} = f \land n$. Then g_n is bounded measurable and $0 \le g_n \uparrow f$. There is a simple function h_n such that $0 \le h_n \le g_n$ and $||g_n - h_n|| \le \frac{1}{n}$. Now for each $x \in X$, if $f(x) < \infty$, then $|h_n(x) - f(x)| = |h_n(x) - g_n(x)| \le \frac{1}{n}$ for all n > f(x) otherwise $h_n(x) \ge g_n(x) - \frac{1}{n} \ge n - 1$. Therefore $h_n \to f$ pointwise and $h_n \le g_n \le f$. Define $f_n = h_1 \lor h_2 \lor \cdots \lor h_n$. Then f_n are positive simple functions satisfying $0 \le f_n \uparrow f$.

19-4.4. <u>**Theorem**</u> For every measurable function f, there is a sequence of simple functions f_n such that $|f_n| \leq |f_{n+1}| \leq |f|$ and $f_n \to f$ on X as $n \to \infty$. Furthermore if f is bounded then we may assume uniform convergence on X. Finally, if f is real, then all f_n can be chosen as real.

<u>Proof.</u> Assume f to be real. There are simple functions $0 \leq g_n \uparrow f_+$, $0 \leq h_n \uparrow f_-$. Then all $f_n = g_n - h_n$ are simple functions. Clearly $f_n \to f$ on X. Now $|f_n| = g_n + h_n \leq f_+ + f_- = |f|$. Similarly $|f_n| \leq |f_{n+1}|$. Next, for complex function f, apply the above result to both Re f and Im f respectively and then assemble them together. The case of bounded function is left as an exercise.

19-4.5. <u>Corollary</u> For every extended real measurable function f, there is a sequence of real simple functions f_n such that $|f_n| \leq |f_{n+1}| \leq |f|$ and $f_n \to f$ pointwise on X as $n \to \infty$.

19-4.6. <u>Exercise</u> Let f be a real function given by $f(x) = x + i(2-|x|), \forall x \in \mathbb{R}$. Construct explicitly a sequence of simple functions f_n on \mathbb{R} such that $f_n \to f$ pointwise and $|f_n| \leq |f_{n+1}| \leq |f|$ for all n.

19-5 Measurable Maps

19-5.1. It is tempting to define a vector map to be measurable if it can be approximated by a sequence of simple maps as motivated by 19-4.4, 3.8. This is inappropriate because in general it excludes continuous maps on locally compact spaces. Let (X, \mathbb{D}) be a δ -space, M a measurable subset of X, F a Banach space and $f: X \to F$ a map. A map $f: X \to F$ is simply approximable on M if there is a sequence of simple maps convergent pointwise to f on M. The proofs in this section can be simplified slightly with the assumption M = X without loss of generality although M is normally a decent set in applications.

19-5.2. **Lemma** If f is simply approximable on M, then f(M) is separable. <u>Proof</u>. Let $f_n : X \to F$ be simple maps with $f_n \to f$ on M. Since $f_n(M)$ is a finite set, the set $K = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n(M)$ is countable and its closure \overline{K} is separable. Therefore the subset f(M) of \overline{K} is separable.

19-5.3. **Example** The Banach space $F = \ell_{\infty}$ is not separable. With discrete metric, $X = \ell_{\infty}$ is a locally compact space and the identity map $f : X \to F$ is continuous. No matter what δ -ring \mathbb{D} is assigned to X, the set f(X) is not separable. Consequently, it cannot be approximated by sequences of simple maps but we want continuous maps to be measurable. See §27-1.4.

19-5.4. **Theorem** Let f(M) be separable in F. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) f is simply approximable on M.

(b) $M \cap f^{-1}(B)$ is measurable for every open ball B in F.

(c) $M \cap f^{-1}(W)$ is measurable for every open set W in F.

(d) $M \cap f^{-1}(\overline{\mathbb{B}})$ is measurable for every *closed ball* $\overline{\mathbb{B}}$ in F.

(e) $M \cap f^{-1}(K)$ is measurable for every *closed set* K in F.

<u>Proof</u>. We shall prove two loops: $(c \Rightarrow b \Rightarrow a \Rightarrow c)$ and $(c \Rightarrow d \Rightarrow e \Rightarrow c)$. $(c \Rightarrow b)$ It is trivial because open balls are open sets.

 $(b \Rightarrow a)$ For the open ball $B_{nk} = \{\alpha \in F : \|\alpha - a_k\| < 1/n\}$, the set $A_{nk} = M \cap f^{-1}(B_{nk})$ is measurable. Let $D_{n1} = A_{n1}$ and $D_{nk} = A_{nk} \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{k-1} A_{nj}$. Then all D_{nk} are measurable. Since f(M) is separable, there is a countable dense subset $\{a_n\}$ of f(M). The maps $f_n = \sum_{j=1}^n a_j \rho_{D_{nj}}$ are simple with $f_n(X \setminus M) = 0$. To show $f_n \to f$ on M, take any $x \in M$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Choose $m \ge 1/\varepsilon$ and pick any $n \ge m$. Since $\{a_n\}$ is dense in f(M), we have $\|f(x) - a_k\| < 1/n$ for some k. Select the smallest index k so that

 $||f(x) - a_j|| \ge 1/n \text{ for all } j < k. \text{ Thus } x \in A_{nk} \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{k-1} A_{nj} = D_{nk}, \text{ or } f_n(x) = a_k.$ Therefore $||f(x) - f_n(x)|| < 1/n \le 1/m \le \varepsilon.$

 $(a \Rightarrow c)$ The distance function $\varphi(e) = d(\alpha, F \setminus W)$ is continuous in $\alpha \in F$. The set $V_m = \varphi^{-1}(\frac{1}{m}, \infty)$ is open in F. Since $F \setminus W$ is closed, $W = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} V_m$. Also $\overline{V}_m \subset \varphi^{-1}[\frac{1}{m}, \infty) \subset V_{m+1} \subset W$. Choose simple maps $f_n \to f$ on M. Let $Q = \bigcup_{m,n=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{j \ge n} f_j^{-1}(V_m)$. We claim $M \cap f^{-1}(W) = M \cap Q$. In fact, take any $x \in M \cap f^{-1}(W)$. Then $x \in \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} f^{-1}(V_m)$. Hence $\exists m, f(x) \in V_m$. Since $f_j(x) \to f(x); \exists n, \forall j \ge n, f_j(x) \in V_m$; that is $x \in Q$. On the other hand, let $x \in M \cap Q$. Then $\exists m, n, \forall j \ge n, f_j(x) \in V_m$; hence $f(x) \in \overline{V}_m \subset W$; that is $x \in f^{-1}(W)$. This establishes what we claim. Since each f_j is a simple map, all $f_j^{-1}(V_m)$ are measurable. Consequently, the set

$$M \cap f^{-1}(W) = \bigcup_{m,n=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{j \ge n} M \cap f_j^{-1}(V_m)$$

is also measurable.

 $(e \Rightarrow c) \text{ It follows from } M \cap f^{-1}(W) = M \setminus [M \cap f^{-1}(F \setminus W)].$ (c \Rightarrow d) It follows from $M \cap f^{-1}(\overline{\mathbb{B}}) = M \setminus [M \cap f^{-1}(F \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}})].$

 $(d \Rightarrow e)$ Take any closed set K in F. Then the subset $\overline{f(M)} \cap K$ of the separable set $\overline{f(M)}$ is separable. Hence there is a countable set D which is dense in the closed set $\overline{f(M)} \cap K$. From §1-5.15, it follows $f^{-1}(K) = f^{-1}(\overline{f(M)} \cap K) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{x \in D} f^{-1}[\overline{\mathbb{B}}(x, 1/n)]$. Since inverses of closed balls are measurable, then the inverse $f^{-1}(K)$ is also measurable.

19-5.5. A map $f: X \to F$ is measurable or strongly measurable if f is simply approximable on every decent set. Clearly the set of all measurable maps forms a vector space under the pointwise operations.

19-5.6. **Exercise** Let E, F, FE be Banach spaces with a continuous bilinear map $F \times E \to FE$. Prove that if $f: X \to F$ and $g: X \to E$ are measurable maps, then the product $fg: X \to FE$ is also measurable.

19-5.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f: X \to F$ be a map such that f(A) is separable for every decent set A. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) f is a measurable map.

(b) f is simply approximable on X.

(c) Inverse images of open sets (respectively open balls, closed sets, closed balls) are measurable.

Since \mathbb{K} is separable, the new definition of measurable maps by (a) agrees with the old definition of measurable functions by (b), (c).
<u>Proof</u>. To prove $(a \Rightarrow c)$, let W be an open subset of F and A a decent subset of X. Then the subset f(A) of the separable set f(X) is separable. Since f is a measurable map, it is simply approximable on A. Thus $A \cap f^{-1}(W)$ is measurable. Because A is arbitrary, $f^{-1}(W)$ is measurable. It is an exercise to prove $(c \Rightarrow b \Rightarrow a)$.

19-5.8. <u>Corollary</u> The variation $|f|: X \to \mathbb{R}$ of a measurable map $f: X \to F$ is measurable.

19-5.9. <u>Exercise</u> Show that f is simply approximable on M iff $f\rho_M$ is simply approximable on X.

19-5.10. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f : X \to F$ be a map such that f(X) is relatively compact. Prove that if the inverses of open balls are measurable, then f is measurable.

19-5.11. <u>Exercise</u> Let S be a semiring over a set X and \mathbb{D} the δ -ring generated by S. Show that if f is simply approximable on every set in S, then f is measurable.

19-6 More Properties

19-6.1. In this section, we develop some properties of measurable maps such as monotone approximation required by integration and weak measurability to ensure Radon-Nikodym property for duality theory. Let (X, \mathbb{D}) be a δ -space, M a measurable subset of X, F a Banach space and $f: X \to F$ a map.

19-6.2. **Example** For every measurable map $f: X \to F$, the map given by $\operatorname{sgn}[f(x)] = 0$ if f(x) = 0, and $\operatorname{sgn}[f(x)] = \frac{f(x)}{\|f(x)\|}$ otherwise, is measurable. $\frac{\operatorname{Proof}}{h_n = \frac{g_n}{(1/n) + |g_n|}}$ are simple maps convergent to $\operatorname{sgn}(f)\rho_A$. \Box

19-6.3. Lemma If f is simply approximable on a measurable set M, then there are simple maps f_n such that $|f_n| \uparrow |f\rho_M|$ and $f_n \to f\rho_M$ pointwise.

<u>Proof.</u> Choose simple functions $0 \leq s_n \uparrow |f\rho_M|$ and simple maps $g_n \to f\rho_M$. Select any $\alpha \in F$ with $||\alpha|| = 1$. Since the sets $N = \{x \in X : f(x) \neq 0\}$ and $B_n = \{x \in X : g_n(x) \neq 0\}$ are measurable, $h_n = \operatorname{sgn}(g_n)\rho_{N\cap B_n} + \alpha\rho_{N\setminus B_n}$ is simple with $|h_n| = \rho_N$. Thus $f_n = s_nh_n$ are simple maps with $|f_n| \uparrow |f\rho_M|$. If $x \notin N$, then $0 \leq s_n(x) \leq |f\rho_M|(x) = 0$ and hence $f_n(x) \to f(x)\rho_M(x)$. Suppose $x \in N$. There is k, for all $n \ge k$, $g_n(x) \ne 0$, i.e. $x \in N \cap B_n$. Therefore we have $f_n(x) = s_n(x)h_n(x) = s_n(x) \frac{g_n(x)}{\|g_n(x)\|} \to f(x)\rho_M(x)$.

19-6.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let $g_n : X \to F$ be a sequence of simple maps. If $g_n \to f$ uniformly on a measurable set M, then f(M) is relatively compact.

<u>Proof.</u> For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an integer n such that $||f(x) - g_n(x)|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in M$. Write $g_n = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in F$ and $\{A_j\}$ are disjoint measurable sets in X. Let $\alpha_0 = 0$. If $x \in M \cap A_j$, then $||f(x) - \alpha_j|| = ||f(x) - g_n(x)|| < \varepsilon$. If $x \in M \setminus A_j$ for all j, then $||f(x) - \alpha_0|| = 0 < \varepsilon$. Hence $f(M) \subset \bigcup_{j=0}^k \mathbb{B}(\alpha_j, \varepsilon)$. Therefore f(M) is precompact in the Banach space F. Consequently, f(M) is relatively compact.

19-6.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f: X \to F$ be a measurable map. If f(M) is relatively compact, then there is a sequence of simple maps g_n such that $|g_n| \uparrow |f|$ on M and $g_n \to f$ uniformly on M.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $g_1 = \alpha \rho_M$ where $\alpha = 0 \in F$. Inductively, suppose that $g_{n-1} = \sum_{k=1}^m \alpha_k \rho_{A_k}$ is a simple map so that $||f(x) - g_{n-1}(x)|| \le t/2^{n-1}$ for all $x \in M$ where A_1, \dots, A_m are disjoint measurable sets with $M = \bigcup_{k=1}^m A_k$; all $\alpha_k \in F$ with $||\alpha_k|| \le \inf ||f(A_k)||$ and $t = \sup ||f(M)||$. By compactness, write $\overline{f(A_k)} \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^p \mathbb{B}(a_j, t/2^{n+1})$. The sets $B_j = A_k \cap f^{-1}[\mathbb{B}(a_j, t/2^{n+1})]$ are measurable. Let $D_1 = B_1$ and $D_j = B_j \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{j-1} B_i$. Then D_1, \dots, D_p are disjoint measurable sets satisfying $A_k = \bigcup_{j=1}^p B_j = \bigcup_{j=1}^p D_j$. If $\overline{f(D_j)} \cap \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_j, t/2^{n+1})$ is not empty, choose β_j in the compact set $\overline{f(D_j)} \cap \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_j, t/2^{n+1})$ with minimum norm; otherwise let $\beta_j = \alpha_k$. Then $\varphi_k(x) = \sum_{j=1}^p \beta_j \rho_{D_j}$ and $g_n = \sum_{k=1}^m \varphi_k$ are simple maps. Take any $x \in A_k$. We have $x \in D_i \subset B_i$ for some *i*. Thus $f(x) \in f(D_i) \cap \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_i, t/2^{n+1})$. Hence we obtain $\beta_i \in \overline{\mathbb{B}}(a_i, t/2^{n+1})$, or $||f(x) - \varphi_k(x)|| = ||f(x) - \beta_i|| \le t/2^n$. From $||\alpha_k|| \le \inf ||f(A_k)||$, we have $||g_{n-1}(x)|| = ||\alpha_k|| \le ||\beta_i|| = ||\varphi_k(x)|| = ||g_n(x)||$. Clearly the sequence $\{g_n\}$ fulfils all the requirements.

19-6.6. Next lemma links up strong measurability with weak and weak-star measurability respectively. It will be used again at the end of Chapter 25.

19-6.7. **Lemma** A map $f: X \to F$ is measurable if the image of every decent set is separable and there is a subset W of the closed unit ball B of F' such that $||e|| = \sup_{u \in W} |u(e)|$ for all $e \in F$ and that the function $uf: X \to \mathbb{K}$ is measurable for all $u \in W$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $g = f - \alpha : X \to H$ be the translate of f by any $\alpha \in H$. We claim that |g| is a measurable function. Indeed, it suffices to show that for each decent set A, the function $|g|\rho_A$ is measurable; or for every $r \in \mathbb{R}$, the set $P = \{x \in A : ||g(x)|| \leq r\}$ is measurable. Since $g(A) = f(A) - \alpha$ is separable, the closed vector subspace H generated by g(A) is also separable. Let $\{a_n\}$ be a countable dense subset of H. For each n, the subset Wa_n of \mathbb{K} is separable. There is a countable subset V_n of W such that $V_n a_n$ is dense in Wa_n . Now $V = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} V_n$ is a countable subset of W. Since $v_n \in B$, clearly $P \subset \bigcap_{n \geq 1} Q_n$ where $Q_n = \{x \in A : |v_n g(x)| \leq r\}$. Next, suppose $x \in \bigcap_{n \geq 1} Q_n$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $u \in W$ such that $||g(x)|| \leq |ug(x)| + \varepsilon$. Choose n such that $||g(x) - a_n|| \leq \varepsilon$. Select $v_n \in V_n$ such that $|u(a_n) - v_n(a_n)| \leq \varepsilon$. So we get

$$|ug(x) - v_n g(x)| \le |ug(x) - u(a_n)| + |u(a_n) - v_n(a_n)| + |v_n(a_n) - v_n g(x)|$$

 $\leq \|u\| \|g(x) - a_n\| + |u(a_n) - v_n(a_n)| + \|v_n\| \|g(x) - a_n\| \leq 3\varepsilon.$ Hence $\|g(x)\| \leq |v_ng(x)| + 4\varepsilon \leq r + 4\varepsilon.$ Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\|g(x)\| \leq r$, that is $x \in P$. Therefore $P = \bigcap_{n \geq 1} Q_n$. Because all functions $v_ng = v_nf - v_n\alpha$ are measurable, all sets Q_n are also measurable and so is P. This proves that $|g|\rho_A$ is measurable. For the closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}} = \{e \in H : \|e - \alpha\| \leq r\}$ in H, the set $A \cap f^{-1}(\overline{\mathbb{B}}) = (|g|\rho_A)^{-1}[0,r]$ is measurable. Therefore, f can be approximated by simple maps on A into H, and hence also into F. Consequently f is simply approximable on every decent set A, i.e. strongly measurable. \Box

19-6.8. **Theorem** A map $f: X \to F$ is a measurable if the image of every decent set is separable and if f is *weakly measurable* i.e. for every $v \in F'$, the function vf is measurable.

Proof. Apply last lemma when W = B is the closed unit ball of F'. \Box

19-6.9. <u>**Theorem</u>** A map $f: X \to F'$ is a measurable if the image of every decent set is separable and if f is *weak-star measurable* i.e. for every $e \in F$, the function $x \to f(x)e$ is measurable.</u>

<u>Proof</u>. Let $W = \{J(x) : x \in F, ||x|| \le 1\}$ where $J : F \to F''$ is the natural embedding. The result follows immediately from last lemma.

19-6.10. **Exercise** Let $f: X \to F$ be a measurable map and T a continuous linear map from F into a Banach space G. Prove that the composite map $Tf: X \to G$ is measurable.

19-6.11. <u>**Theorem**</u> A sequential limit f of measurable maps $g_n : X \to F$ is measurable.

<u>Proof.</u> Let A be any decent set. Then $g_n(A)$ is separable. Let D_n be a countable dense subset of $g_n(A)$. Then the set $D = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n$ is countable. Let k > 0 and $x \in A$. There is n such that $||f(x) - g_n(x)|| \le \frac{1}{2k}$. There is $\alpha_k \in D_n$ with $||g_n(x) - \alpha_k|| \le \frac{1}{2k}$. Hence $||f(x) - \alpha_k|| \le \frac{1}{k}$. Thus $\alpha_k \in D$ and $\alpha_k \to f(x)$. Hence $f(x) \in \overline{D}$. Since $x \in A$ is arbitrary, $f(A) \subset \overline{D}$. Therefore f(A) is separable. Since $g_n(x) \to f(x)$ for every $x \in X$, we have $vg_n(x) \to vf(x)$ for every $v \in F'$. Since vg_n are measurable functions, so is vf. Therefore f is weakly measurable. Consequently f is strongly measurable.

19-99. <u>**References**</u> and <u>Further</u> <u>Readings</u>: Xia, Kuttler, Puglisi, Folland, Dudley-89, Diestel-83 and Tucker.

Chapter 20

Integrals of Upper Functions

20-1 Upper Functions

20-1.1. Throughout this chapter, let μ be a *positive* measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . Unless specified explicitly, let f, f_n, g, g_n be upper functions which are extended positive measurable functions on X into $[0, \infty]$.

20-1.2. The vector space of all decent functions of the form $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ for some $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{K}$ and some $A_j \in \mathbb{D}$ is denoted by \mathcal{F} and their integrals has been defined by $I(f) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \mu A_j$ where \mathbb{D} is considered as a semiring. If $f \leq g$ are real in \mathcal{F} , then $I(f) \leq I(g)$. Furthermore if $f_n \downarrow 0$ in \mathcal{F} , then $I(f_n) \downarrow 0$. It is easy to show that if $f_n \uparrow f$ in \mathcal{F} , then $I(f_n) \uparrow I(f)$. The following modification allows us to extend the integral to simple functions.

20-1.3. Let f be a positive simple function given by $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{H_j}$ where all α_j are positive (≥ 0) and all H_j are measurable. Hence for each $A \in \mathbb{D}$, the function $f\rho_A = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A \cap H_j}$ is a decent function. Define the integral of f by $J(f) = \sup\{I(f\rho_A) : A \in \mathbb{D}\}$.

20-1.4. **Theorem** Let f, f_n, g be positive simple functions.

(a) If f is a positive decent function, then J(f) = I(f).

(b) If $f \leq g$, then $J(f) \leq J(g)$.

(c) If $f_n \uparrow f$, then $J(f_n) \uparrow J(f)$.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) Let $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where $\alpha_j \ge 0$ and $A_j \in \mathbb{D}$. Then $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} A_j$ is in \mathbb{D} . Hence $I(f) = I(f\rho_A) \le J(f)$. Next taking any $B \in \mathbb{D}$, we have $f\rho_B \le f$ and $J(f) = \sup\{I(f\rho_B) : B \in \mathbb{D}\} \le I(f)$.

(b) It follows by taking supremum of $I(f\rho_A) \leq I(g\rho_A)$ when A runs over \mathbb{D} . (c) For each $A \in \mathbb{D}$ we have $0 \leq f_n \rho_A \uparrow f \rho_A$ in \mathcal{F} and hence $I(f_n \rho_A) \uparrow I(f \rho_A)$. The following calculation gives the result:

$$J(f) = \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} I(f\rho_A) = \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} \lim_{n \to \infty} I(f_n \rho_A) = \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} \sup_{n \ge 1} I(f_n \rho_A)$$
$$= \sup_{n \ge 1} \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} I(f_n \rho_A) = \sup_{n \ge 1} J(f_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} J(f_n).$$

20-1.5. **Lemma** Let f, g be upper functions. Suppose that $0 \le f_n \uparrow f$ and $0 \le g_n \uparrow g$ where f_n, g_n are simple functions.

(a) If $f \leq g$, then $\lim J(f_n) \leq \lim J(g_n)$.

(b) If f = g, then $\lim J(f_n) = \lim J(g_n)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $J(f_n)$ is a monotonic sequence in $[0, \infty]$, its limit is well defined by the supremum. Observe that $f_m \wedge g_n$ is a simple function. For $n \to \infty$ in $f_m \wedge g_n \leq g_n$ we have $f_m \wedge g_n \uparrow f_m \wedge g = f_m$. Hence we have $J(f_m) = \lim_{n \to \infty} J(f_m \wedge g_n) \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} J(g_n)$. Now part (a) follows by letting $m \to \infty$. Part (b) is obtained by symmetry.

20-1.6. Let f be an upper function. Choose simple functions f_n with $0 \leq f_n \uparrow f$. The *integral* $\int f d\mu = \lim J(f_n)$ as $n \to \infty$ is well-defined because it is independent of the choice of the sequence $\{f_n\}$. An upper function f is *integrable* if $\int f d\mu < \infty$.

20-1.7. **Theorem** Let f, g be upper functions.

(a) If f is simple, then $\int f d\mu = J(f)$.

(b) If $f \leq g$, then $\int f d\mu \leq \int g d\mu$.

(c) $\int (f+g)d\mu = \int fd\mu + \int gd\mu$.

(d) If $f \leq g$ and if $\int f d\mu < \infty$, then $\int (g - f) d\mu = \int g d\mu - \int f d\mu$.

(e) For every $\alpha \geq 0$, $\int \alpha f d\mu = \alpha \int f d\mu$.

(f)
$$\int f d\mu = \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} \int f \rho_A d\mu$$
.

<u>Proof</u>. We only prove part (c) while the rest are left as exercises. Let f_n, g_n be simple functions satisfying $0 \le f_n \uparrow f$ and $0 \le g_n \uparrow g$. Then $f_n + g_n$ are simple functions satisfying $0 \le (f_n + g_n) \uparrow (f + g)$. For every *n*, observe that

$$J(f_n + g_n) = \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} I[(f_n + g_n)\rho_A] = \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} [I(f_n\rho_A) + I(g_n\rho_A)]$$

$$\leq \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} I(f_n\rho_A) + \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} I(g_n\rho_A) = J(f_n) + J(g_n) \leq \int f d\mu + \int g d\mu$$

Letting $n \to \infty$, we have $\int (f+g)d\mu \leq \int fd\mu + \int gd\mu$. If the left hand side of this inequality is ∞ , then the equality holds. Assume $\int (f+g)d\mu < \infty$. Since

$$\sup_{n} \sup_{A} I(f_n \rho_A) = \int f d\mu \leq \int (f+g) d\mu < \infty,$$

for every $\varepsilon > 0$, we have $\int f d\mu \leq I(f_m \rho_A) + \varepsilon$ for some integer m and $A \in \mathbb{D}$. Similarly $\int g d\mu \leq I(g_n \rho_B) + \varepsilon$ for some integer n and $B \in \mathbb{D}$. Then $D = A \cup B$ is in the ring \mathbb{D} . For $f_m \leq f_k$ and $g_n \leq g_k$ where k = m + n, we get $\int f d\mu + \int g d\mu \leq I(f_k \rho_D) + I(g_k \rho_D) + 2\varepsilon = I[(f_k + g_k)\rho_D] + 2\varepsilon \leq \int (f + g) d\mu + 2\varepsilon$. The result follows by letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$. 20-1.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let f_n be upper functions. If $f_n \uparrow f$, then f is also an upper function with $\int f_n d\mu \uparrow \int f d\mu$. Consequently if $\sup \int f_n d\mu < \infty$, then f is integrable.

<u>Proof</u>. Since f is measurable extended positive function, it is an upper function. For each n, there are positive simple functions $g_{mn} \uparrow f_n$ as $m \to \infty$. Define $h_m = g_{m1} \lor g_{m2} \lor \cdots \lor g_{mm}$. Then $h_m \leq h_{m+1}$ and $g_{mn} \leq h_m \leq f_m$ for all $n \leq m$. For $m \to \infty$, we have $f_n \leq \lim h_m \leq f$. Next letting $n \to \infty$, we get $h_m \uparrow f$. Hence f is an upper function approximated by the simple functions h_m . For all $n \leq m$, we get $\int g_{mn} d\mu \leq \int h_m d\mu \leq \int f_m d\mu$, or $J(g_{mn}) \leq J(h_m) \leq \int f_m d\mu$. As $m \to \infty$, $\int f_n d\mu \leq \int f d\mu \leq \lim \int f_m d\mu$. Finally letting $n \to \infty$ we obtain $\int f d\mu = \lim \int f_n d\mu$.

20-1.9. Corollary
$$\int \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n d\mu = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int f_n d\mu$$
 for all upper functions f_n .
Proof. All $g_n = \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i$ and $g = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} f_i$ are upper functions. Furthermore,

$$\int \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n\right) d\mu = \int g d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n d\mu$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_j\right) d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int f_j d\mu = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int f_j d\mu. \qquad \Box$$

20-1.10. **Exercise** Let $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be given by f(x) = 0 if $x \leq 1$ and $f(x) = \frac{1}{n(n+1)}$ if $n < x \leq n+1$ for each integer $n \geq 1$. Show that f is an upper function and find its Lebesgue integral $\int f d\lambda$.

20-1.11. **Exercise** Let $f, g: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be functions given by f(x) = n, $g(x) = \frac{1}{n+2}$ if $\frac{1}{n+1} < x \leq \frac{1}{n}$ for some integer $n \geq 1$ and f(x) = g(x) = 0 for all other x. Show that f, g are upper functions. Find their Lebesgue integrals $\int f d\lambda$ and $\int g d\lambda$.

20-1.12. **Exercise** Let $f : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty]$ be given by $f(x) = \infty$ for rational x and f(x) = 0 for irrational x. Show that f is an upper function. Find its integral.

20-1.13. **Fatou's Lemma** For all upper functions f_n , we have

$$\int \liminf_{n\to\infty} f_n d\mu \leq \liminf_{n\to\infty} \int f_n d\mu.$$

<u>*Proof*</u>. Clearly, $g_n = \inf\{f_k : k \ge n\}$ are upper functions satisfying $g_n \uparrow \liminf f_n$. Consequently, we have

$$\int \liminf_{n \to \infty} f_n d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n d\mu = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int g_n d\mu \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int f_n d\mu.$$

20-1.14. <u>Exercise</u> Applying Fatou's Lemma to the counting measure on a set of two elements, show that $\liminf \alpha_n + \liminf \beta_n \leq \liminf(\alpha_n + \beta_n)$ for all $\alpha_n, \beta_n \geq 0$. Let $\alpha_n = 1 + (-1)^n$ and $\beta_n = 1 + (-1)^{n+1}$. Show that the equality of Fatou's Lemma may fail.

20-2 Almost Everywhere

20-2.1. Let μ be a *positive* measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . For every measurable set H, the integral $\mu H = \int \rho_H d\mu$ of simple function ρ_H is well-defined although it may be ∞ . It provides an extension of μ from decent sets to all measurable sets. Properties of this extension follow immediately from integrals of upper functions. Note that positive measures are defined on measurable sets while real, complex and later vector measures are defined on decent sets.

20-2.2. **Theorem** Let μ be a *positive* measure and H, K, H_n measurable sets. (a) $\mu H = \sup{\mu A : H \supset A \in \mathbb{D}}$, inner regularity.

- (b) If $H \subset K$, then $\mu H \leq \mu K$.
- (c) If $H_n \uparrow K$, then $\mu H_n \uparrow \mu K$.
- (d) $\mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n) \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu H_n$, countable subadditivity.
- (e) If $\{H_n\}$ are disjoint, then $\mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu H_n$, countable additivity.
- (f) If $\mu H_n < \infty$ for some *n* and if $H_n \downarrow K$, then $\mu H_n \downarrow \mu K$.

20-2.3. **Example** For all measurable sets H, K we have

$$\mu(H \cap K) = \sup\{\mu(A \cap K) : H \supset A \in \mathbb{D}\}\$$
$$= \sup\{\mu(A \cap B) : H \supset A \in \mathbb{D}, K \supset B \in \mathbb{D}\}.$$

Proof. Let $s = \sup\{\mu(A \cap K) : H \supset A \in \mathbb{D}\}$. If $H \supset A \in D$, then we have $A \cap K \subset H \cap K$ and hence $\mu(A \cap K) \leq \mu(H \cap K)$. Since A is arbitrary, we obtain $s \leq \mu(H \cap K)$. If $s = \infty$, then $s = \mu(H \cap K)$. Suppose $s < \infty$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose $D \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $D \subset H \cap K$ and $\mu(H \cap K) \leq \nu D + \varepsilon$. Hence $D \subset H$ and $\mu(H \cap K) \leq \mu(D \cap K) + \varepsilon \leq s + \varepsilon$. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we get $\mu(H \cap K) \leq s$. This proves the first formula. The second one is left as an exercise.

20-2.4. <u>Exercise</u> Let $H_n = (n, \infty)$ and $K = \emptyset$ be subsets of the real line. Show that $H_n \downarrow K$ but $\lambda H_n \downarrow \lambda K$ is false where λ denotes the Lebesgue measure.

20-2.5. <u>Example</u> Let $X = \{x, y, z\}$, $A = \{x, y\}$, $B = \{z\}$, $S = \{\emptyset, A\}$ and $\mu \emptyset = 0$, $\mu A = 1$. Obviously μ is a measure on the semiring S. The δ -ring \mathbb{D}

generated by S is S itself. The family of **D**-measurable sets is $\mathbb{M} = \{\emptyset, A, B, X\}$. It is also the family of all μ^* -measurable. Clearly $\mu^*\{x\} = \mu^*\{y\} = \mu^*A = 1$ and $\mu^*B = \infty$ but $\mu B = 0$ by regularity. The function f defined by f(x) = 1 and f(y) = f(z) = -1 is not measurable but |f| is. The functions φ, ξ on \mathbb{M} defined by $\varphi \emptyset = \xi \emptyset = 0$, $\varphi A = \xi A = \xi B = \varphi X = 1$ but $\varphi B = 0$, $\xi X = 2$ are different extensions of μ to measures on \mathbb{M} .

20-2.6. A measurable set N is said to be *null* if $\mu N = 0$. By countable subadditivity, countable unions of null sets are null. Clearly a measurable set N is null iff $\mu(A \cap N) = 0$ for every $A \in \mathbb{D}$.

20-2.7. **Exercise** Prove that every singleton of the real line is a null set with respect to Lebesgue measure. Prove that every countable subset of the real line is a null set but the set of all rational numbers is not a decent set.

20-2.8. <u>Exercise</u> Give an example to show that a subset of a null set need not be measurable and hence not a null set in this book. See §23-4.6 on completion.

20-2.9. A proposition p(x) about each x in X said to be true μ -almost everywhere (briefly μ -ae) if there exists a null set N such that p(x) is true for each $x \in X \setminus N$. Clearly if $\{p_n(x)\}$ is a countable family of propositions which are true μ -ae, then there is a null set N such that all $p_n(x)$ are true for every $x \in X \setminus N$. The following convention will be used: $0\infty = \infty 0 = 0$, $\alpha \infty = \infty \alpha = \infty$ if $\alpha > 0$, and $\alpha \infty = \infty \alpha = -\infty$ if $\alpha < 0$. However, $\infty - \infty$ is not defined.

20-2.10. <u>Exercise</u> Construct two functions f, g on X such that f is measurable, g is not measurable but f = g almost everywhere.

20-2.11. **Theorem** $\int f d\mu = 0$ iff f = 0, μ -ae for every upper function f.

<u>Proof</u>. (\Rightarrow) For each $n \ge 1$, the set $H_n = \{x \in X : f(x) > 1/n\}$ is measurable. Integrating $\rho_{H_n} \le nf$, we have $0 \le \mu H_n = \int \rho_{H_n} d\mu \le n \int f d\mu = 0$. Hence each H_n is a null set. Consequently $N = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$ is also a null set. Since f = 0 on $X \setminus N$, we have f = 0, μ -ae.

(\Leftarrow) Assume f = 0, μ -ae. Then the set $H = \{x \in X : f(x) > 0\}$ is null. All $g_n = n\rho_H$ are simple functions satisfying $0 \le g_n \uparrow g = \infty \rho_H$. Hence g is an upper function. Since $0 \le f \le g$, we have

$$0 \le \int f d\mu \le \int g d\mu = \lim \int g_n d\mu = \lim n\mu H = 0.$$

Consequently, $\int f d\mu = 0$.

20-2.12. **Exercise** Prove that $X \setminus \bigcup \mathbb{D}$ is a null set.

20-2.13. **Exercise** Prove the following statements for upper functions. (a) Let $f \leq g$, μ -ae. Then $\int f d\mu \leq \int g d\mu$. If g is integrable, then so is f. (b) Let f = g, μ -ae. Then $\int f d\mu = \int g d\mu$. If f is integrable, then so is g.

20-2.14. Since f = g, μ -ae is an equivalence relation, for a *specific* measure we are dealing with equivalence classes. For example, suppose that $N = f^{-1}(0)$ is a null set and $g = f + \rho_N$. Then f = g and 1/g is defined everywhere. We interpret 1/f as the equivalence class containing 1/g. See §22-3.4.

20-3 Seeds of the Theory

20-3.1. This section contains the most primitive form of the important results of the whole theory.

20-3.2. Positive Monotone Convergence Theorem Let f_n, f be upper functions. If $f_n \uparrow f$, μ -ae; then $\int f_n d\mu \uparrow \int f d\mu$. Moreover if $\sup \int f_n d\mu < \infty$, then f is integrable.

<u>Proof.</u> Let N be a null set such that $f_n \uparrow f$ on $M = X \setminus N$. Then $f_n \rho_M \uparrow f \rho_M$ everywhere. Also $f = f \rho_M$ and $f_n = f_n \rho_M$, μ -ae. Hence $\int f_n d\mu = \int f_n \rho_M d\mu \uparrow \int f \rho_M d\mu = \int f d\mu$. Furthermore $\sup \int f_n \rho_M d\mu = \sup \int f_n d\mu < \infty$. Hence $f \rho_M$ is integrable. Consequently f is integrable. This type of proofs of reducing μ -ae to everywhere will be skipped starting from next lemma.

20-3.3. **Lemma** Let f_n, g_n, f, g be upper functions. Suppose that for all n, $f_n \leq g_n, f_n \to f$ and $g_n \to g, \mu$ -ae. If $\int g_n d\mu \to \int g d\mu < \infty$, then all f_n, f are integrable and $\int f_n d\mu \to \int f d\mu$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Without loss of generality, we may assume that all given conditions are true pointwise everywhere. Letting $n \to \infty$ in $f_n \leq g_n$, we have $f \leq g$ and hence f is integrable. Since each $g_n - f_n$ is an upper function, Fatou's lemma implies

$$\int \liminf_{n \to \infty} (g_n - f_n) d\mu \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int (g_n - f_n) d\mu \le \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int g_n d\mu + \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int -f_n d\mu,$$

i.e.
$$\int (g - f) d\mu \le \int g d\mu - \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int f_n d\mu.$$

Since $0 \le q$, the formula is the formula of the formula in the set of the formula in the set of the set of the formula in the set of the set o

Since $0 \le g - f \le g$, we have $\int (g - f) d\mu \le \int g d\mu < \infty$. Hence we obtain $\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int f_n d\mu \le \int g d\mu - \int (g - f) d\mu \le \int f d\mu$.

Fatou's lemma applied to
$$\{f_n\}$$
 gives $\int f d\mu = \int \liminf_{n \to \infty} f_n d\mu \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int f_n d\mu$.
Therefore $\int f d\mu = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int f_n d\mu = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int f_n d\mu$.

20-3.4. **Positive Dominated Convergence Theorem** Let f_n, f, g be upper functions such that $f_n \to f$ and $f_n \leq g$, μ -ae for all n. If g is integrable, then all f_n, f are integrable, $\lim_{n \to \infty} \int f_n d\mu = \int f d\mu$ and $\lim_{n \to \infty} \int |f_n - f| d\mu = 0$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Letting all $g_n = g$, we have the first equality. From $0 \le |f_n - f| \le 2g$, μ -ae; we obtain $\int |f_n - f| d\mu \to \int 0 d\mu = 0$.

20-3.5. Let μ be a positive measure on a semiring S over X. The extensions to decent sets and measurable sets successively are also denoted by μ . A measurable set M is said to be *integrable* if $\mu M < \infty$. Since every decent set is covered by a finite union of sets in S, all decent sets are integrable.

20-3.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let M be an integrable set. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a finite disjoint union B of sets in S such that $\mu(M \triangle B) \le \varepsilon$.

Proof. By §20-2.2a, choose $D \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $D \subset N$ and $\mu(M \setminus D) \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. By §18-3.4, there is a finite disjoint union B of sets in S such that $\mu(D \triangle B) \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Then we have $\mu(M \triangle B) = \int |\rho_M - \rho_B| d\mu \leq \int |\rho_M - \rho_D| d\mu + \int |\rho_D - \rho_B| d\mu \leq \mu(M \setminus D) + \mu(D \triangle B) \leq \varepsilon$.

20-3.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let \mathbb{D} be the δ -ring generated by a family \mathcal{K} of subsets of X. Then a measurable set M is null if $\mu(B \cap M) = 0$ for each $B \in \mathcal{K}$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $A \in \mathbb{D}$ be a decent set. There are $B_1, B_2, \dots, B_n \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $\overline{A \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j}$. Hence $0 \le \mu(A \cap M) \le \sum_{j=1}^n \mu(B_j \cap M) = 0$. Therefore M is a null set.

20-4 Sigma Finiteness

20-4.1. Let μ be a *positive* measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . A subset M of X is said to be σ -finite for μ , or μ - σ -finite if there are measurable sets H_n such that $M = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$ and $\mu H_n < \infty$ for all n. A measure μ is σ -finite if X is σ -finite.

20-4.2. <u>Example</u> The Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} is σ -finite but the counting measure on \mathbb{R} is *not*.

20-4.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let f be an integrable upper function. (a) The set $A = \{x \in X : f(x) = \infty\}$ is a null set. As a result, every integrable upper function is finite-valued almost everywhere.

(b) The set $B = \{x \in X : f(x) > 0\}$ is σ -finite.

<u>Proof.</u> Since f is an upper function, ρ_A is a simple function. For each $n \ge 1$, integrating $\rho_A \le (1/n)f$, we have $0 \le \mu A \le \int \rho_A d\mu \le (1/n) \int f d\mu \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ because f is integrable. Therefore $\mu A = 0$ as required. Next since the set $B_n = \{x \in X : f(x) > 1/n\}$ is measurable, integrating $\rho_{B_n} \le nf$ gives $\mu B_n = \int \rho_{B_n} d\mu \le n \int f d\mu < \infty$. Consequently $B = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n$ is σ -finite. \Box

20-4.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that for measurable sets M_n , if $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu M_n < \infty$, then the set of points belonging to infinitely many M_n is null.

20-4.5. **Lemma** If M is a null set and f an upper function, then $\int f\rho_M d\mu = 0$. <u>Proof.</u> Let f_n be simple functions satisfying $0 \leq f_n \uparrow f$. Then we have $0 \leq f_n \rho_M \uparrow f \rho_M$ and all $f_n \rho_M$ are simple functions. Write $f_n = \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \rho_{H_i}$ where $\alpha_i \geq 0$ and all H_i are measurable. Thus

$$0 \leq \int f_n \rho_M d\mu = \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \int \rho_{H_i \cap M} d\mu = \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \mu(H_i \cap M) = 0.$$

Therefore $\int f \rho_M d\mu = \lim \int f_n \rho_M d\mu = 0.$

20-4.6. <u>Theorem</u> For upper functions f, g; if f = g, μ -ae; then $\int f d\mu = \int g d\mu$. <u>Proof</u>. Let N be a null set such that f(x) = g(x) for each $x \in X \setminus N$. Then $f \rho_{X \setminus N} = g \rho_{X \setminus N}$ everywhere. Consequently,

$$\begin{split} \int f d\mu &= \int f \rho_{X \setminus N} d\mu + \int f \rho_N d\mu = \int f \rho_{X \setminus N} d\mu \\ &= \int g \rho_{X \setminus N} d\mu = \int g \rho_{X \setminus N} d\mu + \int g \rho_N d\mu = \int g d\mu. \quad \Box \end{split}$$

20-4.7. <u>Corollary</u> (a) If $f \leq g$, μ -ae; then $\int f d\mu \leq \int g d\mu$. Furthermore if g is integrable, then so is f.

(b) If $f_n \uparrow g$, μ -ae; then $\int f_n d\mu \uparrow \int g d\mu$.

20-4.8. **Lemma** For every σ -finite set H there exist decent sets $A_m \subset A_{m+1}$ and a null set N such that $H = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} A_m \cup N$.

<u>Proof.</u> Firstly assume $\mu H < \infty$. Since $\mu H = \sup\{\mu A : H \supset A \in \mathbb{D}\}$, for each i there is $A_i \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $A_i \subset H$ and $\mu H \leq \mu A_i + 1/i$. Replacing A_i by $A_1 \cup A_2 \cup \cdots \cup A_i$, we may assume $A_i \subset A_{i+1}$. Let $M = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i$ and $N = H \setminus M$. Then $H = M \cup N$. Since $A_i \uparrow M$ we obtain $\mu H - 1/i \leq \mu A_i \uparrow \mu M \leq \mu H$. Letting $i \to \infty$, we have $\mu M = \mu H$. Hence from $\mu H = \mu M + \mu N$, we get $\mu N = 0$. Therefore the lemma is true for a measurable set with finite measure. In general, write $H = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} H_i$ where H_i is measurable satisfying $\mu H_i < \infty$. There exist $A_{ij} \in \mathbb{D}$ and null set N_i such that $H_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_{ij} \cup N_i$. Clearly $A_m = \bigcup_{i,j=1}^m A_{ij}$ and $N = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} N_i$ are the required sets. \Box

20-4.9. **Theorem** For every σ -finite measurable set M, there are *disjoint* decent sets H_1, H_2, \cdots and a μ -null set H_0 such that $M = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} H_n$.

<u>Proof.</u> Write $M = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} A_m \cup N$ where $A_m \subset A_{m+1}$ are decent sets and N a μ -null set. Let $H_1 = A_1$ and $H_n = A_n \setminus A_{n-1}, \forall n > 1$. Define $H_0 = N \setminus \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$. It is easy to verify that these are the required sets. \Box

20-4.10. Lemma For every upper function f and every σ -finite set H, there are decent functions f_n such that $0 \leq f_n \leq f_{n+1} \leq f\rho_H$; $f_n \uparrow f\rho_H$, μ -ae and $\int f_n d\mu \uparrow \int f\rho_H d\mu$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let g_n be simple functions satisfying $0 \le g_n \uparrow f$. There are decent sets A_n and a null set N such that $H = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \cup N$ and $A_n \subset A_{n+1}$. Define $f_n = g_n \rho_{A_n}$. Then it is easy to verify all required conditions.

20-4.11. **Theorem** For every integrable upper function f, there are decent functions f_n such that $0 \le f_n \le f_{n+1} \le f$; $f_n \uparrow f$, μ -ae and $\int f_n d\mu \uparrow \int f d\mu$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Apply last lemma to the σ -finite set $H = \{x \in X : f(x) > 0\}$. \Box

20-4.12. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ be the point measure on the semiring of singletons of \mathbb{R} . Show that \mathbb{R} is σ -finite but it is not a countable union of decent sets. Also show that the constant function f = 1 is an integrable upper function but there is no sequence of decent functions f_n such that $0 \leq f_n \uparrow f$ pointwise.

20-5 Comparison of Two Positive Measures

20-5.1. This section prepares ground to deal with the sum of two measures in later chapters. Let μ, ν be *positive* measures on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) .

20-5.2. **<u>Theorem</u>** Suppose that $\mu \ge \nu \ge 0$.

- (a) For every upper function f, we have $\int f d\mu \geq \int f d\nu$.
- (b) If f is a μ -integrable upper function, then f is also ν -integrable.
- (c) Every μ -null set is ν -null.
- (d) Every μ - σ -finite set is ν - σ -finite.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let f_n be simple functions such that $0 \leq f_n \uparrow f$. Write $\overline{f_n} = \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \rho_{H_i}$ where $\alpha_i \geq 0$ and all H_i are measurable. Then for each

decent set A, we have $\mu(H_i \cap A) \ge \nu(H_i \cap A)$, i.e. $I_{\mu}(f_n \rho_A) \ge I_{\nu}(f_n \rho_A)$, or $J_{\mu}(f_n) \ge J_{\nu}(f_n)$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we have part (a). The others are trivial. \Box

20-5.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ, ν be arbitrary positive measures. Then for every upper function f, we have $\int f d(\mu + \nu) = \int f d\mu + \int f d\nu$. Furthermore f is integrable for both μ and ν iff f is integrable for $\mu + \nu$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let f_n be simple functions such that $0 \leq f_n \uparrow f$. Write $\overline{f_n} = \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \rho_{H_i}$ where $\alpha_i \geq 0$ and all H_i are measurable. Then for each decent set A, we have

$$I_{\mu+\nu}(f_n\rho_A) = \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i(\mu+\nu)(A\cap H_i) = \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i\mu(A\cap H_i) + \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i\nu(A\cap H_i)$$
$$= I_{\mu}(f_n\rho_A) + I_{\nu}(f_n\rho_A) \le \int fd\mu + \int fd\nu.$$

Taking supremum over n and $A \in \mathbb{D}$, we get $\int f d(\mu + \nu) \leq \int f d\mu + \int f d\nu$. If the left hand side is ∞ , then equality holds and the result is proved. Assume $\int f d(\mu + \nu) < \infty$. Since $0 \leq \mu \leq \mu + \nu$, we have $\int f d\mu < \infty$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist an integer m and $A \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $\int f d\mu \leq I_{\mu}(f_m \rho_A) + \varepsilon$. Similarly there exist n and $B \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $\int f d\nu \leq I_{\nu}(f_n \rho_B) + \varepsilon$. Let k = m + n and $D = A \cup B$. Then $D \in \mathbb{D}$ and

$$\int f d\mu + \int f d\nu \leq I_{\mu}(f_m \rho_A) + I_{\nu}(f_n \rho_B) + 2\varepsilon \leq I_{\mu}(f_k \rho_D) + I_{\nu}(f_k \rho_D) + 2\varepsilon$$
$$= I_{\mu+\nu}(f_k \rho_D) + 2\varepsilon \leq \int f d(\mu+\nu) + 2\varepsilon.$$

by the first part of this proof. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have the required equality. Clearly $\int f d(\mu + \nu)$ is finite iff both $\int f d\mu$ and $\int f d\nu$ are finite. This completes the proof.

20-5.4. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ, ν be *positive* measures and H a measurable set. Prove that $(\mu + \nu)(H) = \mu H + \nu H$. Also show that if $\mu \leq \nu$, then $\mu H \leq \nu H$.

20-5.5. <u>Exercise</u> Let S be a semiring over a set X and μ, ν positive measures on S. Their extensions to decent sets are also denoted by μ, ν respectively. Prove that if $\mu A \leq \nu A$ for every $A \in S$, then for every upper function f we have $\int f d\mu \leq \int f d\nu$.

20-5.6. We conclude this chapter with another reason why we prefer to work with δ -rings. Let μ be a vector measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) into a Banach space E. Then μ is said to be *bounded* if $\sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} |\mu|(A) < \infty$. By §20-2.2a, it is equivalent to $|\mu|(X) < \infty$. A ring \mathcal{R} over X is called a σ -ring if it is closed under countable unions. Clearly, every σ -ring is a δ -ring.

20-5.7. <u>Theorem</u> Every vector measure μ on a σ -ring \mathcal{R} is bounded. It is this result that we decided to abandon the framework of σ -rings and σ -algebras.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that for each integer n there is $A_n \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $|\mu|(A_n) > n$. Because \mathbb{R} is a σ -ring, $B = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ belongs to \mathbb{R} . Since the variation $|\mu|$ is finite valued, we have $|\mu|(A_n) \leq |\mu|(B) < \infty$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we obtain a contradiction.

20-99. <u>References and Further Readings</u> : Chae, Yannelis, Rao-72, Albeverio, Antoine, Manoukain, Muldowney, Nelson and Lee.

Chapter 21 Vector Integrals

21-1 Extension to Integrable Sets

21-1.1. Let S be a semiring over a set X, E a Banach space and $\mu : S \to E$ a vector measure, that is a countably additive charge of finite variation. Then its variation $|\mu| : S \to \mathbb{R}$ is a positive measure which has an extension to the δ -ring of decent sets generated by S. The integral $\int f d|\mu|$ is defined for every upper function f although not yet for any negative function. In particular the *positive* measure $|\mu|(M)$ has been defined for every measurable set M. A measurable set M is said to be μ -integrable if $|\mu|(M) < \infty$. At this moment, μ has been extended only to the ring \mathcal{R} generated by S through simple algebraic method. In this section, we shall extend it to the δ -ring \mathcal{K} of μ -integrable sets.

21-1.2. We need the following trivial side track. Let H be a vector space. A function $f \to ||f||$ from H into \mathbb{R} is called a *seminorm* on H if for all $f, g \in E$, we have $||f|| \ge 0$, ||0|| = 0, $||f + g|| \le ||f|| + ||g||$ and $||\beta f|| = |\beta| ||f||$ for every $\beta \in \mathbb{K}$. A seminorm with the non-degenerate condition is a norm. A vector space together with a given seminorm is called a *seminormed space*.

21-1.3. **Exercise** Let H be a seminormed space. Prove that the set N of vectors $h \in H$ with ||h|| = 0 is a vector subspace. Let $q : H \to H/N$ be the quotient map and $||q(h)|| = \inf\{||h + k|| : k \in N\}$ the quotient norm. Prove that ||q(h)|| = ||h|| is a norm on the quotient space. Topological properties of H is referred to the quotient space H/N without explicit specification. For example, a sequence $\{f_n\}$ in H is said to converge to f if $q(f_n) \to q(f)$ in H/N. Prove that if $f_n \to f$ and $f_n \to h$, then q(f) = q(h).

21-1.4. **Exercise** Let G be a dense subspace of a seminorm space H and E a Banach space. A linear map φ from G into E is compatible with N if q(f) = q(h) implies $\varphi(f) = \varphi(h)$. Prove that every compatible continuous linear map $\varphi : G \to E$ has a unique continuous linear extension ξ over H compatible with N. Furthermore we have $\|\xi\| = \|\varphi\|$.

21-1.5. In measure and integration, the vector subspace N normally consists of measurable functions which are zero almost everywhere. Also q(f) = q(h) if f = h almost everywhere.

21-1.6. <u>Theorem</u> Every vector measure $\mu : S \to E$ has an extension over the δ -ring \mathcal{K} of integrable sets. This new measure is also denoted by μ for convenience. In particular, μD is defined for every decent set D.

<u>Proof</u>. Note that μ has a unique extension to \mathcal{R} which is our starting point. Let $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K})$ denote the vector space of all integrable simple functions and $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{R})$ all step functions. For every $f \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K})$, $||f||_1 = \int |f| \ d|\mu|$ is well-defined. It is easy to show that $f \to ||f||_1$ is a seminorm on $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K})$. We claim that $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{R})$ is a *dense* subspace of $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K})$. Let $f \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K})$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Write $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{D_j}$ with $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{K}$ and $D_j \in \mathcal{K}$. Select $0 < \delta < \varepsilon/(1 + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\alpha_j|)$. Choose $A_j \in \mathcal{R}$ such that $|\mu|(D_j \bigtriangleup A_j) \le \delta$. Define $g = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{R})$. Then

$$\begin{split} \|f - g\|_1 &\leq \sum_{j=1}^n |\alpha_j| \int |\rho_{D_j} - \rho_{A_j}| \ d|\mu| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^n |\alpha_j| \ |\mu| (D_j \bigtriangleup A_j) \leq \sum_{j=1}^n |\alpha_j| \delta \leq \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Therefore $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{R})$ is dense in $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K})$. Now suppose $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ with $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{K}$ and $A_j \in S$. Then $I_{\mu}(f) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \mu A_j$ is well-defined. It follows from $\|I_{\mu}(f)\| \leq I_{|\mu|}(|f|) = \int |f| \ d|\mu| = \|f\|_1$ that the map $I_{\mu} : \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{R}) = \mathcal{F}(S) \to E$ is continuous linear. It has a continuous linear extension $f \to \int f d\mu$ over $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K})$. Clearly $D \in \mathcal{K} \to \int \rho_D d\mu$ is a required extension. \Box

21-1.7. **Theorem** The extension of variation is the variation of extension.

<u>Proof</u>. Let μ be an *E*-measure on semiring S and ν its extension to the δ -ring \mathbb{D} generated by S. Suppose that $|\mu|$ denotes the variation of μ on S and $|\nu|$ the variation of ν on \mathbb{D} . Assume that π is the extension of $|\mu|$ over \mathbb{D} . We want to prove that $\pi = |\nu|$ on \mathbb{D} . By uniqueness of extension, it suffices to show that $\pi = |\nu|$ on S. Take any $A \in S$. Let $S(A), \mathbb{D}(A)$ denote the families of partitions of A by sets in S, \mathbb{D} respectively. Since $S(A) \subset \mathbb{D}(A)$, it is obvious that $|\mu|A \leq |\nu|A$. Next, let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Choose $D(A) = \{B_1, \dots, B_n\}$ in $\mathbb{D}(A)$ such that $|\nu|A - \varepsilon \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||\nu B_j||$. Working with ν , for each j there are disjoint $C_{ij} \in S$ such that $|\nu|(B_j \Delta C_j) \leq \varepsilon/n$ where $C_j = \bigcup_{i=1}^{k(j)} C_{ij}$. From

$$\left\|\nu B_{j} - \sum_{i} \nu C_{ij}\right\| \leq \left\|\int (\rho_{B_{j}} - \rho_{C_{j}}) d\nu\right\|$$
$$\leq \int |\rho_{B_{j}} - \rho_{C_{j}}| d|\nu| = |\nu| (B_{j} \bigtriangleup C_{j}) \leq \varepsilon/n$$

we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\nu B_{j}\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{k(j)} \nu C_{ij}\right\| + \varepsilon$$
$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{k(j)} \|\mu C_{ij}\| + \varepsilon \leq \sum_{B \in S(A)} \|\mu B_{j}\| + \varepsilon \leq |\mu|A + \varepsilon$$

where $S(A) = \{C_{ij} : 1 \le j \le n, 1 \le i \le k_j\}$ is obviously a partition of A by sets in S. Thus $|\nu|A \le |\mu|A + 2\varepsilon$. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we obtain $|\nu|A \le |\mu|A$. Hence $|\nu| = |\mu| = \pi$ on S. Therefore $|\nu| = \pi$ on ID. As a result, we may identify $|\mu|$, $|\nu|$ and π .

21-1.8. **Exercise** Show that integrable sets are σ -finite.

21-2 Integrals of Vector Maps

21-2.1. We shall develop a theory of vector integration based on the expectation of Dominated Convergence Theorem. Let E, F, FE be Banach spaces with an admissible bilinear map $F \times E \to FE$; $1 \le p < \infty$ and q its conjugate index given by $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$.

21-2.2. Let μ be a vector measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) into E. Then the variation $|\mu|$ is a positive measure on \mathbb{D} . The vector measure μ has also been extended to the δ -ring \mathcal{K} of all μ -integrable sets. A \mathcal{K} -step F-map $f: X \to F$ is of the form $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in F$ and $A_j \in \mathcal{K}$. The integral $\int f d\mu = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \mu A_j \in FE$ has been defined in §17-2.10. Clearly we have $\|\int f d\mu\| \leq \int |f| \ d|\mu|$ as in §17-4.10.

21-2.3. For every measurable map $f: X \to F$, $|f|^p$ is an upper function. Hence the L_p -norm $||f||_p = (\int |f|^p d|\mu|)^{1/p}$ is well-defined. It is finite iff $|f|^p$ is $|\mu|$ -integrable. The $F - L_p$ -space for μ is the set $L_p(X, \mathbb{D}, E, \mu, F)$ of all measurable maps $f: X \to F$ such that $|f|^p$ is $|\mu|$ -integrable. Drop F if it is \mathbb{K} and also drop X, \mathbb{D}, E, μ if there is no ambiguity. Write $L_p^r(\mu)$ for $F = \mathbb{R}$ and $L_p^+(\mu) = \{f \in L_p^r(\mu) : f \geq 0\}$. Members of $L_1(\mu, F)$ are called μ -integrable or simply integrable maps. Clearly, a measurable map $f: X \to E$ is integrable iff the upper function |f| is $|\mu|$ -integrable. In this case, we have $||f||_1 = \int |f| d|\mu| < \infty$. A measurable set M is said to be μ -null if it is $|\mu|$ -null, i.e. $|\mu|(M) = 0$. A property p(x) is true μ -almost-everywhere or μ -ae if it is true $|\mu|$ -ae. A set is μ - σ -finite if it is $|\mu|$ - σ -finite. Practically everything is defined in terms of the variation of a measure.

21-2.4. **Lemma** A simple map f belongs to $L_p(\mu, F)$ iff it is a X-step map.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j} \in L_p(\mu, F)$ where α_j are nonzero vectors in F and A_j are disjoint measurable subsets of X. Then we have

$$\|\alpha_k\|^p |\mu|(A_k) \le \int \sum_{j=1}^n \|\alpha_j\|^p \rho_{A_j} d|\mu| = \int |f|^p d|\mu| = \|f\|_p^p < \infty.$$

Thus $A_k \in \mathcal{K}$. Therefore f is a \mathcal{K} -step map. The converse is obvious.

21-2.5. Lemma For every $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$, there are decent maps f_n such that both $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$ and $f_n \to f$ converge μ -ae.

Proof. Since the upper function $|f|^p$ is $|\mu|$ -integrable, $M = X \setminus f^{-1}(0)$ is $|\mu| - \sigma$ -finite. There are disjoint decent sets A_n and a $|\mu|$ -null set N such that $M = N \cup \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j$. The measurable map f is simply approximable on each decent set A_j . For each j, there are simple maps $g_{jk} \to f\rho_{A_j}$ on A_j as $k \to \infty$ and $|g_{jk}| \uparrow_k |f\rho_{A_j}|$ on the decent set A_j . All simple maps g_{jk} are decent maps with $g_{jk}(X \setminus A_j) = 0$. Hence $f_n = \sum_{k=1}^n g_{nk}$ are also decent maps. Take any $x \in A_j$. For all $n \geq j$, we have $f_n(x) = g_{jk}(x) \to f(x)$ as $k \to \infty$. For $x \notin M$, we have $f_n(x) = f(x) = 0$. Hence $f_n \to f$ on $X \setminus N$, that is μ -ae. It is an exercise to verify $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$, μ -ae.

21-2.6. **Exercise** Let $X = \mathbb{R}$ be equipped with the counting measure. Show that the identity map $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ is measurable but does not belong to any $L_p(\mu)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$. Is it possible to find decent maps $f_n \to f$ almost everywhere?

21-2.7. **Lemma** Let $f: X \to F$ be an integrable map. If f_n are simple maps such that $|f_n| \leq |f|$ and $f_n \to f$, μ -ae; then every f_n is integrable; the limit $\lim_{n\to\infty} \int f_n d\mu$ exists in FE and it is independent of the choice of f_n .

<u>Proof.</u> Since f is μ -integrable, |f| is $|\mu|$ -integrable. Thus every $|f_n|$ is $|\mu|$ -integrable and hence every simple map f_n is μ -integrable and $\int f_n d\mu$ is well-defined. By $|f_n - f| \leq 2|f|$, the Positive Dominated Convergence Theorem gives $\int |f_n - f| d|\mu| \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Observe that

$$\left\|\int f_m d\mu - \int f_n d\mu\right\| = \left\|\int (f_m - f_n) d\mu\right\| \le \int |f_m - f_n| \ d|\mu|$$
$$\le \int |f_m - f| \ d|\mu| + \int |f - f_n| \ d|\mu| \to 0 \text{ as } m, n \to \infty.$$

Therefore the Cauchy sequence $\{\int f_n d\mu : n \ge 1\}$ in the Banach space FE is convergent. Next suppose that g_n are simple maps such that $|g_n| \le |f|$ and $g_n \to f$, μ -ae. Let $r = \lim \int f_n d\mu$ and $s = \lim \int g_n d\mu$. From $|f_n - g_n| \le 2|f|$, Positive Dominated Convergence Theorem ensures that

21-2 Integrals of Vector Maps

$$\|r-s\| \le \left\|r - \int f_n d\mu\right\| + \int |f_n - g_n| \, d|\mu| + \left\|\int g_n d\mu - s\right\| \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$, or $r = s$. This completes the proof.

21-2.8. For every integrable map $f: X \to F$, there are simple maps $f_n \to f$ with $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$, μ -ae. The new integral $\int f d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int f_n d\mu$ is well-defined in FE by last lemma and it is an extension of integrals of integrable simple maps. So, it also agrees with the integrals of upper functions. Obviously $\int f d\mu$ is linear in f. Note that the integral of a negative integrable function on \mathbb{R} is not defined until now.

21-2.9. **Theorem** Let f, g be measurable maps such that f = g, μ -ae. If f is integrable, then so is g. Furthermore we have $\int f d\mu = \int g d\mu$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since |f| = |g|, $|\mu|$ -ae; we have $\int |g| \ d|\mu| = \int |f| \ d|\mu| < \infty$. Hence g is integrable. To prove the equality, we may assume g = 0 by considering $\int (f-g)d\mu$. Since |f| = 0, μ -ae; we obtain $\int |f| \ d|\mu| = 0$. For any simple maps $f_n \to f$ satisfying $|f_n| \le |f|$, we have $\|\int f_n d\mu\| \le \int |f_n| \ d|\mu| \le \int |f| \ d|\mu| = 0$, that is $\int f d\mu = \lim \int f_n d\mu = 0$.

21-2.10. <u>**Theorem</u>** For every $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$, there is an integrable map g = f, μ -ae; and decent maps $g_n \to g$ with $|g_n| \uparrow |g|$ everywhere.</u>

<u>Proof</u>. Choose decent maps $f_n \to f$ with $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$, μ -ae. There is a null set \overline{N} such that $f_n \to f$ with $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$ on $M = X \setminus N$. Clearly $g_n = f_n \rho_M$ and $g = f \rho_M$ are the required maps.

21-2.11. <u>Theorem</u> For every integrable map f, we have $\|\int f d\mu\| \leq \int |f| d|\mu|$. <u>Proof.</u> Choose simple maps $f_n \to f$ with $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$, μ -ae. For all f_n are integrable simple maps, we have $\|\int f_n d\mu\| \leq \int |f_n| d|\mu|$. Since $|f_n - f| \leq 2|f|$, the Positive Dominated Convergence Theorem implies that

$$\begin{split} \left| \int |f_n| \ d|\mu| - \int |f| \ d|\mu| \right| &\leq \int |f_n - f| \ d|\mu| \to 0, \\ \int |f_n| \ d|\mu| \to \int |f| \ d|\mu|. \end{split}$$

or

Therefore $\left\|\int f d\mu\right\| = \lim \left\|\int f_n d\mu\right\| \le \lim \int |f_n| \ d|\mu| = \int |f| \ d|\mu|.$

21-2.12. <u>Exercise</u> Let f, g be real μ -integrable functions. Prove that if $f \leq g$, μ -ae; then $\int f d|\mu| \leq \int g d|\mu|$.

Π

21-2.13. <u>Exercise</u> Let f be a measurable map and g a measurable function. Prove that if $|f| \leq g$, μ -ae and if $g \in L_p(\mu)$, then $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$.

21-2.14. <u>Chebyshev's Inequality</u> If $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$ where $1 \le p < \infty$, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, we have $|\mu| \{x \in X : ||f(x)|| \ge \varepsilon\} \le (||f||_p / \varepsilon)^p$. <u>Proof</u>. For $M = \{x \in X : ||f(x)|| \ge \varepsilon\}$, the result follows from $||f||_p^p = \int |f|^p d|\mu| \ge \int \varepsilon^p \rho_M d|\mu| = \varepsilon^p |\mu|(M)$.

21-3 L_p -Spaces for $1 \le p < \infty$

21-3.1. Let E, F, FE be Banach spaces with an admissible bilinear map $\varphi: F \times E \to FE$; F' the dual space of continuous linear forms on F; and μ a vector measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) into E. Similar to §§3-3.5,6; we develop the basic properties of $L_p(\mu, F)$. Only scalar version of Holder's inequality is required to prove Minkowski's inequality but the general version will be needed for duality theory in later chapter.

21-3.2. Holder's Inequality Let p, q > 1 be conjugate indices. If $h \in L_q(\mu, F')$ and $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$, then $hf \in L_1(\mu)$ and $\|\int hfd\mu\| \le \|h\|_q \|f\|_p$. <u>Proof.</u> If $\|f\|_p = 0$; then f = 0, μ -ae; or hf = 0, μ -ae; thus hf is integrable and $\|\int hfd\mu\| = \|h\|_q \|f\|_p = 0$. Without loss of generality, we may assume

that
$$||h||_q \neq 0$$
 and $||f||_p \neq 0$. From

$$\left|\frac{h}{\|h\|_q} \frac{f}{\|f\|_p}\right| \le \left|\frac{h}{\|h\|_q}\right| \left|\frac{f}{\|f\|_p}\right| \le \frac{1}{q} \left|\frac{h}{\|h\|_q}\right|^q + \frac{1}{p} \left|\frac{f}{\|f\|_p}\right|^p,$$

hf is integrable. Integrating with respect to $|\mu|$, we have

$$\frac{\left\|\int hf d\mu\right\|}{\|h\|_q\|\|f\|_p} \le \int \left|\frac{h}{\|h\|_q} \frac{f}{\|f\|_p}\right| d|\mu| \le \frac{1}{q} \int \left|\frac{h}{\|h\|_q}\right|^q d|\mu| + \frac{1}{p} \int \left|\frac{f}{\|f\|_p}\right|^p d|\mu| = 1$$
from which the required inequality follows.

21-3.3. <u>Minkowski's Inequality</u> For $1 \le p < \infty$, if f, g are in $L_p(\mu, F)$ then so is f + g. Furthermore, we have $||f + g||_p \le ||f||_p + ||g||_p$.

Proof. Clearly f + g and $|f + g|^p$ are measurable. Observe that

$$|f + g|^p \le (|f| + |g|)^p \le (2|f|)^p + (2|g|)^p.$$

Since the right hand side is integrable, we have $f + g \in L_p(\mu, F)$. For p = 1, $\|f + g\|_1 = \int |f + g| \ d|\mu| \le \int (|f| + |g|) \ d|\mu| = \int |f| d\mu + \int |g| d\mu = \|f\|_1 + \|g\|_1$. Next assume $1 . Suppose <math>\|f + g\|_p \neq 0$, otherwise the required inequality holds already. Observe that 21-3 L_p -Spaces for $1 \leq p < \infty$

$$\begin{split} \|f+g\|_{p}^{p} &= \int |f+g|^{p} d|\mu| = \int |f+g| \ |f+g|^{p-1} d|\mu| \\ &\leq \int |f| \ |f+g|^{p-1} d|\mu| + \int |g| \ |f+g|^{p-1} d|\mu|. \end{split}$$

Since $f + g \in L_p(\mu, F)$, $|f + g|^{(p-1)q} = |f + g|^p$ is integrable, i.e. $|f + g|^{p-1} \in L_q$. Furthermore, its L_q -norm is given by

$$\left(\int |f+g|^{(p-1)q} d|\mu|\right)^{1/q} = \left(\int |f+q|^p d|\mu|\right)^{1/q} = \|f+g\|_p^{p/q} = \|f+g\|_p^{p-1}.$$

Hence the Holder's Inequality gives

 $\|f + g\|_p^p \le \|f\|_p \|f + g\|_p^{p-1} + \|g\|_p \|f + g\|_p^{p-1} = (\|f\|_p + \|g\|_p) \|f + g\|_p^{p-1}.$ The result follows after dividing by $\|f + g\|_p^{p-1}$. \Box

21-3.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that $L_p^r(\mu)$ is a vector lattice. Show that if $f, g \in L_p^r(\mu)$, then so are $f \lor g, f \land g, f_+$ and f_- .

21-3.5. **Theorem** For $1 \le p < \infty$, $L_p(\mu, F)$ is a Banach space when two maps f, g are identified by f = g, μ -ae. Furthermore, the integration is a continuous linear map from $L_1(\mu, F)$ into FE.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $f,g \in L_p(\mu, F)$. By §21-2.10 without loss of generality, there are simple maps f_n, g_n such that $f_n \to f, g_n \to g, |f_n| \leq |f|$ and $|g_n| \leq |g|$ everywhere. Since $f_n + g_n \to f + g$ in F, the sum f + g is measurable. From $|f + g|^p \leq (2|f|)^p + (2|g|)^p$, the upper function $|f + g|^p$ is $|\mu|$ -integrable, that is $f + g \in L_p(\mu, F)$. In particular, for p = 1 we have

$$\int (f+g)d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int (f_n + g_n)d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\int f_n d\mu + \int g_n d\mu \right) = \int f d\mu + \int g d\mu$$

Similarly, for every $t \in \mathbb{K}$ we get $tf \in L_p(\mu, F)$ and for p = 1 we obtain $\int tf d\mu = t \int f d\mu$. Therefore $L_p(\mu, F)$ is a vector space. The continuity of integration on $L_1(\mu, F)$ follows from $\|\int f d\mu\| \leq \int |f| \ d|\mu| = \|f\|_1$.

To prove the completeness, it suffices to show the convergence of a special type of Cauchy sequences. Let $\{g_n\}$ be a sequence in $L_p(\mu, F)$ such that $||g_{n+1} - g_n||_p \leq 2^{-n}$ for all $n \geq 1$. Define $h_n = |g_1| + \sum_{k=1}^n |g_{k+1} - g_k|$ and $h = |g_1| + \sum_{k=1}^\infty |g_{k+1} - g_k|$. Since $L_p(\mu, F)$ is a normed space, we have $||h_n||_p \leq ||g_1||_p + \sum_{k=1}^n ||g_{k+1} - g_k||_p \leq ||g_1||_p + 1$,

that is,

$$\int h_n^p d|\mu| = \|h_n\|_p^p \le (\|g_1\|_p + 1)^p < \infty.$$

Since h_n^p are positive measurable functions and since $h_n^p \uparrow h^p$, Positive Monotone Convergence Theorem ensures that h^p is $|\mu|$ -integrable. Thus h^p and consequently h itself are finite-valued μ -ae. The set $N = \{x \in X : h(x) = \infty\}$ is a null set. Let $M = X \setminus N$. Then the map $f: X \to F$ defined by the infinite series $f(x) = g_1(x)\rho_M(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} [g_{k+1}(x) - g_k(x)]\rho_M(x)$ is absolutely convergent on M and is zero on N. Hence $g_n\rho_M \to f$ on X. Therefore f is measurable. The absolutely convergent series $-g_n\rho_M = \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} (g_{k+1} - g_k)\rho_M$ gives $|g_n\rho_M| \leq \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} |g_{k+1} - g_k| \leq h$, that is $|g_n\rho_M|^p \leq h^p$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we have $|f|^p \leq h^p$. Since h^p is integrable, so is $|f|^p$, i.e. $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$. Because $|g_n\rho_M - f|^p \to 0$ and $|g_n\rho_M - f|^p \leq (2h)^p$, it follows from Positive Dominated Convergence Theorem that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int |g_n - f|^p d|\mu| = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int |g_n \rho_M - f|^p d|\mu| = \int \lim_{n \to \infty} |g_n \rho_M - f|^p d|\mu| = 0,$$

that is $||g_n - f||_p \to 0$. This completes the proof. \Box

21-3.6. <u>Corollary</u> For $E = F = \mathbb{K}$ and $\mu \ge 0$, L_2 is a Hilbert space under the inner product given by the following expression: $\langle f, g \rangle = \int f(x)\overline{g(x)}d\mu(x)$.

21-3.7. Let X be a set equipped with the counting measure μ on the semiring of all singletons and let $E = F = \mathbb{K}$. Then $\ell_p(X) = L_p$ is a Banach space. Also $\ell_2(X)$ is a Hilbert space under the inner product given by $\langle f, g \rangle = \sum_{x \in X} f(x)g^-(x)$ where $g^-(x)$ denotes the complex conjugate of g(x). It can be proved that every Hilbert space H is of the form $\ell_2(X)$ where X is any orthonormal basis of H.

21-3.8. **Example** Let μ be a scalar measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) , $L_1(\mu)$ the Banach space of μ -integrable functions and $T: L_1(\mu) \to E$ a continuous linear map. For every decent set A, let $\nu A = T\rho_A$. Then $\nu : \mathbb{D} \to E$ is a measure with $|\nu| \leq ||T|| |\mu|$.

<u>Proof.</u> Clearly ν is finitely additive on \mathbb{D} . Next, assume that $A_n \downarrow \emptyset$ in \mathbb{D} . Then $|\mu|A_n \downarrow 0$. Thus $\|\nu A_n\| = \|T\rho_{A_n}\| \le \|T\| \|\rho_{A_n}\|_1 = \|T\| \|\mu|A_n \to 0$. Hence ν is countably additive. Finally suppose that $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j$ be a disjoint union where $A, B_j \in \mathbb{D}$. Then $\sum_{j=1}^n \|\nu B_j\| \le \sum_{j=1}^n \|T\| \|\mu|B_j = \|T\| \|\mu|A$. Thus we obtain $|\nu|(A) = \sup_{P(A)} \sum_{D \in P(A)} \|\nu D\| \le \|T\| \|\mu|A < \infty$. Therefore ν is of finite variation. Consequently, ν is a measure on (X, \mathbb{D}) .

21-3.9. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ be a positive measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . For every $A \in \mathbb{D}$, let $\nu A = \rho_A \in E = L_1(\mu)$. Prove that ν is an *E*-measure with $|\nu| = \mu$.

21-3.10. **Exercise** Let λ be the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} , $1 and <math>E = L_p(\lambda)$. For every decent set of \mathbb{R} , let $\mu A = \rho_A \in E$. Show that μ is countably additive but it is *not* of finite variation.

21-4 Mean Convergence

21-4.1. Convergence in the $L_p(\mu, F)$ -space for $1 \leq p < \infty$ is also called the L_p -convergence or p-th mean convergence. It is the results in this section that Lebesgue integral distinguishes itself from Riemann integral. Let E, F, FE be Banach spaces with an admissible bilinear map $F \times E \to FE$ and μ a vector measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) into E.

21-4.2. **Dominated Convergence Theorem** Let $f_n, f: X \to F$ be measurable maps. Suppose $f_n \to f$, μ -ae. If there is $g \in L_p^r(\mu)$ with $|f_n| \leq g$, μ -ae for all n; then all $f_n, f \in L_p(\mu, F)$ and $||f_n - f||_p \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

<u>Proof.</u> Letting $n \to \infty$ in $|f_n| \leq g$, we have $|f| \leq g$, μ -ae. Since $|f|^p \leq g^p$, μ -ae and g^p is integrable, so is $|f|^p$, i.e. $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$. Similarly, all $f_n \in L_p(\mu, F)$. Next observe that $|f_n - f|^p \leq (|f_n| + |f|)^p \leq (2|g|)^p$. It follows from Positive Dominated Convergence Theorem that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|f_n - f\|_p^p = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int |f_n - f|^p d\mu = \int \lim_{n \to \infty} |f_n - f|^p d\mu = 0.$$

21-4.3. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the functions $n\rho_{(0,1/n]}, \rho_{(n,n+1]}$ and $(1/n)\rho_{(0,n]}$ converge to zero but their integrals are equal to one. Explain why Dominated Convergence Theorem is not applicable.

21-4.4. <u>Monotone Convergence Theorem</u> Let $f_n, f: X \to F$ be measurable maps. Suppose $f_n \to f$, μ -ae and all $f_n \in L_p(\mu, F)$. If $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$, μ -ae. and $\sup ||f_n||_p < \infty$, then $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$ and $||f_n - f||_p \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Clearly $|f_n|^p \uparrow |f|^p$, μ -ae and $\sup \int |f_n|^p d|\mu| \leq \sup ||f_n||_p^p < \infty$. By Positive Monotone Convergence Theorem, we have

$$\int |f|^p d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int |f_n|^p d\mu \le \sup \|f_n\|_p^p < \infty.$$

Hence the upper function $|f|^p$ is integrable, i.e. $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$. Now all $|f_n| \le |f|$ and $f_n \to f$, μ -ae. Last theorem gives $||f_n - f||_p \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. \Box

21-4.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f_n, f \in L_p(\mu, F)$ where $1 \le p < \infty$. If $f_n \to f$, μ -ae; and if $||f_n||_p \to ||f||_p$ then $||f_n - f||_p \to 0$.

<u>Proof.</u> Without loss of generality, we may assume $f_n \to f$ on X. Let $g_n = (2|f_n|)^p + (2|f|)^p$ and $g = 2^{p+1}|f|^p$. Then the given condition ensures that $\int g_n d\mu \to \int g d\mu$. Since $|f_n - f|^p \leq (|f_n| + |f|)^p \leq g_n$ and $\int g d|\mu| < \infty$, by §20-3.3 we obtain $\int |f_n - f|^p d\mu \to \int 0 d\mu = 0$ which gives $||f_n - f||_p \to 0$. \Box

21-4.6. **Density Theorem** The set of all decent maps is dense in $L_p(\mu, F)$ for $1 \le p < \infty$. More precisely, for every $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$ there are decent maps $f_n \to f$ with $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$, μ -ae and $||f_n - f||_p \to 0$. Furthermore if $f \ge 0$, we may choose all $f_n \ge 0$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> By §21-2.10, there are f_n satisfying all except the last condition which also follows from last theorem.

21-4.7. <u>Corollary</u> If \mathbb{D} is generated by a semiring S, then the set of S-step *F*-map is dense in $L_p(\mu, F)$ as a result of §20-3.6.

21-4.8. <u>Corollary</u> If \mathbb{D} is generated by a countable family \mathcal{K} of subsets of X and if F is separable, then $L_p(\mu, F)$ is also separable. In particular, the function space $L_p(\mu)$ is separable.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\mathcal{K}_1 = \mathcal{K}$; \mathcal{K}_n the family consisting of sets $A \cup B$ and $A \setminus B$ for all $\overline{A}, \overline{B} \in \mathcal{K}_{n-1}$ and $\mathcal{R} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{K}_n$. Clearly \mathcal{R} is the ring generated by \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{R} is countable. Let H be a countable dense set in F. Then $\mathcal{F}_n = \{\sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_j \rho_{A_j} : \alpha_j \in H, A_j \in \mathcal{R}\}$ is countable and so is $\mathcal{F} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n$. It is an exercise to prove from last corollary that \mathcal{F} is dense in $L_p(\mu, F)$. The last statement follows because \mathbb{K} is separable.

21-4.9. Integration Term by Term Let $\{f_n\}$ be a sequence of measurable maps. If the upper function $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |f_n|$ is integrable, then all f_n and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n$ are integrable and $\int \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n d\mu = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int f_n d\mu$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $g = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |f_j|$, $h_n = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_j$ and $h = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} f_j$. Since g is integrable, it is finite value almost everywhere. Without loss of generality, assume that g is finite value everywhere. Because $g(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} ||f_j(x)||$ is convergent, h is well-defined. The limit h of measurable maps h_n is measurable. Since g is integrable and $|f_n| \leq g$, all f_n is integrable. From $|h_n| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} |f_j| \leq g$, Dominated Convergence Theorem implies $\int \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} f_j d\mu = \int h d\mu = \int \lim h_n d\mu =$ $\lim \int h_n d\mu = \lim \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int f_j d\mu = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int f_j d\mu$.

21-4.10. <u>Exercise</u> Let f_n, g be integrable maps. Prove that $f_n \to g$, μ -ae if $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||f_n - g||_1 < \infty$.

21-4.11. **Exercise** Let f be a map from a metric space T into a metric space and let $a \in T$. Then $\lim f(t) = c$ as $t \to a$ iff for every sequence $t_n \to a$ in T with all $t_n \neq a$ we have $f(t_n) \to c$.

21-4.12. <u>Continuously Dominated Convergence Theorem</u> Let T be a metric space and μ an E-measure on a δ -space. Let $f: X \times T \to F$ be a map such that for each $t \in T$, f(x,t) is μ -integrable in x. Suppose that $a \in T$ and for each $x \in X$, we have $\lim_{t\to a} f(x,t) = f(x,a)$. If there is a μ -integrable function $g: X \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the dominating condition: $|f(x,t)| \leq g(x)$ for all $(x,t) \in X \times T$, then we have $\lim_{t\to a} \int f(x,t)d\mu(x) = \int f(x,a)d\mu(x)$.

<u>Proof</u>. For any sequence $t_n \to a$ in T, define $h_n(x) = f(x, t_n)$ for all n. Then we have $\lim_{n\to\infty} \int f(x, t_n) d\mu(x) = \int f(x, a) d\mu(x)$ by applying the discrete version to $\{h_n\}$. The result follows from last exercise.

21-4.13. Differentiation under Integral Sign Let $f: X \times (a, b) \to \mathbb{R}$ be a real function such that for each $t \in (a, b)$, f(x, t) is μ -integrable in x. Suppose for each $x \in X$, $\partial f/\partial t$ exists. If there is a μ -integrable function $g: X \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the dominating condition: $\left|\frac{\partial f}{\partial t}(x, t)\right| \leq g(x)$ for all $(x, t) \in X \times (a, b)$,

then we have $\frac{d}{dt} \int f(x,t)d\mu(x) = \int \frac{\partial f}{\partial t}(x,t)d\mu(x)$ on $X \times (a,b)$. <u>Proof</u>. Let $\varphi(t) = \int f(x,t)d\mu(x)$ and $a < t_0 < b$. Take any $t_n \to t_0$ in (a,b) with all $t_n \neq t_0$. Define $h_n(x) = \frac{f(x,t_n) - f(x,t_0)}{t_n - t_0}$. Then each h_n is a measurable function on X and its pointwise limit $\frac{\partial f}{\partial t}(x,t_0) = \lim_{n \to \infty} h_n(x)$ is also measurable. By Mean-Value Theorem, we have $|h_n(x)| = \left|\frac{\partial f}{\partial t}(x,\theta)\right| \leq g(x), \forall x \in X$ where θ is between t_n and t_0 . The Dominated Convergence Theorem ensures that $(\partial f/\partial t)(x,t_0)$ is integrable so that the right hand side of the required identity is well-defined. Furthermore,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\varphi(t_n) - \varphi(t_0)}{t_n - t_0} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int h_n(x) d\mu(x) = \int \frac{\partial f}{\partial t}(x, t_0) d\mu(x).$$

Consequently, φ is differentiable at t_0 and the required identity holds.

21-4.14. <u>Exercise</u> State and prove a continuous version of L_p -Dominated Convergence Theorem.

21-5 L_{∞} -Spaces

21-5.1. Let \mathcal{K} be a family of measurable sets in a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . Assume that \mathcal{K} satisfies the following two conditions:

(a) If $A_n \in \mathcal{K}$, then $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{K}$.

(b) If A is a measurable set with $A \subset B \in \mathcal{K}$, then $A \in \mathcal{K}$.

A proposition p(x) about $x \in X$ is true \mathcal{K} -ae if there is $N \in \mathcal{K}$ such that p(x) is true for all $x \in X \setminus N$. The \mathcal{K} -essential sup-norm of a measurable map f from X into a Banach space F is defined by $||f||_{\infty} = \inf_{N \in \mathcal{K}} \sup_{x \in X \setminus N} ||f(x)||$. Also f is \mathcal{K} -essentially bounded if $||f||_{\infty}$ is finite. The set of all \mathcal{K} -essentially bounded measurable maps into F is denoted by $L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$. The generality is interesting in itself and will be used later in spectral measures §26-4. If μ is a vector measure on X into a Banach space E, the family of all μ -null sets is really

what we want to study. The set of all μ -essentially bounded measurable maps from X into F is denoted by $L_{\infty}(X, \mathbb{D}, E, \mu, F)$. Drop some symbols if there is no ambiguity.

21-5.2. For every sequence of measurable maps f_k , there is $N \in \mathcal{K}$ Lemma such that $||f_k||_{\infty} = \sup ||f_k(x)||$ for all k. As a result, if $||f_n - g||_{\infty} \to 0$ in $x \in X \setminus N$ $L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$, then there is $N \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $f_n \to g$ uniformly on $X \setminus N$. *Proof.* Suppose that $||f_k||_{\infty} < \infty$. Choose $t_{jk} \downarrow ||f_k||_{\infty}$ as $j \to \infty$. Since $\|f_k\|_{\infty} < t_{jk},$ there is $N_{jk} \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $\sup ||f_k(x)|| \le t_{jk}$. On the other $x \in X \setminus N_{ik}$ hand, if $||f_k||_{\infty} = \infty$, let $N_{jk} = \emptyset$ and $t_{jk} = \infty$ so that $\sup_{k \to \infty} ||f_k(x)|| \le t_{jk}$ $x \in X \setminus N_{jk}$ and $t_{jk} \to ||f_k||_{\infty}$ as $j \to \infty$. Clearly, $N = \bigcup_{j,k=1}^{\infty} N_{jk} \in \mathcal{K}$. If $x \notin N$, then $x \notin N_{jk}$, or $||f_k(x)|| \le t_{jk}$ for all j, that is $||f_k(x)|| \le ||f_k||_{\infty}$ by letting Therefore, $||f_k||_{\infty} = \inf_M \sup_{x \in X \setminus M} ||f_k(x)|| \le \sup_{x \in X \setminus N} ||f_k(x)|| \le ||f_k||_{\infty}.$ $j \rightarrow \infty$. Consequently, $||f_k||_{\infty} = \sup_{x \in X \setminus N} ||f_k(x)||$. For the last statement, choose $N \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $||f_n - g||_{\infty} = \sup_{x \in X \setminus N} ||f_n(x) - g(x)||$ for all n. Then $f_n \to g$ uniformly on $X \setminus N$.

21-5.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let f, g be measurable maps. (a) If $|f| \le t < \infty$, \mathcal{K} -ae; then $f \in L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$ and $||f||_{\infty} \le t$. (b) $|f| \le ||f||_{\infty}$, \mathcal{K} -ae; equivalently $Q = \{x \in X : |f(x)| > ||f||_{\infty}\} \in \mathcal{K}$. (c) $||f||_{\infty} = \inf\{t \in [0, \infty] : |f| \le t, \mathcal{K}$ -ae $\} = \sup_{x \in X \setminus Q} |f(x)|$. (d) f = g, *K*-ae iff $||f - g||_{\infty} = 0$.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) Choose $K \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $||f(x)|| \le t < \infty$ for all $x \in X \setminus K$. Thus $||f||_{\infty} = \inf_{N} \sup_{x \in X \setminus N} ||f(x)|| \le \sup_{x \in X \setminus K} ||f(x)|| \le t < \infty$.

(b) Choose $N \in \mathcal{K}$ with $||f||_{\infty} = \sup_{x \in X \setminus N} ||f(x)||$. Then $||f(x)|| \le ||f||_{\infty}$ for all $x \in X \setminus N$. Thus $|f| \le ||f||_{\infty}$, \mathcal{K} -ae. Since $Q \subset N$, we have $Q \in \mathcal{K}$. Conversely if $Q \in \mathcal{K}$, then $||f(x)|| \le ||f||_{\infty}$ for all $x \in X \setminus Q$. Hence $|f| \le ||f||_{\infty}$, \mathcal{K} -ae.

(c) Let $\alpha = \inf\{t \in [0, \infty] : |f| \le t, \mathcal{K}$ -ae $\}$ and $\beta = \sup_{x \in X \setminus Q} |f(x)|$. Since $|f(x)| \le \beta$ for all $x \in X \setminus Q$ and $Q \in \mathcal{K}$, we have $\alpha \le \beta$. Also $\beta \le ||f||_{\infty}$ by definition of Q. If $\alpha = \infty$, then $\alpha = \beta = ||f||_{\infty}$. Assume that $\alpha < \infty$. For every n, there is $t_n \ge |f|$, \mathcal{K} -ae with $t_n \le \alpha + \frac{1}{n}$. Choose $M_n \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $|f(x)| \le t_n$ for all $x \in X \setminus M_n$. Then $M = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n \in \mathcal{K}$. For every $x \in X \setminus M$, we have $|f(x)| \le t_n \le \alpha + \frac{1}{n}$ for all n, i.e. $|f(x)| \le \alpha$. Therefore $||f||_{\infty} \le \sup_{x \in M} |f(x)| \le \alpha$. Consequently we also have $\alpha = \beta = ||f||_{\infty}$. (d) is left as an exercise.

21-5.4. <u>Theorem</u> The space $L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$ is a Banach space when two maps f, g are identified by $f = g, \mathcal{K}$ -ae.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $f, g \in L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$. Then $|f + g| \leq |f| + |g| \leq ||f||_{\infty} + ||g||_{\infty}, \mathcal{K}$ -ae. Hence $f + g \in L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$ and $||f + g||_{\infty} \leq ||f||_{\infty} + ||g||_{\infty}$. We leave it as an exercise to show that $L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$ is a normed space. To prove that $L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$ is complete, let $\{f_n\}$ be a Cauchy sequence in $L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is ksuch that $||f_m - f_n||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$ for all $m, n \geq k$. Since $|f_m - f_n| \leq ||f_m - f_n||_{\infty}$ and $|f_n| \leq ||f_n||_{\infty}, \mathcal{K}$ -ae; there is $N \in \mathcal{K}$ such that for every $x \in M = X \setminus N$ we have $||f_m(x) - f_n(x)|| \leq ||f_m - f_n||_{\infty}$ and $||f_n(x)|| \leq ||f_n||_{\infty}$. Hence for every $x \in X$, $\{f_n(x)\rho_M(x) : n \geq 1\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in F. Define $f(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(x)\rho_M(x)$. Then f is a measurable map. Because

$$\|f_m(x)\rho_M(x)\| \le \|f_m(x)\rho_M(x) - f_k(x)\rho_M(x)\| + \|f_k(x)\rho_M(x)\| \le \varepsilon + \|f_k\|_{\infty},$$

setting $m \to \infty$ we have $||f(x)|| \leq \varepsilon + ||f_k||_{\infty}$ for all $x \in X$. Therefore $f \in L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$. Since $||f_m(x)\rho_M(x) - f_n(x)\rho_M(x)|| \leq ||f_m - f_n||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$, letting $m \to \infty$ we obtain $||f(x) - f_n(x)\rho_M(x)|| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $n \geq k$. Thus,

$$\|f - f_n\|_{\infty} \le \|f - f_n \rho_M\|_{\infty} + \|f_n - f_n \rho_M\|_{\infty} \le \varepsilon, \ \forall \ n \ge k.$$

This proves $f_n \to f$ in $L_{\infty}(\mathcal{K}, F)$.

21-5.5. Before spectral measures §26-4, we work with $L_{\infty}(X, \mathbb{D}, E, \mu, F)$ only.

21-5.6. **Exercise** Show that in general, decent functions are *not* dense in L_{∞} .

21-5.7. **Exercise** Let $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{D})$ denote the set of all decent functions on X. Then it is a vector subspace of L_{∞} . Let $c_0(X)$ denote the closure of $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{D})$ in L_{∞} . Then $c_0(X)$ is a Banach space under the essential sup-norm and $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{D})$ is dense in $c_0(X)$. Prove that a measurable function f is in $c_0(X)$ iff for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a decent set D such that $\|f\rho_{(X\setminus D)}\|_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$.

21-5.8. **Theorem** Let F' be the dual space of F and let $1 \leq p < \infty$. If $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, F')$ and $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$, then $hf \in L_p$ and $\|hf\|_p \leq \|h\|_{\infty} \|f\|_p$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Since $(u, v) \to uv : F' \times F \to \mathbb{K}$ is continuous bilinear, the function \overline{hf} is measurable. Without loss of generality, we may assume $|h| \leq ||h||_{\infty}$ everywhere. Thus $|hf|^p \leq |h|^p |f|^p \leq ||h||_{\infty}^p |f|^p \in L_1^r(\mu)$. Therefore $|hf|^p$ is integrable, that is, $hf \in L_p(\mu)$. From $\int |hf|^p d|\mu| \leq ||h||_{\infty}^p \int |f|^p d|\mu|$, we obtain $||hf||_p \leq ||h||_{\infty} ||f||_p$.

21-5.9. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ be a positive measure on a δ -space X and h a measurable function on X such that $hf \in L_2(\mu)$ for every $f \in L_2(\mu)$. Clearly the multiplication operator $T : L_2(\mu) \to L_2(\mu)$ given by T(f) = hf is linear. Prove that if T is continuous, then $h \in L_{\infty}$. Show that T is a normal operator. Also T is self-adjoint iff f is real-valued, μ -ae.

21-6 Convergence in Measure

21-6.1. Let μ be an *E*-measure on a δ -space X and $f_n, f : X \to F$ be measurable maps. Then $\{f_n\}$ converges to f in measure if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} |\mu| \{ x \in X : \|f_n(x) - f(x)\| \ge \varepsilon \} = 0$$

for every $\varepsilon > 0$. Also $\{f_n\}$ is *Cauchy in measure* if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ we have $\lim |\mu| \{x \in X : ||f_m(x) - f_n(x)|| \ge \varepsilon\} = 0$ as $m, n \to \infty$. Note that *positive* measures are defined on measurable sets by §20-2.1 with properties listed in §20-2.2, 5.2a,4 although a vector measure is defined only on its *integrable* sets.

21-6.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ, ν be measures on X with $|\mu| \leq |\nu|$. If $f_n \to f$ in ν -measure, then $f_n \to f$ in μ -measure. The same result holds for being Cauchy in measure.

21-6.3. <u>Theorem</u> If $f_n \to f$ in measure for both measures μ, ν , then $f_n \to f$ in measure for $\alpha \mu + \beta \nu$ where $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$. The same result holds for being Cauchy in measure.

Proof. It follows from
$$|\alpha \mu + \beta \nu| \le |\alpha| |\mu| + |\beta| |\nu|$$
.

21-6.4. Since only the total variation $|\mu|$ is involved, we shall assume that μ is a *positive* measure throughout the rest of this section. It is easy to prove that if $\mu\{x \in X : \|f_n(x) - f(x)\| \ge 1/s\} \to 0$ for every integer $s \ge 1$, then $f_n \to f$ in measure. Similarly, $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in measure if for each integers $s \ge 1$ we have $\lim \mu\{x \in X : \|f_m(x) - f_n(x)\| \ge 1/s\} = 0$ as $m, n \to \infty$.

21-6.5. **Theorem** Let $1 \le p < \infty$. Then the following statements hold. (a) If $f_n \to f$ in $L_p(\mu, F)$, then $f_n \to f$ in measure.

(b) If $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in $L_p(\mu, F)$, then it is Cauchy in measure.

Proof. (a) By Chebyshev's Inequality, we have

$$\mu\{x: \|f_n(x) - f(x)\| \ge \varepsilon\} \le (\|f_n - f\|_p/\varepsilon)^p \to 0.$$

(b) It is left as an exercise.

21-6.6. **Exercise** Let $f_n = g_n$ and f = g, μ -ae. Prove that if $f_n \to f$ in measure, then $g_n \to g$ in measure.

21-6.7. <u>**Theorem</u>** If $f_n \to f$ and $f_n \to g$ in measure, then f = g, μ -ae.</u>

<u>Proof.</u> For each integer $s \ge 1$, let $A_n = \{x \in X : ||f_n(x) - f(x)|| \ge 1/(2s)\}$, $\overline{B_n} = \{x \in X : ||f_n(x) - g(x)|| \ge 1/(2s)\}$ and $H_s = \{x \in X : ||f(x) - g(x)|| \ge 1/s\}$. Since $f_n \to f$ and $f_n \to g$ in measure, we have $\mu A_n \to 0$ and $\mu B_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Now because $H_s \subset A_n \cup B_n$, we have $\mu H_s \le \mu A_n + \mu B_n \to 0$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we get $\mu H_s = 0$. Therefore $\bigcup_{s=1}^{\infty} H_s = \{x \in X : f(x) \neq g(x)\}$ is a null set, i.e. f = g, a.e.

21-6.8. <u>Theorem</u> If $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in measure and if $\{f_n\}$ has a subsequence which is convergent to f in measure, then $f_n \to f$ in measure.

<u>Proof</u>. For each $\alpha > 0$, let $A_n(\alpha) = \{x \in X : ||f(x) - f_n(x)|| \ge \alpha\}$ and $\overline{A_{mn}(\alpha)} = \{x \in X : ||f_m(x) - f_n(x)|| \ge \alpha\}$. Since f_n is Cauchy in measure for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is t > 0 such that for all $m, n \ge t$, we have $\mu A_{mn}(\alpha/2) \le \varepsilon/2$. Given that $\{f_n\}$ has a subsequence which converges to f in measure, there are integers $1 \le m(1) < m(2) < m(3) < \cdots$ such that $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists$ integer $j, \forall i \ge j$, we have $\mu A_{m(i)}(\alpha/2) \le \varepsilon/2$. Let k = m(j + t). Take any $n \ge k$. Then $\mu A_k(\alpha/2) = \mu A_{m(j+t)}(\alpha/2) \le \varepsilon/2$. Next, since $n \ge k \ge t$, we have $\mu A_{kn}(\alpha/2) \le \varepsilon/2$. Clearly $A_n(\alpha) \subset A_k(\alpha/2) \cup A_{kn}(\alpha/2)$. We get $\mu A_n(\alpha) \le \varepsilon$. Thus $\mu A_n(\alpha) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Therefore $f_n \to f$ in measure.

21-6.9. <u>Exercise</u> Let $f_n = g_n$, μ -ae. Prove that if $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in measure, then so is $\{g_n\}$.

21-6.10. <u>Exercise</u> Consider the Lebesgue measure on IR.

(a) Show that $n\rho_{(0,1/n]} \to 0$ pointwise and in measure but not in L_1 .

(b) Show that $\rho_{(n,n+1]} \to 0$ pointwise but not in measure.

(c) Show that $(1/n)\rho_{(n,2n]} \to 0$ uniformly but not in L_1 .

(d) For every integer m > 0, let $g_{jm} = \rho_{((j-1)/2^m, j/2^m]}$ for all $0 < j \le 2^m$. Fixed m, sketch g_{jm} for various j. Let $\{f_n\}$ be an enumeration of $\{g_{jm}\}$. Show that $f_n \to 0$ in measure and in L_1 but not pointwise.

21-6.11. **Exercise** Let $f_n \to f$, $g_n \to g$ in measure. Show that for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$, we have $\alpha f_n + \beta g_n \to \alpha f + \beta g$ in measure. Give a counter example of functions to show that $f_n g_n \to fg$ in measure is false in general.

21-7 Almost Uniform Convergence

21-7.1. Let μ be an *E*-measure on a δ -space X and $f_n, f : X \to F$ be measurable maps. Then $\{f_n\}$ converges to f almost uniformly if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a measurable set B such that $|\mu|(B) \leq \varepsilon$ and $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $X \setminus B$. Similarly, $\{f_n\}$ is said to be Cauchy almost uniformly if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a measurable set B such that $|\mu|(B) \leq \varepsilon$ and $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy uniformly on $X \setminus B$. Clearly if $f_n \to f$ uniformly, then $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly.

21-7.2. <u>**Theorem</u>** If $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly for measures μ, ν , then $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly for $\alpha \mu + \beta \nu$ where $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$.</u>

<u>*Proof*</u>. Choose measurable sets A, B such that $|\mu|A \leq \varepsilon, |\nu|B \leq \varepsilon$ and $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $X \setminus A$ and $X \setminus B$. Then $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $X \setminus (A \cap B)$ and $|\alpha \mu + \beta \nu|(A \cap B) \leq |\alpha| |\mu|A + |\beta| |\nu|B \leq (|\alpha| + |\beta|)\varepsilon$.

21-7.3. Since only the total variation $|\mu|$ is involved, we shall assume that μ is a *positive* measure throughout the rest of this section unless it is otherwise specified.

21-7.4. **<u>Theorem</u>** If $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly, then $f_n \to f$, μ -ae.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly. For every integer $s \ge 1$, there is a measurable B_s such that $\mu B_s \le 1/s$ and $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $X \setminus B_s$. Then $B = \bigcap_{s=1}^{\infty} B_s$ is measurable and $\mu B \le \mu B_s \le 1/s$ for all s, i.e. $\mu B = 0$. Next choose any $x \in X \setminus B$. Then $x \in X \setminus B_s$ for some s. Since $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $X \setminus B_s$, we get $f_n(x) \to f(x)$. Hence $f_n \to f$ on $X \setminus B$. Therefore $f_n \to f$, μ -ae.

21-7.5. <u>Theorem</u> If $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy almost uniformly, then $\{f_n\}$ is convergent almost uniformly.

<u>Proof</u>. For each $s \ge 1$, there is a measurable set B_s such that $\mu B_s \le 1/s$ and $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy uniformly on $X \setminus B_s$. Then $B = \bigcap_{s=1}^{\infty} B_s$ is a null set. Now choose any $x \notin B$. Then $x \in X \setminus B_s$ for some s. Since $\{f_n(x)\}$ is Cauchy in F, $f(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(x)$ exists. For $x \in B$, let f(x) = 0. Thus f is defined on X and $f_n \rho_B \to f$. Finally observe that for each $s \ge 1$, $\{f_n\}$ is uniformly Cauchy on $X \setminus B_s$. Hence $\forall \varepsilon > 0$, $\exists k, \forall m, n \ge k, \forall x \in X \setminus B_s, \|f_m(x) - f_n(x)\| \le \varepsilon$. Letting $m \to \infty$ we have $\|f(x) - f_n(x)\| \le \varepsilon, \forall n \ge k$ and $x \in X \setminus B_s$. Therefore $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $X \setminus B_s$ and $\mu B_s \le 1/s$, i.e. $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly. Since all f_n are measurable, so are $f_n \rho_B$ and their pointwise limit f. \Box

21-7.6. **<u>Theorem</u>** If $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly, then $f_n \to f$ in measure.

<u>Proof</u>. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, let $A_n = \{x \in X : ||f_n(x) - f(x)|| \ge \varepsilon\}$. Since $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly, there is a measurable set B such that $\mu B \le \varepsilon$ and $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $X \setminus B$. Thus $\exists k, \forall n \ge k, \forall x \in X \setminus B, ||f_n(x) - f(x)|| < \varepsilon$. Hence $\forall n \ge k, A_n \subset B$, that is $\mu A_n \le \mu B \le \varepsilon$. Therefore $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu A_n = 0$, or $f_n \to f$ in measure.

21-7.7. <u>Theorem</u> If $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in measure, then it has a subsequence which is convergent almost uniformly.

<u>Proof</u>. For every $\alpha > 0$, let $A_{mn}(\alpha) = \{x : ||f_m(x) - f_n(x)|| \ge \alpha\}$. Given that $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in measure, we have $\lim \mu A_{mn}(\alpha) = 0$ as $m, n \to \infty$. Inductively, there are integers $1 < n(1) < n(2), \cdots$, such that for all $m, n \ge n(i)$, we have $\mu A_{mn}(2^{-i}) \le 2^{-i}$. Define $g_i = f_{n(i)}$ for each $i \ge 1$. We claim that the subsequence $\{g_i\}$ is Cauchy almost uniformly. In fact, let

$$B_i = \{x : ||g_{i+1}(x) - g_i(x)|| \ge 2^{-i}\}.$$

Then

$$\mu B_i = \mu A_{n(i+1)n(i)}(2^{-i}) \le 2^{-i}.$$

Hence

$$\mu\left(\bigcup_{i=k}^{\infty} B_i\right) \le \sum_{i=k}^{\infty} \mu B_i \le 2^{-k+1}.$$

On the other hand, take any $x \in X \setminus \bigcup_{i=k}^{\infty} B_i$, we have $\forall i \ge k, x \notin B_i$, that is $||g_{i+1}(x) - g_i(x)|| < 2^{-i}$. Hence for all $j > i \ge k$, we obtain

$$||g_j(x) - g_i(x)|| < 2^{-i+1} \le 2^{-k+1}$$

Therefore $\{g_i : i \ge 1\}$ is Cauchy uniformly on $X \setminus \bigcup_{i=k}^{\infty} B_i$. Consequently, $\{g_i\}$ is Cauchy almost uniformly and hence $\{g_i\}$ converges almost uniformly. \Box

21-7.8. <u>Corollary</u> If $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in measure then it is convergent in measure.

21-7.9. Dominated Convergence Theorem in Measure Let $f, f_n \in L_p(\mu, F)$ where $1 \leq p < \infty$. Suppose that $f_n \to f$ in measure. If there is $g \in L_p(\mu)$ with $|f_n| \leq g, \mu$ -ae for all n; then $f_n \to f$ in $L_p(\mu, F)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose to the contrary that $f_n \to f$ in $L_p(\mu, F)$ is false. Then for some $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a subsequence $\{g_n\}$ of $\{f_n\}$ with $||g_n - f||_p \ge \varepsilon$ for all n. Now $\{g_n\}$ has a subsequence $\{h_n\}$ convergent almost uniformly to some measurable map h. Since $\{h_n\}$ converges in measure to both f, h; we have f = h, μ -ae. From $h_n \to f$ and $|h_n| \le g \in L_p(\mu)$, μ -ae; Dominated Convergence Theorem ensures $||h_n - f||_p \to 0$ contrary to $||g_n - f||_p \ge \varepsilon$.

21-7.10. **Egorov's Theorem** Let μ be an *E*-measure on a δ -space *X* and $f_n, f: X \to F$ be measurable maps. Suppose that either $|\mu|(X) < \infty$, or there is an integrable function *g* such that $|f_n| \leq g$, μ -ae for all *n*. If $f_n \to f$, μ -ae; then $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly.

<u>Proof</u>. Without loss of generality we may assume that $\mu \ge 0$, $f_n \to f$ pointwise and in second case $|f_n| \le g$ everywhere. To show $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ we have to find a measurable set B such that $\mu B \le \varepsilon$ and $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $X \setminus B$, i.e. $\forall \ \delta > 0$, we have to find k such that $\forall \ n \ge k, \ \forall \ x \in X \setminus B$, $\|f_n(x) - f(x)\| < \delta$. Now for all integers $m, n \ge 1$ define $A_n(m) = \{x \in X \setminus B : \|f_n(x) - f(x)\| \ge 1/m\}$ and $B_k(m) = \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n(m)$. We claim $\bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} B_k(m) = \emptyset$. Suppose to the contrary that there is some $x \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} B_k(m)$, that is $x \in B_k(m)$ for every k. Choose some $n \ge k$ satisfying $x \in A_n(m)$, i.e. $\|f_n(x) - f(x)\| \ge 1/m$. Thus $f_n \to f$ pointwise is false. This contradiction establishes what we claimed. Clearly $B_{k+1}(m) \subset B_k(m)$. Therefore $B_k(m) \downarrow \emptyset$ as $k \to \infty$. Suppose $\mu X < \infty$. Then for every k we have $\mu B_k(m) < \infty$ by monotone property of positive measures. Next, suppose $\|f_n(x)\| \le g(x)$ for all x. Then

$$\|f_n(x) - f(x)\| \le \|f_n(x)\| + \|f(x)\| \le 2g(x), \forall x \in X$$
$$B_k(m) \subset \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n(m) \subset \{x \in X : g(x) \ge 1/(2m)\}.$$

or

Since g is integrable, we have $\mu\{x \in X : g(x) \ge \frac{1}{2m}\} < \infty$. Again we have $\mu B_k(m) < \infty$ for all k. Thus we obtain $\mu B_k(m) \downarrow 0$ when $k \to \infty$. Hence for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and m, there is k(m) satisfying $\mu B_{k(m)}(m) \le \varepsilon/2^m$. Let $B = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} B_{k(m)}(m)$. Then B is measurable. By countable subadditivity, we get $\mu B \leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \mu B_{k(m)}(m) \leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon/2^m = \varepsilon$. For every $\delta > 0$, let $m > 1/\delta$. Now take any $n \geq k(m)$, and $x \in X \setminus B$. We have $x \notin B_{k(m)}(m)$, i.e. $x \notin A_n(m)$, or $\|f_n(x) - f(x)\| < \frac{1}{m} < \delta$. This proves $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $X \setminus B$.

21-7.11. **Corollary** If $f_n \to f$, μ -ae on a σ -finite set M; then there are disjoint decent sets A_j and a null set N such that $M = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \cup N$ and that $f_n \to f$ uniformly on each A_j .

<u>Proof</u>. Write $M = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} D_j \cup D$ where D_j are disjoint decent sets and D is null. Since $f_n \to f$, μ -ae on D_j ; there is a measurable subset B_j^1 of D_j such that $|\mu|B_j^1 \leq 1$ and $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $A_j^1 = D_j \setminus B_j^1$. Inductively there is a measurable subset B_j^k of B_j^{k-1} such that $|\mu|B_j^k \leq 1/k$ and $f_n \to f$ uniformly on $A_j^k = B_j^{k-1} \setminus B_j^k$. Because $|\mu|N_j \leq |\mu|B_{jk} \leq 1/k$ for all $k, N_j = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} B_j^k$ is null and $N = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} N_j \cup D$ is also null. Since A_j^k, B_j^k are measurable subset of the decent set D_j , every A_j^k is a decent set. By construction, $f_n \to f$ uniformly on each A_j^k . From $M = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} D_j \cup D = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} (\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_j^k \cup N_j) \cup D = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_j^k \cup N$, the result follows by an enumeration of $\{A_j^k : j, k \geq 1\}$.



21-7.12. <u>Exercise</u> Show that as $n \to \infty$ the functions $\rho_{(n,\infty)} \to 0$ converges pointwise but not almost uniformly on IR. Show that x^n converges almost uniformly but not uniformly on [0, 1]. Are these two sequences of functions convergent in measure ?

21-7.13. **Theorem** Let $|\mu|(X) < \infty$. If $f_n \to f$ uniformly and if all $f_n \in L_p(\mu, F)$, then $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$ and $||f_n - f||_p \to 0$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since $f_n \to f$ uniformly, $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy uniformly. For $\varepsilon = 1$, $\exists k$, $\forall n \ge k$, $\sup_{x \in X} ||f_n(x) - f_k(x)|| \le 1$, i.e. $|f_n| \le |f_k| + 1$. Because $|\mu| X < \infty$ we

have $1 \in L_p^r$. Consequently $|f_k| + 1 \in L_p^r$. Now the result follows immediately from L_p -Dominated Convergence Theorem.

21-7.14. **Exercise** Let $f_n = g_n$ and f = g, μ -ae. Prove that if $f_n \to f$ almost uniformly, then $g_n \to g$ almost uniformly.

Exercise Which of the functions in §23-6.10 converge almost 21-7.15. uniformly?

21-8 More Than One Measure

21-8.1. Let μ, ν be vector measures on a δ -space (X, D) into a Banach space E where ID is generated by a semiring S. If $|\mu| \leq |\nu|$ on S then by §20-5.2, we have $|\mu| \leq |\nu|$ on measurable sets; hence for every ν -integrable map $f: X \to F$, the upper function |f| is $|\nu|$ -integrable; $|\mu|$ -integrable and finally μ -integrable.

<u>Theorem</u> If $f: X \to F$ is integrable for both μ and ν , then f is 21-8.2. integrable for $\mu + \nu$ and $\alpha \mu$ for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{K}$. Furthermore we have

$$\int f d(\mu + \nu) = \int f d\mu + \int f d\nu \quad \text{and} \quad \int f d(\alpha \mu) = \alpha \int f d\mu.$$

Proof. Since f is μ -integrable, the upper function |f| is integrable for $|\mu|$. Similarly |f| is integrable for $|\nu|$. From

$$\int |f| \ d|\mu + \nu| \le \int |f| \ d(|\mu| + |\nu|) = \int |f| \ d|\mu| + \int |f| \ d|\nu| < \infty.$$

|f| is integrable for $|\mu + \nu|$. Therefore f is integrable for $\mu + \nu$. Next choose simple maps f_n such that $|f_n| \leq |f|$ and $f_n \to f$. Then all f_n are integrable simple maps for $\mu, \nu, \mu + \nu$. Hence

$$\int f d(\mu + \nu) = \lim \int f_n d(\mu + \nu) = \lim \left(\int f_n d\mu + \int f_n d\nu \right)$$
$$= \lim \int f_n d\mu + \lim \int f_n d\nu = \int f d\mu + \int f d\nu.$$

The second equality is left as an exercise.

Theorem The set of all σ -finite E-measures on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) 21-8.3. forms a vector space.

Proof. Let μ, ν be two σ -finite vector measures on X. There are disjoint decent sets A_1, A_2, \dots and a μ -null set M such that $X = M \cup \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i$. Since M is a measurable subset of the ν - σ -finite set X, M is itself ν - σ -finite. There are disjoint decent sets B_1, B_2, \cdots and a ν -null set N such that $M = N \cup (\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j)$.

So we obtain $X = \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i\right) \cup \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j\right) \cup N$. Since N is null for both μ, ν , we have $|\mu|(N \cap D) = |\nu|(N \cap D) = 0$ and hence

$$|\mu + \nu|(N \cap D) \le |\mu|(N \cap D) + |\nu|(N \cap D) = 0, \qquad \forall \ D \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Therefore N is null for $\mu + \nu$. Consequently $\mu + \nu$ is σ -finite. Similarly $\alpha \mu$ is σ -finite for each $\alpha \in \mathbb{K}$. This completes the proof.

21-9 Integration on Subspaces

21-9.1. Let (X, \mathbb{D}) be a δ -space and $\mathbb{I}(X)$ the family of all measurable sets of X. We shall study the induced structures on a measurable subset Q of X. Let F, E, FE be Banach spaces with an admissible bilinear map $F \times E \to FE$.

21-9.2. <u>Theorem</u> (a) The family $\mathbb{D}(Q) = \{A \cap Q : A \in \mathbb{D}\}$ is a δ -ring over Q. Furthermore, we have $\mathbb{D}(Q) \subset \mathbb{D}$. It is natural to call Q together with $\mathbb{D}(Q)$, a measurable subspace of X.

(b) The family $\mathbb{I}(Q) = \{ H \cap Q : H \in \mathbb{I}(X) \}$ consists of precisely all measurable sets of the measurable subspace Q.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) Since the inverse images of the inclusion map f(x) = x from Q into \overline{X} preserves unions, intersections and relative complements, $\mathbb{D}(Q)$ is a δ -ring. Because Q is measurable, we have $\mathbb{D}(Q) \subset \mathbb{D}$.

(b) Let $\mathbb{N}(Q)$ denote the family of all measurable sets of the measurable subspace Q. Take any $H \in \mathbb{M}(X)$ and $B \in \mathbb{D}(Q)$. Then $B = A \cap Q$ for some $A \in \mathbb{D}(X)$. Thus $H \cap A \in \mathbb{D}$ and $(H \cap A) \cap Q \in \mathbb{D}(Q)$, i.e. $(H \cap Q) \cap B \in \mathbb{D}(Q)$. Hence $\mathbb{M}(Q) \subset \mathbb{N}(Q)$. Conversely, take any $H \in \mathbb{N}(Q)$ and $A \in \mathbb{D}$. Then we have $A \cap Q \in \mathbb{D}(Q)$ and $H \cap A = (H \cap Q) \cap A = H \cap (A \cap Q) \in \mathbb{D}(Q) \subset \mathbb{D}$. Thus $H \in \mathbb{M}(X)$, or $H = H \cap Q \in \mathbb{M}(Q)$. Therefore $\mathbb{N}(Q) \subset \mathbb{M}(Q)$.

21-9.3. <u>Theorem</u> The restriction of a decent map $f : X \to F$ to Q is a decent map on the measurable subspace $(Q, \mathbb{D}(Q))$ which will be denoted by Q for simplicity. The same is true for simple maps, measurable maps and upper functions.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $g: X \to F$ be a map of the form $g = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in F$ and $A_j \subset X$. Then the restriction $h: Q \to F$ is given by $h = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j \cap Q}$. If all $A_j \in \mathbb{D}$, then $A_j \cap Q \in \mathbb{D}(Q)$. Hence if g is a decent map on X, then his a decent map on Q. The same result holds for simple maps. Suppose that f is a measurable map on X. Take any decent subset A of X. Choose simple maps $g_n \to f$ on A. Then all $g_n | Q$ are simple maps on Q and $g_n | Q \to f | Q$ on
$A \cap Q$. Therefore f|Q is measurable. We leave the case of upper functions as an exercise.

21-9.4. For every map $g: Q \to F$, define $g\rho_Q: X \to F$ by $(g\rho_Q)(x) = g(x)$ if $x \in Q$ and $(g\rho_Q)(x) = 0$, otherwise. It is easy to prove that g is measurable on Q iff $g\rho_Q$ is measurable on X. Similar criterion holds for an extended function $h: Q \to [0, \infty]$ to be upper functions.

21-9.5. **Exercise** Let $Q = \bigcup_n Q_n$ be a countable union of measurable sets Q_n of X. Prove that a map $f: Q \to F$ is measurable on Q iff f is measurable on each Q_n . Also prove the case for upper functions.

21-9.6. Let μ be an *E*-measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) and Q a measurable set. Because of $\mathbb{D}(Q) \subset \mathbb{D}$, the restriction of μ to $\mathbb{D}(Q)$ is a well-defined measure. For simplicity, this restriction of μ to $\mathbb{D}(Q)$ is again denoted by μ . A map $f: X \to F$ is said to be *integrable on* Q if $f\rho_Q$ is integrable on X. In this case, write $\int_Q f d\mu = \int f\rho_Q d\mu$. A map $g: Q \to F$ is said to be *integrable on* Q if $g\rho_Q$ is integrable on X. The same convention for upper functions and their integrals on Q are defined.

21-9.7. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if Q is a null set of X, then every measurable map f on X is integrable on Q. Furthermore, $\int_{Q} f d\mu = 0$.

21-9.8. <u>Exercise</u> Let $M \subset N$ be measurable sets. Prove that if $f: N \to F$ is integrable on N, then it is integrable on M.

21-9.9. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let $Q = \bigcup_n Q_n$ be a countable union of *disjoint* measurable sets of X. If f is integrable on each Q_n such that $\sum_n \int_{Q_n} |f| \ d|\mu| < \infty$, then f is integrable on Q. Furthermore, we have $\int_Q f d\mu = \sum_n \int_{Q_n} f d\mu$. Similar statement holds for upper functions.

Proof. The integral of the upper function $|f\rho_Q|$ is given by

$$\int |f\rho_Q| \ d|\mu| = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int |f\rho_{Q_n}| \ d|\mu| < \infty.$$

Therefore $f\rho_Q$ is $|\mu|$ -integrable on X, or equivalently f is μ -integrable on Q. Finally we shall prove the equality for infinite sequence $\{Q_n\}$ while the finite case is left as an exercise. Since $\{Q_n\}$ are disjoint, $|f\rho_Q| = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |f\rho_{Q_n}|$ is integrable. Integration term by term gives

$$\int_{Q} f d\mu = \int f \rho_{Q} d\mu = \int \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f \rho_{Q_{n}} d\mu = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int f \rho_{Q_{n}} d\mu = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{Q_{n}} f d\mu. \Box$$

21-9.10. **Exercise** Let f be a map on [a, b] into F. Prove that if f is (Lebesgue) integrable on one of the following intervals (a, b], [a, b], (a, b], [a, b), then it is integrable on all of them. Furthermore, we have

$$\int_{(a,b]} f(x)dx = \int_{[a,b]} f(x)dx = \int_{(a,b)} f(x)dx = \int_{[a,b]} f(x)dx$$

21-9.11. **Exercise** Let f be an integrable map on an interval [a, b]. Define $\int_a^b f(x)dx = \int_{[a,b]} f(x)dx$. Prove that if $a \leq \alpha < \beta \leq b$, then f is integrable on $[\alpha,\beta]$. In this case, write $\int_{\beta}^{\alpha} f(x)dx = -\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} f(x)dx$. Prove that for all $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in [a,b]$, we have $\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} f(x)dx = \int_{\alpha}^{\gamma} f(x)dx + \int_{\gamma}^{\beta} f(x)dx$.

21-9.12. **Exercise** Let f be an integrable map on [a, b] into F. Prove that if f is continuous at $c \in (a, b)$, then the map g on [a, b] given by $g(x) = \int_a^x f(t)dt$ is differentiable at c. Furthermore, we have g'(c) = f(c).

21-9.13. **Exercise** Let f, g be continuous maps on [a, b] into F. Suppose that for every $x \in (a, b)$, g is differentiable at x and g'(x) = f(x). Prove that the Lebesgue integral can be evaluated by $\int_a^b f(x)dx = g(b) - g(a)$ as in elementary calculus. Evaluate the Lebesgue integral $\int_0^{\pi} x \sin x dx$.

21-9.14. <u>Exercise</u> Note that if f is integrable on (0, 1], then $f\rho_{(0,1]}$ is Lebesgue integrable but it has nothing to do with the *improper integral*. Let f be defined on (0, 1] by $f(x) = n(-1)^n$ whenever $\frac{1}{n+1} < x \leq \frac{1}{n}$. Show that the improper integral $\lim_{e \downarrow 0} \int_{e}^{1} f(x) dx$ exist but f is not integrable on (0, 1].

21-9.15. <u>Exercise</u> Note that if f is integrable on $[1, \infty)$, then $f\rho_{[1,\infty)}$ is Lebesgue integrable but it has nothing to do with the *improper integral*. Let f be defined on $[1,\infty)$ by $f(x) = \frac{(-1)^n}{n}$ whenever $n \le x < n+1$. Show that the improper integral $\lim_{b\to\infty} \int_1^b f(x) dx$ exists but f is not integrable on $[1,\infty)$.

21-9.16. <u>Exercise</u> Show that if $f \in L_1^r(\mathbb{R})$, then so is $\frac{\sin x}{x} f(x)$.

21-99. <u>**References and Further Readings**</u>: Dinculeanu-67, Diestel-77, Duchon, Taylor-65, Okikiolu, Figiel, Mikusinski, Rao-91,93, Byers, Dorbrakov and Pallu.

Chapter 22

Finite Products of Measures

22-1 Product Measurable Spaces

22-1.1. Semirings, decent sets and Unique Extension Theorem provide the natural and elegant tools for the study of the product structures. In this section, we only deal with geometric aspects. In this chapter, integrands are restricted to scalar functions. Further investigation on vector integrands is required. Let S, T be semirings over sets X, Y respectively.

22-1.2. <u>Theorem</u> The product family $S \times \mathcal{T} = \{A \times B : A \in S, B \in \mathcal{T}\}$ is a semiring over the product set $X \times Y$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $A \times B$, $S \times T$ be in $S \times \mathcal{T}$. Write $A \setminus S = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} A_i$ and $\overline{B \setminus T} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} B_j$. Then the definition of semirings can be verified easily by the identities $(A \times B) \cap (S \times T) = (A \cap S) \times (B \cap T)$ and

$$(A \times B) \setminus (S \times T) = [(A \setminus S) \times B] \cup [(A \cap S) \times (B \setminus T)]$$
$$= \left[\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} (A_i \times B)\right] \cup \left[\bigcup_{j=1}^{n} (A \cap S) \times B_j\right].$$

22-1.3. Let $\mathcal{R}(S)$, $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{T})$, $\mathcal{R}(S \times \mathcal{T})$ be the rings generated by S, \mathcal{T} , $S \times \mathcal{T}$ respectively. Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathbb{D}(S)$, $\mathcal{B} = \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{T})$, $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} = \mathbb{D}(S \times \mathcal{T})$ denote the δ -rings generated by S, \mathcal{T} , $S \times \mathcal{T}$ respectively. Sets in \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} , $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ are called *decent sets* of X, Y, $X \times Y$ respectively. The families of measurable sets of \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} , $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ are denoted by $\mathbb{M}(\mathcal{A})$, $\mathbb{M}(\mathcal{B})$, $\mathbb{M}(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B})$ respectively.

22-1.4. **Exercise** (a) Prove that $\Re(\mathbb{S} \times \mathcal{T}) = \Re[\Re(\mathbb{S}) \times \Re(\mathcal{T})]$.

(b) Prove that if f, g are step functions on X, Y respectively; then so is the function on $X \times Y$ defined by $(f \otimes g)(x, y) = f(x)g(y)$.

22-1.5. <u>Theorem</u> Products of decent sets are decent sets.

<u>Proof</u>. To prove $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$, take any $B \in \mathcal{T}$. Define $\mathcal{E} = \{P \in \mathcal{A} : P \times B \in \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}\}.$ Then the following identities

$$(A \cup P) \times B = (A \times B) \cup (P \times B)$$
$$(\bigcap_n A_n) \times B = \bigcap_n (A_n \times B)$$
and
$$(A \setminus P) \times B = (A \times B) \setminus [(A \cap P) \times B]$$

show that \mathcal{E} is a δ -ring. Since $\mathbb{S} \times \{B\} \subset \mathbb{D}(\mathbb{S} \times \mathcal{T}) = \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$, we have $\mathbb{S} \subset \mathcal{E}$ and consequently $\mathcal{A} = \mathbb{D}(\mathbb{S}) \subset \mathcal{E}$, i.e. $\mathcal{A} \times \{B\} \subset \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$. Similarly take any $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}$ and define $\mathcal{F} = \{T \in \mathcal{B} : \mathcal{A} \times T \in \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}\}$. Then \mathcal{F} is a δ -ring containing \mathcal{T} and hence $\mathcal{B} = \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{T}) \subset \mathcal{F}$ which is equivalent to the required statement. \Box

22-1.6. **Exercise** Prove that if f, g are decent functions; then so is $f \otimes g$.

22-1.7. <u>Corollary</u> $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ is the δ -ring generated by the semiring $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. It follows from last theorem that $\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}) \subset \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$. On the other hand, since $\mathcal{S} \times \mathcal{T} \subset \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ we have $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} = \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{S} \times \mathcal{T}) \subset \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B})$. \Box

22-1.8. <u>Theorem</u> Products of measurable sets are measurable.

<u>Proof</u>. To prove $\mathbb{M}(\mathcal{A}) \times \mathbb{M}(\mathcal{B}) \subset \mathbb{M}(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B})$, let $M \in \mathbb{M}(\mathcal{A})$, $N \in \mathbb{M}(\mathcal{B})$. Take any decent sets $A \in \mathcal{A}$, $B \in \mathcal{B}$. Then

 $(M \times N) \cap (A \times B) = (M \cap A) \times (N \cap B) \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$

is a decent set of $X \times Y$. Since $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ generates $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$, it follows that $M \times N$ is a measurable set of $X \times Y$. \Box

22-1.9. **Exercise** Prove that if f, g are simple functions; then so is $f \otimes g$.

22-1.10. **Exercise** Prove that if f, g are measurable functions; then so is $f \otimes g$.

22-1.11. Let P be a subset of $X \times Y$ and (x, y) a point in $X \times Y$. Then the *x*-sections and *y*-sections of P are defined by $P_x = \{y \in Y : (x, y) \in P\}$ and $P_y = \{x \in X : (x, y) \in P\}$ respectively.

22-1.12. **Theorem** If P is a decent subset of $X \times Y$, then all x-sections P_x and all y-sections P_y are decent subsets of Y, X respectively.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $x \in X$ be given and let $\mathcal{F} = \{P \in \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} : P_x \in B\}$. The identities $(P \cup Q)_x = P_x \cup Q_x; (P \setminus Q)_x = P_x \setminus Q_x \text{ and } (\bigcap_n P_n)_x = \bigcap_n (P_n)_x \text{ show that } \mathcal{F}$ is a δ -ring. Take any $P = A \times B \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$. Then $P_x = \emptyset$ or B which are in \mathcal{B} . Hence \mathcal{F} is a δ -ring containing $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$. Since $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ is generated by $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ we have $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{F}$ which is equivalent to say that all P_x are decent subsets of Y for $P \in \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$. The other part follows by symmetry. \Box

22-1.13. <u>Theorem</u> Let x be a point in a decent subset A of X. If P is a measurable subset of $X \times Y$, then P_x is a measurable subset of Y.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let B be a decent subset of Y. Since P is measurable, $(A \times B) \cap P$ is a decent set in $A \otimes B$. Hence $B \cap P_x = [(A \times B) \cap P]_x$ is a decent set. Consequently, P_x is measurable.

22-1.14. **Exercise** Let S denote the semiring of semi-intervals of the x-axis and \mathcal{T} the semiring of singletons of the y-axis. Sketch a few sets in $\mathcal{R}(S \times \mathcal{T})$. Is the closed unit rectangle $[0, 1]^2$ a decent set in $\mathbb{D}(S \times \mathcal{T})$? Is the open unit disk a decent set in $\mathbb{D}(S \times \mathcal{T})$? Is it a σ -set in the product space \mathbb{R}^2 ? Answer the same questions for the closed unit disk. Is the closed unit disk a $\sigma\delta$ -set in \mathbb{R}^2 ? Show that the line segment $\{(x, x) : 0 < x \leq 1\}$ is a measurable set.

22-2 Product Measures

22-2.1. In earlier chapters, we used semi-rectangles to interpret the abstract theory graphically but we have not proved whether taking areas is a measure. Now we have enough tools to prove this fact. It would be nice to have a simple direct and elementary proof for this particular case. Let E_1, E_2, E be Banach spaces with an admissible bilinear map $\varphi : E_1 \times E_2 \to E$ denoted by $\varphi(u, v) = uv$. Let $(X, \mathcal{A}), (Y, \mathcal{B})$ be δ -spaces and $\mu : \mathcal{A} \to E_1, \nu : Y \to E_2$ be vector measures. Strictly speaking, for every $A \in \mathcal{A}$ and $B \in \mathcal{B}$ define $\mu \times_{\varphi} \nu = \varphi(\mu A, \nu B)$ and the measure obtained in the following theorem should be written as $\mu \otimes_{\varphi} \nu$. We drop φ in order to simplify notations.

22-2.2. <u>Theorem</u> There is a unique measure $\mu \otimes \nu$ on the product δ -space $(X \otimes Y, \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B})$ into E such that $(\mu \otimes \nu)(\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}) = (\mu \mathcal{A})(\nu \mathcal{B})$ for all $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}$, $\mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{B}$. Furthermore, we have $|\mu \otimes \nu| \leq |\mu| \otimes |\nu|$ on the product δ -ring $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$. Finally, if both μ, ν are positive measures; then so is $\mu \otimes \nu$. Note that μ, ν need not be σ -finite.

<u>Proof</u>. Define $\mu \times \nu : \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B} \to \mathbb{K}$ by $(\mu \times \nu)(\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}) = (\mu \mathcal{A})(\nu \mathcal{B})$ for all $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}$, $\overline{\mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{B}}$. Let $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_n \times \mathcal{B}_n$ be a disjoint union where $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_n \in \mathcal{A}$ and $\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{B}_n \in \mathcal{B}$. Then $\rho_{\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \rho_{\mathcal{A}_n \times \mathcal{B}_n}$, or $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}(x)\rho_{\mathcal{B}}(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \rho_{\mathcal{A}_n}(x)\rho_{\mathcal{B}_n}(y)$ for all $(x, y) \in X \times Y$. For each fixed $y, \rho_{\mathcal{A}}(x)\rho_{\mathcal{B}}(y)$ is a decent map of x and hence it is μ -integrable in x. Integrate last equation term by term with respect to μ and $|\mu|$ as follow:

$$(\mu A)\rho_B(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\mu A_n)\rho_{B_n}(y)$$
 #1

and

$$(|\mu|A)\rho_B(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (|\mu|A_n)\rho_{B_n}(y).$$

Since the right hand side of

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|(\mu A_n)\rho_{B_n}(y)\| \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (|\mu|A_n)\rho_{B_n}(y) = (|\mu|A)\rho_B(y)$$

is the decent map $(|\mu|A)\rho_B(y)$ in y, integrate the vector map in #1 term by term with respect to ν to get $(\mu A)(\nu B) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\mu A_n)(\nu B_n)$, that is $(\mu \times \nu)(A \times B) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\mu \times \nu)(A_n \times B_n)$. Therefore $\mu \times \nu$ is countably additive on the semiring $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$. Replacing μ, ν by $|\mu|, |\nu|$ respectively; $|\mu| \times |\nu|$ is also countably additive on $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$. Since $|\nu| \times |\mu| \ge 0$, it is a measure. To show that $\mu \times \nu$ is of finite variation, let $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} (A_i \times B_i) = A \times B$ be a finite partition where $A, A_i \in \mathcal{A}$ and $B, B_i \in \mathcal{B}$. Then,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|(\mu \times \nu)(A_i \times B_i)\| = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|(\mu A_i)(\nu B_i)\| \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\mu A_i\| \|\nu B_i\| \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} (|\mu|A_i)(|\nu|B_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (|\mu| \times |\nu|)(A_i \times B_i) \le (|\mu| \times |\nu|)(A \times B) < \infty$$

 $\leq \sum_{i=1} (|\mu|A_i)(|\nu|B_i) = \sum_{i=1} (|\mu| \times |\nu|)(A_i \times B_i) \leq (|\mu| \times |\nu|)(A \times B) < \infty.$ Taking supremum, we have $|\mu \times \nu|(A \times B) \leq (|\mu| \times |\nu|)(A \otimes B)$. Consequently $\mu \times \nu$ is of finite variation and we have $|\mu \times \nu| \leq |\mu| \times |\nu|$ on $A \times B$. We conclude that $\mu \times \nu$ is a measure on the semiring $A \times B$. By Unique Extension Theorem, $\mu \times \nu$ can be extended uniquely to a measure on the δ -ring $A \otimes B$. This proves the first part. Since $A \otimes B$ is the δ -ring generated by $A \times B$, we also get $|\mu \otimes \nu| \leq |\mu| \otimes |\nu|$ on $A \otimes B$. Finally if $\mu, \nu \geq 0$; then $(\mu \times \nu)(A \times B) = (\mu A)(\nu B) \geq 0$ and consequently $(\mu \otimes \nu)(D) \geq 0$ for every decent set D of $X \times Y$, that is $\mu \otimes \nu \geq 0$.

22-2.3. A bilinear map $E_1 \times E_2 \to E$ is *scalar* if $||e_1e_2|| = ||e_1|| ||e_2||$ for all $e_1 \in E_1$, $e_2 \in E_2$. This is the case if E is the tensor product of E_1, E_2 ; in particular, if E_1 or E_2 is the scalar field \mathbb{K} and the bilinear map is the scalar multiplication. Clearly every scalar bilinear map is admissible.

22-2.4. <u>**Theorem**</u> $|\mu \otimes \nu| = |\mu| \otimes |\nu|$ on the product δ -ring $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ if the bilinear map $E_1 \times E_2 \to E$ is scalar.

$$\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof.} \quad \text{Let } A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} A_i \text{ and } B = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} B_j \text{ be disjoint unions where } A, A_i \in \mathcal{A} \\ \overline{\text{and } B}, B_j \in \mathcal{B}. \text{ Then } A \times B = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} A_i \times B_j \text{ is a disjoint union. Observe} \\ \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\mu A_i\| \right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\nu B_j\| \right) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\mu A_i\| \|\nu B_j\| \\ = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|(\mu A_i) \otimes (\nu B_j)\| & \text{by given condition} \\ = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |(\mu \times \nu)(A_i \times B_j)| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mu \times \nu|(A_i \times B_j) \\ = |\mu \times \nu|(A \times B). \end{array}$$

Taking supremum over all finite partitions of A, B by A_i, B_j respectively; we have $(|\mu| \times |\nu|)(A \times B) = |\mu|(A) \ |\nu|(B) \le |\mu \times \nu|(A \times B)$. Therefore we have $|\mu| \times |\nu| \le |\mu \times \nu|$ on $A \times B$. Consequently, $|\mu \otimes \nu| = |\mu| \otimes |\nu|$ on $A \otimes B$.

22-2.5. **Exercise** Let $E_1 = E_2 = E = \mathbb{R}$ and μ, ν the Lebesgue measure. Suppose that $(u, v) \to uv : E_1 \times E_2 \to E$ is defined by uv = 0 for all $u \in E_1$ and $v \in E_2$. For A = B = (1, 3], compare $|\mu \times \nu| (A \times B)$ and $(|\mu|A)(|\nu|B)$. \Box

22-2.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let M, N be measurable subsets of X, Y respectively. If either M or N is null, then $M \times N$ is null.

Proof. Take any
$$A \times B \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$$
. Then we have
 $|\mu \otimes \nu| [(A \times B) \cap (M \times N)]$
 $\leq |\mu| \otimes |\nu| [(A \cap M) \times (B \cap N)] = |\mu|(A \cap M) |\nu|(B \cap N) = 0.$

It follows from §20-3.7 that $M \times N$ is $\mu \otimes \nu$ -null.

22-2.7. <u>Theorem</u> If both M, N are σ -finite sets of X, Y respectively; then $M \times N$ is σ -finite.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Write $M = \bigcup_{i=0}^{\infty} M_i$ and $N = \bigcup_{j=0}^{\infty} N_j$ where M_0, N_0 are null sets for μ, ν and M_i, N_i for $i \ge 1$ are decent subsets of X, Y respectively. Then

$$M \times N = \left[\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} (M_i \times N_j)\right] \cup (M \times N_0) \cup (M_0 \times N).$$

The first term is a countable union of decent sets in $X \times Y$ and the last two are null set by last theorem. Therefore $M \times N$ is σ -finite.

22-2.8. **Exercise** Prove that $\mu \otimes \nu$ is linear in μ, ν separately.

22-2.9. **Exercise** Let μ, ν be the counting measure on the set \mathbb{N} of natural numbers $1, 2, 3, \cdots$ weighted by complex functions f, g respectively. Describe the product measure $\mu \otimes \nu$ on the product space \mathbb{N}^2 in terms of $f \otimes g$.

22-3 Repeated Integrals

22-3.1. Let E_1, E_2, E be Banach spaces with an admissible bilinear map $E_1 \times E_2 \to E$. Let $(X, \mathcal{A}), (Y, \mathcal{B})$ be δ -spaces and let $\mu : \mathcal{A} \to E_1, \nu : Y \to E_2$ be vector measures. For convenience, decent sets in $X \times Y$ which are countable unions of sets in $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ are called σ -product sets. Countable intersections of σ -product sets are called $\sigma\delta$ -product sets. For convenience, we shall restrict ourselves to scalar functions in this section.

22-3.2. **Lemma** Let D be a decent subset of $M \times N \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$. Then the measure μD_y of y-section D_y is a ν -integrable map of $y \in Y$. Furthermore,

$$(\mu\otimes\nu)(D)=\int_Y\mu D_yd\nu(y)$$

<u>Proof.</u> Case 1: Assume $D = A \times B$ where $A \in \mathcal{A}$ and $B \in \mathcal{B}$. If $y \in B$ then $D_y = A$ and $\rho_B(y) = 1$. If $y \notin B$ then $D_y = \emptyset$ and $\mu D_y = 0 = \rho_B(y)$. In both cases, we have $\mu D_y = (\mu A)\rho_B(y)$ which is a decent map on Y. Hence it is ν -integrable on Y and

$$(\mu \otimes \nu)(D) = (\mu A)(\nu B) = \int_Y (\mu A)\rho_B(y)d\nu(y) = \int_Y \mu D_y d\nu(y).$$

Case 2: Assume that $D = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n$ is a σ -product set where each $D_n \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$. Since $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ is a semiring, we may assume $\{D_n\}$ to be *disjoint*. Then $D_y = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} D_{ny}$ is a disjoint union of decent sets of Y. Applying the measures $|\mu|$ and μ , we have

$$|\mu|D_y = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\mu|D_{ny} \quad \text{and} \quad \mu D_y = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu D_{ny}. \qquad \#1$$

By Case 1, both $|\mu|D_{ny}$ and μD_{ny} are integrable in y for $|\nu|$ and ν respectively. Observe

$$\int_{Y} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|\mu D_{ny}\| \ d|\nu|(y) \le \int_{Y} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\mu| D_{ny} d|\mu|(y)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{Y} |\mu| D_{ny} d|\nu|(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (|\mu| \times |\nu|) D_{n} = (|\mu| \times |\nu|) D < \infty.$$

It follows that #1 is a ν -integrable map in y and

$$\int_{Y} \nu D_{y} d\nu(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{Y} \mu D_{ny} d\nu(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\mu \otimes \nu) D_{n} = (\mu \otimes \nu) D.$$

Case 3: Assume that D is a $\sigma\delta$ -product set. Then there are σ -product set $D_n \downarrow D$. Clearly $Q_n = D_n \cap (M \times N)$ is again a σ -product set and $Q_n \downarrow D$. Since $Q_n \subset M \times N$, every Q_n is a decent subset of $X \times Y$ so that Case 2 is applicable to Q_n . Hence, $\|\mu Q_{ny}\| \leq |\mu| Q_{ny} \leq |\mu| (M \times N)_y = (|\mu| M) \rho_N(y)$. By Dominated Convergence Theorem, $\mu D_y = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu Q_{ny}$ is ν -integrable in y. Furthermore, we have

$$(\mu \otimes \nu)D = \lim_{n \to \infty} (\mu \otimes \nu)Q_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_Y \mu Q_{ny} d\nu(y) = \int_Y \mu D_y d\nu(y).$$

Case 4: Assume $|\mu \otimes \nu|(D) = 0$. Then for each $n \ge 1$ there is $A_j^n \times B_j^n \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ such that $D \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} (A_j^n \times B_j^n)$ and $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\mu \otimes \nu|(A_j^n \times B_j^n) \le \frac{1}{n}$. Let

$$H_n = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} (A_j^n \times B_j^n) \cap (M \times N)$$

and $H = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n$. Then $D \subset H \subset H_n \subset M \times N$. Observe that

$$|\mu \otimes \nu|(H) \le |\mu \otimes \nu|(H_n) \le \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\mu \otimes \nu|(A_j^n \times B_j^n) \le \frac{1}{n}$$

i.e. $|\mu \otimes \nu|(H) = 0$. Since H is a $\sigma\delta$ -product subset of $M \times N$, applying Case 3 to $|\mu| \otimes |\nu|$ we have

$$\int_{Y} |\mu| H_{y} d|\nu|(y) = (|\mu| \otimes |\nu|)(H) = |\mu \otimes \nu|(H) = 0,$$
$$|\mu D_{y}| \le |\mu|(D_{y}) \le |\mu|(H_{y}) = 0, \text{ ν-ae},$$

i.e.

or $\mu D_y = 0$, ν -ae. Consequently, $\int_Y \mu D_y d\nu(y) = 0 = (\mu \otimes \nu)(D)$.

Case 5: In general, there is a $\sigma\delta$ -product set H and a $\mu \otimes \nu$ -null set N such that $D \cup N = H \subset M \times N$, $D \cap N = \emptyset$ and $|\mu \otimes \nu|(N) = 0$. Then

$$\mu D_y = \mu (H \setminus N)_y = \mu (H_y \setminus N_y) = \mu H_y - \mu N_y$$

is ν -integrable in y. Furthermore,

$$\begin{split} \int_{Y} \nu D_{y} d\nu(y) &= \int_{Y} \nu H_{y} d\nu(y) - \int_{Y} \mu N_{y} d\nu(y) \\ &= (\mu \otimes \nu)(H) - (\mu \otimes \nu)(N) = (\mu \otimes \nu)(D). \end{split}$$

22-3.3. Lemma Let $f: X \times Y \to \mathbb{K}$ be a decent function.

(a) For each $y \in Y$, f(x, y) is μ -integrable in x on X.

(b) The map $\int_{V} f(x, y) d\mu(x)$ is ν -integrable in y on Y.

(c)
$$\int f d(\mu \otimes \nu) = \int_{Y} \left[\int_{X} f d\mu \right] d\nu$$

<u>Proof.</u> Take any decent subset D of $X \times Y$. There are disjoint sets $\overline{H_i} = M_i \times N_i \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ such that $D \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n H_i$. Then $D = \bigcup_{i=1}^n (D \cap H_i)$ is a disjoint union of decent sets. By last lemma, $\rho_{(D \cap H_i)y}(x) = \rho_{D \cap H_i}(x, y)$ is μ -integrable in x on X and hence so is $\rho_D(x, y) = \sum_{i=1}^n \rho_{D \cap H_i}(x, y)$. The map

$$\int_{X} \rho_{D}(x, y) d\mu(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{X} \rho_{D \cap H_{i}}(x, y) d\mu(x)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{X} \rho_{(D \cap H_{i})y}(x) d\mu(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu(D \cap H_{i})y$$

is a ν -integrable in y on Y. Furthermore

$$\int \rho_D d\mu \otimes \nu = \int \sum_{i=1}^n \rho_{D \cap H_i} d\mu \otimes \nu = \sum_{i=1}^n \int \rho_{D \cap H_i} d\mu \otimes \nu$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^n (\mu \otimes \nu) (D \cap H_i) = \sum_{i=1}^n \int_Y \mu(D \cap H_i)_y d\nu(y)$$
$$= \int_Y \sum_{i=1}^n \mu(D \cap H_i)_y d\nu(y) = \int_Y \left[\int_X \rho_D(x, y) d\mu(x) \right] d\nu(y).$$

The proof is completed by linearity in f.

426

22-3.4. In order to express a double integrals in terms of repeated integrals. we have to deal with maps which are not defined everywhere but merely defined almost everywhere. Let μ be a measure on a δ -space (X, \mathcal{A}) . Let f be a map defined only on a subset of X with values in F. A measurable set M is called a μ -domain of f if $X \setminus M$ is a μ -null set and for each $x \in M$, $f(x) \in F$ is well-defined. The map f is called a μ -map, or equivalently f is said to be defined μ -ae if f has at least one μ -domain. For every μ -domain M of a μ -map, define $f\rho_M(x) = f(x)$ if $x \in M$ and $f\rho_M(x) = 0$, otherwise. Then a μ -map f is said to be μ -measurable if there is a μ -domain M such that $f\rho_M$ is measurable and μ -integrable if $f \rho_M$ is μ -integrable. It can be proved that if f is μ -integrable (respectively μ -measurable), then so is $f\rho_N$ for every μ -domain N of f. Furthermore, $\int f \rho_N d\mu$ is independent of the choice of N and hence the integral $\int f d\mu = \int f \rho_N d\mu$ is well-defined. Properties of measurable and μ -integrable maps can be trivially extended to μ -maps. For example, f = 0, μ -ae means $f\rho_M = 0$, μ -ae. Clearly, every sequence of μ -maps has a common μ -domain which facilitates the algebraic and limiting operations.

22-3.5. Let $f: X \times Y \to \mathbb{K}$ be a function satisfying the following conditions. (a) For ν -almost all $y \in Y$, f(x, y) is an upper function of $x \in X$ if $\mu \ge 0$; or a μ -integrable function of x for arbitrary μ .

(b) The integral $\int f(x, y)d\mu(x)$ is an upper function of $y \in Y$ if $\nu \ge 0$; or a ν -integrable map of y for arbitrary ν . In this case, the value of repeated integral in this order is denoted by $\int \int f(x, y)d\mu(x)d\nu(y)$, or $\int \int fd\mu d\nu$.

22-3.6. A function f on $X \times Y$ is said to be μ - σ -finite on X if f is concentrated on some μ - σ -finite subset M of X, i.e. for every $x \in X \setminus M$ and for every $y \in Y$, f(x, y) = 0. Clearly if X is μ - σ -finite, then every function is μ - σ -finite on X. Similarly ν - σ -finiteness on Y is also defined.

22-3.7. **Exercise** In \mathbb{R}^2 , let x-axis be equipped with the counting measure μ on the semiring \mathcal{A} of singletons and y-axis with the Lebesgue measure ν on the semiring \mathcal{B} of semi-intervals. Sketch a few sets in $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ and find their product measure. Show that $N = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x = y, \ 0 < x \leq 1\}$ is a measurable set. Verify that $\int \rho_N d(\mu \otimes \nu) = (\mu \otimes \nu)N = 0$ but $\int \int \rho_N d\mu d\nu = 1$. Is $\rho_N \ \mu$ - σ -finite on the x-axis? What is the outer measure $(\mu \times \nu)^*(N)$?

22-3.8. Lemma Let f be a measurable function on $X \times Y$. If f is σ -finite on X and Y, then there are null subsets H of X, K of Y and a sequence of decent

functions f_n on $X \times Y$ such that $|f_n| \leq |f_{n+1}| \leq |f|$ on $X \times Y$ and $f_n \to f$ outside the set $(H \times Y) \cup (X \times K)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $g_n : X \times Y \to F$ be simple functions such that $|g_n| \leq |g_{n+1}| \leq |f|$ and $g_n \to f$ on $X \times Y$. For σ -finiteness of f on X and Y, there are decent subsets $A_n \subset A_{n+1}$ of X, $B_n \subset B_{n+1}$ of Y and null subsets H of X, K of Y respectively such that f is concentrated on $M = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \cup H$ and $N = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n \cup K$. Then $f_n = g_n \rho_{A_n \times B_n}$ are decent functions on $X \times Y$ satisfying $|f_n| \leq |f_{n+1}| \leq |f|$ on $X \times Y$. Clearly if $x \in X \setminus M$ or if $y \in Y \setminus N$ then f(x, y) = 0 and thus $f_n(x, y) = 0$. Also if $x \in M \setminus H$ and $y \in N \setminus K$ then $(x, y) \in A_j \times B_j$ for some j, hence $f_n(x, y) = g_n(x, y) \to f(x, y)$ as $j \leq n \to \infty$. Therefore $f_n \to f$ outside $(H \times Y) \cup (X \times K)$.

22-3.9. **Fubini's Theorem** If f is a $(|\mu| \otimes |\nu|)$ -integrable function on $X \times Y$ and if f is σ -finite on X and Y, then the repeated integral exists. Furthermore we have $\int f d(\mu \otimes \nu) = \int \int f d\mu d\nu$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let f_n, H, K be constructed by last lemma. It follows from that both $g_n(y) = \int f_n(x, y) d\mu(x)$ and $h_n(y) = \int |f_n(x, y)| d|\mu|(x)$ are ν -integrable on Y. Since $|f_n| \leq |f_{n+1}|, h = \sup_{n>1} h_n$ is an upper function on X. Observe

$$\int h_n d|\nu| = \int d|\nu| \int |f_n| \ d|\mu| = \int |f_n| \ d|\mu| \otimes |\nu| \leq \int |f| \ d|\mu| \otimes |\nu| < \infty.$$

By Monotone Convergence Theorem, h is ν -integrable. There is a null subset L of Y such that $0 \leq h(y) < \infty$ for every $y \in Y \setminus L$. Without loss of generality, assume $K \subset L$. Fix any $y \in Y \setminus L$ and let x vary. Then for each $y \in Y \setminus K$, $|f_n(x,y)| \uparrow |f(x,y)| \text{ as } n \to \infty$. Hence $\int |f_n(x,y)| d|\mu|(x) = h_n(y) \leq h(y) < \infty$. By Monotone Convergence Theorem, |f(x,y)| is $|\mu|$ -integrable in x, i.e. f(x,y) is μ -integrable in x. Thus, $g(y) = \int f(x,y)d\mu(x)$ exists for each $y \in Y \setminus L$. By Dominated Convergence Theorem,

$$g_n(y) = \int f_n(x,y)d\mu(x) \to \int f(x,y)d\mu(x) = g(y).$$

Hence g is a ν -function and $g_n \to g$, ν -ae as $n \to \infty$. Since

$$|g_n(y)| = \left| \int f_n(x, y) d\mu(x) \right| \le \int |f_n(x, y)| \ d|\mu|(x) = h_n(y) \le h(y),$$

Dominated Convergence Theorem ensures that g is ν -integrable. Furthermore, because $|f_n| \leq |f|$, $f_n \to f$ and f is $\mu \otimes \nu$ -integrable, we have

$$\int \int f d\mu d\nu = \int g(y) d\nu(y) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n(y) d\nu(y)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int d\nu(y) \int f_n(x, y) d\mu(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int f_n(x, y) d(\mu \otimes \nu)(x, y)$$
$$= \int f(x, y) d(\mu \otimes \nu)(x, y) = \int f d(\mu \otimes \nu).$$

22-3.10. **Tonelli's Theorem** Let f be an upper function on $X \times Y$ and let μ, ν be *positive* measures. If f is σ -finite on X and Y, then the repeated

integral exists. Furthermore, we have
$$\int f d(\mu \otimes \nu) = \int \int f d\mu d\nu$$

<u>Proof</u>. After trivial modification of last theorem, there are null sets H of X, \overline{K} of Y and a sequence of decent functions f_n on $X \times Y$ such that $0 \leq f_n \leq f_{n+1} \leq f$ and $f_n \uparrow f$ outside the null set $(H \times Y) \cup (X \times K)$. The following is a simplified version of last theorem. Now $g_n(y) = \int f_n(x, y) d\mu(x)$ is ν -integrable on X and clearly $0 \leq g_n \leq g_{n+1}$. Fix any $y \in Y \setminus K$ and let x vary. Then for each $x \in X \setminus H$, $f_n(x, y) \uparrow f(x, y)$ as $n \to \infty$. Hence $g(y) = \int f(x, y) d\mu(x)$ exists in $[0, \infty]$ and $0 \leq g_n \uparrow g$. Finally,

$$\int \int f d\mu d\nu = \int g d\nu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n d\nu$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int d\nu \int f_n d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int f_n d\mu \otimes \nu = \int f d\mu \otimes \nu.$$

22-3.11. Usually we work with σ -finite measures μ, ν . In this case, all functions on $X \times Y$ are σ -finite on both X, Y.

22-3.12. Integration in Reversed Order With more precise notations of \S 17-2.10, 22-2.1, the Fubini's and Tonelli's theorems, give the following identity

$$\int f d(\mu \otimes_{\varphi} \nu) = \int_{\varphi} \left(\int f d\mu, d\nu \right) = \int_{\varphi} \left(d\mu, \int f d\nu \right).$$

22-3.13. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the characteristic function f of xy-axes is an upper function on \mathbb{R}^2 . Find its repeated integrals.

22-3.14. <u>Exercise</u> Evaluate the repeated integrals of $f(x, y) = (x - y)/(x + y)^3$ for $0 \le x, y \le 1$.

22-3.15. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the repeated integral $\int_0^1 \int_0^\infty e^{-x} \cos tx dx dt$ exists. Show that $\int_0^\infty e^{-x} \frac{\sin x}{x} dx = \frac{1}{4}\pi$ by changing the order of integral. 22-3.16. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ, ν be vector measures on X, Y respectively and f a measurable function on $X \times Y$. Show that if $\int \int |f| d|\mu| \otimes |\nu| < \infty$

or
$$\int d|\mu| \int |f| \ d|\nu| < \infty$$
, then f is integrable on $X \times Y$.

22-3.17. <u>Exercise</u> Show that if $\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} (\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\alpha_{mn}|) < \infty$ where $\alpha_{mn} \in \mathbb{C}$, then both sums $\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} (\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{mn})$ and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{mn})$ exist and they are equal.

22-3.18. **Theorem** If μ, ν are vector measures on δ -spaces X, Y respectively and if f, g are integrable functions on X, Y into \mathbb{K} respectively; then $f \otimes g$ is integrable on $X \times Y$. Furthermore we have $\int f \otimes g d\mu \otimes \nu = (\int f d\mu) (\int g d\nu)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since f is μ -integrable, there are decent functions f_n on X such that $|f_n| \leq |f_{n+1}| \leq |f|$ and $f_n \to f$, μ -ae. There is a μ -null set $M \subset X$ satisfying $f_n(x) \to f(x)$ for all $x \in X \setminus M$. Similarly, there are decent functions g_n on Y and a ν -null set $N \subset Y$ such that $|g_n| \leq |g_{n+1}| \leq |g|$ and $g_n(y) \to g(y)$ for all $y \in Y \setminus N$. Then $H = (X \times N) \cup (M \times Y)$ is $\mu \otimes \nu$ -null. Clearly, $f_n \otimes g_n \to f \otimes g$ on $X \times Y \setminus H$. Observe that

$$|(f_n \otimes g_n)(x,y)| = |f_n(x)g_n(y)| = |f_n(x)| |g_n(y)| \le |f(x)| |g(y)| = |(f \otimes g)(x,y)|.$$

With trivial modification, we obtain $|f_n \otimes g_n| \leq |f_{n+1} \otimes g_{n+1}|$. Therefore $|f_n \otimes g_n| \uparrow |f \otimes g|, \mu \otimes \nu$ -ae. Now calculate,

$$\int |f_n \otimes g_n| \ d|\mu \otimes \nu| \le \int |f_n| \ |g_n| \ d|\mu| \otimes |\nu| = \int \left(\int |f_n| \ |g_n| \ d|\mu| \right) d|\nu|$$
$$= \left(\int |f_n| \ d|\mu| \right) \left(\int |g_n| \ d|\nu| \right) \le \left(\int |f| \ d|\mu| \right) \left(\int |g| \ d|\nu| \right) < \infty.$$

Hence $|f \otimes g|$ is $|\mu \otimes \nu|$ -integrable, or $f \otimes g$ is $\mu \otimes \nu$ -integrable. Since f, g are σ -finite on X, Y respectively; $f \otimes g$ is σ -finite on X and Y. Finally we have

$$\int f \otimes g d\mu \otimes \nu = \int \int f(x)g(y)d\mu(x)d\nu(y)$$
$$= \int g(y) \int f(x)d\mu(x)d\nu(y) = \left(\int f d\mu\right) \left(\int g d\nu\right).$$

22-3.19. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ, ν be vector measures on δ -spaces X, Y respectively. Then for every $1 \leq p < \infty$, every function f in $L_p(X \times Y, \mu \otimes \nu, F)$ can be approximated by finite sums of functions of the form $\alpha \rho_A \rho_B$ where $\alpha \in \mathbb{K}$ and A, B are decent subsets of X, Y respectively. Furthermore, if f and μ, ν are positive (or real); then all α can be chosen as positive (or real respectively).

<u>Proof</u>. Consider a special case first. Let $f = \rho_D$ where D is a decent subset of $X \times Y$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are finite number of decent sets $A_j \subset X$ and $B_j \subset Y$ such that $\{A_j \times B_j\}$ are disjoint and $(|\mu| \otimes |\nu|)(D \triangle E) \leq \varepsilon$ where

 $E = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} A_j \times B_j$. Then $g_j = \rho_{A_j}$ and $h_j = \rho_{B_j}$ are decent functions on X, Y respectively. The following calculation proves the special case:

$$\begin{split} & \left\| f - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{j} \otimes h_{j} \right\|_{p}^{p} = \int \left| f - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{j} \otimes h_{j} \right|^{p} d|\mu \otimes \nu| \\ & = \int \left(\rho_{D \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} A_{j} \times B_{j}} + \rho_{\bigcup_{j=1}^{n} A_{j} \times B_{j} \setminus D} \right) d|\mu \otimes \nu| \\ & = \int \rho_{D \triangle E} d|\mu \otimes \nu| \leq \int \rho_{D \triangle E} d(|\mu| \otimes |\nu|) = (|\mu| \otimes |\nu|) (D \triangle E) \leq \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

The general case follows form Density Theorem. The special positive and real cases are left as exercises. $\hfill\square$

22-3.20. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ, ν be vector measures on δ -spaces X, Y respectively. Prove that if \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} are dense subsets of $L_p(X), L_p(Y)$ respectively; then the set of all finite sums of functions of the form $f \otimes g$ where $f \in \mathcal{F}, g \in \mathcal{G}$, is dense in $L_p(X \times Y)$.

22-3.21. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ, ν be vector measures on the δ -rings $\mathbb{D}_X, \mathbb{D}_Y$ generated by semirings S_X, S_Y over X, Y respectively. Prove that the set of all finite sums of functions of the form $\alpha \rho_A \rho_B$ where $\alpha \in \mathbb{K}$, $A \in S_X$ and $B \in S_Y$ is dense in $L_p(X \times Y, \mu \otimes \nu, F)$ for all $1 \leq p < \infty$. Furthermore, if f and μ, ν are positive (or real); then all α can be chosen as positive (or real respectively).

22-3.81. <u>Exercise</u> Investigate the case when f is a vector map but E_1 or E_2 is the scalar field \mathbb{K} . Finally investigate the general case when all E_1, E_2, F are Banach spaces.

22-3.82. <u>Exercise</u> Let E_1, E_2, E, G be Banach spaces; $\varphi : E_1 \times E_2 \to E$ an admissible bilinear map; $\xi : E \to G$ a continuous linear map; μ, ν measures on X, Y into E_1, E_2 respectively. Investigate the integral of functions on $X \times Y$ with respect to the composite map $\xi\varphi$.

22-99. **<u>References</u> and <u>Further</u> <u>Readings</u>: Bartle, Bledsoe, Dudley-71,72, Elliott, Fernandres, Godfrey, Masani, Swarts, Jefferies, Kawabe, Garcia and Fernandez.**

Chapter 23

Measures on Finite Dimensional Spaces

23-1 Decent Sets of \mathbb{R}^n

23-1.1. The general measure theory will be applied to the space \mathbb{R}^n . In this section, we shall study certain related topological properties of \mathbb{R}^n .

23-1.2. Points of \mathbb{R}^n are *n*-tuples $a = (a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n)$ where $a_j \in \mathbb{R}$. Write a < b if $a_j < b_j$ for each $1 \le j \le n$. Similarly $a \le b$ if $a_j \le b_j$ for all j. Define semi-intervals by $(a, b] = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : a < x \le b\}$ open-intervals by $(a, b) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : a < x < b\}$ and closed-intervals by $[a, b] = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : a \le x \le b\}.$

Clearly $(a, b] = \prod_{j=1}^{n} (a_j, b_j]$. As a product of semirings, the family S of all semiintervals forms a semiring over \mathbb{R}^n . Sets of the δ -ring \mathbb{D} generated by S are decent subsets of \mathbb{R}^n . Since each decent set can be covered by a semi-interval, it must be a bounded set. The σ -sets are countable unions of semi-intervals and the $\sigma\delta$ -sets are countable intersections of σ -sets. Measurable sets of \mathbb{R}^n were defined in terms of semi-intervals. It has been proved that the family of all measurable sets is the σ -algebra generated by semi-intervals. Every measure on \mathbb{R}^n can be initiated from semi-intervals and uniquely extended to all decent sets by Unique Extension Theorem. The topology of \mathbb{R}^n is given by the norm $||x|| = (x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \cdots + x_n^2)^{1/2}$. Let us recall the notations of:

an open ball $\mathbb{B}(a,r) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : ||x-a|| < r\}$ and a closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(a,r) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : ||x-a|| \le r\}.$

23-1.3. **Theorem** Every non-empty open set is a σ -set.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let \mathbb{F} denote the set of all semi-intervals $(a,b] \subset V$ such that all coordinates a_i, b_i are rational. Enumerate \mathbb{F} by A_1, A_2, \cdots . Then $V = \bigcup_{j>1} A_j$ is a σ -set.

23-1.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that open sets are measurable sets and continuous functions on \mathbb{R}^n are measurable functions.

23-1.5. <u>Exercise</u> Show that bounded measurable sets are decent sets. Prove that open sets and closed sets are measurable. Conclude that compact sets are decent sets.

23-1.6. <u>Theorem</u> For every non-empty open set V, there is a sequence of open sets W_m such that all closures \overline{W}_m are compact subsets of V, $W_m \uparrow V$ and $\overline{W}_m \uparrow V$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let B_1, B_2, \cdots be an enumeration of all open balls $\mathbb{B}(a, r)$ such that all coordinates a_i and the radii r are rational and that $\mathbb{B}(a, 2r) \subset V$. Then $W_m = \bigcup_{j=1}^m B_j$ is a required sequence.

23-1.7. <u>Theorem</u> For every compact set K, there is a sequence of bounded open sets $V_m \downarrow K$.

<u>Proof</u>. For each $m \ge 1$, the compact set K is covered by the family of open balls { $\mathbb{B}(x, 1/m) : x \in K$ }. There is a finite subset J_m of K such that { $\mathbb{B}(x, 1/m) : x \in J_m$ } covers K. Let $W_m = \bigcup \{\mathbb{B}(x, 1/m) : x \in J_m\}$ and $V_m = \bigcap_{k=1}^m W_k$. Then { V_m } forms a required sequence of open sets. \Box

23-1.8. Lemma Let $e = (1, 1, \dots, 1) \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then for all a < b in \mathbb{R}^n we have $(a, b + \frac{1}{m}e) \downarrow (a, b], (a - \frac{1}{m}e, b] \downarrow [a, b]$ and $[a + \frac{1}{m}e, b] \uparrow (a, b]$ as $m \to \infty$.

23-1.9. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every open interval of \mathbb{R}^n is an open set and every closed interval is a compact set.

23-1.10. **Exercise** Prove that the measurable sets are the σ -algebra generated by open intervals, or closed intervals, or bounded open sets, or compact sets.

23-2 Regularity

23-2.1. Let E, F, FE be Banach spaces with an admissible bilinear map $F \times E \to FE$ and μ a vector measure on \mathbb{R}^n into E. We shall show that μ is completely determined by its values on bounded open sets, or compact sets. We shall also study the role of continuous maps. This section motivates the development of measures on locally compact spaces.

23-2.2. <u>Outer Regularity Theorem</u> For every decent set D in \mathbb{R}^n , there are bounded open sets $V_m \downarrow D$ such that $\lim_{m \to \infty} \mu V_m = \mu D$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since D is bounded, it is covered by some bounded open set V_0 . Inductively, suppose that V_{m-1} has been found. There is a sequence $\{A_j\}$ of disjoint semi-intervals such that $D \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j$ and $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\mu| A_j \leq |\mu| D + 1/m$. There are open intervals B_j such that $A_j \subset B_j$ and $|\mu| B_j \leq |\mu| A_j + 1/(m2^j)$. Hence $V_m = V_{m-1} \cap \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j$ is a bounded open set with $D \subset V_m \subset V_{m-1}$. Furthermore, $|\mu| V_m \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\mu| B_j \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (|\mu| A_j + \frac{1}{m2^j}) \leq |\mu| D + \frac{2}{m}$. Finally, $||\mu V_m - \mu D|| = ||\mu(V_m \setminus D)|| \leq |\mu| (V_m \setminus D) = |\mu| V_m - |\mu| D \leq \frac{2}{m} \to 0$ completes the proof. \Box

23-2.3. For every bounded open set V, there are compact sets $K_m \uparrow V$. As a result, we have the inner regularity property: $\lim_{m\to\infty} \mu K_m = \mu V$. Therefore a measure μ is completely determined by compact sets or by inner regularity.

23-2.4. <u>Theorem</u> Every continuous map $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to F$ is locally μ -integrable. Every continuous map g with compact support belongs to $L_p(\mu, F)$ for all $1 \le p \le \infty$.

<u>Proof.</u> Since the image f(A) of a decent set A is contained in the compact set $\overline{f(A)}$, it is separable. For every open set B of F, the inverse $f^{-1}(B)$ is open in \mathbb{R}^n and hence measurable. By §19-5.7, f is measurable. It is an exercise to complete the proof. See §27-1.6.

23-2.5. Continuous Approximation Theorem Let $1 \leq p < \infty$. If $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a continuous map $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to F$ with compact support such that $||f - g||_p \leq \varepsilon$. Furthermore, if $f \geq 0$, then we can choose $g \geq 0$.

<u>Proof</u>. Consider $\rho_{(a,b]}$ where a < b. Let m > 0. For each $1 \le j \le n$, it is obvious by drawing pictures that there is a continuous function $g_j : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $0 \le g_j \le 1$ and $\rho_{(a_j + \frac{1}{m}, b_j]} \le g_j \le \rho_{(a_j, b_j + \frac{1}{m}]}$. Hence $g^m(x) = g_1(x_1)g_2(x_2)\cdots g_n(x_n)$ is a continuous function of $x = (x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)$ on \mathbb{R}^n . It has compact support contained in $[a, b + \frac{1}{m}e]$ where e = (1, 1, ..., 1). Since $\rho_{(a+\frac{1}{m}e,b]} \le g^m \le \rho_{(a,b+\frac{1}{m}e]}$, we obtain

$$0 \leq g^m -
ho_{(a+rac{1}{m}e,b]} \leq
ho_{(a,b+rac{1}{m}e]} -
ho_{(a+rac{1}{m}e,b]}$$

It follows from Dominated Convergence Theorem that

3

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int |g^m-\rho_{(a,b]}|^p d|\mu| \leq \lim_{m\to\infty}\int \left|\rho_{(a,b+\frac{1}{m}e]}-\rho_{(a+\frac{1}{m}e,b]}\right|^p d|\mu| \to 0,$$

i.e. $||g^m - \rho_{(a,b]}||_p \to 0$. Hence the characteristic function of a semi-interval can be approximated by continuous functions with compact support. The general case follows from §21-4.7. Also see §27-1.11 below.

23-2.6. **Corollary** If μ, ν are vector measures on \mathbb{R}^n into E such that $\int g d\mu = \int g d\nu$ for all continuous functions g with compact support, then we have $\mu = \nu$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. From last proof, we have $\|g^m - \rho_{(a,b]}\|_1 \to 0$, that is $\mu(a,b] = \lim \int g^m d\mu = \lim \int g^m d\nu = \nu(a,b]$. Therefore $\mu = \nu$.

23-2.7. **Exercise** Consider the point measure δ_n at $\frac{1}{n}$ on the semiring S of semi-intervals of \mathbb{R} . Let $\mu A = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\delta_n A}{n(n+1)}, \forall A \in \mathbb{S}$. Show that μ is a positive measure on S. Show that $Q = \{\frac{1}{2n} : n = 1, 2, 3, \dots\}$ is a decent set of \mathbb{R} . Find an open set W such that $\mu Q = \mu W$. For the open set V = (0, 1), find a compact subset K of V such that $\mu V \leq \mu K + \frac{1}{10}$. Show that the constant function f(x) = 1 is μ -integrable. Find a continuous function g with compact support such that $\|f - g\|_1 \leq \frac{1}{10}$.

23-3 Translation Invariance

23-3.1. Translation invariance of measure and integrals will be studied in detail in this section. Semi-intervals clearly play a crucial role in this and the next sections. Hence it justifies the approach of starting with semirings. Only elementary techniques are used. It serves as a motivation for more general treatment such as change-variables of next section, or Harr measures on locally compact groups which is beyond the scope of this book.

23-3.2. <u>Theorem</u> If Q is a decent set (respectively a measurable set), then so is the translate a + Q by any $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let \mathbb{D} denote the family of all decent sets of \mathbb{R}^n . It is routine to verify that $\mathbb{F} = \{Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n : a + Q \in \mathbb{D}\}$ is a δ -ring containing all semi-intervals and hence we have $\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbb{F}$ which means translates of decent sets are decent sets. For measurable sets, apply similar argument to the σ -algebra generated by semi-intervals.

23-3.3. <u>Corollary</u> If f is a decent map (respectively, simple, or upper, or measurable map) on \mathbb{R}^n into a Banach space F, then so is the *translate* $T_a f(x) = f(x+a)$ by any $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

<u>Proof</u>. For decent or simple maps, it follows from the identity $T_a \rho_Q = \rho_{Q-a}$. For upper functions, consider the pointwise limit of sequences of simple functions on X and for measurable maps on decent sets only. 23-3.4. For every semi-interval $(a, b] = \prod_{j=1}^{n} (a_j, b_j]$ with a < b, let $\lambda(a, b] = \prod_{j=1}^{n} (b_j - a_j)$. Obviously, define $\lambda \emptyset = 0$. Being product measure, λ is a positive measure on the semiring of all semi-intervals. It is called the *Lebesgue measure* on \mathbb{R}^n . We do *not* deal with Lebesgue measurable sets. Our measurable sets are independent of any measure.

23-3.5. A measure μ on \mathbb{R}^n is said to be *translation invariant* if $\mu(a+Q) = \mu Q$, for all decent sets Q and all $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$. If a measure μ on \mathbb{R}^n is translation invariant on all semi-intervals, then it is also translation invariant on all decent sets because the family $\mathbb{F} = \{Q \in \mathbb{D} : \mu Q = \mu(a+Q)\}$ is a δ -ring containing all semi-intervals. In particular, the Lebesgue measure λ is translation invariant.

23-3.6. <u>Uniqueness Theorem</u> If μ is a translation invariant measure on \mathbb{R}^n into a Banach space E and if $\mu(0, 1)^n = t \in E$, then $\mu = t\lambda$ on all decent sets. Therefore we work with Lebesgue measure λ for the rest of this section.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Consider n = 1 first. Let k, p > 0 be integers. Then by translation invariance $\mu(0, k] = \mu(0, 1] + \mu(1, 2] + \dots + \mu(k - 1, k] = k\mu(0, 1] = kt$ and

$$\mu(0,k] = \mu\left(0,\frac{k}{p}\right] + \mu\left(\frac{k}{p},\frac{2k}{p}\right] + \dots + \mu\left(\frac{(p-1)k}{p},k\right] = p\mu\left(0,\frac{k}{p}\right].$$

Hence $\mu(0, \frac{k}{p}] = kt/p$. Now for all a < b, let r_j be rational numbers such that $r_j \downarrow (b-a)$ as $j \to \infty$. Then,

$$\mu(a,b] = \mu(0,b-a] = \lim_{j \to \infty} \mu(0,r_j] = \lim_{j \to \infty} r_j t = t\lambda(a,b].$$

Hence $\mu = t\lambda$ on all semi-intervals on \mathbb{R} . Next, assume n > 1. For all $a_1 < b_1$, define $\nu(a_1, b_1] = \mu\{(a_1, b_1] \times (0, 1]^{n-1}\}$. It is easy to verify that ν is a translation invariant measure on the semi-intervals of \mathbb{R} . Hence by first case, we have $\nu(a_1, b_1] = \nu(0, 1]\lambda(a_1, b_1] = t\lambda(a_1, b_1]$. Now, let $a_1 < b_1$ be fixed. For all $a_j < b_j$ where $2 \le j \le n$, define $\varphi \prod_{j=2}^{n} (a_j, b_j] = \mu(a, b]$. Since μ is translation invariant, so is φ on the semi-intervals of \mathbb{R}^{n-1} . Hence by induction,

$$\mu(a,b] = \varphi \prod_{j=2}^{n} (a_j, b_j] = \{\varphi(0,1]^{n-1}\} \prod_{j=2}^{n} (b_j - a_j)$$

= $\mu\{(a_1,b_1] \times (0,1]^{n-1}\} \prod_{j=2}^{n} (b_j - a_j)$
= $\nu(a_1,b_1] \prod_{j=2}^{n} (b_j - a_j) = t(b_1 - a_1) \prod_{j=2}^{n} (b_j - a_j) = t\lambda(a,b].$

Therefore $\mu = t\lambda$ on all semi-intervals of \mathbb{R}^n . By Unique Extension Theorem, $\mu = t\lambda$ on all decent sets of \mathbb{R}^n .

23-3.7. **Lemma** For any measurable set M, we have $\lambda(a + M) = \lambda(M)$. In particular, translates of null sets are null.

$$\underline{Proof.} \quad \lambda(a+M) = \sup\{\lambda(D) : D \in \mathbb{D}, D \subset M+a\}$$
$$= \sup\{\lambda(B+a) : B+a \in \mathbb{D}, B+a \subset M+a\}, \qquad \text{for } D = B+a$$
$$= \sup\{\lambda(B) : B \in \mathbb{D}, B \subset M\} = \lambda(M).$$

23-3.8. <u>Theorem</u> If f(x) is an integrable map into some Banach space F or an upper function on \mathbb{R}^n , then so is every translate f(a + x) where $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Furthermore, the integral is also translation invariant, that is

$$\int f(a+x)d\lambda(x) = \int f(x)d\lambda(x).$$

<u>*Proof.*</u> Case 1: Suppose that $f = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j \rho_{Q_j}$ is a decent map into F where $\alpha_j \in F$ and $Q_j \in \mathbb{D}$. Then

$$\int f(a+x)d\lambda(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j \int \rho_{Q_j-a}(x)d\lambda(x)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j \lambda(Q_j-a) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j \lambda Q_j = \int f(x)d\lambda(x).$$

Case 2: For an upper function f on \mathbb{R}^n , choose simple functions $0 \leq f_m \uparrow f$. Clearly $T_a f_m$ are simple functions and $0 \leq T_a f_m \uparrow T_a f$. Hence $T_a f$ is also an upper function. By last lemma, we have

 $\int f(a+x)d\lambda(x) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \int f_m(a+x)d\lambda(x) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \int f_m(x)d\lambda(x) = \int f(x)d\lambda(x).$ Case 3: Let $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to F$ be a λ -integrable map. Its translate is measurable. By Density Theorem, there are decent maps f_m such that $|f_m| \leq |f|$ on \mathbb{R}^n and $f_m \to f$, λ -ae. Clearly $|T_a f_m| \leq |T_a f|$ on \mathbb{R}^n and $T_a f_m \to T_a f$, λ -ae. Since $\int |T_a f| d\lambda = \int |f| d\lambda < \infty$, $T_a f$ is integrable. Finally Dominated Convergence Theorem completes the proof as in Case 2. \Box

23-3.9. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let $f \in L_p(\lambda, F)$ and $1 \le p < \infty$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every $||a|| \le \delta$ in \mathbb{R}^n , we have $||T_a f - f||_p \le \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof.</u> Suppose $\varepsilon > 0$ is given. Let $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to F$ be a continuous map with compact support such that $||f-g||_p \leq \varepsilon$. There is t > 0 such that for all $||a|| \leq 1$ in \mathbb{R}^n we have $a + \operatorname{supp}(g) \subset Q = (-t, t]^n$. Since g is uniformly continuous, there is $0 < \delta < 1$ such that for all $||x - y|| \leq \delta$, we have $||g(x) - g(y)|| \leq \varepsilon/(2t)^{n/p}$. Take any $||a|| \leq \delta$. Since both $\operatorname{supp}(f)$ and $a + \operatorname{supp}(f)$ are subsets of Q, we obtain

$$\left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \|g(a+x) - g(x)\|^p d\lambda(x)\right]^{1/p} \le \left[\int_Q \left\{\frac{\varepsilon}{(2t)^{n/p}}\right\}^p d\lambda(x)\right]^{1/p} \le \varepsilon.$$

Therefore, $\|T_a f - f\|_p \le \|T_a f - T_a g\|_p + \|T_a g - g\|_p + \|g - f\|_p \le 3\varepsilon.$

23-3.10. **Exercise** Show that the function $f(x) = \frac{1}{1+x^2}$ is integrable on \mathbb{R} . Find a continuous function g with compact support such that $||f - g||_1 \le \frac{1}{10}$. 23-3.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the graph of a continuous function from \mathbb{R}^n into \mathbb{R} is a null set in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} .

23-4 Relation to Outer Measures

23-4.1. Occasionally we want to estimate the size of a subset of \mathbb{R}^n but we do not know whether it is measurable. Outer measure is handy for this situation. Furthermore a set cannot have any interior point if its outer measure is zero.

23-4.2. Let λ be a *finite-valued positive* measure on a δ -space \mathbb{D} . The family of all \mathbb{D} -measurable sets is defined by localization §19-1.1 and λ is extended to all \mathbb{D} -measurable sets by inner regularity §20-2.2. This extension is also denoted by λ . On the other hand, suppose that \mathbb{D} is generated by a semiring S and the restriction of λ to S is denoted by μ . An outer measure μ^* is constructed by sequential covers §18-2.3 and the family of all μ^* -measurable sets is defined by nice cuts §18-2.5. A λ -null set N §20-2.5 is a \mathbb{D} -measurable set with $\lambda N = 0$ and a μ^* -null set Q is any subset of X with $\mu^*Q = 0$. Since both families of \mathbb{D} -measurable and μ^* -measurable sets are δ -rings containing S, we have $\lambda A = \mu^* A < \infty$ for all $A \in \mathbb{D}$ by uniqueness of extension. Suppose that $X = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} X_n$ for some *disjoint* decent sets $X_n \in \mathbb{D}$.

23-4.3. <u>Theorem</u> Every ID-measurable set M is μ^* -measurable with $\lambda M = \mu^* M$. In particular, every λ -null set is a μ^* -null set.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since each $M \cap X_n \in \mathbb{D}$ is μ^* -measurable, $M = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (M \cap X_n)$ is also μ^* -measurable. Furthermore we have

$$\lambda M = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda(M \cap X_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu^*(M \cap X_n) = \mu^* M.$$

23-4.4. Lemma Let $\mu^* H < \infty$.

for all k

(a) There is a \mathbb{D} -measurable set M such that $H \subset M$ and $\mu^* H = \lambda M$.

(b) There exist a **D**-measurable set A and a subset B of some λ -null set such that $H = A \cup B$, $A \cap B = \emptyset$ and $\lambda^* H = \lambda A$.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) For every k, there are $A_{jk} \in S$ such that $H \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_{jk}$ and $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu A_{jk} \leq \mu^* H + 1/k$. Then $M = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_{jk}$ is D-measurable. Clearly we have $H \subset M$. Observe that

$$\lambda M \le \lambda \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_{jk} \right) \le \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda A_{jk} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu A_{jk} \le \mu^* H + 1/k$$

Hence $\lambda M \le \mu^* H \le \mu^* M = \lambda M$, that is $\lambda M = \mu^* H$.

(b) Since $\mu^*(M \setminus H) = \mu^*M - \mu^*H = \lambda^*M - \mu^*H = 0$, there is a ID-measurable set N such that $M \setminus H \subset N$ and $\lambda N = \mu^*(M \setminus H) = 0$. Hence N is a

 λ -null set. Now $A = M \setminus N$ is a \mathbb{D} -measurable set and $B = N \cap H$ is a subset of the λ -null set N. Since $A \cap B \subset (M \setminus N) \cap N = \emptyset$, we get $A \cap B = \emptyset$. From $M \setminus H \subset N$, we have $A = M \setminus N \subset H$. Also $B \subset H$ by definition. Hence $A \cup B \subset H$. Using the notation $Q' = X \setminus Q$ for all $Q \subset X$. Then $H \setminus A = H \cap (M \cap N')' = H \cap (M' \cup N) = (H \cap M') \cup (H \cap N) = B$ because $H \cap M' = \emptyset$ for $H \subset M$. Therefore $H = A \cup B$.

23-4.5. <u>**Theorem**</u> (a) Every μ^* -null set is a subset of some λ -null set. (b) Every μ^* -measurable H is a disjoint union of a D-measurable set A and a subset B of a λ -null set. Furthermore we have $\mu^*H = \lambda A$.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) follows immediately from last lemma. To prove (b), since $X_n \in \mathbb{D}$, we have $\mu^*(H \cap X_n) \leq \mu^* X_n = \lambda X_n < \infty$. Write $H \cap X_n = A_n \cup B_n$ where A_n is a \mathbb{D} -measurable set with $\mu^*(H \cap X_n) = \lambda A_n$ and B_n is a subset of some λ -null set N_n . Now $A = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ is \mathbb{D} -measurable. Because $X = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} X_n$ is a disjoint union, we have $\mu^*H = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu^*(H \cap X_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda A_n = \lambda A$. Clearly $N = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} N_n$ is λ -null and $A \subset N$.

23-4.6. We are well motivated to construct *completions* of vector measures. Because we do not need the result in this book, proofs are left as exercises.

23-4.7. Let μ be a vector measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) into a Banach space. Note that a μ -null set N is a \mathbb{D} -measurable set with $|\mu|N = 0$. Let \mathbb{D}_{μ} be the family of all sets of the form $A \cup B$ where A is a decent set in \mathbb{D} and B is a subset of some μ -null set. Define $\nu(A \cup B) = \mu A$.

23-4.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that \mathbb{D}_{μ} is a δ -ring generated by decent sets in \mathbb{D} and subsets of μ -null sets.

23-4.9. **Exercise** Prove that ν is the unique extension of μ to a vector measure on \mathbb{D}_{μ} with $\nu B = 0$ for all subsets of μ -null sets. Also show that $|\nu|(A \cup B) = |\mu|(A)$.

23-4.10. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the family of \mathbb{D}_{μ} -measurable sets is the σ -algebra generated by \mathbb{D} -measurable sets and subsets of μ -null sets.

23-5 Change Variables

23-5.1. In this section, we shall prove a transformation formula to change variables starting with linear transformations. The geometrical meaning of determinants is given by $\S23-5.5$ below. Note that the diffeomorphism

 $\arctan: (-1,1) \to \mathbb{R}$ carries the decent set (-1,0] onto the unbounded set $(-\infty,0]$ which is not a decent set. Luckily, positive measures are defined on all measurable sets.

23-5.2. A linear transformation on \mathbb{R}^n is a square matrix $T = [T_{ij}]$ of order n. With the sup-norm $||x|| = \max\{|x_j| : 1 \le j \le n\}$, the matrix norm is given by $||T|| = \max\{\sum_{j=1}^n |T_{ij}| : 1 \le i \le n\}$. Clearly for the identity transformation I, we have ||I|| = 1. Let $e = (1, 1, \dots, 1) \in \mathbb{R}^n$. The following sets are called cubes with center a, radius r and edge-length 2r:

a closed cube : $\{x : \|x - a\| \le r\} = [a - re, a + re],$ an open cube : $\{x : \|x - a\| < r\} = (a - re, a + re),$ and a semi-cube : $(a - re, a + re] = \prod_{j=1}^{n} (a_j - r, a_j + r].$ Let λ denote the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^n . Obviously, we have

$$\lambda[a - re, a + re] = \lambda(a - re, a + re) = \lambda(a - re, a + re] = (2r)^n.$$

23-5.3. <u>Lemma</u> Every elementary row operation in Linear Algebra can be decomposed into the following two atomic operations:

(a) multiplying one row by a non-zero number α ;

(b) adding one row to another.

Proof. The following steps give the idea of how it is done:

add a multiple of row b to row a: $(a, b) \rightarrow (a, \alpha b) \rightarrow (a + \alpha b, \alpha b) \rightarrow (a + \alpha b, b)$ and interchange two rows: $(a, b) \rightarrow (a + b, b) \rightarrow (a + b, -a) \rightarrow (b, -a) \rightarrow (b, a)$. \Box

23-5.4. Since every matrix is of the form $T = T_1T_2T_3$ where T_1, T_3 are invertible and $T_2 = \begin{bmatrix} I_r & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ where I_r is the identity matrix of order r. Both T_1, T_3 are products of elementary matrices obtained from (a), (b) of last lemma and a projection $x \to (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_r, 0, \dots, 0)$. Therefore the following theorem is reduced to three cases only.

23-5.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $T : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a linear transformation. Then the image TQ of a measurable set Q is measurable and we have $\lambda(TQ) = |\det T|\lambda Q$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let Q = (a, b] be a semi-interval. Firstly, assume $T(x) = (\alpha x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$ where $\alpha \neq 0$. If $\alpha > 0$ then $TQ = (\alpha a_1, \alpha b_1] \times (a_2, b_2] \times \dots \times (a_n, b_n]$ is decent and $\lambda(TQ) = (\alpha b_1 - \alpha a_1)(b_2 - a_2) \cdots (b_n - a_n) = \alpha \prod_{j=1}^n (b_j - a_j) = |\det T| \lambda Q$. If $\alpha < 0$ then $TQ = [\alpha b_1, \alpha a_1) \times (a_2, b_2] \times \dots \times (a_n, b_n]$ is decent and Consequently, $\lambda(TQ) = |\det T|\lambda Q$ for all linear transformation of the type §23-5.3a. Next assume $T(x) = (x_1 + x_2, x_2, \cdots, x_n)$. Now TQ is a decent set by drawing a picture on x_1x_2 -plane or applying next theorem below. It is easy to verify that $\det T = 1$ and $\rho_{TQ}(x) = \rho_{(a_1+x_2,b_1+x_2]}(x_1) \prod_{j=2}^n \rho_{(a_j,b_j]}(x_j)$. Hence, we have $\int \rho_{TQ}(x) dx_1 = \lambda(a_1+x_2,b_1+x_2] \prod_{j=2}^n \rho_{(a_j,b_j]}(x_j) = (b_1-a_1) \prod_{j=2}^n \rho_{(a_j,b_j]}(x_j)$. It follows from Fubini's Theorem that

$$\lambda(TQ) = \int \rho_{TQ}(x) d\lambda(x) = \int dx_n \cdots \int dx_3 \int dx_2 \int \rho_{TQ}(x) dx_1$$
$$= \int \cdots \int \int (b_1 - a_1) \prod_{j=2}^n \rho_{(a_j, b_j)}(x_j) dx_2 dx_3 \cdots dx_n$$
$$= \prod_{j=1}^n (b_j - a_j) = \lambda Q = |\det T| \lambda Q.$$

Therefore, $\lambda(TQ) = |\det T|\lambda Q$ for all linear transformation of the type §23-5.3b. Next, assume $T(x) = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_r, 0, \dots, 0)$. If r = n, then T is the identity map with $\det T = 1$ and hence $\lambda(TQ) = |\det T|\lambda Q$. If r < n, then $\det T = 0$ and $\lambda(TQ) = \lambda[(a_1, b_1] \times \dots (a_r, b_r] \times \{0\} \times \dots \times \{0\}] = 0$. Therefore, $\lambda(TQ) = |\det T|\lambda Q$ for all projections T. Finally, write $T = T_1T_2 \cdots T_k$ where each T_j is one of above three types. Then we have

$$\lambda(TQ) = \lambda T_1 T_2 \cdots T_k Q = |\det T_1| |\det T_2| \cdots |\det T_k| \lambda Q$$
$$= |(\det T_1)(\det T_2) \cdots (\det T_k)| \lambda Q = |\det T| \lambda Q.$$

Next, for fixed T it is obvious that both $\lambda(TQ)$ and $|det T|\lambda Q$ are measures in decent sets Q and they agree on semi-intervals. Therefore they agree on all decent sets by Unique Extension Theorem. Finally, since every measurable set is a countable disjoint union of decent sets in \mathbb{R}^n , the result follows. \Box

23-5.6. Let X be a non-empty open subset of \mathbb{R}^n and let $f: X \to f(X) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a C^1 -diffeomorphism, i.e. f is a continuously differentiable bijection such that for every $a \in X$, the derivative Df(a) is invertible. It follows from the Inverse Mapping Theorem that f(X) is open and f^{-1} is also continuously differentiable. Decent and measurable subsets of X were defined by §21-9. For the diffeomorphism $\arctan : (-1, 1) \to \mathbb{R}$, the image $(-\infty, 0]$ of the decent set (-1, 0] is not bounded and hence cannot be a decent set. Therefore we have to work with measurable sets.

23-5.7. **Theorem** The image f(M) of a measurable set $M \subset X$ is measurable. <u>Proof.</u> Consider Q = (a, b] with $K = [a, b] \subset X$ and a < b. The compact sets $\overline{f(K)}$ and $f(B_j)$ are measurable where $B_j = [a_1, b_1] \times \cdots \times \{a_j\} \times [a_n, b_n]$ are faces of the interval K. Hence $f(Q) = f(K) \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j$ is also measurable. Next let \mathbb{F} be the family of sets $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $f(A \cap Q)$ is measurable. Since f is bijective, \mathbb{F} is a σ -algebra containing all semi-intervals. Hence \mathbb{F} contains all measurable sets of \mathbb{R}^n . Therefore if M is a measurable subset of X, then $f(Q \cap M)$ is measurable. Finally decompose $X = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} Q_j$ into disjoint union of semi-intervals Q_j . Then $f(M) = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} f(Q_j \cap M)$ is measurable. \Box

23-5.8. **Lemma** For every closed interval K = [a, b] contained in X, we have

$$\lambda f(a,b] \leq \int_{(a,b]} |det \ Df(x)| d\lambda(x).$$

<u>Proof</u>. Clearly $|\det Df(x)|$ is a continuous function of $x \in X$ and it is integrable on (a, b]. Since Df^{-1} is continuous on the compact set f(K), there is t > 0 such that for each $y \in f(K)$ we have $||Df^{-1}(y)|| \leq t$. By uniform continuity on the compact set K, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $||x - y|| \leq \delta$ in K we have $||Df(x) - Df(y)|| \leq \varepsilon/t$ and $|\det Df(x) - \det Df(y)| \leq \varepsilon$. Write $(a, b] = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j$ as a union of disjoint semi-cubes A_j each of which has radius $< \delta$. Take any $A_j = (c - re, c + re]$ where $0 < r < \delta$. For each $x \in X$ define $h(x) = Df(c)^{-1}f(x)$. Then h is a continuously differentiable map on X. Now for each $x \in A_j$,

$$\begin{split} \|Dh(x) - I\| &= \|Df(c)^{-1}Df(x) - Df(c)^{-1}Df(c)\| \\ &\leq \|Df(c)^{-1}\|\|Df(x) - Df(c)\| \leq t(\varepsilon/t) = \varepsilon, \\ &\|Dh(x)\| \leq \|I\| + \varepsilon = 1 + \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

that is,

By Mean-Value Theorem, for each $x \in A_j$, we have

$$||h(x) - h(c)|| \le ||x - c|| \sup ||Dh(z)|| \le r(1 + \varepsilon)$$

where z runs over the line segment between x and c. Hence we obtain

$$h(A_i) \subset [h(c) - r(1 + \varepsilon)e, h(c) + r(1 + \varepsilon)e],$$

and,

$$\lambda h(A_j) \leq \prod_{k=1}^n [2r(1+\varepsilon)] = (1+\varepsilon)^n \lambda A_j.$$

On the other hand, it follows from §23-5.5 that

$$\lambda h(A_j) = \lambda [Df(c)^{-1}f(A_j)] = |det \ Df(c)^{-1}| \ \lambda f(A_j).$$

Combining the last two expressions, we get

$$\lambda f(A_j) \leq (1+\varepsilon)^n |\det Df(c)| \lambda A_j \leq (1+\varepsilon)^n \int_{A_j} [|\det Df(x)| + \varepsilon] d\lambda(x).$$

Therefore,

$$\lambda f(a,b] = \lambda \left[\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} f(A_j) \right] = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda f(A_j)$$

$$\leq (1+\varepsilon)^n \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{A_j} [|\det Df(x)| + \varepsilon] d\lambda(x)$$

$$= (1+\varepsilon)^n \int_{(a,b]} [|\det Df(x)| + \varepsilon] d\lambda(x)$$

$$= (1+\varepsilon)^n \int_{(a,b]} |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x) + (1+\varepsilon)^n \varepsilon \lambda(a,b].$$

$$|\text{letting } \varepsilon \downarrow 0.$$

The result follows by letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$.

23-5.9. Lemma For every measurable subset Q of X we have

$$\lambda f(Q) \leq \int_{Q} |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x).$$

<u>*Proof.*</u> Firstly assume that Q is an open subset of X. We can write the following disjoint union $Q = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j$ where each A_j is a semi-interval with closure contained in Q. By last lemma we have

$$\lambda f(Q) = \lambda \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} f(A_j) \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda f(A_j)$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{A_j} |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x) = \int_{Q} |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x).$$

Next, we assume that Q is a decent set. It follows from the Outer Regularity Theorem, there is a sequence of *bounded* open sets $A_j \downarrow Q$ such that $\lambda A_j \downarrow \lambda Q$ as $j \to \infty$. Replacing A_j by $A_j \cap X$ we may assume all $A_j \subset X$. Hence,

$$\lambda f(Q) \le \lambda f(A_j) \le \int \rho_{A_j}(x) |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x).$$

By Dominated Convergence Theorem, letting $j \to \infty$,

$$\lambda f(Q) \leq \int \rho_Q(x) |det \ Df(x)| d\lambda(x) = \int_Q |det \ Df(x)| d\lambda(x).$$

Finally, let $X = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j$ be a disjoint union of semi-intervals B_j . Then for every measurable subset Q of $X, Q \cap B_j$ is a decent set. Furthermore we have

$$\begin{split} \lambda f(Q) &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda f(Q \cap B_j) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{Q \cap B_j} |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x) \\ &\leq \int_{Q} |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x). \end{split}$$

23-5.10. <u>Theorem</u> Let g be an upper function or an integrable map on f(X) into a Banach space F. Then for every measurable subset Q of X, we have

$$\int_{f(Q)} g(y) d\lambda(y) = \int_Q g \circ f(x) |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x).$$

<u>Proof.</u> Let g be an upper function on f(X). Replacing g by $g\rho_Q$, we may assume Q = X. There are simple functions g_i on f(X) such that $0 \le g_i \uparrow g$.

Write $g_i = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \rho_{H_j}$ where $\alpha_j \ge 0$ and H_j are measurable subsets of f(X). Then $K_i = f^{-1}(H_i)$ are measurable subsets of X. Hence

$$\int_{f(X)} g_i(y) d\lambda(y) = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \lambda H_j = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \lambda f K_j$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \int_{K_j} |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x) = \int_X g_i \circ f(x) |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x).$$

By Monotone Convergence Theorem, letting $i \to \infty$,

$$\int_{f(X)} g(y) d\lambda(y) \leq \int_X g \circ f(x) |det \ Df(x)| d\lambda(x).$$

Interchanging X and f(X), replacing q(y) by $q \circ f(x) |det Df(x)|$, we have

$$\int_{X} g \circ f(x) |\det Df(x)| d\lambda(x)$$

$$\leq \int_{f(X)} g \circ f \circ f^{-1}(y) |\det Df[f^{-1}(y)]| |\det Df^{-1}(y)| d\lambda(y) = \int_{f(X)} g(y) d\lambda(y).$$

Consequently, the equality holds for all upper functions q. By linearity, it is also true for every integrable function $h = (\operatorname{Re} h)_{+} - (\operatorname{Re} h)_{-} + i(\operatorname{Im} h)_{+} - i(\operatorname{Im} h)_{-}$. Next for an integral map $g : f(X) \to F$, its variation $|g| : f(X) \to \mathbb{R}$ is an integrable upper function. We leave it as an exercise to show that $(q \circ f)(x)$ det Df(x) is a measurable map in $x \in X$. From

$$\int_X \|g \circ f(x)\| \|\det Df(x)|d\lambda(x) = \int_{f(X)} \|g(y)\|d\lambda(y) < \infty,$$

 $(g \circ f)(x)|det Df(x)|$ is integrable in $x \in X$. Finally $vg : f(X) \to \mathbb{R}$ is an integrable function for every $v \in F'$. Hence we obtain

$$\int_{f(Q)} vg(y)d\lambda(y) = \int_{Q} vg \circ f(x)|det \ Df(x)|d\lambda(x),$$

that is,
$$v \int_{f(Q)} g(y)d\lambda(y) = v \int_{Q} g \circ f(x)|det \ Df(x)|d\lambda(x).$$

The result follows because F' separates points of F.

References and Further Readings : Cohn, Rao-87, Serrin, Borell and 23-99. Yamasaki.

Chapter 24 Indefinite Integrals

24-1 Derivatives

24-1.1. Let E, F, FE be Banach spaces with a bilinear map $\varphi: F \times E \to FE$ which is *scalar*, that is $\|\varphi(u, v)\| = \|u\| \|v\|$ for all $(u, v) \in F \times E$. This is the case if E or F is the scalar field \mathbb{K} and φ is the scalar multiplication. In general, this is also true if φ is the tensor product and FE takes any tensor norm. Clearly every scalar bilinear map is admissible. For convenience, write $\varphi(u, v) = uv$.

24-1.2. Let μ be an *E*-measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . Suppose that $h: X \to F$ is a *locally* μ -integrable map, that is μ -integrable on every decent set. Since h is simply approximable on every decent set, it is measurable. Let $\nu : \mathbb{D} \to FE$ be given by $\nu(A) = \int_A h d\mu$ for all $A \in \mathbb{D}$. Then h is called the μ -density of ν , or the Radon-Nikodym derivative of ν with respect to μ (on X relative to φ). Equivalently, ν is called the *indefinite integral* of h with respect to μ . Symbolically, write $\frac{d\nu}{d\mu} = h$ or $d\nu = hd\mu$. In this section, we shall study the relationship between μ and ν .

24-1.3. <u>Theorem</u> (a) The function |h| is locally $|\mu|$ -integrable.

(b) ν is a measure on (X, \mathbb{D}) .

(c) $|\nu|(A) = \int_A |h| \ d|\mu|$ for all $A \in \mathbb{D}$, or $|hd\mu| = |h| \ d|\mu|$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since h is locally μ -integrable, $h\rho_A$ is μ -integrable for every decent set A. Hence $|h|\rho_A$ is $|\mu|$ -integrable, or |h| is locally $|\mu|$ -integrable. Clearly ν is additive on \mathbb{D} . Let $A_n \downarrow \emptyset$ in \mathbb{D} . Then $|h\rho_{A_n}| \leq |h\rho_{A_1}|$, $h\rho_{A_n} \to 0$ and $|h\rho_{A_1}|$ is μ -integrable on X. Hence Dominated Convergence Theorem implies $\nu A_n = \int h\rho_{A_n} d\mu \to \int 0 d\mu = 0$. Therefore ν is countably additive on \mathbb{D} . Next, for any fixed decent set A, let $\{D_1, D_2, \cdots, D_k\}$ be any finite partition of A by decent sets. Then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \|\nu D_{j}\| = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left\| \int_{D_{j}} h d\mu \right\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{k} \int_{D_{j}} |h| \ d|\mu| = \int_{A} |h| \ d|\mu|.$$

Taking supremum over all finite partitions of A by decent sets, we get

$$|\nu|(A) \le \int_A |h| \ d|\mu|$$
 for all $A \in \mathbb{D}$. #1

In particular, ν is of finite variation and consequently it is measure. Next, consider a decent map $g = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i \rho_{B_i}$ where $\alpha_i \in F$ and B_1, B_2, \cdots are *disjoint* nonempty decent sets. Let $\pi D = \int_D g d\mu$ for all $D \in \mathbb{D}$ and let $B = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} B_i$. Because g = 0 on $D \subset A \setminus B$, we obtain

$$|\pi|(A \setminus B) = \sup_{P(A \setminus B)} \sum_{D \in P(A \setminus B)} ||\pi D|| = \sup_{P(A \setminus B)} \sum_{D \in P(A \setminus B)} \left\| \int_D g d\mu \right\| = 0.$$

Next, consider any partition $P(A \cap B_i)$ by decent sets. For any $D \in P(A \cap B_i)$, we have $\pi D = \int_D gd\mu = \int g\rho_D d\mu = \int \alpha_i \rho_D d\mu = \alpha_i \mu D$. Because the bilinear map $F \times E \to FE$ is scalar, we have $\|\pi D\| = \|\alpha_i\| \|\mu D\|$ and hence

$$\begin{aligned} |\pi|(A) &= |\pi|(A \setminus B) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} |\pi|(A \cap B_i) = 0 + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sup_{P(A \cap B_i)} \sum_{D \in P(A \cap B_i)} ||\pi D|| \\ &\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sup_{P(A \cap B_i)} \sum_{D \in P(A \cap B_i)} ||\alpha_i|| \ ||\mu D|| = \sum_{i=1}^{m} ||\alpha_i|| \ |\mu|(A \cap B_i) = \int_A |g| \ d|\mu|. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore the required result holds for every decent map g. Now return to the consideration of locally μ -integrable map h. By Density Theorem, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a decent map g such that $\int_A |g-h| \ d|\mu| \le \varepsilon$. Define $\pi D = \int_D g d\mu$ for all $D \in \mathbb{D}$. Then $(\pi - \nu)(A) = \int_A (g - h) d\mu$. By the inequality #1, we have $|\pi - \nu|(A) \le \int_A |g - h| \ d|\mu| \le \varepsilon$. Since $|\pi| \le |\pi - \nu| + |\nu|$, we obtain

$$\int_{A} |g| \ d|\mu| = |\pi|(A) \le |\pi - \nu|(A) + |\nu|(A) \le \varepsilon + |\nu|(A).$$

Therefore,
$$\int_{A} |h| \ d|\mu| \le \int_{A} |h - g| \ d|\mu| + \int_{A} |g| \ d|\mu| \le 2\varepsilon + |\nu|(A).$$

The proof is completed by letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$.

24-1.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove $|\nu|(M) = \int_{M} |h| d|\mu|$ for all measurable set M. In particular if h is μ -integrable, then we have $|\nu|(X) = ||h||_1$.

24-1.5. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that every μ -null set is a ν -null set. For $E = F = \mathbb{C}$, prove that the complex conjugate of ν is given by $\nu^{-}(A) = \int_{A} h^{-} d\mu^{-}$ for all decent sets A.

24-1.6. **Theorem** (a) If $\nu = 0$, then h = 0, μ -ae.

(b) If both μ, ν are real; then h is real, μ -ae.

=

(c) If both $\mu, \nu \geq 0$; then $h \geq 0$, μ -ae.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) Assume $h \neq 0$, μ -ae. Then $N = \{x \in X : ||h(x)|| > 0\}$ is not μ -null. There is a decent subset A of N such that $|\mu|(A) > 0$. Hence $|\nu|(A) = \int_A |h| \ d|\mu| > 0$. Therefore $|\nu| \neq 0$ and consequently $\nu \neq 0$. (b) Since $\int_A (h - h^-) d\mu = \int_A h d\mu - \int_A h^- d\mu^- = (\nu - \nu^-)(A) = 0, \ \forall A \in \mathbb{D}$, we have $h - h^- = 0$, μ -ae. Therefore h is real μ -ae. (c) Replace h^- by |h| in (b).

24-1.7. <u>Corollary</u> A measurable set M is ν -null iff $M \cap \{x \in X : h(x) \neq 0\}$ is μ -null.

Proof. It follows by applying the last theorem to the subspace M.

24-1.8. To cope with the need of §24-4.8 later, assume that h is a scalar function and $g: X \to F$ a vector map so that the product gh is a map into F.

24-1.9. **Lemma** For every decent map g, we have $\int g d\nu = \int g h d\mu$.

Proof. Let
$$g = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \rho_{A_i}$$
 where $A_i \in \mathbb{D}$ and $\alpha_i \in F$. Then we have

$$\int g d\nu = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \nu A_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \int_{A_i} h d\mu = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \int h \rho_{A_i} d\mu = \int g h d\mu. \quad \Box$$

24-1.10. **Lemma** $\int |g| d|\nu| = \int |g| |h| d|\mu|$ for every measurable map g. *Proof.* Choose simple functions $0 \le g_n \uparrow |g|$. Then $0 \le g_n |h| \uparrow |g| |h|$. By last lemma, we have $\int g_n \rho_A d|\nu| = \int g_n \rho_A |h| d|\mu|$ for every decent set A. It follows

from §20-1.3 that

$$\int |g| \ d|\nu| = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n d|\nu| = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} \int g_n \rho_A d|\nu|$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{A \in \mathbb{D}} \int g_n \rho_A |h| \ d|\mu| = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n |h| \ d|\mu| = \int |g| \ |h| \ d|\mu|. \qquad \Box$$

24-1.11. <u>**Theorem</u>** A measurable map g is ν -integrable iff gh is μ -integrable. In this case, we have $\int gd\nu = \int ghd\mu$.</u>

<u>Proof</u>. The first statement follows immediately from last lemma because both sides are finite or infinite together. By Density Theorem, there are decent maps g_n such that $|g_n| \leq |g|$ on X and $g_n \to g$, ν -ae. Then $|g_nh| \leq |gh|$ on X and $g_nh \to gh$, μ -ae. It follows from Dominated Convergence Theorem that

$$\int gd\nu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n d\nu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n h d\mu = \int gh d\mu.$$

24-1.12. **Exercise** For $\pi A = \int_A g d\nu$, interpret the last theorem as a chain rule: $\frac{d\pi}{d\mu} = \frac{d\pi}{d\nu} \frac{d\nu}{d\mu}$ almost everywhere for some measure.

24-1.13. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that a measurable map g is locally ν -integrable iff gh is locally μ -integrable.

24-1.14. <u>Exercise</u> Show that the above results also hold if g is a scalar function and $h: X \to F$ a vector map so that the product gh is a map into F.

24-1.15. <u>Exercise</u> Let \mathbb{D} be the δ -ring generated by a semiring S over X. Prove that if a measurable map is integrable on every set in S, then it is locally integrable.

24-1.16. <u>Exercise</u> Show that every continuous map on \mathbb{R}^n is locally integrable with respect to the Lebesgue measure.

24-1.17. **Exercise** Prove that for every vector measure μ and every measurable set M, $|\mu|M = 0$ iff $\mu(M \cap A) = 0$ for every decent set A.

24-1.18. **Exercise** Let $E = F = FE = \mathbb{R}$; μ the Lebesgue measure and f = 1. Suppose that $(u, v) \to uv : F \times E \to FE$ is defined by uv = 0 for all $u \in F$ and $v \in E$. Compare the values of $|\nu|(A)$ and $\int |h| \ d|\mu|$.

24-2 Absolute Continuity

24-2.1. How do we know that one measure is an indefinite integral of another? It turns out that absolute continuity provides an elegant characterization given later in this chapter. We shall link up the classical concept of absolutely continuity of functions on the real line.

24-2.2. Let μ, ν be vector measures on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . Then ν is said to be μ -continuous or absolutely continuous with respect to μ if every μ -null set is a ν -null set. It is denoted by $\nu \ll \mu$.

24-2.3. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if $0 \le \nu \le \mu$ then $\nu \ll \mu$. Consider the counting measure π . Show that $2\pi \ll \pi$ is true but $2\pi \le \pi$ is false.

24-2.4. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if $\nu \ll \mu$, then every μ - σ -finite set is also ν - σ -finite.

24-2.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ, ν be vector measures. If $\nu \ll \mu$, then for every ν -integrable set D and every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that $|\nu|A \leq \varepsilon$ whenever A is a measurable subset of D with $|\mu|(A) \leq \delta$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $\mu, \nu \geq 0$. Let \mathcal{K} be the family of all ν -integrable sets and let $D \in \mathcal{K}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Suppose to the

contrary that for every *n* there is a measurable set $A_n \subset D$ with $\mu(A_n) \leq 1/2^n$ and $\nu(A_n) > \varepsilon$. Then $B_k = \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n$ and $Q = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} B_k$ are measurable subsets of *D*. Furthermore,

$$\mu(Q) \le \mu(B_k) \le \sum_{n=k}^{\infty} \mu(A_n) \le 1/2^{k-1}.$$

Since k is arbitrary, we obtain $\mu(Q) = 0$. On the other hand, $\nu(B_k) \ge \nu(A_k) \ge \varepsilon$. Note that ν is a finite-valued measure on \mathcal{K} so that §17-5.7d is applicable. Due to $B_k \downarrow Q$, we have $\nu(Q) = \lim \nu(B_k) \ge \varepsilon$ which is a contradiction to $\nu \ll \mu$. \Box

24-2.6. <u>Corollary</u> If f is an integrable map, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\int_M |f| d|\mu| \le \varepsilon$ whenever M is a measurable set with $|\mu|M \le \delta$. <u>Proof</u>. The measure defined by $\nu M = \int_M |f| d|\mu|$ is finite-valued on all measurable sets. It follows from last theorem with D = X.

24-2.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ, ν be vector measures. Suppose that the family \mathbb{D} of decent sets is generated by a ring \mathcal{R} . Then $\nu \ll \mu$ if $\forall D \in \mathcal{R}, \forall \varepsilon > 0$, $\exists \delta > 0, \forall A \in \mathcal{R}$ with $A \subset D$ and $|\mu|(A) \leq \delta$, we have $|\nu|(A) \leq \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof</u>. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $\mu, \nu \geq 0$. Let N be a μ -null set. Take any $D \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Choose $\delta > 0$ according to given condition. Since $\mu(D \cap N) = 0$, there are disjoint sets $A_j \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $D \cap N \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j$ and $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_j) \leq \delta$. Then $B = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} (D \cap A_j) \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\mu B \leq \delta$. Hence $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \nu(D \cap A_j) = \nu B \leq \varepsilon$. Because n is arbitrary, we have $\nu(D \cap N) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \nu(D \cap A_j) \leq \varepsilon$. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we obtain $\nu(D \cap N) = 0$. Since $D \in \mathbb{R}$ is arbitrary, N is a ν -null set.

24-2.8. <u>Corollary</u> Let μ, ν be vector measures. Suppose that the family \mathbb{D} of decent sets is generated by a semiring S. Then $\nu \ll \mu$ if the following condition holds: for every $Q \in S$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that whenever $B_1, B_2, \dots B_n$ are disjoint subsets of Q in S with $\sum_{j=1}^n |\mu|(B_j)| \leq \delta$, we have $\sum_{j=1}^n ||\nu(B_j)|| \leq \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let \mathcal{R} be the ring generated by \mathcal{S} . Then \mathbb{D} is also the δ -ring generated by \mathcal{R} . Take any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $D = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} Q_i \in \mathcal{R}$ where Q_i are disjoint sets in \mathcal{S} . Choose $\delta_i > 0$ such that for all disjoint sets $B_1, B_2, \cdots B_n \in \mathcal{S}$, if all $B_j \subset Q_i$ and if $\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mu|(B_j) \leq \delta_i$ then $\sum_{j=1}^{n} ||\nu(B_j)|| \leq \varepsilon/m$. Let $\delta = \min \delta_i$. Suppose $A \in \mathcal{R}$ satisfies $A \subset D$ and $|\mu|(A) \leq \delta$. Write $A = \bigcup_{k=1}^{p} A_k$ as a disjoint union of sets in \mathcal{S} . Clearly $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} \bigcup_{k=1}^{p} (A_k \cap Q_i)$ is a disjoint union of sets in \mathcal{S} . Let

$$A_k \cap Q_i = \bigcup \{ B_{ijk} \in \mathbb{S} : 1 \le j \le n(i,k) \}$$

be any partition. Then for all j, k, we get $B_{ijk} \subset Q_i$. Observe that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{p} \sum_{j=1}^{n(i,k)} |\mu|(B_{ijk}) = \sum_{k=1}^{p} |\mu|(A_k \cap Q_i) = |\mu|(A \cap Q_i) \le |\mu|(A) \le \delta \le \delta_j.$$

Hence,
$$\sum_{k=1}^{p} \sum_{j=1}^{n(i,k)} ||\nu(B_{ijk})|| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{m}.$$

Since the partitions $\{B_{ijk}\}$ of $A_k \cap Q_i$ is arbitrary, we have

$$|\nu|(A \cap Q_i) = \sum_{k=1}^p |\nu|(A_k \cap Q_i) \le \varepsilon/m.$$

Therefore $|\nu|(A) = |\nu| (A \cap \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} Q_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} |\nu|(A \cap Q_i) \le \varepsilon$. It follows from last theorem that $\nu \ll \mu$.

24-2.9. Consider the special case when S is the semiring of semi-intervals of the real line. A map $F : \mathbb{R} \to E$ is said to be *absolutely continuous* if for all a < b and $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $a \leq a_1 < b_1 < \cdots < a_n < b_n \leq b$ we have $\sum_{j=1}^n \|F(b_j) - F(a_j)\| \le \varepsilon$ whenever $\sum_{j=1}^n (b_j - a_j) \le \delta$. Clearly, every absolutely continuous function is uniformly continuous on bounded intervals. Furthermore, a right continuous increasing function is absolutely continuous iff its induced measure is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure.

24 - 2.10. **Exercise** Prove by definition that absolutely continuous maps are of finite variation. Show that the converse is false for example by $\rho_{(-\infty,0)}$.

A sequence $f_n \in L_p(\mu, F)$ is equicontinuous at \emptyset if for all measurable 24-2.11. sets $A_j \downarrow \emptyset$, we have $\lim_{j \to \infty} \sup_n ||f_n \rho_{A_j}||_p = 0$. This is used to characterize mean convergence in terms of convergence in measure.

24-2.12. **Lemma** If a sequence $f_n \in L_p(\mu, F)$ is equicontinuous at \emptyset , then $\lim_{|\mu|A\to 0} \sup_{n} ||f_n\rho_A||_p = 0 \text{ for measurable subsets } A.$

Proof. Suppose to the contrary that there are $\varepsilon > 0$, measurable sets C_i and a subset $\{g_j\}$ of $\{f_n\}$ such that $|\mu|C_j \leq 1/2^j$ and $||g_j\rho_{C_j}||_p \geq \varepsilon$. All $B_k=\bigcup_{j=k}^\infty C_j$ and $N=\bigcap_{k=1}^\infty B_k$ are measurable sets. From $|\mu|N\leq |\mu|B_k\leq$ $\sum_{j=k}^{\infty} |\mu| C_j \leq 1/2^{k-1} \to 0, N \text{ is a null set. Clearly } A_j = B_j \setminus N \subset C_j \text{ are}$ measurable sets with $A_j \downarrow \emptyset$. There is j_0 such that for all $j \ge j_0$ and all n, we have $||f_n \rho_{A_j}||_p \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. Now the contradiction $0 < \varepsilon \leq ||g_j \rho_{C_j}||_p \leq ||g_j \rho_{B_j}||_p =$ $\|g_j \rho_{A_j}\|_p \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$ completes the proof.

<u>Theorem</u> Let $1 \le p < \infty$ and $f_n, f_0 \in L_p(\mu, F)$. Then $f_n \to f_0$ in 24-2.13. $L_p(\mu, F)$ iff $f_n \to f_0$ in measure and the sequence $\{f_n\}$ is equicontinuous at \emptyset .

<u>Proof</u>. Since $D = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \{x \in X : f_n(x) \neq 0\}$ is σ -finite, let $D = \bigcup_{i=0}^{\infty} D_i$ where D_0 is a null set and all $D_1 \subset D_2 \subset \cdots$ are decent sets. Assume $f_n \to f_0$ in $L_p(\mu, F)$. We have proved $f_n \to f_0$ in measure. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is n_0 such that $||f_n - f_0||_p \le \varepsilon$ for all $n \ge n_0$. By §24-2.6, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all n with $0 \le n < n_0$ and for all measurable set A with $|\mu|A \le \delta$ we have $\int_A |f_n|^p d|\mu| \le \varepsilon^p$, i.e. $||f_n \rho_A||_p \le \varepsilon$. Now let A_j be measurable sets with $A_j \downarrow \emptyset$ as $j \to \infty$. For each $i \ge 1$, $A_j \cap D_i$ are the decent sets. There is k such that for all $j \ge k$ we have $|\mu|(A_j \cap D_i) \le \delta$. For $n \ge n_0$, $j \ge k$ and $i \ge 1$, we get $||f_n \rho_{A_j \cap D_i}||_p \le ||f_n - f_0||_p + ||f_0 \rho_{A_j \cap D_i}||_p \le 2\varepsilon$. On the other hand for $1 \le n < n_0$, we have $||f_n \rho_{A_j \cap D_i}||_p = \lim_{i \to \infty} ||f_n \rho_{A_j \cap D_i}||_p \le 2\varepsilon$. Consequently, we conclude $\lim_{j \to \infty} \sup_n ||f_n \rho_{A_j}||_p = 0$.

Conversely, by last lemma, for each i and $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for every measurable set A with $|\mu|A \leq \delta$ and for every n we have $||f_n\rho_A||_p \leq \varepsilon$. On the other hand, since $B_i = D \setminus (D_0 \cup D_i) \downarrow \emptyset$, there is i such that for all nwe have $||f_n\rho_{B_i}||_p \leq \varepsilon$. Observe that for all m, n we have

 $||f_m - f_n||_p \le ||(f_m - f_n)\rho_{D_0 \cup D_i}||_p + ||(f_m - f_n)\rho_{B_i}||_p$

 $\leq \|(f_m - f_n)\rho_{D_i}\|_p + \|f_m\rho_{B_i}\|_p + \|f_n\rho_{B_i}\|_p \leq \|(f_m - f_n)\rho_{D_i}\|_p + 2\varepsilon.$ If $\|\mu|D_i = 0$, then we have $\|f_m - f_n\|_p \leq 2\varepsilon$. Next assume $\|\mu|D_i > 0$. Let

$$\begin{split} H_{jk} &= \left\{ x \in X : \|f_j(x) - f_k(x)\| \ge \varepsilon \ (|\mu|D_i)^{-1/p} \ \right\}. \text{ Since } f_n \to f \text{ in measure,} \\ \left\{ f_n \right\} \text{ is Cauchy in measure. There is } n_0 \text{ such that for all } j, k \ge n_0 \text{ we have} \\ |\mu|H_{jk} \le \delta. \text{ Hence } \|f_n \rho_{H_{jk}}\|_p \le \varepsilon \text{ for all } n. \text{ Thus for all } m, n \ge n_0 \text{ we obtain} \\ \|(f_m - f_n)\rho_{D_i}\|_p \le \|(f_m - f_n)\rho_{D_i\setminus H_{mn}}\|_p + \|f_m\rho_{H_{mn}}\|_p + \|f_n\rho_{H_{mn}}\|_p \\ \le \left[\int \left\{ \varepsilon \ (|\mu|D_i)^{-1/p}\rho_{D_i\setminus H_{mn}} \right\}^p d|\mu| \right]^{1/p} + \varepsilon + \varepsilon \le 3\varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Therefore for all $m, n \ge n_0$, $||f_m - f_n|| \le 5\varepsilon$ independent of D_i . The sequence $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in $L_p(\mu, F)$. Suppose $f_n \to g \in L_p(\mu, F)$. Then $\{f_n\}$ converges in measure to both f, g. Hence f = g, μ -ae. Consequently, we have $f_n \to f$ in $L_p(\mu, F)$ as required.

24-3 Positive and Negative Sets

24-3.1. Let μ be a *real* measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . A measurable set Q is said to be *positive* if $\mu(Q \cap A) \ge 0$ for each decent set $A \in \mathbb{D}$ and *negative* if $\mu(Q \cap A) \le 0$. Note that null sets have been introduced. In symbols, we write $Q \ge 0, Q \le 0$ and Q = 0 respectively.

Exercise Prove that if $Q \subset P \geq 0$ then $Q \geq 0$. Furthermore we have 24 - 3.2. $0 \le \mu(Q \cap A) \le \mu(P \cap A), \qquad \forall A \in \mathbb{D}.$

24-3.3. **Exercise** Prove that countable unions of positive sets are positive.

Lemma Let $\mu : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a *real* measure and let A be a decent set. 24 - 3.4. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a decent subset B of A such that $\mu B \ge \mu A$ and for every decent subset Q of B we have $\mu Q \ge -\varepsilon$.

Proof. Suppose to the contrary that there is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for every decent subset B of A, if $\mu B \ge \mu A$ then $\mu Q < -\varepsilon$ for some decent subset Q of B. Firstly for B = A, there is a decent subset Q_1 of A satisfying $\mu Q_1 < -\varepsilon$. Hence $\mu(A \setminus Q_1) = \mu A - \mu Q_1 \ge \mu A + \varepsilon$. Assume inductively that Q_1, Q_2, \dots, Q_n are disjoint decent subsets of A such that $\mu\left(A \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} Q_{j}\right) \ge \mu A + n\varepsilon$. For $B = A \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} Q_j$, there is a decent subset Q_{n+1} of B satisfying $\mu Q_{n+1} < -\varepsilon$. Hence $\mu(A \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{n+1} Q_j) = \mu(B \setminus Q_{n+1}) = \mu B - \mu Q_{n+1} \ge \mu A + (n+1)\varepsilon$. Therefore an infinite sequence $\{Q_n\}$ has been constructed. Let $Q = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} Q_j$. Since all $Q_j \subset A, Q$ is a decent subset of A. Finally the countable disjoint union $A = (A \setminus Q) \cup \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} Q_j\right)$ gives

$$-\infty < \mu A = \mu(A \setminus Q) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu Q_j \le \mu(A \setminus Q) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-\varepsilon)$$

contradiction. This completes the proof.

which is a contradiction. This completes the proof.

24-3.5. **Theorem** Let $\mu : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a *real* measure. Then every decent set A contains a positive set B such that $\mu B \ge \mu A$.

Proof. It follows from last lemma that there is a sequence of decent sets $B_{n+1} \subset B_n \subset A$ such that $\mu B_{n+1} \geq \mu B_n \geq \mu A$ and $\mu Q \geq -\frac{1}{n}$ for all decent subsets Q of B_n . Then $B = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n$ is a decent subset of A. Furthermore for each decent set $Q, Q \cap B$ is a decent subset of every B_n . Hence we have $\mu(Q \cap B) \ge -\frac{1}{n}$ for all n, that is $\mu(Q \cap B) \ge 0$. Therefore B is a positive set. Finally since $B_n \downarrow B$, $\mu B = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu B_n \ge \mu A$.

24-4 Existence of Derivatives

24-4.1. In this section, we prove that if $\nu \ll \mu$ are complex measures, then the μ -density of ν exists on μ - σ -finite sets.

24-4.2. Lemma Let μ, ν be positive measures on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . If ν is absolutely continuous with respect to μ , then for each decent set M there is a finite-valued upper function f on X such that $f(X \setminus M) = 0$ and $\nu A = \int_A f d\mu$ for every decent subset A of M.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\mathbb{D}(M)$ denote the family of all decent subsets of M and \mathbb{F} the family of upper functions h on X such that $\int_A hd\mu \leq \nu A$ for all $A \in \mathbb{D}(M)$. Note that since both h, μ are positive objects, the integral $\int_A hd\mu$ always exists. Clearly \mathbb{F} is non-empty because h = 0 belongs to \mathbb{F} . Next, suppose $f, g \in \mathbb{F}$. Then $D = \{x \in X : f(x) < g(x)\}$ is a measurable set. Now for each $A \in \mathbb{D}(M)$,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{A} (f \vee g) d\mu = \int_{A \cap D} (f \vee g) d\mu + \int_{A \setminus D} (f \vee g) d\mu \\ &= \int_{A \cap D} g d\mu + \int_{A \setminus D} f d\mu \leq \nu (A \cap D) + \nu (A \setminus D) = \nu A. \end{split}$$

Hence the measurable function $f \lor q$ is in \mathbb{F} . Next, since M is a decent set, we have $\alpha = \sup\left\{\int_M h d\mu : h \in \mathbb{F}\right\} \le \nu M < \infty$. There is a sequence $h_n \in \mathbb{F}$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_{M}h_nd\mu = \alpha$. It follows that $g_n = h_1 \vee h_2 \vee \cdots \vee h_n \in \mathbb{F}$. Since μ is positive, we have $\int_M h_n d\mu \leq \int_M g_n d\mu \leq \alpha$. Now $0 \leq g_n \uparrow$ converges to an upper function, say $g = \lim g_n$. It follows from Monotone Convergence Theorem that $\int_M gd\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_M g_n d\mu = \alpha < \infty$. Hence g is μ -integrable on M. The set $N = \{x \in M : g(x) = \infty\}$ is a μ -null set. The function $f = g\rho_{M \setminus N}$ is a finite-valued upper function satisfying $f(X \setminus M) = 0$ and f = g, μ -ae on *M*. Hence $\int_M f d\mu = \int_M g d\mu = \alpha$. Take any $A \in \mathbb{D}(M)$. Since $g_n \in \mathbb{F}$ we have $\int_A g_n d\mu \leq \nu A$. Since $g_n \rho_A \uparrow f \rho_A$, μ -ae, the conclusion of $f \in \mathbb{F}$ follows from the calculation: $\int_A f d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n \rho_A d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_A g_n d\mu \le \nu A.$ Next, we claim $\nu A = \int_A f d\mu$ for each $A \in \mathbb{D}(M)$. Suppose to the contrary that there is $Q \in \mathbb{D}(M)$ such that $\int_{\Omega} f d\mu < \nu Q$. Define $\xi A = \nu A - \int_{A} f d\mu$ for every $A \in \mathbb{D}(M)$. Then ξ is a positive measure on the measurable subspace $(M, \mathbb{D}(M))$. Since $\xi Q > 0$, there is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\xi Q > \varepsilon \mu Q$. Now $\pi = \xi - \varepsilon \mu$ is a real measure on the measurable subspace M. There is a π -positive subset P of Q such that $\pi P \ge \pi Q$. Thus $h = f + \varepsilon \rho_P$ is an upper function on X. For any decent subset A of M, $P \cap A$ is a decent subset of P and hence $\pi(P \cap A) \ge 0$, that is $\varepsilon \mu(P \cap A) \leq \xi(P \cap A)$. Observe that

$$\int_{A} h d\mu = \int_{A} f d\mu + \varepsilon \int_{A} \rho_{P} d\mu = \int_{A} f d\mu + \varepsilon \mu(P \cap A)$$
$$\leq \int_{A} f d\mu + \xi(P \cap A) = \int_{A} f d\mu + \nu(P \cap A) - \int_{P \cap A} f d\mu$$
П

$$= \int_{A \setminus P} f d\mu + \nu(P \cap A) \le \nu(A \setminus P) + \nu(P \cap A) = \nu(A).$$

Hence $h \in \mathbb{F}$. Consequently, we have

$$\alpha \geq \int_{M} h d\mu = \int_{M} (f + \varepsilon \rho_{P}) d\mu = \int_{M} f d\mu + \varepsilon \int \rho_{P} d\mu = \alpha + \varepsilon \mu P$$

which gives $\mu P = 0$. Since $\nu \ll \mu$, we have $\nu P = 0$, or

$$0 < \pi Q \le \pi P = (\xi - \varepsilon \mu)(P) = \nu P - \int_P f d\mu - \varepsilon \mu P \le 0.$$

This contradiction establishes the proof.

24-4.3. Lemma Let μ be a positive measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) and ν a complex measure. If ν is absolutely continuous with respect to μ , then for each μ - σ -finite set M there is a locally μ -integrable function f on X such that $f(X \setminus M) = 0$ and $\nu A = \int_A f d\mu$ for every decent subset A of M. Furthermore, if ν is positive, then we may choose $f \geq 0$. If ν is real, then we may choose f to be real.

<u>Proof</u>. Firstly assume $\nu \geq 0$. There is a sequence of disjoint measurable sets H_0, H_1, H_2, \cdots such that H_0 is a μ -null set; all H_i are decent sets for $i \geq 1$ and $M = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} H_n$. For each $n \geq 1$ there is a positive measurable function f_n on X such that $f_n(X \setminus H_n) = 0$ and $\nu A = \int_A f_n d\mu$ for every decent subset A of H_n . Clearly $f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n$ is a positive measurable function on Xsatisfying $f(X \setminus M) = 0$. Now every decent set A can be written as a disjoint union: $A = (A \setminus M) \cup [\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} (A \cap H_n)]$. From $\nu \ll \mu$, $\mu(A \cap H_0) = 0$ implies $\nu(A \cap H_0) = 0$. Since

$$\int_{A} f d\mu = \int_{A \setminus M} f d\mu + \int_{A \cap H_0} f d\mu + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{A \cap H_n} f d\mu$$

= 0 + 0 + $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu(A \cap H_n) = \nu(A \cap H_0) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu(A \cap H_n) = \nu(A \cap M) < \infty$,
f is μ -integrable on every decent set A. In particular, f is locally
 μ -integrable. This proves the case when $\nu \ge 0$. Next, suppose ν is a real
measure. Then $0 \le \nu_+ \le |\nu|$ and hence $\nu_+ \ll \mu$. Applying the above result
to ν_+ and ν_- respectively, there are locally μ -integrable functions $g, h \ge 0$ on
X vanishing outside M and satisfying $\nu_+(A) = \int_A g d\mu$, $\nu_-(A) = \int_A h d\mu$ for all
 $A \in \mathbb{D}(M)$. Then $f = g - h$ is the required function. The case for complex
measure ν is left as an exercise.

24-4.4. Polar Form of Complex Measures Let μ be a complex measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . Then for every μ - σ -finite set M, there is a locally μ -integrable function f on X such that $f(X \setminus M) = 0$, |f| = 1 on M, $\mu A = \int_A fd|\mu|$ and

 $|\mu|(A) = \int_A f^- d\mu$ for every decent subset A of M. Furthermore if μ is real, then we may choose f to be real. This is handy to reduce complex measures to positive measures.

<u>Proof</u>. Since μ , $|\mu|$ have the same null sets, we have $\mu \ll |\mu|$. There is a locally μ -integrable function g on X such that $g(X \setminus M) = 0$; $\mu A = \int_A gd|\mu|$ for every decent subset A of M. Then we have $\int_A 1d|\mu| = |\mu|(A) = \int_A |g| \ d|\mu|$ for all $A \in \mathbb{D}(M)$. Hence |g| = 1, μ -ae on M. Now $N = \{x \in M : |g|(x) \neq 1\}$ is a μ -null set. For $f = \rho_N + g\rho_{M\setminus N}$, we have |f| = 1 on M, $f(X \setminus M) = 0$ and for all $A \in \mathbb{D}(M)$, $\mu A = \int_A gd|\mu| = \int_A g\rho_{M\setminus N} d|\mu| = \int_A (f - \rho_N) d|\mu| = \int_A fd|\mu|$ and $\int_A f^- d\mu = \int_A f^- fd|\mu| = \int_A |f|^2 d|\mu| = \int_A 1d|\mu| = |\mu|(A)$. Finally, suppose that μ is real. From $\mu A = \int_A fd|\mu|$ for all $A \in \mathbb{D}(M)$, f is real-valued μ -ae on M. Since $f(X \setminus M) = 0$, f is real-valued μ -ae on X. It is an exercise to construct a real function to replace f.

24-4.5. **Radon-Nikodym Theorem** Let μ, ν complex measures. If ν is absolutely continuous with respect to μ , then for each μ - σ -finite measurable set M there is a locally μ -integrable function f on X such that $f(X \setminus M) = 0$ and $\nu A = \int_A f d\mu$ for every decent subset A of M. Furthermore, if both μ, ν are positive; then we may choose $f \geq 0$. The same is true for real case.

Proof. It is a refinement of last two lemmas.

24-4.6. <u>Corollary</u> Let $0 \le \nu \le \mu$ be positive measures. Then for every μ - σ -finite set M, there is a locally μ -integrable function f on X such that $f(X \setminus M) = 0$, $0 \le f \le 1$ on M and $\nu A = \int_A f d\mu$ for every decent subset A of M.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Suppose that g is a locally μ -integrable positive function satisfying $\overline{g(X \setminus M)} = 0$ and $\nu A = \int_A g d\mu$ for every decent subset A of M. Then

$$\int_{A} (1-g)d\mu = \mu(A) - \nu(A) \ge 0, \qquad \forall \ A \in \mathbb{D}(M).$$

Hence $1 - g \ge 0$, μ -ae on M. Since $g(X \setminus M) = 0$, we have $0 \le g \le 1$, μ -ae on X. For $N = \{x \in X : 0 \le g(x) \le 1\}$, $f = g\rho_N$ is a required function.

24-4.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ be a complex measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) and $f: X \to E$ a measurable map. If f is integrable on a measurable set M, then we have $\int_M f d\mu \in |\mu|(M) \ \overline{\text{coba}} \ f(M)$ where $\overline{\text{coba}} \ f(M)$ is the closed convex balanced hull of f(M).

<u>Proof</u>. Since $f\rho_M$ is integrable on X, the set $S = \{x \in M : f(x) \neq 0\}$ is σ -finite. There is a locally integrable function φ on X such that $\varphi(X \setminus S) = 0$,

$$\begin{split} |\varphi| &= 1 \text{ on } S \text{ and } \mu A = \int_A \varphi d|\mu| \text{ for every decent subset } A \text{ of } S. \text{ Hence we} \\ \text{have } \int_M f d\mu &= \int_S f \varphi d|\mu| \text{ and } |\mu|(S) \ \overline{\text{coba}} \ f(S) \subset |\mu|(M) \ \overline{\text{coba}} \ f(M). \text{ Therefore} \\ \text{we may assume that } \mu \text{ is a positive measure. Suppose to the contrary that} \\ \int_M f d\mu \notin \mu(M) \ \overline{\text{coba}} \ f(M). \text{ In particular, we have } \mu M > 0. \text{ There is a real} \\ \text{linear form } v \text{ on } E \text{ and a real number } t \text{ such that } v \int_M f d\mu < t \leq v(z) \text{ for all} \\ z \in \mu(M) \ \overline{\text{coba}} \ f(M). \text{ Integrating } \int_M (vf) d\mu < t \leq v[\mu(M)f(x)] \text{ over } M, \text{ we} \\ \text{obtain a contradiction: } (\mu M) \int_M (vf) d\mu < t \mu M \leq \mu(M) \int_M vf d\mu. \quad \Box \end{split}$$

24-4.8. **Corollary** Let μ be a complex measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) ; f an integrable function on X and $g: X \to E$ an essentially bounded map. Then we have $\int fg d\mu \in ||f||_1$ coba g(M) where $M = \{x \in X : f(x) \neq 0\}$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since f is integrable, the set M is σ -finite. Now $\nu A = \int_A f d\mu$ defines a complex measure on (X, \mathbb{D}) . Since fg is μ -integrable; by §24-1.11, the map g is ν -integrable and $\int fg d\mu = \int g d\nu \in |\nu|(M)\overline{\operatorname{coba}} g(M) = ||f||_1 \overline{\operatorname{coba}} g(M)$. \Box

24-5 Hahn and Lebesgue Decompositions

24-5.1. Let μ be a *real* measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) and let M be a measurable set. A partition of M into a positive set and a negative set is called a *Hahn Decomposition* of M for μ .

24-5.2. <u>Hahn Decomposition Theorem</u> Every μ - σ -finite set M has a Hahn decomposition.

<u>Proof.</u> Let f be a locally μ -integrable real function on X such that $\mu A = \int_A f d|\mu|$ for every decent subset A of M. Define $P = M \cap f^{-1}[0,\infty)$ and $Q = M \setminus P$. Clearly $M = P \cup Q$ and $P \cap Q = \emptyset$. Take any decent subset A of P. Then $f \ge 0$ on A. Since $|\mu| \ge 0$, we have $\mu A = \int_A f d|\mu| \ge 0$. Therefore P is a μ -positive set. Similarly Q is a μ -negative set.

24-5.3. **Exercise** Prove that if (P, Q) and (S, T) are Hahn decompositions of a μ - σ -finite set M then both $P \triangle S, Q \triangle T$ are μ -null sets and for every decent set A we have $\mu(A \cap P) = \mu(A \cap S)$ and $\mu(A \cap Q) = \mu(A \cap T)$.

24-5.4. Two vector measures μ, ν on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) are said to be *singular*, in symbol $\mu \perp \nu$, if there are measurable sets S, T such that $X = S \cup T$, $S \cap T = \emptyset$, S is μ -null and T is ν -null. Note that the definition involves positive measures $|\mu|, |\nu|$ only. 24-5.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ, ν be vector measures on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . Suppose X is σ -finite for both μ and ν . Then μ is singular to ν iff $|\mu| \wedge |\nu| = 0$. This justifies the notation $\mu \perp \nu$ for measures and for vector lattices.

<u>Proof</u>. Since everything is in terms of $|\mu|, |\nu|$; we may assume both $\mu, \nu \ge 0$. Suppose $\mu \land \nu = 0$. Let $\pi = \mu + \nu$. Then X is π - σ -finite. There are locally π -integrable functions $f, g \ge 0$ satisfying $\mu A = \int_A f d\pi$ and $\nu A = \int_A g d\pi$ for every decent set A. Observe that

 $\begin{array}{l} 0 = (\mu \wedge \nu)(A) = \frac{1}{2}(\mu + \nu - |\mu - \nu|)(A) = \int_{A} \frac{1}{2}(f + g - |f - g|)d\pi = \int_{A} f \wedge gd\pi, \\ \text{or } f \wedge g = 0, \ \pi\text{-ae. Now define } P = f^{-1}(0,\infty) \ \text{and } Q = X \setminus P. \ \text{Since } f, g = 0, \\ \pi\text{-ae on } Q, P \ \text{respectively, we infer } \mu, \nu = 0 \ \text{on } Q, P \ \text{respectively. Therefore } \mu \\ \text{is singular to } \nu. \ \text{The converse is left as an exercise.} \end{array}$

24-5.6. A Banach space F is said to have *Radon-Nikodym Property* if for every scalar measure μ on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) , every μ - σ -finite subset M of X, every μ -continuous vector measure $\nu : \mathbb{D} \to F$, there is a locally μ -integrable function f on X such that $f(X \setminus M) = 0$ and $\nu A = \int_A f d\mu$ for every decent subset A of M. We have proved that the scalar field \mathbb{K} has Radon-Nikodym Property. In last section of this chapter, it will be shown that separable dual spaces and reflexive spaces have Radon-Nikodym Property.

24-5.7. Lebesgue Decomposition Theorem Let μ, ν be vector measures on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) into Banach spaces E, F respectively. Suppose that X is σ -finite for both μ and ν . If F has Radon-Nikodym Property, then there are measures μ_a and μ_s such that $\nu = \mu_a + \mu_s$, μ_a is μ -continuous and μ_s is singular to μ . Furthermore the decomposition is unique. The pair μ_a, μ_s is called the *Lebesgue decomposition* of ν with respect to μ . Finally, if ν is real (respectively positive) then we may assume that both μ_a and μ_s are real (respectively positive).

<u>Proof</u>. Consider the special case when both μ, ν are positive. The positive measure $\pi = \mu + \nu$ is σ -finite on X. Clearly $\mu \ll \pi$ and $\nu \ll \pi$. There are locally π -integrable positive functions f, g on X such that $\mu A = \int_A f d\pi$ and $\nu A = \int_A g d\pi$ for all $A \in \mathbb{D}$. Define $P = f^{-1}(0, \infty)$ and $Q = f^{-1}(0)$. Then both P, Q are measurable sets satisfying $X = P \cup Q$ and $P \cap Q = \emptyset$. For every decent set B define $\mu_a(B) = \nu(B \cap P)$ and $\mu_s(B) = \nu(B \cap Q)$. Then clearly both μ_a, μ_s are positive measures on (X, \mathbb{D}) satisfying $\nu = \mu_a + \mu_s$. Next, take any μ -null set N. Then for every decent set $B, \int_{B \cap N} f d\pi = \mu(B \cap N) = 0$. Hence f = 0, π -ae on $B \cap N$, or $\pi(B \cap N \cap P) = 0$. Consequently,

$$0 \le \mu_a(B \cap N) = \nu(B \cap N \cap P) \le \pi(B \cap N \cap P) = 0,$$

that is $\mu_a(B \cap N) = 0$. Since B is any decent set, N is μ_a -null. This proves $\mu_a \ll \mu$. Finally because f = 0 on Q, we have $\mu(B \cap Q) = \int_{B \cap Q} f d\pi = 0$ and $\mu_s(B \cap P) = \nu(B \cap P \cap Q) = \nu(\emptyset) = 0$. Therefore $\mu \perp \mu_s$. We have proved the existence for a special case when $\mu, \nu \geq 0$. In general, suppose that μ, ν are vector measures on X into Banach spaces E, F respectively. There are positive measures ν_a, ν_s such that $|\nu| = \nu_a + \nu_s, \nu_a \ll |\mu|$ and $|\nu_s| \perp |\mu|$. Since F has Radon-Nikodym Property, there is a locally ν -integrable map $h: X \to F$ such that $\nu(A) = \int_A h d|\nu|, \forall A \in \mathbb{D}$. Furthermore if ν is real, we may choose h to be real. Define $\mu_a(A) = \int_A h d\nu_a$ and $\mu_s(A) = \int_A h d\nu_s$, $\forall A \in \mathbb{D}$. Then clearly $\nu = \mu_a + \mu_s$. Since every ν_a -null set is μ_a -null, we have $\mu_a \ll \mu$. In the same manner, we get $\mu_s \perp \mu$. For uniqueness, assume $\nu = \mu_a + \mu_s = \nu_a + \nu_s$ be two Lebesgue decompositions. Then $\xi = \mu_a - \nu_a = \nu_s - \mu_s$ is a measure on X. Because $\mu_s, \nu_s \perp \mu$, there are measurable sets P, Q, M, N such that $X = P \cup Q = M \cup N, P \cap Q = \emptyset, M \cap N = \emptyset, P \text{ is } \mu_s\text{-null}, M \text{ is } \nu_s\text{-null}$ and Q, N are μ -null. Take any decent set A. Since $Q \cup N$ is μ -null we have $\mu[A \cap (Q \cup N)] = 0$. Due to $\mu_a \ll \mu$ and $\nu_a \ll \mu$, we get

 $\xi[A \cap (Q \cup N)] = \mu_a[A \cap (Q \cup N)] - \nu_a[A \cap (Q \cup N)] = 0.$

Since P is μ_s -null and M is ν_s -null, we obtain

$$\xi[A \cap (P \cap M)] = \nu_s[(A \cap P) \cap M] - \mu_s[(A \cap M) \cap P] = 0.$$

Consequently, $\xi A = \xi[A \cap (Q \cup N)] + \xi[A \cap (P \cap M)] = 0$. Because A is arbitrary we have $\xi = 0$, that is $\mu_a = \nu_a$ and $\nu_s = \mu_s$.

24-6 Duality of Classical Spaces

24-6.1. Let μ be a complex measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) ; $1 \leq p < \infty$; q the conjugate index defined by $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ and F a Banach space. In this section, we prove that under certain condition the dual of $L_p(\mu, F)$ is isomorphic to $L_q(\mu, F')$. For functions in particular, we have $L'_p = L_q$. We restrict ourselves to a framework which is natural rather than of maximum generality.

24-6.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let $1 \le p \le \infty$. For each $h \in L_q(\mu, F')$ and $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$, let $T_h(f) = \int hfd\mu$. Then T_h is a continuous linear form on $L_p(\mu, F)$ with $||T_h|| = ||h||_q$.

<u>Proof.</u> For $hf \in L_1$, $T_h(f)$ is well-defined. Clearly it is linear in f. Since $\overline{|T_h(f)|} = \left|\int hfd\mu\right| \leq \int |h| |f| d|\mu| \leq ||h||_q ||f||_p$, the linear form T_h is continuous

on $L_p(\mu, F)$ and $||T_h|| \le ||h||_q$. If $||h||_q = 0$ then $||T_h|| = ||h||_q = 0$. It remains to show $||h||_q \le ||T_h||$ for $||h||_q > 0$.

Case 1: Assume that $1 \leq q < \infty$ and $h = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where $\alpha_j \neq 0 \in F'$ and A_j are disjoint nonempty decent sets. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ and each j, choose $\beta_j \in F$ satisfying $(1 - \varepsilon) \|\alpha_j\| \leq |\alpha_j\beta_j|$ and $\|\beta_j\| = 1$. Replacing β_j with $\beta_j\theta_j$ for some number $|\theta_j| = 1$, we may assume $\alpha_j\beta_j \geq 0$. Since $M = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} A_j$ is a decent set, there is a locally integrable function φ on X such that $|\varphi| = 1$ on M, $\varphi(X \setminus M) = 0$ and $|\mu|B = \int_B \varphi^- d\mu$ for all decent subsets B of M. Then $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_j \rho_{A_j} \|\alpha_j\|^{q-1} \varphi^- : X \to F$ is a measurable map. Since $|f| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\alpha_j\|^{q-1} \rho_{A_j}$, we have $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$ and also

$$\|f\|_{p}^{p} = \int \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\alpha_{j}\|^{p(q-1)} \rho_{A_{j}} d|\mu| = \int \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\alpha_{j}\|^{q} \rho_{A_{j}} d|\mu| = \|h\|_{q}^{q} > 0.$$

From

$$\begin{split} \|T_{h}\| \|f\|_{p} &\geq \left| \int hfd\mu \right| = \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int \alpha_{j}\beta_{j}\rho_{A_{j}} \|\alpha_{j}\|^{q-1}\varphi^{-}d\mu \right| \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int \alpha_{j}\beta_{j}\rho_{A_{j}} \|\alpha_{j}\|^{q-1}d|\mu| \geq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int (1-\varepsilon) \|\alpha_{j}\|\rho_{A_{j}}\|\alpha_{j}\|^{q-1}d|\mu| \\ &= (1-\varepsilon) \|h\|_{q}^{q} = (1-\varepsilon) \|f\|_{p} \|h\|_{q}, \end{split}$$

we have $||T_h|| \ge (1-\varepsilon)||h||_q$. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we obtain $||h||_q \le ||T_h||$.

Case 2: Assume $1 \leq q < \infty$ and $h \in L_q(\mu, F')$ with $||h||_q > 0$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose a decent map $k : X \to F'$ with $||h - k||_q \leq \varepsilon$. It follows from last case, there is $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$ such that $||f||_p \leq 1$ and $||k||_q - \varepsilon \leq |\int kf d\mu|$. From

$$\begin{split} \|T_h\| &\geq |\int hfd\mu| \geq |\int kfd\mu| - |\int (h-k)fd\mu| \\ &\geq (\|k\|_q - \varepsilon) - \int |h-k| |f| |d|\mu| \\ &\geq (\|h\|_q - \|k-h\|_q) - \varepsilon - \|h-k\|_q \|f\|_p \geq \|h\|_q - 3\varepsilon, \end{split}$$

letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $||h||_q \leq ||T_h||$.

Case 3: Assume $q = \infty$ and $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, F')$ with $||h||_{\infty} > 0$. For each $0 < t < ||h||_{\infty}$, the set $B = \{x \in X : ||h(x)|| > t\}$ is not null. There is a decent subset D of B with $|\mu|D > 0$. Since h is measurable, there are simple maps $h_n : X \to F'$ such that $h_n \to h$ on X. By Egorov's theorem, $h_n \to h$, μ -almost uniformly on D. There is a measurable subset N of D such that $|\mu|N < \frac{1}{2}|\mu|D$ and $h_n \to h$ uniformly on the decent set $P = D \setminus N$. For any $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}t$, choose n such that $||h_n(x) - h(x)|| \le \varepsilon$ for all $x \in P$. Write $h_n = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in F'$ and A_j are disjoint measurable sets. For all $x \in P \subset B$, $||h_n(x)|| \ge ||h(x)|| -\varepsilon \ge t-\varepsilon \ge \varepsilon$ implies $x \in A_j$ for some j, that is $P \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^k |\mu|(P \cap A_j)$, i.e. $|\mu|(P \cap A_i) > 0$ for some index i. Taking any $z \in A = P \cap A_i \subset B$, we obtain $||\alpha_i|| = ||h_n(z)|| > t$. Also for all $x \in A$, we get $||h(x)-\alpha_i|| = ||h(x)-h_n(x)|| \le \varepsilon$.

Pick $\beta \in F$ such that $|\alpha_i\beta| \ge (1-\varepsilon)||\alpha_i||$ and $||\beta|| \le 1$. Choose a number θ such that $|\theta| = 1$ and $\alpha_i\beta\theta = |\alpha_i\beta|$. Select an integrable function φ on X such that $|\varphi| = 1$ on A_i , $\varphi(X \setminus A_i) = 0$ and $|\mu|S = \int_S \varphi^- d\mu$ for all decent subset S of A_i . Now $f = \beta\theta\varphi^-\rho_A/|\mu|(A)$ is a decent map with $||f||_1 = \int |f| d|\mu| = ||\beta|| \le 1$. From

$$\begin{split} \|T_{h}\| &\geq \left| \int hfd\mu \right| = \left| \int \frac{h\beta\theta\varphi^{-}\rho_{A}}{|\mu|A} d\mu \right| \\ &\geq \left| \int \frac{\alpha_{i}\beta\theta\varphi^{-}\rho_{A}}{|\mu|A} d\mu \right| - \left| \int \frac{(h-\alpha_{i})\beta\theta\varphi^{-}\rho_{A}}{|\mu|A} d\mu \right| \\ &\geq \int \frac{\alpha_{i}\beta\theta\rho_{A}}{|\mu|A} d|\mu| - \int \frac{|h-\alpha_{i}|}{|\mu|A} d|\mu| \\ &\geq \int \frac{(1-\varepsilon)\|\alpha_{i}\|\rho_{A}}{|\mu|A} d|\mu| - \int \frac{\varepsilon\rho_{A}}{|\mu|A} d|\mu| \\ &\geq \int \frac{(1-\varepsilon)t\rho_{A}}{|\mu|A} d|\mu| - \varepsilon \geq (1-\varepsilon)t - \varepsilon \end{split}$$

letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $||T_h|| \ge t$. Finally letting $t \uparrow ||h||_{\infty}$, we have $||T_h|| \ge ||h||_{\infty}$.

24-6.3. <u>Exercise</u> For $F = \mathbb{K}$, $1 < q < \infty$ and $\mu \ge 0$, the above proof can be dramatically simplified. Let $f = |h|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn}(h^{-})$. Prove that $fh = |f|^p = |h|^q$ and $\int fhd\mu = ||f||_p^p = ||h||_q^q = ||f||_p ||h||_q$.

24-6.4. <u>Corollary</u> $||T_h||_q = \sup\{\int |h| fd|\mu| : 0 \le f \in L_p, ||f||_p \le 1\}.$ <u>Proof</u>. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose $g \in L_p$ such that $||T_{|h|}|| \le |\int |h|gd|\mu| + \varepsilon$. Then we have $0 \le f = |g| \in L_p, ||f||_p = ||g||_p \le 1$ and

$$\begin{split} \|T_{|h|}\| &\leq \left|\int |h|gd|\mu| \right| + \varepsilon \leq \int |h| \ |g|d|\mu| + \varepsilon = \int |h|fd|\mu| + \varepsilon \leq \|T_{|h|}\| + \varepsilon. \\ \text{From } \|T_h\|_q = \|h\|_q = \| \ |h| \ \|_q = \|T_{|h|}\|_q, \text{ the proof is completed.} \quad \Box$$

24-6.5. We have proved that the map $\pi : L_q(\mu, F') \to L_p(\mu, F)'$ given by $\pi(h) = T_h$ is an isometry. Naturally we want to know if π is an isomorphism. We have proved that the scalar field \mathbb{K} has Radon-Nikodym Property. In next section of this chapter, it will be shown that separable dual spaces and reflexive spaces have Radon-Nikodym Property.

24-6.6. Lemma Let 1 . Then for every continuous linear form <math>T on $L_p(\mu, F)$, there is a σ -finite set M such that for each $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$, we have $T(f\rho_{X\setminus M}) = 0$. In other words, T is *concentrated* on a σ -finite set M.

<u>*Proof*</u>. By Density Theorem, we have $||T|| = \sup\{|T(f)| : ||f||_p = 1\}$ where f runs over the decent maps. For each n, there is a decent map f_n such that

 $||f_n||_p = 1$ and $|T(f_n)| \ge ||T||(1 - \frac{1}{n})$. Replacing f_n by $\theta_n f_n$ for some number $|\theta_n| = 1$, we may assume $T(f_n) \ge 0$. Now each $M_n = \{x \in X : |f_n(x)| > 0\}$ is σ -finite. Hence $M = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n$ is also σ -finite. Now take any decent subset A of $X \setminus M$ and any $\alpha \in F$. Choose $\theta \in \mathbb{K}$ such that $|\theta| = 1$ and $\theta T(\alpha \rho_A) \ge 0$. Then for each r > 0, $g = f_n + r\theta\alpha\rho_A$ is also a decent map. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \|g\|_{p}^{p} &= \int |f_{n} + r\theta\alpha\rho_{A}|^{p}d|\mu| = \int |f_{n}|^{p}d|\mu| + \int r^{p}\|\alpha\|^{p}\rho_{A}d|\mu| = 1 + r^{p}\|\alpha\|^{p}|\mu|A \\ \text{that is,} \quad \|g\|_{p} &= (1 + r^{p}\|\alpha\|^{p}|\mu|A)^{1/p}. \text{ Hence} \\ &= \|T\|(1 + r^{p}\|\alpha\|^{p}|\mu|A)^{1/p} = \|T\| \|g\|_{p} \ge |T(g)| = |T(f_{n} + r\theta\alpha\rho_{A})| \end{aligned}$$

$$= T(f_n) + r\theta T(\alpha \rho_A) \ge ||T|| (1 - \frac{1}{n}) + r\theta T(\alpha \rho_A),$$

$$0 \le \theta T(\alpha \rho_A) \le ||T|| \left[(1 + r^p ||\alpha||^p ||\mu|A)^{1/p} - 1 + \frac{1}{n} \right] \frac{1}{r}.$$

or,

Letting $n \to \infty$, we have

$$0 \le \theta T(\alpha \rho_A) \le \|T\| \left[(1+r^p \|\alpha\|^p |\mu| A)^{1/p} - 1 \right] \frac{1}{r}, \quad \forall \ r > 0.$$

Letting $r \downarrow 0$, it follows from $1 and the L'Hopital's rule that <math>\theta T(\alpha \rho_A) = 0$, that is $T(\alpha \rho_A) = 0$ for every $\alpha \in F$. Next, take any decent map $g = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j \rho_{B_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in F$ and B_1, B_2, \cdots are disjoint decent sets. Then $g \rho_{X \setminus M} = \sum_j \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where $A_j = B_j \setminus M$ are decent subsets of $X \setminus M$. Hence $T(g \rho_{X \setminus M}) = \sum_j T(\alpha_j \rho_{A_j}) = 0$. Finally, take any $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$. There are decent maps g_n such that $|g_n| \leq |f|$ on X and $g_n \to f$, μ -ae. Then $|g_n \rho_{X \setminus M}| \leq |f|$ on X and $g_n \rho_{X \setminus M} \to f \rho_{X \setminus M}$, μ -ae. The L_p -Dominated Convergence Theorem ensures $g_n \rho_{X \setminus M} \to f \rho_{X \setminus M}$ in $L_p(\mu, F)$. Since T is continuous, we have $T(f \rho_{X \setminus M}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} T(g_n \rho_{X \setminus M}) = 0$.

24-6.7. <u>L_p-Duality Theorem</u> Assume that $1 or that X is <math>\sigma$ -finite for p = 1. If F' has the Radon-Nikodym Property, then the map $\pi : L_q(\mu, F') \to L_p(\mu, F)'$ is an isomorphism.

<u>Proof.</u> To prove that π is surjective, let $T \in L_p(\mu, F)'$. We have to find $\overline{h} \in L_q(\mu, F')$ such that $Tf = \int hfd\mu$ for all $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$. Now for every $A \in \mathbb{D}, \beta \in F$ and $x \in X$; let $(\rho_A \beta)(x) = \rho_A(x)\beta$ and $(\nu A)\beta = T(\rho_A \beta)$. Clearly νA is a linear form on F. Since

$$\sup_{\|\beta\|\leq 1} |(\nu A)\beta| = \sup_{\|\beta\|\leq 1} |T(\rho_A\beta)| \leq \sup_{\|\beta\|\leq 1} \|T\| \|\rho_A\beta\|_p \leq \|T\|(|\mu|A)^{1/p},$$

we have $\nu A \in F'$ and $\|\nu A\| \leq \|T\|(|\mu|A)^{1/p}$. In particular, if $A_n \downarrow \emptyset$ in \mathbb{D} , then $\|\nu A_n\| \leq \|T\|(|\mu|A_n)^{1/p} \to 0$. Hence ν is countably additive. Next, to show that ν is of finite variation, suppose that $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j$ is a disjoint union where

 $A, B_j \in \mathbb{D}$. For each j, let $\beta_j \in E$ with $\|\beta_j\| \leq 1$. Choose a number θ_j such that $|\theta_j| = 1$ and $\theta_j T(\rho_{B_j}\beta_j) = |T(\rho_{B_j}\beta_j)|$. Then we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} |(\nu B_j)\beta_j| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} |T(\rho_{B_j}\beta_j)| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} T(\rho_{B_j}\beta_j\theta_j)$$

$$\leq ||T|| \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{n} \rho_{B_j}\beta_j\theta_j \right\|_p \leq ||T|| \left\{ \int \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} \rho_{B_j}\beta_j\theta_j \right|^p d|\mu| \right\}^{1/p}$$

$$\leq ||T|| \left(\int \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\rho_{B_j}|^p ||\beta_j||^p |\theta_j|^p d|\mu| \right)^{1/p} \leq ||T|| (|\mu|A)^{1/p}.$$

Hence we get $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\nu B_j\| \leq \|T\|(|\mu|A)^{1/p}$ by taking suprema over all $\|\beta_j\| \leq 1$ in *E* independently. Consequently, ν is of finite variation. Therefore ν is a vector measure on *X*. From $\|\nu A\| \leq \|T\|(|\mu|A)^{1/p}$, we have $\nu \ll \mu$.

Next, for $1 , there is a <math>\sigma$ -finite set M such that $T(f\rho_{X \setminus M}) = 0$ for all $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$. For p = 1, let M = X. Since F' has Radon-Nikodym Property, there is a locally μ -integrable map $h : X \to F'$ such that $h(X \setminus M) = 0$ and $\nu A = \int_A h d\mu$ for all decent subsets A of M. Observe that if $F = \mathbb{K}$, $\beta = 1$ and $\mu, T \ge 0$; Radon-Nikodym Theorem ensures that $h \ge 0$. Now for each decent set $A \in \mathbb{D}$ and $\beta \in E$, we have

$$\begin{split} T(\rho_A\beta) &= T(\rho_{A\cap M}\beta) + T(\rho_{A\setminus M}\beta) = \nu(A\cap M)\beta + 0 \\ &= \left(\int_{A\cap M} hd\mu + \int_{A\setminus M} hd\mu\right)\beta = \int h(\rho_A\beta)d\mu \end{split}$$

By linearity, for each decent map $f : X \to F$, we get $T(f) = \int hfd\mu$. It remains to show $h \in L_q$. In this case, the proof is completed because T and $f \to \int hfd\mu$ are continuous linear forms which agree on the dense set of decent maps must agree on $L_p(\mu, F)$.

Consider the case $1 first. Write <math>M = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} H_k$ as a disjoint union where H_0 is a μ -null set and H_1, H_2, \cdots are decent sets. Because each $M_k = \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^k H_j\right) \cap \{x \in X : \|h(x)\| \le k\}$ is a decent set and $\|h\rho_{M_k}\|^p \le k^p \rho_{M_k} \in L_1$, we have $h\rho_{M_k} \in L_q(\mu, F')$. The linear form T_k on $L_p(\mu, F)$ given by $T_k(f) = \int (h\rho_{M_k}) f d\mu$ is continuous. Observe that

$$\begin{split} \|h\rho_{M_k}\|_q &= \|T_k\| = \sup\{|f(h\rho_{M_k})fd\mu| : f \in L_p(\mu, F), \|f\|_p \le 1\} \\ &= \sup\{|fh(f\rho_{M_k})d\mu| : f \in L_p(\mu, F), \|f\|_p \le 1\} \\ &= \sup\{|T(f\rho_{M_k})| : f \in L_p(\mu, F), \|f\|_p \le 1\} \\ &\le \sup\{\|T\| \| \|f\rho_{M_k}\|_p : f \in L_p(\mu, F), \|f\|_p \le 1\} \le \|T\|. \end{split}$$

Since $|h\rho_{M_k}| \uparrow |h|$, μ -ae; it follows from L_q -Monotone Convergence Theorem that $h \in L_q$.

Finally for p = 1 and $q = \infty$, define M_k as in last case. Clearly we get

 $h\rho_{M_k} \in L_{\infty}(\mu, F')$. Repeat the last case, we have $|h\rho_{M_k}| \le ||h\rho_{M_k}||_{\infty} \le ||T||$, μ -ae. Hence $|h| = \lim_{k\to\infty} |h\rho_{M_k}| \le ||T||$, μ -ae. Consequently $||h||_{\infty} \le ||T||$. This completes the proof.

24-6.8. For the scalar case when $F = \mathbb{K}$, we can derive additional information about h from T by decomposition into positive linear forms.

24-6.9. <u>Lemma</u> For $1 \le p \le \infty$, the space L_p is a breakable vector lattice. Furthermore, every continuous linear form T on L_p is order bounded and can be written as a linear combination of continuous positive linear forms.

<u>Proof</u>. It is obvious that L_p is a vector lattice under pointwise operations. The following equalities and inequalities are considered to be almost everywhere. Let $|f| \leq g + h$ where $f, g, h \in L_p$ with $g, h \geq 0$. Write $|f| = g_1 + h_1$ where $0 \leq g_1 \leq g$, and $0 \leq h_1 \leq h$ are in L_p . Since $\operatorname{sgn}(f)$ is bounded measurable, $g_2 = g_1 \operatorname{sgn}(f)$ and $h_2 = h_1 \operatorname{sgn}(f)$ belong to L_p . Clearly $|g_2| \leq g_1 \leq g$, $|h_2| \leq h_1 \leq h$ and $f = g_2 + h_2$. Therefore L_p is breakable. Next, let T be a continuous linear form on L_p . Then for all $|g| \leq f$ in L_p , we have

$$|T(g)| \le ||T|| ||g||_p \le ||T|| ||f||_p < \infty.$$

Therefore every continuous linear form on the vector lattice L_p is order bounded. Furthermore, the variation |T| exists and is also continuous. In particular, every continuous linear form T on L_p can be written in the form $T = \sum_{k=0}^{3} i^k T_k$ where each T_k is a continuous positive linear form.

24-6.10. <u>Theorem</u> Assume that $1 or that X is <math>\sigma$ -finite for p = 1. For each continuous linear form T on L_p , there is $h \in L_q$ such that $T(f) = \int hfd\mu$ for every $f \in L_p$. Furthermore if $T \ge 0$ and $\mu \ge 0$, then we may choose $h \ge 0$. If both T and μ are real, then we may choose h to be real.

<u>Proof.</u> The proof of the case when both T, μ are positive is built into the last theorem. Next, assume that T is positive but μ is a complex measure. Then there is $0 \leq g \in L_q$ such that $T(f) = \int gfd|\mu|$ for all $f \in L_p$. Let T be concentrated on some $|\mu| \cdot \sigma$ -finite set M. There is a locally μ -integrable function φ on X such that $\varphi(X \setminus M) = 0$, $|\varphi| = 1$ on M and $|\mu|(A) = \int_A \varphi^- d\mu$ for every decent subset A of M. Then $T(f) = \int gfd|\mu| = \int gf\varphi^- d\mu, \forall f \in L_p$. Let $h = g\varphi^-$. Since $|h| \leq g$ we have $h \in L_p$. Obviously, h is a required function. Finally, take any arbitrary T. Write $T = \sum_{k=0}^{3} i^k T_k$ where $T_k \geq 0$. There are $0 \leq h_k \in L_q$ such that $T_k(f) = \int h_k f d\mu, \forall f \in L_p$. Define $h = \sum_{k=0}^{3} i^k h_k$. Then $h \in L_q$ and $T(f) = \sum_{k=0}^{3} i^k T_k f = \sum_k i^k \int h_k f d\mu = \int hfd\mu$. We leave it as an

exercise to show that if both T and μ are real, then we may choose h to be real.

24-6.11. <u>Exercise</u> Let X be μ - σ -finite and let $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Suppose that $h \in L_q$ is fixed and T is a continuous linear form on L_p given by $T(f) = \int hfd\mu$ for all $f \in L_p$. Prove that the valuation |T| as a linear form defined in §16-5.4a is determined by $|T|(f) = \int f|h| \ d|\mu|$ for all $f \in L_p$.

24-6.12. <u>Theorem</u> Let $h: X \to F'$ be a measurable map and $1 \le p \le \infty$. If for every $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$ we have $hf \in L_1$, then $h \in L_q(\mu, F')$.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) We claim that if M is a σ -finite subset of X, then $|h|\rho_M \xi \in L_1$ for every $0 \leq \xi \in L_p$. In fact, firstly suppose $q = \infty$. Then $0 \leq \xi \in L_1$. Hence $\rho_M \xi \in L_1 = L_p$. Thus $h\rho_M \xi \in L_1$, that is $|h|\rho_M \xi = |h\rho_M \xi| \in L_1$. Next suppose $1 \leq q < \infty$. Since h is measurable, there are simple maps $h_n : X \to F'$ such that $|h_n| \leq |h|$ and $h_n \to h$. By §21-7.11, write $M = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \cup N$ where N is a null set and $h_n \to h$ uniformly on each of the disjoint decent sets A_1, A_2, \cdots . Let $\varepsilon_j = (2^j |\mu| A_j)^{-1/q}$ if $|\mu| A_j > 0$; and $\varepsilon_j = 2^{-j/q}$ if $|\mu| A_j = 0$ so that $\varphi = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon_j \rho_{A_j} \in L_q$. For each j, there is n such that for all $x \in A_j$ we obtain $||h(x) - h_n(x)|| \leq \varepsilon_j$. Write $h_n = \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i \rho_{B_i}$ where B_i are disjoint measurable sets and $\alpha_i \in F'$. For each i, choose $\beta_i \in F$ such that $||\beta_i|| \leq 1$ and $||\alpha_i|| \leq |\alpha_i\beta_i| + \varepsilon_j$. Then $g_j = \sum_{i=1}^k \beta_i \rho_{B_i}$ is a simple map with $|g_j| \leq 1$. Observe that $h_n(x)g_j(x) = \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i \beta_i \rho_{B_i}$. For each $x \in A_j$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|h(x)\| &\leq \|h_n(x)\| + \varepsilon_j = \sum_{i=1}^k \|\alpha_i\|\rho_{B_i} + \varepsilon_j \leq \sum_{i=1}^k |\alpha_i\beta_i|\rho_{B_i} + 2\varepsilon_j \\ &= |h_n(x)g_j(x)| + 2\varepsilon_j \leq |h(x)g_j(x)| + \|h_n(x) - h(x)\| \|g_j(x)\| + 2\varepsilon_j \\ &\leq |h(x)g_j(x)| + 3\varepsilon_j. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore we get $|h|\rho_{A_j} \leq |hg_j\rho_{A_j}| + 3\varepsilon_j\rho_{A_j}$. Now $g = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} g_j\rho_{A_j}$ is pointwise convergent because A_j are disjoint. Clearly $|g| \leq 1$. As a limit of simple maps, g is measurable. Since $M \setminus N \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j$, we have $|h|\rho_{M\setminus N} \leq |hg| + 3\varphi$. Now take any $0 \leq \xi \in L_p$. Since $\varphi \in L_q$, we have $\varphi \xi \in L_1$. From $|g\xi| \leq \xi$, μ -ae; we get $f = g\xi \in L_p(\mu, F)$ and thus $hf = hg\xi \in L_1$ by given condition. Since $|h|\rho_M\xi \leq |hg\xi| + 3\varphi\xi$, μ -ae; the function $|h|\rho_M\xi$ is integrable as claimed.

(b) We claim that if M is a σ -finite subset of X, then

 $t = \sup\{\int_M |h|\xi \ d|\mu| : 0 \le \xi \in L_p, \ \|\xi\|_p \le 1\} < \infty.$

In fact, suppose to the contrary that for every n, there is $0 \leq \varphi_n \in L_p$ such that $\|\varphi_n\|_p \leq 1$ and $\int_M |h|\varphi_n d|\mu| \geq n^3$. Since $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2} \|\varphi_n\|_p \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2} < \infty$,

the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2} \varphi_n$ converges to some $0 \leq \xi \in L_p$. Now $|h|\rho_M \xi$ is integrable by part (a). For every *n*, we have $|h|\rho_M \xi \geq \frac{1}{n^2} |h|\rho_M \varphi_n$, μ -ae, that is $\infty > \int_M |h|\xi d|\mu| \geq \frac{1}{n^2} \int_M |h|\varphi_n d|\mu| \geq n$ for all *n* which is a contradiction. Therefore we must have $t < \infty$.

(c) We claim that if M is a σ -finite subset of X, then $|h|\rho_M \in L_q$. In fact, by §20-4.10 for the upper function |h|, choose decent functions $0 \leq h_n \uparrow |h|\rho_M$, μ -ae. Then all $h_n \in L_q$ and $||h_n||_q = \sup \int h_n \xi d|\mu| \leq \sup \int_M |h|\xi d|\mu| = t < \infty$ where the suprema are taken over $0 \leq \xi \in L_p$ with $||\xi||_p \leq 1$. Therefore we obtain $\sup_n ||h_n||_q \leq t < \infty$. For $1 \leq q < \infty$, $|h|\rho_M \in L_q$ by L_q -Monotone Convergence Theorem. For $q = \infty$, $||h|\rho_M||_{\infty} = \lim ||h_n||_{\infty} \leq t < \infty$ implies $|h|\rho_M \in L_q$.

(d) Assume $1 \leq q < \infty$. We claim that there is σ -finite set $M \subset X$ such that $h = h\rho_M$, μ -ae. In fact, for every decent set A we have $h\rho_A \in L_q$, that is $|h|^q \rho_A \in L_1$. Let $t = \sup \int_A |h|^q d|\mu|$ for all decent sets A. There are decent sets $A_n \subset A_{n+1}$ such that $\sup_n \int_{A_n} |h|^q d|\mu| = t$. Then the set $M = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ is σ -finite. Thus $|h|^q \rho_M$ is integrable and $|h|\rho_{A_n} \leq |h|\rho_M$ for every n. Hence $t = \sup_n \int_{A_n} |h|^q d|\mu| \leq \int_M |h|^q d|\mu| < \infty$. Next, for every decent set B disjoint from M with ||h(x)|| > 0 for all $x \in B$, then

$$t+\int_B |h|^q d|\mu| = \sup \int_M |h|^q d|\mu| + \int_B |h|^q d|\mu| = \sup \int_{M \cup B} |h|^q d|\mu| \le t,$$

that is $\int_B |h|^q d|\mu| = 0$. Hence B is null. Therefore we have $h = h\rho_M$, μ -ae. Consequently, $|h| = |h|\rho_M \in L_q$, that is $h \in L_q(\mu, F')$.

(e) Finally let $q = \infty$. We claim that $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, F')$. In fact, suppose to the contrary that $||h||_{\infty} = \infty$. Then for every n, the set $B_n = \{x \in X : ||h(x)|| \ge n\}$ is not null. There is a decent set $A_n \subset B_n$ with $|\mu|A_n > 0$. Then $M = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ is σ -finite. By (c), $|h|\rho_M \in L_{\infty}$. On the other hand, $||h\rho_M||_{\infty} \ge ||h\rho_{A_n}||_{\infty} \ge n$ for every n. Thus $||h\rho_M||_{\infty} = \infty$. This contradiction completes the proof. \Box

24-6.13. <u>Corollary</u> Let $f: X \to F$ be a measurable map and $1 \le p \le \infty$. If for every $h \in L_q(\mu, F')$ we have $hf \in L_1$, then $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Replacing F by F' and interchange h, f and p, q in last theorem; we have $f \in L_p(\mu, F'')$, that is $|f| \in L_1$ and hence $f \in L_p(\mu, F)$.

24-6.99. <u>Exercise</u> Let F be a Banach space and let μ be a vector measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) into the dual space F'. For convenience, write $\beta \alpha = \beta(\alpha) = \alpha(\beta) = \alpha\beta$ for every $\alpha \in F'$. Note that the map $(\alpha, \beta) \to \alpha\beta$:

 $F' \times F \to \mathbb{K}$ is an admissible bilinear map so that the integral $\int f d\mu$ is welldefined for μ -integrable maps $f: X \to F$ in $L_1(\mu, F'; F)$. Take any $h: X \to F'$ in $L_q(\mu, F')$ and $f: X \to F$ in $L_p(\mu, F)$. Then hf is measurable because it is the limit of certain simple functions derived from h, f. From $h \in L_q(\mu, F')$, we have $|h| \in L_q(|\mu|)$ and similarly $|f| \in L_p(|\mu|)$. Since $|hf| \leq |h| |f|$, we obtain $hf \in L_1(|\mu|)$ and hence $S_h(f) = \int hf d|\mu|$ is well-defined. Study the map $h \to S_h$ from $L_q(\mu, F')$ into the dual space of $L_p(\mu, F)$.

24-7 Spaces with Radon-Nikodym Property

24-7.1. We assume that the dual space has Radon-Nikodym Property in order to prove L_p -Duality Theorem and Lebesgue Decomposition Theorem. Note that c_0 does not have Radon-Nikodym Property, e.g. [Diestel-77, p60]. We shall give sufficient conditions for a Banach space to have Radon-Nikodym Property by improving their work from bounded positive measures on σ -algebras into our context. Let μ be a scalar measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) and ν a vector measure on X into a Banach space E.

24-7.2. **Lemma** Let $Q = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} H_n$ be a disjoint union of measurable subsets H_n of X. If for each n, the map $g_n : X \to E$ is a locally μ -integrable map such that $\nu(B) = \int_B g_n d\mu$ for all decent subsets B of H_n , then the series $h = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g_n \rho_{H_n} : X \to E$ is a locally μ -integrable map such that $h(X \setminus Q) = 0$ and $\nu(A) = \int_A h d\mu$ for all decent subsets A of Q.

<u>Proof</u>. Clearly h is a measurable map such that $h(X \setminus Q) = 0$. Take any decent set A. From $\nu(B) = \int_B g_n d\mu$ for all decent subsets B of H_n , we have $|\nu|(A \cap H_n) = \int_{A \cap H_n} |g_n| \ d|\mu| = \int_A |g_n \rho_{H_n}| \ d|\mu|$. Observe that

 $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{A} |g_n \rho_{H_n}| \ d|\mu| = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |\nu|(A \cap H_n) = |\nu| \left(A \cap \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} H_n\right) \le |\nu|(A) < \infty.$ Integration term by term gives

$$\begin{split} \int_A h d\mu &= \int_A \sum_{n=0}^\infty g_n \rho_{H_n} d\mu = \sum_{n=0}^\infty \int_A g_n \rho_{H_n} d\mu \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^\infty \nu(A \cap H_n) = \nu \left(A \cap \bigcup_{n=0}^\infty H_n \right) = \nu(A \cap Q). \end{split}$$

Since h is μ -integrable on every decent set, it is locally μ -integrable.

24-7.3. <u>Theorem</u> If every vector measure into E has a density on every decent set with respect to its variation, then E has Radon-Nikodym property. <u>*Proof*</u>. Let μ be a scalar measure on (X, \mathbb{D}) and ν a μ -continuous vector measure into E. Every μ - σ -finite set can be written as a disjoint union

 $M = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} H_n$ where H_0 is a μ -null set and all H_1, H_2, \cdots are decent sets. By $\nu \ll \mu$, H_0 is also ν -null. Let $g_0 = 0$ so that $\int_B g_0 d\mu = 0 = \nu(B)$ for all decent subsets B of H_0 . Since $|\nu| \ll \mu$ there is a locally μ -integrable function φ on X such that $|\nu|(A) = \int_A \varphi d\mu$ for every decent subset A of M. By given condition, for each $n \ge 1$ there is a locally ν -integrable map $f_n : X \to E$ such that $\nu B = \int_B f_n d|\nu|$ for all decent subsets B of H_n . Thus $g_n = f_n \varphi \rho_{H_n}$ is μ -integrable and satisfies $\nu B = \int_B g_n d\mu$ for all decent subsets B of H_n . Now the result follows from last lemma.

24-7.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let F be a Banach space. If the dual space F' is separable, then F' has the Radon-Nikodym Property.

<u>Proof</u>. Let ν be a vector measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) into F' and M be a decent set. We have to find a ν -integrable map $g : X \to F'$ such that $\nu B = \int_B gd|\nu|$ for every decent subset B of M. In fact, for every $\beta \in F$ and $A \in \mathbb{D}$, let $\pi_\beta A = \nu(A \cap M)\beta$. Clearly $\pi_\beta : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{K}$ is finitely additive. Also π_β is countably additive because if $A_n \downarrow \emptyset$ in \mathbb{D} , then $|\pi_\beta A_n| = |\nu(A_n \cap M)\beta| \leq$ $||\nu(A_n \cap M)|| ||\beta|| \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Next, π_β is of finite variation because if $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j$ is a disjoint union with $A, B_j \in \mathbb{D}$, then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\pi_{\beta} B_{j}| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\nu(B_{j} \cap M)\beta|$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\nu(B_{j} \cap M)\| \|\beta\| \le |\nu|(A \cap M)\|\beta\| < \infty$$

implies $|\pi_{\beta}|(A) \leq |\nu|(A \cap M)||\beta||$. Clearly if $|\nu|A = 0$, then $\pi_{\beta}A = \nu(A \cap M)\beta = 0$. Hence $\pi_{\beta} \ll |\nu|$. By Radon-Nikodym theorem, there is a locally integrable function f_{β} on X such that $f_{\beta}(X \setminus M) = 0$ and $\pi_{\beta}A = \int_{A} f_{\beta}d|\nu|$ for all $A \in \mathbb{D}$ because $\pi_{\beta}(A \setminus M) = 0 = \int_{A \setminus M} f_{\beta}d|\nu|$. Let $P = \{x \in X : \text{Re } f_{\beta}(x) \geq 0\}$. From

$$\begin{split} \int_{A} |\operatorname{Re} f_{\beta}|d|\nu| &= \int_{A\cap P} (\operatorname{Re} f_{\beta})d|\nu| + \int_{A\setminus P} -(\operatorname{Re} f_{\beta})d|\nu| \\ &\leq |\operatorname{Re} \nu(A\cap P\cap M)\beta| + |\operatorname{Re} \nu[(A\setminus P)\cap M] \beta| \\ &\leq ||\nu(A\cap M\cap P)|| \ ||\beta|| + ||\nu(A\cap M)\setminus P)|| \ ||\beta|| \\ &\leq |\nu|(A\cap M) \ ||\beta|| \leq \int_{A} ||\beta|| \ d|\nu|, \end{split}$$

we have $|\text{Re } f_{\beta}| \leq ||\beta||$, ν -ae. Similarly, we get $|\text{Im } f_{\beta}| \leq ||\beta||$, ν -ae. Hence $|f_{\beta}| \leq 2||\beta||$, ν -ae. Next,

$$\int_{A} f_{\beta+\gamma} d|\nu| = \nu(A \cap M)(\beta+\gamma) = \nu(A \cap M)\beta + \nu(A \cap M)\gamma$$
$$= \int_{A} f_{\beta} d|\nu| + \int_{A} f_{\gamma} d|\nu| = \int_{A} (f_{\beta}+f_{\gamma})d|\nu|$$

implies $f_{\beta+\gamma} = f_{\beta} + f_{\gamma}$, ν -ae. Similarly we also have $f_{t\beta} = tf_{\beta}$, ν -ae for all $t \in \mathbb{K}$. Since F' is separable, so is F. Let H_1 be a countable dense set in F and \mathbb{K}_0 a countable dense subset of the scalar field \mathbb{K} . Then the set H of all linear combinations $\sum_{j=1}^{m} t_j \beta_j$ with $\beta_j \in H_1$ and $t_j \in \mathbb{K}_0$ is countable. There is a null set N such that $|f_{\beta}(x)| \leq 2||\beta||$, $f_{\beta+\gamma}(x) = f_{\beta}(x) + f_{\gamma}(x)$ and $f_{t\beta}(x) = tf_{\beta}(x)$ for all $x \in M \setminus N$; $\beta, \gamma \in H$; and $t \in \mathbb{K}_0$. The same is true for $x \in X \setminus M$ because all $f_{\beta}(x) = 0$. For every $\beta \in F$, we have $\beta_j \to \beta$ for some sequence $\beta_j \in H$. Define $h_{\beta} = \lim_{j\to\infty} \rho_{X\setminus N} f_{\beta_j}$. If $\gamma_j \in H$ with $\gamma_j \to \beta$ and if $x \in X$; we get

$$\left|\rho_{X\setminus N}(x)f_{\beta_j}(x)-\rho_{X\setminus N}(x)f_{\gamma_j}(x)\right|\leq \left|\rho_{X\setminus N}(x)f_{\beta_j-\gamma_j}(x)\right|\leq 2\|\beta_j-\gamma_j\|\to 0$$

as $j \to \infty$. Thus the definition of h_{β} is independent of the choice of $\{\beta_j\}$ in H. Hence h_{β} is well-defined. Because H is dense in F, we have $|h_{\beta}| \leq 2||\beta||$ and $h_{\beta+\gamma} = h_{\beta} + h_{\gamma}$, $h_{t\beta} = th_{\beta}$ for all $\beta, \gamma \in F$ and $t \in \mathbb{K}$. Thus the map $g(x) : F \to \mathbb{K}$ defined by $g(x)(\beta) = h_{\beta}(x)$ is a continuous linear form. As the limit of measurable functions $\rho_{X\setminus N}f_{\beta_j}$ for $\beta_j \in H$, the function h_{β} is measurable for each $\beta \in F$. Hence $x \to h_{\beta}(x) = g(x)(\beta)$ is measurable for all $\beta \in F$. Therefore $x \to g(x)$ is weak-star measurable. Because F' is separable, the map $g: X \to F'$ is strongly measurable. Next, let $\beta_j \to \beta$ in F with $\beta_j \in H$. For every $x \in X \setminus M$, $g(x)\beta = h_{\beta}(x) = \lim_{j\to\infty} \rho_{X\setminus N}f_{\beta_j}(x) = 0$. Hence $g(X \setminus M) = 0$. Next, since $\{\beta_j\}$ is bounded, i.e. $\|\beta_j\| \leq t$ for some t > 0 and for all j; we have $|\rho_{X\setminus N}f_{\beta_j}|\rho_A \leq 2t\rho_A$ and $2t\rho_A$ is integrable. It follows from Dominated Convergence Theorem that

$$\int_{A} h_{\beta} d|\nu| = \int_{A} \lim_{j \to \infty} \rho_{X \setminus N} f_{\beta_{j}} d|\nu| = \lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{A} \rho_{X \setminus N} f_{\beta_{j}} d|\nu|$$
$$= \lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{A} f_{\beta_{j}} d|\nu| = \lim_{j \to \infty} \nu(A \cap M)\beta_{j} = \nu(A \cap M)\beta.$$

Since $||g(x)|| \leq \sup_{||\beta|| \leq 1} |g(x)(\beta)| \leq \sup_{||\beta|| \leq 1} |h_{\beta}(x)| \leq 2||\beta|| \leq 2$, the map g is bounded on X and hence it is integrable on every decent set A, that is locally integrable. Finally, from $\nu(A \cap M)\beta = \int_A h_{\beta}(x)d|\nu|(x) = \int_A g(x)(\beta)d|\nu|(x) = [\int_A g(x)d|\nu|(x)]$ (β), we obtain $\nu(A \cap M) = \int_A gd|\nu|$. Therefore for every decent subset B of M, we have $\nu B = \int_B gd|\nu|$. This completes the proof. \Box

24-7.5. Let μ be a *positive* measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) and π a finite partition of a decent set M by sets in \mathbb{D} . Let $h: X \to E$ be a measurable map which is μ -integrable on M. The π -average of h on M is the map $V_{\pi}h: X \to E$ defined by $V_{\pi}h = \sum_{A \in \pi} \frac{\int_A h d\mu}{\mu A} \rho_A$. We understand that $\frac{\int_A h d\mu}{\mu A}$ is replaced by zero if $\mu A = 0$. Next, let P(M) denote the set of all finite partitions of M by sets in ID. For all $\sigma, \pi \in P(M)$, write $\pi \geq \sigma$ if π is finer than σ , that is, every set in σ is a union of sets in π .

24-7.6. **Lemma** (a) If h is a simple map, then $\lim_{\pi\to\infty} V_{\pi}h = h\rho_M$. It means that there is $\sigma \in P(M)$ such that for all $\pi \ge \sigma$ we have $V_{\pi}h = h\rho_M$.

(b) $V_{\pi}: L_{\infty}(\mu, E) \to L_{\infty}(\mu, E)$ is a continuous linear map with $||V_{\pi}|| \leq 1$.

(c) If h(X) is relatively compact where $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, E)$, then we have $\lim_{\pi\to\infty} \|V_{\pi}h - h\rho_M\|_{\infty} = 0$, that is for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\sigma \in P(M)$ such that for all $\pi \ge \sigma$ we have $\|V_{\pi}h - h\rho_M\|_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) Let $h = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j \rho_{D_j}$ where D_j 's are disjoint measurable sets and $\alpha_j \in E$. Let $\alpha_0 = 0 \in E$; $D_0 = X \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} D_j$ and $B_j = M \cap D_j$. Then $h = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j \rho_{D_j}$ and $\sigma = \{B_j : 0 \le j \le k\} \in P(M)$. Take any $\pi \ge \sigma$ in P(M). Write $B_j = \bigcup_i A_{ij}$ where A_{1j}, A_{2j}, \cdots are disjoint sets in π . Then we have

$$V_{\pi}h = \sum_{A \in \pi} \frac{\int_{A} h d\mu}{\mu A} \rho_{A} = \sum_{j} \sum_{i} \frac{\int_{A_{ij}} h d\mu}{\mu A_{ij}} \rho_{A_{ij}} = \sum_{j} \sum_{i} \frac{\alpha_{j} \mu A_{ij}}{\mu A_{ij}} \rho_{A_{ij}}$$
$$= \sum_{j} \alpha_{j} \sum_{i} \rho_{A_{ij}} = \sum_{j} \alpha_{j} \rho_{B_{j}} = h \rho_{M}.$$

(b) Observe that h is μ -integrable on every $A \in \pi$ by $|h\rho_A| \leq ||h||_{\infty}\rho_M$, μ -ae. Clearly V_{π} is linear. Finally for each $x \in A$, we have

$$\left\| (V_{\pi}h)(x) \right\| = \left\| \frac{\int_{A} h d\mu}{\mu A} \right\| \leq \frac{\int_{A} |h| \ d\mu}{\mu A} \leq \frac{\int_{A} \|h\|_{\infty} d\mu}{\mu A} \leq \|h\|_{\infty},$$

that is $||V_{\pi}h||_{\infty} \le ||h||_{\infty}$, or $||V_{\pi}|| \le 1$.

(c) Since h has relatively compact range, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a simple map $g: X \to E$ such that $||g(x) - h(x)|| \le \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$. There is $\sigma \in P(M)$ such that for all $\pi \ge \sigma$ we have $V_{\pi}g = g$. Consequently,

$$\|V_{\pi}h - h\|_{\infty} \le \|V_{\pi}\| \|h - g\|_{\infty} + \|V_{\pi}g - g\|_{\infty} + \|g - h\|_{\infty} \le 2\varepsilon.$$

24-7.7. Let μ be a scalar measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) and $\overline{\mathbb{B}}$ the closed unit ball of $L_1(\mu)$. A continuous linear map $T : L_1(\mu) \to E$ is *weakly compact* if every sequence in $T(\overline{\mathbb{B}})$ has a weakly convergent subsequence.

24-7.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ is a σ -finite scalar measure on X. If $T : L_1(\mu) \to E$ is a weakly compact linear map with separable range, then there is $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, E)$ such that for all $f \in L_1(\mu)$ we have $T(f) = \int fhd\mu$ and that h(X) is contained in the closure of $T(\overline{\mathbb{B}})$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> By Polar Form of Complex Measures, we may assume that $\mu \ge 0$. Since X is σ -finite, write $X = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} M_k$ as a disjoint union of a null set M_0 and

decent sets M_1, M_2, \cdots . Let E_1 be the closure of the range of T. Then E_1 is separable and contains the weak limit of every sequence in range of T. Hence we may assume $E = E_1$. Choose a sequence $w_n \in E'$ by §7-6.14 such that $||w_n|| = 1$ and $\|\beta\| = \sup_{n \ge 1} |w_n\beta|$ for every $\beta \in E$. Now each function $w_nT: L_1(\mu) \to \mathbb{K}$ is a continuous linear form with σ -finite measure μ . There is $\varphi_n^* \in L_{\infty}(\mu)$ such that $\|\varphi_n^*\|_{\infty} = \|w_n T\|$ and $w_n T(f) = \int f \varphi_n^* d\mu$ for all $f \in L_1(\mu)$. For each $k \geq 1, M = M_k$ is a decent set. Now $\varphi_n = \varphi_n^* \rho_M \in L_\infty(\mu), \varphi_n(X \setminus M) = 0$ and $w_n T(f\rho_M) = \int f\varphi_n d\mu$ for all $f \in L_1(\mu)$. Without loss of generality, we may assume $|\varphi_n| \leq ||\varphi_n||_{\infty}$ everywhere on X. Next define $g_{\pi} : X \to E$ by $g_{\pi} = \sum_{A \in \pi} \frac{T \rho_A}{\mu A} \rho_A$. From $w_n g_{\pi} = \sum_{A \in \pi} \frac{w_n T \rho_A}{\mu A} \rho_A = \sum_{A \in \pi} \frac{\int \rho_A \varphi_n d\mu}{\mu A} \rho_A = V_{\pi} \varphi_n$, we $\lim_{\pi \to \infty} \|w_n g_{\pi} - \varphi_n\|_{\infty} = \lim_{\pi \to \infty} \|V_{\pi} \varphi_n - \varphi_n\|_{\infty} = 0 \quad \text{because} \quad \varphi_n \quad \text{has}$ obtain relatively compact range in **K**. Hence we can choose a sequence $\pi_m \in P(M)$ satisfying $\lim_{m\to\infty} \|w_n g_{\pi_m} - \varphi_n\|_{\infty} = 0$. There is a μ -null set N_n such that $\lim_{m\to\infty} w_n g_{\pi_m} = \varphi_n \text{ uniformly on } X \setminus N_n. \text{ The set } N = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} N_n \text{ is } \mu\text{-null}$ and for each n, $\lim_{m\to\infty} w_n g_{\pi_m} = \varphi_n$ uniformly on $X\setminus N$. Take any $x\in M$. Then we have $x \in A$ for some $A \in \pi$. If $\mu A > 0$, then $\|\rho_A/\mu A\|_1 = 1$ and $g_{\pi}(x) = T\left(\rho_A/\mu A\right) \in T\left(\overline{\mathbb{B}}\right)$. If $\mu A = 0$, then $g_{\pi}(x) = 0 \in T\left(\overline{\mathbb{B}}\right)$. Since T is weakly compact, there is a weakly convergent subsequence $g_{\pi_{m(j)}}(x) \to h_k(x)$ as $j \to \infty$. Hence $w_n g_{\pi_m(j)}(x) \to w_n h_k(x)$ and also $w_n g_{\pi_m(j)}(x) \to \varphi_n(x)$, that is $w_n h_k(x) = \varphi_n(x)$. Since the closure Q of the convex set $T(\mathbb{B})$ contains all $g_{\pi_{m(i)}}(x) \in T(\mathbb{B})$, Q also contains the weak limit $h_k(x)$. Now define $h_k(X \setminus M) = 0$. Then we have $h_k(X) \subset Q$ and $w_n h_k = \varphi_n$ is measurable for each n. Now h_k is strongly measurable for $h_k(X) \subset E$ is separable. Thus $h = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} h_k$ is a measurable map from X into E satisfying $h(X) \subset Q$, i.e. $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, E)$. Finally take any $f \in L_1(\mu)$. From $w_n T(f \rho_{M_k}) = \int f \varphi_n d\mu =$ $\int f w_n h_k d\mu = w_n \int f h_k d\mu$, we have $T(f \rho_{M_k}) = \int f h_k d\mu$ for all $k \ge 1$. By Dominated Convergence Theorem, we have $f = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f \rho_{M_k}$ in $L_1(\mu)$. Therefore we obtain $Tf = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} T(f\rho_{M_k}) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int fh_k d\mu = \int \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (fh_k) d\mu = \int fh d\mu.$

24-7.9. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ is a σ -finite scalar measure on X. If $T: L_1(\mu) \to E$ is a compact linear map, then there is $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, E)$ such that for all $f \in L_1(\mu)$ we have $T(f) = \int fhd\mu$ and that h(X) is relatively compact in E.

<u>Proof.</u> Since every compact linear map is weakly compact and with separable range, let $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, E)$ be obtained by last theorem. Since the closure Q of $T(\mathbb{B})$ is compact, $h(X) \subset Q$ is relatively compact.

24-7.10. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ is a scalar measure on a δ -space X. If a measurable map $h: X \to E$ has relatively compact range, then the linear map $T: L_1(\mu) \to E$ given by $Tf = \int fh d\mu$ is compact.

<u>Proof</u>. Note that $Tf = \int fhd\mu$ is well-defined because $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, E)$. The closed convex balanced hull Q of the relatively compact set h(X) is compact. Thus $Tf = \int fhd\mu \in ||f||_1 Q \subset Q$ for all $||f||_1 \leq 1$ in $L_1(\mu)$. Therefore T is a compact linear map.

24-7.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove the last theorem by uniform approximation of h with simple maps which provide finite dimensional approximations of T.

24-7.12. Let μ be a bounded positive measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) . For every $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, E)$, the set $\{\int_{A} hd\mu : A \in \mathbb{D}\}$ is precompact in E.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Since h is measurable, let $g_n \to h$ for some simple maps $g_n : X \to E$. By Egorov's Theorem, there is a measurable set P such that $\mu P \leq \varepsilon/(1 + \|h\|_{\infty})$ and $g_n \to h$ uniformly on $Q = X \setminus P$. By §19-6.4, the set $(h\rho_Q)(X)$ is relatively compact in E. By §11-6.6, its closed convex balanced hull K is compact. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, write $\mu(X)K \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^k \mathbb{B}(\alpha_j,\varepsilon)$ where $\alpha_j \in E$. Now take any $A \in \mathbb{D}$. Thus we have $\int_A h\rho_Q d\mu \in \|\rho_A\|_1 K \subset \mu(X)K$, that is, $\|\int_A h\rho_Q d\mu - \alpha_j\| \leq \varepsilon$ for some j. Hence we obtain

 $\|\int_A hd\mu - \alpha_j\| \le \|\int_A h\rho_P d\mu\| + \|\int_A h\rho_Q d\mu - \alpha_j\| \le \|h\|_{\infty}\mu P + \varepsilon \le 2\varepsilon.$

Therefore the given set can be covered by a finite number of (2ε) -balls. Consequently it is precompact.

24-7.13. <u>Theorem</u> Every reflexive space E has Radon-Nikodym property.

<u>Proof</u>. Let ν be a vector measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) into $E, \mu = |\nu|$ and \overline{M} a decent subset of X. It suffices to find a μ -integrable map $h: M \to E$ such that $\nu A = \int_A h d\mu$ for all decent subset A of M because h can be extended over X by defining $h(X \setminus M) = 0$. Therefore without loss of generality, we may assume that X = M and that μ is a bounded positive measure. For each decent function $f = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j \rho_{D_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{K}$ and D_j 's are disjoint decent sets, let $Tf = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j \nu D_j$. From $||Tf|| \leq \sum_{j=1}^k |\alpha_j| |\nu| D_j \leq \sum_{j=1}^k |\alpha_j| \mu D_j = ||f||_1$, the map T is continuous linear on the decent functions into E. By Density Theorem, it has a continuous linear extension over $L_1(\mu)$ which is also denoted by T for convenience. We claim that the set $H = \{T\rho_A : A \in \mathbb{D}\}$ is precompact in E, that is, every sequence has a Cauchy subsequence. Let $\{A_n \in \mathbb{D} : n \geq 1\}$ be given and \mathcal{F} the δ -ring generated by $\{A_n : n \geq 1\}$. Clearly the restriction of

 μ on $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathbb{D}$ is a measure. By §21-4.7, the set $L_1(\mathcal{F}, \mu)$ of integrable functions on (X, \mathcal{F}) is a separable subset of $L_1(\mathbb{D}, \mu)$ and hence $T[L_1(\mathcal{F}, \mu)]$ is separable in E. Let \mathbb{B} be the closed unit ball of $L_1(\mathcal{F}, \mu)$. Since $T(\mathbb{B})$ is bounded in the reflexive space E, the map T is weakly compact linear. There is $g \in L_{\infty}(\mathcal{F}, \mu)$ such that $T(f) = \int fgd\mu$ for all $f \in L_1(\mathcal{F}, \mu)$. By last lemma, the image $\{T\rho_{A_n} : n \geq 1\}$ is precompact in E. Thus it has a Cauchy subsequence. Therefore H is precompact and hence also separable in E. Let \mathbb{K}_0 be a countable dense subset of the scalar field \mathbb{K} . Then the set of all finite sums of $\{k\rho_A : k \in \mathbb{K}_0, A \in \mathbb{D}\}$ is dense in $L_1(\mu, E)$. Thus the range of T is separable because the set of all finite sums of $\{kT\rho_A : k \in \mathbb{K}_0, A \in \mathbb{D}\}$ is countable dense. There is $h \in L_{\infty}(\mu, E)$ such that $T(f) = \int fhd\mu$ for all $f \in L_1(\mu, E)$. In particular for $f = \rho_A$ with $A \in \mathbb{D}$, we have $\nu A = \int_A hd\mu$. This completes the proof.

24-7.14. <u>Corollary</u> Let μ be a scalar measure on a δ -space (X, \mathbb{D}) and let 1 . If <math>E is a reflexive Banach space, then $L_p(\mu, E)$ is also reflexive.

24-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further Readings</u>: Ricker, Ballve, Huff, Gilliam, Croitoru, Zhao, Fernandez, Sambucini and Doss.

Chapter 25

Differentiation of Measures

25-1 Geometrical Expression of Radon-Nikodym Derivatives

25-1.1. In this section, we shall prove that except a null set, every complex measure on \mathbb{R}^n has a derivative in terms of the limit of difference quotient. Furthermore, it coincides with its density. We shall adopt appropriate rather than maximum generality.

25-1.2. Let λ denote the Lebesgue measure and μ a positive measure on \mathbb{R}^n . We shall use the max-norm on \mathbb{R}^n_{∞} and the notation of cubes defined in chapter 23. The radius of a cube A will be denoted by $\triangle A$. Take any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. The families of all semi-cubes, open and closed semi-cubes containing x in their interiors and with radii $\leq r$ are denoted by $S(x,r), S^o(x,r), S^-(x,r)$ respectively. The upper and lower derivatives of μ at x are defined by

$$D^*\mu(x) = \lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{A \in S(x,r)} \frac{\mu A}{\lambda A}$$
 and $D_*\mu(x) = \lim_{r \to 0} \inf_{A \in S(x,r)} \frac{\mu A}{\lambda A}$

respectively. Clearly, $0 \le D_*\mu(x) \le D^*\mu(x) \le \infty$. A complex measure ν on \mathbb{R}^n is said to be *differentiable* at x if there is a number $D\nu(x)$ such that

$$\lim_{r\to 0}\sup_{A\in S(x,r)}\left|\frac{\nu A}{\lambda A}-D\nu(x)\right|=0.$$

In this case, $D\nu(x)$ is called the *derivative* of μ at x.

25-1.3. **Exercise** Prove that a positive measure μ on \mathbb{R}^n is differentiable at x iff $D^*\mu(x) = D_*\mu(x) < \infty$. In this case, we have $D^*\mu(x) = D_*\mu(x) = D\mu(x)$.

25-1.4. **Example** Let $\varphi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be given by $\varphi(x) = x$ if x > 0 and $\varphi(x) = 0$ otherwise. Let $\mu(a, b] = \varphi(b) - \varphi(a)$ for all a < b. Then μ is a positive measure on \mathbb{R} . Considering the intervals $(-t, t^2]$ and $(-t^2, t]$ for $t \downarrow 0$, it is easy to show that $D^*\mu(x) \neq D_*\mu(x)$.

25-1.5. **Exercise** Let μ be the measure on \mathbb{R} induced by $\varphi(x) = x^2$. Find both $D^*\mu(1)$ and $D_*\mu(1)$.

25-1.6. **Lemma** The following formulas allow us to work with open or closed

semi-cubes:
$$D^*\mu(x) = \lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{C \in S^-(x,r)} \frac{\mu C}{\lambda C} = \lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{B \in S^o(x,r)} \frac{\mu B}{\lambda B}$$

and $D_*\mu(x) = \lim_{r \to 0} \inf_{C \in S^-(x,r)} \frac{\mu C}{\lambda C} = \lim_{r \to 0} \inf_{B \in S^o(x,r)} \frac{\mu B}{\lambda B}.$

Proof. Let A, B, C be semi-cube, open and closed cubes of the same center and radius respectively. Note that $\lambda A = \lambda B = \lambda C$. Since μ is positive, we have $\frac{\mu B}{\lambda B} \leq \frac{\mu A}{\lambda A} \leq \frac{\mu C}{\lambda C}$ from which we obtain

$$\lim_{r\to 0} \sup_{B\in S^o(x,r)} \frac{\mu B}{\lambda B} \le D^*\mu(x) \le \lim_{r\to 0} \sup_{C\in S^-(x,r)} \frac{\mu C}{\lambda C}.$$

On the other hand, for any $\delta > 0$ take any closed cube C containing x in its interior C° and with radius $\Delta C \leq \delta$. For each $m \geq 1$, let B_m be an open cube of the same center of C but with radius $\triangle B_m = \triangle C + \delta/m$. Then $B_m \downarrow C$. Hence $\frac{\mu B_m}{\lambda B_m} \to \frac{\mu C}{\lambda C}$ as $m \to \infty$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is m such that

$$\frac{\mu C}{\lambda C} \leq \frac{\mu B_m}{\lambda B_m} + \varepsilon \leq \sup_{B \in S^o(x, 2\delta)} \frac{\mu B}{\lambda B} + \varepsilon,$$

hence,

 $\sup_{C\in S^-(x,r)}\frac{\mu C}{\lambda C}\leq \sup_{B\in S^o(x,2\delta)}\frac{\mu B}{\lambda B}+\varepsilon.$ Letting $\delta \to 0$ first and then $\varepsilon \to 0$, we have

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{C \in S^{-}(x,r)} \frac{\mu C}{\lambda C} \leq \lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{B \in S^{o}(x,r)} \frac{\mu B}{\lambda B}.$$

This proves the first formula. The second is left as an exercise.

25-1.7. **Lemma** Both $D^*\mu$ and $D_*\mu$ are measurable.

Proof. We want to show that $M = \{x \in X : D^*\mu(x) \ge t\}$ is measurable for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Now let Q_{mk} be the family of open cubes B satisfying $\frac{\mu B}{\lambda B} > t - \frac{1}{k}$ and with radius $\Delta B \le 1/m$. Obviously $\lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{B \in S^{2}(r,r)} \frac{\mu B}{\lambda B} \ge t$ iff $x \in \bigcap_{m,k=1}^{\infty} \cup Q_{mk}$. As a countable intersection of open sets, M is measurable. Therefore $D^*\mu$ is measurable. Likewise, $D_*\mu$ is also measurable.

25-1.8. In order to show that $D\mu(x)$ exists almost everywhere, we need the following tool. A family \mathcal{F} of cubes is called a *Vitali's cover* of a set M if for every $x \in M$ and any $\delta > 0$ there is $A \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $x \in A$ and $\triangle A \leq \delta$.

Vitali's Covering Theorem For every Vitali's cover \mathcal{F} of a bounded 25-1.9. set $M \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, there is a sequence of disjoint cubes $C_j \in \mathcal{F}$ such that

(a) $\lambda(M \setminus \bigcup_j C_j) = 0$ and (b) $M \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j \cup \bigcup_{j>k} B_j$ where A_j is the closure of C_j and B_j is the closed cube of the same center of A_j with radius $\Delta B_j = 5 \Delta A_j$. Note that the sequence may be finite or infinite.

<u>Proof.</u> Let V be a bounded open set containing M. Let \mathcal{G} be the family of closures of cubes $C \in \mathcal{F}$ contained in V. Suppose that there is a sequence A_1, A_2, \cdots of disjoint sets in \mathcal{G} such that $M \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j$. Then (b) is satisfied and (a) follows from $\lambda(M \setminus \bigcup_j C_j) \leq \lambda(M \setminus \bigcup_j A_j) + \sum_j (\lambda A_j - \lambda C_j) = 0$. Hence assume that M cannot be covered by any finite sequence of disjoint sets in \mathcal{G} . Clearly \mathcal{G} is a Vitali's cover of M and also $0 < r_1 = \sup\{\Delta D : D \in \mathbb{G}\} < \infty$. There is $A_1 \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $\Delta A_1 \geq r_1/2$. Suppose that r_j, A_j are constructed inductively for all $j \leq k$. Since $M \notin \bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j$, there is some $x \in M \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j$. Since $\bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j$ is closed and \mathcal{G} is a Vitali's cover, there is $C \in \mathcal{G}$ with $x \in C$ and $C \cap \bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j = \emptyset$. Hence we get

$$D < r_{k+1} = \sup \left\{ \ riangle D : D \in \mathfrak{G} \ ext{and} \ D \cap igcup_{j=1}^k A_j = \emptyset
ight\} < \infty$$

There is $A_{k+1} \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $\triangle A_{k+1} \geq r_{k+1}/2$ and $A_{k+1} \cap \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} A_j = \emptyset$. Now two infinite sequences r_k, A_k have been constructed. For each j, let B_j be the closed cube with the same center as A_j and with radius $\triangle B_j = 5 \bigtriangleup A_j$. Since $\{A_j\}$ are disjoint subsets of the bounded open set V, we have $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda A_j \leq \lambda V < \infty$, or $0 < r_j \leq 2 \bigtriangleup A_j = (\lambda A_j)^{1/n} \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$. We claim $M \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} A_j \subset \bigcup_{j=k+1}^{\infty} B_j$ for all k > 1. In fact, for each $x \in M \notin \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} A_j$, choose C as above. Since $r_j \to 0$, there is p such that $r_{p+1} < \triangle C$. Then by the choice of r_{p+1} , we have $C \cap \bigcup_{j=1}^{p} A_j \neq \emptyset$. Let p be the minimum one. Then we get $C \cap \bigcup_{j=1}^{p-1} A_j = \emptyset$. Hence there is some $b \in C \cap A_p$. Clearly, $\triangle C \leq r_p \leq 2 \bigtriangleup A_p$. Let a, c be the centers of A_p, C respectively. Then, $||x-a|| \leq ||x-c|| + ||c-b|| + ||b-a|| \leq \triangle C + \triangle C + \triangle A_p \leq 5 \bigtriangleup A_p = \triangle B_p$, i.e. $x \in B_p$. Because $C \cap \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} A_j = \emptyset$, we have p > k. Therefore $x \in \bigcup_{j=k+1}^{\infty} B_j$.

$$\begin{split} \lambda\left(M\setminus\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty}C_{j}\right) &\leq \lambda\left(M\setminus\bigcup_{j=1}^{k}A_{j}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{k}(\lambda A_{j} - \lambda C_{j})\\ &\leq \lambda\left(\bigcup_{j=k+1}^{\infty}B_{j}\right) + 0 \leq \sum_{j=k+1}^{\infty}\lambda B_{j} \leq 5^{n}\sum_{j=k+1}^{\infty}\lambda A_{j} \to 0. \end{split}$$

25-1.10. Lemma Let M be a decent set in ℝⁿ and let t > 0.
(a) If D*µ(x) ≥ t for all x ∈ M, then tλM ≤ µM.
(b) Suppose µ ≪ λ. If D*µ(x) ≤ t for all x ∈ M, then tλM ≥ µM.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Without loss of generality, we may assume $M \neq \emptyset$. Take any bounded open set V containing M.

(a) For any $0 < \varepsilon < t$, let \mathcal{F} be the family of those cubes $C \subset V$ satisfying $(t - \varepsilon)\lambda C \leq \mu C$. Since $D^*\mu(x) \geq t$ for all $x \in M$, \mathcal{F} is a Vitali's cover of M. There is a sequence $\{C_j\}$ of disjoint cubes in \mathcal{F} with $\lambda(M \setminus \bigcup_j C_j) = 0$. Observe

$$\begin{aligned} -\varepsilon)\lambda M &\leq (t-\varepsilon)\lambda(M\cap \cup_j C_j) + (t-\varepsilon)\lambda(M\setminus \cup_j C_j) \\ &= \sum_j (t-\varepsilon)\lambda C_j + 0 \leq \sum_j \mu C_j \leq \mu(\cup_j C_j) \leq \mu V. \end{aligned}$$

Since every positive measure is regular, taking infimum over all open covers V of M we have $(t - \varepsilon)\lambda M \leq \mu M$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we prove (a).

(b) As in (a), for any $\varepsilon > 0$, let \mathcal{F} be the family of those cubes $C \subset V$ satisfying $(t + \varepsilon)\lambda C \geq \mu C$. Since $D_*\mu(x) \leq t$ for all $x \in M$, \mathcal{F} is a Vitali's cover of M. There is a sequence $\{C_j\}$ of disjoint cubes in \mathcal{F} with $\lambda(M \setminus \cup_j C_j) = 0$. Since $\mu \ll \lambda$, we obtain $\mu(M \setminus \cup_j C_j) = 0$. Therefore

$$(t+\varepsilon)\lambda M = (t+\varepsilon)\lambda(M\cap \cup_j C_j) + (t+\varepsilon)\lambda(M\setminus \cup_j C_j)$$

$$\geq \sum_j (t+\varepsilon)\lambda C_j + 0 \geq \mu(M\cap \cup_j C_j) + \mu(M\setminus \cup_j C_j) = \mu M.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, the proof is completed.

(t

25-1.11. **Exercise** Prove that if two measures ν_1, ν_2 are differentiable at x, then for all $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{K}$, the measure $t_1\nu_1 + t_2\nu_2$ is differentiable at x and its derivative is given by $D(t_1\nu_1 + t_2\nu_2)(x) = t_1D\nu_1(x) + t_2D\nu_2(x)$.

25-1.12. <u>**Theorem**</u> (a) Every complex measure ν on \mathbb{R}^n is differentiable λ -ae. (b) If $\nu \perp \lambda$ then $D\nu = 0, \lambda$ -ae.

(c) If $\nu \ll \lambda$ then $D\nu = d\nu/d\lambda$, λ -ae, the μ -density of ν .

<u>*Proof.*</u> As a result of last exercise, it suffice to prove the theorem for a positive measure μ which is one of $(\operatorname{Re} \nu)_{\pm}$, $(\operatorname{Im} \nu)_{\pm}$. Choose any semi-interval A. Consider the case $\mu \perp \lambda$. Then μ is null on some measurable set M while λ is null on its complement. Observe that

$$\begin{split} &\lambda\{x\in A\cap M:D^*\mu(x)\geq 1/j\}\\ &\leq j\mu\{x\in A\cap M:D^*\mu(x)\geq 1/j\}\leq j\mu(A\cap M)=0 \end{split}$$

and $\lambda(A \setminus M) = 0$; hence $\lambda\{x \in A : D^*\mu(x) \ge 1/j\} = 0$. Since j is arbitrary, $\lambda\{x \in A : D^*\mu(x) > 0\} = 0$. Therefore we have $0 \le D_*\mu \le D^*\mu = 0, \lambda$ -ae. Consequently, μ is differentiable λ -ae and $D\mu = 0, \lambda$ -ae. Next, consider the case $\mu \ll \lambda$. Let $f = d\mu/d\lambda : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ be the λ -density of μ . For all rationals t < s, let $M_{st} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(x) < t < s < D^*\mu(x)\}$. Then

$$s\lambda(A\cap M_{st}) \leq \mu(A\cap M_{st}) = \int_{A\cap M_{st}} fd\lambda \leq \int_{A\cap M_{st}} td\lambda = t\lambda(A\cap M_{st})$$

gives $\lambda(A \cap M_{st}) = 0$. Since A is arbitrary, M_{st} is λ -null. Hence the countable union $M = \bigcup_{st} M_{st} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(x) < D^* \mu(x)\}$ is also λ -null, that is $D^* \mu \leq f, \lambda$ -ae. Similarly, $f \leq D_* \mu, \lambda$ -ae. Consequently, μ is differentiable λ -ae and moreover, $D\mu = f, \lambda$ -ae. Finally, since every measure is a sum of its absolutely continuous and singular parts, it is differentiable. \Box

25-1.13. **Corollary** For every locally integrable function f on \mathbb{R}^n , we have $f(x) = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{1}{\lambda A} \int_A f(t) dt$ and $\lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{A \in S(x,r)} \frac{1}{\lambda A} \int_A |f(t) - f(x)| dt = 0$ for almost all x where A are cubes with center x and radius r.

<u>Proof.</u> For the measure $\nu A = \int_A f(t)dt$ for all decent sets A, we obtain $\lim_{r \to 0} \frac{1}{\lambda A} \int_A f(t)dt = D\nu = d\nu/d\lambda = f, \ \lambda \text{-ae. Next, let } K \text{ be a dense subset of } \mathbb{C}.$ For each $j \in K$, let $\nu_j A = \int_A |f(t) - j|dt$ for every decent set A. There is a λ null set N_j such that $|f(x) - j| = D\nu_j(x)$ for all $x \notin N_j$. The set $N = \bigcup_{j \in K} N_j$ is λ -null. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. For every $x \in \mathbb{C} \setminus N$, choose $j \in K$ with $|f(x) - j| \le \varepsilon$. There is $\delta > 0$ such that $\left| \frac{1}{\lambda A} \int_A |f(t) - j| dt - D\nu_j(x) \right| \le \varepsilon$ for all $\Delta A \le \delta$. Therefore $\frac{1}{\lambda A} \int_A |f(t) - j| dt \le |D\nu_j(x)| + \varepsilon = |f(x) - j| + \varepsilon \le 2\varepsilon$. This completes the proof.

25-1.14. <u>Exercise</u> Investigate the possible extension to vector measures and maps from \mathbb{R}^n into Banach spaces with suitable assumptions.

25-2 Jumps of Increasing Functions

25-2.1. In this section, we shall prove that every function of finite variation can be expressed as a sum of its continuous and discrete parts. Because every function G of finite variation can be decomposed into increasing functions: $G = V_{+}(\text{Re } G) - V_{-}(\text{Re } G) + iV_{+}(\text{Im } G) - iV_{-}(\text{Im } G)$, it suffices to work with increasing functions only.

25-2.2. Throughout this and next sections, let $F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be an increasing function. Let $U(a) = \inf\{F(x) : x > a\}$ be the upper bound at $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and $L(a) = \sup\{F(x) : x < a\}$ the lower bound at $a \in \mathbb{R}$.

25-2.3. **Exercise** Prove that if a < b, then $L(a) \le F(a) \le U(a) \le L(b)$.

25-2.4. Lemma (a) L is left continuous and U is right continuous.

(b) F(a) = U(a) iff F is right continuous at a.

(c) F(a) = L(a) iff F is left continuous at a.

(d) L(a) < U(a) iff F is discontinuous at a.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is b > a such that $F(b) \le U(a) + \varepsilon$. For every x with a < x < b, we have $U(x) \le F(b) \le U(a) + \varepsilon$. Hence U is right continuous at a.

(b) For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ by (a) such that for all $a < x < a + \delta$, we have $U(x) \leq U(a) + \varepsilon$. Hence if F(a) = U(a), then $F(a) = U(a) \leq F(x) \leq U(x) \leq U(a) + \varepsilon = F(a) + \varepsilon$ implies the right continuity of F at a. Conversely if F is right continuous at a, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $a < x < a + \delta$, we have $F(x) \leq F(a) + \varepsilon$, that is $F(a) \leq U(a) \leq F(x) \leq F(a) + \varepsilon$. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we obtain F(a) = U(a). It is an exercise to complete the proof.

25-2.5. <u>Theorem</u> Functions of finite variation are measurable.

<u>Proof</u>. It suffice to work with an increasing function F on \mathbb{R} . If $a \in F^{-1}(t, \infty)$, then for every x > a we have $t < F(a) \leq F(x)$, i.e. $x \in F^{-1}(t, \infty)$. Since $F^{-1}(t, \infty)$ is an open interval for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$, F is measurable.

25-2.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let F be a function of finite variation. Then the set \mathcal{E} of points where F is right discontinuous, is countable. Similar result holds for left and two-sided continuity. Therefore F is continuous almost everywhere.

<u>Proof</u>. It suffice to work with an increasing function F on \mathbb{R} . For each $a \in \mathcal{E}$, let t_a be a rational number in the open interval (F(a), U(a)). Then the map $\xi(a) = t_a$ for every $a \in \mathcal{E}$ is an injection from \mathcal{E} into the set of all rationals. Consequently \mathcal{E} is countable.

25-2.7. A function $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}$ is called a *pulse function* if for every semi-interval (a, b], the set $\{x \in (a, b] : f(x) \neq 0\}$ is countable and $\nu_{|f|}(a, b] = \sum\{|f(x)| : x \in (a, b]\} < \infty$. Let f be a pulse function and for all a < b, let $\nu_f(a, b] = \sum\{f(x) : x \in (a, b]\}$.

25-2.8. **Exercise** Prove that ν_f is a measure with $|\nu_f| = \nu_{|f|}$. The set of all pulse functions forms a conjugated vector space. The map $f \to \nu_f$ preserves linear combinations and complex conjugates.

25-2.9. <u>Exercise</u> Let $\{t_n\}$ be any enumeration of rational numbers on \mathbb{R} . Show that the function $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $f(t_n) = (i/2)^n$ and f(x) = 0 for irrational x, is a pulse function where $i^2 = -1$. 25-2.10. **Lemma** The jump function J = U - L of an increasing function $F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a pulse function. Furthermore for every a < b, we have $\sum \{J(x) : x \in (a, b]\} \le U(b) - F(a)$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. The set $\mathcal{E} = \{x \in (a, b] : J(x) \neq 0\}$ is countable. Take any finite subset $a < x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_n \leq b$ of \mathcal{E} . Then we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} J(x_j) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} [U(x_j) - L(x_j)]$$

= $U(x_n) - \sum_{j=2}^{n-1} [L(x_j) - U(x_{j-1})] - L(x_1) \le U(b) - F(a).$

25-2.11. A function $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}$ is *discrete* if there is a pulse function f such that for every $a \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$g(a) = \begin{cases} \sum \{f(x) : 0 < x \le a\}, & \text{if } a > 0; \\ 0, & \text{if } a = 0; \\ -\sum \{f(x) : a < x \le 0\}, & \text{if } a < 0. \end{cases}$$

Since g is the function induced by the measure ν_f , it is right continuous.

25-2.12. <u>Theorem</u> Every increasing function F is the difference of a right continuous increasing function and a positive pulse function. Hence every function of finite variation is the sum of a right continuous function of finite variation and a pulse function. Furthermore, this decomposition is unique.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $0 \le U-F \le U-L = J$, F = U-(U-F) can be decomposed into a right continuous increasing function U and a positive pulse function U-F. The second statement follows from decomposition of function of finite variation into increasing functions. Finally, suppose F = R - P where R is right continuous and P is a pulse function. Then G = R - U = P - (U - F) is a right continuous pulse function. For all a < b, the set $\{x \in (a, b] : G(x) \neq 0\}$ is countable. For every $c \in (a, b)$, there is a sequence $\{x_j\}$ in (a, b) such that $x_j \downarrow c$ and $G(x_j) = 0$ for every j. Since G is right continuous, $G(c) = \lim G(x_j) = 0$. Since $c \in (a, b)$ is arbitrary, G = 0 on \mathbb{R} , i.e. R = U and P = U - F. Consequently, the decomposition is unique.

25-2.13. <u>Theorem</u> Every right continuous increasing function F is the sum of a continuous increasing function and an increasing discrete function. Hence every right continuous function of finite variation is the sum of a continuous function and a discrete function. Furthermore, this decomposition is unique.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\mu(a, b] = F(b) - F(a)$ and $\nu(a, b] = \sum \{J(x) : x \in (a, b]\}$ for all a < b. From $\nu(a, b] \le U(b) - F(a) = \mu(a, b]$ by right continuity, $\xi = \mu - \nu$ is a positive measure. The functions C, D induced by the positive measures ξ, ν respectively are increasing and right continuous. Clearly, F(x) = F(0) + C(x) + D(x) for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. For all a < b, we have $C(b) - C(a) = F(b) - F(a) - \nu(a, b]$. Since $L(a) \leq F(a) \leq L(b)$ and L is left continuous, letting $a \uparrow b$ we obtain

$$C(b) - C(a) = F(b) - F(a) - \sum \{J(x) : x \in (a, b]\} \to U(b) - L(b) - J(b) = 0.$$

Thus C is also left continuous. Therefore F(0) + C is a continuous function. This proves the existence. To prove the uniqueness, it suffices to show that every continuous discrete function G is zero. Let g be a pulse function on \mathbb{R} such that $G(b) - G(a) = \sum \{g(x) : x \in (a, b]\}$ for all a < b. Letting $a \uparrow b$, we have 0 = g(b) for all b. Therefore G = 0 by definition §25-2.11.

25-2.14. <u>Exercise</u> Let $\{r_n\}$ be an enumeration of rationals on \mathbb{R} . Let $g_0(x) = h_0(x) = 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Inductively, define for each $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$g_n(x) = \begin{cases} g_{n-1}(x), & \text{if } x < r_n ;\\ \frac{1}{n(n+1)} + g_{n-1}(x), & \text{if } x \ge r_n; \end{cases}$$

and

$$h_n(x) = \begin{cases} h_{n-1}(x), & \text{if } x \leq r_n \ ; \\ \frac{1}{n(n+1)} + h_{n-1}(x), & \text{if } x > r_n. \end{cases}$$

Prove that g_n, h_n converge pointwise to strictly increasing bounded discontinuous functions g, h respectively. Investigate their left, right continuity. Can you write explicit formulas for the decomposition of last theorem?

25-3 Fundamental Theorems of Real Analysis

25-3.1. Application of general measure theory to classical analysis provides simplification to old material, justification of our approach, and possible stimulation to further research and development especially in vector measures and integration on infinite dimensional vector spaces. Topics such as absolute continuity, density, singular measures, Lebesgue decompositions will be covered in this section.

25-3.2. Every measure can be decomposed into absolutely continuous and singular parts with respect to the Lebesgue measure λ . We have proved that absolutely continuous measures induce absolutely continuous functions. A function g is said to be *singular* if its derivative exists and vanishes λ -ae. The following lemma shows that singular measures induce singular functions.

25-3.3. Lemma Let $F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a right continuous increasing function and ν its induced measure on semi-intervals. Then F is differentiable at $c \in \mathbb{R}$ iff ν is differentiable at c. In this case, we have $F'(c) = D\nu(c)$. *Proof.* Let F be differentiable at c. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\left| \frac{F(x) - F(c)}{x - c} - F'(c) \right| \le \varepsilon$$

for all $0 < |x - c| \le \delta$. Now for all a < c < b with $b - a \le \delta$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\nu(a,b]}{\lambda(a,b]} - F'(c) \right| &= \left| \frac{F(b) - F(a)}{b - a} - F'(c) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{b - a} \left(\left| \frac{F(b) - F(c)}{b - c} - F'(c) \right| (b - c) + \left| \frac{F(c) - F(a)}{c - a} - F'(c) \right| (c - a) \right) \leq \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore the measure ν is differentiable at c and $D\nu(c) = F'(c)$. Conversely, suppose that ν is differentiable at c. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\frac{F(b) - F(a)}{b - a} - D\nu(c) \bigg| = \bigg| \frac{\nu(a, b]}{\lambda(a, b]} - D\nu(c) \bigg| \le \varepsilon$$

for all a < c < b with $b - a \le \delta$. By right continuity of F, let $b \downarrow c$ to get $\left| \frac{F(c) - F(a)}{dc} - D\nu(c) \right| \le \varepsilon.$

$$\left|\frac{F(c) - F(a)}{c - a} - D\nu(c)\right| \le \varepsilon$$

Hence F is left differentiable and consequently *left* continuous at c. By symmetry of left and right sides, F is differentiable and $F'(c) = D\nu(c)$.

Every function F of finite variation is differentiable Theorem 25-3.4. almost everywhere and its derivative is locally integrable. Furthermore, if F is increasing, then for all a < b we have $\int_{(a,b)} F'(x) dx \leq L(b) - U(a)$.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may assume that F is increasing. Since the measure induced by the right continuous function U is differentiable λ -ae, U is differentiable λ -ae. Next, suppose that U is differentiable at c. Then U is continuous at c and hence U(c) = F(c). For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\left| \frac{U(x) - U(c)}{x - c} - U'(c) \right| \le \varepsilon$ for all $0 < |x - c| \le \delta$. Fix any such x. Since F is continuous λ -ae, there is a sequence $x_i \uparrow x$ such that $0 < |x_i - c| \le \delta$ and F is continuous at each x_i . From $U(x_i) = L(x_i)$, we get

$$U'(c) - \varepsilon \leq rac{U(x_j) - U(c)}{x_j - c} = rac{L(x_j) - F(c)}{x_j - c}.$$

Since L is left continuous, we have as $j \to \infty$

$$U'(c) - \varepsilon \leq \frac{L(x) - F(c)}{x - c} \leq \frac{F(x) - F(c)}{x - c} \leq \frac{U(x) - U(c)}{x - c} \leq U'(c) + \varepsilon$$

by considering x > c and x < c separately. Therefore F is differentiable at c and F'(c) = U'(c). It follows that F is differentiable λ -ae and F' = U', λ -ae. Define $g_n(x) = n[F(x+1/n) - F(x)]$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and all integers n > 0.

Since F is increasing, g_n is an upper function and so is $\liminf g_n = F', \lambda$ -ae. By Fatou's lemma, we have $\int_{(a,b)} F'(x)dx \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{(a,b]} g_n dx$ for every a < b. After simple change of variables, we obtain

$$\int_{(a,b]} g_n dx = n \int_{(b,b+\frac{1}{n}]} F(x) dx - n \int_{(a,a+\frac{1}{n}]} F(x) dx$$
$$\leq n \int_{(b,b+\frac{1}{n}]} U\left(b+\frac{1}{n}\right) dx - n \int_{(a,a+\frac{1}{n}]} U(a) dx$$
$$= U\left(b+\frac{1}{n}\right) - U(a) \rightarrow U(b) - U(a)$$

as $n \to \infty$. Thus we have

$$\int_{(a,b]} F'(x) dx \le U(b) - U(a) < \infty.$$

Therefore F' is integrable on (a, b]. Since a < b is arbitrary, it is locally integrable on \mathbb{R} . Finally take any $\beta \in (a, b)$. Note that the integral over the null set $\{b\}$ is zero. Letting $\beta \uparrow b$, we have

$$\int_{(a,b]} F'(x)dx = \int_{(a,b)} F'(x)dx = \sup_{\beta} \int_{(a,\beta]} F'(x)dx$$
$$\leq \sup_{\beta} [U(\beta) - U(a)] \leq L(b) - U(a). \quad \Box$$

25-3.5. <u>Theorem</u> If $F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}$ is an absolutely continuous function, then for all a < b we have $F(b) - F(a) = \int_{(a,b]} F'(x) dx$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Since the measure μ induced by F is λ -continuous, for all a < b we have $F(b) - F(a) = \mu(a, b] = \int_{(a,b]} \frac{d\mu}{d\lambda} d\lambda = \int_{(a,b]} F' d\lambda.$

25-3.6. <u>Theorem</u> If an absolutely continuous function $F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}$ is also singular, then it is a constant function.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since F is singular, F'(x) = 0, λ -ae. Last theorem ensures that for all $\overline{a < b}$, F(b) - F(a) = 0. Therefore F is a constant function.

25-3.7. **Theorem** Every continuous increasing function F is the sum of an absolutely continuous increasing function and a singular increasing continuous function. Furthermore, this decomposition is unique up to a constant.

<u>Proof</u>. Let μ be the positive measure induced by F. Lebesgue Decomposition Theorem ensures $\mu = \mu_a + \mu_s$ where μ_a, μ_s are positive measures which are absolutely continuous and singular to λ respectively. Let A, S be functions induced by μ_a, μ_s respectively. Then F = A + S + F(0). Since both F, A are continuous, so is S. Finally, A, S are increasing because μ_a, μ_s are positive. The uniqueness follows immediately from last theorem.

25-3.8. **Theorem** Every function G of finite variation can be decomposed uniquely into the form: G = G(0) + P + D + A + S where P is a pulse function, D a discrete function, A an absolutely continuous function and S a singular continuous function satisfying P(0) = D(0) = A(0) = S(0) = 0. Furthermore, if G is real, then so are all P, D, A, S; and if G is an increasing real function, then so are all D, A, S.

25-3.9. **Theorem** Let f be a locally integrable function on \mathbb{R} and for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ let $F(x) = \int_{\alpha}^{x} f(t)dt$. Then F is absolutely continuous and F' = f, λ -ae. <u>Proof</u>. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $f \geq 0$. Now $\mu(A) = \int_{A} f d\lambda$, for every decent set A, is an absolutely continuous positive measure on \mathbb{R} . It induces an absolutely continuous function G on \mathbb{R} . Then for all a < x, we have

$$F(x) - F(a) = \int_a^x f d\lambda = \mu(a, x] = G(x) - G(a) = \int_a^x G' d\lambda$$

that is $\int_{(a,x]} (f - G') d\lambda = 0$. Since a < x are arbitrary, we have f = G', λ -ae. It follows from F(x) - F(a) = G(x) - G(a), F is absolutely continuous and F' = G' = f, λ -ae.

25-3.10. **Exercise** Last theorem is a global version. The following is a locally version of which the proof is practically identical with those in elementary calculus. Let f be a locally integrable function on \mathbb{R} and let $F(x) = \int_{\alpha}^{x} f(t)dt$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Prove that if f is continuous at $b \in \mathbb{R}$, then F is differentiable at b and F'(b) = f(b). This provides an important method to evaluate integrals in terms of anti-derivatives.

25-3.11. **Exercise** Prove the following integration by parts: If f, g are absolutely continuous, then for all a < b we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(x)g'(x)dx + \int_{a}^{b} f'(x)g(x)dx = f(b)g(b) - f(a)g(a).$$

25-3.12. **Theorem** Let $F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a right continuous increasing function and μ its induced measure on the semi-intervals. Then F is a singular function iff μ is a singular measure.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let F be a singular function. Write $\mu = \mu_a + \mu_s$ where μ_a, μ_s are positive measures which are absolutely continuous and singular to λ respectively. Let F_a, F_s be functions induced by μ_a, μ_s respectively. Then

$$F(x) = F(0) + F_a(x) + F_s(x)$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Hence $F_a = F - F_s - F(0)$ is absolutely continuous and singular. Consequently it is a constant, say α . Then $F = F_s + \alpha + F(0)$ is singular. The converse is left as an exercise.

25-3.13. All our functions were defined on the whole line. Suppose that G is a real function defined on [a, b] only. Let $H : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}$ be given by

$$H(x) = \begin{cases} G(x), & \text{if } x \in [a, b], \\ G(a), & \text{if } x < a, \\ G(b), & \text{if } x > b. \end{cases}$$

Applying results to H, we get information about G.

25-3.14. <u>Exercise</u> Show that linear combinations and products of absolutely continuous functions are absolutely continuous. Show that every continuously differentiable function is absolutely continuous.

25-3.15. **Exercise** Show that the function $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ given by f(0) = 0 and $f(x) = x^2 \sin(1/x^2)$ for $x \neq 0$ is differentiable but the derivative is not integrable. Show that it is continuous but not absolutely continuous.

25-4 Cantor Set and Function

25-4.1. Cantor set is an uncountable compact null set without any interior point. Cantor function is a continuous increasing function with zero-derivative almost everywhere. Explicit construction is given in this section.

25-4.2. Recall that every real number $x \in [0, 1]$ as a unique *infinite decimal* representation $0.x_1x_2x_3\cdots$ where the *j*-digit x_j is an integer between 0 and 9 inclusively. For example, 0.3 is rejected but $0.299\cdots$ is accepted. We prove in this section that the Cantor set in decimal form contains all numbers $x \in [0, 1]$ with every $x_j = 0$ or 9 only.

25-4.3. Consider the diagram in \mathbb{R}^2 below. Let $B = [a, b] \times [c, d]$ be a box. Define h = 10%(b-a), k = (c+d)/2, the head $H_B = [a, a+h]$, the tail $T_B = [b-h, b]$ and the middle $M_B = [a, b] \setminus (H_B \cup T_B)$. The diagonal of the box B defines a function $\Delta : [a, b] \rightarrow [c, d]$. Also the diagonal of the lower box $L_B = H_B \times [c, k]$; the upper box $U_B = T_B \times [k, d]$ together with the horizontal line from P = (a + h, k) to Q = (b - h, k) defines a function $f_B : [a, b] \to [c, d]$. Clearly, f_B is continuous increasing. Furthermore we have $|f_B(x) - \Delta(x)| \leq \frac{1}{2}(d - c)$ for all $x \in [a, b]$ and $f'_B(x) = 0$ for all $x \in M_B$. If we apply the same procedure to the lower and upper boxes, we get a new continuous increasing function g which is identical to f_B on the middle M_B by sharing PQ. Obviously, $|f_B(x) - g(x)| \leq \frac{1}{4}(d - c)$ for all $x \in [a, b]$. The family of lower and upper boxes is denoted by $\mathcal{F}_B = \{L_B, U_B\}$ and the family of head and tail by $\mathcal{K} = \{H_B, T_B\}$.



25-4.4. Apply the above procedure to the box $A = [0, 1] \times [0, 1]$. Then the head $K_0 = H_A = [0.00, 0.099 \cdots]$ contains all numbers x with $x_1 = 0$ and $K_9 = T_A = [0.9, 0.99 \cdots]$ all numbers x with $x_1 = 9$. Hence $F_1 = K_0 \cup K_9$ is a compact set containing all numbers x with $x_1 = 0$ or 9 only and has measure $\lambda F_1 = 2 * 10\% = 1/5$. The excluded middle $G_1 = M_A = [0, 1] \setminus F_1$ has measure 1 - 1/5. The derivative of the continuous increasing function $f_1 = f_A$ vanishes on G_1 . The family $\mathcal{F}_1 = \mathcal{F}_A$ contains 2 boxes $B_0 = L_A$ and $B_9 = U_A$ for next inductive step.

25-4.5. Applying the above procedure again to the box B_0 , then the head $K_{00} = H_{B_0} = [0.000, 0.0099 \cdots]$ contains all numbers x with $x_1x_2 = 00$ and $K_{09} = T_{B_0} = [0.09, 0.099 \cdots]$ all numbers x with $x_1x_2 = 09$. To B_9 , we have the head $K_{90} = H_{B_9} = [0.900, 0.9099 \cdots]$ contains all numbers x with $x_1x_2 = 90$ and $K_{99} = T_{B_9} = [0.99, 0.9999 \cdots]$ all numbers x with $x_1x_2 = 99$. Hence $F_2 = K_{00} \cup K_{09} \cup K_{90} \cup K_{99}$ is a compact set containing all numbers x with

 $x_1, x_2 = 0$ or 9 only and has measure $\lambda F_1 = 2^2 * (10\%)^2 = 1/5^2$. The excluded middle $G_2 = G_1 \cup M_{B_0} \cup M_{B_9} = [0, 1] \setminus F_1$ has measure $1 - 1/5^2$. The derivative of the continuous increasing function f_2 obtained this way vanishes on G_2 . Also $|f_2(x) - f_1(x)| \leq 1/2^2$ for all $x \in [0, 1]$. The family $\mathcal{F}_2 = \cup \{\mathcal{F}_B : B \in \mathcal{F}_1\}$ contains 2^2 boxes for next inductive step.

25-4.6. In general, we construct a compact set F_n containing all numbers x with $x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n = 0$ or 9 only and has measure $\lambda F_n = 1/5^n$. The excluded middle $G_n = [0,1] \setminus F_1$ has measure $1 - 1/5^n$. The derivative of the continuous increasing function f_n obtained this way vanishes on G_n . Also $|f_n(x) - f_{n-1}(x)| \leq 1/2^n$ for all $x \in [0,1]$. The decimal Cantor set $F = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n$ is compact and contains exactly all numbers x with every $x_j = 0$ or 9 only. From $\lambda F \leq \lambda F_n \leq 1/5^n$, F is a null set and hence cannot contain any interior point. Since $\{f_n\}$ is uniformly Cauchy on [0, 1], it converges uniformly to a continuous function f on [0, 1]. It is called the decimal Cantor function. Since $f = f_n$ on G_n for all large n, f'(x) = 0 on $[0, 1] \setminus F$, that is f' = 0 almost everywhere on [0, 1]. Therefore f is a singular function.

25-4.7. The decimal Cantor set is uncountable. In fact, suppose to the contrary that $x^n = 0.x_1^n x_2^n x_3^n \cdots$ is an enumeration of all points in the decimal Cantor set where $x_j^n = 0$ or 9 only. Define $y = 0.y_1 y_2 y_3 \cdots$ where $y_n = 0$ if $x_n^n = 9$ and $y_n = 9$ if $x_n^n = 0$. Since every digit of y is either 0 or 9, y is a member of the decimal Cantor set. On the other hand, $y_n \neq x_n^n$. Hence $y \neq x^n$ of all n. This contradiction completes the proof.

25-4.8. The decimal Cantor function is *increasing*. In fact, from the diagram, all f_n are increasing. It is easy to show that $|f_{n+k}(x) - f_n(x)| \le 1/2^n$ for all k > 0. Hence $|f(x) - f_n(x)| \le 1/2^n$. Now suppose $0 \le a < b \le 1$. Then $f(a) \le f_n(a) + 1/2^n \le f_n(b) + 1/2^n \le f(b) + 2/2^n$ for all n, that is $f(a) \le f(b)$ as required. Finally, from f(0) = 0 and f(1) = 1, the *range* of f is [0, 1].

25-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further Readings</u>: Rudin-74, Swartz-94, Brown-69, Freilich, Takacs, Zamfirescu, Cater and Varberg.

Chapter 26 Spectral Measures

26-1 Construction from Self-Adjoint Operators

26-1.1. Let A be a self-adjoint operator on a (complex) Hilbert space H. In §14-6, we have constructed a functional calculus for continuous functions on the spectrum $\sigma(A)$ of A. We want to extend it to wider classes of functions starting with characteristic functions of semi-intervals from which we construct a special spectral measures as an example for the general study in coming sections. Our approach is more intuitive and geometrical but longer because identification of the dual space of continuous functions with compact support as regular measures is not available until later chapters.

26-1.2. In this chapter, the universal set is denoted by X which is normally \mathbb{R}^p essentially for p = 1, 2 only; members of X by s, t; S a semiring over X; \mathbb{D} the δ -ring of decent sets J, K generated by S; \mathbb{M} the family of measurable sets M, N localized by \mathbb{D} ; A, B operators on H; P, Q projectors on H; $x, y \in H$ and u, v, θ scalar coefficients. Hopefully this would resolve the notational conflicts from different parts of this book. Compare the following lemma with §20-1.4.

26-1.3. Lemma Let f_n, f, g be continuous *real* functions on \mathbb{R} . (a) $f_n(A), f(A), g(A)$ are self-adjoint operators.

(b) If $f \leq g$, then $f(A) \leq g(A)$.

(c) If $f_n \downarrow f$ everywhere, then $f_n(A) \downarrow f(A)$ strongly as $n \to \infty$.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) follows from §14-6.12a and (b) from §14-6.12d. To prove (c), by Dini's theorem $f_n \downarrow f$ uniformly on the compact set $\sigma(A)$. It follows from §14-6.6 that $f_n(A) \to f(A)$ uniformly and hence strongly by §13-10.11.

26-1.4. Lemma Let $f_n, g_n \ge 0$ be continuous functions on \mathbb{R} . Suppose that $f_n \downarrow f$ and $g_n \downarrow g$ on \mathbb{R} but f, g need not be continuous.

- (a) Both s-lim $f_n(A)$ and s-lim $g_n(A)$ exist.
- (b) If $f \leq g$, then s-lim $f_n(A) \leq$ s-lim $g_n(A)$. See §20-1.5.
- (c) If f = g, then s-lim $f_n(A) = s$ -lim $g_n(A)$.

<u>Proof.</u> Part (a) follows because bounded monotone sequence of self-adjoint operators is strongly convergent. To prove (b), observe that $f_m \vee g_n$ is a continuous function on \mathbb{R} . Letting $m \to \infty$ in $f_m \leq f_m \vee g_n$, we obtain $f_m \vee g_n \downarrow f \vee g_n = g_n$. Hence s- $\lim_{m \to \infty} f_m(A) \leq$ s- $\lim_{m \to \infty} (f_m \vee g_n)(A) = g_n(A)$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we get (b). Part (c) follows by symmetry. \Box

26-1.5. Limits of decreasing sequences of continuous functions are called *upper* semi-continuous functions. Let f be an upper semi-continuous function and f_n be continuous functions with $f_n \downarrow f$. Then $f(A) = s - \lim_{m \to \infty} f_n(A)$ is well-defined independent of the choice of $\{f_n\}$. In particular, if f is continuous, the new definition agrees with the old one. For analogy to upper functions, see §20-1.6.

26-1.6. Lemma Let $f, g \ge 0$ be upper semi-continuous functions on \mathbb{R} .

- (a) Monotonicity: If $f \leq g$, then $f(A) \leq g(A)$.
- (b) Linearity: (f+g)(A) = f(A) + g(A) and (rf)(A) = r[f(A)] for every $r \ge 0$.
- (c) Product: (fg)(A) = f(A)g(A).
- (d) Commutativity: If AB = BA, then f(A)B = Bf(A) for every operator B.

Proof. Let f_n, g_n be continuous functions on \mathbb{R} with $f_n \downarrow f$ and $g_n \downarrow g$.

(c) Since $f_n \ge f \ge 0$ and $g_n \ge g \ge 0$, we have $f_n g_n \downarrow fg$. Hence we have $(f_n g_n)(A) \downarrow (fg)(A)$. Also $(f_n g_n)(A) = f_n(A)g_n(A) \to f(A)g(A)$ strongly by §14-6.5b. Therefore (fg)(A) = f(A)g(A).

(d) Since $f_n(A)B \to f(A)B$ and $Bf_n(A) \to Bf(A)$, the result follows from §14-6.7a immediately.

26-1.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let f_n be upper semi-continuous functions. If $f_n \downarrow f$, then f is also an upper semi-continuous function with $f_n(A) \downarrow f(A)$ strongly. See §20-1.8.

<u>Proof</u>. For each n, there are continuous functions $g_{mn} \downarrow f_n$ as $m \to \infty$. Define $h_m = g_{m1} \land g_{m2} \land \cdots \land g_{mm}$. Then $h_m \ge h_{m+1}$ and $g_{mn} \ge h_m \ge f_m$ for all $n \le m$. For $m \to \infty$, we have $f_n \ge \lim h_m \ge f$. Next letting $n \to \infty$, we get $h_m \downarrow f$. Hence f is an upper semi-continuous function approximated by the continuous functions h_m . Since $\{f_m(A)\}$ is a decreasing sequence of self-adjoint operator bounded below by f(A), the strong limit of $\{f_m(A)\}$ exists. For all $n \le m$, we get $g_{mn}(A) \ge h_m(A) \ge f_m(A)$. As $m \to \infty$, $f_n(A) \ge f(A) \ge s-\lim f_m(A)$. Finally letting $n \to \infty$ we obtain $f(A) = s-\lim f_n(A)$.

26-1.8. A function f is semi-continuous if f is of the form $f = f_1 - f_2$ where f_1, f_2 are upper semi-continuous. Clearly the set of all semi-continuous functions forms an algebra over the reals. Define $f(A) = f_1(A) - f_2(A)$.

26-1.9. <u>Theorem</u> Let f, g be semi-continuous functions on \mathbb{R} .

(a) f(A) is independent of the choice of the representation.

(b) Monotonicity: If $f \leq g$, then $f(A) \leq g(A)$.

(c) Linearity: (f + g)(A) = f(A) + g(A) and (rf)(A) = r[f(A)] for every $r \in \mathbb{R}$.

(d) Product: (fg)(A) = f(A)g(A).

(e) Commutativity: If AB = BA, then f(A)B = Bf(A) for every operator B.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $f = f_1 - f_2 \leq g_1 - g_2 = g$ where f_1, f_2, g_1, g_2 are upper semicontinuous functions. Then $f_1 + g_2 \leq g_1 + f_2$ gives $f_1(A) + g_2(A) \leq g_1(A) + f_2(A)$, that is $f_1(A) - f_2(A) \leq g_1(A) - g_2(A)$. For (a), letting g = f we have $f_1(A) - f_2(A) = g_1(A) - g_2(A)$ and hence f(A) is well-defined. We leave it as an exercise to complete the proof.

26-1.10. For every $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\delta > 0$, the spectral function $\psi_{t,\delta}$ given by the following picture is continuous. More precisely,

$$\psi_{t,\delta}(s) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } s \leq t ;\\ 1 + (t-s)/\delta & \text{if } t < s \leq t+\delta ;\\ 0 & \text{if } s > t+\delta . \end{cases}$$

The function $\rho_{(-\infty,t]}$ is upper semi-continuous because $\psi_{t,1/n} \downarrow \rho_{(-\infty,t]}$. Hence $P(t) = \rho_{(-\infty,t]}(A)$ is a self-adjoint operator on H.



26-1.11. **Lemma** (a) P(t) is a projector for each $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

(b) P(t) is increasing in t.

(c) If $t < \inf \sigma(A)$, then P(t) = 0.

(d) If $t > \sup \sigma(A)$, then P(t) = I.

(e) P(t) is strongly right continuous in t.

The map $P : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{P}(H)$ is called the *spectral resolution of* A.

<u>*Proof*</u>. (a) Because $\rho_{(-\infty,t]}^2 = \rho_{(-\infty,t]}$, we have $P(t)^2 = P(t)$. Since P(t) is self-adjoint, it is a projector.

(b) If $s \leq t$, then $\rho_{(-\infty,s]} \leq \rho_{(-\infty,t]}$, or $P(s) = \rho_{(-\infty,s]}(A) \leq \rho_{(-\infty,t]}(A) = P(t)$.

(c) If $t < \inf \sigma(A)$, then $\rho_{(-\infty,t]}(\sigma A) = 0$ and hence P(t) = 0 by §14-6.5c.
(d) If $t > \sup \sigma(A)$, then $\rho_{(-\infty,t)}(\sigma A) = 1$ and hence P(t) = I.

(e) For every $\delta_n \downarrow 0$, the function $\psi_{t+\delta_n,\delta_n}$ is continuous. By sketching a picture, we have $\psi_{t+\delta_n,\delta_n} \downarrow \rho_{(-\infty,t]}$. From $\rho_{(-\infty,t]} \leq \rho_{(-\infty,t+\delta_n]} \leq \psi_{t+\delta_n,\delta_n}$, we have $P(t) \leq P(t+\delta_n) \leq \psi_{t+\delta_n,\delta_n}(A)$. Letting $n \to \infty$, we get

 $P(t) \leq \operatorname{s-}\lim_{n \to \infty} P(t+\delta_n) \leq \operatorname{s-}\lim_{n \to \infty} \psi_{t+\delta_n,\delta_n}(A) = \rho_{(-\infty,t]}(A) = P(t),$

that is $P(t + \delta_n) \to P(t)$ strongly as $n \to \infty$. Since $\delta_n \downarrow 0$ is arbitrary, P(t) is right continuous in t.

26-1.12. **Theorem** (a) For every a < b in \mathbb{R} , let $\mu(a, b] = P(b) - P(a)$. Then $\mu(a, b] = \rho_{(a,b]}(A)$ is a projector.

(b) μ is additive on the semiring of semi-intervals.

(c) For all $x \in H$, $\mu_x(a, b] = \langle \mu(a, b]x, x \rangle$ defines a positive measure on semi-intervals. Note that we understand $\mu(a, b]x = \{\mu(a, b)\}x$.

(d) If $a < \inf \sigma(A)$ and $b > \sup \sigma(A)$; then $\mu(a, b] = I$.

(e) If B is an operator commuting with A, then B commutes with $\mu(a, b]$.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) Since P(t) is increasing, P(b) - P(a) is a projector by §13-10.7. Next, $P(b) - P(a) = \rho_{(-\infty,b]}(A) - \rho_{(-\infty,a]}(A) = \{\rho_{(-\infty,b]} - \rho_{(-\infty,a]}\}(A) = \rho_{(a,b]}(A)$. (b) It is the charge induced by P. It also follows from §26-1.9c.

(c) Since the function $\langle P(t)x, x \rangle$ is increasing and right continuous in t, its induced charge μ_x is a positive measure by §17-7.8.

(d) follows from (c) and (d) of last lemma.

(e) follows from $\S26-1.9e$.

26-2 Extension of Spectral Measures

26-2.1. Let H be a Hilbert space and $\mathbb{P}(H)$ all projectors. Let \mathcal{K} be an *upward* directed semiring over X, that is for all $J, K \in \mathcal{K}$ there is $M \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $J \cup K \subset M$. Suppose that $\mu : \mathcal{K} \to \mathbb{P}(H)$ is a projector-valued charge. As a result of §17-2.10, the integral $\int f d\mu$ is defined for all \mathcal{K} -step functions f with $\int \rho_J d\mu = \mu J$.

26-2.2. **<u>Product Formula</u>** $\mu J \mu K = \mu (J \cap K)$ for all $J, K \in \mathcal{K}$.

<u>Proof</u>. Case 1: Suppose that $J \cap K = \emptyset$. We assume that \mathcal{K} is directed upward. There is $M \in \mathcal{K}$ containing both J, K. Write $M \setminus J \setminus K = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} D_j$ as a disjoint union of sets $D_i \in \mathcal{K}$. Then $M = J \cup K \cup \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} D_j$ is a disjoint union. Since μ is additive, we obtain $\mu M = \mu J + \mu K + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mu D_j$. Because every term is a projector, we have $(\mu J)(\mu K) = 0$ by §13-9.8.

Case 2: In general by Semiring Formula, there are disjoint $D_i \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $\rho_J = \sum_{i=1}^m s_i \rho_{D_i}$ and $\rho_K = \sum_{i=1}^m t_i \rho_{D_i}$ where s_i, t_i are either 0 or 1. Then, $\rho_{J\cap K} = \rho_J \rho_K = (\sum_{j=1}^m s_j \rho_{D_j})(\sum_{k=1}^m t_k \rho_{D_k}) = \sum_{j,k=1}^m s_j t_k \rho_{D_j} \rho_{D_k}$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_j k_j \rho_{D_j}$$
 because D_j 's are disjoint.

By case 1, we have $\mu D_j \mu D_k = \delta_{jk} \mu D_j$. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} (\mu J)(\mu K) &= (\int \rho_J d\mu) (\int \rho_K d\mu) = (\sum_{j=1}^m s_j \mu D_j) (\sum_{k=1}^m t_k \mu D_k) \\ &= \sum_{j,k=1}^m s_j t_k \mu D_j \mu D_k = \sum_{j=1}^m s_j t_j \mu D_j = \int \sum_{j=1}^m s_j t_j \rho_{D_j} d\mu \\ &= \int \rho_{J \cap K} d\mu = \mu (J \cap K). \end{aligned}$$

26-2.3. **Corollary** If $J \subset K$, then $\mu J \leq \mu K$.

Proof. From $\mu J \mu K = \mu (J \cap K) = \mu J$, the result follows by §13-10.7.

26-2.4. **Example** In ℓ_2 , for each integer $n \ge 1$ let $e_n = (\delta_{1n}, \delta_{2n}, \delta_{3n}, \cdots)$ and $P_n x = \langle x, e_n \rangle e_n$. Consider the semiring \mathcal{G} consisting of all subsets of \mathbb{R} . For each $J \in \mathcal{G}$, let $\mu J x = \sum \{P_n x : n \in J\}$. By §14-5.7, $\mu : \mathcal{G} \to \mathbb{P}(\ell_2)$ is a charge. For $J_k = (k, \infty)$, we have $J_k \downarrow \emptyset$. Since $\|\mu J_k\| = 1$, it is impossible to have $\mu J_k \to 0$ in norm.

26-2.5. **Exercise** Prove that the map $\mu J : L_2(\mathbb{R}) \to L_2(\mathbb{R})$ given by $(\mu J)x = x\rho_J$ for every semi-interval J defines a projector-valued charge μ on the semiring of semi-intervals. Show that μ is *not* of finite variation.

26-2.6. As a result, it is impossible to expect any theory of projector-valued measure with convergence in norm. This is why vectors have to play a crucial role. Write $\mu_{xy}J = \langle \mu Jx, y \rangle$ and $\mu_x = \mu_{xx}$ for all $x, y \in H$ and $J \in \mathcal{K}$. We understand $\mu Jx = [\mu(J)]x$ because Jx makes no sense at all. The following formula is a simple result of §13-1.4c.

26-2.7. <u>Polarization Formula</u> $4\mu_{xy} = \sum_{n=0}^{3} i^n \mu_{x+1} i^n y$ where $i^2 = -1$.

26-2.8. **Lemma** (a) μ_{xy} is sesquilinear in (x, y). We also have $\mu_{yx} = \mu_{\overline{xy}}^{-}$. (b) μ_x is a positive charge on \mathcal{K} and $\mu_x X \leq ||x||^2$.

(c) μ_{xy} is a charge of finite variation.

(d) $|\mu_{xy}|(J) \leq ||x|| ||y||$ for all $J \in S$. Hence μ_{xy} is a bounded charge.

(e) $|\mu_{xy}| \leq \frac{1}{2}(\mu_x + \mu_y).$

<u>Proof.</u> (a) To prove $\mu_{yx} = \mu_{xy}^-$, for every $J \in \mathcal{K}$ we have $\mu_{yx}J = \langle \mu Jy, x \rangle = \langle y, \mu Jx \rangle = \langle \mu Jx, y \rangle^- = \mu_{xy}^-J.$ (d) Let $J = \sum_{i=1}^{m} K_i$ be a disjoint union where $J, K_i \in \mathcal{K}$. Because μK_i are projectors, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{m} |\mu_{xy}K_i| &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} | < \mu K_i x, y > | = \sum_{i=1}^{m} | < \mu K_i x, \mu K_i y > | \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\mu K_i x\| \|\mu K_i y\| \leq \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\mu K_i x\|^2} \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|\mu K_i y\|^2} \\ &= \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{m} < \mu K_i x, x > \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{m} < \mu K_i y, y > }} \\ &= \sqrt{<\mu J x, x > \sqrt{<\mu J y, y > }} = \|\mu J x\| \|\mu J y\|. \end{split}$$

Hence μ_{xy} is of finite variation with $|\mu_{xy}|J \leq ||\mu Jx|| ||\mu Jy|| \leq ||x|| ||y||$. In particular for J = X and y = x, we have (b).

(e)
$$\begin{aligned} |\mu_{xy}|J &\leq \|\mu Jx\| \ \|\mu Jy\| \leq \frac{1}{2}(\|\mu Jx\|^2 + \|\mu Jx\|^2) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}(\langle \mu Jx, x \rangle + \langle \mu Jy, y \rangle) = \frac{1}{2}(\mu_x + \mu_y)J. \end{aligned}$$

26-2.9. A charge $\mu : \mathcal{K} \to \mathbb{P}(H)$ is a *spectral* measure if μ_{xy} are complex measures on \mathcal{K} for all $x, y \in H$. By polarization formula, if μ_x is a positive measure for each $x \in H$, then μ is a spectral measure. In last section, we constructed a spectral measure on the semiring of semi-intervals associated with each self-adjoint operator. Now we continue in general setting. Let μ be a spectral measure on a semiring \mathcal{S} over a set X.

26-2.10. <u>Theorem</u> Every spectral measure μ on S has a unique extension to a spectral measure ν on the δ -ring \mathbb{D} generated by S.

<u>Proof</u>. Every μ_{xy} has a unique extension ν_{xy} over \mathbb{D} . For every $D \in D$, define $\varphi_D : H \times H \to \mathbb{C}$ by $\varphi_D(x, y) = \nu_{xy}D$. Then for every $J \in \mathbb{S}$ we obtain $\nu_{x+y,z}J = \mu_{x+y,z}J = \mu_{xz}J + \mu_{yz}J = \nu_{xz}J + \nu_{yz}J$. By uniqueness of extension, we get $\nu_{x+y,z}D = \nu_{xz}D + \nu_{yz}D$ for all $D \in \mathbb{D}$, that is $\varphi_D(x+y,z) = \varphi_D(x,z) + \varphi_D(y,z)$. Similarly we can verify all other conditions to show that φ_D is a sesquilinear form on H. Next, because \mathbb{D} is the δ -ring generated by \mathbb{S} , D is contained in a finite union of sets in \mathbb{S} . Since \mathbb{S} is directed upward, there is $J \in \mathbb{S}$ with $D \subset J$. For the positive measure ν_x , we have

 $\varphi_D(x,x) = \nu_x D = \int \rho_D d\nu_x \leq \int \rho_J d\nu_x = \int \rho_J d\mu_x = <\mu J x, x > \leq ||x||^2.$

Hence the sesquilinear form φ_D is continuous. There is an operator νD such that $\langle \nu Dx, y \rangle = \varphi_D(x, y) = \nu_{xy} D$. It is an exercise to show that ν is additive on \mathbb{D} . Next, for every $J \in \mathbb{S}$, $\mu_x J \geq 0$ because μJ is a projector. The unique extension ν_x of $\mu_x \geq 0$ is a positive measure, i.e. $\langle \nu Dx, x \rangle = \mu_x D \geq 0$. Hence $\nu D \geq 0$. Finally, we have to prove that νD is an idempotent for every $D \in \mathbb{D}$. Let $K \in \mathbb{S}$ and $z = \mu K x$. Clearly $\xi : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ given by $\xi D = \langle \nu (D \cap K) x, y \rangle$ is a measure. For any $J \in \mathbb{S}$, we have by Product Formula,

$$\xi J = <\nu(J \cap K)x, y > = <\mu(J \cap K)x, y > = <\mu J \mu Kx, y > = \mu_{zx}J = \nu_{zx}J.$$

Thus $\xi = \nu_{zx}$ on \mathbb{D} , i.e. $\langle \nu(D \cap K)x, y \rangle = \langle \nu D\mu Kx, y \rangle = \langle \nu Kx, (\nu D)^*y \rangle$. Again, both $\langle \nu(D \cap M)x, y \rangle$ and $\langle \nu Mx, (\nu D)^*y \rangle$ are measures in $M \in \mathbb{D}$ and they are equal on S and hence on \mathbb{D} . Thus,

$$<\nu(D\cap M)x, y>=<\nu Mx, (\nu D)^*y>=<\nu D\nu Mx, y>.$$

Since $x, y \in H$ are arbitrary; we have the product formula: $\nu D\nu M = \nu (D \cap M)$. In particular, $(\nu D)^2 = \nu D$. Therefore νD is a projector. The uniqueness of ν follows from the uniqueness of ν_{xy} .

26-2.11. <u>Theorem</u> Every spectral measure ν on \mathbb{ID} has a unique extension to a spectral measure π on the family \mathbb{IM} of all measurable sets.

<u>Proof.</u> Since each ν_x is a positive measure on \mathbb{D} , it can be extended to a positive measure π_x on \mathbb{M} by $\pi_x M = \sup\{\nu_x D : M \supset D \in \mathbb{D}\}$ as in §20-2.2a. Since $\nu_x D \leq ||x||^2$, we have $\pi_x M \leq ||x||^2 < \infty$. Thus $\pi_{xy} = \frac{1}{4}i^n \sum_{n=0}^3 \pi_{x+i^n y}$ is a complex measure on \mathbb{M} where $i^2 = -1$. Next, let $x, y, z \in H$; $M \in \mathbb{M}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There are $J_n, K_n, Q_n \in \mathbb{D}$ such that for n = 0, 1, 2, 3 we get

$$\pi_{x+i^{n}y}M \leq \nu_{x+i^{n}y}J_{n} + \varepsilon, \quad J_{n} \subset M ;$$

$$\pi_{x+i^{n}z}M \leq \nu_{x+i^{n}z}K_{n} + \varepsilon, \quad K_{n} \subset M ;$$

and

Then $D = \bigcup_{n=0}^{3} (J_n \cup K_n \cup Q_n)$ is a decent subset of M satisfying

$$\begin{split} & 0 \leq \pi_{x+i^{n}y}M \leq \nu_{x+i^{n}y}D + \varepsilon ; \\ & 0 \leq \pi_{x+i^{n}z}M \leq \nu_{x+i^{n}z}D + \varepsilon ; \end{split}$$

and

$$0 \le \pi_{x+i^n(y+z)}M \le \nu_{x+i^n(y+z)}D + \varepsilon .$$

Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} &|\pi_{x,y+z}M - \pi_{xy}M - \pi_{xz}M| \\ &= \left| \sum_{n=0}^{3} i^{n} \left\{ \pi_{x+i^{n}(y+z)}M - \pi_{x+i^{n}y}M - \pi_{x+i^{n}z}M \right\} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \sum_{n=0}^{3} i^{n} \left\{ \nu_{x+i^{n}(y+z)}D - \nu_{x+i^{n}y}D - \nu_{x+i^{n}z}D \right\} \right| \\ &+ \sum_{n=0}^{3} \left| \pi_{x+i^{n}(y+z)}M - \nu_{x+i^{n}(y+z)}D \right| \\ &+ \sum_{n=0}^{3} \left| \nu_{x+i^{n}y}D - \pi_{x+i^{n}y}M \right| \end{aligned}$$

$$+\sum_{n=0}^{3} \left| \nu_{x+i^{n}z} D - \pi_{x+i^{n}z} M \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \nu_{x,y+z} D - \nu_{xy} D - \nu_{xz} D \right| + 12\varepsilon = 12\varepsilon.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\pi_{x,y+z}M = \pi_{xy}M + \pi_{xz}M$. Similarly, we can verify that $\pi_{xy}M$ is a sesquilinear form in (x, y). Since its associated quadratic form is bounded, there is an operator πM on H such that $\langle \pi Mx, y \rangle = \pi_{xy}M$ for all $x, y \in H$. Because $\langle \pi Mx, x \rangle = \pi_x M \ge 0$; πM is a positive operator. Next, we claim $\nu J\pi Nx = \pi(J \cap N)$ for all $J \in \mathbb{D}$, $N \in \mathbb{M}$. Indeed, let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $x \in H$ be given. Write $y = \nu Jx$. Choose $K \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $K \subset N$ and $\pi_{x+i}n_yN \le \nu_{x+i}n_yK + \varepsilon$ for n = 0, 1, 2, 3. By §20-2.3, we may also assume $\pi_x(J \cap N) \le \pi_x(J \cap K) + \varepsilon$. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} |\pi_{xy}N - \pi_x(J \cap N)| &= \left| \sum_{n=0}^{3} i^n \pi_{x+i^n y} N - \pi_x(J \cap N) \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{n=0}^{3} i^n \pi_{x+i^n y} K - \pi_x(J \cap K) \right| \\ &+ \sum_{n=0}^{3} \left| \pi_{x+i^n y} N - \pi_{x+i^n y} K \right| \\ &+ \left| \pi_x(J \cap K) - \pi_x(J \cap N) \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{n=0}^{3} i^n \nu_{x+i^n y} K - \nu_x(J \cap K) \right| + 5\varepsilon \\ &= \left| \nu_{xy} K - \nu_x(J \cap K) \right| + 5\varepsilon = \left| < \nu Kx, y > - < \nu(J \cap K)x, x > \right| + 5\varepsilon \\ &= \left| < \nu J\nu Kx, x > - < \nu(J \cap K)x, x > \right| + 5\varepsilon \\ &= \left| < \nu J\nu Kx, x > - < \nu(J \cap K)x, x > \right| + 5\varepsilon = 5\varepsilon \end{aligned}$$

because νJ is self-adjoint and the product formula holds for ν . Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\pi_{xy}N = \pi_x(J \cap N)$, that is $\langle \nu J\pi Nx, x \rangle = \langle \pi(J \cap N)x, x \rangle$ for all $x \in H$. Therefore $\nu J\pi Nx = \pi(J \cap N)$ as claim. Repeating the same process, we can prove that $\pi M\pi N = \pi(M \cap N)$ for all measurable sets M, N. In particular, πM is an idempotent. Consequently, πM is a projector. The uniqueness follows because the measures are finite. \Box

26-2.12. <u>**Theorem**</u> If an operator B commutes with μJ for every $J \in S$, then B commutes with πM for every measurable set M.

<u>Proof.</u> For all $x, y \in H$ and $J \in S$, we have $\mu_{x,B^*y}(J) = \langle \mu J | x, B^*y \rangle = \langle B\mu J | x, y \rangle = \langle (\mu J)Bx, y \rangle = \mu_{Bx,y}(J)$. Thus $\mu_{x,B^*y} = \mu_{Bx,y}$ as scalar measures on S. By uniqueness of extension from S over \mathbb{D} , we obtain $\nu_{x,B^*y} = \nu_{Bx,y}$. Now fix $x, y \in H$ and $M \in \mathbb{M}$. As in last proof, choose a decent subset D of M such that for n = 0, 1, 2, 3 we have

$$0 \le \pi_{x+i^n} B^* y^M \le \nu_{x+i^n} B^* y^D + \varepsilon$$

$$\pi_{D} = m_{x+i^n} M \le \nu_{D} = m_{x+i^n} M \le v_{D}$$

and

Observe that

$$0 \le \pi_{Bx} + i^n (y+z)^M \le \nu_{Bx} + i^n (y+z)^D + \varepsilon$$

$$|\pi_{x,B^*y}M - \pi_{Bx,y}M|$$

$$= \left| \sum_{n=0}^{3} i^{n} \left\{ \pi_{x} + i^{n} B^{*} y^{M} - \pi_{Bx} + i^{n} (y+z)^{M} \right\} \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \sum_{n=0}^{3} i^{n} \left\{ \nu_{x} + i^{n} B^{*} y^{D} - \nu_{Bx} + i^{n} (y+z)^{D} \right\} \right|$$

$$+ \sum_{n=0}^{3} \left| \pi_{x} + i^{n} B^{*} y^{M} - \nu_{x} + i^{n} B^{*} y^{D} \right|$$

$$+ \sum_{n=0}^{3} \left| \nu_{Bx} + i^{n} (y+z)^{D} - \pi_{Bx} + i^{n} (y+z)^{M} \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \nu_{x,B^{*} y} D - \nu_{Bx, y} D \right| + 8\varepsilon = 8\varepsilon.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we get

 $< B\pi Mx, y > = < \pi Mx, B^*y > = \pi_{x,B^*y}M = \pi_{Bx,y}M = < (\pi M)Bx, y >.$ Since x, y are arbitrary, we have $B\pi M = (\pi M)B$.

26-2.13. After this section, we identify ν, π as μ for convenience. The treatment below requires merely *bounded* complex measures on σ -algebras although we continue to use the term δ -spaces in order to be consistent within this book. It is a challenge to create new results by taking the full advantage of our machinery of vector measures on δ -rings.

26-3 Spectral Integration

26-3.1. Let μ be a spectral measure on a δ -space X into a Hilbert space H. Note that our definition of measurable sets and functions is independent of any measure. Because μ has been extended to all measurable sets, the integral of a simple function has been defined by §17-2.10 is an operator on H. A measurable function on X is μ -integrable if it is μ_{xy} -integrable for all $x, y \in H$. Let $L_1(\mu), L_1(\mu_{xy})$ denote the sets of all μ -integrable functions and μ_{xy} -integrable functions respectively. Clearly $L_1(\mu) = \cap \{L_1(\mu_{xy}) : x, y \in H\}$ is a conjugated complex algebra under pointwise operations.

26-3.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let f be a μ -integrable function. If f_n are simple functions with $f_n \to f$ and $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$, then $\int f_n d\mu \to \int f d\mu$ weakly to a unique operator $\int f d\mu$ on H such that $\langle \int f d\mu \ x, y \rangle = \int f d\mu_{xy}$ for all $x, y \in H$. We shall

prove later that $\int f_n d\mu \to \int f d\mu$ strongly in Spectral Dominated Convergence Theorem.

<u>Proof.</u> For all $x, y \in H$, |f| is $|\mu_{xy}|$ -integrable. By Dominated Convergence theorem, $\langle \int f_n d\mu x, y \rangle = \int f_n d\mu_{xy} \rightarrow \int f d\mu_{xy}$. By §13-10.13, the weakly Cauchy sequence $\{\int f_n d\mu \}$ of operators converges weakly to some operator $\int f d\mu$, that is $\langle \int f_n d\mu x, y \rangle \rightarrow \langle \int f d\mu x, y \rangle$. Uniqueness of limits gives $\langle \int f d\mu x, y \rangle = \int f d\mu_{xy}$ for all $x, y \in H$. Finally if A is any operator satisfying $\langle Ax, y \rangle = \int f d\mu_{xy}$ for all $x, y \in H$. Then $\langle \int f d\mu x, y \rangle = \langle Ax, y \rangle$ for all $x, y \in H$. Consequently $\int f d\mu = A$. This proves the uniqueness too.

26-3.3. <u>Theorem</u> If f is μ -integrable, then so is its conjugate f^- . Furthermore we have $\int f^- d\mu = (\int f d\mu)^*$.

Proof. It is an exercise to show that f^- is μ -integrable. For all $x, y \in H$,

$$< \int f^{-}d\mu \ x, y >= \int f^{-}d\mu_{xy} = (\int f d\mu_{xy})^{-} = (\int f d\mu_{yx})^{-}$$

= $< \int f d\mu \ y, x >^{-} = < x, \int f d\mu \ y >= < (\int f d\mu)^{*} \ x, y >.$

26-3.4. **Corollary** If f is real μ -integrable, then $\int f d\mu$ is self-adjoint.

26-3.5. **Product Theorem** If f, g are μ -integrable, then so is the product fg. Furthermore we have $\int fgd\mu = (\int fd\mu)(\int gd\mu)$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let f_n, g_n be simple functions such that $f_m \to f, g_n \to g, |f_m| \uparrow |f|$ and $|g_n| \uparrow |g|$. By Step Mapping Theorem, write $f_m = \sum_{j=1}^p \alpha_i \rho_{M_i}$ and $g_n = \sum_{j=1}^p \beta_j \rho_{M_j}$ where $\alpha_j, \beta_k \in \mathbb{C}$ and M_j are disjoint measurable sets. Observe that

$$\begin{split} & \left(\int f_m d\mu\right) \left(\int g_n d\mu\right) = \sum_{j,k} \alpha_j \beta_k \left(\int \rho_{M_j} d\mu\right) \left(\int \rho_{N_k} d\mu\right) \\ &= \sum_{j,k} \alpha_j \beta_k \mu M_j \mu N_k = \sum_{j,k} \alpha_j \beta_k \mu (M_j \cap N_k) \\ &= \sum_j \alpha_j \beta_j \mu M_j \qquad \qquad \text{because } M_j \text{ are disjoint} \\ &= \int \sum_j \alpha_j \beta_j \rho_{M_j} d\mu = \int f_m g_n d\mu. \end{split}$$

For all $x, y \in H$; letting $m \to \infty$ with fixed n, we have

$$\begin{split} &\left\langle \left(\int f d\mu\right) \left(\int g_n d\mu\right) x, y \right\rangle = \lim_{m \to \infty} \left\langle \left(\int f_m d\mu\right) \left(\int g_n d\mu\right) x, y \right\rangle \\ &= \lim_{m \to \infty} < \int f_m g_n d\mu x, y > = \lim_{m \to \infty} \int f_m g_n d\mu_{xy} = \int f g_n d\mu_{xy} \end{split}$$

because $|f_m g_n| \leq |fg|$ and fg is μ_{xy} -integrable. From

$$\begin{aligned} &< (\int f d\mu) (\int g d\mu) x, y > = < \int g d\mu \ x, z > & \text{where } z = (\int f d\mu)^* y \\ &= \int g d\mu_{xz} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int g_n d\mu_{xz} = \lim_{n \to \infty} < \int g_n d\mu \ x, z > \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \lim_{n \to \infty} < \int g_n d\mu \ x, (\int f d\mu)^* y > = \lim_{n \to \infty} < (\int f d\mu) \int g_n d\mu \ x, y > \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} < \int f g_n d\mu \ x, y > = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int f g_n d\mu_{xy} = \int f g d\mu_{xy} \\ &= < \int f g d\mu \ x, y > \text{for all } x, y \in H; \end{split}$$

we have $(\int f d\mu)(\int g d\mu) = \int f g d\mu$ as required.

26-3.6. Corollary If
$$f, g$$
 are μ -integrable; then $\int f d\mu$, $\int g d\mu$ commute.

26-3.7. **Corollary** For every μ -integrable function, $\int f d\mu$ is normal.

26-3.8. Corollary
$$\|(\int f d\mu)x\|^2 = \int |f|^2 d\mu_x$$
 for every $f \in L_1(\mu)$ and $x \in H$.

$$\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof.} \quad \|(\int fd\mu)x\|^2 = <(\int fd\mu)x, (\int fd\mu)x > = <(\int fd\mu)^-(\int fd\mu)x, x > \\ = <(\int fd\mu)^-(\int fd\mu)x, x > = <\int f^-fd\mu \ x, x > = \int |f|^2d\mu_x. \qquad \Box \end{array}$$

26-3.9. An operator is said to *commute* with μ on a family \mathcal{K} of measurable sets if it commutes with μJ for every $J \in \mathcal{K}$. Two spectral measures *commute* on \mathcal{K} if μJ commutes with νK for all $J, K \in \mathcal{K}$. When \mathcal{K} is not mentioned explicitly, we understand that \mathcal{K} is the family of all measurable sets. In §26-2.12, it suffices to test for a smaller class \mathcal{S} of measurable sets.

26-3.10. <u>**Theorem</u>** If an operator B commutes with μ , then B commutes with $\int f d\mu$ for all μ -integrable function f.</u>

<u>Proof</u>. Choose simple functions $f_n \to f$ with $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$. Write $f_n = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j \rho_{M_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{C}$ and M_j are measurable sets. Then we have

$$B \int f_n d\mu = B \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j \mu M_j = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j B \mu M_j$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j [(\mu M_j)B] = (\sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j \mu M_j)B = (\int f_n d\mu)B$$

Hence for all $x, y \in H$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int f_n d\mu_{x,B^*y} &= < \int f_n d\mu \ x, B^*y > = < B \int f_n d\mu \ x, y > \\ &= < (\int f_n d\mu) Bx, y > = \int f_n d\mu_{Bx,y} \ . \end{split}$$

The scalar dominated convergence theorem shows $\int f d\mu_{x,B^*y} = \int f d\mu_{Bx,y}$. Thus we get

26-3.11. **Corollary** If two spectral measures μ, ν commutes on a semiring S over a set X, then for every μ -integrable function f and every ν -integrable function g we have $\int f d\mu \cdot \int g d\nu = \int g d\nu \cdot \int f d\mu$.

 \Box

26-4 Null Sets of Spectral Measures

26-4.1. Let μ be a spectral measure on a δ -space X into a Hilbert space H. A measurable set is μ -null if it is μ_{xy} -null for all $x, y \in H$. As a result of $|\mu_{xy}| \leq \frac{1}{2}(\mu_x + \mu_y)$, it suffices to be μ_x -null for all $x \in H$. Furthermore if $\mu J = 0$, then $\mu_{xy}J = \langle \mu Jx, y \rangle = 0$ and hence J is μ -null. Since countable unions of μ -null sets are μ -null, the Banach space $L_{\infty}(\mu)$ is well-defined by §§21-5.1,2,3,4. In particular, the μ -essential sup-norm of a measurable function f is given by $||f||_{\infty} = \inf_{\substack{N \\ x \in X \setminus N}} \sup_{x \in X \setminus N} |f(x)|$ where N runs over all μ -null sets. The following results distinguish projector-valued spectral measures μ from the others. This might be the reason why some writers such as [Berberian-66] and [Meise] starts with bounded measurable functions.

26-4.2. <u>Theorem</u> $L_{\infty}(\mu) = L_1(\mu)$ and $\|\int f d\mu\| = \|f\|_{\infty}$ for every $f \in L_1(\mu)$. <u>Proof</u>. Since every μ_{xy} is a bounded measure, every $f \in L_{\infty}$ is μ_{xy} -integrable. Hence $L_{\infty}(\mu) \subset L_1(\mu)$. Next observe that for all $x \in H$,

 $\|\int f d\mu \ x\|^2 = \int |f|^2 d\mu_x \le \int \|f\|_{\infty}^2 d\mu_x = \|f\|_{\infty}^2 \mu_x(X) \le \|f\|_{\infty}^2 \|x\|^2,$ that is $\|\int f d\mu\| \le \|f\|_{\infty}$. Conversely, take any $f \in L_1(\mu)$. Let $u_j = \|\int f d\mu\| + \frac{1}{j},$ $M_j = \{t \in X : |f(t)| \ge u_j\}$ and $M = \{t \in X : |f(t)| > \|\int f d\mu\|$ }. Then for all $x \in H$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\mu M_j x\|^2 &= \int_{M_j} 1 d\mu_x \leq \int_{M_j} u_j^{-2} |f|^2 d\mu_x \leq u_j^{-2} \int |f|^2 d\mu_x \\ &\leq u_j^{-2} \|\int f d\mu \ x\|^2 \leq u_j^{-2} \|\int f d\mu \|^2 \|x\|^2, \end{split}$$

that is $\|\mu M_j\| \leq u_j^{-1} \|\int f d\mu\| < 1$. As μM_j is a projector, we have $\mu M_j = 0$. Thus M_j is μ -null. Consequently $M = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} M_j$ is μ -null. In other words, $f \in L_{\infty}(\mu)$ and $\|f\|_{\infty} \leq \|\int f d\mu\|$.

26-4.3. <u>Corollary</u> For all $f, g \in L_1(\mu)$, $\int f d\mu = \int g d\mu$ iff f = g, μ -ae.

<u>*Proof*</u>. It follows from $||f - g||_{\infty} = ||\int (f - g) d\mu|| = ||\int f d\mu - \int g d\mu|| = 0.$

26-4.4. <u>**Theorem</u>** $\sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \int f d\mu_x = \inf_N \sup_{t \in X \notin N} f(t) \text{ for every } f \in L_1(\mu) \text{ where } N$ </u>

runs over all μ -null sets. In particular we have $||f||_{\infty} = \sup_{||x|| \le 1} \int |f| d\mu_x$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\theta = \inf_N \sup_{t \in X \setminus N} f(t)$. Similar to §21-5.3a, it is easy to show that $f \leq \theta$, μ -ae. Take any $||x|| \leq 1$ in H. Since μ_x is a positive measure, we have $\int f d\mu_x \leq \int \theta d\mu_x = \theta \mu_x X \leq \theta ||x||^2 \leq \theta$, that is $\sup_{||x|| \leq 1} \int f d\mu_x \leq \theta$. On the other hand, because $f \in L_{\infty}$, we have $g = ||f||_{\infty} + f \geq 0$, μ -ae. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $g \ge 0$ everywhere and hence $h = \sqrt{g} \in L_{\infty}(\mu) = L_1(\mu)$. Observe that

$$\sup_{\|x\|\leq 1} \int g d\mu_x = \sup_{\|x\|\leq 1} \int h^2 d\mu_x = \sup_{\|x\|\leq 1} \left\| \int h d\mu x \right\|^2 = \left\| \int h d\mu \right\|^2 = \|h\|_{\infty}^2$$
$$= \inf_{N} \sup_{t\in X\setminus N} h(t)^2 = \inf_{N} \sup_{t\in X\setminus N} g(t) = \|f\|_{\infty} + \inf_{N} \sup_{t\in X\setminus N} f(t) = \|f\|_{\infty} + \theta$$

where N runs over all μ -null sets. Also

$$\sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \int g d\mu_x = \sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \int (\|f\|_{\infty} + f) d\mu_x = \sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \left(\int \|f\|_{\infty} d\mu_x + \int f d\mu_x \right)$$

$$\leq \sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \left(\|f\|_{\infty} \|x\|^2 + \int f d\mu_x \right) \le \|f\|_{\infty} + \sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \int f d\mu_x.$$

Hence $\theta \leq \sup_{\|x\| \leq 1} \int f d\mu_x$. This completes the proof.

26-4.5. **Theorem** Let f, g be real μ -integrable functions. Then $f \leq g, \mu$ -ae iff $\int f d\mu \leq \int g d\mu$. In particular, if $f \geq 0$, μ -ae; then $\int f d\mu$ is a positive operator. <u>Proof.</u> (\Leftarrow) By linearity, we may assume g = 0. For N runs over all μ -null sets, we have $\inf_{\substack{N \\ t \in X \setminus N}} f(t) = \sup_{\substack{\|x\| \leq 1 \\ \|x\| \leq 1}} \int f d\mu_x = \sup_{\substack{\|x\| \leq 1 \\ \|x\| \leq 1}} \langle \int f d\mu \ x, x \rangle \leq 0$ from which we get $f \leq 0$, μ -ae.

(⇒) By linearity, it suffices to prove that if $f \ge 0$, μ -ae, then $\int f d\mu \ge 0$. Choose simple functions $0 \le f_n \uparrow f$. Then $\lim \int f_n d\mu \to \int f d\mu$ weakly. Write $f_n = \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \rho_{M_j}$ where $\alpha_j \ge 0$ and M_j are measurable sets. Then for every $x \in H$ we have

$$<\int f d\mu \ x, x >= \lim <\int f_n d\mu \ x, x >= \lim \sum_j \alpha_j <\int \rho_{M_j} d\mu \ x, x >$$
$$= \lim \sum_j \alpha_j <\mu M_j x, x >= \lim \sum_j \alpha_j ||\mu M_j x||^2 \ge 0.$$
Therefore $\int f d\mu \ge 0.$

26-4.6. <u>Spectral Dominated Convergence Theorem</u> Let f_n , f be measurable functions on X. Suppose $f_n \to f$, μ -ae. If there is a μ -integrable function g with $|f_n| \leq g$, μ -ae for all n; then all f_n , f are μ -integrable and $\int f_n d\mu \to \int f d\mu$ strongly as $n \to \infty$. In particular, the convergence in §26-3.2 is strong.

<u>Proof</u>. For all $x, y \in H$; we have $f_n \to f$ and $|f_n| \leq g$, μ_{xy} -ae. By scalar dominated convergence theorem, all f_n, f are μ_{xy} -integrable and hence μ -integrable by definition. Next, from $|f_n - f|^2 \leq 4g^2$, μ_x -ae; we obtain

$$\left\|\left(\int f_n d\mu - \int f d\mu\right) x\right\|^2 = \int |f_n - f|^2 d\mu_x \to 0,$$

that is $\int f_n d\mu \to \int f d\mu$ strongly.

499

26-4.7. <u>Corollary</u> If $J_n \uparrow K$ or $J_n \downarrow K$ as measurable sets, then $\mu J_n \to \mu K$ strongly.

26-4.8. Spectral Integration Term by Term Let $\{f_n\}$ be a sequence of measurable maps. If the upper function $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |f_n|$ is finite-valued μ -ae and is μ -integrable, then all f_n and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n$ are μ -integrable and

$$\int \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n d\mu = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int f_n d\mu , \qquad \text{strongly.}$$

Proof. From
$$|\sum_{n=1}^{m} \int f_n| \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |f_n|, \mu\text{-ae}; \text{ we have}$$

$$\int \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n d\mu = \int \lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{n=1}^{m} f_n d\mu = \lim_{m \to \infty} \int \sum_{n=1}^{m} f_n d\mu, \text{ strongly}$$
$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{n=1}^{m} \int f_n d\mu = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int f_n d\mu.$$

26-4.9. <u>Corollary</u> μ is strongly countably additive on measurable sets.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let $J = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} K_n$ be a disjoint union of measurable sets. Then we have $\rho_J = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \rho_{K_n}$. Since μ is defined on all measurable sets, ρ_J is μ -integrable. The result follows immediately from last theorem.

26-4.10. A spectral measure μ is *normalized* if $\mu X = I$. From §26-1.11d, the spectral measure of a self-adjoint operator is normalized.

26-4.11. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ be normalized. Then $\int f d\mu$ is invertible iff $|f| \ge \theta > 0$, μ -ae for some θ . In this case, we have $(\int f d\mu)^{-1} = \int (1/f) d\mu$.

<u>Proof</u>. (\Leftarrow) Let N be a μ -null set such that $|f(t)| \ge \theta$ for all $t \in X \setminus N$. Then $g = f\rho_{X\setminus N} + \rho_N = f$, μ -ae. Hence 1/g interpreted as 1/f is defined everywhere and is measurable. Now $\int f d\mu \int (1/g) d\mu = \int g d\mu \int (1/g) d\mu = \int 1 d\mu = \mu X = I$ and similarly $\int (1/g) d\mu \int f d\mu = I$ show that $\int f d\mu$ is invertible with the required identity.

 $(\Rightarrow) \text{ Assume that } A = \int f d\mu \text{ is invertible. For } Q = f^{-1}(0), f_n = f + \frac{1}{n}[\operatorname{sgn}(f) + \rho_Q] \\ \text{ is measurable by } \S19\text{-}6.2. \text{ If } t \in Q, \text{ then } f_n(t) = \frac{1}{n} \text{ and if } t \notin Q, \text{ then } |f_n(t)| = \\ (|f| + \frac{1}{n})|\operatorname{sgn}(f)| \geq \frac{1}{n}. \text{ Hence } A_n = \int f_n d\mu \text{ is invertible and } A_n^{-1} = \int (1/f_n) d\mu. \\ \text{ From } ||A_n - A|| = ||\int (f_n - f) d\mu|| = ||f_n - f||_{\infty} \leq \frac{1}{n} \to 0, \text{ we have by } \S8\text{-}6.4 \\ ||A_n^{-1} - A^{-1}|| \to 0. \text{ Thus } ||(1/f_n) - (1/f_n)||_{\infty} = ||A_m^{-1} - A_n^{-1}|| \to 0 \text{ as } m, n \to \infty. \\ \text{ Therefore } 1/f_n \to g \text{ in } L_{\infty}(\mu). \text{ From } f_n \to f, \text{ we obtain } g = 1/f, \mu\text{-ae. Let } \\ \alpha = ||g||_{\infty} + 1. \text{ There is a } \mu\text{-null set } N \text{ such that } |g| \leq \alpha \text{ on } X \setminus N, \text{ that is } \\ |f| \geq (1/\alpha) > 0 \text{ on } X \setminus N.$

26-4.12. **Theorem** Let μ be normalized. Then $A = \int f d\mu$ is unitary iff $|f| = 1, \mu$ -ae.

<u>Proof.</u> Observe $\int |f|^2 d\mu = \int f^- f d\mu = (\int f d\mu)^* \int f d\mu = A^*A$ and $I = \int 1 d\mu$. Hence A is unitary iff $A^*A = A^*A = I$ iff $\int f^- f d\mu = \int 1 d\mu$ iff $|f|^2 = 1$, μ -ae, i.e. |f| = 1, μ -ae.

26-5 Product Spectral Measures

26-5.1. Let S, T be semirings of semi-intervals over $X = \mathbb{R}^u, Y = \mathbb{R}^v$ and μ, ν be projector-valued charges on S, T into a Hilbert space H respectively. We assume that for all $J \in S$ and $K \in T$ we have $\mu J\nu K = \nu K\mu J$ which is denoted by $(\mu \times \nu)(J \times K)$. We use general notation because most of this section has been generalized to locally compact spaces.

26-5.2. **Lemma** $\mu \times \nu$ is a projector-valued charge on the semiring $S \times T$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $J_0 \times K_0 = \bigcup_{i=1}^m J_i \times K_i$ be a disjoint union where $J_i \in S$ and $K_i \in \mathcal{T}$ are all nonempty. By Semiring Formula, there are disjoint nonempty sets $M_j \in S$, disjoint nonempty sets $N_k \in \mathcal{T}$ and α_{ij}, β_{ik} are 0 or 1 such that $\rho_{J_i} = \sum_{j=1}^p \alpha_{ij} \rho_{M_j}$ and $\rho_{K_i} = \sum_{k=1}^q \beta_{ik} \rho_{N_k}$. Observe that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=1}^{p} \sum_{k=1}^{q} \alpha_{0j} \beta_{0k} \rho_{M_{j}} \rho_{N_{k}} &= (\sum_{j=1}^{p} \alpha_{0j} \rho_{M_{j}}) (\sum_{k=1}^{q} \beta_{0k} \rho_{N_{k}}) \\ &= \rho_{J_{0}} \rho_{K_{0}} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \rho_{J_{i}} \rho_{K_{i}} = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \sum_{k=1}^{q} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{ij} \beta_{ik} \rho_{M_{j}} \rho_{N_{k}}. \end{split}$$

Evaluating at any point in $M_j \times N_k$, we obtain $\alpha_{0j}\beta_{0k} = \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_{ij}\beta_{ik}$. From

$$(\mu \times \nu)(J_0 \times K_0) = \mu J_0 \nu K_0 = \int \rho_{J_0} d\mu \int \rho_{K_0} d\nu$$

$$= (\int \sum_{j=1}^p \alpha_{0j} \rho_{M_j} d\mu) (\int \sum_{k=1}^q \beta_{0k} \rho_{N_k} d\nu)$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^p \sum_{k=1}^q \alpha_{0j} \beta_{0k} \int \rho_{M_j} d\mu \int \rho_{N_k} d\nu$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^p \sum_{k=1}^q \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_{ij} \beta_{ik} \int \rho_{M_j} d\mu \int \rho_{N_k} d\nu$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^m \int \sum_{j=1}^p \alpha_{ij} \rho_{M_j} d\mu \int \sum_{k=1}^q \beta_{ik} \rho_{N_k} d\nu$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^m \int \rho_{J_i} d\mu \int \rho_{K_i} d\nu = \sum_{i=1}^m \mu J_i \nu K_i = \sum_{i=1}^m (\mu \times \nu)(J_i \times K_i)$$

 $\mu \times \nu$ is additive on $\Im \times \Im$. Because $\mu J\nu K = \nu K\mu J$, it follows from §13-9.6 that $\mu \times \nu$ is projector-valued.

26-5.3. For the rest of this section, we assume that μ , ν are spectral measures.

26-5.4. <u>**Theorem**</u> $\mu \times \nu$ is a spectral measure on $X \times Y = \mathbb{R}^{u+\nu}$.

<u>Proof</u>. To simplify the notation, let $\pi = \mu \times \nu$. For every $x \in H$, π_x is a positive charge on the semiring $S \times \mathcal{T}$. It suffices to prove that π_x is countably additive. Let $J = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} K_i$ be a disjoint union where J, K_i are nonempty sets in $S \times \mathcal{T}$. By §17-2.12a, we have $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \pi_x K_i \leq \pi_x J$. To prove the reserve

inequality, let $e_u \in X$ and $e_v \in Y$ be the vectors with all coordinates equal to one. Draw pictures in order to visualize what are

$$J = (a, b] \times (\alpha, \beta], \ J^m = (a + \frac{1}{m}e_u, b] \times (\alpha + \frac{1}{m}e_v, \beta],$$

$$K_i = (a_i, b_i] \times (\alpha_i, \beta_i], \ K_i^m = (a_i, b_i + \frac{1}{m}e_u] \times (\alpha_i, \beta_i + \frac{1}{m}e_v].$$

Since $\mu(a + \frac{1}{m}e_u, b] \to \mu(a, b]$ and $\nu(\alpha + \frac{1}{m}e_u, \beta] \to \nu(\alpha, \beta]$ strongly, we obtain $\pi J^m \to \pi J$ strongly. Similarly, we also have $\pi K_i^m \to \pi K_i$ strongly as $m \to \infty$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is m_0 such that $\|\pi J^m x - \pi J x\| \leq \varepsilon$ and $\|\pi K_i^m x - \pi K_i x\| \leq \varepsilon/2^i$ for all $m \geq m_0$. Hence

 $\begin{aligned} |\pi_x J^m - \pi_x J| &= | < \pi J^m x - \pi J x, x > | \le ||\pi J^m x - \pi J x|| \ ||x|| \le \varepsilon ||x||, \end{aligned}$ that is $\pi_x J \le \pi_x J^m + \varepsilon ||x||$ and similarly $\pi K_i^m \le \pi K_i + \varepsilon ||x|| / 2^i$. Next, clearly we have

$$[a + \frac{1}{m}e_u, b] \times [\alpha + \frac{1}{m}e_v, \beta] \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} (a_i, b_i + \frac{1}{m}e_u) \times (\alpha_i, \beta_i + \frac{1}{m}e_v).$$

By compactness, there is n such that $J^m \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n K_i^m$. By §17-2.12b, we have

$$\pi_x J \le \pi_x J^m + \varepsilon \|x\| \le \sum_{i=1}^n \pi_x K_i^m + \varepsilon \|x\|$$
$$\le \sum_{i=1}^n \pi_x K_i + 2\varepsilon \|x\| \le \sum_{i=1}^\infty \pi_x K_i + 2\varepsilon \|x\|.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\pi_x J \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \pi_x K_i$. Therefore each π_x is a measure. By polarisation formula, all π_{xy} are measures on $\mathcal{S} \times \mathcal{T}$.

26-5.5. <u>Exercise</u> Suppose that $\mu \times \nu$ is extended to a spectral measure $\mu \otimes \nu$ on the measurable sets of $X \times Y$. Prove that $(\mu \otimes \nu)(M \times N) = \mu M \nu N$ for all measurable sets M, N in X, Y respectively.

26-5.6. <u>Corollary</u> If ν is normalized on Y, then for every μ -integrable function f is $\mu \otimes \nu$ -integrable with $\int f(s)d(\mu \otimes \nu)(s,t) = \int f(s)d\mu(s)$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let f_n be simple functions such that $f_n \to f$ and $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$. Write $\overline{f_n} = \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i \rho_{J_i}$ where J_i are measurable subsets of X. Then for every $x \in H$, we have

$$<\int f_n(s)d(\mu\otimes\nu)(s,t)x, x >= \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i <\int \rho_{J_i}(s)d(\mu\otimes\nu)(s,t)x, x >$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i <\int \rho_{J_i\times Y}(s,t)d(\mu\otimes\nu)(s,t)x, x >$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i <(\mu\otimes\nu)(J_i\times Y)x, x >= \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i <\mu J_i\nu Yx, x >$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i <\mu J_ix, x >= <\int f_n(s)d\mu(s)x, x >.$$

Similarly, $\int |f_n| d(\mu \otimes \nu)_x = \int |f_n| d\mu_x \leq \int |f| d\mu_x < \infty$. By Monotone Convergence Theorem, f is $(\mu \otimes \nu)_x$ -integrable for all x, i.e. $\mu \otimes \nu$ -integrable. Letting $n \to \infty$, we obtain $\langle \int f(s) d(\mu \otimes \nu)(s, t)x, x \rangle = \langle \int f(s) d\mu(s)x, x \rangle$. Since $x \in H$ is arbitrary, the result follows.

26-5.7. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if μ, ν are normalized, then so is $\mu \otimes \nu$.

26-5.8. The complement of the union of all open μ -null sets is called the *support* of μ . It is denoted by $supp(\mu)$. Note that if $t \in supp(\mu)$, then every open ball $\mathbb{B}(t)$ is not μ -null.

26-5.9. <u>Theorem</u> The union N of all open μ -null sets is μ -null.

<u>Proof</u>. The open set N is the union of some sequence of compact sets K_n . The family \mathcal{F} of all open μ -null sets is an open cover of K_n . There is a finite subset \mathcal{G}_n of \mathcal{F} such that $K_n \subset \cup \mathcal{G}_n$. Therefore N is contained in the countable union $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{G}_n$ of μ -null sets. Consequently, N is μ -null.

26-5.10. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if f = g, μ -ae on $supp(\mu)$, then $\int f d\mu = \int g d\mu$. Therefore we may work with functions defined only on $supp(\mu)$.

26-5.11. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if μ has compact support, then every continuous function f is μ -integrable.

26-5.12. **Exercise** Prove that $\operatorname{supp}(\mu \otimes \nu) \subset \operatorname{supp}(\mu) \times \operatorname{supp}(\nu)$.

26-6 Spectral Measures of Normal Operators

26-6.1. Let μ be a normalized spectral measure with compact support on $X = \mathbb{K}$ into a Hilbert space H. In this case, μ is said to be *real* or *complex* depending on $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ respectively. Since every continuous function f on X is μ -integrable, $\int f d\mu$ is well-defined. In particular, $A = \int \lambda d\mu(\lambda)$ is a normal operator. In this case, μ is called the *spectral measure of* A. In this section, we study the relationship between A and μ . As a result of the following uniqueness theorem, the only real spectral measure of a self-adjoint operator is obtained from §26-1.

26-6.2. <u>Uniqueness Theorem</u> Let μ, ν be normalized spectral measures on $X = \mathbb{K}$ with compact support. If $\int \lambda d\mu(\lambda) = \int \lambda d\nu(\lambda)$, then $\mu = \nu$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $K = \operatorname{supp}(\mu) \cup \operatorname{supp}(\nu)$ and let \mathcal{F} be the vector space of continuous functions f on X such that $\int f d\mu = \int f d\nu$. Because both μ, ν are normalized, \mathcal{F} contains all constant functions. Given that $h \in \mathcal{F}$ where $h(\lambda) = \lambda$, \mathcal{F} separates points of K. Also \mathcal{F} is a self-conjugated algebra by §§26-3.3,4,5. Hence \mathcal{F} is dense in the Banach space $C_{\infty}(K)$ of continuous functions on K with the supnorm. For every continuous function f on X, there are $f_n \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $f_n \to f$ uniformly on K. Hence $\|\int f_n d\mu - \int f d\mu\| \to 0$ and $\|\int f_n d\nu - \int f d\nu\| \to 0$. For $f_n \in \mathcal{F}$, we have $f \in \mathcal{F}$. Next, for all $x, y \in H$, both μ_{xy}, ν_{xy} are measures on X such that $\int f d\mu_{xy} = \int f d\nu_{xy}$ for all continuous functions with compact support and hence $\mu_{xy} = \nu_{xy}$. Therefore we obtain $\mu = \nu$.

26-6.3. **Theorem** If μ is the spectral measure of a normal operator A, then we have $\sigma(A) = \text{supp}(\mu)$.

<u>Proof.</u> Take any $t \notin \operatorname{supp}(\mu)$. There is $\mathbb{B}(t,r) \subset X \setminus \operatorname{supp}(\mu)$. Then we have $||Ax - tx||^2 = ||\int (\lambda - t)d\mu(\lambda) x||^2 = \int |\lambda - t|^2 d\mu_x(\lambda) \ge \int r^2 d\mu_x = r^2 ||x||^2$. Hence A - tI is bounded below. Conversely suppose $t \in \operatorname{supp}(\mu)$. For every r > 0, we have $\mu J \neq 0$ where $J = \mathbb{B}(t, r)$. There is a unit vector $x \in (\mu J)(H)$, that is $x = \mu Jx$. Hence A - tI cannot be bounded below because

$$\begin{split} \|Ax - tx\|^2 &= \|\int (\lambda - t)d\mu(\lambda) \int \rho_J(\lambda)d\mu(\lambda) x\|^2 = \|\int (\lambda - t)\rho_J(\lambda)d\mu(\lambda) x\|^2 \\ &= \int |\lambda - t|^2 \rho_J d\mu_x \le \int r^2 d\mu_x = r^2 \|x\|^2. \end{split}$$

Therefore $t \in \text{supp}(\mu)$ iff A - tI cannot be bounded below iff t is an approximate eigenvalue by §14-2.2 iff $t \in \sigma(A)$ by §14-2.4.

26-6.4. **Theorem** For every continuous function f on \mathbb{R} , we have $f(A) = \int f d\mu$ where f(A) is defined by §14-6.5 and $\int f d\mu$ by §26-3.2. In particular, we have $A = \int t d\mu(t)$. Therefore, μ is the spectral measure of A.

<u>Proof</u>. Firstly, assume that f is a real function. Choose $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\overline{a} < \sigma(A) < b$. Subdivide [a, b] with $a = c_0 < c_1 < \cdots < c_n = b$ where $c_j = a + j(b-a)/2^n$. Define $\alpha_j = \sup\{f(t) : c_{j-1} \le t \le c_j\}, \beta_j = \max\{\alpha_j, \alpha_{j+1}\}$ and $f_n = \sum_{j=1}^{2^n} \alpha_j \rho_{(c_{j-1}, c_j)}$.



As shown in the above picture, define g_n by joining the points (c_j, β_j) and extend it outside [a, b] to a continuous function on \mathbb{R} . From $f_n \downarrow f$ on $\sigma(A)$, we have $\int f_n d\mu \to \int f d\mu$, strongly. Since $f \leq f_n \leq g_n$ on $\sigma(A)$, we have $f(A) \leq f_n(A) \leq g_n(A)$ by §26-1.9b. It follows from §13-10.4b that

$$||f_n(A) - f(A)|| \le ||g_n(A) - f(A)|| \to 0$$

because $g_n \to f$ uniformly on $\sigma(A)$. Therefore $f_n(A) \to f(A)$ uniformly and thus strongly. From §26-1.12a, we obtain

$$\int f_n d\mu = \sum_j \alpha_j \mu(c_{j-1}, c_j) = \sum_j \alpha_j \rho_{(c_{j-1}, c_j)}(A) = f_n(A).$$

The uniqueness of strong limits gives $\int f d\mu = f(A)$. Finally for complex functions, apply the above result to the real and imaginary parts; then assemble them to complete the proof.

26-6.5. <u>Corollary</u> Every operator can be uniformly approximated by linear combination of projectors.

<u>Proof</u>. Firstly let A be a self-adjoint operator. For the special case $\overline{f(t)} = t$, we have $f_n(A) \to f(A)$, that is $\int f_n d\mu = \sum_j \alpha_j P_j \to A$ uniformly where $P_j = \mu(c_{j-1}, c_j)$ are projectors. In general, every operator is the linear combination of its real and imaginary parts which are both self-adjoint, the result follows immediately.

26-6.6. **Exercise** Prove that for every semi-continuous function f on \mathbb{R} , we have $f(A) = \int f d\mu$ where f(A) is defined by §26-1.8 and $\int f d\mu$ by §26-3.2. In particular, we have $A = \int t d\mu(t)$.

26-6.7. **Theorem** Every normal operator A has a spectral measure μ on \mathbb{C} .

<u>Proof</u>. Let A = B + iC be a normal operator where B, C are commuting self-adjoint operators and $i^2 = -1$. Let π, ν be the spectral measures of B, Crespectively. Since B commutes with C, the operator B commutes with νK for all measurable set K in \mathbb{R} . This in turn implies πJ commutes with νK for every measurable set K in \mathbb{R} . Thus μ is a spectral measure on \mathbb{R}^2 which is identified as \mathbb{C} . Because both π, ν are normalized with compact support, so is μ . Consequently every continuous function f on \mathbb{C} is μ -integrable. In particular, $\int \lambda d\mu(\lambda)$ is well-defined. Write $\lambda = s + it$ where s, t are real variables. The proof is completed by the calculation: $\int \lambda d\mu(\lambda) = \int sd(\pi \otimes \nu)(s, t) + i \int td(\pi \otimes \nu)(s, t) =$ $\int sd\pi(s) + i \int td\nu(t) = B + iC = A$. By the way, if A is self-adjoint, then C = 0, $\nu = 0$ and $A = \int \lambda d\mu(\lambda) = \int sd\pi(s) = B$. We may identify μ and π .

26-6.8. Let μ be the spectral measure of a normal operator A. For every μ -integrable function f, define $f(A) = \int f d\mu$. By §26-6.4, the new definition agrees real spectral measures of self-adjoint operators. Since μ is of compact support, every continuous function is integrable. In particular, every complex polynomial $g(\lambda) = \sum_{j,k=1}^{m} \alpha_{jk} \lambda^{j} \overline{\lambda}^{k}$ is integrable. Furthermore §§26-3.3,5; we have $g(A) = \int g d\mu = \sum_{j,k=1}^{m} \alpha_{jk} A^{j} (A^{*})^{k}$. The following is an explicit formula to approximate f(A).

26-6.9. <u>Theorem</u> Let f be a continuous function on \mathbb{K} . For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a complex polynomial g such that $||f(A) - g(A)|| \le \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $\sigma(A) = \operatorname{supp}(\mu)$ is compact, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a complex polynomial g such that $|f(t) - g(t)| \le \varepsilon$ for all $t \in \operatorname{supp}(A)$. Hence we have $\|\int f d\mu - \int g d\mu\| = \|f - g\|_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$.

26-6.10. <u>Theorem</u> $\sigma[f(A)] = f[\sigma(A)]$ for every continuous function f on \mathbb{C} . By §26-6.4, this generalizes §14-6.11 from self-adjoint to normal operators.

<u>Proof.</u> Take $\lambda \in \sigma(A)$ but $f(\lambda) \notin \sigma[f(A)]$. Then $f(A) - f(\lambda)I$ is invertible. By §26-4.11, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $|g| \geq \delta$, μ -ae where $g(t) = f(t) - f(\lambda)$. There is μ -null set N with $|g| \geq \delta$ on $X \setminus N$. Since f is continuous, there is r > 0 such that $|g(t)| \leq \frac{1}{2}\delta$ for all $t \in \mathbb{B}(\lambda, r)$, i.e. $\mathbb{B}(\lambda, r) \subset N$. Thus $\mathbb{B}(\lambda, r)$ is a μ -null open set. The contradiction $\lambda \in \mathbb{B}(\lambda, r) \cap \sigma(A) = \mathbb{B}(\lambda, r) \cap \text{supp}(\mu) = \emptyset$ shows $f[\sigma(A)] \subset \sigma[f(A)]$. Conversely, take any $\lambda \notin f[\sigma(A)]$. Then $g(t) = f(t) - \lambda$ never vanishes on the compact set $\sigma(A) = \text{supp}(A)$. There is $\delta > 0$ such that $|g| \geq \delta$ on supp(A). Then $f(A) - \lambda I = \int f d\mu - \lambda I = \int g d\mu$ is invertible, that is $\lambda \notin \sigma[f(A)]$. Therefore $\sigma[f(A)] \subset f[\sigma(A)]$.

26-6.11. <u>**Theorem**</u> Let μ, ν be spectral measures on $X = \mathbb{K}$ of normal operators A, B respectively. Let U be a unitary operator such that $\nu J = U^*(\mu J)U$ for all semi-intervals J. Then a measurable function f is μ -integrable iff it is ν -integrable. Furthermore we have $\int f d\nu = U^*(\int f d\mu)U$. In particular, we have $B = U^*AU$.

<u>Proof</u>. By uniqueness of extension, we have $\nu M = U^*(\mu M)U$ for all measurable sets M. Choose simple functions $f_n \to f$ with $|f_n| \uparrow |f|$. Write $f_n = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j \rho_{M_j}$ where $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{C}$ and M_j are disjoint measurable sets. Suppose that f is μ -integrable. Take any $x \in H$ and let y = Ux. Then we have

$$\begin{split} &\int |f_n| d\nu_x = \sum_{j=1}^k |\alpha_j| < \nu M_k x, x > = \sum_{j=1}^k |\alpha_j| < U^*(\mu M_k) Ux, x > \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^k |\alpha_j| < \mu M_k y, y > = \int |f_n| d\mu_y \le \int |f| d\mu_y < \infty. \end{split}$$

By Monotone Convergence Theorem, |f| and hence f are ν_x -integrable. The converse follows by symmetry. Letting $n \to \infty$ in $\int f_n d\nu_x = \int f_n d\mu_y$, we obtain $\int f d\nu_x = \int f d\mu_y$, that is

$$<(\int f d\nu)x, x> = <(\int f d\mu)y, y> = <(\int f d\mu)Ux, Ux> = .$$

Since x is arbitrary, we get $\int f d\nu = U^*(\int f d\mu)U$ as required.

26-6.12. **Theorem** Let μ, ν be spectral measures on of normal operators A, B

respectively. Let U be a unitary operator such that $B = U^*AU$. Then we have $\nu M = U^*(\mu M)U$ for all measurable sets M.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\pi M = U^*(\mu M)U$ for all measurable sets M. Then π is a spectral measure of $\int \lambda d\pi(\lambda) = U^*[\int \lambda d\mu(\lambda)]U = U^*AU = B$. By uniqueness of spectral measure of B, we have $\nu = \pi$.

26-6.13. <u>**Theorem</u>** If an operator B commutes with A, then B commutes with f(A) for every μ -integrable function f.</u>

<u>Proof.</u> Consider the special case that B = U is unitary. From UA = AU, we have $A = U^*AU$. It follows $\mu M = U^*\mu MU$ for all measurable sets M. Consequently $f(A) = \int f d\mu = U^*(\int f d\mu)U = U^*f(A)U$, that is Uf(A) = f(A)U. In general, the family $\mathcal{F} = \{A, A^*\}$ is self-adjoint and $B \in \mathcal{F}'$ by Fuglede's Theorem. From §14-6.18, B is a linear combination of unitary operators in \mathcal{F}' . The proof is completed by the first case.

26-6.14. <u>Theorem</u> λ is an eigenvalue of A iff $\mu\{\lambda\} \neq 0$. Furthermore the eigenspace corresponding to λ is the range of $\mu\{\lambda\}$, i.e. $ker(A - \lambda I) = \mu\{\lambda\}(H)$.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow) Let x be a nonzero eigenvector corresponding to the eigenvalue λ . For each n, let $Q_n = \{t \in X : |t - \lambda| \ge \frac{1}{n}\}$ and $Q = X \setminus \{\lambda\}$. Define $f(t) = t - \lambda$ and

$$f_n(t) = \begin{cases} 1/(t-\lambda) & \text{if } t \in Q_n ;\\ 0 & \text{if } t \notin Q_n . \end{cases}$$

The bounded measurable functions and the continuous function f are all μ -integrable. Observe that

$$\begin{split} \mu Q_n x &= \int \rho_{Q_n} d\mu \ x = \int f_n f d\mu \ x \\ &= \int f_n d\mu \int (t - \lambda) d\mu(t) \ x = (\int f_n d\mu) (A - \lambda I) x = 0 \end{split}$$

Since $Q_n \uparrow Q$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\mu Qx\|^2 = & \langle \mu Qx, x \rangle = \mu_x Q = \lim \mu_x Q_n = \lim \langle \mu Q_n x, x \rangle = \lim \|\mu Q_n x\|^2 = 0. \\ \text{Hence } \mu\{\lambda\}x = \mu Xx - \mu Qx = Ix = x \neq 0. \text{ Therefore we have } \mu\{\lambda\} \neq 0 \text{ and } ker(A - \lambda I) \subset \mu\{\lambda\}(H). \end{split}$$

(\Leftarrow) Pick any nonzero $x \in \mu\{\lambda\}(H)$. Because $\mu\{\lambda\}$ is a projector, we have

$$\begin{split} Ax &= \left[\int t d\mu(t)\right] \, \mu\{\lambda\} x = \left[\int t d\mu(t)\right] \, \int \rho_{\{\lambda\}} d\mu \, x = \int t \rho_{\{\lambda\}}(t) d\mu(t) \, x \\ &= \int \lambda \rho_{\{\lambda\}}(t) d\mu(t) \, x = \lambda \int \rho_{\{\lambda\}}(t) d\mu(t) \, x = \lambda \mu\{\lambda\} x = \lambda x. \end{split}$$

Hence λ is an eigenvalue with the corresponding eigenvector x. Therefore $\mu\{\lambda\}(H) \subset ker(A - \lambda I)$.

26-6.15. <u>Corollary</u> Every isolated point of the spectrum $\sigma(A)$ of a normal operator A is an eigenvalue.

<u>Proof.</u> Being an isolated point, there is an open set Q such that $Q \cap \sigma(A) = \{\lambda\}$. If $\mu Q = 0$, then $\emptyset = Q \cap \text{supp}(A) = Q \cap \sigma(A)$ is a contradiction. Therefore $\mu\{\lambda\} = \mu[Q \cap \text{supp}(\mu)] = \mu Q \neq 0$. Consequently, λ is an eigenvalue.

26-6.16. **Exercise** Let A = diag(2, 2, 3, 3, 3, 0) be a diagonal matrix. Express $\mu\{2\}$ as a projector-matrix. Show that $2\rho_{\{2\}} + 3\rho_{\{3\}}$ equals f(t) = t, μ -ae. Find $\int \rho_{\{2\}} d\mu$ and interpret $\int \lambda d\mu(\lambda)$ in terms of matrices.

26-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further</u> <u>Readings</u> : Berberian-66, Garnir-74, Helmberg, Lugovaya and Blank.

Chapter 27 Locally Compact Spaces

27-1 Regular Measures

27-1.1. Throughout this chapter, elementary properties of locally compact spaces will be assumed. Both \mathbb{R}^n with usual topology and an infinite discrete metric space should be used as typical examples. In this section we shall start with the general framework of decent sets and measurable sets. Note that measurable sets in this book have nothing to do with any measure. To control the measures in terms of topology, we require the regularity which will guarantee that the continuous functions with compact support are dense in L_p for every $1 \leq p < \infty$.

27-1.2. Let X be a separated locally compact space and F, E, FE Banach spaces with an admissible bilinear map $F \times E \to FE$. Let \mathbb{D} be the δ -ring generated by the family of all compact subsets of X. Hence every decent set is relatively compact by §18-1.6b. Also a set M is measurable iff for each compact set $V, M \cap V$ is a decent set by §19-1.3. A measure μ on the δ -ring of decent sets of X is also called a measure on X.

27-1.3. **Lemma** The decent family \mathbb{D} is also the δ -ring generated by open relatively compact sets. A set M is measurable iff $M \cap V$ is a decent set for each open relatively compact set V.

<u>Proof</u>. Let V be an open relatively compact set. Then both the closure \overline{V} and the boundary ∂V are compact sets and hence $V = \overline{V} \setminus \partial V$ is a decent sets. On the other hand, let A be any compact set. There is an open relatively compact neighborhood V of A. Then $V \setminus A$ is an open relatively compact set. Hence $A = V \setminus (V \setminus A)$ belongs to the δ -ring generated by open relatively compact sets. The last statement follows by §19-1.3.

27-1.4. <u>**Theorem</u>** Open sets, closed sets and compact sets are measurable. Open relatively compact sets are decent sets. Every continuous map is measurable.</u>

<u>Proof</u>. Let M be an open set. If V is any open relatively compact set, then so is $M \cap V$. Hence M is measurable. Since complements of measurable sets are measurable, all close sets are measurable. Because compact sets in separated topological spaces are closed, they are also measurable. An open relatively compact set V is a measurable subset of the decent set \overline{V} and hence V is a decent set. The proof of last statement is similar to §23-2.4.

27-1.5. **Exercise** The long line X consists of all points in \mathbb{R}^2 . Let \mathcal{T} be the family of subsets V satisfying the following conditions: for every $(a, b) \in V$ there is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $(a - \varepsilon, a + \varepsilon) \times \{b\}$ is contained in V. Prove that \mathcal{T} is a topology on X. Show that X becomes a separated locally compact space. Verify that the set $Q \times \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable set where Q denote the set of all rational numbers. Does the set $Q \times \mathbb{R}$ belong to the σ -algebra generated by open sets?

27-1.6. **Theorem** Let μ be a vector measure on X into E. Every continuous map $g: X \to F$ is locally integrable. Every continuous map $h: X \to F$ with compact support belongs to $L_p(X, F)$ for all $1 \le p \le \infty$.

<u>Proof</u>. Every decent set A has compact closure \overline{A} on which the continuous map g is bounded, say $|g\rho_A| \leq t\rho_A$ for some $0 \leq t < \infty$. Since the decent function $t\rho_A$ is $|\mu|$ -integrable, so is $g\rho_A$. Hence g is μ -integrable on A. In particular for $1 \leq p < \infty$, $|h|^p$ is integrable on its support and hence it is integrable on X, i.e. $h \in L_p(X, F)$. Finally, since h is bounded, it also belongs to $L_{\infty}(X, F)$.

27-1.7. A vector measure μ on X into E is said to be *regular* if

(a) μ is *outer regular* at every decent set A, that is for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an open relatively compact set V such that $A \subset V$ and $|\mu|(V \setminus A) \le \varepsilon$; and

(b) μ is *inner regular* at every open relatively compact set V, that is for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a compact set A such that $A \subset V$ and $|\mu|(V \setminus A) \le \varepsilon$.

27-1.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that linear combinations of regular measures are regular. The variation of a regular measure is regular.

27-1.9. **Exercise** Let μ be a regular vector measure on X. Prove that for every open relatively compact set V and for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an open set W such that \overline{W} is a compact subset of V and $|\mu|(V \setminus \overline{W}) \leq \varepsilon$.

27-1.10. <u>Compact Regularity Theorem</u> Let μ be a regular vector measure on X. Then for every decent set A and for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a compact subset B of A such that $|\mu|(A \setminus B) \le \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is an open relatively compact set V containing A such that $|\mu|(V \setminus A) \leq \varepsilon$. Again, there is an open relatively compact set W containing $V \setminus A$ and satisfying $|\mu|\{W \setminus (V \setminus A)\} \leq \varepsilon$. Finally, there is a compact subset Q of V such that $|\mu|(V \setminus Q) \leq \varepsilon$. Now $B = Q \setminus W$ is compact. Furthermore, $B \subset V \setminus W \subset V \setminus (V \setminus A) = A$. The proof is complete by the following calculation:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mu|(A \setminus B) &\leq |\mu|(V \setminus B) \leq |\mu|(V \setminus [Q \setminus W]) \leq |\mu|(V \setminus Q) + |\mu|W \\ &\leq \varepsilon + |\mu|(W \setminus [V \setminus A]) + |\mu|(V \setminus A) \leq 3\varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

27-1.11. **Theorem** Let μ be a regular vector measure on X into E. Then the set K(X, F) of all continuous maps with compact support is dense in $L_p(X, F)$ for every $1 \le p < \infty$. Furthermore if $0 \le f \in L_p^+$, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a continuous function $g \ge 0$ with compact support such that $||f - g||_p \le \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let A be a decent set and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. There is an open relatively compact set V such that $A \subset V$ and $|\mu|(V \setminus A) \leq \varepsilon$. There is also a compact subset Q of A such that $|\mu|(A \setminus Q) \leq \varepsilon$. Take any continuous function g satisfying $\rho_Q \leq g \leq \rho_V$. Then we have $g(X) \subset [0, 1]$ and

$$|g - \rho_A| = \max(g, \rho_A) - \min(g, \rho_A) \le \rho_V - \rho_Q = \rho_{V \setminus Q}$$

Hence

$$\int |g - \rho_A|^p d|\mu| \leq \int \rho_{V \setminus Q} d|\mu| \leq |\mu|(V - Q) \leq |\mu|(V \setminus A) + |\mu|(A \setminus Q) \leq 2\varepsilon.$$

Therefore $||g-\rho_A||_p \leq (2\varepsilon)^{1/p} \to 0$ as $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$. Next consider the general case. Let $f \in L_p(X, F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. By Density Theorem, there is a decent map g such that $||f-g||_p \leq \varepsilon$. Write $g = \sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ where A_j are disjoint decent sets and $\alpha_j \in F$. For each j, there is a continuous function $h_j : X \to [0, 1]$ such that $||h_j - \rho_{A_j}|| \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{n(1+||\alpha_j||)}$. Now $h = \sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_j h_j$ is a continuous map with compact support satisfying

$$\begin{split} \|g-h\|_p &\leq \sum_{j=1}^n \|\alpha_j(\rho_{A_j}-h_j)\|_p = \sum_{j=1}^n \|\alpha_j\| \|\rho_{A_j}-h_j\|_p \leq \varepsilon \\ \text{that is } \|f-h\|_p &\leq 2\varepsilon. \text{ Finally, if } f \geq 0, \text{ then we may choose } g \geq 0. \text{ Since } A_j\text{'s are disjoint, all } \alpha_j \geq 0 \text{ and hence } h \geq 0. \end{split}$$

27-1.12. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ be a positive measure on X. Then the integration $\int gd\mu$ is a positive linear form in g on the complex vector lattice K(X). In next section, we shall recover μ from its integration.

27-1.13. <u>Exercise</u> Let μ be a regular vector measure on X. Prove the following statements.

(a) A measurable set N is null if $N \cap A$ is null for every compact set A.

(b) For every integrable set M and every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a compact subset A of M such that $|\mu|(M \setminus A) \le \varepsilon$.

(c) For every μ - σ -finite set H, there exist compact sets $A_m \subset A_{m+1}$ and a μ -null set N such that $H = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} A_m \cup N$.

27-1.98. Let X be an infinite dimensional normed space. Then it is not locally compact. The empty set is the only open relatively compact set. Furthermore, the zero-function is the only continuous function with compact support. In this case, the whole treatment becomes trivial but meaningless. New definition of decent sets on general topological spaces is required. It is well known that nontrivial translation invariant measure on the σ -algebra generated by open sets on general infinite dimensional Banach spaces does not exist. This is why we promote almost periodic functions at the end of this book and include our own work in that direction drawing the attention of community at large.

27-2 Construction from Positive Linear Forms

27-2.1. Suppose that Riemann integral of continuous functions on closed bounded intervals of \mathbb{R} has been constructed. It is trivially extended to a positive linear form I on the vector lattice of continuous functions with compact support on \mathbb{R} . Assuming this background, how do we construct the Lebesgue measure? This section will identify each positive linear form I with a regular positive measure.

27-2.2. Throughout this section, let I be a positive linear form on the complex vector lattice K(X) of continuous functions with compact support on a separated locally compact space X. Let $K^+(X)$ denote the set of positive functions $f \ge 0$ in K(X). For convenience, write $M \le f$ if $\rho_M \le f$ where M is a subset of X and f a real function on X. In this case, we say that M is dominated by f. Similar notations: $f \le M, f \ge M, M \ge f$ are also understood. For every open relatively compact set V, define $\lambda V = \sup\{I(f) : V \ge f \in K^+(X)\}$. Clearly $\lambda \emptyset = 0$. Since every relatively compact set V is dominated by some $h \in K^+(X)$, we have $0 \le \lambda V \le I(h) < \infty$. An outer measure λ^* on X from which a positive measure on λ^* -measurable sets is obtained. It is important

to realize that λ^* -measurable sets defined in terms of outer measure may not be measurable in terms of decent sets.

27-2.3. **Lemma** For every open relatively compact set V, we have $\lambda^* V = \lambda V$. <u>Proof</u>. Take any $f \leq V$ in $K^+(X)$. Then A = supp(f) is compact. Suppose $\{W_j\}$ is a sequential cover of V by open relatively compact sets. Then it is also a cover of A. There is a finite subcover $\{W_j : j \leq n\}$ of the compact set A. Let $\{\pi_j : j \leq n\}$ be a partition of unity on A subordinated to $\{W_j : j \leq n\}$. Then we have $\pi_j \leq W_j$, for each $j \leq n$. So,

$$I(f) \leq I\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \pi_{j}\right) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} I(\pi_{j}) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda W_{j} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda W_{j}.$$

Taking infimum over $\{W_j\}$, we have $I(f) \leq \lambda^* V$. Thus $\lambda V = \sup I(f) \leq \lambda^* V$. Since $\lambda^* V \leq \lambda V$ is always true, the proof is complete. \Box

27-2.4. **Lemma** For every relatively compact set M, we have $\lambda^* M = \inf \lambda U$ where U runs over all open relatively compact sets containing M.

<u>Proof</u>. Since M is relatively compact, it is contained in some open relatively compact set W. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are open relatively compact sets V_j such that $M \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} V_j$ and $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda V_j \leq \lambda^* M + \varepsilon$. Observe that $W \cap (\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} V_j)$ is an open relatively compact set containing M. Observe that

$$\inf \lambda U \leq \lambda \left[W \cap \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} V_j \right) \right] = \lambda^* \left[W \cap \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} V_j \right) \right]$$
$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda^* V_j \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda V_j \leq \lambda^* M + \varepsilon.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\inf \lambda U \leq \lambda^* M$. The reverse inequality follows from monotonicity of μ^* .

27-2.5. **Lemma** For every open relatively compact set V, we have $\lambda V = \sup \lambda^* B$ where B runs over all compact subsets of V.

Proof. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $f \in K^+(X)$ satisfying $f \leq V$ and $\overline{\lambda V} - \varepsilon \leq I(f)$. Since the compact set $A = \operatorname{supp}(f)$ is contained in the open set V, there is an open set W such that $A \subset W \subset \overline{W} \subset V$. There is $g \in K^+(X)$ such that g(A) = 1 and $\operatorname{supp}(g) \subset W$. Since $f \leq g$, we obtain $\lambda V - \varepsilon \leq I(f) \leq I(g) \leq \lambda W$. Taking the infimum over W, we get $\lambda V - \varepsilon \leq \lambda^* A \leq \sup \lambda^* B$. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\lambda V \leq \sup \lambda^* B$. The reverse inequality is obvious.

27-2.6. Lemma If A, B are disjoint compact sets, then we have

$$\lambda^*(A \cup B) = \lambda^*A + \lambda^*B.$$

<u>Proof.</u> Let V, W be open neighborhoods of A, B respectively such that their closures $\overline{V}, \overline{W}$ are disjoint compact sets. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an open relatively compact set $U \supset A \cup B$ such that $\lambda U \leq \lambda^*(A \cup B) + \varepsilon$. There are $f, g \in K^+(X)$ such that $f \leq U \cap V, g \leq U \cap W, \lambda(U \cap V) \leq I(f) + \varepsilon$ and $\lambda(U \cap W) \leq I(g) + \varepsilon$. Since V, W are disjoint, $f + g \leq U$. Therefore

$$\begin{split} \lambda^* A + \lambda^* B &\leq \lambda (U \cap V) + \lambda (U \cap W) \leq I(f) + I(g) + 2\varepsilon \\ &\leq I(f+g) + 2\varepsilon \leq \lambda U + 2\varepsilon \leq \lambda^* (A \cup B) + 3\varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\lambda^* A + \lambda^* B \leq \lambda^* (A \cup B)$. The subadditivity of outer measure completes the proof.

27-2.7. **Lemma** If a compact set A is disjoint from an open relatively compact set V, then we have $\lambda^*(A \cup V) = \lambda^*A + \lambda^*V$.

<u>Proof</u>. Take any compact subset B of V. Since A, V are disjoint, so are A, B. Hence $\lambda^*A + \lambda^*B \leq \lambda^*(A \cup B) \leq \lambda^*(A \cup V)$. Taking supremum over all compact subsets B of V, we have $\lambda^*A + \lambda^*V \leq \lambda^*(A \cup V)$. The reverse inequality is obvious.

27-2.8. <u>**Theorem**</u> Every open set V is λ^* -measurable.

<u>Proof</u>. Take any open relatively compact set W. For every compact subset \overline{A} of $V \cap W$, it is disjoint from the open relatively compact set $W \setminus A$. Hence we have $\lambda^*A + \lambda^*(W \setminus V) \leq \lambda^*A + \lambda^*(W \setminus A) = \lambda^*W = \lambda W$. Therefore, $\lambda^*(W \cap V) + \lambda^*(W \setminus V) \leq \lambda W$. The result follows by §18-2.6.

27-2.9. In particular, every open relatively compact set is λ^* -measurable. Consequently, all decent sets are λ^* -measurable. The restriction of the outer measure λ^* defines a positive measure μ on the family \mathbb{D} of decent sets. It is called the *measure induced by* the linear form I.

27-2.10. Lemma Let A be a compact set and let f ∈ K⁺(X) be given.
(a) If A ≤ f then μA ≤ I(f).
(b) If A ≥ f then μA ≥ I(f).

<u>Proof.</u> (a) For every $0 < \varepsilon < 1$, $V = \{x \in X : f(x) > 1 - \varepsilon\}$ is an open set containing A. For any $g \in K^+(X)$ with $g \leq V$, we have $g \leq f/(1-\varepsilon)$ and hence $\mu A \leq \mu V = \sup I(g) \leq I(f)/(1-\varepsilon)$. The result follows as $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$.

(b) Take any open relatively compact neighborhood V of A. Then $f \leq V$. Hence $I(f) \leq \lambda V$. Since V is arbitrary, we get $I(f) \leq \lambda^* A = \mu A$. 27-2.11. <u>Riesz Representation Theorem</u> For every positive linear form I on K(X), there is a regular positive measure μ on the decent sets of X such that for every $f \in K(X)$, we have $I(f) = \int f d\mu$.

<u>Proof.</u> Let μ be constructed by previous lemmas of this section. Firstly, assume $f \ge 0$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Since f is bounded, there is some integer n such that $|f| < n\varepsilon$. For each integer $1 \le j \le n$, define

$$g_j(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } f(x) \leq (j-1)\varepsilon ;\\ f(x) - (j-1)\varepsilon, & \text{if } (j-1)\varepsilon < f(x) \leq j\varepsilon ;\\ \varepsilon, & \text{if } j\varepsilon < f(x). \end{cases}$$

Then $g_j \in K^+(X)$. Clearly both $A_0 = \operatorname{supp}(f)$ and $A_j = \{x \in X : f(x) \ge j\varepsilon\}$ are compact sets satisfying $A_j \le (1/\varepsilon)g_j \le A_{j-1}$. Since $f = \sum_{j=1}^n g_j$, integrating with respect to μ gives $\sum_{j=1}^n \varepsilon \mu A_j \le \int f d\mu \le \sum_{j=1}^n \varepsilon \mu A_{j-1}$. By last lemma, we have $\varepsilon \mu A_j \le I(g_j) \le \varepsilon \mu A_{j-1}$, and hence $\sum_{j=1}^n \varepsilon \mu A_j \le I(f) \le \sum_{j=1}^n \varepsilon \mu A_{j-1}$. Consequently, $\left| I(f) - \int f d\mu \right| \le \sum_{j=1}^n \varepsilon \mu A_{j-1} - \sum_{j=1}^n \varepsilon \mu A_j = \varepsilon \mu A_0$ because $A_n = \emptyset$. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $I(f) = \int f d\mu, \forall f \in K^+(X)$. By linearity, we have $I(f) = \int f d\mu, \forall f \in K(X)$. The regularity of μ follows immediately from §§27-2.4,5. \Box

27-3 Representations of Order-Bounded Linear Forms

27-3.1. Let X be a separated locally compact space and K(X) the set of all continuous functions with compact support. In this section, we shall identify the order-bounded linear forms on K(X) with regular complex measures. This identification actually preserves lattice operations. For every $f \in K(X)$, let $||f|| = \sup\{|f(x)| : x \in X\}$.

27-3.2. <u>Lemma</u> K(X) is a breakable vector lattice. Consequently, the dual space of order bounded linear forms is also a vector lattice.

Proof. Clearly it is a vector lattice under pointwise operations. Let $|f| \leq g+h$ where $f, g, h \in K(X)$ with $g, h \geq 0$. Write $|f| = g_1 + h_1$ where $0 \leq g_1 \leq g$, and $0 \leq h_1 \leq h$ are in K(X). Define $g_2 = g_1 \operatorname{sgn}(f)$ and $h_2 = h_1 \operatorname{sgn}(f)$. Take any point $a \in X$. Since $\operatorname{sgn}(f) = f/|f|$ is continuous at each point $a \in X$ satisfying $f(a) \neq 0$, so is g_2 . Now suppose f(a) = 0. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a neighborhood V of a such that for every $x \in V$ we have $|f(x)| \leq \varepsilon$. Because $|g_2| \leq g_1 \leq |f|$, we have $|g_2(x) - g_2(a)| \leq |f(x)| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $x \in V$. Hence g_2

is continuous at every point $a \in X$. Since |f| is of compact support, so is g_2 . Therefore g_2, h_2 belong to K(X). Clearly $|g_2| \leq g_1 \leq g$; $|h_2| \leq h_1 \leq h$ and $f = g_2 + h_2$. Consequently, K(X) is breakable.

27-3.3. Lemma Let I be a linear form on K(X). Then I is order-bounded iff for every compact set A, there is t > 0 such that for all $g \in K(X)$ with $\operatorname{supp}(g) \subset A$, we have $|I(g)| \leq t ||g||$.

<u>Proof.</u> (\Rightarrow) Assume that I is order-bounded and let |I| denote its variation. Take any compact set A. Let $f \in K^+(X)$ satisfy f(A) = 1. Now for any $0 \neq g \in K(X)$ with $\operatorname{supp}(g) \subset A$, we have $|g| \leq ||g||f$ and hence

 $|I(g)| \le |I|(|g|) \le |I|(||g||f) = t||g||$ where t = |I|(f).

(⇐) Let $f \in K^+(X)$ be given. Then $A = \operatorname{supp}(f)$ is compact. Choose t > 0 by given condition. Then for any $g \in K(X)$ with $|g| \leq f$, we have $\operatorname{supp}(g) \subset A$. Hence $|I(g)| \leq t ||g|| \leq t ||f|| < \infty$. Therefore I is order-bounded.

27-3.4. **Theorem** Let μ be a regular complex measure on X. For every $f \in K(X)$, let $I(f) = \int f d\mu$. Then I is an order-bounded linear form on K(X). Furthermore, we have $|I|(f) = \int f d|\mu|$ for all $f \in K(X)$.

Proof. For any $|g| \leq f$ in K(X), we have $|I(g)| = |\int g d\mu| \leq \int |g| d|\mu| \leq f$ $\int fd|\mu| < \infty$. Hence I is order-bounded and $|I|(f) = \sup |I(g)| \leq \int fd|\mu|$. Conversely, take any $f \in K^+(X)$ and any $\varepsilon > 0$. Clearly $g = (f - \varepsilon) \lor 0 \in K^+(X)$ and $f \leq g + \varepsilon \rho_B$ where $B = \operatorname{supp}(g)$. There is a simple function $0 \leq s \leq g$ such that $\int g d|\mu| \leq \int s d|\mu| + \varepsilon$. Write $s = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j \rho_{M_j}$ where M_j are disjoint measurable sets and $\alpha_i > 0$ for all j. Since $M_i \subset B$, it is a decent set. By inner regularity, there is a compact set $A_j \subset M_j$ such that $|\mu|(M_j \setminus A_j) \leq$ $\varepsilon/(k\alpha_j)$. Now $t = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j \rho_{A_j}$ is also a decent function satisfying $t \leq g$ and $\int gd|\mu| \leq \int td|\mu| + 2\varepsilon$. By outer regularity, there is an open relatively compact set V_i containing A_i such that $|\mu|(V_i \setminus A_i) \leq \varepsilon/(k\alpha_i)$. Observe that for every $x \in A_i, \alpha_i \leq g(x) \leq f(x) - \varepsilon$. Hence we have $A_i \subset \{x \in X : f(x) > \alpha_i\}$. Thus we may assume that for every $x \in V_j$ we get $f(x) > \alpha_j$. Since A_j are disjoint compact sets, we may also assume that V_i are disjoint by local compactness of X. Let $h_j \in K(X)$ satisfy $A_j \leq h_j \leq V_j$. Then $h = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j h_j \in K^+(X)$. For any $x \in V_i$ we obtain $h(x) = \alpha_i h_i(x) \le \alpha_i < f(x)$. Therefore $|h| \le f$. Furthermore,

$$\int g d|\mu| \leq \int t d|\mu| + 2\varepsilon \leq \left| \int h d\mu \right| + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j \int (h_j - \rho_{A_j}) d|\mu| + 2\varepsilon$$

$$\leq |I(h)| + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j \int (\rho_{V_j} - \rho_{A_j}) d|\mu| + 2\varepsilon$$

$$\leq |I(h)| + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j |\mu| (V_j \setminus A_j) + 2\varepsilon \leq |I(h)| + 3\varepsilon \leq |I|(f) + 3\varepsilon,$$

$$\int f d|\mu| \leq \int g d|\mu| + \varepsilon |\mu|(B) \leq |I|(f) + 3\varepsilon + \varepsilon |\mu|(B).$$

that is

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $|I|(f) = \int f d|\mu|$ for all $f \in K^+(X)$. The proof follows by linearity in f.

27-3.5. Complex Representation Theorem For every order-bounded linear form I on K(X), there is a unique regular complex measure μ on the decent sets of X such that for every $f \in K(X)$, we have $I(f) = \int f d\mu$. This correspondence preserves the lattice-operations. Furthermore, if I is positive (respectively real), then so is μ .

<u>Proof</u>. Write I as a linear combination of positive linear forms. As a result, the existence follows immediately from Riesz Representation Theorem. The preservation of lattice-operations was proved in last theorem. For uniqueness, let μ, λ be regular complex measures such that $\int f d(\mu - \lambda) = 0$ for all $f \in K(X)$ which is dense in L_1 for $\mu - \lambda$. Hence $\int f d(\mu - \lambda) = 0$ for all decent functions f. Therefore $\mu M = \lambda M$ for every decent set M, that is $\mu = \lambda$.

27-3.6. <u>Corollary</u> Let X be a separated compact space and $C_{\infty}(X)$ the Banach space of all continuous functions on X. For every regular measure μ on X, let I_{μ} be the corresponding integration. Then $\mu \to I_{\mu}$ is an isometry from the Banach space of regular measures onto the dual space of $C_{\infty}(X)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> By §27-3.3, the dual space $C'_{\infty}(X)$ of $C_{\infty}(X)$ is identical to orderbounded linear forms with ||I|| = |f|(1). On the other hand, regular measures μ on compact space X are bounded with $||\mu|| = |\mu|(X)$. The isometry follows as a special case of §27-3.4.

27-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further</u> <u>Readings</u> : Dinculeanu-74, Nachbin, Brooks and Uglanov.

Chapter 28

Almost Periodic Functions on Groups

28-1 Almost Periodicity

28-1.1. Starting with a simple example, we introduce group representations which motivates the definition of almost periodicity in terms of ε -covers. Basic properties of almost periodic functions are developed in this section.

28-1.2. <u>Example</u> The sum of two periodic functions need not be periodic.

<u>Solution</u>. Clearly both $\sin x$ and $\sin \pi x$ are periodic functions. Suppose to the contrary that their sum $f(x) = \sin x + \sin \pi x$ is periodic with period p > 0, that is $\sin(x + p) + \sin \pi (x + p) = \sin x + \sin \pi x$ for all x. Letting x = 0, we get $\sin p + \sin \pi p = 0$. Differentiating twice and letting x = 0, we have $-\sin p - \pi^2 \sin \pi p = 0$. Hence $\sin p = \sin \pi p = 0$. From $\sin \pi p = 0$, p is an integer. From $\sin p = 0$, we obtain $p = n\pi$ for some integer n. Since p > 0, we have $\pi = p/n$ but π is irrational. Therefore f cannot be periodic.

28-1.3. Observe that sine and cosine functions are linear combinations of exponential functions of the form $\rho : \mathbb{R} \to GL(1)$ where $\rho(x) = e^{i\theta x}$ and $GL(1) = \{x \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$. Clearly we have $\rho(x+y) = \rho(x) + \rho(y), |\rho(x)| \leq 1$ and $\rho(x)$ is an invertible matrix of order one for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$. Note that harmonic analysis including special functions has been developed in the context of group representations. We vote for matrix representations for their simplicity.

28-1.4. Let G be a (multiplicative) group. The identity element of every group is denoted by the same symbol e unless it is specified otherwise. The general linear group GL(s) is the multiplicative group of all invertible matrices of order s with complex entries. A homomorphism from G into GL(s) is called a (matrix) representation of order s. A representation $D: G \to GL(s)$ is bounded if all entry functions D_{ij} are bounded on G. The function ρ in last paragraph is an example of a bounded representation of the additive group \mathbb{R} .

28-1.5. Let $f: G \to \mathbb{K}$ be a function where the scalar field \mathbb{K} can be real or complex. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, a finite cover $\{A_i : 1 \le i \le n\}$ of G is called a *left*

 ε -cover for a function f if $|f(ax) - f(bx)| \le \varepsilon$ for each i and for all $a, b \in A_i$; $x \in G$. A function f is said to be *left almost periodic* on G if every $\varepsilon > 0$ have a left ε -cover of G for f. As usual, write $||f||_{\infty} = \sup\{|f(x)| : x \in G\}$.

28-1.6. **Lemma** Every entry function of a bounded representation $D = [D_{ij}]$ is left almost periodic.

<u>Proof</u>. Since D is bounded, define $\alpha = \max\{\|D_{ij}\|_{\infty} : 1 \leq i, j \leq s\}$ where $\overline{D_{ij}}$ are the entry functions of D. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose open intervals B_k of length $\leq \varepsilon$ such that $[-\alpha, \alpha] \subset \cup\{B_k : 1 \leq k \leq m\}$. Then for every $1 \leq i, j \leq s$, we have $G \subset \cup\{A_{ijk} : 1 \leq k \leq m\}$ where $A_{ijk} = D_{ij}^{-1}(B_k)$ and s is the order of D. Thus $G \subset \cap_{ij} \cup_k A_{ijk} = \cup\{\bigcap_{i,j=1}^s A_{ij,k(i,j)} : 1 \leq k(i,j) \leq m\}$. Take any $a, b \in A_{ij,k(i,j)}$. Then both $D_{ij}(a)$ and $D_{ij}(b)$ belong to $B_{k(i,j)}$, that is $|D_{ij}(a) - D_{ij}(b)| \leq \varepsilon$ for all i, j. Observe that for any $x \in G$, we have D(ax) = D(a)D(x), i.e. $[D_{ij}(ax)] = [D_{ij}(a)] [D_{ij}(ax)]$, or $D_{ij}(ax) = \sum_{k=1}^s D_{ik}(a)D_{kj}(x)$. This standard calculation will not shown explicitly any more. From

$$\begin{aligned} |D_{ij}(ax) - D_{ij}(bx)| &= |\sum_{k=1}^{s} D_{ik}(a) D_{kj}(x) - \sum_{k=1}^{s} D_{ik}(b) D_{kj}(x)| \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{s} |D_{ik}(a) - D_{ik}(b)| |D_{kj}(x)| \leq s\alpha\varepsilon, \end{aligned}$$

the family $\{\cap_{i,j=1}^{s} A_{ij,k(i,j)} : 1 \le i, j \le s, 1 \le k(i,j) \le m\}$ is a left $(s\alpha\varepsilon)$ -cover of G for D_{ij} . Therefore D_{ij} is left almost periodic on G. \Box

28-1.7. In particular, the function ρ above is left almost periodic. A (two sided) ε -cover for a function $f: G \to \mathbb{K}$ is a finite cover $\{A_i : 1 \leq i \leq n\}$ of G such that $|f(yax) - f(ybx)| \leq \varepsilon$ for every i and for all $a, b \in A_i$ and $x, y \in G$. A function $f: G \to \mathbb{K}$ is said to be (two sided) almost periodic on G if every $\varepsilon > 0$ have a two sided ε -cover of G for f. Similarly, right ε -cover and right almost periodic function are defined. Their properties will be assumed. Almost periodic functions are also called *ap-functions* for convenience.

28-1.8. Lemma Every left ap-function f is uniformly bounded.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ be a left ε -cover for f. Choose $b_i \in A_i$ for each i. Take any $a \in G$. Then $a \in A_i$ for some i. Hence $|f(a) - f(b_i)| \leq \varepsilon$, or

$$|f(a)| \leq |f(b_i)| + \varepsilon \leq \sum_{j=1}^n |f(b_j)| + \varepsilon.$$

Since $a \in G$ is arbitrary, f is uniformly bounded.

28-1.9. As a subset of the Banach space B(G) of all bounded functions on G, the uniform norm of every left periodic function is defined. The left translate $L_a f: G \to \mathbb{K}$ of f by $a \in G$ is defined by $L_a f(x) = f(ax)$, that is to replace the

argument x by ax. Similarly, define $R_a f(y) = f(ya)$ for all $x \in G$. Clearly we have $L_{ab} = L_b L_a$ and $R_{ab} = R_a R_b$. In fact, $L_b L_a f(x) = L_b (L_a f)(x) = L_a f(bx) = f(abx) = L_{ab} f(x)$. Also $R_a R_b f(y) = R_a (R_b f)(y) = R_b f(ya) = f(yab) = R_{ab} f(y)$.

28-1.10. **Lemma** Let f be a bounded function on G. Then f is left almost periodic iff $L(f) = \{L_a f : a \in G\}$ is relatively compact in B(G). For right and two sided almost periodicity, work with $R(f) = \{R_a f : a \in G\}$ and $T(f) = \{L_a R_b f : a \in G\}$ respectively.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose f is left almost periodic. Choose any left ε -cover $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ and any $c_i \in A_i$ for each i. Take any $a, x \in G$. Then $a \in A_i$ for some i. Thus $|f(ax) - f(c_ix)| \leq \varepsilon$, i.e. $|L_af(x) - L_{c_i}f(x)| \leq \varepsilon$, or $L_af \in \mathbb{B}(L_{c_i}f,\varepsilon)$. Therefore $L(f) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n \mathbb{B}(L_{c_i}f,\varepsilon)$. Consequently, L(f) is precompact in B(G). Since B(G) is complete, L(f) is relatively compact. Conversely, assume that L(f) is relatively compact. By precompactness of L(f), for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are $g_1, \cdots, g_n \in B(G)$ such that $L(f) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n \mathbb{B}(g_i, \varepsilon)$. Define $A_i = \{a \in G :$ $||L_af - g_i||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon\}$. It follows immediately that $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ is a cover of G. For any $a, b \in A_i$ and $x \in G$, we have $||L_af - g_i||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$ and $||L_bf - g_i||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$, or $||L_af - L_bf||_{\infty} \leq 2\varepsilon$, i.e. $|f(ax) - f(bx)| = |L_af(x) - L_bf(x)| \leq 2\varepsilon$. Hence $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ is a left (2ε) -cover. Therefore f is left almost periodic. The other parts follow in a similar way. \Box

28-1.11. **Theorem** The set A(G) of all left ap-functions on G is a closed subalgebra of B(G). Consequently A(G) is itself a Banach space under the supnorm. Let f be a left ap-function. Then the left translate of a left ap-function is left almost periodic. The complex conjugate f^- , the inversion f^v and the hermitian f^* defined by $f^-(x) = f(x)^-$, $f^v(x) = f(x^{-1})$ and $f^*(x) = f(x^{-1})^-$ respectively are all left almost periodic.

<u>Proof</u>. The first statement follows immediately because the linear combinations, the product and the closure of precompact sets in B(G) are precompact. The second statement follows from $L(L_b f) = L(f)$. Since the map $f \to f^- : B(G) \to B(G)$ is continuous, the image $L(f^-)$ of the relatively compact set L(f) is relatively compact and hence f^- is left almost periodic. Similar argument completes the proof.

28-1.12. <u>Exercise</u> Prove the following statement directly without using any property of compactness.

(a) Linear combinations and products of left ap-functions are left ap-functions.

(b) Uniform limits of left ap-functions are left almost periodic.

(c) The translates, conjugates, inversions, hermitians and absolute values of left ap-functions are left almost periodic.

28-1.13. <u>Theorem</u> A function f is left almost periodic iff it is two sided almost periodic. Similar result holds for right periodicity. As a result, there is no need to distinguish left, right and two sided periodicity.

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose that $\{A_i : i \le n\}$ is a two sided ε-cover of G for f. Then for all $a, b \in A_i$ and all $x, y \in G$ we have $|f(yax) - f(ybx)| \le \varepsilon$. In particular, for y = e the identity element, we have $|f(ax) - f(bx)| \le \varepsilon$. Hence $\{A_i : i \le n\}$ is also a left ε-cover $\{A_i : i \le n\}$. Consequently, f is left almost periodic. Conversely, suppose that f is a left ap-function. Let $\{A_i : i \le n\}$ be a left ε-cover for f. Choose any $c_i \in A_i$. Since $L_{c_i}f$ is left almost periodic, let $\{B_{ij} : j \le m_i\}$ be its left ε-cover. Define $\mathcal{K} = \{B_{1j(1)} \cap \cdots \cap B_{nj(n)} : j(i) \le m_i\}$. Since $G = \bigcap_{i=1}^n \bigcup_{j=1}^{m_i} B_{ij} = \bigcup \mathcal{K}$, \mathcal{K} is a finite cover of G. Let $a, b \in B_{1j(1)} \cap \cdots \cap B_{nj(n)}$ and $x, y \in G$ be given. Then $y \in A_i$ for some i. By $y, a \in A_i$, we get $|f(yax) - f(c_iax)| \le \varepsilon$ and $|f(ybx) - f(c_ibx)| \le \varepsilon$. Because $a, b \in B_{ij(i)}$, we obtain $|L_{c_i}f(ax) - L_{c_i}f(bx)| \le \varepsilon$. Hence we have $|f(yax) - f(ybx)| \le |f(yax) - f(c_iax)| + |f(c_iax) - f(c_ibx)| + |f(c_ibx) - f(ybx)| \le \varepsilon$. Therefore f is two sided almost periodic.

28-1.14. **Theorem** Let f be an ap-function on G. If φ is a continuous function on a compact set K containing the range of f, then the composite φf is almost periodic. In particular, $|f|^p$ is almost periodic for all p with $1 \le p < \infty$.

<u>Proof</u>. For the last statement, the closed ball $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(0, ||f||_{\infty})$ is a compact set containing f(G). To prove the first statement, let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. By uniform continuity of φ on K, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\alpha, \beta \in K$ and $|\alpha - \beta| \leq \delta$ implies $|\varphi(\alpha) - \varphi(\beta)| \leq \varepsilon$. Choose a δ -cover $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ for f. For all $a, b \in A_i$ and $x \in G$, we have $f(ax), f(bx) \in K$ and $|f(ax) - f(bx)| \leq \delta$. Hence $|\varphi f(ax) - \varphi f(bx)| \leq \varepsilon$. Therefore $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ is also a left ε -cover for φf . Consequently, φf is almost periodic on G.

28-1.15. **Exercise** Prove that if $f \in A(G)$ with $|f| \ge r > 0$, then $1/f \in A(G)$.

28-1.16. <u>Corollary</u> A(G) is a complex vector lattice. See §16-2.2.

28-1.17. <u>Theorem</u> Let G, H be groups and $\varphi : H \to G$ a homomorphism. If f is an ap-function on G, then the function $f\varphi$ is an ap-function on H.

<u>*Proof*</u>. In fact, if $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ is a left ε -cover of G for f, then $\{\varphi^{-1}(A_i) : i \leq n\}$ is a left ε -cover of H for $f\varphi$.

28-2 Mean-Values

28-2.1. The objective of this section is to construct a translation invariant continuous linear form on the vector space of ap-functions on a group. We need two combinatorial lemmas to accomplish this. The mean-value of a function f is the average of f over the whole group. For convenience, all indices start with 1.

28-2.2. <u>Lemma</u> Let $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ be a family of subsets of a set G. If for every $1 \leq r \leq n$, the union of any r sets of $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ contains at least r elements; then there are n distinct elements $x_1, \dots, x_n \in G$ such that $x_i \in A_i$ for each i.

<u>Proof</u>. If n = 1, it is trivial. For every $B \subset G$, let νB denote the number of elements in B. Firstly, suppose there are indices $1 \leq k_1 < k_2 < \cdots < k_r \leq n$ such that $\nu \bigcup_{j=1}^r A_{k_j} = r < n$. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $k_j = j$ for all $j \leq r$. By induction, there are distinct elements $x_j \in A_j$ for each $j \leq r$. Define $B_i = A_i \setminus \{x_1, \cdots, x_r\}$ for each i with $r + 1 \leq i \leq n$. Then for $1 \leq p \leq n - r$ and $r + 1 \leq k_1 < k_2 < \cdots < k_p \leq n$, we have $\nu(B_{k_1} \cup B_{k_2} \cup \cdots \cup B_{k_p}) = \nu(B_{k_1} \cup B_{k_2} \cup \cdots \cup B_{k_p}) + \nu(A_1 \cup A_2 \cup \cdots \cup A_r) - r$ $\geq \nu(B_{k_1} \cup B_{k_2} \cup \cdots \cup B_{k_p} \cup A_1 \cup A_2 \cup \cdots \cup A_r) - r$

$$=\nu(A_1\cup A_2\cup\cdots\cup A_r\cup A_{k_1}\cup A_{k_2}\cup\cdots\cup A_{k_n})-r$$

$$\geq (r+p)-r=p$$

Thus $B_{r+1}, B_{r+2}, \dots, B_n$ satisfy the inductive assumption. There are distinct elements $x_i \in B_i$ for $r+1 \leq i \leq n$. Consequently, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n are distinct elements satisfying $x_i \in A_i$ for each $1 \leq i \leq n$. Secondly, assume that for all k_i with $1 \leq k_1 < k_2 < \dots < k_r < n$, we have $\nu \bigcup_{j=1}^r A_{k_j} \geq r+1$. Pick any $x_1 \in A_1$. Define $B_i = A_i \setminus \{x_1\}$ for all $2 \leq i \leq n$. If $2 \leq k_1 < k_2 < \dots < k_r \leq n$, then we get $\nu(B_{k_1} \cup B_{k_2} \cup \dots \cup B_{k_r}) = \nu(A_{k_1} \cup A_{k_2} \cup \dots \cup A_{k_r}) - 1 \geq (r+1) - 1 = r$. Hence by induction on B_2, B_3, \dots, B_n , there are distinct elements $x_i \in B_i$ for all $2 \leq i \leq n$. Consequently, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n are distinct elements satisfying $x_i \in A_i$ for each $1 \leq i \leq n$.

28-2.3. Lemma Let $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ and $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$ be two families of subsets of a set G. If for each $1 \leq r \leq n$, the union of r sets of $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ meets at least r sets of $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$, then there is a permutation p of $N = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ such that $A_i \cap B_{p(i)} \neq \emptyset$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n$.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $D_i = \{j \in N : A_i \cap B_j \neq \emptyset\}$ for each $1 \le i \le n$. Suppose $1 \le r \le n$ and $1 \le k_1 < k_2 < \cdots < k_r \le n$. For convenience, we may assume that each $k_i = i$. Observe that $j \in \bigcup_{i=1}^r D_i$ iff for some $i, j \in D_i$, i.e. $A_i \cap B_j \neq \emptyset$ iff $(\bigcup_{i=1}^r A_i) \cap B_j \neq \emptyset$. The given condition assures that $\bigcup_{i=1}^r D_i$ contains at least r elements. Hence the union of r sets of D_1, D_2, \cdots, D_n contains at least relements. By last lemma, choose distinct elements $p(i) \in D_i$ for each $1 \le i \le n$. Hence $A_i \cap B_{p(i)} \neq \emptyset$. Since $p(1), p(2), \cdots, p(n)$ are distinct elements of N, pmust be a permutation.

28-2.4. Let f be an ap-function on a group G. An ε -cover $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ of G for f is good if the number n is the smallest among all ε -covers for f.

28-2.5. **Lemma** If $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ and $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$ are good ε -covers for f, then there is a permutation p of $\{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ such that $A_i \cap B_{p(i)} \neq \emptyset$.

<u>Proof</u>. It suffices to prove that the union of any r sets of $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ meets at least r sets of $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$. Suppose it is false. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $A_1 \cup A_2 \cup \cdots \cup A_r$ meets only B_1, B_2, \cdots, B_s with $1 \leq s < r \leq n$. Since $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$ is a cover of G, we have $A_1 \cup A_2 \cup \cdots \cup A_r \subset$ $B_1 \cup B_2 \cup \cdots \cup B_s$. Hence $\{B_1, B_2, \cdots, B_s, A_{r+1}, A_{r+2}, \cdots, A_n\}$ is also a cover of G. Clearly it is an ε -cover containing at most r-1 sets. This contradicts the minimality of n.

28-2.6. Lemma Let
$$\{A_i : i \le n\}$$
 be a good ε -cover for f and let $a_i \in A_i$ for each $i \le n$. Then $\left|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^n f(a_i) - \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^n f(ya_ix)\right| \le 2\varepsilon$ for all $x, y \in G$.

<u>Proof.</u> Fix $x, y \in G$. Clearly $\{yA_ix : i \leq n\}$ is also a good ε -cover. There is a permutation p of $\{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ such that for each $i \leq n$ there is some $b_i \in A_i \cap yA_{p(i)}x$. Thus $|f(a_i) - f(b_i)| \leq \varepsilon$ and $|f[ya_{p(i)}x] - f(b_i)| \leq \varepsilon$. Hence $|f(a_i) - f[ya_{p(i)}x]| \leq 2\varepsilon$. The result follows by summing over i = 1 to n and dividing by n.

28-2.7. <u>Lemma</u> Let $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ be a good ε -cover and $\{B_j : j \leq m\}$ a good δ -cover for f. Then $\left|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^n f(a_i) - \frac{1}{m}\sum_{j=1}^m f(b_j)\right| \leq 2(\varepsilon + \delta)$ for all $a_i \in A_i$ and $b_j \in B_j$.

Proof. Letting y = e and $x = b_i$ in last lemma, we get

$$\left|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^n f(a_i) - \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^n f(a_ib_j)\right| \le 2\varepsilon.$$

Summing over j = 1 to m and dividing by m, we have

$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f(a_i) - \frac{1}{mn} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} f(a_i b_j) \le 2\varepsilon_i$$

By symmetry, we obtain

$$\left|\frac{1}{m}\sum_{j=1}^{m}f(b_j)-\frac{1}{mn}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{m}f(a_ib_j)\right|\leq 2\delta.$$

Their sum completes the proof.

28-2.8. **Theorem** Every ap-function f on a group G has a number $\mu(f) \in \mathbb{K}$ satisfying the following condition: for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are $a_1, \dots, a_n \in G$ and $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n \ge 0$ such that $\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_n = 1$ and

$$\left|\mu(f)-\sum_{i=1}^{n}\alpha_{i}f(ya_{i}x)\right|\leq\varepsilon,\qquad\forall\ x,y\in G.$$

The number $\mu(f)$ is called the *mean-value* of f and is also denoted by $\int f d_m$ or $\int f(t)d_m t$. Note that the subscript m distinguishes mean-values from integrals although we use the integral sign for both of them. Also t in $\int f(t)d_m t$ is a dummy variable.

<u>*Proof*</u>. For each integer $k \ge 1$, let $\{A_1^k, \dots, A_{n(k)}^k\}$ be a good (1/k)-cover for f. Choose any $a_i^k \in A_i^k$ for each k and $1 \le i \le n(k)$. Define $\mu_k = \frac{1}{n(k)} \sum_{i=1}^{n(k)} f(a_i^k)$. Then we have

$$|\mu_k - \mu_p| = \left| \frac{1}{n(k)} \sum_{i=1}^{n(k)} f(a_i^k) - \frac{1}{n(p)} \sum_{i=1}^{n(p)} f(a_i^p) \right| \le 2\left(\frac{1}{k} + \frac{1}{p}\right).$$

Thus $\{\mu_k\}$ is a Cauchy sequence. Let $\mu(f) = \lim \mu_k$. Now take any $\varepsilon > 0$. Choose an integer $p > (1/\varepsilon)$ such that $|\mu(f) - \mu_k| \le \varepsilon$ for all $k \ge p$. From Hence we get

$$\left|\mu_k - \frac{1}{n(k)} \sum_{i=1}^{n(k)} f(ya_i^k x)\right| \le \frac{2}{k} \le 2\epsilon$$

for all $x, y \in G$ and $k \ge p$. Therefore

$$\left|\mu(f)-\frac{1}{n(k)}\sum_{i=1}^{n(k)}f(ya_i^kx)\right|\leq 3\varepsilon.$$

This proves the existence. For the uniqueness, let u, v be a complex numbers satisfying the following condition: for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are $a_1, \dots, a_p, b_1, \dots, b_q$ in G and $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_p, \beta_1, \dots, \beta_q \ge 0$ such that

and

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_p &= \beta_1 + \dots + \beta_q = 1, \\ |u - \sum_{i=1}^p \alpha_i f(ya_i x)| &\leq \varepsilon \\ |v - \sum_{j=1}^q \beta_i f(yb_i x)| &\leq \varepsilon \text{ for all } x, y \in G. \end{aligned}$$

Setting y = e and $x = b_j$ in the first inequality, we get $|u - \sum_{i=1}^{p} \alpha_i f(a_i b_j)| \le \varepsilon$. Multiplying β_j and summing for j = 1 to q, we obtain

$$\left|u-\sum_{j=1}^{q}\sum_{i=1}^{p}\alpha_{i}\beta_{j}f(a_{i}b_{j})\right|\leq\varepsilon.$$

Similarly we have

$$v - \sum_{j=1}^{q} \sum_{i=1}^{p} \alpha_i \beta_j f(a_i b_j) \bigg| \leq \varepsilon.$$

Therefore $|u - v| \le 2\varepsilon$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have u = v. This proves the uniqueness of mean-value.

28-2.9. The map $\mu: A(G) \to \mathbb{K}$ given by $f \to \int f d_m$ is called the *mean-value* form on the group G. Reader should review positive linear forms, §16-4.4.

28-2.10. <u>Theorem</u> The mean-value form $\mu : A(G) \to \mathbb{K}$ given by $f \to \int f d_m$ is a linear form on A(G). Furthermore the following conditions hold.

- (a) Translation invariant, i.e. $\int L_a f d_m = \int R_a f d_m = \int f d_m$.
- (b) Normalized, i.e. $\int f d_m = 1$ where f = 1 is a constant function.
- (c) Positive, i.e. $\int f d_m \ge 0$ for $f \ge 0$. In particular, if f is real, then $\int f d_m$ is also real. If $f \le g$, then $\int f d_m \le \int g d_m$.
- (d) Nondegenerate, i.e. $\int f d_m > 0$ for $0 \leq f \neq 0$.
- (e) $|\int f d_m| \leq \int |f| d_m$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. To prove that μ is linear, take any $f, g \in A(G)$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$. For any $\varepsilon > 0$ there are $a_1, \dots, a_p, b_1, \dots, b_q \in G$ and $\alpha_i, \beta_j \ge 0$ such that

$$\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_p = \beta_1 + \dots + \beta_q = 1$$

and for all $x, y \in G$,

$$\left|\int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^p \alpha_i f(y a_i x)\right| \le \varepsilon \qquad \#1$$

and

$$\left|\int gd_m - \sum_{j=1}^q \beta_j f(yb_j x)\right| \le \varepsilon. \qquad \#2$$

$$\left|\int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^p \alpha_i f(y a_i b_j x)\right| \le \varepsilon, \qquad \forall x, y \in G.$$

Multiplying β_j and summing over j, we get

Replacing x by $b_i x$ in #1, we have

$$\left|\int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^p \sum_{j=1}^q \alpha_i \beta_j f(y a_i b_j x)\right| \leq \varepsilon.$$

Similarly,

$$\left|\int gd_m - \sum_{i=1}^p \sum_{j=1}^q \alpha_i \beta_j f(ya_i b_j x)\right| \leq \varepsilon, \qquad \forall x, y \in G.$$

Hence

$$\left| \alpha \int f d_m + \beta \int g d_m - \sum_{i=1}^p \sum_{j=1}^q \alpha_i \beta_j (\alpha f + \beta g) (y a_i b_j x) \right| \leq \varepsilon$$
for all $x, y \in G$. The uniqueness of mean-value gives the linearity of μ :

$$\int (\alpha f + \beta g) d_m = \alpha \int f d_m + \beta \int g d_m.$$

(a) Replacing y by ay in #1, we have

$$\left|\int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^p \alpha_i L_a f(y a_i x)\right| = \left|\int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^p \alpha_i f(a y a_i x)\right| \le \varepsilon$$

The uniqueness of mean-value gives $\int L_a f d_m = \int f d_m$. Similarly replacement of x by xa in #2 gives $\int R_a f d_m = \int f d_m$.

(b) By #1, for f = 1 we have $\left|\int f d_m - 1\right| = \left|\int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^p \alpha_i f(y a_i x)\right| \leq \varepsilon$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, the result follows.

(c) If $f \ge 0$, then #1 entails $-\varepsilon \le \int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^p \alpha_i f(ya_i x) \le \int f d_m$. Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\int f d_m \ge 0$. The last statement follows from §16-4.5a.

(d) Suppose that f(c) > 0 for some $c \in G$. Let $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{2}f(c)$ and $\{A_i : i \leq p\}$ an ε -cover for f. Choose any $a_i \in A_i$ for each i. Then every $x \in G$ is contained in some A_j . Hence for every $y \in G$, $|f(yx) - f(ya_j)| \leq \varepsilon$. Picking $y = ca_j^{-1}$, we get $|f(ca_j^{-1}x) - f(c)| \leq \varepsilon$, or $-\varepsilon \leq f(ca_j^{-1}x) - f(c)$, i.e.

$$\varepsilon = f(c) - \varepsilon \le f(ca_j^{-1}x) \le \sum_{i=1}^p f(ca_i^{-1}x).$$

Taking the mean-value, we obtain

$$\varepsilon \leq \sum_{i=1}^{p} \int f(ca_i^{-1}x) d_m x = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \int f(x) d_m x = p \int f(x) d_m x$$

by translation invariance. Therefore $\int f d_m \geq \varepsilon/p > 0$.

(e) It follows immediately from §16-4.5c.

28-2.11. <u>Theorem</u> The mean-value form is inversion invariant, that is for all $f \in A(G)$ we have $\int f(x^{-1})d_m x = \int f(x)d_m x$.

<u>Proof</u>. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $a_i \in G$ and $\alpha_i \ge 0$ such that $\alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_n = 1$ and $\left| \int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i f(x^{-1}a_iy^{-1}) \right| \le \varepsilon$ for all $x, y \in G$. Then we obtain $\left| \int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i f^v(ya_i^{-1}x) \right| \le \varepsilon$ for all $x, y \in G$. Therefore by uniqueness of mean-value, we have $\int f^v d_m = \int f d_m$.

28-2.12. <u>Theorem</u> Every left invariant subspace M of A(G) has a unique left translation invariant normalized positive linear form.

<u>Proof</u>. The restriction of mean-value form to M provides the existence. For uniqueness, suppose that μ is any left translation invariant normalized positive linear form. Take any real ap-function f in M. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are $a_i \in G$ and $\alpha_i \ge 0$ such that $\alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_n = 1$ and $\left| \int f d_m - \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i f(ya_i x) \right| \le \varepsilon$ for all $x, y \in G$. Letting y = e, we have $\int f d_m - \varepsilon \le \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i L_{a_i} f(x) \le \int f d_m + \varepsilon$ for all $x \in G$. Applying μ , we obtain $\int f d_m - \varepsilon \le \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i \mu(f) = \mu(f) \le \int f d_m + \varepsilon$.

Letting $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, we have $\mu(f) = \int f d_m$ for every real function in M. The complex case follows from linearity. \Box

28-3 Convolutions

28-3.1. **Example** Let $G = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ be a finite group and $A_i = \{x_i\}$. Every function $f: G \to \mathbb{K}$ is almost periodic because $\{A_i\}$ is an ε -cover for f. Let $\mu(f) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(x_j)$. Since μ is left translation invariant normalized positive linear form, it is the mean-value form. For every $a \in G$, define $f_a(x) = \delta_{ax}$ which is 1 if x = a and 0 otherwise. Then $f = \sum_{a \in G} f(a)f_a$. Identify f_a with a, functions on G can be identified as the formal sums $u = \sum_{a \in G} u_a a$ and $v = \sum_{b \in G} v_b b$ where $u_a, v_b \in \mathbb{K}$. The average of their formal product is given by

$$u \times v = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{a \in G} \sum_{b \in G} (u_a v_b)(ab) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{c \in G} \sum_{ab=c} (u_a v_b)c = \sum_{c \in G} \left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{b \in G} u_{cb^{-1}} v_b\right)c.$$

Converting back to function notation, we have $(f \times g)(c) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{b \in G} f(cb^{-1})g(b)$. This motivates the definition of convolution in terms of group algebra.

28-3.2. <u>Theorem</u> Let G, H be two groups and f an ap-function on the product group $G \times H$.

(a) For each $x \in G$, $y \to f(x, y)$ is an ap-function on H.

(b) The function $x \to \int f(x, y) d_m y$ is almost periodic on G.

(c) $\int f(x,y)d_m(x,y) = \int \left[\int f(x,y)dy\right] d_m x$. For convenience, it is also denoted by $\int d_m x \int f(x,y)d_m y$. Therefore we are allowed to change the order of taking mean-values.

<u>Proof.</u> (a) Let $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ be an ε -cover of $G \times H$ for f. Fix $x \in G$. Let $\overline{N_i} = \{y \in H : (x, y) \in A_i\}$. Clearly $\{N_i : i \leq n\}$ is a cover of H. Suppose $a, b \in N_i$ and $z \in H$. Then $(x, a), (x, b) \in A_i$ and $(e, z) \in G \times H$. Hence

$$|f(x,az) - f(x,bz)| = |f\{(x,a)(e,z)\} - f\{(x,b)(e,z)\}| \le \varepsilon.$$
 #1

Thus $\{N_i : i \leq n\}$ is an ε -cover of H for $y \to f(x, y)$. Consequently, f(x, y) is almost periodic in $y \in H$.

(b) Next fix az and bz but allow x to vary. Then f(x, az), f(x, bz) are almost periodic in $x \in G$. Taking mean-value with respect to x in #1, we have

$$\left|\int f(x,az)d_mx - \int f(x,bz)d_mx\right| \leq \int |f(x,az) - f(x,bz)| \ d_mx \leq \varepsilon.$$

Hence $\{N_i : i \leq n\}$ is also a left ε -cover of H for the function $y \to \int f(x, y) d_m x$. Therefore $\int f(x, y) d_m x$ is almost periodic in $y \in H$.

(c) Define $\mu(f) = \int \int f(x, y) d_m x d_m y$ for every ap-function f on $G \times H$. Clearly μ is a translation invariant normalized positive linear form on $A(G \times H)$. By uniqueness of mean-values, we have $\int f(x, y) d_m(x, y) = \int \int f(x, y) d_m x d_m y$. The proof is completed by symmetry between x, y.

28-3.3. **Lemma** If f is an ap-function on $G \times H$, then the function $(x, y) \to f(x^{-1}, y)$ is also almost periodic on $G \times H$.

<u>Proof</u>. Define $g(x, y) = f(x^{-1}, y)$ for all $(x, y) \in G \times H$. Let $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ be an ε -cover of $G \times H$ for f. Consider $B_i = \{(x, y) \in G \times H : (x^{-1}, y) \in A_i\}$. Clearly $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$ is a cover of $G \times H$. Take any $(a, c), (b, d) \in B_i$ and $(x, y) \in G \times H$. Since $(a^{-1}, c), (b^{-1}, d) \in A_i$, we get

$$|g[(a,c)(x,y)] - g[(b,d)(x,y)]| = |f(x^{-1}a^{-1},cy) - f(x^{-1}b^{-1},dy)|$$
$$= |f[(x^{-1},e_2)(a^{-1},c)(e_1,y)] - f[(x^{-1},e_2)(b^{-1},d)(e_1,y)]| \le \varepsilon$$

where e_1, e_2 are the identity element of G, H respectively. Therefore $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$ is a left ε -cover of $G \times H$ for g. Consequently g is almost periodic on $G \times H$.

28-3.4. <u>Lemma</u> If h is an almost periodic on H, then the function f on $G \times H$ given by f(x, y) = h(y) is almost periodic.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$ be an ε -cover of H for h. Clearly $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ is a cover of $G \times H$ where $A_i = G \times B_i$ for each i. Take any $(a, c), (b, d) \in A_i$ and $(x, y) \in G \times H$. Since $b, d \in B_i$; we have

$$| f[(a,c)(x,y)] - f[(b,d)(x,y)] | = |h(cy) - h(dy)| \le \varepsilon.$$

Therefore $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ is an ε -cover of $G \times H$ for f. Consequently f is almost periodic on $G \times H$.

28-3.5. Lemma If f is a real ap-function on $G \times H$, then the functions g, h on G defined by $g(x) = \sup\{f(x, y) : y \in H\}$ and $h(x) = \inf\{f(x, y) : y \in H\}$ are almost periodic.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ be an ε -cover of $G \times H$ for f. Define $\overline{B_i} = \{x \in G : (x, e_2) \in A_i\}$. Clearly $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$ is a cover of G. For all $a, b \in B_i$, we have $|f[(a, e_2)(x, y)] - f[(b, e_2)(x, y)]| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $(x, y) \in G \times H$ i.e. $f(ax, y) - \varepsilon \leq f(bx, y) \leq f(ax, y) + \varepsilon$. Taking supremum over $y \in H$, we get $g(ax) - \varepsilon \leq g(bx) \leq g(ax) + \varepsilon$, or $|g(ax) - g(bx)| \leq \varepsilon$. Therefore $\{B_i : i \leq n\}$

is an ε -cover of G for g. Consequently, g is almost periodic on G. Since $h(x) = -\sup\{-f(x, y) : y \in H\}$, the function h is also almost periodic.

28-3.6. Lemma Let f be an ap-function on G. Then the functions taking $(x, y) \in G \times G$ to f(xy), $f(x^{-1}y)$, $f(xy^{-1})$, $f(x^{-1}y^{-1})$, f(yx), $f(y^{-1}x)$, $f(yx^{-1})$, $f(yx^{-1})$, $f(x^{-1}y)$, $f(x^{-1}y$

<u>*Proof.*</u> Define g(x,y) = f(xy) for all $x, y \in G$. To show that g is almost periodic on G, let $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ be an ε -cover of G for f. Define $B_{ij} = A_i \times A_j$. Clearly $\{B_{ij} : i, j \leq n\}$ is a cover of $G \times G$. For all $(a_i, a_j), (b_i, b_j) \in B_{ij}$ and $(x, y) \in G \times G$, we have

$$|g[(a_i, a_j)(x, y)] - g[(b_i, b_j)(x, y)]| = |f(a_i x a_j y) - f(b_i x b_j y)|$$

$$\leq |f(a_i x a_j y) - f(a_i x b_j y)| + |f(a_i x b_j y) - f(b_i x b_j y)| \leq \varepsilon + \varepsilon = 2\varepsilon.$$

Therefore g is almost periodic on $G \times G$. Next, applying §28-3.3to g, $f(x^{-1}y)$ is almost periodic in $(x, y) \in G \times G$. Similarly, $f(x^{-1}y^{-1})$ is almost periodic in $(x, y) \in G \times G$. Since the inversion of f is almost periodic on G, $f(yx) = f(\{x^{-1}y^{-1}\}^{-1})$ is almost periodic in $(x, y) \in G \times G$. Repeated application of §28-3.3completes the proof.

28-3.7. **Theorem** Let f, g be ap-function on G. For every $x \in G$ we have

$$\int f(xy^{-1})g(y)d_m y = \int f(xy)g(y^{-1})d_m y$$

= $\int f(y)g(y^{-1}x)d_m y = \int f(y^{-1})g(yx)d_m y.$

This common value is denoted by $f \times g(x)$. The ap-function $f \times g$ on G is called the *convolution* of f, g.

Proof. We have proved that all functions involved are almost periodic. Replacing y by y^{-1} we have $\int f(xy^{-1})g(y)d_my = \int f(xy)g(y^{-1})d_my$. Replacing y by $x^{-1}y$ we get $\int f(xy)g(y^{-1})d_my = \int f(y)g(y^{-1}x)d_my$. Replacing y by y^{-1} we obtain $\int f(y)g(y^{-1}x)d_my = \int f(y^{-1})g(yx)d_my$. Finally, $f(xy^{-1})$ and g(y) are almost periodic in $(x, y) \in G \times G$, so is their product $f(xy^{-1})g(y)$. Hence its mean-value for $y \in G$ is almost periodic in $x \in G$. Therefore $f \times g$ is almost periodic on G.

28-3.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let f_1, f_2, \dots, f_p be ap-functions on G. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are $\alpha_i \ge 0$ and $a_i \in G$ such that $\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_n = 1$ and

$$\left|\int f_k d_m - \sum_{i=1}^n lpha_i f_k(x a_i y)\right| \leq \varepsilon \qquad orall \ x,y \in G, \ \forall \ 1 \leq k \leq p.$$

<u>Proof</u>. It is trivial for p = 1. Inductively, suppose that g is an ap-function in addition to f_1, f_2, \dots, f_p . For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are $\alpha_i, \beta_j \ge 0$ and $a_i, b_j \in G$ such that $\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_u = \beta_1 + \dots + \beta_v = 1$ and for all $x, y \in G$; $1 \le k \le p$;

$$\left|\int f_k d_m - \sum_{i=1}^u \alpha_i f_k(x a_i y)\right| \leq \varepsilon$$
 and $\left|\int g d_m - \sum_{j=1}^v \beta_j g(x b_j y)\right| \leq \varepsilon.$

Replacing y by $b_j y$ in the first inequality, multiplying by β_j and summing over j = 1 to v, we have $\left|\int f_k d_m - \sum_{i=1}^u \sum_{j=1}^v \alpha_i \beta_j f_k(xa_ib_jy)\right| \leq \varepsilon$. Similarly replacing x by xa_i , multiplying by α_i and summing over i = 1 to u, we obtain $\left|\int gd_m - \sum_{i=1}^u \sum_{j=1}^v \alpha_i \beta_j g(xa_ib_jy)\right| \leq \varepsilon$. The proof is completed by $\sum_{i=1}^u \sum_{j=1}^v \alpha_i \beta_j = (\sum_{i=1}^u \alpha_i) (\sum_{j=1}^v \beta_j) = 1.$

28-3.9. <u>Theorem</u> Convolutions can be approximated by linear combinations of translates of their factors. More precisely, for all $f, g \in A(G)$ and for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are $\alpha_i, \beta_j \in \mathbb{K}$ and $a_i, b_j \in G$ such that for all $x \in G$ we have

$$\left|f imes g(x) - \sum_{i=1}^n lpha_i f(xa_i)
ight| \leq arepsilon \quad \left|f imes g(x) - \sum_{j=1}^k eta_j g(b_j x)
ight| \leq arepsilon.$$

<u>Proof</u>. Choose $\delta > 0$ satisfying $\delta ||g||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$. Let $\{A_i : i \leq n\}$ be a δ -cover for f and pick any $a_i \in A_i$ for each $i \leq n$. Fix $x \in G$. Select A_i containing x. Then $|f(xy^{-1}) - f(a_iy^{-1})| \leq \delta$ for all y. Hence

$$\begin{split} \left| \int f(xy^{-1})g(y)d_my - \int f(a_iy^{-1})g(y)d_my \right| \\ &\leq \int |f(xy^{-1}) - f(a_iy^{-1})| \ \|g\|_{\infty}d_my \leq \int \delta \|g\|_{\infty}d_my = \delta \|g\|_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon \end{split}$$

There are $\alpha_j \ge 0, b_j \in G$ such that $\alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_p = 1$ and for each $i \le n$ we get

$$\left|\int f(a_i y^{-1})g(y)d_m y - \sum_{j=1}^p \alpha_j f(a_i b_j^{-1})g(b_j)\right| \le \varepsilon$$

Because $x, a_i \in A_i$, we obtain $|f(a_i b_j^{-1}) - f(x b_j^{-1})| \le \delta$ and thus

$$\left|\sum_{j=1}^{p} \alpha_j f(a_i b_j^{-1}) g(b_j) - \sum_{j=1}^{p} \alpha_j f(x b_j^{-1}) g(b_j)\right| \le \delta \|g\|_{\infty} \le \varepsilon.$$

Combining all inequalities we obtain

$$\left|f \times g(x) - \sum_{j=1}^{p} [\alpha_j g(b_j)] f(x b_j^{-1})\right| \leq 3\varepsilon.$$

Because it is independent of the choice of a_i , it works for all $x \in G$. The first inequality is proved by obvious modification of symbols. The second follows in a similar manner.

28-3.10. <u>Theorem</u> Let f be an ap-function on G. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are ap-functions $g, h \ge 0$ such that $\int gd_m = \int hd_m = 1$ and $||f - f \times g||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$, $||f - h \times f||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof.</u> For every $y \in G$, define $\varphi(y) = 0 \vee [\varepsilon - \sup\{|f(x) - f(xy^{-1})| : x \in G\}]$. Clearly $|f(x) - f(xy^{-1})| \varphi(y) \leq \varepsilon \varphi(y)$ for all $x, y \in G$. Since $\varphi(e) = \varepsilon > 0$, we have $\int \varphi(y)d_m y > 0$ and $g(y) = \varphi(y) / \int \varphi d_m$ is well-defined. Hence we obtain $0 \leq g \in A(G)$, $\int gd_m = 1$ and $|f(x) - f(xy^{-1})| g(y) \leq \varepsilon g(y)$. Therefore

$$\begin{split} |f(x) - f \times g(x)| &= \left| \int f(x)g(y)d_my - \int f(xy^{-1})g(y)d_my \right| \\ &\leq \int |f(x) - f(xy^{-1})| \ g(y)d_my \leq \int \varepsilon g(y)d_my \leq \varepsilon \end{split}$$

i.e. $\|f - f \times g\|_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$. The second part follows in a similar way.

28-3.11. **Theorem** A(G) is an associative algebra under convolution.

$$\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof.} \quad \text{Let } f,g,h \text{ be ap-functions on } G. \text{ Then for all } x \in G, \\ [f \times (g \times h)](x) = \int f(xy^{-1})(g \times h)(y)d_my \\ &= \int \int f(xy^{-1})g(yz^{-1})h(z)d_mzd_my = \int \left[\int f(xy^{-1})g(yz^{-1})d_my\right]h(z)d_mz \\ &= \int \left[\int f(xz^{-1}u^{-1})g(u)du\right]h(z)d_mz, \qquad yz^{-1} = u, \quad y^{-1} = z^{-1}u^{-1} \\ &= \int (f \times g)(xz^{-1})h(z)d_mz = [(f \times g) \times h](x). \end{array}$$

Therefore the convolution is associative. It is routine to verify that the convolution is distributive and $\alpha(f \times g) = (\alpha f) \times g = f \times (\alpha g)$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{K}$. \Box

28-3.12. **Theorem** For all $f, g \in A(G)$ and all $a \in G$; we have

$$L_a(f \times g) = (L_a f) \times g, R_a(f \times g) = f \times R_a g \text{ and } (R_a f) \times g = f \times L_a g$$

Proof. The first and the last equality are verified as follow:

$$\begin{split} L_a(f\times g)(x) &= (f\times g)(ax) \\ &= \int f(axy^{-1})g(y)d_my = \int (L_af)(xy^{-1})g(y)d_my = (L_af)\times g(x) \end{split}$$

 and

$$(R_a f) \times g(x) = \int (R_a f)(y)g(y^{-1}x)d_m y = \int f(ya)g(y^{-1}x)d_m y$$

= $\int f(z)g(az^{-1}x)d_m y = \int f(z)(L_a g)(z^{-1}x)d_m y = (f \times L_a g)(x).$

28-3.13. <u>Theorem</u> If x is in the center of G i.e. xy = yx for all $y \in G$, then $(f \times g)(x) = (g \times f)(x)$. In particular, if G is abelian, then A(G) is commutative. <u>Proof.</u> $(f \times g)(x) = \int f(xy)g(y^{-1})d_my = \int g(y^{-1})f(yx)d_my = (g \times f)(x)$. 28-3.14. <u>Theorem</u> For all $f, g \in A(G)$, the following statements hold. (a) $f^* \in A(G)$ and $||f^*||_{\infty} = ||f||_{\infty}$ where $f^*(x) = f(x^{-1})^-$. (b) $f^{**} = f, (f + g)^* = f^* + g^*$ and $(\lambda f)^* = \lambda^- f^*$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$. (c) $(f \times g)^* = g^* \times f^*$.

Proof. To verify (c), observe that

$$(f \times g)^*(x) = \overline{(f \times g)(x^{-1})} = \overline{\int f(x^{-1}y^{-1})g(y)d_m y}$$
$$= \int \overline{f}(x^{-1}y^{-1}) \ \overline{g}(y)d_m y = \int g^*(y^{-1})f^*(yx)d_m y = (g^* \times f^*)(x).$$

28-4 Eigen Expansion

28-4.1. The technique of integral equations are employed to approximate ap-functions. This prepares the ground for further approximation by trigonometric polynomials.

28-4.2. Let A(G) be the set of all ap-functions on a group G; $1 \le p, q \le \infty$ conjugate indices satisfying $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$. We have proved that A(G) is a Banach space under the sup-norm $||f||_{\infty} = \sup\{|f(x)| : x \in G\}$. For every $1 \le p < \infty$, since $|f|^p$ is almost periodic, $||f||_p = \left[\int |f(x)|^p d_m x\right]^{1/p}$ is well-defined. Write $A_p(G)$ to emphasize the *p*-norm.

28-4.3. **<u>Theorem</u>** (a) $A_p(G)$ is a normed space.

(b) $A_2(G)$ is an inner product space under $\langle f, g \rangle = \int f(x)\overline{g(x)} d_m x$. Since we use the square norm most of the time, write $||f|| = ||f||_2$ for all $f \in A(G)$. (c) $|\int f(x)g(x)d_m x| \leq ||f||_p ||g||_q$ for all $f, g \in A(g)$.

 $Proof \quad \text{Suppose } 0 \neq f \in A(G) \quad \text{Then } 0 \leq |f|^p \neq 0 \text{ and } h$

<u>Proof</u>. Suppose $0 \neq f \in A(G)$. Then $0 \leq |f|^p \neq 0$ and hence $\int |f|^p d_m > 0$ by §28-2.10d. It follows $||f||_p \neq 0$. It is routine to complete the proof as in measure theory.

28-4.4. Theorem Let $f_n, f, g_n, g \in A(G)$. (a) $||L_a f|| = ||R_a f|| = ||f^*||_p = ||f||_p \le ||f||_\infty$ for every $a \in G$. (b) $||f \times g||_\infty \le ||f||_p ||g||_q$, $|\int f(x)d_m x| \le ||f||_p$ and $||f \times g|| \le ||f|| ||g||$. (c) If $||f_n - f||_p \to 0$ and $||g_n - g||_q \to 0$, then $||f_n \times g_n - f \times g||_\infty \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

 $\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof}_{}. \ \ (\mathbf{a}) \ \ \mathbf{It follows immediately from definition.} \\ \hline (\mathbf{b}) & |(f \times g)(x)| = \left| \int f(xy^{-1})g(y) \ d_m y \right| \\ & \leq \left[\int |f(xy^{-1})|^p d_m y \right]^{1/p} \left[\int |g(y)|^q d_m y \right]^{1/q} = \|f\|_p \ \|g\|_q \ . \end{array}$

Letting g = 1, we get

 $\begin{aligned} \left| \int f(x) d_m x \right| &= \left| \int f(x) g(x^{-1} e) d_m x \right| = \left| (f \times g)(e) \right| \le \|f\|_p \|g\|_q = \|f\|_p. \\ \text{Next, } \|f \times g\| &= \|f \times g\|_2 \le \|f \times g\|_{\infty} \le \|f\|_2 \|g\|_2 = \|f\| \|g\|. \\ \text{(c) It is a standard proof that the product is continuous.} \end{aligned}$

28-4.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f, g \in A(G)$. Write $||f|| = ||f||_2$. (a) $||f||^2 = ||f^*||^2 = (f \times f^*)(e) = (f^* \times f)(e)$ where *e* is the identity element of *G*. In particular, if $f^* = f$, then $||f||^2 = (f \times f)(e)$. (b) $< f, g \ge < g^*, f^* >$ and $||f \times g|| \le ||f|| ||g||$. (c) $(f \times g)(x) = < L_x f, g^* \ge < R_x g, f^* \ge < f, (L_{x^{-1}}g)^* \ge < g, (R_{x^{-1}}f)^* >$. $\begin{array}{l} \underline{Proof.} & \text{Observe that } \|f \times g\| \leq \|f \times g\|_{\infty} \leq \|f\| \ \|g\| \text{ and that} \\ & < L_x f, g^* >= \int L_x f(y) g^{*-}(y) d_m y = \int f(xy) g(y^{-1}) d_m y = (f \times g)(x), \\ & < f, (L_{x^{-1}}g)^* >= \int f(y) (L_{x^{-1}}g)^v(y) d_m y = \int f(y) g[(x^{-1}y)^{-1}] d_m y = (f \times g)(x), \\ & < g, (R_{x^{-1}}f)^* >= \int g(y) (R_{x^{-1}}f)^v(y) d_m y = \int f[(yx^{-1})^{-1}] g(y) d_m y = (f \times g)(x). \end{array}$ It is routine computation to complete the proof. \Box

28-4.6. <u>Lemma</u> Let f be an ap-function on G.
(a) The common value of the following is denoted by Γ_k.

 $(f^* \times f)^k(e) = (f \times f^*)^k(e)$ = $||f^* \times f \times f^* \times \cdots ||^2$, k alternative factors ended with either f^* or f= $||f \times f^* \times f \times \cdots ||^2$, k alternative factors ended with either f or f^* (b) $\Gamma_k^2 \leq \Gamma_{k-1}\Gamma_{k+1}$ and $\Gamma_{j+k} \leq \Gamma_j\Gamma_k$.

Proof. (a) Because e is in the center of G, we have

$$\begin{split} (f \times f^*)^k(e) &= f \times [(f^* \times f)^{k-1} \times f^*](e) = [(f^* \times f)^{k-1} \times f^*] \times f(e) \\ &= (f^* \times f)^k(e) = (f^* \times f \times \cdots \times f^* \times f)(e) \\ &= (f^* \times f \times \cdots) \times (\cdots \times f^* \times f)(e), \qquad k \text{ factors in each part} \\ &= (f^* \times f \times \cdots) \times (f^* \times f \times \cdots)^*(e) = \|f^* \times f \times \cdots\|^2 \end{split}$$

Similarly $(f \times f^*)^k(e) = ||f \times f^* \times \cdots ||^2$. (b) Observe that

$$\Gamma_{k} \leq \|f \times f^{*} \times \dots \times f \times f^{*}\|_{\infty}, \quad 2k \text{ factors}$$
$$\leq \|f \times f^{*} \times \dots \| \cdot \| \dots \times f \times f^{*}\| = \sqrt{\Gamma_{k+1}\Gamma_{k-1}}$$

first with (k + 1) factors, second (k - 1) factors. Also

$$\begin{split} &\Gamma_{j+k} = \|f^* \times f \times \cdots \|^2, \qquad j+k \text{ alternative factors} \\ &\leq \|f^* \times f \times \cdots \|^2 \quad \|\cdots \|^2, \qquad \text{first } j \text{ and second } k \text{ alternative factors} \\ &= \Gamma_j \Gamma_k. \qquad \Box \end{split}$$

28-4.7. Lemma Let $f \neq 0$ be an ap-function on G.

(a) $\Gamma_k > 0$ for all $k \ge 1$. (b) $\lambda = \lim_{k \to \infty} \Gamma_{k+1} / \Gamma_k$ exists, $0 < \lambda \le ||f||^2$ and $||f^* \times f||^2 \le \lambda ||f||^2$. (c) $\nu = \lim_{k \to \infty} \Gamma_k / \lambda^k$ exists and $\nu \ge 1$.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) Suppose $\Gamma_k = 0$ for some $k \ge 3$. Then $0 \le \Gamma_{k-1}^2 \le \Gamma_{k-2}\Gamma_k = 0$ implies $\Gamma_{k-1} = 0$. Repeating the same argument, we obtain $\Gamma_2 = \|f^* \times f\|^2 = 0$, i.e. $f^* \times f = 0$. Hence $(f^* \times f)(e) = \|f\|^2 = 0$, or f = 0. This proves (a). (b) From $\Gamma_k^2 \leq \Gamma_{k-1}\Gamma_{k+1}$, we have $0 < \Gamma_k/\Gamma_{k-1} \leq \Gamma_{k+1}/\Gamma_k \leq \Gamma_1$. It follows that $0 < \Gamma_{k+1}/\Gamma_k \uparrow \lambda \leq \Gamma_1$ for some limit λ , that is $\lambda \leq \Gamma_1 = ||f||^2$. When k = 1, we get $||f^* \times f||^2 = \Gamma_2 \leq \lambda \Gamma_1 = ||f||^2$.

(c) Since $\Gamma_{k+1}/\Gamma_k \leq \lambda$, we have $\Gamma_k/\lambda^k \geq \Gamma_{k+1}/\lambda^{k+1} > 0$. It follows that $\Gamma_k/\lambda^k \downarrow \nu$ for some limit ν . Observe that

$$\Gamma_k \geq \frac{\Gamma_{j+k}}{\Gamma_j} = \frac{\Gamma_{j+k}}{\Gamma_{j+k-1}} \frac{\Gamma_{j+k-1}}{\Gamma_{j+k-2}} \frac{\Gamma_{j+k-2}}{\Gamma_{j+k-3}} \cdots \frac{\Gamma_{j+1}}{\Gamma_j} \geq \left(\frac{\Gamma_{j+k}}{\Gamma_{j+k-1}}\right)^k.$$

For $j \to \infty$, we get $\Gamma_k \ge \lambda^k$, or $\Gamma_k/\lambda^k \ge 1$. Letting $k \to \infty$ we have $\nu \ge 1$. 28-4.8. An ap-function φ is called a *projector* if $\varphi^* = \varphi = \varphi \times \varphi$. The map $f \to f^*$ is called the *involution* on A(G). Interpret $f^* \times f$ as the operator $\varphi \to (f^* \times f) \times \varphi$ on A(G). Next lemma gives an eigenvalue with a corresponding eigenvector and next theorem expands $f^* \times f$ in terms of eigenvalues and eigenvectors. It prepares the ground for approximation by trigonometric polynomials later.

28-4.9. Let $f \neq 0$ be an ap-function on G.

(a) The sequence $\{(f^* \times f)^k / \lambda^k : k \ge 1\}$ converges uniformly to a projector φ . (b) $f^* \times f \times \varphi = \lambda \varphi = \varphi \times f^* \times f$ and $\|\varphi\|^2 = \nu$.

Proof. For all $j, k \ge 1$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \frac{(f^* \times f)^{j+1}}{\lambda^{j+1}} - \frac{(f^* \times f)^{k+1}}{\lambda^{k+1}} \right\|_{\infty}^2 \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda^2} \left\| f^* \times \left[\frac{(f^* \times f)^j}{\lambda^j} - \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k} \right] \times f \right\|_{\infty}^2 \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\lambda^2} \left\| f^* \times \left\{ \frac{(f^* \times f)^j}{\lambda^j} - \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k} \right\} \right\|^2 \| f \|^2 \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\lambda^2} \| f^* \|^2 \left\| \frac{(f^* \times f)^j}{\lambda^j} - \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k} \right\|^2 \| f \|^2 \\ &\leq \frac{\Gamma_1^2}{\lambda^2} \left[\frac{(f^* \times f)^j}{\lambda^{j}} - \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k} \right]^2 (e) \\ &= \frac{\Gamma_1^2}{\lambda^2} \left[\frac{(f^* \times f)^{2j}(e)}{\lambda^{2j}} - 2 \frac{(f^* \times f)^{j+k}(e)}{\lambda^{j+k}} + \frac{(f^* \times f)^{2k}(e)}{\lambda^{2k}} \right] \\ &= \frac{\Gamma_1^2}{\lambda^2} \left(\frac{\Gamma_{2j}}{\lambda^{2j}} - 2 \frac{\Gamma_{j+k}}{\lambda^{j+k}} + \frac{\Gamma_{2k}}{\lambda^{2k}} \right) \to 0, \quad \text{as} \quad j, k \to \infty. \end{split}$$

Therefore the Cauchy sequence $\{(f^* \times f)^k / \lambda^k : k \ge 1\}$ converges uniformly on G to some ap-function φ . Since convolution is continuous in $A_2(G)$, we have

$$\varphi \times \varphi = \left[\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k}\right] \times \left[\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k}\right]$$
$$= \lim_{k \to \infty} \left[\frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k} \times \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k}\right] = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{(f^* \times f)^{2k}}{\lambda^{2k}} = \varphi.$$

Since involution is continuous in $A_2(G)$, we get

$$\varphi^* = \left[\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k}\right]^* = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left[\frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k}\right]^* = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k} = \varphi.$$

Next observe that

$$\varphi = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{(f^* \times f)^{k+1}}{\lambda^{k+1}} = \frac{f^* \times f}{\lambda} \times \left[\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{(f^* \times f)^{k+1}}{\lambda^{k+1}}\right] = \frac{f^* \times f}{\lambda} \times \varphi$$

that is $f^* \times f \times \varphi = \lambda \varphi$. Taking the hermitian we have $\varphi \times f^* \times f = \lambda \varphi$. Finally,

$$\|\varphi\|^2 = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left\| \frac{(f^* \times f)^k}{\lambda^k} \right\|^2 = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{\Gamma_{2k}}{\lambda^{2k}} = \nu.$$

28-4.10. <u>**Theorem</u>** For every ap-function $f \neq 0$ on G, there is a sequence, finite or infinite, of real numbers $\lambda_1 > \lambda_2 > \cdots \downarrow 0$ and a sequence $\{\varphi_n : n \ge 1\}$ of projectors in A(G) such that</u>

(a) $\|\varphi_n\| \ge 1$, $\varphi_n = \varphi_n^* = \varphi_n \times \varphi_n$, (b) $f_n^* \times f_n \times \varphi_n = \lambda_n \varphi_n = \varphi_n \times f_n^* \times f_n$, (c) $\varphi_j \times \varphi_k = 0$ for all $j \ne k$, (d) $f^* \times f(x) = \sum_{n\ge 1} \lambda_n \varphi_n(x)$ uniformly on G, (e) $\|f\|^2 = \sum_{n\ge 1} \lambda_n \|\varphi_n\|^2$. <u>Proof</u>. Let $f_1 = f$. Choose $\lambda_1 > 0$ such that $(f_1^* \times f_1)^k / \lambda_1^k \to \varphi_1$ in $A_{\infty}(G)$ as $\overline{k \to \infty}$, $\|\varphi_1\| \ge 1$, $\varphi_1 = \varphi_1^* = \varphi_1 \times \varphi_1$ and $f_1^* \times f_1 \times \varphi_1 = \lambda_1 \varphi_1 = \varphi_1 \times f_1^* \times f_1$. Inductively, let $f_{n+1} = f_n - f_n \times \varphi_n$. If $f_{n+1} = 0$, stop otherwise choose $\lambda_{n+1} > 0$ such that $(f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1})^k / \lambda_{n+1}^k \to \varphi_{n+1}$ in $A_{\infty}(G)$ as $k \to \infty$, $\|\varphi_{n+1}\| \ge 1$, $\varphi_{n+1} = \varphi_{n+1}^* = \varphi_{n+1} \times \varphi_{n+1}$ and $f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1} \times \varphi_{n+1} = \lambda_{n+1} \varphi_{n+1} = \varphi_{n+1} \times f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1}$. We claim $(f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1})^k = (f_n^* \times f_n)^k - \lambda_n^k \varphi_n$. For k = 1.

$$\lim (f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1})^n = (f_n^* \times f_n)^n - \lambda_n^n \varphi_n. \text{ For } k = 1,$$

$$f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1} = (f_n - f_n \times \varphi_n)^* \times (f_n - f_n \times \varphi_n)$$

$$= (f_n^* - \varphi_n \times f_n^*) \times (f_n - f_n \times \varphi_n)$$

$$= f_n^* \times f_n - \varphi_n \times f_n^* \times f_n - f_n^* \times f_n \times \varphi_n + \varphi_n \times f_n^* \times f_n \times \varphi_n$$

and in general by induction,

 $= f_n^* \times f_n - \lambda_n \varphi_n.$

$$\begin{aligned} (f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1})^{k+1} &= (f_n^* \times f_n - \lambda_n \varphi_n)^{k+1} \\ &= [(f_n^* \times f_n)^k - \lambda_n^k \varphi_n] \times (f_n^* \times f_n - \lambda_n \varphi_n) \\ &= (f_n^* \times f_n)^{k+1} - \lambda_n^k \varphi_n \times f_n^* \times f_n - (f_n^* \times f_n)^k \times \lambda_n \varphi_n + \lambda_n^k \varphi_n \times \lambda_n \varphi_n \\ &= (f_n^* \times f_n)^{k+1} - \lambda_n^{k+1} \varphi_n. \end{aligned}$$

It follows $\left(\frac{\lambda_{n+1}}{\lambda_n}\right)^k \left\| \frac{(f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1})^k}{\lambda_{n+1}^k} \right\| = \left\| \frac{(f_n^* \times f_n)^k}{\lambda_n^k} - \varphi_n \right\| \to 0 \text{ as } k \to \infty. \end{aligned}$
Since $\|(f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1})^k / \lambda_{n+1}^k\| \to \|\varphi_{n+1}\| \ge 1 \text{ as } k \to \infty, \text{ we have } \lambda_{n+1} / \lambda_n < 1, \end{aligned}$

Since $\|(f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1})^k / \lambda_{n+1}^k\| \to \|\varphi_{n+1}\| \ge 1$ as $k \to \infty$, we have $\lambda_{n+1} / i.e. \ \lambda_{n+1} < \lambda_n$. Next summing up the following

$$f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1} = f_n^* \times f_n - \lambda_n \varphi_n$$
$$f_n^* \times f_n = f_{n-1}^* \times f_{n-1} - \lambda_{n-1} \varphi_{n-1}$$
$$\cdots = \cdots$$

 $f_2^* \times f_2 = f_1^* \times f_1 - \lambda_1 \varphi_1$

we obtain $f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1} = f^* \times f - \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \varphi_k$. Next we claim that for all $k \ge 1$ we have $f_{n+k}^* \times f_{n+k} \times \varphi_n = 0$ and $\varphi_{n+k} \times \varphi_n = 0$. In fact for k = 1, we get

$$\begin{split} f_{n+1}^* &\times f_{n+1} \times \varphi_n = (f_n^* \times f_n - \lambda_n \varphi_n) \times \varphi_n \\ = f_n^* &\times f_n \times \varphi_n - \lambda_n \varphi_n \times \varphi_n = \lambda_n \varphi_n - \lambda_n \varphi_n = 0 \end{split}$$

and $\lambda_{n+1}\varphi_{n+1} \times \varphi_n = (\varphi_{n+1} \times f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1}) \times \varphi_n = \varphi_{n+1} \times (f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1} \times \varphi_n) = 0$. or $\varphi_{n+1} \times \varphi_n = 0$ since $\lambda_{n+1} > 0$. Next for arbitrary k > 1, we have

$$f_{n+k+1}^* \times f_{n+k+1} \times \varphi_n = (f_{n+k}^* \times f_{n+k} - \lambda_{n+k}\varphi_{n+k}) \times \varphi_n$$

= $f_{n+k}^* \times f_{n+k} \times \varphi_n - \lambda_{n+k}\varphi_{n+k} \times \varphi_n = 0$, by induction ;

and also

$$\lambda_{n+k+1}\varphi_{n+k+1} \times \varphi_n = (\varphi_{n+k} \times f_{n+k+1}^* \times f_{n+k+1}) \times \varphi_n$$
$$= \varphi_{n+k} \times (f_{n+k+1}^* \times f_{n+k+1} \times \varphi_n) = 0$$

Therefore we obtain

$$f^* \times f \times \varphi_n = \left(f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1} + \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \varphi_k\right) \times \varphi_n$$

= $f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1} \times \varphi_n + \lambda_n \varphi_n \times \varphi_n + \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_k \varphi_k\right) \times \varphi_n$
= $0 + \lambda_n \varphi_n + 0 = \lambda_n \varphi_n$.

Taking the involution, we have $\varphi_n \times f^* \times f = \lambda_n \varphi_n$. From

$$\begin{aligned} \|f\|^2 &= (f^* \times f)(e) = (f^*_{n+1} \times f_{n+1})(e) + \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \varphi_k(e) \\ &= \|f_{n+1}\|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \|\varphi_k\|^2 \ge \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \end{aligned}$$

we get $\lambda_k \downarrow 0$. By §28-4.7b, $||f_n^* \times f_n||^2 \leq \lambda_n ||f_n||^2 \leq \lambda_n ||f||^2 \to 0$. Hence $f_n^* \times f_n \to 0$ in $A_2(G)$. On the other hand since

$$\sum_{k=1}^n \|\lambda_k \varphi_k\|_\infty \leq \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \|\varphi_k imes \varphi_k\|_\infty \leq \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \|\varphi_k\|^2 \leq \|f\|^2,$$

the series $h = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \varphi_k$ converges to some ap-function $h \in A_{\infty}(G)$. Hence $f_{n+1}^* \times f_{n+1} = f^* \times f - \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \varphi_k$ converges to $f^* \times f - h$ in $A_{\infty}(G)$ and thus also in $A_2(G)$. Since $||f_n \times f_n||^2 \to 0$, we have $f^* \times f - h = 0$. Therefore $f^* \times f = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \varphi_k$ in $A_{\infty}(G)$. The proof is competed as follow:

$$\|f\|^2 = (f^* \times f)(e) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \varphi_k(e) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \varphi_k \times \varphi_k(e) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \|\varphi_k\|^2. \quad \Box$$

28-4.11. <u>Theorem</u> For every $f \in A(G)$ and every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are projectors ψ, ξ in A(G) such that $||f - f \times \psi|| \le \varepsilon$ and $||f - \xi \times f|| \le \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof</u>. Choose $0 < \lambda_n \downarrow 0$ and projectors $\varphi_n \in A(G)$ according to the last theorem. Then for some n, we have $||f||^2 - \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k ||\varphi_k||^2 \le \varepsilon^2$. Since $\varphi_j \times \varphi_k = 0$ for $j \neq k$, their sum $\psi = \sum_{k=1}^n \varphi_k$ is also a projector in A(G). Furthermore,

$$\begin{split} \|f - f \times \psi\|^2 &= (f - f \times \psi)^* \times (f - f \times \psi)(e) \\ &= f^* \times f(e) - (\psi \times f^* \times f)(e) - (f^* \times f \times \psi)(e) + (\psi \times f^* \times f \times \psi)(e) \\ &= \|f\|^2 - \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \|\varphi_k\|^2 \le \varepsilon^2. \end{split}$$

This proves the first inequality. Taking the hermitian we get $||f^* - \psi \times f^*|| \le \varepsilon$. Since f^* is also arbitrary in A(G), the proof is completed.

28-4.12. **Theorem** Let f be an ap-function in A(G). For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are $g, \varphi \in A(G)$ such that $g \ge 0$, $\int gd_m = 1$, $\varphi^* = \varphi = \varphi \times \varphi$ and $\|f - f \times g \times \varphi\|_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there are $h, \xi \in A(G)$ such that $h \ge 0$, $\int hd_m = 1$, $\psi^* = \psi = \psi \times \psi$ and $\|f - \psi \times h \times f\|_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof.</u> If f = 0, then $g = \varphi = 1$ satisfy the requirement. Assume $f \neq 0$. Choose $g \ge 0$ such that $\int gd_m = 1$ and $\|f - f \times g\|_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. There is a projector $\varphi \in A(G)$ such that $\|g - g \times \varphi\| \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon/\|f\|$. Therefore we have

$$\begin{split} \|f - f \times g \times \varphi\|_{\infty} &\leq \|f - f \times g\|_{\infty} + \|f \times g - f \times g \times \varphi\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon + \|f\| \, \|g - g \times \varphi\| \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon + \|f\| \, \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon/\|f\| = \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Replacing f by f^* and taking involution, the proof is completed.

28-4.13. Alternative method of integral equations and Hilbert spaces can be found in [Naimark, p189].

28-99. <u>References and Further Readings</u> : vonNeumann, Maak, Corduneanu, Amerio, Chulaevsky and Pankov.

Chapter 29 Group Representations

29-1 Matrix Representations

29-1.1. We initiated the study of almost periodic functions in terms of linear combinations of entry functions of group representations of which the basic theory is developed in this chapter. We restrict ourselves to finite dimensional representations for its connection to almost periodic functions.

29-1.2. The *trace* of a square matrix is the sum of its diagonal entries. Note that tr(AB) = tr(BA) for all conformable square matrices A, B. The set mat(s,t) of all complex matrices of size $s \times t$ is an inner product space under $\langle A, B \rangle = tr(B^*A) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \sum_{j=1}^{t} \alpha_{ij} \beta_{ij}^- = \langle A^t, B^t \rangle$ for all $A = [\alpha_{ij}]$ and $B = [\beta_{ij}]$ in mat(s,t) where the hermitian $B^* = B^{t-}$ is the complex conjugate of the transpose of B.

29-1.3. Lemma (a) $||AB|| \leq ||A|| ||B||$ and $|tr(AB)| \leq ||A|| ||B||$ for all conformable matrices A, B.

- (b) If A is unitary of order s, then ||A|| = s.
- (c) If A, B are similar matrices, then ||A|| = ||B||.
- (d) $||A^*|| = ||A||$ in general.

29-1.4. Let G be a group. A map $E = [E_{ij}] : G \to mat(s,t)$ is almost periodic if all its entry functions E_{ij} are almost periodic. Almost periodic maps are also called *ap-maps* for convenience. The mean-value of an ap-map E is defined by $\int E(x)d_m x = [\int E_{ij}(x)d_m x]$. Properties of mean-values of ap-maps follow immediately from their entry functions. Note that $E^*(x) = E(x^{-1})^{t-1} = E(x^{-1})^*$ but we do not need this except when E is a function.

29-1.5. **Lemma** Let D(x), E(x) be ap-maps on G.

(a) $\int E(ax)d_mx = \int E(x)d_mx = \int E(x^{-1})d_mx$.

- (b) $\int E(x)^{-} d_m x = \left[\int E(x) d_m x\right]^{-}$ and $\int E(x)^t d_m x = \left[\int E(x) d_m x\right]^t$.
- (c) $\int tr E(x)d_m x = tr \int E(x)d_m x$.
- (d) For conformable matrices B, C we have $\int BE(x)C d_m x = B[\int E(x)d_m x]C$.

(e) The function $x \to ||E(x)||^2$ is almost periodic and we have

$$\|\int E(x)d_m x\|^2 \le \int \|E(x)\|^2 d_m x.$$

(f) For every conformable matrix B the following generalizes the convolution of scalar functions:

$$\int D(xy^{-1})BE(y)d_my = \int D(xy)BE(y^{-1})d_my \\ = \int D(y)BE(y^{-1}x)d_my = \int D(y^{-1})BE(yx)d_my.$$

29-1.6. The general linear group GL(s) is the multiplicative group of all invertible matrices of order s. A homomorphism from G into GL(s) is called a *representation*. A representation $D : G \to GL(s)$ is *bounded* if all entry functions D_{ij} are bounded on G and *unitary* if D(x) is a unitary matrix for every $x \in G$. The group of all unitary matrices of order s is denoted by U(s). Two representations D, E are *equivalent*, denoted by $D \sim E$ if there is an invertible matrix P such that $D(x) = P^{-1}E(x)P$ for all $x \in G$. In this case, the equivalence is said to be under the *intertwining matrix* P.

29-1.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let D be a representation of a group G. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) D is equivalent to a unitary representation.

(b) D is a bounded representation.

(c) D is an ap-map.

<u>Proof.</u> $(a \Rightarrow b)$ Suppose D is equivalent to a unitary representation E under an intertwining matrix P of order s, i.e. $D(x) = P^{-1}E(x)P$ for all $x \in G$. Then

$$||D(x)|| \le ||P^{-1}|| ||E(x)|| ||P|| \le s ||P^{-1}|| ||P||$$

shows that D is bounded on G.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$ It has been proved in §28-1.6.

 $(c \Rightarrow a)$ Suppose that D(x) is an ap-map. Let $A = \int D(x)^* D(x) d_m x$. Then $A^* = A$. Since D is a representation of G, D(e) is the identity matrix. For any nonzero column vector $v \in \mathbb{C}^s$, we have $\|D(e)v\|^2 = \|v\|^2 > 0$. Thus

$$v^*Av = \int v^*D(x)^*D(x)vd_mx = \int ||D(x)v||^2d_mx > 0.$$

Hence A is a positive definite matrix. Therefore $A = P^*P$ for some invertible matrix P. By translation invariance, we have for all $y \in G$,

$$\begin{split} &A = \int D(x)^* D(x) d_m x = \int D(xy)^* D(xy) d_m x \\ &= \int D(y)^* D(x)^* D(x) D(y) d_m x = D(y)^* \left[\int D(x)^* D(x) d_m x \right] D(y) \\ &= D(y)^* A D(y), \end{split}$$

that is $P^*P = D(y)^*P^*PD(y)$. Now for every $y \in G$, define $E(y) = PD(y)P^{-1}$. Then E is a representation of G. Finally E is a unitary representation because

$$\begin{split} E(y)^* E(y) &= [PD(y)P^{-1}]^* PD(y)P^{-1} \\ &= P^{-1*} [D(y)^* P^* PD(y)]P^{-1} = P^{-1*} P^* PP^{-1} = I. \end{split} \quad \Box$$

29-1.8. A representation D of G is *reducible* if there is an invertible matrix P such that $P^{-1}D(x)P = \begin{bmatrix} A(x) & 0 \\ C(x) & B(x) \end{bmatrix}$ for all $x \in G$ where A, B are square matrix maps of order at least one. A representation is *irreducible* if it is not reducible. Clearly if A, B are representations of G, then $D(x) = A(x) \oplus B(x)$ for all $x \in G$ is a representation which is called the *direct sum* of A, B. In this case, we write $D = A \oplus B$.

29-1.9. <u>Theorem</u> If a representation $D(x) = \begin{bmatrix} A(x) & 0 \\ C(x) & B(x) \end{bmatrix}$ of G is reducible, then it is equivalent to $A \oplus B$.

Proof. Equating the corresponding blocks from

$$\begin{bmatrix} A(xy) & 0\\ C(xy) & B(xy) \end{bmatrix} = D(xy) = D(x)D(y) = \begin{bmatrix} A(x) & 0\\ C(x) & B(x) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A(y) & 0\\ C(y) & B(y) \end{bmatrix},$$

we get A(xy) = A(x)A(y), C(xy) = C(x)A(y) + B(x)C(y) and B(xy) = B(x)B(y). Let $N = \int C(y)A(y^{-1})d_m y$ and $P = \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ N & I \end{bmatrix}$. From

$$\begin{split} NA(x) &= \int C(y)A(y^{-1})A(x)d_m y = \int C(y)A(y^{-1}x)d_m y \\ &= \int C(xy)A(y^{-1})d_m y = \int [C(x)A(y) + B(x)C(y)]A(y^{-1})d_m y \\ &= \int C(x)d_m y + B(x)\int C(y)A(y^{-1})d_m y = C(x) + B(x)N, \end{split}$$

we have $D(x)P = P[A(x) \oplus B(x)]$, i.e. $P^{-1}D(x)P = A(x) \oplus B(x)$ for all $x \in G$. Therefore D is equivalent to $A \oplus B$.

29-1.10. **Exercise** Prove that if A, B are bounded representations of G, then $A \oplus B$ and $B \oplus A$ are equivalent bounded representations. Also show that if A, B are equivalent bounded representations, then $A \oplus B$ is equivalent to $A \oplus A$. That means we can move the diagonal blocks to get the next theorem.

29-1.11. <u>Theorem</u> (a) Every bounded representation D of a group is equivalent to the direct sum of the form $\bigoplus_{w=1}^{n} m_w D^w$ where D^1, D^2, \dots, D^n are inequivalent irreducible unitary representations. In this case, m_w is called the *multiplicity* of D^w in D.

(b) If $D \sim \bigoplus_{k=1}^{t} r_k E^k$ where E^1, E^2, \dots, E^p are inequivalent irreducible bounded representations, then n = t and there is a permutation p on $\{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ such that $r_{p(w)} = m_w$ and $E^{p(w)} \sim D^w$ for every $1 \le w \le n$.

29-1.12. <u>Schur's Lemma</u> Let D, E be irreducible representations of G of degrees s, t respectively. If A is an $s \times t$ matrix satisfying D(x)A = AE(x) for all $x \in G$, then either A = 0 or A is an invertible matrix. In this case, we must have s = t.

Proof. Let r be the rank of A. There are invertible matrices P, Q of order s, t respectively such that $A = P \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ I_r & 0 \end{bmatrix} Q$. Then for every $x \in G$, we have $P^{-1}D(x)P \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ I_r & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ I_r & 0 \end{bmatrix} QE(x)Q^{-1}$. Suppose that $P^{-1}D(x)P = \begin{bmatrix} D_{11}(x) & D_{12}(x) \\ D_{21}(x) & D_{22}(x) \end{bmatrix}$ and $Q^{-1}E(x)Q = \begin{bmatrix} E_{11}(x) & E_{12}(x) \\ E_{21}(x) & E_{22}(x) \end{bmatrix}$ where $D_{22}(x)$ and $E_{11}(x)$ are square matrices of order r. Simple substitution gives $\begin{bmatrix} D_{12}(x) & 0 \\ D_{22}(x) & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ E_{11}(x) & E_{12}(x) \end{bmatrix}$, i.e. $D_{12}(x) = 0$ and $E_{12}(x) = 0$. Since D, E are irreducible, we have either r = 0 or r = s = t. If r = 0, then A = 0. If r = s = t, then A = PQ is invertible.

29-1.13. <u>Theorem</u> Let D be an irreducible representation of G of degree s. If A is a matrix satisfying D(x)A = AD(x) for all $x \in G$, then $A = \lambda I$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. If D(x)D(y) = D(y)D(x) for all $x, y \in G$, then D is of degree one.

Proof. Let λ be an eigenvalue of A. Then $D(x)(A - \lambda I) = (A - \lambda I)D(x)$ for all $x \in G$. Since $A - \lambda I$ is singular, we have $A - \lambda I = 0$ as required. Next, take any $y \in G$. Since D(x)D(y) = D(y)D(x) for all $x \in G$, we have $D(y) = \lambda(y)I$ for some $\lambda(y) \in \mathbb{C}$. Since D is irreducible, the order of D is one. The last statement is obvious.

29-1.14. <u>Corollary</u> Every irreducible representation of an abelian group is of degree one.

29-1.15. <u>Theorem</u> Equivalent irreducible unitary representations D, E are unitarily equivalent, that is, there is some unitary matrix P such that $D(x) = P^{-1}E(x)P$ for all $x \in G$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let A be an invertible matrix such that $D(x) = A^{-1}E(x)A$ for all $x \in G$. Taking the hermitian, we have $D(x)^* = A^*E(x)^*(A^*)^{-1}$. Since D, E

are unitary representations, we get $D(x^{-1}) = A^* E(x^{-1})(A^*)^{-1}$ for all $x \in G$. Hence $D(x) = A^* E(x) A^{-1*}$, or $E(x) = (A^*)^{-1} D(x) A^*$ for all $x \in G$. Thus

$$D(x) = A^{-1}E(x)A = A^{-1}(A^*)^{-1}D(x)A^*A = (A^*A)^{-1}D(x)A^*A.$$

It follows that $A^*A = \lambda I$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Because A^*A is positive definite and invertible, $\lambda = tr(A^*A)/s > 0$. Define $P = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}A$. Then we get $P^*P = (\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}A^*)(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}A) = I$. Therefore P is unitary. Furthermore,

$$P^{-1}E(x)P = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}A\right)^{-1}E(x)\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}A = \sqrt{\lambda}A^{-1}E(x)\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}A = D(x), \qquad \forall x \in G.$$

consequently, D, E are unitarily equivalent.

Consequently, D, E are unitarily equivalent.

29-1.16. Lemma If D, E are bounded representations of G, then for every conformable matrix B and all $x \in G$ we have

$$D(x)\int D(y^{-1})BE(y)d_my = \left[\int D(y^{-1})BE(y)d_my\right]E(x).$$

Proof. Changing variables y = zx as in convolution, we have

$$D(x) \int D(y^{-1})BE(y)d_m y = \int D(xy^{-1})BE(y)d_m y$$

= $\int D(z^{-1})BE(zx)d_m z = \left[\int D(z^{-1})BE(z)d_m z\right]E(x).$

29-1.17. **Theorem** If D, E are inequivalent irreducible bounded representations, then for all conformable matrix B we have $\int D(y^{-1})BE(y)d_my = 0$.

Proof. If $\int D(y^{-1})BE(y)d_my = 0$ is nonzero, then it is invertible by Schur's Lemma and consequently D, E are equivalent. Π

<u>**Theorem</u>** If D is an irreducible bounded representation of degree s,</u> 29-1.18. then for every conformable matrix B we have $\int D(y^{-1})BD(y)d_my = \frac{tr(B)}{s}I$.

Proof. Since D is irreducible, the identity

$$D(x)\int D(y^{-1})BD(y)d_my = \left[\int D(y^{-1})BD(y)d_my\right]D(x)$$

shows $\int D(y^{-1})BD(y)d_m y = \lambda I$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Taking the trace, we have

$$\lambda s = tr \int D(y^{-1})BD(y)d_my = \int tr[D(y^{-1})BD(y)]d_my$$

 $= \int tr[D(y)D(y^{-1})B]d_my = \int tr(B)d_my = tr(B).$

Therefore we have $\int D(y^{-1})BD(y)d_my = \lambda I = \frac{tr(B)}{s}I$ as required.

Let D, E be inequivalent irreducible bounded 29-1.19. Corollary representations of G of degrees s, t respectively. Suppose that D_{ij}, E_{kn} are entry functions of D, E respectively.

(a) $D_{ij} \times E_{kn} = 0$ and $D_{ij} \times D_{kn} = \frac{1}{s} \delta_{jk} D_{in}$.

(b) The functions D_{ij}, E_{kn} for $1 \leq i, j \leq s, 1 \leq k, n \leq t$ are linearly independent.

Proof. (a) For fixed j, k, let $B = [\delta_{pj} \delta_{kq}]$ be the matrix of size $s \times t$ with all zero entries except the (j, k)-th which is one. Since D, E are inequivalent irreducible, we have $\int D(xy^{-1})BE(y)d_my = D(x) \int D(y^{-1})BE(y)d_my = 0$ for all $x \in G$. The (i, n)-th entry of this matrix is

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= \int \sum_{p=1}^{s} \sum_{q=1}^{t} D_{ip}(xy^{-1}) (\delta_{pj} \delta_{kq}) E_{qn}(y) d_m y \\ &= \int D_{ij}(xy^{-1}) E_{kn}(y) d_m y = D_{ij} \times E_{kn}(x), \qquad \forall \ x \in G, \end{aligned}$$

that is $D_{ij} \times E_{kn} = 0$. Next, observe that

$$\int D(xy^{-1})BD(y)d_my = D(x)\int D(y^{-1})BD(y)d_my = \frac{1}{s}tr(B)D(x), \qquad \forall x \in G.$$

Equating the (i, n)-th entries of both sides, we have

$$D_{ij} \times D_{kn}(x) = \frac{1}{s} tr(B) D_{in}(x) = \frac{1}{s} \delta_{jk} D_{in}(x), \qquad \forall \ x \in G$$

that is
$$D_{ij} \times D_{kn} = \frac{1}{s} \delta_{jk} D_{in}$$
.
(b) Assume that $\sum_{ij} \alpha_{ij} D_{ij} + \sum_{kn} \beta_{kn} E_{kn} = 0$ for some $\alpha_{ij}, \beta_{kn} \in \mathbb{C}$. Then
 $D_{1p} \times \left(\sum_{ij} \alpha_{ij} D_{ij} + \sum_{kn} \beta_{kn} E_{kn} \right) \times D_{q1} = 0$
i.e. $\sum_{ij} \alpha_{ij} \delta_{pi} \delta_{jq} D_{11} + 0 = 0$,

or $\alpha_{pq} = \alpha_{pq} D_{11}(e) = 0$. Hence all $\alpha_{ij} = 0$. Similarly, all $\beta_{kn} = 0$. Consequently all D_{ij} and E_{kn} are linearly independent.

29-1.20. **Corollary** Let D, E be inequivalent irreducible representations of G. If both D, E are unitary, then

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(a)} &< D_{ij}, E_{kn} >= \int D_{ij}(x) \overline{E_{kn}(x)} d_m x = 0, \\ \text{(b)} &< D_{ij}, D_{kn} >= \int D_{ij}(x) \overline{D_{kn}(x)} d_m x = \frac{1}{s} \delta_{ik} \delta_{jn}. \\ \underline{Proof}. \quad \text{(a)} \qquad \qquad < D_{ij}, E_{kn} >= \int D_{ij}(x) \overline{E_{kn}(x)} d_m x \\ &= \int D_{ij}(x) E_{nk}(x^{-1}) d_m x = (D_{ij} \times E_{nk})(e) = 0. \\ \text{(b)} &< D_{ij}, D_{kn} >= (D_{ij} \times D_{nk})(e) = \frac{1}{s} \delta_{in} D_{ik}. \end{aligned}$$

29-2 Characterization of Projectors

29-2.1. Through eigen expansion, we constructed a nonzero projector φ associated with every nonzero ap-function. In this section, we show that the solution space S_{φ} of $\varphi \times f = f$ in f is finite dimensional and right translation invariant. It is then used to characterize projectors.

29-2.2. Let A(G) denote the space of ap-functions on a group G. A vector subspace M of A(G) is called a *closed right invariant ideal* if M is closed in $A_{\infty}(G)$ and M is right translation invariant, i.e. for every $a \in G$ we have $R_a M \subset M$. Similarly we define closed left and two-sided invariant ideals. Two-sided ideals are simply called *ideals*. A subset M of A(G) is *hermitian* or *self-adjoint* if $f^* \in M$ for all $f \in M$. Clearly, a hermitian closed right or left invariant ideal is a closed two-sided invariant ideal because $(R_{a^{-1}}f^*)^* = L_a f$.

29-2.3. <u>Theorem</u> If M is a closed right invariant ideal of A(G), then M is a right ideal of the convolution algebra, i.e. $M \times A(G) \subset M$. Furthermore if $f \in M$, then the function g given by $g(x) = \int f(xy)d_m y$ belongs to M. Similar result holds for left and two-sided ideals.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $f \in M$ and $h \in A(G)$. Then $f \times h$ is the uniform limit of linear combinations of right translations of f. Hence $f \times h \in M$. In particular for h = 1, we have $g = f \times h \in M$.

29-2.4. **Theorem** Let M be a finite dimensional closed right invariant ideal of the inner product space $A_2(G)$ and $H = [h_1, \dots, h_s]$ an ordered orthonormal basis of M. For every $a \in G$, let $D(a) = [D_{ij}(a)]$ be the matrix representation of the right translate $R_a : M_H \to M_H$. Then D is a representation of G of degree s. It is called the *representation associated with* H. Furthermore for all $a, x \in G$ we have $h_j(xa) = \sum_{i=1}^s h_i(x)D_{ij}(a)$.

Proof. Clearly R_a is a linear operator on M. Since for all $f, g \in M$,

 $< R_a f, R_a g >= \int f(xa) \overline{g(xa)} d_m x = \int g(x) \overline{g(x)} d_m x = < f, g > ;$

 R_a is an isometry. Hence each D(a) is a unitary matrix. Furthermore, because $D(ab) = [R_{ab}] = [R_a R_b] = [R_a] [R_b] = D(a)D(b)$, D is a representation of G. Since D(a) is the matrix representation of R_a , by §7-5.8 we have $R_a H = HD(a)$, that is $[h_1(xa), \dots, h_s(xa)] = [h_1(x), \dots, h_s(x)] [D_{ij}(a)]$. Equating the *j*-th column, the result follows.

29-2.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let H, K be ordered orthonormal bases of a closed right invariant ideal M of A(G). Then the unitary representations D, E associated with H, K respectively are equivalent. A representation associated with some orthonormal basis of M is said to be *associated* with M.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let P be the transition matrix from H to K. Then for each $a \in G$ we have $D(a) = P^{-1}E(a)P$ and P is a unitary matrix. Therefore D, E are unitarily equivalent.

29-2.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let φ be a projector in A(G). The right solution space of φ defined by $S_{\varphi} = \{f \in A(G) : \varphi \times f = f\}$ is a finite dimensional closed right invariant ideal of A(G).

 $\underline{Proof}. \text{ Let } \xi(f) = \varphi \times f - f \text{ for every } f \in A(G). \text{ Since} \\ \|\xi(f)\|_{\infty} \le \|\varphi \times f\|_{\infty} + \|f\|_{\infty} \le \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{\infty} + \|f\|_{\infty} = (\|\varphi\|_{\infty} + 1)\|f\|_{\infty},$

the linear map $\xi : A_{\infty}(G) \to A_{\infty}(G)$ is continuous. Therefore its kernel S_{φ} is closed vector subspace of $A_{\infty}(G)$. Let $H = [h_1, \dots, h_s]$ be any orthonormal set in S_{φ} . Define $\pi(x, y) = \varphi(xy^{-1}) - \sum_{i=1}^{s} h_i(x)\overline{h_i(y)}$ for all $x, y \in G$. Then π is an ap-function on $G \times G$. Observe that

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \int \int |\pi(x,y)|^2 d_m x d_m y \\ &= \int \int \left[\varphi(xy^{-1}) - \sum_{i=1}^s h_i(x) \overline{h_i(y)} \right] \left[\varphi(xy^{-1}) - \sum_{j=1}^s h_j(x) \overline{h_j(y)} \right]^- d_m x d_m y \\ &= \int \int |\varphi(xy^{-1})|^2 d_m x d_m y - \sum_{i=1}^s \int \int h_i(x) \overline{h_i(y)} \ \overline{\varphi(xy^{-1})} d_m x d_m y \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^s \int \int \overline{h_j(x)} h_j(y) \varphi(xy^{-1}) d_m x d_m y \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^s \int \int h_i(x) \overline{h_i(y)} \ \overline{h_j(x)} h_j(y) d_m x d_m y \\ &= \|\varphi\|^2 - \sum_{i=1}^s \int h_i(x) \overline{(\varphi \times h_i)(x)} d_m x - \sum_{j=1}^s \int \overline{h_j(x)} (\varphi \times h_j)(x) d_m x \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^s \left(\int h_i(x) \overline{h_j(x)} d_m x \right) \left(\int h_j(y) \overline{h_i(y)} d_m x \right) \\ &= \|\varphi\|^2 - \sum_{i=1}^s \int h_i(x) \overline{h_i(x)} d_m x - \sum_{j=1}^s \int \overline{h_j(x)} h_j(x) d_m x + \sum_{i,j=1}^s \delta_{ij} \delta_{ji} \\ &= \|\varphi\|^2 - s, \end{split}$$

or $s \leq \|\varphi\|^2$. Therefore S_{φ} is finite dimensional. For every $a \in G$ and $f \in S_{\varphi}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi \times (R_a f)(x) &= \int \varphi(xy^{-1}) R_a f(y) d_m y = \int \varphi(xy^{-1}) f(ya) d_m y \\ &= \int \varphi(xay^{-1}) f(y) d_m y = (\varphi \times f)(xa) = R_a(\varphi \times f)(x) = R_a f(x). \end{split}$$

Hence $R_a f \in S_{\varphi}$. Therefore $R_a S_{\varphi} \subset S_{\varphi}$. Consequently S_{φ} is a finite dimensional closed right invariant ideal.

29-2.7. <u>Theorem</u> Let $H = [h_1, \dots, h_s]$ be an orthonormal basis of the right solution space S_{φ} of a projector φ in A(G). Then we have $\varphi(xy^{-1}) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} h_i(x)\overline{h_i(y)}$ for all $x, y \in G$. Furthermore the dimension s of S_{φ} is equal to $\|\varphi\|^2$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Fix $a \in G$. Define $f(x) = \varphi(xa^{-1}) - \sum_{i=1}^{s} h_i(x)\overline{h_i(a)}$ for every $x \in G$. Then the routine calculation

$$(\varphi \times f)(x) = \int \varphi(xy^{-1})f(y)d_my$$

$$= \int \varphi(xy^{-1})\varphi(ya^{-1})d_my - \sum_{i=1}^s \int \varphi(xy^{-1})h_i(y)\overline{h_i(a)}d_my$$

$$= \int \varphi(xa^{-1}y^{-1})\varphi(y)d_my - \sum_{i=1}^s (\varphi \times h_i)(x)\overline{h_i(a)}$$

$$= (\varphi \times \varphi)(xa^{-1}) - \sum_{i=1}^s h_i(x)\overline{h_i(a)}$$

$$= \varphi(xa^{-1}) - \sum_{i=1}^s h_i(x)\overline{h_i(a)} = f(x)$$

shows that $f \in S_{\varphi}$. Next observe that

$$\begin{aligned} &< f, h_j >= \int \left[\varphi(xa^{-1}) - \sum_{i=1}^s h_i(x)\overline{h_i(a)}\right] \overline{h_j(x)} d_m x \\ &= \int \varphi^*(xa^{-1})\overline{h_j(x)} d_m x - \sum_{i=1}^s \int h_i(x)\overline{h_i(a)} \ \overline{h_j(x)} d_m x \\ &= \int \overline{\varphi(ax^{-1})} \ \overline{h_j(x)} d_m x - \sum_{i=1}^s \delta_{ij} \overline{h_i(a)} \\ &= \overline{\varphi \times h_j(a)} - \overline{h_j(a)} = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Since *H* is an orthonormal basis, we have f = 0, i.e. $\varphi(xa^{-1}) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} h_i(x)\overline{h_i(a)}$ for all $a, x \in G$. It follows from the proof of last theorem that

$$0 = \int \int |\pi(x, y)|^2 d_m x d_m y = \|\varphi\|^2 - s, \text{ or } s = \|\varphi\|^2.$$

29-2.8. **Lemma** Let $\{D^w : w \in J\}$ be a finite set of inequivalent irreducible unitary representations of G. For each w, let s_w be the order of D^w and A^w a square matrix of order s_w . If $\varphi = \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w, A^{w-} >$, then we have $\varphi^* = \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w, (A^{w-})^* >$ and $\varphi \times \varphi = \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w, (A^{w-})^2 >$. *Proof.* For $D^w = [D_{ij}^w]$ and $A^w = [\alpha_{ij}^w]$, we have

$$\varphi^{*}(x) = \sum_{w \in J} s_{w} \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_{w}} \alpha_{ij}^{w-} \overline{D_{ij}^{w}(x^{-1})}$$
$$= \sum_{w \in J} s_{w} \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_{w}} \alpha_{ij}^{w-} D_{ji}^{w}(x) = \sum_{w \in J} s_{w} < D^{w}(x), (A^{w-})^{*} >$$

and

$$\begin{split} \varphi \times \varphi &= \left(\sum_{w \in J} s_w \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \alpha_{ij}^w D_{ij}^w \right) \times \left(\sum_{v \in J} s_v \sum_{p,q=1}^{s_v} \alpha_{pq}^v D_{pq}^v \right) \\ &= \sum_{w,v \in J} \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \sum_{p,q=1}^{s_v} s_w s_v \alpha_{ij}^w \alpha_{pq}^v \ \delta_{wv} \ \delta_{jp} \ \frac{1}{s_v} \ D_{iq} \\ &= \sum_{w \in J} \sum_{i,j,q=1}^{s_w} s_w \alpha_{ij}^w \alpha_{jq}^w \ D_{iq} = \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w, (A^{w-})^2 >. \end{split}$$

29-2.9. <u>Theorem</u> An ap-function φ on G is a projector iff

$$arphi$$
 = $\sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w, A^{w-} >$

where $\{D^w : w \in J\}$ is a finite set of inequivalent irreducible unitary representations of G, each A^w is a projector matrix and each s_w is the order of D^w, A^w . In this case, we get $A^w = \langle \varphi, D^w \rangle$, that is $[\langle \varphi, D^w_{ij} \rangle]$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (\Rightarrow) Let φ be a projector in A(G). Then φ is a linear combination of entry functions of some unitary representation D of G. There is an invertible

matrix P such that $P^{-1}D(x)P$ is the direct sum of some irreducible unitary representations among which the set of all inequivalent irreducible representations is denoted by $\{D^w : w \in J\}$. Then φ is also a linear combination of entry functions of $\{D^w : w \in J\}$. More precisely, for some $\alpha_{ij}^w \in \mathbb{C}$ we have $\varphi = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \alpha_{ij}^w D_{ij}^w$ where s_w is the order of D_w . For $A^w = [\alpha_{ij}^w]$, we obtain the required equality. From $\varphi = \varphi^* = \varphi \times \varphi$, we get

$$\sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w(x), A^{w-} >= \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w(x), (A^{w-})^* >$$
$$= \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w(x), (A^{w-})^2 >.$$
(a)

Because the set $\{D_{ij}^w : w \in J, 1 \le i, j \le s_w\}$ is linearly independent, we obtain $(A^{w-}) = (A^{w-})^* = (A^{w-})^2$. Thus A^{w-} is a projector matrix and so is A^w . (\Leftarrow) Suppose that for all $x \in G$ we have $\varphi = \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w, A^{w-} >$ where $\{D^w : w \in J\}$ is a finite set of inequivalent irreducible unitary representations of G, each s_w is the order of D^w and each A^w is a projector matrix. Then we obtain the equation (a) above from which we get $\varphi = \varphi^* = \varphi \times \varphi$. Therefore φ is a projector in A(G). Finally, the proof is completed by the computation:

$$\langle \varphi, D_{kn}^{v} \rangle = \sum_{w \in J} s_{w} \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_{w}} \alpha_{ij}^{w} \langle D_{ij}^{w}, D_{kn}^{v} \rangle$$
$$= \sum_{w \in J} s_{w} \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_{w}} \alpha_{ij}^{w} \frac{1}{s_{v}} \delta_{wv} \delta_{ik} \delta_{jn} = \alpha_{kn}^{v}.$$

29-2.10. <u>Corollary</u> Let D, E be equivalent irreducible unitary representations of G of the same degree s and A, B be nonzero projector matrices of order s. If $\varphi = s < D, A^- >= s < E, B^- >$; then A, B are unitarily similar.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let P be a unitary matrix such that $D = P^{-1}EP$. Then the complex conjugate $Q = P^{-1}$ is also unitary and $D^{-1} = Q^{-1}E^{-1}Q$. Therefore we have

$$A = \langle \varphi, D \rangle = \int \varphi(x) D(x)^{-} d_m x = \int \varphi(x) Q^{-1} E(x)^{-} Q d_m x$$
$$= Q^{-1} [\int \varphi(x) E(x)^{-} d_m x] Q = Q^{-1} < \varphi, E > Q = Q^{-1} B Q. \qquad \Box$$

29-3 Fourier Matrices

29-3.1. Let D be a bounded representation of a group G and f, g be almost periodic functions on a group G. Then the Fourier matrix of f corresponding to D is defined by $D(f) = \langle f, D \rangle = \int f(x)D(x)^{-}d_{m}x$, the Fourier inner product of f, g by $D \langle f, g \rangle = \langle D(f), D(g) \rangle = tr \ D(g)^{*}D(f)$ and the Fourier norm of f by $||D(f)|| = \sqrt{D \langle f, f \rangle}$. The entries of D(f) are called the Fourier coefficients of f. 29-3.2. <u>Theorem</u> (a) $(f \times D)(x) = D(f)^t D(x)$ and $(D \times f)(x) = D(x)D(f)^t$. (b) $D(L_a f) = D(a)^t D(f)$ and $D(R_a f) = D(f)D(a)^t$.

Proof. We only prove the first equality of both parts as follow:

$$\begin{aligned} f \times D(x) &= \int f(y) D(y^{-1}x) d_m y = \left[\int f(y) D(y^{-1}) d_m y \right] D(x) \\ &= \left[\int f(y) D(y)^{t-} d_m y \right] D(x) = \left[\int f(y) D(y)^{-} d_m y \right]^t D(x) = D(f)^t D(x) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{split} D(L_a f) &= \int L_a f(x) D(x)^- d_m x = \int f(ax) D(x)^- d_m x \\ &= \int f(y) D(a^{-1}y)^- d_m y = D(a^{-1})^- \int f(y) D(y)^- d_m y = D(a)^t D(f). \quad \Box \end{split}$$

29-3.3. **Theorem** Let D be a unitary representation of G of order s. Then the map $f \to D(f)$ is a star homomorphism of the convolution algebra A(G) into the algebra M(s) of square matrices of order s.

<u>Proof</u>. Clearly $f \to D(f)$ is a linear map. The proof is completed by the following calculation:

$$D(f^*) = \int f^*(x)D(x)^- d_m x = \int f(x^{-1})^- D(x^{-1})^{*-} d_m x$$

= $\int f(x)^- D(x)^{*-} d_m x = \left[\int f(x)D(x)^- d_m x\right]^* = D(f)^*$

and

$$\begin{split} D(f \times g) &= \int (f \times g)(x)D(x)^{-}d_{m}x = \int \int f(xy^{-1})g(y)D(x)^{-}d_{m}xd_{m}y \\ &= \int \int f(x)g(y)D(xy)^{-}d_{m}xd_{m}y \\ &= \left[\int f(x)D(x)^{-}d_{m}x\right] \left[\int g(y)D(y)^{-}d_{m}y\right] = D(f)D(g). \end{split}$$

29-3.4. **Theorem** If D, E are equivalent unitary representations of G, then the Fourier matrices D(f), E(f) are unitarily similar and $D < f, g \ge E < f, g \ge$ for all $f, g \in A(G)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let P be a unitary matrix such that $D(x) = P^*E(x)P$ for all $x \in G$. Then $Q = P^-$ is unitary, $D(x)^- = Q^*E(x)^-Q$ and

$$D(f) = \int f(x)D(x)^{-}d_{m}x = \int f(x)Q^{*}E(x)^{-}Qd_{m}x$$
$$= Q^{*} \left[\int f(x)E(x)^{-}d_{m}x\right]Q = Q^{*}E(f)Q.$$

Hence D(f), E(f) are unitarily similar. Finally for all $f, g \in A(G)$, we have

$$\begin{split} D &< f,g > = < D(f), D(g) > = tr D(g)^* D(f) \\ &= tr[Q^*E(g)Q]^*[Q^*E(g)Q] = tr[Q^*E(g)^*QQ^*E(g)Q] \\ &= tr E(g)^*E(g) = < E(f), E(g) > = E < f, g > . \end{split}$$

Theorem Let $\{D^w : w \in J\}$ be a finite set of inequivalent irreducible 29-3.5. unitary representations of G and let s_w be the degree of D^w for each w. Let f be an ap-function on G. Suppose that $g = \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w, A^w >$ where $\{A^w: w \in J\}$ is a set of constant matrices. Then we have (a) $||f - g||^2 = ||f||^2 - \sum_{w \in I} s_w ||D^w(f)||^2 + \sum_{w \in I} s_w ||A^w - D^w(f)||^2$ $\sum_{w \in I} s_w \| D^w(f) \|^2 \le \| f \|^2.$ (b) **Bessel's Inequality** <u>Proof.</u> Let $A^w = [\alpha_{ij}^w]$, $D^w(x) = [D_{ij}^w(x)]$ and $D^w(f) = [\beta_{ij}^w]$. Then we have $\|f-g\|^2 = < f - \sum_{w \in J} s_w \sum_{i, j=1}^{s_w} lpha_{ij}^w D_{ij}^w$, $f - \sum_{v \in J} s_v \sum_{k, n=1}^{s_v} lpha_{kn}^v D_{kn}^v >$ $= \|f\|^2 - \sum_{w \in J} s_w \sum_{i, i=1}^{s_w} \alpha_{ij}^w < D_{ij}^w, f > - \sum_{v \in J} s_v \sum_{k, n=1}^{s_v} \alpha_{kn}^{v-} < f, D_{kn}^v >$ $+ \sum_{w.v \in J} s_w s_v \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \sum_{k,n=1}^{s_v} \alpha_{ij}^w \alpha_{kn}^{v-} < D_{ij}^w, D_{kn}^v >$ $= \|f\|^2 + \sum_{w \in I} s_w \sum_{i, j=1}^{s_w} \{-\alpha_{ij}^w \beta_{ij}^{w-} - \alpha_{ij}^{w-} \beta_{ij}^w + \alpha_{ij}^{w-} \alpha_{ij}^{w-}\}$ $= \|f\|^2 + \sum_{w \in J} s_w \sum_{i, j=1}^{s_w} \{ (\alpha_{ij}^{w^-} - \beta_{ij}^{w^-}) (\alpha_{ij}^w - \beta_{ij}^w) - \beta_{ij}^{w^-} \beta_{ij}^w \}$ $= \|f\|^2 + \sum_{w \in J} s_w \|A^w - D^w(f)\|^2 - \sum_{w \in J} s_w \|D^w f\|^2.$ Letting $A^w = D^w(f)$, we obtain $0 \le ||f - g||^2 = ||f||^2 - \sum_{w \in J} s_w ||D^w(f)||^2$.

29-3.6. <u>Theorem</u> Let D, E be bounded representations of G and TD, TE the vector subspaces of A(G) spanned by the entry functions of D, E respectively. If D, E are equivalent, then TD = TE.

<u>Proof</u>. Let P be an invertible matrix such that $D(x) = P^{-1}E(x)P$ for all $x \in G$. Since every entry function of D(x) is a linear combination of entry functions of E(x), we have $TD \subset TE$. By symmetry, we have TD = TE.

29-3.7. <u>Theorem</u> If D is an irreducible bounded representation of G of degree s, then TD is a minimal closed invariant ideal of A(G). Furthermore the dimension of TD is s^2 .

<u>Proof</u>. Since TD is a finite dimensional vector subspace of $A_{\infty}(G)$, it is closed in $A_{\infty}(G)$. Take any $a \in G$. Since $L_a D_{ij}(x) = D_{ij}(ax) = \sum_{k=1}^{s} D_{ik}(a) D_{kj}(x)$ and $R_a D_{ij}(x) = D_{ij}(xa) = \sum_{k=1}^{s} D_{ik}(x) D_{kj}(a)$, TD is translation invariant. Because $(D \times f)(x) = D(x)D(f)^t$ for any $f \in A(G)$, TD is a right ideal of the convolution algebra A(G). Similarly, it is also a two-sided ideal. Since D is irreducible, the entry functions $\{D_{ij}: 1 \leq i, j \leq s\}$ are linearly independent. Hence the dimension of TD is s^2 . Finally let M be an ideal of A(G) such that

 $\{0\} \neq M \subset TD$. There is a nonzero $g = \sum_{ij=1}^{s} \alpha_{ij} D_{ij}$ in M. Suppose $\alpha_{kn} \neq 0$. Then for all $1 \leq p, q \leq s$,

$$D_{pk} \times g \times D_{nq} = \sum_{ij=1}^{s} \alpha_{ij} D_{pk} \times D_{ij} \times D_{nq} = \frac{\alpha_{kn}}{s^2} D_{pq}$$

shows that $D_{pq} \in M$, i.e. $TD \subset M$. Therefore TD is minimal.

29-3.8. <u>Lemma</u> If D, E are inequivalent irreducible bounded representations of G, then we have $T(D \oplus E) = TD \oplus TE$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Clearly we have $T(D \oplus E) = TD + TE$. Because $D_{ij} \times E_{kn} = 0$, we have $TD \cap TE = \{0\}$. Therefore the sum is direct.

29-3.9. <u>Theorem</u> For every bounded representation D of G, if TD is minimal, then D is irreducible.

<u>Proof.</u> If $D = E_1 \oplus E_2$, then $TD = TE_1 \oplus TE_2$ and $TE_1 \subset TD$ but $\overline{\{0\} \neq TE_1 \neq TD}$. Therefore D is not minimal.

29-3.10. **Corollary** For every bounded representation D of G, TD is a closed invariant ideal of A(G).

<u>Proof.</u> Write $D = \bigoplus \{s_w D^w : w \in J\}$ where $\{D^w : w \in J\}$ is a finite family of inequivalent irreducible unitary representations of G. Then $TD = \bigoplus \{TD^w : w \in J\}$ is a closed invariant ideal.

29-3.11. For the rest of this section, let Γ be the family of all equivalent classes of irreducible bounded representations of G. For each $w \in \Gamma$, choose any irreducible unitary representation $D^w \in w$. Let s_w denote the degree of D^w . For every subset $\Delta \subset \Gamma$, functions in the vector subspace $T\Delta$ of A(G) spanned by $\cup \{Tw : w \in \Delta\}$ are called *trigonometric polynomials* on G or Δ -trigonometric polynomials in order to be precise.

29-3.12. <u>Theorem</u> Every projector in A(G) is a trigonometric polynomial. The translates of \triangle -trigonometric polynomials are \triangle -trigonometric polynomials. Furthermore, $T\triangle$ is an ideal of the convolution algebra A(G).

29-3.13. Lemma For every $f \in A(G)$, the set $\{w \in \Gamma : ||D^w(f)|| \neq 0\}$ is countable.

<u>*Proof.*</u> For any integer k > 0, if the set $J(k) = \{w \in \Gamma : ||D^w(f)|| \ge \frac{1}{k}\}$ has more than $||f||^2 k^2 + 1$ elements, then we have

$$||f||^{2} \ge \sum_{w \in J(k)} s_{w} ||D^{w}(f)||^{2} \ge \sum_{w \in J(k)} \frac{1}{k^{2}} \ge ||f||^{2} + \frac{1}{k^{2}}$$

which is a contradiction. Hence J(k) is a finite set. Therefore the set $\{w \in \Gamma : \|D^w(f)\| \neq 0\} = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} J(k)$ is countable.

29-3.14. <u>Parseval's Equation</u> For all ap-function f, g on G, we have $\|f\|^2 = \sum_{w \in \Gamma} s_w \|D^w(f)\|^2$ and $\langle f, g \rangle = \sum_{w \in \Gamma} s_w D^w \langle f, g \rangle$.

<u>Proof</u>. It follows from Bessel's inequality that $\sum_{w \in \Gamma} s_w ||D^w(f)||^2 \leq ||f||^2$. On the other hand, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a projector φ on G such that $||f - \varphi \times f|| \leq \varepsilon$. Since $\varphi \times f$ is a trigonometric polynomial, write $\varphi \times f = \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w, A^{w^-} >$ where J is a finite subset of Γ and A_w are constant matrices. From §29-3.5a, we obtain

 $\|f\|^2 - \sum_{w \in J} s_w \|D^w(f)\|^2 \le \|f - \varphi \times f\|^2 \le \varepsilon^2$

or $||f||^2 \leq \varepsilon^2 + \sum_{w \in J} s_w ||D^w(f)||^2$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $||f||^2 \leq \sum_{w \in \Gamma} s_w ||D^w(f)||^2$. This proves the first equality. The proof is completed by the following calculation:

$$\begin{aligned} 4 < f,g >= \|f+g\|^2 - \|f-g\|^2 + i\|f+ig\|^2 - i\|f-ig\|^2 \\ = \sum_{w \in \Gamma} s_w \{\|D^w(f+g)\|^2 - \|D^w(f-g)\|^2 + i\|D^w(f+ig)\|^2 - i\|D^w(f-ig)\|^2\} \\ = \sum_{w \in \Gamma} s_w \{4D^w < f,g >\}. \end{aligned}$$

29-3.15. Let M be a closed invariant ideal of G. A bounded representation D of G is called an *M*-representation of G if all entry functions of D belong to M.

29-3.16. Lemma Let D, E be irreducible bounded representations of G.
(a) If one of entry functions of D belongs to M, then D is an M-representation.
(b) If D, E are equivalent and if D is an M-representation, then so is E.

<u>Proof</u>. If $D_{ij} \in M$, then $D_{kn} = s^2 D_{ki} \times D_{ij} \times D_{jn} \in M$ where s is the degree of D. Part (b) is left as an exercise.

29-3.17. <u>Theorem</u> Let D be an irreducible bounded representation of G. If there is $f \in M$ such that the Fourier matrix D(f) is nonzero, then D is an M-representation.

<u>Proof.</u> By §29-1.7a, we may assume that D is unitary of degree s. Given $D(f) = \int f(x)D(x)^{-}d_mx \neq 0$, we have $\langle f, D_{kn} \rangle = \int f(x)D_{kn}(x)^{-}d_mx \neq 0$ for some $k, n \leq s$. Then for all $i, j \leq s$ and $a \in G$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} D_{im} \times f \times D_{nj}(a) &= \int (D_{ik} \times f)(x) D_{nj}(x^{-1}a) d_m x \\ &= \int \int D_{ik}(xy^{-1}) f(y) D_{nj}(x^{-1}a) d_m x d_m y \end{split}$$

$$= \sum_{p,q=1}^{s} \int \int D_{ip}(x) D_{pk}(y^{-1}) f(y) D_{nq}(x^{-1}) D_{qj}(a) d_m x d_m y$$

$$= \sum_{p,q=1}^{s} \left\{ \int D_{ip}(x) D_{nq}(x^{-1}) d_m x \right\} \left\{ \int D_{pk}(y^{-1}) f(y) d_m y \right\} D_{qj}(a)$$

$$= \sum_{p,q=1}^{s} \left\{ \int D_{ip}(x) D_{qn}(x)^{-} d_m x \right\} \left\{ \int f(y) D_{kp}(y)^{-} d_m y \right\} D_{qj}(a)$$

$$= \sum_{p,q=1}^{s} \langle D_{ip}, D_{qn} \rangle \langle f, D_{kp} \rangle D_{qj}(a)$$

$$= \sum_{p,q=1}^{s} \frac{1}{s} \delta_{iq} \delta_{pn} \langle f, D_{kp} \rangle D_{qj}(a) = \frac{1}{s} \langle f, D_{kn} \rangle D_{ij}(a),$$

for $D_{ij} = \frac{s}{s} D_{ik} \times f \times D_{nj} \in M$. Because D is irreducible, it is an

or $D_{ij} = \frac{\sigma}{\langle f, D_{kn} \rangle} D_{ik} \times f \times D_{nj} \in M$. Because D is irreducible, it is an M-representation.

29-3.18. <u>Corollary</u> Every minimal closed invariant ideal M is of the form TD for some irreducible unitary representation D. Consequently all minimal closed invariant ideals of A(G) are finite dimensional.

<u>Proof</u>. Choose any nonzero $f \in M$. There is an irreducible unitary representation D such that the Fourier matrix D(f) is not zero. It follows that D must be an M-representation. Hence TD is a closed invariant ideal contained in M. Therefore M = TD.

29-99. <u>References</u> and <u>Further Readings</u> : Boyer, Naimark, Huang, Sugiura and Hofman.

Chapter 30

Saturated Closed Invariant Ideals

30-1 Dual Objects

30-1.1. We are *comfortable* to work with sine-cosine functions which are real and imaginary parts of the exponential function $e^{i\theta x}$. We shall prove later in this chapter that every *continuous* irreducible unitary representation of the real line is of the form $e^{i\theta x}$. For vibrating strings with fixed end points, only periodic functions with fixed period are required. Continuity is normally imposed upon the study of topological groups. This is why A(G) begins to disappear from the scene.

30-1.2. Let C(G) be a closed invariant ideal of a group G. From now on, it will become the subject of our study. Members of C(G) are called *comfortable almost periodic* functions, or *cap*-functions for convenience. By a representation, we actually mean a C(G)-representation defined in §29-3.15. By an uncomfortable representation, we indicate that it need not be a C(G)-representation. Write $C_p(G)$ to emphasize the norm in use.

30-1.3. The family Ω of all equivalent classes of irreducible bounded representations of G is called the *dual object* of G. The equivalent classes in Ω are called *dual classes*. A family $D\Omega = \{D^w : w \in \Omega\}$ is called a *unitary representative* of the dual object if every representation $D^w \in w$ is unitary. Clearly $D\Omega$ is a maximal system of inequivalent irreducible unitary representations of G. Conversely if a maximal system of inequivalent irreducible representations of G is given, then the equivalent classes containing representations of this system is the dual object of G.

30-1.4. Let w be a dual class. For all $D \in w$, define the degree s_w of w to be the degree of D; Tw = TD, $w < f, g \ge D < f, g \ge$ and ||w(f)|| = ||D(f)||. They are all well defined because they are independent of the choice of $D \in w$. Without loss of generality, we shall work with a particular unitary representative $D\Omega$ of the dual object.

30-1.5. Theorem For all cap-functions f, g; we have $||f||^2 = \sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w ||w(f)||^2$ and $\langle f, g \rangle = \sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w ||w \langle f, g \rangle ||^2$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Let Γ be the family of all equivalent classes of uncomfortable irreducible unitary representations and choose $D^w \in w$ for each $w \in \Gamma$. If $w(f) \neq 0$, then $D^w(f) \neq 0$ and hence D^w is a comfortable representation. Therefore for all $w \in \Gamma \setminus \Omega$, we have w(f) = 0. Consequently, we have

$$||f||^2 = \sum_{w \in \Gamma} s_w ||w(f)||^2 = \sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w ||w(f)||^2.$$

Part (b) is left as an exercise.

30-1.6. **Corollary** The Fourier matrices uniquely determine the convolution algebra C(G). More precisely, for all cap-functions f, g, h on G and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$; the following statements hold.

(a) f = 0 iff D(f) = 0, for all irreducible unitary representations D.

(b) f = g iff D(f) = D(g), for all D.

(c) $f = g^*$ iff $D(f) = D(g)^*$, for all D.

(d) f = g + h iff D(f) = D(g) + D(h), for all D.

(e) $f = \alpha g$ iff $D(f) = \alpha D(g)$, for all D.

(f) $f = g \times h$ iff D(f) = D(g)D(h), for all D.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) f = 0 iff $||f||^2 = \sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w ||D^w(f)||^2 = 0$ iff $D^w(f) = 0$. The rest follows because $f \to D(f)$ is a homomorphism from the convolution algebra C(G) into the algebra of square matrices.

30-1.7. The formal sum $\sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w < D^w, A^w >$ is called a trigonometric series where each A^w is a constant matrix of order s_w . The Fourier series of a cap-function f is defined by $\Omega(f) = \sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w < D^w, D^w(f)^- >$. There is some trigonometric series which is not a Fourier series of any cap-function. Fourier series of a cap-function need not be pointwise convergent. Example can be found from classical Fourier analysis on the circle group.

30-1.8. <u>Lemma</u> The Fourier series is independent of the choice of the dual representatives.

<u>Proof</u>. Let D, E be equivalent unitary representations and let P be a unitary matrix satisfying $D(x) = P^*E(x)P$ for all $x \in G$. Then we have

$$< D(x), D(f)^{-} >= tr \ D(f)^{-*}D(x) = tr \ \left[\int f(y)D(y)^{-}d_{m}y\right]^{-*}D(x)$$

= tr \[\int f(y)^{-}D(y)d_{m}y\]^{*}D(x) = tr \[\int f(y)^{-}P^{*}E(y)Pd_{m}y\]^{*}P^{*}E(x)P
= tr \[P^{*} \{ \int f(y)E(y)^{-}d_{m}y \}^{*}P \]P^{*}E(x)P \]

$$= tr \ P[P^*E(f)^{-*}PP^*E(x)] = < E(x), E(f)^- >.$$

Hence every term $\langle D^w(x), D^w(f)^- \rangle$ is independent of the choice of $D^w \in w$. Therefore the Fourier series is independent of the choice of $\{D^w : w \in \Omega\}$. \Box

30-1.9. **Theorem** The Fourier series of f converges to f in $C_2(G)$. Therefore $\left\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{s_w}} D_{ij}^w : w \in \Omega\right\}$ is an orthonormal basis of the inner product space $C_2(G)$. For compact groups, this is frequently called *Peter-Weyl Theorem*.

Proof. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a finite subset J of Ω such that

$$\left\|f - \sum_{w \in J} s_w < D^w, D^w(f)^- > \right\|^2 = \|f\|^2 - \sum_{w \in J} s_w \|D^w(f)\|^2 \le \varepsilon$$
 which is the statement of the theorem. \Box

30-1.10. <u>Theorem</u> Then set $T\Omega$ of all trigonometric polynomials is dense in $C_p(G)$ for all $1 \le p \le \infty$. This is also called *Weierstrass' Theorem* for $G = \mathbb{R}$. <u>Proof</u>. Let f be a cap-function on G. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist a projector φ and a cap-function g such that $||f - \varphi \times g \times f||_p \le ||f - \varphi \times g \times f||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$. Since $\varphi \times g \times f$ is a trigonometric polynomial, the proof is complete.

30-1.11. **Corollary** If $f \in C(G)$, then the hermitian f^* is also in C(G). <u>Proof</u>. Since $D_{ij}^*(x) = D_{ij}(x^{-1})^- = D_{ji}(x)$ for every unitary representation D, the hermitian of trigonometric polynomials in C(G) are in C(G). The proof is completed by uniform limits.

30-2 Characters

30-2.1. General comfortable almost periodic functions or cap-functions are described by their Fourier matrices. In this section, we specialize an important case when commutativity is available. Let C(G) be the closed invariant ideal of comfortable almost periodic functions on a group G. The trace of a bounded representation D of G is called the *character* ρ_D of D. If D is irreducible, then ρ_D is said to be *irreducible*. The degree of D is also called the *degree* of ρ_D . A character of degree one is a unitary representation. A function f on G is said to be *central* if f(xy) = f(yx) for all $x, y \in G$. Clearly it is equivalent to $f(y^{-1}xy) = f(x)$ for all $x, y \in G$. This section studies the relationship between central functions and characters.

30-2.2. **Lemma** (a) $\rho_{D\oplus E} = \rho_D + \rho_E$ for all bounded representations D, E. (b) If D, E are equivalent bounded representations, then $\rho_D = \rho_E$. (c) Let ρ be the character of an uncomfortable irreducible representation D. If ρ is comfortable, then so is D.

<u>Proof.</u> (b) Let P be an invertible matrix such that $D = P^{-1}EP$. Then we have $\rho_D(x) = trD(x) = tr[P^{-1}E(x)P] = trPP^{-1}E(x) = trE(x) = \rho_E(x)$. (c) Since $D_{11} = sD_{11} \times \rho \in C(G)$ where s is the degree of D, all entry functions of D belong to C(G) because D is irreducible.

30-2.3. For every dual class w in the dual object Ω of G, the function $\rho_w = \rho_D$ is independent of the choice of $D \in w$ and hence it is well defined. Since every bounded representation E is equivalent to a direct sum $\bigoplus_{w \in \Omega} m_w D^w$ where m_w is the multiplicity of D^w in E. The integers m_w and the functions $\rho_w = \rho_{D^w}$ are independent of the choice of $D\Omega$. We also called m_w the *multiplicity* of the dual class w in E. Except a finite number of dual classes w, we get $m_w = 0$.

30-2.4. **Theorem** Let w, v be dual classes of G and s_w the degree of w. (a) $(s_w \rho_w) \times f = \delta_{wv} f = f \times (s_w \rho_w)$ for all trigonometric polynomials $f \in Tv$. (b) $(s_w \rho_w) \times \rho_v = \delta_{wv} \rho_w$, $\rho_w(x^{-1}) = \rho_w^-$, $\rho_w^* = \rho_w$, $\rho_w(e) = s_w$ and also $< \rho_w, \rho_v >= \delta_{wv}$. In particular, $s_w \rho_w$ is a projector and the set $\{\rho_w : w \in \Omega\}$ is orthonormal in $C_2(G)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Choose any irreducible unitary representations $D \in w$ and $E \in v$. Let $\overline{D_{ij}, E_{kn}}$ be the entry functions of D, E respectively. Observe that

$$s_w \rho_w \times E_{kn} = s_w \sum_{i=1}^{s_w} D_{ii} \times E_{kn} = s_w \sum_{i=1}^{s_w} \frac{1}{s_w} \delta_{DE} \delta_{ik} E_{in} = \delta_{wv} E_{kn}.$$

Since Tv is spanned by $\{E_{kn} : k, n \leq s_v\}$, both (a) and $s_w \rho_w \times \rho_v = \delta_{wv} \rho_w$ follow. Next, from $D_{ij}(x^{-1}) = D_{ji}(x)^-$ we obtain $\rho_w(x^{-1}) = \rho_w(x)^-$ and $\rho_w^* = \rho_w$. Clearly $\rho_w(e) = tr(I) = s_w$. Finally, we have

$$\langle \rho_w, \rho_v \rangle = \int \rho_w(x)\rho_v(x)^- d_m x = \int \rho_w(x)\rho_v(x^{-1})d_m x$$
$$= \rho_w \times \rho_v(e) = \frac{1}{s_w} \delta_{wv}\rho_w(e) = \delta_{wv}.$$

30-2.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let ρ_D, ρ_E be the characters of bounded representations D, E respectively.

- (a) $\rho_D = \sum_{w \in \Omega} m_w \rho_w$ and $m_w = \langle \rho_D, \rho_w \rangle$.
- (b) The multiplicity of the identity representation in D is $\int \rho_D(x) d_m x$.
- (c) D, E are equivalent iff $\rho_D = \rho_E$.
- (d) $\|\rho_D\|^2 = \sum_{w \in \Omega} m_w^2$. Note that this is actually a finite sum.
- (e) *D* is irreducible iff $\|\rho_D\| = 1$.

Proof. (a) Let P be an invertible matrix such that for all
$$x \in G$$
 we have
 $\overline{P^{-1}D(x)P} = \sum_{w \in \Omega} m_w D^w(x)$. Then
 $\rho_D(x) = trD(x) = tr[P^{-1}D(x)P] = \sum_{w \in \Omega} m_w trD^w(x) = \sum_{w \in \Omega} m_w \rho_w(x)$
and $< \rho_D, \rho_w >= \sum_{v \in \Omega} m_v < \rho_v, \rho_w >= \sum_{v \in \Omega} m_v \delta_{vw} = m_w$.
(b) The identity representation carries every element of G to the number 1.
Its character is the constant function 1. Therefore its multiplicity in D is

 $< \rho_D, 1 >= \int \rho_D(x) d_m x.$ (c) Let $\rho_E = \sum_{w \in \Omega} n_w \rho_w$. If $\rho_D = \rho_E$, then $n_w =< \rho_E, \rho_w >=< \rho_D, \rho_w >= m_w$ for all $w \in \Omega$. Hence D, E are equivalent. The converse is obvious.

(d)
$$\|\rho_D\|^2 = \langle \rho_D, \rho_D \rangle = \langle \sum_{w \in \Omega} m_w \rho_w, \sum_{v \in \Omega} m_v \rho_v \rangle$$
$$= \sum_{w,v \in \Omega} m_w m_v \delta_{wv} = \sum_{w \in \Omega} m_w^2.$$

(e) Suppose $\|\rho_D\| = 1$. Then $\sum_{w \in \Omega} m_w^2 = \|\rho_D\|^2 = 1$. There is some $v \in \Omega$ such that $m_v = 1$ and $m_w = 0$ for all $w \neq v$. Therefore D is equivalent to D_w . Consequently D is irreducible. Then converse is obvious.

30-2.6. **Lemma** (a) The set ZC(G) of all central cap-functions is a subalgebra of C(G) under pointwise operations.

(b) If f is central, then so is |f|. If f, g are central and real, then both $f \lor g$ and $f \land g$ are central.

(c) Every character ρ_D is central.

Proof. (c)
$$\rho_D(xy) = trD(xy) = tr[D(x)D(y)] = tr[D(y)D(x)] = \rho_D(yx).$$

30-2.7. <u>Theorem</u> A cap-function f is central iff $f \times g = g \times f$ for all $g \in C(G)$.

Proof. (\Rightarrow) Take any $g \in C(G)$. If f is central, then

$$(f \times g)(x) = \int f(xy)g(y^{-1})d_my = \int g(y^{-1})f(yx)d_my = (g \times f)(x).$$

(\Leftarrow) Let D be any unitary representation of G. For every $a \in G$, we have

$$< L_a f, D_{ij} >= \int f(ax) D_{ij}(x)^- d_m x = \int f(ax) D_{ji}(x^{-1}) d_m x$$
$$= (f \times D_{ji})(a) = (D_{ii} \times f)(a)$$

 $= \int D_{ji}(x^{-1})f(xa)d_m x = \int f(xa)D_{ij}(x)^- d_m x = < R_a f, D_{ij} > .$

Hence $L_a f, R_a f$ have the same Fourier matrices. Therefore $L_a f = R_a f$, that is f(ax) = f(xa) for all $a, x \in G$.

30-2.8. <u>Theorem</u> Every central trigonometric polynomial f is a linear combination of characters.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Write $f = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \alpha_{ij}^w D_{ij}^w$ where J is a finite subset of the dual object Ω of G and s_w the degree of w. Then for each $v \in J$, we have

$$f \times D_{kn}^{v} = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \alpha_{ij}^w D_{ij}^w \times D_{kn}^v$$
$$\sum_{w \in J} \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \alpha_{ij}^w \delta_{wv} \delta_{jk} D_{in}^w = \sum_{i=1}^{s_v} \alpha_{ik}^v D_{in}^v$$

and

=

$$D_{kn}^{v} \times f = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \alpha_{ij}^w D_{kn}^v \times D_{ij}^v$$
$$= \sum_{w \in J} \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \alpha_{ij}^w \delta_{wv} \delta_{ni} D_{kj}^w = \sum_{j=1}^{s_v} \alpha_{nj}^v D_{kj}^v$$

Since f is central, we have $f \times D_{kn}^v = D_{kn}^v \times f$, i.e.

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s_v} \alpha_{ik}^v D_{in}^v = \sum_{j=1}^{s_v} \alpha_{nj}^v D_{kj}^v.$$

Since $\{D_{ij}^v\}$ are linearly independent, we have $\alpha_{ik} = 0$ if $i \neq k$ and $\alpha_{nj} = 0$ if $j \neq n$. This gives $\alpha_{kk}^v = \alpha_{nn}^v$ for all $k, n \leq s_v$. Therefore we obtain

$$f = \sum_{v \in J} s_v \sum_{i=1}^{s_v} \alpha_{ii}^v D_{ii}^v = \sum_{v \in J} s_v \alpha_{11}^v \rho_v.$$

30-2.9. Lemma If $f \in C(G)$, then the central function ξ_f associated with f given by $\xi_f(x) = \int f(y^{-1}xy)d_m y$ is a central function in C(G). If f is a trigonometric polynomial, then so is ξ_f .

Proof. For every $a, x \in G$; we have

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_f(a^{-1}xa) &= \int f(y^{-1}a^{-1}xay)d_my \\ &= \int f[(ay)^{-1}x(ay)]d_my = \int f(y^{-1}xy)d_my = \xi_f(x). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore ξ_f is central. Observe that for any representation D,

$$\int D_{ij}(y^{-1}xy)d_my = \sum_{kn} [\int D_{ik}(y^{-1})D_{nj}(y)d_my] \ D_{kn}(x)$$

This proves the second statement. We shall show that $\xi_f \in C(G)$ as part of next proof. \Box

30-2.10. <u>Theorem</u> The set of all linear combinations of irreducible characters is uniformly dense in $ZC_{\infty}(G)$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. Let f be a cap-function. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose a trigonometric polynomial g such that $||f - g||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$. Then for all $x, y \in G$ we obtain

$$|\xi_f(x) - \xi_g(x)| = \left| \int [f(y^{-1}xy) - g(y^{-1}xy)] d_m y \right| \le \int ||f - g||_{\infty} d_m y = \varepsilon.$$

Since ξ_g is a linear combination of characters in C(G), the uniform limit ξ_f belongs to C(G) as required by last lemma. Finally if f is central, then $\xi_f(x) = \int f(y^{-1}xy)d_my = \int f(yy^{-1}x)d_my = f(x)$ completes the proof.

30-2.11. **Lemma** Let D be an irreducible unitary representation of degree s, I the identity matrix of order s and f, g be central cap-functions on G. Then we have $D(f) = \frac{1}{s} < f, \rho_D > I, D(\rho_D) = \frac{1}{s}I, D < f, g > = \frac{1}{s} < f, \rho_D > < \rho_D, g >$ and $||D(f)|| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{s}}| < f, \rho_D > |.$

Proof. For every $y \in G$, observe that

$$\begin{split} D(f) &= \int f(x) D(x)^- d_m x = \int f(y^{-1} x y) D(y^{-1} x y)^- d_m x \\ &= D(y^{-1})^- \left[\int f(x) D(x)^- d_m x \right] D(y)^- = D(y^{-1})^- D(f) D(y)^- \,. \end{split}$$

Taking complex conjugate, we get $D(y)D(f)^- = D(f)^-D(y)$. It follows that $D(f)^{-}$ is a scalar matrix. Write $D(f) = \lambda I$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$s\lambda = trD(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \int f(x)D_{ii}(x)^{-}d_{m}x = \int f(x) \left[\sum_{i=1}^{s} D_{ii}(x)^{-}\right] d_{m}x$$

= $\int f(x)\rho_{D}(x)^{-}d_{m}x = \langle f, \rho_{D} \rangle,$

i.e. $D(f) = \frac{1}{s} < f, \rho_D > I$. For $f = \rho_D$, we get $D(\rho_D) = \frac{1}{s} < \rho_D, \rho_D > I = \frac{1}{s}I$. Next for inner product,

$$D < f,g >= < D(f), D(g) >= tr \ D(g)^* D(f)$$

= tr $\frac{1}{s^2} < g, \rho_D >^- < f, \rho_D > I = \frac{1}{s} < g, \rho_D >^- < f, \rho_D > .$

The last formula follows by setting q = f.

Theorem For all central cap-functions f, g on G, we have 30-2.12. $||f||^2 = \sum_{w \in \Omega} |\langle f, \rho_w \rangle|^2$ and $\langle f, g \rangle = \sum_{w \in \Omega} \langle f, \rho_w \rangle \langle \rho_w, g \rangle$.

Proof. It follows immediately from §30-1.5.

Let f, g be cap-functions on G but they need not be 30-2.13. Theorem central.

(a) The Fourier series of f is $\Omega(f) = \sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w \rho_w \times f$.

(b) $\langle f, g \rangle = \sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w \rho_w \times g^* \times f(e).$

(c) $||f||^2 = \sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w \rho_w \times f^* \times f(e).$

(d) The trigonometric series $\sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w \rho_w \times f \times g$ converges to $f \times g$ uniformly and absolutely in $C_{\infty}(G)$.

Proof. (a) For any unitary representation D of G, we have

$$\begin{split} \rho_D &\times f(a) = \int tr D(ax^{-1}) f(x) d_m x = tr D(a) \int D(x^{-1}) f(x) d_m x \\ &= tr D(a) \int f(x) D(x)^* d_m x = tr D(a) \left[\int f(x) D(x)^- d_m x \right]^{-*} \\ &= tr D(a) D(f)^{-*} = tr D(f)^{-*} D(a) = < D(a), D(f)^- > . \end{split}$$

Hence $\sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w \rho_w \times f$ is the Fourier series of f.

(b) Observe that

$$\begin{split} D &< f,g \rangle = < D(f), D(g) \rangle = tr D(g)^* D(f) \\ &= tr \left[\int g(y) D(y)^- d_m y \right]^* \left[\int f(x) D(x)^- d_m x \right] \\ &= tr \int \int g(y)^- D(y)^{-*} f(x) D(x)^- d_m x d_m y \\ &= tr \int \int g(y)^- D(y^{-1})^- f(x) D(x)^- d_m x d_m y \\ &= tr \int \int g(y)^- f(x) D(y^{-1}x)^- d_m x d_m y \\ &= tr \int \int g(y^{-1})^* f(yx) D(x)^- d_m x d_m y, \qquad \text{replacing } x \text{ by } yx \\ &= tr \int (g^* \times f)(x) D(x)^- d_m x = \int (g^* \times f)(x) tr D(x)^- d_m x \\ &= \int (g^* \times f)(x) \rho(x)^- d_m x = \int (g^* \times f)(x) \rho(x^{-1}) d_m x = \rho \times g^* \times f(e). \end{split}$$

Hence we have $w < f, g > = \rho_w \times g^* \times f(e)$. The result follows from §30-1.5.

(d) Let $f_J = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \rho_w \times f$ and $g_J = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \rho_w \times g$ for any finite subset J of Ω . Then $\|f_J\|^2 = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \rho_w \times f^* \times f(e) = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \|w(f)\|^2 \to \|f\|^2$ as $J \to \infty$. Now observe that

$$\begin{split} f_J \times g_J &= \sum_{w,v \in J} s_w s_v \rho_w \times f \times \rho_v \times g \\ &= \sum_{w,v \in J} s_w s_v \rho_w \times \rho_v \times f \times g = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \rho_w \times f \times g. \end{split}$$

Therefore we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|f \times g - \sum_{w \in J} s_w \rho_w \times f \times g\|_{\infty} &= \|f \times g - f_J \times g_J\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|f - f_J\| \|g\| + \|f_J\| \|g - g_J\| \\ &\leq \|f - f_J\| \|g\| + \|f\| \|g - g_J\| \to 0 \quad \text{as } J \to \infty. \end{split}$$

30-3 Saturated Dual Objects

30-3.1. Let C(G) be the ideal of comfortable almost periodic functions or cap-functions on a group G. A closed invariant ideal of C(G) is *saturated* if it is also closed under complex conjugation and pointwise multiplication. We shall prove that it is closely related to conjugate and tensor products of representations. Let N be a saturated closed invariant ideal of C(G).

30-3.2. <u>Theorem</u> If $f \in N$ then $|f| \in N$. Furthermore if $f, g \in N$ are real, then both $f \lor g$ and $f \land g$ are in N.

<u>Proof</u>. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose a polynomial p without constant term by §3-8.9 such that $|p(t) - \sqrt{t}| \le \varepsilon$ for all $0 \le t \le ||f^-f||_{\infty}$. Since N is saturated, $f^-f \in N$ and hence $p(f^-f) \in N$. Therefore |f| is a uniform limit of functions

in N. Consequently, $|f| \in N$. The last statement follows from the standard formulas: $f \lor g = \frac{1}{2}(f + g + |f - g|)$ and $f \land g = \frac{1}{2}(f + g - |f - g|)$. \Box

30-3.3. <u>Lemma</u> Every saturated closed invariant ideal $N \neq \{0\}$ contains all constant functions.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $f \neq 0$ be a function in N. There is an irreducible unitary N-representation D such that $D(f) \neq 0$. Then D is an N-representation. Its character ρ belongs to N. Hence $1 = \rho^- \rho$ belongs to N. Since N is a vector space, it contains all constant functions.

30-3.4. **Theorem** If N separates points of G, then for all distinct elements $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n \in G$ and arbitrary numbers α_i , there is $f \in N$ such that $f(a_i) = \alpha_i$ for each $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$.

<u>Proof</u>. For each pair $i \neq j$, choose $g_{ij} \in N$ such that $g_{ij}(a_i) \neq g_{ij}(a_j)$. Then $h_{ij}(x) = \frac{g_{ij}(x) - g_{ij}(a_j)}{g_{ij}(a_i) - g_{ij}(a_j)}$ defines a function $h_{ij} \in N$ with $h_{ij}(a_i) = 1$ and $h_{ij}(a_j) = 0$. Clearly the function f given by $f(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \prod_{j=1, j\neq i}^{n} h_{ij}(x)$ is a required cap-function in N.

30-3.5. <u>Theorem</u> Let $f \in N$ and K a compact set containing f(G). For every continuous function $\varphi: K \to \mathbb{C}$, the composite φf belongs to N.

<u>Proof.</u> Choose a sequence $\{g_n\}$ of polynomials in λ, λ^- such that $|g_n(\lambda, \lambda^-) - \varphi(\lambda)| \leq 1/n$ for all $\lambda \in K$. Since N is saturated, $f^- \in N$ and hence $g_n(f, f^-) \in N$. As the uniform limit, we have $\varphi f \in N$.

30-3.6. Corollary If $f \in N$ with $|f| \ge r > 0$, then $1/f \in N$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> The compact set $K = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : r \leq |t| \leq ||f||_{\infty}\}$ contains f(G) and the function $\varphi(\lambda) = 1/t$ is continuous on K. Therefore $\varphi f = 1/f \in N$. \Box

30-3.7. The sign-function is normally discontinuous and it is unlikely in C(G). Hence it has to be paired with a function of suitable amplitude as in next theorem. Then we approximate the sign-function with elements in C(G).

30-3.8. <u>Theorem</u> Let $h, f \in N$; $\operatorname{sgn}[f(x)] = \begin{cases} f(x)/|f(x)|, & \text{if } f(x) \neq 0 \\ 0, & \text{if } f(x) = 0 \end{cases}$ and $g(x) = h(x)\operatorname{sgn}[f(x)]$. If $|h| \leq |f|$, then $g \in N$.

 $\frac{Proof}{n!}. \text{ Let } s_n(x) = \frac{h(x)f(x)}{\frac{1}{n^2} + |f(x)|} \text{ for all } x \in G \text{ and } n > 0. \text{ Since } N \text{ is saturated},$ all $s_n \in N$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Take any $n \ge (1 + \|f\|_{\infty})/\varepsilon$. If $0 < |f(x)| < \frac{1}{n}$,
then $|g(x) - s_n(x)| = |h(x)|/[1 + n^2|f(x)|] \le \frac{1}{n} \le \varepsilon$. If $|f(x)| \ge \frac{1}{n}$, then $|g(x) - s_n(x)| = |h(x)|/[1 + n^2|f(x)|] \le ||f||_{\infty}/(1 + n) \le \varepsilon$. If f(x) = 0, then $|g(x) - s_n(x)| = 0 \le \varepsilon$. Therefore $s_n \to g$ uniformly. Consequently, $g \in N$. \Box

30-3.9. <u>Theorem</u> Let $h \in N$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $g \in N$ such that $||g||_{\infty} \leq 1$, $g(x)h(x) \geq 0$ and $||gh - |h|||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof</u>. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, choose a polynomial p(t) with real coefficients and without constant term such that $|p(t) - \sqrt{t}| \le \varepsilon$ for all $0 \le t \le ||h^-h||_{\infty}$. Write p(t) = r(t)t where r(t) is a polynomial with real coefficients. The real function $f = r(h^-h) \in N$ satisfies $|f(x)h^-(x)h(x) - |h(x)|| \le \varepsilon$ for all $x \in G$. Replacing f by f^+ , we may assume that $f \ge 0$ as a result of $h^-h \ge 0$. Since the function $\lambda : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by $\lambda(z) = \begin{cases} z, & \text{if } |z| \le 1 \\ z/|z|, & \text{if } |z| > 1 \end{cases}$ is continuous, the composite function given by $g(x) = \lambda[f(x)h^-(x)]$ for all $x \in G$ belongs to N. Clearly we have $||g||_{\infty} \le 1$ and $g(x)h(x) \ge 0$ for all $x \in G$. Furthermore if $|f(x)h^-(x)| \le 1$, then we have $|g(x)h(x)-|h(x)|| = |f(x)h^-(x)h(x)-|h(x)|| \le \varepsilon$. If $|f(x)h^-(x)| \ge 1$, then we also have

$$\begin{aligned} |g(x)h(x) - |h(x)| &| = \left| \frac{f(x)h^{-}(x)h(x)}{|f(x)h^{-}(x)|} - |h(x)| \right| = \left| \frac{f(x)|h(x)|^{2}}{|f(x)|h^{-}(x)|} - |h(x)| \right| = 0 \le \varepsilon. \\ \text{This completes the proof.} \qquad \Box \end{aligned}$$

30-3.10. Let M be a closed invariant ideal of C(G). As in §30-1.3, the family Ω_M of all equivalent classes of irreducible bounded representations of G is called the *M*-dual object of G. Because C(G) is nothing more than a closed invariant ideal of A(G), all results about C(G) hold for M and Ω_M .

30-3.11. <u>Theorem</u> For every $\triangle \subset \Omega_M$, the following statements are equivalent.

(a) $\triangle = \Omega_M$.

(b) Every function in M is a uniform limit of \triangle -trigonometric polynomials.

(c) Every central function in M is a uniform limit of linear combinations of irreducible \triangle -characters.

<u>Proof.</u> Without loss of generality, we may assume M = C(G) and $\Omega_M = \Omega$. We have proved $(a \Rightarrow b)$ by §30-1.10 and $(b \Rightarrow c)$ by §30-2.10. It remains to prove $(c \Rightarrow a)$. Suppose to the contrary that there is $v \in \Omega$ but $v \notin \Delta$. Then ρ_v is a central function in (G). For $\varepsilon = 1/2$, there is a finite subset J of Δ and some constants α_w such that $\|\rho_v - \sum_{w \in J} \alpha_w s_w \rho_w\|_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$. Then we have

 $s_v = \rho_v(e) \le \|\rho_v\|_{\infty} = \|s_v\rho_v \times (\rho_v - \sum_{w \in J} \alpha_w s_w \rho_w)\|_{\infty}$

$$\leq \|s_v \rho_v\|_2 \|\rho_v - \sum_{w \in J} \alpha_w s_w \rho_w\|_2$$

$$\leq s_v \|\rho_v\|_2 \|\rho_v - \sum_{w \in J} \alpha_w s_w \rho_w\|_{\infty} \leq s_v \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{2} s_v$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore we have $\Delta = \Omega$.

30-3.12. <u>Theorem</u> Let \triangle be a nonempty subset of Ω . Then the uniform closure M of $T\triangle$ is a closed invariant ideal. Furthermore we have $\triangle = \Omega_M(G)$. <u>Proof</u>. Clearly M is a closed vector subspace of $C_{\infty}(G)$. Suppose that $f \in M$ and $a \in G$. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose $g \in T\triangle$ such that $||f - g||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$, i.e. $||R_a f - R_a g||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$. Since $R_a g \in T\triangle$, we have $R_a f \in M$. Similarly, $L_a f \in M$. Hence M is a closed invariant ideal. Next, take any dual class $w \in \triangle$ and pick any irreducible unitary representation $D^w \in w$. Then all entry functions of D^w is in $Tw \subset M$. Hence D^w is an M-representation, i.e. $w \in \Omega_M(G)$. Therefore $\triangle \subset \Omega_M(G)$. It follows from last theorem that $\triangle = \Omega_M(G)$.

30-3.13. <u>Theorem</u> For $M = \{0\}$, let $\Omega_M(G) = \emptyset$. Then the map $M \to \Omega_M(G)$ is a bijection from the family of all closed invariant ideals onto the family of all subsets of Ω .

<u>Proof.</u> The map $M \to \Omega_M(G)$ is surjective by last theorem. Suppose that $\overline{M, N}$ are closed invariant ideals with $\Omega_M(G) = \Omega_N(G)$. Let D be an irreducible M-representation of G. Then the dual class containing D is in $\Omega_M(G)$, and als γ in $\Omega_N(G)$. Therefore D is equivalent to some N-representation. Consequently, D is an N-representation. As a result, every M-trigonometric polynomial is also an N-trigonometric polynomial. We obtain $M \subset N$. By symmetry, we get M = N.

30-3.14. <u>Theorem</u> Let M be a closed invariant ideal of C(G).

(a) $M^{\perp} = \{ f \in C_2(G) : \langle f, h \rangle = 0, \forall h \in M \}$ is also a closed invariant ideal.

- (b) For all $f, g \in C(G)$, we have $f \times g \in M \oplus M^{\perp}$.
- (c) $M \oplus M^{\perp}$ is dense in $C_{\infty}(G)$.
- (d) If M is self-conjugate, then so is M^{\perp} .
- (e) Ω_M and $\Omega_{M^{\perp}}$ form a partition of the dual object Ω .

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) For all $f, h \in M$, let $\mu_h(f) = \langle f, h \rangle$. Then we have

$$|\mu_h(f)| = |\langle f, h \rangle| \le ||f||_{\infty} ||h||.$$

Hence $\mu_h : C_{\infty}(G) \to \mathbb{C}$ is a continuous linear form. Thus $M^{\perp} = \bigcap_{h \in M} \ker(\mu_h)$ is closed in $C_{\infty}(G)$. Observe that for every $f \in M^{\perp}$ and $h \in M$, we get $\langle L_a f, h \rangle = \langle f, L_{a^{-1}}h \rangle = 0$ and $\langle R_a f, h \rangle = \langle f, R_{a^{-1}}h \rangle = 0$. Hence M^{\perp} is translation invariant. Therefore M^{\perp} forms a closed invariant ideal.

(b) Observe that $f \times g = \sum_{w \in \Omega} s_w \rho_w \times f \times g$ converges in $C_{\infty}(G)$. Hence $h_1 = \sum_{w \in \Omega_M(G)} s_w \rho_w \times f \times g \in M$ and $h_2 = \sum_{w \in \Omega_{M^{\perp}}(G)} s_w \rho_w \times f \times g \in M^{\perp}$. Then $f \times g = h_1 + h_2 \in M + M^{\perp}$. Next, if $f \in M \cap M^{\perp}$, then $\langle f, f \rangle = \|f\|_2 = 0$, or f = 0. Hence the sum $M + M^{\perp}$ is direct.

(c) It follows from $\S28-4.11$.

(d) Take any $f \in M^{\perp}$. Then for every $h \in M$, we have

$$< f^{-}, h >= \int f(x)^{-}g(x)^{-}d_{m}x = \left[\int f(x)g(x)d_{m}x\right]^{-} = < f, g^{-} >^{-} = 0$$

This shows that M^{\perp} is self-conjugate.

(e) Suppose $w \in \Omega_M(G) \cap \Omega_{M^{\perp}}(G)$. Then $\rho_w \in M \cap M^{\perp}$ which is a contraction. Next, suppose $w \notin \Omega_{M^{\perp}}(G)$. Then $\rho_w \notin M^{\perp}$. Since the *M*-trigonometric polynomials are uniformly dense in *M*, there is an irreducible *M*-representation *D* such that $\langle \rho_w, D_{ij} \rangle \neq 0$ for some i, j. Then the Fourier matrix $D(\rho_w)$ is nonzero. Hence $\langle \rho_w, \rho_D \rangle \neq 0$. It follows that $\rho_w = \rho_D$. Therefore $D \in w$. Consequently, $w \in \Omega_M(G)$.

30-3.15. For the rest of this section, let C(G) be a saturated closed invariant ideal, for example A(G) itself. We want to characterize those ideals M of C(G) that are saturated.

30-3.16. <u>Theorem</u> Let D, E be bounded representations of a group G.

- (a) The map D^- is a bounded representation called the *conjugate* of D.
- (b) $D^{--} = D$, $\rho_D^- = \rho_{D^-}$, $(D \oplus E)^- = D^- \oplus E^-$.
- (c) D is irreducible iff D^- is irreducible.
- (d) D is unitary iff D^- is unitary.
- (e) D, E are equivalent iff D^-, E^- are equivalent.
- (f) $f \in TD$ iff $f^- \in T(D^-)$.
- (g) D, D^- are equivalent iff ρ_D is real.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) Because C(G) is closed under conjugation, all entry functions of $\overline{D^-}$ belong to C(G).

(c) D is irreducible iff $\|\rho_{D^-}\| = \|\rho_D\| = 1$ iff D^- is irreducible.

(g) D, D^- are equivalent iff $\rho_D = \rho_{D^-} = \rho_D^-$ iff ρ_D is real.

30-3.17. Let Ω be the dual object of G. For every $w \in \Omega$, take any $D \in w$ and define w^- as the dual class containing D^- . Clearly w^- is independent of the choice of $D \in w$ and it is called the *dual class conjugate* to w. Clearly $w \to w^-$ is a bijection of Ω onto Ω . Also $w^{--} = w$, $\rho_{w^-} = \rho_w^-$, $T(w^-) = (Tw)^-$. Clearly

 $w = w^-$ iff ρ_w is real. Finally for every closed invariant ideal M of C(G), we have $\Omega_{M^-}(G) = \Omega_M(G)^-$.

30-3.18. The tensor product of two matrices was defined in §15-4.4. For conformable matrices, we list the following properties.

(a) $(A+B) \otimes C = A \otimes C + B \otimes C$ and $C \otimes (A+B) = C \otimes A + C \otimes B$.

(b) $\lambda(A \otimes B) = (\lambda A) \otimes B = A \otimes (\lambda B), A \otimes (B \otimes C) = (A \otimes B) \otimes C.$

(c) $(A \otimes B)(C \otimes D) = AC \otimes BD$, $I_p \otimes I_q = I_{pq}$.

(d) $(A \otimes B)^{-1} = A^{-1} \otimes B^{-1}$ if both A, B are invertible.

(e) $(A \otimes B)^t = A^t \otimes B^t$, $(A \otimes B)^- = A^- \otimes B^-$, $(A \otimes B)^* = A^* \otimes B^*$.

(f) $tr(A \otimes B) = (trA)(trB)$, $||A \otimes B|| = ||A|| ||B||$ for square norm.

(g) If both A, B are unitary, then so is $A \otimes B$.

30-3.19. <u>Theorem</u> Let D, E be bounded representations of G of degree s, t respectively. For every $x \in G$, let $(D \otimes E)(x) = D(x) \otimes E(x)$.

(a) $D \otimes E$ is a bounded representation of G of degree st. It is called the *tensor product representation* of D, E. Furthermore if D, E are unitary, then so is $D \otimes E$.

(b) $\rho_{D\otimes E} = \rho_D \rho_E$, $(D \otimes E)^- = D^- \otimes E^-$.

(c) $D \otimes E$ and $E \otimes D$ are equivalent.

(d) The multiplicity of the identity representation in $D \otimes D^-$ is equal to $\sum_{w \in \Omega} m_w^2$ where Ω is the dual object of G and s_w is the multiplicity of w in D.

<u>*Proof.*</u> (a) Because C(G) is closed under multiplication, all entry functions $\overline{D_{ij}E_{kn}}$ of $D \otimes E$ belong to C(G).

(c) They have the same character.

(d)
$$\int \rho_{D\otimes D^{-}}(x)d_{m}x = \int \rho_{D}(x)\rho_{D}^{-}(x)d_{m}x$$

= $\int |\rho_{D}(x)|^{2}d_{m}x = \|\rho_{D}\|^{2} = \sum_{w\in\Omega} m_{w}^{2}.$

30-3.20. <u>Theorem</u> A closed invariant ideal M of C(G) is saturated iff tensor products and conjugates of bounded M-representations are also M-representations.

<u>Proof</u>. If tensor products and conjugates of bounded M-representations are \overline{M} -representations, then products and complex conjugate of M-trigonometric polynomials are M-trigonometric polynomials. Passing through limits, products and complex conjugate of functions in M belong to M. Hence M is saturated. The converse is obvious.

30-3.21. Let $D\Omega = \{D^w : w \in \Omega\}$ be the dual system of distinct representatives of the dual object Ω . For all $u, v \in \Omega$, $D^u \otimes D^v$ is equivalent to a direct sum $\bigoplus_{w \in \Omega} m_w D^w$ where the multiplicity m_w of D^w in $D^u \otimes D^v$ is zero for all except only a finite number of $w \in \Omega$. Define $u \otimes v = \{w \in \Omega : m_w \neq 0\}$. Equivalently we have $u \otimes v = \{w \in \Omega : < \rho_{u \otimes v}, \rho_w > \neq 0\}$. Obviously $u \otimes v$ is independent of the choice of $\{D^w : w \in \Omega\}$. We identify elements in Ω with singletons. For any nonempty subset U, V of Ω , define $U \otimes V = \{u \otimes v : u \in U, v \in V\}$. If one of U, V is empty, define $U \otimes V = \emptyset$. Hence \otimes is defined on the power set of Ω . A subset Δ of Ω is called a *saturated* of G if $\Delta \otimes \Delta \subset \Delta$ and $\Delta^- \subset \Delta$. Clearly the intersection of all saturated dual objects containing a subset Δ of Ω is a saturated dual object which is said to be generated by Δ . It is denoted by $sa(\Delta)$. Clearly the intersection of all saturated closed invariant ideals containing a subset N of C(G) is a saturated closed invariant ideal which is called the saturated closed invariant ideal generated by N. It is denoted by sa(N).

30-3.22. <u>Exercise</u> Let U, V, W be subsets of the dual object Ω and let 1 denote the dual class containing the identity representation. Prove the following statements.

 $\begin{array}{ll} \text{(a)} \ 1\otimes w=w, \ \text{for all} \ w\in\Omega. \\ \text{(b)} \ 1\in w\otimes w^- \ \text{for every} \ w\in\Omega. \\ \text{(c)} \ U\otimes V=V\otimes U. \\ \text{(d)} \ U\otimes (U\otimes W)=(U\otimes U)\otimes W. \\ \text{(e)} \ (U\otimes V)^-=U^-\otimes V^-. \\ \text{(f)} \ sa(U\cup V)=sa(U)\otimes sa(V). \end{array}$

30-3.23. **Exercise** Prove that a closed invariant ideal M of C(G) is saturated iff $\Omega_M(G)$ is saturated. Show that $\Omega_{sa(M)}(G) = sa[\Omega_M(G)]$ for every closed invariant ideal M.

30-4 Separating Points

30-4.1. In this section, we start with simple results of continuous almost periodic functions on topological groups which readers without the necessary background may restrict themselves to the additive groups of Banach spaces. Then we derive an explicit formula for mean-values on Banach spaces. Finally we work with compact groups which readers may skip without discontinuity.

30-4.2. <u>Theorem</u> Every continuous ap-function f on a topological group G

is uniformly continuous.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Choose an ε -cover $\{A_1, A_2, \dots, A_n\}$ of G for f. Pick $a_i \in A_i$ for each i. By continuity of f, there is a symmetric neighborhood V of e such that $|f(x) - f(a_i)| \le \varepsilon$ for all $x \in a_i V$ and all i. Now suppose that $x^{-1}y \in V$. There is some A_j containing x. Thus $|f(a_jy) - f(xy)| \le \varepsilon$ for all $y \in G$, or $|f(a_jx^{-1}z) - f(z)| \le \varepsilon$ for all $z \in G$. Observe that

 $|f(x) - f(y)| = |f(x) - f(a_j)| + |f(a_j) - f(a_jx^{-1}y)| + |f(a_jx^{-1}y) - f(y)| \le 3\varepsilon.$ The same inequality also holds for $xy^{-1} \in V$. Therefore f is uniformly continuous with respect to both left and right uniformity of G.

30-4.3. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that the family of all continuous ap-functions on a topological group forms a saturated closed invariant ideal.

30-4.4. <u>Theorem</u> The additive group of a Banach space E has enough continuous ap-function to separate points.

<u>Proof</u>. Let $a \neq b$ in E. Without loss of generality, assume that $a \neq 0$. There is a continuous linear form f on E such that $f(a) = \pi$ and f(b) = 0. For every $x \in E$, let $v(x) = \operatorname{Re} f(x)$. Then $x \to e^{iv(x)}$ is a continuous character on E and hence it is a continuous ap-function. Furthermore $e^{iv(a)} = -1 \neq 1 = e^{iv(b)}$. \Box

30-4.5. <u>Lemma</u> Every continuous irreducible unitary representation ρ on the real line \mathbb{R} is of the form $x \to e^{i\theta x}$ for some $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$.



<u>Proof.</u> Since \mathbb{R} is commutative, the degree of ρ is one. By continuity at $\overline{x} = 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $|\rho(x) - 1| = |\rho(x) - \rho(0)| \le \frac{1}{2}$ for all $|x| \le \delta$. There is $b \in \mathbb{R}$ with $|b| < \frac{1}{2}\pi$ satisfying $\rho(\delta) = e^{ib}$. Now $\rho(\frac{1}{2}\delta)^2 = \rho(\frac{1}{2}\delta)\rho(\frac{1}{2}\delta) = \rho(\frac{1}{2}\delta + \frac{1}{2}\delta) = \rho(\delta) = e^{ib}$, i.e. $\rho(\frac{1}{2}\delta) = e^{i(b+2n\pi)/2}$. If n = 2k + 1 is odd, then $|\rho(\frac{1}{2}\delta) - 1| = |e^{i(b+2n\pi)/2} - 1| = |e^{i(b/2+2k\pi+\pi)} - 1|$ $= |1 - e^{ib/2} - 2| \ge 2 - |1 - e^{ib/2}| \ge 2 - \frac{1}{2} > 1$

which is a contradiction. Thus n = 2k is even. Hence $\rho(\frac{1}{2}\delta) = e^{i(b+4k\pi)/2} = e^{ib/2}$. Similarly, we obtain $\rho(\delta/2^n) = e^{ib/2^n}$ for all integers n > 1. It follows that $\rho[\delta(k/2^n)] = e^{ib(k/2^n)}$ for all integers k, n. Thus for all rationals r, we have $\rho(\delta r) = e^{ibr}$. By continuity, we have $\rho(\delta y) = e^{iby}$ for all real y. Therefore $\rho(x) = e^{i(b/\delta)x}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. For an alternative proof, see [Naimark, p152]. \Box

30-4.6. <u>Theorem</u> Every continuous irreducible unitary representation ρ on a Banach space E is of the form $x \to e^{iv(x)}$ for some *real* continuous linear form v on E. Note that v is a real part of a continuous linear form on E.

Proof. Fix $x \in E$. Define $\varphi_x(t) = \rho(tx)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Then φ_x is a continuous representation on \mathbb{R} . There is $v(x) \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\varphi_x(t) = \rho(tx) = e^{itv(x)}$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Given any $x, y \in E$, we have $\rho[t(x+y)] = \rho(tx+ty) = \rho(tx)\rho(ty)$, i.e. $e^{itv(x+y)} = e^{itv(x)}e^{itv(y)}$, or $e^{it[v(x+y)-v(x)-v(y)]} = 1$. Hence for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$, there is some integer n such that $t[v(x+y) - v(x) - v(y)] = 2n\pi$. Thus for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, $t[v(x+y) - v(x) - v(y)]/\pi = 2n$ is an integer. This can happen only if v(x+y) - v(x) - v(y) = 0, or v(x+y) = v(x) + v(y). Similarly, we have $v(\alpha x) = \alpha v(x)$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore v is a real linear form on E. Next, take any $0 < \varepsilon < 1$. There is a ball V with center $0 \in E$ such that for all $x \in V$, we have $|\rho(x) - 1| \le \varepsilon$. Suppose to the contrary that $|v(x)| > \frac{1}{2}\pi$ for some $x \in V$. Choose $|t| \le 1$ such that $tv(x) = \frac{1}{2}\pi$. Clearly $tx \in V$. Hence $|\rho(tx) - 1| = |e^{itv(x)} - 1| = \sqrt{2} > \varepsilon$. Therefore $|v(x)| \le \frac{1}{2}\pi$ for all $x \in V$. Consequently, v is continuous on E. Note that replacing V by a balanced 0-neighborhood, the same proof works for separated locally convex spaces. \Box

30-4.7. <u>Corollary</u> Every continuous ap-function on E is a uniform limit of finite linear combinations of characters of the form $e^{iv(x)}$ for all $x \in E$ where v is a *real* continuous linear form on E.

30-4.8. **Example** The mean-value of a continuous ap-function f on \mathbb{R} is given by $\int f d_m = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_a^{a+t} f(x) dx = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{2t} \int_{-t}^t f(x) dx$. The convergence is uniformly and is independent of a. Furthermore if h is continuous periodic with period p > 0, then we have $\int h d_m = \frac{1}{p} \int_0^p h(x) dx$.

<u>Proof</u>. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose a continuous trigonometric polynomial g with $|f(x) - g(x)| \le \varepsilon$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Write $g(x) = a_0 + \sum_{j=1}^k a_j e^{i\theta_j x}$ where $\theta_j \neq 0$. Observe that

$$\left|\frac{1}{t}\int_{a}^{a+t}g(x)dx-a_{0}\right| = \left|\sum_{j=1}^{k}\frac{a_{j}e^{i\theta_{j}a}(e^{i\theta_{j}t}-1)}{i\theta_{j}t}\right| \le \frac{2}{t}\sum_{j=1}^{k}\left|\frac{a_{j}}{\theta_{j}}\right| \to 0$$

uniformly in a as $t \to \infty$. There is r > 0 such that for all $s, t \ge r$ and for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$rac{1}{s}\int_a^{a+s}g(x)dx-rac{1}{t}\int_a^{a+t}g(x)dxigg|\leq arepsilon.$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{1}{s} \int_{a}^{a+s} f(x) dx - \frac{1}{t} \int_{a}^{a+t} f(x) dx \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{s} \int_{a}^{a+s} |f(x) - g(x)| dx + \left| \frac{1}{s} \int_{a}^{a+s} g(x) dx - \frac{1}{t} \int_{a}^{a+t} g(x) dx \right| \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{t} \int_{a}^{a+t} |f(x) - g(x)| dx. \end{aligned}$$

 $\leq 3\varepsilon$.

Therefore $\lim_{t\to\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_a^{a+t} f(x) dx$ to some $\mu(f) \in \mathbb{C}$ converges uniformly in a. Remember that continuous ap-functions are bounded. From

$$\frac{1}{t}\int_{a}^{a+t}f(x)dx-\frac{1}{t}\int_{0}^{t}f(x)dx\bigg|\leq\frac{1}{t}\left|\int_{t}^{a+t}f(x)dx-\int_{0}^{a}f(x)dx\right|\leq\frac{2a\|f\|_{\infty}}{t}\rightarrow0,$$

we have $\mu(f) = \lim_{t\to\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f(x) dx$ which is independent of the choice of a. In particular,

$$\mu(h) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{a}^{a+t} h(x) dx = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{np} \int_{0}^{np} h(x) dx = \frac{1}{p} \int_{0}^{p} h(x) dx.$$

Clearly μ is a normalized positive linear form on the invariant ideal of continuous ap-functions. Because

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}\frac{1}{t}\int_0^t f(x-a)dx = \lim_{t\to\infty}\frac{1}{t}\int_a^{a+t}f(y)dy = \mu(f),$$

 μ is also translation invariant. Therefore we have $\int f d_m = \mu(f)$ by the uniqueness of mean-value. Finally, by inversion invariance,

$$\int f d_m = \int f(-x) d_m x = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f(-x) dx = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{-t}^0 f(y) dy$$

from which we get

$$\int fd_m = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f(x)dx + \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{-t}^0 f(x)dx \right\} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{2t} \int_{-t}^t f(x)dx. \square$$

30-4.9. <u>Corollary</u> For every nonzero real $v \in E'$, we have $\int e^{iv(x)} d_m x = 0$. <u>Proof</u>. Let $a \in E$ satisfy v(a) = 1 and let $H = \ker(v)$. Then we may identify $E = \mathbb{R}a \oplus H = \mathbb{R} \times H$. For x = sa + y where $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $y \in H$, we have

$$\int e^{iv(x)} d_m(x) = \int \int e^{is} d_m s d_m y$$
$$= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{2t} \int_{-t}^t e^{is} ds = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{2t i} (e^{it} - e^{-it}) = 0.$$

30-4.10. <u>Theorem</u> Let C(G) be a closed invariant ideal of ap-functions on a group G and let $a, b \in G$.

(a) f(a) = f(b) for all $f \in C(G)$ iff D(a) = D(b) for every irreducible unitary representation D.

(b) f(a) = f(b) for all central functions $f \in C(G)$ iff $\rho(a) = \rho(b)$ for all irreducible characters $\rho \in C(G)$.

Proof. It follows because the trigonometric polynomials are dense in C(G). \Box

30-4.11. **Theorem** The set $H = \{x \in G : f(x) = f(e), \forall f \in A(G)\}$ is a normal subgroup of G where e is the identity element of G. If K is a normal subgroup such that G/K has enough ap-functions to separate points, then we have $H \subset K$. Without continuity of quotient map, we work with C(G) = A(G).

<u>Proof</u>. Every unitary representation D of G is a homomorphism from G into some unitary group. Hence $\ker(D)$ is a normal subgroup of G. It follows that $H = \bigcap_D \ker(D)$ is also a normal subgroup of G. Next, suppose $a \in G \setminus K$. Let φ be the quotient map from G onto G/K. Then $\varphi(a) \neq \varphi(e)$. There is some ap-function g on G/K such that $g\varphi(a) \neq g\varphi(e)$. It follows that $f = g\varphi$ is an ap-function on G with $f(a) \neq f(e)$. Hence $a \notin H$. Therefore $H \subset K$. \Box

30-4.12. <u>Theorem</u> Every continuous function f on a (separated) compact group G is almost periodic.

<u>Proof</u>. Since G is compact, f is uniformly continuous. There is a neighborhood of e such that $|f(x) - f(y)| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $x^{-1}y \in V$. There is an open neighborhood W of e such that $W^{-1}W \subset V$. By compactness of G, we have $G \subset JW$ for some finite subset J of G. Now for all $x \in G$, $a \in J$ and $u, v \in W$; we have $(xau)^{-1}(xav) = u^{-1}v \in W^{-1}W \subset V$. Hence $|f(xau) - f(xav)| \leq \varepsilon$. Consequently the family $\{aW : a \in J\}$ is a right ε -cover of G for f. Therefore f is almost periodic on G.

30-4.13. <u>Corollary</u> The set of all continuous functions on a compact group forms a saturated closed invariant ideal.

30-4.14. <u>Corollary</u> The family of all continuous irreducible unitary matrix representations of a compact group separates points.

30-4.15. Note that there are groups without finite dimensional unitary representations, e.g. [Hewitt-63; p348].

30-99. <u>References and Further Readings</u> : Hewitt-63, GilDeLamadrid, Dunkl, Rno, Cukerman, Das, Talman and Vilenkin.

Chapter 31 Mean Spaces

31-1 Representations of Product Groups

31-1.1. Nontrivial translation invariant measures on σ -algebras generated by open subsets of infinite dimensional Banach spaces do not exist. Continuous functions with compact support on infinite dimensional Banach spaces must be zero. Although mean-values behave like integrals, yet Monotone Convergence Theorem fails as shown by a counter example below. Harmonic analysis on unitary groups is largely restricted to finite dimensional cases. In short, we have to look for *new* objects in order to handle infinite dimensional Banach spaces and possibly some subgroups of infinite dimensional unitary groups of Hilbert spaces. In this section, we develop unitary representations on product groups as preparation for the new objects.

31-1.2. A function f on \mathbb{R} is *piecewise differentiable* if f'(x) exists except only a finite number of points in every compact interval and both left-right limits f'(x-), f'(x+) exist everywhere.



31-1.3. Failure of Monotonic Convergence Theorem There are continuous periodic piecewise differentiable functions f_n on \mathbb{R} such that for all $1 \le p < \infty$ and all $n \ge 1$ we have $0 \le f_{n+1}^p \le f_n^p \to 0$ pointwise and $\int f_n^p d_m \ge 1/6$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Define f_1 on $[0, 8^2]$ by joining the points (0, 0), (8, 0), (9, 1), (55, 1), (56, 0), (64, 0) and then extend it periodically over \mathbb{R} . By §30-4.8, we have

$$\int f_1^p d_m = \frac{1}{64} \int_0^{64} f_1^p(x) dx \ge \frac{1}{64} \int_9^{55} f_1^p(x) dx \ge \frac{55-9}{64} > \frac{1}{2}.$$

Inductively, define f_{n+1} as the periodic function of period $8^{2^{n+1}}$ given by

$$f_{n+1}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } 0 \leq x \leq 8^{2^n}; \\ f_n(x), & \text{if } 8^{2^n} \leq x \leq 8^{2^{n+1}} - 8^{2^n}; \\ 0, & \text{if } 8^{2^{n+1}} - 8^{2^n} \leq x \leq 8^{2^{n+1}}. \end{cases}$$

Basically, we take 8^{2^n} lots of consecutive intervals of length 8^{2^n} and change the value of f_n to zero on the first and the last intervals. Clearly all f_n are continuous periodic and piecewise differentiable. Obviously $0 \leq f_{n+1}^p \leq f_n^p \to 0$ pointwise. We claim $\int f_n^p d_m \ge \prod_{j=1}^n (1-2^{-j})$. In fact, the mean-value of f_{n+1}^p is the average on $[0, 8^{2^{n+1}}]$, that is

$$\int f_{n+1}^p d_m = \frac{8^{2^n} - 2}{8^{2^n}} \int f_n^p d_m \ge (1 - 2/8^{2^n}) \prod_{j=1}^n (1 - 2^{-j}) \ge \prod_{j=1}^{n+1} (1 - 2^{-j}).$$

Observe that for $0 < t \leq \frac{1}{2}$, we have $0 < t^2 < \frac{1}{2}$ and $1 + t < e^t$; that is $1 - t = (1 - t^2)/(1 + t) > 1/(2e^t)$. Hence

$$\int f_n^p d_m \ge \prod_{j=1}^n (1-2^{-j}) \ge \frac{1}{2e^{2^{-1}+2^{-2}+\dots+2^{-n}}} \ge \frac{1}{2e} \ge \frac{1}{6} > 0.$$

Therefore we do not have $\int f_n^p d_m \to 0$.

31-1.4. <u>Exercise</u> For each $n \ge 2$, let g_n be the real function on \mathbb{R} joining the points (0,1), (n+1,1), (n+2,0), $(\alpha_n - n - 3,0)$, $(\alpha_n - n - 2,1)$ and $(\alpha_n, 1)$ and extend it periodically over \mathbb{R} where $\alpha_n = 4n(n+1)(n+2)$. Verify that $\int g_n d_m = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{1}{n} - \frac{1}{n+1})$. Let $f_n = \max\{g_1, g_2, \dots, g_n\}$. Show that f_n are continuous periodic functions satisfying $f_n \uparrow 1, 0 \leq f_n \leq g_1 + g_2 + \cdots + g_n$ and $\int f_n d_m \leq \frac{1}{2} < 1 = \int 1 d_m$. Prove that $\{f_n\}$ is Cauchy in the Banach space $C_1(\mathbb{R})$ of all continuous ap-functions.

31-1.5. Let G, H be groups and let $A(G), A(H), A(G \times H)$ be the sets of all almost periodic functions on $G, H, G \times H$ respectively. After we prepare the ground work, then we deal with closed invariant ideals C(G), C(H) and define $C(G \times H)$ later.

31-1.6. **Theorem** Let f be an ap-function on their product group $G \times H$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are ap-functions g_i, h_i on G, H respectively such that $|f(x,y) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_i(x)h_i(y)| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $(x,y) \in G \times H$.

Proof. Choose a trigonometric polynomial φ on $G \times H$ such that $\|f - \varphi\|_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$. Write $\varphi = \sum_{w \in J} s_w \sum_{i,j=1}^{s_w} \alpha_{ij}^w D_{ij}^w$ where J is a finite index set, each D^w is a bounded representation of $G \times H$ of degree s_w and all α_{ij}^w are constants. For simplicity, let e denote the identity element of both G, H. From $D^{w}(x, y) = D^{w}[(x, e)(e, y)] = D^{w}(x, e)D^{w}(e, y)$, we have

$$D_{ij}^{w}(x,y) = \sum_{k=1}^{s_{w}} D_{ik}^{w}(x,e) D_{kj}^{w}(e,y).$$

Clearly, $D^w(x, e), D^w(e, y)$ in x, y are bounded representations of G, H respectively. Therefore φ is of the form $\sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i g_i(x) h_i(y)$ where g_i, h_i are entry functions of some bounded representations of G, H respectively and all β_i are constants.

31-1.7. Let C(G), C(H) be closed invariant ideals of ap-functions on G, H respectively. For every $g \in C(G), h \in C(H)$; let $(g \otimes h)(x, y) = g(x)h(y)$ for all $(x, y) \in G \times H$. It follows from §28-3.4 that $g \otimes h$ is an ap-function on $G \times H$. Let $C(G \times H)$ be the uniform closure of all linear combinations of functions on $G \times H$ of the form $g \otimes h$ for $g \in C(G), h \in C(H)$. For convenience, $C(G \times H)$ is called the *tensor product* of C(G), C(H) and is denoted by $C(G) \otimes C(H)$. As usual, functions in $C(G), C(H), C(G \times H)$ are called comfortable almost periodic functions or cap-functions. It is a reminder of continuous objects on topological groups.

31-1.8. <u>Theorem</u> If f is real cap-functions on $G \times H$, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are real cap-functions g_i, h_i on G, H respectively such that for all $(x, y) \in G \times H$ we have $|f(x, y) - \sum_{i=1}^n g_i(x)h_i(y)| \le \varepsilon$.

<u>Proof</u>. Choose complex cap-functions g_i, h_i such that $||f - \sum_{i=1}^n g_i \otimes h_i||_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$. Then $\operatorname{Re}[g_i(x)h_i(y)] = [\operatorname{Re} g_i(x)] [\operatorname{Re} h_i(y)] - [\operatorname{Im} g_i(x)] [\operatorname{Im} h_i(y)]$ is a finite sum of products of real cap-functions on G, H respectively. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} &|f(x,y) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{Re}[g_i(x)h_i(y)]| = |\operatorname{Re}\left\{f(x,y) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_i(x)h_i(y)\right\}| \\ &\leq |f(x,y) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_i(x)h_i(y)| \leq \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

The result follows by renaming.

31-1.9. **Problem** If $f \ge 0$, can we choose $g_i, h_i \ge 0$? It seems to be affirmative if we invoke Bohr-compactification but we want a proof acceptable within our framework.

31-1.10. **Theorem** Let f be a cap-function on $G \times H$. If f is central, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there are irreducible characters ρ_i, ξ_i on G, H respectively and constants α_i such that $|f(x, y) - \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i \rho_i(x)\xi_i(y)| \le \varepsilon$ for all $(x, y) \in G \times H$.

<u>Proof.</u> Choose cap-functions g_i, h_i on G, H respectively such that $\|f - \sum_{i=1}^n g_i \otimes h_i\|_{\infty} \leq \epsilon$. As in §30-2.10, we have $\|f - \sum_{i=1}^n g'_i \otimes h'_i\|_{\infty} \leq \epsilon$ where $g'_i(x) = \int g_i(u^{-1}xu)d_m u$ and $h'_i(y) = \int h_i(v^{-1}yv)d_m v$ are central cap-functions which can be uniformly approximated by linear combinations of irreducible characters on G, H respectively, the result follows.

31-1.11. <u>**Theorem</u>** Let D, E be (comfortable) bounded representations of G, H respectively.</u>

(a) The map $D \times E : (x, y) \to D(x) \otimes E(y)$ is a (comfortable) bounded representation of the product group $G \times H$. It is called the *product representation* of D, E.

(b) If both D, E are unitary, then so is $D \times E$.

(c) $\rho_{D \times E}(x, y) = \rho_D(x)\rho_E(y)$, $\|\rho_{D \times E}\| = \|\rho_D\| \|\rho_E\|$ and $(D \times E)^- = D^- \times E^-$. (d) $D \times E$ is irreducible iff both D, E are irreducible.

<u>Proof</u>. (a) For all $(a, b), (x, y) \in G \times H$, we have $(D \times E)[(a, b)(x, y)] = (D \times E)(ax, by) = D(ax) \otimes E(by)$ $= [D(a)D(x)] \otimes [E(b)E(y)] = [D(a) \otimes E(b)][D(x) \otimes E(y)]$ $= [(D \times E)(a, b)] [(D \times E)(x, y)].$

As products of cap-functions on G, H; all entry functions of $D \times E$ are cap-functions on $G \times H$. Hence $D \times E$ is a comfortable representation.

(b) It follows immediately from tensor product of matrices.

(c) They all follow from simple calculation:

$$\begin{split} \rho_{D \times E}(x, y) &= tr(D \times E)(x, y) = trD(x) \otimes E(y) \\ &= [trD(x)] \ [trE(y)] = \rho_D(x)\rho_E(y), \\ \|\rho_{D \times E}\|^2 &= \int_{G \times H} |\rho_{D \times E}(x, y)|^2 d_m(x, y) \\ &= \int_G \int_H |\rho_D(x)|^2 |\rho_E(y)|^2 d_m y d_m x \\ &= \int_G |\rho_D(x)|^2 d_m x \ \int_H |\rho_E(y)|^2 d_m y = \|\rho_D\|^2 \|\rho_E\|^2 \end{split}$$

and the last one is trivial.

(d) Remember that $\|\rho_D\|^2$ is an integer. Hence $D \times E$ is irreducible iff $\|\rho_{D\times E}\| = 1$ iff $\|\rho_D\| \|\rho_E\| = 1$ iff $\|\rho_D\| = 1$ and $\|\rho_E\| = 1$ iff D, E are irreducible.

31-1.12. **Theorem** $(D \oplus D') \times E$ and $D \times E \oplus D' \times E$ are equivalent representations of $G \times H$. Also $D \times (E \oplus E')$ and $D \times E \oplus D \times E'$ are equivalent.

<u>*Proof*</u>. The first statement follows from $\rho_{(D \oplus D') \times E} = \rho_{D \otimes E + D' \otimes E}$ as a result of the simple calculation:

$$\begin{split} \rho_{(D\oplus D')\times E}(x,y) &= \rho_{D\oplus D'}(x) \otimes E(y) = [\rho_D(x) + \rho_{D'}(x)]\rho_E(y) \\ &= D(x)\rho_E(y) + \rho_{D'}(x)\rho_E(y) = \rho_{D\otimes E}(x,y) + \rho_{D'\otimes E}(x,y) = \rho_{D\otimes E+D'\otimes E}(x,y). \end{split}$$

The second statement follows in a similar way.

31-1.13. **Theorem** $(D \otimes D') \times (E \otimes E')$ and $(D \otimes E) \times (D' \otimes E')$ are equivalent.

 $\begin{array}{ll} \underline{Proof}. & \rho_{(D\otimes D')\times (E\otimes E')}(x,y) = \rho_{D\otimes D'}(x)\rho_{E\otimes E'}(y) = \rho_{D}(x)\rho_{D'}(x)\rho_{E}(y)\rho_{E'}(y) \\ = \rho_{D}(x)\rho_{E}(y)\rho_{D'}(x)\rho_{E'}(y) = \rho_{D\otimes E}(x,y)\rho_{D'\otimes E'}(x,y) = \rho_{(D\otimes E)\oplus (D'\otimes E')}(x,y). \end{array}$

31-1.14. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if D, D' are equivalent and E, E' are equivalent, then $D \times E, D' \times E'$ are also equivalent.

31-1.15. **Exercise** Prove that every irreducible bounded representation of $G \times H$ is equivalent to some representation of the form $D \times E$ where D, E are irreducible unitary representations of G, H respectively.

31-1.16. **Exercise** Prove that every irreducible character on $G \times H$ is for the form $(x, y) \to \varphi(x)\xi(y)$ for $(x, y) \in G \times H$ where φ, ξ are irreducible characters on G, H respectively.

31-1.17. **Exercise** For every $u \in \Omega(G)$ and $v \in \Omega(H)$, choose any $D_u \in u$ and $E_v \in v$. Let $u \times v$ be the dual class of $G \times H$ containing $D_u \times E_v$. Prove that $u \times v$ is independent of the choice of D_u, E_v . Show that the map $(u, v) \to u \times v$ is a bijection from $\Omega(G) \times \Omega(H)$ onto $\Omega(G \times H)$. Hence we may identify $\Omega(G) \times \Omega(H)$ with $\Omega(G \times H)$.

31-2 Means on Groups

31-2.1. Let C(G) be a closed invariant ideal of comfortable almost periodic functions or cap-functions on a group G. The dual space M(G) of $C_{\infty}(G)$ is called the *mean space* of G. Members of M(G) are called a *means* on G. The norm of a mean μ is given by $\|\mu\| = \sup\{|\mu(f)| : f \in C(G), \|f\|_{\infty} \leq 1\}$ for every $\mu \in M(G)$. Write $M_{\beta}(G)$ to emphasize this norm.

31-2.2. Write $\mu(f) = \int f d_m \mu = \int f(x) d_m \mu(x)$, $\forall \mu \in M(G)$ and $f \in C(G)$. Of course, x is merely a dummy variable. Obviously for all $\mu, \nu \in M(G)$ and all $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, we have $\left| \int f d_m \mu \right| \leq ||f||_{\infty} ||\mu||$, $\int f d_m (\mu + \nu) = \int f d_m \mu + \int f d_m \nu$ and $\int f d_m (\alpha \mu) = \alpha \int f d_m \mu$.

31-2.3. **Theorem** Let G, H be groups and f a cap-function on the product group $G \times H$. Let μ, ν be means on G, H respectively. (a) $y \to \int f(x, y) d_m \mu(x)$ is a cap-function in $y \in H$. (b) $\int \int f(x, y) d_m \mu(x) d_m \nu(y) = \int \int f(x, y) d_m \nu(y) d_m \mu(x)$. *Proof.* For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose $g_i \in C(G), h_i \in C(H)$ such that

$$|f(x,y) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_i(x)h_i(y)| \le \varepsilon, \quad \forall x \in G, y \in H.$$

Applying μ , we have

$$\left|\int f(x,y)d_m\mu(x)-\sum_{i=1}^n\left\{\int g_i(x)d_m\mu(x)\right\}h_i(y)\right|\leq \varepsilon\|\mu\|,\qquad\forall\ y\in H.$$

Thus $y \to \int f(x, y) d_m \mu(x)$ is a uniform limit of cap-functions on H and hence it is almost periodic on H.

(b) Applying ν to the last inequality, we get

 $\left|\int \int f(x,y)d_m\mu(x)d_m\nu(y) - \sum_{i=1}^n \int g_i(x)d_m\mu(x) \int h_i(y)d_m\nu(y)\right| \le \varepsilon \|\mu\| \|\nu\|.$ Similarly by symmetry, we get

 $\left| \int \int f(x,y) d_m \nu(y) d_m \mu(x) - \sum_{i=1}^n \int g_i(x) d_m \mu(x) \int h_i(y) d_m \nu(y) \right| \le \varepsilon \|\mu\| \|\nu\|.$ Combining these two inequalities, we obtain

$$\int \int f(x,y)d_m\mu(x)d_m\nu(y) - \int \int f(x,y)d_m\nu(y)d_m\mu(x) \Big| \le 2\varepsilon \|\mu\| \|\nu\|.$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, the result follows.

31-2.4. <u>Theorem</u> Let μ, ν be means on a group G. For all $f \in C(G)$, let $\int f(x)d_m(\mu \times \nu)(x) = \int \int f(xy)d_m\mu(x)d_m\nu(y)$ and $\int fd_m\mu^* = \left[\int f^*d_m\mu\right]^-$. (a) $\mu \times \nu$ is a mean on G. It is called the *convolution* of μ, ν .

(b) μ^* is a mean on G. It is called the *hermitian* of μ .

(c) $\|\mu \times \nu\| \le \|\mu\| \|\nu\|$ and $\|\mu^*\| = \|\mu\|$.

(d) If f is a central function, then $\int f d_m(\mu \times \nu) = \int f d_m(\nu \times \mu)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Clearly both $\mu \times \nu$ and μ^* are linear forms on C(G). Take any $f \in C(G)$. Since

$$\begin{split} \left| \int f d_m(\mu \times \nu) \right| &= \left| \int \int f(xy) d_m \mu(x) d_m \nu(y) \right| \le \|\nu\| \sup_{y \in H} \left| \int f(xy) d_m \mu(x) \right| \\ &\le \|\nu\| \sup_{y \in H} \left\{ \sup_{x \in G} \|f\|_{\infty} \|\mu\| \right\} = \|\mu\| \|\nu\| \|f\|_{\infty}, \end{split}$$

the linear form $\mu \times \nu$ is continuous on $C_{\infty}(G)$ and hence it is a mean on G. Furthermore we have $\|\mu \times \nu\| \le \|\mu\| \|\nu\|$. Next, since

$$\left|\int f d_m \mu^*\right| = \left|\left\{\int f^* d_m \mu\right\}^-\right| \le \|f^*\| \|\mu\| = \|f\|_{\infty} \|\mu\|,$$

 μ^* is a continuous linear form on $C_{\infty}(G)$ and hence it is a mean on G. Furthermore we have $\|\mu^*\| \leq \|\mu\|$. It is routine to verify that $\mu^{**} = \mu$. Thus replacing μ by μ^* , we have $\|\mu\| = \|\mu^{**}\| \leq \|\mu^*\|$. Therefore we obtain $\|\mu^*\| = \|\mu\|$. Finally, for central function f, we have

$$\int f(x)d_m(\mu \times \nu)(x) = \int f(xy)d_m\mu(x)d_m\nu(y)$$
$$= \int f(yx)d_m\nu(y)d_m\mu(x) = \int f(x)d_m(\nu \times \mu)(x).$$

31-2.5. <u>Theorem</u> The mean space M(G) is an associative algebra with involution under convolution. If G is abelian, then M(G) is commutative. When we want to emphasize the convolution, it is called the *mean algebra* of G.

Proof. Let
$$\mu, \nu, \omega \in M(G)$$
 and $f \in C(G)$. From

$$\int f(x)d_m[\mu \times (\nu \times \omega)](x) = \int \left\{ \int f(xy)d_m(\nu \times \omega)(y) \right\} d_m\mu(x)$$

$$= \int \left\{ \int \int f(xyz)d_m\nu(y)d_m\omega(z) \right\} d_m\mu(x)$$

$$= \int \int \int f(xyz)d_m\mu(x)d_m\nu(y)d_m\omega(z) = \int f(x)d_m[(\mu \times \nu) \times \omega](x),$$
we obtain $\mu \times (\nu \times \omega) = (\mu \times \nu) \times \omega$. Next from

$$\begin{split} &\int f(x)d_m[(\mu+\nu)\times\omega](x) = \int \int f(xy)d_m(\mu+\nu)(x)d_m\omega(y) \\ &= \int \left\{ \int f(xy)d_m\mu(x) + \int f(xy)d_m\nu(x) \right\} d_m\omega(y) \\ &= \int \int f(xy)d_m\mu(x)d_m\omega(y) + \int \int f(xy)d_m\nu(x)d_m\omega(y) \\ &= \int f(x)d_m(\mu\times\omega)(x) + \int f(x)d_m(\nu\times\omega)(x) \\ &= \int f(x)d_m(\mu\times\omega+\nu\times\omega)(x), \end{split}$$

we get $(\mu+\nu)\times\omega = \mu\times\omega+\nu\times\omega$. Similarly we can prove $\mu\times(\nu+\omega) = \mu\times\omega+\nu\times\omega$, $\alpha(\mu\times\nu) = (\alpha\mu)\times\nu = \mu\times(\alpha\nu)$ for $\alpha\in\mathbb{C}$, $(\mu+\nu)^* = \mu^*+\nu^*$, $(\mu\times\nu)^* = \nu^*\times\mu^*$. Therefore M(G) is an associative algebra with involution. If G is abelian, then every cap-function is central and hence $\int fd_m(\mu\times\nu) = \int fd_m(\nu\times\mu)$, or $\mu\times\nu=\nu\times\mu$.

31-2.6. **Theorem** For each $a \in G$ and $f \in C(G)$, let $\delta_a(f) = f(a)$.

(a) δ_a is a mean on G. It is called the *point-mean* at $a \in G$. To conform with out notation, we also write $\int f(x)d_m\delta_a(x) = f(a)$.

(b) $\|\delta_a\| = 1$, $\mu \times \delta_a = \mu R_a$, $\delta_a \times \mu = \mu L_a$, $\delta_e \times \mu = \mu \times \delta_e = \mu$, $\delta_{ab} = \delta_a \times \delta_b$ and $\delta_a^* = \delta_{a^{-1}}$.

(c) M(G) is a unital algebra with δ_e as the multiplicative identity.

(d) The map $a \to \delta_a$ is a homomorphism from the group G into the semigroup M(G) under convolution.

<u>Proof</u>. Clearly δ_a is a linear form on C(G). Since $|\delta_a(f)| = |f(a)| \le ||f||_{\infty}$, δ_a is on $C_{\infty}(G)$. Furthermore we have $||\delta_a|| \le 1$. By considering the constant function f = 1, we obtain $||\delta_a|| = 1$. Next, since

$$\begin{aligned} (\mu \times \delta_a)(f) &= \int f(x) d_m (\mu \times \delta_a)(x) = \int \int f(xy) d_m \mu(x) d_m \delta_a(y) \\ &= \int f(xa) d_m \mu(x) = \int R_a f(x) d_m \mu(x) = (\mu R_a)(f), \end{aligned}$$

we have $\mu \times \delta_a = \mu R_a$. Similarly, we obtain $\delta_a \times \mu = \mu L_a$. In particular when a is the identity element e of G, we have $\delta_e \times \mu = \mu \times \delta_e = \mu$. Next, since

$$\begin{split} &\int f(x)d_m\delta_{ab}(x)=f(ab)=\int\int f(xy)d_m\delta_a(x)d_m\delta_b(y)=\int f(x)d_m(\delta_a\times\delta_b)(x),\\ \text{we get }\delta_{ab}=\delta_a\times\delta_b. \text{ Finally, } \delta_a^*=\delta_{a^{-1}}\text{ because of} \end{split}$$

$$\int f(x)d_m\delta_a^*(x) = \left[\int f^*(x)d_m\delta_a(x)\right]^- = [f^*(a)]^- = f(a^{-1}) = \int f(x)d_m\delta_{a^{-1}}. \Box$$

31-2.7. <u>Corollary</u> Let C(G) separate points of G. Then $a \to \delta_a$ is injective. Consequently, G is abelian iff M(G) is commutative.

<u>Proof</u>. If $\delta_a = \delta_b$, then $f(a) = \delta_a(f) = \delta_b(f) = f(b)$ for all $f \in C(G)$, i.e. a = b. Thus $a \to \delta_a$ is injective. If M(G) is commutative, then from $\delta_{ab} = \delta_a \times \delta_b = \delta_b \times \delta_a = \delta_{ba}$, we get ab = ba for all $a, b \in G$ and hence G is abelian.

31-3 Order Structure on Mean Spaces

31-3.1. In this section, we show that Monotone Convergence Theorem and Fatou's Lemma hold if we use the order structure of linear forms. Readers should review Chapter 16 if necessary. Let C(G) be a *saturated* closed invariant ideal of comfortable almost periodic functions or cap-functions on a group G.

31-3.2. <u>Lemma</u> C(G) is a breakable complex vector lattice. See §16-3.11.

<u>Proof</u>. Since C(G) is saturated, it is a complex vector lattice. Let $\overline{f,g,h} \in C(G)$ such that $|h| \leq f+g$ and $f,g \geq 0$. Since the real vector lattice $C^r(G)$ is breakable, write $|h| = f_1 + g_1$ for some $f_1, g_1 \in C^+(G)$. From $0 \leq f_1 \leq |h|$, we have $f_2 = f_1 \operatorname{sgn}(h) \in C(G)$ by §30-3.8. Similarly, we obtain $g_2 = g_1 \operatorname{sgn}(h) \in C(G)$. Now $f_2 + g_2 = f_1 \operatorname{sgn}(h) + f_2 \operatorname{sgn}(h) = (f_1 + f_2) \operatorname{sgn}(h) = |h| \operatorname{sgn}(h) = h$ completes the proof.

31-3.3. <u>**Theorem</u>** The mean space M(G) is the order dual space $C^b(G)$ of all order bounded linear forms on C(G).</u>

<u>Proof.</u> Let $\mu \in M(G)$. If $|g| \leq f \in C(G)$, then $|\mu(g)| \leq ||\mu|| ||g||_{\infty} \leq ||\mu|| ||f||_{\infty}$. Hence $\sup\{|\mu(g)| : |g| \leq f\} \leq ||\mu|| ||f||_{\infty}$. Therefore μ is order bounded. Conversely, let μ be a positive linear form on C(G). Then for every $f \in C(G)$, we get $|\mu(f)| \leq \mu(|f|) \leq \mu(||f||_{\infty}) \leq \mu(1)||f||_{\infty}$. Hence μ is continuous on $C_{\infty}(G)$, or $\mu \in M(G)$.

31-3.4. As a result of the general theory of complex vector lattices, for every mean μ on G, its conjugate μ^- and valuation $|\mu|$ are well defined by (a) $\mu^-(f) = [\mu(f^-)]^-$ for all $f \in C(G)$,

(b) $|\mu|(f) = \sup\{|\mu(g)| : |g| \le f\}$ for all $f \in C^+(G)$. Standard properties can be found in Chapter 16.

31-3.5. **Lemma** If $\mu \in M^+(G)$, then $\|\mu\| = \mu(1)$.

<u>*Proof.*</u> Since $|\mu(f)| \leq \mu(|f|) \leq ||f||_{\infty}\mu(1)$, we have $||\mu|| \leq \mu(1)$. The result follows from $\mu(1) \leq ||\mu|| ||1||_{\infty} = ||\mu||$.

31-3.6. **<u>Theorem</u>** If μ, ν are positive means, then so is $\mu \times \nu$.

Proof. It follows immediately from the trivial computation

$$\int f(x)d_m(\mu \times \nu)(x) = \int \int f(xy)d_m\mu(x)d_m\nu(y) \ge 0, \quad \text{for all } f \in C^+(G). \ \Box$$

31-3.7. Clearly δ_a is a positive mean for every $a \in G$. We also have the following formulas:

(a) $\mu^{--} = \mu$, $(\mu + \nu)^{-} = \mu^{-} + \nu^{-}$, $(\alpha \mu)^{-} = \alpha^{-} \mu^{-}$, $\|\mu^{-}\| = \|\mu\|$. (b) $|\alpha \mu| = |\alpha| |\mu|, |\mu + \nu| \le |\mu| + |\nu|, ||\mu| - |\nu|| \le |\mu - \nu|, |\mu^{*}| = |\mu^{-}| = |\mu|, |\mu \times \nu| \le |\mu| \times |\nu|.$

Proof. To prove the last inequality, for any $f \in C(G)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \int f(x)d_m(\mu \times \nu)(x) \right| &= \left| \int \int f(xy)d_m\mu(x)d_m\nu(y) \right| \\ &\leq \int \int |f(xy)|d_m|\mu|(x)d_m|\nu|(y) = \int |f|(x)d_m(|\mu| \times |\nu|)(x). \end{split}$$

It follows that $|\mu \times \nu| \le |\mu| \times |\nu|$.

31-3.8. **<u>Theorem</u>** Let $\mu, \nu \in M(G)$.

(a) $\|\mu\| = \int 1d_m |\mu|(x) = \| |\mu| \|$. (b) If $\mu \le \nu$ in $M^r(G)$, then for all $f \in C^+(G)$, $\int f(x)d_m\mu(x) \le \int f(x)d_m\nu(x)$. (c) If $\mu, \nu \ge 0$, then $\|\mu + \nu\| = \|\mu\| + \|\nu\|$. (d) The map $\mu \to |\mu|$ is continuous on $M_\beta(G)$. (e) For all real means μ_n, ν_n, μ, ν on G, if $\mu_n \to \mu$ and $\nu_n \to \nu$ in $M_\beta(G)$, then $\mu_n \lor \nu_n \to \mu \lor \nu$ and $\mu_n \land \nu_n \to \mu \land \nu$. Furthermore if $\mu_n \ge 0$, then $\mu \ge 0$. <u>Proof</u>. (a) Observe that $\int 1d_m |\mu|(x) = \sup\{|\mu(g)| : |g| \le 1, \ g \in C(G)\} = \|\mu\|$. Replacing μ by $|\mu|$, we obtain $\| \ |\mu| \| = \int 1d_m | \ |u| \ |(x) = \int 1d_m |\mu|(x) = \|\mu\|$. (c) $\|\mu + \nu\| = \int 1d_m(\mu + \nu)(x) = \int 1d_m\mu(x) + \int 1d_m\nu(x) = \|\mu\| + \|\nu\|$. (d) From $\| \ |\mu_n| - |\mu| \ \| = \int 1d_m | \ |\mu_n| - |\mu| \ |(x) \le \int 1d_m |\mu_n - \mu|(x) = \|\mu_n - \mu\| \to 0$, the map $\mu \to |\mu|$ is continuous.

(e) It follows immediately from $\mu \lor \nu = \frac{1}{2}(\mu + \nu + |\mu - \nu|)$ and $\mu \land \nu = \frac{1}{2}(\mu + \nu - |\mu - \nu|)$. Finally, take any $f \in C^+(G)$, we have $0 \le \mu_n(f) \to \mu(f)$. Therefore $\mu(f) \ge 0$.

31-3.9. For every mean μ on G, the *mean-value* of μ is defined and denoted by $\mu(1) = \int \mu d_m = \int \mu(x) d_m x$ although $\mu(x)$ has no meaning at this moment. The linear form $\mu \to \int \mu d_m$ is called the *mean-value form*. The following properties follow immediately from simple calculation. The mean-value form is norm-continuous on $M_\beta(G)$. Furthermore for all $\mu \in M(G)$ we have

(a) $\int \delta_a \times \mu d_m = \int \mu d_m = \int \mu \times \delta_a d_m$ for all $a \in G$, translation invariant; (b) $\int \mu^* d_m = \int \mu^- d_m = [\int \mu d_m]^-$; (c) $\|\mu\| = \int |\mu| d_m$.

31-3.10. <u>Monotonic Convergence Theorem for Means</u> If $\mu_n \leq \mu_{n+1}$ is a monotonic increasing sequence of real means satisfying $\sup \int \mu_n d_m < \infty$, then $\mu = \sup \mu_n$ exists in M(G). Furthermore we obtain $\int f d_m \mu_n \to \int f d_m \mu$ for all $f \in C(G)$. In particular, we also have $\int \mu_n d_m \to \int \mu d_m$.

Proof. Let $\alpha = \sup \int \mu_n d_m$. For all $k \ge 1$, observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mu_{n+k} - \mu_n\| &= \int |\mu_{n+k} - \mu_n| d_m = \int (\mu_{n+k} - \mu_n) d_m \\ &= \int \mu_{n+k} d_m - \int \mu_n d_m \le \alpha - \int \mu_n d_m \to 0 \end{aligned}$$

as $n \to \infty$. Therefore $\{\mu_n\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $M_\beta(G)$. Let $\mu = \lim \mu_n \in M_\beta(G)$. Then $\mu_n \to \mu$ weakly, that is $\int f d_m \mu_n \to \int f d_m \mu$. Consequently $\mu = \sup \mu_n$. Letting f = 1, we obtain $\int \mu_n d_m \to \int \mu d_m$.

31-3.11. <u>Fatou's Lemma for Means</u> Let $\mu_n \in M^+(G)$. If $\liminf \int \mu_n d_m < \infty$, then $\liminf \mu_n = \sup_{n \ge 1} \inf_{k \ge n} \mu_k$ exists in M(G). Furthermore we have

 $\int \liminf \mu_n d_m \leq \liminf \int \mu_n d_m.$

<u>*Proof*</u>. For each n, define $\nu_n = \inf_{k \ge n} \mu_k$. Since $0 \le \nu_n \le \mu_k$ for all $k \ge n$, we have $0 \le \int \nu_n d_m \le \int \mu_k d_m$. Hence $0 \le \int \nu_n d_m \le \inf_{k \ge n} \int \mu_k d_m$. Since ν_n is monotonic increasing, we have

 $\sup_{n\geq 1}\int \nu_n d_m \leq \lim_{n\to\infty}\inf_{k\geq n}\int \mu_k d_m = \liminf \int \mu_n d_m < \infty.$

Hence $\sup \nu_n$ exists in M(G) and satisfies

$$\int \liminf \mu_n d_m = \int \sup_{n \ge 1} \nu_n d_m = \sup_{n \ge 1} \int \nu_n d_m \le \liminf \int \mu_n d_m. \qquad \Box$$

31-4 Identification of Functions as Means

31-4.1. Let C(G) be a *saturated* closed invariant ideal of comfortable almost periodic functions or cap-functions on a group G and M(G) the mean space of G. In this section, we embed the normed space $C_1(G)$ into $M_\beta(G)$. As an

analogue of L_1 -spaces, we also develop $\ell_1(G)$ on arbitrary group G including the additive groups of infinite dimensional Banach spaces. Note that $\ell_1(G)$ has nothing to do with $\ell_p(X)$ in §21-3.7.

31-4.2. **Theorem** For every $h \in C(G)$, let $d_m h : C(G) \to \mathbb{K}$ be defined by $\int f(x)d_mh(x) = \int f(x)h(x)d_mx$ for all $f \in C(G)$. Then d_mh is a mean on G called the mean from h. Furthermore, $(d_m h)^- = d_m (h^-)$, $(d_m h)^* = d_m (h^*)$ and $||d_mh|| = ||h||_1$. The mean-value forms on C(G), M(G) agree with each other.

Proof. Clearly $d_m h$ is a linear form on C(G). From

$$\left|\int f(x)d_mh(x)\right| = \left|\int f(x)h(x)d_mx\right| \le \|f\|_{\infty}\|h\|_1$$

 $d_m h$ is continuous on $C_{\infty}(G)$. Therefore $d_m h$ is a mean on G with $\|d_m h\| \leq \|h\|_1$. To prove the equality, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $g \in C(G)$ by §30-3.9 such that $|g(x)| \leq 1$, $g(x)h(x) \geq 0$ and $|g(x)h(x) - |h(x)|| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $x \in G$. Thus

$$\begin{aligned} \|d_m h\| &\geq \left| \int g(x) d_m h(x) \right| = \left| \int g(x) h(x) d_m x \right| \\ &= \int g(x) h(x) d_m x \geq \int \left\{ |h(x)| - \varepsilon \right\} d_m x = \|h\|_1 - \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $||d_m h|| \ge ||h||_1$. To prove $(d_m h)^* = d_m (h^*)$, consider that for all $f \in C(G)$ we have

$$\int f(x)(d_m h)^*(x) = \left[\int f^*(x)d_m h(x) \right]^- = \left[\int f^-(x^{-1})h(x)d_m x \right]^-$$

= $\int f(x)h^-(x^{-1})d_m x = \int f(x)h^*(x)d_m x = \int f(x)(d_m h^*)(x).$
Similarly we obtain $(d_m h)^- = d_m(h^-).$

The map $d_m : C_1(G) \to M_\beta(G)$ is a norm preserving star-algebra 31-4.3. isomorphism which is called the *natural embedding*. The closure of its image in $M_{\beta}(G)$ is denoted by $\ell_1(G)$. Elements of $\ell_1(G)$ are called ℓ_1 -means. As a closed subspace of the Banach space $M_{\beta}(G)$, $\ell_1(G)$ is itself a Banach space. We identify $C(G) \subset \ell_1(G) \subset M(G)$. Clearly $\mu \to \mu^-$ and $\mu \to \mu^*$ are normpreserving automorphism on $\ell_1(G)$.

The natural embedding of C(G) into M(G) preserves 31-4.4. Theorem convolution. The space $\ell_1(G)$ is a two-sided ideal of M(G). Furthermore for all $\mu \in M(G)$ and $f \in C(G)$, we have $(\mu \times h)(x) = \int h(y^{-1}x)d_m\mu(y)$ and $(h \times \mu)(x) = \int h(xy^{-1}) d_m \mu(y).$

Proof. By §31-2.3a, $\mu \times h$ is a cap-function on G. For all $f, h \in C(G)$ and $\mu \in M(G)$; we have

$$\int f(x)d_m(\mu\times h)(x) = \int \int f(xy)d_m\mu(x)d_mh(y) = \int \int f(xy)h(y)d_m\mu(x)d_my$$

$$= \int \int f(y)h(x^{-1}y)d_m\mu(x)d_my,$$
 replacing y by $x^{-1}y$
= $\int f(y) \left[\int h(x^{-1}y)d_m\mu(x) \right] d_my.$

Hence $(\mu \times h)(x) = \int h(x^{-1}y)d_m\mu(x)$, or $\mu \times C(G) \subset C(G)$. Since the map $\nu \to \mu \times \nu : M_\beta(G) \to M_\beta(G)$ is continuous, we have $\mu \times \ell_1(G) \subset \ell_1(G)$. Similarly, we obtain $\ell_1(G) \times \mu \subset \ell_1(G)$.

31-4.5. <u>Theorem</u> For every $h \in C(G)$, we have $d_m|h| = |d_mh|$. The natural embedding $d_m : C(G) \to M(G)$ preserves all lattice operations.

<u>Proof.</u> Let $h \in C(G)$ and $\mu = d_m h$. Take any $f \in C^+(G)$. For every $g \in C(G)$ with $|g| \leq f$, we have

$$\left|\int g(x)h(x)d_mx\right| \leq \int |g(x)h(x)|d_mx \leq \int f(x)|h(x)|d_mx = \int f(x)d_m|h|(x).$$

Taking the supremum, we obtain $\int f(x)d_m|\mu|(x) \leq \int f(x)d_m|h|(x)$, or $|\mu| \leq d_m|h|$. On the other hand, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $k \in C(G)$ such that for all $x \in G$, we have $|k(x)| \leq 1$, $k(x)h(x) \geq 0$ and $|k(x)h(x) - |h(x)|| \leq \varepsilon$. Thus

$$\left|\int \left\{f(x)k(x)h(x)-f(x)|h(x)|\right\}d_m x\right| \leq \varepsilon \int f(x)d_m x.$$

The function g defined by g(x) = f(x)k(x) satisfies $g \in C(G)$, $|g| \leq f$ and

$$\begin{split} &\int f(x)|h(x)|d_m x - \varepsilon \int f(x)d_m x \leq \int f(x)k(x)h(x)d_m x \\ &= \int g(x)h(x)d_m x \leq \int f(x)d_m |\mu|(x). \end{split}$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we have $d_m|h| \le |\mu|$. Consequently, we have proved that $|\mu| = d_m|h|$. As a result, the natural embedding preserves all lattice operations.

31-4.6. <u>Theorem</u> If $\mu \in \ell_1(g)$, then $|\mu| \in \ell_1(G)$. As a result, $\ell_1(G)$ is closed under lattice operations.

<u>Proof</u>. Since $\ell_1(G)$ is the closure of C(G) in $M_\beta(G)$, there are $h_n \in C(G)$ such that $d_m h_n \to \mu$ in $M_\beta(G)$. Hence $d_m |h_n| = |d_m h_n| \to |\mu|$ in $M_\beta(G)$. Therefore $|\mu| \in \ell_1(G)$.

31-4.7. <u>Monotone Convergence Theorem for ℓ_1 -Means</u> If $\mu_n \leq \mu_{n+1}$ in $\ell_1(G)$ and if $\sup \int \mu_n d_m < \infty$, then we have $\mu = \sup \mu_n \in \ell_1(G)$.

<u>*Proof*</u>. The sequence $\{\mu_n\}$ is Cauchy in $M_\beta(G)$ and hence it is also Cauchy in $\ell_1(G)$. Since $\ell_1(G)$ is a closed subspace of $M_\beta(G)$, the limit $\mu = \lim \mu_n = \sup \mu_n$ also belongs to $\ell_1(G)$.

31-4.8. <u>Exercise</u> Prove that if $\mu_n \ge 0$ and if $\liminf \int \mu_n d_m < \infty$, then we have $\liminf \mu_n \in \ell_1(G)$.

31-4.9. **Example** Let $C(\mathbb{R})$ be the space of continuous ap-functions on \mathbb{R} . By §31-1.3, there are $h_n \in C(\mathbb{R})$ such that $0 \le h_n \downarrow 0$ and $\int h_n d_m \ge \frac{1}{6}$. Then $\inf h_n = 0$ in $C(\mathbb{R})$ under pointwise order but $\inf d_m h_n \neq 0$ in M(G).

<u>Proof</u>. For every $f \in C(G)$, define $\mu(f) = \lim \int f(x)h_n(x)d_mx$. If $f \ge 0$, then the limit exists because $\int f(x)h_n(x)d_mx$ is monotonic decreasing in n and bounded below by zero. Since every cap-function is a linear combination of positive ones, $\mu(f) = \lim \int f(x)h_n(x)d_mx$ exists for all $f \in C(G)$. Clearly μ is a linear form on $C(\mathbb{R})$ and $\mu = \inf \mu_n$. From $\left|\int f(x)h_n(x)d_mx\right| \le \|fh_n\|_{\infty} \le$ $\|f\|_{\infty}\|h_n\|_{\infty} \le \|f\|_{\infty}, \mu$ is continuous on C(G), i.e. $\mu \in M(\mathbb{R})$. However $\mu \ne 0$ because $\mu(1) = \lim \int h_n(x)d_mx \ge \frac{1}{6}$. \Box

31-4.98. **Project** Let $1 and <math>1 \le q < \infty$ be conjugate indices given by $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$. Members of the dual space $\ell_p(G)$ of $C_q(G)$ are called ℓ_p -means of G. The norm of a p-mean μ is given by $\|\mu\|_p = \sup\{ |\mu(f)| : \|f\|_q \le 1\}$. Since $|\mu(f)| \le \|f\|_q \|\mu\| \le \|f\|_\infty \|\mu\|$, we have $\ell_p(G) \subset M(G)$. We also have $C(G) \subset \ell_p(G)$ through the identification $h \to d_m h : C(G) \to M(G)$ defined by $\int f d_m h = \int f h d_m$ for all $f \in C(G)$. What can we say about $\ell_p(G)$? Consult the web-page of this book for further information.

31-4.99. <u>**Project**</u> Let C(G), C(H) be closed invariant ideals of ap-functions on groups G, H respectively and $C(G \times H) = C(G) \otimes C(H)$ their tensor product. For every $\mu \in M(G), \nu \in M(H)$ and $f \in C(G \times H)$,

$$\int f(x,y)d_m(\mu\otimes\nu)(x) = \int \int f(x,y)d_m\mu(x)d_m\nu(y)$$

is well-defined by §31-4.3. It is easy to show that $\mu \otimes \nu$ is a continuous linear form on $C_{\infty}(G \times H)$ and hence it is a mean on $G \times H$. What can we say about the relationship among $M(G), M(H), M(G \times H)$; among $\ell_p(G), \ell_p(H), \ell_p(G \times H)$ and among Fourier matrices of next section?

31-5 Fourier Matrices of Means

31-5.1. Let C(G) be a closed invariant ideal of comfortable almost periodic functions or cap-functions on a group G, M(G) the mean space of G and mat(s,t) the set of all $s \times t$ -matrices. Let $A = [A_{ij}] : G \to mat(s,t)$ be *comfortable almost periodic* or a *cap-map*, i.e. all entry functions $A_{ij} : G \to \mathbb{C}$ are cap-functions. For every $\mu \in M(G)$, define $\int A(x)d_m\mu(x) = [\int A_{ij}(x)d_m\mu(x)]$. The *Fourier matrix* of μ corresponding to a bounded representation D of G is defined by $D(\mu) = \int D^{-}(x)d_{m}\mu(x)$. The entries of D(f) are called the *Fourier* coefficients of μ .

31-5.2. Theorem Let *D* be a bounded representation of *G*.
(a)
$$(\mu \times D)(x) = D(\mu)^t D(x)$$
 and $(D \times \mu)(x) = D(x)D(\mu)^t$, $\forall \ \mu \in M(G), \ x \in G$.
(b) $D(\delta_a) = D^-(a)$ for all $a \in G$.
(c) $D(d_m h) = D(h)$ for all $h \in C(G)$.
Proof. (a) $(\mu \times D)(x) = \int D(y^{-1}x)d_m\mu(y) = \int D(y^{-1})D(x)d_m\mu(y)$
 $= \left[\int D^{-t}(y)d_m\mu(y)\right] D(x) = \left[\int D^-(y)d_m\mu(y)\right]^t D(x) = D(\mu)^t D(x).$
(b) $D(\delta_a) = \int D^-(x)d_m\delta_a(x) = D^-(a).$
(c) $D(d_m h) = \int D^-(x)d_mh(x) = \int D^-(x)h(x)d_mx = D(h).$

31-5.3. <u>Theorem</u> Let D be a unitary representation of G of order s. Then the map $\mu \to D(\mu)$ is a star-homomorphism of the mean algebra M(G) into the matrix algebra.

Proof. Clearly $\mu \to D(\mu)$ is a linear map. For all $\mu, \nu \in M(G)$, we have

$$D(\mu^*) = \int D(x)^- d_m \mu^*(x) = \left[\int D(x)^{-*} d_m \mu(x) \right]^- = \left[\int D(x^{-1})^{--} d_m \mu(x) \right]^-$$

= $\left[\int D(x)^{-t} d_m \mu(x) \right]^- = \left[\int D(x)^- d_m \mu(x) \right]^{-t} = D(\mu)^*$

and

$$D(\mu \times \nu) = \int D(x)^{-} d_m(\mu \times \nu)(x) = \int \int D(xy)^{-} d_m\mu(x) d_m\nu(y)$$
$$= \int \int D(x)^{-} D(y)^{-} d_m\mu(x) d_m\nu(y) = D(\mu)D(\nu).$$

31-5.4. <u>Theorem</u> If D, E are equivalent unitary representations, then the Fourier matrices $D(\mu), D(\nu)$ are unitarily similar.

31-5.5. **Theorem** The Fourier matrices uniquely determine the mean algebra M(G). More precisely, for all means μ, ν, λ on G, the following statements hold. (a) $\mu = 0$ iff $D(\mu) = 0$, for all irreducible unitary representations D.

(b) $\mu = \nu$ iff $D(\mu) = D(\nu)$ for all D.

(c) $\mu = \nu^*$ iff $D(\mu) = D(\nu)^*$ for all D.

(d) $\lambda = \mu + \nu$ iff $D(\lambda) = D(\mu) + D(\nu)$ for all D.

(e) $\mu = \alpha \nu$ iff $D(\mu) = \alpha D(\nu)$ for all D.

(f) $\lambda = \mu \times \nu$ iff $D(\lambda) = D(\mu)D(\nu)$ for all D.

<u>Proof</u>. We shall prove $(a \Leftarrow)$ only. Suppose that $D(\mu) = 0$ for all irreducible unitary representation D. Since every trigonometric polynomial f is a linear combination of entry functions of irreducible unitary representations, we have $\int f(x)d_m\mu(x) = 0$. Since the set of all trigonometric polynomials are dense

in $C_{\infty}(G)$ and μ is continuous on $C_{\infty}(G)$, we have $\int f(x)d_m\mu(x) = 0$ for all $f \in C(G)$, that is $\mu = 0$. The rest of the theorem is obvious.

31-5.6. A mean μ on G is said to be *central* if $\mu \times \nu = \nu \times \mu$ for all $\nu \in M(G)$. The set of all central means is denoted by ZM(G).

31-5.7. <u>Theorem</u> The following statements are equivalent for any $\mu \in M(G)$. (a) μ is central.

(b) $\mu \times f = f \times \mu$ for all $f \in C(G)$.

(c) For every irreducible unitary representation D of G of degree s, the Fourier matrix $D(\mu)$ is a constant multiple of an identity matrix.

(d) $\mu \times \delta_a = \delta_a \times \mu$ for all $a \in G$.

<u>Proof</u>. $(a \Rightarrow b)$ It is obvious from the natural embedding $C(G) \subset M(G)$. $(b \Rightarrow c)$ Let $D_m k$ denote the entry functions of D. Then we have

$$D(\mu) \left[\frac{1}{s} \delta_{im} \delta_{jk}\right] = D(\mu) D(D_{mk}) = D(\mu \times D_{mk})$$
$$= D(D_{mk} \times \mu) = D(D_{mk}) D(\mu) = \left[\frac{1}{s} \delta_{im} \delta_{jk}\right] D(\mu).$$

Since for every $x \in G$, D(x) is a linear combination of matrices $\left[\frac{1}{s}\delta_{im}\delta_{jk}\right]$, we have $D(\mu)D(x) = D(x)D(\mu)$. Because D is irreducible, $D(\mu)$ is a constant multiple of an identity matrix.

 $(c \Rightarrow a)$ Take any $\nu \in M(G)$. Since $D(\mu)$ is a constant multiple of identity, we have $D(\mu)D(\nu) = D(\nu)D(\mu)$, i.e. $D(\mu \times \nu) = D(\nu \times \mu)$ for every irreducible unitary representation D. Hence $\mu \times \nu = \nu \times \mu$. Therefore μ is central. $(a \Rightarrow d)$ It is obvious for δ_a is a mean.

 $(d \Rightarrow c)$ Let D be any irreducible unitary representation of G. Then we have

$$D(\mu)D^{-}(a) = D(\mu)D(\delta_a) = D(\mu \times \delta_a) = D(\delta_a \times \mu) = D^{-}(a)D(\mu).$$

Since $D^{-}(a)$ is an irreducible representation of G, $D(\mu)$ is a constant multiple of an identity matrix.

31-99. <u>**References and Further Readings**</u> : Ma-75, Trimeche, Houdre, Vakhania and Jones.

References

- 1. Abraham-1988, R., J.E. Marsden and T. Ratiu, Manifolds, Tensor analysis, and applications, 2nd ed., Springer-Verlag.
- 2. Abt-1979, D. and J. Reinermann, A fixed point theorem for holomorphic mapping in locally convex spaces, Nonlinear Anal. 3, 353-359.
- 3. Albeverio-1979, S., et al, Feynman path integrals, Lec. Notes in Physics 106, Springer-Verlag.
- 4. Alexander-1978, J. and J. Yorke, The homotopy continuation method, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 242, 271-284.
- 5. Aliprantis-1985, C.D. and O. Burkinshaw, Positive operators, Academic.
- 6. Allgower-1990, E. L. and K. Georg, Numerical continuation methods, Springer-Verlag.
- 7. Amerio-1971, L. and G. Prouse, Almost-periodic functions and functional equations, Van Nostrand.
- 8. Ando-1978, T., Topics on operator inequalities, Sapporo.
- 9. Antoine-1980, J.P. and E. Tirapegui, Functional integration, Theory and Applications, Plenum.
- 10. Antosik-1979, P., On uniform boundedness of families of mappings, Proc. Conf. Conv. Structures, Szczyrk, 2-16.
- 11. Apostol-1957, T.M., Mathematical analysis, Addison-Wesley.
- Araujo-1987, A., The non-existence of smooth demand in general Banach spaces, J. Math. Economics 17, 1-11.
- 13. Arazy-1992, J., Integral formulas for the invariant inner products in spaces of analytic functions on the unit ball, 9-24, in: Jarosz, K. (ed.), Function spaces, Lec. Notes in Pure Appl. Math. 136, Marcel Dekker.
- 14. Argabright-1974, L. and J. Gil de Lamadrid, Fourier analysis of unbounded measures on locally compact abelian groups, Memoirs of Amer. Math. Soc. 145.
- 15. Arnold-1983, V., Geometrical methods in the theory of ordinary differential equations, Springer-Verlag.
- Aron-2001, R.; C. Boyd and Y.S. Choi, Unique Hahn-Banach theorems for spaces of homogeneous polynomials. J. Aust. Math. Soc. 70, no. 3, 387-400.
- 17. Aron-91, R. M.; B. J. Cole and T.W. Gamelin, Spectra of algebras of analytic functions on a Banach space. J. Reine Angew. Math. 415, 51-93.
- Asimow-1980, L. and A.J. Ellis, Convexity theory and its applications in functional analysis, London Math. Soc. Monograph 16.
- 19. Astala-1982, K., On Peano's theorem in locally convex spaces, Studia Math. 73, 213-223.
- Atiyah-1969, M.F., Algebraic topology and operators in Hilbert space, Lec. Notes in Math. 103, Springer-Verlag.
- 21. Aubin-1979, J.P., Mathematical methods of game and economic theory, North-Holland.
- 22. Ballve-1990, M.E. and P.J. Guerra, On the Radon-Nikodym theorem for operator valued measures, Simon Stevin, Quart. J. Pure Appl. Math. 64#2, 141-155.
- 23. Barbu-1976, V, Nonlinear semigroups and differential equation in Banach spaces, Noordhoff.
- 24. Barroso-1985, J.A., Introduction to holomorphy, Math. Studies 106, North-Holland.
- 25. Bartle-1966, R.G., The elements of integration, John Wiley.

- Bartsch-1993, T., Topological methods for variational problems with symmetries, Lec. Notes in Math. 1560, Springer-Verlag.
- 27. Berberian-1961, S.K., Introduction to Hilbert spaces, Oxford University Press.
- 28. Berberian-1966, S.K., Notes on spectral theory, Van Nostrand Math. Studies#5.
- 29. Berezin-1991, F.A. and M.A. Shubin, The Schrodinger Equation, Kluwer (MIA).
- 30. Berger-1977, M.S. and M.S. Berger, Nonlinearity and functional analysis, Academic.
- 31. Blank-1994, J., P. Exner and M. Havlicek, Hilbert space operators in quantum physics, American Institute of Physics.
- 32. Bledsoe-1972, W.W. and C.E. Wilks, On Borel product measures, Pacific J. Math.42, 569-579.
- Borell-1976, C., Gaussian Radon measures on locally convex spaces, Math. Scand. 38, 265-284.
- Borisovich-1980, Yu. G., et al., Topological methods in the fixed-point theory of multivalued maps, Russian Math. Surveys 35, 65-143.
- 35. Borsuk-1967, K. Theory of retracts, Warzawa.
- Boyer-1993, R. P., Representation theory of infinite-dimensional unitary groups, Representation theory of groups and algebras, 381–391, Contemp. Math., 145, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1993.
- 37. Brooks-1972, J.K. and N. Dinculeanu, Weak compactness and control measures in the space of unbounded measures, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 69, 1083-1085.
- Brooks-1995, J. K. and N. Dinculeanu, Integration in Banach spaces. Application to stochastic integration. Atti Sem. Mat. Fis. Univ. Modena 43, no. 2, 317–361.
- 39. Browder-1968, F. E., The fixed point theory of multi-valued mappings in topological vector spaces, Math. Ann. 177, 283-301.
- Brown-1969, A., An Elementary example of a continuous singular function, Amer. Math. Monthly 76, 295-297.
- 41. Brown-1993, R.F., Topological introduction to nonlinear analysis, Birkhauser.
- Burbrea-1981, J., Pick's theorem with operator-valued holomorphic functions, Kodai Math. J. 4, 495-507.
- 43. Byers-1966, W., Unbounded vector measures, Canad. Math. Bull., 9, 331-341.
- Bytheway-1992 I. and D.L. Kepert, The mathematical modelling of cluster geometry, J. Math. Chemistry 9, 161-180.
- 45. Caradus-1974, S.R. et al., Calkin algebras and algebras of operators on Banach spaces, Marcel Dekker.
- Caristi-1976, J, Fixed point theorems for mapping satisfying inwardness conditions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 215, 241-251.
- 47. Cartan-1971, H., Differential calculus, Hermann.
- Cater-1982, F. Most monotone functions are not singular, Amer. Math. Monthly 89, 466-469.
- 49. Chae-1980, S.-B., Lebesgue integration, Marcel Dekker.
- Christensen-1979, M. J., Extension theorems for operator-valued measures. J. Math. Phys. 20, no. 3, 385–389.
- 51. Chuaqui, R., Truth, possibility, and probability : new logical foundations of probability and statistical inference, North-Holland, 1991.
- 52. Chulaevsky-1989, V. A., Almost periodic operators and related nonlinear integrable systems, Manchester Univ. Press.

- 53. Cohen-1974, J.S., A counter-example to the closed graph theorem for bilinear maps, J. Funct. Analysis 16, 235-240.
- 54. Cohn-1980, D.L., Measure Theory, Birkhauser.
- 55. Collins-1982, H.S. and W. Ruess, Duals of spaces of compact operators, Studia Math. 74, 213-245.
- 56. Corduneanu-1989, C., Almost periodic functions, Chelsea.
- 57. Corduneanu-1991, C., Integral Equations and Applications, Cambridge.
- Cotter-1990, N.E., The Stone-Weierstrass theorem and its application to neural networks, IEEE Trans. Neural Network 1, 290-295.
- 59. Croitoru-1998, A., A Radon-Nikodym theorem for multimeasures, An. Stiint. Univ. Al. I. Cuza Iasi. Mat. (N.S.) 44, no. 2, 395–402 (2000).
- Cukerman1974-, V. V., A certain class of special functions that are connected with the representations of the group SO(n), Izv. Vysš. Učebn. Zaved. Matematika, no. 9(148), 86–89.
- 61. Cullen-1991, C. G., Linear algebra and differential equations, PWS-KENT, Boston.
- 62. Das-1972, Mrinal Kanti Some properties of special functions derived from the theory of continuous transformation groups. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 35, 565–573.
- 63. Defant-1993, A. and K. Floret, Tensor norms and operator ideals, North-Holland Math. Studies 176.
- 64. Deimling-1977, K., Ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, Lec. Notes in Math. 696, Springer-Verlag.
- 65. Deimling-1978, K., Periodic solutions of differential equations in Banach spaces, Manuscripta Math. 24, 31-44.
- 66. Deimling-1985, K., Nonlinear functional analysis, Springer-Verlag, 1985.
- 67. DeLucia-1986, A.B.D. and P. DeLucia, On the codomain of finitely additive functions, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palerma (2), 35#2, 203-210.
- 68. Diestel-1977, J. and J.J. Uhl, Vector measures, Math. Survey 15, Amer. Math. Soc.
- Diestel-1983, J. and J.J. Uhl, Progress in vector measures 1977-1983, in: Lec. Notes in Math. 1033, 144-192, Springer-Verlag.
- Dieudonne-1981, J., History of functional analysis. North-Holland Math. Studies, 49
- 71. Dieudonne-1985, J., The index of operators in Banach spaces, Integral Equations and Operator Theory 8, 580-589
- 72. Dinculeanu-1967, N., Vector measures, Pergamon.
- 73. Dinculeanu-1974, N., Integration on locally compact spaces, Noordhoff.
- 74. Dinculeanu-2000, N., Vector integration and stochastic integration in Banach spaces, Wiley.
- 75. Dineen-1981, S., Complex Analysis in locally convex spaces, North-Holland Math. Studies 57.
- 76. Dineen-1989, S., The Schwartz lemma, Clarendon, Oxford.
- Dobrakov-1995, I., On extension of vector polymeasures. I+II. Math. Slovaca 45, no. 4, 377–380.
- Dorbrakov-1992, I., Feynman type integrals as multilinear integrals, Measure theory, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo (2) Suppl. #28, 169-180.
- Doss-1980, R., The Hahn decomposition theorem, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 80, 377.
- 80. Duchon-1988, M., Vector measures and nuclearity, Math. Slovaca, 38#1, 79-83.

- 81. Dudley-1971, R. M. , On measurability over product spaces, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 77, 271-274.
- Dudley-1972, R.M. and L. Pakula, A counter-example on the inner product of measures, Indiana U. Math. J., 21#9 (1972), 843-845.
- 83. Dudley-1989, R. M., Real analysis and probability, Wadsworth-Brooks, California.
- 84. Dugundji-1966, J., Topology, Allyn-Bacon.
- 85. Dugundji-1982, J. and A. Granas, Fixed point theory I, PWN, Warszawa.
- 86. Dunford-1958,63,71, N. and J. Schwartz, Linear operators, vol. 1,2,3, Interscience.
- Dunkl-1976, C. F., Spherical functions on compact groups and applications to special functions. Symposia Mathematica, Vol. XXII (Convegno sull'Analisi Armonica e Spazi di Funzioni su Gruppi Localmente Compatti, INDAM, Rome), pp. 145–161. Academic Press, London, 1977.
- 88. Eaves-1983, B.C. et al. (eds.), Homotopy methods and global convergence, Plenum.
- Elliott-1964, E.O. and A.P. Morse, General Product measures, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 110, 245-283.
- 90. Elliott-1971, E.O. and A.P. Morse, Errata to General product measures, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 157, 505–506.
- 91. Enflo-1973, P., A counter example to the approximation property in Banach spaces, Acta Math. 130, 309-317.
- 92. Enflo-2001, P. and L. Smithies, Harnack's theorem for harmonic-compact operatorvalued functions. Linear Algebra Appl. 336, 21–27.
- 93. Fan-1952, K., Fixed-point and minimax theorems in locally convex topological linear spaces, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 38,121-126.
- 94. Fan-1960, K., Combinatorial properties of certain simplicial and cubical vertex maps, Arch. Math. 11, 368-377.
- 95. Fan-1963, K., On the Krein-Milman theorem, in: Proc. Pure Math VII, 211-219, Amer. Math. Soc.
- 96. Fan-1978, K., Analytic functions of a proper contraction, Math. Z. 160, 275-290.
- Fan-1979, K., Schwartz's lemma for operators on Hilbert spaces, Analele Stiintifice ale Univ. Al. I. Cuza Iasi 25, 103-106.
- 98. Fan-1984, K., Some properties of convex sets related to fixed point theorems, Math. Ann. 266, 519-537.
- 99. Fan-1990, K., A survey of some results closely related to the Knaster-Kuratowski-Mazurkiewicz theorem, 358-370, in: Game theory and application, Academic.
- 100. Fan-1992, K., Some aspects of development of linear algebra in the last sixty years, Linear Algebra Appl. 162-164, 15-22.
- 101. Fan-1996, K., Operator-valued typically real functions. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 124, no. 3, 765–771.
- 102. Fan-1999, K., Antipodal theorems for sets in \mathbb{R}^n bounded by a finite number of spheres. Set-Valued Anal. 7, no. 1, 1–6.
- 103. Fell-1988, J.M.G. and R.S. Doran, Representations of *-algebras, locally compact groups and Banach *-algebra bundles, Vol I, Academic.
- 104. Fernandez-1988 Arroyo, F.J., A necessary condition for the existence of the product of measures valued in locally convex spaces, Publ. Mat., 32#1, 129-134.
- 105. Fernandez-1994, F. J. and P.J. Guerra, On infinite products of vector measures. Math. Japon. 39 (1994), no. 3, 571–579.
- 106. Fernandez-1999, F. J.; G. P. Jimenez and M.T. Ulecia, A Radon-Nikodym theorem for vector polymeasures. J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A 66, no. 2, 189-200.

- 107. Figiel-1984, T., T. Iwaniec and A. Pelczynski, Computing norms of some operators in L_p -spaces, Studia Math. 79, 227-274.
- 108. Filter-1992, W. Measurability and decomposition properties in the dual of a Riesz space, Measure theory, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo (2) Suppl. #28, 21-33.
- 109. Folland-1984, G., Real analysis, Wiley.
- 110. Forelli-1992, F., The theorem of F. and M. Riesz for unbounded measures, Madison Symp. on Complex Analy., Contemp. Math. 137, 221-234.
- 111. Foster-1980, E.(ed.), Numerical solution of highly nonlinear problems, North-Holland.
- Fox-1968, G., Inductive extension of a vector measure under a convergence condition. Canad. J. Math. 20, 1246–1255.
- 113. Fraenkel-1978, L.E., Formulae for high derivatives of composite functions, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 83, 336-345.
- 114. Franzoni-1980, T., E. Vesentini, Holomorphic maps and invariant distance, Math. Studies 40, North-Holland.
- Freilich-1973, G., Increasing continuous singular functions, Amer. Math. Monthly (80), 918-919.
- Freniche-2001, F. J., J.C. Garcia-Vazquez and L. Rodriguez-Piazza, Tensor products and operators in spaces of analytic functions, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 63, no. 3, 705–720.
- 117. Gamelin-1969, T.W., Uniform Algebra, Prentice-Hall.
- 118. Gamelin-1989, T.W., The Stone-Weierstrass theorem for weak-star approximation by rational functions, J. Funct. Anal. 87, 170-176.
- 119. Garcia-Vazquez-1997, J. C., Products of vector measures. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 206, no. 1, 25–41.
- 120. Garnett-1981, J.B., Bounded analytic functions, Academic.
- 121. Garnir-1972, H.G., M.d. Wilde and J. Schmets, Analyse fonctionnelle, II, Birkhauser.
- 122. Garnir-1974, H.G., Representation des operateurs normaux par des integrales spectrales, UWA-library, Q517.5-1974-13.
- 123. GilDeLamadrid-1990, J. and L.N. Argabright, Almost periodic measures, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 85#428.
- 124. Gilliam-1977, D., On integration and the Radon-Nikodym theorem in quasicomplete locally convex topological vector spaces. J. Reine Angew. Math. 292, 125– 137.
- Glicksberg-1963, I., Bishop's generalized Stone-Weierstrass theorem for the strict topology, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 14, 329-333.
- 126. Godfrey-1969, M.C. and M. Sion, On products of Radon measures, Canad. Math. Bull. 12, 427-444.
- 127. Godunov-1975, A.N., Peano's Theorem in Banach spaces, Funct. Anal. Appl. 9, 53-55.
- 128. Gohberg-1982, I., P. Lancaster and L. Rodman, Matrix Polynomials, Academic.
- 129. Gohberg-2000, I., S. Gohberg and N. Krupnik, Traces and determanants of linear operators, Birkhauser.
- 130. Gong-1991, S., Harmonic analysis on classical groups, Springer-Verlag.
- 131. Granas-1962, A, Theory of Compact Fields and some of its Applications to Topology of Function Spaces, Rozprawy Mat. 30, Warszawa..
- Granas-1990, A, Sur quelques methodes topologiques en analyse convexe, Sem. de Math. Super. 110, 11-77.
- 133. Guainua-1963, S., Extension of vector measures. Rev. Math. Pures Appl. 8, 151-154.

- 134. Gwinner-1982, J., On fixed points and variational inequalities, A circular tour, Nonlinear Anal. 5, 565-583.
- Hadzic-1975, O., The Existence of the Solution of a System of Differential Equations in Locally Convex Spaces, Mat. Vesnik 12, 63-70.
- 136. Halpern-1970, B.R., Fixed point theorems for set-valued maps in infinite dimensional spaces, Math. Ann. 189, 87-89.
- 137. Haluska-1991, J., On the generalized continuity of the semivariation in locally convex spaces, Acta Univ. Carolin. Math. Phys. 32#2, 23-28.
- 138. Hamilton-1982, R., The inverse function theorem of Nash and Moser, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 7, 65-222.
- 139. Han-1999, Y. M; S.H. Lee and W.Y. Lee, On the structure of polynomially compact operators. Math. Z. 232, no. 2, 257–263.
- 140. Hawkins-2001, T., Lebesgue's Theory of Integration, its origins and development, Amer. Math. Soc.
- 141. Helmberg-1969, G., Introduction to spectral theory in Hilbert space, North-Holland.
- 142. Herve-1989, M., Analyticity in infinite dimensional spaces, Gruyter.
- 143. Hewitt-1963, E. and K. A. Ross, Abstract harmonic analysis, vol. 1; vol. 2, 1970, Springer-Verlag.
- 144. Hoang-1977, T., On pivotal methods for computing fixed points. Acta Math. Vietnam. 2, no. 2, 5–21.
- 145. Hocking-1961, J.G. and G.S. Young, Topology, Addison-Wesley.
- 146. Hofmann-1998, K. H. and S. A. Morris, The structure of compact groups, Walter de Gruyter.
- 147. Holland-1973, F., The extreme points of a class of functions with positive real part, Math. Ann. 202, 85-87.
- Holland-1975, F., On the representation of functions as Fourier transforms of unbounded measures, Proc. London Math. Soc. 30#3, 347-365.
- 149. Holub-1974, J. R. Tensor Product mappings I, Math. Ann. 188(1970), 1-12 and II, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 42, 437-441.
- 150. Horowitz-1975, C., An elementary counter-example to the open mapping principle for bilinear maps, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 53, 293-294.
- Houdre-1990, C., Linear Fourier and stochastic analysis, Probab. Theory Related Fields, 87#2, 167-188.
- 152. Huang-1999, J-S., Lectures on representation theory, World Scientific.
- 153. Huff1977, R. E. The Radon-Nikodym property for Banach-spaces, a survey of geometric aspects, pp. 1–13. North-Holland Math. Studies, Vol. 27; Notas de Mat., No. 63, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1977.
- 154. Huggins-1976, F.N., Some interesting properties of the variation function, Amer. Math. Monthly 83, 538-546.
- 155. Hwang-1983, J.S., On the operator ranges of analytic functions, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 87, 90-94.
- 156. Ichinose-1970, T., On the spectra of the tensor products of linear operators in Banach spaces, J. reine und angew. Math. 244, 119-153.
- 157. Isidro-1984, J.M. and L.L. Stacho, Holomorphic automorphism groups in Banach spaces: an elementary introduction, North-Holland Math. Stud. 105.
- 158. Istratescu-1981, V.I., Fixed point theory, Reidel.
- 159. Jacobs-1978, K., Measure and integral, Academic.
- 160. James-1999, I. M., From combinatorial topology to algebraic topology, History of topology, 561–573, North-Holland.

- 161. Janos-1967, L., A converse of Banach's contraction theorem, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 16, 287-289.
- 162. Jarchow-1981, H., Locally convex spaces, Teubner.
- 163. Jaworowski-1989, J., A Borsuk-Ulam theorem for O(m), in: Topics in Equivariant Topology, Sem. de Math. Super. 108, 107-117.
- 164. Jaworowski-2000, J., Periodic coincidence for maps of spheres. Kobe J. Math. 17, no. 1, 21–26.
- Jefferies-1988, B. Fubini's theorem for Radon polymeasures, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 38, no. 2, 221–229.
- 166. John-1984, K., Tensor product of several spaces and nuclearity, Math. Ann. 269, 333-356.
- 167. Johnson-1979, J., Remarks on Banach spaces of compact operators, J. Funct. Anal. 32, 304-311.
- 168. Jones F., Lebesgue integration on Euclidean space, Jones-Bartlett, 1993.
- 169. Jorgens-1982, K., Linear integral operators, Pitman.
- 170. Joshi-1985, M.C. and R.K. Bose, Some topics in nonlinear functional analysis, Halsted.
- 171. Jurzak-1985, J.P., Unbounded non-commutative integration, Academic.
- 172. Kadison-1983-1992, R. V. and J. R. Ringrose, Fundamentals of the theory of operator algebras, 4 vols, Academic.
- 173. Kandilakis-1992, D. A. On the extension of multimeasures and integration with respect to a multimeasure. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 116, no. 1, 85–92.
- 174. Kaneko-1970, A. A generalization of the Riesz-Schauder theory, Proc. Japan Acad. 46, 223-225.
- 175. Kawabe-1999, J., Weak convergence of tensor products of vector measures with values in nuclear spaces. Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 59, no. 3, 449–458.
- 176. Kearfott-1979, B., An efficient degree-computation method for a generalized method of bisection, Numer. Math. 32, 109-127.
- 177. Kelley-1988, J.L., T.P. Srinivasan : Measure and integral, Vol I, Springer-Verlag.
- 178. Khan-1986, M.A., Equilibrium points of non-atomic games over a Banach space, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 293, 737-749.
- 179. Kluvanek-1972, I., The extension and closure of vector measure. Vector and operator valued measures and applications (Proc. Sympos., Alta, Utah, 1972), pp. 175–190. Academic Press, New York.
- 180. Kolmogorov-1961, A.N. and S.V. Fomin, Measure, Lebesgue integrals and Hilbert space, Academic.
- Konig-1975, H., Diagonal and convolution operators as elements of operator ideals, Math. Ann. 218, 97-106.
- 182. Konig-1986, H., Eigenvalue distribution of compact operators, Birkhauser.
- 183. Kransnoselskii-1984, M.A. and P.P. Zabreiko, Geometric methods of nonlinear analysis, Springer-Verlag.
- 184. Kreyszig-1978, E., Introductory Functional analysis with applications, Wiley.
- Kulpa-1990, W., Simplicial approximation of antipodal maps, Colloq. Math. 58, 213-220.
- Kuo-1976, T. H., Extensions of operators and vector measures. J. Nat. Chiao Tung Univ. 2, 131–132.
- 187. Kuttler-1998, K.L., Modern Analysis, CRC-Press, Florida.
- 188. Lang-1969, S., Analysis II, Addison-Wesley.

- 189. Lee-1989, P.Y., Lanzhou lectures on Henstock integration, World Scientific.
- 190. Levitan-1980, B. M., An outline of the history of the theory of almost-periodic functions, Istor.-Mat. Issled. No. 25, 156-166.
- 191. Lewis-1977, D. R., Duals of tensor products, in: Lec.Notes in Math. 604, 57-66, Springer-Verlag.
- 192. Li-1975, T.Y., Existence of solutions for ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, J. Diff. Equ. 18, 29-40.
- 193. Lin-1987, B.L. and S. Simons (eds.), Nonlinear and convex analysis, Proc. in honour of Ky Fan, Lec. Notes in Pure Appl. Math. 107, Marcel Dekker.
- 194. Lloyd-1978, N.G., Degree theory, Cambridge.
- 195. Lobanov-1994, S.G. and O.G. Smolyanov, Ordinary differential equations in locally convex spaces, Russian Math. Surveys, 49#3, 97-175.
- 196. Lomonosov-1973, V. I., Invariant subspaces for the family of operators commuting with a completely continuous operator, Funct. Anal. Appl. 7, 213-214.
- 197. Loomis-1953, L.H., An introduction to abstract harmonic analysis, Van Nostrand.
- 198. Lugovaya-1981, G.D. and A.N. Sherstnev, Integration of bounded operators with respect to measures on ideals of projections, Constructive theory of functions and functional analysis, #3, 44-50, Kazan. Gos. Univ., Kazan.
- 199. Luo-1991, Y. H, S. Y Shen, Extensions and decompositions of general operator measures, Chinese Ann. Math. Ser. A 12, no. 1, 13–18.
- 200. Luxemburg-1971-1983, W.A.J. and A.C. Zaanen, Riesz spaces, 2 vols, North-Holland.
- 201. Ma-1972, T-W., Non-singular set-valued compact fields in locally convex spaces, Fund. Math. 75, 249-259.
- 202. Ma-1975, T-W., Mean Spaces of Topological Groups, Bull. Inst. Math. Acad. Sinica, 3, 161-169.
- Ma-1986, T-W., On rank one commutators and triangular representations, Canad. Math. Bull. 29, 268-273.
- 204. Ma-2001, T-W., Inverse mapping theorem on coordinate spaces. Bull. London Math. Soc. 33, no. 4, 473–482.
- 205. Maak-1967, W., Fastperiodic funktionen, Springer-Verlag.
- 206. Manoukain-1983, E.B., Renormalization, Academic.
- 207. Mara-1976, P.S., Triangulations of a cube, J. Comb. Theory, ser A, 20, 170-177.
- 208. Marcus-1973-75, M., Finite dimensional multilinear algebra, M. Dekker.
- 209. Masani-1989, P.R. and H. Niemi, The integration theory of Banach space valued measures and the Tonelli-Fubini theorems, I. Scalar-valued measures on δ -rings, Adv. in Math., 73#2, 204-241.
- 210. Masani-1992, P. R. and H. Niemi, The integration of Banach space valued measures and the Tonelli-Fubini theorems. III. Vectorial extensions of product measures and the slicing, Fubini and Tonelli theorems. Ricerche Mat. 41, no. 2, 195–282 (1993).
- Masani-1992, P.R., The measure-theoretic aspects of entropy II., J. Comput. Appl. Math., 44#2, 245-260
- Mawhin-1987, J. and K.P. Rybakowski, Continuation theorems for semilinear equations in Banach spaces: a survey, 367-405, in: Nonlinear analysis, (Rassias, Th.M., ed.), World Scientific.
- 213. Meise-1997, R. and D. Vogt, Introduction to functional analysis, Clarendon, Oxford.
- Meyers-1967, P.R., A converse to Banach's contraction theorem, J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards Sect. B 71, 73-76.

- 215. Mikusinski-1978, J., Bochner integral, Birkauser.
- 216. Mujica-1986, J., Complex analysis in Banach spaces, Math. Studies, 120, North-Holland.
- 217. Muldowney-1978, P., A general theory of integration in function spaces, Pitman.
- Mullins-1970, R. E., A converse of the Stone-Weierstrass theorem, Amer. Math. Monthly 77, 982–983.
- 219. Munroe-1971, M.E., Introduction to measure and integration, Addison-Wesley.
- 220. Munster-1974, M., Theorie generale de la mesure et de l'integration, Bull. Soc. Roy. des Sci. de Liege, 11, 526-567.
- 221. Murphy-1990, G.J., C*-Algebras and Operator Theory, Academic.
- 222. Musielak-1993, J., On the history of functional analysis, Opuscula Math. No. 13 (1993), 7, 14, 27–36.
- 223. Nachbin-1965, L., The Haar integral, Van Nostrand.
- 224. Naimark-1982, M. A. and A. I. Stern, Theory of group representations, Spring-Verlag.
- 225. Nelson-1974, E., Notes on non-commutative integration, J. Funct.Anal. 15, 104-116.
- Niculescu-1977, C., Simultaneous extensions of vector measures. An. Univ. Craiova Mat. Fiz.-Chim. No. 5, 39–44.
- 227. Ohba-1973, Sachio Extensions of vector measures. Yokohama Math. J. 21, 61-66.
- 228. Okiki
olu-1971, G.O., Aspects of the Theory of Bounded Integral Operator in
 $L_p\mbox{-}$ Spaces, Academic.
- 229. Olagunju-1964, P.A. and T.T. West, The spectra of Fredholm operators in locally convex spaces, Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 60, 801-806.
- 230. Olejeck-1977, V. Darboux Property of finitely additive measure on δ -ring, Math. Slovaca, 27#2, 195-201.
- 231. Pallu-1998, de La Barriere, R., Integration of vector functions with respect to vector measures, Studia Univ. Babecs-Bolyai Math., 43 (2), 55-93.
- 232. Pankov-1990, A. A., Bounded and almost periodic solutions of nonlinear operator differential equations, Kluwer.
- 233. Pelletier-1982, J.W., Tensor norms and operators in the category of Banach spaces, Int. Eqns. Op. Theory 5, 85-113.
- 234. Pietsch-1987, A., Eigenvalues and s-numbers, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Math. 13.
- 235. Pontryagin-1952, L.S., Foundations of combinatorial topology, Graylock.
- 236. Puglisi-1991, M.A., δ -rings of sets and measurability of functions, Atti Sem. Mat. Fis. Univ. Modena, 39#1, 321-326.
- 237. Rana I.K., An introduction to measure and integration, Narosa, 1997.
- 238. Rao-1972, M.B., Countable additivity of a set function induced by two vectorvalued measures, Indiana U. Math. J., 21#9 (1972), 847-848.
- 239. Rao-1987, M.M., Measure theory and integration, John Wiley.
- 240. Rao-1991, M.M. and Z.D. Ren, Theory of Orlicz spaces, Marcel Dekker.
- 241. Rao-1993, M.M., Conditional Measures and Applications, Marcel Dekker.
- 242. Reed-1978, M. and B. Simon, Methods of modern mathematical physics, IV: analysis of operators, Academic.
- Rice-1982, N.M., On n-th roots of positive operators, Amer. Math. Monthly 89, 313-314.

- 244. Ricker-1987, W., A concrete realization of the dual space of L_1 -spaces of certain vector and operator-valued measures, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A, 42#2, 265-279.
- 245. Ringrose-1971, J.R., Compact non-self-adjoint operators, Van Nostrand Reinhold Math. Stud. 35.
- 246. Rno-1974, J. S., Clebsch-Gordan coefficients and special functions related to the Euclidean group in three-space. J. Mathematical Phys. 15, 2042–2047.
- 247. Rosenblum-1958, M., On a theorem of Fuglede and Putnam, J. London Math. Soc. 33, 376-377.
- 248. Rudin-1974, W., Real and complex analysis, McGraw-Hill.
- 249. Rudin-1980, W., Function theory in the unit ball of C^n , Springer.
- 250. Ruston-1986, A. F., Fredholm theory in Banach spaces, Cambridge Tracts in Math. 86.
- 251. Rybakowski-1987, K.P., The homotopy index and partial differential equations, Universitext, Springer-Verlag.
- 252. Sadovnichii-1990, V.A., Theory of operators, Consultants Bureau.
- 253. Sagan-1974, H., Advanced calculus, Houghton Mifflin.
- 254. Sambucini-1996, A.R., A Radon-Nikodym theorem in locally convex spaces with respect to integration by seminorms, Riv. Mat. Univ. Parma (5) 4 (1995), 49-60.
- 255. Schaefer-1974, H.H., Banach lattices and positive operators, Springer-Verlag.
- 256. Schechter-1971, M., Principles of functional analysis, Academic.
- 257. Schmitt-1982, K. and H. Smith, Fredholm alternatives for nonlinear differential equations, Rocky Mountain, J. Math. 12, 817-841.
- Seki-1957, T., An elementary proof of Brouwer's fixed point theorem. Tohoku Math. J. (2) 9, 105-109.
- 259. Serrin, J. and D.E. Varberg, a general chain-rule for derivatives and the change of variable formula for the Lebesgue integral, Amer. Math. Monthly 76 (1962), 514-520.
- 260. Sharma-1999, S. D. and U. Bhanu, Composition operators on vector-valued Hardy spaces. Extracta Math. 14, no. 1, 31–39.
- 261. Shashkin-1991, Y. A., Fixed points, Amer. Math. Soc.
- 262. Siegberg-1980, H.W., Brouwer degree: history and numerical computation, in: Forster(ed.), Numerical Solution of Highly Nonlinear Problems, North-Holland, 389-416.
- 263. Sikorski-1963, R., Determinants in Banach spaces, Studia Math. 1, 111-116.
- 264. Simon-1979, B., Functional integration and quantum physics, Academic.
- 265. Simon-1979, B., Trace ideals and their applications, Cambridge.
- 266. Simonivc-1996, A. An extension of Lomonosov's techniques to non-compact operators, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 348, no. 3, 975–995.
- 267. Smart-1974 D.R., Fixed point theorems, Cambridge Tracts in Math. 66.
- Spears-1969, W. T., A generalization of the Stone-Weierstrass theorem to multivalued functions. J. Natur. Sci. and Math. 9, 201–208.
- Starkloff-1991, H., Stochastic analogues of the Stone-Weierstrass theorem, Wiss. Z. Tech. Univ. Chemnitz 33, 123-127.
- Steen-1973, L., Highlights in the history of spectral theory, Amer. Math. Monthly 80, 359-381.
- 271. Steenrod-1966, N.E. and W. G. Chinn, First concepts of topology, Random House.

- 272. Steinlein-1985, H., Borsuk's antipodal theorem and its generalizations and applications: a survey, in : Methodes topologiques en analyse non lineaire(A. Granas ed.), Sem. de Math. Super. 95, 166-235.
- 273. Stewart-1979, J., Fourier transforms of unbounded measures, Canad. J. Math. 31#6, 1281-1292.
- 274. Stout-1971, E. L., The Theory of Uniform Algebras, Bogden-Quigley.
- 275. Sugiura-1990, M. Unitary representations and harmonic analysis, North-Holland.
- 276. Swartz-1984, C., Fubini's theorem for tensor product measures, Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl 29#1, 97-103.
- 277. Swartz-1994, C., Measure, integration and function spaces, World Scientific.
- 278. Szankowski-1981, B(H) does not have the approximation property, Acta Math.147, 89-108.
- Takacs1978, L., An increasing continuous singular function. Amer. Math. Monthly 85 (1978)
- 280. Talman-1968, J. D., Special functions: A group theoretic approach, Benjamin. 1968
- 281. Talman-1980, A.J.J., Variable dimension fixed point algorithms and triangulations, Math. Centrum, Amsterdam.
- 282. Taylor-1958, A.E., Introduction to functional analysis, Wiley.
- 283. Taylor-1965, A.E., General theory of functions and integration, Blaisdell.
- 284. Taylor-1971, A. Notes on the history and uses of analyticity in operator theory, Amer. Math. Monthly, 78, 331-342.
- 285. Thron-1966, W.J., Topological structures, Holt.
- 286. Todd-1977, M.J., Union jack triangulations, in: Fixed points: Algorithms and Applications, S. Karamardian(ed.), Academic.
- 287. Trimeche-2001, K., Generalized harmonic analysis and wavelet packets, Gordon and Breach.
- 288. Tucker-1973, D.H. and H.B. Maynard, (eds), Vector and operator valued measures and applications, Academic.
- 289. Uglanov-2000, A.V., Integration on infinite dimensional surfaces and its applications, Kluwer.
- Uhl-1971, J. J., Jr. Extensions and decompositions of vector measures. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 3, 672–676.
- 291. Vakhania-1987, N.N., V.I. Tarieladze and S. A. Chobanyan, Probability distributions on Banach spaces, Reidel (MIA).
- 292. Vala-1964, K., On compact sets of compact operators, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Ser. A I Math. 351.
- 293. Varberg-1965, D.E. On absolutely continuous functions, Amer. Math. Monthly, 72, 831-841.
- 294. Vilenkin-1968, N. Ja., Special functions and the theory of group representations. Transl. Math. Monographs, Vol. 22 Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R. I.
- 295. Vilenkin-1991, N. Ja., Representation of Lie groups and special functions, Kluwer.
- 296. vonNeumann-1961, J., Almost periodic functions in a group, I, 454-501; II, 528-557, Collected works, vol 2, Pergamon.
- 297. Wang-1992, Z. and G.J. Klir, Fuzzy measure theory, Plenum.
- Wolsey-1977, L.A., Cubical Sperner lemmas as application of generalized complementary pivoting, J. Comb. Theory, A23, 78-87.
- 299. Wong-1966, J. S. W., Generalizations of the converse of the contraction mapping principle, Canad. J. Math. 18, 1095-1104.
- 300. Wong-1976, Y.C., The topology of uniform convergence on order-bounded sets, Lec. Notes in Math. 531, Springer-Verlag.
- 301. Wong-1992, Y.C., Introductory Theory of Topological Vector Spaces, Marcel Dekker.
- 302. Wu-1999, J.; Y. J. Wu and X.H. Du, Subseries convergence and unconditionally convergence of compact operator series. Northeast. Math. J. 15, no. 3, 364–368.
- 303. Xia-1972, D.X., Measure and integration theory on infinite-dimensional spaces, abstract harmonic analysis, Academic.
- 304. Yamasaki-1985, Y., Measures on infinite dimensional spaces, World Scientific.
- 305. Yannelis-1988, N.C., Fatou's lemma in infinite dimensional spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 102, 303-310.
- 306. Yeh-1985, C.C., Discrete inequalities of the Gronwall-Bellman type in *n*-independent variables, II, J. Math. Analy. Appl. 106, 282-285.
- 307. Yosida-1966, K., Functional analysis, Springer-Verlag.
- 308. Young-1988, N., An introduction to Hilbert space, Cambridge.
- 309. Zaanen-1959, A.C., Linear analysis, North-Holland.
- 310. Zaanen-1997, A.C., Introduction to operator theory in Riesz Spaces, Springer-Verlag.
- Zamfirescu-1982, T. Most monotone functions are singular, Amer. Math. Monthly 88, 47-49.
- 312. Zelichenok-1985, A.B., On the question of the analogy between scalar and vector unbounded measures on projectors, Functional analysis, 24, 42-51.
- 313. Zhao-1997, H.G., The Vitali-Hahn-Saks theorem for Radon-Nikodym derivatives of vector measures, J. Math. (Wuhan) 17, no. 2, 267-270.
- 314. Zhu-1990, K., Operator theory in function spaces, M. Dekker.

Index

A

absolute value, 16-2.2, 17-4.8 absolutely continuous, 24-2.2.9 absolutely convergent, 3-2.11, 17-4.2 absorbing, 6-4.9 additive map, 17-2.6 adjoint, 13-5.5 admissible bilinear map. 17-4.8 affine combination, 4-1.3 affine combination, 4-1.3 affine homeomorphism, 4-4.2 affine homotopy, 5-4.3 affine hull, 4-1.3 affine map, 4-4.2 algebra of functions, 3-8.5 algebra of subsets, 18-2.9 algebraic complement, 7-4.1 algebraic direct sum, 7-4.1 algebraic dual, 3-4.6 Algebraic Extension Thm, 17-5.4 almost everywhere, ae, 20-2.9, 21-2.3 almost periodic maps, 29-1.4 almost periodic, 28-1.7 almost uniformly, 21-7.1 analytic extension thm, 6-2.6 antipodal map, 5-1.2 antipodal points, 5-1.2 antipodal set, 5-1.2 antipodal thm, 5-1.4, 5-1.12, 5-6.12 ap-functions, 28-1.7 ap-maps, 29-1.4 approximate eigenvalue, 14-2.1 approximate point spectrum, 14-2.1 approximation of compact map, 5-3.3 approximation of functions, 3-8.4,10,12 ascent, 12-2.5 Ascoli's thm, 3-7.6 associated homogeneous equation, 11-3.5 associated linear map, 15-1.2 associated sesquilinear form, 13-5.3 average lemma, 8-4.12 average, 24-7.5

B

Baire's category thm, 6-7.3 balanced, 6-4.9, 11-6.2 Banach space, 3-2.1 Banach's inversion thm. 6-9.3 Banach-Steinhaus thm, 6-8.3, 10-1.12 barycenter, 4-6.1 barycentric coordinate, 4-1.4 barycentric subdivision, 4-7.6 basic triangulation, 4-10.2 basis, 6-1.5 Bessel's inequality, 13-2.5, 29-3.5 bidual approximation thm, 7-1.8 bidual embedding thm, 7-1.2 bidual space, 7-1.1 bisection method, 2-9.5 Borel sets, 19-1.13 Borsuk-Ulam, 5-1.4 boundary thm, 11-2.6 boundary, 1-7.4 bounded below, 6-9.5 bounded linear map, 3-4.5 bounded measures, 20-5.6 bounded representation, 28-1.4, 29-1.6 bounded set. 2-2.1, 7-7.3 breakable, 16-3.11 Brouwer's fixed point thm, 5-2.4

С

 c_0 , 3-3.10 C^n -map, 9-1.10,10-3.1 C(X, N), 5-4.3 C^n -map, 10-3.1 C^{∞} -map, 10-3.1 Cantor, 25-4 Calkin algebra, 12-5.11 cap-functions, 30-1.2 carrier simplex, car(x), 4-5.8 Cauchy bounded open subset, 8-8.2 Cauchy sequence, 2-1.2 Cauchy's inequality, 8-4.13 Cauchy's integral formula, 8-4.11

600

Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, 13-1.5 Cayley-Hamilton thm, 8-8.17 central, 30-2.1, 31-5.6 chain. 6-1.3 change order of integration, 8-3.3 change variables, 8-3.10 character, 30-2.1 characteristic fn, 17-1.7 characterization thm of finite dim. 3-6.11 charge induced by, 17-7.1 charge, 17-2.6 Chebyshev's Inequality, 21-2.14 closed convex hull, 4-2.7 closed graph of differential operators, 9-2.11 closed graph thm, 6-9.10 closed in subspace, 1-6.10 closed invariant ideal, 29-2.2 closed set, 1-5.4 closure, 1-5.1 cluster point, 2-1.7 codimension, 7-4.11 coefficients of polynomial, 10-2.10 combinatorial lemma, 4-10.5 comfortable almost periodic, cap-fns, 30-1.2 commutant, 14-6.17 commute, 14-6.17, 26-3.9 compact field, 5-4.2 compact homotopy, 5-4.2 compact linear map, 12-1.2 compact map, 5-3.2 compact normal operator, 14-5.8 Compact Regularity Thm, 27-1.10 compact set, 2-6.7 compact sets of sequences, 3-7.9,10 compact support, 3-8.7 complementary solution, 11-3.5 complete set, 2-4.2 completion, 7-1.4, 23-4.6 complex charge, 17-2.6 complex spectral measure, 26-6.1 component, 2-10.1 concentrated, 24-6.6, 22-3.6 conjugate dual class, 30-3.17 conjugate indices, 3-3.3 conjugate linear, 13-1.4 conjugate, 16-4.1 conjugated vector space, 16-1.2 conjugation, 16-1.2 connected, 2-9.1

Continuous Approximation Thm, 23-2.5 Continuous Dominated Conv Thm. 21-4.12 contiguous, 4-9.5 continuation thm, 11-2.4 continuity of initial condition, 11-5.4 continuous map, 1-3.1 continuous on subset, 1-6.8 continuously differentiable, 8-1.2, 9-1.10 contour integral, 8-4.2 contour. 8-4.1 contraction constant, 9-4.1 contraction fixed-point thm, 9-4.2 contraction lemma, 9-5.2 contraction, 9-4.1 converges uniformly, 3-1.6 convergence in measure, 21-6.1 convergent sequence, 1-2.6 convergent series, 3-2.11 convex combination, 4-2.4 convex hull, 4-2.4 convex set, 4-2.1 convolution, 28-3.7, 31-2.4 coordinate expansion, 14-5.12 coordinate representation, 7-5.8 countably additive, 17-5.5 countably subadditive, 17-5.8 counting measure, 17-2.7 cover, 2-6.7 cross norm, 15-5.2 cubes, 23-5.2 curve, 2-9.10

D

δ-ring generated by, 18-1.6 δ-ring, 18-1.2 δ-space, 18-1.2 σ-algebra generated by, 18-1.8 decent function, 19-4.1 decent sets, 18-1.2 decomposable tensor, 15-1.5 decomposition property, 16-3.11 defect, 12-5.2 degree, 30-1.4, 30-2.1 dense, 2-6.2 Density Thm, 21-4.6 density, 24-1.2 derivative, 9-1.3, 25-1.1 descent, 12-2.12

Index

diagonable, 14-4.6 diagonal operator, 14-4.6 diagonal process, 2-5.4, 14-3.4 diagonal rep of compact normal, 14-5.12 diameter, 2-2.1 diffeomorphism, 10-4.8 differentiable, 8-1.2, 9-1.3, 25-1.1 differentiation under integral sign, 9-3.9, 21-4.13 dimension, 4-3.2, 4-5.4 Dini's thm. 3-8.7 direct sum. 29-1.8 directional derivative, 10-5.7 disconnection, 2-9.1 discrete metric, 1-2.3 discrete, 25-2.11 disjoint, 16-2.10 displacement operator, 12-2.1 distance, 1-8.2, 2-7.13 Dominated Conv. Thm in Measure, 21-7.9 Dominated Convergence Thm, 21-4.2 dominated extension thm, 6-3.4 double complement thm, 7-3.3 dual base, 7-5.11 dual classes, 30-1.3 dual norm, 15-6.6 dual object, 30-1.3, 3.10 dual space, 3-4.6, 3-5.4,5,6

Е

E-cover, 28-1.5 edge, 4-5.4 edge-length, 23-5.2 Egorov's Thm, 21-7.10 eigenspace, 13-11.1 eigenvalue, 13-11.1 eigenvector, 13-11.1 entire map, 8-5.11 equicontinuous, 3-7.4, 24-2.11 equivalent representations, 29-1.6 essential sup-norm, 21-5.1, 26-4.1 essentially bounded, 21-5.1 Euclidean norm, 1-1.5 evaluation map, 3-7.5 existence of tensor products, 15-1.3 exponential fns of, 8-8.15, 11-4 exterior, 1-7.4 extreme point, 4-4.10 extreme subset, 6-6.2

F

face, 4-3.5 facet, 4-3.5 factorial of multi-index, 10-2.2 Fatou's Lemma for Means, 31-3.11 Fatou's Lemma, 20-1.13 field homotopy, 5-4.2 finite dim approx thm, 5-3.3, 14-5.14 finite dimensional compact map, 5-3.2 finite dimensional linear map, 12-1.7 finite rank. 12-1.7 finite variation. 17-3.4, 4.1, 7.3 first fundamental thm of calculus, 8-3.4 first order chain rule, 9-1.8 fixed point thm, 2-9.6 fixed point, 5-4.2 flat. 6-4.2 Fourier coefficients, 13-3.1, 29-3.1, 31-5.1 Fourier inner product, 29-3.1 Fourier matrix, 29-3.1, 31-5.1 Fourier norm, 29-3.1 Fourier series, 13-3.1, 30-1.7 Fredholm alternative, 12-2.9 Fredholm linear map, 12-5.1 Fuglede's Thm, 13-7.14 Fubini's Thm, 22-3.9 Fulmer's method, 11-4.2 function, 1-1.1 functional calculus, 14-6 fundamental matrix, 11-3.10 fundamental thm of calculus, 8-4.14

G

gauge, 6-2.2, 6-4.9 general position, 4-1.3 geometric boundary, gbd, 4-3.3 geometric extension thm, 6-4.12 geometric interior, gin, 4-3.3 geometrically independent, 4-1.3 global bound lemma, 11-5.3 global smoothness thm, 11-5.10 global uniqueness thm, 11-2.2 glue thm, 1-6.13 good ε -cover, 28-2.4 graph of function, 6-9.8 Gronwall's inequality, 11-1.7 group algebra, 28-3.1

H

Hahn Decomposition, 24-5.1 Hahn-Banach extension thm, 6-2 Hamel basis, 6-1.5 hermitian form, 13-6.4 hermitian, 29-1.2, 2.2, 31-2.4 higher chain formula, 10-6.2 higher chain rule, 10-4.4 higher product formula, 10-6.3 Hilbert space, 13-1.7 Hilbert tensor product, 15-7.5 Holder's inequality, 3-3.5, 21-3.2 holomorphic, 8-4.4, 9-1.3 homeomorphism, 2-7.4 homogeneous polynomial, 10-2.4 homotopic compact maps, 5-4.3 homotopy extension thm, 5-5.6 hyperinvariant subspace, 12-4.3 hyperplane, 6-4.4 hypersubspace, 6-4.4

I

idempotent, 7-4.1 identity thm, 8-5.15 imaginary part, 3-1.2, 16-1.4, 17-3.2 implicit mapping thm, 10-4.11, 9-5.4 improper integral, 21-9.14,15 increasing fns, 16-1.7 indefinite integral, 24-1.2 index. 12-5.2 inductive norm, 15-6.3 inequality mean-value thm, 9-2.3 initial space, 14-7.2 initial value problem, 11-1.1 injection thm, 9-6.4 inner product, 1-1.4, 13-1.2 inner regular measures, 27-1.7 integrable maps, 21-2.3 integrable upper fns, 20-1.6 integrable on subspaces, 21-9.6 integrable set, 20-3.5, 21-1.1 integrable, 8-2.5 integral curve, 11-2.3 integral equation, 11-1.1 integral mean-value thm, 9-2.7 integral of upper fns, 20-1.6 integral, 8-2.3,5,12, 17-2.10

integration by parts, 8-3.8 integration term by term, 21-4.9 integration. 17-2.10 interior thm. 9-6.5 interior. 1-4.7 intermediate value thm, 2-9.4, 5-1.6,13, 5-6.9 intertwining matrix, 29-1.6 intervals in \mathbb{R}^n , 23-1.2 invariance of domain, 5-6.13 invariant subspace, 12-4.3, 13-9.14 inverse mapping thm, 10-4.10, 9-5.3 inversion, 28-1.11 invertible, 8-6.2 involution. 28-4.8 inward normal thm, 5-6.4 irreducible characters. 30-2.1 irreducible representation, 29-29-1.8 isometric, 3-5.2, 13-7.1

J-K

joined by curve, 2-9.10 Krein-Milman thm, 6-6.5

L

 L_p -convergence, 21-4.1 L_p -duality Thm, 24-6.7 L_{p} -norm, 21-2.3 L_{∞} -space, 21-5.1 label, 4-10.2 Lagrange multipliers, 9-6.8 Laurent series expansion, 8-5.6 Lebesgue Decomposition, 24-5.7 Lebesgue measure, 17-7.8, 23-3.4 Lebesgue number, 4-9.2 left E-cover, 28-1.5 left almost periodic, 28-1.5 left integral, 17-2.10 lexical, 15-4.3 length of multi-index, 10-2.2 lie on one side, 6-5.1 limit. 1-2.6 line segment, 4-2.1 linear combination, 6-1.5 linear form, 3-4.6 linear manifold, 6-4.2 linearization, 9-5.5 linearly independent, 6-1.5

Index

Liouville's thm, 8-5.13 Lipschitz constant, 11-1.4 local existence thm, 11-1.6 local implicit solution, 9-5.4 local uniqueness thm, 11-1.8 locally compact map, 12-1.15 locally integrable, 24-1.2 locally Lipschitz, 11-1.4 Lomonosov's thm, 12-4.6 long line, 27-1.5 lower derivatives, 25-1.1 lower limit, 2-3.2, 19-3.6 lower variation, 16-3.1, 17-3.8

M

M-representation, 29-3.15 µ-ae, 20-2.9, 21-2.3 µ-map, 22-3.4 μ -continuous, 24-2.2.9 μ -domain, 22-3.4 μ -integrable, 26-3.1 μ -measurable, 22-3.4 μ^* -measurable, 18-2.5 M-test, 5-5.2 majorized, 16-1.5 map induced by, 17-7.1 matrix representation, 7-5.8, 15-4.8, 28-1.4 maximal element, 6-1.3 maximal solution, 11-2.3 maximum of functions, 3-1.2 mean algebra, 31-2.5 mean convergence, 21-4.1 mean space, 31-2.1 mean value form, 28-2.9, 31-3.9 mean value, 28-2.8, 31-3.9 means, 31-2.1 measurable functions, 19-2.2 measurable maps, 19-5.5 measurable sets, 19-1.1 measurable space, 18-1.2 measurable subspace, 21-9.2 measure induced by linear forms, 27-2.9 measure, 17-6.1 merged sequence, 2-8.7 mesh, 4-7.6 metric, 1-2.2 minimal element, 6-1.3 minimum of functions, 3-1.2

Minkowski's inequality, 3-3.6, 21-3.3 mirror, 12-5.2 modulus, 17-4.8 Monotone Convergence Thm for Means, 31-3.10, 4.7 Monotone Convergence Thm, 21-4.4 monotone family, 18-1.8 multi-index, 10-2.2 multilinear form, 10-1.2 multilinear map, 10-1.2 multinomial coefficient, 10-2.2 multinomial thm, 10-2.3 multiplicity, 29-1.11, 30-2.3 mutually singular, 16-2.10

Ν

n-linear map. 10-2.1 n-times differentiable, 10-3.1 nagative sets, 24-3.1 natural embedding, 7-1.3, 31-4.3 natural isomorphsim, 17-3.2 negative part of function, 3-1.2 negative simplex, 4-10.3 nested property, 2-4.11 neutral simplex, 4-10.3 Newton's method, 10-4.12 non-degenerate sesquilinear form, 13-6.4 non-singular, 5-5.7 norm of linear map, 3-4.2 norm of multilinear map, 10-1.3 norm of quadratic form, 13-6.1 norm of sesquilinear form, 13-5.1 norm, 1-1.2 normal vector thm, 5-2.10 normal, 13-7.1 normalized spectral measure, 26-4.10 normed space, 1-1.2 null sequences, 3-3.10 null, 20-2.6, 21-2.3, 26-4.1

0

open ball, 1-4.2 open in subspace, 1-6.10 open line segment, 4-2.1 open map, 6-9.1 open set, 1-4.4 open simplex, 4-3.3

604

open-map thm, 6-9.2 operator, 8-6.2 order bounded, 16-5.2 order continuity, 17-5.9 order of functions, 3-1.2 order of multi-index. 10-2.2 ordered vector space, 16-1.5 orthogonal complement, 7-3.1, 13-4.1,10.6 orthogonal projection, 13-9.1 orthogonal, 13-2.1 orthonormal basis, 13-3.1 orthonormal, 13-2.1 orthonormalization process, 7-1.6, 13-2.7 outer measure, 18-2.3 Outer Regularity Thm, 23-2.2 outer regular measures, 27-1.7 outward normal thm, 5-6.3

P

parallel vector thm, 5-1.14, 5-6.10 parallelogram law, 13-1.4, 5-2.5 parity. 4-10.5 Parseval's Equation, 29-3.14 Parseval's identity, 13-3.4 partial derivative, 9-3.2 partial isometry, 14-7.2 partial map, 9-3.2 partial order, 6-1.2 partition of unity, 1-8.9 Peano's thm. 11-6.9 Peter-Weyl Theorem, 30-1.9 piecewise continuous, 8-2.13 piecewise differentiable, 31-1.2 piecewise linear map, 4-8.1 point measure, 17-2.8 point spectrum, 14-2.1 point-mean, 31-2.6 pointwise convergence, 3-1.8 polar decomposition thm, 14-7.5 polar form of complex measures, 24-4.4 polarization formula, 10-2.5, 13-1.4, 13-6.3, 26-2.7 polyhedron, 4-5.6 polynomial, 10-2.10 poset, 6-1.2 positive cone, 16-1.5 Positive Dominated Conv. Thm. 20-3.4 Positive Monotone Conv. Thm, 20-3.2

positive operator, 13-10.1 positive part of function, 3-1.2 positive sesquilinear form, 13-6.4 positive sets, 24-3.1 positive simplex, 4-10.3 precompact, 2-5.1 primitive contour, 8-4.1 principal fundamental matrix, 11-3.10 product metric space, 1-3.4 product normed space, 1-1.7 product representation, 31-1.11 Product Formula, 26-2,2 Product Thm, 26-3.5 projection, 7-4.1 projective norm, 15-5.4 projector, 13-9.1, 28-4.8 proper face, 4-5.2 properly situated, 4-5.2 pseudo-inverse, 12-5.5 pulse function, 25-2.7 Pythagora's thm, 13-2.2, 3.3

Q

quadratic form, 13-6.1 quasinilpotent, 8-7.7 quotient norm, 7-2.1

R

Radon-Nikodym derivative, 24-1.2 Radon-Nikodym Property, 24-5.6 Radon-Nokodym Thm, 24-4.5 rank of tensor, 15-3.3 real part of complex linear form, 6-3.2 real part, 3-1.2, 16-1.4, 17-3.2 real sesquilinear form, 13-6.4 real spectral measure, 26-6.1 reduce, 13-9.13 reducible representation, 29-1.8 reflexive, 7-6.1 regular measures, 27-1.7 regulated map, 8-2.5 relative metric, 1-6.6 relatively compact. 2-7.8 removable singularity, 8-5.14 repeated integral, 22-3.5 representation associated, 29-2.4,5 representation, 28-1.4, 29-1.6

resolvent, 8-6.6 retract, 5-2.2 retraction thm, 5-2.7 Riesz representation thm, 13-4.5 Riesz-Schauder theory, 12-2 right integral, 17-2.10 right solution space, 29-2.6 ring generated by, 17-5.2 ring of subsets, 17-5.1

S

 $sd^{m}(K)$, 4-7.6 σ -algebra, 18-2.9 σ -finite, 20-4.1, 21-2.3 σ -product sets, 22-3.1 σ -ring, 20-5.6 σ-set. 18-3.5 $\sigma\delta$ -product sets. 22-3.1 $\sigma\delta$ -set. 18-3.5 saturated, 30-3.1, 21 scalar bilinear map, 24-1.1 scaling homeomorphism, 5-1.8 Schur's Lemma, 29-1.12 Schwartz's inequality, 1-1.4 second fundamental thm of calculus, 8-3.7 sections, 22-1.11 self-adjoint, 13-7.1, 29-2.2 self-conjugate, 3-8.11 semi-continuous, 26-1.5.8 semi-interval, 17-1.4 semi-rectangles, 17-1.5 seminorm, 6-2.2, 21-1.2 Semiring Formula, 17-1.9 semiring, 17-1.2 separable, 2-6.2 separate points, 3-8.3 sequence, 1-2.5 sesquilinear form, 13-5.1 sign-function, sgn[f(x)], 19-6.2 shift, 3-5.8 simple function, 19-4.1 simplex, 4-3.2 simplicial approximation, 4-8.6 simplicial complex, 4-5.2 simplicial map, 4-8.1 simply approximable, 19-5.1 singletons, 17-1.3 singular point, 5-4.2

singular number, 14-5.13 singular compact fields, 5-5.7 singular measures, 24-5.4 singular functions, 25-3.2 skeleton, 4-5.4 skew-adjoint, 13-7.1 small simplex, 4-6.3 smooth, 10-3.1 solution curve, 11-1.1 solution interval. 11-1.1 solution of initial value problem, 11-1.1 span, 6-1.5 Spectral Dominated Convergence Thm, 26-4.6 spectral expansion, 14-5.9 spectral function thm, 8-8.12 spectral function, 26-1.10 Spectral Integration Term by Term, 26-4.8 spectral measure of operator, 26-6 spectral measure, 26-2.9 spectral polynomial thm, 8-6.12 spectral radius, 8-7.1 spectral resolution, 26-1.11 spectral thm, 14-5.11 spectral values, 8-6.6 spectrum, 8-6.6 square root thm, 14-6.10 star of vertex, 4-5.8 step function, 19-4.1 step map, 8-2.3, 17-2.2,3 Stieltjes' measures, 17-7.9 Stone, 3-8.1 strictly increasing, 16-1.7 strictly on one side, 6-5.1 strong convergence of operators, 13-10.10 strongly additive, 17-4.2 strongly bounded, 7-7.3 strongly measurable, 19-5.5 strongly, 7-7.1 subcomplex, 4-5.4 subcover, 2-6.7 subdivision, 4-7.2 subsequence, 1-2.8 subspace of metric spaces, 1-6.6 sup-norm, 3-2.2 support, 1-8.9, 26-5.8 surjection thm, 9-6.7 symmetric n-linear map, 10-2.1 symmetric difference, 18-3.4 symmetry thm, 10-3.4

T

Taylor series expansion, 8-5.10 Taylor's formula, 10-5.2 tensor map, 15-1.2 tensor norm. 15-5.2 tensor product of linear maps, 15-2.2 tensor product of matrices, 15-4.4 tensor product of vectors, 15-1.2 tensor product representation, 30-3.19 tensor product, 31-1.7 tensor, 15-1.5 thm on minimum distance, 13-2.8, 5-2.6 Tietze's extension thm, 5-5.4 Tonelli's Theorem, 22-3.10 topological complement, 7-4.3 topological direct sum, 7-4.3 topological dual, 3-4.6 topological isomorphism, 3-6.2 total derivative, 9-1.3 total set, 7-6.5 total variation, 16-2.2, 17-7.3 trace. 29-1.2 transfinite induction. 6-1 transition matrix, 11-3.10 transitive, 12-4.4 translate, 4-2.2, 23-3.3 translation invariant, 23-3.5 transpose, 7-5.1 triangulation, 4-5.6 trigonometric polynomials, 29-3.11 trigonometric series, 30-1.7 trivial subspace, 12-4.4 tube, 11-5.2

U

underlying space, 4-5.6 uniform boundedness thm, 6-8.2, 10-1.11 uniform convergence of operators, 13-10.10 uniform convergence on unit ball, 7-7.1 uniform mean-value thm, 9-2.8 uniformly bounded, 3-7.7 uniformly continuous, 2-8.2 unique extension thm, 2-8.8 uniqueness of Laurent Series, 8-5.9 uniqueness of tensor products, 15-1.4 unit sphere, 1-1.6 unitary representation, 29-1.6 unitary, 13-7.1 upper derivatives, 25-1.1 upper functions, 19-3.3 upper limit, 2-3.2, 19-3.6 upper semi-continuous, 26-1.5 upper variation, 16-3.1, 17-3.8, 17-7.3, 17-7.10 upward directed, 26-2.1 usual norm, 1-1.5

V

variation of parameters, 11-3.13 variation, 16-2.2, 17-3.4, 4.1,8 vector charge, 17-2.6 vector field, 11-1.1 vector lattice, 3-8.3, 16-2.2 vertices, 4-3.2, 4-5.4 Vitali's cover, 25-1.9

W-Z

weak convergence of operators, 13-10.10 weak limit, 7-7.1 weak-star measurable, 19-6.9 weak-star, 7-8.1 weakly bounded, 7-7.3 weakly Cauchy, 7-7.1 weakly compact, 24-7.7 weakly holomorphic, 8-4.4 weakly measurable, 19-6.8 weakly sequentially compact, 14-3.6 Weierstrass' Theorem, 30-1.10 Weierstrass, 3-8.1 Wronskian, 11-3.6 Zom's lemma, 6-1.4

Banach-Hilbert Spaces, Vector Measures and Group Representations

This book provides on elementory introduction to clossical analusis on normed spoces, with special attention poid to fixed points, calculus, ond ordinary differential equations. It contains o full treatment of vector measures on delto rings without assuming any scalor measure theory and hence should fit well into existing courses. The relation between group representations and olmost periodic functions is presented. The mean volues offer on infinitedimensional onologue of measure theory on finite-dimensional Euclidean spaces. This book is ideal for beginners who wont to get through the basic moterial os soon as possible ond then do their own research immediately.



www.worldscientific.com 4998 hc